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OF TRE 

~orougg gf )tingsttJtt-uptJn-Jull. 

ANCIENT historians have ascribed the foundation of this town to that victo· 
rioue and renowned monarch, Edward I., in the year 1~96 ; but a learned 
writer of the present day has proved, beyond dispute, that this opinion is 
erroneous, and that Hull was a place of opulence and note more than a cen· 
tury prior to that period.• From the earliest times on record, the mouth of 
the river Hull was the site of a Wyk, or harbour for shipping, and the ancient 
appellation of the town was Wy'", or Wy'"-upon-Hull. According to V ere· 
tegan, the Saxon word Pie, Wic, Wyk, Wy'", Wick, or Wich, signified a port, 
refuge, or retreat.t and henco the application of this word as a component 
part of the names of several English sea-poria, as Harwich, Ipswich, Sand­
wich, Woolwich, and Greenwich. The word Wick is frequently found as a 
termination in the names of villages in the district of Holdemeee, which is 
immediately adjacent to Hull, as Atwick, Buretwick, Bewick, Bonwick, Oust­
wick, Welwick, and Withemwick. One of the signification& of the word Wic, 
given by V ossius, and also by Ducange, upon the authority of Rhedanus, is 
"fluminis ostium," or the mouth of a river. The word Hull is derived from 
Hol, or Ol, which is Gaelic for water. (In some ancient documents the name 
is spelt Htd.) Hol is· a prenomen in many compound names, implying \Vater, 
stream, and its varieties, thus-Holland, Holbeck, Holgate, Holvingham, 
now Hovingham, Holbum, &c. 

Mr. Frost, a lea.med and most respectable member of the legal profession 
at Hull, tells us, in the work just referred to, that the early history of this 

• Charles Frost, Esq., F.S.A., in his Notioes relative to the Early History of the 
Town md Port ot Bull, 4.to., 1827. 

+ Restitution of D-yed lntelligenoo in Antiquities, p. 3:.!{1. 

'\"OL. 11. B 
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towu has been peculiarly neglected and misrepresented, even by the time­
honoured antiquarians, Leland and Cnmden. The forruer, who commenced 
the collection of materials for his Itinerary in 1538, and completed it in 
154:), visited this town in the former year, and "be has done little more re­
garding Hull," says Mr. Frost, "than hand down to us the loose and 
unauthenticated traditions which be collected during his visit." "The 
tow ne," he snys, " was in the tyme of Eel ward the 3. but a mea ne fischar 
toune, and longid as a ruerubre to Hasillc Village, a 2. or 3. mile of upper on 
Humber. The first great cncrcasing of the toune wns by passing for fisch 
into Iscland, from whens they had the hole trnde of stoke fisch into England, 
and partly other fisch. In Richard the 2. dayes the tounc waxid very rich, 
and Michael de la Pole, ruarchaunt of Hulle, and prcntyce, as sum say, w 
one Rotenhcring, of the same toune, cam into so high favor for wit, actyvite, 
and riches, that be was made Counte of Southfolk, wherapon be got of King 
Uichard the 2. many grauntes and privilcg<'s to the tounc; and yn hill tymc 
the touue was wonderfully augmentid yn building, and was enclosid with 
diches, and the wnul begon, and yn continuance cndid, nnd made al of brikc, 
as most part of the houses of the toun at that tyme was."* And again he 
says, "The toune of Kingeston had first by graunt custodem, then bailives, 
then maire and bailh·es, and in King Henry the 6. tyme a mairc, a shirive, 
and the toun to be shire ground by it self. One told me, that their first 
great corporation was grauntid to Kingeston a 180 yere syus. "t 

Camden (who finished his Rritannia in 160i), trusting to the authority of 
Leland, is equally incorrect in the account which he gives of the origin of 
this place. "It is," he writes, "a town of no great antiquity. Edwar<l I., 
who for his princely virtues dese"es a place among our first and best kings, 
obse"ing the advantageous situation of the place, which was before called 
Wik, purchased it by exchange of the Abbot or Meaux, and instead of the 
vaccaria. and bercharia, by which I understand pens for cattle and sheep, 
which be found there, built a town, which be called Kingstone, or the King's 
Town, establishing there, as the record sets forth, a port and free borough, 
making the inhabitants free burgesses, and granting them various privileges.": 
This venerable writer then follows the popular tradition, that the town rose 
to a state of affiuence in the reign of Richard ll., partly in consequence of 
the privileges granted to it through the intercession or Michael de la Pole, 
Earl of Suffolk, and partly through its trade in stockfish. 

• ltin. cd. T. Heame, fol. 53. t Itin. ed. T. Hearne, fol. M. 

: Cnm. Brit. (Gough's edit., 1806), vol. ill., p. 2,7, 
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Speed's account of its origin is as follows:-" Places for trade and 
venting forth their commodities are many, yet none of such convenie.ncc 
as Kingston·upon·Hull, which, notwithstanding, cannot fetch her beginning 
from any great antiquity (being before time called Wyke). King Edward 
I. built this town, making a haven, and granting many privileges to the 
burgesses, so that it is ri~~en to great state, both for stately buildings and 
strong block-houses, for ships well furnished, and for store of merchants, 
and is now become the most famous town of that country, whose greatest 
riches is ascribed to the gainful trade they have by Iceland fish, dried and 
hardened, commonly called stock.fish. "* 

The Rev. Abraham de la Pryme, Divinity Reader and Curate of the Church 
of the Holy Trinity, for three years, ending in 1701, compiled the first de· 
tacbed History of Hull, "from the records, charters, deeds, mayor's letters, 
&c., of the said town." This work, which exists yet in manuscript only, and 
a copy of which is to be found in the Warburton Collection, among the 
Landesdowne MSS., in the British Museum, formed the basis and ground· 
work of all subsequent accounts and histories of the town. Gent, Hadley, 
and Tickell, relying upon the accredited source from which de la Pryme drew 
his information, without further enquiry, followed his authority in their 
Histories of Hull, and thus fell into the common error, that the town was 
founded by Edward I., in 1206; and that Wyke, which, with reference to 
that period, is incorrectly represented by them, as having been situated not 
wbtTe .Kingston·upon-Hull now stands, by a quarter of a mile to the west of 
it, then consisted of little more than cribs and folds, with perhaps some 
places of shelter to defend the shepherds from the extremities of the seasons. 

We are told by Mr. Frost, in the preface to his interesting work, that for 
some years he bad the sole management of the defence of a suit, institutP.d 
for the reco\"ery of tithe throughout the township of Melsa or Meaux, a few 
miles from Hull, which had formerly belonged to a body of Cistercian Monks, 
and whose extensive possessions included the entire soil upon which the town 
of Hull now stands; and that the facts which came under his notice in the 
course of the investigation necessarily attendant on that deft>nce, confirmed 
the inference previously drawn by Macpherson, from the authorities which 
be has given, that Hull, as a place of importance, was of greater antiquity 
than that assigned to it by historians.* Being possessed of peculiar facilities 
of prosecuting a more minute enquiry into the origin of the place, and feeling 

• Theatre of Great Britain, p. 81, edit. 1670. 

• Annals of Commerc€', ,·ol. i., pp. !3~8, 372, and 462, in notu. 
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it, as he tells us, a. sort of heresy to question the high authorities already 
quoted, Mr. Frost is of opinion that "the source whence the error has 
arisen, is clearly to be traced to the language of adulation or gratitude, which 
our ancestors adopted in expressing their obligations to King Edward I., 
under whom, by his recent acquisition of the absolute property of the town, 
their place of habitation was elevated to the rank of a Royal Borough, and 
from whom they had themselves received, by charter, many valuable privi­
leges." He tells us, that in a petition, which the burgesses presented to 
that monarch in the year 1300, shortly after the imposition of the new title of 
Kingston, they acknowledge him, in direct terms, as the founder of their town; 
and that through such means a belief became prevalent that the town had 
been actually built by the monarch to whom it owed so many favours. The 
King himself, in a Writ of ad quod damnum, issued in consequence of that 
petition, seems to have accommodated himself to their language, by styling 
the place his own neu: town; and in the 44th of Edward ill. (1371), in the 
pleadings in a suit betweon the Archbishop of York and the burgesses of 
Hull, one of the parties alleged, and the other did not deny, that his late 
M&Jesty Edward I., "Villam edificavit," on the site of Wyke, "et ibidem 
quondam portum fecit," where he had customs taken to his use.* 

"These apparently strong authorities," continues Mr. Frost," are sufficient 
to account for, as well as to excuse, the error committed by Leland, and 
adopted by Camden, in describing the origin of the town ; and it is not sur­
prising that, sanctioned and supported by such names, it obtained a credit 
which succeeding writers did not venture to impeach." 

Verstegan informs us that the Saxons, whose language was altogether dif­
ferent from that of the Britons, "left very few cities, towns, villages, passages, 
rivers, woods, fields, hills, or dales, to which they gave not new names, such 
as in their own language were intelligible, and either given by reason of the 
situation or nature of the place, or after some place in some sort like unto it 
in Germany, from whence they came; "t and from this Mr. Frost infers, that 
the name of Wyke, from the Saxon word Pie, indicates the existence of a 
town here in the Anglo-Saxon times. 

Although Hull was a considerable port a century after the compilation of 
the Domesday Survey, and probably at a much earlier period, it is not men­
tioned in that ancient record, being at that time only a parcel of the manor 
of Myton, which is described as a berewick in the manor of l<'erriby, hundred 

• Hargrave·a Law Tracta, p. 69. 

t Restitution of Dernyed lnt<'lligenrt>, &c., p. 3~1!. 
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of Hessle. Ralph de Mortimer was then Lord of the Manor, and bad under 
him fourteen villains, or small farmers, occupying three carucates, or plough­
lands, which amounted to 800 acres. Edina had nearly 1,000 acres in the 
same manor. There was here also a church, and a minister belonging to it, 
in the reign of Edward the ConCessor. The whole manor, and all the villages 
therein, were assessed at 100 shillings, but afterwards, on account of the 
repeated devaetations made by the Danes, it was reduced to sixty. The 
villages and hamlets which then belonged to the manor were Kirk-Ella, in 
which were only two bovates of land that contained about SO acres of tillage ; 
Waudby, in which were about 100 acres in tillage; Riplingham, in which 
were about 120 acres in tillage; Yorkfteet, containing about 100 acres of 
tillage ; Woolferton, with about 140 acres in tillage; and Hassel (Hessle), 
in which were about 100 acres in tillage. 

The greater part of these lands then lay waste, the country being not at 
that time recovered from the devastations of the Danes. In Hessle, four 
villains occupied one co.rucate more. In Sculcoates, or Cowscoates, the Arch­
bishop of York had about 100 acres ; and in Drypool nearly 20 more, with 
an arable close, which then lay waste. In the manors of Sculcoates and 
Drypool, Ote and Ravenhill poBSessed three bovates of land, which amounted 
to about 130 acres. Ralpb de Mortimer, who was ancestor of the famous 
Earls of March, was lord of all the surrounding villages, and many other 
towns and domains in Yorkshire, as well as in several other counties in 
England. Soon after the period of the Domesday Survey, we find all the 
neighbouring towns and hamlets in a flourishing condition. 

Among the documents relating to Wyke, the earliest notice met with is a 
grant, without date, of lands" del Wyke de Mitune," made to the monks of 
Melsa or Meaux, probably about the year 1160, by Mati.lda, the daughter of 
Hugh Camin. The original charter is preserved among the ancient muni­
ments o( the Corporation of Hull.• From this charter we learn that, in 
addition to the lordship of Myton, there was also a town which bore that 
name, and which in early times bad o. chapel. The latter was destroyed by 
the monks of Melsa, who made atonement in the sixth year of the reign of 
King John (1204), for this and other transgressions, by paying 100 shillings 
as a compromise to Richard Ducket, then parson of the church of Hesslc.t , 

The necessity of providing an additional place of public worship within the 

• A fac-simile of this curious relic is engraved in Mr. Frost's Historic Notices, p. 8. 

+ Lib. Melse ex MSS. nup. W. H . Smyth, anning. 11pud Heath, fol. 63. 
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parish of Hessle, for the peculiar use of the inhabitants of Myton and Wyke, 
affords strong evidence that the population of these towns was at that period 
not only considerable, but increasing; and the existence of Wyke as a sepa· 
rate town from Myton, might be inferred from the title "Myton et Wyke" 
occurring in the Meaux Chartulary; and from the nnmes of Myton and 
Wyke being found separately in the index of places where the monks of Melsa 
had property. But the fact is clearly established, on the authority of the 
Book of Meaux Abbey, which records that in the year 1270, Richard, the 
tenth Abbot, gave half an acre of land in Wyke-upon-Hull to the Canons 
of Watton Abbey, in exchange for two tofts in Crauncewyk, and three tofts 
in North Dalton.* And again, about the end of the reign of Henry ill., or 
at the beginning of that of his successor, before surnames had come into 
common use, and when people chiefly derived their appellations from the 
towns which they inhabited, William de Wykc, the son of Simon de Wyke, 
granted to Walter Gifford, Archbishop of York, all his lands in Wyke, upon 
the river Hull, lying between the lands of Stephen, son of Robert de Wyke, 
and the lands which William de Wyke held of the Abbot of Meaux.t 

"But, besides the name of Wyke," writes Mr. Frost, to whose excellent 
v.-ork we are chiefiy indebted for the foregoing information, and for much 
that follows, respecting the antiquity of Hull," the town was contcmporane· 
ously called HuU, as it is at the present day, from the port or river upon 
which its commerce was conducted ; and, from the early use of the latter ap· 
pellation, it may fairly be inferred that considerable mercantile traffic was 
there carried on, at a period long antecedent to the date of any historic evi­
dence now extant on this subject. The proofs that the name of Hull was 
applied to the toum, in common with the port, are of the same kind with 
those which have been adduced with respect to the existence of the town, 
under the name of Wyke. The Book of Meaux furnishes some early instances 
where Hull is mentioned as a place of residence :-in the year 1160, a croft 
in Sutton is described as having joTTMTly belonged to Hemeius (Qu. Henri­
cus ?) de Hull ;t and soon after the commencement of the reign of Henry 
m.," Henricus de Hull, filius Rogcri de Hull," and" Agnes, filia Thurstani 
de Hull," appear in the list of benefactors to the Abbey.§ In addition to 

• Lib. Melse, rol. 102. t lands. MSS. in Bibl. Brit. Mus., No. 40~, rol. 82 (a). 

According to Camden, surnames began to oo taken up in England about the time 
or the Conquest, but were not fully settled among the common people until about the 
time or Edward II. (Remains, p. 109.) 

: Lib. Melsc, fol. ~4. § l bid, fol. 107, and Cott. MSS. Vitell. C. 6. rol. 11 (b.) 
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these instances, the Great Roll of the Pipe of 48th Henry Ill. speaks of 
Stephen de Hull, and Thomas de Hull.* But Hull is likewise mentioned as 
a town in 1217, in a demise from Saer de Sutton to the Abbot and Canons 
of Thoro ton, in Lincolnshire, of common pasture in the territory and marshes 
of Sutton, Hull, Sudcoates, and Dripol, with free ingress and egress between 
Hull and Wilflet.t The Register of Waiter Giffard also speaks of lands held 
by Waiter de Gray in Sculcoates, Dripole, and Hull,! while the Lady Joanna 
de Stotevill's Mtsn of Hull are mentioned in an agreement made between her 
and Archbishop Giffard, in 1269. "§ 

The actual line which separated the two parishes of Hessle and Ferriby, 
has not been clearly defined ; all that can be positively asserted on the sub­
ject is, that Trinity Chapel was within the limits of the former, and the 
Chapel of our Lady in the latter. The Domesday Survey describes Hessle 
parish ns being half a mile in breadth, and that being about the distance from 
the Humber to the junction of Aldgate with the old river, leads to the sup­
position that Aldgate, or, as it was called by the Sa."':ons, Ealdgate, formed 
the boundary between the two parishes. Aldgate extended in an interrupted 
line from east to west, commencing on the bank of the ditch, called Sayer's 
Creek (now the Old Harbour or river Hull), and extending across the old 
river Hull to the junction of the Beverley and Anlaby roads. The antiquity 
of this street increases the probability that it formed the original boundary 
between these parishes ; its Saxon appellation, Ealdgate, intimating that it 
was not only in existence, but was considered an ancient street in their time, 
and probably formed a junction with the great north road of the Romans. 
It was subsequently divided into three parts, viz., the one now called Scale 
Lane, which extends from the banks of the Hull to the Market-Place; the 
other, called Silver Street, from thence to Trinity House Lane ; and the third, 
Whltefriargate, which occupies the remainder of the line. 

The Rev. Dr. Oliver, writing in the Gentleman's Magazine, February, 
1836, says, "It appears that the town (villa) of Myton was situated to the 
westward of the river, at a very short distance from the bank, and the hamlet 
of Wyk was built on the shores of the Humber, occupying both sides of the 
mouth of Hull; although the principal part lay towards the east. And thus 
W yk was in two separate W apentakes, according to the Saxon arrangement, 
which were divided by this small rivf-r; one part being in Hassel hundred, 

• Mag. Rot. 48 Henry m., Tit. Ebor. 

+ Cban. Melse, fol. J 73. t In Regietro Wait. Gifl'ard'a inter Archiv. Arch. Ebor. 

• Landsd. MSS., No. 402, fol. 122 (b). 
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and the otl1er in Holdcmess. It follows then that the vill of Myton aud the 
hamlet of Wyk were contiguous, and ultimately blended with each other, 
and together constituted the one town of Hull, lying within the parochial 
jurisdiction of Hessle in all matters ecclesiastical and civil. And it is of 
importance to remark, that, for the Wyk, or harbour, the name of the riTer 
itself was, in these early times, frequently substituted. In the Chartulary of 
Melsa, the town is distinguished by the name of Hull at the very beginning 
of Henry the Second 's reign, and in the time of his successor; and there is 
an abundance of records to prove that it was occasionally so denominated in 
every reign, down to the period when it had the proud honour of a royal 
designation conferred upon it by the munificence of King Edward I., although 
it was more frequently known by the name of Myton-Wyk." "In those 
days, when the immediate effects of the Norman Conquest bad passed away," 
continues the same writer, in his l1'1uiry, "Myton-Wyk assumed the appear­
ance of a substantial town, and was under the government of the Abbat of 
Melsa, whose bailiffs held courts, markets, and fairs, within its precincts ; 
and the fruits of his judicious superintendence were a gradually increasing 
prosperity. Its traffic was considerable, and it stood high in rank amongst 
the most eminent ports in the kingdom. One great reason which induces 
me to think that the population of Myton-Wyk was of some magnitude in 
these early times, arises from the value of its annual rental, The nil of 
Myton, including the Wyk, contains something short of 180 acres; and the 
ayerage rent of land was twenty shillings per hide, or twopence an aere; which 
would produce, exclusive of any other property that might be placed upon it, 
only thirty shillings a year. But the Abbat of Melsa had an annual rental 
in Myton-Wyk, amounting to £78. 14s. 6d.; and at Myton his rents were 
£24. Ss., ailer deducting repriaes. Hence there was in both these places 
some species of property of greater value than the land; and this, in such a 
situation, could only be houses, shops, wharfs, and conveniences for traffic." 

In the 6th of Edwr.rd I. (1278), the Abbot of Meaux petitioned that M and 
his auceesaon might have a market on Thursday in each week, "at Wyk.,, 
near MiUon-upon·tM-H'Ul.U, and a fair there in each year on the vigil, the 
day, aad the morrow of the Holy Trinity, and on the twelve following 
days. Soon after this petition was presented, a writ of ad quod damnum 
was issued, and an inquisition being taken at York, before Thomas Nor­
manville, the King's steward, it was found by the jury that the Abbot and 
his successors might have a market and fair at" Le Wy"-'," without injury 
to the King, or the neighbouring markets or fairs. The importance of 
Wykc or Hull, both as a town and a place of trade, is testified by the grant 
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of this market and fair ; as well as by the circumstance of a Royal maudate 
having been addressed, about this period, to the Bailiffs of Hull, in common 
with the bailiffs of other sea-ports, directing them to examine all merchants 
leaving the kingdom, in order to discover plates of silver, clipped and broken 
coin, &c., in their possession. The bailiffs of this place were, doubtless, 
those appointed by the Abbot of Meaux; that dignitary having assumed the 
entire dominion of the town. Indeed, the Abbot's bailiffs were soon after 
officially recognised as such, in a writ addressed in the 18th of Edward I. 
(1290), to the Abbot of Mella'• Bailiffs of Hull, requiring them to assist Tori­
cios, the Fleming of York, to take "rectfJII prisfJII " of wines coming to the 
Totm of Hull, and to gauge the wines there, in the same manner as was then 
done in other parts of the kingdom. , 

To the taste and industry of Mr. Frost we are then indebted for the know­
ledge that when Wyke or Hull, together with the manor of Myton, became 
the property of King Edward, it was not as the early writers have it-an 
obscure corner, hitherto neglected, and consisting of a few huts for shepherds 
and cowherds, but a place of importance, the property of the monks of 
Meaux therein being, as we have seen, considerable; and it must be recol­
lected that the monks were not the sole proprietors of the place, as the Canons 
ot Watton Abbey, the Archbishop or York, the family of Sutton, and others, 
had property there. 

The histories of the Abbey of Meaux record the anxiety of the King (who 
bad contemplated the advantage of the situation of the place for a fortified 
town, and a great commercial port) to obtain the possession of this property, 
and they relate the particulars of the exchange of it for lands in Lincoln­
shire. By a deed of feoffment, executed by the Abbey and Convent, in the 
beginning of the year 1298, the Monarch acquired the absolute ownership 
of Wyke, and he immediately dignified it with the appellation of Kingston, 
or King's Town, adding the terms upon Hull, to distinguish it from 
Kingston-upon-Thames; and having constituted it a manor independent 
of Myton, he built a Manor Hall, or royal residence, and i88ued a proclama­
tion, offering great freedoms, privileges, and immunities, to all those who 
should fix their habitations there. He placed the town under the govern­
ment of a Warden (Custos) and Bailiffs; and appointed Peter de Campania 
to nlue and let it. This new valuation amounted to £78. 17s. Sd. per ann., 
which corresponds within a few shillings with the sum stated to have been 
receiYed for the rent of the same property by the Abbot of Meaux. The first 
person appointed to fill the high office of Warden was Richard Oysel, the 
King's bailiff of the seigniory of Holderne88, and keeper of the Royal Manor 

VOL. 11. c 
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of Burst\fick. The earliest charter granted to the town is dated 1st of 
April, 27th Edward I. (1299), and was obtained by the inhabitants upon 
their petition being presented to the ·King in person, while he was keeping 
his Christmas at Barnard Cutle, the seat of Lord Wake, at CottinghAm, near 
Hull, on his return from the north. Hull was now constituted a free 
borough, and in the same year the harbour was finished.* 

"For the purchase of the extensive liberties and privileges granted by the 
eharter," writes Mr. Frost," the inhabiUilts of Kingston-upon-Hull offered 
only lOO marks, while the burgesses of Ravenser paid no less than £300. for 
a similar grant in their favour (in the same year); but this disparity affonls 
no criterion fOr determining the relative importance of the two places. 
Ravenser had risen suddenly to the enjoymeots of considerable commercial 
prosperity, and had become a formidable rival to the King's ports of Grimsby, 
Hedon, and Scarborough. Its merchants, neglecting no means of increasing 
their traffic, were reRdy to purchase their liberties at a price equivalent to the 
privileges to be conferred; while Hull, on the other band, wonld naturally 
avail itself of the peculiar claim which it had on royal favour, in the circum­
stance of having so recently become the property of the King. To the 
relative situation, therefore, of the two places in this respect, may be atr 
tributed the regulation of the amount of the fines in the proportion men· 
tioned. As a further proof that the disparity in the amount of these fines 
depended more upon such circumstances as we have alluded to, than on the 
ability of the parties to discharge them, it may be obsened that the people 
of Hull paid a moiety of their fine immediately, ancl the remaining part in 
the· following yeal', while the burgesees of Ravenser in the first year paid only 
.£86. out of £300., leaving the remainder in charge in the Sheriff's account, 
until the Slat of .Edward I. "t 

Amongst the pri'rileges cooferred upon the town by this charter, was a 
grant to the burgesees, and their successors, for ever, to hold two markets in 
eVf1FY week, one on Tuesday, and the other on Friday; and an annual lair, to 
continue for thirty days-" on the day of St. Austin, after Easter, and for 
twenty-nine days next following." 

Fl'()m thia period tile inoreue and prosperity of the place have been r&­

markable, and it was soon regarded as one of the principal tA:Jwns in the 
kingdom; so much so, that wheu an exteueive coinage waa appointed, it was 

• A literal translation ot the charter is prteted in 'nelleD's Hiet. ot HuD, p. ll ; and 
in F1'08t'll Natioel, p.. ~. Then Ill'& two orisiDala ot it amoJiilt tle town's reeorda. 

t Frost's Notices, p. M. 
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fixed upoo as one of the places where mints were to be established. By 
degrees all the flourishing towns of these parts, such as Barton, Hedoo, 
Patrington, Grimsby, and Ravenspurn, were drained of their chief inhabitant& 
and tnde-Hull monopolizing all to itself-so that as it continually increased, 
&hose towns proportiooa.tely decreased; and at present little, if any, com­
mercial business is transacted in any of them, except in Grimsby, which, 
from its favourable position on the Humber, coupled with the formation of 
railways, has of late years risen rapidly in the scale of importance. 

Edward L, in the course of a progress to the north, visited Hull in the 
year 1800. He croued the Humber, from Barton to Hessle, on the 26th of 
Jrlay, and the passage of the royal party across the ferry appears to have oc­
cupied twQ days; the sum of lSs. having been paid for the wages of Gslfrid 
de Seleby and other sailors, with eleven barges and boats employed during 
that time. The high road northward ( 11ia regia) lay at that time in a direct 
line from Heeale to Beverley ; but the King took a circuitous route thither, 
solely for the purpoee of viewing the state of the newly-created borough of 
Hull. His stay there was of short duration, but the effects of his visit were 
soon visible in the various improvements by which it was succeeded, and 
putieularly in the p&"Yement of the streets; for defraying the expenSt: of 
which a grant was made aoon after the King's departure, of certain tolls, to 
be levied on all goods coming to the town for sale, within the five succeeding 
years. The roads in the vicinity were also repaired ; and in 1303 the three 
great roads from Hull to Holderness, Beverley, and Anlaby, were appointed 
to be made. In the lOth of this reign (12011, a ferry was established between 
Barton and Hull, the extreme value of which, in 1320, was f0s. In 1356 
it was leased at the yearly rent of £535. Os. 4d. ; and in 1881, at a yearly 
rent of £800. The ferry now belongs to the Railway Company. 

At a very early period, long anterior to the time that the situation of Hull 
attracted the attention of Edward I., the river Hull had experienced the 
change in its course, alluded to in the account we have given of that river in 
vol. i., page 32. As we have there shown, the old river was formerly on the 
west side of the town-the inlet, known by the name of Lime Kiln Creek 
being a part of it. The present river Hull, from the Humber to Sculcoates 
Gote, then called Sayer's Creek, but now the Old Harbour, is supposed to 
have been cut by Snyer de Sutton, to drain the marshes. The entire district 
for many miles round, being liable to violent floods, the country must have 
bad the appearance of one vast lake, dotted with innumerable islands. 
Though it must perhaps remain undecided whether the diversion of the .. 
course of the riYer was the result of accident or design, it is not unreasonable 
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to suppose, from the frequent irruptions ofthe rivers Hull and Humber, and 
the incessant and violent inundations to which the neighbourhood of the 
town was subject, that it is to be attributed to the former. 

"Holdemess, which has been described as an island," says Mr. Frost, 
"together with the entire district for many miles round Wyke and Myton, was 
peculiarly liable to the attacks of sudden floods, and in 1256 an extraordinary 
influx of the sea, which, according to Stowe and Walsingham, overflowed the 
whole of the eastern coast of England, extended to the fisheries and woods 
of Cottingnam, belonging to the monks of Melsa, and swept away numbers 
of people of both sexes, together with many head of cattle ; it also washed 
into the Humber a considerable quantity of laud, which the monks had in 
Myton, and which was afterwards regained. These inundations were attended 
with the most serious consequences, and the sufferings they occasioned are 
described in terms of horror in an official letter, addressed by Archbishop 
Corbridge to the Prior and Convent of Gisebum, in 1301, which states, that 
in conveying the bodies of deceased persons from the chapel at Kingston to 
the parish church of Hessle for interment, it often happened-that the bodies 
and attendants were all washed away by the water of the Humber. So dan­
gerous indeed had these floods rendered the travelling between Hull and 
Anlaby, that the Commissioners, who were charged with the superintendence 
of the banks, and the protection of the country against inundations, found it 
necessary, at the commencement of the fourteenth century, to raise the road 
six feet above its ordinary level ; this great \Vork was effected by taking earth 
from the lands which lay to the north of the road, and the expenses incurred 
were directed by the Commissioners to be paid by the inhabitants of 
• Kyngeston sur Hull, Hesill, Feriby, Swanland, Braythwayte, Westelveley, 
Willardby, Wolfreton, and Anlaghby.' "* 

The irruptions of the Hull too were often attended with destructive con­
sequences ; and on one occasion the monks of .Meaux complained of a loss 
from the inundations of that river and the Humber, of about six acres of 
arable land in Drypool, which wns stated to be worth 2s. 6d. per ann.t 
Various ancient provisions ho.ve been made since the beginning of the reign 
of Edward IT., for draining and embanking these parts. In the 80th of 
Edward m. (1356), it was reported to the King that the tides of the rivers 
Hull and Humber flowed four feet higher than usual, so that the road 
leading to Anlo.by, and all the adjacent lands, were overflowed; his Majesty 
therefore grantecl letters patent for rleaning out the old ditch, and enlarging 

• J.ih. )fei~P, fnl. !lr•!'! . 
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it twebe feet; and for cutting a new ditch, twentY: four feet broad, right 
through the pasture of Myton, into Hull, by which the watent might pass to 
and fro; and also for raising the road considerably higher. In the same year 
an ordinance was made by the Mayor and Commonalty, that all their lands 
without the walls, beyond the west postern, reaching from Lyle Street (now 
Mytongate) to the river Humber, should be let, free of rent, to such persons 
aa would undertake to maintain the banks of the Humber in front of those 
lands, with a 'riew to the safety and protection of the town and the adjacent 
country. The tides still continuing to rise higher than formerly, Yarious 
commissions were issued to obviate this calamity ; and in 1866 the tide rose 
80 high, that the banks be~veen Sculcoates and Hull gave way, and the 
water breaking in, not only swept away the cattle, but numbers of people 
were drowned in the general inundation, which ftooded the whole country. 

"ln the reign of Richard IT.," says Mr. Frost, "the posaibility of the port 
being annihilated by the inftux of the sea, was contemplated in the judgment 
pronounced against Michael de la Pole, Earl of Suffolk; and in the time of 
Henry VI., the river had shifted so far from the town, that the greatest 
apprehensions were entertained, not only of the entire destruction of the 
port, but of the consequent desertion and depopulation of the place. With 
& view to prevent the occurrence of such a calamity, the King granted his 
license to the Mayor and Commonalty to purchase land to tha extent of 
£100. per annum, for the reparation and protection of the port."* 

The town and port were again threatened with destruction from the ravages 
of the Humber in the reign of Queen Elizabeth, but by subsequent provi­
sions the country was not only secured, but the low lands, which were 
unwholesome, not 80 much from their situation as from the effects of stagnant 
waters, rendered more healthy. The fact that this locality was subject to 
such dreadful inundations, scarcely leaves room for a doubt that the change 
in the course of the river was the effect of accident, occasioned by the breach 
of the bank under the inftuence of some overwhelming torrent, and Mr. Frost 
seems inclined to fix the period when this accident occurred, at the time of 
the great ftood in 1256. In an agreement, made in 1269, between the Lady 
Joanna Stute'rille and the Archbishop of York, mention is made of the former 
and her predecessors having had long previously enjoyed the privilege of 
putting down an iron chain across the river Hull at a place called Stan­
fordrak, from sunset to sunrise, in the time of war and tumult, for the secu­
rity of the country against foreigners and disturbers of the peace. 

• Frost's Notices, p. 116. 
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After the change in the course of the Hull, the buildings were gradually 
transferred from the ba.nka of the old river to those of the new channel; and 
when the town had attracted the attention of Edward I., sufficient time bad 
elapsed to render the tzanafer and general appearance of the town complete. 
The recent edifices had spread over the greater pa.rt of the space which may 
now be denominated the old town, and nearly all dle principal streets there 
were at that time in existence. From Hull Street (now High Street), which 
lay parallel with the river, to the qua.ys and wharfs, where the business of 
the port was transacted, there were several communications by means of 
staithcs or n&rrow passages, most of which yet remain. The freedom of 
passage conferred upon the burgesses by their charter, caused them to estab­
lish a ferry across the Hull; but Sir John de Sutton, Knt., then Lord of the 
Manor of Sutton, and owner of the lands on the Holdemess side of the river, 
where the ferry lay, claimed, by descent from his ancestors, the ex.clueive 
right of passage across that river at Drypool, as appurtenant to his lands 
there. Having procured a writ of ad quod damnum to be directed to the 
Sheriff of Yorkshire, an inquisition was taken thereof, in the .36th of Edward 
I. (1307), when the jurors recognized the complainant's right to the ferry. 

A few particulars of the death of Edward I., the repuud founder of the 
town, will be found in vol. i., page 133, of this history. In the lOth of 
Edward II. (1317), Sir Robert Hastings, Knt., was, by letters p&teut, made 
Custos or Warden of Hull during life; and for his courage and valour, 
as well as some noble and heroic deeds that he had done against the Scots, 
he was high in favour with his Sovereign. He had, moreover, the grau.t 
of the King's fee farm rents issuing out of this town, Myton, and Tup­
coatee, amounting in the whole to £70. per annum.* This year the King 
issued a proclamation to the Sheriff of Yorkshire, that no goods should 
be sold in the port of Hull before they were landed. Two years af\er Sir 
Robert Hastings waited upon the King, at York, and obtained a grant of him 
to lay a toll for the space of seven years, upon all such commodities as should 
be exposed in the market for sale, and the money to be employed in the 
paving of the streets. This toll, which was upon every quarter of corn, one 
farthing; upon every horse, mare, or cow, one penny; upon every salmon, 
one farthing; upon every lamprey, one farthing; upon every hundred of 
alum and copperas, one halfpenny ; upon every hundred of stockfish, one 
halfpenny, &c., proved sufficiently productive for the purposes for which it 
was designed; the streets were everywhere well-paved and made commodious 

• Tickell's Hull, p. 16. 
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aud neat. Historians tell us that all the stones made use of for this purpose 
were brought in ships from abroad. Leland says, that "at such tyme as al 
the tl'8de of stok.fisch for England cam from Isleland to Kingston, bycause 
&he burden of stokfisch was light, the shipes were balissed with great coble 
lltone brought out of Isleland, the which yn continuance paved al the toun 
el Kingeaton tboroughout." Camden gives pretty nearly the same account. 
Tickell thinks it more probable that they were brought from the Spurn Head, 
• p1aces adjacent, where plenty of them were to be had ; but Mr. Frost tells 
~that in the year 1400, paving stones constituted a part of the cargoes 
ot two Dutch vessels, which arrived in that year, the Marilmight, of Amster­
cl&m, baring brought to the port 40,000 ; and the Sknl&wyn, of Dordrecht, 
16,000. In both of these instances, be continues, the paving stones appear 
to have been imported on account of the masters of the vessels, and it is 
therefore not improbable that they were brought for the two-fold object of 
ballaBt while on boo.rd, and of sale for paving the streets when landed.* 

In 1~2 many of the burgesses petitioned the King, for the greater ealety 
and pm~enation of the place, to grant them a royal license for encompassing 
the town with ditches and castellated walls. The prayer of the petition was 
readily granted, and the fortification of the town commenced. In aid of the 
expenses of carrying on the work, a grant was made of certain tolls for five 
years; but the completion of the walls requiring further aid, another grant 
WB8 made in 1825, of one penny in the pound, on the value of all goods and 
merchandise coming into the town, as well by land as by water. The walls 
were standing in the reign of Henry VIII., when that monarch's librarian 
(LelaDd) peregrinated England and Wales. That celebrated antiquary," who 
ootid a bole worlde of thinges very memorable," writes, that in the reign of 
Richard II., "The towne of Kingston-upon-Hnll waxed very rich, and Michael 
de la Pole, merchant there, was made Count of Suffolk ; in whose tyme the 
towne was wonderfully augmented in building, and was enolosyed with ditches, 
and the wall begun, and yn continuance endyd and made all of brike, as most 
part of the house& of the towne at that tyme was. In the wall (be adds) be 
blr principal gates of brike, and ;m one af them a posteme. Betwixt Miton-
8'1&8 and Bazelle (Resale) gate there be three tours of brike; and from them 
to the haven mouth lie ftve tours of brike. .Micbael de la Pole builded a 
goodly laouse of brike again the north end of St. Mary's Church, like a palace, 
with goodly orchard and garden encloeyed with brike. He also builded three 
houses in the towne, whereof eYery one has a tour of brike. "t Camden like­
wile deecribes the walls as being built of brick. 

• Frost'& Notices, p. 61. + Itin., vol. i., p. 4.9. 
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Antiquarians differ as to whether the original fortifications of Hull con­
sisted of a ditch only, or if there was a wall as well as a ditch, and whether 
the wall was built of stone or brick. Leland tells us that the art of brick 
making, or, as they had been anciently called, wall tiles, which had been 
lost, or had fallen into disuse since the Roman period, was revived in Britain 
in the reign of Richard IT.; and, as we have just seen, that the walls of Hull 
were built of brick in that reign. 

Gent, in his History of Hull, says, that by the charter of Edward II., in 
1822, "the inhabitants were empowered to build their houses for the future 
of lime and stone, and to make a wall, as designed by his predecessor, with 
a mote for their greater security." Dr. Charles Littl£"ton, late Bishop of 
Carlisle, and President of the Society of Antiquaries in 1757, who wrote a 
Dissertation on the antiquity of brick buildings in England posterior to the 
time of the Romans, which was read before that society on the 20th of Jan­
uary, in the same year, has" no doubt that a stone wall was theu built, and 
a moat made in consequence of this grant," for in the first of Richard II. 
(1878), according to Gent, he adds, that King "sent to Hull, to have the 
town put into a posture of defence, the long and happy reign of his prede­
cessor having rendered their walls and ditches useless; but now the case 
being altered, the King commanded them to be repaired at the expense of the 
town." In tl1e same paper the Bishop statos that in September, 1756, he 
carefully examined the walls of Hull, and found part of the towers between 
Beverley and North Gates still standing, and entirely composed of brick ; 
but that the part which stretched from the north Blockhouse towards Dry­
pool Church, for a considerable length, was built of stone, but faced with 
brick. "This might lead one to suspect," he writes, "that the whole wall 
which surrounds the town had been faced in the same manner, and con~ 
quently might have been the work of a later age than the time of Richard IT. 
I should indeed," he continues, "have embraced this opinion, had the town 
been first strengthened with a wall by De la Pole, as Leland asserts; but as 
Mr. Gent mentions a royal charter from King Edward IT., to empower the 
inhabitants to build a stone wall, as designed by his predecessor; and a toll 
granted in consequence thereof; and we find Richard n. sending his orders 
to repair their walls, on an apprehension of the French and Scots invading 
England; I see no room to doubt of De la Pole's repairing with brick the 
old stone wall, and building the towers of the same materials." 

Mr. Frost contends that the walls were built originally of brick, in the 
year 1822, and as to the use of the words stone and lime in the grant of 
Edward IT., he thinks it was probably the nsual language of licenses to 
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fortify, adopted in consequence of stone being the principal material then used 
for the fortification of buildings. Tiles, he says, were partially used in Hull 
in the reign of Edward II., and in proof of this assertion be states, on the 
authority of the town's records, that in a requisition taken in 1321, res· 
pecting the state of the manor of My ton, it is mentioned, that Sir Robert de 
Hastang, Knt., then Custos of the manor, had, in the preceding year, un­
rooj«l the buildings of a messuage in Lyle Street (now Mytongate), and had 
aold 8,000 tiles belonging to it for the sum of lOa. " The fact of the walls 
having been made of brick, ·• continues the same writer, "is not only sup· 
portBd by the testimony of many persons now living, within whose memory 
they were taken down, but by the exposure of the foundations, which have 
been lately dug up in dift'erent places. The bricks taken from these founda· 
tions, like those in the chancel of Trinity Church, at Hull, are of Flemish 
shape, and similar to those which are groined in between the stone ribs of 
the vaulting over the passages through the Checqner or Western Gate of the 
Cathedral Close at Lincoln, the date of which is about the year 1850." He 
moreover states that in 1821, which was about the time when the walls 
were raised, William De la Pole had a tilery or brick yard, without the north 
gaw of the town.• The town's records mention that a new brick yard was 
establiBbed here in 1357, at the west side of the Humber. The walls of 
Hull were frequently repaired and strengthened, and the town, from its 
situation, was considered an impregnable fortress. From an accurate mea· 
surement, taken before the military works were demolished, it appears that 
the walla of Hull were 2,610 yards in circuit, being SO yards less than 1t 
mile. For several centuries aftA!r the building of its walls, the town was 
confined between the Humber to the south, the Hull to the east, and the 
walls to the north and west ; beyond these limits all is modern. In the 5th 
of Edward m . (1881) the office of Custos or Warden of Hull was abolished, 
and the government of the borough was confided by royal charter to a Mayor 
and four Bailiffs, to be chosen annually. 

In the reign of Edward II., the family of De la Pole flourished at Hull; 
and u the history of that illustrious house is intimately connected with that 
of Hull, we shall here briefly review it. Few towns can boast of having given 
rise to eo celebrated a family ; emerging from comparative obscurity to emi­
nence, flourishing in such splendour, and experiencing such a variety of 
fortune. William de la Pole, second son of a knight of that name, was a 
native of Ravenspur, and an eminent merchant in that once rich and pop.u· 

• Frost's Notices, pp. Ul, u.~. 
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lous seaport. Iu consequence of the decline of hie native to\vn, he took up 
hie abode at Hull, where he carried on an extensive commerce, and acquired 
immense wealth. 

In 1332 Edward Ill., on his way to join his army in the north, paid a 
visit to Hull, and was entertained by Willliam de la Pole with the greatest 
possible magnificence. Being highly pleased with the excellent fortifications 
of the place, and the reception he had met with, the monarch knighted hie 
generous host before he took his departure. Tickell tells us that it was on 
this occasion he changed the government of the town from a Bailiff to the 
more honourable degree and dignity of a Mayor and four Bailiffs; but Mr. 
Frost states that the charter conveying this grant is dated 6th of May, 
1881.* Sir William de la Pole filled the office of Mayor in 1888, and again 
in the year 1885 ;t and other authorities state that he was the first Mayor 
of Hull, and that he continued iu that office for the first three years. 

During the war with France, which followed Edward's claim to that king· 
dem, from which he was excluded by the Salic law, the reader of English 
history is well aware of the straits to which that monarch was reduced, 
through the want of money to support his army. During his long stay at 
Brabant he endeavoured to borrow of all the foreign Princes who were 
able t.o supply him, and he even foWld himself under the necessity of apply­
ing to private persons to take up such sums as they were willing t.o lend.! 
Sir William de la Pole, who was then at Antwerp for the management of his 
mercantile concerns, not only supplied the King with a large sum of money, 
which he had with him, but he also mortgaged the whole of his estates for 
his use. This loan amounted to £18,500., and Sir William was styled by 
-the King" Dilectus Mercator noster," and "Mercator Regis."§ This act of 
loyal devotion was generously rewarded by Edward. He made Sir William 
a Knight-banneret in the field, and by letters patent conferred on him and 
his heirs 500 marks per ann. in crown rents, with a promise of an additional 
thousand marks per annum, in case he recovered his right of inheritance 
within the kingdom of France. As soon as the King returned victorious 
from France, he made Sir William first gentleman of the bed-chamber, then 
Lord of the Seigniory of Holderness, and he afterwards advanced him to other 
places of honour and emolument, and at length made him a Baron of the 

• Frost's Notices. t Tickell's Hull, p. 21. ! Rapin, Hist. Eng., vol. i., p. 418. 

1 This was an immense sum in those days, when wheat could be bought for 3s. 4d. a 
quarter, a fat sheep for 6d., and six pigeons for ld., and when the daily pay of an Earl 
attending the King in time of war was Os. 8d., in modem time11 the exact cost of a few 
minutes interview with an attorney. 
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Exchequer. In every stage of his progress Sir William continued a constant 
benefactor to the town of Kingston-upou-Hull, and availing himself of the 
favour of his Sovereign, he obtained for it an increase of its privileges and 
immunities; and the De la Poles became to this place what the Cliffords 
were to Skipton, and the Talbots to Sheffield. Before his death, which 
happened in 1356, he founded a monastery and hospital here, to the glory of 
God and the benefit of the poor; but he was summoned from this world 
before the house was complete, and his son and successor, Sir Michael de la 
Pole, completed the pious work. 

Sir .Michael was no less a favourite with Richard II. than his father had 
been with Edward ID. In 1886 that monarch made him Lord Chan­
cellor of England ; and having married Catherine, eldest daughter of Sir 
John Wingfield, who married Elizabeth, daughter and heir of Gilbert Gran­
villa, Earl of Suffolk, he was advanced to that Earldom, and a revenue of 
£520. per ann. was granted him for the support of his dignity. The newly­
created Earl erected a splendid mansion in Hull, called afterwards Suffolk's 
Palace, opposite to the west end of the church of St. Mary, "in a place at 
that time called Marketgate," but now known as Lowgate, and extending 
backwards as far as Par~ment Street. The entrance to this spacious edifice 
was through a lof'ty and grand gateway, over which were erected two cham­
bers. At the end of a passage leading to the gateway, upwards of thirty 
yards long and six broad, stood a spacious and handsome tower, three stories 
high, covered with lead, in which were chambers, eighteen feet squat'('. Ad­
joining this tower was a court yard, containing two roods of ground, neatly 
covered with a large square pavement, and each side of the yard was adorned 
with elegant buildings. At the 'vest end was a beautiful range of buildings, 
which occupied the whole side of the square; on one side was a large hall, 
built of brick and stone, sixty feet long and forty broad ; and on the other 
aide were pantries, with lodging roomR over them, a large kitchen, twenty 
feet square, and other offices. North of this court lay another yard, neatly 
walled, containing about an acro of land, ornamented with fish ponds, and a 
beautiful dove-cote ; and to the west of this was a pleasant spot of ground, 
containing two acres of pasture, enclosed with a brick wall, nine feet high. 
Before the great hall window was a delightful flower garden, of upwards of 
an acre, and contiguous to it was the kitchen garden. On the north side of 
a court, of about one rood in extent, stood a beautiful chapel, supposed to 
have been dedicated to St. Michael. This chapel, which was twenty-eight 
feet in length and fifteen in breadth, was built of brick and stone, and was 
covered with lead. Besides this noble palace, tho Earl of Suffolk erected 
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three other splendid houses, adorned with stately towers, two of which stood 
within the town, but the other was situated a short distance from it, and 
commanded an extensive and delightful prospect of the country adjacent.• 

The Earl, with other court favorites, became obnoxious to the people, by 
whom be was stigmatised as a flagrant public peculator. In less than a 
year of his being made Chancellor, he, by farming the King's customs, and 
by other emoluments, had purchased lands to the amount of £1000. per 
annum, besides accumulating large sums of money; and it wR.B strongly sus­
pected that he could not so suddenly have amaaeed so much wealth, but by 
the abuse of the royal favour. The Parliament therefore presented an address 
to the KiBg, desiring that the Treasurer, John de Fordain, Bishop of Dur­
ham, and the Earl of Suffolk, might be dismissed from their offices. To 
this address Richard indignantly replied that the Parliament ought to attend 
to the business about which they were called, and not to meddle with what 
did not belong to them ; and be haughtily added, that to please the Parlia­
ment be would not turn out the meanest scullion in his kitchen. The 
indignation of the Parliament was now aroused-the King was no longer 
able to protect his favourite, and the Earl was not only removed from his 
office of Chancellor, but also summoned to give an account of his adminis· 
tra.tion. The Duko of Gloucester, tbo E11rl of Arundel, with other Lords in 
commission, examined and tried him, and being found guilty of peculation or 
mal-administration, he was compelled to restore all the grants he had received 
from the King, and was confined to Windsor Castle.t But no sooner was 
the Parliament broken up, than the King recalled him to court, together with 
his other favourite, Robert de V ere, Duke of Ireland, whose estate had been 
confiscated. These two noblemen and Alexander N eville, Archbishop of 
York, were the only persons in whom Richard placed confidence. The Earl 
and the Duke were loaded with fresh favours, and as if he had intended to 
make satisfaction to the Earl for what he had suffered; the King caused him 
to be clothed in royal robes, and to sit at table with him.: The restored 
favourites endeavoured to improve the royal favour to their own advantage, 
and the ruin of their enemies, among whom the chief were the Duke of 
Gloucester and the Earl of Arundel, who, by a strict examination of their 
conduct, had occasioned their condemnation ; but the Duke of Gloucester and 
the other lords seeing their destruction determined on, assembled an army 
of about 40,000 men, marched at their head to the King, and denouncing the 

• Tickcll"s Hull, pp. 30, 40. t Knigbton's Collection, p . 2680. 
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ministers as traitors, demanded their removal and punishment. The King 
(oond it necessary to give a favourable answer; and the accused peers con­
sulted their own safety by absenting themselves from court. They were 
afterwards accused in Parliament of high treason, and the Earl of Suffolk 
and the Archbishop of York were condemned to exile, and their estates con­
fiscated. Thus hurled from his high state of greatness and splendour, 
Michael de la Pole, Earl of Suffolk, retired into France in 1889, and died at 
Paris in the same year. 

In 1402 Michael de la Pole, the second Earl of Suffolk of that name, was 
restored to the titles and estates of his father, and accompo.nied Henry V. in 
his first expedition to France. During the siege of Harfleur he greatly dis­
tinguished himself, and gave many signal proofs of his courage and military 
capacity. But the fatigues of the siege, and the unusual heat of the season, 
produced a malignant disease, which made dreadful ravages in the army, and 
the Earl fell a victim to it on the. 18th of September, 1415, leaving his 
honours and estates to his eldest son Michael, who had likewise attended the 
King in this expedition, and was then at Harfleur. This, the third Earl of 
Suffolk, did not long enjoy his title, for in a few weeks after the death of his 
father, he was slain, valiantly fighting by the side of his Sovereign, in the 
memorable battle of Agincourt, which WM fought on the ~Gth of October, 
141(). Two of his brothers also, not long after, lost their lives in France in 
the same contest. 

William de la Pole, the fourth Earl of Suffolk (brother to the third Earl), 
was distinguished alike in the field and in the cabinet. He made twenty­
four campaigns in France, and served seventeen years on tbe continent with­
out ever returning to his native country. When the English were extending 
their conquests in France, in the beginning of the reign of Henry VI., this 
Earl bore a distinguished p&rt in the war, and gained many signal victories ; 
and on the death of that renowned general, the Earl of Salisbury, at the 
memorable siege of Orleans, in 1428, the chief command of the besieging 
army devolved on the Earl of Suffolk, who continued the attacks with una­
bated vigour. But the laurels which the army had gathered began to wither 
in his keeping ; the heroic deeds of that military and political prodigy-the 
Maid of Orleans-tum~ the fortune of the war, and ultimately expelled the 
English from the French territory. After the return of William de la Pole 
to England, he was employed in some important embMsies, and it was he 
that proposed the marriage of the King (Henry VI.) with Margaret of Anjou, 
daughter of Rene, titular King of Sicily, Naples, and Jerusalem, and Duke 
of Anjou. The negociation of this marriage was also confided to the Earl, 
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and he, with a tJplendid train of Lords, v.·as empowered by the King to 
espouse the Princess :Margaret in his name, and to conduct her into England. 
At the same time he was advanced to the dignity of Marquis of Suffolk. 
The nuptials were accordingly solemnized by proxy in the church .of St. 
Martin, at Tours, in the presence of the King and Queen of France, the 
Dukes of Orleans and Bretagne, and of seven Earls, twelve Barons, and 
twenty Bishops, besides an immense number of Knights and gentlemen. In 
the month of May, 1445, the Queen arrived in England, and on the 30th 
of the same month she was solemnly crowned. Suffolk afterwards sunk in 
public estimation, but rose in favour at court, and in 1448, be was, through 
the inBuence of the Queen, created Duke of Suffolk. 

In the following year the war between England and France was renewed, 
and the loss of Normandy, which followed, was attributed to Suffolk, and the 
whole kingdom rang with complaints against him. He was publicly accused 
of having delivered Maine, the key of Normandy, to the French, for the 
accomplishmtont of a marriage advantageous to none but himself-the whole 
province of Maine having been ceded to France, as one of the conditions of 
the treatJ of marriage between the King and Margaret of Anjou.* He was 
further charged 'vith having murdered the Duke of Gloucester, and with 
having removed from the King's presence all virtuous counsellors, and filled 
their places with his own creatures. These and several other crimes, some 
of them indeed improbable, were imputed to him, and the popular clamour 
was loud against him. In a word, his name was become odious, and every 
mismanagement in the administration was imputed to him as its author. In 
the beginning of the year 1450 the Parliament met, and the Commons pre­
sented to the Lords an indictment against him, containing for substance the 
charges before mentioned, with some others.t The Duke answered those 
charges by a formal denial of the greatest part of them, and challenged his 
accusers to produce their proofs; but the court, alarmed at his situation, 
and desirous to withdraw him from the impending storm, devised an expe­
dient to prese"e him from that fate which there was reason to apprehend 
might bo the consequence of a formal trial. The Duke was advised to refer 
himself to the King's award, who, by his own authority, banished him for 
five years. This irregular mode of proceeding was adopted in the hope that 
the hatred of his enemies might abate, and the clamours of the people 
subside by that time, after which be might return to England, and have 
ample compensation made him for his sufferings. But his enemies foreseeing 

• RapiD, vol. i., p. 669. t lbid, "'ith Tindall"s notes, \"Ol. i., p. :\74. 
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that on the first favourable opportunity he would be recalled, and reinstated 
in his former power, were determined on his destruction. He was accor­
dingly met on his passage to France by an English ship, called the Nicholas, 
belonging to his enemy the Duke of Exeter, Constable of the Tower, the 
captain of which seized the Duke, brought him into Dover road, and struck 
off his bead on the side of a long boat. Thus fell the most powerful man in 
the kingdom-who, in twenty-four campaigns, distinguished himself at the 
head of the English armies in France, and had lost his grandfather, his 
father, two uncles, and his brother, in the wars of that kingdom; who had 
niled the cabinet of London, had been a Privy Councillor fifteen years, and 
for thirty years a Knight of the Garter; and no enquiry was made after the 
perpetrators of this illegal act of violence. His mutilated body \vas found 
upon the sands at Dover, by one of his chaplains, and buried, as Hall informs 
us, in the Collegiate church of Wingfield, in SuffolK, but according to Stowe, 
in the Charter House of Kingston-upon-Hull.* By his will, dated January, 
27th, 1460, he desired that his "wretched body" should be buried "in the 
Charter House at Hull, with a fair monument." 

Whatever might be his errors as a minister of state, William de la Pole 
was to Hull a distinguished benefactor, and this town received through his 
influence numerous marks of royal favour. From this unfortunate noblcmo.n 
was descended John de la Pole, Duke of Suffolk, who married Elizabeth 
Plantagenet, sister of King Edward IV. and Richard m., and by her had 
issue John de la Pole, Earl of Lincoln. This Earl aspired to the throne, 
and Richard m., after the death of his only son, the Prince of Wales, de­
clared the Earl of Lincoln presumptive heir to the Crown. But the battle 
of Bosworth Field, which was fought on the 22nd of August, 1485, destroyed 
these aspiring hopes, by placing Henry, Earl of Richmond, on the throne. 
Lincoln submitted to this disappointment with an ill grace, and he resolved 
to lose no opportunity that might present itself, for accomplishing the ruin of 
the young monarch. Accordingly he was one of the leaders in the rebellion 
which broke out the next year in Ireland, in favour of the impostor, Lambert 
Simnel, who personated the Earl of Warwick. (See vol. i., p. 178.) Lincoln 
was killed in a battle, fought between the insurgents and the King's forces, 
at Stoke, in Nottinghamshire, and his brother, Edmund de la Pole, was the 
laat of that family who bore the title of Earl of Suffolk. This unfortunate 
nobleman was, through the jealous temper of Henry VII., detained a prisoner 
in the Tower for seven years, on a charge of conspiring against the state; 

• Hall, fol. 168. Stowe, p. 838. 
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and he was beheaded by order of his successor, Henry VIII., without the 
formality of a trial, in the 4th year of that monarch's reign. Historians are 
not agreed concerning the motives that induced Henry to commit this act of 
violence on a person from whom he could have nothing to fear. By the at­
tainder of the last Earl of Suffolk, all the revenues and manors of that noble 
family \Vere confiscated to the King's use, and the family, which arose from 
a mercantile station, and ftourisbed in great splendour for about 120 years, 
became extinct in the male line by the death of the younger brother William, 
who Bed to Italy, and \Vas killed at the battle of Pavia in 1525. 

Besides the splendid family mansion at Hull, the De la Poles had a mag­
nificent palace at Ewehne, in Oxfordshire, built by William, Earl of Suffolk, 
about the year 1424. This Earl bad the manor of Ewelme in marriage with 
Alice, widow of the Earl of Salisbury, and the daughter and heiress of Sir 
Thomas Chauccr, Knt., son of Geoffrey Chaucer, the father of English poetry. 

The celebrated Cardino.l Pole, Archbishop of Canterbury, was allied to the 
De la Poles of Suffolk. This distinguished prelate was the youngest son of 
Sir Richard Pole, a gentleman of an ancient family in Wales, and Margaret, 
daughter of the Duke of Clarence, brother of Edward IV., and also to Eliza­
beth, the last Earl of Suffolk's mother ; whence it appears that the Cardinal's 
mother was the Earl's firBt cousin. 

Having thus sketched the history of the De la Poles, who greatly oontri­
buted to the prosperity of Hull, we must now return to what more immediately 
relates to the town, and view its continual progress in trade and opulence. 

So oarly as the year 1314 about thirty ships were required by Edward U. 
to assemble at Kingston-upon-Hull, preparatory to an expedition against 
Scotland; and on that occasion two ships were to be furnished by Hull, and 
one each by Ravenser, Barton, Grimsby, and Boston; Yarmouth being the 
only port which was to provide three. In the 33rd of Edward ID. (1359), 
Hull had attained a considerable rank in the list of maritime towns, for in 
that year, the King, having resolved to invade France, sent to every sea-port 
within his kingdom, requiring of each a certain number of ships and mariners, 
according to the ability of the place; and the quota for Hull consisted of 16 
ships and 466 seamen ; whilst 2:S ships and 662 mariners was the whole 
oomplement furnished by London; and 1 f ships and 814 seamen for New­
castle. Until the 14th century this country poBSeBsed no regular navy, the 
maritime foroe of the kingdom consisting only of merchants' ships and vessels, 
which were pressed into the service whenever any extraordinary oooasion 
rendered their assistance necessary. But beside the occasional employment 
of merchants' veBBels in the King's service, barges were frequently required 
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to be built at the expense of the inhabitants of maritime towns, towards 
forming a permanent navy. 

Since the foundation of the town, the inhabitants of Hull bad ever laboured 
under great inconvenience for want of fresh water; and in the last year of 
this reign (1876), the Mayor and Burgesses represented to the King that the 
town being situated upon tho eoe.st of tho river Humber, and built upon a 
salt soil, was greatly deficient in that important article; nor could they pro­
cure any but such as was brought in boats out of Lincolnshire at a consider­
able expense; that the neighbouring towns of Hessle, Anlaby, Cottingham, 
and others, unmoTed by their distress, bad combined together, and absolutely 
refused them any supply of their fresh water; and that the town o£ Hull 
would, in a short time, be totally ruined, unless his MeJesty would be gra­
ciously pleased to point out some method by which their want of water might 
be effectually relieved. The King immediately issued a commission to 
Michael de la Pole and others, who met and determined that a large canal 
should be immediately cut, from Anlaby spring, forty feet wide, to convey 
fresh water to Hull. The inhabitants of the adjacent towns, however, com­
plained to his Majesty, and among other objections, stated that the making 
o£ such a canal would considerably injure their lands; whereupon another 
commiBSion was issued, and a jury empannelled. In the midst of these con­
tentions died the valiant and renowned King Edward m., in 1877, in the 
64th year of his age, and 51st yenr of his reign, and was succeeded by his 
grandson, the unfortunate Richard II., son of Edward the Dlnck Prince. 

Long, and in some instances fatal, contests existed between the town of 
Hull and the Tillages, upon the subject of freah water, for some years, till at 
length the Sovereign Pontiff of ROme found it necessary to interpose the 
authority of the Vatican. 

The town of Kingston-upon-Hull did not rank high at this period as re­
gards ita population. The number of its inhabitants was estimated at about 
2,000. The number of persons in the town above 14 years of age, that was 
tued in 1887, and from which taxation the population was calcnlated, was 
1,657. The number of persons taxed at the same time in the neighbouring 
town of Beverley was 2,668. 

From a very early period the Archbishops of York, lords of the town of 
Beverley, claimod and possessed th·e right of prisages on wine,* and customs 

• l'riMige mean• "the right of taking two tuns of wine from everr ship, Eql.iah or 
foreign, importing into Englo.nd twenty tuna or more; one to be taken before, and the 
other behind the mast."-Blacbtone's Com., vol. i., p. 31:1. Each cask may be redeemed 
by a money payment of 20s. 

YOL. JI . E 
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on other merchandise brought into the river or port of Hull. A charter, 
gnmtcd so early as the 51st of Henry III. {1267), mentions it as a prescrip­
tive right to the See of York. The town of Hull now began to contest the 
rights of Deverley on the river, which they had formerly passed "as freely as 
tho winds of heaven;" and to nullify the Archbishop's claim to prisage 
within the town and port. The merchants had already resorted to some 
fraudulent practices, for the purpose of evading the payment of these 
prises. To elude this claim, they bad adopted the nefarious custom of de· 
livering their cnrgoes in the Humber, and sending the contents into the 
harbour in vessels of smaller dimensions; by which the Archbishop was un· 
justly deprived of his prisage. This practice had been occasionnl.ly carried 
on for more than half a century, and he now determined to enforce, in person, 
the restitution of his ancient rights. Several suits at law were ineffectually 
prosecuted; and the Archbishop still maintained his ancient privileges. The 
people of Hull seemed now determined to obtain by violence what could not 
be accomplished by due course of law. A favourable opportunity soon 
occurred. Archbishop Neville being at Hull, and personally contending the 
matter with the Mayor, Sir Thomas de Waltham, was attacked by the latter 
and his bailiffs, and a long tmin of followers. The Mayor suddenly wrested 
the crozier out of the prelate's hands, and striking one of the Archbishop's 
attendants with it, was the signal for a general assault, and some blood was 
spilt in the seuffic. " The enraged Knight," says Tickell, " perhaps to give 
weight to his argument, wounded several of the Bishop's party with the 
crozier." Complaint of this outrage being made to the King, the Mayor, 
his bailiffs, and several others, were summoned to Westminster, to answer 
for the riot, but there are no records to shew bow the affair ended. But after 
the lapse of a whole century of expensive litigation bet,veen the Crown and 
the Archbishop, judgment was given for the King, chiefly on the ground that 
the charter did not contain the words " Prisas Yini " in express terms. After 
this decision the Archbishops did not claim prisage, but there were other 
franchises and liberties which, as lords of the port of Hull, they still claimed 
in the river. 

During the reign of Richard II., the kingdom was threatened with great 
danger; the French, with a powerful army, ready to invade it; the Scots, 
their allies, had taken possession of Berwick ; and the King was at variance 
with his nobles. At this critical juncture the town of Hull, grateful for the 
many privileges which it had received, raised many soldiers, and fitted up 
two large ships, well equipped and manned, for his Majesty's service. 

The fortifications of Hull underwent considerable repairs about the same 
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time, the ditches were cleansed, and a strong Castie, for the security of the 
town and harbour, was erected on the east side of the river Hull 

In 1882 this monarch, to whom the town of Hull has been indebted for 
many favours, obtained doubtless at the solicitation of Michael de la Pole, 
Earl of Suffolk, revived all the old charters, and enlarged the privileges of 
the town ; and towards the latter end of his reign he granted to the burgesses 
and their successors for ever, the river or haven of the town, then known as 
Sayer's Creek, from Sculcoates gate to the middle of the stream of the Humber. 

In 1885 Richard, in consideration of their loyalty, promised the inhabitants 
of the town, that neither he nor his successors would ever mortmain any lands 
to their detriment, and that they should have a large common seal, consisting 
of two parts, the upper part to remain in the custody of the Mayor, and the 
other part to be deposited in the hands of a clerk appointed by the King or 
his successors. 

In the spring of the year 1392 about 1,000 of the inhabitants of Cotting­
ham, Woolferton, Anlaby, and other neighbouring villages, assembled in a 
tumultuous manner to obto.in satisfaction from the people of Hull, for depri­
ving them of their fresh water. They laid siege to that town, threatening to 
raze it to the ground, diverted the course of the canals, and filled them up; 
and they also prevented provisions from being conveyed into the town from 
the country. Finding that they were not able to intimidate the inhabitants of 
Hull, they withdrew in great disorder, and encamped at Cottingham. How 
long they continued together, or what other acts of hostility they committed, 
is not recorded, but at the Yorkshire Assizes following many of them received 
sentence of death, and were executed, and others wero pardoned on certain 
conditions. In 1899, when the Duke of Lancaster (afterwards Henry IV.), 
landed at Ravenspume, and was joined by several of the discontented nobles, 
(See vol. i., page 146) for the purpose of deposing the King, the town of 
Kingston-apon-Hull continued firm in its loyalty to Richard, though this 
part of the country was in general well affected to the Duke. When tho 
Mayor (John Tutbury) heard of their approach, he ordered the bridges to bo 
drawn up, the gates to be shut, and the burgesses to stand to arms; and 
when the Duke and his followers appeared before the town, and demanded 
immediate entrance, the Mayor refused the request, and told the Duke that 
he bad sworn .to be true to his Sovereign Richard II., and faithfully to keep 
the town for his use, and that he was fully resolved to do his duty, and never 
to prove false to his oath nor a traitor to his King. On receiving this loyal 
and resolnte answer, the Duke and his associates withdrew, and immediately 
marched to Doncaster. 
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In the 2nd of Henry IV. {1401) the inhabitants again complained res­
pecting the inconvenience they were put to in procuring a supply of fresh 
water. It was then decided that a canal, twelve feet broad, should be cut 
from Julian's Well into the fields of Anlaby, to be connected with the wells 
of Derringham and the spring of Haltemprice, and a decree was obtained for 
the purpose. Dut another riot ensued. A number of the neighbouring 
villagers attacked and abused the workmen engaged in digging the canal, 
and annoyed them in every possible manner, by filling up the canal, and by 
committing several other outrages. Dut o.s the number of the rioters was 
not very considerable, they were soon after dispersed, and many of them 
taken prisoners. After being detained for some time in prison at Hull, these 
delinquents were pardoned on condition that they publicly prayed mercy and 
forgiveness from tho Mayor, Uailiffs, and Commonnlty, and went" bare hroc, 
and bare fote, naked of bodi in serk and broke, before proccssyon on the 
Friday in the Fcst of Nativiti of our Ladi, ilk one wyth a serge in his hand 
of thre pond wax bimand in his baude, about the Kirk of the Trinity, and 
held ye serge bimand in the chancel, fro beginning of the Mass unto time of 
offering, and then offered the serge up, to brync in Halidays, whilk wil last 
in remembrance in part of satisfauction of their trespaus; " and this they 
were to do cYcry year. 

In 1413, and for some years preceding, the inhabitants of Hessle, Anlaby, 
nud Cottingham, notwithstanding the severitics inflicted upon former offen­
ders, frequently corrupted the fresh water, by throwing in carrion, or letting 
salt water into the canals; and damaged the works that had b(..'Cn made for 
convoying the water to Hull. The magistrates of Hull, who had in vain 
offered great rewards for the discovery of the offenders, bccnme, at length, so 
incensed at the obstinacy of these malicious and daring offenders, who could 
not be restricted through fear of temporal punishment, that they earnestly 
besought Pope John XXI. to make use of the censures of the church against 
them. Dut instea..l of hurling against them the thunders of the V nticau, the 
Holy Father issued an extraordinary writing, dated at Rome the 20th of 
July, 1413, reminding those, who, at the instigation of Satan, l1ad cndca­
Youred to ruin the inhabitants of n large and flourishing to'vn, by depriving 
them of water, that they must gh·e n strict account of their deeds at the day 
of judgment, to receive according to their works; and exhorting and praying 
every one of them, by the bowels of charity, to contribute freely to the main­
tenance of the wator courses, by which means they would in some measure 
atone for their past offences. And all who should be instrumental in 
promoting this public work, hy gr•n<>rousl~· contlihuting thereto, wrl'e pro-
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mised the release of 100 days in any penance that was already or might 
hereafter be enjoined them. The good effects of this instrument were 
astonishing. all attempts to corrupt or poiaon the water, or to fill up the 
canals, ceased, and the towu, from that time, has been plentifully supplied 
with the pure beverage of nature. 

Henry V. granted a new charter to the town of Hull, and the town supplied 
the King with ~~everal ships of great burthcn, and many soldiers for his 
expedition against France. 

Henry VI., in U31, confirmed the old charters and granted a new one, 
by which the town was erected into a county, its jurisdiction extending over 
the towns and parishes of Hessle, North Ferriby, Swanland, West Ells, 
Kirk Ella, Trauby, Willardby, Wooferton, Anlaby, and the site of the Priory 
of Haltemprice. The same charter constituted Kingston-upon-Hull a Corpo­
rate town, and granted that instead of a Mnyor and Bniliffs, there should be 
a Mayor, Sheriff, and twelve Aldermen, who should be Justices of the Peace 
within the town and county; likewise, that the Mayor should be chosen by the 
burgesees from the Aldermen ; the Sheriff and two Chamberlains from the 
burg('88e8; that tho Mayor should be the King's escheator to determine what 
forfeitures of lands fell to the Crown for want of heirs ; the Sheriff to be his 
assistant, and both to ha'fe such powers as are granted to officers of that 
rank in other parts of the kingdom. For crimes committed within the 
town, the burgesses were to answer before the Mnyor and Sheriff; but if 
the case could not be decided before them, then it was to be referred to the 
Judge of Assize. The sword and mace was also granted to the Mayor, with 
a Cap of maintenance. 

Henry being unsuccessful in the war be was waging with France, having 
lost many of the towns which his father had taken in that country, sent a 
letter, dated at his manor of Skenc, the 24th of August, 1441, addressed to 
the Mayor and Aldermen of Hull, to solicit a loan of a certain sum of money, 
to enable him to proseeuto the war. The King's request was generously 
complied with, but the sum advanced on this occasion is not recorded. In 
l-l41 it was ordained, by common consent, at the Town Hall, that the Mayor, 
dnring his year of office, should not sell ale or wine in his house; that when­
ever he appeared in public, the sword should be carried before him, and his 
officers should attend him; that the Sheriff sltould al'vays attend church and 
council meetings in his gown, with the mace carried before him, and his 
officers wniting upon him ; and that no Aldermen should keep alehouses or 
taverns, nor discover what passed in their councils, under heavy penalties. 
In U43 the town was diYidt'>d into six w1nds, each (I( them governed by two 
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Aldermen, and the Mayor presiding as head of the whole. The Aldermen 
were obliged to reside within their respective wards; and for crimes com­
mitted in each of these divisions, the offenders were tried and disposed of by 
the Aldermen of the ward wherein they had transgressed, and not before 
the Mayor. By this division the town was, as it were, cautoned out into 
six little territories, which had bars and gates that were shut up every 
night. These divisions were called-Humber Ward, Austin Ward, Trinity 
Ward, White Friar Ward, St. Mary's Ward, and North Ward. 

The anniversary of the dedications of churches, commonly called Fea~u, 
lV aku, or Ala, which were first instituted for good and pious purposes, and 
which had for a long time been devoutly and religiously kept, had now lost 
their religious character, and those anniversaries were frequently spent in riot 
and debauchery. The feasts of the dedication of the churches of St. Mary and 
the Holy Trinity at Hull, fell on the 8th and lOth of March, which being in 
Lent, the magistrates petitioned the Archbishop of York to translate them to 
other days more convenient, and order the celebration of them both to be on 
the Sunday next after the feast of St. Thomas a Becket. The Archbishop 
complied with the petition, and these revels were continued here upon that 
day till the reign of Charles I.* 

On the 26th of June this year, the King granted another charter to the 
town of Hull, by which the Corporation were empowered to purchase to the 
value of £100. per ann., to enable them to defend and preserve the town from 
the inundations of the river Humber. In 1447 the King confirmed the 
privileges, both of the town and the new made county ; and he granted that, 
after the decease of the Duke of Exeter and his son, they might choose an 
Admiral, whose jurisdiction was to extend over the whole of the county of 
Kingston-upon-Hull, the village and precincts of Drypool, and all the river 
Humber; and that no other Admiral of England should have power or au­
thority within his limits. 

In the month of September, 1448, Henry made a progress into the north, 
and having passed some days with the Duke of Northumberland at Leckon-

• On the evening preceding the Saint's day, in whose honour the church was conse­
crated, it was usual for the religious people to nsscmble in the church, nnd there watch 
nnd pray all night; nnd this watching or waking, being kept nn the eves of the festi,·als, 
were called Vigil~. The first intention of this watching was good nnd pious, but, by 
degrees, greater numbers attending, less devotion and reverence were observed; till at 
length, from hawkers nnd pedlars coming thither to sell their petty wares, the merchants 
came and set up stolls nnd booths in the church-yards; nnd not only those who lived in 
the parish, to whom the church bolonged, resorted thither, but others from all the 
neighbouring towns and \'illii(I"S. 
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field, he honourtld Hull with a vi:;it, lllld was received by the people with the 
loudest demonstrations of joy and loyal affection ; and was entertained by the 
Corporation for two or three days, with all possible magnificence. 

During the great civil war between the rival houses of York and Lancaster, 
the inhabitants of Hull were not unmindful of the obligations they owed to 
their Sovereign, and to the last they continued firm and unshaken in their 
tidclity to Henry. According to the town's records, large levies of men were 
made during the contest, and a debt to a very large amount was contracted. 
In the battle of Wakefield, Richard Hanson, Esq., the brave Mayor of Hull, 
having greatly distinguished himself by his valour and intrepidity, fell covered 
with wounds, in the moment of victory, in the presence of the Queen. At 
Towton, too, the blood of the people of Hull, who had volunteered in Henry's 
cause, flowed freely ; and such indeed was the loyalty of the inhabitants, 
that, in U62, when the public treasury of the borough was exhausted by the 
expenses of the war, the Corporation took down a large and stately market 
cross, which bad been erected at a great expense about thirty years before, to 
raise money, by the sale of the materials, for the support of the royal cause. 
When this cross was erected, Robert Holme, a \vealthy Alderman, and who 
bad thrice the honour of filling the civic chair, was the chief contributor. In 
gratitude, and to perpetuate his memory, we are told by Tickell, that the 
Corporation ordained, when the croaa was taken down, that Ss. 4d. should be 
given yearly for saying a dirge in the church of St. Mary, for the rest of his 
soul, to be sung by twelve priests and a clerk, who were to have 2s. 2d. 
divided amongst them ; for ringing the bells on the day of celebration, 6d. 
was given, and the same sum for wax candles to be burnt about his grave ; 
the bcllman for crying his name 2d., and a penny for a maaa penny, which 
the Mayor for the time being was yearly to offer.* 

On the elevation of Edward IV. to the throne, the town of Hull reluctantly 
acknowledged him as their Sovereign; but no sooner had Henry VI. again 
reeumed his royal seat, by the support of the Earl of Warwick, than they 
again professed their cordial allegiance to the restored monarch. And when 
Edward IV. landed at Ravenspume, in 1471, with an army of 2,000 men, be 
marched by the way of Beverley to York, without venturing to attack Hull, 
being aware of the people's attachment to King Henry. 

In 146-1 the haven of Hull was so warped up, that it was in danger of 
being totally ruined. To aid in liquidating the expense of clearing and 
restoring it to its former utility, a tax of Ss. 4d. was laid upon every ship of 
100 tons burden, each time that it entered the harbour. 

• Tickell's H.ist. Hull, p. 117. 
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In 1472 Hull was visited by the plague, which swept off a great number 
of the inhabitants, and amongst its victims was John Whitfield, Esq., the 
chief magistrate. For four years the disorder seemed to have ceased, but in 
1476 it broke out again with increased fury, and John Richardson, Esq., the 
Mayor, was of the number of its victims. Two years afterwards it raged so 
violently that 1,580 persons died in a short time, and Thomas Alcock, Esq., 
the Mayor, his wife, and all his children, died of the fatal distemper. On the 
17th of October, 1488, the procl11mation of Richard III., declaring the Duke 
of Buckingham, the Marquis of Dorset, Sir William Norcys, and others of 
the Duke's adherents, traitors, was publicly read at Hull; when a large 
reward was offered for the apprehension of these noblemen. (Seo vol. i., p. 
171.) In 1508, by the attainder of Edmund de la Pole, Earl of Suffolk, all 
the revenues, manors, lands, and estates, of that noblemen wore confiscated 
and forfeited to the King's use; amongst which was the manor of this town, 
with Myton and Tupcotes. The stately mansion called Suffolk Palaco now 
fell into the hands of the King, but his Majesty granted the lady of tho 
unfortunate Earl, the profits issuing out of the manor of Kingston-upon-Hull 
during the term of her life. In 1614 King Henry VIII. granted the whole 
manor of this town, with Myton and Tupcotes, to Sir William Sidney, Kut., 
but the King became again Lord of those manors, but by what means, 
whether by purchase, exchange, or seizure, does not appear. 

In 1515 a quarrel took place between the Prior of Haltemprice and M1·. 
Mattison, Sheriff of Hull, under the following circumstances :-Tho monas­
tery of Haltemprice was a member of the county of Hull, but the Prior had, 
for several years preceding, refused to admit the Sheriff into his liberties, 
which he affirmed (including Willardby and Woolfroton) was not of the Shire 
of Hull, but in the lordship of Cottingham. The Prior had complainod 
against former Sheriffs in the Star-Chamber, and that court referred the 
matter to the arbitration of the Abbot of Meaux, Sir William Constable, and 
others, who determinod in favour of the Prior. Notwithstanding the above 
decision, the Sheriff, with about 200 of the inhabitants of Hull, proceeded, 
on the 6th of October, to Woolfrcton, to keep his turn as usual. The Prior 
being previously informed of his design, raised his tenants, armed his monks, 
and resisted the approach of the Sheriff and his attendants. The Sheriff and 
his party not being willing tamely to submit to this opposition, used some 
insulting and abusive language, whereupon a cruel battle ensued. For some 
time they fought with alternate success, and victory fluctuated from side to 
side, till at length the monks gave way, and Bed for sanctuary to their priory. 
Thither they were pursued by the Sheriff and his party, threatening to pull 



lHSTORY OF KISGSTOS·UPOS-RUT.T •. 3:1 

Jown the buildiug; and this, it is probable, they would have done, ho.J not 
tbe Mayor of Hull received timely intelligence of the affray, and with about 
sixty horsemen, which he had hastily drawn together, repaired to the scene 
of action, and prevented further mischief. To obtain satisfaction, the Prior 
filed a bill in the Star-Chamber against the Sheriff and his party ; and in­
dieted them, not only for a riot, but as offenders against several statutes. 
Theee proceedings occasioned various suits to commence, which continued 
for three years ; when at length the whole matter was left to the decision of 
John Eland, Esq., Mayor, and George and Edward Maddison, Aldermen of 
Hull, as the sole arbitrators of the conWsted affair. After mature delibera­
tion, they determined that if the monks, on their part, would yield to the 
inhabitants of Hull all manner of right and claim they bad to the fresh-water 
springs of Anlaby, the Mayor and Burgesses, on the other part, should give 
up to them the royalty of Willerby and Newton. This decision was agreed 
to by both parties, and thus all animosities, which had so long subsisted 
between them, entirely ceased. 

In the same year a dispute, between the Mayor of Hull and the Prior of 
the Charter HoUlle, was amicably adjusted. The Mayor claimed annually 
the sum of 6s. of the monks, and fealty for the occupation of a lane, called 
Pole Street, numing from the town's moat, through the grounds called 
Trippet, to the Maison-dieu, near the Priory, to which the ground belonged. 
This had long been a matter of contention between the monks and the town, 
but the controversy was ended by the religious granting a lease of the said 
ground to the Mayor and Commonalty, for the term of eighty-nine years, at 
an annual rent of £4., renewable at the expiration of the said term. 

In 1517 the Rev. John Riplingham, D.D., President of the Beverley 
College, built a fish-ehambles in Fish Street, Hull, solely at his own expense ; 
and aoon afterwards founded an hospital in Vicar Lane for twenty poor 
people. The King this year being engaged in a war with the French and 
Scots, received of the town of Hull, by way of loan, the sum of .£~61S. Us. 4d. 
His .M~esty'sletter of application for this loan, is amongst the records of the 
town ; as well as another letter which be sent soon after, thanking the in­
habitants for their diligence in seizing some corn, that was intended to be 
conveyed from this port to Scotland. 

Though great pains had been taken about the middle of the 14th century, 
by elevating the roads, and repairing the banks, to guard against the un­
usual swell of the tides, which prevailed for some years in the Humber, yet 
in 16~7 the tide rose to such a height, as to overflow the banb, and much 
damage was done thereby, both to the town and to the adjacent country ; even 

VOL. II. 
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in the most elevated parts of the town the wa~rs rose at least one foot, and 
the goods that were lodged in low rooms and warehouses, wore either des­
troyed or very matcritilly injured ; all the low grounds, for many miles round, 
were laid under water, and many farmers were deprived of all their stock. 

In 1534 an Act of Parliament was passed, by which pro\ision was made 
for twenty-six Suffragan Bishops, whose office was to supply the places of the 
Bishops absent on embassies, or other secular business; and Hull was among 
tho towns appointed for Suffragan Sees. Before the Reformation, these ex­
traordinary prelates, or assistant Bishops, borrowed their titles in Partibw 
ln.fidelium., and they were commonly called Bishops in Partibus; but by the 
above statute they had English titles conferred upon them. They were styled 
Lords, but enjoyed neither baronries nor jurisdiction. Their office was 
nearly the same with the Chorepilcopi, or Bishops of the country in the pri­
mitive church; but this office had been discontinued for niue centuries, till 
it was now again revived iu England. The offices which these Bishops were 
permitted to perform before the Reformation, were, according to Strype, as 
follows :-They confirmed children; blessed altars, vestments, and sacred 
vessels ; suspended profane and unconsecrated places, and reconciled polluted 
churches and church-yards ; they consecrated and dedicated new churches 
and chapels ; they conferred the minor orders ; and bleeeed cbrism and holy 
oil, and consecrated bells. They likewise performed all prelatical duties in 
such monasteries as were exempt from episcopal jurisdiction. Thoro was no 
distinct revenue provided for these Suffragans by the act of Henry VIII. ; 
but they being dignitaries of the church, were possessed of considerable 
livings, the act allowing them to have two benefices, with cure, for the better 
maintenance of their dignity. Queen Mary restored the Bishops in Partibus, 
but Queen Elizabeth suppressed them, and the replaced English titles con­
tinued almost till the end of her reign. Dr. Brett, in a letter quoted by 
Tickell, says that he has not met with the consecration of a Suffragan 
Bishop since 1592, when John Steme was made Bishop of Colchester. 
Robert Purseglove, consecrated Suffragan Bishop of Hull in 166~, seems tD 

hal'e been the last of that order here. Before the dissolution of monasteries 
he had been Prior of Guiaborough. He enjoyed his episcopal dignity twenty­
seven years, died in 1579, and was buried in the parish church of Tideawell, 
in Derbyshire, the place of his nativity. How many of these extraordinary 
prelates have been consecrated to the See of Hull is not known, the archives 
being silent on that bead; but as the act was passed in 1684, and John 
Steme, the last of the Suffragan Bishops, w~ consecrated in 1592, a apace 
of only fifty-eight years, it is evident there could not be many. The Bishops 
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of Hull bad a magnificent palace in the High Street, mostly built of free 
stone, and adorned with pointed windows, and with spacious gateways and 
lofty towers. 

On the dissolution of Religious Houses, in this reign, a strong spirit of 
discontent manifested itself at Hull and elsewhere. The lesser Monasteries, 
with a revenue under £200. a year, being so denomina~, were first sup­
pMI&ed, and all those of Hull and its county fell under that description. 
Tbeee were the White Friary, St. Austin's Friary, the Cartbusian Monastery, 
and the Priories of Ferriby and Haltemprice. As we have already shewn 
at page 189 of vol. i., an insurrection, called the Pilgrimag~ of Grau, oc­
curred in 11S87, and a division of the insurgents, conducted by one Hallam, 
took Hull by surprise, and repossessed the ejected monks and friars of their 
houses. The triumph of the insurgents was however of short duration, as 
they were 600n dispersed, and the ringleaders of the party that attacked Hull, 
were soon a&r tried by a special commission at that place, where they were 
convicted of rebellion, and executed. Mr. William Rogers, Mayor of the 
town, Alderman Eland, and Mr. Knowles, who were instrumental in seizing 
Hallam and others of the party, as well as in dispersing the rebels who had 
po88688ion of Hull, soon a&r received the honour of Knighthood from the 
King, and were amply rewarded for their services. Many insurrections suc­
ceeded this in the north of England. 

In 1587 a rebellion broke out in the north and east of Yorkshire, in the 
neighbourhood of Settrington, Scarborough, and other places, headed by Sir 
Francis Bigot and others. The rebels marched in a body towards Hull, but 
Sir Ralph Ellerker and Sir John Constable, Knights, who resided in the 
neighbourhood, hearing of their intention of attacking the place, collected 
aome forces, threw themselves into tbe town, shut the gates, and determined 
to defend it to the utmost. Scarce were they entered into the town than the 
rebels appeared before it, and being exasperated that their design of securing 
it was defeated, they revenged themselves on the surrounding wind mills, 
all o( which they set on fire. After this effort of revenge they laid closo 
siege to the town for several days, and in very haughty and menacing lan­
guage demanded entrance. The garrison, however, deepising their threats, 
gave them an absolute denial, and after some fruitless attempts to reduce the 
fortress, they raised the siege and retreated. Mr. John Barrison, the Mayor, 
Sir Ralph Ellerker, and Sir John Constable, with a strong party of the 
townsmen, pursued them, fell upon their rear, slew severnl, and took many 
prisoners. The rebels bad no sooner raised the siege then Sir Robert Con· 
stable and some others, who bad favoured the insurrections, made use of n 
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stratagem, and entA3ring the town disguised as market people, yet secretly 
armed, they seized the gates, let in the remainder of their followers, and 
secured the town. Sir Robert assumed the title of Governor, sent ships into 
foreign parts for forces to assist him, imprisoned such persons as he suspected 
to be unfavourable to his designs, and provided and laid up stores of pro­
visions, ammunition, and whaoover else was necessary to maintain and suppo-:t 
them against a siege. Thus he continued master of the fortress for about a 
month, but receiving intelligence that his partisans in the country were either 
slain, dispersed, or taken prisoners, by the King's forces, his fortitude entirely 
abandoned him, and he and the most faithful of his party exhibited great 
distraction and consoornation. The loyal Magistrates and inhabitants of 
Hull seized a favourable opportunity of recovering the town, fell upon the 
rebel Governor and his unfortunate adherents in the middle of the night, and 
quire overpowered and secured them. The Duke of Norfolk was commis­
sioned to examine and try those unhappy prisoners at Hull, and many of 
them were executed, several being hanged and quartered. Sir Robcrt Con­
stable, as being their chief, was hung in chains over Beverley gate ; and 
thus was the insurrection effectually quelled, and Henry's authority pro­
portionately increased. 

This year, the Mayor, Aldermen, and Council, fearing that the King 
might be tempted to seize the Corporation Plaoo (which was worth several 
hundred pounds sterling, in the same manner in which he had served the 
Religious Houses a little before), unanimously agreed to di.spoee of it by 
public auction, and to apply the money so raised, to defray the expenses of 
their representatives in parliament, to repair the church of the Holy Trinity, 
and to other public and nece88&ry uses. 

The insurrections being entirely quelled, the King made a progress to the 
north, in the month of August, 1641, and made an unexpected visit to Hull, 
accompanied by his Queen (Catherine Howard), and attended by a train of 
courtiers. The Sheriff, with a numerous train of gentlemen, met his MBJesty 
with his retinue at the " Bordenbrig, "* on the confines of the county, and 
the royal cavalcade was received at the Beverley gaw by the Mayor and 
Aldermen in their scarlet robes. The usual formalities over, the prooesaion 
proceeded, amidst the acclamations of the populace, to the Manor Hall, then 
the Mayor's residence. After remaining in Hull three days, during which 
time they partook of the hospitalities of the Corporation, and his MBJesty 
received from the Mayor, in the name of the town, a present of £100., the 

• Bordenbrig, or Bol\l'den·d Bridge, 'l'i&s a boarded bridge across the ri'ier at Ncwland. 
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royal per&Onages and their courtiers set out for York, where Henry stayed 
for twelve days, in expectation of seeing his nephew the King of Scotland. 
On the 29th of September, Henry, disappointAld. and enraged at the refusal 
of the Scottish King ro meet him, left York abruptly, and that night the 
royal visitants lodged at Leckonfield, the seat of the Earl of Northumberland. 
The nen day, being that appointAld. for the election of a new Mayor, the 
inhabitants of Hull, having no idea that their Sovereign was so near, were 
aseembled in the Town Hall in order ro proceed ro the election, when a 
messenger announced that his Ml\iesty intended that day ro dine in the rown. 
The people were surprised at this unexpected intelligence, and on Mr. Thomas 
Dalt.on being suddenly elected ro the office, he, fearing he might have some 
di.Oiculty in discharging the duties, not only refused ro stand, but imm&­
di&tely left the ball, and proceeded, with many others, ro meet the King. 
On his arrival in the town, Henry, being informed of the matter, ordered 
the Corporation to r&-assemble, and ro proceed ro a fresh election ; he com­
manded farther, that Sir John Eland, Knt. (who had se"ed the office three 
times before), should be nominatAld., with Mr. Dalron and his opponent, as a 
candidate for the office, which being done, the King honoured Sir John with 
his vote, who was, after so open an interposition of the Monarch, no doubt 
unanimously elected. His M~esty immediately took his sword from his sido, 
and presented it to the Mayor elect, in honour of the Corporation at large, 
and the remaining part of the day was spent in feasting and recreation.• 
The next morning the King took an accurate view of the town, and having 
shaken off all aubmiBBion ro Rome, he was somewhat jealous of certain 
parties; and for the ~ strength and security of this important place, be 
g&'t'e orders for erecting a Castle, and two strong Blockhouses, and other 
fonmcations, on the east side of the river Hull.t He also ordered that the 
bridge now called the North Bridge be built, so as to ha•e ready access ro 
theee fonmeations from the rown; and among the other improvements which 
he commanded to be made, was the cutting of a new canal for fresh water 
from Newland ro Hull, and the putting in thorough repair the stately Manor 
Hall, formerly called Buffolit's Palace. The Manor of Hull being the pro-

• Thoup this sword ia ltill in the poe18118ion ot the Corporation, U ia not the one 
now used on occuiona ot state. 

+ The 8.r8t brick ot the new mookho11881 wu laid Feb. 22nd, 11141. (I.anda. MS.) 
Tickell Ba1B the Cutle wu built in 1377 (let Richard IT.), but an unpublished MS., in 
the h'brvy at Burton Constable, states that the Castle wu not built at that time, on ac. 
eo1mt ot the expen&e, but was raised subaeqnently by Henry VIII., at a cost of £'l3,000. 
Acoonting to Dr. Chambers' MS., the cost wu .c23,U6. 17s. 6d. 
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perty of the Crown, the King defrayed the expense of all these alterations, 
which cost him upwards of £28,000. At this time Henry caused Castles 
and Blockhouses, to be erected with all poesible speed in all needful places 
throughout the realm. 

After remaining five days in Hull, the King and his retinue crossed the 
Humber to Barrow-haven, whence they proceeded to Thornton Abbey, in 
Lincolnshire. The monks met the royal party in solemn prooeesion, and 
entertained them splendidly in that very monastery which, a very short time 
after, Henry obliged them to relinquish ; and commanded the edifice itself, 
one of the most splendid buildings in Lincolnshire, to be laid in ruins. Soon 
after the King's arrival in London, he appointed Sir Richard Long, Knt., 
to be Governor of Hull; and Michael Stanhope, Esq., to be his Lieutenant, 
with power to levy forces whenever occasion required. These appointments 
were intended for the greater security and defence of the town, till the Castle 
and fortifications were finished. 

In 1646 the King suppressed the Colleges, Chapels, Chantriee, Hospitals, 
and Fraternities, and seized their revenues. Amongst the Hospitals whose 
foundations Henry dissolved at Hull, four of them, namely, Grogg's and 
Riplingham's Hospitals, Trinity House, and the Charter House, were re­
founded in the succeeding reign, and remain even to this day. 

In 1661 King Edward VI., in consideration of the great loyalty of the 
inhabitants of Hull, both to himself and his ancestors, granted to the bur­
gesses the entire manor of the town, with all ite members and appurtenances ; 
the sixth part of that of Button ; the patronage of the Charter House Hos­
pital, together with all the m888uages, lands, tenements, mills, meadows, 
pastures, rents, revenues, waters, fisheries, tolls, markets, customs, natives 
and villaiils, both male and female, in and over the town and county of 
Kingston-upon-Hull, and all the towns belonging thereunto, and in Button, 
Sudcoates, Stoneferry, Roxton, &o. He likewise gave and confirmed to the 
Corporation the custody and charge of the Castle and Blockhouses, and ap­
pointed them to be Keepers and Governors of the same; the Mayor and 
burgesses agreeing to keep them in sufficient repair, at their own coat, 
and to safely keep all such ammunition and ordnance as were to be kept 
therein for the defence of the town. And the King further granted that, 
from thenceforth the precincts of the Castle, &c., should be no longer con­
sidered within the limits of the county of York, but for the future be a part 
of the county of Kingston-upon-Hull. The Sovereign, likewise, by this 
charter, granted to them the nomination, election, and appointment, of all 
such persons as should have the custody, government, or keeping of the said 



HISTORY OF KlNGSTON· UPON·HULL. 

Castle and Blockhouses; IUld he moreover gave them, towards the main­
taining and supporting the premises with the jetties and banks, £60. annually, 
issuing out of his manors of Myton and Tupcoates; and the advowson, gift, 
presentation, and right of patronage of the hospital of the Holy Trinity, in 
this town. Accordingly the Mayor and burgesses were empowered, as often 
as vacancies occurred, to present " an able and honest person·· to be master 
and incumbent, and from time to time, for ever, to exert their utmost influ­
ence that the revenues of the hospital be employed, as far as possible, in the 
maintenance of the poor inmates, according to the original intent of the 
founders. To the due performance of all which the Mayor and burgesses 
boand themselves, and all their successors, in the sum of £2,000. 

That singular and fatal malady called the Sweating Sickness, this year 
ravaged the kingdom, and its dreadful effects were severely felt in this town. 
The number of its victims was very great, but how many is not particularly 
recorded. In the beginning of the reign of Queen Mary a long pending suit 
between the inhabitants of the towns of Hull and Beverley-the people of 
the latter place having refused to pay the toll demanded of them for their 
veesela which p888ed through the bridge at Hull-was left to the decision of 
Robert Constable of Hotham, Anthony Smethby of Brantingham, Thomas 
Grimaton oC Godmanham, Esquire&; and Thomas Dowman of Pocklington, 
gentleman. Both parties bound themselves in an obligation of £200. to 
submit and stand by their award. The event was unfavourable to the town 
of Hull, for it was awarded that the Mayor and burgeuea should for ever in 
future permit, not only the veB&els belonging to Beverley, bot alao the vessels 
of all other towns adjoining the river, freely to pass through the bridge with 
their masts standing, if they thought proper to pass in that manner. 

In 1664 Sir William Know lea, Knt., Alderman and Merchant of this town, 
presented the Corporation with a gold chain, weighing 4.t oz., to be for ever 
kept and wom by every aucoeeding Mayor, during the year of hie mayoralty, 
on Sundays, great holidays, and on all extraordinary occaaiona, under a 
penalty of £40. for every omission. The chain was afterwards enlarged by 
this Knight's widow, then married to John Gilford, Esq., by adding to it the 
value of £10. in angel gold. Mrs. Thurcroae added the value of £8. more to 
it, so that the whole chain consisted of 817 linka, and weighed ll oz. 7 dwt. 
8 gr. The Cloth Hall of Hull was let this year to John Thomton, Esq., 
Mayor, for a term of forty years, at the yearly rental of £6. l8s. 4d. In former 
times all the cloths brought here were examined in this hall before they were 
exposed to eale by strangers, under the penalty of Ss. Sd. for every neglect. 
This custom bad for some time been discontinued, but was now revived. 
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Mary's short reign passed over without making any important additions 
to the records of Hull, and it does not appear that any persen was executed 
there, either for treason or religion, during all the reign; indeed the rapid 
and repeated changes in religion, under Edward, Mary, and Elizabeth, seem 
to have excited here no very material sensation. 

In the 2nd of Elizabeth (1669), an obstinate gentleman of the name of 
Gregory, was cboeen Sheriff of Hull, but from some motive not recorded, 
he refused to fulfi.J. the duties of the office. The magistrates represented the 
matter to the Queen in Council, and he was ordered to be fined in the sum 
of £100., as well as disfranchised and turned out of the town; all which was 
executed accordingly. 

In October, 11S69, the Lord Regent of Scotland, the Lord Morton, and 
several other Scottish noblemen, came to this town on their way to London; 
and were nobly entertained for two days. About the same time the Earl of 
Sussex, Lord President, and Lieutenant-General of all her Majesty's forces 
in the north, spent some days in Hull. The principal object of his 'risit was 
to survey the state of the fortifications, and to examine whether the town was 
in a fit condition to withstand a foreign invasion. He ordered the walls and 
gates, which were at that time in a bad condition, to be immediately repaired, 
and the moat to be cleaned out. In this year, when the last public attempt 
was made to restore the Catholic religion (See vol. i., p. 207), the rebels sent 
a party to surprise Hull, where, it is said, they expected to receive con­
siderable aide from abroad. They had corrupted a party in the town, the 
chief of whom was one Smith, who had engaged, in the night time, to throw 
open the gates, and admit the insurgents. But before they could put their 
designs into execution, the plot was discovered ; Smith was apprehended, 
and upon examination confeeeed all he Jmew of the affair, and discovered 
his accomplices, who were all immediately secured, and the design was 
thus prevented. 

In 1671 there happened another destructive tide in the river Humber. 
The waters rose higher than the highest point to which they had ever before 
attained, and covered the streets to a considerable depth, and for many miles 
round the country was deluged. The injury sustained both in town and 
country by this dreadful inundation was immense. 

Some years after the reformed religion bad been firmly established in this 
kingdom, the Rev. John Tickell tells ns, that" the sins of fornication and 
adultery were eo prevalent at Hull, that the magistrates were obliged to 
issue out the strictest orders relative to those vices, and use all the means 
in their power to suppress them. They even," he continues, "wrote to the 
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Archbishop of York for his approbation of who.t they had done, and to request 
hie advice how they might most effectually punish the offenders."* That 
high dignitary, in his reply, which is dated at Bishopthorpe, 20th of July, 
1674, sanctions the punishment of persons charged with the commission of 
tbeee " abominable and heinous crimes," * * * " according as h.o.s been 
uaed in the city of London, or other well governed cities or toWns corporate." 
The Churchwardens and Sidesmen t were then directed to visit the alehouses, 
and search the streets and closes, and to present the names of all such as 
were sinfully spending or idly wasting their time, when they should have 
been attending in some place of worship. 

In 157 6, that dreadful distemper, the plague was brought into this town 
by eome seamen, from neglect of quarantine. It was, however, confined to 
Blacldriargate, which was eo deeply infected that it was judged necessary to 
wall up all the avenues leading to that street, leaving open only two doors, 
where watchmen were placed to take in provisions and medicines, and to sec 
that none of the infected made their escape. These wise though rigorous 
precautions had the desired effect, the epidemic soon subsided, and not more 
than one hundNd of the inhabitants became ij.a victims. 

Hull was no~ enjoying a flood tide oi prosperity, and the wealth of her 
ahipe tempted the cupidity of the pirates, by which the seas were then 
infested. The Humber's mouth, as well as all the eastern coast, wero eo 
baruaed and obstructed by them, that scarce a merchant ship could sail 
with safety. To remedy this evil, the Lord High Admiral of England re­
qoired the town of Hull to fit up two stout ships of war to protect their own 
Tessels, and to assist in scouring the adjacent coast. These ships being 
well eqnipped and manned, sailed in quest of the maritime robbers, and they 
bad eoon the good fortune to capture several of them, and to bring them into 
Hull. The pirates were soon after tried by a special commission, at which 

• Tickell'a Hiatory of Hull, p. 226. 

t Synod's men, and b:r corruption Sidesmen, were creditable persons, which it was 
eutomary for the Biabope to IIIUIIDion out of e•er:r puiah to attend the ancient epis. 
eop.l S;rnoda for the p111'poee of giring information of, ud attesting the disorders of, 
cJers:r and people. The:r were called Tutu S,ftod4lu, and were bound upon oath to 
J!n*!nt all heretics and other irregu1v persons. Tbe:r were sometimes called Quut­
-. trom the nature ot their oftlce, in m&ki.ng enquiries concerning olfences.-Du.rn'a 
Eecles. L&w, -.ol. i. 

Thoqh this oftlce bu fallen into diauae in most parte of the kingdom, yet in tJJe 
town of Hull it ex.ista still; for there are six of these otB.cers chosen annuall:r for the 
parish of Holy Trinity, and two for St. Mary's. Tbe:r are 888istanta to the Church­
wardens, and are chosen ever:r Euter Monda;r. 

VOL. li. G 
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the End of Uuntingdon, I.ord President of the North, prcsidcrl, ntt<.'ndcd by 
the Mnyor nnd Ahlct·mcn as judges. Six of the misguidc.,'li men wcro found 
guilty, and, in virtue of their sentence, were executed and hung in chains in 
difft'rcnt places on the neighbouring coasts. 

In 1582 the Archbishop of York granted an ecclesiRStical commission to 
authorize nnd empo,\'cr the Mayor and Aldermen of Hull to suppress the 
gross immornlitics of tho time!!, by severely punishing the guilty, without any 
resp<>Ct to the outward circumstances of the offenders. 

In 1583 the prisons of this town being full of criminals, the Lord President 
of the North, at the request of the .Mayor and Aldermen, came and eat as 
judge to try them. Three persons were convicted of felony, and suffered the 
punishment of death : and three poor old women were tried for witchcraft, 
one of whom WI\S sentenced to stand in the pillory on four separate market 
days, 1\ntl to suffer a year's imprisonment. 

When King Philip of Spain threatened to invade England, and Queen 
Elizabeth cau!led her su~jccts to enter into an association to defend her with 
their lives and fortunes, about 600 of the principal inhabitants of the town 
of Hull, and 200 of tbe county of that town, enrolled themselves members of 
it; and the town and county readily sent a loan of .£tl00!, to enable her 
Majesty to defend her kingdom against the storm which was gathering over 
it. Several of the Qucen'slettcrs sent here on this occasion are yet preserved 
among the town records. When this formidable invasion was attempted, in 
liSRR, the render of English history is well aware that the invincible Armada 
was beat, scattered, and destroyed, upon our shores, by the raging of the 
elements. 

In 1500 Sir Francis Wnlsingham, Secretary of State, and High Steward 
of Kingston-upon-Hull, died in such poor circumstances, that he was buried 
privately in the night time to save expense. This great minister spent his 
whole time and fortune in the service of the Queen, and had the best intelli· 
gence from all parts that any minister ever had. Sir Thomas Heneage, the 
next High Steward of Hull, survived his illustrious predecessor only six 
yCIU'S ; and he was succeeded in that office by Sir Hobert Cecil, one of the 
Queen's Privy Council, who gt"ently promoted the interests of the town. 

In 1592, after some hcl\vy gales of wind from the S.E., a large fish WllS 

driven ashore near Drypool, and excited much admiration. It was almost of 
an oval shape, six feet long, five feet broad, and six feet between the extreme 
parts of the upper and lower fins. One of the fins was placed on the back, 
and the other on the belly, designed perhaps by nature to keep it erect in the 
water. It WllS taken to be the Orthagoriscus parvus gesneri ; and what 
Pliny calls a little sea-hog. 
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In 1596 the Queen having received intelligence that the King of Spain 
was once more preparing to invade England, resolved to give a demonstrative 
proof that England could attack as well as defeat. With this view she im­
mediately commanded a fleet to be got ready, and wrote to all the sea-port 
towns to aid her with an additional number of ships. The letter sent by her 
Priry Council on this occasion to the town of Hull, contained a request that 
a ab.ip of great bwden should be fitted out, manned, supplied with ammuni· 
tion, and victualled for a voyage and expedition of five months, at the charges 
of Bull. and such other towns and ports as did contribute for a similar pur­
poee in 1588. This town readily fitted out a stout ship of war, at a very 
considerable expense; and her M9Jesty was pleased to order that the towns 
of Leeds, Wakefield and Halifax, which traded much to Hull, should bear a 
proportionable part, to which they willingly consented. The same yt>ar the 
Queen rene11·ed and confirmed all the old charters granted by her predecessors 
to the town of Hull, and granted many additional privileges. 

In the latter part of this reign the Queen brought an action against the 
Mayor and burgesses of Hull, on account of their not keeping in repair the 
Cutle and Blockhouses at the east side of the river, according to the tcrlDB 
of their agreement with King Edward VI. How this suit was ended, the 
recorda make no mention ; but it was, howevor, ronowcd again in or about 
the year 1637, and was strongly contested, till on the breaking out of the ch·il 
wars, the minds of the people in general were turned. towards other objects. 

On Sunday, the 2Srd of August, 1601, Lord Durley, her M&Jesty's Lieu­
tenant, and Lord President of the ~ orth, accompanied uy many Knights 
and gentlemen, visited Hull, and dined with the Mayor. In the afternoon 
they were entertained with a display of fireworks in the Market-Place, which, 
however, were productive of a very tragical event; for by the overcharging 
of an old cannon, which contained many curious contrivances to be played off 
by that forcible IUld destructive element of fire, it immediately burst into 
several pioces, by which four men were killed on the spot, and several others 
dangerously wounded, some of whom died soon after. In February, 160~, 
a severe shock of an earthquake, which was felt in different parts of the 
Dation, and occasioned much damage, was very sensibly felt in this town, but 
none of the inhabitants were hurt by it. 

In the !Jnd of James I. (1604), the plague carried off many of the inhabi­
tants of Hull, but the number is not recorded. In the 8th of this reign the 
King granted, or rather sold the Corporation a new charter for .£600. ; and 
so poor was the corporate body at the time, that to defray tho expense, they 
were obliged to ili~posc of so much of their liW<ls as amounted to tbo.t sum. 
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By this charter the Mayor, Recorder, and Aldermen, were empowered to 
choose an assistant preacher in the church of Holy Trinity. In 161~ died 
Robert Cecil, Earl of Salisbury, Lord Treasurer of England, and High 
Steward of this borough~ and his successor in the latter office was Thomas, 
Lord Ellesmere, then Lord Chancellor of the kingdom. 

In 1618, three skilful engineers, at the desire of the authorities of Hull, 
took a piece of ground of the town, on a lease of 100 years, at the small 
annual rent of 5s., and on this ground they erected water works, from which 
the water was conducted by pipes to all parts of the town. In about three 
years those works, which were attended with great expense to the undertakers, 
were finished~; and in consideration of this, the inhabitants were yearly to 
allow them such a sum as might be deemed an adequate compensation for tho 
water. Ever since that time the town of Hull has been abundantly supplied 
with that most valuable of all liquids, good, pure, and wholesome water. 

In 1619 the merchants of this town erected an Exchange in the High 
Street, at an expense of £500., a tenth part of which sum the King allowed, 
on condition that his officers of the customs should occupy certain rooms in 
the building, for the purpose of a custom house, on a lease of fifty years, at 
a rent of £2. per annum. The merchants have not made use of this building 
for several years ; but it was entirely occupied by the officers of the customs 
until the present year, when it was taken for the purpose of erecting a Com 
Exchange on its site. 

At the opening of the disastrous reign of Charles I., England was menaced 
by a war with France, and the Parliament, as we have seen at page 219 of 
vol. i., not seeming willing to grant the necessary supplies, the King was 
under the necessity of borrowing money of such persons as were able to lend. 
Two of the Commissioners appointed to collect the loan (Lords Dun bar and 
Clifford), attended at the Town Hall of Hull, on the 18th of February, 1626, 
and the inhabitants cheerfully subscribed the quota required of them--£882. 
13s. 4d. Soon after this the King sent to the magistrates of Hull to provide 
ships to transport 1,850 men, to the assistance of his uncle, the King of 
Denmark, which they readily performed. Not long after his Mf\iesty sent 
another letter to this town, requiring the inhabitants to fit out ships of war 
against the privateers which then infested these coasts, and did great damage 
to. the trade of this, as well as many other places. In the Srd year of this 
reign, when the Lord Lieutenants of the counties were ordered to see that 
the trained bands were instructed in the use of arms, the town of Hull fur­
nished, besides its proportionate share of soldiers, St lasts of powder, St tons 
of match, the same quantity of lead, "ith pick-axes, carriages, ammunition, 
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and provisions. The beacons, likewise, were repaired, and ~e town was put 
in a posture of defence. • 

When the second Parliament refu.sed to grant supplies for carrying on the 
war, and the King was once more obliged to have recourse to loans, and 
orders were sent to the maritime towns to provide a certain number of armed 
Teeeels, in order to equip a fleet, the town of Hull cheerfully and willingly 
furnished the three ships required of them, well manned and victualled, 
though many of the sea-ports exhibited much reluctance in complying with 
the order. This spirit of loyal acquiescence was the next year carried still 
further, for whilst the city of London and other places resisted the tax on all 
ebips and goods, called tonnage and poundage, because it was levied by the 
King without the consent of Parliament, the merchants of Hull paid the im· 
post without murmur or complaint. 

In 1680 the walls and blockhouses were repaired, and the ditches were 
clNnsed, at the expense of the town and county of Kiogston-upon-Hull. 
About this time died George Abbot, Archbishop of Canterbury, and High 
Steward of Hull ; and the vacant office of High Steward was conferred, 
at his own reqneet, on Lord Coventry, Lord Keeper of the Great Seal of 
England. In 1688 the Mayor, Recorder, and many of the Aldermen of Hull, 
repaired to York, where they waited upon the King, during his sojourn in 
that city, on his way to S~tland. 

About two years after this time, when the King determined to fit out a 
fleet for tbe purpose of offering resistance to the pirates from Dunkirk, Sallee, 
and Algiers, which infested our coasts, and which had seized a great many 
ships belonging to this port; and for that purpose required a tax from his 
snbjeets, called SAip-mo114y, the people of Hull in general, as well as in other 
parta of the nation, murmured at it, and paid it with reluctance, because it 
was impoeed without the assent of Parliament, and therefore considered as 
illegal. As has already been observed at page 228 of vol. i., this was the 
obnoxious tax which set the entire kingdom in an uproar. In July, 1685, 
the Plague, which for some time past had raged in some of the ports of the 
oontinent, made its appearance in this town, and such was the terror it 
created, that numbers of the inhabitants left their houses, and fled into the 
country ; the gates were kept continually shut, except when provisions were 
brought in ; all assemblies and meetings, as well for religious as for secular 
purposes, were forbidden ; schools were discontinued ; and the place exhibited 
a scene of horror, silence, and despair. The town being still full of infected 
people in the succeeding spring, and Lent approaching, the Mayor and 
Aldermen thought it necessary to petition the Archbishop of York to grant 
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license to the· sick to eat flesh meat during that season, for their nourish-
• ment and more speedy recovery. His Grace, in answer to their petition, 

condoled with them in their ~t aflliction, stating that he did not know 
what power he had to grant such an indefinite license ; but that "in all cases 
of sickness the ministers, upon certificate from their physicians, might grant 
permission to particular persons to eat flesh during that holy season."* 

The pestilence continued to rage for three years, and 2, 780 persons fell 
victim.s to it in this town, exclusive of those who fled into the country, and 
died there, which, according to one authority, almost doubled the number; 
making a sum total probably equal to half the population of Hull at that 
period. During a great part of these three years, the markets were sup­
pressed by royal proclamation, and all the Justices of the Peace in the 
the adjacent places were ordered to supply the town with provisions, and all 
other necessaries, at reasonable rates, and convey them in carts to the 
garrison side of the town. Here they were bought by a few persons chosen 
for that purpose, and sent on sledges to the town's cross, where they were 
disposed of at reduced prices. Commerce was totally extinct, and towards 
the latter end upwards of 2,1SOO persons, once in easy and opulent circum­
stances, were reduced to seek assistance from the town. For the relief of the 
poor and the infected, the attending the sick, and burying the dead, the 
magistrates were obliged to lay o. heavy tax on the inhabitants, both of the 
town and county, which was po.id in weekly collections. All that could be 
procured in ~is way, however, was found insufficient for the purpose; so that 
at length they were under the necessity of soliciting the charitable assistance 
of the whole county of York, besides several persons in different parts of the 
kingdom contributed bountifully to their relief; and, but for the money col­
lected in this manner, the place would have inevitably been ruined, and 
numbers of its inhabitants perished for want of the common necessaries of 
life. As this dreadful contagion disappeared, commerce began to revive, and 
the town, though so recently threatened with ruin, attained in a few years 
its former prosperity. 

But the storm was fast gathering, by which the whole kingdom was so 
speedily to be convulsed. In 1689 the :Mayor of Hull was ordered by Cap­
tain Legg, the master of the King's armoury (who had been sent by the King 

• By the statute of 6th of Elizabeth, cap. 6, sec. 16, it is provided, that any person 
eating flesh on a fasting day, or day of abstinence, sbnll bo liable to a penalty of .£3., or 
suffer three months imprisonment; but by the 2nd and :Jrd of Eel ward YI., cap. Ill, scr. 
:1, a dispensing power is giYcn to the Archbishop of Canterbury, which powe.r was pro­
bably 1\fterwarcls cxtentled to him of fork. 
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to take a strict survey of the strength of the place), to erect magazines and 
military stores for his Majesty's service; and also to repair the walls und 
gates, build drawbridges, cleanse the ditches of the town and garrison, and, 
in fact, to put the town in u regular posture of defence. To defray the ex­
penses attending these repairs, an usscssment was laid both upon the town 
and county of Kingston-upon-Hull; but the inhabitants of the latter refused to 
contribute their allotted proportion, and a spirited law suit between the town 
and OOUDty was the consequence, which was at length decided in favour of the 
Corporation, e.f\er it bad cost the parties ten times the sum the repairs 
amounted to. The fortifications having been put in a state of defence, the 
old Manor Hall, which at that time belonged to Henry Hildyard, Esq., of 
Wine&tead, was rented of that gentleman for the King's use, and converted 
into a magazine. Soon after these were sent down 50 pieces of large ord­
nance. with all their carriages, &c.; 200,000 muskets, carbines, pistols, and 
swords; 14,000 spades, shovels, and wheelbarrows, with powder, shot, and 
match, to the value of upwards of .£6,000. Mr. Boswell, too, his Majesty's 
JeSident in Holland, purchased arms there, and sent them to Hull to be laid 
up in the magazine. These consisted of 800 head-pieces, 800 pikes, crosalets, 
and firelocks, 1,200 muskets, 1,500 belts and bandaliers, 400 spades and 
aboTela, 103 pick-axes, 6 blli.IIS cannon, and 7 pestards ; SO barrels of powder, 
2-l barrels of musket shot, 400 cannon balls, and a proportionate quantity of 
matebee; six four-wheeled carriages, shod with iron, besides some halberts 
and black bills. In this year the King raised 2,000 horse, to.be employed 
in the expedition against the Scotch, and as they were to receive their arms 
&om the magazine at Hull, they were quartered for some time in the neigh· 
bouring towns of Beverley, Cottingham, Hedon, &c. 

During the King's stay at York, in 1689, he paid a visit to Hull. No 
eooner did the Corporation receive intimation of his intention to visit their 
t.own, than a ball was summoned, and it was ordered that his Ml\iesty should 
be received with the greatest demonstrations of loyalty and joy; that the 
Mayor, Aldermen, and Recorder, should attend without Beverley-gate to 
deliver to the King the keys of the towu, and go through the other for­
malities usual upon such occasions; that a railed platform should be made 
for forty people, with a convenient place to kneel on, the station appointed 
for the Mayor and ReCorder to be somewhat higher than the rest, and the 
platform to be coTered with rich carpeting ; that there should be a strong 
goard to receive his Ml\ieaty; that the priT&te soldiers should be clothed 
with all possible expedition ; that the ramparts and walks along the walls 
beiDg very uneven, and in many places full of holes, ehould directly be levelled; 



48 HISTORY 01' KllSOSTON·UPO!'i·HULT •• 

and that the gentry and principal inhabitants of the town should be requested 
to receive the King in their best attire. 

Scarce was eTerythiDg prepared when news arrived of his MeJesty's approach, 
and everybody repaired to their posts. Charles having been met on the con· 
fines of the county by the Sheriff, and escorted to the town, was received 
with the greatest demonstrations of joy and sincere affection, at that gate 
where he afterwards met with a reception of a very different nature. Being 
arrived at the gate, Mr. Thorpe, Recorder (afterwards a Judge, and Ter'f 
inimical to the King), as the organ of the Corporation, addressed him in 
one of those hyperbolical and adulatory speeches which bodies corporate are 
80 prone to offer to Majesty. He told him that the town of Kingston-upon· 
Hull was always faithful and true, and that in respect of the zealous and 
loyal affections of the people, it was "not only walled, but also garrisoned 
with fire; not dead, nor sleeping; not unanimated, like senseless flints, but 
continually vivacious, waking, ardent, apparent, and sensible in their cou­
rageous and boiling heat for his Majesty's long life, welfare, and happiness; 
so that as the town was not only his by name but also by nature, 80 it 
should ever remain to be." 

After reminding him that be had there a magazine of all military pro­
visions of his own royal collecting, be is told by the Recorder that he 
had at Hull, "a richer, a more noble, and safe prize, even a magazine of 
hearts, faithful and true, extending the whole town over, which renders its 
stronger for his MeJesty's service, than if it was encompassed with walls of 
brass and iron." This fulsome address, in which the King is also told that 
it is more difficult to address him than to address the King of Kings, con­
cluded thus:-" May your MeJesty live for ever and ever, and may all the 
thorns in your travels grow up into crowns; may your battles be always 
crowned with laurels; and may good success always attend your actions and 
desires. May years be added unto your days, and length of time, till timt> 
shall be no more ; and that your continuance amongst us may be still an 
ornament and blessing to the present age, and an eternal admiration, blessing, 
and glory, to all that are yet to come." 

This bombastic speech being ended, the Mayor welcomed his MeJesty to 
his "royal town of Hull," and with much ceremony d~vered up to the King 
that emblem of royalty, the mace, together with the sword and the keys of 
the town gates, all of which were, of course, returned with a suitably reply. 
The Mayor then presented him with a rich and elegant ribbon, several yards 
long, saying, " Vouchsafe, great Sir, to accept the emblematic bond of our 
obedience, which is tied as fast to your MeJesty, your crown, and the church, 
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as our souls are to our bodies, and we are resolved never to part from the 
former until we part from the latter." The King ordered the ribbon to bo 
tied in a knot, and be afterwards wore it in his hat, calling it his " Hull 
Favour." A purse of curious workmanship, containing 100 guineas, was 
also presented to his M~esty. The Mayor then on boraeback, carrying the 
mace on his shoulder, escorted the King and his numerous retinue to the 
quarters prepared for them, amidst the loud acclamation& of the people, the 
eoldiery, and the trained bands, with which the streets were lined. The 
King was sumptuously entertained, and lodged that night at the house of Sir 
John Lister (26, High Street), and in the morning he took an accurate suncy 
of the fortifications of the town, and the defensive works which were then 
going forward, under the superintendence of Captain Legg. 

He then visited the garrison, where the guns were fired at his approach ; 
and after expressing his satisfaction at what he had seen, he dined with Sir 
John Li.ater, and in the afternoon, attended by the Mayor, the Aldermen, 
and the chief burgesses, to the limits of the county, be returned to join his 
army, which was then about to march against the Scots. That night be 
lodged at Beverley, and the next day he reached York, whence he marched 
with a part of the army to Newcastle-upon-Tyne, from which place he 
ordered Lord Holland to write e. letter of thanks to the magistrates of Hull, 
expressing his regard for the kind recoption given to him, stating also that 
he is willing to grant any reasonable demand that might be required for the 
benefit of the town; bot how all this ended, the sequel will show. 

A tl'eaty was soon after concluded between Charles and the Scots, and the 
kingdom was flattered with illusive prospects of peace. When the Scots rose 
again in rebellion, and entered England with a numerous army in the fol· 
lowing year (1640), the Mayor ordered the Castle and Blockhouses to be put 
in a poetwe of defence ; preparations were made for a siege; and a strong 
chain was enry night drawn across the mouth of the haven. 

The King returned to York and had his army encamped there, and for 
the greater eecurity of that ancient city, a large quantity of arms, ammunition, 
&c., were IICDt thither from the magazine at Hull. 

On the 6th of September Sir Thomas Glemham, Knt., was appointed 
Governor of this town by the King, and a regiment of foot was ordered to be 
sent here under his command ; but to the letter of the Earl of Stratford, 
announcing tbis appointment, the magistrates replied, " That there could not 
be two goYernors of their town at one and the same time; that by the charters 
granted them by Edward VI., the Mayor for the time being was their only 
rightful governor; that to admit another was a breaoh of their privileges and 

VOL. U. R 
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charters; and, if drs wn iuw a precedent, might prove of daugca·ous conse· 
quonce." The Enrl of St.rs.fford repeated the request, that the keys of the 
town might be given up w Sir Thomas Glemham, whom his Ml\iesty, "in 
his princely care for the safety of the wwn," had appointed an e:rtraordinary 
Governor there; and requested the magistrates "not to dispute their iuwres' 
at this present time in that particular, but to submit to his Ml\iesty's good 
pleasure." The Mayor and Aldermen however yet persisted in their refusal 
to admit Sir Thomas as their Govtlrnor; and the King, not well pleased with 
their procedure, sent them a message that he intended w be in Hull on the 
SOtb of the same month, and requested them to prepare for his recep,ion. 
Dut wlaether it was to avoid the expense attending a royal visit, or that they 
apprehended they should be obliged to submit to the King's directions, does 
not appear; but the fact is, that Sir Thomas was immMiatcly admitted 
Governor, and had the keys of the town, Castle, and 13lockhouses, immediately 
delivered to him, and Ch&rlos declined his proposed visit. A regiment of 
1,000 men also accompanied the Governor, and joined the garrison, and thus 
was the to'm of Hull, with its magazine and stores, for the present fully 
secured for his Ml\iesty's use. 

In the assembly known in hiswry as the Long Parliament, Sir John 
Listor, Knt., and Mr. Harry Vane were members for Hull : William Strick­
land, Esq., and John Allured, Esq., for Hcdon; Sir John Hotham, Knt., 
and Michael W&rton, Esq., for Beverley; and young Hotham represented 
Scarborough. Sir John Listcr, however, died in a few weeks after his 
election, and Peregrine Pelham, Esq., succeeded w his seat in Parliament. 
The Commons again refused the neceBBities of the King, and the King's army 
was disbanded in August, 1641. The troops were discharged that were 
quarterod at Hull, the Governor, Sir Thomas Glembam, resigned his office, 
and the artillery, ammunition, and stores, which had been sent w the camp at 
York, were returned to Hull, and deposited in the magazine as before. The 
difficulties between the King and the Parliament daily increased, and prepa­
rations were made to decide the matter by force of arms. In this situation 
of affairs, which party soever should be fortunate enough to secure Hull. 
would gain a decided superiority, at least, in the outaet of the contest. The 
King, in order to socure his " royal town " w his interest, sent the Earl of 
Newcastle to take posse88ion of it in his M~esty's name, but the magistrates, 
unmindful of their former declaration, " that they would Ja(lhere to his 
Ml\ieety, llfJaiDst all his enemies, with the ubnost of their lives and fortunes," 
refused to receive the King's General, and after a little hesitation and delay 
admitted Sir John Hotham as Governor, by order of the PIU'liament. 
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The King now fixed his residence at York; and when Sir John Hotham, 
his son, and about 800 soldiers, took possession of Hull, he seemed at first 
to take no notice of it. Soon after this, the Commons, anxious to get closer 
possession of the military stores at Hull, proposed to the Lords to have them 
removed to London, but the latter would not agree to the proposal without 
the sanction of the King. The Lords and Commons therefore petitioned his 
Majesty, requesting him to permit the stores of arms and. ammunition to be 
removed from the magazines at Hull to the Tower of London; under the 
pretence that they oould be kept there "for less charge, and more safety ; 
and could be transported hence with much more convenience for the service 
of the kingdom of Ireland." To this petition the King sent along reply, 
complaining that a garrison and a Governor had been placed at Hull without 
his oon!lellt, and refusing to accede to the request of the Parliament. Lord 
Clarendon owns that one of the chief reasons why the King came down into 
the north, was to seize upon Hull, which at that time was the most important 
fortress in the whole kingdom; and its vast magazine, which far exceeded 
the collection of warlike stores in the Tower of London. The two Houses 
eeemed to have penetrated into his design, for as soon as it was known that 
be was actually gone to York, they began to apprehend the town of Hull 
would be in danger, and therefore Sir John Hotbam received the strictest 
orders not to allow foreign ships to enter the port without strict examination 
into their strength, burden, &c.; and to see that no English forces or other 
foroos wbatevet', should enter the town, but those already appointed to be the 
garrison there. At the samo time the Parliament instrur-ted the Lord 
Admiral to take special care to guard the seas, and to search all ships coming 
from Holland to Hull; and the Lord Lieutenants and High Sheriffs of the 
northern counties were ordered by both Houses to suppress all forces which 
sball be raised in those parts without the direction of Parliament; and to 
take special care of Hull, Newcastle, and o~er towns on those coasts. 

The ~Srd of April, 1642, is a memomble period, not only in the annals of 
Hull, but in the history of the kingdom, as on that day the Parliamentarian 
party committed the first act of open hostility towards their monarch. Early 
in the morning of that day, the King, attended by his son Prince Charles, 
and about 800 of his servants, as well as a great number of the county 
gentlemen, set out from York to Hull, and when he was within about four 
miles of that place, be despatched an officer (Sir Lewis Davis) to inform the 
Governor that he intended that day to dine with him. On receipt of this 
unexpected message, Sir John Hotham consulted with Mr. Pelham, the M .P. 
for Hull, and others of his friends, and the result of their conference wns a 
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fixed determination not to suffer the King to enter the town. They there­
fore sent a messenger " humbly to beseech his Majesty to decline his intended 
visit. since the Governor could not, without betraying the trust committed to 
him, set open the gates to so great a train ~ he was at present attended 
with." The King incensed at this message continued to advance, and Sir 
John ordered the bridges to be drawn up, the gates to be closed, the soldiet'8 
to stand to their arms on the walls, the cannons to be charged, and the in­
habitants to be confined to their houses till sunset. About eleYen o'clock 
the King arrived at the Beverley·gate, and surprised to find all things in 
readiness for the reception of an enemy, called for the Governor, who ap­
pearing on the walls, he commanded him, on his allegiance, to open the gate 
and admit his So,·ereign. But the Governor, with many professions of duty 
and several expressions of fear, told his Mf\iesty " that be durst not open the 
gates to him, being intrusted by the Parliament with the safety of the town." 
The King told him, " that he believed he bad no order from the Par­
liament to shut the gates against him, or to keep him out of the town ; '' to 
which he replied, "that his Mf\iesty's train was so great, that if it were 
admitted he should not be able to give a good account of his trust to those 
that employed him." Charles then proposed to enter with twenty of his 
attendants only, and that the rest should stay without the gates, but this 
proposal was refused. The King then desired him " to come out of the gates 
that be might confer more particularly with him, and assured him, on his 
royal word, of safety and liberty to return," but this request also the Governor 
refusod to comply with; whereupon his Majesty, in a spirited remonstrance, 
told him that for this gross act of disobedience, which was likely to cause 
much bloodshed and many calamities, he would immediately proclaim him a 
traitor, and proceed against him as such. Sir John, then falling upon his 
knees, talked confusedly of the trust he had received from the Parliament, and 
prayed "that God would bring confusion upon him and his, if he were not a 
faithful and loyal subject; " but in conclusion he plainly denit'd his Mf\iesty 
admission into the town.t The King continued before the gate till four 

t It is remarkable that the Duke of York, afterwards James n., together with the 
Prince Elector of Palatine (the King's nephew}, the Earl of Newport, Lord Willoughby, 
Sir Thomas OlemhiUil, and others, were actually dining at the Trinity House, whilst 
Sir John Hotham was parleying with the King at the gate. On the pre"ioua day they 
entered Hull undiscovered along with the crowd of the oountry people (it being market 
day), under the pretence of viewing the town ; and being recognised, they were received 
and entertained by the Mayor and Governor, with all the respect due to their rank. 
The Duke of York and his friends "·ere suffered to go out of the town, and join the 
King's rarty without thP gateS, lit one o'clock in the Rfit-rnOOD. 
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o'clock, and having given Sir John one hour to take his final resolution, his 
Majesty returned to the gate, and receiving the same answer as before, be 
ordered two heralds at arms to proclaim the Governor a traitor, and all those 
who obeyed him guilty of high treason. Here was a change indeed! Three 
years since, the people of Hull were frantic with joy at the sight of their 
"royal master." The English language was found almost inadequate to the 
supply of words necessary for the formation of the fulsome compliments with 
which be was then greeted. Now be stood a suppliant before that same gate 
at which he then so proudly received the" Hull favour," and be craved ad· 
mittaDce into his "royal town" in vain ! Charles, being thus repulsed, 
lodged that night at Beverley, and the next morning he sent a herald to Sir 
John, summoning him once more to open the gates on pain of being pro­
claimed a traitor, but the herald, like his royal master, proved unsuccessful, 
and the K.ing, filled with mort.Uication and disappointment, was obliged 
to return to York. 

Highly inceneed at the affront put upon him, Charles immediately sent an 
express with a message to both Houses of Parliament, explanatory of his 
motiTes for going to Hull, and demanding justice against the Governor of 
that place, for his treasonable refusal to obey the royal commands; but in· 
stead of punishing that officer, or replying to the King's complaint, Parlia· 
ment bestDwed upon him and his supporters a vote of thanks ; and passed a 
resolution to the effect, that as Sir J obn Hotham had done nothing but in 
obedience to the commands of the Houses of Lords and Commons, that the 
King's deelariDg him a traitor-being a member of th~ower boUS&-was a 
high breach of the privilege of Parliament; and without due process of law 
was against the liberty of the subject and the law of the )and. The Parlia­
ment then ordered two ships of war immediately to Hull, under the command 
of the Earl of Warwick ; and a committee of both Houses was sent into the 
north, to take care of those parts, and of Hull; and in particular to thank 
Sir John Hotham, the commanders and soldiers under him, together with 
such of the inhabitants as had shewn a favourable disposition to the cause in 
which they were engaged ; and to assure them that particular care should 
be taken to reward them according to their deserts.* 

On the ~8th of April the King sent from York to both Houses of Parlia· 
ment another message, demanding satisfaction against the Governor of Hull, 
and on the ISth of May a reply to his two messages was read in the house, 
and afterwards delivered to his Ml\iesty with great formality. In this reply 

• Parliamentary Biatory, YOl. x., p. 461. 
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the Parliament attributes ita conduct towards the King, to the influence, 
which they affect to fear, the wicked councils of "some in uear trust and 
authority about him," will or may have upon his Majesty. They charged 
the King's friends, which they termed the malignant party, with drawing him 
into places of strength, remote from his Parliament; with exciting the people 
to commotions, under pretence of serving his Majesty against his Parliament; 
and they told the King that, "lest this malignant party, by the advantage of 
the town and magazine of Hull, should be able to go through with their mis­
chievous intentions," that they commanded the town of Hull to be secured 
by a garrison, under the government of Sir John Hotham, requiring him to 
keep the same for the service of his Majesty and his kingdom. Upon these 
grounds they justified Sir John Hotham's refusal to admit his Majesty, and 
declared him clear of the odious crime of treason. The garrison of Hull was 
then much augmented, so that there was little ground for hope that the King 
could obtain possession of it; indeed the probability was greater that Sir John 
Hotham should take York, than his MeJesty could recover Hull. Charles, 
therefore, resolved to put himself in a posture of defence. In order to do 
this, he summoned the gentry of Yorkshire to moot him at York, and to 
them he declared his apprehension of danger, and his wish to have a guard 
for his person, "but of such persons, and with such circumllt&nces, as should 
administer no occasion of jealousy to the most suspicious; and wished tha 
gentlemen of quality who attended, to consider and advise of the way." A 
guard of honour of 200 gentlemen was immediately formed, under the com­
mand of the PrinCj. of Wales, whose Lieutenant-Colonel was Sir Fra.ncis 
W ortley. His MeJeety had also a regiment of 600 foot of the trained bands, 
commanded by Sir Robert Strickland. 

The Parliament then declared " that the King was levying forees to subdue 
them," and fears and jealousies were instilled into the minds of .the people, 
by means of various pamphlets, which were dispersed throughout the kingdom. 
One of them, published by the authority of Parliament, had this singular 
title--" Horrible news from York, Hull, and Newcastle, concerning the 
King's MeJesty's intent to take up arms against the Parliament; with his 
Majesty's threatcnings to imprison the Lord Fairfax, Sir Philip Stapleton, 
and the rest of the Committee appointed by tbe Parliament to sit at York; 
and the joint vote of both Houses concerning the same." Another pamphlet 
was styled-" More news from Hull; or a most happy and fortunate preven­
tion of a most hellish and devillish plot, occasioned by some unquiet aDd 
discontented spirits ngninst the town of Hull, endeavouring to command their 
admittance hy cnsting balls of 'vita fire into the town, which by policy nod 



HISTORY ()F Kl!>GS'fO!>-UPUS·HULL. 55 

treaty they could not retain." Amongst the curious reports fabricated about 
this time, and industriously circulated, to inspire terror and keep the town of 
Hull in a constant state of alarm, was, that Lord Lord Dunbar kept a great 
number of horses and armed men in spacious vaults under the ground, in 
order to surprise the town at night ; that a Lincolnshire gentleman, of the 
name of Terwhit, was ready to assist them, with 300 men in complete steel 
armour; aud that the Spaniards were expected, with a fteet, to their assis­
W1ce. This extraordinary report furnished grounds for considerably in­
creasing the garrison, and parties "ere sent out to plunder the Royalists, 
under pretence of searching for arms and getting intelligence. The Parlia­
ment determined to remove the magazine from the town of Hull to the Tower 
ol London. and a warrant was sent down to Sir John Hotham to delivel' it 
to the Admiral, the Earl of Warwick, for that purpose; but the captains of 
the ships in the port received a command from the King at York, directing 
them, "on their allegiance not to put on board any part of the magazine, 
&c.;" consequently the military stores were not then remo,·ed. 

The King finding that the Parliament openly supported Sir John Hotham; 
and not being in a position to take Hull by a regular assault, for want of 
artillery, arms, and ammunition, attempted to gain po98e88ion of the town by 
a speedier and mo're easy way-by private application to some of the officers 
who bad command in the town. In execution of t.his design he made use of 
Mr. Deckwitb, of Beverley. That gentleman sent a letter to his son-in-law, 
an officer, named Fowkes, who was Lieutenant to Captain Lowenger, a 
Dutchman, then in command under Sir John Hotham at Hull, requesting 
him t,o come to Beverley, as he had something of concern to advise him about. 
Fowkes handed this letter to Mr. Robert Stockdale, secretary to Sir John, 
begging him to shew it to that officer, and to request permiSBion for him 
to attend to the invitation contained therein, and promising at the same time 
&o give a particular account of what bad passed. Sir John readily granted 
what was desired, and on the Lieutenant's return from Beverley, he stated 
to him that in Mr. Beckwith's parlour he was introduced to fourteen or 
filteen gentlemen, who proposed to him to conspire with his Captain to d&­
liYer up Hull to the King, by secreting opening the gates at some convenient 
time to be fixed upon; and promised that his Captain should have £1,000. 
per annum settled on him and his heirs for ever, and £1,000. in ready money; 
and that £500. per ann. should be settled upon him (Fowkes) and his heirs, 
and £500. in money. 

The Lieutenant seemed to comply with their request; and it was arranged 
that be should correspond with Mr. Beckwith. With many thanks and 
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promises ot great reward for his fidelity to the Parliament, Sir John ordered 
him to proceed in the plan; and he drew up a letter, which was transcribed 
by Fowkes, addressed to Deck with, the purport of which was, "that he found 
his Captain very compliable, and should give them advice as they proceeded, 
how the business might best be accomplished." Several letters then passed 
to humour the design till the Governor thought fit to bring the affair 
to an issue, and this was done by a letter written as usual, by Sir John, 
and transcribed by Fowkes, to this effect :-That on Tuesday next his 
Captain would command the main guard, and be the north gate, his MeJesty 
would that afternoon send from York 1,000 horse, and ISOO foot to be mounted 
behind the horsemen for tbfl sake of expedition, and that they should be at 
Hull at two o'clock in the morning. They were, moreover, with a small 
party to give the alarm at Myton-gate, and with the main body to adnnce 
to the North gate, where be would give them entrance, so that they might 
march to the maiu guard, which Captain Lo,venger would deliver into their 
hands, e.nd thus the town become theirs without hazard. On this proposal 
being agreed to by Mr. Deckwith, the Governor called a council of war, and 
opened the whole matter to them. Most of the members who composed this 
council were for permitting the King's forces to enter the town, and then to 
cut them to pieces, but Sir John would not agree to this bloody proposal, 
humanely remarking "that be would never \Vantonly shed blood when it 
was in his power to save it." At one o'clock on Monday night, Sir John 
dispatched his secretary with a letter to the King at York, informing him 
of the discovery of the design, and also intimating that "he might spare 
himself the trouble of carrying on the contrive.nce." Parliament now passed 
a vote of thanks to Sir John Hotham, e.nd declared Beck with a delinquent, 
and guilty of a crime little less than high treason. Accordingly an officer 
was despatched who seized him at York, but he was immediately rescued by 
the King's directions, his MeJesty at the same time observing, "that when 
the Parliament gave him justice against Sir John Hotham, be would deliver 
Beck with up to them." Clarendon obsenes, "that it was thought very 
ridiculous to standers by, that Sir John Hotham should be justified for 
keeping the town against the King, and another gentleman be voted a de­
linquent for designing to recover it to its allegiance. 

The Parliament then published a very voluminous remonstrance-" a kind 
of war with the pen, which preceded that of the sword," addressed to the 
people at large; which, according to Clarendon, wrought more upon the 
minds of men than all the Parliament had before done ; and notwithstanding 
the King's prohibition to the contrary, and without the least regard paid to 
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his remoustronces and complaints, the magnzine at Hull was conveyed to 
London, and deposited in the Tower. In a few days after the publication or­
the above remonstrance, Charles issued a lengthy reply, both of which are 
printed in Tickell's History of Hull. Messages, remonstrances, and declara­
tions between the King and the Parliament, were now frequent; and so 
conscious was Charles that he had a decided superiority, that he dispersed 
everywhere the papers of the Parliament together with his own, that the 
people might be more enabled by comparison to form a proper judgment 
between them ; whilst, on the other hand, the Parliament, while they distri­
buted copies of their own, were anxioo.s to suppress the King's compositions.* 

In a long answer to one of the last declarations of Parliament, the King 
reproached the two Houses for their illegal proceedings against him. He 
said that the keeping him out of Hull by Sir John Hotham, was an act of 
high treason; and that taking away his magazine and ammunition from that 
place, contrary to his express command, was an act of violence against him ; 
and, in both cases, he told them that by the help of God and law he would 
have justice, or lose his life in requiring it. He maintained that tho military 
stores at Hull were his private property, be bad bought them with borrowed 
money previously to the Scottish in\•asion; that the town waa his, for it had 
belonged to the Crown, and was still held by royal charter ; and that the 
fortress was his, because to him belonged all the fortresses witqin the king­
dom. But it was idle to talk of legal rights at a time when few, if any, hopes 
of peace were entertained ; when a real though disguised war was already 
raging between the parties ; and when each side was endeavouring to throw 
on the other the odium of commencing a civil war. 

"Many people," says the Earl of Clarendon, "believe that the King too long 
deferred his recourse to arms, and that if he had raised forces upon his first 
repulse at Hull, his service would have been very much advanced; and that 
the Parliament would not have been able to have drawn an army together;" 
and the same noble historian gives us a reason for this dilatory proceeding 
in the King':-be tells us "that be had not at that time one barrel of powder, 
nor one musket, nor any other provision necessary for an army; and what 
was worse, was not sure of any port to which they might be securely 
assigned ; nor had he money for the support of his table for the term of one 
month." However the Queen, by the sale of her own and the crown jewels 
in Holland, together with the assistance of the Prince of Orange, purchased 
a supply of arms and ammunition, and a part of it was sent in a small ship 

• Rushworth, vol. v., p. 7111. 
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called the Providence, which, to avoid being taken, had been, Ly the captain's 
directions, run on ground in Keyingham Creek, on the Holdcmess coast. 
Sir John IIotham having received intelligence of her an·ivlll at that place, 
detached a strong party from his garrison at Hull for the purpose of taking 
the vessel and seizing her cargo; but the trained bands of Holderncss warmly 
opposed them, and dro'"c back the detachment. The Pro,·idencc was then 
unloaded, and the arms and ammunition were safely escorted to his Majesty 
at York, by the trained bands of the country. The King, with an army 
of about 8,000 foot and 1,000 horse, raised and paid partly by the nobility 
and gentry of the country, removed from York to Beverley, to which place 
he summoned the neighbouring trained bands to attend him. The court 
remained some days at Beverley, from which place Charles published a 
proclamation, which he sent to the Parliament with a message to signify his 
intention to besiege Hull, unless they delivered it up to him. He also 
specified a day by which he woulcl expect their answer at Deverley; but on 
the 12th of July, being the very day the message and proclamation were sent 
from Bcverley, both Houses voted "thnt an army should be immediately 
rnised, and that the command of it should be given to the Earl of Esse:-:." 
Meanwhile a..'l soon as Sir John Hotham heard that the King was at Beverley, 
an<l intended to march against Hull, he dispatched three messengers in quick 
succession, I'E'questing his Majesty not to turn his arms against the town, 
for, he added, "that it was his, aud all its inhabitants his loyal and faithful 
subjects, who \Vere resolved always to continue such." But the King, who 
thought he had no great renson for placing much reliance on the Governor's 
professions of attachment, thought proper to detain the messengers. The 
Governor now called a council of war, by which it was determined that the 
surrounding country should be laid under water, in order to render all access 
to tho town impracticable to the roynl army. This resolution of the council 
was, the Ycry same evening, carried into effect; the sluices were pulled up, 
and the banks, both of the Humber and the Hull, so cut, that the next 
morning, by the nid of the spring tides, the meadows and pastures, for the 
extent of two miles on every side of Hull, wero covered to a considerable 
depth with salt water. Tbe towu was then put in the best state of defence. 
The hospital of the Charter House, and se,·eral houses in M yton Lane, were 
demolished, to prevent the besiegers from lodging in them ; the fort at the 
south end was well furnished with iron guns, and one brass basilisk, seven­
teen feet long, which weighed 7,000 lbs.; and the walls were well fortified 
with brass and iron guns. The town's ditch before the walls was both broad 
nnd deep, and over this ditch lay three drawbridges at 1\fyton, Beverley, and 
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the North gates; and before each gate was a battery. Whilst the garrison 
of Hull was making every preparation for a resolute defence of the town, tbe 
King had 200 men employed in cutting trenches, to di\·ert the current of 
fresh water that supplied the town of Hull, and to convey it into the Humber; 
and to prevent succours from being introduced into tho town by water, 200 
horse, commanded by Lord Willoughby, of Eresby, and Sir Thos. Glemham, 
were detached to the Humber side in Lincolnshire; and two forts were 
erected, one at Paull, a village five miles below Hull, and the other at Hessle 
Cliff, about the same distance above it; and these forts were well mounted 
with cannon to command the Humber. 

The Parliament being informed of tbe state of affairs, gave orders that 500 
men should be immediately sent by sea to Hull, to be followed by 1,500 
more, as soon as they could be got ready; and some ships of war were also 
ordered down to scour the Humber. About the middle of July (10-12), these 
recruits, together with a considerable sum of money, and a great store of 
provisions, arrived in the Humber, passed the fort at Paull without any ma· 
terial damage, and lauded safely at Hull. Whilst some fruitless negociations 
between the King and his Parliament were pending, his Majesty made a 
journey to Nottingham and Leicester, to secure the affections of these places; 
and on his return to the army before Hull, he received an answer from the 
Parliament, containing a refusal of some propositions which be bad offered. 

The siege of Hull having now commenced, Sir John Meldrum, n Scotch 
officer of reputation, was sent do\m by the Parliament to assi!!t Sir John 
Hotham, and greatly distinguished himself in the defence of the town. Can­
nonading commenced on both sides, but no considernble slaughter was made 
on either side ; and in order to inflame the troops in the garrison against the 
royal cause, reports were raised in the town that the King contemplated 
measures of the greatest cruelty against the inhabitants, and that should he 
succeed in carrying the place, as he intended, by storm, every person, with· 
out respect to age, sex, or condition, was to be put indiscriminately to the 
sword. About tbe end of .July, 500 of the troops in tlte garrison, under the 
command of Sir John Meldrum, made a desperate so.lly or sortie from the 
fortress, and attaci:tcd the King's forces with so much spirit, that a great part 
o( his foot, consisting chiefly of the trained bands, fled on tho first onset, so 
that the horse, seeing themselves thus shamefully deserted, retired towards 
Beverley with considerable loss, several being killed and wounded, aud about 
thirty taken prisoners. Elevated by this good success, together with a fresh 
supply of troops, which arrived from L ondon, the gnrrison many sevcrnl 
other furious uu<l succcs"'ful sallies, in one of which the Hoynlisls \ \ '<'1'1' dri n ·n 
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out of the village of Anlaby; and a ham, belonging to Mr. Legard, which 
was used as a storehouse for a portion of the King's ammunition, was des­
troyed. In one of these skirmishes between the garrison and the King's 
forces, the Earl of Newport, who commanded the latter, was forced off his 
horse by a cannon ball, and thrown into a ditch, where, being in a state of 
insensibility, he nearly perished in the water before relief could be afforded 
him. After repeated disasters, and having no ships of war to bombard the 
town from the river, nor to prevent supplies of men and provisions being 
conveyed into it, Charles found that all attempts to reduce it were ineffectual. 
He, therefore, called a council of war, and by their advice be resolved to 
raise the siege, and· draw off his forces. This attempt on Hull having 
entirely failed, the Royalists retired to Beverley, where the trained bands 
were dismissed, and his Majesty, with his court and the rest of the army, 
returned to York. 

It appears that in the siege of Hull the King relied for success less upon 
the efficiency of his own army, than upon the treachery of the Governor, with 
whom he had previously entered into a private treaty for surrendering the 
town; and to all who were not in the secret, it was a matter of surprise that 
he being so ill provided with everything necessary for an expedition of such 
importance, should have attacked one of the strongest fortresses in the whole 
kingdom, which was well provided with a numerous garrison. But his 
M&Jesty's reason for removing his court to Deverley, and undertaking this 
enterprise, was in pursuance of a plan formed between Sir John Hotham 
and Lord Digby, son of the Earl of Bristol. This young nobleman, in whom 
the King placed the highest confidence, had been sent over from Holland by 
the Queen, to concert with the IGng a plan of operations.* On his return 
be was taken prisoner by the Parliament's ships, and carried into Hull, 
where, under the disguise of a Frenchman, he remained for some time un­
known. Pretending that he could give private information of the King's 
designs, he was introduced to Sir John Hotham, to whom he had tbo 
romantic hardihood to propose the surrender of the town to his Majesty. 
The manner in which the Governor rccei\·ed this extraordinary proposal, en­
couraged him to press the negociation ; and it was at length agreed between 
them, that the King, at the head of his small army, should attack the town, 
and that Sir J obn should deliver up the fortreas at the firing of the first shot. 
Having thus far succeeded, Lord Digby was sent by the wavering Governor 
to York, t(l concert with tht- King measures for the cntcrp1ise. However, 

• Clnrendon. 
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through the pusillanimity, the inconstancy, or the inability,* of Sir John 
Hotlwn, or perhaps from the union of these, the whole project proved abor· 
tiYe. Upon his Majesty's retreat to York, he left a body of troops at Beverley, 
to secure that town to his interest ; but even this party a few days after was 
beaten from thence by a strong detachment, sent from the garrison at Hull, 
commanded by Colonel Boynton, nephew to Sir John Hotham. 

The fruitless attempt of the King to recover Hull, proved an incredible 
damage to the inhabitants of the adjacent country, by the loss they sustained 
by the inundation of their land ; and though both Houses of Parliament 
declared that the occupiers of those lands should have ample satisfaction for 
the loss they had sustained ; yet, as such persons as wire suspected of being 
f&Yourable to the royal cause then, or formerly, had been exempted, few of 
the sufferers received any recompense at all ; since the fact was, that most 
of the people of the neighbourhood, with the other inhabitants of Holdemess, 
were well known to be attached tG the King's service, and bad recently con­
curred in a petition to his Majesty, complaining of this o.s well as of various 
other illegal actions of which Sir John Hotham had been guilty. In the 
town too the King had numerous adherents, notwithstanding the fact that 
many of them were imprisoned, and their property confiscated. Messrs. 
W &tkinson, Dobson, and Parkins, Aldermen; and Messrs. Cartwright, Brown, 
Thomton, and Wilkinson, with many others, openly espoused the royal cause, 
and lea"Ying their families, repaired to the King's standard and fought under 
his banner. Another strong reinforcement was sent to the garrison at Hull, 
with orders from the Parliament to Sir John Hotham, to make frequent 
sallies out of the town, with a view to ravage the country, and distress the 
Royalists as much as possible. 

As has been shown at page 287 of vol. i. of this history, the Queen arrived 
from Holland at Bridlington Quay, in the beginning of the year 1648, and 
during her stay at the latter place, amongst those who waited upon her 
Ml\iesty to congratulate her on her safe arrival, was Captain Hotham, son 
of the Governor of Hull, who was sent by his father privately to treat with 
her respecting terms, should he think of entering into his Ml\jesty's views.t 
Hotham was introduced into the Queen's presence, be kissed her hand, and 
afterwards had an interview with the Lord General, the Earl of Newcastle, 
on the subject of surrendering Hull to whom she should appoint. Sir John 
Hotbam's resentment against the Parliament was caused by the appointment 

• Rapin says that it '!I'M impossible for tho Go,·crnor to fulfil his cngRg<'mcnts. 
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of Lord Fairfax to the post of General of o.ll their forces in the north, an 
honour which, after the eminent services be had rendered them in main­
taining Hull, el"en at the risk of exposing himself to the King's utmost 
displeasure, he thought he was entitled to. The haughty and imperious 
Hotham * disdained to receive orders or to submit to Lord Fairfax, and the 
Parliament resolved to displuce him, and appoint a more tractable Governor 
for HulL Sir John baYing discovered their determination, by some inter­
cepted letters, took deadly umbrage at it, and quickly resolved to be revenged 
on his masters, by delivering up Hull to the King. His son, too, very 
readily entered into the conspiracy, and adopted all his father's sentiments 
of resentment against the Parliament. A correspondence was now carried 
on between the Hothams and the Earl of N C\vcastle, and it was agreed to 
deliver up Hull to the Queen, while she was on her march with her troops 
to the King. In the meantime the Parliament having received from their 
emissaries some information respecting the intentions of the Governor and 
his son, employed a clergyman named Saltmarsb, a person \Vhom they could 
confide in, and a near relative of the Governor, to discover if possible the 
truth of the matter. By pretending an extraordinary zeal for the church 
and King, this tool of the Parliament gained the confidence of Sir John, who, 
notwithstandiug his great circumspection, fell into the snare laid for him by 
his insidious kinsman. Believing that a man of such seeming sanctity and 
so near a relative would not betray him, the Goven10r at length discovered 
to him the whole plot, which the treucherous Saltmarsh communicated to 
Captain Moyer, who commanded the Hcrcules ship of war, lying in the 
Humber. His next care was to transmit the intelligence to Parliament, 
who voted him a reward of .£2,000. for this meritorious piece of service: and 
at the same time sent orders to Captain Moyer and Sir Matthew BoyntOn to 
keep a watchful eye on the Hothams. 

The Governor, ignorant of the treachery of his kinsman, sent his son a 
few days after, by the command of the Parliament, nt the head of his troops, 
to Nottingham, to join Colonel Cromwell and Lord Gray, with the forces 
under their command; but no sooner had he arrived at Nottingham than 
be was arrested by Cromwcll, upon a charge of intending to deliver up Hull 
to the King. Captain Hothnm, however, eluding the vigilance of his keepers, 
escaped to Lincoln, and from thence proceeded to Hull. The Mayor of 
Hull, Mr. Thomas Raikes (who for his adherence to the Parliament, was, 
contrary to the charter, continucd in office two ycflrs), hnviug learnt from 
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Captain M oyer, that the plot for delivering up the town, if not prevented, 
1rould shortly be put into execution, held a consultation with the chiefs of the 
Parliamentarian party, and it was resolved to defeat the project by seizing 
the Governor and his son. Accordingly ou the next day, the 20th of June 
(1643), Captain Moyer landed 100 men from his ship, and seized the Castle 
and Dlockhou.ses al_most without resistance, and 1,500 of the soldiers and 
inhabitants of the town who were in readiness, at the word of command from 
the Mayor seized the main guard near the magazine, took possession of the 
artillery on the walls, and placed a guard at the Go,·ernor's house, all of 
which was done in about the space of an hour, and without shedding any 
blood. By these measures Captain Hotham was secured, but Sir John by 
some means effected his escape from the house,* and meeting a man who was 
riding into the town, he ordered him to alight, and mounting his horse, he 
passed through the guard at Beverley-gatc, which had not yet received orders 
to stop him. 

Sir John's design \Vas to reach, if possible, his house. at Scorborough (a 
village near Heverley), \vhich he had taken care to fortify, and whither he 
had sent both men and ammunition; but fearing a pursuit, he quitted tbo 
Deverley road, and proceeded to Stoneferry (two miles from Hull), intending 
to ho.vc crossed the river into Holderncss; o.nd not meeting with o. boat, o.nd 
the river being too rapid to swim over, he proceeded to Wawn ferry (a few 
miles further), and there met with a similar disappointment. Expecting to 
lall into the hands of his pursuers, but hoping the news of his escape had 
not reached Deverley, he determined to proceed there, and rode into the town, 
placed himself at the head of seven or eight hundred men, who happened to 
be drawn up in arms in the Market-Place, and ordering them to follow him, 
they at first obeyed, but were met by Colonel Doynton (who had just receh·ed 
intimation of his Bight from Hull), who saluted Sir John, saying, "you arc 
my prisoner!·· Sir John seeing an open lane before him, put spurs to his 
horse, and made off at full speed, but was brought to the ground by a blow 
from the butt of a soldier's musket, and secured. He was then conveyed 
under a strong guard to Hull, where he was put on board the Heroules, 
to8ether with his son, Captain Hotbam, and conveyed to London, where they 
arrived on the loth of July, and were committed to the Tower. 

After a long and strict confinement, Sir John Hotham was brought before 
a oourt-martial at the Guild-hall, in London, on the 30th of November, 
charged with "traitorously betraying the trust imposed upon him by Parlia-

• Rusbworth, vol. v., p. 276. 
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ment, and. with perfidiously adhering to the enemy.'' Ou the 2nd of De­
cember he was brought up again l!~fore the court to make his defence; his 
allegations not proving satisfactory to the court, thay, on the 7th of the same 
month, sentenced him to be beheaded. on the 16th; but on his lady's petition 
for time to settle his estate, the execution was deferred a little longer. On 
the Oth of December, Captain Hotham came to his trial, and was condemned 
before the same court, upon a charge similar to that preferred against his 
father. On the 1st of January, 1645, Captain Hotham was execuOOd on 
Tower Hill; and on the following day Sir John suffered decapitation upon 
the same scaffold, the victim of his own irresolution and inconstancy. Both 
father and son declarod on the scaffold that they were innocent of the chargee 
for which they were about to suffer. 

The execution of Sir John Hotham and his son recalled to the minds of 
many the dreadful imprecations he had uttered upon the walls of Hull, 
when he denied the King admittance into the town-" That God would 
l!ring confusion on him and his, if he were not a loyal and faithful subject 
to his MeJcsty. 

After the arrest of Sir John Hotham, the custody of Hull was intrusted 
to the care of a committee of eleven gentlemen, approved by the Parliament, 
and at the head of which was the Mayor. Soon after the battle of Atherton 
Moor, which was fought on the 30th of June (the day after the Hotbams 
were arrested), and in which the Royalist army dispersed the forces of the 
Parliament, Lord Fairfax arrived in Hull, and on the 22nd of July was con· 
stitutOO the Governor of that place. On the 2nd of September, in the same 
year, the Earl, now the Marquis of Newcastle, having made himself master 
of Gainsborough and Lincoln, and driven Sir Thomas Fairfax out of Deverley 
with great slaughter, appeared before Hull, with an army of about 4,000 
horse and 12,000 foot, and immediately began his operations against it, by 
cutting off its supplies of fresh water, and of provisions, as far as depended 
upon the surrounding country. The siege and defence were conducOOd with 
all the military skill of that age, and with all the determination of deep­
rooted hostility, which generally distinguishes intestine warfare. Notwith· 
standing the incessant fire from the walls, the besiegers erected several 
batteries, which immediately opened upon the town; but the cannon from 
the Blockhouses, and the forts on the banks of the river Hull, near the ruins 
of the Charter House, carried devastation and slaughter into the camps of 
the besiegers. On one of the batteries erected by the Royalists, about half 
a mile from the town, which was called the King's fort, were placed several 
pieces of heavy ordnance, besides two brass culverins, which shot balls of 86 
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lbs. weight, and a furnace was constructed for the heating of balls. The firing 
of red hot balls threw the inhabitants into the greatest consternation, but 
the precautions of the Governor counteracted their efficacy ; and by adding 
two large culverins to the Charter House battery, and erecting another fort, 
which flanked the Royalists, he demolished the King's fort, so that no more 
hot bells were shot into the town during the remainder of the siege. On the 
9th of September, about 400 horse and foot made a sally, and attacked the 
Royalists in the village of Anlaby, but they were soon repulsed, and pursued 
almost to the gates of the town. On the 14th of September, Lord Fairfax, 
under an apprehension that the fortress was in danger of being reduced, 
ordered the banks of the Humber to be cut, to overflow the country, and the 
neighbourhood being thus laid under water, the Royalists were obliged to 
abandon all their works, except those erected on the banks of the river. 

On the 16th of the same month, through the carelessness of an artillery· 
man, who, with a lighted match, went into the artillery room to fetch some 
cartridges, ·where were some hand grenadoes that took fire, a great part of 
the north Blockhouse was blown up, and the explosion rent the whole building, 
and killed both him and four other persons. In a room adjoining were ten 
ba.rrela of gunpowder, some of them open, but which were providentially 
preeerved, though the violence of the explosion forced open its door, which 
waa bolted with strong bars of iron. Had the fire been communicated to 
this gunpowder, the whole would have been destroyed, with above 300 men, 
who were stationed in it; and even the town itself would receive no small 
damage from the dreadful shock. 

Four days afterwards a strong party of the Royalists approached the town 
on the weet, and erected batteries, on which they placed heavy artillery; and 
on the 27th of the same month they repaired the fort at Paull, and erected 
another on the opposite shorc,-at Whitgift, near the confluence of the rivers 
Ouse and Trent, to prevent Hull from receiving supplies by water. But 
these forts were eoon demolished by the ships of war which the Parliament 
placed in the Humber, so that the attempts to cut oft' the supplies proved 
ineffectual. About this time Lord Willoughby of Parham, and Colonel 
Cromwell, came to Hull to take council with Lord Fairfax, relative to the 
preeent emergency, but their stay was of short duration; and on the day of 
their departure, Sir Thomas Fairfax croBSed the Humber with twenty troops 
of horse, and joined Cromwell's force in Lincolnshire. On the ~8th of Sep­
tember, the Marquis of Newcastle's magazine at Cettingham was blown up, 
either by accident or treachery. Considerable damage was done to the vil­
lage: and several people were killed by the explosion. 

VOL. 11. K 
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About this time the Governor issued an order to levy £6,000. upon the 
towu of Hull, which was collected accordingly; but though his lordship 
promised on his honour to have it repaid after the siege was brought to an 
issue, it appears that it was never refunded. Wednesday, the 4th of October, 
was appointed by the Governor to be obsen-ed in the town as a public fast ; 
but the enemy having, on the night before, raised a new work within a 
quarter of a mile of the town, on the north side, the garrison, instead of 
fasting and praying, were ordered to make an immediate attack upon this 
work. For this purpose 400 men sallied out, and succeeded in driving the 
enemy from their ground, and demolishing the fort; and at the same time 
another party attacked the Royalists' fort at Darringham bank, and after a 
sharp contest, took and totally demolished it. 

On Monday, the Oth of October, at break of day, a strong party of the 
bcsiegel'l!, under the command of Captain Strickland, made an attack upon 
the enemy's fort at the foot of the west jetty, and the Half-Moon near it; 
while another body of their forces proceeded to the other side of the town, 
and made an attempt on the Charter House battery; Captain Strickland and 
his men were not discovered till they began to scale the fort, when they re­
ceived a galling fire from the Half-Moon battery, but at the instant of 
reaching the top, that brave and gallant officer was killed by a muaket ball. 
This accident was fatal to the assailants ; for the Parliamentarians fell upon 
them with such fury, that they were not only repulsed, but driven from the 
fort with so great a slaughter, that of the whole detachment, few had the 
good fortune to escape. The garrison likewise suffered a very considerable 
loss. The King's party were equally unsuccessful at the Charter House 
battery, for after having carried it by assault, and killed the commanding 
officer and se\·eral men, they were unable to keep possession of it, and were 
forced to abandon it with considerable loss. 

A most vigorous and determined sortie was made on the Royalists on the 
11th of October. At seven in the morning, the whole garrison (consisting 
of about 1,500 men, inhabitants, soldiers, and seamen) was under arms, and 
sallied out from the west side of the town, with the intention of compelling 
them to raise the siege. They were formed into three divisions, a small num­
ber charged the besiegers in front of their last erected battery ; the second, 
commanded by Sir John Meldrum, attacked the left flank; and the third 
made a determined attack upon their works on the banks of the Humber. 
These attacks were made with so much vigour, that the besiegers, after an 
obstinato contest, were driven from their works. At this juncture the 
Royalists received a strong reinforcement, which enabled them to reeover 
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some of their cannon, which had fallen into the hands of the assailants, 
and the latter were obliged to retreat in disorder, under the cover of their 
batteries. 

Lord Fairfu and Sir John Meldrum then made a determined effort, and 
having inspired their men with fresh courage, they renewed the contest with 
such impetuosity, that the Marquis of Newcastle was obliged to abandon his 
forts and batteries, after having suffered a dreadful loss from his own cannon, 
which was turned against him. Perceiving that all his efforts to carry the 
town must be unavailing, the Marquis called a council of war, in which it was 
determined immediately to raise the siege. This was carried into execution 
the same night, and the Marquis retreated with the greater part of his army 
to York; and in order to prevent a pursuit, be cut open the canals, destroyed 
the bridges, and broke up the roads in the line of his retreat. And thus 
ended the second siege of Hull, after having lasted from the 2nd of Septem· 
ber to the 11th of October, inclusive. 

On the morning of the 12th of October, when it was perceived that the 
enemy was gone, Lord Fairfax commanded that the day should be observed 
as a day of public thanksgiving, and the anniversary was celebrated here in 
the same manner till the Restoration. The Royalists being now withdrawn 
from the town, tbe gates were again thrown open, the bridges let down, and 
everything resumed its former appearance. The walls of the town, and the 
other fortifications, were repaired, and se;eral additional works begun for the 
greater security of the place, in case of another siege; but the greater portion 
of this once famous fortress, the pride and strength of the north, is at this 
day, with the exception of a part of the citadel, levelled to the ground. 

The year 1644 proved a busy year in Yorkshire, but in the midst of all the 
strife and carnage that surrounded it, the town of Hull remained quiet. 
The inhabitants, expecting to be reimbursed the exhorbitant sums which 
bad been exacted from them for the public service during the siege, and for 
which no compensation was ever made, preferred a petition to the Parlia­
ment, representing the impoverished state of the town, from the ruin of its 
trade, the damage sustained by the siege, &c. ; and praying that they might 
be exempted from assessments for a time, till they had in some mcaelure re­
paired their losses. But the answer which they received was, "that in a 
time of public calamity, particular suffering could not be attended to; that 
the prayer of their petition was unreasonable, and consequently would not be 
granted.'' In another petition, presented in 1646, the inhabitants of Hull 
represented that they had advanced, at different times, to Sir John Hotham, 
Sir John Meldrum, and Lord Fairfax, £go,ooo.; that thE'y had suffered 
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£80,000. by losses in trade, and paid £11,000. for repairing and strength­
ening the fortifications; but for all this they received no recompense. 

In 1645, when the Parliament abolished the liturgy of the Church of 
England, the soldiers quartered in Hull entered the churches, seized all the 
common prayer books, and carried them to the Market-place, where thoee 
" immaculate reformers " purged them from " all popish superstitions " in a 
large fire prepared for that pious purpose. In this year the two Hou&e6 of 
Parliament ordered that there should be a constant garrison kept at Bull, 
and maintained at the public charge; that Sir Thomas Fairfax should be 
the Governor; and invested with authority to punish all offenders according 
to justice, as he should see cause ; and that any person who should leave the 
town and join the Royalists, or convey any letters or messages to the King or 
Queen, or any of their adherents, without the consent of the two Houses of 
Parliament, should be immediately put to death as a traitor. This order 
contributed greatly to lessen the veneration the inhabitants of Hull had 
hitherto entertained for the Parliament's cause. They strenuously petitioned 
against admitting such a garrison amongst them, but notwithstanding their 
remonstrances the Commons placed a garrison here. In the month of 
November, 1646, part of the to\vn's walls about fifty yards in length, between 
Myton and Posterngate, fell into the ditch, occasioned by the excessive rnins 
that had undermined it on one side, ond the weight of earth that lay against 
it on the other. To repair this breach in the walls cost the town upwards 
of £800., an expense which at that time they could but with difficulty raise. 
At the same time a general survey was taken of all the deficiencies in the 
walls, Castle, fortifications, and Bloclihouses, and the estimate for putting 
them into sufficient repair amounted to the sum of £6,600. During this 
contest between the King and the Parliament, the charters of Bull were 
often violated by the Parliament, and in 1646 that assembly demanded them 
from the Corporation; the latter however evaded the request. In 1647 
the merchants of Hull sustained losses at sea by pirates, to the amount of 
£20,000., which induced several of them to enter into an agreement to 
defend each other in their voyages to Dantzic; and other places where their 
commerce extended. 

About the year 1649 the King's fee farm rents, issuing out of the town 
and county of Kingston-upon-Hull, amounting to the annual sum of £156. 
7s. Sd., and from which were deducted £24. 8s. 8d., for the reader and curate 
of the Holy Trinity and St. Mary's churches, and the master of the grammar 
school, were exposed for sale, and purchased by the town for the sum of 
£1,467. These rents, howc\·er, wtrc agniu freely bestowed on King Charles 



HISTORY OF KINGSTON·IJPON·HULI .. 6{) 

II., soon after his restoration to the throne. After the Parliament bad re­
duced the British dominions to a perfect obedience to the military power, 
and Cromwell was proclaimed Protector of the Commonwealth of England, 
Scotland, and Ireland, the inhabitants of Hull presented him with a dutiful 
addresa, couched in the puritanical terms then becoming prevalent through­
out the kingdom, in which they "humbly aoknowledged their thankfulness 
to God, in whose guidings are the hearts of Princes, that he had .made him 
the ruler over them. ·• This address was very soon follo\ved by another, 
thanking his Highness for promising to govern them according to the laws 
of the land, of which they had been for a considerable time deprived; and 
both were very graciously received by the Protector, who, in returning his 
thanks on the occasion, promised to use his utmost endeavours for the pros­
perity of the nation in general, and the town of Hull in particular. 

The following extract from the proceedings of the Mayor and Aldermen, 
at a bench held on the 22nd of March, 1654, shews that the haven was at 
that time secured by an iron chain, drawn across the mouth of tho Hull:­
" Whereas Mayor Elton bath certified this bench, that in regard of the 
tomult and stirs abroad in this nation, for the security of this towne and 
garrison, he bath amended the iron chaine, and bought a new cable to draw 
over the haven at the south end, to seoure the havon from shipps or boats 
comeing into the haven in the night tyme, upon which be is to disburse 
twenty pounds."* In the course of the naval war, carried on by the Parliament 
against the Dutch, in which several desparate engagements were fought with 
various success, though most frequently in favour of the Esglish, the mer­
chants of Hull sustained great losses; which, added to the enormous sums 
extracted from them during the civil war, reduced many of them to the 

. greatest distress ; so that they were induced to lay their grievances before 
the Parliament; praying at the same time to be relieved from taxes, which 
were required of them, and which they found themselves unable to pay. In 
this petition they. set forth, " That the deadness and universal decay of trade 
is so great, that multitudes of substantial families here, which formerly 
afforded great relief to their indigent and distressed neighbours, are now en­
forced to beg relief for tl~emselves." As there is no answer to this petition 
recorded, it is very probable that none was ever received, as the Parliament 
was then ~ngaged in objects of too great a magnitude to attend to the petitions 
ofa single town.t 

In 165 7 ·the Mayor, Aldermen, and Burgesses, presented a petition to tho 
Lord Protector, representing that there were then in the town of Hull above 

• Frosrs N otic011. t Whitlocke, p. 204. 
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200 forsaken soldiers' wives and widows, and 400 of their children, all poor 
and in great distress;* and requesting "that he would grant them an order to 
lay a tax upon cloth and lead towards their maintenance; and that the allow­
ance of £200. a year of the sequestered impropriate rectories of Yorkshire, 
formerly granted to the two ministers of Holy Trinity and St. Mary's churches 
in this town, might be constantly and faithfully paid." Cromwell, in reply, 
told them, "that as to their first request, it was not in his power to grant it 
without an Act of Parliament; but as for the second he would take particular 
care that it should be duly and faithfully paid." But it appears that little 
faith could be placed at this period in persons in high places ; for this pro­
mise, like many others of a similar character, was never fulfilled. 

In the first paragraph of an humble address of the Mayor, Aldermen, and 
Burgesses, of Hull, to the assembled Parliament of the Commonwealth of 
England, we have a faithful picture of the confused, distressed, and distracted 
state of society as it then existed:-" The various mutations and revolutions 
of late times, and the fleeting and unstable situation in which we at present 
remain, having well nigh brought us to the brink of destruction, make us, 
with the children or Israel, by the waters of Babylon, to sit down and weep, 
that there is, as yet, no balm found in Gilead to cu.re the fatal distempers 
under which we labour. The church is divided,- the laws violated,-the 
ministry and magistracy, the basis or the Commonwealth, contemned,-and 
religion, which is most dear to us, resembles the seamless coat of Christ rent 
in many pieces; nay, what is there left undone that might bring this once 
flourishing nation to a chaos of confusion.''t 

Colonel Overton, the Governor of Hull, being a virulent republican, waa 
now discharged from his command, and Colonel Fairfax was appointed by 
Monk to succeed him. Though Fairfax had contributed so effectually to 
the ruiu or the King's affairs, yet when he saw the divisions and distractions 
that rollowed those proceedings, he was the first person of quality who exerted 
himself in these parts for the purpose of effecting the restoration of the 
monarchy ; and with this view he had kept a secret correspondence with 
General Monk for some time. 

On the 8th of May, 1660, Charles II. was proclaimed in London, with 
great rejoicings, as the rightful Sovereign of the kingdom of England. On 
this occasion Hull followed the current of the rest of the kingdom, and 
united in the expression of that general joy which, says Bishop Bumet, 
"the whole nation was drunk and mad with for three years together."! On 

• Town's Records. + Ibid. S History of his own times. 
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tbe 17th of May, his Mf\iesty was proclaimed at Hull with much ceremony. 
The bells rung out their merriest peals; the cannons thundered from the 
walls and garrison ; the people rent the air with their joyful acclamations; 
and the bitterest execrations were poured on those who bad been the cause 
of his father's tragical death, and his own long and degrading exile. On the 
29th of the same month, the day on which he made his public entry into 
London, the people of Hull were again profuse in their expressions of loyalty. 
A gallows was erected in the Market Place, from which they suspended the 
arms of the late Commonwealth, together with the effigies of Olh·er Crom­
well and Serjeant Bradshaw; and after hanging there most of the day, they 
were taken down, put on a sledge, and drawn through the town; after which 
they were burnt in the presence of the soldiers under arms and a great mul­
titude of the people. 

In 1661, Charles II., on account of the recent loyalty displayed by the 
inhabitants of Hull, not only confirmed their pre\·ious charters, but added 
several others to those they formerly enjoyed. In 1662 the whole kingdom, 
that so lately exhibited so many scenes of blood and desolation, seemed to be 
converted into a theatre of riot and debauchery. The "Merry Monarch," 
as is well known, was 4 polite dissipated gentleman, though in the alterations 
and additions which were this year made in the Book of Common Prayer, he 
was styled in the collect for the Parliament, "our most religious King." 

On the petition of the Grand Jury, in 1668, the Mayor's salary was ad­
vanced from £26. to £50., that his office, as the record says, might be filled 
with more magnificence. In 1666, when James Duke of York and his 
Duchess were sojourning for some time at York, they, attended by the Duke 
of Buckingham and several of the nobility, visited Hull, and were well re­
ceived. On the confines of the county they were met by the Sheriff and 
principal burgesses on horseback, and at Beverley-gate by the Mayor, Re· 
corder, and Aldermen, in their robes of office, when the Recorder made a 
speech to his highness, and presented him with a curious purse containing 
fifty guineas ; after which they conducted the Duke and his retinue to · 
Colonel Gilby's House, where they were sumptuously entertained and lodged. 
The next day they were entertained by the Mayor, at an expense of £170. ; 
&Dei on the third day these royal and costly visitors returned to York. 

In 1667, fears having been entertained that it was intended to enter the 
Humber with a Dutch fleet, and to bum the shipping and destroy the town 
of Hull, Charles ordered the Governor to put the town in the best posture 
of defence. Accordingly all the cannon was immediately mounted; two 
companies were formed out of the inhabitants; and three old ships of a large 
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size were procured from the Wardens of Trinity House, to sink in the 
baven's mouth, to prevent the enemy's fire ships from entering. Such was 
the posture of affairs at Hull when part of the enemy's ships appeared off 
the Spurn Point; but a squadron of the English fleet soon engaged them at 
the mouth of the Humber, and obtained a decided victory. In the same 
year, the King, having spent a great part of the money which was granted 
him by Parliament for the support of the fleet and army, sent a letter to the 
Governor of Hull, to procure a loan from its opulent inhabitants. This r&­

qucst was readily complied with, and a considerable aum was advanced, 
which, howe\·er, 'vas allowed out of the Assessments. 

On the 3rd of January, 1669, died, that famous General and Admiral, 
George Monk, Duke of Albemarle, the principal person in effecting the res­
toration of Charles II. He was lligh Steward of Kingston-upon-Hull, in 
which honourable office he was succeeded by Lord Bellasis; but soon after­
wards, when the Test Act* was passed, that nobleman, being a Catholic, 
resignll(l both his office of Governor and High Steward, and the King 
appointed Jamcs, Duke of Monmoutb, his Majesty's natural sou, to succeed 
him in both offices. In the month of November, 1672, the city of York 
and the town of Hull conjointly petitioned the Lord Keeper of the Great Seal 
of England, to issue out his Mf\icsty's commission to certain gentlemen, under 
the statute of Henry Vlll., cap. 18, for the protection of ships, keels, boats, 
or other vesscls, passing between York and Hull. Having obtained this 
commission, on the 24th of September in the following year, the commis­
sioners examined the river, and found at Skelton, two fish garths consisting 
of twenty rooms; one at Sandbolme Bank, consisting of twenty-eight rooms ; 
two at Saltmarsh ; one at Crabley, crossing the river; and two at Blacktoft, 
standing in the middle of it, with sands on both sides. All these were judged 
common nuisances, and the owners had notice to pull them up within thirty 
days after the notice, nil which being complied with, the navigation between 
the two places was rendered more safe than had it been for several years before. 
On the Srd of December, 1677, the Corporation determined that if an Alder­
man being duly elected Mayor, should refuse to fill that honourable office, ho 
should be fined in the sum of £500.; if a Burgess chosen Alderman refused 
to stand, £300.; a Sheriff, £200.; and a Chamberlain, £50. In 1680, 

• The Test Act obliged f!fer)' peraon engaged in any public office or employment to 
take the oaths of allegiance and supremacy, to receive the sacrament in BOmo p&rish 
church, and deliver a certificate signed by the minister and churchwardens, attested by 

' the oath of two credible witnesses, that he had acted in this manner, and also to sub­
seribe a declaration renouncing the doctrine of trall8ubstantiation. 
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several lresh disputes arose between the people of Hull and the inhabitants 
of Anlaby, Wolferton, and other neighbouring villages, respt!Cting the proper 
pas888e& for the conveyance of the superfluous rain water. It appears that 
in consequence of the decay of the sluice at the head of J ulian dyke, the 
landwaters and floods from Haltemprice Lane and Leabridge fell into the 
said dyke, and thus polluted the fresh waters which supplied the town from 
the J ulian wells and Darringham springs. However, after examining the 
nuisance, the Commissioners of Sewers ordered that instead of the ancient 
stoppage made in Julian dyke, there should be a dam made of brick or stone 
about Darringham springs, sufficient to hinder the land-water from mixing 
with that which arose from the springs. 

In the year 1680 an engineer was sent to view the town and its state of 
defence, and to report thereon; in consequence of which, the greater portion 
of the present citadel was built and fortified, the foundation consisting of 
large piles, the entire size of various sorts of trees, driven closely into the 
earth, aud cost then, according to Tickell, upwards of £100,000.* The old 
fortifications were chiefly the Blockhouses and Castle. The site of the 
ancient village of Drypool being enclosed within the new fortifications, 
several houses were erected north of the church, for the inhabitants of that 
locality. At that time the Duke of Monmoutb, who besides being Governor 
of this town, was Captain General of all his Majesty's forces, being at the 
head of the party which opposed the court,t the King removed him from all his 
offices, and in his stead the Earl of Plymouth was made High Steward and 
Govemor of Hull. The Earl came to Hull in great state, attended by Lord 
Windsor, Sir John Legard of Ganton, Sir Willoughby Hickman, and several 
other gentlemen. Captain Copley, the Deputy Govemor, met them at Bar­
ton, to conduct them over the Humber, and at the landing etaith the 
Corporation received them in due form. The noble Govemor and his party 
were entertained on that day by Captain Copley, and on the day following 
by the Mayor, and after dinner all of them were presented with the freedom 
of the Corporation. The arbitrary proceedings of Charles about this period 
excited new insurrections against the govemment. The Duke of Monmouth 
and· several noblemen and gentlemen entered into a combination to assassinate 
the King, but before they could put their design into execution the scheme 
was discovered; the Duke of Monmouth absconded, and Lord Ruseell, AI· 
gemon Sidney, Hampden, grandson of the famous Parliamentarian of tho.t 
name, and some others of less note, were tried, condemned, and executed. 

• Tickell's Hull, p. 65~. t Rapin. 
VOL. JI. L 
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This conspiracy was afterwards called the Ryehotue Plot. The laws against 
Dissenters, which had been suspended for some years, were now put into full 
execution, many seventies were exercised, and shortly after this Charles 
reigned nearly absolute. In 1083 the King intimidated the different Corpo­
rations of the realm into a surrender of their charters, in order to gain an 
ascendency over the kingdom, as well as to extort money for the renewal of 
the charters. To effect this design emissaries were sent to the principal Cor· 
porations, who intimated to them, " that scarce one of them would escape 
entire forfeiture, were the King to exercise the power he was polllle88ed of." 
That infamous Judge, Jefferies, and Judge Holloway, were sent to Hull 
on this occasion, and the former a88urcd the Corporation " that the only 
way to gain the King's favour, and to avert the mischief which hung over 
their heads, was to make a ready and voluntary surrender of their charter, 
in order to receive a new one in its stead, such as the King should think 
proper to grant."* 

The Corporation seeing how futile it would be to contend with the court 
at this juncture, immediately surrendered the charter into the King's hands; 
and this readiness to obey the royal desire, coupled with the fact that the 
people of Hull had paid tonnage and poundage in the reign of Charles 1., 
without reluctance, did in the end operate to the advantage of the town ; for 
the King, upon the payment of the required consideration, renewed the 
charter to the entire satisfaction of the Burgesses. 

The efforts of the King towards the latter part of his reign, to render him· 
self absolute, and to govern by prerogative alone, excited general disoontent 
in the country; and the nation was again threatened with a repetition of 
those horrors from which it had so recently escaped. Before these calamities 
could return, howeYer, Charles was suddenly seized with an apoplectic fit, of 
which he died on the 6th of February, 1685, in the ~oth year of h.is reign, 
and the 56th of hie age.t 

James, Duke of York, was proclaimed in Hull, under the title of King 
James ll., on the fourth day after the death of Charles, notwithstanding the 
many efforts that had been made for his exclusion, on account of his known 
attachment to the Catholic faith. In the following year the J udgee Ally bone 
and Powell held the Assizes at Hull, and on the day after their arrival (being 
Sunday), the former requested the Sheriff and his officers to attend him to 
the Catholic Chapel instead of to the Established Church. This they did as 

• Town's Records. 
t The reign of Charles n. is generally calculated from the date of his father's execu­

tion, 1040, and not from the Bestoration. 



HISTORY OF RINGSTON·UPON·BUJ.I,. 75 

tar as the door of the chapel, but they could not be prevailed upon to enter 
with him, and be present at the senice. In addition to the offices of High 
Steward and Governor of Hull, the Earl of Plymouth had that of Recorder 
eonlened on him; and this is the only instance of these three offices being 
ever in the possession of one person. 

Having published a declaration for liberty of conscience, dissolved the 
Parliament, and used every means to procure such a new one as would repeal 
the penal laws and Test Act, it was pretty generally believed that the King's 
intention was to introduce the Catholic religion. Great efforts, it is said, 
were made to procure addresses from the different Corporations, thanking his 
Majesty for his declaration of liberty of conscience; but the people took the 
ala.rm, and the royal proclamation was condemned by them. The inhabitants 
of Hull having given offence to the King, by showing a disposition to elect 
as their representatives in Parliament men who were opposed to the court, 
the enraged monarch, to punish the town for the supposed insolence of dis· 
obeying him, by not returning members of his own choosing, sent down 1,200 
eoldiers to live amongst them on free quarters; and to make the town still more 
sensible of his resentment, he issued out his writ of quo ttarranto against 
their charters. Finding it vain to contend, the Corporation surrendered all 
their powers, pririleges, and franchises, into the bands of the King ; but in 
about two months a new charter was granted, by which the Mayor and four 
Aldermen were deprived of office, and men of opposite principles placed in 
their stead. In a few weeks after, Judge Jefferies visited the town, and de· 
prived the Corporation of their charter; but in the course of the same year 
(1688), the King granted another charter, by which he changed the Mayor, 
Sheriffs, and Chamberlains; and Lord Langdalo, the then Governor of Hull, 
was also appointed to the office of Recorder. 

The 80th of September following being the day of election, the Corporation 
chose Mr. Delachamp for their Mayor, but the King soon after sent an order 
commanding them not to swear that gentleman into office, but to continue 
Mr. Boar, their late Mayor, for another year, and to do the same both with 
the. Sheriffs and Chamberlains. The Corporation, dreading heavier marks 
of the King's displeasure, reluctantly obeyed. Things however did not long 
continue in this state, for, on the 5th of November following, tho Prince of 
Orange landed 15,000 troops at the village of Broxholme or Brixham, at the 
southern extremity of Torbay, on the Devonshire coast. Lord Langdale, 
fully expecting the Prince would enter the Humber, had prepared the town 
of Hull for a siege, but when the news reached him that the Prince had 
landed at TorbRy, the consternation and confusion with which the town was 
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filled for some days previous abated a little. Most of the Catholics iu the 
neighbourhood fled from the rage of the incensod rural inhabitants, and flew 
for sanctuary to Hull, under the protection of Lords Langdale and Mont­
gomery, who were both of that faith. The malcontents now began to show 
themselves, and several insurrections happened in different places. Lords 
Danby, Fairfax, Horton, and other persons of quality, possessed themselves 
of York, and declared for a free Parliament. 

The town and garrison of Hull remained in the 11ossession of the Catholic 
party, who were in favour of Jamcs, until the Srd of December, when it was 
apprehended that a plot was formed by the Governor and his adherents to 
secure all the Protestant officers. Undl'r this impression Fort-m!!Jor llarrot, 
Captain Copley, and the other Protestant officers, consulted with the magis­
trates, and it was dctern1iucd to call privately to arms all the Protestant 
soldiers, to secure the Goven10r and the principal persons of his party. 
These measures \Vere concerted \Tith such prudence and secrecy that the 
Governor, Lord Langdale, knew nothing of the business until he wA.s seized 
in his qunrters. Nearly at the same moment Lord Montgomery was secured 
by Captain Eitzherbcrt, and Major Mahony by the Fort-major. The inferior 
officers of that party were also secured, and the tlext morning Captain Cop­
ley, with lOO men, marched out to relieve the guard, who were still ignorant 
of what had been transacted in the night, and, without difficulty seized the 
Catholic officers and soldiers whom he found there. The town, fort, and 
citadel, were now easily secured; and the anniversary of this event was long 
celebrated at Hull by the name of "The Tou:n-taking rkly.'' 

The unhappy monarch, finding that he could no longer govern in the 
manner be wished, resolved to abandon a nation where be was hated, and 
where perhaps it was unsafe for him to remain much longer. He first sent 
off the Queen and the infant Prince, and soon after embarked himself for 
Fmnce, where he arrived in safety, nnd thus was the ill-fated house of Stuart 
cA.shiered for misrule, by the national will. The throne was now declared 
vacant, and the afl'A.irs of the kingdom being in great confusion, the Prince 
of Orange issued directions to the nation for choosing members te serve it in 
a Parliament appointed to assemble ai Westminster, on the 22nd of January, 
1689. The election for this borough took place on the lOth of January, 
when John Ramsden and William Gee, Esqrs., were chosen without oppo­
sition. After prescribing to the Prince of Orange the terms by which he 
wlls to govern, nnd determining the disputed limits between the King and 
tho people, the Parliament, as the representatives of the nation, chose him 
for th<'ir King, jointly \Vith his royA.l consort MRry, daughter to the fugith·e 
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monarch. Lord Langdale was displaced, .and Sir John Hotham was ap­
pointed Governor of Hull in his stead ; .but the Knight dying soon after, he 
was succeeded by the Duke of Leeds; Lord Dover having refused to take 
the prescribed oaths, the Earl of Kingston was appointed to the office of 
High Steward; and Robert Holliss, Esq., ono of the benchers of Gray's Inn, 
became the Recorder of Hull. 

Ever since the Revolution the town of Hull has shown the firmest attach· 
ment to its Sovereigns. In 1698 an order was made that no ono "be 
admitted to take his freedom of this Corporation, in order to qualify himself 
for a burgess to represent the borough in Parliament, before he had paid o. 
fine of £50. to the town." On the death of Queen Anne, in 1714, George 
I., son of Emest Augustus, Elector of Brunswick, and Sophia, granddaughter 
of James 1., pursuant to the Act of Succession, ascended the British throne. 
During this reign there were no public transactions worthy of notice hap­
pened here. In the time of the rebellion of 17 45, this town was not inactive, 
for when news reached it that the rebels bad defeated the King's forces under 
General Cope, at Preston Pans, the magistrates with the principal merchants 
and inhabitants assembled, and determined to put the ton•n in the best 
posture of defence, and for this purpose they subscribed the sum of £1,900. 
The ditches, which had long been neglect.ed, were thoroughly cleansed ; 
breast works and batteries were erected ; and in order to animate the people 
by their example, the principal gentlemen and merchants incessantly laboured 
at the works till they were completed. The magistrates being authorized 
by the King to call the townsmen to arms, and officer them at discretion, 
thirteen companies of infantry, and four of artillery, were raised, armed, 
disciplined, and officered by the principal gentlemen of the town. And thus 
was this flourishing seaport fully prepared at this critical juncture to repel 
every attempt of the enemies of the British Constitution. 

In 1762 an Act was obtained for the better regulating and lighting the 
streets of Hnll; and in the same year the Market House, which obstmcted 
the Market Place, and some houses behind it, belonging to the Vicar of 
Trinity Church for the time being, were taken down, by which means the 
Market Place was enlarged, and rendered much more commodious than for­
merly. On the death of the Marquis of Rockingham, High Steward of Hull 
in 1782, the Duke of Leeds was chosen in his stead. The remains of the 
noble Marquis were buried in the Cathedral of York with much solemnity. 

The 5th of November, 1788, the centenary of the Revolution was celebrated 
in every part of the kingdom, and in none with more striking demonstrations 
of joy than in this town; and in the year following, when the King re-
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covered from the alarming malady, under which he for some time laboured, 
no town in England testified more joy and loyalty than that of Hull. 

Tickell, who published his History of Hull in 1796, observes, at p. 660, 
" that this once famous fortress, considered formerly as the strength and 
safeguard of the north, the walls and fortifications of which, joined to the 
flatness of its situation, and the great command of the river above it, have 
rendered it a place considered as almost impregnable ever since the time of 
Edward IT., is now an open town. To promote the convenience of the in­
habitants, as a commercial port," he continues, "the ditches have been filled 
up, and the walls and ramparts levelled, so that the next generation, and 
even many of the present one, will probably be at a loss to point out to the 
inquisitive enquirers, the place on which these strong and formidable bul­
warks stood, of which the pick and spade has not left so much as a wreck 
behind." 

About the year 1762, Captain Sir R. Pearson and T. Piercy, R. N., were 
presented with the freedom of this borough, for their gallant defence of the 
Baltic fleet against that notorious pirate Paul Jona; and £500. was sub­
scribed by the Corporation towards raising volunteers. 

When Gsorge m. attained the 50th year of his reign, the nation held a 
general jubilee, and at Hull, as in other places, the demonstrations of an 
affectionate loyalty were strikingly manifested. In 1818, at the end of the 
"Campaign of the liberties of Europe," Great Britain rang with the voice of 
joy and gratulation. At Hull the public feeling was exhibited by the 
strongest demonstrations on the day set apart for the purpose-Wednesday, 
the llSth of December. 

The coronation of George IV., on the 19th of July, 1821, was likewise 
celebrated in this town with much solemnity-it being ever the practice in 
Hull to celebrate the coronation of each of our successive Sovereigns by some 
mark of loyal regard. The Hull and Selby Railway, which was opened in 
1840, tended materially to increase the traffic and prosperity of the town. 

In 1886, one of the Gainsborough steam packets, lying at the pier at 
South End, blew up, owing to the boiler being overcharged with steam, and 
killed about ten persons. 

In 1847 a neat and convenient pier, called the Corporation Pier, was 
erected in front of Nelson Street, on the site of the old breakwater jetty, 
which had stood for many years, bot not connected with the shore, as at preRent. 

In 1851 the Public Health Act was applied to Hull by provisional order, 
but the Local Board finding themselves, as they stated, "hampered by cer­
tain peculiaritiE's in the r.ondition of the district, which rendered the pro-
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riaious of the general act insufficient for the complete sanitary regulation of 
the borough," applied and obtained in 1864 an Act of Parliament, to enable 
diem to further and better pro-.ision for the improvement, regulation, and for 
the paving, lighting, cleansing, and draining of the borough, and for the 
prevention and removal of nuisances; aud tn authorise the construction of 
additional gas-works and cemeteries within or adjoining the borough, and to 
confer additional powers upon the Town Council of the said borough, acting 
aa the Local Boe.rd of Health. This bill, commonly called the Kingston­
upon-Hnll Improvement Act, cost no less a sum than £6,000. 

But the brightest page in the modem history of Hull is the visit paid to 
the town in 1854, of our most gracious Queen Victoria. Although upwards 
of ~00 years had elapsed since the town was honoured with a royal visit, yet, 
&B we have already abewn, there are few towns that in earlier times were 
more favoured by royalty. In the beginning of October, 1854, ~e Mayor of 
Hull received an intimation from Sir George Grey, the Secretary of State, 
that her Majesty (who had been specially invited by the Corporation in the 
previous year to honour their town with a visit, and become their sole gnest) 
intended to accept the said invitation on her return from Scotland to the 
aouth. The sum of £8,000. having been previously granted out of the sur­
ploa fund of the borough to defray the expenses of the royal visit, preparations 
to gi-.e her M~esty a hearty, loyal, and hospitable, reception commenced 
immediately; and it is stated that in no other place was the Queen more 
entirely pleased, and men delighted, with the joyous and at the same time 
elegant appropriatenesa of the welcome given to her. About aix o'clock on 
Friday evening, October 18th, the royal party, consisting of her M~esty, 
H. R. H. Prinoe Albert, the five royal children, the Countess of Dysart, lady 
in waiting, and the Hon. Miss Stanley; the Earl of Aberdeen, the then 
Premier, &o., arrived per train at the Railway Station, which was well and 
tastefully decorated for the occasion. Here they were received by the .Mayor, 
Aldermen, Recorder, Town Councillors, .Magistrates, and other civic officers, 
u wellaa by the Earl of CarlialE', the Earl of Y arborough, Lord Londeaborough, 
Lord Hotham, Sir Clifford Constable, Bart., the Members of Parliament for 
the borough, the Lord Mayor of York, the Mayor of Bmerley, the foreign 
Consula, Lieutenant-Genetal Sir Harry Smith, and several military officers, 
and the elite of the town and neighbourhood. Her M~esty m .uiu were 
lodged during their stay in Hull at the splendid hotel at the Railway Station, 
which waa most admirably arranged, and sumptuoualy furnished and fitted 
up for the occasion. Boon after the arrival of the royal party, her Ml\ietty 
received the addreesea of the Corporations of the borough, of Trinity House, 
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and of the Hull Dock Company, in the Throne Room. The royal dinner 
party in the evening included tbo Queen, Prince Albcrt, the Earl of Aber­
deen, the Earl of Carlisle, Lord Londesborough, Sir Harry Smith, and others. 
The magnificent service of gold plate used at the royal dinner was kindly lent 
for the occasion by Sir Clifford Constable. The illuminations at night were 
on a most magnificent scale. All the public buildings, and most of the 
places of worship, inns, and respectable houses, were most fancifully decorated 
with elegant designs and devices in gas, transparencies, coloured lamps, &c., 
be8.ring loyal and appropriate mottoes. Scarcely a house was to be seen 
without a device of some kind or other. 

On the following day (Saturday) the Queen and the royal party made a 
progress through the town, amidst the welcomes nnd congratulations of many 
thousands of her loyal subjects from all parts of Yorkshire. In the yard of 
the Railway Station were erected spacious galleries, which accommodated 
thousands. Fronting the cast main entrance to the hotel were seated upon 
a gallery, 12,000 of the Sunday School children of Hull, who, previous to the 
departure of the royal coruge, sung with the greatest precision the National 
Anthem. This scene utterly defies description. Her Majesty, the Prince 
Consort, with the royal family stood upon the balcony of the hot.el, the 
Corporation of Hull, in their robes, occupied the centre of the foreground, 
and behind them rose an amphitheatre, from which those thousands of 
England's hope in days to come, sent up their prayer to the throne of the 
Most High, that he, the Lord their God, would arise and "scatter her 
enemies, and make them fall." There was no heart in that vast assembly 
free from the deepest emotion, and her Majesty was affected even to tear8. 

When tho anthem was concluded, amidst the cheers of thousands, the royal 
cavalcade, consisting of five carriages, escorted by a party of the 7th Hussars, 
proceeded through the town by the following route :-Leaving the station 
yard, it passed along Carr Lane, Chariot Street, Carlisle Street, and Prospect 
Street, to Albion Street, thence through Jarratt Street, along Mason Street 
and Bourne Street, it entered Charlotte Street, and turning down there 
proceeded along Georgc Street and Savile Street, to the Whitefriargate 
Bridge, where there was a splendid triumphal arch, which stood within a 
foot or t\VO of the site of the Beverley-gate, from whence Charles I. was 
repulsed (See page 52), and it was remarked that at no spot on the line 
of route did her Majesty receive warmer salutations or heartier greetings 
than here. The procession then moved along Whitefriargate and Silver 
Street, and entering the Market Place it passed beneath another very fine 
triumphal arch at the north end of Queen Street. At the entrance to the 
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Corporation Pier (the roof of which was erected in consequence of the royal 
riait), her Majesty was received by the Mayor (Henry Cooper, Esq.), the Sheriff, 
Mr. Recorder Warren, the Town Clerk, and the members of the Corporation, 
the Mayor bearing the mace; and by theee gentlemen she was ushered up the 
co"Yered way of the pier, the floor of which was coYered with a rich velvet 
pile carpet. At the upper end ol the pier a guard of honour was drawn up, 
and when her MaJesty bad arrived at this point, the Mayor was requested to 
.koeel, when the Queen was plee.sed to confer upon him the honour of knight· 
hood. The royal party then embarked on board the royal steam yacht Fairy, 
Uld followed by other vessels, containing the Corporation, the Hull Dook 
Company, &c., proceeded through the Victoria Dock, thence up the Old Har· 
hour, and through the other dock&, entering the Humber through the basin 
of the Humber Dock. The Fairy having arrived again in the roads, hoYe 
towards the pier, in order to receive some of her MaJesty's household and 
'be.sgage. The Queen and Prince Albert then proceeded to cordially take 
leave of the Mayor, the Sheriff, Recorder, &c., after which, at eleven o'clock, 
the at.eamer gently IDOTed off, amidst the vociferous cheers of the multitude. 
The royal party then paid a visit to Great Grimsby, from which place they 
proceeded by railway to London. 

Nothing could surpua the excellence of the arrangements, the enthusiasm 
of the people, or the splendour of the illuminations and decorations, during 
this royal 'ri.ait. Denae multitudes lined the footways, and congregated at 
eYery aYailable spot, as well as on the house tops, and the immense galleries 
which were erected in various parts of the line of route of the royal procession. 
The railled eeata on the Corporation Pier alone accommodated about 6,000 
people. The same rejoicing greeted the royal visitants enrywhere; flags 
aud featocma of e'fergreeus and flowers waved from almost every window, or 
were suspeuded across the streets, and met the eye in every direction. The 
~ through the docks gave the Queen a good idea of the situation of the 
town, and afforded every ooe an opportunity of seeing her MaJesty. The 
rigging of the 1'elllels in the docks and in the river were literally alive with 
penooa, who hung on almost in spite of the laws of gravitation. The rig­
ging ol the Trinity Houae Yacht was manned by the boys of the Marine 
School, and preeented a most interesting spectacle. On the town at large 
the mode in which the Sovereign has been received, reflects the highest 
honour; and her MaJesty herself more than once expreaed her gratification 
with everything; and by conferring the honour of Knighthood on the Mayor, 
ahe rec:GfJDised the loyalty of the inhabitants by the most distinguished and 
puiooa approval. 

,-ot.. n. 
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In the early part of the present year intramural interment in the borough 
was abolished. All thE: burial grounds and vaults, in connection with the 
churches and cho.pels iu the town, ha\'e been closed, except the place of in­
terment of the Jews, which is to remain open till the 1st of February, 1857; 
and no new burial ground eau henceforth be opened in the borough, or 
within two miles thereof, without the previous approval of one of her Ml\iesty'a 
Secretaries of State. 

TOPOGRAPHY.-Kr:>GSTON-UI'ON-HULL is a borough, and market town, 
and one of the principo.l sea-ports in the British empire. It is, with its 
precincts, a town and county, locally situo.ted in the East Riding of York· 
shire, on the south-eo.stem extremity of the Hunsley Beacon division of the 
Wapentake of Harthill, 171 miles N. from London, 38 S.E. from York, 54 
E. from Leeds, 41 N. from Lincoln, 49 N.E. from Doncaster, 9..1 E. by N. 
from Manchester, and 9 S. from Beverley. It is distant from Edinburgh 
242 miles, from Glasgow, 258, and from Dublin, by way of Liverpool, 250. 
It is in 53 dcg. 45 min. N. lat., and 0 dcg. 16 min. W. long. It stands 
on an angular point of land on the northern shore of the noble estuary of the 
Humber, and on the western bo.nk of the river Hull; and comprises the 
parishes of the Holy Trinity, St. Mary, Sculcoates, and Drypool, part of the 
parish of Sutton, and the extra-po.rochial district of Garrison side; and con­
tained in the whole, in 1851, 84,6110 inhabitants. 

As we have seen in the preceding po.gcs, the original name of the town 
was Wyke, or Wyke-upon-Hull, or .Myton-Wyk (Myton Harbour); and it 
received its present appellation of Kingston, or King's To\\·n, in the reign of 
King Edward I., when it became the property of that monarch. Although 
in legal proceedings and official documents, the town is usually designated 
by its royal appellation of Kingston-upon-Hull, it is in common parlance in­
variably called Hull; and it is not a little singular that in ancient times it 
was better known by that name, particularly in relation to commerce, than 
·by its more correct appellation of Wyke-upon-Hull. The town is so advan­
tageously situo.ted at the confiuence of the two famous rivers, and has been 
~ peculiarly favoured by nature, that art bad little to do in order to make it 
one of the most commodious and safe havens for ships in the kingdom. Op· 
posite to Hull the Humber is nearly three miles broad, and about six fathoms 
deep in mid-channel, and it discharges itself into the sea about t\venty-four 
miles below the town.* 

• From the numerous sand bo.nks which o.re in the Humber, the navigation of the 
'nver is rather intricate o.nd dangerous. The current at spring tides runs at the rate of 
five mil88 an hour, ann should a vessel gt>t aground on one of the sandA, she ia ex-
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The town of Hull "as it is to-day," however interesting to the traveller or 

political economist, in a commercial point of view, offers fe\V objects to excite 
the curiosity or gratify the taste of the antiquary. No vestige remains of the 
venerable edifices which once afforded shelter to the religious of the Augus­
tinian, Carmelite, and Carthusian orders; of the royal palace of King Henry 
VID.; or of the line of fortifications which enabled Sir John Hotham and 
the Parliamentarians to resist the entrance of King Charles I. within its 
walls, when that monarch presented himself at its gates. All have been 
awept away by the tide of modern improvement. 

The old town of Hull, which in shape forms an irregular ttiangle, is still, 
as it has been for centuries, completely insulated by the rivers Hull and 
Humber, and the basin and docks, which have been constructed on the site 
of the ancient ditch or foss. The newer portions of the town consist of three 
unequal divisions; the houses in general are of brick, for making which Hull 
has been long celebrated. Some of the older streets are narrow and incom­
modious ; but the thoroughfares in the other parts are spacious and regularly 
formed. Beyond the limits of the ancient walls all is modern, and so late as 
the year 164.0 the number of the streets and lanes in the town only amounted 
to between thirty and forty, while at present they may be estimated at 1,500. 
About sixty years ago the \valls and ramparts, which had long been useless 
and ruinous, were finally levelled, and the ditches filled up, to promote the 
convenience of the inhabitants. 

From the point where the Hull-and Humber meet, the town now ex­
tends about two miles westward along the northern bank of the Humber, and 
rather more towards the north, along the western bank of the Hull, from its 
mouth at the Humber, through the High Street, to the northern extremity, 
of Sculcoates. The streets are all well paved, and lighted with gas. In 
the ancient buildings little regard appears to have been paid to elegance or 
regularity ; but most of the modern erections are neat, regular, and commo· 
dious, and in many instances elegant. On the north side of the old dock is 
the parish of Sculcoates, in which are several handsome streets and excellent 

trcmely liable to be overset by the force of these rnpid tides. In the upper part. of the 
H11mber, in the Trent, and in the Ouse, between Trent falls and Selby, the flood tide, 
more especially in a strong easterly wind, frequently rushes up the rh·er like a wave, 
considerably raised above the 'll'nt~r 'll'hich it meets. This tidal wa,·e is called by the 
nati''<'S ot Hull and its ,·icinity, the .A.gtrj and from the murmuring sound which it 
makes ns it rolls on"·ard, and dashes against the shore, it has been supposed that the 
river was called the Humber. Drnyton, in his Poly.Qlbion, thus notices the Ager, or, 
.u he spells it, the ffigre, in his description of the Humber:-

.,or wheu my Hipe comea, I make my either ohon 
J:YU tremble with the IOGII4 &ha4 I llfam 4ot -4. 
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houses. Many of the wealthy inhabitants reside in the southern and south 
weate~ parts of this parish, adjoining the old town ; along the banks of the 
Hull there is a dense population of a low kind, and several manufactories; 
and at the south-eastern extremity or the parish is a emall district called the 
liberty of Trippet. Westward from the Humber Dock the town occupiea the 
site or the ancient hamlet of Myton, which name it still retains; and the new 
and regularly-built district further westward, called the Pottery, was anciently 
known as Myton Carr. The parish of Drypool lies on the east eide of the 
river Hull. This district is connected with the principal part or the town by 
a handsome bridge of four arches, with a drawbridge in the centre, over the 
river. The Garrison Side is a small narrow piece of ground, running along 
the left bank of the Hull, between it and the citadel, and containing some 
warehouses and timber yards, with a few houses. 

The whole town stands on a low and level tract of land; and the vicinity 
is well secured by embankments from the dangers which it formerly en· 
countered through inundations. Around Hull, for several miles, the country 
presents the same low and uniform level on which the town itself is built, 
and being almost destitute of wood, have a naked and unpicturesque appear­
ance. But the noble river-the Humber-and the -.essels constantly sailing 
on it, is a grand feature in the scene. On the eastern eide of the town is the 
Bat peninsula called Holdemess, which stretches out to the German Ocean 
at Spurn Point, a distance of twenty miles from Hull. On the west side 
the land becomes higher near Hessle, a few miles distant, where commences 
a range of W olds or elevated grounds, which extends from that place to 
Flamborough Head on the eastern coast, forming a sort of semicircle. This 
range of W olds is intersected by several beautiful valleys. 

Numerous improvements have been effected in this town of late years; 
amongat which may be noticed the new Railway Station, with its adjoining 
spacious and elegant hotel ; the erection of two new docks and the Corpora· 
tion Pier; the formation of the new Crescent Railway, which occupies the 
proposed site of the promenade :• the removal of the establishment of the 
Workhouse from Whitefriargate to a fine building in the outskirts of the town; 
and the erection of the Royal Institution, and the new Corn Exchange. 

• An exoolltlllt project to secure a lo.rge and complete avenue, or promenade, round 
the whole or the to'll'll, was started in 1837, but was afterwards abandoned. It was pro. 
poeed that it should extend completely round the town, for a distance or 'l miles, bJ 
00 yards, and contain two spacious foot roads, and a splendid carriage road, with ro"tfll 

or trees on each side. Pity but this could haTe been carried out, and thus have af. 
forded eligible sites for private residences or a better class than those whioh occupy the 
suburbe or Hall. 
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Forliji«Jhcmm.-Tbe ancient town of Hull, after &he building of ita wall.s, 
wu, for se~eral centuries, confined between the Humber to the eoath, the 
Hull to the east, and the walls to the north and west. The ri~ers, walla, 
rampe.rta, doable ditch, and other works, formed ita defence. The walls at 
Hull were ~,610 yards in circuit, being 80 yards less than lt mile. At the 
eonftuence of the two ri~ers on the eastern shore, is the Citadel or garrison, 
mmring an acute angle with the Humber. The town was also defended by 
three large Blockhouses, whioh stood on the eastern bank of the Hull, and 
aro at which yet remain, and by a strong Castle on the same side of the 
ri~er. The fortifications were greatly impro~ed by Henry VIII., in whose 
reign the rampart and bush dyke were made. (Bee page 87.) 

The W alll extended from the mouth of the river Hull, at ita junction with 
the Humber, along the bank of the latter river, to a large tower, which formed 
the eoath-west angle of the fortifications. This tower stood aci'088 the fosse 
at its junction with the Humber, near the west end of the preeent Humber 
Stl'eet. The south end jetty was then formed by a strip of land in the 
neighboarllood of the spot upon which now stands the London Hotel and 
baildings adjoining. Near the jetty was a tower called" oold and uncud," 
or uncouth, used as a prison for ofFenders. From the large tower at the 
west eud of Humber Street, the ramparts took the direction now commonly 
denominated "The Walls." 

All the ground now lying between Humber Street and the river Humber, 
appears to have been reclaimed from that river; for in Hollar's plan of the 
town, as it appeared befcmt"the year 1640, the fortifications ran along the 
.,ath aide of that street then known as " The Ropery," and there is no ap­
pearance of land beyond them except the jetty. There were towers or turrets 
in the walls at inte"als, and before the line of wall from the south end, 
towards the North Bridge, was a wide and deep fosse, connecting the rivers 
Humber and Hull, so that the town was entirely surrounded by watel'-ils 
that portion of it Btill is-the basin and docks now occupying the site of 
the ancient ditch. The principal entrances to the town were five gates, o~er 
which were erected strong maaay towers, and in front of which stood five 
outworb, called, from their shape, half moons. 

H..U Gau waa at the end of the Ropery, now called Humber Street; 
Myton Gau stood at the end of the street now bearing the same name; 
~ Oau waa situated at the end of the street now called Whitefriar­
pte; Low Gau stood at the end of the street to which it ga~e the same 
name; and NurtA OtiU wu at the north end of the High Street; and there 
waa tower gateway leading to the jetty. 
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Ancitt1t Streeu.-High Street, the most ancient thoroughfare in the town, 
was formerly called HuU Stnet, from its situation on the banks of the river 
of that name. After the removal of the town from its original seat on the 
banks of the old river, after the Hull had changed its course from the west 
side of the town to that of the east, the buildings were first erected on the 
west side of the Hull Street; and the east side was left open for the con­
venience of trade, and 'vas called The Quay, till upon petition of the burgesses 
to the King, they obtained permission to build thereon. Some time previously 
to tlte middle of the 14th century, the east side was built from its southern 
extremity northwards as far as Aldga.te. The advantages of situation which 
this street offered both for residence and business, induced the principal 
inhabitants of the town to fix their abode there ; and though latterly it has 
been much deserted, and its spacious and in some instances elegant houses 
have been metamorphosed into tenements and merchants' counting houses, 
it sustained its original importance till within fifty or sixty years. High 
Street is much too narrow either for convenience, ornament, or health . Mr. 
Frost gives the names of several distinguished pcl'l!onages who had mansions 
in this street, amongst whom were the Archbishop of York; the De la Poles, 
Earls of Suffolk; the De Atons; the De Dripols, &c. Some of tbe houses 
in the High Street contain some very ancient and curious oak wainscotting. 
Wilberforce House, the mansion in which King Charles I . was entertained 
by Sir John Lister (See page 49}, and tbe birthplace of Wilberforce, the 
celebrated statesman, is an ornamented brick building, one half of which 
is now occupied a!J a dwelling, and the other half as merchants' counting 
houses. Vvc may here obserfe that in 1839 the space required for the 
erection of a new watchhousc, leased by the Corporation to the Commissioners 
of Customs, led to the pulling down of the old Chain-house at the south end 
of High Street; modern improvement having thus destroyed the most ancient 
building in Hull, except the chancel of Holy Trinity church. 

Aldegate, the ancient name of the street now dh·iued into Whitefriargate, 
Silver Street, and Scale Lane, is of Saxou derivation, and is indicative of 
comparo.ti\ ~' antiquity. It is supposed to have formed the boundary between 
the two nw:icnt parishes of Hessle and Ferriby. (See page7 .'1 

Scale ],,me derives its appellation from the family of Schayl, who lifed in 
it, and hnd the principal part of the pt·opcrty there. In an original deed, 
dated lilh May, 1433, it is called" Scailan8." One of the old houses standing 
in this street was built by the Swedes, to repair an insult offered by them to 
the flag of the usurper Oliver Cromwell. Marketgau or Street., now the 
Market Place, and Lowgate, were once called Highgate and Lowgate. In 
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the 8th of Edward IV. (1469), the Market was ordered to be kept iu the 
Highgate, from Whitcfriargate end and Scale Lane end, on both sides of the 
street, in that part which is now denominated the Market Place. 

Old Beverley Street is now called the Land of Green Ginger, and Trinity 
House Lane was known as Beverlcy Street. In a rental of the town, taken 
in 134 7, several tenements are described to be in Old Beverley Street and in 
BeTerley Street, the property of the De la Poles. These tenements lay on 
the north of Bowlalley Lane, where the palace of that family was afterwards 
built. The garden of Richard de la Pole was described about the same 
period as adjoining on Old Beverley Street. The erection of the hospital of 
the Trinity House, upon a piece of ground, which v;as used in 134~ as a 
garden by Richard de la Pole, and which was then described as being situated 
at the corner of Old Kirk Lane and Old Beverley Street, led to the modem 
name of this street (Trinity House Lane). For some time previously to its 
obtaining its present appellation it was called Sewer-side, from a sewer of con­
siderable extent having run through the middle of it. Setrer Laue, which is 
a continuation of the lino through which the sewer ran, was probably the 
channel which conveyed it to the Humber. Blackfriargate and Blanket 
Row anciently formed but one street, called Munkgate, or Monkgate. l'tfyton­
gate was formerly cnlled Lyle Street, but it was known by its present name 
eo early as the year 1301. The enst.ern part of this street to the end of 
Vicar Lane, was in ancient times called la belle tortr, that is, the fine walk. 

Dagger Lane was called Champaign Street or Ln11e in 14i0. Daggnrd 
lAne is mentioned in Leonatd Deckwith's Survey of 30th Henry VIII. (1539.) 
014 Kirk La"e is now divided, and called Postcmgate and Church Side. 
BWwp'1f1ate, afterwards Denton Lane, is now kno\vn as Bowlnlley Lane. 
To the circumstance of a family of the name of Denton baYing resided there 
in 1882, as appears from an original conveyance, may be ascribed its ap~l­
lation of Dcnton Lane. The whole of the tenements on the south side of 
the " ~Ua," called " Bysshop Lane," belonged in former times to the Arch­
bishop of York, whence it acquired the name it now bears. Aton J.A.ne, now 
Chapel Lane, was so called from the ancient baronial family of De Aton or 
Etton, which had considerable property in Hull, Trippet, and Myton. Sir 
Gilbert de Aton, who was summoned to Parliament from the 17th of Edward 
II. (1324), to 16th of Edward ill. (1343), in which year be died, had a man­
sion in the High Street iu Hull, in 1815. The ancient name of Vicar Lane 
was Bldjord Lane. Finkle Street was formerly called Hail/a Str66t. In 
16(9 there was a mill in Fink.le Street, and the strtoet then chiefly consisted 
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of gardens. Pol~ Stre.t was an ancient thoroughfare, leading from the north 
end of Lowgate to the Charter House at Sculcoates. 

Whiufriargau, which is the principal entrance into the town, derives its 
name from the monastery of Carmelites, or White Friars, which stood on the 
ground now occupied by Trinity House. Blackfriargat~ is so called from 
the house of Augustinian& or Black Friars, which stood in it. An Act 
was obtained in the 81Sth of George ill., for making, by subscription, the 
street called Pa·rliammt Strut, from Wbitefriargate to the south end of Quay 
Street. This underta.king was a great improvement to the town, as it opened 
an immediate communication between Wbitefriargate and the dock, aud 
removed a place called Mughouse Entry, which accorded with its name. 

Manor Street and .l:lmwr Aluy derive their names from the Manor Hall or 
Palace of the De la Poles, which once occupied their sites. The origin of the 
name of Saltlaouu Lan~ may be discovered from the will of Nicholas Putfra, 
dated 1887, by which be gave his house in the High Street, in which be dwelt, 
with the house called La Saltlwlu (because salt was formerly boiled there) to 
his daughter Johanna. The place now called Rottmherring StaitA took its 
name either from its proximity to the dwelling house, in the High Street, of 
Robert and John &tenebering or Rotenheryng, eminent merchants of Hull, 
or from the circumstance of ita being their property. This individual was 
connected by marriage with the De la Pole family. The word StaitA is of 
Saxon origin, and means a narrow road or lane leading over the bank of a 
river to the waterside. Thero are several communications of this description 
in Hull, and among those which are mentioned at an early period, we find 
the names of" Stath a &flU," or King's Staith, now Church Lane Staith; 
"Aldeburgh Stath," now Scale Lane Staitb; aud "StatluJ ,U MunkgaU," now 
Blacklriargate Staith. There were also seTeral Staiths called after their 
owners, such as William de Snaynton's Staitb, Richard de Anla.by's Staith, 
Waiter de Frost's Staitb, Thomas Barbour'a Staith, &o. QuMn Smet was 
formerly called Billingagate. Grimiby LaM is so called from Simon de 
Grimsby, who was Mayor in 1890, 1896, and 1406. Lm!Jgau, as we baTe 
aeen, was once called Marketgate, the markets having been formerly held there. 
This is a well-built, wide, and healthy street, and was some time ago the 
residence of several of the most opulent inhabitants. On the west side ol 
this street, towards the north, stood the magnificent palace of Michael de la 
Pole. (See page 19.) The noble gateway of this once" gorgeous palace," 
was pulled down in 1771. FiM StrHt doubtless takes its name from the 
ftab shambles built there by Dr. Riplingham. When these were remom it 
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was called Brewer'• Lan~, which it continued for some time, and then resumed 
its ancient name. JVaterwork$ Street and Waterlwuu Lane, derive their 
appellatio~s from the Wnterworks, which formerly stood near St. John's 
church. Trippet Str~et is called from an Alderman of that name. The 
space between the Anlaby Road and the Humber was anciently colled Myton 
Carr; and the district colled the Pottery was formerly noted for the manu­
facture of bricks, tiles, and earthenware. Besides these streets there were in 
ancient times other streets in Hull, the precise situation of which are 
unknown, as Fulke Street, Le Bother Street, Lyster Gate, Le Pavement, &c. 

Mortality.-Dr. (now Sir Henry) Cooper read a paper" On the Prevalence 
of Disease in Hull," before the British Association, at a meeting of that body 
here in 1853, and from that interesting paper we learn that, according to 
returns made, the rate of mortality for the borough in its entirety is 1 death 
in 83. Fever, he said, was singularly equnble, nnd remarkably low for a 
large town, not favourably situated, or well drained. In another paper, read 
before the same learned body, "On the Mortality of Hull in the autumn of 
1849," Dr. Cooper showed that the total number of cholera and diarrhrea 
cases wns 1,860, or l in 43 of the whole population of the town. The 
greatest mortality compared with the annual average, appears to have oc­
curred in the prime of life (from 80 to 35), where the ordinary mortality is 
very }o,v. Of the above-stated number of victims of cholera, 1,738 belonged 
to the labouring classes, and 122 to the gentry, traders, and well-to-do classes. 
The localities in which there had been the greatest mortality, were the parts 
of the borough where the levels were the lowest, and in which, therefore, the 
hygienic condition, as regards moisture and drainage, might be presumed 
to be most defective. 

ComfMI"C8.-Kingston-upon-Hull-the "great seaport of the north-has 
long been famous for its trade nnd shipping, and it still holds the rank of 
one of the first commercial towns in the kingdom. Its situation on the great 
estuary of the Humber, the great natural outlet for the drainage of Lincoln­
shire and a great part of Yorkshire, also the great inlet for the waters of the 
Gennan ocean, presents advantages of an unusual but valuable description. 
At a Tery early period Hull was a place of considerable mercantile importance, 
consisting chiefly in the ex-portation of wool, and the importation of wine. 
Towards the close of the 12th and during the progress of the 13th century, 
the great native commodity of England was wool, which in very ancient 
times, and particularly in the reigns of Henry II. and Richard I., was 
cOnverted into cloth in this country. Spelman relates that the nobles, 
en delivering in a list of their grievances, in 1~97, to Edward I., repreeentA!d 

\"OL. li, 
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it to be their opinion that OM half of the wealth of the kingdom consisted of 

wool;* but Danyel states, that according to the representation of the uobles, 
the wool of England was equal to a .fifth part of the substance thereof.t Wools, 
woolfels, and leather, were the native commodities which first constituted 
the export trade of the country. Upon the exportation of these three articles 
the King received certain duties or customs, and the goods upon which they 
were charged were allowed to be exported from those places only where the 
King had his staple, and hence the articles themselves obtained the name of 
1taple commodities. The first specific mention of this port in connexion 
with commeroe, is so early as the year 1198, when Genasius de Alderman­
neeberic accounted fol' 225 marks, for 45 sacks of wool taken and sold there. 
From this circumstance l\Ir. Frost very reasonably infers, that it was then 
not only a seaport, but also ono of the chosen places whence wool was allowed 
to be export<'.d; and the same writer has brought forward various proofs, 
founded upon the authority of the Pipe Roll and other records, of the early 
mercantile importance of Hull. Of these, one of the earliest and most im­
portant is the Compotw of William de Wroteham and his companions, 
collectors of the King's customs, recorded on the great Roll of Pipe, of the 6th 
of King John (1205); whence it appears, that in the extent of its commerce, 
Hull was at that time inferior only to London, Boston, Southampton, Lin· 
coin, and Lynn.! 

"At the very beginning of the reign of Edward 1.," writes Dr. Oliver, in 
his" Inquiry," the Archbishop of York prefet:red his claim, in answer to a 
writ of quo warranto, to the first tasting of wines, and the first purchase oC 
goods brought into the port of Hull, after the King's prises were taken. The 
claim was founded on prescription, corroborated by a charter granted to 
Archbishop Gifford in 1267, in which it is acknowledged that the same 
privilege was enjoyed by Archbishop de Grey (in 1216) and his predecessors 
in the See of Y ark. Now these prelates, in ancient times, held their liberties 
in the East Riding under a charter of Athelstan, which was granted in 925. 
Is it not then probable that Hull or Myton-Wyk was a port of some conse­
quence in that King's reign? The claim was however contested on the 
ground that the Archbishop's rights on the river Hull extended no further 
than the end o( old Hull, and if this prelate's claims weJ"e ultimately 
negatived in Sayer's Creek, it does not follow that they were never enjoyed 

• Fol. 162. (Edit. 1698.) t Danyel's Hist. Eng., p. 166. 

t Frost's Notices, p. 96. The Pipe Rolls are the great rolls of the Exchequer, which 
are deposited iD the Pipe otJice, Somenet House. 
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in the old obannel as f'ar as its junction with the Humber; although when 
the litigation took place it had been suffered to warp up. I should rather 
conclude that the Archbishop's predecessors attained updisputed i>ossession 
of these franchises in the ancient harbour of Myton-Wyk, and that the dete­
rioration of his claims was owing to its being superseded by the inte"ention 
of a new channel. This contest forms a link in the chain of evidence, that 
Myton-Wyk was a port of some consequence in ancient times, where the 
Archbishops of York had claimed and taken prises of merchandise," 

Macpherson, in his" Annals of Commerce," tells us, that the people of 
Hull used to pay certain duties to the city of York, and were also in some 
degree of subjection to the Archbishop till the 26th of Edward I . (1298), 
when under the appellation of the King's men of Kingston-upon-Hull, they 
petitioned that monarch that their town might be made a free burgh, and 
bad the prayer of that · petition granted. We may add that there appears 
to be no vestige remaining in Hull of the above "subjection," but the 
Archbishop's coat of arms over the Cross Keys Hotel, which is a permanent 
memorial of his former power. 

This town furnished the greatest part of Yorkshire and the adjoining 
counties with wines, and other customable commodities, from a very early 
period; and its commercial importance at the beginning of the reign of 
Edward I. may be estimated from the fact, that on the passing of the Act 
by which the N(fl)a Cuatuma, or Great Customs, were formally attached to 
the Crown, when collectors and comptrollers were stationed at the chief 
ports of each county for receiving the same, these officers were appointed 
at Myton-Wyk, as a primary station, and the ports of Scarborough, York, 
Hedon, Gainsborougb, and several other places of less note, were assigned 
to their superintendence in the characters of member ports. This arrange­
ment unequivocally points out that the former was the largest port in this 
part of the kingdom. We may here obse"e, that in early times the duties 
on customable merchandise was taken "in specie, i. e., the King took of the 
goods of merchants, in the name of prisage,* whatever he chose, and at his 
own price, but in his wisdom this monarch relinquished the exercise of that 
power, and in lieu thereof, certain fixed payments were charged upon the 
goods, under the name of Parva Cwtuma, or Petty Customs. In order to 
prove the early importance of Hull, Mr. Frost refers to the accounts ren­
dered by the Italian merchants, then settled in this country, who for thirteen 

• The custom of ~e derh·ed ita name trom the French word prllf, beoauee it waa 
tokM in specie out of the soodJ liable to tlle p&1JD8Dt of the duty. 
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years, viz., from the 4th to the 16th of Edward I., inclusive, held the Great 
Customs of England and Wales, as a security for the sum of £23,000., 
which they bad advanced to supply the urgent nece55ities of Edward, soon 
after his accession to the throne ; and from the Great Roll of the Pipe be 
gives the following extract from the accounts of the sums received by Buon­
ricini Gidicon, and other merchants of Lucca, in respect of the customs of 
wool, woolfels, and leather, exported from Hull, within four consecutive 
years, to shew that the duties received here amounted to nearly one-seventh 
of the aggregate sum taken throughout the whole kingdom :-* 

£. 8. d. £. 8. d. 
11, to 16 Edward I. Hull 1,086 10 8 Total 8,411 19 lli. 
1~ to 10 1,222 18 lOi 8,000 3 lOt. 
10 to 17 1,!'i~O :.. ll O,!Ji6 6 )l. 

17 to 18 1,:!::!0 0 8 .. 10,!1~8 3 !!&. 

The import trade into Hull, particularly in the article of wine, was at the 
same time very considerable. In tho latter year (18th Edward I., 1290) 
Joricius le Fleming was appointed to take the King's Recta Pri8a of wiues 
coming to the port of Hull. In the following ycur Gervas de Clifton, then 
Sheriff of Yorkshire, paid, in obedience to the King's \vrit, .£78. 2s. lO!d., 
for the carriage by land and water of 415 doles or tuns and pipes of wine 
from Hull to Brustwyk (Burstwick) and other places. Such wns the state 
of commerce in this port immediately preceding the year 1203, when it 
passed from tl1 .~ monks of 1\leaux into the possession of the King, and re­
cei\'ed the nr..ru..: of Kingston. The commerce of Hull now increased with 
great rapidi ty, o.nd the totnl amount with which the receivers stood charged 
upon the: <.'ompotus for the duties on wool, woolfels, and leather, exported 
from Hull during the 28rd, 24th, aud first po.rt of the 2;Jth of Edward I., 
was no less than £10,802. 10s. Id. But the wools of which the receivers 
were charged for the duties of the customs did not comprise the whole of the 
wools exported from Hull, as the accounts shew that 1,51i0 sncks of wool 
were exported by different companies of Italian merchants during the above 
period, the duties thcreon being .£3,120. These l, iiGO sacks of \vool were 
e:tportcd on the King's account, in respect of tht> debts owing to these mer· 
chants; it being the custom to allow the wools of the different Italian 
companies, who were creditors of the Crown, to be sent nurond on giving 
credit for the amount of the duties or customs. Hence it nppcnrs that one­
third of the commerce of Hull, and perhaps of t11e whole country, was carried 
on by these foreign merchants. 

• Frost's ~otire;;. Jl· lOJ, &c. 
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In the year 1298 (26th Edward I.) writs were issued to the Sheriffs of 
counties, requiring them to make proclamation that merchants were to take 
&heir wools and leather to either of the following towns for exportation :­
King~wn-upon-HuU, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, Boston, Yarmouth, Ipswich, Lon­
don, Sandwich, Southampton, or Bristol. By these regulations Hull waa 
not only constituted one of the few ports in the kingdom from which alone 
the great native commodities of the country might legally be exported, but 
was assigned as the sole port of exportation for the great county of York ; 
and while the statute of the staple, which passed in the following year, made 
York a staple town for the receipt of duties, it required that all goods which 
might come there, should afterwards be brought to Hull to be re-weighed 
prior to exportation.* 

In consequence of the decay of the towns of Hedon and Ravenspu'me, the 
trade of Hull was materially increased. From the accounts of John Liver­
sege and John Tuttebury, in the year 1400, wine appears to have been one of 
the principal articles of import. Among other items we find salt, canvas, 
Spanish iron, linen cloth, paper, wax, spices, bow-staves, seed-oil, fur, gloves, 
scoops, wooden dishes, resin, copper, patten-clogs, and horns for lanterns. 
Among the exports are woollen cloths, worsted, coals, lead, and calf skins. 

Tbe commerce of Hull-that rich JUine of wealth froJU which o.ll her public 
institutions draw their main support-divides itself at present into three 
leading branches-the coasting trade, of which it enjoys a greater share than 
any other port in England, London alone excepted ; the Baltic and Eastlaud 
trade, for which Hull is peculiarly well situated; and the whale-fishing trade. 
The Baltic trade received a shock during the revolutionary wars, from the 
hostile occupation of the ports of that sea, which it has never completely re­
covered; but up to the breaking out of the present war between Russia and 
Turkey, it was of considerable importance. 

The merchants of the port of Hull may be said to have gi'\"'en birth to, in 
this couutrr, that hazardous but once profitablt: branch of trade-Whale 
Fulling. The Rev. Dr. Scoresby, in his History of tli~ KMthem Whale 
Fishery, says the first attempt by the English to capture the whale, of which 
we have any account, was made in the year 1504. Elking, in his Vieu: of 
tJu G-reenwnd Trade, remarks that the merchants of Hull, who were e'\"'er re­
markable for their assiduous and enterprising spirit, fitted out ships for the 
whale fishery as early as the year 1598, being about half a century after the 
di8covery of Greenland by Sir Hugh Willoughby. Although the English 

• Frost'• Notices, p. 116, &r. 
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had by rapid strides established the whale fishery, uaye Dr. Scoreeby, yet they 
had not the opportunity of reaping much of the benefit from the trade before 
pther nations presented themselves as competitors. It was this enterprising 
spirit on the part of the Hull merchants, in equipping ships for the whale 
and walrus fisheries of Spitzbergen, which led to the discovery by them of 
Jan Magen, or Trinity Island, and to the establishment of a whale fishery 
there at a very early period. 

The Russian Company wishing to monopolise this branch of commerce, 
disputed the right of the Hull merchants to participate in it, and wished to 
debar them from visiting that island. In consequence, however, of a repr&­
sentation of the facts, King James, in 1618, privileged the Corporation of 
Hull with a grant of the Jan Magen Island whale fishery. The South Sea 
Company, though they bad perse\'ered in the whale fishing for several years, 
and had thereby sunit a vast sum of money, determined to abandon it after 
the season of 1732; and the trade then became wholly monopolised by the 
Dutch; but having afterwards received a ~unty from Government, this 
Company determined to resume the trade. The bounty first offered to adven­
turers consisted of an annual award of 20s. per tun on the tonnage of all 
British whale fishing ships of 200 tuns and upwards; but in 17 40 this 
bounty was increased to 40s. per tun. After the passing of this Act, the 
British whale fishery began to assume a more respectable appearance. In 
1771 the bounty was reduced to 30s. per tun for a term of five years, and to 
20s. per tun for a third term of the same duration. The whole awards and 
bounties of this Act were then, in 1786, to terminate. In 1782 the town of 
Hull petitioned Parliament, shewing that since the diminution of the bounty 
in 1771, few ships were fitted out for the whale fisheries. That the ships in 
the trade had also decreased in number so considerably, that it was appre­
hended this valuable branch of trade would be entirely lost. It also prayed 
that the bounty might be again advanced to 40s. per tun. Few ships were 
sent to the fisheries after 1771, the ycnr in which the bounty was reduced, 
until the government deemed it necessary to increase the bounty to SOs. per 
tun-limiting this bounty to 300 tuns. 

It is stated that Hull is indebted for the revival of this trade to Mr. (after­
wards Sir) Snmuel Standige, who was subsequently (1795) appointed Mayor 
of Hull. This spirited merchant sent a ship to Greenland on his own ac­
count in 1766-an adventure which was thought extremely hazardous, many 
opulent companies having failed in the enterprise. This ship returned with 
one whale and 400 seals. Previous to this time the skins of seals were 
generally thrown overboard as worthless; but Mr. Standige sent them into 
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the country to be tanned into leather (the tanners of Hull having refused to 
foul their pits with them), and in this way rendered them worth 5s. per skin. 
Stimulated by his success, he fitted out two more ships in the following year, 
and in one of them, the British Quun, he himself embarked and returned 
81lccessful. In 1786, after the bounty of 30s. per tun had been granted, 21 
Teasels were fitted out for the fisheries from this port; in 1787, 30 vessels; 
and in 1788, 35 vessels, four of which belonged to Mr. Standige. The pro­
bable cause of this increase is the grant of the bounty. From the year 1788 
to 1796, the number of vessels sent out was rather on the decrease. From 
1796 the number of vessels sent out gradually increased ; nnd o.s long 1\8 the 
trade was of any importance, the port of Hull bad about two-fifths of the 
whole; 53 vessels averaging about 100 tons burden, with about 50 men each 
being yearly employed, on an average, from 1810 to 1818, during which time 
the average from all British ports was 181. In the years 1818 and 1819, 
64 vessels were each year equipped for the fisheries-the largest number 
ever sent from Hull. From this period the number of ships sent out 
gradually declined. The year 1821 was a very disastrous one-10 vessels 
hanng been lost--the greatest number ever lost in ono year. The number 
of whalers from Hull in 1822 was 40; in 1826, 32 ; and in 1828, 30. In 
1830 the total number of British ships engaged in the fishery trade was 01 ; 
of which number Hull contributed 83, and her vessels brought home 839 
of the total number of 871 whales that were captured. In 1832 Hull sent 30 
a hips, the number for all England being 30, o.nd for Scotland, 42. In 1833, 
though the number of ships from Hull was only 27, yet it was the most pros­
perous year recorded, the number of whales caught being 580, which produced 
6,024 tuns of oil; or an average of 186 tuns of oil per ship. In this year 
the "lsabella," Captain Humphreys, belonging to this port, was so fortunate 
as to be instrumental in saving the lives of Commodore Ross and his go.llnnt 
crew, who had been in the icy regions four years, and were supposed to have 
perished. It was somewhat singular that Captain Ross had been the com­
mander on board this identical vessel some years previously. 

The year 1834 was of all years tho most disastrous-eight ships only 
hanng been fitted out, of which small number six were lost. From this year 
to 1846 only one and sometimes two ships were sent out to the fisheries. 
In 1846 the trade rather revived, and fourteen vessels, mostly small ones, 
were sent out. Since then the tmde has gradually decreased; and of late 
years few ships have lt'ft this port for Greenland. Whales became scarce, 
and owing to the introduction of coal gas light, oil of this description fell so 
low in price as to be fa.r from. remunerative. The last year (18U) three 



96 lllSTuR\" OJ.' Kl'SGS'fOX-UPOX·ITl"l.r .. 

vessels were dispatched from Hull for the whale fishery, and two of them, the 
Htbe and the Germanica, were lost in the ice at Greenland. 

The government bounties, formerly so great an inducement, having long 
since been abolished, there is no probability of this tmde becoming again 
whnt it was long cdcbro.tccl for being-the most famous nursery of British 
seamen; atHl perhaps it is ns well for Hull that such is the ca~e, and that 
this branch of tmtle hns dwindled awa)·: for even during its highest pros­
perity it was the opinion of wdl informed men that the Greenland fishery 
hatl been greatly overtlune, and had been productive of injury t~ the general 
trade of tho port, hy ab~orbing an untluc proportion of cnpitnl from other 
brancl1es of commerce. 

We nt·e indebtf'd for many of the foregoing statistics, as well as for those 
which follow, to nu intl'resting paper, "On the Wlutle Fisheries," which 
was read before the British As~ociation at Hull, in Sl'plrmbc-r, 1853, by 
Henry l\Iunro, Esq., M .r..C.S. 

From the year 1 ii2 w that of I ~5~, a p('riod of eighty years, 1 O.t ships 
have been fitted out anti sailed from this port to the whn.l(' fisheries of GJ'{'en­
land and Davis' Straits. Out of this number 80 have b('en lost, and six more 
taken by our enemies in war time. Among the ships reckoned lost, two, the 
Clapham and l:'ame, were burot at sea. Some of the vessels from Hull 
ha\"C made many voyages to the fisheries; amongst which mny be noticed 
the ship Truelove, which has made to that cold country 58 voyages, the first 
of which was made in 1 i8l, and the last in 18.i2. The ship .Manchester 
(old) has maclc ·19 voyages; the Elizabeth, 48 voyages; the Ellison, 40; the 
Sarah and Elizabeth, 39; the Egginton, 35 ; and the M oily, 32 voyages. 

It is a fact that the whale fishing trade, during the last eighty years, has 
been the support of many thousands of families in Hull. From 1812 to 
1821 inclusive, between 2,000 and 8,000 sailors were annually sent from 
thence in the whale-fishing ships; and for forty years above 1,000 were sent. 
I£ we consider that the gr\later number of these were heads of families, it will 
give some idea of the vast number of individuals whose only support was from 
the produce of the,vhale fisheries, in addition w the many thousands actually 
engaged iu the fitting out of the vessels with SOOJ'{'S and other necessaries. 
During the period of eighty years, from 17i2 to 1852, the Hull whaling 
ships have taken 85,6H men-an average of 1,0i0 per year. 

As a \Vhale fishing port, Hull had no rival in the kingdom. That thousands 
ol tuns of oil have been fished out of the deep waters of the frozen regions by 
the ships of the Hull merchant.'!, is a fact not w be disputed; that the pro­
dlfce of the whale fisheries has been a source of great income w the town, is 
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a fact uot to bo controverted. The lowest number of tuns brought to the 
to\Vu for the eighty years above mentioned, was five tuns in 1887, when only 
one ship was sent out; and the greatest number of tuns obtained in a year 
was 7,076 in 1820, when 62 vessels were sent. The most successful year 
was, as has already been obsened, 1833, when 27 ships brought home the 
immense amount of 5,02-t tuns of oil. In the year 1838 each ship brought, 
on an average, 186 tuns of oil; in 1828, 176; in 1809, 154; in 1827, 152 ; 
in 1882, 150 ; in 1801, 14.7; in 1808, 188; in 1828, 188; iu 1812, 182 ; in 
1805, 129; in 1811, 128; and in 1820, 128 tuns of oil. All the years just 
mentioned have been years of great success, and must have rewarded very 
munificently the Hull merchants, and been of great benefit to the thousands 
of persons employed in the town. During the period of eighty years, from 
1772 to 1852, the Hull whalers have brought home the amount of 171,{107 
tuns of oil; which is an average of 88 tuns of oil per ship per ann. 

Mr. Munro, in his paper, took the price of oil for the meJority of the eighty 
years already mentioned, and found that £80. per tun was about the average 
price. The highest price obtained for oil was about the year 1818, when it 
was sold as high as £5/S. per tun. The lowest price obtained was about the 
years 1804, 1801S, and 1806, when it only reachod about £20. per tun. 

The gross amount of oil brought to this port by the whaling ships from 
the yea.r 1772 to 1852 was lil,907 tuns, and realised the immense sum of 
£5,158,080. for oil alone, being on the average of £64,774. per year for tho 
eighty years. In estimating the quantity of whalebone, Mr. Munro took a 
fair average of bone in proportion to the oil, allowing one hundred weight of 
bone for every tun of oil; and calculating the average price of bone for the 
eighty years, for which he compiled his statistical accounts, at £200. per 
ton. Tho gross amount of bone brought from the fisheries during that 
period was 8,61)6 tons, which realised the sum of £1,691,200., being the 
average of £21,140. per year. For eleven of those years the value of bono 
brought here has been above £50,000. per ann. For one year tho amount 
of oil and bone brought from the fisheries to Hull realised above £800,000.; 
for twelve years the amount was above £200,000. per ann.; and for sixteen 
years it was above £100,000. per annum. The total value of the gross 
amount of oil and bone fished out of the vast deep by ships sailing from this 
port, from 1772 to 18tH~, amounts to £6,847,580., being on the average 
£85,5~4. per year for the eighty years. In these calculations the bounty 
guaranteed by Government, which would increase the value of the returns 
by many thousand pounds, is not taken into account. 

No general description can be given of the various articles of commerce 
VOL. II. 0 
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exported from and imported into this port, seeing that most of the foreign 
productions, which different climates and the varied industry of their in­
habitants render peculiar to almost any of the countries of the known world, 
find their way here. The ohief articles imported to Hull are timber, corn, 
iron, wool, flax, hemp, tallow, hides, pitch, tar, resin, bone, born, &c. ; and 
the exports are principally woollen and cotton goods, hardware, etc. The 
~oasting and inland trade, from the peculiar adaptation of its locality, is one 
of the chief branches of profit to Hull; and of this trade, owing to the facility 
of communication with the manufacturing districts of Yorkshire, Lancashire, 
and Nottinghamshire, by means of the Ouse and the Trent, the Aire and 
the Calder, and by the canals communicating with them, as well as by the 
railway commw1ication which Hull has with all parts of the kingdom, no 
other provincial port in Britain has so great a share. 

Hull is the port from which the cottons of Mancbes~r, the woollens ana 
linens of Yorksbiro, and the lace and net of Nottingham, are exported to the 
Low Countries, Franoe, Germany, nnd the north of Europe. During the 
-last thirty years the exportation of cotton twist has been very considerable. 
At the close of the year 1889 the exports of Hull were considered to be 
about one fifth of the exports of all Great Britain and Ireland. In 181SO 
the declared value of the manufactured goods exported from the port of Hull 
was £10,866,610. The exports from the port of London for the same year, 
were £14,187,527. The Custom House receipts at Hull for the past year 
(1854} amount to £822,212. 16s. 8d., which compared with those of the pre­
ceding year, show a decrease of £20,066. 16s. 8d. 

The prosperity of Hull has, within the last thirty years, been greatly in­
creased by steam navigation, as it has within that period become a principal 
and important s~am packet station. In 1815 the first steam boat on the 
Humber, called the "Caledonia,·· was built for the purpose of plying between 
Hull and Selby. In 1826 there were twenty-four ~mers from Hull plied 
along the coast during the summer months, London being the greatest 
distance to which any of them ran. About the year 1881S the number had 
increased to something like forty-four being in the Hamburg trade, one to 
Rotterdam, three to London, and the remainder principally coastwise, Tbero 
are now above seventy steam boats trading to and from Hull, their collective 
burtben being about 15,000 tons, with 7,280 horse power. 

The number of ships or sailing veBBels entered inward. at the port of Hull 
(that is, vessels arriving over sea or from foreign parts), for the year ending 
IStb of January, 18511, is 2,016, and their aggregate tonnage is SI97,11S6; and 
the number of steam vessels entered inwards over sea, for the same year, is 
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714, of the aggregate burthen of ~00,479 tons. The number of sailing 
Teaaela entered outeardl over sea, during that year, is 828, the aggregate 
tonnage being 108,986 ; t.Re number of steamers entered outwards for foreign 
countries is 720, of the aggregate burthen of ~0~,614 tons. This gh·es a 
total of veeaels, entered inwards for the year, of ~,780, the burthen of which 
amounted to 4.97,668 tons; and of the ships and steamers entered outwards 
1.6~, the aggregate tounage of which is 811,599. These numbers are 
ouluaive of many veeaels and steamers of all sizes that trade between Hull 
and all parts of the United Kingdom. The number of vessels now registered 
iD this port is 474, the aggregate burthen of which is 62,782 tons. 

Docu.-K.ing Richard II., in the 5th year of his reign (1882), granted to 
the Corporation the harbour or haven of the town, called Sayer's Creek, from 
Sculcoates gate to the middle course of the Humber, with power to build 
houses, st&i.ths, &c. ; but the chief source of the commercial prosperity of 
Hull arises from the capacious docks with which the port is now provided. 
And indeed it is remarkable, that commercially important as this place 
appears to have been, even in the very infancy of British commerce, it was 
not till a comparatively recent period that these conveniences for shipping 
were formed. Till the formation of the Old Dock in 1775, the whole com· 
merce of this great port, as regarded wharfs and quays, was confined to that 
put of the river Hull still known by the name of the Old Harbour, and 
ships received and discharged their cargoes, to a considerable extent, by 
means of lightens and other small craft, whilst lying in the roads. In 
17784 the Hull Dock Company was formed, for the purpose of making a wet 
doe/& on the north .aide of the town, and an Act of Parliament was obtained 
for carrying the project into execution. By this Act the shareholders were 
iDCOl'pOrat.ed and empowered to make " a basin or dock to extend from the 
river. Hull to a oertain place in the town of Kingston-upon-Hull, called the 
Beverley gatee, or as near thereto as conveniently might be, and to make the 
same in all pNt8 equal in depth to the bed of the river, or at least within 
fifteen inche. of the same, for the admission of loaded ships, and of such 
width at the least as the ground granted by the Act would admit." The 
Company was alSo empowered to make a quay or wharf, and other conve­
niences aod necessaries, and for the maintenance of the dock and quay, to 
levy certain rates or duties, to be paid to the Company by all ships fre­
qoeotmg the port. The Company received from the Crown a grant of the 
military worb of the town, and a vote from Parliament of £16,000. towards 
dAilraying the expenses of the undertaking. The first stone of the lock pit 
wu laid on the 19th of October, 1776, by Joseph Outram, Esq., then Mayor 
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of Hull, IUld the work was completed, and opened with great ooromony, on 
the 22nd of September, 1778, when a ship called the Manchester, followed 
by another called the Old Fa,·ourite, in the Greenland trade, were the first 
to enter. The length of the dock is 1, 703 feet, breadth 264 feet, area 48,07 4 
square yards, or IJA. SR. 29P., and it is capable of affording accommodation to 
100 square rigged vessels. The lock and basin of this dock having, from 
the great traffic, fallen into disrepair, were rebuilt in 1814 and 1815, when 
the present drawbridge was erected, and other improvements in the oon­
struction introduced. The original number of shares was 120, but the trade 
of the port requiring further BCCommodation, other Acts of Parliament were 
procured in 1802 and 1806, by which the Company were empowered to 
increase the number to 180, and the money arising from the sixty additional 
shares, amounting to £82,3{)0., was appropriated towards making a new 
dock, the first stone of which was lnid April 13, 1807. This undertaking 
was completed at an expense of £220,000., and openod on the 30th of June, 
1800. The Act for the formation of this dock provided, that half the expense 
should be furnished by the Corporation, and in pursuance of an arrangement 
entered into with Government, the dock was oonstructed to accommodate, if 
necessary, ships of war of fifty guns. It is called the Humbn- Dock, and 
communicates with the river or estuary, whence it takes its name, by a lock 
of excellent construction, and a basin protected by piers. The average length 
of this dock is IH4 feet, breadth 342 feet, area 34,607 square yards, or 7 A. 

Os. 241'., and fitted to contain seventy square rigged ships. 
These two docks are united by a third one, which till lately had been 

called Jtmction Dock. The works of this dock were commenced towards the 
close of the year 1826, the first stone of the south lock pit was laid on the 
lOth of September, 1827, with all the ceremonies usual on such occasions, 
and the whole was completed and opened on the 1st of June, 1829, at the 
solo expense of the Hull Dock Company, and at a cost of £186,000. The 
length of the dock is 645 feet, breadth 407 feet, area 21J,11J1 square yards, 
or 6A. OR. 51'., and will hold sixty square riggod vessels. The Old and 
Humber Docks were very imperfect without this latter dock. Till its con­
struction the Old Dock opened only into the river Hull, by which alone it 
eventually oommunicated with the Humber; but by the completion of the 
Junction Dock, the connecting link has been added to a series of works of 
marine accommodation not to be equalled throughout the kingdom. It forma 
a direct and open communication with the Old Dock from the Humber, so 
as completely to obviate the necessity of ships going into the old harbour, 
the crowded state of the chnnucl of which is often attcndl?d with accident, 
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and always with delay and difficulty of passage. The locks at each end of 
this last mentioned Dock, by which the communication with the other two 
docks is kept up, are upon a scale to admit the p&8888e of vessels of 800 tons 
burtben ; and all ..-essels using the docks at Hull may now always lie afloat. 
The complete circuit of the ancient limits of the town of Hull may now be 
made by water, the means of effecting that navigation being afforded by the 
formation of the Junction Dock. As a part of the oeremony obsened on the 
day of opening that dock, the Trinity House Yacht, gaily decorated with the 
colours of all nations, performed the circuit of the old town ; and as we have 
eeen at page 81, her most gracious M~esty Queen Victoria, on the occasion 
oC her Tisit to Hull, passed round the town by the same route. These three 
docks occupy the euct site of the ancient fortifications of the town, " and 
the peaceful laboUJ'8 of the mercantile mariner," to use the words of Mr. 
A.Ueu, "are now carried on where the yells and execrations of an infuriated 
aoldiery onoe scared the industrious citizen from his a..-ocations, Wld the 
murderol18 culverin insulted the tDBJesty of heaven with ita mimic thunders." 

On Welineeday, the 7th of March, in the present year · (1855), the Dock 
Company formally changed the name of the Old Dock to Qwm'• Dock, and 
that of Junction Dock to Prinu'• Dock. 

The dock accommodation being still found insufficient, the Dock Company 
ob&ained Acts of Parliament for the construction of two new docks, called the 
Railway Dock and the Victoria Dock. The RaMM!ay Dock, which is of small 
dimensions compared with the others, branches 011t westward of the Humber 
Dock, and approximatee to the Railway Goods Station. It was formed to 
aid the tran.afer of goods from ship to rail, or nee ~~. and was opened for 
shipping on the 8rd of December, 1846. Ita area is 18,180 square yards. 
The eoet of its erection is £106,000. Rails are laid on both sides, in con­
nection with the before mentioned station, so that vessels can be laden and 
ual&den with great dispatch. An extensive pile of warehouses has been 
8ftiCied on one of the quays. At the entrance to the dock is a level bridg&­
the first of the kind constructed at Hull. The site of this dock was formerly 
called Dock Green. 

Yiaoris Dock lies on the east side of the town, and is connected by basins 
with the rivers Humber and Hull. The first stone of this dock was laid 
New. 6th, 18~6. by John Be.dle, Esq., and it was opened for shipping on the 
8rd ol July, 1860, when the Trinity House Yacht, crowded with the rising 
mariners of the port, wu the first to enter. The area of the dock itself is 
lb. Sa. 18P., the half tidal basin SA., the outer basin 2A. Sa., and the Dry­
pool buin lA. Oa. 20r. It is calculated to hold 126 square-rigged ships. 
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One ol ita quays is sloped for the convenience oC the timber trade. The 
formation of this dock cost upwards of £800,000. • 

The water area of the docks at Hull belore the Dock Act of 18.&4, was 
~6A. 1R-, but when the works are finished that the Dock Company have 
pledged themselves to provide, it will amount to about 48A. ~B. ~P. Ex· 
teosive timber ponds are also to be made, at a cost of about £80,000. 
The quays are on a most extensive scale, and are wholly unimpeded by the 
intervention of buildings of any description, throughout the whole line of 
frontage on enry side ; and there are ra.ilroade along a great part of the 
line of quays, adapted for the transit of goods to and from the various 
sheds. The warehouses are also on a very extensive ec&le several very fine 
buildings having been erected within the last few years. The light and 
elegant drawbridges thrown over the looks are most akilfully constructed. 
Besides the wet docks there are various dry docks for the convenience of 
repairing vessels, cooetruoted with Bood-gates, to admit or exclude the water, 
as may best suit the convenience of the works carried on in them. 

Since the passing of the Reciprocity Act, ships belonging to forei8D owners 
pay only the same dock rates and duties as British vessels, the other moiety 
being paid to the Dock Company by Government. 

Mcmtifacturu.-Connected also with the commerce of this place are ita 
manufactures, but Hull does not found its claim to notice on being a manu­
facturing town, although its station in that respect is by no means unim­
portant. Ship building is extensively carried on, and ropes, sail cloth, 
sacking, &c., are made here ; also chains and chain cables, boilers, and steam 
engines, and the general iron work of foundries. The manufacture of white 
lead, tar, soap, and spirit of turpentine, is carried on to a considerable extent. 
There is an extensive sugar-refinery, and several mills are worked by steam 
and by wind for the extraction of oil from linseed and rapeseed, and for 
grinding corn. Here are also potteries, tan yards, tile and brick. kilns, and 
several breweries; as well as mills for efinding paint, colours, and bones, 
and for sawing timber and veneers. 

In 1886 the "Hull Flax and Cotton Mill Company" was formed for 
spinning and manufacturing Bax and cotton, with a capital of £100,000., 
chiefty owned in Hull and its neighbourhood. The works of the Company 
are situated in the Groves, and consist of five large ranges of red briok 
buildings, two ranges of which are five stories in height. The greater part 
of the buildings were erected in 1887. This is not only one of the most 
important manufacturing concerns in the county, or the kingdom, but in the 
whole world. There is scarcely an important country with which they have 
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not connections, and as to their local benefit, they import annually between 
three and four tbo~nd tons of cotton ; employ on an average about 2,000 
persons ; and pay something like £40,000. per ann. in wages. 

Another company has been more recently formed for spinning cotton, called 
the" Kingston Cotton Mill Company." The factory is situated in Cumber­
land Street, Sculeoates, and consists of a very fine range of red brick 
building, five stories high, erected in 1846. The splendid chimney of this 
mill is 245 feet from the level of the ground; the diameter inside at its base 
is nineteen feet, and inside at top eight feet. About 1,860 tons of cotton are 
prepared here every year, and the average number of hands employed is 
about 1,000. 

There were anciently in Hull, as in most towns of importance, several 
guilds or companies of merchants, embodied for the protection of their various 
vades. We find incidental notices of the" Merchant Ad\"entarers;" the 
"Society of Merchants;" a guild of merchants called after the name of St. 
George, that was incorporated by the charter of Henry VIII., in 1625 ; the 
"Fellowabip of Merchants," established by letters patent, in 1577; and the 
"Merchant Tailors," whose Hall (once the property of the religious guild of 
Corpus Christi) stood near St. Mary's Church. 

Markt!U, Fain, clc.-The chartered market days are Tuesday and Friday, 
but the principal market is held on Tuesday. There is also a crowded Inarket 
for .8esh and vegetables on Saturday evening, for the accommodation of the 
townspeople. These markets are well supplied with all kinds of provisions, 
etc. The Market Place forms part of the public streets. The chartera of 
the borough authorized the Corporation to hold a Inarket at any convenient 
place which the Mayor and ID8Jority of the Aldermen might appoint. The 
pretent place for holding the market was called in old deeds Highga~, and 
the northern end of the same street is still called Lowgate. About the year 
1430 a stalely cross was erected here, but this was afterwards taken down, 
and the lead with which it was covered sold to defray the expenses incurred 
by the town during the civil war. It is also stated that in 1682 the old 
market cross, a mean building, was removed, and a new one, with a leaden 
cupola and balustrades, erected at a oost of £700. This was pulled down 
in 1762. In 1784 the fine equestrian gilded statue of King William m., 
executed by Bchemaker, was erected by voluntary subscription at a cost of 
j89S. 9s. llid., near the south end of the Market Place. The figure 
of the monarch is habited in Roman costume, that of the horse is very 
bold and natoral, and the whole is surrounded with an iron railing, and forms 
one of the most exquisite erections of the kind in England. 
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Tlu1t part of Queen Street (which is a continuation of tJ1c Market Place. 
towards the soutJl) between the south end of the Market Place and the ends 
of Dlackfriargate and Blanket Row, was formerly callect the Butchery, from 
which it will be inferred that it was once lined witJl butcher shops; and the 
old Guild Hall stood at tJle north east corner of it. The present meat 
market or Butcher'• Shnmhlel occupies the site of that old town's hall, as well 
as a part of the site of the monastery of the Black Friars. "The Butchery," 
says Tickoll, who wrote in 17 46, " till very lately communicated with the 
Market Place, through a gateway under the Sessions House and pe.rt of the 
old gaol, which have lately boon taken down, and the p688&8e laid open." 
The Shambles, which extend from the south end of ilie Market Plat~C, behind 
the houses on the ei\St side of Queen Street as far as Dlackfriargatc, are low, 
but commodious and well-ventilated. A portion of the shambles is occupioo 
every Tuesday as a Com }farket ; but a Corn E:DChangt is now being built 
by the Corporation, on Ulo site of the old Custom House in High Street. 
The present Corn .Market is used as a Fish Market on Saturdays. 

A Wool Mnrk8t is held in a part of the goods station of ilie NortJl Eastern 
Railway, on the two last Tuesdays in June, all the Tuesdays in July, and 
the t1vo first Tuesdays in August, in each year. The Corporation have 
declared the said Dlarkets freo of toll. This market has been held on the 
above days since the 20th of June, 18-U. 

The Spring Fair, for the sale of horses, cattle, sheep, pigs, and. goods in 
general, is held annunlly, on the second Tuesday in April. This fair was 
first held on the 9ili of April, 1889. Another fair for horses, cattle, &o., 
takes place on the 11th and l~th of October. 

Ban-b.-Bank of England (Branch), 18, Salthonse Lane; George A. Shoo, 
Esq., agent. Harrison, Watson, and Co.'s Bank, 68, Whitofriargatc; draws 
on Sir C. Price and Co. Hull Banking Company, 82, Silver Street; draw 
on Barclay and Co. Peaso and Liddells' (Old Bank), Trinity House Lane; 
draws on Glynn, Halifu, and Co. Smith, Brothers, and Co.'s Bank, 6, 
Whit.efriargate; draws on Smith, Payne, and Co. Raikes' (East Riding 
Bank), 11, Scale Lane, draws on Curries and Co. Yorkshire District Bank, 
66, Lowgato, draws on Williams, Deacon, and Co. 

The Bank for &mng• is in Postemgate. The deposita at this institution 
during the past year amounted to .£7~,109., and the paymente to .£61,~00. 
The amount of balance due to depositors on the ~6th of N ovembor, 1854, 
was .£849,007. 16s. 4d. The total amount of money deposited from the 
commencement in 1818, has been .£1,9~6,658. Ss. Sd., and the total amount 
of interest placed to the credit of the depositors in the same period has been 
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£25.1,178. 6s. 4d. The total amount of money withdrawn during the SGme 

period has been £1,881,818. 18s. 8d. 
There is a Pmny Bank in Osborne Street. 
CIVIL GoVERNKENT.-Kingston-upon-Hull has been a royal borough since 

the year 1299, when, as we have seen at page 10, Edward I . granted his 
charter, in which the inhabitants are styled "free burgesses." By this 
charter the government of the town was committed to a chief magistrate 
called the Warden, who was empowered to bring criminals to trial, and, on 
conviction, pronounce even the sentence of death. The burgesses were made 
free over all England, of all pontage, passage, pannage, murage, &c., and all 
other tolls and customs, of all their proper wares, on the Tuesday and Friday 
markets "where the King should appoint." This charter granted to the 
bnTgesses exemption from being impleaded any where but within the borough, 
the return of all writs, with power to choose a coroner, and to have a prison. 
Towards the close of the reign of Edward II., that monarch changed the 
office of Warden to that of Bailiff, who was to be annually chosen out of the 
body of the burgesses. The town continued to be governed by Bailiffs till 
the year 1882, when Edward ID. granted the burgesses his royal license, 
by his letters patent, to be governed by a Mayor and four Bailiffs, to be 
chosen annually. 

In the 18th of Henry VI. (1440), the town and liberties were consti­
tuted a separate and distinct county from that of York, the Bailiffs were 
eet aside, and the charter ordained that the governing body of the town 
from that time should be a Mayor, Sheriff, twelve Aldermen, and a Re­
corder, assisted by a town clerk, two chamberlains, a. sword bearer, also 
mace bearers, and other subordinate officers. The .Mayor, Aldermen, and 
Recorder, to be Justices of the Peace for the town and county; and courts 
were appointed to be held. By this charter it was granted that the Mayors 
of Kingeton-upon-Hnll should, for the future, have the sword carried erect 
before them ; and that the Mayor and Aldermen should have a Cap of Main· 
tenance, and wear scarlet gowns and hoods lined with fur, resembling those 
worn by the Lord Mayor and Aldermen of Loodon. The cbartsr of 18th of 
Charles IT., which was the governing charter, previous to the passing of the 
new Municipal Act, 6th and 6th of William IV., cap. 76, recites that Hull 
is an ancient and populoas town, and that the inhabitants thexeof had various 
privileges and grants by different names. 

The officers of the Corporation nominated by that charter were a .Mayor, 
Sheriff, twelve Aldermen, two Chamberlains, a High Steward, an Admiral of 
the Humber, an Eecheator, a Recorder, two Coroners, a Town Clerk, Sword 
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bearer, Mace bearer, and several subordinate officers. fly a bye law, made 
in 1767, persons refusing to accept office were made liable to fines fo1· 
the office of Mayor, .£500.; Alderman, .£800. ; Sheriff, .£200; and Cham· 
berlain, .£50. 

The officers of the Corporation under the Municipal Act consist of a 
.Mayor, fourteen Aldermen, and forty-two Councillors, under the usual cor· 
porate style. They constitute the council of the borough, which is divided 

.into seven wards, viz., Lo\vgate ward, Market Place ward, South Myton 
ward, North Myton ward, West Sculcoates ward, East Sculcoates ward, 
and Holdemess ward. The Mayot· and late Mayor are ~officio Justices of 
the Peace. The Council appoint a Sheriff, Town Clerk, Treasurer, and 
other officE>rs ; and the Recorder is chosen by the Crown. This borough 
was included in schedule A, amongst boroughs to have a commission of 
the peace, which has accordingly boon granted, and the Court of Quarter 
Sessions and a Recorder re-appointed. 

The l11come of tile Corporation, derived from rents, stallage, and standage, 
water bailiff"s dues, the waterworks, &c., for the year ending Dec. 1st, 1854, 
was .£19,862. Is. 6d. ; and the E:rpenditure for the same year amounted to 
.£18,227. 6s. lld. The surplus fund at the disposal of the Council at the 
same period was .£7,067. 12s. 5d. 

The chief officers of the Corporation for the year 1864-5, are as follows:­
T/14 Right JV~•I,ipful the Mayor-Sir Henry Cooper, Knt., M.D. Recorckr 
-Samuel Warren, Esq., Q.C., D.C.L., F.R.S. Deputy Recorckr-T. P. 
Thompson, Esq. Judge of the County aftd Imolt!ent Court&--Wm. Raines, 
Esq. SAeriff--Joseph Gee, Esq. T01m Clel'k-Mr. Thomas Thompson. 
Tow1' Trearurer-Mr. William Bolton. Clerk of the Pc11C6-Mr. J. H. Gal­
loway. Coronci'-Mr. J. J. Thomey. 

Aldermen.-Henry Blundell, John Lee Smith, John Gresham, Robert 
Blyth, William B. Brownlow, Joseph Ayre, John James Runton, Thomas 
'fhompson, Robert Bea.o, C. A. Forester, Sir Henry Cooper, Thomas W. 
Palmer, William Priest, and John Tall, Esquires. 

The Borough Magutrate& are John Beadle, Henry Dlundell, Robert Blyth, 
William B. Carrick, George Cookman, Sir Henry Cooper, Knt., M.D., John 
Egginton, Thomas Firbank, John Gresham, Boswell M. Jalland, Thomas 
B. Locke, Thomas Newmarch, Thomas W. Palmer, Joseph W. Pease, John 
Petchell, Robert Raikes, Edmund Smith, John Lee Smith, Thos. Thompson, 
and Thomas Ward, Esquiree. 

Stipendiary Police Magutrau.-Thomas Henry Travis, Esq. Clerk to the 
.\fagiatratfs-Mr. William Ayre. 



IDSTORY OF KINGSTON·UPON·HULL. 10i 

Population, cfc.-Tbe population of this town has increased immensely of 
late years. In 1801 the aggregate number of inhabitants was ~9,849; in 
18ll that number was swelled to 87,466; and iu 1821 the number wRs 

41,420. In 1841 the population of the borough was 65,670 souls; and in 
18tH, the number, according to the Parliamentary Report of tho census 
taken in that year, was 84,690, including the military in the Citadel; but the 
following table shows the population of the different divisions of the borough, 
extracted from the same report, exclusive of the military. 

Aru POPULATION. 
DIVISIONS OP TB'E BOBOUGR. iD St.a&ute Rouou. 

Acrea. 
Mal ... Pemal~~~t. Penona. 

P.WMI of Holy Trinity~ St. Mary. 
Humber Ward ••.•••.••••• • .•. 

}'~"' { 
788 2,227 2,1:J6 4,:103 

Austin Ward .••••.•••... .. .... 45:1 1,203 1,301'> ;2,51)8 
Trinity Ward . ...•••..•.•...... 460 1,208 1,368 2,1'>76 
Whitefrian ward ••..•. .• .....• 31'>0 1,2:>1 1,120 2,371 
St.. MAry North Ward ........•. 1,180 2,090 3,210 6,200 
North Myton Ward ............ 2,080 0,121 6,:>18 12,030 
South Mytou Ward ............ 4,898 9,207 10,716 19,923 
~ZPamh. 

rypool Township ............ 1,166• 01'>1 1,282 1,466 2,748 
Southoo.tea ToWDBhip ••••.... .. 1,01'>0 30;} IH:i 81'>8 1,673 

&:ulcoatu Pari1h. 
East Sculc<Mltes District } 1,010 { 2,-1.1'>3 6,383 6,031 ll,4U 
West Seulcoates District ..•.••.. 2,700 4,734 6,177 10,911 

Suttof& (pe.rt of) Pamh. 
St.. Mark's District •••••••••• 00 - 1,440 3,238 3,676 6,800 
Garrison Side (extn par.) •..... 80 38 88 107 196 
Hull Citadel (extra par.) ........ - 1 27 0:> 02 

Tor.u. ••••••••• •• •....•• 6,123t 18,3-l7tl 39,8691 44,663 I 84,612 

Franchile.-The first summons and returns of representatives to Parlia­
ment were in the 2Srd of Edwa.rd I. (1205); and as this town was incorporated 
four years after, it follows of course that Hull, as 1r royal borough, must have 
first returned two members, in the 28th year of this reign, to the Parliament 
which Edward that year summoned to meet at York. (See vol. i., p. 188.) 
A second return was soon after made of two members to another Parliament, 
which the monarch the same year held at Lincoln. Formerly the burgesses 
chose their representatives out of their own order, and allowed them, while 

• These areas include the ooa.st of the rivers. 
t This total is excluaive of the new parish oiSt. Mark. 
t This total includes all the inhabited and uninhabited ho1188s, as well Oij those that 

were being built when the t'eneus was taken. The rateable value of the borough is 
about ~oo.ooo. 
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engaged in the performance of their public duties, a sum which was at that 
time thought sufficient. to support the state of a gentleman. Andrew Marvel, 
the celebrated patriot, and friend and colleague of Milton, is recorded as -the 
last member who received wages from his constituents. The right of elec­
tion was in the burgesses and freemen. The freedom of the borough is 
inherited by birth, or acquired by servitude. Every son of a burgess 'born 
after the father has taken up his freedom, is entitled to be admitted at the 
age of twenty-one, whether a native of the borough or not; and an apprentice 
who has se"ed his time to a burgess, is entitled, though the master resides 
without the limits of the borough. The Mayor was the returning officer. 
Since the passing of the Reform Bill, the right of election was extended to 
all persons within the borough whose holdings were rated at £10. per ann. 
We have observed at page 29 of this volume that HulW&ire, or the County of 
the Tow" of King&ton-upon-Hull, comprised the neighbouring villages of Kirk 
Ella, North Fcrriby, Hessle, &c.-a district extending from the Garrison 
side, east of the river Hull, to the westward of Swanland, a distance of eight 
miles in length; and from the Humber on the south to the Hunsley Beacon 
division on the north, an aversge distance of two miles in breadth. This 
district, we have seen, was separated from the East Riding, and placed under 
the government of the Corporation of Hull. Previous to the passing of the 
Reform and Municipal Acts, the limits of the Borough were confined to the 
lino of the ancient fortifications of the town, that is, to that part of the town 
which is now insulated by the river Hull on the east side, the river Humber 
on the south, and by the three docks and their basins, formed along the line 
of the old walls, on the other sides. By the Reform Act, the limits for Par­
liamentary purposes were greatly extended, and by the new Municipal Cor­
poration Act, the Parliamentary boundaries were adopted as the limits of the 
town and county of the town, for municipal purposes. Besides the old 
borough, the Parliamenta~y boundaries comprise the liberty of Myton on the 
west; the parish of Sculcoatcs, part of Sutton, and the liberty of Trippet, on 
the north ; the parish of Drypool and the Garrison side on the east ; the 
Humber being on the south; and the whole borough extending, from its 
eastern to its western limits, to an extreme length of two miles five furlongs, 
with an average breadth of nearly one mile. That portion of the parish of 
Sutton included in the borough is the district apportioned to the new parish 
of St. Mark. The estimated area of the borough is 8,878 acres, and the 
present number of electors is 4,698, of which number 8,184 are house­
holders, and 1,494 freemen. The electors, but more especially the freemen, 
of this borough have lntel)· attained to a most unenviable notoriety. 
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.At the general election in 181S2 the candidate& were Jamee Clay, Esq. 
(the former member), and Viscount Goderich, aa representatives of the liberal 
or reform interest; and John Bramley Moore, Esq., and the Hon. Charles 
Lenno:s. Butler, were the consenative or tory candidates. The two former 
gentlemen were elected; the number of voters who polled for each candidate 
being as follows :-Clay, 2,246; Goderich, 2,242; Moore, 1,816; a.nd Butler, 
1,626. The election was followed by a petition to the House of Commons, 
from the consenative party, against the return of the successful candidates, 
a.nd the result was that Mr. Clay and Lord Goderich were unseated, and the 
borough was foc a lime unrepresented in Parliament. So great a mass of 
systematic bribery and corraption, as practised at the elections at Hull by both 
parties from time immemorial, was revealed to the committee of the House of 
Commons, appointed to examine into the complaint laid in the petition, that 
the committee prayed the house to issue a commission of enquiry into the cor­
rupt practices at the last election, and at former elections. Accordingly her 
M~esty's warrant under the royal sign manual was issued, whereby Frederick 
SoUy Flood, Esq., John Deedes, Esq., and William Baliol Brett, Esq., were 
commissioned to enquire into the extent of these corrupt practices. The 
Queeu's warra.nt bears the date May 7th, 1853, and the commision was 
opened at the Mansion House at Hull, on the 23rd of the same month. The 
commissioners held their court of enquiry for fifty-seven days, ending tho 
16th of August. All the candidates for Hull at the elections of 1841, 1847, 
a.nd 1853, appeared to give evidence before the commission, and about 1,200 
witnesses were examined. The commissioners' report contains a mass of 
proofs of bribery. It has prevailed at every election. In 1841 each party 
paid 600 or 700 voters; in 184 7, 1,200 were bribed; in 1852, out of the 
3,983 who ~ted, 1,400 were bribed. Out of the 1,500 freemen, 1,100 were 
bribed once at least-many more than once. Nor are the occupiers clear. 
The cost of the last three elections was nearly £27,000. to the candidates­
nearly £9,000. for each election. The cost of the last election was £9,226., 
of which there was paid for cabs, £354.; colours, £300.; to printers, £1,096.; 
legal agents, £2,066. ; while the money expended directly on the voters 
amounted ~ £3,543.-£3000. being paid for runners. The report cont,Uned 
the enormoua number of 2,000 pages; its weight was sleHn tom .UJ hundred 
wigit; 82,000 questions were put to the witnesses ; and the cost of printing 
only, for both Houees, was £1,750. The commissioners received each five 
guineas a day during the time of the enquiry. 

Mr. Chief Commissioner Flood, who, through some disagreement with his 
colleagues, presented a separate report, says, " The borough of Kingston-
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upon-Hull is among the most ancient iu the United Kingdom, having 
returned burgesses to serve in Parliament as far back as the year 1305. 
Until the passing of the Reform Act the right of voting was vested exclu­
sively in the freemen. The right of admission to the freedom of the Corpo­
ration could only be acquired by apprenticeship to a freeman or by patrimony. 
All the sons of freemen, upon attaining the age of twenty-one, and all persons 
who bad served their appenticeship to a freeman, being entitled to be 
admitted as freemen. Judging from the fact that, out of 1884 freemen on 
the register made in 18tH, only 840 were entitled to the household franchise, 
notwithstanding that the freedom of the Corporation conferred most valuable 
commercial privileges; that out of a very considerable number of persons 
examined by us, who were freemen prior to 1882, not more than two were 
persons who in 1882 acquired the additional qualification as householders, it is 
reasonable to conclude that, prior to that period, o. very large maJority of the 
freemen of the borough were in the lower ranks of life, and that the mer· 
chants and tradesmen of the town possessed but little influence, except that 
which money will purchase or position in society command. I find that 
corruption was then all but universal. That votes were purchased without 
any scruple, and almost without disguise, at a regular market price--namely, 
four guineas for a plumper, or to use the local term, ' a bullet', and two 
guineas for a split vote, paid under the name of 'polling-money.' Persons 
entitled to their freedom delayed taking it up until a contested election arose, 
and then the manufacture of votes at the expense of the candidates, payment 
of polling money, and the polling, proceeded simultaneously for eight days. 
Scarcely with an exception all the old freemen told us how they used to get, 
in the old time, their four guineas, and their two guineas, and at what elec­
tion, and at which candidate's expense, they bad obtained their freedom. 

"In those days contests upon almost every possible occasion were all but 
invariable. The seat of no member, by however large a majority, or however 
recently be might have been elected, was safe from the superior claims of a 
'third man,' upon the very next occasion. 

" From the time of the death of Queen Anne down to the present time, a 
period of 140 years, it never has occurred but once that the same two gentle­
men were elected for this borough at two consecutive general elections. The 
one exception was in 1881, when Parliament was unexpectedly dissolved in 
the middle of a session, and in its very first year. It is more than probable 
that the suddenness of that event alone prevented the success of a 'third man. • 

" The freemen " continues the report, " always looked upon an election 
not as an occasion for exercising their share in legislation, but simply as an 
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opportunity for obtaining a price for a marketable commodity ; they looked 
upon him to be the best candidate who· was the best paymaster; and nu­
merous letters and other documents, published during elections, showed that 
tl•ey openly and undisguisedly avowed their views." 

Immense as tlle amount of political corruption which has been practised 
at Hull, we have little hesitation in asserting that it is not more impure than 
most other boroughs, and that it is purity itself in comparison with some. 
Commissions similar to tlle above were likewise issued, after tllo same general 
election, for the city of Canterbury, and the boroughs of Bamsta.ble, Cam­
bridgt>, Maldon, and Tyncmouth, with a like result to that of Hull; and if 
many other boroughs enjoy the character of purity, it is because commission 
courts of enquiry into tlleir corrupt practices have not been opened in them. 
The cost of the commissions for Hull and the above-mentioned places was 
£9,460. 14s. 4d., and £4,088. for the bulky blue books on the subject, 
making £13,549. 4s. 8d. of the public money expended on enquiries into cor­
rupt practices at elections in one year. Of this sum the Hull case absorbed 
above £5,000. There were 1,750 copies of that report and the evidence 
printed, at a cost to the public of £1,704. In consequence of the reports of 
tlle various commissioners, the Attorney General, in the latter end of March, 
1854, introduced into the House of Commons a series of bills for the preven­
tion of bribery in the election of members to serve in Parliament for Hull, 
and the before-mentioned places. In his speech upon that occasion, the 
Attorney General said "it was clear that the state of these constituencies was 
a reproach and a scandal, not only to themselves, but to their representatives 
and to tlle country." The number of voters, be said, that polled at the elec­
tion at Hull in 18152, was stated at 3,083, of which number it was assumed 
that not less than 1,3tl0 were bribed. The remedy for this evil which tlle 
bills proposed, was to disfranchise the corrupt portion of the constituency, 
and retain the sound-that is, to disqualify those voters whom the commis­
sioners had named in their reports, and who, as witnesses, summoned before 
these commissioners, had admitted their guilt. However these special bills 
were afterwards withdrawn by the Government, and a general, but very 
imperfect--if not an altogether wortllless measure for the prevention of 
bribery, was substituted, and obtained the sanction of the legislature in 
tlle montll of August in the same year. The measure, however, is only 
to remain in operation for one year, and it is hoped tllat it will be super­
seded by one better calculated to protect the voter in the exercise of the 
franchise, and to prevent bribery and intimidation, now prevalent, more or 
less, at nearly all our 4}lections. 
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A few do.ys after the passing of this new Bribery Act, a writ wBS issued for 
the borough of Kiogston-upon-Hull, and the electors-after being without a 
voice in the great council of the empire for nearly two years-were once again 
called upon to return two representatives to the House of Commons. The 
election took place on the 18th of August, the candidates being William 
Digby Seymour, Esq., and William Henry Watson, Esq., Q.C., liberals, and 
Samuel Auchmuty Dickson, Esq., tory; the unseated members (Mr. Clay 
and Viscount Goderich) being disqualified to represent this borough during 
the sitting of the pruent Parliament. This election resulted in the return 
of the two liberal candidates by a large m~ority-the number of votes being 
-for Seymour, 1,820; Watson, 1,806; and for Dickson, 1,600. The Sheriff 
of the borough is the returning officer. Hull is a polling place for the elec­
tion of members to serve in Parliament for the East Riding of Yorkshire. 

CouRTS oF .J usTrcE.-The privilege of an Assize for the trial of civil causes 
and criminal prosecutions, was granted to the burgesses of Hull, by the 
charter of the 25th of Henry VI. (1447.) As commissioners of Oyer and 
Terminer and Jail delivery, the judges were obliged to hold an Awe, 
when requested by the Mayor and burgesses. But an arrangement was long 
sin~e entered into, by which tho criminal business was transferred to the 
the Assizes at York. 

The borough Quamr Beuiom of the peace are held about the times of 
Christmas, Easter, Midsummer, and Michaelmas. The present Recorder, 
wl10 presides at these sessions, is S. Warren, Esq., Q.C., D.C.L., F .R.S. 

The Mayor and Sheriff's Court of Record, called the Venire (to come), 
because the parties concerned are summoned to appear, is as ancient as the 
liberties of the town. This court, where civil causee of every description 
may be determined, is always held in the Guild Hall or Sessions Court four 
times a year, immediately after the quarter sessions. When any matter is 
to be argued or tried in this oourt the Recorder sits as judge, with the Mayor 
and Sheriff, and gives rules and decisions therein. Before the appointment 
of Sheriffs by Henry VI., this court was held before the Recorder, Mayor, 
and Bailiffs. 

An Act of Parliament was obtained in 1761 for holding here a CotJrt 
of Rel[llfttl, for the town, port, and county of the town of Kingston-upon­
Hull. The Mayor and Aldermen for the time being, and thirty more of 
the inhabitants, were commissioners. Three of the commissioners consti­
tuted a bench, and the debt sued for was under 40s. By the Act 48th of 
Goorge m. (1800), debts not exceeding £6. may be recovered in the Court 
of Requests. 
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The Cuunty C11urt of Yorklhire, pursuant to Acts of Oth and lOth Vict., c. 
93; 12th and 13th Vict., c. 101 ; and 18th and 14th Vict., c. 61, have 
entirely superseded the court of requests. The County Court takes cogni­
zance of all debts, damages, or demands, in which the amount sought to be 
recovered does not exceed £60. This court is held at the Guild Hall or 
Mansion House, about once a month. The present Judge is William 
Raines, Esq., of Wyton Hall. 

A Bankruptcy Court is held here every Wednesday, at which ono of the 
Commissioners of Bankruptcy presides. 

Petty Semou are held daily, in the Police Court at the Mansion House. 
The Borough Justices formerly presided in this court, but at the instance of 
the Town Council, a stipendiary Police Magistrate (T. H. Travis, Esq.), has 
recently been appointed by the Crown, at o. salary of £800. a year. 

ANCIENT RELIGIOUS INSTITUTIONS.-CARMELITE FRIARY.­
Boon after the town of Hull came into the possession of King Edward I. (in 
1~96), that monarch, "in order to draw down a blessing upon himself nnd 
it," as Tickell expresses it," and out of gratitude to God for all tho favours 
bestowed upon him," founded o. monaatio institution for friars of the Order of 
the Blessed Virgin of Mount Carmel, called, from the colour of their habit, 
WA~ Frian. It is al.eo recorded that about the year Hl89, Robert do 
Scardeburgh, Dean o£ the Cathedral Church of York, founded a religious 
establishment for Carmelite Friars, and that in the same year ho 888igned 
to the brethren a messuage belonging to him in "Wyke-upon-Hull," for their 
perpetual habitation; but that as a preliminary to making this alienation, 
laD inquisition was taken at Middleton, under a writ of ad quod damnum, 
in which the jury found that this grant would be to the prejudice of the 
Abbot and Convent of Mcaux, the then lords of the town. It is very 
probable that the mars were introduced here by Robert de Soardeburgh, and 
that King Edward improved their circumstances, by building and endowing 
a fitting monastery for them. In the reign of Edward m. the establishment 
'1t'8S enlarged, to which Sir Richard de la Pole and Sir Robert Oughtred 
largely contributed. In 1686 this institution was suppressed, and Henry 
VID. granted to John Heneago the house and site, and all hoWIC8, buildings, 
orehards, and gardens, belonging to it, together with the yearly rent of £1~ .• 
issuing out of the meesooge called Trinity House. The monastery stood on 
the south side of Whitefrlargate, and probably extended as far as the walls 
of the town. Several stone coffins ~e been dug up in that locality. The 
pund upon which Trinity House now stands, was purchased of the Car­
melite Friars, as appears by the original deed yet extant. 

VOL. II. Q 
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ST. Auousns~<:'s FmAnv.-About the ymr 1817, Sir Jeffcry do Hotham, 
a devout Knight, for the greater honour aud glory of God, the good of his 
own soul, and the benefit of the poor, founded and built an establishment 
for friars or hermits of the Order of St. Augustine; or Dlack Friars, as 
they arc usually called from the colQur of their habit. It flourished in 
great magnificence till the suppression, when it was almost pulled down, 
and the materials sold. This monastery, which was situated in that street 
or gate, called from thence Dlackfriargatc, partly on the site now.occupied 
by the butcher's shambles, was a remarkably lofty, large, and spacious, 
edifice, including a chapel and cemetery, and was omamented with fine 
courts, curious gardens, and delightful fountaius. The hack part extended 
as far as the old Town Hall, which stood at the south-cMt corner of the 
Market Place, near the northern entrance to the shambles. 'l'ickcll tells us 

• in the body ef his History of Hull, which he published in li-16, that there 
wM then remaining of this mono.stcry, near the old Guild-Hall, a square 
tower, with Gothic windows, six stories l1igh, and a long range of buildings 
r-unning north and south, which WILS then con\'ertod into a. public house, 
known as the Tiger Inn ; but in the Addtmda to the same '"ork, he says 
"the square tower, with whatever else remrunt..>d of this ILDCient and once 
stately fabric, has been lately taken down ; so that now there remains not 
the least vestige of such an edifice. 

CARTIJUSlAN PmoRY OF ST. MrcHAEL.-The foundation of this monastery 
was laid about the year 1850, by Sir William de la Pole, lord of Wingfield, 
on the site of a small religious house, from which the inmates bad been 
removed, on account of their dissensions. lleforo the structure was half 
completed, Sir William de la Pole died (in 1866), and left the finishing 
of it to his son Sir Michael, who, in 1878, completed the pious work. 
According to the charter which was granted in the following year (51st 
Edward ill.), the original intention of Sir William de la Pole was to found 
an hospital where the priory afterwards stood, but subsequently changing 
his design, he determined to establish instead of it a house for Minoress 
Nuns of the Order of St. Clare. His death interrupted the execution of 
his project; but just before his di880lution be enjoined his son Sir Michael 
to dispose of the building for such religious purpose as might to him seem 
best. Accordingly Sir Micbael appropriated the edifice, under the name 
of the Priory of St. Michael, to a Prior and twelve monks of the Carthusian 
Order; and endowed it with the manor of Sculeoates and other estates, in 
addition to those which had already been given for its maintenance by the 
original founder. In 1384, the year before Sir Michael de la Pole was made 
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Lord Chancellor and Earl of Suffolk, he founded and endowed an hospital, 
with a chapel adjoining it, for thirteen poor men, and as many poor women. 
This hospital, which stood a little to the east of the Priory, still exists 
under the name of the Charter House Hospital, and the particulars of it will 
be foond 'at a subsequent page. 

The Priory flourished iu riches and prosperity for several ages. The 
buildings were stately and magnificent, with extensive gardens; the chapel 
was elegantly &domed with magnificent altars and pictures ; and several 
chantriee were founded in it by the neighbouring nobility and merchants. 
At the dissolution of the lesser monasteries the monks were turned out 
in the utmost distress, and their possessions seized on to the King's use. 
These were valued, according to Dugdale, at £17 4. 18s. Sd. per ann., and 
to Speed at £~81. 17s. Sd. The rising in the north obliged the King to 
restore thirty-one religious houses, among which number was the Carthusinn 
Priory at Hull, commonly called the Charter House, on which the scattered 
monks returned to their house; but in USS8 it was finally suppressed, and 
razed to the very foundation. The site was granted to the Duke of North­
umberland; and in the 6th of Edward VI., to Edward, Lord Clinton. The 
seal of this Priory, an engraving of which is given in Frost's Notices, is 
of an oval form, exhibiting an enriched niche, in which is a figure of St. 
Michael triumphing over the dragon; and beneath is the shield of arms of 
the founder. The legend is 8. eo~. domw. 6Ci. Michis. orcl. Carthus. Juxta. 
King6ton 1Up. Hull. (The seal of the community of the house of St. Michael, 
of the Order of Carthusians, near Kingston-upon-Hull.) 

A CoU~g~ of Pr~bendarieB, which was founded in the chapel or church of 
the Holy Trinity, by Waiter Skirlaw, Bishop of Durham, was dissolved 
at the Reformation, and its revenues appropriated to tha use of King. 

SUPPRESSED HosPITALS.-Amougst the hospitals in Hull whose founda­
tions were seized at the Reformation, four of them were refounded in the suc­
eeeding reign, in consequence of the clamours of tbo people, as we ha,·e shown 
at page IUS of vol. i., and po.go 88 of this volume. The four restored hos· 
pitals are thoso of the Trinity House and Charter House, and Grogg's and 
Riplingbam's Hospitals; and amongst the hospitals that were suppressed 
in this town, and their revenues seized by the King, were the following:-

~driamon'• Hotpital, founded, built, and endowed, for four poor old men, 
about the year llSOO, by a gentleman o£ that name. There was a small 
chapel or oratory, and a garden attached to it, and the founder ordered his 
executors for ever to give to the poor inmates a certain quantity of coals, &c., 
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annually, and "that the mass of Jesus should be said to them every Friday 
throughout the year." Site of the hospital not known. 

Aldwick's H01pital.-Little of the particulars of this hospital is koown, 
except that its revenues were pretty considerable. The founder also en­
dowed a chBlltry in the church of St. Mary, with .£4. 13s. 4d. per annum, 
and a perpetual obit of 6s. Sd., to pray for his soul. 

BMlford's Ho8pital, founded and amply endowed by a Mr. Bedford, of whom 
nothing is known, save that he founded a chBlltry in the church of the Holy 
Trinity, for a priest to sing mass for ever for his soul. The hospital afforded 
relief to a goodly number of indigent people. 

Riplingham's H()lpital.- In the early part of the reign of Henry Vlll. the 
Rev. John Riplingham, D.D., President of Deverley College, founded an 
hospital in Vicar Lane, for the support of twenty poor people. He also 
founded a chantry in Trinity Church, wherein two priC8ts were daily to pray 
for his soul, his parents' souls, and the souls of all Christians departed; and 
he endowed the chantry and hospital with the rents of several lands 8lld 
tenements. The hospital was suppressed, and again restofe!l at the period 
of the Reformation, and was st8llding at the beginning of the reign of Charles 
I. ; but in the civil war that followed it was converted to other uses. 

Jeffray's House was the name given to a small hospital or alms house which 
is supposed to have stood in Trinity Church yard. The restored hospitals 
will be found noticed at subsequent pages. 

Guii.Ds.-There were several religious guilds in Hull before the Reforma­
tion, but bow mBlly is uncertain. They were suppressed by virtue of an 
Act, which stated that their revenues should be applied to the augmentation 
of small vicarages, schools, &c. ; but they were only appropriated so in part. 
According to a MS. quoted by Tickell, the Commissioners that were em­
powered to carry out the provisions of the Act, were such rogues that they 
often made false returns ; and where they found a rich guild they made no 
return at all, but seized it immediately for their own use, The names of the 
suppressed guilds in Hull, which are recorded, are St. Barbara's Guild, the 
hall of which stood in Salthouse Lane, with a largo chapel belonging to 
it immediately adjoining it ; the Guild of Corpu.s Chruti, which poBSeiiSCd a 
very handsome spacious building in Monkgate, and had ten tenements be­
longing to it; St. Clar~·~ Guild, of which nothing but its name is recorded ; 
and the Guild of St. John tile Bapti~t. The house belonging to the latter 
fraternity stood near St. Mary's Churoh, and came into the hands of Henry 
Thuroross, Esq., who gave it to the Company of Merchant Tailors, and, on 
their making some ttlt~rations in it, they called it Merchant Tailors' Hall. 
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CHARITABLE INSTITUTIONS.-Co.RPO.R.&:no.N OF TRINl'l'Y HousE. 
This is one of the most prominent and ancient institutions in Hull. On the 
4th of June, 1369, the fraternity called the Guild of t"M Holy Trinity was 
firat founded, by Robert Marsball, Alderman, William Scott, John de Worm· 
ley and his wile, Hugh de Hughtoft and his wife, and other persons, to the 
nnmber of thirty, who entered into an agreement to ordain, found, and 
appoint, the at'oreanid guild to the honour of the Holy Trinity, to be held yearly 
at Kingston-upon-Hull, on the feast of the Holy Trinity. And to the main­
taining and perpetual supporting of the guild, they, of their own free and 
good will, bound themselves and their successors to pay two shillings in 
siber, at four times of the year, by several portions. The deed of agreement 
ordained and strictly enjoined that all the brothers and sisters of the guild 
be present in the church of the Holy Trinity (without a reasonable excuse), 
to carry the candle of the guild, under the penalty of one pound of wax ; and 
that when any of the brothers or sisters of the guild should die, their funeral 
should be celebrated in the town of Hull, and all the brothers and sisters 
should be present at the p"'"bo dirge, and at mass ; making offerings there 
for the soul of the deceased, under penalty for absence, of one pound of wax ; 
and that four tapers should be kept burning, and thirty masses should be 
celebrated immediately after the burial, or at least within the first week. It 
also ordained amongst other things, that "if any brother or sister languished 
in a perpetual infirmity, so that they could not support themselves," they 
should receive eightpence per week, and at the feast of St. Martin, a tunic, 
and a little cap ; and in caso the goods of the guild should not be sufficient, 
it was decreed that a collection should be made for the benefit of the infirm. 
Among the witnesses to this deed of agreement wero Robert Selby, the 
Mayor, and William de Cave and William de Dubwith, Daillifs. Soon after 
the execution of this compact, twenty-six persons, with their wives, entered 
i.oto the fraternity. The perusal of the constitutions of this guild shows 
that it was not a marine, but a strictly religious institution ; but there is no 
doubt that many of its members were mariners, as the fraternity was some 
time afterwards called Shipman's Guild. 

In 1467 Robort Saunderson and others, "masters and rectors of ships, by 
good deliberation and advice of all the merchants, owners, and poesessot'8, of 
all the ships belonging to the port of Roll, ordained, in honour of the Blessed 
Trinity, and of the Bleesed Virgin our Lady St. Mary, an house of alms "in 
Hall, for poor mariners, "to be sustained and charitably relieved with lowage 
IIDd stowage, that is to aay all profits in money that shall hereafter grow, or 
be taken of every ship of the snid port of Hull." The deed of Agreement, 
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from which 'l':e have quoted the above passages, also epecifiee that the masters 
of all ships in Hull shall agree with the owners of such ships, "that all the 
money coming from lowage and stowage shall be paid to the Aldermen of the 
fraternity of the Trinity, for the support of the charity aforesaid, on pain of 
forfeiture of so much money as the lowage and stowage " might amount to; 
and the further sum of ten marks "as often BS he be found guilty." 

King Henry vm. incorporated a certain number of brethren in 1621, and 
empowered them to pnrchase lands and tenements to the amount of ten 
pounds a year, and to receive a certain duty called primag6, for the support 
of the chapel, a chaplain, and thirteen poor decayed seamen. Edward VI. 
confirmed this charter, in the first year of his reign ; and in the same 
year "Henry Crcswell and William Angle, Wardens and Masters of the 
Trinity House, by virtue and authority of the King's Mf\iesty's charter," 
assembled "all the masters and mariners in their common house, where, by 
consent of the whole fellowship, they instituted certain ordinances after the 
purport of their charter, to abide for ever. The first charter was confirmed 
by Queen Mary and Queen Elizabeth. The latter monarch, iull'i67, granted 
a power to determine maritime differences between masters and their seamen; 
to restrain mariners, being examined and not found qualified by the frater­
nity, from taking charge of vessels; and to take twenty nobles (£6. 18s. 4d.) 
for freighting foreigners. In 1680 Charles II. granted a confirmation of all 
former charters, whereby the Corporation of Trinity House is appointed to be 
curators of the haven, with power to examine and swear witne88e8 in 
maritime causes, to purchase, to make bye-laws, to levy and receive primage 
for the support of poor mariners and their wives and widows, to afford relief 
to shipwrecked mariners, and to place buoy• and 1Hiacon1 on the coast between 
Flamborough Head and Winterton Ness, and in the river Humber, for which 
navigation they have the licensing of the pilots. Dy the new charter of the 
lst of Victoria, the Corporation now consists of twelve Elder Brethren, and 
an unlimited number of Younger Brethren, from the former of which two 
Wardens, and from the latter six assistants and two stewards, are chosen 
annually. The Younger Brothers are those masters of vessels who have 
sailed in ships belonging to Hull to foreign climes, for five years and 
upwards, and who have qualified themselves to act as pilots. The govern­
ment of the affairs of Trinity House is vested in the Wardens, Elder 
Brethren, and ABBistants. As vacancies occur the Assistants become Elder 
Brothers, and the Younger Brothers become Assistants. Seamen who have 
sailed out of Hull over sea in vessels belonging to the port, for five years and 



UISTOnY OI•' Kl~CSTON·UPON·BULL. 119 

upwards, and who will have observed eertnin other conditions, may become 
pensioners of the Corporation at the ago of sixty years. 

The principal benefactors to this institution were Alderman Thos. Fcrres, 
an elder brother, and three times Warden of the Guild, who built an addition 
to this hospital for twelve widows, and settled the Whitefrie,r estate for tbo 
better maintenance of tl1e poor of this house for over; Mr. Willinm Robinson 
(not connected with the house), who conveyed to the guild an nlmshouso for 
the use of poor seamen, their wives and widows, for ever; and a person un­
known who, in 1765, gave the sum of .£100. as a present, through Mr. 
Purver, an elder brother. 

The Trifluy Home, where the businC88 of the Corporation is transacted, is 
situated in Trinity Houso Lane, and was originally founded in 1457, and 
rebuilt in 1758. The edifice, which is built of brick, stuccoed, and in the 
Tuscan style of architecture, consists of four sides surrounding a spacious 
area or court, three of which contain thirty rooms for younger brothers, and 
muter mariners' widows, and this part of the building is called Trinity Houu 
..4~. The front of the edifice, which faces the east, has stone rustic 
coins, stone base dado, stone architrave windows and cornice, and a pediment 
entirely of free stone, with a large carving of the Royal Arms, supported by 
6gurce of Neptune and Britannia. Adjoining is a neat building, erected a 
few years ago, containing the offices of the Corporation. The west side of 
the edi.fico contains the hall, housekeepers' rooms, &c., over which are two 
handsome apartments, richly decorated, called the Diuing Room and Council 
Room; also a neat Reading Room and a small Museum. On the staircase 
and landing arc some good portraits and pictures, one of which, 17 foot 
wide by 18 feet high, represents the battle of the Nile, immediately after tho 
explosion of the L'Orient. This fine painting is the gift of E. Coulson, Esq., 
and was executed by Messrs. Smirke and Anderson. Amongst the portraits 
are those of Sir Samuel Standidge and F. Hall, Esq. In the Dining Room 
ia a full length portrait of King George m., in his coronation robes; and 
tbe Council Room contains portraits of IGng William m., Alderman Ferres, 
Andrew Marvel, Admiral Sir Charles Saunders, Captain Coake, aod Sir 
George Saville. The Museum contains, amongst other curiosities, beautiful 
models of a Be'fenty·four gnn ship, and of Queen Anne's Yacht, as well as 
a curious model of the mast of the Victory after the Battle of Trafalgar. 
In the hall are some canoes and other South Sea curiosities ; one of the 
former called the Bonny Boat, was taken up at Greenland, in 1618, with 
a man in it: and it now contains the effigy of the man, with the coat which 
he wore, as well as his bag, oars, and dart. 
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The present chapel wns erected about the year 1843, nnd stands on the west 
side of the buildings already under notice. The style is Grecian, and the 
interior is very rich and elegantly finished. The floor is paved with marble, 
and the pillnrs and pil.IAsters aro alse of that beautiful material. The com­
munion table is composed of a fine slab of highly polished marble, supported 
by an exquisitely carved and gilt eagle. The two pillars on each side of the 
communion table aro composed of a highly polished and valuable description 
of marble, found only in small pieces ; and it is stated that esch of the89 
columns is composed of one thousand particles. The east window exhibits 
in stained glass, a splendid picture of the Ascension of Our Lord. There is 
sonicc here for the inmates of the hospitals, every Monday, Wednesday, and 
Friday; Rev. John Robinson, chaplain. The old chapel, which was built 
in 1787, stood on the site now occupied by the offices in Trinity Houee Lane. 

In the yard between the chapel and the Prince's Dock Side is the Mnrine 
Se/tool, founded by the Corporation of Trinity Houee in 1787, and in which 
institution eighty boys now receive a nautical education. The children arc 
annually provided with a neat uniform, and every other article of dress. 
Several experienced shipmaster& have received their education here, and 
amongst them Captain Humphrcys, the enterprising discoverer of Captain 
Roes and his crow in the arctic regions, in 1888. Here is also the Marirul 
Almahouu, containing nine rooms; and in a passage leading from the yard 
to Whitefriargate, is the Merchant 8Mman'• Almthot~, founded in 1781, 
containing twenty-one rooms. The western entranco to the premises is from 
the Prince's Dock Side, through a handsome Doric gateway, the arch of 
which is beneath the Victoria AlmiAOUM for eight pensioners, erected in 1842. 
The chapol, the achool, and the three last mentioned almshouaee, occupy the 
site of the ancient Cannelitc MonaStery. (See page 118.) 

Tho other hospitals or almshouses belonging to the Corporation of Trinity 
Houac, are as follows :-Trinity Al~, in Postemgate, containing 28 
rooms, erected in 1826. This is a fine building, with a Dorie pediment 
supported by large fluted pillars. On the top is the flg11n1 of a ri~ socJ, 
representing Humber, executed by Mr. T. Earle, afterwards pupil to the 
celebrated Sir F. Chantrey. RobinMm'• Hospital, Prince's Dock Side, given 
to Trinity House by William Robinson, Esq., Sheriff of Hull in 1682, and 
rebuilt by that Corporation in 1769. Ferre.' Hotpital, !or fU inmates, on 
Prince's Dock Side, is a good brick building, re-erected in 1842. Wat.on'• 
HOipital, on the North Church Bide, was originally founded for six poor 
people by Dr. Tbomns Watson, Bishop of St. Davids, in 1690, and who was 
born at North Ferriby, and educated at tho Hull Grammar Sohool. He in-
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taded at his death to have made provision for its future support, by an ample 
endowment, but the loss of his bishopric, after being convicted of simony, as 
well as other k'oublee which came upon him soon after the Revolution, dis­
abled him from carrying out his charitable designs. The Maetw Marinwe' 
H06pilal, in Carr Lane, is a splendid building, erected in 1884, and consists 
of a centre and wings, containing apartments for 86 pensioners. In the 
oeotre is a fine Doric pediment, supported by large fluted columns, and ex· 
bibiting a good carving of the hull of a large ship. At the east end, and at 
the back of tJiis building, are two rows of excellent houses, erected in the 
years 1887 and 1848, and called the Mari1161'•' .J.lrnllwtuu. The Kingaum 
H~ formerly the Kingston College, on the Beverley Road, is a splendid 
pile of buildings, affording accommodation to 87 inmates. The college was 
erected in 1847, bot having failed to support itself, the buildings were pur­
chued by this Corporation, and converted into an almshouse in 1851. 

These hospitals or almshouses contain accommodation for about 850 in­
mates, and are appropriated to Younger Brethren of the Corporation, Master 
lfariners, and seamen, belonging to the port, or their widows. The number 
of out.penaioners who reside in the town, and in different places in the king· 
dom, now amount to 16611. Younger Brothers and their wives receive Ills. 
per week; Younger Brothers or their widows, lls. per week; single Masters 
or their widows, l~s. per week; seamen and their wives, Os. per week; and 
single seamen or seamen's widows, 6s. per week. The rate of pension for the 
oat.-pensioners varies from £8. 12s. to about £4. per quarter; and on attaining 
the age of seventy years, they are allowed 2s. 6d. per week extra. Extensive 
indeed are the benefits which reeult to the seamen of the port of Hull from 
&hit munificent foundation. The income of the Corporation for the year 
ending IIth September, 1854, amounted to £80,816., including £10,406. 
arising from a tax called primage; £6,268. from fines o! aliens; £4,851., 
.reota of e&tate8; £SI,,ll., Elders' turns; £1,440., dividends on shares in 
the Hull Dock and Gas Companies, &c.; and £4,786. from buoyage and 
beaeonage. The sum appropriated to the support ol the in and out-pensioners 
during the same year was £15,129; and the whole expenditure of the year 
amoanted to £28,966. 

Oa.urru Housx HosPIT.u..-Aa we have seen at page 1111, Sir .Miohael de 
la Pole, in 1884 (the year before he wu elevated to the Earldom of Sufl'olk). 
founded and endowed an hospital, with a chapel acijoining it, Cor thirteen 
poor men and 'thirteen poor women. It atoocl on the east side of the Car­
thuian Priory (founded also by Sir .Michael and his father), and was called 
La Maifofa DiN, or God's Boose of HulL From the charter o£ foundation 

VOL. U, B 
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we loam that it was dedicated " to the honour of Almighty God, and &be 
moet glorious Virgin Mary his mother, and St. Michael the archangel, ud 
all archangels, ugels, and holy spirits, ud of St. Thomas the martyr, late 
Archbishop of Canterbury, and all saints of God." Sir Richard Killing, or 
Killum, priest, was the ftnt master and keeper of &be hospital, ad the 
charter ordained "that every maater thereaft.er him b&Te likewiee the order 
of priesthood, and be of thirty years of age or more," to be nomiaated by the 
founder or his heirs, being lords of Myton; .. ud that the ll&id poor men ucl 
women, brothers and sisters, be under the okdience of the said master, ani 
that the said master have a mansion or habitation for himself, within or nigh 
the said houae." The poor people were " to take care to reeon eTf1r1 day 
before dinner unto the chapel to hear divine service there to be oontinu&lly 
&aid; and in the afternoon to betake themselves to eome honest ocoupatioD." 
And in their &aid prayers they were especially to recommend the s•te of the 
King (Richard IT.), the fonnder of the hoepital, and eeveral members or the 
De la Pole family ; and after the death of the said King, the founder, &c., 
the poor were bound to pray daily for the eternal repose or Uleir eouls, aa well 
as of all Christian souls departed. The charter ordains that the master 
should rooeive £10. per ann., and that each or the poor brethrea and sisters 
should be allowed 4.08. a year, "for all their neoeeeariee, aa well for their 
living and clo&hing." The original endowment oonsiated of an acre and a 
hall oC ground acljoining the hospital; five meesuagee. with their app~ 
nanoee, in the town of Kingston·upon-Hull; one measuage, lour boTates et 
land, four acres of meadow, and ten acres of pasture, in CoUUtgbam: and 
nine aeree of land, with the appurtenances, in Willerby. And to pro'ride 
against necesaities ud mieehanees that may happen," the charter ordained, 
" that then~ be for eTer for the future a chest kept in tbe treuury oC the 
Priory adjoining, under the custody of the .Master, Prior, and Mayor of &he 
town of Hull," in which the founder placed u oae huadred marb of sil'fer, 
to be lent into sore hands," and the intereR the!eol to be always pat in the 
Mid ebest, and th& principal to be ready to be caBed iD when theJe ie uy 
aeed thereof." 

·In 1894-, Pope Doniface IX. granted a bull to licence the chapel for tile 
eelebration rA di'rine worship; and Pope Martin V. granted anodwlr bull for 
confirming Samuel Burtoo, or Bano11, au&er, -.1 his tlllleeaaors, in lull 
poeeeaeion. 

In the Oth of Henry IV. (1408), the eodowmeat of tM hoepital wu U. 
CJe88ed by a graat of nearly foi11"8CCre &OJel of puture, meadow, uli weod, 
with rents in .Myton, Hesale, West-Ella, &c. Thia gNDt wu ooaftnoed by 
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lett.en pMA!Dt, in Cavour ol .Yicbael de la Polo and Edmund de la Pole, de. 
oendanu of the tbtmder, and Robert Dalton, clerk: and the deed was dated. 
at Wiogfield, and witneaed by the Mayor of Hull. 

At the time of the RefoJIDation the King not only seized upon the abbeys 
aud .IDOD8II&eries, but upon the boepRala, chaotries, guilds, &c., and in the 
town of Hall no la. than beWeen thirty and forty of theae fell into his ~ 
88111ion. But in a short time the loea of theee institutions began to be fah ; 
the people, as we have eeen at pege 198 of voL i., clamowed and petitioned 
'- their reetoratioo, and in the Nign of Edward VI., four of the foundations 
at Hull, which Heory vm. had diii&Olved, were refounded, viz., Trinity 
Hoa.ae, the Charter H~ and Gregg's, and Riplingbam's Hospitala. Nar­
row indeed wu tbe -.pe which theee institutions bad of being lost to the 
caue of charity for ever. The charter of the 6th of Edward IV. (U63) granCB 
to the Mayor and Burgeuea of Kingaton-upon-Hull, "the preeeotation, free 
dispollitioa. and right of patronage " of the hospital of the late dissolved 
Obart.er Houae, and this grant wu the occasion of much altercation between 
the master, tlae Rev. Tbomu Turner, and the Corporation, who esteeming 
tbe!Deelva. the eole patrona and direotore of the hospital, exhibited a bill of 
CIOIIlplaint, in the form of a petition, against Turner, to the Archbishop of 
York and the Commission& in Eccleaiutical e&Wie81 in 1671. This bill aet 
forth that Thomaa Turner, who had been maater of the hospital for thirteen 
,-eara. had miauaed the said hospital by divers and sundry ways, contrary to 
the fouodation thereof, " not only in receiving and admitting thither such aa 
be neither halt, lame, DOl' blind ; but such as are well to live in the world, 
ud that have plenty of money, and let it out to usury." It aiao charged him 
with letting out leaaea of the lands and tenements belonging to the hospital, 
u well in reversion aa by surrender of the old, and with for many years 
taking great fine. and income. for the same. The Corporation having 
clearly a.tabldhed their olaim to the patronage of the hospital, by reading 
the charter of Edward m., proceeded to establish ordinauoes for the better 
government of the institution. These rules aet forth that " there shall be 
six brothers and six siste1'8 (as hereto within the memory of man always bath 
been), which brethren and siatera shall have relief in the said hospital, ac­
ccmliag aa eYffrY one of the said thirteen brethren and sisters should have 
had ;" and should the revenue. of the hospital be hereafter augmented, they 
ordain that the number of the brethren ahail be increased until the original 
Dumber "of the poor brethren and sisten in the foundation limited and ap­
pointed shall be supplied." They aiao ordained that the master's stipend 
eball be £10. per aonom, according to the first foundation, and .Q8. 6s. Sd., 
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•tfor his better maintenance." And" for the better comfort and succour of 
the poor brethren and sisters, when visited by the baud of God with sickness, 
diseases, &c.," the ordinances require the master to visit them, and pray with 
them, 1 ' except in time of plAgue, pestilence, or any contagious distempers." 

These orders being made and confirmed, Mr. Tbomaa Turner, who had 
made submission in everything, and humbly requested to be continued master 
of the hospital, waa admitted, and took the oath prescribed by the new rules. 

In 1676 the rental of the charity waa £46. 2s. 6d., and in 1688 the rents 
amounted to £188. 7s. 6d. There were then twelve poor brethnm at 14s. aud 
six poor sisters at 12s. per week, and a donation waa made to the poor in gen&­
ral, on account of a pestilence, of £66. In 162-i an order waa made to admit 
into the house the whole number of twenty-six poor persons, aooording to the 
foundation. As haa been observed at page 68, this hospital, chapel, and the 
master's house, were pulled down in 1644, when the town was besieged. In 
1645 the hospital waa rebuilt at a cost of about £47 4., towards which expense 
Mr. Stiles, the master, was paid £278. 18s. 8d., by order of Lord Fairfax, 
Governor of the town. In 1678, the chapel was rebuilt. In 1698 the rents 
of the several lands and tenements belonging to the hospital amounted to 
£212. 2s. lld. per annum; in 1762, to £422. Os. Sd.; and from various 
causes the property since that period has increased the income of the hospital 
to upwards of £2,000. per annum. There are now seventy inmates in the 
institution, each of whom haa a separate room, and an allowance of 6s. per 
week and coals. The master's salary is £200. a year and a residence. The 
Rev. J. H. Bromby is the present master. The master and pensioners are 
appointed by the Corporation of the borough. In 1780, the old buildings 
were taken down, and the present edifice erected on its site. It is situated 
ih Charter House Lane, and is a large brick structure, with wings. In the 
centre is a semi-circular portico supported by six Tuscan pillars, and on the 
architrave is the following inscription :-DtJO et paupm.bw, Micha4l tk la Pole, 
Comes tk Suffolk, 1uu adcu pomit A. D. 1884.-.Rsnovatal iterom auctiwqtU 
i11&tauratcu pi<£ fundatoris memoria D.D. Johanna BourM, Rector, A. D. 1780. 
Above this portal is a pediment, within the tympanum of which is the arms 
of the De la Poles; and on the summit of the roof is a circular turret of eight 
Ionic pillars, with a dome. The Chapel is large and well famished, and con­
tains handsome mural monuments to four of the late masters of the institu­
tion. The master conducts full service here on Sundays, and prayers on 
Wednesdays and Fridays. The master's house stands opposite the hospital, 
on the east side of Charter House Lane. This lane is of modern erection, 
for the hospital, house, garden, &c., were formerly \vithin one enclosure. 
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IA..ter'• HOipital, South Church Side, for six poor men and six poor women, 
each of whom receive 7s. per week and coals, was founded by Sir John 
LiMer, Alderman, and M.P. for·Hull in 16,2. A lecturer reads prayers in 
the hospital eYery Thursday, for which he receiTes £2. • ·year and a houae. 
The hoepital is a good reepectable looking brick eaiioe. 

Or~gg'• H~, Poetemgate, wu founded by John Gregg, Alderman and 
merchant of Hull, in 1416, for twelve poor women. This Mr. Gregg a1.ao 
founded two chantries in the chureh of Holy Trinity, and endowed the whole 
with houses, lands, and tenements, lying within the town. This hospital 
was one of the few that had the good fortune to be restored in the reign of 
Edward VI. Mr. John Buttery, in 1779,left by will the sum of £846. 6s. 8d., 
to be paid to the Corporation of Hull, in trust, to pay to each of the poor 
inmates of this hospital two pence per week, and to each of the inmates of 
Watson's Almshouse four pence per week, for ever. Each of the poor women 
in Gregg's Hospital now receives 2s. per week, coals, and an apartment in 
the almsholl88, which is a plain brick building. 

OrottM'• Ho.pital, in Sewer Lane, was erected, founded, and endowed, by 
George Crowle, Esq., Alderman and merchant of Hull, and Eleanor his wife, 
in 1668, and affords an asylum to fourteen poor women, each of whom 
recei'fe ~s. 6d. per week with coals. Over the front door is the following 
inecription, plaeed there by the founders:-

Da dum tempus babes tibi propria Manus Haeres 
Auferet hoe nemo, quod dabis ipse deo. G. C. 1668. E. C; 

Raulijfe'• Ho8pital, in Dagger Lane, was bequeathed by a person of the 
name of Ratcliffe, a weaver, and endowed by Mr. Buttery, in 1775, and 
augmented by the Corporation. Six poor women receive 2s. 6d. per week 
and a supply of coals. 

HarriMm'a Hospital, in Chapel Lane, founded in 1/SISO, was the first 
charitable foundation which was established in Hull after the Reformation. 
It was founded by John Harrison, Alderman, for fourteen poor old women, 
who now receive each 2s. per week with coals. 

Gee'• Hospital stands in a passage in the same lane, and was founded in 
1600, by William Gee, Esq., Alderman and merchant of Hull. Ten poor 
aged women receive each 2s. per week with coals. 

EUu's Ho8pital, founded by Joseph Ellis in 1688, is situated in a passage 
in Salthouse Lane, and consists of six rooms occupied by six poor persons, 
each of whom receives from the Corporation 2s. per week with coals. 

King1ton-upon-HuU Incoryoration for th8 Poor.-In the 9th and lOth of 
William m. (1698), an Act of Parliament was obtained for erecting work· 
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hou.aes and houses of correction in Hull, for the better maintenance and em· 
ployment of the poor; and by this Act the Mayor, Recorder, and Aldermen for 
the time being, and twenty-four other persona to be elected by the different 
wuda, were cooatituted a Corporation, to continue for ever, and to haTe the 
care of and to provide for the maintenance of the poor of the said town. 
Umler the authority of this Act the Corporation thereby OODBtituted, haTing 
obtained of the Mayor and burgeaees a grant of an old bui.J.din8 in Whit& 
friargate, called the Cloth Hall, immed.i&tely pulled it down, and erected the 
large building called Olw.rity Hall, on ita site, and appropriated it to the 
purposes of a workhouae, or hou.ee of induatzy. In the apace of a few yeua 
the poor were eo greatly increased that the yearly assessments they were b7 
the Act empowered to raiae, fell far short of the sum required, eo they were 
obliged to have recourse to Parliament for another Act. in the 8th of Queea 
Anne, 1709. Other Acts, granting extended powers, were obtained in the 
16th and ~8th years of the reign of George IT., but all these were repealed 
by an Act of the 6th of George IV. (18~4), by which forty guardians of the 
poor, to be selected by the eight wards, were constituted a Corporation, by 
the name of the "Governor, Deputy-Governor, Assistants, and Guardians, ol 
the Poor of the town of Kingaton·upon-Hull." The guardiaoa are elected 
for three yoars, and the fine, in case ol relusal to eerve, is £60. Finding the 
old Charity Hall too small and inconvenient, from the great increue of 
paupers, this Corporation, in 1862, built a new workhouse on the Anlaby 
road, at a cost of about £15,000. It is a fine pile of red brick buildings, the 
front faced with cut stone, in the Italian style, and will accommodate about 
600 paupers. The average number of inmates for the past year is about 260. 
The district of the borough, to the poor of which this Corporation is bound 
by the Act to administer relief, consists ol the parishes of Holy Trinity and 
St. Mary. The present Governor is John Fountain, Esq.; Deputy Gov· 
ernor, Bishop Bamby, Esq.; Clerk, Mr. W. J. Reed; Workhouse .Master, 
Mr. John Vickers; Chaplain, Rev. Thomas Scott Bonnin. 

Sculcootu Union Workhouu.-The Poor Law Union of Sculcoates com­
prehends eighteen parishes (including those parts of the borough of Hull 
which do not belong to the parishes of Holy Trinity or St. Mary), and em· 
braces an area of fifty-six square Iniles. The workhouse is situated on the 
Beverley road, and is a handsome red brick building, with stone dressings. 
chiefly in the Tudor style of architecture. It was erected in 184.5, at IUl 

expense of about £11,000., and affords accommodation to 500 paupers. The 
average number for the past year was 260. The present Chairman of the 
Board of Guardians is Daniel Sykes, Esq. ; Clerk, Mr. William Chatham; 
Chaplain, R. K. Bailey; Master, Mr. Joseph R. Jessop. 
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ECCLESIASTICAL EDIFICEB.-CHuRcu oF THE Hot.T TRINIT'l, 
uoally denominat.ed Higla Claurela.-The earliest notice of a place of religious 
worship in this t.own is that already mentioned at page IS, of this volume, in 
which we find tbe monks of Melaa were compelled to rebnild 8 chapel here, 
which they had destroyed before the year 1204. We have met with no 
IIOI!CN'Dt of the nbeequent establishment, or matence of any ehureh or chapel 
iB dlis plaoe untill281S, when, according to 8 MS. in the Warburton Colleo­
tion in the British M118enm, the "High Church, dedicated to the Holy 
Trinitie, was at first founded 88 a Chappell, by one James Helward," the 
IDO&her chureh, 88 the author of the MS. states, being Heasle. The historians 
fll Hull (Gent, Hadley, and Tickell) state that the building of this chureh was 
M& oommenoed nntil1312, but in disproof of the correctness of these authors, 
we have the positive eridence of the pastoral letter of Archbishop Corbridge, 
of the 18th March, 1301, addreeeed to the Prior of Oisburne (GuiMM>rough), 
p.aon ol the mother chureh of Hesale, for the dedication of a cemetery to 
the chapel of the town of Kingestone (ad Capelltn ~ wu tk Kyng• 
toN iftjrvJ u.r.M. pmoeAi4 f""l'icu, t11 fmvr ~ ), to show that there 
wu a chapel then standing, though without any burying ground attached to 
it.• This burying ground is deeoribed in the will ol John Schayl, in 1308, 
• tbe cemetery of Holy Trinity of Kingaton-npon-Hull. The present chureh 
wu eoostroctecl at cllil'erent times, but the east end, now used as the chancel, 
is of the greater antiquity. This part of the edifice wu the ancient chapel 
of Wyb, aod it is certainly the mott ancient bnilding in Hull. 

In 18~, the churehyanl being too small for the town, the inhabitants 
pe&itiooed King Edward n. to grant them a certain piece of ground, called 
Le IHillee, lying at the west end thereof, which he accordingly did. In the 
nip ol Beary vm. this chareh wu in a minous state, and tile CorporatiOD 
ham., IOW their plate, u we haVe eeen at page 88, applied put of the pur­
._ mo~~ey to ita reparation. About the -.me time an Act ol Puliament 
wu pMII8Cl for the euppreeaieo of all the cb~mtriea, colleges, me cbt.peb, 
IID4 gaiJb, in the kingdom ; and of that elase of religioae inltitutiou 
between thirty and forty fell into the lwlds of the King in thie town. 
A-set them, acoGiding to TickeD, were the two chapels of the Holy 
Trinity and St. Mary, for both came under the denomination of me chapelt, 
ilaing been founded, or pudy, if not entirely supported-by means of eDdow· 
81e'Dts, SJUillld for ol'ering daily prayer f'or the repoee of the eoale of the 
clonors. The same 8QCbority tells us that wbea the people became clamoro., 

• In Beg. Arcb. CorbricfBo int. ArcbiT. Alocb. Ebor. 
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u we have eeen at page 198 of vol. i., King Edward VI. ref'ounded tbeee 
chapels at the same time that be restored four of the suppressed hospitals in 
Hull; but it is probable that the chapels of Holy Trinity and St. Mary were 
not suppressed altogether, 80 as to have their doors closed, and divine service 
en~y suspended-for we ha\'e not found it 80 recorded anywhere-Henry, 
we should think, contented himself with suppressing and seizing upon the 
revenues of the various chantries connected with these chapels, as well as of 
the Colkg~ of Prlbmdaria, which was founded in Trinity Chapel, by Waiter 
Skirlaw, Bishop of Durham. Edward VI., however, in the sixth year of hie 
reign, made some attempt to restore the revenues of Trinity chapel, but a 
great put of them were lost, and could never afterwards be recovered. At the 
same time he granted the perpetual advowson of the chapel to the Corporation. 

During the distractions of the various sects which divided the nation 
under the Commonwealth, the Council of state granted the chancel of Trinity 
church to the soldiers, who selected for their preacher a Mr. Can, an lnd& 
pendent from Amsterdam. The archee between the body of the edifice and 
the chancel were walled up, so that this congregation and that o( the town• 
people, who uaembled in the west end o( the building, might not disturb 
each other in their de"fotions. The Independents filled the chancel with 
benches, pulled up most of the braseee from the gra"fest.onee, defaced the 
monuments and inscriptions, and made ,entrances by two doors through two 
old chantries, the one on the north and the other on the 80Uth side ; and 
·thus did the church continue divided between the Presbyterians and Indepen­
dents until the restoration of the monarchy. In 16415 the Book o( Common 
Prayer wu publicly bumt in the Market Place of Hull. In 1661 Holy 
Trinity Church, which up to that time wu only a Chapel of Ease to the 
mother church at Hesale, was, on the petition o( the Corporation, constituted 
a pariah church by Aet of Parliament, the CotpQration being appointed by 
the same Aet to nomioa&e the Vicar and his sucoeesors, subject to the 
appro•al of the King. And for the bet&er main&enance of t.ho Vicar, a salary 
of £100. a year, o"fer and abo"fe the vicarage-bonae, tithes, fees, &c., was 
ilbarged upon the parishioners, to be assessed by a rate. 

In liS~~ this church was put under an interdict; the doo.rs and windows 
were closed up with thorns and briars, the pavement tom up, and the bells 
deprived of their tongues. No worship was perCormed in it; every person 
·who presumed to enter the building, was declared to be accursed ; and even 
the dead were not s~red to be buried. There is no reuon assigned for 
this severe sentence. 

Previous w the change in religion, this church had no fewer than twelve 
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private chapels, endowed for chantries, for priests to chant or sing mass in 
for souls departed. These w~:re all on both sides of the choir, and the walls 
of somo of them on the south side still remain. Besides these there were 
eight altars endowed for the same purpose, so that the whole number of 
chantries in this church, at the above period, was at least twenty. Tho first 
of these was founded in 1328, by Richard de Gretford, Alderman, and a mer­
chant of this town, who bequeathed to the Vicar of HeBSle-cum-Hull, and to 
his successors for ever, a messuage lying in Bedford Lane, on the north side 
of the "great chapel of Hull," with a yearly rent of 36s., and several articles 
of plato, &c., on condition that a chaplain should be found to sing continually 
in the said great chapel for the souls of him, his wife, and all Christian souls 
deuued. The same year, John Rottenherring, merchant of Hull, founded a 
chantry in the same church, for a priest to sing mass for his own soul every 
day, and for the souls of all Christian people deceased. About the year 1380, 
Sir .Michael de la Pole founded a chantry here. 

Richard Ravenser, Archdeacon of Lincoln, in 1885, founded another 
chantry here, for the support of a priest to celebrate divine service in the 
chapel of St. Ann, contiguous to the chapel of the Holy Trinity, for the re­
pose of the souls of King Edward ill., Queen Philippa, the founder, and all 
the eoula departed from the world. Robert de Crosa founded a cbantry here 
in UOS; John Gresg founded another in 1420; John Bedford founded one 
about the year 1460; John Alcock, Bishop of Worcester, in 1489, built a 
small chapel on the south side of this church, in which he founded a chantry 
at the altar of St. John the Evangelist, for a priest to pray for the eternal 
rest of the souls of King Edward IV., the founder, his parents, &c. The 
prielt was obliged to teach in the grammar school, besides performing service 
in the chantry, for which double duty he was to receive £14. 6s. 4d., per 
annum. Amongst the other cbantries were those founded by Hugh Hanby, 
merchant; Madam .Margaret Darras; Robert .Matthews, about the year 
UOO; Dr. John Riplingham, President of the College in Beverley, in 1516; 
Thomas Wilkinaon, Alderman, in 1681; .Margaret Dubbing, at the altar of 
St. John Baptist in Trinity Church, about 1588; and John Elland, Knt., 
about the same time. The obits kept in this church greatly exceeded the 
number of chantries. 

The L4fliftg of the parish of the Holy Trinity is a Vicarage, not in charge, 
in the patronage of a body of resident gentlemen, who purchased the advow­
son from the Corporation. Its annnal nett value is now about £600. The 
great and small tithes were commuted in 1771. The clergy attached to the 
church are the Rev. John Healey Bromby, .M .A., Vicar; Rev. John Scott, 
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M.A., Lecturer; Rev. John Edward Bromby, D.D., Clerk in orders; and 
two Curates. Divine service is performed three times on Sundays, Wednes­
days, and Fridays; and twice on each of the other days. 

The Church is a majestic cruciform structure, in the Gothic style, with a 
loft.v aud very beautiful tower, rising from the intersection, aud is said to be 
the largest parish church (not collegiate) in the kingdom. It is 272 feet long 
from east to west; the length of the nave being 144; the breadth of the nave 
of the transept under the tower is 28 feet ; the length of the chancel, 100 
feet; the breadth of the nave of the church is 172 feet; the length of tho 
transept, 96 feet; and the breadth of tha chancel, 70 feet. It occupies an 
area of not less than 20,050 square feet. The west front consists of a centre 
and wings, divided by buttresses. The nave i~ much higher thau the aisles, 
and is finished by a parapet of blank quatrefoils (formerly surmounted by 
large trefoils); and the centre is crowned with a dilapidated niche, and 
the ends with pinnacles. Iu the centre of this front is a recessed doorway, 
the mouldings of which are enriched wit.h small flowers, and rest on nine 
columns, with foliated capitals; and above is a pedimental canopy, ending in 
a finial. Each side of this doorway is occupied with large niches, the rich 
canopies of which are much decayed ; and above it is a very fine window of 
nine lights, which occupies the entire breadth of the nave, and reaches to the 
parapet. In the head of the arch of this immense window are five tier of 
small perpendicular lights. In the west end of each of the aisles is a similar 
window of seven lights. The south side of the nave exhibits seven pointed 
windows of five lights each, and one of the eight divisions into which this 
side of the nave is made by buttresses, is a stone porch, the inner doorway 
of which is now built up. The finish of this south aisle is a plain battlement, 
and the clerestory of the nave, which has sixteen pointed windows of three 
lights each, is finished in like manner. 

The south transept is the height of the aisles, and in front of it is a hand­
some stone porch, the roof of the interior having longitudinal stone ribs. 
Over this porch is a pointed window of six lights, with some fine tracery in 
the sweep of the arch. The chancel is, as we have stated, the oldest portion 
of the building, and with the exception only of the buttresses, crenelles, and 
windows, which are of stone, it is wholly built of brick, as is also the transept 
and the foundation of the tower. Leland remarked tho.t the " Trinitie 
Church " was "most made of brike." It is said that the portion of this 
church which is built of brick may fairly claim to be the most ancient known 
specimen of brick building in England, since the time of the Romans. The 
south side of the chancel is in five divisions, in each of which is a pointed 
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window of four lights. A line of low building~, formerly used as chnntries, 
extend the whole length of the chancel, parallel with the front of the transept, 
and very much disfigures this side of the church. The finish of the aisles 
of the chancel is a battlement like the nave, and the clerestory of this part 
of the church has ten pointed windows of two lights each. The whole of this 
side of the edifice, like the west end, is in a very decayed state. The east 
front, which abuts on the Market Place, has been restored, and now presents 
a very noble appearance; it is similar in form, and nearly so in arrangement, 
to the west end. In each of the four buttresses is a canopied niche ; and the 
centre window is pointed and of seven lights, having the sweep of the arch 
filled with quatrefoil and cinquefoil tracery. Above this window is a niche, 
with a canopy and pinnacle crocketed. There is a large window in this end 
of each of the aisles of the chancel, and the parapet is finished in a pierced 
battlement. The north side of the chancel has been restored in an excellent 
manner, The windows were taken out and well cleaned, and the interior 
face, after being well saturated with oil, was turned outwards. In each of 
the five buttresses which mark the divisions of this side of the chancel, is a 
canopied niche. The transept ha.s also been refaced, and now has an elegant 
appearance. The doorway is deeply moulded and in the spandrils of the 
arch are two shields, on which are inscribed A.D. vncccxx:vm., the date of 
the reparation. The nave is similar to the south side and has not been 
repaired. The noble tower is in two stories; at the angles are buttresses 
terminating in crocketed pinnacles, and the finish of each face is an elegant 
pierced battlement, with a pinnacle in the centre. On each side of the lower 
story are t\VO pointed windows of three lights each, and in the upper stories 
are similar windows more highly enriched, with pedimental canopies termi· 
nating in finials above the battlements. The windows of the upper story are 
filled with weather boarding, and on each face of the tower is a large clock 
dial. The height of the tower, from the ground to the top of the pinnacles 
(according to Tickell), is 147i feet. The entire church has a very imposing 
appearance, and adds much to the elegance of the town, though the general 
aspect of the noble structure is grievously injured by the loss of all the 
pinnacles, which crowned the buttresses on the north and south sides of the 
nave and the south side of the chancel, which now present to the eye a naked 
line of flat coping, utterly at variance with the genius of the pointed arch. 

Internally the view of this spacious edifice is very striking and handsome. 
The nave and aisles are divided on each side by eight pointed arches resting 
on lofty columns, formed by a union of four cylinders. The mouldings of the 
archea rest on angels, those on the north side playing on wind instruments 
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of every kind and form, a.nd those on the south on stringed. These figures 
are in fine preservation, and are decorated with gilding. The ceilings of this 
part of the church are fiat a~d panelled, and embellished with stars, &c., on 
a blue ground. Previous to the year 1846, the west end of the nave, to the 
extent of three intercolumniations, was separated from the portion devoted 
to the service of the church, and the latter part had galleries round it. The 
nave was separated from the transept by an immense screen of oak, the sweep 
of the arches being also filled with timber; arid from the entrances to the 
aisles, ascended flights of stairs, leading to the galleries of the nave. But 
happily in the above year the interior of the church was completely restored; 
and the large Doric screen, the cumbrous galleries, the unsightly partitions, 
and the old high pews were removed, and the whole of the nave and its aisles 
were thrown open, and furnished with neat open seats. Three ancient, hut 
light oak screens of Gothic design, which formerly separated the choir from 
the transepts, were then removed to the arches dividing the nave and aisles 
from the transepts, and the arches from which these screens were taken 
were left open. An elegant Caen stone pulpit was erected at the same period. 

The chancel or choir is very spacious, lofty, and noble. Indeed it would 
be difficult to find more simple elegance, combined with grandeur, in a Gothic 
pile, than in this chancel. The centre is divided from the aisles by five 
pointed arches, resting on columns similar to those of the nave ; the capitals . 
are foliated, and the pillars rest on octagonal plinths. The mouldings of the 
arches rest on small figures of saints, standing on grotesque masks. The 
roof is panelled and painted. Round the chancel are two rows of ancient 
seats, at some of the ends of which were carved various figures with coats 
of arms. Anciently the windows of the choir were filled with exquisitely 
stained glass, and adorned with curious figures and shields of arms ; and 
the great east window alone contained the history of the Bible. In 1575 
the latter window was so much damaged by the violence of the mob in 
demolishing the painted glass at the Reformation, that it all fell down, 
hut it was rebuilt by William G<'e, .Mayor in 1562 and 1573, at his own 
expense, in the reign of Queen Elizabeth. Through Mr. Gee's example 
several others were induced to repair tl)e windows, and other parts of 
the church, which had fallen into decay; but the zealots of the 17th 
century, "who," says Tickell, "placed no small part of their religion in 
demolishing such windo\vs," destroyed the stained glass that escaped the 
fury of their forefathers, and the very few fragments of that article now 
left have been placed in the tops of two or three of the windows. ThE~ 

other stained glass in the heads of a few of the windows is modem, and 
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has a tawdry appearance. Pre\ious to the restoration of the east end of the 
church, which was finished in 1888, the great east window was blocked up, 
and almost the whole of it was occupied by a painting of the Last Supper, 
by M. Parmentier. Now it is nearly filled with stained glass, exhibiting full 
length figures of Our Saviou·r, Saints, &c.; and it would reflect much credit 
on the respectable and wealthy parishioners who worship in this church, if 
the four unfinished compartments were supplied with that elegant article. 
In one of the windows of the north aisle is the date of the repairs of that 
part of the church, 1829. 

Four large brass chandeliers, given by 1\ maiden lady named Plaxton, hang 
suspended from the roof of the chancel, but as the church is now lighted with 
gas, they are neither useful nor ornamental. The whole choir was formerly 
paved with small square bricks (after the manner of Meaux Abbey), upon 
many of which were the coats of arms of several of the Plantagenets, Earls 
of Lancaster, Leicester, and Derby, in the reigns of the first three Edwards; 
and of several other contributors to the fabric. These however have all long 
since disappeared, and the floor is now mostly laid with large oblong square 
stones, of a bluish cast, under which many of the principal inhabitants lie 
buried, as appears by the inscriptions, and coats of arms which are still to be 
seen on most of them. 

The tower, rising from the centre of the cross aisle or transept, is supported 
by four strong and uniform pillars, and in it is a peal of eight bells. The 
view from the top is splendid. The roof of the transept appears to be 
modern, and has the date of 1755. In the north window of the transept 
are the Royal Arms, and those of the Corporations of Hull and Trinity House 
iJr stained glass. There were formerly no less than sixty coats of arms in 
the transept and chancel, among which was that of William de la Pole, son 
and heir of Sir Richard, who lived in 1845. 

The Organ is said to have been originally built by Scbmidt, "the great father 
of English organ-builders," who was invited from Germany in 1680 by King 
Charles II. ; and there appears some reason for concluding that this instru­
ment was built for St. Paul's Cathedral, London, and being found too small 
for that purpose, was removed here. It has boon frequently repaired, but 
during the present year it was completely restored by Messrs. Foster and All· 
drews, organ builders of Hull, and is now a very beautiful instrument, both in 
power and tone. It is placed in rather an odd situation, at the east end of 
the south aisle of the nave. The font, which is situated opposite the west door 
of the nave, is large, and stands on eight columns of four cylinders each, with 
a large one in the centre. The faces have quatrefoils, with shields, roses, &c. 
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The church was first lighted with gas on the 28th of November, 184i; 
and on that day was presented, by Mr. G. Parker, copper merchant of Hull, 
a lectern, in the form of an eagle (valued at about £200.), its height being 
7ft. Sin.; spread of the wing, 2ft.; and the weight, 7cwt. 

The Chantry Chapels still remaining on the south side of the choir are 
now used for other purposes. One of them was converted into a Council 
Chamber for the Corpomtion to meet iu, but it was so cold that they fon100k 

·it about 170 years ago. About the year 1009, another chapel or two were 
converted into a Theological Library, the first books having been given by 
those mentioned on a tablet hung up in the room. This library, which is 
continually increasing, now contains many mre and valuable works. The 
monuments are numerous, but the most remarkable of them are two in the 
wall of the south aisle of the choir. One of them, which is generally 
attributed to the De la Poles, exhibits beneath a pedimental canopy, crocketed, 
with a beautiful finial, the full-length effigies in alabaster of a man and 
woman. The man has his bead bare, his feet rest on a lion, his robe is 
ample, and in his belt is a small sword or dirk. The woman has a full robt>, 
and her head is partly covered by drapery. Angels formerly supported their 
pillows. Near it, in another arched recess, is the effigy of a female, which 
has been removed from another part of the church. Her dress is close, 
and partly covers her head, and she has a book between her hands. The 
most ancient gravestone in the church is that in the floor of the south aisle 
of the choir, near the east end, on which is engmved, on brass plates let 
into the stone, the effigies of Richard Bylt, Alderman and merchant of Hull, 
and his wife. The former died of the plague in 1401. The brass bearing 
tho inscription is gone. 

The churchwardens of this parish are assisted in the execution of their 
office by six Sidumen. (See page 41.) The east front of Trinity Church 
-abutting on the Market Place-was formerly occupied by a row of bufr 
chers' shops. 

The Vicarage Howe is a large plain brick building on South Church Side. 
The church yard has been closed, but the parish burial ground in Castle 

Street, opened about seventy years ago, by virtue of a special Act of Parlia· 
mcnt, continues open. 

ST. !tlARY's Cuuncn, Lowgate, commonly called the Low Church.-Thc 
earliest notice of this church is found in the will of William Skayl, made in 
1327, which mentions it &8" Capella b'e Virg' Marie." It was probably either 
built or considembly enlarged about that time, as it is described in a license, 
granted by Archbishop de Melton to the Prior and brethren of the Onler of 
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Knights Templars of North Ferriby, in the month of December, 1333, as 
being then newly built. The object of this license was to sanction the cele­
bration of Divine worship in the chapel, and the rites of sepulture in the 
chapel and chapel yard, on account of its being about five miles distant from 
the parish church at North Ferriby, and the difficulty and hazard of going 
to the latter place from Hull, especially in the winter season. From this 
document it appears that the chapel of St. Mary originally stood in the parish 
of North Ferriby, and that it was built for the use of the parishioners occa.· 
sionally resident at Hull. "It is not known when, or by what means the 
separation of the chapel of St. Mary, and the district now called St. Mary's 
parish, from the parish of North Ferriby, was effected," says Mr. Frost, "and 
there are many circumstances which favour the belief that no formal sepa· 
ration did ever take place; the earliest notice of St. Mary's as a distinct 
pe.rish is in the Act of Resumption, of the 7th and 8th of Edward IV., 
wherein a house, formerly belonging to the Earl of Northumberland, is des· 
cribed as "an house in Kyngeston-upon-Hull, in the parish of oure Lady."* 
Tickell tells us that in the year 1540, the greater portion of this church was 
demolished by order of Henry VIII., " because it stood over against his 
Manor Hall (formerly Suffolk's Palace·), where he resided, and obstructed his 
prospect;" and that nothing was left standing but the chancel. He goes 
even further than this, and asserts that this defender of the faith and pro­
tector of the church, "was with difficulty prevailed upon to spare even that." 
Henry, we are told by the same writer, seems to have had a double view in 
pulling down the body and steeple of this church, for by so doing "be was 
enabled considerably to enlarge his Manor Hall, to which this church stood 
nearly contiguous; for which purpose he converted part of the materials, and 
with the remainder he finished the Blockhouses on the Garrison side of the 
town, which he then caused to be erected for the defence of tho town."t 

The old chancel only having been left of this edifice, which was originally 
as stately and magnificent as that of the Holy Trinity, it was converted into a 
church, and so it continued till the SOtb of Elizabeth (1688), when a con· 
siderable addition (three intercolumniations) was made to the east end of it. 
The new work is observable from the difference of the architecture, the arches 
of it being much lighter than those of the more ancient part. 

In 1696 tho present tower was commenced, and in the following year it was 
completed. On digging for its foundation vast remains were discovered, ex· 
tending across the street (Lowgate), as well as several coffins and skeletons 

• Bot. Pari., vol. v., fol. 688; in Froet's Notices, p. 84. t Tickell'a Hull, p. 806. 
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of bodies which had been there interred. In 1826 the tower was altered to 
harmonise with the ancient part of the church, and the whole structure, which 
then underwent a thorough repair, consists of three aisles, the east end of the 
centre one being used as a chancel. The tower is of considerable height, is 
finished with an embattled parapet with small pinnacles at the angles, and the 
whole is covered with compo, and has a plain appearance. On the south side 
is a. stone porch with a pointed arched entrance; two depressed arched-headed 
windows of five lights each; and two more acutely pointed arched windows of 
three lights each. A modem vestry conceals half of one of the last mentioned 
windows. The clerestory, which has no less than twelve pointed windows of 
three lights each, has a singular appearance. In the north side of the church 
is a pointed doorway, and six pointed windows of three lights each. The 
clerest()ry is similar to the south side. At the east end the chancel rises to 
an npcx, on which, and on the sides, are small pinnacles. The centre win· 
dow at this end is of seYen lights, with perpendicular tracery in tl1e sweep 
of the arch. The whole edifice is embattled. The tower contains six bells, 
and exhibits a. large clock dial, which projects over the street. The interior 
is plain a.nd neat, the side aisles a.re separated from the centre one by six 
pointed a.rches resting on columns formed by a. union of four cylinders. The 
mouldings of the arches of the oldest part of the building rest on rather rude 
sculptures of a.ngels playing on musical instruments, those of the modern 
portion on neat heads. The ceilings are flat and panelled. Round three 
sides of the church are galleries, in the westemmost is a handsome organ, 
which was erected by subscription in 177/S, by Snetzlcr. In the east window 
are four small shields of arms in stained glass. It formerly contained the 
arms of the Earl of Salisbury, Lord of Cottingham; Percy, Earl of Northum­
berla.nd; De la Pole of Wingfield; and St. George; and France and 
Engla.nd. There were several cha.ntries in this church. The monuments 
are neither numerous nor particularly curious. The Living of St. Mary's 
is a perpetual Curacy, in the patronage of J. Thomton, Esq., and incumbency 
of the Rev. John Scott. Its annual value is £276. 

ST. JoHN's Cauaca.-Tbis edifice, which is situated in the parish of the 
Holy Trinity, and stands near the Wilberforce Monument, was erected at 
the sole expense of the Rev. Thomas Dykes, L.L.B., the first incumbent. 
The building was commenced in October, 1790, and opened for divine service 
on the 13th of May, 1792. It is a neat edifice of red brick, with stone 
dressings; the original cost of its erection was about £4,600. ; but the 
tower at the west end, and a projection at the east end, have subsequently 
been built. The tower is finished with a plain parapet, and pyramidal 
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pinnacles at the angles. In each side of the church are two tier of seveu 
windows, the lower small, and the upper with arched heads. The projection 
has similar windows. The interior is neatly and comfortably furnished to 
seat 1,500 persons, and has a gallery round three sides, supported by Tuscan 
pillars. The lower story of the above mentioned projection at the east end is 
used ·as a vestry, and the upper for au organ gallery, for which purpose it was 
erected when the organ was purchased in 1815. The monuments are very 
numerous, and amongst them is one, on the south side of the communion 
table, to the memory of the Rev. T. Dykes, the founder of the church, who 
died August 23rd, 1847, aged 85. It exhibits an excellent bust of the 
deceased, executed by Mr. Keyworth, of Hull. The Living is a Perpetual 
Curacy, in the patronage of the Vicar of Holy Trinity parish, and incum­
bency of the Rev. Henry William Kemp. Present value of the benefice, 
£205. per annum. 

ST. J.u.:Es's Cuoaca, Pottery.-This edifice is situated in St. James's 
Street, formerly called Cent-per-Cent Street; its foundation stone was laid on 
the 14th of December, 1829, and the building was finished in July, 1831. 
The expense of the erection, &c., was about £6,500., of which sum the Com­
missioners for Building Churches made a grant of £3,560., and the remainder 
was raised by subscription. It is a beautiful structure of white brick and 
stone, in the Early English style, with a tower at the west end, rising to 
the height of 110 feet, and ha':ing large octagonal turrets at the angles. 
This tower contains a melodious peal of eight bells, and has four clock dials 
on its sides. Each side of the church has five tall windows of two lights. 
The interior, which forms one large space, with a very small chancel, is 
elegantly furnished, and has galleries round three of its sides, with an organ 
in the west gallery. The ceiling is flat and panelled, and the windows 
have coloured borders. The pulpit is elegantly caned, and it and the 
reading and clerk's desks are clu.stered in front of the communion table. 
Immediately in front of them is a neat octagonal font. The Rev. William 
Knight is the incumbent, the Vicar of Holy Trinity has the appointment of 
the Minister, and the value of the living is about £300. 

ST. STEPHE!'<'s Cuuaca, near Canning Street, was erected in the parish of 
Holy Trinit.y, and opened for divine service in 1844, and is an elegant cut 
stone structure in the Early English style. It consists of a nave and aisles, 
transept, and small chancel, with a beautiful tower and spire 200 feet high. 
In the first story of the tower are three finely moulded doorways, the 
mouldings resting on cylindrical pillars, and in each of the sides of its upper 
story are three tall windows unglazed ; the centre one being taller tban the 
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others. The chancel and the ends o£ the trausepts contain wiudows o£ a 
similar form ; and the angles of the east end and the transepts are finished 
with handsome pinnacles. The interior is very neat. The nave and aisles 
are divided by four arches springing from pillars composed of clustered 
columns. The roofs are groined and decorated, and there are galleries at 
the west end and in the transepts. The communion table is of cut stone, 
and around the chancel is an arcade, formed by neat archee, in which are the 
Decalogue, &c., in illuminated characters. The pulpit and reading desk are 
of Gothic design; tbe font is octagonal, and there is an excellent organ, 
built by Messrs. Hill & Co., of London, in 1847. The east window is filled 
with stained glass, and there are two oak chairs in the chancel caiTed after 
the manner of tbe antique. The Rev. J. Deck is the minister of this chapel. 

ST. LuxE's CuuacH, Nile Street, is a small but neat brick building, 
erected in 1827, by the late Rev. W. Eastmead, Independent Minister, and 
called Trinity Clw.pel. It was long used by dissenters of various denomina­
tions, but was converted into a place of worship for the Church of England 
about two years ago. The Rev. John Edward Sampson is the minister. 

Another Dissenting Chapel in Porter Street has just been purchased, and 
is about to be converted into a place of worship in conne.rion witb the 
Established Church. 

MARn!ERS' CHURCH, Junction Dock Side.-This is a large brick building, 
with a good front in the Early English styJe, erected in 1834 on tbe site of 
an old place of worship, which, till 1826, belonged to the Independents, but 
in tbat year its congregation removed to the Tabernacle, in Sykes Street. 
The interior is neat; there are no windows on tbe sides, but it is partly 
lighted from the roof. It contains extensive galleries, and there is a large 
organ in a recess over the communion table. The ceiling is flat. Many of 
the sittings are free, and appropriated to the use of seamen and their families. 
This was the first church opened in England for tbe exclusive use of mariners. 
The Rev. Allan Swinburn is the minister. 

ST. MARY's CHURCH, ScutcOATEs.•-This, the parish church of Scul­
coates, is situated in Air Street, near the bank of tbe river Hull, in the old 

• Sculea&tes parish, which is now inelnded in the borough of Kingston.npon.Hull, is 
loeally situated in the Hunsley Beacon division of the Wapentake of Harthill; and as 
has alread7 been observed at page 6, of this volume, is of great antiquity, being men­
tioned in the Dometday Survey, aa one of the manors of Balph de Mort.i.mer, who wu 
lord of all the IJtiJTOunding eountry. This Ralph was one of the fortunate adventurers 
that accompanied the Conqueror from Normandy. In 1378 the manor of Sculeoates 
was in the possession of Michael de la Pole, the first Earl of Snft'olk of that tamily, who 
then graated it to the Carthusian Priory ot St. Hichael, whioh he fou.aded at Hull. 
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'Village of Sculcoates, nearly two miles from the Market Place of Hull. Tile 
old church was a very ancient structure, and tho present edifice was erected 
on its Bite in the years 1760 and 1761. The Living was an ancient Rectory, • 
in the patronage of Lord Grey of Rotherfield. In 1381 it was given to the 
Prior and brethren of the Carthusian Monastery, "Juxta Kingstou-super­
Hull;' and at the same time Alexander Archbishop of York ordained in this 
church a " perpetual vicar, presentable by the Prior and brethren." The 
benefice is now a discharged Vicarage, in the patronage of the Crown, and is 
rated in the King's Books at £5. 6s. 8d.; present value £295. per annum. 
The Vicar is the Rev. W. Preston, of Bulmer, and the officiating Curate 
is the Rev. Thomas Scott Bonnin. 

The Edifiu, being entirely covered with compo, h&~J a neat and modern 
appearance, and consists of a nave, side aisles, chancel, and tower at the 
west end, containing three bells, the whole being finished with a battlement 
and with crocketed pinnacles at the angles. The south side of the nave has 
three pointed windo\Vs of three pghts each, and a neat porch; and above 
them are four pointed windows of two lights each. The east or chancel 
window is of three lights, and on the north side of the nave are four windows 
of three lights each, and the same number of two lights each. The upper IWd 
lower windows, by which the church is made into two stories, appear, at a 
short distance from them, to be but one set of windows with transoms. Tho 
four windows in the lower story of the north side ha Ye been recently renewed, 
and filled with Cathedral glass, with coloured borders, and those in the same 
story of the south side, as well as the east window, are about to be similarly 
treated. The interior is neat. The nave is divided from each of the aisles 
by four pointed arches, resting on circular columns, and above each arch is 

After the Betormation this manor appears to have continued annexed to the Crown, till 
the 4th of Philip and Mary (160:1), when it wae eold to Sir Henry Gate, Knight, nnd 
Thomae Dalton, Aldcnnan of Hull, after which it pn.ssed through various hands, and 
"'I'A!! divided and subdivided by successive aales and portions. The parish of Sculcoates 
i.a bounded on the east by the river Hull, on the north by the perish of Cottingham, on 
the eouth by the Queen's Dock, and on the west by the Lordship of Myton: the middle 
of Prospect Street nnd Spring Bank being the division on the latter side. 

Wineomlu, a long street in this perish, derives its name, acoording to Hadley, from 
the following curious circumstance:-One Mrs. Reed, who once kept an alehouse in 
that neighbourhood, wae wont, when in her cups, to amuse her customers with incredible 
etories, winking at the same to her intimates, who lmew her faculty of dealing in the 
marvellous; hence she obtained the title ot Wink-and-lie, or lu. Her house became 
10 noted that it was usual for persona to make parties to spend the evening at Wink. 
and-Lee's to hear a good story; and in process of time it gave the name to all that part 
of the parish, which oontinued after her death, and whiall it st.Ul retains. 
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an open quntrofoil. The chancel arch is circular but plain, and the ceilings 
are flat. At the west end of the church is a. semi-circular gallery, neatl1 
panelled, which was erect<'cl in 1827; and in it is a small organ. The com­
munion table is composed of a fine slab of white marble, resting on a plain 
wooden frame; and in the chancel is a neat lectern, from which the .lessons 
are read. The font, which is large and of an oval form, is of fine shell 
marble, and stands ou n pedestal of veined marble. The monuments are 
both numerous and handsome. The churchyard, recently closed, is spacious, 
and is entirely filled with gra~estones and monuments. A short distance 
from the church is the parish burial ground, which was opened for interments 
on the 2Dll of January, 1818. It contains three acres of ground, and is 
surrounded by trees and a brick wall. In the ct>ntrc of it is a small but neat 
structure, in the pointed style of architecture, \Vhereiu the burial service is 
performed. T~e ceiling of this chapel is coved, and on it is a painting 
representing the hea ,-ens, with groups of seraphic and cherubic figures. 
The expense of opening this place of buri~l, about £4,000., was raised by a 
rate levied on the parishioners. 

CnRtST CuuRCH, \Yorship Street.-In the year 1814 an Act of Parliament 
was obtained for the erection of this church in the pruish of Sculcoates, and 
the building was consecrated on the !l6th of Septomber, lS~:l. 'l'he pre­
sentation was vested in the then subscribers of .£100. each, and their 
survivors, until reduced to eight in number, who, with the Vicar of Scul­
coates, are the patrons. Vacancies among the eight trustees are filled up by 
the t>lection of th~ pe'v holders. The incumbent is the Rev. John King. 
The cost of the building was about .£8,000. The plan of the church exhibits 
a. ntwe and aisles, with a small recess for a eha.nccl, and a handsome tower 
at the west end; but the interior is composed of one large room, round three 
sides of which are deep galleries. The edifice is built of brick, with dressings 
nod ornaments of Hoche Abbey stone, and the style of architecture is Gothic 
of the early part of the 15th century. The tower has four clock dials ou the 
sides of its upper story, and is finished with a. neat battlement and crocketed 
pinnacles. In the lower part of the west front is a pointed doorway, and in 
the spnndrils are two shicl!ls, one containing the arms of the Sec of York, the 
other those of Archbishop Vernon. The sides of the church ara each in five 
divisions, containing pointed windows of three lights, with transoms, and the 
oast windo\v is of four lights. Adjoining the chancel is a. small vestry, 
which, ns well ns the whole of the building, is embattled; and all the but­
tresses are surmounted with crocketcd pinnacles. The interior is ,-cry neatly 
furnished with single seats; the galleries a1·e supported by small columns, 



HISTORY OF IWWSTO!\·OPO:S·HUI.I .. 141 

formed by a union of four cylinders, and the fronts are panelled. The ceiling 
is flat, and in panels. The pulpit is very richly caned, and in front of it is 
a neat octagonal font of Caen stone. There is an organ in the gallery at the 
west end. The four compartments of the chancel window below the transom 
are filled up, and on them are painted the Decalogue, &c., and the upper part 
of the window represents tbe four Evangelists in stained glass. There are 
some very neat marble tablets against the walls of the church, one of which, 
erected to the memory of Mr. and .Mrs. Spaldin, is a fine piece of sculpture, 
exhibiting a full-length figure of an angel pointing heaYenwards. 

ST. PAoL·s DisTRICT CHURCB, Cannon Street.-On tbe lOth of October, 
18·U, a portion of the extensive parish of Sculcoates was formed into an 
Ecclesiastical District, or a distinct parish for ecclesiastical purposes only. 
The foundation stone of the edifice under notice was laid on the 19th of June, 
18~6; and consecrated by the Bishop of Bangor on the 27th of Oct., 1847. 
It is built of stone in the Early English style of architecturE', and comprises 
a nave and side aisles, a chancel, and a belfry at the south-west angle of the 
south aisle. The first story of the latter appendage is square; the upper 
story is octagonal, with a pointed window of two lights in each of the eight 
sides; and the top is conical in shape. In the south side of the belfry, and 
in the west end of the nave, arc depressed arched doorways. 1'be windows 
of the aisles aro of two lights each; those of the chancel are tall, narrow, and 
single; and the clerestory has a row of narrow double lights. The interior 
is exceedingly neat and elegant. Six pointed arches on each side diYide the 
nave from the aisles, tbe pillars upon which they rest being alternately cir­
cular and octagonal. There is a gallery at the west end, in which is a very 
fine organ, built by Messrs. Forster and Andrews of Hull. The stained 
timber roofs are open, that of the chancel being panelled. The east window, 
·which is of three tall single lights, is filled with stained glass, and on the 
wall beneath it is the Decalogue, Creed, &c., in beautifully illuminated 
characters. The pulpit and reading desk are very elegant ; the single lines 
of pews are very chaste and neat; and the font is octagonal and massy. The 
present incumbent of the District of St. Paul is the Rev. Richard Kemp 
Bailey, and the living is a Perpetual Curaey, in the gift of tbe Cro,vn and 
the Archbishop of York, alternately. 

DRYPOOL CaoRcH (St. Peter) stands near the Garrison, on the west side of 
the river Hull, and is a neat edifice,· erected in 1824, on the site of an ancient 
strncture, which bad long been in a dilapidated state, having stood since the 
early part ot the 14th century. When taken down in 1822, fragments of 
monuments and carved stones, as old as the 12th century, were found worked 
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iD the walls.* The present fabric comprises a naYe and chancel, with a 
tower at the west end, in which are three bells. The tower is in four stories, 
with a plain parapet, and pinnacles and vanes at the angles. In each side 
of the church are four lofty windows of two lights, with a transom ; and 
under the westernmoet is a pointed arched doorway. The interior is plain, 
with galleries extending around the entire building, and supported by columns 
formed by the union of four cylinders. The Yestry occupies the lower por­
tion of the tower. The cost of the re-erection of this church was defrayed by 
subscription, aided by a grant of £500. from the Society for Enlarging and 
Building Churches. A portion of the burial ground adjoining the church 
has been taken for the entrance to the Victoria Dock. The Living is a Per­
petual Curacy, in the patronage of the Trustees of the late Rev. C. Simeon, 
and incumbency of the Rev. W. G. Gibson. Its present value is £800. per 
ann. The church of Drypool was formerly a parochial chapel attached to 
the parish church of Swine, but after the Parliamentary Survey in the time 
of the Commonwealth, it was stated that it had been four years and a half 
without a minister, when it was recommended to separate it from Swine, that 
village being five miles distant. 

The Drypool and Somhcoatu OnMury, which is situated on the Hedon 
road, was purchased by the parishioners a few years ago, at a cost of £1,800. 
The site has been thoroughly drained, and raised five feet above the adjoining 
district. There is a neat chapel for the performance of the burial ceremony. 

ST. MARJt's DisTRICT CauncH, Groves.-The new parish of St. Mark (for 
ecclesiastical purposes only) was formed out of the parish of Sutton, by an 
Order of Council, dated July l'Oth, 1844, but the church for the district was 
finished in 1848. It is a handsome red brick building, with cut stone dres­
sings, and is in the Early English style. Exteriorly it is cruciform in shape, 
and consists of a nave, side aisles, chancel, and a lantern tower, surmounted 
by a very elegant spire. The windows of this lantern are very fine, and the 
upper part of it, as well as the pinnacles in which the buttresses of the whole 
church finish, are of cut stone. The mouldings of the doors and windows 
of the entire structure spring from circular pillars, and the outer line of 

• The parish of Drypool, which includes the township of Southcoates, is locally situ­
ated in the middle division of the Wapentake of Holderness, though it now forms a 
portion of the borough or Hull. The ancient vill~e of Drypool, which h1111 been en­
oloaed within the citadel (See paee 73), is mentioned in Domesday under the names of 
Dritpok and Dripol, and Ralph de Mortimer was lord thereof. It had not any church at 
that period, but was a portion of the parish of Ferriby. In 1208 Dripol, in HoldorneBS, 
is mentioned 1111 a port between the Hull and the Humber. Near this place waa situated 
the 'filhee of FrUneclr, wbioh was deatroyed by an inuodatioa or the H1110ber. 
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mouldings rest on carved human heads. There are three handsome en­
trances in the tower, and one in the west side of each of the transepts. The 
interior is very neat and elegant. The nave is separated from the aisles by 
five pointed arches springing from clustered pillars, and the mouldings of the 
arches are very good. Galleries extend round three sides of the building, 
and there is a good organ in the west end gallery. The transepts do not 
show in the interior aspect of the church, they being simply used as entrances 
to the galleries. The apse, which serves for a chancel, is small, and has 
three lights in it, and a decorated roof; and the pulpit, reading desk, and 
geoeral furniture of the church, are very neat. The communion table is of 
Caen stone, the front being in panels, bearing shields charged with the 
symbols of the four Evangelists. There are two neat vestries at the sides of 
the chancel. The font is octagonal, and the ceilings are flat and painted. 
The entire cost of the erection was about £8,000., raised by subscription, 
aided by a grant of £750., from the Society for Building and Enlarging 
Churches. The Living is a Perpetual Curacy, in the patronage of the 
Crown and the Archbishop of York, alternately, and the present incumbent 
ia the Rev. Henry Palmer Leakey. 

CIIA.PEI.B.-Tbe Protestant Dissenters have several places of worship in 
Hull; most of them are large, commodious, well furnitihed with galleries, 
class rooms, &c., and possess very good organs. The buildings are of brick, 
bat some of them have handsome cut stone fronts. 

The Bapti.Jtr, the first congregation of which denomination was formed in 
Hull in 1786, have two chapels; one built in Salthouse Lane in 1757; and 
&tle other in George Street in 1799. The minister of the former chapel is 
the Rev.- Hall, and of the latter, Rev. D. M. Thompson. This body of 
Christians held their first assemblies in Hull in a room in Manor Alley, in 
a building then called Henry the Eighth's Tower. 

The IM.ependmt Chapels are as follows :-Providence Chapel, in Hope 
Street, a large plain brick building, erected in 1797 ; but at present without 
a pastor; Fiah Street Chapel, a commodious erection, capable of seating 
1,000 persons, besides 400 children, and attached to which ia a library, 
containing about 700 volwnes, and a news room-Rev. Robert Bowman, 
minister; Betheeda Chapel, in Osborne Street, built in 1842 by the present 
miniatel' (Rev. S. Lane); Salem Chapel, Cogan Street, a large respectable 
looking briek structure, of which the Rev. James Sibree is the minister; 
and the Albion Street Chapel, a splendid building, which will accommod&te 
about 1,600 persons. The front of the latter structure consists of a Doric 
portico of six colwnns, which is approached by a flight of *Pf'· The chapel 
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was opened for divine service on the 20th of April, 18-!2; and its splendid 
orean was erected in 1847. The Rev. J. A. Redford is the present minister. 

The Wesleyan :Methodisu have some fine chapels in Hull. When these 
religionists first appeared here, they assembled in ::\'1anor Alley, in the tower 
of the gateway leading to De la Pole's palace, called afterwards Henry the 
Eighth's Tower. When the tower was removed, a building was erected on a 
part of its site, which bore the following inscription:-" This Preaching 
House was built by the people called .Methodists, 1i71, pro bono publico." 
The congregation rapidly increasing, in a few years this place was found too 
small, and in 1 i86 the George Yard Chapel was erected. The latter is a 
good brick building. The Waltham Street Chapel was built in 1813, and , 
is a large respectable looking edifice, with a portico of two Doric columns, 
and fitted up to seat about 1,600 pei'S('Ins. It contains a good organ and 
several neat monuments. The Humber Street Chapel is another good brick 
building, erected in 1832, and elegantly fitted up with galleries all round, 
Great Thomton Street Chapel is a splendid structure, erected in 1842, at a 
cost of about £7,000. The front is of cut stone, and is composed of a 
magnificent portico, the pediment being supported by a number of fine fluted 
pillars, with Corinthian capitals. Two wings at some distance from the 
centre are connected by two open arcades or galleries, the roofs of which are 
supported by two lines of handsome pillars, and the whole is approached by 
a large flight of stone steps. The interior is very elegantly fitted up. The 
case in which the organ is enclosed is remarkably fine. There is another 
chapel in Scott Street, belonging to this body; but the largest place of wor­
ship belonging to this sect in Hull, is the Kingston Chapel, in Drypool, 
erected at a cost of £8,000., and opened in 1841. The front exhibits a bold 
pediment, resting on four mossy pillars of the Doric order, and the interior is 
elegantly finished, and will seat about 1,800 persons. The organ is excellent. 
These chapels have annexed to them extensive school and class rooms. 

The Primiti~e /t{etlwdisu hove new and spacious chapels in Great Thomton 
Street and Jarratt Street. The former, which has a portico supported by two 
fine Doric pillars, was erected abou.t five years ago; and the latter, which is 
called Clowes' Chapel, was built in 18tH. They have another neat chapel in 
Church Street, and one in Mill Street, which was erected in 1819. 

The W esleyan Reformers meet in the chapel in Sykes Street, called the 
Tabernacle, erected in 1826 by the Rev. S. Lane, as a Calvinist or Inde­
pendent Chapel; and in a small building in Walker Street. 

A congregation, calling themselves ITUkpendent Methodilu, worship in a 
chapel in Osbome Street since 1826. This building was erected by the 
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Baptists in 1823. The present minister is the Rev. William Mac Conkey. 
The A11ociation Methodi$t Chapel, in :Mason Street, wo.s erected as a 

Baptist Chapel in 1822, and was called Jehovah Jireh, and the Methodi8t 
New Conne:x:ion Chapel, is a neat building in North Street, erected in 1799, 
The latter is called Bethel Chapel, and conto.ins a very good organ, built 
by Messrs. Forster and Andrews, of Hull. 

The Scotti8k Prubyterimr. Chapel, corner of Prince Street, was erected in 
1698, and is a plain brick building. The site wr.s given by Mr. John 
W atsoo, and there is also other property belonging to the congregation, all 
of which is vested in the bands of trustees. This is sometimes called the 
81l'~!Jian Chapel, because many years ago a considero.ble portion of the 
members of the congrego.tion worshipping here, embraced the doctrine of 
Baron Emanuel Swedenborg; and the property wo.s thrown into Chancery 
by the adherents of the original tenets of Presbyterianism. It has since 
been recovered, by the trustees, for the use of the present possessors. The 
Rev. J. L. Rome is the minister of this congregation. 

The Unitarian Chapel, in Bowlalley Lane, is one of the oldest dissenting 
places of worship in Hull. The Rev. Leonard Chambcrlayne bequeathed a 
valuable collection of books to the trustees of this chapel, for the use of tho 
inhabitants of Hull. It contains many works of the fathers, and some rare 
and valuable editions of the classics. The Rev. John Shannon is the minister. 

The German and Dani8h Ltttherans worship in the Rethesda Chapel, Os· 
borne Street, alternately with Mr. Lane's congregation. 

Society of Frimd.t.-The present meeting house of this body was formerly 
a W esleyan School, in Mason Street; but it was enlarged and converted into 
a very neat chapel in 1852. The old meeting house of the Friends, in Low­
gate, is now occupied as an Odd Fellows' Hall. 

The Jewa' Synagogue, in Robinson's Row, is a neat building, erected in A.D. 

1826, or, as the inscription so.ys, "A.M. 5586." The Jews have a school in 
eonnexion with this place of worship. 

The various Sunday School' of Hull, in connexion with the churches and 
chapels, and under the management of the Church of England Sunday School 
Aaociation, and the Sunday School Unum (both formed in 1819), are numer­
ously attended. 

CATHOLtcs.-The progress of Catholicity in Hull has kept pace with tho 
strides which it has of late years made in most parts of this kingdom. (See 
Yol. i., p. IS50.)" Tickell tells us that the Catholics had a chapel in Postern· 
gate, which had been almost demolished by the mob in 1780, when the riots 
in London and other parts of the nation, excited Ly Lord Oeorge Oordon. 

VOL. 11. 
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spread such general alarm. The Rev. Mr. Howard was then the pastor of 
the congregation. From the same authority we learn that the Jews rebuilt 
the house, and fitted it up for their synagogue; and that in 1796, the 
Catholics had a place of Divine worship on the west side of Lowgate, in a 
place called Leadenball Square, which was but thinly attended. Since then 
this congregation had a chapel in North Street, Prospect Street. 

The present chapel or church in Jarratt Street, was erected in 1829. It 
ill a large commodious edifice, and is approached by a flight of steps. The 
front, which is in the Florentine style, is well cemented to imitate stone, and 
is surmounted with a massy stone cross. Within the tympanum with which 
the front finishes is a large shield, bearing the arms of St. Charles of Bor· 
romeo, the Cardinal Archbishop of :Milan, in whose honour the church is 
dedicated, and the same shield of arms is repeated in the upper story of the 
interior of the building ten or twelve times. The interior is finished in the 
Grecian style of architecture; the decorations of the sanctuary are nry 
beautiful; and the tabernacle, reredos, and large candlesticks of the high altar, 
are richly gilt. One of the side altars is dedicated in honour of the Blessed 
Virgin, and the other in honour of St. Augustine. Over the vestry door are 
fine paintings of the Adoration of the Shepherds, and of St. Augustine in his 
pontifical robes. There is an organ in the gallery at the west end. The 
senior priest is the Rev. Michael Trappes, and his assistant is the Rev. 
John Motler. The residence of the clergy adjoins the church. This edifice 
being now too small for the Catholics of Hull, though there are two services 
at least on Sunday mornings, they are about to erect an additional place 
of worship in the Groves. 

Punuc ScuooLs.-The Grammar School was founded in the reigu o£ 
Richard m ., in 1486, by John Alcock, successively Bishop of Rochester, 
Worcester, and Ely. The founder, who was a native of Beverley, built the 
school house in a garden which he had inherited from his father, on the 
south side of Trinity Church. The school thus founded, continued without 
interruption till the reign of Edward VI., when the chantries, free schools, 
&c., were granted to the King, and then it was suppressed, and its revenues 
seized. On remonstrances, howel'er, from this and several other towns, 
several schools were re-established, and their revenues restored, and this 
school was of that number. According to De la Pryme's MS., the garden 
was often given away or sold, and the school house itself was frequently in 
danger of sharing a similar fate. In 1588, the old structure being then in a 
ruinous state, William Gee, Esq., an Alderman of Hull, opened a subscrip­
tion for rebuilding it, himself subscribing £80., and 20,000 of bricks for that 



HISTORY OF K.IXOSTON·OPON·BULL. U7 

purpose, and the work was soon completed. The building is of two stories in 
height, with mullioned windows of brick; and the floor of the second story is 
npported by a line of 6uted pillars. In the school room is o. portrait of Alder­
man Gee, and in different parts of the building are the arms of the town, and 
the date of 1583, with a curious merchant's mark. Though the endowment 
produces upwards of .4!80. per ann., this grammar school, like many others in 
England, has ceased to be a charitable institution, as a charge of one guinea 
per annum is made for classical instruction, and four guineas for writing and 
arithmetic, to the sons of burgesses, and six guineas to other pupils This 
school has one exhibition of £40. a year to any College in Cambridge, founded 
by Thomas Bary, or Bury, scrivener, in 1627, and augmented by Alderman 
Ferres in 1630. It has also a scholarship of 12s. 9d. per week, and rooms 
at Clare Hall (Cambridge), founded by Alexander Metco.lf. The following 
eminent men haye been masters of this school :-the Rev. Andrew :Marvel, 
M.A., father of the eminent patriot of that name; John Catlyn, originally a 
bricklayer, but who, by the force of his genius and application, became a 
great pro6eient in the learned languages; the Rev. John Clarke, M.A., the 
translator of Suetonius and Sallust; and the Rev. Joaeph Milner, M.A., 
author of a History of the Church. Amongst the most eminent men edu­
cated here, were Andrew Marvel, M. P. for Hull; Dr. Thomas Watson, 
Bishop of St. Oavids; William Wilbenorce, Esq., M.P.; Isaac Milner, D.D., 
Dean of Carlisle; and the late Archdeacon Wrangham. The lectureship of 
the Church of the Holy Trinity was formerly enjoyed by the master of this 
achool. Mr. John D. Sollitt is the present head master. 

The Vicar'• Sclwol, in Vicar Lane, was founded by the Rev. William 
Mason, father of the poet, in 1734, and affords education to fifty-four boys, 
appointed by the Vicar of Trinity Church, who generally selects them from 
the moat needy and industrious parents. Books, pens, paper, and rewards, 
are given to the scholars, as well as instruction in reading, writing, and 
arithmetic. The echool is supported partly by an annual collection at Trinity 

· Chun:h, and partly by the Corporation. 
Coga-n'• Charity Sclwol, Salthouse Lane, was founded by William Cogan, 

Eeq., Aldermen, in 1758, for clothing and instructing twenty poor girls, who 
are allowed to remain in the school three years, and are then sue<:eeded by 
others. Marriage portions of six pounds are given to each of them, who, 
previous to her marriage, baa been seven years in respectable servitude. In 
18~2 the trustees of the charity were enabled to increase the number of 
scholars from twenty to forty. Alderman Cogan also bequeathed, in 1787, a 
sum of money for apprenticing poor boys, preference to be given to the sons 
of freemen of Hull. 
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National Scltools.-Thcsc schools are now in full operation in connexion 
with the \"arious churches in Hull; all of them are held in very commodious 
edifices, and some of them in very handsome structures. Of the latter class 
are the St. James' Schools, Porter Street, erected in 18H; the Christ 
Churc~ Schools, built about six years ago; and St. Mary's Schools, near 
Sculcoates Church, which 'vere opened about four years ago. Tho Metho­
dists have large schools, and there are extensive schools conducted on the 
British and Foreign system. The Catholic Schools, in Canning Street, aro 
attended by about 300 children, and that numerous body are about to erect 
new schools in the Groves. There are altogether over 12,000 children at­
tending the public Day and Sunday Schools in Hull. 

Port of Hull Society for the Religious Instruction of Seamen.-Tbis body 
was instituted on the lQth of April, 1821, and its establishment is a neat 
building, called the Sailo-rs' Institute, on the west side of the Prince's Dock. 
The society is supported by Yolunto.ry subscriptions, and there is in oon­
nexion with it a Ladies' ABBociation. Religious services nre conducted in the 
ball or chapel of the institute three times on Sundays, as well as on Tuesday 
evenings, by ministers and lay-brethren of the various denominations con­
nected with the society; and lectures are delivered on Wednesday evenings 
during the winter months. There is a library and reading room in the 
building; the former contains about 500 vols. It;l connexion with this insti­
tion is an Orplum School, established in 1837, and many of the children are 
clothed as well as educated. Another department of the operations of this 
society, is the Marine School for young seamen. The business of the Hull 
branch of the Shipwrecked Fishermen and Mariners' Royal Benevolent 
Society, is also transacted here. The number of fishermen and seamen, 
beneficiary members, in the Hull branch in 1854, \vas 1,340. 

PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS, DUILDDWS, &c.-The Gen8Tal Illjir­
mary, in Prospect Street, is perhaps the most important benevolent institu­
tion in Hull. A fe'v charitable individuals, who had observed the want of a 
public hospital for the recot"ery of the sick and lame poor, assembled in the 
month of October, 1781, and opened a subscription for erecting and sup­
porting such a house of mercy. A proposal so laudable could not fo.il to 
meet with supporters, and a temporary establishment was opened on tho 26th 
of September, 1782. In the meantime a field of two acres, situated on the 
Beverley road, was purchased at o. cost of £550., and buildings erected UIX?D 

it, which swelled the amount to £4,126. Accommodation was thus afforded 
to seventy in-door -patients. Additional accommodation was afforded in 1840, 
by the building of two wings; and the extensive range of building, of which 

" 
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the hospital is now composed, is one of the chief ornaments of the town ; aud 
no similar institution in the kingdom has a better circulation of air, or more 
complete pro,·ision in every respect for the objoots of its care. On the lawn 
in front of the building, is a fine monumental statue of J. Alderson, :M.D., 
late physician to the hospital, which was executed by W estmacott, Jun., and 
erected by subscription in 1888 ; and on either side of it is a ~eat fountain, 
erected in 1854. The house will accommodate about 120 patients. The 
number of patients in the hospital during the year 1854 was 866; and the 
number of out-patients for the same year was 1,665. The total number of 
patients admitted into the Infirmary since its opening in 1782, is 75,105; 
of whom 54,886 have been cured, and 7,758 relieved; besides 211,740 trivial 
cases cured. The income of the establishment for the past year, arising from 
subscriptions, benefactions, collections made at places of Divine worship, 
dividends on stock, &c., was £2,166.; and the expenditure of the same year 
"as £2,492. The President of the institution is the Earl of Carlisle, and 
amongst the Vice-Presidents are the Archbishop of York and the Mayor of 
Hull. Three physicians and three surgeons attend gratuitously. Chairman 
of the weekly board, H. Gibson, Esq. Annual subscribers of two guineas or 
upwards, and benefactors of twenty guineas or upwards, are Governors of 
the hospital. 

The Hull and Sculcoatu Dupemary, established in High Street in 1814, 
now occupies a neat building in St. John's Street, erected in 1882, at the 
cost of £819. This excellent institution affords relief to a great number of 
patients, and is supported by voluntary subscription. During the year ending 
5th of April, 1854, there wero 2,701 cases attonded to, and of that number 
1,762 were cured, and 518 relieved. Total of cases admitted from the com­
mencement to the above date, 78,806, of which number 61,280 were cored, 
and 12,192 relieved. The income of the year amounted to £442., and the 
expenditure to £-135. There is a Ladiu' Sick F1md in connexion with the 
Institution, which is a valunble auxiliary. None but the really indigent 
are admitted to the benefitS of this charity. 

Hull Borough Lunatic Asylum for Paupers.-A refuge for the insane was 
established in Boteler Street, in 1814, by Dr. Alderson, and Mr. Ellis, sur­
geon, and was afterwards conducted by his son, Dr. james Alderson, and 
the late Mr. Casson, surgeon. About sixteen or eighteen years ago the 
two latter gentlemen built a more extensive establishment, a little north of 
the Anlaby Road, in a very healthy locality, and it continued to be a pri­
vate asylum until 1840, when the house and premises were purchased by the 
magistrates of the borough, who were compelled, by a recent Act of Parlia-
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ment, to provide an asylum for their insane paupers. The building, which 
is commodious, and well adapted to its present use, will accommodate about 
90 patients; and on the last day of the year 181S4, the number of patients in 
it was 85, viz., 45 males and 40 females. The grounds belonging to the 
establishment extend over twelve acres. Mr. F. W. Casson, surgeon (son 
of the above--q)entioned Mr. Casson), is the present Superintendent. This 
gentleman has a private asylum for the insane near Hessie. 

The Sc'lwol of Anatomy and }feaiciM, Kingston Square, J arratt Street, is 
a small but neat building, erected in 1882, in the Grecian style. Pupils 
attending the lectures here are qualified for examination at the Royal Col­
lege of Surgeons, and Apothecaries Hall. 

The Femak Penitenti4ry, Anlaby Road, was established in 1811, but sub­
sequently discontinued for some years for want of support. In 1887 it was 
revived, and it is now in full operation. The house affords an asylum to 
nearly thirty penitents, who are required to remain in it for two years, and 
at the expiration of that period respectable situations are provided for them. 
The institution is supported by subscription, and its affairs are managed by 
a committee of ladies. 

The MANsiON HousE, or Guild HaU, is a plain building, in Lowgate, 
formerly a private residence. It contains the Town Clerk's and Treasurer's 
offices, and some Committee rooms, and in the yard at the rear of the house 
(formerly the garden of the mansion) is the Council Chamber, in which the Cor­
poration hold their meetings; the Seuiom Court, County Court, and Polic~ 
Court, &c. The Council Chamber is a handsome apartment, and the several 
courts are well adapted for their purposes. In the Property Committee Room, 
are portraits of Alderman Lambert, Mayor in the reign of Charles II., and 
Alderman Daniel Sykes; and in the General Committee Room is an ancient 
oil painting representing Alderman Crowle (founder of the hospital in Sewer 
Lane), his wife, and six children. The old Guild Hall stood at the north 
end of the present Shambles, but having fallen into a state of dilapidation, it 
was taken down in 1806, and the present building purchased. It is to be 
regretted that an important body such as the Corporation of Hull, has not 
a good Mansion House in which its chief magistrate might reside duiing his 
year of office. · • 

The Scukoata Public Hall, in Worship Street, is now occupied by the 
offices of the Local Board of Health. 

The Public Room~ in Kingston Square were built by a body of shareholders 
in 1880, and form a handsome brick building covered with Roman cement, 
and ornamented with stone capitals and bases in the Grecian Ionic order. 
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The building is 14~ feet long and 79 broad; and the noble entrance has 
tour massy pillars, supporting a pediment, and in the centre of the side of 
the building, abutting on Jarratt Street, is a similar pediment, supported by 
four semicircular or half pillars. The principal room-the Mtuic HaU-is 
a magnificent apartment, 91 feet long, 41 feet broad, and 40 feet in height; 
richly decorated, and will hold nearly 1,~00 persons, exclusive of the or­
chestra, which will accommodate 200 performers. Adjoining is a card room, 
a withdrawing room, &e., and a fine staircase leads to two large rooms, used 
until lately as the Lecture room and Museum of the Literary and Philo­
sophical Society. 

The Ouatom HoUM, Whitefriargate, is a large red brick building, with 
stone quoins and dressings, built by the Corporation of Trinity House, and 
was originally the Neptune Inn, at that time inferior to none in the north 
of England. The ball room, which is 52 feet by ~4 feet, and 22 feet in 
height, is now the long room for the general official business of the Custom 
House. The building also contains spacious and appropriate offices in every 
department, with exlensive Crown warehouses. We have shewn at page 44 
that the officers of the customs occupied the old Exchange in the High 
Street, since 1819. Behind this was the great Weigh House, erected in 
lSSO, in the reign of Richard II., built on prodigious piles over the haven, 
for the weighing of lead, waol.. and other goods that came into the Humber. 
James Sparrow, Esq., is the present Collector of Customs, and James Mason, 
Esq., is the Comptroller. 

A new Oom Ezclwng~ is now in course of erection upon the site of the old 
Exchange and Custom House, in the High Street, just noticed. The founda­
tion stone was laid on Wednesday, the 2nd of May, 181111, and the building 
is to consist of a handsome cut stone front towards High Street, with a beau­
tifally arched entrance, two stories in height, with Corinthian pilla.rs and 
entablature on either side, all being surmounted by an attic, with ornamental 
balustrades, the centre being occupied by the Corporation Arms. A noble 
ataircase leads to a handsome suite of offices in front of the building; and 
the great room intended for the Corn Exchange is 1117\ feet long, 44 feet 
wide, and 86 feet in height, up to its highest point. This spacious hall is 
to be covered with seventeen semicircular laminated trusses, supported on 
carved corbels, fixed on the centre of pilasters on either side of the room. 
The spandrils will be filled with ornamental east iron work; and the roof 
will be covered with rough plate glass, whiep will give a fairy lightness to 

the .whole. The whole floor of the great ball will be entirely clear, and free 
from any incumbrance in the shape of columns and supports. There will be 
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a spacious Hotel at the eastern extremity of the buildings. The whole is 
being built by the Corporation of the borough, the present Corn Exchange in 
the Shambles being utterly inad('(}uate for the business to be transacted in 
it. Messrs. BeUamy and Hardy, of Lincoln, are the architects of the new 
building, and the foundation stone wa.s laid by Mr. Alderman Thompson, 
Chairman of the Corporation's Property Committee. 

The Mttrchanu· Exchange, Exchange Alley, Lowgate, is a convenient edi· 
fice, and the large room in which the merchants transact their business is 
well arranged for that purpose. We have already seen that the merchants 
of Hull erected an Exchange in the High Street in 1619, but for a number 
of years it was used wholly for the customs. In 1794 the present Exchange 
was established, and in 1820 the building was greatly improved and orna­
mented. The upper story is used as a public New& Room. There is another 
important body in Hull, called the Chamber of Commerce and Shipping, 
established in 1837, which has lately been admitted into the union of the 
Society of Arts. 

The Post Ojfice is a neat and commodious building in Whitefriargate, 
erected by the Corporation of Trinity House, and opened for business in 
18~3; but \Vas enlarged in 18H. About a quarter of a century ago this 
branch of business was transacted iu a small building up a passage in Bishop 
Lane, so narrow that it was difficult for two persons to pass each other. Mr. 
Richard Mosey is the postmaster. 

The Pilot Oifice is a good modern brick building at the corner of Queen 
Street and Nelson Street, and is under the direction of commissioners ap· 
pointed by and acting under the Humber Pilot Act. There is a Commodore 
of the pilots, who are sixty in number. 

The BOFough Gaol and HOUie of Correction, in Kingston Street, was erected 
in 1827, at an expense of .£22,000., but several improvements have sub· 
sequently been added. The plan is similar to other modem prisons, and 
yields to none in point of strength and convenience. The number of eom· 
mittals during the year ending at Michaelma.s, 1854, was 497 males and 17 4 
females. Captain V oule, inspector of prisons, lately expressed himself highly 
satisfied with the general arrangements of this gaol as made under the 
direction of the Governor, Captain W. Neill. 

Preliminary steps have been taken for the establishment of a &formatmy 
School for Juvenile Offttndera, for the East and North Ridings of Yorkshire, 
under the provisions of a recent Act of Parliament, which not only authorizes 
the opening of such schools, but empowers the Government to allow lis .. per 
week, or .£1S. per ann., for each young offender placed in these schools, the 
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actual expense averaging £16. On the 1~th of April, 1855, o. public meeting 
was held in the Town Hall of Hull, for the purpose of considering the benefits 
to be derived from the establishment of one of those schools, nnd of forming 
a Society for the Reformati.on of Jurumile 0./fmders. This meeting was highly 
successful ; the Society was formed with the Earl of Carlisle for ita Presi· 
dent, and a long list of Patrons and Vice-Presidents, amongst whom are the 
Archbishop of York, Lord Wenlock, Lord Hotham, the Hon. A. Duncombe, 
Sir H. Boynton, Sir H. Cooper (Mayor of Hull), the late and present 
Recorders of Hull, the borough Members of Parliament, Yarburgh Yar­
burgh, Esq., James Clay, Esq., and many of the gentry and magistrates of 
the town and neighbourhood. 

Since then the benches of magistrates of the East and North Ridings 
&88embled at Quarter Sessions, appointed each a committee to co-operate with 
the Society in carrying out the resolutions adopted at the public meeting at 
Hull, for the establishment of an Industrial Reformatory School, large enough 
!or the requirements of these Ridings; and a meeting has been held in York, 
presided over by the Lord Mayor, for the purpose of adopting measures in 
furtherance of the same object, and for the obtaining for the city of York a 
share in the advantages of such an institution. So it appears that the East 
aud North Ridings of Yorkshire, the city of York, and the borough of Hull, 
are all cordially united in the promotion of an establishment in which the 
crimino.l children of the district may, by a systematic course of education, 
care, and industrial occupation, become useful members of the community­
" a consummation most devoutly to be wished," for it is an indisputable fact, 
that the common gaols and houses of correction do not generally provide 
suitable means for the education or correct treatment of youthful offenders. 

LITERARY.-The RoYAL INSTITUTION.-This handsome edifice, which 
was erected jointly by the Literary and Philosophical Society and the Com­
mittee of the Hull Subscription Library, is situated in Albion Street, and the 
foundation stones of the buildings were laid on Tuesday, the 17th of May, 
18118, by those great patrons of literature, the Earl of Carlisle and Lord Lon· 
desborough. It covers an area of 2,200 square yards; the front being entirely 
built of cut stone, and 160 feet in length. The style of architecture is Roman, 
and of the Corinthisn order, and the centre part is deeply recessed with ten 
coupled columns in front, disposed after the manner of the Louvre at Paris. 
The wings slightly project, and have pilasters and pediments on them, the 
whole standing upon a bold rusticated basement, and surmounted by an attic 
and balustrade. The centre colonnade will be crowned by a group of figures, 
representing the arts and sciences. The northem half of the building 
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belongs to the Literary nnd Philosophical Society, and consists chiefly of a 
Muscuo1 in front, and Lecture Room behind. The former apartment is 90 
feet by 05. 1.' be central part of it consists of an Ionic arcade, richly deco­
rated, nnd pricked out with colour in the polychromatic mode. The Lecture 
Hall is semicircular in form, with a panelled ceiling. The seats, which will 
o.ccomroodnto 700 persons, descend to the lecturer's table. At the rear of 
this room are the laboratories, lecturer's room, and committee room. 

The S11bscri.ption LibranJ occupies the moiety of the building towards the 
south, and is totally disconnected from the other institution in the interior. 
It consists of book rooms (the largest of which has a gallery all round it), 
calculated to hold upwards of 60,000 vols., a spacious reading room, entrance 
hall, committee, deposit, and other rooms. The entrance hall and the 
reading room are elegant and well proportioned apartments. In the latter is 
a flue full-length pninting (by Scbmidt) of Charles Frost, Esq., F.S.A., the 
president of the library committee, which was presented by his friends on the 
17th of May, 1858. And here also are portraits of Dr. Birbeck and Mr. Lee, 
founders of the library. Mr. Cuthbert Broderick, of Hull, is the architecto! 
the buildings. The painting and decoration of the interior of the buildings 
were executed by Mr. W. Warda.le, of Hull and Hcssle, and are very beautiful. 
The columns in the corridor are excellent f~&.c-similes of red granite, the 
capitals are white and edged with gold, the cornices are beautifully wrought, 
and the panels of the ceiling are light and ultra-marine. The mouldings 
of the panels are covered with beautiful foliage, in colours, and other kin· 
dred ornaments. The plinths or bases of the columns are in -.erd-antique. 

On the morning of the 14th of October, 1854, immediately before her 
Majesty the Queen and the royal procession left the Station Hotel (See page 
80), to make a progress through the town, H.R.H. Prince Albert, the patron 
of the Literary and Philosophical Society, accompanied by the Earl of Car­
lisle, the President of the Society (Charles Frost, Esq.), the Mayor of Hull, 
&c., visited and examined the new buildings; and her Ml\iesty on this occa­
sion was pleased to bestow upon the edifice the dignified name of the Royal 
Imtitrttion. The new buildings were opened with a grand baza&r of works 
of nrt, ecience, &c., in aid of the building fund of the Literary and Philo­
sophical Society, on Tuesday, the 24th of the same month, and the three 
following days; and there was a full dress ball on the first evening, at the 
Public Rooms, for the same object. This bazaar was under the patronago 
of Prince Albert, the Earls of Carlisle, Shaftesbury, and Yarborough, Lords 
Londesborough and Hotbam, and an immense list of the gentry of the town 
and district. Amongst the ladies who presided at the stalls, were Lady 
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Clift'ord Constable, Lady Cooper (the Lady Mayoret~s), the Hon. Mrs. Arthur 
Duncombe, Mrs. Cha:t;les Frost, Mrs. V. Thompson, Mrs. Thomas Thompson, 
.Mrs. Pease of Hesslewood, &c. The attendance was a highly fashionable 
one, and the produce of the stalls amounted to .£1,47Q. 

The Liumry ancl Plailowphical Society was established on the 6th of No­
nmber, 1822, for the purpose of promoting literature, science, and the arts, 
by the delivery of public lectures, the reading of original essays, &c. The 
lecturee of the society are delivered during the winter, ou the first and third 
Tuesdays in each month. The first lecture in the new ball was delivered on 
Tuesday evening, the 28th of November, 1854, by Sir Henry Cooper, Knt. 
(Mayor), his subject being, "Kingston-upon-Hull-its instit11tions and its 
capabilities." The museum contains an extensive collection of specimens of 
natural history and of the arts. The society now numbers about 400 mem­
bers, each of whom have paid 25s., on his admission, to the funds of the 
society, and continues to pay annually the like sum of 25s. There aro also 
honorary members. 

The Subscription Library was instituted on the 6th of December, 1775 ; 
and on the 21st of June, 1800, the foundation stone of the building which it 
lately occupied in Parliament Street, was laid. The collection of books 
numbers about 80,000 volumes, in every department of literature, including 
the public records and statutes. The amount of subscription to this library 
is 25s. ; and the preeent number of subscribers is about 500. Mr. R. T. 
Cussons is the librarian. The library and the reading room are open daily. 

The Lyceum Lihmry and Reading Roon~ was founded in 1807, in Par­
liament Street, and the neat edifice in St. John's Street, in which it is now 
located, was erected in 1885. The library contains about 9,000 vols., and 
the present number of subscribers to it is about 850, each of whom pay 
lSs. 6d. per ann. In the reading room is a good portrait of tho late James 
Henwood, Esq., who was president of this institution for upwards of forty 
years. The present president is Mr. H. C. Sherwin. 

The Mechania' ln•titute, in Georgc Street, was founded on the 1st of J uue, 
1825, for" the instruction of the members at a cheap rote, in the principles 
of their respective arts, and in the various branches of science and useful 
knowledge." The buildings of the society comprise a fine spacious saloon 
or lecture hall, a library, reading room, news room, small museum, &c. The 
saloon contains a fine painting by H. P. Briggs, Esq., R.A., representing the 
Romans teaching the Ancient Britons the Fine Arts, which was presented 
to the institute by .J. V. Tbompson, Esq., F .S.A., in 1882 ; also a good 
painting of Margaret Roper purchasing the head of her father (Sir Thomas 
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More) lrom the executioner; and a large cartoon, representing several per· 
sons studying the Mechanical Arts. Here are likewise good 11tatues of Dr. 
Alderson and Daniel Sykes, Esq., as well as busts of the Queen, Wellington, 
Nelson, John V. Thompson, Esq., and the Rev. Geo. Loo, one of the founders 
of the institute. The library contains 4,000 vols., and the members of the 
Society now number 800. The library and the reading and news rooms are 
open daily. Besides the usual winter course of lectures, classes are usually 
formed, for the study of the French and German languages, and drawing, 
and there is also a chess club. The Museum contains a number of valuable 
curiosities, including an excellent collection of birds, especially of eagles ; 
and there is a good collection of casts and models for the use of the School 
of Design, or drawing class. This institution is now in a flourishing con­
dition; Mr. Bethcl Jacobs is the president, and Mr. James Young, librarian. 

Tbe twenty-third nnnual meeting of the British A11ociatum for the Ad­
t'ance~Mnt of Scimce, which took place at Hull in 1853, may be noticed in 
connexion with the liternry societies of the town. That learned body met 
under the presidency of William Hopkins, Esq., F.R.S.; and its meetings, 
which were held in the saloon of the Mechanics' Institute, nod in the Public 
Rooms, commenced on Wednesday, the 7th of September, and ended on that 
day week. The Association divided itself into seven sections, in one or 
other of which original papers relating to mnthematics, chemistry, geology, 
botany, geography, statistics, o.nd mechanical science, were read and dis­
cussed at the same time; and no one was admitted to either of the sections 
without a ticket of membership, which ticket, at the very lowest, cost one 
pound ; and the meeting, like all its predecessors in the principal towns in 
the three kingdoms was perfectly successful. (See vol. i., p. 616.) The at­
tendance of the elite of the scientific world was very numerous ; the papers 
which were read and discussed were of tl1e most interestiug chnracter; and 
the whole arrangements of the locnl committee were admirable. Many of 
the papers were the contributions of the local friends of science; and were 
highly honourable to their diligence and ability. At the concluding meeting 
Colonel Sabinc, the general secretary, announced that the receipts at Hull 
had been so good as to enable the council not only to defray the expenses of 
the year, but to deYote £370. for the promotion of science. On one of the 
evenings John Phillips, Esq., F.R.S., dE'liYered to the public, in the saloon 
of the Mechanics' Institute, a most interesting lecture on the Physical Geo­
graphy of Yorkshire; and as no better authority on that subject can be 
produced than Professor Phillips, we have transferred the substance of tl1at 
lecture to the pages of this work. (See \'Ol. i., p. 20.) 
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The usual annual excursions of the Association took place on Thursday, 
the 15th September. At an early hour on that morning more than 200 of 
its members proceeded by railway to Grimston Park, near Ta.dcaster, the 
beautiful seat of Lord Londesborough, where they were hospitably enter­
tained by its noble owner. Another body of the Association proceeded the 
same morning to Beverley and Flamborough, where they had a rich geo­
logical treat; and were entertained that evening, on their return to Beverley, 
by the Mayor and Corporation of that ancient borough, to a dinner in the 
Mechanics' Institute. 

During the visit of the Association to Hull, hospitality was the "order of 
the day." The President entertained at dinner, at the Railway Hotel, about 

_ 800 ladies and gentlemen, including the Mayor, Recorder, and Town Clerk, 
of the borough, and a host of illustrious names in science. The Mayor's 
Soiru, in the same place, and on the same evening, was attended by nearly 
every member of the Association-lady as well as gentleman-then in the 
town. " The discussions and conversation," says one of the local journals, 
" which formed the chief amusement, were carried on in such a manner as 
to give quite a social character to the proceedings, and we were not a little 
gratified at obse"ing in friendly chat the cogitating man of science with the 
less accomplished man of business, and in noticing the thorough good humour 
with which the absorbed philosopher received the polished raillery of some 
meny-hearted fair one." · 

There was another grand Soiree, afterwards held at the Public Rooms, 
Jarratt Street, which was attended by nearly 600 persons; and the resident 
medical gentlemen of Hull entertained the medical strangers of the British 
Association to an elegant and sumptuous breakfast at the London HoteL 

In a excellent article, which appeared in the Hull Advertiur, at the close 
of the meeting of the British Association at Hull, the talented editor of that 
ably-conducted journal says, "It is not without feelings of loneliness--a sense 
of desolation-that the more intellectual of the people of Hull will look 
around, and find that so many of the great scientific lights of the age have 
suddenly disappeared from the midst of us. The visit of the British Associ­
ation opened to many of us a new and bidden source of intellectual enjoy­
ment. We have been represented as a community that cared more for the 
blubber of one dead whale than for the learning of ten living philosophers; 
and, silenced by the literary cackle of more noisy localities, we suffered the 
world at large to receive and retain that impression of us. But after the 
testimony which the British Association has home to the excellence of its 
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rooeption in Hull, we may be allowed to claim for this town as important a 
rank in literature and in science as it holds in commerce." 

"We trust," continues the same writer, "that the success of this meeting 
of the British Association in Hull, will have the effect of stimulating the 
moral and physical energies of all classes of our people. We have too long 
allowed mercantile communities, not superior to us in either situation or in­
telligence, to take the lead of us in commercial enterprise, and in the 
encouragement of science. What a noble gallery we might at any moment 
form of the works of native artists ! Why should not we build ships as well 
as make statues, paint pictures, and describe philosophically the natural 
phenomena by which we are surrounded? Why not stretch forth our hands 
to Australia, and grasp in the wealth of that continent, instead of longer de- . 
voting ourselves to a sort of gambling speculation in whale-fishing? There 
is not a week in which the merchants of Hull ought not to be sending out 
ships to Australia, manned with crews capable of adding something to the 
scientific knowledge of the British Association. Hull ought not to be de­
pending upon a visitor for the nuggets which were exhibited in the geological 
section. Our own merchants should have been in a condition to place any 
number of pounds weight of auriferous quartz for the inspection of Professor 
Bedgwick and his friends." 

NEWSPAPERS.-The HuU Paekllt, established in 1787, is published every 
Friday, and is the local organ of conservatism. 

The Hull Aclvmi&~~r, commenced in 1797, is a liberal journal, published 
every Saturday. Edward F. Collins, Esq., is the editor and sole proprietor. 

The EaaUn& O<nmtiu HeraUl, established in 1888, has passed through 
several shapes, and is published by Mr. William Stephenson every Thursday. 
Politics, liberal. 

The HuU N~•. commenced in 1852, belongs to the same proprietor, is of 
liberal politics, and is published on Saturdays. 

RAILWAYs.-The Railway from Hull to Selby was opened on the 1st of 
July, 1840, and connected this town with London, by means of other lines, 
several of which now Jx>long to the North Eastern Railway Company. A 
most important branch of this Company's line of railways is that from Hull, 
by the way of Beverley, Driffield, and Bridlington, to Scarborough. The 
Or~~«~t or Victoria Dock RailVJa!f is a single line, three miles in length, oon­
necting the Goods Station with the Victoria Dock, and is used chiefly for the 
oonveyance of timber and merchandise from that dock to the town. It 
occupies the site of the proposed promenade. (See page 84.) Mr. George 
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Locking is the Superintendent of the Hull district of the North Eastern 
Railway. The Nortll Ea~tern Railway Station for passengers coven an area 
of nearly ~~ acres ; its length is about 153 feet, width 125 feet, and the plat­
forms are 80 feet wide. The front elevation is handsome, and is in the 
Italian style. The buildings were commenced in 1847. The Hotel ad· 
joining is a magnificent structure, in the same style of architecture, con· 
aisting of a quadrangle, covering an area of 1~0 feet by 130 feet; having an 
interior court 60 feet square. The edifice has three stories, with a basement, 
and it contains 120 apartments, and possesses every requisite for a first-class 
establishment. Mr. G. T. Andrews was the architect ofthe buildings. 

The original station of the Hull and Selby Railway is now used as the 
GootU Station of the North Eastern Railway, and is conveniently situated 
for ready communication with the shipping, the front entrance being oppo­
site the Humber Dock. 

The OJ!ia of the Uncol1uhire, Sheffield, and Manclwter Railway is in Nel· 
son Street, opposite the Corporation Pier, and this line presents another rouu 
(by crossing the Humber to New Holland) to London and all parts of the 
midland counties, and the south, east, and west of England. 

The Hull and Holdemeu RailUiay Company'• line was formally opened on 
t.he ~4th of June, 1854. It is a. single liue, eighteen miles in length, having 
its starting at the Victoria Dock (Drypool), and its terminus at Withernsea, 
on the sea coast. Mr. Henry Jacob is the secretary and manager. 

REcRE.ATlVB.-The Botmlic Gardml, Linnteus Street, Anlaby Road, were 
first opened to the subscribers on the 3rd of June, 1812, and are the property 
of a body of shareholders. They comprise about five acres of land, suitably 
arranged for alpine, aquatic, and other plants. They have lately been very 
much improved, and are now laid out in a beautiful manner, and adomed 
with scarce and curious exotic plants and Bowers. Here are not less than 
700 different species of alpine plants; a large collection of ferns; an exten­
sive assortment of American plants, in ground prepared expressly with peat 
mould for them; and here also is the veritable Upas tree, so famed in fabn­
lous history for the posseaaion of those poisonous qualities, which it was really 
believed to po18e811, by the frienda of those who perished in snch numbers, 
fiOal the mala,ria which they had inhaled in the swampe and heated atmoe­
phere, in which this plant is found to Bourish. At the entrance to thia 
elegant retreat are two lodges; cme is oooupied by the Curator, and the other 
is a committee room, in which is a fine half-length portrait of Linweus, by 
Btawanfelder. Subscribers pay 2ls. per ann. for family tickets, and lOa. t'ld. 
each for single tickets. Mr. J. C. Niven is the Curator. 
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The Zoological Gard.em, situated on the Spring Bank, occupy about soven 
acres of land, and were opened in 1840. They are tastefully laid out, and 
enlivened with flowers and plants; and the winding walks, sloping grass­
plots, and beautiful fountains, with its specimens of rural architecture, render 
the general appearance both agreeable and interesting. The Zoological col­
lection is small, but some of the animals are of a superior kind. The weekly 
galas during the summer months are of a superior description, and are 
generally well attended. This establishment is the property of a company of 
shareholders. 

The Theatre Rqjal, Humber Street, was opened in 1810, with the play of 
Tarwred and Sigumunda, and is one of the handsomest provincial theatres in 
the kingdom. The site of the building was formerly designated the Fore 
Shore, and was overflowed with the tide once every twelve hours. (See page 
85.) The old theatre stood in Finkle Street, and was erected in 1770, on a 
plot of ground then called Abisher's Yard. 

A minor theatre, called the Adelphi, formerly occupied the site of the fine 
buildings situated at tho corner of Queen Street and Wellington Street. 

The !Wyal Queen'• TMatr~, P'aragon Street, is a spacious edifieo, first 
opened as an AmphitMatre in 1846, and capable of being used as such at any 
time, by removing the flooring and seats, which have been temporally erected 
upon the circle. 

There are likewise in Hull a Choral and Philhamumic SocW,y, which pos­
eess many talented vocal and instrumental performers; a body called the 
Union Club, which was established in 1888, on the plan of the London clubs; 
a FWri•t•' and Horticultural S~ty; and an Ornithological Soci8ty. The 
Royal Yorklhir~ Yacht Club, established in 1847, hold their annual Regatta 
here in July or August. The Earl of Mulgrave is the Commodore. 

M ISCELUNEous.-lV atmrorb.-In the preceding pages we have noticed 
the contentions which took place at different times between the people of 
Hull and the inhabitants of the neighbouring 'illages, and at page 44, we 
have obsened that in 1618 the first Waterworks were erected in Hull. Up 
to the year 1778 they were wrought by horses, and at that period they were 
let on lease to Mayson Wright, Esq., who immediately erected a steam engine, 
which, however, was found in some respects defective. In 17go Mr. Wright 
erected a patent steam engine, and at the same time extended the pipes to 
more remote parts of the town ; towards the expense of which the Corpora­
tion granted £400. Soon after this the increased magnitude of the town 
rendered an extension of these works necessary. The Old Waterworks 
were situated at the east end of Waterhouse Lane, but they were afterwards 
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removed to Spring Bank. The water was then brought, by means of a cut 
dike, from the wells at Spring Head near Cottingham. 

The NeuJ Watmoorkl are situated on the banks of the river Hull, opposite 
Stoneferry, about two miles from the town, and are very extensive. The 
foundation of the splendid stand pipe tower was laid by Alderman Tbompson, 
on the 29th of April, 1844, and the total cost of the works was upwards of 
£70,000.; but they have since been extended. The supply of water, which 
is abundant, is derive.i from the river Hull, and undergoes the process of 
filtration in large reservoirs, previous to being forced through iron pipes into 
the town by powerful engines. These works were erected by, and are the 
property of, the Municipal Corporation. 

G<u Worb.-The works of the King1ton-upon--Htdl Gtu Light Company, 
established in 1821, are situated in Broadley Street. There are three gas· 
ometers, which contain in the aggregate 108,000 cubic feet of go.s. The 
BritiM Gu Light Company have their extensive works on the banks of the 
Hull, a little north of Sculcoates parish church. These works were com· 
pleted in 1826, "ben the parish of Sculcoates was first lighted with that 
brilliant vapour. Three gasometers here will contain 275,000 cubic feet of 
ga.s. The SuttQn, SoulAcoatu, and Drypool Ga& Works were erected in 1846, 
in the Groves. There is bnt one gasometer, which will hold 152,000 feet of gas. 

North BTidge.-This bridge, which, as we have shown at page 87, was 
erected by order of King Henry VIII., connects the eastern bank of the river 
Hull with the western, and is the only passage from Hull to Drypool, except 
the ferry. "It may be inferred from the name of this bridge," writes Mr. 
Frost, in his Notice~, p. 81, "that there was another lower down, called the 
South Bridge, and this inference is in some degree j111tified, by an original 
drawing in the British Museum, roughly executed, but of evident antiquity, 
containing a plan of Hull, with the Castle and Blockhouses on the Drypool 
side, and with a bridge acro88 the river (in addition to the present one), at 
the end of Scale Lane." 

Tickell tells us that the North Bridge wa.s repaired, at a cost of £1,000., 
in 1720. The present hand~me structure, which consists of four arches, 
with a drawbridge in the centre, was erected in 1786, from a design by- Mr. 
Gwyn. Near the foot of this bridge, on the east side of the river, was the 
north :Blockhouse, demolished some years ago. 

The Wilherjoru Monummt, near the end of St. John's Street, is an elegant 
fluted Doric column, on a square pedestal, with a statue of that eminent 
statesman and philanthropist, William Wilberforce, Esq. (who was a native 
of Bull), in his senatorial robes, on a small circular pedestal above the capital 
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of the column. The height of the pillar is 100 feet, and that of the statue, 
12 feet. It was erected at an expense of £1,250., raised by public sub­
scription, as a memorial of the abolition of negro slavery. The first stone, 
according to the inscription on the column, was laid August 1st, 1834., the 
date of the Act of Emancipation. The masons were Messrs. Myers and 
Wilson. The dock bridge near this pillar occupies the site where formerly 
stood the Beverley gate; and it was on this identical spot that the unfor­
tunate Charles I . and his followers were denied admission into the town 
by Sir John Hotham, in 1642. (See page 52.) 

At the South End, opposite the Pilot Office, is an Ionic pillar of cast iron, 
rising 20 feet to the top of the capital, and surmounted by a smaller pillar, 
3t feet high, on the top of which is an hexagonal lantern, with an argand 
light and reflector, 6 feet in height. This is for the purpose of lighting 
the ships into the harbour. 

The Hull Tempera11u uague is a large respectable bod.r, united for the 
purpose of stemming the torrent of intemperance. They hold their meetings 
three or fonr times a week in the Old Masonic Hall, in Mytongate, and by 
means of their lectures and good example, a great many drunkards have been 
TCclaimcd. E. F. Collins, Esq., is the President of the League. 

The Citadel, commonly called the Ga1riaon, is aituated on the east bank of 
the river Hull, at its junction with the Humber. As bns already been seen, 
the town of Hull was surrounded with walls, towers, and ditche&, and was 
long considered an impregnable fortress. We have seen at page 38 that 
Henry VIII. erected a Castle and two Blockhouses on the east side of the 
river Hull; but neither the walls or towers now exist, and nothing is left of 
the once frowning bulwarks of Hull but a portion of the Castle and the south 
Blockhouse, which, with several modern batteries, are called the Citadel. 
The place is surrounded by a wall, and insulated by a fosse, to which the 
water of the Humber has access. The centre buil<l.ing of the old Castle 
is now used as an armoury, and the Blockhouse contains both uaul and 
military stores. The Citadel is occupied b1 a regular garrison; and the 
office of Governor, which ha& fallen in*'> desuetude, was formerly bestowed 
on officers of high rank. On the opposite side of the confluence of the Hull 
and Humber, is the South End Battsry, where a Lieutenant of the Royal 
Engineers resides. 

The Public Ba$/u, Humber Bank, are very neatly and comfortably fitted 
up, and have recently been opened, after beine closed for about fiTe years­
the property having been in Chancery. They consist of several first and 
BOCond class baths for ladies and gentlemen, a plunge bath each for both 



mSTORY OF XfNOSTON·UPON·HULL. 168 

sexes, and a fine swimming bath, 71S feet by 26, and varying in depth from 
8ft. 6in. to 6ft. 9in. ; also shower and vapour baths. The building has a 
neat front, and belongs to a number of shareholders. 

The Public Bathl and W mhhousu, in Trippett Street, were built by the 
Corporation, at a cost of £12,000., and opened to the public on the 22od of 
April, 1860. The building is of brick and stone, and is a beautiful and 
richly decorated specimen of the Tudor style. It contains ~0 first class 
baths for men, and 11 for women; 84 second class baths for men, and. 
8 for women; IS vapour baths; a plunge bath for women, and a swimming 
bath for men. The laundry department affords room for fifty per80ns at once 
for washing, drying, and mangling. The charges are exceedingly moderate. 
There are likewise public baths at the new waterworks. 

The HuU Gmeral Ceme~ Company is incorporated by special Act of Par­
liament, 16th and 17th Victoria, for providing a suitable place of interment 
for the dead of all classes and denominations. 

The ~ is situated at the extreme end of Spring Bank, in the parish 
of Cottingham, and covers about sixteen acres, a portion of which is laid out 
with trees, flowers, and shrubs. The entrance gates, lodge, &c., are hand­
some, and there is a small chapel for the celebration of the funeral service. 

Poliu.-Tbe police foree of the borough of Hull was established in 1886, 
and now consists of a Superintendent and Chief Constable (Mr. Andrew Mac 
Manus), 7 inspectors, and 96 serjeanta and constables. Their chief station, 
in Parliament Street (formerly a part of Charity Hall), is admirably suited 
for ita purpose. There is another station house in Jarratt Street. 

EVINE!fT ME!f.-The family of~ la Pok, a brief account of which will 
be found in the beginning of this volume, produced several illustrious cha­
racters; and Hull does not at present give title to any noble family. 

Robm de Pierrepont, who was created by Charles I. Baron Pierrepont and 
Viscount Newark, was made Earl of Kingston-upon-Hull in 1628; and 
Evelyn, the fourth Earl, was advanced to the dignity of Duke of Kingston 
in 17115 ; but on the death of his grandson William, the second Duke, in 
1778, all the titles became extinct. 

Tlwmo$ Johnscn, an eminent physician and botanist, was a native of Hull. 
He made many additions to the edition of Gcrard's Herbal, printed in his 
time. His loyalty engaged him on the King's side in the civil war, and he 
was killed in 1644, whilst resisting an attack of the Parliamentarians upon 
Basinghouse. Fuller, who knew him well, bestows this epitaph on him:-

Here Johnson lies: could herbs fence off death's dart, 
Sure dtath thou hadst escaped by thy O'II'Jl art. 
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Sir John Lawwn, a diatinguiehed naval officer, was the son of a poor man 
of this town; and died fighting for his country on the Srd of June, 1665. 

The historians of Hull assign the birth-place of that inflexible patriot, 
A.ndrew Marvel, to that town ; but, as at the time of his birth his father was 
.Rector of Winestead, in Holderness, and as the baptism of his son is entered 
in the parish register of that place, on the last day of March, 1621, in his 
father's handwriting, the claim of Hull to that honour is at least disputable. 
Those writers state that his father was master of the Grammar School at 
Hull in 1620, as well as Rector of Winestead, and that the son was born 
here, and baptised there. On the 16th of April, 1614, the Rev. Andrew 
Marvel, father of the subject of this notice (who was a native of Cambridge­
shire), was instituted to the Rectory of Winestead, and on the 8th of De­
cember, 1624, in consequence of his resignation of the benefice, his successor 
was indncted. On the 80th of September, 1624, he was appointed Lecturer 
of the Holy Trinity Church, in Hull, an office then usually held by the 
master of the Grammar School, and it would appear that he then resigned 
the living of Winestead. Tickell calls him "the facetious Calvinistical 
minister of this town;" so it seems that he, later in life, seceded from the 
Established Church; and Poulson tells us, that in 1640, when in crossing 
the Humber in a small boat, he was unfortunately drowned. Whether 
he, who became "the ornament and example of his age," drew his first 
breath in Hull or in Holderness, it is pretty certain that he received the 
rudiments of his education under his father in the Grammar School of Hull, 
and that at the age of fifteen be was admitted a student at Trinity College, 
Cambridge. He afterwards made a tdlr of Europe, and was secretary to the 

.embassy at Constantinople in the time of the Commonwealth. In 1657 be 
was appointed assistant to the celebrated poet, John Milton, at that time 
secretary to the no less celebrated usurper, Oliver Cromwell. In 1658, two 
years before the Restoration, the burghers of Hull elected him as their repre­
senptive in Parliament, and during a period of twenty years, which he con­
tinued to be member for this borough, he maintained the character of an honest 
man, a true patriot, and an incorruptible senator. "His integrity," says a 
recent writer, " rendered him obnoxious to a corrupt court, which spared no 
pains to seduce him from his fidelity, and to obtain the powerful influence of 
his name and character for their measures ; and many instances are adduced 
of his heroic firmness in resisting the alluring offers made to win him over 
to the court party." He is recorded as the last member of Parliament who 
received the wages anciently paid to members by their constituents. Mr. 
Marvel was eminent as a wit and poet, as well as a senator, and his satires 
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against the vices of the age, which did not spare Majesty itself, are very well 
known. His death, which took place on the 16th of August, 1678, was 
sudden and unexpected; and the Corporation of Hull, in gratitude for his 
senices, voted the sum of £50. to defray the expenses of his funeral, and 
contributed a sum of money to erect a monument over his remains in the 
church of St. Giles-in-the-Fields, London, where he was interred; but the 
minister of that church forbad the monument to be erected. At the south­
east corner of High Street and Salthouse Lane is an ancient structure, since 
modernised, which is traditionally said to have been the residence of Mr. 
Mane), when he resided at Hull. 

William Wi/hnf&rce, E~q., the senator and philanthropist, was born at 
Hull in 1759, in the house in High Street in which Sir John Listcr enter­
tained King Charles 1., in 1689. (See page 49.) The family name was 
Wilherfuu, and they had an ancient seat in the parish of that name, near 
Pocklington ; but Alderman Wilberforce, of Hull, who, in 1771, resigned his 
gown, having held it nearly fifty years, and who was grandfather to the sub­
ject of this notice, changed it to Wilberforce. Mr. Wilberforce was returned 
to Parliament for Hull when only just of age; and in 1784 he was elected 
for the county of York, which be represented in several successive Parlia­
ments. He distinguished himself during the course of his long and useful 
life, by his exertions in the cause of the negro ; and at length succeeded in 
procuring the abolition of the infamous slave trade. He died on the 29th of 
July, 1888, and was interred in Westminster Abbey ; and the handsome 
Doric column in Hull, already noticed, was erected to his memory, as well 
as to commemorate the passing of'~he Slavery Abolition Bill. His three 
sons entered the church, and one became a Bishop (the present Bishop of 
Oxford), and the two others Archdeacons. The latter two, however, have 
seceded from the Establishment, and joined the Church of Rome. 

MMOn, the poet, is said to have been born at the Hull Vicarage. 
Amongst the members of the literati of the present day, connected with the 

town and neighbourhood, are the following :-Charler Fro&t, Eaq., F.S.A., 
author of "Notices relatiYe to the Early History of the Town r.nd Port of 
Hull," published in 1827, and some tracts on legal subjects; Thcma& 
Tlwmpwn, F.S.A., author of a "History of Swine,'' " Ocellum Promouto­
rium, or Short ObserY.ations on the Ancient State of Holdcmess," and tracts 
on the Poor Laws; A. H. Hau:orth, Esq., F.L.S., author of "Lepidoptera 
Britannica; " William SpmctJ, Eaq., F.L.S., author of tracts on Political 
Economy, and an "Introduction to Entomology;" and P. W. Wat.wn, Esq., 
the author of " Dendrologia Britannica. '' 
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THE division of the county of York, at present constituting the East­
Riding, and of which Beverley is considered the capital, was termed by the 
aboriginal Britons Duryvau:r or Deifyr,* in allusion to the universal deluge, a 
tradition of which was preserved by the Druids; for the name given by that 
order to Noah, the great father of antiquity, was Dwyvawr. We have already 
seen that the whole county of York was included in the kingdom denominated 
by the Saxons Deira; and that people called the site of Beverley, and the 
neighbouring parishes, Deiru:alM, or Deirwold, implying the forest of Deira; 
from the extensive woods with which it was then covered. The Rev. George 
Oliver, in his History of Beverley, published in 1829, tells us, that from 
circumstances of vital importance to the religion of the primitive inhabitants, 
this place, which was situated in the deep recesses of the wood, acquired the 
local appellation of Llyn yr Avanc, the Beaver Lake. This lC&l'Iled and 
ingenious writer, after considerable industry ru;~d research, submits some very 
original reasons for supposing that the original designation of the site of 
Beverley had reference to the Druidical rites of the ancient Britons. 

The primitive name of the district, Deifyr or Dwyvawr, he thinks is a 
sufficient testimony that it was occupied by the Aborigines. The most 
important religious stations of this people were always placed under the 
protection of a petty Prince or Chieftain, to guard their hallowed rites from 
vulgar profanation. It is clearly certain that an ancient Druid temple ex· 
isted at Godmanham, about ten miles north west of Deverley, which contained 
an oracle, and attached to which was a regular establishment of Druids, 
Bards, and Eubates, who resided on the spot, or in the neighbouring wood of 
Deira. "The rites of insular sanctuary," says Mr. Oliver, "were performed 
periodically by the Druids, at some convenient distance from the temple, and 
in situations which possessed natural advantages of a river or lake in the 
centre of a grove of trees. And on the spot where Beverley now stands, these 
priests found everything prepared by nature for their purpose. Here were 
lakes and pools of water in the midst of open spaces in the wood ; hills, a 
rivulet, and every convenience for the performance of their rites; a situation 
which they would appropriate to themselves with eager avidity, as in this part 
of the country no other place presented equal facilities for these mysterious 
celebrations. Near this spot, then, the petty chieftain would throw up his 

• Welah Triad, in Jones·s Ancient Relics, r . 11. 
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embankments, and fix his residence, as the monarch ·of his tribe. Ac· 
cordingly, traces of an ancient road, supposed to be British, and certainly 
used by the Romans, have been discovered leading from Godmanham, by 
Beverley, to Patrington or Spurn." 
Fro~ Mr. Oliver's explanation of the Druidical rites, we learn that the cele­

brations of the insular sanctuary, which were performed at a lake or pond in a 
woody situation, were founded on a tradition of the general deluge ; that they 
conatructed certain islands or rafts on the lake, for the purpose of performing 
the rites of their religion in the presence of the people ; that small floating 
islands were mystically termed Beaven, and considered to bear a striking 
reference to the Ark of Noah, in whose capacious womb the hero-gods were 
entombed during the prevalence of the diluvian waters; that every conse­
crated grove was a copy of paradise; and that every sanctified mountain or 
high place was a local transcript of Mount Ararat. • The Druidical legend 
of the great deluge, he tells us, on the authority of Strabo, Pliny, Bryant, 
and others, is as follows :-In the time of the great God Hu, who is the 
same as Noah, mankind were involved in profligacy. A communication was 
therefore made from heaven that the world should be purified by fire and 
water, and that from the bursting of the lake IJion an overwhelming flood of 
water should deluge the earth and destroy its impure inhabitants. In con­
sequence of this revelation, a large vesael was constructed, without sails, in 
which were prese"ed a male and female of every species of animals, and also 
a man and a woman named DtcytJawr and DtcytJach. When these were 
safely enclosed in the vessel, a pestilential wind arose, replete with poisonous 
ingredients, which spread devastation and death throughout the world. Then 
followed a fiery deluge; and after this the Lake IJion burst forth, and des­
troyed the whole creation of man and animals, except the favoured few who 
were saved in the sacred vessel. When the destruction of the world was 
complete, the At~anc or BeaNr, a symbol of the Boating ark, fD(U df"!Jttm out of 
tlw laJu by the oxen of Hu, and an assurance was given to the favoured pair, 
hy whom the world was destined to be repeopled, that the lake should burst 
no more. Hence Mr. Oliver concludes that this spot was the consecrated 
aoene of the dilnvian celebrations terminating invariably in the actual cere­
mony of drawing the floating Ark or Beaver out of the lake, whereby it 
acquired the distinguishing appellation of Llyn yr ANnc or the Beat~W !Ak6. 
" Here then," says our ingenious author, "we have the undoubted origin of 

• Hilt. Bev., pp. ~. 10, 11 ; Apud Phil. Trans., vol. xliv., p. 366; Dav. Druid. p. 190; 
Welsh Arehleol., vol. ii., p. 119; Dav. Celt. Beaearch, p. 1117; M7f.hol. Druid., pp. U.'.l, 
1119; Paber P114J. Idol., ~. v., c. 7. 
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the name Bcverlac. It referred to the indispensable religious ceremony of 
drawing the shrine or emblematical Beaver out of the lake, and placing it in 
security on an eminence in sight of the assembled multitude." 

The residence of the Druids he thinks was at Drewton (Druid's Town), 
near the holy Beaver lake, and near to which is a remarkable vesti~ of the 
religious worship of that pritosthood, consisting of a gigantic upright stone, 
which doubtless served as an object of devotion to the native Britons. Their 
plnce of initiation, according t.o him, was within the shady groves of Ikcm· 
jylliad (Leckonfield), and their cemetery at Buwh or Bwr (Burton), where 
many vestiges of the fact still remain. Such is Mr. Oliver's derivation of the 
name of Beverlac, but most writers tell us that the immediate neighbourhood 
of the town was low and marshy, and at an early period formed a lake in the 
forest of Deira; and that it and the river Hull abounded with Beavers, and 
hence was called Be1:eruga, and subsequently Bewrl4c, from which its present 
name is deduced. 

We have seen in the early pages of this history, that before the Ro­
man invasion the district now known as the counties of Durham, Cum­
berland, W estmorland, together with Lancashire and the greater part of 
Yorkshire, was inhabited by the Brigantes, one of the most powerful of 
the British tribes, who had not entin>Jy submitted to Roman power until 
the reign of the Emperor Vespasian, about the year 70: and it has like­
wise been observed that the PaNi were the aboriginal inhabitants of a 
great part of the district now termed the Ea.st..Riding of Yorkshire. Hors· 
ley conjectures that the Parisi W<'re separated from the proper Brigantes, 
by a line drawn from the Ouse or Humber to one of the bays on the sea 
coast north of those rivers. The best authorities are of opinion that the 
portion of the district in the occupation of this people, is that known at the 
present day by the name of Holderness. But few remains of the ancient 
Britons have been discovered in the East..Riding of Yorkshire. Among them 
we may here mention, the road from Godmanham, through Beverley, alrt>ady 
noticed; the tumuli near Bishop Burton, and those on the Wolds towards 
Market Weighton and Malton, which undoubtedly owe their origin to the 
conflicts between the Romanized Britons and their Saxon or Danish invaders. 
The remarkable stones at Drewton and Rudston; the circular pits or boles 
and other indications of the site of a British village, on the downs west of 
Kirk-Ella: together with an ancient trackway, in the same neighbourhood, to 
the passage of the Humber at Ferriby. At Brough, on the Humber, in 1719, 
a bushel of celts was found, each enclosed in a mould or case of metal ; and in 
a bank, forming part of some extensive earthwork& at Skirlaugb, a large 
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quantity of celts, spear heads, sword blades, &c., of a mixed metal like brass, 
was discovered in 1809. Stone hatchets or battle axes have also been occa­
sionally discovered in various places. The Roman antiquities in this district 
are likewise comparatively unimportant. 

Some good authorities are of opinion that the site of Deverley has been a 
Roman station. Richard of Cirencester evidently refers to Beverley when 
he mentions Petuaria ;* and Camden says, that from its name and situation 
Beverley may be imagined the ancient Petuaria Parisiorum,t though else­
where he inoonsistently conjectures that Patrington may be the Petuaria, 
or Pnetorium, as it is variously called. Much controversy has taken place 
respecting the site of this station, some antiquarians placing it at Beverley 
or Patrington, whilst others imagine it to be Brough or Pooklington. In 
Ricbard"s map of Britain Petuaria is placed at the crossing of the Humber, 
at Brough, and his commentator says that it is often confounded with 
Pratoriorum. Mr. Leman says that this Praturium and the Pratoriun' 
of Antoninus must be carefully distinguished from Petuaria, which was 
certainly at Brougb on the H umber. Mr. Dyer is positive that PI'III· 
torium, the same tu PJ"'IItu&rium, was not Brough, but near the Spurn. It 
is admitted on all hands that the difficulties with regard to the Itineraries 
are very great, and that the distances cannot ea8ily be made to agree with 
the stations that have been assigned ; and the variation in the spelling of 
the names of some of ihe stations, by the different authors, adds not a little 
to the difficulty of fixing their sites with certainty. 

Drake, the historian of York, tells us, that near Beverley "a few years ago, 
was discovered in a field a. curious tesselated pavement," which he thinks is a 
strong reason for supposing the town to be of Roman origin. Mr. Poulson, 
the author of BerJerlac, published in 1829, thinks that the pavement referred 
to must have been the one described by Gent in his history of Ripon, &c., 
as ha.viog been discovered by a countryman who was ploughing in Bishop 
Burtoo field, about two miles from Beverley. He adds that the only rem­
nant of the Roman era, that had occurred in the course of the reeearches for 
his work, was a copper coin of Vespasian, in the possession of Mr. Charles 
Brcreton, surgeon, Beverley, which was then recently found in a field situate 
in Pighill Lane. Mr. Oliver says that he had in his possession an old 
Gazetteer or Dictionary without a title, but which appeared to be at least 200 
years old, and the explanation it attaches to the word Petuaria,t is " Beverley 

• De Situ. Brit., I. i., c. 0. t Gougb, vol. iv., p. 247. 

t The following are the nrioue names applied to Beverley :-LZ,.. yr 4~anc, the 

VOL. U . z 



liO HISTORY OF BEVERLEY. 

in Yorkshire." This is followed by Ainsworth, in his Latin Dictionary, and 
by many other authorities. 

It has been attempted to carry the antiquity of Beverley as high as the 
second century, and to prove that the inhabitants of Deira embraced Christi­
anity at a very early period after its introduction into Britain. " The 
Collegiate Church of the Blessed John of Beverley," says Leland, "was 
anciently founded in the county of York, in a certain country called Deyira, 
to wit, in the wood of the Deyirians, in the time of Lucius, the most illus­
trious King of England (then called), Brittany, the first King of the same, 
the sou of Coil, a Pagan King, anointed by Pope Eleutherius, the 18th 
after Peter, in the year of our Lord Jesus Christ, the Son of God, the Father 
Almighty, Creator of Heaven and earth, together with the Holy Ghost, 
according to the computation of the Church of England, 1~6."* Bede 
mentions the existence of Lucius ; t and Archbishop U !!her quotes several 
authorities as to the time in which he lived.: According to the Fabyan 
Chronicle,§ Coil ascended the throne of his dominion in the year 1~6, and 
after a reign of fifty-four years, died at Cerbranke or York, and was suc­
ceeded by his son Lucius, in the year 180 ; but where to place his govern· 
ment seems to have been the difficulty. Camden conjectures he might have 
reigned beyond the Roman wall of Adrian; whilst Stilling6eet assigns to 
him that part of the country afterwards called Surrey and Sussex. Speed 
says that Lucius was the first Christian King in the world.ll There appears 
no doubt whatever of the actual existence of a British chief named Lucius 
(See vol. i., p. 68); but that he erected a church in this place, as is asserted, 
in A.D. 187, is extremely doubtful. For during the time assigned to Lucius, 
Marcus Aurelius and Lueius Verus governed in Britain, and it is difficult to 
believe that a British King would be allowed to found churches so near the 
imperial city Eboracum. But the Sa:eon town of Beverley must ascribe its 
origin to John, the fifth Archbishop of York, commonly called St. John of 
Beverley. In the space of eighty years from the landing of the Roman 
missionaries, Augustine, Paulinus, and their companions, in Kent, in the 
seventh century, the conversion of the Anglo-Saxons was completed; and it 

primitive Druidical name; Dwyvalllf' and DeifiJr, the Welsh Triads; Petuaria, Camden; 
Sylva Deirorum and Deir~~~alde, Bede and Leland; Ondenouda, Bede; BeDer lega, 
Camden and Oough; BeDerlac, Alcuin; Beoferlic, Camden and Lingard; BeDerUk, 
Atheletan's charter; Bet7reli, Domesday; BeDeley, BeDer14ye, BeDerlac, m&d Bnl4f, 
whence Beverley, in almost all the pnblic records of the kingdom. 

• Ex. MS. Dom. T. Herbert. t Bede, Lib. i., c. 6. 

t Abp Usher ,cap. iii., p. 86 to 88. 1 Ed. 1811, p. 38. 11 Speed Brit., 22~. 
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is said that an humble church, probably of wood and wattle, dedicated to St. 
John the Evangelist, was erected during that early period, in the Silt1a 
IHirOf'llm (the wood of the Derians), on or near the spot upon which now 
IJt&nda Beverley Minster. Archbishop John, who spent much of his time in 
personally Yisiting the churches in every part of his diocese, in one of his 
perambulations, about the year 700, visited the beautiful and sequestered 
spot now called Beverley, and there resolved to erect a monastic establish· 
ment. It has been asserted that he contemplated this as a place suited to the 
retirement of his latter days, when the duties of his exalted office should be 
too weighty for his declining age. After enlarging or rebuilding the church, 
he established a double monastery, for monks and nuns, which was richly 
eodowed by the founder and successive benefactors. 

The advantages to the cause of Christianity of the monastic establishment 
at thW place were great indeed, as the newly converted Saxons, from the 
scarcity of priests, were at best but half instructed in the mysteries of the 
Christian faith ; and there were then few churches or priests in the sur· 
rounding Yillages. The triumph of Christianity for many miles round was 
marked by the erection of many new churches within a short period from its 
foundation. "Here," says Mr. Oliver, "the community were provided not 
only with permanent ministers of religion, and consequent regalarity in tho 
performance of the duties of public worship, but also with a seminary of able 
instructors, to educate the rising generation in the pure principles of the 
Christian faith, and to implant systematic habits of devotion, addressed to the 
true and only God."* A taste for literature was now beginning to diffuse 
itself among the Saxon youth ; an illustrious instance of which occurs in the 
case of the Northumbrian Prince Alfred, who went into Ireland, whither 
many of the priests from Britain bad previously Bed from the cruel perse­
cutions of the Saxons ; and in this respect the Collegiate establishment of 
Be•erley was a great boon to the public. 

In these times it was usual for monarchs to grant high privileges to the 
monastic institutions. The superior was usually invested with a temporal 
jurisdiction, which enabled him to receive tolls on the sale of merchandise, to 
try criminals, and to administer justice within the limits of his own territories. 
The mild jurisdiction of the ecclesiastics soon contrasted so glaringly with 
the tyranny and rapacity of the great landed proprietors, from whom strict 
justice was not to be expected, as they frequently sat in judgment upon thoeo 
who were accused by their own retainers; that the merchants and tradesmen 

• Hilt. BeTerley, p. 61. 
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cl1oso for their residence the precincts of religious houses. Hence the 
number of towns which have sprung up around large monasteries in many 
parts of the kingdom; and to this cause we must attribute the rapid increase 
of Beverley from that period. Among the public advantages of monasteries, 
not the least was, that the monks not only civilized the people, but they cul­
tivated the soil. The land usually appropriated to religious foundations were 
uncultivated tracts of wood, moor, or morass ; but in the bands of the monks 
the forests were eoou cleared, the lands were cultivated, and vegetation· eoon 
smiled upon the barren heath. We have the high authority of Mr. Turner, 
amongst a number of other writers, for stating that the monks were the first 
to set an example of persevering industry, practical diligence, and patient toil.* 

After presiding over the See of York with great success for about thirty­
three years, and at length borne down by age and infirmity, Archbishop 
,John resigned his See to Wilfrid II., and retired to his monastery at Deverley 
in 717 ; where, after four years spent in a.cts of piety and devotion, be died 
on the 7th of .May, 721. His remains were interred in the portico of the 
church of his own foundation ; and be was afterwards canonized by the title 
of St. John of Deverley. 

"Though deposited in the earth," says 1\fr. Oliver, "the influence of this 
extraordinary man was not. diminished. Hie memory was revered through 
successive generations; and even operatt'd with renewed efficacy, when ogee 
upon ages had rolled over his grave. To this influence," he continues, "the 
town of Beverley is greatly indebted for many of its chartered privileges; and 
to the same cause its ultimate prosperity may be ascribed."t llede and 
Henschenius givo an account of a great many miracles, said to have been 
perfonncd at his tomb. 

In the indiscriminate and universal destruction which the Danes, under 
Inguar and Hubba, inflicted on the province of Northumbria in 866, the 
monastery of St. John of lleverley, embosomed in the wood of Deira, was all 
but destroyed; its walls and battlements were levelled with the ground; its 
books nnd records burnt; some of its inmates we.re murdered, others were 
wounded and dispersed ; and the establishment for the present was nearly 
annihilated.! lo'or three years it remained in a state of desolation, but after 
the marauders abandoned the north in 870, to commit new ra'"ages in the 
south, the dispersed monks, clergy, and nuns, \"entured to re-assemble; and 
they restowl the buildings to a stAte fitted . for the perforn1ance of Divine 

• Turn. Angl. 81111 ., vol. iv., p. 200. t Hist. Dov. , p. 62. 

: Angl. Sacr., vol. i., p. 1102. Lel. Coll., vol. iii., p. LOl. 
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worship, and the residence of the members on the foundation. And in this 
state of insecurity and compal'ative uselessness it remained till the reign of 
Athelstan, whose name is closely entwined with the history of Beverley. 

Athelstan, one of the ablest of our early Kings, is justly styled by Alured, 
a monkish writer of Beverley, "Primus monarchs Auglorum," for it was he 
that destroyed the Danish sovereignty, and who may with the greatest pro­
priety be entitled the first King of England. When Anlaff and Go<lfrid, the 
sons of Sithric, the expelled King of Northumbria, aided by the King of 
Scotland and the confederate Princes, collected a powerful body of forces in 
U3 i, and raised the standard of rebellion in the north ; A thelstan set forth 
with a powerful army to punish the rebels. On his way to York, as we have 
seen in vol. i., p. U9, he visited Beverley for the purpose of placing himself under 
the protection of St. J olm, and of offering up his prayers for success at the 
tomb of the saint. Prostrating himself before the relics of the holy man, 
the King prayed for his protection and assistance, and then drawing his 
knife or dagger from its scabbard, he placed it on the high altar, and -ro••ed, 
that should be succeed in his undertaking, and return ali\·e to claim it, he 
would shew honour to the church, and increase its possessions. Having 
taken a consecrated standard from the church, as a token of his solemn vow, 
he continued his match to York, to join his army, which had pursued n dif­
ferent route towards that city.* The battle of Brunnnburh, one of the most 
bloody and obstinate recorded in the Saxon annals, ensued, and victory was 
declared in favour of Athelstan. After this signal victory tho King returned 
to Dcverley in triumph, and, in accordance with his promise, he endowed the 
church with the lordship of Deverlcy, and with lands in Brandesburton and 
Lockington; and made over to it his right to Horstaffa, H crstraffa, or Hcrst· 
corn, which consisted of fou.r thraves of corn annually for every plough-land 
in the East Riding. The latter was a commutation for the pasturage and 
forage of the King's horses. Amonest the prh-ilegcs granted to the church 
were those of Sac and Soc, and Tbol and Tbeam (Sec vol. i. p. 117) ; as well 
as the great right of Sanctuary; and he founded in the church a perpetual 
College of secular Canons, consisting of seven priests to officiate at the altar. 

The historians of 13c,·erley differ widely in their accounts of the privileges 
conferred by Athelstan ·a charter. Olivcr states that the monarch granted to 
the tou:n such liberties as placed it at the head of the East Riding of Yorkshire; 
and that it exempted the townspeople from all imposts and tolls of stallage, 

• Some writers assert that his visit to Bevcrley WIIS made during the progress of the 
English army to Scotlnn•l. to Jlllllitih tl•c duplicity of Constantine, BDd for l·ounhing at 
the escape of Godfrid, the DBDieh Prince. 
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lastage, tonnage, wharfage, keyage, passage, and all similar exactions, pay­
ments, and duties, by land or by water, throughout the realm of England. 
In short, that he redeemed the inhabitants from a state of vassalage, and 
placed them in the situation of free tenants. These privileges, he says, satis­
factorily account for the immediate increase of the place. Opulent mer­
chants were induced to make Beverley their place of residence, because here 
they enjoyed superior advantages; and from this auspicious period, be says, 
the town progresaively assumed the appearance of mercantile rank.* 

Notwithstanding the specious reasoning, and ingenious speculations of this 
learned author to prove the very high antiquity of Beverley, we are reluctantly' 
obliged to agree with Mr. Poulson, who writes thus :-" The privileges en­
joyed by the burgesses of BeYerley are stated, very incorrectly, to have been 
granted to them by King Athelstan ; but there were no such persons as bur­
gesses in existence in thi& place at the time when Domesday was compiled. 
Beverley, like many other towns in the county, now so opulent, is certainly 
only noted in that record as a farming village. · Atbelstan's charter was 
granted to the Ohurch, and corroborated by Edward and William; and both 
the Archbishop and Provost claimed their separate and distinct rights and 
immunities, as deriYed from Athelstan's charter, and which they maintained 
and enjoyed, in their several jurisdictions, through succeeding centuries, 
until the dissolution of monasteries. The borough of Beverley was yet to be 
created, and o.fter it became such, it succeeded in obtaining various con­
cessions and privileges, as they were then esteemed, which were common to 
burghs in general, and not at all peculiar to the town of Beverley."t 

The following is a poetical version of the original charter of King Athel­
stan, which bore date about 937-8. This document appears not to have been 
written until times long posterior to the age in which Athelstan flourished. 
Mr. Poulson conceives it to have been composed about the year 1800 :-

Yat witen alle yat ever been, 
Yat yis charter heren and seen, 
Yat I ye King Athelstan 
Has yaten and given to Seint John 
Of Deverlike yet sai I you ; 
Tol and theam yat wit ye now, 
Sok and aake over al yat land 
Yat is given into his hand, 
On ever ilke King's dai 
Be it all tree yo.n and ay ; 
Be it almousend, be all tree 

• Hilt. Bev., pp. '66, 60. 

Wit ilke man and eeke with mee. 
Yat will I (be him yat me scop) 
not till an ercebiscop, 
An till ye seven minstre prestee 
Yat serves God ther Seint John restes. 
Yat give I God and Seint John 
Her before you ever ilkan. 
All my herst eom ineldeel 
To uphald his minstre weel. 
Ya four thrave (be heven Kinge) 
Of ilka plough of est riding: 

t Benrlao, p . .e. 7. 
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U it 11ft betid or swa f!US, 
Yat any man her again tau, 
Be he baron, be he erle, 
Clark, prest, parson, or cherel 
Na be he na yat ilk goroe, 
I will tor aaye yat he come, 
(YM wit ye weel or and or) 
Till Seint John minstre dor; 
And yat I will (swo Christ me red) 
Yat be bet his misdeed. 
Or be curBed SOD OD OD 

Wit al yat aervis Seint John. 
Yif hit swa betid and swa ee, 
Yat ye man in mansin ea: 
I sai yow over fonie daghee, 
(Swilke yan be sain John L416hes) 
Yat ye chapital ot Beverlike 
Till ye eeins of Evenrike 
Send ;rai.r writ son onan, 
Yat yia manaedman betan, 

Ye scirretyan say I ye, 
Wit outen any writ one roe 
&1 minen him (swo Christ me red) 
And into my prison lede, 
And bald him (yat ia mi will) 

Til he bet his m.iagilt. 
It men reises newe laghes, 
In any oyer Kinges daghes, 
Be yay tromed be yay yamed 

. Wit yham of ye minstre demed, 
Ye mercy of ye misdeed, 
Gitl Seint John (swo Christ me red) 
Yif man be cal'd of limes or lit, 
Or men chalenges land in strif, 
Wit my bodlaick, wit writ ot right, 
I will Seint John have ye might. 
Yat man yar tor noght fight in feelde, 
Now yer wit stat no wit sheeld; 
Bot twelve men wil I yat it telle 
Swo sal it be swo heer I belle. 
And he yat him swo werne he may 
Over comen be he ever and ay. 
Ala he in fold war overcomen 
Ye cravantaise of him be nomen. 
Yat yat I God and Seint John 
Her before iow ever ilkan. 
It man be tounden slane i drunkend, 
Sterved on Sain John rike his 118hen men 
Withouten swike his 118hen b&illifs make 

ye aight, 
Nan oyer coroner have ye might: 
Swa mikel fredom give I ye, 
Swa hert may think or eghe see. 
Yat have I thought and forbiseen 
I will yat yer ever been 
S&meening and minstre lit 
Last frolli.ke withouten strif, 
God help alle thas ilke men 
Yat helpes to ye thowen. Amen. 

The Archbishops of York, as the patrons of the Collegiate institution, 
frequently resided here, and were accounted the Lords of the Manor of 
Beverley, until the suppression of religious houses in the reign of Henry VIII. 
Archbishop Alfric Puttoc, who ascended the episcopal throne of York in 
1028, enlarged the religious establishment of Beverley; and was also a bene­
factor to the townspeople. By his influence with King Edward the Confessor, 
he procured for them the privilege of holding three annual fairs, which, in 
these times, was of the utmost importance to the prosperity of the town, for 
no trade of any consequence could be carried on without a chartered fair, ex­
cept in the burghs. This was probably one of the primitive maru; for, 
according to the" Curiosities of Great Britain," there were only five ancient 
fairs in this country distinguished by the name of mart ;-those of Beverley, 
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Hedon, Boston, Lynn, and G~tinshorough. Kin~ Edward grnnt~l a charter 
confirming all the privileges coufern . .J upon the church by Athclstan. 

Iu 100!1, when William the Conqueror vowed the destruction of all the 
people of Xorthumbria, and spre:ul his camps over the country, and devastl\tcd 
it to such an extent that for uino years subsequently the whole extent of 
countt·y from the Humber to the TyM was ll•ft uncultivated and uninhabited; 
the lands of St. John of flcvcrlcy were spared from the ravagers by the fears 
of the King, or through respect to the memory of the Saint, or perhaps 
through a. mixture of respect and fear, arising out of the following circum­
sta.uce, as related by Alurod, a monkish writer of the 12th century, who 
resided here; a.s well as by several other early writers. Willinm having 
crossed the Humbc1· to superintend the work of d1..-solation, and to feast his 
eyes on Saxon misery in its most aggravated form, fixed his ramp n.bout seven 
miles from llevcrley, and despatched a.n officer with a party of soldiers to rob 
the town, and destroy the neighbouring villages. The country people took 
the alarm, and fled to neverley for protection, and brought all their valuables 
with them. The soldiers entered the town, and not m~ting with any re­
sistance, had the temerity to advance to the churchyard. Thurstinus, a 
Norman Knight, observing in the churchyard an ngcd mnn sumptuously 
clothed, with golden bracelets on his nrms, dashed nftcr him, sword in hand, 
without any respect for the sanctity of the place, nnd entering the church he 
was about to rnise his sabre to destroy the fugitive, when the insulted majesty 
of hea,•en interposed to prevent the sacred edifice from being polluted with 
human blood. The Knight wns instantaneously paralyzed, and fell a corpse 
from his horse, with a broken neck, his head tunted towards his back, and 
his feet nnd hnuds distorted like a misshapen monster.* His terrified corn· 
pnnions threw down their arms, returned to the King, and related the cir· 
cumstance to him. Being forcibly impressed with the occurrence, and 
considering it a celestial intimation that the territories of St. John were under 
the immediate protection of heaven ; he sent for the dignitaries of the church, 
and announced to them that their possessions were henceforth wholly ox· 
emptod from the general interdict pronounced against the county of York; 
and that whatever liberty had been conferred by former Kings and Princes 
on the church, should bo confirmed by his royal authority and seal. And 
that he might not fall short of his predecessors in munificence, he decorated 
the church with valuable presents, and increased its possessions by a grant of 

• Some of our authorities state that Thurstinus was immediately seized with an in· 
curuble discMc, and that tho commnn<ler of the party fell by some accident from l.tis 
hone, anu dialoeateu his neck, 60 that his face turned backwards. 
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lands at Siggleathome.• In confirmation of ita privileges he granted to the 
church a charter, a transl&tion of which will be found in the history of the 
church at a subsequent page. 

At the time of the Domesday Survey, the Canons of St. John of BeTerley 
possessed about 20,000 acres of land, distributed in the parishes mentioned 
in our account of that church; and as we find no waste of land in the lord­
ship, and comparatively little in any of its dependencies, we must conclude 
that the rights of St. John were respected during the deTastations which re­
duced the county of York to a desolate wildemess. In BeTerley itself the 
Archbishop's land was reduced in Talue more than one-third, while that of 
the Canons remained uninjured; and in some instances the value of their 
property increased from the time of the Confessor. And wbilat in some 
places the ecclesiastical edifices did not escape the lawless rage of the des­
olating army, the churches which were the patrimony of St. John, viz., 
Be•erley, Leven, Wehrick, Sigglesthome, and Middleton, were all spared, and 
indeed little injury was sustained by the churches all through Holdemese, 
which is rather extraordinary, as William, in a paroxysm of fury, bad deToted 
the whole of Yorkshire to utter extermination. (See Tol. i., p. 121.) 

At this period the town of Beverley was dirided into tofts, on which tene­
ments were erected for the tradesmen and occupiers of land. A part of the 
inhabitants held their houaes on burgage tenure, carrying on mechanical 
trades under the protection of the Canons, and devoting a part of the profits 
to them as tenants at will ; others tilled the ground, and occupied small 
cottages, yielding such rent or services as the Canons might from time to 
time propoee. These were the villains and slaves. The ferme of the town 
was in the Canons, who paid the quit rents to the Archbishop of York. This 
fee farm rent was a compensation for the usual rents, tolls, fisheries, and 
milia, the latter of which appear to haTe been a sort of public property, as 
they are usually attached to the ferme or manor. This rent was fixed by 
Archbishop Thurstan, at eighteen marks annually. William Rufus, the 
successor to the Conqueror, confirmed all the privileges of the ecclesiastical 
establishment at BeTerley. Mr. Oliver, in noticing the architectural taste 
exhibited in the buildings of the town of BeTerley in th11 latter end of the 
11th century, reminds us, that in forming an opinion of its magnificence it is 
necessary to diTest the mind of all ideas of present splendour, because they 
will by no means apply to the case of ancient times. "A common modem 
dinner service," he continues, "is composed of China dishes at the least, with 

• Alured, p. 129. Fabyan Chron., p.lUl, edit.l811. Knighton, b. 2, c. 2. Brompt., 
10. Script., col. 066. 
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forks, spoons, and other articles in silver; but an anoient dinner party ate 
with their fingers from wooden trenches, or perhaps a whole company partook 
of the same viands out of o. common bowl. How can we in these luxurious 
days, fonn a competent idea of the banquettiug halls and ladies' bowers of 
olden time, which are described by tho poet, and writer of romance, in such 
fascinating colours? Our conceptions must entirely fail, from the very 
essential difference which exists in the manners and customs of the two 
periods. An idea of modem splendour will embrace carpetted floors, beds of 
cygnet down, services of gold and silver plate, painted rooms, gilded cornices 
and sto.ircases, seo.ts and sofas of satin damask, statues and pictures, vases 
and rich trinkets, chandeliers of glass, and chased gold and silver, with all 
the elegancies that wealth can purchase or luxury devise. These expensive 
supertluities bad no existence in the time of our robust forefathers. The 
limbs of the most dCllicate and high born female were extended at night upon 
a bed of straw; and instead of Turkey carpets, her feet in the day time trod, 
at best but upon strewed rushes. The banquetting room, with its small 
loop hole windows, stone walls, rough oaken tables and benches, all dark, 
gloomy, and cheerless, would afford to a modem taste but a heavy picture of 
splendour and magnificence. Yet it was here the high and chivalrous spirit 
of our ancestors was nurtured and brought to maturity ; it was here tho 
weaker but more lovely sex, impressed with romantic notions of honour and 
hardy virtue, excited, by its unbounded influence, an ardour for deeds of heroic 
prowess, whioh marked its superiority; and a single nod from a high-born 
female would either unnerve the stoutest warrior, or excite him to efforts 
fraught with such difficulty and danger as appeared beyond the capacity of a 
mortal to perform. To form an estimate of an Anglo-Saxon town, we must 
reduce our ideas even from this standard; for though the public buildings of 
that period were mo.ssive and splendid, and united tqe qualities of magnifi· 
cence and durability, yet the common dwellings were very little improved 
from the tent or cabin of their ancestors ; and consisted of a cottage 
thatched with reeds, with a fireplace in the centre, and a bole in the roof to 
let out the smoke. Some of them were composed of wicker work, but gene­
rally timber frames. filled in with lath and plaster, and thatch for the roofs, 
constituted the chief materials in the dwellings of th~ English at this period."* 

From the time that the Conqueror rescued the domains of St. John from 
the plundering hands of his rapacious soldiery, the population of Beverley 
continued to increo.se. It became a place of security, and numbers resorted 

• Oliver's Bev., p. 83. Apud Britt. Architt. Ant., vol. ii., p. 86. Fosbr. Encye. of 
Antiq., \ "Ol. i., p. 110. 
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thither for the advantages it afforded. About the beginning of the 11th 
century the Archbishops of York exercised almost regal authority in the 
baronies of Btlverley, Patrington, Ripon, Shcrbum, Otley, and Wilton. They 
had prisons and justices in these towns, with fall power to try, condemn, and 
execute criminals; as well as a gallows, pillory, and cucking stool, in each 
of these places. They had also their own officers to take prilu on the river 
Hull; and they had the assize of bread and beer; and waif and broken 'vreck 
of the sea, with park and free warren, and all their lands were quit from suit 
and se"ice. Archbishop Thurstan, who possessed the See of York from 
1119 to 1139, was a great benefactor to the town of Beverley. To him it is 
indebted for the grant which made it a free burgh. By permission of King 
Henry I. be granted a charter which conferred the name ofjrumm upon the 
residents, on the demesne of the Archbishop of York, in Beverley. By it 
the men of Beverley were to have a merchant guild, and in every way to have 
the same laws and privileges which the citizens of York enjoyed. They were 
to" be free and quit from all toll throughout the whole shire of York, in like 
manner as those of York;" and in consideration of the sum of eighteen marks 
annually, they were empowered to take tolls at all the markets or fairs held 
in the burgh; except the three principal fairs, which were held "on the fenet 
of St. John the Confessor, in M ay ; and on the feast of the translation of St. 
John; and on the Nativity of St. John the Baptist." The right of taking 
tolls at the fairs specified, which doubtless were the principal ones, was 
rese"ed to the Archbishop himself. This charter was a great boon to 
Beverley, because the introduction of the feudal law into England, by the 
Normans, had reduced the whole people to a state of vassalage under the 
King or Barons, and the greater part of them to real slavery. 

Though it has been asserted that King Athelstan's charter constituted the 
men of Beverley free burgesses, yet it appears certain that the first gleam of 
freedom which they beheld, reached them through this charter of Thurstan ; 
and even that precious document was but the incipient instrument of their 
emancipation from complete vassalage. Those who contend for the higher 
antiquity of the town, tell us that King Athelstan's charter exempted the 
townspeople from the payment of toll th1·oughout the kingdom ; but the last 
clause of Thurstan's charter grants them freedom from toll" throughout the 
whole shire of York," only. Subsequent charters satisfactorily show that ex­
emption from toll throughout England, London only excepted, is not a priYi· 
lege derived by the burgesses from King Athelstan. Archbishop Thurstan's 
charter of free burgage was subsequently confirmed by Henry I.; and like the 
preceding charter, its last clause is that the Jn('n of BererlE!y "be quit of toll 



180 mSTOBY OF BEVERLEY. 

through the whole county of York, as they of York." In the sucoeeding 
reign Archbishop William, who was nephew to King Stephen, confirmed the 
foregoing charter, and granted the burgesses the additional privilege of 
holding pleas in their Harulnu, or Merchant Guild. Archbishop Thurstan 
had a Palace at Beverley, and spent a portion of his time there. The benefits 
of his administtation were long visible in the increasing prosperity of the 
town. Here he could join in the celebration of the rites of the church, and 
employ his time in distributing justice within the limits of his jurisdiction. 
The distance of the river Hull from the town of Beverley was more than half 
a mile, which rendered the conveyance of goods and merchandise very tedious 
and inconvenient. To obviate the embarrassments thus necessarily occa­
sioned, Thurstan encouraged the merchants to make a channel from the 
river, of sufficient depth "to carry boats and barges." And this canal was 
of infinite advantage to the commerce of the town. 

About this time the chapel or oratory of St. Mary was erected, and the 
origin of this edifice is probably indebted to the active benevolence of Thur­
stan. After the battle of Cuton Moor, near Northallertou, in 1188, King 
Stepben, considering himself securely placed on the throne, exercised great 
seventies against the Bishops and Clergy. Dr. Lloyd, Bishop of St. Asaph, 
and Leland say that be came to Beverley, laid fines upon the clergy; and 
that he would have built a Castle there, and fortified the town, if St. John 
of Beverley had not deterred him in a vision.* Archbishop Henry Murdac, 
who was not permitted by King Stephen to take possession of his See, retired 
to Beverley, where be remained for three years, and rendered essential ser­
vices to the town. He died at Deverley in 1168. 

In the reign of Henry II. little occurs particularly worthy of notice. The 
trade of Beverley, however, at this early period, after it had become a burgh, 
seems to have assumed a respectable position, being mentioned as one of the 
towns which paid fines to King John, that they might freely buy and sell 
dyed cloths, as they were accustomed to do in the time of King Henry II.t 
It appears that a colony of Flemish weavers and dyers bad as early as the 
reign of the latter monarch, formed an establishment in a part of the town 
called after their name ; and the Beverley cloths were noted for their superior 
fineness of texture, and brilliancy of colouring. From that time the trade 
had progressively increased, and in the succeeding reigns it was conducted on 
an extensive scale. About the latter end of the reign of Henry I.II., an event 

, took place connected with this trade, which proves that coloured cloths were 

• Lel. Coli., vol. ii., p. 864. t Hadox·s BisL Excheq., vol. i., Jl· ~. 
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not only mannfactured here, but were also exported from the place. A vessel 
belonging to John de St. James, and other merchants of the King of Spain, 
as they are termed, was plundered on the Suffolk coast, of scarlet and other 
cloths of B8WWUy, Stsmford, and York ; whence it may be inferred that the 
cloths were !nanufactw-ed at those places; and it further appears that these 
cloths were exported ; the persons who were robbed of them being Spanish 
merchants, outward bound. • 

King Henry confirmed " to the burgesses of Beverley all the liberties and 
tree customs which Thurstan and William, heretofore Archbishops of York, 
gave and granted, and by their charters confirmed to them, and which King 
Henry, his grandfather, granted, and by his charter confirmed to them." 
This charter is dated at Arundel; and there is another charter granted by 
this King, dated at W oodstock, which, like the former one, is merely confir­
matory. In the latter end of this reign nearly the whole of Beverley, as well . 
as the Collegiate Church of St. John, was burnt to the ground. According 
to Leland, this calamity occurred in 1188 ; but Stowe says that " the towne 
of Beverley, with the Church of John there, was brent, the 20th of Sept., 
1189." Accidents of this kind were then very frequent, the houses being 
built of wood, and thatched with reeds or straw. A house of stone in the 
days of Henry II. was rarely seen, even in London. A law was passed in 
1190, to enforce the construction of stone building, which afforded a more 
certain security against the ravages of this devouring element. About this 
time stone mansions were built in Beverley, and occupied by families of note 
and consequence, though the common people still continued to reside in l1uts 
of mud and thatch, uufumished with chimn.ies to let out the smoke, which 
usually found vent by a large hole in the roof, and through the doorway. 

Richard I. confirmed the preceding charters, and as this monarch was de­
tained in captivity by the Emperor of Germany, until a heavy fine was paid 
for his release (See vol i., p. 129), and as the money was in part raised by 
fines paid for the renewal of borough charters, it is more than probable that a 
heavy sum was exacted from the burgesses of Beverley for the confirmation 
of their charter on this occasion. 

King John, his successor, immediately after his accession in 1199, granted 
a charter, containing some new and important privileges. By it the men of 
Beverley were to be hereafter free and quit of toll, ptmtag~. pa81age, pNQg6, 

lartag6,1f6llag~, and of wreck and lagan, and of lnae,t and of all other such 

• Bot. 10, indono, Hen. n., p. 181. 
t POftl4ge, a contribution toW'IU'd8 the maintenance of bridges, or a toll paid for that 

purpote by thO&e who pus over bricJsea. PU~age, a tribute paid by persons travelling 
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customs as pertain to us (the King) throughout all our land, saving the 
liberties of the city of London." The burgesses having discovered that this 
charter did not formally recognise the charters of Archbishops Thurstan and 
William, sought and obtained another charter, dated only two days afterwards, 
which supplied the omission. In those troublous times the liberties of 
boroughs were not safe without frequent confirmations of the charters. For 
the important privileges contained in the first charter of John, the burgesses 
of Beverley paid the enormous surp of 500 marks, in instalments.* The 
freedom from the impositions enumerated in this charter must have been 
considered highly valuable in that age, as the town would not otherwise have 
consented to such an exorbitant fine; and we must infer from the fact, that 
the Gilda MI1Tcatoria, i. e. the burgesses, must have been both numerous and 
wealthy to be able to contribute such a sum of money. 

It is now quite clear that the burgeuu derived no privileges from the 
charter of King .AtheZ.tan; and we cannot fail to recognise in'. the charter of 
King John the first royal grant of freedom from toll, 8tallage, tic. ; and it will 
soon be shown that the Archbi&Jwps of York exercised all their rights in 
Beverley, by virtue of the charter of Athelstan. lu the beginning of this 
reign, King John, Queen lsabella, and their suite, visited Cottingham and 
Beverley on their way to York. (See vol. i., p. 180.) From the Itinerary of 
King John, printed in part i. of the 22nd vol. of the Archrelogia, p. 128, it 
appears that they were here on the 25th and 27th of January, 1201. 

In considering the appearance of Beverley in the reign of King John, Mr. 
Oliver says,-" Imagination may carry us back to this remote period, and in 
the long perspective we may in fancy behold the town, how large scever in 
extent, still uncouth and unsightly, according to our improved ideas of the 
beauty and magnificence of domestic architecture. The houses, composed of 
various materials, some of stone, others of brick or wall tiles, and others of 
humble clay, all cased in a heavy framework of timber, stretched their over­
hanging roofs across the street, as if they frowned mutual defiance. Each 
upper story projecting beyond the lower, brought the most lofty parts so 
nearly in contact, that opposite neighbours were not only capable of con­
versing together from their upper apartments, but might almost give the 

with .their wares. Pt lagt, customs paid for weighing wares or merchandise. La~t<Jge, 

a duty paid upon every burden of commodities brought into a market for sale. St41U:rge, 
a duty payable for the pEirmisaion to ll('t up •kllll in a IIW"ket or fair. Wreckl, goods in 
a ship brought to land by the waves. Laga11, goods thrown O\'erboard and sunk, and 
which are cast up again upon land. Ewagt, a toll paid for the passage of w!lter. LttU, 
6-eed the burgesses from all forced lol\ns. 

• Mllg. Rot. 2 Job. 
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gripe of friendship across the nan·ow spnce thus left vacant between them. 
In fancy we may behold the worthies of ancient Beverlcy, strutting along 
the darkened streets, with more than Spanish grMity, arrayed in costly 
clothing; bolstered with cushions, to hide all imperfections of shape and per· 
son; their long and curling hair dancing in the wind, and their high-peaked 
shoes fastened to their knees with chains of gold, and omamented with rich 
tassels and fringes. A goodly sight! Pourtraying, in the most striking 
colours, the change which has taken place in the customs of this country, 
resulting from its gradual approaches to refinement, and its present eminence 
in the arts of civil and social life."* 

During the reign of King John occurred an instance of the assertion of 
their rights, by the burgesses of ~everley, and of the value of those privileges 
whereby they were enabled to resist the encroo.chments of the Archbishop of 
York, as lord of the demesne, to which their ancestors could not have offered 
any legitimate opposition. They complained to the King that the Archbishop 
bad disseized them of their pastures and tolls, which they held by charter; 
and that he deprived them of their turbaries,+ fenced off their gravel pits, and 
withheld from them sundry rights, and that he bad excommunicated William 
de Stuteville, of Cottingham, High Sheriff of the County, and also his 
Majesty's humble petitioners, the burgesses of Beverley. The King gra· 
ciously received their appeal, and made a progress into Yorkshire to enquire 
into these disorderly transactions. He visited the Sheriff at his Manor 
House at Cottingham, and ultimately restored to the petitioners their former 
rights and liberties, according to the contents of their charters. 

Archbishop Waiter de Grey obtained a charter in 1235, from King Henry 
m., granting him the privilege of free u-arren in the woods beyond his park 
at Beverley ; and in his demesncs of Molescroft and South Burton ; by which 
he was posseseed of the exclusive right of killing game within these limits. 
From the several charters granted in the reign of Henry m., to the bur­
gesses, relative to their pursuits as tradesmen, it may be inferred that 
Beverley had become a place of some importance. A more convincing proof 
of their progresa towards a state of civilization cannot be given, than in the 
repairing of the roads and streets of the borough. In 1255 the burgesses 
obtained a grant from the King for levying a toll upon certain articles for 
five years, for the accomplishment of this object. Another charter, obtained 
in the same reign, grants to the burgesses of Beverley this liberty, through 

• Oliver's DeYerley, p. 97. 
t Turbary was the privilege of digging turf for fuel, which, in an o.ge when the use 

of coals was not common, was a valuable appendage to the possession of property. 



184 HISTORY OF Bt:VERLEY. 

all the dominions of the King,-" That neither they nor their goods shall be 
arrested for any debt in which they are neither principal debtors nor sure­
ties, unless the same debtors are of their commonalty and within their juris­
diction, having effects whereby they can satisfy the debts in whole or in part." 
To enable the reader to understand the nature of this clause, it is necessary 
to observe, that in these unsettled times it was not only considered lawful to 
seize the goods and persons of resident foreigners, for the debts of their 
countrymen ; but also, if a burgess of one town of the realm happened to be 
passing through another, and any citizen of the latter was owed a sum of 
money by another burgess of the former, the creditor might detain the un­
fortunate traveller and his goods, though he had no connexion with the 
debtor. And even after the indulgence of this charter, a burgess of Beverley 
might be arrested in any other town for the debts of any other burgess of 
Beverley if the creditor of the latter could prove that his debtor was solvent; 
and the prisoner was left to his remedy against his townsman, in the best 
manner he was able.* But in nine years afterwards the men of Beverley 
obtained another charter, which gave them full protection from arrest, either 
of their goods or persons. 

The Archbishop of York, Lord of the town of Beverley, and owner of the 
soil on both aides of the river Hull, took tolls from boats and other small 
vessels plying on that river. In 1218 the Archbishop's privilege upon the 
river at the town of Hull, was to have a free passage along its midstream, of 
the breadth of 24 feet. At that time the navigation was restricted to boats 
and smo.ll craft. But through the intervention of Archbishop Waiter Gift'ord, 
it was made navigable for ships in the year 1269, whereby an increased 
accommodation was obtained. In that year an arrangement was made by 
the same prelate with the lady Johanna de Stuteville, and Saer de Sutton, in 
which the last named parties agreed to remove the wears and fences which 
they had in the river for their fisheries, so as to leave a certain breadth of 
the river free and unobstructed, that ships as well as boats might pass 
without interruption between the Humber and the town of Beverley, in con­
sideration of an annual rent of six marks, to be paid to them by the 
Archbishop; which sum the burgesses of Beverley agreed to reimburse.t 

About the year 1~80 William Wickwane, Archbishop of York, granted to 

• A relic of the iDjuetice of those times still exists under the denomination of cm. 
bargo. On a rupture between two rival states, the cargo ot the unotrending met"Chaut is 
liable to seizure, and a declaration ot wv, such as has been recently made by England 
and Russia, in which he had no concern, may involve him in utter ruin. 

t Land's MSS., 400, Co. 23, 73, 122. 
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the burgesses of Beverley, for ever, a certain messuage, with the erections and 
appurtenances standing there<m, in the Market Place of Beverley, called 
Byscopdynges (afterwards called Butter-dings), "and a certain meadow, 
together with the arable land in the same, which meadow is called Utengs, 
with their appurtenances as they lie between N endik and the pasture of 
Beverley called Fefang ;" and the burgeBBes were to pay to the Archbishop 
and his succeson1 for the same, every year, in lieu of all services, customs, and 
demands, the sum of 6s. 8d. for the messuage in the Market Place, and the 
like sum annually for the meadow and arable land. This munificent prelate 
also granted, by the same writing, that the burgesaes of Beverley should be 
" for ever quit of contributing paunage for their own pigs in the wood called 
Hagge (Beverley Parks), from the feast of St. Michael until Christmas Day, 
in every year, and that they shall be altogether and for ever quit of pannage 
in the wood called W estwode." And he also granted " that certain boun­
daries be made between the pasture of Westwode and the arable laud, so that 
no more of the same pasture of W estwode shall hereafter be converted into 
·tillage;" and he confirmed " that no villein of W odem.anse, or any other 
villein of us (the Archbishop), or any one on their behalf, shall or may here­
after common on the pasture of Fegangge " (Figham.)* This grant was con­
firmed by the Dean and Chapter of York in 1284. 

Edward I. honoured Beverley with three distinct visits. The fin1t OC· 

curred on the 24th of November, 1299, when the King was lodged and 
entertained for three days by the Collegiate Society of St. John. From 
several entries in the wardrobe account for this year,t it appears he left 
some valuable tokens of his munificence to the clergy; and he commanded 
the consecrated standard of St. John to be borne before him into Scot­
land.t The aeoond royal visit to Beverley was made in the month of May, 
1800. The King, accompanied by his new Queen, and his eldest son, 
Prinoe Edward, m auiu, set out from London, and taking their route 
through Lincolnshire, the royal party crossed the Humber from Barton to 
Hesale, and proceeded to the north through Beverley. (See page 11.) The 
royal visitors' stay at Beverley was very short. Rymer gives their route at 
Beverley the 29th of May, the next day at Holme, and at Selby Abbey on 
the 1st of June. On this occasion the King granted a free pardon to all 

• Town's Records. t Published in 1787 by the Society or Antiquarians. 

t Master Gilbert de Grimsby, Vicar or the Collegiate Church of St. John, who pro. 
ceedecl by command of the King, with the conaeora&ed banner of St. John, in the King's 
Mlit.e to nrio111 puts of Scot.land, received for Ail VHII" Bid. per day for forty-six <!aye, 
and la. per da1 for six days, which he epent iD re~ to hia home at Beverley. 

VOL. II. 2 B 
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fugiti\·es who had taken sanctuary at Be.-erley, and had voluntarily followed 
him to the Scottish wars. Soon after leaving Bevorley tbe Queen waa de­
liYered of a son o.t Brotherton, near Ferrybrldge, where the King left her, 
and proceeded to Carlisle. King Edward's third visit to this town occUl'l'ed 
on the 22nd of July, 1806, and the only particulars attending it preeer\'"ed, 
are that he witnessed two instruments here on that day.* Shortly before 
his death he granted a charter of confirmation to the burgesses, with the 
additional exemption from murrage and pange. In this reign a writ was 
issued against John le Romaint>, Archbishop of York, to examine by what 
authority he claimed to have within the boroughs of Beverley and Ripon, 
infangtheof and utfangtheof, markets and fairs, a gallows and a gibbet, a pil· 
lory and a cucking stool, judgment of fugitives and felons, wreck and waif,t 
fines for several pleas which ought to belong to the Sheriff; why neither 
Sheriff nor Bailiff of the King was suffered to enter into his two boroughs of 
Beverley and Ripon, to t>xercise tho duties of his office; why the King's 
Justices were not permitted to hold pleas, or try prisoners within the liberties 
of these boroughs; and on what authority he claimed to have a park in 
Beverley. The Archbishop answered that he claimed all these privileges by 
virtue of his office, from charter and ancient usage; and he established his 
right to weekly markets in Beverley and Ripon, in the former place on Wed· 
nesday and Saturday; and also four annual fairs at Beverley ; one on the 
eve of St. John the Baptist, and three following days; another on the eve 
and day of St. John of Beverley in winter; a third on the day of St. John of 
Beverley in May; and the fourth on the eve and day of the Asoonsion of our 
Lord. He further claimed, ab antiquo, in both Loroughs to have a gallows 
and a gibbet, with the privilege of executing criminals without appeal to the 
King; also to a pillory and cucking stool, fines for the escape of felons, &c. 
He claimed to have his coroners, and to have the custody of prisoners and 
and gaol delivery in Loth boroughs, and also insisted that from his charters 
and ancient usage, no Sheriff or Bailiff of the King had power to enter either 
of his boroughs, to serve summonses, &c., or to exercise any other office there, 
unless in default of his 0'\\'"0 Bailiffs, for the time being. He claimed free 

• De Donalione Scholaribus Oxonii, &re. Teste Rege apud Bevtrl4cum, :uii. die 
Julii, .t..D. 1306, Edw. 1., pat. 34, m.13. Quod comes Lincoln quasdam advocatione, &e. 
Teste Rege apud Bevtrl4cum, :uii. die Julii, .t..D.l306, 34 Edw. I., m. 13. 

t The Cucking or Ducking Stool was used in Beverley since before the Conqueet, and 
the Bar-dyke was the place of punishment.. This mode of correction was abolished 
here about the middle of the last century, but the plaee where the machine "11'118 ex. 
hibited was long distinguished by the name of Ducking Stool lane. (See MU Gt 
foot of p. 833, t•ol. i.) For lflftmfthtof and Wa(f, aee vol i., p. 118. 
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warren and free chase in all his woods and demesnes; and also the privilege 
of having officers on each side of the river Hull, to take prises, and to secure 
for his benefit waif and broken wreck; and of tasting wines, and purchasing 
them or any other merchandise, which should be brought into the ports of 
Hull or Beverley, immediately after the King's prisage, and before they were 
exposed for sale in the market. 

These extraordinary powers were then considered necessary to restrain the 
turbulence of an uneducated population ; and in the hands of a wise and well 
disposed prelate were doubtle88 beneficial; but in bad hands they would 
become obnoxious, and prove destructive to the liberties they were intended 
to protect. 

Edward IT., in order to avoid the immediate presence of his Barons, retired 
to York, and was at Beverley on the !l6th of August, 1810.• Hostilities 
having taken place during this reign, between the French and the Flemings, 
a proclamation was iBBued by the King of France, ordering strangers to 
retire from Flanders. In obedience of this edict, W alter de Burton and John 
Haooun, merchants and burgesses of Beverley, were on their way to England, 
when the Sieur de Pinckney, the French commander and custos of the 
mar~hes, arrested them, and on recovering their liberty, refused to return 
their money, which he had also seized,-" pecunia et argentum in massa," 
to the amount of £225. sterling-no inconsiderable sum in those days. It 
appears that these merchants, on their return to England, repaired to Don­
oaater, where the King was staying, and complained of the treatment they 
reoeiYed at the hands of the French official. Edward immediately wrote to 
the King of France on the subject, and the affair was settled.t This letter, 
which is dated at Doncaster, 16th December, 1815, is important, inasmuch 
as it proves that the burgesses of this town visited the continent for the 
purposes of trade, as early as the Uth century. 

The predatory warfare in which the English and the Scots were engaged 
at this time, brought Edward IT. often into the north. He was at Beverley, 
on his route to Seotland, on the !l7th of April, 1814, previous to the fatal 
defeat of Bannockbum. In 1816, on the 7th, 8th, and {)th, of September, 
we again find him at Beverley, issuing orders for arming the whole popula­
tion of Yorkshire and Northumberland, between the ages of 16 and 60. 
The particular number of men which this town was then to raise is not 
specified; but in 1818, the quota assigued to the town to raise for an expe­
dition into Scotland, was thirty strong able-bOdied men, to be armed with a 

• Federa, vol. ill., p. 224. t lbid, vol. ill., p. M3. 
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haketon, haubergeon, bacenett,• and iron gauntlets; to be at their owo 
charge for forty days, and to be marched to York on the day appointed. The 
Barons being averse to a winter campaign, the King wu oompelled to delay 
his expedition until the spring. On the 1st, Srd, and 7th, of January, 
1819, Edward was again at Beverley, from whenoe be issued a oommand 
that the whole population of the kingdom, between the ages of ~0 and 60, 
should be armed to resist the threatened invasion of the Scots. According 
to the terms of the latter order the persons compelled to obey it in the burgh, 
were those within the prescribed ages, having from 40s. to 60s. in landa or 
chattels. They were to be provided with a haketon, bacenett, and gauntlets, 
or sufficient defence for foot soldiers.t Every one having from lOOs. to 10 
marks, was to provide himself with a horse and accoutrements befitting a 
hobeler.: And every one having from 10 to 20 marks in lands or chattels, 
was obliged to provide a horse and arms, in other words, he was to appear as 
a man at arms.§ The penalties to be inflicted upon those who should neglect 
to provide themselves with arms were :-in the first case the loss of a third 
part of their goods; in the second, with the loss of the remainder; and in 
the third, were to be at the King's disposal. 

In the 16th of this reign (1822} the King, having been granted a subsidy 
at a Parliament held at York, raised a large army which he thought nothing 
could withstand, and with which he again marched against the Scots; but 
as we have seen in vol. i., p. 140, his usual ill fortune still pursued him, for 
he narrowly escaped with liis life. The Scots under Robert Bruce now 
harassed and pillaged the whole of the north, and even laid Beverley under 
contribution. "The King escaping, got to Yorke," says Hollioshed, "and 
the Scotts having thus the uppere hande, after they had spoyled the monaa­
terie of Rivale, and taken their pleasure there, they passed forthe into 
Yorkeswolde, destroying that countrey even almost unto Buerley, whiebe 
towoe they ransomed, receyving a summe of money for sparing it, lest they 
shoulde have brent it as they did other." A charter of inspeximus, granted 
in the 16th year of this reign, establishes the exemption from toll, &c., of 

• Hakton or Haq~ton was a common leathern or linen doublet, slufft~d wit.h cotton 
or wool. Haubtcrgton, a small coat, composed either of plate or chain mail, without 
sleeves. Baunttt, a lcind of iron scull cap, named bacenett, from its similarity to a bllllin. 

+ This was the tm1&1 defensive Brmour worn by the iDlautry at that period. Such 
men as wanted these appointments were called naktljoot. 

t Hobeln-~ wero a species of light horsemen, deriving their names from the bobbies 
or small horses on which they rode. 

' The men at anne wore complete annour from head to foot, and were mounted on 
stout war horses. 
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the burgesses of Beverley, throughout the kingdom, London only excepted, 
a• granutl by King Joln; and ratifies and confirms former charters. 

The question whether Beverley was surrounded by walls and fortifications 
has produced two opinions decidedly hostile to each other. The two best 
historians of the town, Poulson and Oliver, differ not more widely upon this 
point than they do upon the high antiquity of the place. From a petition 
which &he burgesaee presented to Edward II. in 1821, these writers draw the 
moet opposite conclusions. Mr. Poulson says, " This petition incontestibly 
proves that Beverley was formerly a walled town."* Mr. Oliver writes, "H 
is elear from the petition that there existed no walls anterior to the reign of 
Edward II., and we possess no subsequent documents to prove that any 
active operations towards carrying the wishes of the burgesses into effect. 
reaulted from the petition ; for we find no mention of walls in the public 
.records of the town. "t But that the reader may be able to indulge in bia 
own speculations on this disputed point, we lay before him the petition, in 
u:tm~o, together with the chief arguments on both sides of the question. 

To our lord the King and to his council, the burgesses of Deve.rley pray, that it may 
please our said lord the King to confirm the charters which they have of his ancestors, 
la& Kings of England, w enclose t.be said town with a wall and ditch. And that they 
may levy from all those of the said town of Beverley, aocordi.ng to the quantity of the 
goods and chattels of each, the expenses that they have now lately or may in time to 
come be put to on account of the said enclosure, with a wall and and a ditch, for the 
impro,·cment and protection of the town of Beverley aforesaid. 

TM .dniW!".-The King will speak to the Archbishop of York, and inspect their 
cbarten, and do what i& may please him in the buainess. 

As Mr. Oliver remarks, there are no means of ascertaining whether the 
prayer of the petition was ultimately granted or not; but an expression used 
in the preamble of the commission of array, 45th Edward m. (1372), "by 
f'ea&on of the lkfect in the fortificationa," seems to intimate that the petition 
was disregarded. According to V erstegan, the word " Bury or Borough 
signifieth a town having a walle or some kind of closure about it. All places 
in the old tyme had among our ancestors the name of bourough, where places 
were one way or other fenced or fortified."! Bury, or Burgh, he tells us, 
is derived from a Saxon word signifiying to bide or bury, because soldiers 
were bid behind the walls from an enemy's view, as securely as a corpse 
when it is buried in the earth. The number of streets in Beverley which still 
retain the cognomen of gate, has strengthened the opinion that the town wns · 
regularly walled. There were five bars or gaJa, as they are called in the 

• Beverlac, p. 90. t Oliver'tl Bev., p. 16'. ! Vent. Beet. Dec.Int., p. 211. 
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south, formerly standing in Beverley. One of them, North Bar, which was 
undoubtedly fortified, is still remaining; and the others were South Bar, 
adjoining Eastgate; Norwood Bar; Keldgate Bar ; and Newbegin Bar. 
The two latter were taken down within the last half century. These Bars 
formed the principal entrances to the town, and a wall connected with (IIU)h 
of them would completely surround the place. 

Mr. Poulson (who concludes that these walls existed), in tracing the f0888 
or ditch, says, "Beginning at the North Bar, it may be followed iu a south­
westerly direction, passing the ancient site of N ewbegin Bar, along Slut Well 
Lane, as far as the spot where Keldgate Bar formerly stood. It then takes 
an easterly course, emptying itself into a drain near England's Springs, in 
Long Lane, below the Minster. Commencing again at the North Bar, it 
may be traced (although this and several other parts of the ancient fosse are 
covered over, it still senes as a water course) inclining to the eastward as 
far as Pighill Lane. In then bends southerly into Norwood, and is con· 
nected with the W alkergate drains. These present drains in W alkergate," he 
continues, in a note, "were open until within these few years past; the water, 
when it ran down the street, was known by the name of W alkergate beck."* 

Here it must be remarked, that those who deny that Beverley was a walled 
town, allow that it was fortified with a wide and deep ditch, and that the 
bars or gates were erected on this ditch. 

In the chartulary of Beverley frequent reference is made to the "gates and 
ditches," the "Barr dyke,"" West Barr dyke," &c., so early as the 14th cen· 
tury ;t a presumptive proof that ditches and gates constituted its chief 
defence. "When Edward IV. made his second successful attempt upon the 
Crown in 1471," writes Mr. Oliver, "he landed with ~.ooo followers at Ra­
venspurne, and sent out parties in different directions to sound the inhabitants. 
When he found that they had received orders not to lend any sanction to his 
pretensions, and that the gates of Hull were actually closed against him, he 
marched through BevMUy to York, which also refused to receive him. Now 
if the town of Beverley," he continues, "had possessed bulwarks of defence, 
capable of resisting the approaches of Edward's army, they must, in that 
case, be supposed to have received him favourably ; and if so, he would cer· 
tainly have entrenched himself here, and not have hazarded, in person, an 
expedition to York, without possessing any evidence of their fa.vourable 
opinion.": 

• Beverlac, p. 96. t Land's MSS., Brit. MWI. 896, Vill. fo. 189. 

t Hiat. Bev. p. IN. 
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Leland, in his Itinerary, remarks, "Beverle is a large town, but I could 
not perceyve that ever bit was waulled, though tber be certen gates of stone 
portcoleeed for defenae." In the time of the civil war Beverley was tenned 
"an open place, by no means tenable;"* and when the Marquis of Newcastle 
raised the siege of Hull, he was advised by Sir William Widrington to fortify 
the church, and some parts of the town of Beverley, that a garrison might 
be left there as a check upon the garrison at Hull. 

On the 18th of October, 1642, the Corporation of Beverley, for the better 
teenrity of the town, ordered the ditc~.a to N cut, and the bars to be kept 
locked, and guarded from 9 at night till 6 in the moming.t These may be 
oonlidered as negative proofs that the town was not surrounded by walls. 
Added to which there is not on the Patent Rolls a single grant at any period 
of a toll for building or repairiDg the walls of Beverley; nor a single allusion 
to the walls in the records of the Corporation ; besides there remain no ves­
tiges of the existence of walls, either by the voice of tradition or the discovery 
of old foundations in any part of the town. These considerations incline us 
to rank ourselves with those who maintain (in spite of the ambiguous expres­
sions used in the petition to Edward II., already cited) that Beverley never 
was a a walled town, and that ita fortifications consisted of a deep ditch 
and fortified gates. 

In the first of Henry m. (1827), that youthful monarch raised an army of 
60,000 men to repel the invasion of the Scots, under the command of Murray 
and Douglas. He issued orders from Northallerton to the Bailiff of the town 
of Beverloy, commanding him, on forfeiture of body and goods, to march all 
the defensible men "by day and night," until they joined the army at York, 
which was the head quarters. In 1822 this King granted a charter of con­
firmation to the borough ; and in the year 1888, when he sought to punish 
Dand Bruce, King of Scotland, as a contumacious vassal, Richard Dousyng, 
Thomas de Holme, and Adam Tyrwhit, were appointed jointly and severally, 
to array and train to arms all men within the liberties of Beverley between 
the ages of 16 and 60; and to bring under their own leadership fifty hobe­
lers and fifty foot soldiers, whether expert archers or not. The people of 
Beverley appe&r to have been averse to meeting the King's wishes on this 
subject, for his order was not complied with, until he accused the arrayers 
with negligence and peculation, and threatened them with summary and 
signal punishment. The King having furnished himself with an army, 
marched towards Berwick without delay ; and in the battle of Hallidown 

• Tickell's Hull, p. ~1. + To'II'U's Becorda. 
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Hill, tho Scots were entirely routed, with the loss of Douglas, their leader, 
and 30,000 men; and Baliol was acknowledged King of Scotland. On the 
24th of May, 1334, the King was at Beverley, where he signed a charter, 
granting to John, Duke of Brittany, the seizing of the lands of the late Earl 
of Richmond. The Scots soon revolted ; they considered Baliol a confederate 
of their enemy, Edward, and returned to their former allegiance under Bruce. 
Edward, on hearing of these proceedings, resolved to assist his vassal; and 
gave orders for r&-assembling his army. From Newcastle be directed his 
writ to Richard Dousyng, Adam Tyrwhit, and Adam Copendale, for selecting 
fifty horses and fifty foot from the liberty of Beverley, as before, and ap­
pointing the two former personages to be leaders. This order was followed 
by another from Rokesburgh, commanding these men to be marched to that 
town, and that they were to be provided with fifteen days' provisions.* And 
again, in 1335, they were ordered to select fifty men, within the franchise 
of Beverley, and to arm and send them to join the army under the command 
of the Earl of Cornwall, against the Scots. 

Immediately after that a writ was isaued from Nottingham, to the Baillifs 
and honest men of Beverley, to select twenty bobelers, to be sent to New­
eastle-upon-Tyne; and a very short time afterwards they were honoured with 
another royal mandate to send up ten hobelers or horsemen, in addition 
to the former number; bot this latter order was countermanded, and twenty 
archers were to be eent in place of the hobelers, in con~~equence of the 
inability of the people to comply with the requisition. In consideration of 
the aoeommodation afforded by change in the order, the people of Beverley 
tendered to the King and paid a fine of 40 marks. In 1336 a writ W1L8 

directed to the Bailift' and good men of Beverley, to select sixty men in the 
form and mauner prescribed. Having received information that the Soots, 
and their confederates in foreign parts, had fitted out a navy for the purpose 
of harassing the towns and villages on the English coast, the sea-ports were 
commanded in the lOth of this reign, to furnish ships of war to oppose them 
at sea; and to this naval armament the town of Beverley contributed one 
small sbip.t In 1888 the English were again in Scotland, supporting the 
unpopular authority of Baliol. A writ was issued this year to Richard 
Dowsing, commanding him to raise, within the liberties of the chapter of 
Beveriey, three hobelers, two mounted archers, and two arohers on foot, all 
well clothed, armed, and provided, and to convey them to the army at Perth.! 
The King being now engaged in prosecuting his war with France, which 

• Rot. Scot., vol. i., p. 303. + Ibid, vol. i., p. 4.76. l Ibid. 
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arose out of his claim to the Crown of that kingdom, the levies in Beverley 
were only occasionally raised. 

Besides the modes of raising armies stated at page IS IS of vol. i., an expe­
dient sometimes resorted to by the Kings of England to procure troops, wu 
to pardon criminals, on condition of their serving in the King's army, and 
finding security to answer any prosecution, if called upon at their return. 
What an array of malefactors must not Beverley have supplied to the King's 
forces I The town being within the privileged circuit of the sanctuary, how 
many fugitives have taken refuge there. The number must be large, for 
how great soever the guilt of the criminal, he was allowed to remain in it 
under certain conditions. " What a scene must the country have exhibited 
between the Humber and the Tweed, during the continual marching of troops 
to join the army, with parties of deserters prowling homewards, and dis­
banded malefactors again let loose upon society."* 

On the day that Queen Philippa defeated the Scots under David Bruce, 
(See vol. i., p. 148), a singular scene occurred at Beverley. The ecclesiastics 
who had not joined the army, appeared in a body, in the Market Place, with 
naked feet, bare headed, as an act of humility ; each having a sword at his 
side, and a quiver of arro\vs and a bow in his hand; imploring of God, 
through the intercession of his saints, that the efforts of the Queen might be 
successful; that the people of England may be delivered from the cruel 
enemy who sought their destruction. The inhabitants of the town, of both 
sexes, aged and young, affected by this pious and magnanimous act of devo­
tion, fell on their knees, and with tears of contrition humbly besought the 
Almighty to aid them in this dreadful extremity of affiiction ; and vowed 
constancy to each other in this public cause. 

The garrisons left in Scotland by the English for the support of the cause 
of Baliol were provisioned from England, and it appears that in 1888 "cer­
tain men of Beverley" seized and removed to a distance 700 quarters of 
malt out of 1,000 quarters, which had been purchased in the town of 
Beverley for the purpose of sending to the Castle of Stirling. The cause of 
this outrage is not known, but it is supposed that either the country could 
not spare such a supply, or the people were doubtful of payment. During 
the foreign wars, which form so prominent a feature in this reign, Beverley, 
in common with other towns, incurred heavy expenses for the supply of men, 
arms, and pro,;sions. 

These details of war must now give way to the relation of domestic occur-

• BeYerlac, p. 100. 
VOL. It. 2 0 
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rcnccs. The rolls of accounts, kept by the Governors or managers of the 
Gilda Mercatoria, throw great light upon the internal affairs of the town at 
the period to which this history is now arrived. On the grant of free bur­
gage to Beverley, by Arehbishop Tburstan, with the establishment of the 
Gilda Mercatoria, or merchant fraternity, it appears that those who professed 
a willingness to contribute to the burthens of the town, became members of 
it. For the management of the affairs of the burgh, twelve men of the guild 
were chosen annually, and these were called the twelve Governors or Keepers 
of the town of Beverley. The Gilda Mercatoria appointed lesser guilds, with 
an Alderman or Warden to each ; so that in process of time each description 
of trade was governed by its own particular rules and officers, subject to the 
approbation and control of the T,velve Governors. From the extracts from 
the accounts of the Governors, given in Beverlac, we learn that most of the 
principal streets in the town were paved in the 14th century. The cost of 
labour, and the carriage of white or chalk stones, cobbles, and gravel, are fre­
quently mentioned; and there is evidence of tiles being common at this early 
period. The Tegularii (tile makers) are mentioned as one of the fraternities 
of the ~uild. 

In the SOt_h of this reign (1865), a royal charter was granted to the bur­
gesses, containing a confirmation of the hansbus, tolls, and several other 
liberties. It bears date at Westminster, the Srd of July. And in the 51st 
of this reign, another charter was obtained by the burgesses, recapitulating 
former confirmations. This instrument is also dated at Westminster, on the 
14th of February. 

Towards the close of this long reign commenced the disputes which after­
wards brought on a protracted litigation between the towns of Beverley and 
Kingston-upon-Hull. The port of Beverley bad carried on a considerable 
trade by means of the river Hull. The merchants of Beverley freely navi­
gated that river, and its productions of every kind were theirs by delegation 
from the Lords of the town (the Archbishops of York), who held it by suc­
sessive grants of our Anglo-Saxon monarchs, ratified by charters of the 
Norman dynasty, which swayed the sceptre of this island. Their rights in 
the river bad never been disputed up to this period. But the rival port of 
Hull was now increasing in strength and opulence, and its burgesses atr 
tempted to make the merchants of Beverley pay a toll for lifting up the leaf 
or trap of the bridge, which the burgesses of that town bad thrown across 
the river. By way of set off to this demand the Archbishop, by virtue of his 
prescriptive privileges, claimed the right of tolls and other imposts in the 
port of Hull, as a part of his jurisdiction on the river; and his claims were 
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deemed so just by the commissioners, on several successive inquisitions, that 
they were uniformly allowed.* At this time too it appears that the port of 
Hull made an unsuccessful attempt to impose a rate or tax on the burgesses 
of Beverley towards building ships, probably for the public service of the 
nation. They stated in their petition to tho King, that the great expenses 
which they had recently incurred had reduced them to poverty, and prayed 
to have the assistance of other rich towns like York and Beverley. The 
burgesses of Beverley appealed against this petition, and letters patent were 
granted, exonerating them from any such payments to the men of Kingston· 
upon-Hull, towards building or maintaining any ships, barges, or boats; as 
they were situated in a dry place, and at a distance from the aea.t 

In the beginning of the reign of Richard II. the burgesses received a 
charter of general exemption from contributing to build ships, barges, or 
boats, and a particular discharge from the share they bad been required to 
take with the town of Hull, towards building a barge called Balyngenes (a 
balynger) of between forty and fifty oars. 

About this time the town of Deverley occupied the third or fourth rank 
amongst the principal towns in England, as will be seen by referring to page 
U4 of vol. i. of this history. The number of persons returned above the age 
of fourteen, was 2,663, whilst the number above the same age ta.'ted at Hull, 
was only 1,557. The entire population of Beverley at that period is calculated 
to be about 4,000 ; that of Hull 2,000 souls. The town of Beverley never 
lost its distinctive rank as the chief town in the East-Riding of Yorkshire, 
although its trade became crippled by the superior local advantages of 
the port of Hull. King Richard granted a charter of inspeximus to the 
burgesses of Beverley, recapitulating and confirming various charters of 
former Kings and Archbishops. It is dated at Westminster, the 20th of 
January, 1870. For this confirmation the burgesses paid into the office of 
the Hanaper a fine of ten marks.: 

In the third year of this reign Alexander Neville, Archbishop of York, 
having first obtained a licence of alienation from the King, and the assent of 
the chapter of St. Peter of York, granted and gave to Richard de Wo.lkington, 
John Kelk, John Garvays, Thomas Jolyf, William Dudhill, John de Walk­
ington, and others, his tenants, and burgesses of Beverley, "and to all and 
singular the burgesses and their successors, and to the commonalty of the 
same town, all tbo soil and wood called WestwooJ, in Beverley, containing 
400 acres, and the ditches and hedges enclosing the said land and wood, with 

• Rymer·a F<edera, vol. iv., p. 299. + To'lt'Jl'& Records. : Ibid. 
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all their appurtenances, to have and to bold to the said burgesses of the town 
aforesaid, and their successors, and to the commoualty of the said town for 
ever," of him and his successors the Archbishops of York, rendering there­
fore to him and his successors one hmulred ahiUings yearly, in equal portions, 
on the feasts of St. Martin an!l Pentecost, in lieu of all manner of other 
services, exactions, and demands for ever. The grant contains a clause of 
distress, saving to him and his successors powers of distraining for arrears of 
rent, and of making "one kiln only for the burning of quick lime " for his 
own use, and to be disposed of at his pleasure, "in the present quarry of the 
said wood, or in such other place where the said commonalty shall make their 
quarry, without any sale by us or by our successors, or any other in our name 
in any wise to be made, and to take there clay and stone for making the said 
lime, and also to dig and cleave other materials at our own costs ; and saving 
to us and our successors, free drift and redrift through the middle of the said 
wood, by the right and reasonable ways and paths, with all manner of our 
cattle, so that they stop not, nor are pasturcd in the said wood by the herds­
man or without the herdsman. And saving to us and our successors waifs 
and estrays, and amerciament& for trespasses done within the said wood, and 
saving to us and our tenants, and every the free tenants of Burton (resiant 
in the same), common of pasture for our and their own pigs, as appurtenant 
to our manor of Durton, with free drift and redrift through the ways and 
places heretofore used." This grant or charter is dated at Beverlcy, on the 
2nd of April, 1880. 

The King's license of alienation orders that the statute enacted as to lands 
and tenements, shall not be put into mortmain, as the Westwood was held of 
him in capiu, and was a parcel of the Archbisbopric of York. All the 
documents connected with this grant, viz. :-the indenture of agreement 
between the Archbishop and the burgesses ; the license of alienation from 
the King; the charter or grant of the Archbishop; the confirmation of the 
Dean and Chapter of York; and a power of attorney to deliver seizin, arc 
preserved in tl1e archives of the Corporation.* We may here observe with 
respect to Westwood, that its woods had not yet suffered. The reign of 
Elizabeth was the time when they were doomed to the axe. 

This great benefactor of the town of Bevcrley was one of the favourites of 
tbo King, a circumstance which ultimately proved his ruin. The malcontent 
nobles accused him, with several others, of high treason, and certain articles 

• There is n trndition that Wcs twooJ wns prcscnte.l to the rrccmcn of Dcvcrloy l,y 
two maiut)n sisters, whose " Virgin T omb," !l!autl!! in the bo<ly of tht• church, n t>ar the 
pillars of the south aisle, but this popular error i.> wholly unsupported -by evidence. 
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were exhibited against him in Parliament. The Archbishop seeing the 
gathering storm, withdrew privately from his Castle at Cawood; but was 
arrested at Newcastle-upon-Tyne, and the money in his possession, amounting 
only to .£80., taken from him and given to his captors. He, however, sub­
sequently escaped; but his temporalities were forfeited to tlJe King by a bill 
of outlawry. After living in exile for some time in great want, the Pope 
commiserating his condition, on his resignation of the See of York, translated 
him to St. Andrews. The Scots having at that time refused to acknowledge 
Pope Urban (tlJere being another claimant for the papacy in the person of 
Clement VII.), would not receive his nominee, and the unhappy prelate 
became, from necessity, a parish priest and schoolmaster at Louvain; and 
after dragging on through five years of exile died, and was buried in the 
church of the Ctu'melites in that town. 

Some of the inhabitants of Beverley had, from time to time, been con· 
spicuous in every tumult, and in the insurrection headed by Wat Tyler, the 
town was seriously implicated, several of tlJe people having endeavoured to 
make the disaffection universal. The town was consequently brought into 
disrepute with the government, and after much solicitation and delay a 
charter of pardon was conceded, only on condition of the townspeople paying 
the enormous fine of 1,100 marks, in three instalments, and ten of the most 
notorious offenders were particularly excepted, by name, from enjoying the 
benefit of "the King's special grace."* 

In the 14th of Richard II. (1890), a bellman was appointed in Beverley, 
and persons to look after the common.. pastures, now called pasture masters. 

Much inconvenience having been sustained from the want of some osten· 
sible powers, which might legally authorise a few leading individuals to take 
upon themselves the direction of the town, to adjust differences without a 
formal appeal to the Provost, to restrain vice, to prevent or punish disorder 
and crime, and to administer justice within the limits of their jurisdiction; 
an appeal was made to tlJe government of the day for charters, conferring 
those powers on a few of tlJe more discreet and opulent burgesses. Arrange­
ments were soon made, and a commission of tlJe peace was addressed to John 
Markham, William Crosseby, Robert Tyrwhit, Hugh Ardem, Richard Tyr­
whit, Thomas Lombard, John Rednesse, and Richard Beverlay, assigning to 
them "jointly and severally to keep, and cause to be kept, the peace, and 
also the statutes enacted at Winchester; Northampton, and Westminster, for 
the preservati01~ of the peace," within tho liberties of tlw borough.t The 

• Town·s Records. t Ibid. 



198 HTSTORY o~· BEVEJU.EY. 

commission is dated nt Westminster, the 16th of June, 20th of Richard II. 
(1397.) This grnnt was, in fact, an emancipation from the feudal jurisdic· 
tion of the Archbishops of York. "When it is recollected," writes Mr. 
Poulson, "that the feudal Barons, ecclesiastical ns well as lay, in order to 
guard against the nppearance of subordination in their courts, to those of the 
Crown, constrained their monarch to prohibit the royal judges from entering 
their territory, or from claiming any jurisdiction there, it may be supposed that 
this • imperium in imperio ' would not long be permitted to exist undisturbed 
by the ecclesiastical Lord of Beverley."* Indeed the commission of the 
peace granted by Richard, was perfectly incompatible with the extraordinary 
powers and privileges of the Archbishop within the liberty of the town. The 
power md influence of the Archbishop was sufficient to cause the appoint­
ment of these municipal magistrates to be annulled, soon after they received 
the commission, though the exact time when they ceased to occupy the 
magisterial bench is not clearly shewn. 

During the course of this reign, the King was frequently obliged to have 
recourse to loans to replenish his exhausted treasury. In the year following 
that in which he created the magistrates of llcverley, several cities and towns 
were called upon to contribute their respective portions, and this town is re­
quired to furnish the sum of £45. The condition of the people must have 
been very much improved, when they could be expected to advance at that 
time so large a sum. In ancient times the Kings of Euglmd borrowed 
money chiefly from the clergy, who were almost the only people who bad 
any; the wealth of the nobles consisting of lands, and tl1e produce of tl1em; 
and the common people were generally too poor to have any money to lend. 

Beverley seems to have been considered a maritime town in the beginning 
of the 15th century. In the compotus of John Leversedge and John Tut· 
bury, appointed to collect certain duties in the port of Hull, in the year 
1400, tho Charity of Beverley is noticed, as arriving there with a cargo of 
deals, logs, oars, &c., valued at £36. Ss. 8d.t In 1401 a writ was issued to 
the Bailiffs md honest men of the towns of Bcverley and Bridlington, 
directing them to build a vessel between them for the King's service; md in 
1406, when the Parliament ordered the merchants of England to appoint 
Admirals to guard the sea, Bevcrley was ono of the towns to which writs 
were sent, directing the Governor to call the merchants together, for the 
purpose of carrying the provisions of Parliament into effect. 

In the 5th of this reign, the King confirmed by charter "to the venerable 

• Be\'erlac, p. 148. t Frost's Notices of the To11·n of Hull, Appendix, p. 18. 
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father in Christ, Richard, Archbishop of York," the privileges which his 
predecessor," the Lord Athclstan," had granted to tbe church or liberty" for 
the sincere devotion which he then had and bore to the glorious Confessor, 
St. John of Beverley. This charter is dated from Licbfield. 

On his return from the north, in 141)5, Henry visited Beverley on the 
13th of September. 

About this time the Gilda Mercatoria had acquired considerable property, 
and the number of burgesses was increasing annually. The Archdeacon of 
Cleveland became a burgess, perhaps in compliment to the Archbishop. The 
freedom fine was then 20s. for admission to the privileges of a burgess; and 
the Twelve Governers were elected yearly ou the feast of St. Mark the Evan­
gelist. In 1408, the King, with his son John, Duke of Bedford, visited 
Beverley en route to the north, to put down the rebellion of the Earl of North· 
umberland and his adherents. 

The Archbishops of York had a market in Beverley on Wednesday and 
Saturday in each week. The charter of Henry IV. confirmed this privilege 
to them, excluding any of the royal officers from exercising any authority in 
them. The Archbishops had also their own hall in Beverley, but its site is 
now unknown. · 

Upon the accession of Henry V. the burgesses obtained an inspeximus, 
confirming former charters up to the 2nd of Richard II. ; and for which they 
paid a fine of twenty marks into the Hanaper Office. The commission of 
the peace not being noticed, the Twelve Governors procured another charter, 
containing extended privileges, including the commission of the peace. The 
Archbishop finding that the privileges confirmed by this charter encroached 
upon his rights and privileges, petitioned the King for its repeal. This 
petition recited how " Athclstan, formerly King of England before the Con­
quest, when he marched towards Scotland to vindicate the right of the crown 
of England, then promised and avowed to God nnd St. John of Beverley, 
predecessor of the petitioner, that if God should grant him good success in 
his said march, by giving him the victory over his enemies the Scots, he 
would endow the churches of York, Beverley, and Ripon, with profitable 
liberties and franchises for ever; which King Athelstan by the grace of God 
obtained a victory over his said enemies the Scots, and good success according 
to his own desire, and in fulfilment of his said vow, after his return to 
England, be granted to God and St. John of Beverley, among other things, 
the franchise and liberty following, in these words, A1 jru male I tM a1 Mrt 
may thynk or eygh may see." The petition then recites the several privileges 
granted by succeeding monarchs, and concludes by praying his ml\iesty to 
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annul and repeal his grant to the citizens; and exhorting him to consider 
that his late glorious viotory, and the glorious discomfiture of his enemies, 
the French, " was obtnined, by the grace of God, on the day of the transla­
tion of the said glorious Confessor St. John." In reply the King, with the 
assent of the Lords spiritual nnd temporol, in Parliament then assembled, 
confirmed nll the privileges, franchises, and liberties, of the Archbishop, and 
repealed and annulled for erer the privileges, &c., granted by himself to the 
Governors or Guardians of the town of lle'\"orley, of which the Archbishop 
complained in his petition. A fresh charter was also granted to the Arch­
bishop (Henry Bowct), confirming the privileges of the Archbishop, and 
condemning and annulling the charter granted to the Twelve Governors. 
The question here arises, whether seven of the tweh-c Governors, to whom 
the commission of the peace had been granted by Richard II., continued to 
exercise it unintemptedly during a period of nearly twenty years, which 
intervened between the date of the instmment and the above annulment. 
Mr. Poulson argues that they exercised the magisterial authority but for a 
short time after they received the commission ; and that after the death of 
Archbishop Scropc, the See being in an unsettled state, and the temporalities 
being for some time in the bands of the King, the Governors were induced 
to make another effort to obtain a commission of the peace, and hnd suc­
ceeded when they met with such successful opposition from Archbishop 
Bowet. The Governors of Beverley bad still the power, as representatives of 
their own community, of holding pleas in their own Guild Hall, relative to 
disputes arising among themselves, and of possessing houses and lands as the 
common property of the Gilda Mercatoria, that is, of the burgesses at large: 
The freo burghers were still free from tolls, &c., when they left home to visit 
markets or fairs, and they possessed the right of taking them within their 
own borough, subject to the reservations made in the grants of their Lords, 
the Archbishops of York. In 1420 the burgesses adorned their Guild Hall 
with a new lantern or cupola. 

As has already been observed, one of the brilliant victories, in France, of 
Henry V., the battle of Agincourt, which was fought on the feast of the 
translation of St. J obn of Deverley, the 21Sth of October, was imputed to the 
intercession of that Saint. Walsingham states that it was said the tomb of 
Saint John sweat blood the whole of the day, and another version of this 
miracle says, "that holy oil flowed by drops like sweat out of his tomb, as 
an indication of the divine mercy towards his people, without doubt through 
the merits of the said most holy man." 

In the beginning of August, 1421, Henry V. and his Queen, in making a 
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progress to the north, visited Beverley, to offer up their devotions at the 
shrine of St. John. 

During the reign of Henry VI. Beverley was repeatedly empowered to 
levy tolls for paving the streets, a convincing proof of its advancing pros­
perity. The first is dated 30th of January, 2nd of Henry VI. (1424), com· 
mencing thus:-" Know ye that for the devotion which we bear and have to 
the glorious Confessor St. John of Beverley, whose body lieth interred in 
the Church of Deverley, we have granted to you in aid of the paving of the 
said town," &c. The burgesses of Bevcrley were very tenacious of their 
privileges of exemption from toll, stallage, &c. A dispute on this subject had 
existed with tho men of Driffiel.d, which was set at rest by letters patent from 
John Lord de Scrope, Lord of the Manor of Driffield, confirming their claim 
of exemption. These letters are dated at Upsall, 12th of April, 6th of Henry 
VI. About this time, too, a similar dispute oocurred respecting tolls, between 
Beverley and South Cave. The toll collector of the latter place obliged tlte 
burgesses of the former to pay tolls ; and a jury gave a verdict in favour of 
the Beverley men, and asseaaed the toll collector in £10. damages. 

Another dispute, of a still more important nature, took place about this 
time between the burgesses of Beverley and the men of Kingston-upon-Hull, 
respecting the passage of their vessels through the river Hull into the Hum­
ber, free of toll. Many of the charters of Beverley give to the burgesses an 
exemption from wharfage, passage, keyage, &c., throughout all the towns and 
places in England, and coasts of the sea, the city of London excepted. In 
the reign of Edward I. the Archbishop claimed and was allowed jurisdiction 
in the river Hull, from ancient usage. And the Archbishop had delegated 
to the town of Beverley a free passage, of the breadth of twenty-four feet and 
one grain of barley, along the midstream of the river. In defiance of all this 
the men of Hull detained the vesaels belonging to the merchants of Beverley, 
and would not allow them to pass without the payment of a toll, imposed 
without any legal warrant. Legal proceedings were commenced in the Star 
Chamber, for the purpose of determining this important point. The mer­
chants of Beverley produced their charters, and contended that the toll which 
was now attempted to be imposed upon them, was a direct and illegal 
infringement of their ancient privileges. The opposite party answered that 
the preeent outlet to the Humber was not the river Hull; that the mouth of 
Hull had long been warped np by the diversion of its current into Sayer's 
Creek, which bad been cut for the convenience of the port of Hull; and that 
therefore, though they admitted the rights of their opponents in the waters 
of Hull, they denied that any such right extended to Sayer's Creek, which 
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bad been confirmed to the town of Hull by royal charter. To this the 
burgesses of Beverley replied, that the people of Kingston-upon-Hull bad 
committed a manifest encroachment on their property, by diverting the 
cuncnt of their ancient river from its accustomed course, thereby attempting 
to deprive them of their valuable privileges in it. The contest was protracted 
through a long period, and as a decision was not given against the merchants 
of Bcvcdey, and as they continued to trade as formerly, without being subject 
to the imposition of toll, it must bo conclqded that they had the advantage. 

In 144.8 King Henry VI. spent some days at Leckonfield, near Beverley, 
on a visit to Henry Percy, Earl of Northumberland, son of that celebrated 
warrior surnamed Hotspur. During the great civil war in this reign, this 
noble Earl continued loyal to Henry, and was a stout asserter of the Lan­
castJian interest. From Leckonfield the King visited Beverley, and was 
received by the inhabitants with loud expressions of joy and loyalty. He 
inspected the Minster. Bevcrley maintained its loyalty to King Henry with 
great steadiness during the unnatural war which followed. 

In the 1st of Edward IV. (1461), charters were granted, establishing all 
the rights, &c., of the Archbishop in Beverley ; and ratifying the privileges 
of the burgesses. At this very eventful period of English history, we are 
told by Mr. Oliver that the town of Beverley bad attained a point of proud 
pro-eminence, which it probably never afterwards exceeded. "It had risen," 
says he, "by gradual but perceptible steps from the darkness of paganism to 
the light of Christianity; from the imperfect knowledge of Christ, which dis­
tinguished the primitive converts in the wood of Deira, to the full blaze of 
religious splendour, which it now enjoyed, under the able superintendence of 
an enlightened priesthood, sanctioned by the immediate protection of the 
primate himself." The same reverend writer continues, "It had a most 
magnificent Minster, and two parish churches, together with several hospitals 
and religious houses, which conferred many essential advantages, both tem· 
poral and spiritual, on the town and its inhabitants; for these institutions 
were of great utility, and the monks and canons employed their revenues to 
purposes equally honourable and praiseworthy. The religious houses were 
indeed places of the most unbounded hospitality, and thus became the con­
servators of benefits, for the loss of which, at the dissolution, no subsequent 
establishment has been able fully to compensate. Authors speak in terms of 
decided approbation of the public advantages resulting from the profuse hos­
pitality generally observed in the monastic foundations. Even Hume, who 
was no friend to this order of men, could say (Hist. Eng., vol. iv., p. 184), 
'in order to dissipate their revenues, and support popularity, the monks lived 
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in a hospitable manner; and besides the poor maintained from their offals, 
there were many decayed gentlemen, who passed their lives in tnn·elling from 
convent to convent, and were entirely subsisted at the tables of the friars.' 
The monasteries were in effect so many great hospitals; most of them being 
compelled by their statutes to afford subsistence to a certain nnmber of poor 
people every day. They were likewise houses of entertainment to all 
travellers. Even the nobility and gentry, when they passed from place to 
place in distant parta of the kingdom, lodged at one religious house, and 
dined at another, and seldom went to inns.""' But the splendour and pros­
perity of Beverley aoon began to decline. The rapid increase of the port of 
Hull, by depriving Beverley of some of its most opulent merchants, circum­
scribed also its influence, and its means of resisting the persevering en· 
croachments of its more fortunate rival. The superior facilities for general 
commerce which Hull po88C88ed, gradually transferred the foreign trade of 
Beverley to that place. 

After the restoration of Henry VI., and the fiight of the usurper to France, 
the latter, as we have seen at page 167 of vol. i., having obtained the assist­
ance of the Duke of Burgundy, landed at Ravcnspume with a small army in 
1471. From Ravenspume the deposed monarch and his followers marched 
to Beverley, from whence be sent a detachment to secure the town of Hull. 
The Governor of that place shut the gates, and refused to admit them ; be 
then proceeded towards the city of York. In the 49th of Henry VI., the 
burgesses of Beverley obtained a charter, empowering them" to raise tolls for 
e-Mr, for paving the toWD. When the house of Lancaster again gave way, 
and Edward IV. re-ascended the throne, the burgesses applied for letters 
patent, to confirm the aforesaid grant of King Henry; and the application 
was granted. 

Henry VII., in the second year of his reign (1487), granted a patent of 
confirmation to the burgesses of all the charters granted before his time, of 
what kind or nature soever they might be. 

Perambulations were anciently made on one of the three days before 
Ascension Day, and these three days were called Cross Days. To these 
perambulations were added rogations, or litanies, for the good of the harvest, 
which gave the name of Rogation Week. Parochial perambulations are 
still kept up in Beverley on Rogation Monday; but we hear nothi~g now of 
litanies on these occasions. 

After the melancholy death of the humane, generous, and just, Earl of 

• History of Beverley, pp. 16!2, 1611, 166. 
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Northumberland, in 1489 (See vol. i., p. 175), his remains were conveyed to 
Beverley, for interment in the Minster. His funeral, which was most costly, 
solemn, and imposing, was marked by the spontaneous exhibition of unaffected 
grief. "The villages," writes Mr. Oliver, "were deeerted ; and the people 
everywhere left their occupations to accompany the pageant, and to see the 
corpse of their beloved lord deposited in its final resting place. All the 
neighbouring communities of religious issued from their respective monas­
teries in sorrowing weeds ; each individual bearing a torch, a crucifix, or 
some emblem of mortality in his hand, to meet and precede the illustrious 
dead ; for he had boon to all of them most kind and hospitable, and to l<>rM 

an essential benefactor. The body was at length deposited, with solemn 
ceremony, in a chapel built for the purpose in Beverley Minster; and ac· 
cording to the custom of those times, the nobility and gentry of every rank 
and station, who had been anxious to express their affection and esteem, were 
feasted at the expense of the family; and 13,340 poor persons who attended, 
received each a funeral dole in money.* Seldom have Princes been com·cyed 
to their graves," continues the same author," with greater solemnity, or more 
evident testimonies of universal regret, for the Percys, from the extent of 
their territorial possessions, the splendour of their virtues, and the unosten· 
tatious hospitality and benevolence, by which they were distinguished, were 
the pride and glory of the northern counties. The mausoleum of this 
exemplary character was adorned with blazonry, and decorated with sculpture, 
canopied by an exquisite Gothic roof, rich in statuary and friezing, and in 
every respect worthy to contain the ashes of a warrior noble, who died in the 
act of yielding obedience to tbe mandate of his Sovereign." 

Henry Algernon Percy, the fifth Earl of Northumberland, a nobleman 
of great magnificence and taste, maintained a splendid establishment at 
Wressel and Leckonfield. From the Corporation Records we learn that in 
the month of April, 1502, the Governors of Beverley were invited by this 
Earl to breakfast at Leckonfield Castle ; and in return for so distinguished a 
favour, the Governors, " for the honour of the town," presented to t'!!e Earl 
ten capons, four swans, six " heronsewes," two bit.tems, and four sholards. 
Though herons, bitterns, and sholards are now discarded as little better than 
carrion, they were esteemed luxuries for the table at the period in question. 

In the first year of the reign of Henry VIIT. (1509), the art of printing 
was introduced into Beverley and York by Hugo Goes.t Herbert says that 
Goes printed at Beverley, in the county of York, "a broadside, having a 

• Hist. Bev., pp. 173, 174. t Hans. Topog. 
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wood-cut of a man on horseback, with a spear in his right hand, and the 
arms of France on his left. Emprynted at Beverley, in the Hye-gate, by 
me, Hugo Goes." Tha same authority tells us that he used for a device the 
letter H, and a Goou, in allusion to his name.* Goes did not remain long 
at Beverley--a proof that he did not receive much encouragement there. 

The bnrgeeses obtained a charter of inspeximus in the second of this rei~, 
and from a charter granted to the Archbishop in the 17th of the same reign, 
it is clear that the relative situation of the burgesses and that dignitary, 
respecting their rights and privileges in Beverley, still continued the same. 
The tenants and resiants of the Archbishop, within the jurisdiction of the 
liberty of Beverley, had no other privileges than such as they derived through 
him, and were perfectly distinct from the burgesses. " Whereas;· says the 
charter, "from the time of the revered memory of the Lord King Athelstan, 
our progenitor, heretofore King of England, who for his sincere devotion 
which he bore towards the glorious Confessor of God, St. John of Beverley, 
heretofore Archbishop of York, and especially for the great victory which he 
had over the Scots, granted to God and St. John aforesaid, and to the church 
of Beverley divers liberties, franchises, and privileges, in the words following: 
• ...tls fr~ make I tlw at Mrt may tAif&M or ugh may '"•' by virtue of which 
general words the Archbishop of York, and all his predeceBSors Archbishops 
of York, and their tenants and resiants within the town of Beverley aforesaid, 
and the liberty and jurisdiction thereof, by pretext and in virtue of the said 
general words, from the timo of the aforesaid grant hitherto to have been free 
and quit of loll, pont<Jgt~, pauag~, pruagt~, laltag~, •tallag~, and of ·laga11, ewag~, 
and of 14Mg, and of all other such customs and exactions whatsoever, which 
pertained or might pertain to the King himself throughout his land, and 
throughout all his royal dominion and realm, and all and singular other 
Kings of England, our progenitors, from the time of William the Conqueror, 
heretofore King of our realm of England, and the aforesaid William the 
Conqueror, have severally ratified, confirmed, and approved, to God and to 
St. John, the Archbishop of York, the tenants and resiants within the said 
town of Beverley, and liberty and jurisdiction thereof, the liberties, franchises, 
and pririleges aforesaid, as in the charter thereof before us, and our council 
ehewn more fully appears. "t 

From this charter it appears that the celebrated words, said to be in the 
first charter of Athelstan, now lost, " Als fre make I the," &c., had not lost 
their efficacy in the days of Henry vm., nor were they likely to want a 

• Herbert'11 Topog . .Ant.iq. by Dibdin. t Town's Records. 
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liberal construction at the bands of Cardinal Wolsey, to whom the present 
charter was granted. The " tenants and reeiants " of the Archbishop do not 
appear to have been, up to this time, upon the same footing with the bur­
gesses of Beverley, ae to exemption from toll, &c., but now at least they 
were so. A confirmatory charter was granted in the Sist of the same reign. 

About the 17th of this reign two donations were made to the town, which 
had for their object the encouragement of learning. Two Fellowships were 
founded in St. John's College, Cambridge; one by "Master Robert Halli­
treebolm, of Beverley, clerk; the founder to nominate to it during his life, 
and after his decease, every succeeding vacancy to be filled up by the Master 
and Fellows of the said College. The Fellow to be a native of Beverley or 
its neighbourhood, to be in priest's orders when elected, or within twelve 
months after; and to sing and say masse for the said founder, and of his 
father, mother, brethren, aisters, ancestors, benefactors, and all Christian 
souls. The original endowment was £120. sterling." The other Fellowship 
was" founded by Dame Johan Rokeby and Robert Creyke, her son, to be 
called for ever their Fellowship. The Ft>llow to sing masses for their souls, 
and the souls of Sir Richard Rokeby, Knt., and of Thomas Creyke,late father 
of the said Johan, and for all their posterity. The amount of the original 
endowment was £170. sterling, and the Fellow was to receive quarterly forty 
shillings."* In 1538 the claims of the town of K.ingston-upon-Hull, to the 
payment of tolls upon "shypps and botts" passing through their haven into 
the Humber were renewed. The burgesses of Deverley persisted in their 
right to a freedom of passage, and peremptorily refused submission to the 
impost. After much expense bad been incurred by a suit at law, the dispute 
was referred to the Abbot of Meaux, and was settled under his award by the 
following" Artycles of agreem't betweyne Hull and Beverley :-Furste, Yt ys 
agreyde, that the inhabytaunts of Beverley shall pay to the burgesses of Hull 
for ev'ry quarter of wheat a penny, and ev'ry quarter of other grayne a halfe­
peny, that they schall carry thorowe Hull haven; that is to say, from Scul­
coots goot to Humbre, yf they or theyr ankers or fesh w't'in the saym, or lade 
within the haven; and in lyke case the inbabytants of Hull to pay to the 
burgesses of Bev1ey lyke somes from Hull-brigg to Snorome house, if they 
either anker or fesh, or take away com within the same. By me, Ricardum, 
Abbatem de Melsa.. "t It is perhaps uncertain whether this award applied 
to tlte "tenants and resiants " of the Archbishop, who had lately received 
the privilege of freedom from toll. 

• ToWD'a Beoo.rds. t Frost"s Notice& of Hull, p. 32. 
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The suppression of the lesser monasteries, in 1586, must have created an 
alarming sensation in Beverley, which contained several of these minor 
establishments; because one source of the prosperity of the town arose from 
the expenditure of the revenues of its religious houses; and it was universally 
believed that this statute was but a preliminary step towards a general alien­
ation of all the monastic property. The Dailiffs of Beverley, Richard Wilaon 
and William Woodmansie, appeared to have espoused the cause of the insur­
gonts, under Robert Aske, and to have taken with them a supply of men. 
When the rebel leaders, however, were executed, the Bailiffs of Beverley 
escaped, although they were exempted by name on the proclamation of pardon. 

About the year 1540 Beverley was visited by John Leland, the celebrated 
antiquary. He approached the town from the Driffield side, and thus 
describes it:-

"ADd al this way bytwixt York a.nd the puke of LekenAeld ya meat.ely fraiteful of 
eom a.nd grasae. but it Jw.h little wood. I 1eamid that al this put of the Eat-RydiDg 
ys yn a handred or wapentake caulid Herthill. ADd sum say that it cmmmith one W&:f 
to Wreshil, a.nd of other parts touchith much on the bounds of the wolds, but the wold 
itselt is no put of Herthil ; Pocklington, a market town, of a aurety ys in Herthil, and 
some aay ignorantly that Beverley ya also. But Beverley men take them sell aa an 
exempt plaoe. (Here JollmD• .ame rt~~~aTa cm uc:kottfold, wlakla will be Jt1UNI i" tAl 
GCCOIIIU of aAGt plao. At 11 l&lbuq1Unlp<~~e.) These tbinges I notid at Be.erle. The 
tonne of Buerle is 1arp and welle buildid of wood. But the fairest put of it is by 
north, and ther is the market kept.. Ther was much good cloth making at Beverle, but 
that is now much decayed. The toane is not wallid, but yet be there these many fair 
gates of brik-North barre, Newbigyn barre by west, and Kellegate barre by west al110. "• 
On his second l'isit, having made two, he says " Beverle ia a large towne, but I could 
not perce:JTe that ever it waa wallid."t 

In 1544 Edward Lee, Archbishop of York, by indenture dated November 
12th, exchanged the manors of Beverley, Southwell, and Bishop Burton, with 
the Crown, for the dissolved Priory of Marton-cum-Membris, in the county of 
York, and other manors formerly belonging to religious houses.: 

The Collegiate Society of St. John of Beverley continued for five years after 
the dissolution of Monasteries, when it fell, with all similar foundations, by 
the act of 1st Edward VI. (1547). But as a sort of compensation to the 
inhabitants for the loss of their ecclesiastical institutions, the King soon 
after granted two charters to the town, both dated on the same day. These 
charters confirmed all the ancient privileges of the burgesses and other 
inhabitants. A new state of things now commenced in Beverley. The 
tenants and resiants on the fee of the Archbishop became the tenants and 

• Vol. vii., put 1, folio M. t Vol. i., p. 1, eq. : Dnke'a Ebor., p. ~1. 
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resiants of the King; and the great ecclesiastical establishment, with all its 
extraordinary pow.ers and privileges, was no more. A part of that property 
which had formed the re,·enues of the church of St. John of Beverley, was 
now granted to the town by a decree of the Exchequer, dated 6th of Edward 
VI., which empowered the Twelve Governors to receive such portion of the 
rents and farms as amounted to £88. Ss. lOd., towards the repairs of that 
church, which has been in succeeding years emphatically called the Minster; 
and also to receive the profits belonging to the late chantries of St. John 
of Beverley, and St. William, founded in the church of St. John, of the 
yearly vnlue of .£4. 18s. 4d., with an arrear of .£62. l4s. Sd., to be applied 

. to the same purpose.* But the borough of Beverley eoon began to feel 
the loss it had sustained in the dissolution of the ecclesiastical establish· 
menta, for it declined rapidly from the standard of its former rank. 

After the marriage of Queen Mary with Philip of Spain, a charter was 
granted to the burgesses of Beverley, empowering them to receive the tolls 
aud stallage of the town, by land and water, which had now devolved upon 
the Crown; for this privilege the burgesses were to pay to the Crown 
annunlly the sum of .£5. 6s. Sd.t A charter of inspe::cimus was also granted, 
reciting, confirming, and ratifying former charters. 

In the first year of the reign of the " Virgin Queen," the dispute between 
the burgesses of Beverley and the town of Kingston-upon-Hull, relative to 
the right of a free pa.ssage to the Humber, was revived. The men of Hull 
actually closed the leaf or trap of the north bridge erected by Henry V.III., 
and hence the commerce of the merchants of Beverlcy was wholly suspended. 
In this state of affairs the burgesses of Beverley presented a petition to her 
:Majesty's privy council, setting forth that the Mayor and burgesses of Hull 
had closed their bridge so that " no ship, brayer, or keel, with mast erect, 
could pass through the same, to the great detriment not only of the town of 
Beverley, but also to the hindrance of any quantity of timber to be brought 
so near the Queen's bigness' pier of Hornsea, by ten miles, for maintenance 
thereof, and also to the tenants on the wolds barren of wood." Besides the 
burgesses of Beverley, the names of the inhabitants of Fish lake and Hatfield, 
the Queen's tenants, and of the township of Hornsea, were appended t.o this 
petition.: As in a former case the matter \Vas submitted to arbitration, and 
a bond was executed, under the penalty of £!WO., by Alexander Stockdale, 
Mayor, and Robert Dalton, and James Clo.rkson, Aldermen, of Hull, to the 
Governors or Keepers of the town of Beverley, covenanting that they would 

• Town's Records. t Ibid. t Ibid. 
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abide by the award of the arbitrators, touching the enclosing of the leaf of 
the middle of the said bridge. This bond is dated 24th of April, 1569. The 
fiye arbitrators were Robt. Wright, Esq., of Welwick; Robt. Constable, Esq., 
of Hotham; Thomas Grimston, Esq., of Goodmanbam; Antbony Smetbeley, 
Esq., of Brantingham; and Thomas Doweman, gentleman, of Pocklington. 
The award of these gentlemen, dated at Kingston-upon-Hull, 12th of June 
in the same year, directed that the Mayor and burgesses of the latter place 
shall, before the 24th of June next following, dil-clou the above said bridge 
onr the river, so that the inhabitants of Beverley and their successors, and 
all the inhabitants adjoining the river, may fqr et~er pass and repass in their 
vessels, tDith tMir wuutl 1tanding, to and from Beverley; and further ordered 
that in consideration of the expense of opening the said bridge, that the 
Governors and keepers of the town of Beverley shall pay to the Mayor and 
burgesses of Hull, the sum of £80.; viz., £16. on the 2Srd of June, 1550, 
and £16. more on the 2Srd of June, 1660.* And thus this vexed question 
was finally disposed of. After this decision the Queen granted two charters 
to the town of Beverley, both of which confirmed all the liberties and privi­
legee conveyed by any of her predecessors ; but the second contained, in addi­
tion, a confirmation of the second of Henry V., which empowered several of the 
Gonrnors to act as magistrates within their own liberties; and which charter, 
it will be recollected, had been annulled. The privilege contained in the 
latter charter (which was the last granted to the Governors aa a Gilda Mer­
catoria), was of mnch conaeqnence to the town, and seems to have been most 
anxiously desired. From the time the jurisdiction of the Archbishops of 
York had ceased in the borough, the justices of the East-Riding would 
take cognizance of felonies, &c., committed within the town and liberties of 
Bevedey; but now the twelve Governors were constituted justices of the 
peace for the borough. 

In the 15th of this reign (1678) the town of BeTerley received a Ohamr of 
Incorpomtion. This charter, which passed the great seal on the ~4th of July 
in that year, gaTe to the new body politic and corporate the style and title of 
"JlaytW, Got1mum, and Btwg~~U~, of tM Town of B6Hrl8y :" and appoints 
Edward Ellerker, Eaq., to be the first Mayor.t This charter not only con­
ferred on the burgesaes a municipal juri.sdi.ction, but it re-admitted them into 
the legiel.ative assembly of the nation. As early as the reign of Edward I., 
the town of BeTerley sent two burgesses to Parliament ; but they bad long 

• Town's Records. 
t Town•s Records. This charter is dated at Goahambury, and is most beautifully 

illuminated. 
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since ceased to avail themselves of the privilege, if indeed they could be per­
mitted to exercise it. This charter, however, restored to them the right to 
send to Parliament two representatives from their own body, to guard and 
represent their rights, privileges, and necessities; and it sets forth that "the 
circuit, precinct, and jurisdiction of the town, shall be the same as before the 
date of these presents are said to ~xtend themselves and reach." 

In the following year an exemplification was obtained by the new Corpora­
tion, which defines the extent of the liberties of the borough, within which 
their future jurisdiction was to extend. On the north side of the town the 
borough included the " lyttle village or hamlett called Mollescrofte, with the 
feildes and terrytories thereof;" on the west it extended to "a crosse of stone, 
distante from Beverley three quarters of a mile, or thereabouts," which "was 
lately, and of recente remembrance, in the fields and territory of Bishopp 
Burton ;" to a parcel of ground, "distante from the town one quarter of a 
myle, or thereabouts," called Langley Hagg, bounding on Westwood on the 
south-west ; on the south of the town it extended to a "stone crosse yet 
standinge, boundinge on the feildes of Bentley," distant from Beverley about 
three quarters of a mile; and to the boundaries of the "pasture and arable 
lande and meadowe, called Beverley Parke, lately disparked." The boundary 
of the borough also extended to Waghen Ferry, and included the hamlets of 
Woodmaneey, Theame, Weel, Tickton, Hull-bridge, and Stork, on the south­
east and east ; and to "Eske, on Hull Water banke, on the northe parte." 

In 1679 a grant of certain chantries, lands, aud tenements, formerly be­
longing to the Collegiate establishment, \Vas made by the Queen to the 
Corporation of Beverley, to be applied to the sole purpose of repairing and 
maintaining the fabric of the Minster. In the beginning of April, 1681, 
about six o'clock in the afternoon, the shock of an earthquake was felt here, 
" which made the bells to jangle in the steeples."* In the same yesr an 
exemplification of a decree was issued from the Exchequer for "the stipends 
of £21. 16s. 8d., payable to the minister of the Collegiate Church, and £16. 
per annum to an assistant in the said chtirch, to be paid by her Majesty's 
receiver at Michaelmas Day and Lady Day, by equal portions." By this 
decree the Mayor, Governors, and Burgesses, are empowered to nominate the 
minister and assistant on any vacancy. Four years afterwards the Queen 
granted to the Corporation, by her letters patent, a quantity of land, ten&­
ments, tithes, woods, and other valuable property, in and about Beverley, and 
formerly the property of the church, for the maintenance of the Minster, and 

• Beverlac, p. 829. 
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other poaeessions for the use of St. Mary's Church. Mr. Poulson, who gives 
a copy of this very long instrument in his Bnerlac, says, "It is a most prin­
cely gift, and is estimated to be worth in the present day ten or twelve 
thousand pounds per annum. The convulsions of the civil war, which after­
warda shook the kingdom, the death of the monarch, and the usurpation 
of Cromwell, occasioned, it is presumed, the lo88 of a great part of this 
munificent donation."* It ia proper to observe that this latter grant was 
made in consequence of a petition from Sir James Crofte, Knight, comp­
troller of her MI!Jeety'e household, and "in consideration of the true and 
acceptable service " rendered to her MI!Jesty by this " our beloved servant 
and couneellor." 

Up to this time Weettrood still continued literally a wood, although it has 
now lost all claim to that appellation. In the year 1684. the necessities of 
the Corporation were eo great, that they determined to remove and sell as 
much of the timber from Westwood, "as by them shall be thought good and 
sufficient for performance of the affairs and buaine88 so required ; that is, to 
disburse and defray divers several sums of money, which otherwise cannot be 
accomplished." 

This was the first warrant for the destruction of that forest which gave 
name to one of the common pastures of the town. From the rolls of accoun~ 
for that year we learn that more than 1,000 trees, principally oak and ash, 
were then disposed of. At this time a great fair or mart, called Cro88 fair, 
was held at Beverley; it was principally attended by the Londoners, and 
lasted fourteen days. In the Corporation Records of this period, the town 
clerk calls the Guild Hall the Htrf~Mho1ue, which is a proof that they were 
synonimous terms. 

In a temporal point of view, Beverley suffered severely from the effects of 
the Reformation in religion. Notwithstanding the great munificence of 
Queen Elizabeth to the town, it gradually sunk to decay, and never rallied 
after the suppression of the religious houses. In 1699 the inhabitants were 
incapable of paying their just proportion to the taxes necessary for carrying 
on the bneine88 of the state. Their incapability was laid before the Queen, 
who remitted a portion of her demands, and by letters patent, dated the 7th 
of April, granted to the town a discharge of £221. 6s. due to the crown, for 
the third, fourth, fifth, and sixth fifteenths and tenths, granted to her 
Majesty by an Act of Parliament, passed in the 89th year of her reign ; and 
further exonerating the town from the payment of fifteenths and tenths 

• Warlnuton'e ChroDologie&liDdex. 
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during the royal pleasure. This document rooites that Beverley, which was 
once very rich and populous, " is now become very poore, and greatly depo~ 
ulated, in so muche as there are in the same 400 tenements and dwelling&­
houses utterly decayed and uninhabited, besides eoe greate a nomber of poore 
and needie people altogether unhable eo to be ymployed any waie to gett 
their owne lyvinge, as the saide towne is constrayned for the relief of them 
yearly to disburse £105., besides the ohardge of bringing upp and ileepinge 
of fowerscore orphans at knitting, spynnyng, and other workes, according to 
an acte made in the 39th yeare of our reigne." And the cause which it 
assigns for this deplorable state of things, is the translation of the staple, 
lately there kept, to the more convenient port of Kingston-upon-Hull. "The 
causes assigned for this decay," writes Mr. Poulaoo, "are twofold-the re­
moval of the staple to Hull, and the dissolution of the Minster or Collegiate 
Society of St. J oho," The same authority continues, "The second cause 
asaigned for the impoverished state of the place is very likely to have had ita 
share in producing the effects complained of, and may serve to confirm the 
opinion of those who assert that the dissolution of religious houses contributed 
to the increase of pauperism in England. The suppression of the rich 
Society of St. John, who relieved ihe poor on their own lands, and in their 
neighbourhood, to whom not only their kitchens, but their granaries were 
ever open, more especially in times of dearth, would be severely felt. When 
the church lands were sold by Henry VIII., at easy purchases, it was then 
declared to be for enabling the buyers to keep that wonted hospitality. It is 
hardly necessary to add that this was ne'l"er attended to, compulsory la11'11 
were eoon found necessary to oblige the parishes to support the poor, and 
Beverley, it seems, was burdened at this early period with a poor rate, if the 
term be admiseible, of £105. a year."* 

In the second of J ames I. (1604 ), the plague raged in the north of England, 
and every precaution was used to prevent the infection from being introduced 
into Beverley. An order was made to exclude strangers, and no person from 
the city of York or the other infected districts was allowed to attend the fairs. 
In 1608 the town was visited by a tremendous hurricane, which did incalcu­
lable mischief. The Minster received considerable damage, its splendid win­
dows being demolished, and its roof stripped of t.he lead. In 1610 the plague 
raged with great violence in the town. From the month of June to Novem­
ber the disease increased so rapidly as to supersede all business. The shops, 
the public offices, and even the churches were closed, o.nd numbers left the 

• Beverlac, p. 34.0. 
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town. A lazaretto or pest house was erected, on the ruins of the Com­
mandery of St. John of Jerusalem, to which those who were infected fled for 
refuge. But the dead were ao numerol18 that they were buried in large boles, 
without the performance of any religious ceremony, or interred in tumnli, of 
considerable extent, on the western aide of the moat.• "The street ealled 
Londoner's Street," says Mr. Oliver, "was eloaed by a barrier placed at each 
end during the continuance of the plague, and the dead bodies were now 
conveyed in great numbers through the yard of the George and Dragon loo, 
and buried in tumnli in a field adjoining the outer Trinities. "t 

In the 4th year of Charles I. (16~9), a charter of inspeximus was granted 
to the burgesses, confirming the charter of incorporation of Elizabeth, and 
authorizing the Mayor, Recorder, and Twelve Governors, to act as Justices of 
the Peace. This charter cost the burgesses the enormous sum of £401. 4s. 
The town had been recently divided into wards, and an order was now made 
by the Corporation, assigning to each Governor his division of it, and placing 
i& distinctly under his peenliar jurisdiction, "according to the King's direc­
tions." In 1687 the plague raged in the neighbouring town of Hull, and 
the Corporation of Beverley adopted great precautions to prevent the intro­
duction of the contagion into the town. It was ordered that no concouree of 
people should assemble, "and that upon woman's occasions, as childe bearing 

· or christenings and the like, ther shall not bee above ten persones at once, 
and thoee to bee of their especial friends and neighbours," under pain of 
"~Os. to be forfeited by the partie that causeth the meeting." No person 
waa allowed to "receive any goods from Hull, as linen clothes, wool, or 
woollen, or anie other goods, upon payne of forfeiture of £5., of lawful English 
monie, for each offence." And it was also decreed "that no manner of 
persones within this towne of Beverley shall resort unto the said towne of 
Kingatone, for any commerce whateoever, without the license of Mr. Maior 
and two of the Governors at leaste, upon payne of 10s., to be levied by distress, 
and for want of distress to bee imprisoned for three days, and then fined 
sureties for good behaviour." And if any inhabitant of Beverley entertained 
any inhabitant of Hull, without a certificate from the Mayor of Hull, and 
the approbation of the Mayor of Beverley, and two of the Governors, at least, 
of the same town, the person so offending forfeited £IS.: 

Dnring the stay of Charles L at York, in 1689, he visited Hull in the 

• ID 182~. whilst the Messrs. Tindall'K were excavating the west and Dorth wes1. sides 
of the mO&t, which BUJTOunds the Trinities, a coDsiderable mll88 or hnmm bone~~ wa.e 
diaoo•ered. These were the remains of the 'rietims of thia unreleDtiDg scourge. 

t Hist. Bev., p. 198. f Town's B~ords. 
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month of October, and passed through Beverley. There is no account of the 
particulars of this royal visit, except the following, in the Corporation Recorda, 
from which it is clear that the town was not prepared for the expenaea 
attending this honour. " Payd at the comeing of his M~eaty into this 
towne, for officers' fees and gratuities, £47. Trees 'Within and without the 
Trinities solde to defray the same. 

In the assembly commonly called the Long Parliammt, the town of 
Beverley was represented by Sir John Hotham and Mr. Michael Warton; 
the former was afterwards Governor of Hull, and the latter was one of 
the commisioners appointed by the Commons to be aaaistanta ·to the said 
Governor.* The representatives of Beverley, as adherents of the Parlia­
ment, stand prominently forward, they having taken an active and decided · 
part in those scenes of blood and civil warfare which have excited the 
astonishment and execration of mankind. The inhabitants too arrayed 
themselves in the ranks of the Parliamentarians. From the Corporation 
Records we learn that " According to Of'der and dinaWn from Sir J obn 
Hotham, one of the burgesses in the House of Commons, for the town of 
Beverley, the Mayor, Governors, and Burgesses, took the vow and prota­
tation taken in Parliament." It should appear that Sir John's inftuence 
'vitb the burgesses was great, as, according to this entry, be both Of'lht-«l 
and direcUd the burgesses to take the Parliamentarian test. And it was 
rese"ed for Sir John Hotham to perform the first act of indignity against his 
legitimate Sovereign. At p. 1<180 of vol. i., and p. ta of this vol., we have 
seen that nobleman refuse the King permission to enter the town of Hull, on 
the 28rd of April, 1642. After that memorable repulse Charles retired to 
Beverley, and lay there that night. From Beverley the unfortunate Monarch 
returned to York. The Parliament having now proceeded to active prepara­
tions for war, the King in his own defence was obliged to follow their example 
in the best manner he could. The Queen, having disposed of the Crown 
jewels, as well as her private jewels, in Holland, purchased a considerable 
quantity of arms and ammunition, and sent them by the ship Providence to 
England. These stores were landed in Kayingham Creek, in Holderness, 
and on the 2nd of July, 1642, a troop of horse passed through Beverley to 
Holdernesa to secure them for the King. On the same day a company of 
foot soldiers, called Strickland's regiment, consisting of about 800 men, under 
the command of Lieut.-Col. Doncombe, was placed to secure a strong post 
at Hull Bridge, on the side of Beverley, that the town might not be subject 

• Tiokell'e Hull, p. 878. 
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to any sudden attack from the garrison at Hull. The soldiers having taken 
forcible po888811ion of the house of William Cuthbert, at Hull Bridge, about 
midnight, were joined by the Earl of Newport, the Earl of Caemarvon, 
and several other noblemen, including Sir Thomas Gower, then High 
Sheriff of the county. This company remained there for about ten days, 
and was succeeded by Colonel Wyvil, with about 700 soldiers, who then took 
po88888ion of that post. On the 4th of July the King removed his court 
from York to Beverley,·and took up his residence at the house of Lady Gee,* 
with Prince Charles and the Duke of York. Three or four regiments, under 
the command of Sir Robert Strickland and Lieut.-Col. Duncombe, formed a 
guard of honour about his person, and the Earl of Lindsey was invested with 
the chief command of the royal army which was stationed there. 

The reduction of Hull was the object the King had in view in removing 
his court to BeTerley, and during the siege of that place Beverley was the 
head-quarters of his M~esty. Before he proceeded to lay siege to Hull, he 
published a proclamation, dated 8th of July, 1642, explaining his views and 
inwntions; and three days afterwards he sent a message from Beverley to 
both Houses of Parliament, entreating the members to return to their allegi­
ance. The court of this monarch in hie adversity was very splendid. He 
was attended by all his faithful nobility; not one, says Clarendon, remained 
at York; besides a numerous retinue of private gentlemen.+ It is to be re­
gretted that the town's .records contain no information relative to the King's 
residence here during the siege of Hull. The confusion the pla.ce was in at 
the time, the subsequent plunder of the town, and eventual flight of the 
Mayor, it is very probable prevented the official acts of the Corporation being 
properly registered, and may account for the deficiency. When all attempts 
to reduce Hull tailed, the King returned to Beverley, but the rebels followed 
him by a circuitous route, and unexpectedly crossing the imperfect ditches at 

• Thia wu a large DWIIiou, the Bite of which is u.i.d to be the ground upon which 
now stand the Bar Ho11168 and the residence of Dr. Sand with. 

+ The following ia a list of the uobilitJ who formed the monarch's court at BeYerle7 
oD the pnl88Dt ooeuioD. The Lord Keeper the Duke of Richmond; Marquises of 
Harttord and Hamilton; Earls of Bath, Berkshire, Brilltol, Cumberlaud, Carlisle, Caer­
uarron, Cambridge, Clare, Dorset, Devonshire, DoYer, HuutiDgdoD, LiDdaa7, Newport, 
Nortlulmptou, Southampton, Salisbury, Moumouth, Newcastle, Tbauet, and Westmor­
land; Lords Andover, Coveut.ry, Chaudoa, Charlea Howard of Cbarltou, Duuamore, 
Capell, Mowbra7, S&.range, Lougaville, Faueoubridge, Bicb, Lovelace, Paulet, Newark, 
S.ville, Se:ymore, Paget, Mohun, Faulklaud, and Gra7 ot Rut.biD; Mr. Secretuy 
Nieholu; Lord Chief Justice Ballkee; Mr. Comptroller, and Mr. Chancellor of the Ex. 
chequer.-Drczke•• Ebor., pp. 160, 166. 
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the North Bar, beat down the sentinels, and penetrated into the very centre 
of the town, before the Royalists were aware of the pW'8wt. Charles having 
taken refuge in the Hall-garth, the troops gave the rebels battle in the streets. 
Disappointed in their design of securing the King's person, they made but a 
feeble resistance, and soon fled with precipitation back to Hull. 

Charles and his court now retired to York, leaving a body of troops to 
secure Beverley to his interest; but this party was beaten from the plaoo by 
a strong detachment sent from Hull, headed by Colonel Boynton, nephew to 
Sir John Hotham. The town of Beverley was now in a deplorable state. 
All labour waa suspended; and the authorities, who were then divided in 
opinion respecting the merits of the dispute between the King and the Par­
liament, were at a loss how to conduct themselves in this pressing extremity. 
Mr. Poulson truly remarks that whatever might be the predilection of the 
inhabitants for either of the great parties engaged in the contest, they were 
compelled to yield to circumstances. The open situation of the town, unpro­
vided with fortifications, or the means of making any effectual resistance, 
alternately subjected it, from its proximity to Hull, to the commands and 
exactions of both Royalists and Parliamentarians. 

When Sir John Hotham formed the design of abandoning hie own party, 
and embracing the King's cause, the town of Beverley was garrisoned by 
about 1,000 Parliamentarian soldiers, under the command of Col. Boynton; 
and the next day after the eaptnre of Hotham in the streets of Beverley, a 
rescue was attempted by a body of the Royalist aol.diera, who invested the 
town for that purpose, but were repulsed with considerable loss. • 

The kingdom now exhibited the sad spectacle of cities beleaguered, villages 
plundered and burnt; and the face of the country displayed a shocking pic­
ture of waste and desolation. Beverley was converted into a depot for 
prisoners; and being situated between York and Hull-the former poseesaed 
by the Royalists, and the latter by the republicans-the inhabitants were 
subjected to the consequence of every vieieaitude of both the contending 
parties. Lord Fairfax, the Parliamentarian General, having been appointed 
Governor of Hull, sent hie son Sir Thomas to the command of the garrison 
of Beverley, consisting of 26 troops of horse, and 2,000 foot.t The Earl of 

• The attempt to bribe Lieutenant Fowkes, son.in.law to Mr. Beclnrith, of Be~erley: 
together with the derection or Sir John Hotham, and his son, Captain Hot.ham, from 
the e&tl88 they had espoueed, and their seeretly negoci..ati.Dg to deliver up Hull, Be'ferley, 
and Linooln, to the RoyaliAts: together with t.be flight and capture of Sir John at 
Beverley, will be found detailed in our account of the siege or Hull. 

t Ruahwort.b'e Collections, vol. v., p. 280. Fairtax himself states that he had at 
Beverley but "the hone and 600 men:• 
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Newcastle soon after coming to besiege Hull, entered the town of Beverley 
and attacked them furiously in the streets with a superior force. The 
Royalists were victorious, and pursued the flying republicans to the very 
gates of Hull. In this conflict the rebel troops fought with much intre­
pidity, and the townsmen on each side joining in the affray, many lives were 
loet. The streets, streaming with blood, were strewed with bodies wounded, 
dying, and dead. 

After this skirmish the Royalists returned to Beverley, and there and then 
a frightful scene of confusion and distress was exhibited ; for the town was 
giTen up to plunder. The soldiers divested the inhabitants of much portable 
property, and droTe all the cattle in its neighbourhood to York. Warburton 
says, the plunder of Beverley amounted to £20,000. The second siege of 
Hull commenced immediately after, on the 2nd of September, 1648, and 
lasted until the 11th of the following month. At its close Sir Thomas 
Widdrington suggested, in his letter to the Marquis of Newcastle, that it 
would be fit to fortify the church and some parts of Beverley, that a con­
siderable army might be left as near to Hull as possible; but happily this 
was not carried into effect. In the course of this year the Mayor of Beverley, 
.Mr. Robert Manby, was displaced from his office by the Parliamentary com­
mittee at York, for going with the Marquis of Newcastle and taking with 
him the mace, &c.* Throughout the whole of this unhappy contest Beverley 
was completely overawed by the garrison at Hull, and all intercourse with 
London being cut off, the inhabitants would depend upon Hull for the supply 
of such commodities as were the fruit of foreign commerce. When the 
extreme principles of the Parliamentarians became apparent in 1644, several 
officers in their army threw up their commissions; and as Mr. Warton, the 
only remaining member Cor Beverley, resigned his seat in Parliament at that 
time, it is probable that he then returned to his allegiance, for he was sub­
sequently persecuted by the intrigues of the Parliamentary party. Afterwards 
the King conferred upon him the honour of knighthood, but he was so 
impoverished by the confiscation oC his property, that he could scarcely 
maintain the rank of a gentleman. To presene the wreck of his property 
he was obliged to compound with the commissioners of the Parliament by a 
grievous fine. His eldest son, a fine youth or nineteen, Cell at Scarborough, 
in deCence of his Sovereign.t Upon the elevation of Cromwell to the pro­
tectorate, the Corporations were purged of such portion of their members 
as were inclined to favour the restoration of monarchy, and at Beverley 

• Town's Records. 

VOL. 11. 

t Wool. Life ofWarton, p. 2. 
2 F 
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were found thrcr. such persons. Messrs. Manby, Ellerington, and Fotherby, 
"'ere formally displaced; and three Independents, Messrs. William Wil­
berforce, John Jobnson, and William Waide, supplied their places, in 
the Council Chamber. The inhabitants of Beverley bad suffered severely 
during the late commotions, for besides the expense to which they bad been 
subjected, in furnishing and equipping men for the army, the fairs and 
markets had been discontinued, and the Londoners, who had been in the 
habit of resorting to Beverley, as their principal mart in the East-Riding, had 
ceased their periodical visits. But now the business of the town proceeded 
in its usual course; the marts and markets were revived, and the Londoners 
continued to use its fairs with advantage for many years, although a restric­
tive regulation had been made by the Corporation, for the protection of their 
townsmen, that every London merchaut who remained at Beverley more 
than twenty days after his goods bad arrived at Hull, should be subject to a 
tine of .£20. a week for any prolonged stay beyond that period. In 1650 
the Royal Arms were taken down and those of the Commonwealth substituted, 
at the Common Hall and also at the North Bar. The mace also underwent 
an alteration, the Arms of England and Ireland being substituted in the room 
of the ornaments indicative of royalty. In the Corporation accounts for this 
year are mentioned the charges for repairing the pillory and stocks, "for the 
terror of the wicked and the encouragement of the good." 

Charles IT. was proclaim~ at Beverley on the 12th of May, 1660, amidst 
the ringing of bells, and to the great joy of the inhabitants, as well of the 
nation at large. The boroughs now underwent a second purgation, and the 
Corporations \vere cleared of all individuals who were violently attached to 
the republican party; and at Beverley these appear to have bad a decided 
majority on the bench, there being no less than seven Aldermen who refused 
either to take the oaths, or to subscribe to the declaration. The King's Arms 
were again restored to the Town Hall and North Bar, and means were taken 
to put the Crown in possession of the fee farm rents. A new charter was 
granted in 1663 (15th Chas. 11.), which extended the privileges of the bur­
gesses, by giving them the right of choosing thirteen of their own number 
annually to represent them in the Corporation; and it contains a code of 
laws for the good government of the borough. It recounts the rights, privi­
leges, and immunities, of the Corporation ; appoints a Court of Record to be 
held every Monday, for the purpose of holding pleas of such things as may 
happen within the town ; confirms their markets and fairs, and protects 
them by a court of pye powder. The expenses attending this charter 
amounted to £401. 4s. In 1664 a pestilence again raged at Beverley. 
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The dead were conveyed to the Trinities, and buried iu heaps, and the 
lazaretto was again in requisition" as a sick hospital. 

By a writ of Richard, Archbishop of York, bearing date 2Srd of October, 
1667, a number of persons in Beverley, both male and female, received sen­
tence of excommunication, and were subjected to the disgrace of public 
penance, for adultery, fornication, and incest. In 1671 another writ of 
excommunication was issued by Robert Hitch, Archdeacon of the East 
Riding, dated October 31st, for similar crimes ; and several public penances 
were inflicted in 1684.* In the latter year the" Lord Choife Justice" dined 
at Beverley with the Corporation, for which dinner the sum of £18. Os. Gd. 
is entered in the accounts. 

The respective trades still existed here under the government of their 
different wardens, and a wool trade was also carried on. 

In the first of James II. (16861, the last charter \vas gnwted to the town 
of Beverley, and by it the Corporation were again incorporated, under the 
new title of the Mayor, Aldermen (instead of Governors), and Burgesses. One 
of its clauses empowered the King, to remove at his pleasure, any member 
of the Corporation; and he did actually, by a mandamus, in the follo,ving 
year, remove the Recorder, four Aldermen, and four Capital Burgesses. 
The renewal of this charter cost the Corporation £482. !Ss. 4d., and three 
sums of £40. Ss. each. were presented to three persons for their trouble in 
proceeding to London to obtain it.t The total .number of charters granted 
by Kings and Archbishops to the town of Deverley, from Athelstan to 
James II., amount to si:ety, besides volumes of patents, and licences to the 
town for private purposes.! 

The family of the Wartons, of Beverley Parks, appears to have recovered 
somewhat from the ruinous destruction by which it was impoverished during 
the civil war; for in 1685 Michael Warton and Sir Ralph Warton contested 
the borough of Beverley with Sir John Hotham, when the latter was defeated. 
In 1687 the dispute between the towns of Beverley and Hull, respecting the 
payment of tolls for passing through the river Hull to the Humber, was 
again revived. This privilege of the former place was ever regarded by the 
port of Hull with a jealous eye. The water-bailiff of Hull seized some fir 
deals belonging to a merchant of Beverley, which brought on a law suit, bnt 
the jury once more gave a verdict in favour of Beverley. 

The arbitrary conduct of James alienated the affections of his subjects; 
and the Prince of Orange was invited to England. At this juncture he made 

• Ex. Reg. S. Johan. t Ex. MS. t Oliver's Beverley, p. 337. 
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11 feeble attempt to make an atonement for his errors, by issuing a proclama­
tion for restoring Corporations to their ancient charters and franchises; but 
it was too late; the Prince of Orange arrived; James privately departed out 
of the kingdom ; and the crown was placed upon William 'a head without 
11 struggle. 

A number of Danish soldiers having landed at Hull, for the se"ice of the 
new monarch, they marched to Beverley; and during their short stay, two 
young soldiers having bad a quarrel during the voyage, sought the first 
opportunity of a private meeting, to settle their difference by the sword. 
Their fate is recorded in the following doggerel epitaph, still remaining in St. 
Mary's churchyard:-

" Here two young Danish souldiers lie, 
The one in quarrell chanc'd to die; 
The other's head-by their own law, 
With sword was scver'd at one blow.''• 

During the 18th century sentences of excommunication were pronounced 
against a large number of persons of both sexes residing in Beverley, and 
penances were performed both in the Minster and St. Mary's Church. In 
the united parishes of St. John and St. Martin, no less than 143 persons 
were either excommunicated or did penance, between the years 1709 and 
1766. The number was also great in the other ~wo parishes. The crimes 
for which these persons were punished were chiefly adultery, fornication, 
and incest. 

The town of Beverley presented loyal addreaes to the Crown, on the pro­
clamation of peace, in the beginning of the reign of George Ill.; on the 
proclamation of war with North America in 1775; on the ratification of the 
definiti\'e treaty of peace between Great Britain, France, and America, in 
1783 ; on the disinissal of the ministers of the Crown in the year following; 
one of congratulation in 1786, on his Majesty's escape from the desperate 
attempt made by Margaret Nicholson upon his life; and in 1789, addresses 
of congratulation were presented to the King and Queen on his Ml\iesty's 
recovery from the dangerous malady by which he had been attacked. 

About the year 1794, when it was feared that the French intended to 
invade England, most of the towns in the kingdom raised a temporary corps 
of cavalry or infantry to se"e near their own homes, and protect their own 
property. The Beverley Voluntur~, which appeared for the first time clothed 

• In the regist<~r of St. 1\lary's parish are tho following entries:-1680, Dec. 16, 
Daniel Straker, a Dani11h trooper, buried. Dec. 23, Johannes Frederick Bellow (be­
headed for killing the other) buried. 
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and accoutred, in the Market Place, on Christmas Day, 1794, was superior 
in numbers to the corps raised by the port of Hull, and were soon ready to 
act in concert with the regular army. 

In 1795 H. R. H. Prince William of Gloucester honoured the Corporation 
of Beverley with his company to breakfast, in the Council Chamber, when 
the freedom of the borough was presented to him by the Recorder. 

In 1808 an Act was obtained to enable certain Commissioners to levy a 
rate upon the inhabitants for lighting, watching, and regulating the town, 
and from this time Deverley exhibited a new and imposing appearance. 
Upon the fall of Napoleon the proclamation of peace was published here 
amidst great rejoicings, and in the evening the town was illuminated. The 
Market Cross exhibited the most striking feature-its columns being adorned 
with spiral wreaths of brilliant lamps, interspersed with laurel, olive, and 
evergreens, and the ums were decorated with elegant festoons of small lamps 
tinted with every variety of colour. "The Cross," says Mr. Olivcr, "thus 
arrayed in its habiliments of variegated flame, exhibited the appearance of 
some rich palace of fairy land, which had been decorated with pearls and 
diamonds by an invisible agency, for the reception of some beloved Princess of 
more than mortal beauty and accomplishriumts." Similar displays took place 
at Beverley, when the bill of pains and penalties against the unhappy Queen 
Carolina, had been abandoned ; and on the occasion of the coronation of 
George IV., on the 19th of July, 1821. 

In 1824 the commissioners for lighting, &c., the town, under the Act of 
1808, contracted with Mr. John Malam to light the streets with coal gas 
for twenty-one years, at the rate of £400. per annum. In consequence of 
this contract be built extensive gas works, at a considerable expense, and 
the streeta were first lighted with this material in the month of December in 
that year. Doubts having arisen whether the Act of 1808 would legally 
authorize the commiSBioners to light the town with go.~, application was made 
to Parliament, and an Act was obtained in 1825, empowering the commis­
sioners to " cause the streets, lanes, and other public passages, within the 
town and liberties of Beverley, to be lighted with gas, or oil, or any other 
material, at such times of the year, and in such manner as they may think 
proper." They were also authorized by this Act to erect or purchase gu­
ometers; to break up the soil and pavement of the stret,ts for laying pipes; 
to let out lights to individuals ; to repair the footways ; to water the streetS; 
and many other useful purposes. 

On the occasion of the visit to Hull of the British Association for the 
Advancement of Scie~ee, in the month of September, 1863 (See page 156), a 

o tzoobyGoogle 



HISTORY OF BEVERLEY. 

numerous party of its members made an excursion to Beverley and !<'lam­
borough. The literary and scientific visitors arrived in Beverley at an early 
hour, and proceeded to Mr. Crosskill's works, and thoroughly inspeoted tbe 
principal objects there. They then witnessed the working of Samuelaon 's 
digging and Bell's reaping machines, in an adjoining field; and afterwards 
proceeded to the inspection of the Minster. Groat was the admiration of all 
the strangers on seeing the beautiful Pcrcy Shrine and the Lady Chapel. 
Several gentlemen suggested that a model should be taken of the Percy 
Shrine, so that in case it should at any time be damaged, tbe churchwardens 
could immediately have the part restored on referring to tbe model. The 
excursionists then proceeded by railway to Flamborougb, and from thenoe 
returned to Beverley, where they were entertained by the Mayor (Dr. Sand­
with) and Corporation of that ancient borough, to a dinner in the Mechanica' 
Institute. The Mayor, in proposing as a toast the British Association, very 
appropriately designated it" a gem of England's brightest hue." 

When her Majesty Queen Victoria honoured the neighbouring town of 
Hull with a visit, in the month of October, 1854, the Mayor of Beverley (H. 
E. Silvester, Esq.), was amongst the distinguished personages by whom the 
royal party was received, on their arrival by railway from Scotland; and be 
afterwards presented addresses to her Majesty and her Royal Consort, Prince 
Albert, from the loyal Corporation of this borough. (See page 79.) 

SOIL, DRAINAGE, &c.-The soil of much of the district in the neighbour­
hood of Beverley, comprising the \Vhole of Holderness, and the rest of the 
flat country to the south of the town, is of an o.lluvial character, consisting 
of a mixture of marl, clay, or mould, sand, and gravel. Mr. Young, in his 
Geological Sun·ey of the Yorkshire Coast, observes that it is improper to 
rank the o.lluvial covering among the strata, as it is not, properly speaking, 
a part of the series, but a covering spread over the whole. The alluvial sur­
face, a.s might be expected, is usually thinnest where the strata is most 
elevated, and in some parts of the hills the rocks rise to the very surface. In 
the regular strata of the district, Mr. Young describes the chalk as the upper­
most rock in respect of geological position, and as being of very considerable 
extent, forming nearly the whole of that amphitheatre of bills denominated 
the Yorkshire Wolds. Those chalk hills form an arch or bow, having one 
end at Flamborough Head, and the other at .Ferriby-on-the-Humber, while 
the middle part bends inwards towards the river Derwent; making a sweep 
similar to the bend of that river. 

In early ages the country around Beverley had been subject to violent and 
sudden floods, proceeding from a rush of waters from the wolds, the conse-
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quences of a rainy season, which frequently broke the banks of the river 
Hull, and covered the low lands to a considerable depth, so that the people 
were obliged to use boats for the purpose of attending Beverley market. 
Mter the stormy winter of 1768-4, the banks of the Hull were broken, and 
the turnpike road, from Whitccross to Beverley, stood four feet deep in water 
for a considerable time. Mter the accession of George ill. to the throne of 
England, and when the arms of Great Britain were successful in every 
quarter of the globe, a general peace ensued. The inhabitants of Beverley 
and the surrounding district, relieved from the vicissitudes of an extensive 
continental war, began to direct their thoughts towards the peaceful pursuits 
of agriculture, and the improvement of the soil. By the modern system of 
drainage, the low lands, subject in many parts to inundation, and conse­
quently of little comparative value, have been brought ·into a regular and 
systematic course of cultivation. By drainage the soil has been fertilized; 
much land has been reclaimed to the community at large, which had hitherto 
been of little senice; and, what is still of greater importance in a physical 
point of view, it has banished those epidemic diseases, which were generated 
by the constant ex.halations proceeding from the stagnant waters and mo­
rasses, by which the town of Beverley was surrounded. By means of the 
Holderness drainage, the \vhole level for several miles round Beverley have 
been drained, at an expense of between fifty and sixty thousand pounds.* 

The neighbourhood of Beverley affords all the facilities both for pleasure 
and emolument that can be desired by the gentleman or the man of business. 
The roads are excellent; the land is in a high state of cultivation, and 
generally very productive; the country affords game and fish in great abun­
dance, and the genial salubrity of the air conveys to the situation all the 
blessings of health and longevity. The scenery around is sylvan and 
pleasing, and the town itself at a distance appears as if em bosomed in a wood. 

Situatiort, Population, Eztent, clc.-BEVERLEY is an ancient borough and 
market town, situated in the midst of an extensive and well-wooded plain, 
near the foot of the wolds, in the East-Riding of Yorkshire. It is distant 
about 9 miles N.N.W. from Kingston-upon-Hull, 29 miles E.S.E. from York, 
10 miles E. from Market Weighton, 18 miles S. from Dri.ffield, and 182 N. 
from London. It is locally situated in the Hunsley Beacon division of the 
Wapeotake of Harthill (but has a separate jurisdiction), about one mile W. 
of the river Hull, and on the line of Railway from Hull to Bridlingtoo and 
Scarborough. The Parliammtary Borough of Beverley comprises the parishes 

• Strickland's Agricult., p. 104. 
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of St. John, St. Martin, St. Mary, and St. Nicholas, the first of which 
includes the townships or hamlets of Aike (part of), Eske, Molescroft, Stork­
hill with Sandholme, Theame, Tickton with Hull Bridge, Weel, and Wood­
mansey with Beverley Park; and the Municipal Borough comprises the 
parishes of St. Mary, St. Martin, and St. Nicholas. The area of the pariah 
of St. Mary is 570 acres; of St. Martin, 7 60 acres; o.nd that of St. Nicholas, 
898 acres. There are besides about 1,07 4 acres of common pastures. The 
rateable value of St. Mary'a parish is £10,880.; of St. Martin's parish, 
£9,187.; and of St. Nicholas's parish, £11,821. The Parliamentary Borough 
contal.ins about_ 9,600 acres. Of late years the population of the town and 
liberty of Beverley has sustained a progressive increase. In 1801 the 
number of souls was 6,001; in 1811, 6,731; in 1821, 7,664; in 1881, 8,302; 
and in 1841, 8,671. In March 1851, the population of the Parliamentary 
Borough was 10,058; viz. :-4,77 4 males, and 11,284 females; and that of 
the Municipal Borough, 8,915; viz. -4,183 males, and 4,732 females; the 
quota of St. Mary's parish being 8,682; of St. Martin's, 3,917; and of 
St. Nicholas's, 1,816. The return for the parish of St. Mary includes 99 
persons in the House of Correction and Gaol, and that of St. Martin, of 60 
persons in the Union Workhouse. The number of houses in the pariah of St. 
Mary, in 1861, was 843; in St. Martin's, 968; and in St. Nicholas's, 3U. 

Beverley, as we have shown, was formerly surrounded by a deep fosse or 
ditch, and was entered by five bars or gates. The length of the town, from 
the Beck to the site of tho toll-bar, a little beyond the County Hall, which 
forms the terminating point on the north, is about a mile and a half; but 
then nearly half that distance is only a single street. Many of the streets 
are narrow-the characteristic of an ancient town ; but the Market Place, 
Norwood, North-Bar-Streets-Within and Without, are spacious and noble. 
Many of the ancient streets and lanes have been swept away, and the grass 
grows where markets were formerly held. Thus in the reign of Edward 
m. a market is described as being situated in a .. comun 11ia, .. which ran 
from the end of Minster Moorgate. The precise situation of this lane is now 
unknown, but it probably extended across the grounds of Beverley Hall. 
The names frequently occur in ancient documents of Broumhri.gg LaM, BmitA­
hill, Ecutgate, St. John'• Acr1, Bracksnthwait4, Fryth-dyk4, Ryngand Lam, 
Brathw1ll, Brydalmyding Lam, Schomarlat LaM, Stiklt.iU, &aul, and Alt:U­
gate :* but to few of which a local situation can be absolutely assigned. Open 
water courses or drains formerly ran from Westwood, by the side of Pickhill 
Lane, and crossing the junction of Hengate and Norwood, penetrated through 

• Yide lAnds. MSS., 896. Compotus of St. John's Church, da~d 1«0. 
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the town. At this junction was a ford, termed A.uujora, and at the end of 
Walbrgate a bridge was thrown over it, which was ealled Orou Bridgf, and 
here John de Ake built a chapel. A lane called H«Ugarti Lmu is supposed 
to have proceeded from the Friars, in a line parallel with Flemingate, and 
ending at a place formerly called Cockpit HiU, which now forms the com­
mencement of the street called Beckside. A place called Pr«>ena', Garth is 
supposed to have been on the north side of the eaat end of the .Minater; and 
some think that the Prebendal houses and the Hall Garth were situated all 
together. A ro&d leading from Keldgate Bar to Cottingham, through 
Bevedey Parks, was called WIU111ftiU. The Provoeta' books mention a place 
in Hengate called Stapil/Apkgartl.; and PotUrgau occurs in the same docu­
ment, and wu in Riding•, on the road to Grovall (Grovehill.) (}Q,1My lAru, 
or Gallows Lane, the site of the old gallows, was a lane leading to the west 
front site of the old toll-bar near Moleacroft. 

The present street called Flmlingate (the entrance to the town from Hull) 
derived ita name from the Flemish merchants or eeterlinge, who 6xed their 
residence here in ee.rly time8, and rendered the town famous for the excellence 
of ita ooloured cloths. This street is mentioned as a public way, in a charter 
of conveyance, to Rievaulx Abbey, as early as the reign of King John. 
The views of the east end of the .Minetar from different parts of Flemin­
gate are nry fine. On the south side of that church stands the ancient 
.Manor HoUBe for Beverley Water Towns, called the Hall Ganlt, now an 
inn, called the Admiral Duncan. Before the suppression of the Collegiate 
establishment of St. John, the Provost's Court, or the Court of Bedem, 
wa.e held here, where caasea might be tried for any sum ariaing within its 
liberties, which, according to Mr. Lawton 's Bona Notabilia, comprised, be­
llides the town or borough of BeYerley, the parishes of BrandeebortDn, 
Cherry Burtou, Leckoofteld, Leven, Middleton-on-th&-Wolds, Ottringbam, 
Patrington, Sigglestbome, Scorborough, South Dalton, and Welwick, to 
which Bacon, in his IA1Hir '&gU, adds Halsham and Rise. It poeeeesed 
alao a criminal jurisdiction oYer tbat district. The gaol of the provostry was 
attached to it. The manorial courts are etill held hen~ twice a year, and 
some of the privileges of the old Provost's Court still attach to this manor. 

The bailding, which contains some remains of the old court and gaol,* 

• "It it Mid, but I eaanot Wl OR what authority, that thia priton ia within the Ju.rU­
cliction of St. Peter, at York. I am aleo informed that there ia a low room in the Oeorge 
and Dragon Inn, divided by a beam in the ceiling, one halt of which is within the same 
juriedic,tion; and that debtors have been known, within the memory of man, to take 
~here, and bid defiance t.o their oredit.ors."-OUon'• Blfllf'ky, p. 276. 
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'vas formerly moated ; and traces of the moat are yet visible. An old tradi· 
tion makes this the site of the residence of St. John of Beverley. The manor 
of Beverley Water Towns, together with the Hall Garth, were purchased of 
Lord Yarborough by the late Richard Dixon, Esq., and John Dixon, Esq., 
of Nafferton, is the present owner. 

The Bedem is supposed to hue been in Minster Moorgate. It was 
afterwards called Barton Hall Garth. King Edward I. was entertained at 
Beverley Bedem in 1299. Eastward of the Minster are places contiguous 
to each other, called Th4 Friarr and Paradu~ Garth; the former was pro­
bably the site of the monastery of the Black Friars; and the latter a place 
of retirement and contemplation for the religious. Wickliffe tells us that 
the green space in the middle of the cloisters of a religious house was called 
Paradile, and signified the greenness of the inmates' virtues above others; 
and that a tree in the middle implied the ladder by which, in gradations of 
virtue, they aspired to oelestial things. Some consider Paradise Garth to 
have been the site of a chantry ; the lane leading to it from the east end of 
the Minster, and now known as Charity Lane, was formerly called Chantry 
Lane. Others suppose that at this place stood the Hospital of St. Nicholas. 
A great number of antiquities have been dug up in this locality. The place 
called Paradise is now a garden, and moated round, and is separated from 
the Friars by the Hull and Scarborough line of railway. 

The Trinitia was the name by which the site of the ground now occnpied 
by the Railway Station, coal depot, &c., was formerly known, Here stood 
the religious establishment belonging to the order of St. John of Jerusalem, 
dedicated to the Holy Trinity. The Trinities, and the fit>Jds eastward of 
them, were called, before the Conquest, the Maruw of Rydingu, and was 
&88igned by St. John to the church. It retained the same name in the 14th 
century, and at present nearly all the property to the eastward of BeTerley, 
between the town and the common pasture of Swinemoor, is denominated the 
Riding Fuldl. The mansion of Sir Charles Hotham, Bart., was erected on 
the Trinities, about the middle of the last century. The house was subse­
quently sold to Thomas Wrightson, raft' merchant, who took it down and 
sold the materials. 

Keldgate is frequently mentioned in the registers of the proToetry, with 
precisely the same orthography which it still retains. Mr. OliTer, who, as 
we have already seen, endeaTours to trace the origin of the name Beverlac, to 
the Druidieal ceremony of drawing the shrine or emblematical beaver out of 
the lake, says, that the rite was performed in honour of Kid (Cerea), whenoe 
the name of the street Ked or Keldgate ia derived. "This female divinity," 
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he continues, "was also denominated Hm-wen (Old Lady), whence perhaps 
Hengate and Ladygate; and was the daughter of Llyr, whence Lairgate." 

The roe.d from without the North Bar to West\vood and Hurn commons, 
was formerly called Ovcbtvlpit lAm, or Duckingstool Lane, from the ducking 
or c11cking stool which formerly stood near the North Bar Dyke at the end 
of dlat lane. This mode of punishment, which was originally introduced 
here by the Archbishop of York at a very early period, rendered the North 
Bar Dyke a pool of terror to the termagant and shrew. (See the note to p. 
338 of vol. i., and p. 186 of this vol.) 

The street called NNbiyging, or NNbegin, was in ancient times occupied 
by the principal inhabitants of Beverley. It ia repeatedly named in the 
registers of the provoetry so early as the reign of Henry Ill. 

The street now called Highgate formerly extended to Butcher Row, and 
was called Lo7100n or ~ Strm, because the London merchants that 
attended the ancient marts here, 8('t up their standings and exhibited wares 
in that street. 

About 8 quarter of a mile from the west end of Norwood, near the road 
leading to Arram, is PicklaiU, the site of a moated building, which some have 
conjectured to be St4n'Uy Plac~, the residence of the Copendales, a distin­
guished family which flourished at Be"ferley in the 14th century. The moat, 
which is still filled with water, encloses about half an acre of ground, now 
occupied as 8 garden. According to the author of Beverlac, the followiug 
gentlemen had mansions in Beverley in the beginning of the 18th century, 
Sir Charles Hotham, Bart., in the Trinities; Sir Michael Warton, adjoining 
North Bar; John Moyser, Esq., Alured Popple, Esq., and Francis Boyn­
ton, Esq., North Bar Street Within; - Warton, Esq., Newbiggin; Warton 
Warton, Esq., in Eastgate, let to Sir Robert Hildyard, Bart.; Ffrancis 
Appleyard, Esq., in Lairgate,formerly St. Giles's; Yarburgh Constable, Esq., 
in Keldgate; Ffrancis Appleyard, Esq., in Toll Gavel, let to Samuel Dalton, 
Esq.; Mrs. Gee (widow of Wm. Gee, Esq.), in Toll Gavel; and Jamea 
Hewitt, gent., in W alkergate. Several of the insulated mansions now in 
different parts of the town, enjoy all the advantages of a country situation, 
uuited with the benefit of the social institutions which characterise a populous 
and respectable town. The principal residences in Beverley are those of 
Jamea Walker, Esq., B6Wrlly HaU; Charles Reynard, Esq., NorV!oocl Houu; 
General Marten, in North Bar Street Within; Harold Barkworth, Esq., 
Hengate; Charles Brereton, Esq., and Thomas Sand with, Esq., North Bar; 
Robert Wylie, Esq., W. H. Bainton, Esq., and J. A. Hudson, Esq., North 
Bar Without; H. E. Siba~ter, Esq., Hvrn Lodg'; St. Mary'a Vicarage; 
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John Gilby, Esq., and Thomas Shepherd, Esq., New begin; William Crose­
kill, Esq., and H. L. Williams, Esq., Walkergate; Richard Hodgaon, Eeq., 
Westwood Road; Thomas Denton, Esq., Flemingate; J. Williams, Eaq., 
Thomas Crust, Esq., H. K. Cankrien, Esq., and Colonel Hutton, Lairgate ; 
and R. G. Boulton, Esq., Wednesday Market. 

No part of the town is too lhickly crowded with a dense mass of population, 
and lhough some of the streets and lanes are narrow and confined, yet, as 
we ban already remarked, some of the principal thoroughfares are remarkably 
spacious, and the whole is well paved and lighted, and exoeedingly clean. 
Indeed Beverley is remarkable for order and regularity, as well as the clean­
liness of its streets, and to this well ordered state of atlhlrs perhape may 
be attributed its almost entire exemption from epidemic diseues. During 
the prevalence of cholera in all parte of the kingdom in the years 1882 
and 1849, the number of cases of that dreadful scourge were TerY few indeed 
in Beverley. 

Besides the two magnificent churches (the Minster and St. Mary's), the 
other vestiges of antiquity in the town are the remains of the moats which 
formerly surrounded the inner Trinities and Paradise; the wall and gateway 
of the Friars; the North Bar, though mutilated by modern improvemena, 
and the remains of the ditch or fosse by which the town was surrounded. 

As some workmen were digging in the foundations of an old house which 
had been taken down in North-Bar-Street-Within, belonging to H. Ellieoo, 
Esq., in the month of August, 1827, they found several human skeletons at 
the depth of about seven feet from the present surface, imbedded in gravel. 
The bodies were found at a distance of three or four feet asunder, and some of 
the bones were uncommonly large. 

ECCLESIASTICAL EDI.FICES.-CoLLEGU.TE SoclETY or ST. Jostc.­
When John Archbishop of York, afterwards called St. John of Beverley, 
visited the humble church in the forest of Deira, about the year 700, we 
have seen that he enlarged or rebuilt the t:difice. Leland, Sir William Dog­
dale, and Tanner, tell us that he built or added to it a presbytery or choir, 
and converted the church into a monastery.* The original building was 
dedicated to God in honour of St. John the Evangelist. In the new choir 
ho founded a community of monks, dedicated under the invocation of St. 
John the Baptist; and on the south side of the church he built an oratory, 
for a society of religious virgins or nuns. This oratory, which was dedicated 
to St. Martin, afterwards became a parish church. In the body or nave 

• Lel. Coll, Tol. ili., p. 100. Dog. Mon., ,.al. ii., p. 26. Tan. Not., p. 1126. 
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of the church he founded a College of seven Presbyters or eecular Canons, 
and as many clei'Ks, dedica~ in honour of St. John the Evangelist. This 
collegiate and moDaBtic establishment being completed, be placed it under 
the superintendence of his friend and disciple Brithunns, whom he consti· 
tuted, aooording to Bede and Leland, the first Abbot of Beverley, in the year 
70.£. For the support of the whole establishment, he purchased the manor 
of Ridinga, and then built upon it the church of St. Nicholas, or the Holme 
Church ;• and with this manor and church, be gave to the establiabm.eot 
lands in Middleton, Welwick, Bilton, and Patrington. The founder's infln· 
eDCe with the Saxon nobility appeara to have been unceaaingly exerted in 
behaJ1 of this institution, and many of them increased its endowments. Soon 
after the foundation of the Abbey, the Archbishop was engaged in consecrating 
the church of South or Bishop Burton, where resided Earl Pucb or Puca, 
the Lord of the Manor of that place, The Earl's wife being ill of a dangerous 
malady, the prelate was requested to visit her, and pray to heaven for her 
recovery. Aeoordirlg to Bede his prayers were heard, the patient recovered 
her health, and in gratitude to God and the prelate for this miraculous cure, 
the Earl became a benefactor to the moDaBtery, making his daughter Yolfrida 
a nun in the establishment, and giving with her the manor of Walkington.t 
Yolfrida died on the Srd of the Ides of March, A.D. 74.~, and was buried at 
Beverley. The manor and advowson of North or Cherry Burton were pre­
sented to the Abbey by Earl Addi, and the chapels of Leckonfield and 
Scorborough were built by the same pious nobleman. In process of time 
theee chapels became parish churches. "The monastic life," writes Mr. 
Poulson, " has seldom been fairly represented either by its friends or its foes. 
To the one it is all perfection, to the other all deformity. In truth it was 
neither of these, but, like most human institutions, composed of both. No 
one, who believes that he possesses an immortal so!Jl, will deny the value of 
seasons of retirement for religious meditation and communion with the Deity, 
and there may be circumstances to justify a man in devoting the declining 
years of an active life to the exclusive performance of those duties." The 
learned author then observes that monks were by no means useless members 
of society, far from it. "Still less," he continues, "were they, as has often 
been alleged, exclusively devoted to luxurious enjoyment. At no period of 
their existence has this been tme of many of them, in the age now referred 
to it was true of none.": According to the custom of these times the Abbey 

• Lel. Coll, vol. iii., p. 100. t Bede, lib. v., c. a. Lel., vol. ill., p. 101. 

t Benrlac, p. ~~~-
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of Beverley was for religious of both sexes, as the retirement of the cloister 
seemed to possess attractions for the Sa.xon ladies. The origin of theae 
double monasteries, for males and females, is ascribed by Dr. Lingard, " to 
the severity with which the founders of religious orders have always pro­
hibited every species of unnecessary intercourse between their female diaciplea 
and persons of the other sex. To prevent it entirely was impracticable. 
The functions of the sacred ministry," be continues," had always been the 
exclusive privilege of men, and they alone were able to support the fatigues 
of husbandry, and conduct the extensive estates which many convents had 
received from the piety of their benefactors. But it was conceived that the 
difficulty might be diminished, if it could not be remo't'ed ; and with this 
view some mona.stic legislators devised the plan of double mona.steries. In 
the vicinity of the edifice destined to receive the virgins who had dedicated 
their chastity to God, was erected a building for the residence of a society of 
monks, or canons, whose duty it was to officiate at the altar, and superintend 
the external economy of the community. The mortified and religious life to 
which they had bound themselves by the most solemn engagements, was 
supposed to render them superior to temptation ; and to remove even the 
suspicion of evil, they were strictly forbidden to enter the enclosure of the 
women, except on particular occasions, with the permission of the superior, 
and in the presence of witnesses."* 

At page 172 we have seen this venerable and sainted founder of our Abbey, 
weighed down by a long life of toil and care, retiring to his favourite retreat 
at Beverley, and after four more years spent in preparation for the coming of 
his God, we saw him yielding up his spirit to him that gave it. We have 
observed that his body was buried in the portico of the church,t and that 

• Antiq. Ang. Su.. Church, p. 121. 

t At the time of the death of our founder the portico of the church was the usual 
place of interment for distinguished personJI8e&, for there existed a law to prevent the 
dead from being deposited in the church. The primitive mode of sepulture, used by 
heathen nations, was to convey their dead to a convenient distance from the place of 
their residence, and inter them in the fields. The first Christians followed their ex. 
ample in this respect. But the places where martynl and other distinguished Christians 
were interred, aoon becoming consecrated in the opinion of the people, altars, and after. 
wards churches, were erected on the spot; and monarchs, who had rendered essential 
services to Christianity, were allowed to be interred in the church porch; a privilege 
which was soon extended to Bishops, and other eminent ecclesiastics; and even to lay· 
men who had done the church some sernoe.-Cou11Cil of Nantu, can. 6. Bede tells ua 
t.ha& this law was violated in behalt of Archbishop Theodore, whose body wu buried '" 
CM c1turc'-, and the custom onoe llllowed, soon prevailed throughout the whole ldJisdom. 
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numerous miracles were stated to have been wrought at his tomb.* From 
this period to the rei~ of King Athelstan but little is recorded of the Abbey 
of Beverley. Only three of its Abbots' names are known-Brithunus, who 
died in 788; WiuwalduR, a monk of the house, who died in 71Sl; and Wul­
feth or Wlfeht, the third Abbot, who died in 778. We have also noticed the 
all but total annihilation of the Abbey by the ruthless Danes in 866, and 
the retnm of some of its former inhabitants in 870, and the partial restora· 
tion of the church and other buildings ; we have seen King Athelstan pros­
trate before the tomb of the saint, imploring his protection; laying his sword 
upon the altar as a pledge of future good to the church, should his expedition 
prove successful. We beheld him depart with the consecrated banner of St. 
John of Beverley carried before him; and we have seen him return in 
triumph to fulfil his vow, and redeem his sword. Wo ba..-e likewise noticed 
his charter, granting to the church many exemptions, privileges, and immu· 
nities, including the right of Sanctuary; together with a grant of the lordship 
of Beverley, and lands in other places. 

When Athelstan visited Beverley, the lands of St. John, which bad been 
terribly devastated by the pagans, were still sufficient for the support of 
eeveral priests, who lived together, and went forth to their dependent chapels, 
or flld kirb, for the purpose of dispensing the doctrines and consolations of 
religion among the people committed to their charge. The following extract 
from a Latin manuscript, in the library of Corpus Christi College, Cam­
bridge, entitled" De Abbatia Beverlaci," which is quoted by the author of 
Beverlac, shews that Athelstan gave to the society he founded here somewhat 
of a Collegiate form, which was subsequently remodelled by Archbishops 
Alfric and Aldred :-" King Athelstan, in the 18th year of his reign, which 
is in the year of the Incarnation of Our Lord, 988, and from the foundation 
of the Abbey, 2(6 years, and lrom the deposition of St. John, 218 years, 
with the advice of Wolfran, Archbishop of York, made and ordained the 
Church of Beverley Collegiate, appointing the seven Presbyters for the future 
should be Canons secular, and that they should wear the canonical habit, 
also to the seven clerks another convenient dre88, and appointed them to dis­
charge the office of Levites (Levitar'.) And in this year Athelstan gave his 
lordship of Beverley to Bt. John and his successor, Archbishop Wulstan. 
He also gave in the same year to the church of Beverley, and to the Canons, 
his thraves in the East Riding, and peace for every crime (pace de quocumque 
tlagitio.) Iu the third year following he was buried at Walmsbyrye,t which 

• For some further pvticolara of the life of St. John of Beverley, - vol. i., p. 890. 
+ Mllmabury, m W"utehire. 
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is in the year of Our Lord 941. A.D. 1087, St. John was canonized in the 
time of J obn, the 20th Pope, and in the same year be was translated by 
Alfric, the Archbishop of York, by whom were first ordained in the Church 
of BeTerley, in the same year, a sacristan, chancellor, and precentor. A.D. 

1064, Aldred, Archbishop, appointed the aforeeaid Canons, who till then as­
sociated and dwelt together within the Bedern, that each should have in 
future a house without Dedem, in which they might reside' ad libitum.' He 
also appointed and ordained that each of the aforesaid seven Canont should 
have under him one Vicar. In the same year be also ordained an eighth 
Canon, with his Vicar.'' From the time of Athelstan the Archbishops of 
York claimed the immediate patronage of the Collegiate Church of Beverley, 
and they continued to exercise that right until the Reformation. 

Archbishop Alfric endowed his three newly constituted offices with estates 

at Middleton, Holme, and Fridaythorpe, which he purchased for that expreae 
purpose.* He also enlarged the buildings of the establishment, and con· 
verted the hall and dormitory in the place anciently called the Bedem, into 
a houso of residence for the Provost. 

The translation of the relics of St. John took place on the 8th of No't'em· 
ber, 1087, under the authority of a papal bull of John XX., in the presence 
of the Archbishop and the Chapte.rs of York and Beverley. The ceremony 
of the translation of the remains of a saint is thus described by Dr. Lingard: 
-A certain indefinite number "of years after the death of the man, the 
the otlject of their veneration, when it might be presumed that the leas solid 
parts of the body bad been reduced to dust, the monks or clergy assembled 
to perform the ceremony of his eleTation. A tent was pitched over the graTe. 
Around it stood the great body of the attendants, chanting the Pealms of 
Da't'id; tDithin, the superior, aooompanied by the more aged of the brother· 
hood, opened the earth, collected the bones, washed them, wrapped them 
earelully in silk or linen, and deposited them in the mortuary chest. With 
sentiments of respect, and hymns of exultation, they were then carried to the 
place destined to receiYe them; which was elevated above the pavement, a.nd 
decorated with appropriate ornaments. Of the ahri.Des," he continues, "the 
most ancient that has been deseri~ to ua, contained the remains of St. 
Chad, the Apoetle of .Mercia; it was built of wood, in form reeembling a 
house, and was covered with tapestry. But this was in an age of simplicity 
aud monastic poverty ; in a later period a greater display of magnificence 
bespoke the greater opuleuee of the church, and the shrines of the eaints 
were the first objects which invited the rapacity of the Danish invaders. "t 

• Lel. Coli., vol. i., p. 118. t :r.m.. ~g). Sax. Ch., p. 26&. 
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The bones of St. John being disentombed, they were placed, together with 
his archiepiscopal ring, and the fragments of a book of the Four Gospels, 
which were found in his tomb, within a splendid and costly shrine, which 
Archbishop Alfric had previously erected for their reception in the church. 
The merit of the saint had been long established, and pilgrims flocked to his 
tomb in great numbers. 

The pious offerings of these pilgrims were so liberally showered upon it, 
that the Archbishop was enabled, out of their amount, to decorate the new 
shrine with such magnificence, that it actually glittered with gold and 
precious stones. • And to add further to the posthumous honour of the 
Saint, the Archbishop made an ordinance, that a solemn procession of the 
relics, throughout the town and round the limits of the sanctuary, should 
take place three times a year, and that it should be attended by the most 
respectable inhabitants of Beverley and ita neighbourhood, who should follow 
the relics barefooted and fasting.t 

King Edward the Confessor confirmed all the privileges granted to this 
church by Athelatan. The following is his charter:-

EI>w.uu>, the King, greets friendly Toeti, the Earl, and all my Thanee in Yorkshire. 
Know ye, that it ia my permiaaion and fnllleave that Ealdred, the Archbishop, do obtain 
priftkgiua for the lands belonging to St. John's ?rfinater, at &verley; and I will that 
that Minat.er, and the diaVic\ adjoi.Ding to it, be u tree u any other Minster is, and that 
whilst the Bishop there remains it. shall be under him u Lord, and that he shall be 
earet'nl to guard and watch that no man but. himself take anything; and he permit none 
to injure any of those things, the care whereof to him pel'taineth, as he will be protected 
by God and St. John, and all Saints whose holy plaoe ia before oonaecrated. And I wiD 
that there for ever shal.l be monutic lite and oongregation ulong u any man liveth.t 

We have seen at page 176 that the extraordinary respect which the Nor­
man Conqueror entertained for the memory of St. John of Beverley, caused 
him to spare the po88essions of this Collegiate church, when he laid waste 
and ravaged the surrounding country. After that circumstance W'illiam 
increaaed the endowments of the church, and granted the following charter, 
which is also translated by Dr. Sissons. 

WILLI.UI, the Kio8, greets friendly all my Thanee in Yorbhire, French and English. 
Know ye, that I have given to St. John, at &verley, sac and aoo over all the lands which 
Ealdred the Anlhbiahop bath since obtained in m,y da)'l, whether in b.ia Thorp or in 
Campland. It ahall all be free from me and all other men, exoepting the Bilhop and 
the MiDI&er priesta; and no man ahall slay deer, nor viola&e what I haYe Riven to Christ 

• Lel. in vit. St. John. t Lel. Coll., vol ill., p. 102. 

t lands. MSS. among the Warb11.rton papers, No. 4.4.8, tranalated from the original 
Suon by the Rev. Dr. SiNou, otWakeAeld, l>r Pout.on'l Beverlac. 

VOL. IJ. ~ B 
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and St. John. And I will that there shall be for ever mouast.ic life aud canonical con­
gregation, as long as llilY man Jiyeth. God's blesaing be with all Christian men who 
as~ist at this holy worship. Amen.• 

At the time of the Norman survey the Collegiate Church of Beverley, as 
\VC have shown at page li7, retained a very considerable extent of property 
in the following places iu the East-Riding :-Bevreli (Beverlcy), Schitebi 
(Skiuby), Burtone (Burton), Delton (Daltou), Flotemanebi (Flotmauby), Rilbi 
(Risby), Locheton (Lockingtou), Ettone (Etton), Ragenethorp ( ), 
Bvrtone (Burton), J!olescroft, Calgesthorpe (qu. Kellingthorpc), Climbecote 
(Kipliogcote), Middelton (:\Iiddletou), l.Achinjield (Leckonfield), CJ,elche 
(Kelk), Gartrme (Garton), La11getorp (Laugthorp), Benedlaf]e (Bentley), Wel­
uuic (Wclwick), Grim.esto11e (Grimston), Moneu11ic ( ), Otringeh(' 
(Ottringham), Bilhtone (Bilton), Santriburtone (Pidsea Burton), Neutone, 
(Newton), Flintone (Flintou), Dar1etorp (Danthorp), Witlifomeuuic (\Vithern­
wick), Sudto11e (Sutton), Stotccote (Sonthcote), Coledun (Cowden), Siglestome 
{Sigglesthorne), Cantingeuuic (Catwick), Brantisburtone (Brandesburton), 
Leuene (Leven.) 

During the Saxon times all donations were made Deo et Ecclesicz, or to the 
Bishops, Priors, and monks in common; bnt Bishop Tanner states that 
after tho Couq uest the Bishops took what portion of these lands they chose 
to themselves; and this was certainly the case \vith respect to the Collegiate 
Society at Beverley; for King Athelstan gave his lordship of Beverley DtKJ 
tl Set. Johanni, and to his successors Wulstan, in common trith th6 clergy of 
the church, and it was subsequently reserved by the Archbishops to themselves. 
The charter of Athelstan was also granted to the same society, yet the Arch­
bishops of York claimed o.ll the rights they possessed in Beverley by virtue 
of this very charter. The right of receiving tolls at markets and fairs was 
granted originally to the Church of St. John; yet in the grant of free bur­
gage to the town, a portion of these tolls was given to the burgesses by Arch­
bishop Thurstan, with certain reservations on payment of a fee farm.t 

According to Domesday, the Archbishop possessed, besides the manor of 
Beverley, including the berewicks of Skidby and Burton, the manor of 
Dalton, and lands in Wagene (Waghen), Wela (Weel), Titchetone (Tickton), 
A8ch (Eske), and Estorcl' (Stork.) 

From the time of the foundation of the Collegiate establishment to the 
period of the Norman Conquest, the Canons had no superior to preside over 
them; but in 1092, Thomas, the first Norman Archbishop of York, ordained 
and constituted Thom<U, his nephew, chaplain to the Conqueror, the first 

• Lauds. MSS., Brit. Mus. t Bnerlao, p. 619, 
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Provost of this Collegiate Church. And he ordained that the said Provost 
and his successors in that office should have the temporal possession of the 
Church of Beverley, with the advowsons of the churches to the same annexed, 
together with the patronage of the Chancellor, and other officers in the 
Bedem. And he moreover decreed to him and his successors Provosts, dis­
tinct spiritual jurisdiction over the subjects of the said provostry. The 
Provosts of Beverley afterwards claimed, e:z; offi<:W, very extensive rights and 
privileges throughout the whole of the fee or liberty of the provostry ; and 
this office was considered one of great trust and dignity. King William II. 
granted a confinnatory charter of the privileges of the Church of Beverley. 
Thurstan, the second Provost, after he was advanced to the See of York, 
reserved his prebend in Beverley to himself and his successors in the See. 
Thurstan appointed two foresters to the Provost, and that he should have 
his own bailiff. Pope Honorius II., in 1125, confirmed by bull to the Pro­
vost and the Canons their goods, possessions, and rents; ~nd King Henry 
I. also confirmed by charter the privileges of this church. Archbishop 
Thurstan, who was a great benefactor to the town of Beverley, and who made 
it a free burgh, granted to the Canons of the church the privilege of be­
queathing two-thirds of their prebendol profits, for the year following their 
death, to their heirs, reserving the remaining portion only for the repairs of 
the church. We have seen .(vol. i., p. 124) that in the Battle of the Standard, 
fought near Northallerton, in 1188, one of the three consecrated banners 
there was that of St. John of Beverley. When King Stephen obliged the 
clergy to pay heavy fines for this favour, or, in other words, to exempt them 
from oppression, be come to Beverley (See page 180), and obliged Robert, the 
Provost, and Ralpb, the Archdeacon, to pay the enormous sum of £366. 
13s. 4d., that they might be under his protection, as his demesne clerks;* 
although in the first year of his reign he granted a charter, confirming to 
the church all its former gifts and privileges. The Collegiate Society in 
this reign consisted of a Provost; nine Canons, of which the Archbishop was 
one; nine Canons Vicars ; seven Clerks, called Bellefarii ; a Precentor, a 
Chancellor, and a Sacrist. 

Henry II. confirmed to the Canons their thraves and all their customs 
and demesne manors in the East Riding; and to facilitate the means of col­
lecting their portion of corn, King John gave the Canons a precept, by which 
they were empowered to compel the farmers to place the thraves at their 
barn doors at a specified time, on pain of imprisonment. 

• Mag. Rot. Madox Ex~h., TO!. i., p. ~9. 
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As we have seen at page 181, the Collegiate Church was destroyed by fire 
in 1188. After remaining a heap of ruins for some years, preparations were 
made for rebuilding it ; donations poured in from all quarters, and the first 
put of the present splendid edifice, which now not only adorns the town, but 
the surrounding country, waa begun. 

The Provost of Beverley was now an officer of much importance, for his 
authority extended to the civil, as well as the eocleaiaetical government of the 
domain, under the Archbishop, and in many instances it led to the primacy. 
His powers and privileges were granted and confirmed by several monarchs ; 
and amongst the rights, jurisdictions, and liberties, of the provostry, was the. 
power of holding pleas within his own court, even after the institution of 
Jwticu Itinerant and the courts of Amu. We find the Provost of Beverley 
aummoned to assist at the great council, held at York, by Hubert, Arch­
bishop of Canterbury;* and he was called in by King John to present the 
charter which that monarch granted to the borough of Boston, in the fifth 
year of his reign (1204.) 

We have seen at page 186 that King Edward 1., in 1299, was lodged and 
entertained for three days by the Collegiate Society of Beverley, and that he 
caused the consecrated standard of St. John to be carried before him into 
Scotland. Provost William de Melton, in the reign of Edward II., was Lord 
Chancellor and Treasurer, and afterwards Archbishop of York. This prelate 
erected the Chapel of St. Mary, at Beverley, into a parish church. 

In 1310 Edward II. confirmed two charters granted to the church by 
King John, which commanded that the tbraves should be delivered at the 
11 doors of the grangers;" and in 1814 the Provost obtained a charter for 
holding one fair every year at his manor of Siggleethorne. 

In the reign of Richard II. the beet architects and workmen that England 
could produce were engaged in the enlargement and decoration of the Minster. 
At this time was built the beautiful west front, with its majestic towers ; 
as well as the elegant porch. When the building was completed, a charter 
of confirmation was procured, confirmatory of all ita ancient liberties and 
privileges, and particularly the sacred right of sanctuary. Indeed almost 
every succeeding monarch, from the days of Athelstan, granted to this 
church charters of confirmation; and it was now, as it were, to use the words 
of a learned writer, 11 entrenched with privileges, guarded by euocessive 
charters, and armed with the thunders of the church." 

In the beginning o( the 15th century we find the Provost o( Beverley 

• Roaer de Hoveden. 
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styled " the Lord Provost; " and considering that the Provosts were vested 
with the powera of spiritual and temporal lords in the provoetry, and that 
they exerciaed the rights of feudal lords throughout the whole of their fee, 
it is not surprising that this dignity should be sought after by the aspirante 
to pl.acea of trust and honour. The Collegiate Society of St John may be 
considered at the height of its glory in the Hith century. 

In addition to the numerous grants that were made from time to time by 
piously disposed persona, which must have considerably increased the eoclesi­
asticalreTenues, the church poeaeaaed an acquisition more valuable than any 
number of acres or tenements could have been. This was the bones or relica 
of their famous founder. The monarchs who visited Beverley at differeot 
periods would all pay their devotions and make their several offerings at his 
shrine. Besides the fame of the miracles, said to have been performed 
throagh his intercession, had reached the fllrthest shore, and strangers from 
a diatance, frequently visited the church, and enriched it with their oblations. 
King Henry V. and his Queen, Katherine, paid a visit to the shrine of this 
saint, in CODJeqnence of the miracle which was said to have been wrought at 
hie tomb the day the battJ.e of Agincourt was fought. The royal offerings on 
this occasion would, doubtleas, be munificent. The feast of the translation 
of St. John (25th October) was ordained on account of this victory. 

We shall here glance briefly at the most remarkable or illustrious of the 
Provosts of Beverley. Tla.otfuu, the first Provost, was consecrated Arch­
bishop of York in 1109. Th!MI4n, the second Provost, was a Canon of St. 
Paul's, chaplain to King Henry I., and was advanced to the See of York in 
1114. We have seen at page 124 of vol. i., that Archbishop Thurstan 
signalized himsell by raising forces in 1188, which fought and conquered the 
Scots at the conflict at Cuton Moor, called the battle of the Standard. The 
celebrated T1wrruu d B«ktt was presented to the provostship by King Henry 
n., in 1189, and being then in high favour with his Sovereign, he was 
appointed to offioea of the first importance in the state. He passed rapidly 
from one dignity to another, till he was placed at the head of the church, in 
the Metropolitan See of Canterbury, in 1162. The reader is aware that he 
died a violent death at the altar's foot in 1178. (See vol. i., p. 198.) 

In 1179 O«J.ffr~ Plantagm4t, a natural son of Henry II., became Provoat 
of Beverley. He was Lord High Chancellor, and was consecrated Arch­
bishop of York in 1191. SirMn d4 Apu.Ua, an Italian, Chancellor of York, 
was admitted to the provoatahip in 1196, and became Bishop of Exeter in 
lil4. Fulk Baautt, Provost, was Dean of York, and elected Bishop of 
London in 1~41. John ChahuU or Chullub, Provost, was Dean of St. Paul's, 
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Lord Chancellor and Treasurer, and died in 1280. WiUiam of York was 
one of the Justices Itinerant during l:tis provostship, and was consecrated 
Bishop of Salisbury in 1246. His successor, Sir Joh~ Maunul, Chancellor 
of England, was chaplain to King Henry m., and that monarch loaded him 
with dignities and preferments, ecclesiastical and temporal. He entertained 
at his house in Tolehill Field, at one time, the Kings and Queens of England . 
and Scotland, with their dependencies. There were 700 dishes se"ed up, 
and the multitude of guests were such that the house could not receive them, 
so that tents were set up abroad. Matthew Paris says, that for all his 
glorious pomp and great promotions be died poor, wretched, and miserable, 
somewhere beyond seas, sometime before February, 1264. 

WiUiam Kinwolmanh, who was elected to the provostry about the year 
1419, was afterwards Lord Treasurer of England; and his successor, &bm 
Nevi.ik (son of Ralph, first Earl of Westmorland), was afterwards successively 
Bishop of Salisbury and Durham. Lau-rence Boothe, Provost, was Dean of 
St. Paul's, Chancellor of the University of Cambridge, and Lord Chancellor 
of England. He was consecrated Bishop of Durham in 1457, and was 
translated to York in 1476. John &uth, Prebendary of St. Paul's, and 
afterwards Bi~hop of Exeter, was presented to the provostsbip of Beverley in 
1457. ThomM Scot de &tlrmham, Provost, became successively Bishop of 
Rochester (in 1468), and Lincoln (in 14 72), and Archbishop of York in 1480. 
The last Provost of Beverley surrendered on having a pension of .£49. per 
annum assigned to him by King Henry VIII. Annexed is a chronological 
list of the Provosts of the Collegiate Church of St. J obn of Beverley, from the 
foundation of that office iu 1092, to the dissolution of the Society, with the 
date of their appointment:-

NO, NAliE. DATE. 

1.-Tbomas, Junior . .. . .. . .. . . . 1002 
2.-Tb111"8t&n .. . .. . • .. • .. • .. .. . 1101 
3.-Thomas the Norman . • . . • . • . 1108 
4.-Robert de Oaut.o . . . . . . . . . . . . 113~ 

6.-TbomBS 1\ Beckett . • • . . . . . . . 1139 
6.-Robert . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . llM 
7 .-Oeoffrey Plant.agenet . . . . . . . . 1179 
8.-Si.mon de Apulia............ 1196 
9.-Fulk Bassett . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1213 

10.---.John de Cheshull, or Chesbub 1238 
11.-William of York............ 1240 
12.-sir John Maunsel • • • • • • • • • • 1248 
1~.-Alan . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12~1 
U •. -Morgan. . . . . • . . . . . . • . . . . . . . 126~ 

16.-Peter de Chester. . . . . • . . . . . . 1222 

NO. NA."E. DATE. 

16.-Haymo de Quarto • . . . . . . . . . U!98 
17 .-Robert de AlbUl'W1ek . . . . . . . . 1306 
18.-Walter de Raymund . . • . . . . . 1308 
10.-William de Melton.......... 1310 
20.-Nicbolas de Huggat.G . . . . • . . . 1317 
21.-WillitUU de la Maro or Mar . . 1388 
22.-P.ichard de Ravenser . . . . • . • . 134.7 
23.-Adam de Limberg, or Lymbergsh 1370 
:U.---.Jobu de Tboresby, L.L.D..... 1373 
25.-Robert Mansfidd, or Manfie1d 13$1 
26.-William IGnwolmanh . . . . . . 14111 
27.-Robert Nerille.............. 1~ 
28.-Robert Rolleston. . . . • • . . . . . . 1~7 

29.---.Job.n Birmingham, or Oer. 
mingbam . . . . . . . . . . . . . . J41Kl 
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NO. X.UO:. DATE. 

30.-Lawrence Boothe • . . • . . . . • . 1403 
31.-John Routh................ 1-157. 
82.-Henry Webber . . . . . . . . . . . . 14611 
33.-Peter Taster • . . . • • . . . • . . • . 1466 
M.-Thomas Scot de Rotherbam.. 1468 

NO. N.UO:. 

35.-,Villiam Potman ....••••.... 
36.-Hugh Trotter, D.D. • ...... . 
37.-Thomas Dalby, L.L.B ... .. . . 
38.-Thomas Winter •.. •. ...•..• 
811.-Reginalu Lee •....•.•.•.••• 

~89 

DAft, 

1472 
1400 
1()03 
1625 
11144 

At the dissolution the Collegiate Society consisted chiefly of the Lord Pro· 
vost, and nine eecular Canons or Prebends, and as many Vicars. The first 
of these Prebends, which was that of St. Leonard's altar, was called the 
Episcopal Prebend, because it was held by Archbishop Thurstan, and his 
successors in the See of York. The other Prebends were those of the several 
altars of St. Mary, St. Martin, St. Stephen, St. Andrew, St. Peter, St. 
Katherine, St. James, and St. Michael. 

The Precentor, Chancellor, and Sacrist, were the principal officers. The 
clergy belonging to the Collegiate establishment, together with the priests of 
the varioUB chantries, the Rector of St. Nicholas, and the Vicar of St. Mary, 
if they were not Prebendaries, it is said formed an aggregate of more than 
sixty priests, who were set apart for the services of religion. The clergy of 
the Collegiate Institution mostly resided in the Prebendal houses, and other 
dwellings, which were placed for that purpose within the precincts of the 
church, and performed the customary religious services in hebdomadal rota· 
tion, assisted by the choristers and inferior officers of the church. 

CluJntriu.-The chantry priests did not form an indispensible part of the 
general establishment. Their duties were confined to one exclusive objectr-­
the celebration of masses for the souls of the founders and their relatives ; for 
which service they held a life estate in the lands, and other property, with 
which their chantries were respectively endowed. They were bound however 
to pay canonical obedience to the Provost, in common with the established 
residentiaries. The full number of chantry priests attached to the Minster 
Church cannot now be ascertained; we possess records which mentionfiftt.1n 
Oltantriu, but they were probably many others of which no account remains. 
Nor were the chantries confined to the mother church; they abounded in 
chapels, monasteries, and private houses; and in the whole, the liberties of 
Beverley contained at the least thirty endowed altars, at which masses were 
daily performed. The chantries at the Minster Church, of which we have 
any account, are those of St. John the Baptist, St. John of Beverley, St. 
William, St. James, St. Katherine, St. Anne, the Annunciation, Corpus 
Christi, St. Michael, St. Trinities, St. Christopher, Grant's ohantry, Queen's 
chantry, founded by Isabella, wife of Edward IT., and Wilton's cbantry. 

The chantries in St. Mary's Church were those of St. Micbael, St. Kath· 
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erine, and Ge"us's chantry; and the chantries distributed throughout the 
liberties were twelve, viz., the chantries of the Blessed Virgin in the chapels 
of Molescroft. and Thearne, and the Church of St. Nicholaa; St. James'e 
chantry at Hull Bridge; Chapel of St. Ellen, neiU' the Grey Friars; Kelk'e 
chantry; Rosse's chantry ; chantry of St. Trinities, founded in 1898 by John 
de Ake, on the Cross Bridge at Be'ferley; of Corpus Chriati, founded in 
18~8 by Robert de Scorburgh, in hie own house in Beveriey; and tboae of 
St. Nicholas, or La Frere; St. Egidius, in the Hospital of St. Oiles ; and of 
the Blessed Virgin, "in the manor of Hall Garth." There was also in 
Beverley a chapel dedicated to St. Thomas, which was erected during the 
reign of Athelstan, but it is supposed to have been demolished long before 
the Reformation. 

Besides the chantries there were &eYeral Obiu, or anniversaries of persons' 
death, celebrated in this church. In religious houses they had a register or 
calendar, wherein they entered the obita or obitual days of their founders or 
benefactors, which was thence called the obituary. Amongst the benefaeton 
whose obits were kept here were King Atbelstan (whose exequies were cele­
brated OD a splendid scale), Queen Isabella, King Edward m., Queen 
Philippa, Lady Idonea Percy, and some of the Provosts of Be'ferley. 

It baa already been obaen'ed that King Athelstan constituted BMeriey one 
of the "Cities af Refuge," by granting to the Church of St. John the pri'ri­
lege of Sanc~tuwy: and a frill atol, i. e. Jrud ttool, or chair of peaoe, was 
placed in a conspicuous situation near tbe high altar, as an emblem of pro­
tection to the refugee.• The limits of the Lftga, or privileged circuit of St. 
John, were comprehended within the circumference of a circle, of which the 
church was the centre, and whose radius was about a mile; consequently it 
included the town of Be-rerley within its bounds. It wu defined by stoJM 
Cl'OIIIIe8, three of which still remain in a dilapidated state. These croues 
were placed on the principal roads leading to the town. One stood to"W&I'IU 
North or Cherry Burton; another, called Moleacroft 01'088, stood towards 
Leckoofielcl Park; a third on the road leading to Walkington; a fourth 
towards Kinwaldgraves, on the road to Bishop Burton ; and &DOther to the 
south of Beverley, on the road to Skidby.t There is no trace, nor have we 
met with any record, of a Cl'088 on the east road towards the Hull Bridge. 

The refugees or, as they were called, grithmen who claimed the protection 
afforded by the Sanctuary of St. John, were tlotrt.iciliaUd toitlain t1u fotoilt, and 
the Baillil' of the Archbishop administered to them an oe.th, which the1 

• I>u8daJe't Monutioon, 'fol. ii., p. 128. t Lel. CoD., Yol. ill., p. 108. 
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swore, to be true and faithful to the Lord Archbishop of York, Lord of 
Beverley, to the Provost, Canons, and Ministers of the Church, also to be of 
good heart to the Bailiff, Twelve Governors, Burgesses, and Commoners of 
the town; also not to bear a dagger, knife, or other weapon, against the 
King's peace; and to be ready with all their might in caso of riot or sudden 
fires in the town, " to help to s'cess " them ; and to attend the obit, dirge, and 
mass, for the soul of King Athelstan. In the British Museum is preserved a 
curious vellum MS., containing a long list of the names of persons who sought 
sanctuary at Beverley, from the time of Edward IV., specifying the nature 
of the crimes they had committed, with the oath taken by those who sought 
"its peace within its mile." In the year 1385 Sir John Holland, Knt., half 
brother to Richard ll., was concerned in the murder of Ralph, the son and 
heir of the royal favourite, the Earl of Stafford. The injured father laid his 
complaint before the King; who, although the delinquent was so nearly 
related to him by blood, issued orders for his apprehension. Great interest 
was made to conciliate the incensed monarch ; and even his mother condes­
cended to supplicate his forgiveness with tears, and on her knees. But 
Richard was inexorable, and this high-spirited woman was so affected by 
this refusal, that she died broken-hearted in a few days. Meanwhile the 
Knight had taken sanctuary at Beverley, where he remained in security 
until the King's anger was in some degree appeased; and at the interces­
sion of his uncle Cl.arence, Richard ultimately yielded a reluctant consent 
to his pardon. . 

The Frirbtol, which still remains in the Minster, is a semi-circular chair, 
hewn out of a solid block of stone, with a hollow back. It has been broken, 
but repaired with iron clamps ; and according to Camden and Leland, it 
once bore the following inscription :-Hac aedu lapidea Frud Stool dicitur, 
i. tJ., Pacil CtJihedra, ad qtum rew fugimldo ~itlm omnimodam ~t aecu· 
riaum.--(" This stone chair is called Freed Stool, i. e., the Chair of Peace, 
to which what criminal soever flies, bath full protection.") There being no 
such inscription upon it now, has occasioned a doubt to be entertained of its 
claim to be considered the original "Fridstol." W c certainly see little cause 
for this doubt. Before the Reformation it would doubtless be preserved with 
the most scrupulous attention; and there seems no reason for thinking that 
after the dissolution, when the privilege of Sanctuary was abolished, the 
original chair, if destroyed, should be replaced by another. It is more than 
probable that the puritans, wl1o made such havoc of the original beautiful 
screen, broke and defaced it; and that the mason who repaired it, was 
obliged to destroy the inscription with the chisel, so as to give the chair a 
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clean appearance; such kind of repairs being by no means uncommon.* 
As has beeu already observed, the manor of Beverley, with all the powers 

and privileges of the Archbishops therein, became the property of the King; 
and on the 20th of March, 1554-five years after the dissolution of the 
monasteries-fell the great and venerable Collegiate establishment of St. 
John of Beverley. 

"The Reformation of Henry VIII.," says Mr. Poulson, "if it can deserve 
any part of so respectable a name, was disgraced by signal acts of rapacity in 
its chief instruments. The remorseless tyrant swept away the whole frame 
of monastic foundations. His worthy successor in the career of rapine, the 
protector Duke, finding that ground pre-occupied, had nothing left but to 
confiscate the Collegiate Churches, most of which were devoted to purposes 
exclusively parochial, the ill effects of which are sensibly experienced to 
this day." 

In the 26th of Henry Vill. (1535), the following was the estimated value 
of the Collegiate establishment, according to Archbishop Tanner:-

'fhe Provostry rated at in the clear ••••••••••••• • •.••.•..•• PEB AN NUll 

The Chancellorship .•• •• •. • .. . •..•..••.• • • • ...• . ...••.... ••...• • • 
The Precentors hip .....••...•. .. ........... . ...... •• ••.. ...••• ••.• 
The Prebend of St. 1\lichacl. . ...•......•. . .. . ••..••••••••.•..•••••• 

" 
" 

St. Peter •.... . .•.•..•• .. ....•...••. • •• . •.•••.•.••• 
St. Martin •.. • • •• ••• • • •••.••• • •. • •.•••••••...••••. 
St. Katherine • . •• ••..•••. • . •• •...••••••••••• • •••••. 
St. Mary ••.••.•• • ••.... . ....••.....• • .....•.••.•. • 
St. Stephen ..... • .... , , ..... . .•• • ••. .••• •.•••••.• 
St. Andrew .. .. , , ,, . .. .•... . . . .•..••...... . ••• • . • •• 

, St. James . . . ..•...... . • . ••.•.. . ...• •• .•..•. • •• • •• 
The Fabric lands •. .• .. ....... •. ••.•••...••••• • .. •••••••••.•••••• 
The Rectors Choral had lands in common, to the value of .• ••••..• • •••• 
1'he Vicars Choralle.nds in common .•.•••• • .• ••.••••..•..••.•••••.. 
Salaries of the Rectora Choral, each at .£6. 13s. 4d. per annum • • ••••.••• 
Salaries of the Vicars Choral, each at .£8. per annum •• . •••... , .••••• 

£. ' · d. 
109 8 Si 
13 16 0 
13 g ~ 

31 13 ~ 

4.6 6 11 1 
39 11 1 
10 18 4 
3~ 17 0 
44 0 0 
48 16 1 
47 1 ~ 

18 a 8 
8 13 7 

12 0 01 
46 13 ' 72 0 0 

ToTAL •. .• ~98 8 9i 

Mr. Oliver, who observes that this sum was then equal to five times the 
amount in the present day, remarks that the above stipends were paid in 
addition to the common table of the establishment; and that the general 
income of the church must have exceeded the total here specified; for the 
Canons possessed upwards of 20,000 acres of land, which, if let only at a 

• For eome further pvticulara respecting SaDotuariee, eee vol. i., p. sn. 
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shilling an acre, would produce £1,000. a year. And added to this there 
were the emoluments arising from the Provost's court, manorial rights, 
churches and fees, fisheries, &c. The Provost having resigned his office into 
the King's hands, the images of the Crucifixion, &c., were removed out of the 
rood loft, by a royal injunction; the paintings were defaced; and most of 
the prebendal houses were granted to John Bellowe, of Grimsby, and Michael 
Stanhope; the Prebendaries·and other officers having retired on small pen· 
sions. A part of the property of the church was granted by Queen Elizabeth 
to the Corporation of Beverley, for the support of the Minster Church, and 
the patronage and jurisdiction of it was also given to them by that monarch. 

THE OLD CoNVENTUAL Cuuaou.-The original Church of Beverley, 
erected by the early Anglo-Saxon converts to Christianity, and dedicated to 
St. John the Evangelist, was doubtless a very humble edifice, built entirely 
of wood, and thatched with reeds. Archbishop John "converted the church 
he found at Beverley into a monastery, built anew the presbytery or choir, 
and on the south side of the church erected an oratory, dedicated to St. Mar· 
tin." Of the style or character of these erections we are entirely ignorant. 
The venerable historian Bede, in his account of this monastery is very con· 
cise, and nothing is mentioned in express terms of the materials with which 
it was built. The Conventual Church and buildings, as we have ~reen, were 
pillaged by the Danes, in 877, and left in ruins by these merciless invaders. 
About three years afterwards the buildings were partly repaired by some of 
the presbyters and clerks ; but it cannot be supposed that they were enabled 
to accomplish more than merely to restore them to their original condition. 
All opinion, however, on that subject must be merely conjectural. 

The Rev. Mr. Coltman, in his Slwrt HistonJ of Beverky Minster, naturally 
conjectures that this church would not be dissimilar in style to that of Ely, 
which was built under the direction of Wilfrid, one of the predecessors of St. 
John, and who was contemporaneous with him. From its remains, the 
church of Ely was an oblong building of two stories, with aisles on each side, 
but without tower or transept; and divided by a wall into two parts, which 
communicated with each other by a low arched opening. The pillars which 
supported it were alternately circular and octagonal; the arches circular, and 
highly ornamented with the characteristic decorations of the Saxon style. 
The primitive churches of the Saxons were usually oblong buildings, without 
the elevation of any one part to a greater altitude than the rest. And it ap· 
-pears clear that the Church of Beverley was not distinguished by a tower, 
though that stately ornament had been adopted, in some particular instances, 
by the Saxons, very soon after their conversion to Christianity. 
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In 1050 Archbishop Kinsius erected a tower at the west end of this church, 
and placed two great bells in it. Archbishop Aldred, the last Saxon prelate 
that occupied the episcopal throne of York, finished the hall and dormitory 
which had been commenced by his predecessor, and built a new choir, 
from its foundation, in 1061. This distinguished benefactor likewise deco­
rated the whole church, from the choir to the tower, with painting repre­
senting the sky, and e.don10d the pulpit with elegant devices in gold, silver, 
aud brass. Mr. Coltman supposed that at the time of the Norman Conquest 
this church "was an oblong stone building of two stories, having a low tower 
at the west end, probably without any transepts, divided into two parts by a 
nave and choir, each having side aisles, supported by massive columns of 
a moderate height, surmounted by circular arches, with thick walls, pierced by 
small circular topped windows, adorned with all the usual Saxon ornaments." 
We have seen that it was bumt down in 1188, and some ycnrs afterwards 
the erection of the present stupendous edifice was commenced. 

At the latter end of the year 1664, on opening a grave in the body of the 
church, a vault of squared freestone was discovered, fifteen feet long and two 
in breadth, within which was a sheet of lead, four feet long, containing some 
ashes, and six beads, whereof three crumbled to dust on touching, and the 
remaining three were supposed cornelian, with three great brass pins, aud 
four large iron nails. Across this lay a box of lead, about seven inches long, 
six broad, and five high, wherein were several pieces of bones mixed with a 
little dust, yielding a sweet smell, as also a knife, a pair of silver slippers, 
some beads, and a seal. That able antiquary Mr. Warburton, Somerset 
Herald, supposes, from the information of Mr. Michael, that this was the 
identical knife or dagger which Athelstan left as a pledge upon the altar of 
St. John, when he was proceeding against the Scots. On the leaden covering 
was the following inscription:-

.. Anno nb incaruat.ionc Domini, MCT.=mt. combvsta f\it hR~C F.cclc~ in mcnse 
Septcmbri, in scqventi nocte post Fest\'m SIUldi Mnttbrei Apostoli; et in Ann l!IICXC\'Tl, 

VI. Id vs :1\Inrtii, Cactn f,·it Inquisitio Rcliq,·inrmt Dcuti J ohnnnis in hoc loco; et im·cnta 
sunt ht~~c ossn in oricntnli parte Sepvlchri, et hie reconditn; et pvhis ccmento mixtus 
ibidem et invcnl\·s, et reconditns."• 

All these relics were carefully re-interred in the middle aisle of the nnYe, 

• "In the year from the Incnrnnt.ion of our Lord, 1188, this church wns burnt in the 
month of September, the ni~::ht after tuo fl.'n.~t of St. ;\Inttl1ew the Apostle; nnd in the 
yenr 1197, the Oth of tho Id<Js of Mnrch, there wns nn inquisition made for the relics of 
the blessed Joun in this plnre, nnd these bones were fonnd in the cnst part of his 
Repulchrt>, nnd here depositt>d; and dust mixt>d with mortar wn.'l found likewist> and 
re-interred." 
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where they had been taken up, except tht~ seal, which came into the hands 
of Marmaduke Nelson.* When the present pavement was laid down, these 
remains were again taken up till an arched repository of bricks was made, in 
which they were replaced, with this new addition to the ancient inscription:-

" Reliqvre eadem effoare et ibidem recomposita! fomice lateritio dignabantvr xxv. die 
mensia Martij Anno Domini IIIDCCXXVI. qvando et tessalatvm EccleaiJe hujvs pevimentvm 
primo fvit instratvm."t 

There was formerly an inscription upon the roof to show where the relics 
were placed, and as the vault contains a document so important regarding 
the fate of the original edifice, and the date of the present building, it seems 
desirable that its situation should be marked in some durable way. For the 
information of the curious we may observe that the vault containing these 
relics, is in the middle aisle of the nave, at the east end, beneath the fifth 
centre diamond-shaped slab of black marble westward from the central tower, 
and immediately underneath the second rose in the groining of the roof. 

According to Bede, St. John of Beverley died in his own monastery and 
was buried in the porch (portictts) of St. Peter.! The word porticm, which 
often occurs in the ancient Sa.·wn writers, is considered by some to be 
synonimous with atrium or t·estibulum, denoting a building without side the 
church, or at the entrance to it. Britton tells us that the ancient portica 
bore no resemblance to our modern porch, which was seldom, if ever, found in 
Saxon or Norman churches, but was in far.t a constituent part of the building, 
occupying the whole area of the 1rest end.§ The Rev. James Bentham, 
author of the History of Ely Cathedral, supposes that a more considerable 
part of the church was intended by porticus, than is now commonly under­
stood by the church porch; and be adds, "it was frequently distinguished 
by the name of some saint: for we read of porticus Sti. Martini in St. Au­
gustine's Church, at Canterbury; porticus Sti. Gregorii in St. Peter's, at 
York; porticus Sti. Pauli in St. Andrew's, at Rochester; portietts Sti. Petri, 
at Beurley: and other distinctions of that kind in many of our ancient 
churches. The reason of which appears to be that they were dedicated to 
the honour of those so.ints. * * From all these instances where 
the word portiett8 occurs, it appears that the writers meant by it, either what 

• Gent has gi\"en nn engrn,ing of this seal in his History of Ripon, p. 77. 

+ "The srune relics ha,-ing been taken up and replaced in tho same situation, were 
hononrt>d with nn arched brick Yault, the 2~th day of tho month of March, li:.!O, when 
the chequered pavement of this church was first laid ... 

t Hist. Eccl. lib. 11, cap. 6. § Arch. Ant., \"Ol. '"·· pp. 11~, 119. 
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is more commonly called the '"" ailu of the church, or sometimes it may be 
a particular division of it, consisting of one arch, with ita recess." In the 
Church of Beverley itself, St. John founded in the choir a convent of monks, 
dedicated to St. John the Baptist; in the nave a college of canons and clerks, 
in honour of St. John the Evangelist; and the portictu, or aide aisle, it may 
be presumed, was dedicated to St. Peter. Gough, in his edition of Camden's 
Britannia, obse"es, " Godwin and others say the Archbishop was buried in 
the church porch, so that it is not easy to account for his removal hither (to 
the middle aisle) on the first discovery of the body. They probably mean 
that he was buried at the lower end of the nave, near the west door."* 

After the canonization of St. John, the bones of the Saint were translated, 
and placed under a costly shrine; this translation therefore could be nothing 
more than removing them into the nave or choir, as a· more sacred spot. 
Dugdale and Stevens testify that they were afterwards re-interred in the cen­
tral alley of the same church ; and Alban Butler assigns a reason for the 
relics being discovered in the middle aisle of the present church.-" These 
sacred bones," he says, " were honourably translated into the church by Al­
fric, Archbishop of York, in honour of which translation, a feast was kept at 
York, in 1037, on the 25th October. On the 13th of September (not the 
24th, as Mr. Stevens says), in 1664, the sexton digging a grave in the 
Church of Beverley, discovered a vault of free stone, in which was a box of 
lead, containing several pieces of bones, with some dust, yielding a sweet 
smell, with inscriptions, by which it appeared that they we!'(' the mortal re­
mains of St. John of Beverley. T~ relics had bem hid in the beginning of 
the reign of King EdJDard VI. "t 

The Arms of Beverley Abbey were Ar. a crosier in pale 1a., enfiled with a 
crown proper, all within a bordure aa bezantee. 

BEVERLEY MINSTER.:-This "gorgeous fane," as Drayton, in his Poly­
Olbion, calls it, is dedicated to God in honour of St. John of Beverley. It 
stands on or near the site of the Collegiate Church, and towers in native 
meJesty above the surrounding buildings. When this noble edifice was 
erected, its site, though not particularly elevated, was yet distinguishable; 
for the hill would overtop the general level of tho district much more promi­
nently than is perceptible now, after the adjacent ground has been advanced 
by the accumulations of so many centuries. The venerable structure is spa­
cious and cruciform, and in the Early, Decorated, and later styles of English 

• Gough's C&mden, vol. ill., p. 3~6. t Lives of the Saints, vol. v. 

! For the derivation of the word Min&ter, see note at foot of pase '19, rol. i. 
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architecture, with two lofty towers at the west end ; and though combining 
these several styles, it exhibits in each of them such purity of composition 
and correctness of detail, a11 to raise it to an architectural equality with the 
finest of the Cathedral Churches, to which it is inferior only in magnitude. 
Approaching it, the visitor is struck with equal awe and veneration; the 
elegant and unrivalled towers; the judicious proportions obse"ed throughout 
the edifice; the excellence of its materials, now shining out in all their pris­
tine beauty, and the general symmetry and fine taste exhibited, afford to every 
beholder a series of gratifying objects, seldom so happily combined. Mr. 
Thomas Rickman, the eminent architect, while speaking of its detached 
parts, says that some of them are untqualled;* and Mr. Britton, a competent 
judge, pronounces the church " a most stately and complete structure, 
worthy to be a Cathedral, and ranking amongst the finest of that class. "t 
"A middle station," says Mr. Oliver, "has not unaptly been asaigned to it, 
between the chaste proportions and feminine splendour of Lincoln Cathedral, 
and the massive grandeur and masculine firmness and dignity of that 
of York." 

It is to be regretted that nothing can be adduced from documentary evi­
dence to shew by whom, or at what period, the several parts of the fabric 
were erected ; like most of the Cathedral Churches in the kingdom, it has 
been built at different periods, and, as we have already obse"ed, exhibits the 
several styles of Gothic architecture in its progressive stages. 

But the architectural antiquary has in a great measure supplied the defi­
ciency, by giving, with much preciaion, a detail of those distinctions which 
mark the age and style of the different portions of the edifice. "The earliest 
parts of the building," writes Britton, "may be dated shortly after the year 
1188. The architecture of these parts resembles that of Salisbury Cathedral, 
exhibiting a plain and simple style: the plan is also similar, having a double 
transept, the roofs are also vaulted with stone: and the columns, like those 
in that Cathedral, the standard example of the earliest variety of the pointed 
style, are neatly wrought with clustered shafts and capitals, composed of 
plain mouldings, without foliage. The nave is more modern than the choir 
and transepts; and the western front, which was the work of the fifteenth 
century, appears to have been scarcely completed, when the change in re­
ligion put a period to oooleaiastical magnificence. The great baronial family 
of Percy, who had a Castle near Beverley, were liberal benefactors to this 
church, which contains some beautiful tombs for persons of that house, and 
to them may be ascribed many of its enrich menta." 

• Rickman'a Eng. Archit., p. 10&. t Archit. A.ntiq., vol. v., p. 288. 
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Except the fmgment of the ancient crypt, at the corner of the south-west 
tower, there appears to be no part of the building earlier than the reign of 
Henry Ill.; and it is evident that the works were carried on gradually, as 
there is almost an insensible gradation from one period to another, while the 
plan and general style of the original architect was continued. The works 
appear to be continued from the reign of the third Henry until perhaps the 
middle of the reign of Edward III., when there seems to have been a cessa­
tion till about the reign of Henry V., at which time, or early in the next 
reign, it is probable the whole of the building was finished. 

At the commencement of the Ll.st century the church had become so rui­
nous as scarcely to be fit for use.>. John Moyser, Esq., an inhabitant of the 
town, and a former representative of the borough in Parliament, procured a 
brief for the purpose of raising money towards repairing it. King George I. 
gmnted materials from the dissoh·ed Abbey of St. Mary at York, which were 
brought from thence by water to I3overley, (See Yol. i., p. 482.) Sir Michael 
Warton, M.P. for the town, gave £500., and donations and bequests were 
made by several of the neighbouring gentlemen. So ruinous was the state 
of the church, when these efforts commenced, that the north front of the 
great transept bad so far declined from its perpendicular, as to overhang its 
base nearly four feet, and stood in a most dangerous manner. But with the 
a.~sistauce of a very ingenious but simple piece of huge fmme work of wood, 
invented by a Mr. Thomton, a carpenter of York, the whole gable end of the 
overhanging transept was screwed up at once, and replaced in its former 
situation. The entire edifice then underwent a complete repair, but unfor­
tunately the conductors of the work had imbibed a predilection for the 
Grecian style of architecture; and in attempting to combine it with the 
Early English, the prevailing error of that age, the church was much dis­
figured. At that time a low square tower was erected at the junction of the 
nave and transept, and on its summit was placed a large leaden dome, 
crowned with a gilded ball. The nave was fitted up with pews, and new 
galleries were erected, supported by Grecian pillars of the Doric order, and 
adorned \vith triglyphs. A Grecian organ screen, and an altar screen of the 
same school, were constructed at a prodigious expense, the latt.er consisting 
of a triumphal arch, supported by four pair of Corintbian pillars, and sur­
mounted by a gilded eagle, the emblem of Bt. John. The pulpit and reading 
desk were of the same taste. This jumble of Gothic and Grecian "ork was, 
to use the words of the historian of Bo.talha Abbey, "disgusting to every 
admirer of antiquity, or indeed to any man of the least taste. •· The effect of 
the dome, when seen amidst pointed windows, buttresses, pinnacles, &c., was 
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wretched in the extreme. But happily a very different order of things has 
since taken place. Mr. Comins, a competent master mason, was engaged at 
a permanent salary; about forty years ago, and since that period a systematic 
course of restoration and repairs has been regularly pursued. The whole of 
the building has undergone a thorough repair, and has been so exquisitely 
restored, that the church may be said to have regained its pristine beauty. 
The cupola was taken down in 1824, but the basement still remains, a 
specimen of the bad taste of its projectors.* It was not until the same year 
that the galleries and pews were removed from the nave, and the present 
plan of fitting up the choir, with seats for the congregation, was adopted. 
The Grecian altar-piece has given way to a Splendid stone screen, but the 
screen which separates the nave and choir, and which displays a hetero­
geneous mixture of styles, is still left. 

The stone with which the nave of the church is built, is from the quarries 
of Hazlewood, near Tadcaster, and is supposed to have been given by the 
family of Vavaaour.t It is a beautiful close-grained freestone, in colour 
nearly approaching to white. The choir and transepts are of stone from 
the quarries of Newbald, about ten miles from Beverley. The plan of the 
Minster shews the perfect Cathedral arrangetnent; it consists of a nave and 
aisles, a lower transept with aisles, a choir with aisles, and an upper transept 
with one aisle. The dimensions of the edifice are as follows:-

rr. IN. rr. IN. 

Length from east to west . . . . . . 834 4 Height of the choir aisles • . . • . • 83 3 
Breadth of the nave and side aisles M 3 Height of the central tower • . • . 107 0 
Length of the great transept.... 169 0 Height of the two west towers • . 200 0 
Breadth of transept and side aisles 60 (l Height or the west window • • • . 41 0 
Length ol-the choir. .. ........ . 4.6 0 Breadth ofthe same . . • • • . • . . . 21 8 
Breadth or the choir . . . • . . • • • • 26 7 Height ol the east window • . • . • . 4.8 8 
Height of the nave • • • • • • . • • • . • 66 7 Breadth of the same • . . • . • • . . . 21 10 

Eztnior.-Competent judges esteem the beautiful Wut Front of the 
Minster to be one of the finest instances which this country can produce, of 
Perpendicular work. Of fronts of this style Mr. Rickmau states, " the first 
to be noticed, and by far the finest, is that of Beverley Minster. What 
the west front of York is to the Decorated style, this is to the Perpendicular, 
with this addition, that in this front nothing but one style is seen,-all is 

• ~fr. Rickman rcmlll'ks that he could discover nothing to give him any clue to what 
had been there bt>fore, but he thinks it probable that the architect who added the west 
end, might have projected an octagonal lantern for it. In an old plate in Dugdale'a 
Monuticon this church is engraved with a light octangular tower. 

t See note at foot of page 409, vol i. 
VOL. U. 
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harmonious. Like Yorlt ~linskr it cou:;ists of u very fine wrst window to 
the nave, all(l two towers for the ends of the aisles. This window is of nine 
lights, and the tower windows, which are of three lights, correspond in range 
nearly with those of the aisles and clcrcstory windows of the nave. Each 
tower has four large and eight small pinnacles, and a very beautiful battle­
ment. The whole front is panelled; and the buttresses, which have a bold 
projection, aro ornamentcd with various tiers of niche work, of excellent 
composition and most ddicate cxrcution. The doors arc uncommonly rich, 
and have the hanging foather ornameuts; the canopy of the great centre 
door ruus up above the sill of the window, and stands fr(.'C in the centre light, 
with very fine effect. The gable has a real tympanum, which is filled with 
fine tracery."~, The drsign of this noble elevation is little inferior to York, 
which it greatly resembles. It consists of a centre and two side divisions; 
the lower story of the ceutral divisiou conmiuiug the principal entrance. 
The great west window, which is iu breadth equal to the whole extent of 
the central division of the front, is sulxlividcd by a transom into two tiers; 
the head of the arch contains two sub-arches, ·which arc filled with numerous 
minute lights, with arched heads. The arch is bounded by a S\voeping 
canopy, crockctcd, and ending in a finial. The whole is finished with a 
raiiing battlement, delicately pierced, and ornamented with five pinnacles, 
placed at short intervals. The approach to the great western door is by a 
broad flight of four steps. The beautiful towers, rising abo'"e the side 
aisles, form tlte other divisions. The southern tower has a doorway similar 
in design to the principal entrance. Both of the towers nrr strengthened 
with buttresses at their angles, of four st{)ries, each division being marked 
with an angular cap. 
· The buttresses are covered with n succession of rich niches, with canopied 
heads; nnd at the conclusion of ench pair of buttresses is a handsome 
crockcted pinnacle. The first story of each tower has an arched window of 
three lights, with perpendicular tracery in the sweep of the arch of the west 
front; and a similar one of moro ample proportions in the second story, 
which are also repeated iu the flank and cast ft\CC of the northern tower. The 
southern tower has no window iu the lower story of the flank, and a part of 
the buttresses at the south-western angle are less highly finij>hed than the 
otlter parts of the front, in consequence of some building which formerly 
abutted against it. In tho second story of the southern tower is a smaller 
window, which does not exactly corrrspond with the western front. Every 

• llickwan Eu~l. Archit., p. 10:1. 
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side of the upper story of <•nch tower has a lofty window of three lights, 
divided by a transom, the head of the arch being filled with tracery, and 
bounded by a sweeping canopy. The uniformity of the upper story of these 
towers is perfect.* Above the upper cornice of the windows is a panelled 
fascia, and the whole is finished by a battlement, from which rise ten smaller 
pinnacles of a corresponding character with the angles-six on the flanks, 
and four on the foro and back points. 

Although this gorgeous facade was probably commenced in the 15th cen­
tury, the great doorway and much of the panelling show the workmanship of 
the succeeding age. The style of architecture marks its erection at a period 
immediately succeeding the completion of tho western front of the York 
Minster, with which it is tl10ugbt the architect aimet.l at rivalry. It is very 
likely the numerous niches of this splent.lid pile were once ornamcntcd \Vith 
statues. In one of the buttresses on the north side of the west end there is 
one standing figure, in armour, "which," says Mr. Oliver, "escaped the rage 
of puritanical predominancy, and remains as n specimen of the taste and exe­
cution of the sculptor. Some say that it represents the member of the 
Vavasour family, who is supposed to have given the free 1t!e of his stone 
quarries at Hazlewood, for the building of this part of the church ; but others 
conjecture it to be intended for one of the Northumberland family. Mr. 
Poulson says that it bears the arms of Peroy. 

On the sOuth side of the west end of the church a pavement of smooth 
stones was discovered about thirty years ago. It was firmly placed on the 
solid clay, and appears to countenance tho supposition that the ancient 
building, which was destroyed by fire in 1188, was either of greater extent 
than the present church, or occupied a somewhat ditlcrcut site. "This pave­
ment," writes Mr. Oliver, "might be part of the floor of the crypt, on which 
it is probable the former edifice was built, for vestiges of a moro ancient 
building remain on the south side of the adjoining tower, which aro placed 
on a basis, exhibiting the o.ppearance of the dwarfish columns and ponderous 
arches, which usually characterise these subterranean apartments." Mr. 
Comins excavated down to the base of these columns, and he pronounced 
them to be pillars of a crypt. And it should be remarked that when this part 
of the building was being repaired, the action of tho fire upon the stones was 
ycry plainly to be discovered. Mnny smooth stones have been turned up by 
the sexton, in digging graves in this quarter of the churchyard ; but the 
actual extent of tbc pavement has not been ascertained. 

• The towers that adorn tho front of Wcstminst<!r Abbey were taken from those ot 
Beverley Minster, in Yorkshire.-Enc:ydop. Londinw~ i$, , .. , ..{rchittcturt. 
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The north tower contains a peal of eight bells, all of modem date. The 
fourth bell bears the inscription " V eniU Ezultemm Dt:nnirn> ;" and the others 
the names of the officers of the church. These bells also form a set of 
chimes, which play one of three tunes four times a day. There is also a 
large funeral bell in the south tower, on which is inscribed, "Soli Deo Gloria 
Pax Hominibtu, liOS." 

The north side of the nave is in nine divisions, formed by buttresses, 
crowned with pinnacles, and from them spring flying arches, which cross the 
aisles and abut against the clerestory, above which they finish in small 
pinnacles. 

The elevation of the aisle is finished with a parapet, enriched with a 
flower moulding, and in each division is a basso relievo, from the life of some 
saint. The finish of the clerestory is a parapet, having triangular panelling. 
In all the divisions except the third are windows of four lights, with foliated 
tracery of very elegant design. 

The North Porcl~ occupies the third. division of this side of the nave, and 
its design and ornaments are of a most elaborate character. Mr. Rickman 
says that the panelled front of this porch is perhaps unequalled. "The 
door," he continues, "has a double canopy, the inner an ogee, and the 
outer a triangle, with beautiful crockets and tracery, and is Banked by fine 
buttresses breaking into niches, and the space above the canopy, to the cor­
nice, is panelled; the battlement is composed of rich niches, and the but­
tresses crowned by a group of four pinnacles." The architecture of this 
portion of the church is in the best style of the 14th century, and was ex­
cellently repaired in 1828. Over the porch is a small chamber, ·where, in 
ancient times, the porter of the convent bad his bed, that he might be ready 
to attend to the call of claimants for the privilege of sanctuary, whose crimes 
deterred them from approaching the chair of peace by the light of day. The 
refugee touched a small bell, which was suspended at the entrance of tho 
porch, and when admitted into the galilee,* he might remain in safety for 
the night. 

The Great Tramept has preserved its original character, the windows still 
remaining unaltered; and although the architects of this style, of the 13th 
century, worked their ordinary windows plaiu, they bestowed much care on 
their circles; and those which are placed in the north and soutli fronts of 
the transept, are particularly fine. The west and east sides of each wing are 
made by buttresses into three divisions; the clerestory, also by buttresses, 

• Oc:aliltt-see note at foot of rASe 376, ,·ol. i. 
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into four; the parapets of both aisles and clerestory are more modern, and 
similar to those of the nave. The buttresses finish above the parapets, 
those of the aisle in angular heads, and the clerestory in pinnacles. In each 
division is a single lancet window, accompanied by blank arches. The north 
front of the transept has a large circular-headed entrance, the archivolt 
mouldings resting on five columns, with bold leaved capitals. The arch is 
encircled in the mouldings with the small flowers so common in works of 
that period. At each side is a niche with an acute head ; above are three 
tall equal-sized lancet windows, with shafts on each side; and the succeeding 
story has also the same number of lancet windows, but the centro one is 
rather taller than its two lateral companions. In the gable is a circular 
window, filled with wheel-formed mullions, dividing it into ten lights, and 
above is a vertical slit window ; the point is surmounted by a cross. The 
buttresses between the centre and side aisles are finished with octagonal 
turrets, having a pointed arch in every face, and crowned with dwarf spires; 
the aisles have each a single lancet light, and a circular light of small di­
mensions; and the angles are buttressed. The southern front of this transept 
is of similar deaign to the last described, except that the entrance is much 
more beautiful. It has a double door, with pointed arches, supported in the 
centre by an octagonal shaft of clustered mouldings, with an octagonal base; 
the spandril between the arches is ornamented with a quatrefoil, and the 
whole is surmounted by a semicircular arch, with lateral pointed arcades. 
The mouldings of this elegant entrance are cut with great boldness ; the 
shafts are round, and stand quite free; and the capitals are embellished with 
small foliated ornaments, curling round under the cap-moulding, looking like 
Ionic volutes, their bases round and filletted. 

"The completeness, the regularity, and the fine proportions of the eleva­
tion of both fronts of this transept, makes it worthy of minute examination ; 
such an example of the style of the 13th century being very rarely to be met 
with."* The continuation of the church between the great and upper (or 
eastern) transept consists of three divisions, in the same style as the transept, 
but all destitute of flying buttresses. The west side of the eastern transept 
has no aisle ; the architecture assimilates with the portion on the same side 
last described. The north front, which has buttresses at the angles, ending 
in dwarf spires, is in three stories; the first contains two lancet windows; 
above which is a blank arcade of acutely-pointed arches ; and over that are 
two other lancet windows, the heads accompanied with circles and quatrefoils 

• Britton, Arch. Ant., vol. v., p. 220. 
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on the wall. In the gable aro two lancet lights, and a small light, or loop­
hole, above; on the point are the remains of a cross. This front has but­
tresses at the angles, ending, like those of the other transept, in dwarl spires. 
The east side of the aisle of this transept is partly built against, by a small 
chapel which abuts against the remainder of the north side of the church, 
and is an addition of the 16th century. 

The E08t Ena of the church is unaffectedly grand, and in fine prese"a­
tion; and well calculated to prepossess the mind with ideas which are almost 
sublime. It has buttresses at the angles, ending in spires, but the great east 
window is an introduction of a more modern period. " The origi11al elevation 
of this front," writes :M:r. Britton, "may be supposed to have been lighted by 
tall narrow windows, similar to those of the transept ; the buttresses and 
pinnacles at the angles retaining their original character in the same style. 
The principal window was evidently copied from that at York, which was 
built in the early part of the 15th century. Tho chief mullions are strength­
ened by parallel ones on the inside, which bear a small gallery, connected 
with tho transom, which divides the lights into two portions. A similar ex­
pedient was practised at York, where the window has two transoms with 
interior galleries. The skill of the architects of these structures, in com­
bining great durability and strength, with the utmost lightness of effect, 
cannot but excite our admiration; and their boldness in introducing new 
embellishments into the works of their predec~ssors, is astonishing."* This 
fine window is of nine lights ; and in the sweep of the arch are sub-arches, 
with perpendicular tracery. It has a crocketed pediment with a finial, and 
the gable is crowned with a foliated cross. 

The upper part of this front, including the gable, is lightened in its effect 
by an abundance of trefoil and quatrefoil panelling, having a line of quatrefoil 
ornaments at the base, the panelling being repeated on the turrets, which 
boldly project from the angles ; and these crowned by lofty cones, rise above 
the terminating finial of the gable. On the two buttresses, where the arch 
of the window springs its curve, are figures of King Athelstan and St. John 
of Beverley, placed under tabernacles, which, from their diminutive size and 
great height, fail to produce the effect intended by their introduction here. 
The eastern part of the building is the oldest as far as the first arch in the 
nave; comprising the Lady Chapel, the choir, and both transepts. 

The south side of the church so closely resembles the north, as to render 
a particular description unnecessary; it will therefore only be requisite to 

• Britton, Arch. Ant., vol. '"·• r. ~:10. 
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notice tho few particulars in which this aspect of the church differs from the 
north side. Instead of the splendid porch of the nave, the corresponding 
entrance on the south side is a simple pointed arch, covered with an ogee­
formed canopy. The enstcru extremity of the south aisle is of later archi­
tecture, and has three pointed windows of the same style as the more modem 
parts of the church. From the centre of the building rises the low square 
bo..semeut, which was formerly surmounted with a dome, already alluded to. 

"Let us walk to the Minstcr," says Professor Phill.ips, in his Railway 
Excursions, " and admire the elegance of its general design, the grandeur, 
lightness, and admirsble drawing of the western towers-the latest parts of 
the church-the pure, simple, yet effecth·e, composition of the central and 
altar transepts; the flying stone buttresses, the pinnacles, the varied battle­
ments, the beautiful windows. If we must censure, let that strange thing 
which sits, as if in mockery, where the great tower should rise, bear 
tho blO\v." 

Irn~ior.-The spacious entrance door at the west end is flanked on each 
side by an arcade, with canopies, supported by cylindt:rs. The door itself is 
o{ oak, and exhibits some bold and tasteful carving, apparently of the same 
age as the Grecian work already mentioned. It is divided into eight com­
partments; in the four upper of which are placed the four Evangelists, 
beneath canopies; and the corresponding squares beneath are decorated with 
their symbols, viz., cherubic figures of a man, an ox, a lion, and an eagle. 
The elevation of the interior of the building shews three stories of pointed 
architecture, and to the unpractised eye it may be supposed, from its uniform 
appearance, that the church was all built at one period ; but on examining 
its details, it will be found to have been erected at three different eras ; and 
many of the windows subsequently introduced in the earlier parts of the 
structure. The nave comprises eleven very lofty arches, with archivolt 
mouldings, springing from pillars composed of a union or cluster of eight cylin­
drical shafts. The triforium, or second story, is composed of an extended 
arcade of plain pointed arches, with quatrefoils in the spandrils, fronted by a 
second arcade of trefoil arches, on light columns of Purbeck marble. The 
upper story or clerestory has a gallery of communication, which is protected 
by small arches on each side of the window. " The rich tracery and sculp­
tured details, which became fashionable in the 14th century," writes Britton, 
"are .here superadded to the simple outlines displayed in other parts." Be­
neath the windows of the aisles of the nave is a tier of ogee arches, supported 
by small but elegant marble cylinders, the niches being tabcrnacled and sur­
rounded by crockets, with grotesque figures, sculptured at the junction of 
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the mouldings. Above the capitals arc sculp~urea, representing choral 
musicians and angels playing on the musical instruments used in churches 
before the use of the organ became general. This kind of ornament is re­
peated above the capitals on either side of the body of the nave ; and also 
in the Lady Chapel. The arcade, or tier of arches, beneath the windows is 
continued throughout the church, but without the sculptured figures. The 
vaulted or groined roofs of the entire edifice are simple, and have a bold and 
chaste appearance. 

The central tower is supported by four massive piers of fine construction, 
each being formed by four large and four small shafts, placed alternately, 
and erected on an octagonal base. The view of the whole interior of this 
beautiful church, from beneath the tower, exhibits an extensive scene of 
admirable workmanship, not easily equalled. The transept is supported by 
eight arches on each side, and the plainness of its windows, devoid of the rich 
tracery exhibited in the nave, marks decisively the difference of style which 
prevailed in the ages when the parts of this church were respectively erected. 
Over the door of the south front of the transept is an old emblematical 
painting on wood, representing King Athelstan in the act of presenting a 
charter to the church of St. John, personified in the figure of the great Saint 
himself; and containing the well-known words:-

Als Fre make I TM As hert may thytlk or Egh may au. 

The screen which separates the choir from the nave, and on which the 
organ stands, was built in 1731, and is in the Grecian style of architecture, 
with English decorations; but lamentably misplaced amidst such a profusion 
of pure English ornament, as is here presented to view. The entrance into 
the choir, through the screen, is under a tall archway, supported by Corin­
thian pillars; and on pedestals, within large niches on each side, are two 
full-length figures, intended to represent St. John and King Athelstan. The 
figure of the Saint is arrayed with cope, mitre, and crosier, and in the act of 
bestowing the episcopal benediction ;* and that of the King in the costume 
of a Roman warrior, with a sword in one hand, and a charter in the other. 
The images are of mixed metal, covered with a coating of plaster. The arch­
way is surmounted by a high central cluster of three cherubs, supported by 

• The statue here intended for St. John of Beverley is supposed to have been taken 
from a model of Pope Gregory. It is a most graceful and elegant figure, but we mnat 
condemn the false taste and a"bsurdity of the artist, who could substitute the figure of 
a Roman pontiff', with a otnmJblf btard, for a Suon Archbishop, whose order obliged 
him to be clc•elfl 1lwven. 
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two sitting angels-the one handling a harp, and the other blowing a 
trumpet. 

The Ohw is fitted up in the beet style of the grandest of our English 
Cathedrals. The stalls, forty-two in number, are most superbly carved and 
omamented. The seats are of au equal altitude, and the under part of each, 
which is visible when the seat is turned up, contains some allegorical design, 
curiously carved, and forming altogether a record, the key to which is irre­
coverably lost. Many of theee figures are copied from the tricks of the 
ancient joculatol"8. The canopies, which are supported by slender pillal"8, 
consist of an intrioate m&88 of elegant tabernacle work. The exquisitely 
beautiful altar screen is a fine specimen of the Decorated style of architecture, 
and was erected in 1825-6. It is an exact restoration of the old screen, 
which was constructed in the reign of Edward m., and defaced by the re­
rorming zeal of the Puritans, under Cromwell. Rickman says of this screen 
that it "is so full of ornament, and that ornament so minute, that few modem 
chimney-pieces would require equal delicacy of execution." The design con­
tains two stages, each divided into twenty-four niches. Those in the lower 
compartment have crocketed pediments; and the niches in the upper story 
are surmounted by most beautiful tabernacle work, of the richest description ; 
and on the top is an open battlement. A much worn stone staircase leads 
to the ancient rood loft. The communion table is composed of a plain slab 
of veined marble, supported with ornamental carved stone work, in character 
with the screen, and before it are some finely-carved stone rails. The pulpit, 
which is modem, is an octagon of two stages, exhibiting some elegant carved 
work. The floor is laid with variegated marble. The space between the 
altar screen and the east wall of the church was called the lAdy 0'hap8l, 
being dedicated to the Blessed Virgin. The south entzance to it is decorated 
with four stalls, having a rich canopy. These stalls, which are of the same 
date with those in the choir, were originally five in number, and placed in a 
different part of the church, but their former use is not certainly known. 
The present recess being too confined to admit the whole, one of them was 
cut away. There is an ancient open screen of oak in the arch of entrance 
on the north side of this chapel. 

Here are several monuments, which, by the way, have made a sad havoc of 
the east side of the beautiful altar screen, and the ornamental details of this 
part of the building. The magnificent east window is filled with stained 
glass, representing Our Saviour, his Twelve Apostles, and several eminent 
Saints ; and under the central battlement, on the south side, are two spaces 
6.Ued with the legeudary biakny oC St. Martin. The choir and the south 
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small transE'pt are fitted up for the congregation, and in this part of the 
church Divine service is no\v performed. 

The VestnJ is formed out of a part of the north lesser tmnsept; and ia it 
are silt shields of arms, painted on the ceiling. Near the entmnce to it is 
placed the ancient F,·idatool, already noticed. In the north aisle of the choir 
there is a beautiful stone staircase (ascending and descending) of Early 
Pointed architecture, and of n very rich character. It led from the aisle to 
an adjacent building, which has entin>ly vanished before the ravages of time, 
anu which l\fr. Oliver supposes to have been the dormitory for sanctuary 
men. This staircase has been erroneously supposed to have formerly led to 
the shrine of St. ,John of Be,·erlry. The Organ, an excellent instrument, 
was erected by Snetzler, in 1767, at a cost of .£717.; and improved in 1824, 
by Ward, of York. The first musical festival held north of the Trent took 
place in the Minster, at the opening of this organ, in the month of Septem­
ber in that year. The oratorios produced on the occasion \'l'ere the Messiah, 
.Judas Maccabreus, and Samson. The font, which is situated in the south 
aisle of the nave, is a large marble basin of agate, in the form of a frustrum 
of a sphere, and is supposed to be as old as the first building of the church. 
Over it is suspended a massive cone of richly carved oak, of the aame age as 
the carvings on the west door. 

1\fonuments.-The north part of the small transept was formerly appro­
priated as a place of interment for the noble family of Percy, and doubtless 
there stood an altar there, on which masses of requiem had been celebrated 
for the deceased members of that house. A chapel at the north side of the 
great cast window, usually called the Pe'rCIJ Clutpel, was erected in the reign 
of Henry VII., and in it is the monument of Henry, the fourth Earl of 
Northumberland, who was murdered in 1489, as we have related at page 175 
of vol. i.* It has an altar tomb of grey marble, and retains very little of its 
former splendour. Acconiing to Mr. Gough, it was ~orned with niches and 
shields, and had a rich canopy over it, "but the canopy," he says, "has been 

• The cost of the magnificent funeral obseqniea of this nobleman amounted to .£1,610., 
equal to .£12,080. in modem money. The mutilated body was embalmed, and placed in 
a leaden coffin, with an oaken covering, at a cost (modem reckoning) of .£130. The 
hearse cost .£210. The funeral set out from Topcllife for Bevcrley, &Dd immediately 
af\er the body came a host of mourners, extending for miles, in solemn and gorgeous 
pageantry. Twelve lords, in splendid apparel costing .£210.; 20 gentlewomen, in gowns 
costing .£1:>0.; 60 squires &Dd gentlemen, in gowns and tippets costing £800.; 200 yeo­
men, in gowns costing .£1,200.; lUO "poor folk," in black gowns, as torch 'bean>.n, 
costing .£-120.; 600 priests, nt a cost of £400.; J,OOOclerb (clergy), cost .£160.; 100 
grooms, in gowns costing .£:>00. And this long proeeasion, with its numberlese ailkeo 
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broken down, and the tomb removed into the middle of the chapel." This 
chapel is entered through an ancient open screen of oak. 

The Percy SlariM is the name usually given to a suberb and finely exe· 
cuted monument on the north side of the choir. It is in the Decorated style 
of the time of Edward ill., and appears by the uniform consent of the most 
part of those who have investigated the subject, to l1ave been erected in 
honour of the Lady ldonea, daughter of Robert, Lord Clifford, and the wife of 
Henry, second Lord Percy of Alnwick. Leland states, in his first visit to this 
church, "There be three tombs most notable on the north side of the quicr, 
yn on one of them under a chapel arched over is buried Percy, Earl of Nor· 
thumberland, and his son, father to the last Earl. In another is buried 
Eleanor, wife to one of the Lord Percy's, and in another of white alabaster, 
Idonea, wife to one of Lord Percy's; under Eleanor's tomb is buryed one of 
the Percy's a Preste." 

Though this statement is utterly at variance with the present appearance 
of the monuments, yet it points to the shrine under notice, as being the tomb 
of the Lady Idonea. Tbia splendid piece of sculpture consists of a very 
magnificent groined canopy of freestone, containing a pediment with a 
double feathered ogee arch, terminating in a splendid finial composed of viue 
leaf ornaments. The epandrils are charged with angels~' bearing censers. 
Within the pediment is a rich arch bordered with lea\'es, and terminating in 
a bouquet, and formed of three demi·quatrefoils. In the spandrils on the 
north side are the figures of four armed knights holding four shields ; and 
the spandrils of the south side exhibit three knights and a lady habited in a 
splendid manner. These figures are of the most finished workmanship, and 
those of the knights may serve as specimens of the armour of the time. An 
infinity of basso relievos and ornamental enrichments are profusely spread 
over every part of the monument, and amongst the figures introduced are 
those of a King and Queen, supposed to represent Edward Ill. and Philippa. 
Both canopies are richly crocketed; the finial of the upper is tall and beau· 
tiful; the lower is a corbel, on which is placed a sitting figure of our Divine 

banners, benring tho o.nns o.nd blo.zonments of tho Perrys, wo..' lighted up by the glare 
ol thousands ol torches, borne by horsemen nnd }lO'Itmcn all the way to the Chur<'h 
ol BeYerley, which was hung in black at a cost of .£400. Nor were tbo poor forgotten, 
who went thither to pey their last homage to the dead-13,340 of these recoived amongst 
them .£1,233. These are but a few of the items of this great funeral pageant, which 
ln.sted two days-halting o.t the Cn.stles of Wrt>ssil o.nd Lcckonfield. (See page 20-i.) 

• One of tho heads of these angels was broken ofl', and carri~>d to America, where, 
after remaining twenty.eight yen~, it 11·as sent back, And restored to its original stAtion, 
which it fitted exaetly.-PouUolt't Btt~trlot',p. 0110. 
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Redeemer, supported by an angel on each side. The figure of our Saviour, 
on the south side, appears to be receiving and blessing a lady who is held 
in a sheet, resting on his knees, by two angels on each side. The four 
angels are whole lengths, and are standing on brackets supported by human 
figures crouchant. There was formerly an altar tomb beneath this rich 
canopy, which bore the effigy of a lady extended in length, and had around 
it fourteen shields of brass, which had been stolen before the tomb '\11'&8 re­
moved. It would be impossible to gh·e, by a verbal description, any idea of 
the exquisite workmanship of this magnificent shrine; it is equally excellent 
in beauty of arrangement, elegance of details, and delicacy of execution ; and 
it is worthy of observation that in all the variety of figures and characters 
represented in its ornamental parts, a varied expression of sorrow and con· 
cem is depicted on every countenance. This shrine has been pronounced 
"one of the most perfect and beautiful specimens of its style in this kingdom, 
or, perhaps in the world ; "-" one of the finest sepulchral monuments in 
England ;"-and one writer terms it" the first of models of ancient monu· 
ments, wherein every effort that sculpture and masonry could combine, are 
displayed in one great excellence." 

In the east aisle of tho north transept is another monument belonging to 
the Percy family. It is an altar tomb, with a richly vested figure of a priest 
in a recumbent posture, the head resting on a double cushion supported by 
cherubim ; the feet on a lion. The sides of the monument are omamented 
with eight niches with pointed arches, buttresses, crockets, and finials. It 
is assigned, by common consent, to George Peroy, sixth son of Henry, Earl 
of Northumberland, and grandson of Sir Henry Peroy, surnamed Hotspur. 
George wns born at Leckonfield, July 28th, 1424, and was a priest, and 
Canon of Beverley. '!'his mouument appears to have had a canopy over it, 
and to have had a place originally amongst the other monuments of this 
noble fllmily; but has been removed, by some accident, to its present situation, 
during the repairs of the church. It is the one supposed to be alluded to by 
Leland,-" Under Eleanor's tomb is burycd one of the Peroy's a Preste." 

In the same aisle is another wmb, also uninscribed, with an ancient figure 
laid supine upon it, having a venerable beard, its hands clasped, and sup· 
ported by two recumbent angels much defaced. Near this stands tbe ruins 
of an altar, of slate marble, panelled at the l>ack, and formerly inlaid with 
brass or some precious metal ; but that, as well as the other ornamental 
work with which it was formerly adorned, hns been tom away. 

Another very ancient uninscribed monument, called the Maid~11 Tomb, 
stands in the south aisle of the na,·e, which tradition has assigned to two 
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maiden sisters (daughters of Earl Puch, of Bishop Burton), who are said to 
haTe given two of the common pastures to the town of Beverley. How far this 
is to be oredited is uncertain. That two of the public pastures are eiijoyed by 
the freemen, without any record to shew by whom they were bequeathed, is 
a sort of negative elidence in ita favour. The monument consists of an altar 
tomb, coTered with a slab of Purbeck marble, placed under a groined caoopy 
adomed with pinnacles, •c. It is in the Early Decorated style, and may 
haTe been erected about the beginning of the reign of Edward m. It very 
much resembles the Percy Shrine, but is less superbly ornamented. 

The Lady Chapel contains several monuments belonging chiefly to the 
Wartons, of Beverley Park, and the Pennyman family. The effigy of Sir 
Michael Warton, Knight, who died in 1665, aged 8~. is arrayed in full 
armour, and is kneeling at prayer. In the north lesser transept is a large 
monument to Colonel Sir Charles Hotham, of Scorbrough, Bart., who died 
in 1722, aged 60. He was twenty years M.P. for Beverley. In the great 
south transept is a fine monument to Major General B. F. Bowes, who feU 
in June, 1812, while leading the forlom hope to the aseault of the fortress 
La Mercia, Salamanca, aged 48. There are a number of very neat monu­
mental tablets against the walls in d.Uferent parts of the church, and amongst 
those of recent date ar~ne in the south aisle of the choir to the Rev. Wm. 
Robinson Gilby, M.A., nine years Vicar of St. Mary's Church, Beverley, who 
died in 1848, aged 61; three in the Lady Chapel, to Sir W. H. Pennyman, 
Bart., who dif'.d in 1852, aged 88; Henry Ellison, Esq., who died in 1886, 
aged 75 ; and Warton Pennyman Berry, Esq., who died in 1840, aged 78; 
three in the north aisle of the nave, to the Rev. Joseph Coltman, incumbent 
of the Minster, who died in 1887, aged 60; James Walker, Esq., who died 
in 1829, aged 77; and John F. Soame, Esq., who died in 1880, aged 24. 
Also one in the south transept to John Westoby, Esq., who died in 1848, 
aged 68. 

The Li.fJing of the united parishes of St. John and St. Martin is a Per­
petual Curacy, in the gift of the Trustees of the Rev. Charles Simeon, of 
Cambridge, by purchase from the Corporation under the Municipal Act. 
The Rev. J. B. Birtwhistle is the present incumbent. The value of the 
living is about £180. per annum. Two assistant curates are appointed, each 
of whom is allowed a stipend of about £150., mostly out of the Minster funds. 
Choral service is performed twice on Sundays, and prayers are read twice 
every day. The great and small tithes of this parish, the property of Trinity 
College, Cambridge, and the lay impropriator, were commuted in 1785. 

The PMIQMge Ho~~M stands on the south side of the church. 
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Mimter Enatu and Ft~ndi.-We have seen at page !HO, that Queen 
ElizabeUl granted to the Corporation of Bevedey certain chantries, lands, 
&c., for the maintenance and reparation of the Minster Church. Sir Micbael 
Warton, Knt., by his will dated 28rd of May, 1724, gave £4,000. in trust to 
the Archbishop and the Dean and Chapter of York, and the Mayor and 
Recorder of Beverley, for the time being, to be a perpetual fund for the same 
laudable object. The latter gilt, together with cer1Bin other sums bequeathed 
by the same donor, for the support of the charity school and an hospital, was 

laid out in the purehase of lands, &c., at Dalby, Partney, and Dexthorpe, in 
the county of Lincoln. The old fund, which was derived under Queen 
Elizabeth's grant, now consiata of £100., 6 per cent., secured in the tolls of 
Queensgate Road, and £100., 6 per cent., secured in the tolls of the Driffield 
Road, together with several houses, tenements, gardens, closes, &c., in and 
near the town of Beverley, now yielding an annual income of £1,188.; and 
the property is in the hands of the Charitable Trustees of the town, appointed 
under the provisions of the Municipal Act. The new fund consists of the 
rents of the manor of Dalby, and some houses and lands dispersed in the 
above-named places in Lincolnshire, now yielding about £880 per annum, 
16·21 parts of which are applied to the augmentation of the stipend of the 
Curates of the Minster, 8-21 parts to the hospital for poor persons, and 2-21 
parts to the charity school. The trust is in the hands of the Archbishop, 
&c., as appointed under the will of the donor, but as there is no Recorder of 
Beverley, a person is appointed to act in his stead. The trustees of both 
the old and new funds jointly contribute towards the revenues of tha clergy, 
and determine from time to time the repairs to be done to the church, and 
the money to be expended for that purpose. 

Ancimt Church of St. Martin.-It has already been observed that when 
St. John founded the monastery of Beverley, he erected on the south side of 
the church an OratonJ, dedicated to St. Martin, wherein be afterwards placed 
a community of nuns. In course of time this became a parish church, but 
all traces of the fabric of the building have disappeared, and it is not even 
known when the union of the parishes of St. John and St. Martin took place, 
but most likely it occurred in 1546, when a union of all churches and chapels 
was ordered, that were under value in King's Books, after the ecclesiastical 
survey called Valor Eccle•iastictu, in 1585 (26th Henry Vill.) 

Ancimt Church of St. Nicholas,-When St. John of Beverley completed 
his monastery he endowed it with the manor of Ridings, and the adjoining 
wood. On this manor he built the church of St. Nicholas. "When the 
monastery was destroyed by the Danes, this church is supposed to have 
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shared the same fate. At what time the latter building was re-erected is 
invoh·ed in obscurity, but it continued a parochial establishment, though in 
a declining state, until it was demolished during the civil wars; but at 
what precise period or under what circumstances are unknown. Oliver 
thinks it probable that the nave of the building, then in a dilapidated state, 
was taken down during the siege of Hull, and the materials used in the 
construction of the forts and batteries erected before that town. The tower 
or steeple was however left standing, for in 1698, according to the town's 
records, the Corporation obtained permission of the Archbishop of York to 
take down the old steeple of Holm~ Church,* and dispose of the material in 
repairing the churches" of St. Martin and Saint Mary," in Beverley. In 
1667 the Rectory of St. Nicholas, formerly in the patronage of the Archbishop, 
was united to the Vicarage of St. Mary. This church does not seem to have 
been well endowed, for at a visitation so early as the reign of Henry IV., it 
appears that not only the fabric was dilapidated, but the vestments and 
decorations were in a wretched state. The church-yard, which is well-known, 
and a few years ago was used as an osiery, lies about forty yards north of the 
street called Beck.side. I t contains two excellent spring wells, the waters of 
which were once in very good repute as possessing curative properties for 
diseases of the eye ; but not a vestige of the ancient church remains. The 
ancient parishes of St. Martin and St. Nicholas still retain the names of their 
tutelar saints, and parochial officers are elected every year. 

ST. MAaY's Cauaca, North Bar Street Witbin.-Arcbbiabop Thurstan 
is supposed to have built or rebuilt a chapel or oratory on the site of this 
church, as a chapel of ease to St. Martin's. Little is known of this venerable 
edifice nntil the year 18~5, when it was constituted a vicarage by Archbishop 
de Melton. In 1857 a dwelling-house was assigned to it for the residence 
of the Vicar. In 1841 (~nd Henry IV.) a royal license was obtained for 
establishing a fraternity, or" Guild of the Blessed Mary," to consist of an 

• The Church or St. Nicholas li"O.S nsnally called HolrM Church, probably from its 
in81llar situation. According to Bede, Holme was the Sa.xon term applied to a mer 
island; and Camden describes • holme u a plaiD grassy ground upoo water aidee. 
Either of these explanations is descriptive of the site upon which this church was built, 
it beiog surrounded with meadows, and at the present day the church. yard is nearly 
encompassed with strt>ams thnt llow ioto the river Hall. According to Warburton (Lam­
dotcM MS8., No. 896) this church was re-built in 1848, by Thomas or Richard Holme, 
"of whom it wu called Holme Church." But it is oertaio that the church wu iD ex­
istence iD the preceding century, Cor it is mentiooed iD 1286, when an Indulgence wu 
granted ror its anpport; and in the wardrobe accounts of Edward I., 33&. is charged u 
paid to the Friars' Preachers, by Friar Richard of St. Nicbolas, at Beverley, iD 1290, 
when that monarch visited this toli"D. 
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indefinite number of penons, with o.n alderman or ste~ard for the regulation 
of the brotherhood, and superintendence of the property that might accrue to 
them. In 1518, during the performaoce of divine senice in this church, 
the upper part of the tower gave way, and fell through the roof of the building 
with a tremendous crash, and several individuals lost their lives on the occ. 
sion. An inscription relating to this event was placed on one of the pews. 
The structure did not long remain in ruins, for Sir Richaid Rokeby and 
othen entered into a private subscription, and before the yeaz 1680 it was 
completely reatored. The names of some of those who rebuilt or repaired 
some of the pillars, are recorded upon them, and the above-mentioned inscrip­
tion, though much defaced, still remains. 

As shown above, the parish of St. Nichol&s was united to this church 
in 1667, and both parishes are now in the patronage of the Crown. St. 
Mary's is valued in the King's Book's at .£14. 2s. Sid., and St. Nicholas's 
at .£5. Os. lOd. The present incumbent is the Rev. William 'fravis Sandya, 
and the returned value of the living is now .£28Q. per annum. 

This splendid church is cruciform in shape, and consists chiefly of a nave 
with aisles, a transept, and a choir or chancel with aisles, with a massy tower 
in the centre of the building. Its dimensions are, length of the na'fe 100 
feet, breadth of the nave and aisles 61! feet, length of the chancel from the 
gates to the altar 76 feet, breadth of the centre aisle of the chanoel !.15 feet, 
breadth of the south aisle of the chancel 14 feet 10 inches, and of the nonh 
aisle 17 feet 10 inches, height of the no.ve from the pal'ement to the under 
aide of the roof 48 feet, height of the tower 99 feet, square of the tower Si ft. 

The various parts of the church contain traces of the Norman, and of all 
the different styles of Gothic architecture, which renders it evident that it 
has been relmilt on nea.riy the ancient foundations. The weet front, which 
is very beautiful, is entirely of Early Perpendicular composition. It is made 
into three divisions by two large octangular buttres8es, surmounted by lofty 
turrets of the same shape, exquisitely pierced and richly embattled. A 
singlllar feature in these turrets is, that though similar in form they differ in 
siu, the one oorthemlll08t being considerably larger than the other. The 
west entrance consitrts of a doorway, which, as well as tbe turrets just men­
tioned, are but slightly removed from the character of the Decorated style. 
The mouldings of this doorway are extremely delicate, and have on the outer 
members a rich line of hanging tracery. Above it is the great west window, 
which ho.s o. transom, and is divided into seven lights by elegant mullions. 
The sweep of the arch contains a rich profusion of Perpendicular tracery. 
The remainder of the elevation of this end of the nave ia panelled, and the 
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finish is a pierced battlement, in the centre of which is a crocketed pinnacle, 
containing a niche, in which is a statuette of the Blessed Virgin holdi11g in 
her arms the Infant Banour. 

The west window and the upper pert of this end of the church were faith­
fully restored about fiTe years ago. This window, and those of the west end 
of the side aisles, with the buttre8868 and batUements of the nave, are of a . 
character somewhat later than that of the west door. At the angles of this 
front are double buttresses of very rich workmanahip, terminating in crocketecl 
pinnacles, with subordinate ones at the sides, and the parapet of the west 
end of the aisletris pierced. The stone porch on the south side of the nave 
is very beautiful, and was resrored about twenty-five years ago. Each side 
of it is made inro two divisions by buttresses terminating in pinnacles, and 
in each division are two pointed 'rindows of two lights. The entrance is in 
the Perpendicular style, and very rich, the spt.ndril of the ogee arch being 
filled with bosaee of masks, foliage, &c. ; and on each side is a niche with a 
canopy. This elegant porch has a groined ceiling of stone ; the inner door­
way is Early English, with the toothed ornament, and is built against the 
remains of a high and ancient arch, containing some good Norman cheTrOn 
work at the top. This side of the nave is in six divisions, the westernmoet 
of which is occupied by the porch just noticed. The next three divisioDs 
contain windows with Decorated tracery, though nearly all the other win­
don, on this side of the church, are of Perpendicular characier. The clere­
story, which is very high, contains six fine windows, and the remains of six 
pinnacles placed alternately, which, when perfect, would add much to the 
general appearance of the church. Mr. Alien thinks that the buttresses of 
the aiale were formerly attached to the clerestory by flying buttresees. The 
whole of the church is finished with an open or embatUed parapet, except 
the north side of the naTe, which has a plain battlement. The transept 
nugee in height with the clereetory of the naTe, and is similarly &domed, 
having two 86t'ies of windows, divided by buttresaes ending in pinnacles. 
In the lower pert are two windows, and in the upper three. The doorways 
to the transept are similar to that of the porch already noticed. Two elegant 
flying buttresses were erected against the south front of the transept, about 
two years ago. These buttresses, which were built for the purpose of sup­
porting this part of the fabric, are surmounted by Tery large and elegant 
crocketed pinnacles. The windows over the eotranoee to the tranaept are 
each of four lights, with good tracery in their arches. The south side of the 
chancel exhibits four windows, which, like nearly all the windows in the 
church, are of three lights. The buttressee are finished with plain caps. 

VOL. 11. 
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The east end has two octagonal buttresees at the angles, with pyramidal 
caps crocketed. The east window is of five lights. The north side of the 
chancel exhibits tbtl projections of chantry chapels, &c. The tower baa 
double buttresses at the angles, a ciroular window in each face of ita first 
story, and windows of four ligbta, with a transom, in the upper story. The 
upper parts of two of these latter windows are disfigured by large clock dials. 
The tower finishes with a richly embattled parapet, which formerly bad 
crocketed pinnacles at the angles, and three smaller ones in each face, now 
completely gone. As the pinnacle at the south west corner of the tower has 
been restored,• we presume it is intended to renew them all. This tower 
contains six bells, with a clock, and chimes that play three tunes. The hours 
which the chimes announce are eight, twelve, and four. The north door o£ 
the naTe is very plain. The interior of the church, notwithstanding the 
elegance of its architecture, has a neglected cheerless appearance, owing in 
some measure to the three arches between the nave and trr.nsept being built 
up of wood work, the absence of eTerything in the shape of decoration at the 
altar, and the old fashioned pews in the naTe where diTine senice is per· 
formed. The nave, which is in two stories, is separated from each aisle by 
an arcade of six arches resting on columns formed by a union of four cylinders 
with octagonal capitals. Above the point of the arch is a string course, and 
the spandrils thus formed enclose quatrefoils, with a shield in the centre of 
each. The windows of the upper or clerestory are half filled with blank 
panels. The corbels on the pillars which support the north side of the nave, 
are angels with scrolls in their hands, charged with inscriptions in Old 
English characters, which are repeated at the back of the columns, some 
which are much defaced. On the first pillar from the west, facing the nave, 
is inscribed XLAY; and behind the same, fronting the north aisle, Et JolumM 
uzoril t;"'; on the second, in front, .And lay• tl"!{/~ mad. tha; and behind, 
Johil Oro~Uly Mwcatoril; on the front of the third, to pyllon and .Ahaljf~; 
behind, Orate pro animahUI. This is the complete inscription and will read 
thus wh~n properly connected. In front-Xlay and lup "'Yf~ fn4M tAa to 

• The celebrated eccle!dastical architect, the late A. W. Pugin, Esq., was the architect 
for the restorations of' St. Mary•s Church f'or several years befoN his death; and tho 
elegant vane which now surmounts the pinnacle at the south west oomer of the tower 
of the church, was his last drawing. It is well known that Mr. Pugio'l reuon wu 
dethroned for a brief period befoN hia death, and whilat in a TerJ excited state, on the 
very night that he wu taken to a private uylum at Kenaingtoo, Mr. !lyers, the builder. 
in order to retain his attantion, reproached him for keeping the IICIJfoldiog up at Bever­
ley, as they weN waiting f'or drawings. "Give me a pencil," laid Pugin, and on the 
back of a large envelope he designed that vane with ~ cleameu and preoiaio11. 
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pyUon and ..4.Mlff•· Behind-Johil Oroilay MercaWril .t Johan.u WliOr nu• 
orau pro maimcabtu. The fourth pillar in front bears this inscription, Tha 
w pyUmr mt:UU gu4; on the back, Hutarum pro arum * * * m • * the 
front of the fifth, Wyffi.p God rtneard thaym; behind, * * * it~ p * * myal6 
• • • ~ The inscription on the front of these two pillars is complete, and 
nms thus :-TMJ to Pyllon ~ Owl Wyffy•, God rNard thaym-from 
which it appears that the fourth and fiAb pillars were built by the pious 
ladies of Beverley. The sixth or the easternmost pillar is inscribed :-Tiays 
pyUor fllaCU tlu fMY1VC!fru; and behind, OrtJU pro anim«bul pro Hysunorum; 
and the upper front or capital is ornamented with the sculptured effigies of 
five minstrels, dresaed in the fashion of the times-with short blue coats, 
red stockings, and yellow girdles and socks. They formerly held musieal 
inatrumenta in their hands, nearly all of which are gone.* The corbels on 
the pillars on the south side are busts of Bishops, Kings, &c. 

The bounding cornice of the clerestory windows rest on corbels, com· 
poeed chiefly of angels of large size, holding shields, &c. The most perfect 
of these figures exhibit some beautiful carving. Some of those on the south 
side appear to have in their bands the various instruments used in the Passioa 

• A fraternity of .lliMtrell or gleemen had been established in Beverley during the 
reign of King Athelstan, and were well supported by their profeBSion for many ages 
after the Norman Conquest. The minstrels seem to be the descendents of the ancient 
berda, for they exhibited in one pereon the musician and the poet, It ia stated that the 
oourta of Prinoee tnrVmed with poeta and minstrels. The King and moat of the nobility 
retained their own minstrels, who wore their respective liveries. The minstrels of 
B6Yerley were governed by stated rules, and played at weddings, feaata, fairs, cross days, 
.tc., under the direetion of their leader, who was of necessity an Alderman of the borough, 
Thq waited for no inntat.i.on, bat considering admission into the halla of the nobility 
u an undeniable pri'filege due to their talents, they entered without ceremony, and 
eeldom departed without a liberal reward. The excessive privileges which tho minstrels 
enjoyed in all parta of the kingdom, and the long continuance of public favour, with the 
gratuities collected by them, induced great numbers or loose and dissolute pereons to 
join the tra&emity, and ita repntation became much diminished in the public estimation. 
These e'rils became at last so notorioU&, that in tho reign of Edward U., it was round 
necessary to restrain them by a public edict. In little more than a century afterwards 
these grievances again became the subject of complaint to the King. In the reign of 
Elizabeth, the profeuors of minstrelsy were ranked amongst rogues, 'VIpbonds, and 
lturdy besp.rs. The society or guild of minstrels which existed in Beverley, endea. 
voured, in the reign of Philip and Mary, to restore the credit and respectability of the 
profession, by a formal establishment of a series of regulations for their future govern­
ment. In tho order for the re-establishment of the fraternity the minstrels are !den. 
tilled with Vlllitu, and in the town's recorda of the period they are styled IIWtNnu. 
This body has leA a lut.i.ng memorial of their existence in Beverley in the above. 
mentioned pillar, which was undoubtedly erected by them, when the church of St. 
Mary underwent a thorough reJ*r, after the falling in of the roof in 1613. 
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of Our Lord. The first perfect figure from the eut end has a ladder; the 
second the crown of thorns; the third holds the spear and reed, with the 
sponge ; the fifth figure has the chalice; the next, the cross ; the seventh, the 
pincers, &c. ; the next, the seamless garment; and the ninth represents St. 
Veronica holding the napkin, upon which is imprinted the features of Our 
Redeemer. The south pillar of the arch, between the south aisle of" the nave 
and the transept, is very Early English in style, and there is not another 
pillar or capital in the church of the same pattern. The ceiling of the nave 
is panelled, and painted of an oak colour, but before the year 182{1 it rep~ 
sented a serene sky, with stars of gold. The fine wost window of the nave 
and the west window of the north aisle are filled with elegantly stained glass, 
executed by Hardman and Co., of Birmingham, from designs by Pugin. The 
centre figure in the lower tier of the large window represents the Blesaed 
Virgin, with St. James (minor), St. Thomas, and St . .Mattbias, on her right 
hand; and St. John, St. Matthew, and St. Simon, on her left. The centre 
figure in the second tier represents Our Saviour, having St. Peter, St. James 
(the great), and St. Bartholemew, on his right; and St. Paul, St. Andrew, 
and St. Philip, on his left band. The two rows of figures above the bend of 
the arch represent the Prophets of the Old .Law; and those in the top of the 
window are the Ble88Cd Virgin and the Angel Gabriel (the centre figures), 
and angels playing upon musical instruments. 

Over the west door, and at the sill of this window, is an elegant parapet 
of open quatrefoils; and on either side of the door is a niche, the pedestal 
of which exhibits some excellent carving. The subjects of the small window 
are St. John preaching in the wilderness, St. John baptising Our Saviour, 
and the beheading of the same Saint. In the tracery at the top are angels 
holding scrolls, bearing scriptural p118sages. The niches, &c., of these win­
dows are extremely rich. The costly glazing of both was defrayed by sub­
scription, that of the smaller one being entirely at the expense of the ladies of 
the town and neighbourhood, o.nd hence is called the Ladies' Window. Doth 
were glazed within the lo.st five years. Beneath the Ladies' Window is the 
font, a very large octagonal basin, on a similar stand, and a very fine spe­
cimen of work in marble. On each face is cinquefoil and quatrefoil tracery, 
very much defaced by the puritanical rage of the 17th century. Round the 
ledge is the following inscription, in old English letters :-Pray for thuoula 
of WyUm Feryffaze, draper, t1 hil Wyvi.t whic'M made thu f<mt of hi& pper 
co1tu, the day of March V., yer~ of Our Lord ltfDXXX. 

The pulpit, which is octagonal, is fixed against a pillar at the west end of 
the nave. It stands on a base, enriched with some good carving, but which, 
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with very bad taste, ia partly sunk into a deep hole made in the fioor, and 
hid by the reading deak, which stands close to it. At the west end of 
the nave are two very large unsightly canopied pews, which exhibit some 
good wood carving. One of these belongs to the Corporation of Beverley, 
and the other has carved on it the inscription already alluded to :-

Pny God have maree of al the sawllys of the men l!llld wymen l!llld ecbeldryn whoe 
bodys was ~ at the fanlying or th;ra cohere whych Cown • • • • • thys fawl was the 
XXIX day of Aperel in the yere of owr Lord A MVC. and xm. and tor al the •wla of 
thaym the whyth haws hyn • • • • • • ys • • • • schal be gud benefacton and 
helppen of the sayd cc hero up a gayn end for al crystyan sawllys the whytb God wold 
have prayed for and for the sawllye of ser Recherd Rokkysbo knycht and daym Jone his 
wife whych gave two bnndreth poundes to the building of thye cohere and Cor the 
•wllys of Willm Hall cooper and his wife. 

The organ stands on o. small gallery, erected beneath the beautiful eastern 
arch of the nave, which is entirely filled up with unsightly panelling. This 
instrument was built by Donaldson, of York, in 17!)2, at a cost of £811. Ss., 
which was raised by subscription. In the year 1616 the nave of the church 
was disfigured by the introduction of a gallery over its north aisle ; in 1726, 
an addition was made to it; n.nd in 1764 this loft was taken down, and 
two new galleries erected over both aisles; but happily these excrescences 
were removed a few yeo.rs ago. 

The south transept has a flat ceiling panelled, and once richly painted and 
decorated; bnt now a perfect ruin, propped up by rough timbers. Two 
arches separate this transept from a side aisle on the east side, which was 
doubtless a chapel or chantry before the Reformation. The ceiling is panelled, 
and painted of an oak colour, but it was formerly decorated with the figures 
of Saints, with legends on scrolls. This chapel was open to the south aisle 
of the chancel, but a brick work, erected to support a monument, now blocks 
up that passage. There are some traces of rich shrine work here. Gent 
tells us that this sacred oratory was once converted into a blacksmith's shop ; 
and not many years ago it was used as a depository for useless lumber, and 
a workshop for the stonemasons employed in repairing the church. 

" To what base uses may we return, Horatio." 

The north transept haa also a painted ceiling in panels, not quite so much 
decayed as the other, but all traces of the subjects are lost. On the east 
aide of this transept, and divided from it by two arohes of an early character, 
is a large space, which was originally open both to the transept and the north 
aisle of the chancel. Here it may be supposed were anciently one or two 
chapels ; but the place is now roughly encloeed by brick work, and converted 
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into vestries, &c. The ceiling of this part of the edifice is of wood, in square 
panels, painted an azure colour, and powdered with golden stars. The bosees 
of several portions of this ceiling are chuged with Latin inscriptiona, and the 
oaken beams belonging to a part of it, which covers the west end of the north 
aisle of the chanCEl!, haTe carved upon them the following, in Old English 
letters :-Mayn in tlaylyffyng /Qwj1 God a botm all tlayng and ftiM tlt.yn}o6 at 
tAl B'9'J"yng qu/aalteMll COtDtM off tAl mdyng. These inscriptions were 
placed here by the benet'aetor to the chureh, who gaTe this ceiling, and 
whose gift is commemorated by the following sentence, carved on the bosses. 
formed by the junction of the ribs-a single letter on each boss--W. Hal. 
Carpentw mad tlay• RotDffl. 

The choir or chancel is divided from the aisles by fiTe pointed arches; 
those of the south side springing from columns formed by the union of four 
cylinders, and those on the north from three cylinders attached to each pier. 
In the spandrils of the arches are circles enclosing enriched trefoils ; and the 
windows of the clerestory are about one third panelled. All the work of the 
north side of the chancel is of a much richer character than that of the south. 
Near the centre of that side is a splendid niche, with an enriched canopy. 
There being no stained glass in either of the windows, nor the least attempt 
at decoration either behind or about the communion table, the aspect is any­
thing but devotional. The eastern part of the north aisle has a curioualy 
groined stone roof, which has attracted the attention of many antiquaries 
and architects. 

In describing this peculiar roof, Mr. Poulson says, "The ribs which form 
the groins of the roof unite on the north side in a cluster at the impost, and 
are continued down the pier, forming with it one unbroken line, being 
destitute of impost, mouldings, or capital; but on the opposite side they all 
enter into rings, without appearing below them ; they do not spring, as is 
usual, from the same circumference of one circle, but are distributed ; the 
arrangement produces this singular effect, that the ribs upon the south aide 
cross each other, whereas those on the north side diverge uniformly; a 
contrast which is extremely curious. The mouldings of these groins are 
highly indented and characteristic ; their strongly marked indentures produce 
a great effect in the crossings, and upon the north side all the mouldings, 
except the most prominent, coincide and disappt>M in the body of the column, 
the upper fillet and mouldings of each groin only appearing, and producing, 
by their 888emblage, a set of flutes not unlike those of a Corinthian column. 
The diagonal arch is a complete semicircle." 

This part of the aisle, the windows of which are very rich in Decorated tra-
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cery, has evidently been a chapel, for on the 80th of June, in the present year 
(18611), the sexton discovered a piecina in the wall near the east window of 
the aisle, which had long been concealed by the timber work at the back of 
the seats. There is also a small side chapel out of this aisle, which is like­
wise groined, and contains the remains of a piscina. ; and there is a large 
room over the groined part of the aisle, which is approached by a winding 
staircase in one of the large octagon buttresses or turrets at the east end of 
the church. This staircase is accessible from the chancel. It is somewhat 
remarkable that the heads of the busts aboTe both sides of the pilla.ns of the 
south aisle are (save one) tumed towards the west-looking, as it were, 
towards the chapel on the east side of the south transept. 

It may not be uninteresting to know that a number of casts have been 
taken from the decorative sculpture of this church, and of the Min&Ulr, for 
the enrichment of the new HoU8e8 of Parliament, at Westminster. 

On each side of the chancel aisles are fourteen oaken stalls without ca­
nopies, the seats being ornamented with carved shields and grotesque figures 
and devices, similar to those in the Min&Ulr. The ceiling of the south aisle 
of the choir is fiat, and the panels are in blue and gold ; and that of the 
middle aisle is also fiat, and divided into forty panels, with paintings, which 
represent the portraits of forty Kings of England, each in his robes of state, 
with a scroll behind him. The royal portraits commence with the fabulous 
Brutus, and 6niah with Edward IV.; at the end of whose reign, therefore, 
it may be reasonably conjectured that these designs were made. 

There are several monuments in this church, the most imposing of which 
are those of the W artons. Drake, the historian of York, lies buried here ; 
his monument, which stood within the west door of the naTe, has lately 
been removed. (See vol i., p. 689.) 

U ndemeath the north-east portion of the church is a crypt, simply groined 
with circular arches, and originally supported, as is conjectured, by nine 
pillars or more; but a part of it has been evidently walled up in times com­
paratively modern, so that only three pillars are now distinctly visible. On 
one of the buttreeaes on the south side of the church is an oval tablet, to com­
memorate the sad fate of two Danish soldiers. (See page 220.) In addition 
to the churchyard there is an extensive burial ground on the opposite side of 
North Bar Street Within, which was opened in 1829. 

Besides the grant of Queen Elizabeth, lands, tenements, &c., were left and 
giTen by pious individuals for the support of the fabric of St. Mary'a Church, 
in the same manner aa to the Church of St. John. The rents have hitherto 
been totally inadequate to this purpose, as the parishes have no church rate, 
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and the consequence is, that the church has in a great measure fallen to 
decay. Previously to the year 1813, the annual receipts of the reparation 
fund did not amount to £60.; but they had subsequently increased to £650. 
The rents, &c., now produce about £900. per ann., which will, it is hoped, in 
a few years, with good management, restore this edifice to something like its 
former elegance and grandeur. 

The Vicarage Houu is a large building, pleasantly situated in a garden, at 
the end of a lane diverging from North Bar Street Within. 

The other places of religious worship in BeTerley are as follows :-
The Mimter Chapel of Eau, in Lairgate, built by subscription in 1839, 

on land giTen by the late Mrs. Walker, and opened in 1840. It is a neat 
white brick edifice, in which was used all the materials of the Church 
.Methodist Chapel, which stood in Landress Lane. The west end is of 
Gothic design. The interior is neat, and will contain 900 persons. The 
three east windows of stained glass, contain the coat of arms of all the Pro­
testant Sovereigns from the period of the Reformation to the present reign; 
also the arms of the Archbishop of York, and the town of Beverley. The 
patronage is Tested in five Trustees, who are obliged to offer the living first 
to the Incumbent of the Minster, and if he refuses, it can be given by them 
to any other clergyman. The present Minister is the Rev. G. Swift. 

The Baptilt Chapel in Well Lane, fronting Register Street, erected in 
1834. It is a large brick building, with a neat front covered with compo. 
The Rev. C. Upton, is the present pastor. 

The SmuUm4nian or Scotch Baptilt Chapel, in W alkergate, is a small mean 
building, erected in 1808. Mr. William Thirek officiates in it. 

The I~ CluJpel, Lairgate, is a commodious bot plain brick building, 
first erected in 1704 as a Presbyterian place of worship, but rebuilt in 1800, 
on a more modem principle. In 1846 it underwent considerable repairs. 
The Rev. William Young is the present pastor. There is a neat bonae and 
garden for the minister nearly opposite the chapel 

The Wea~yan Metltodilu have a chapel in Walkergate, a large building 
erected in 1806, and considerably enlarged some years ago. The Priaiaw 
Method.Uu have a chapel in W edneaday Market, built in 18~3 ; and the 
&jO'r!Md Methoduu conduct their services in the Temperance Hall The 
Aaociation Methodilu bad formerly a chapel in Wood Lane, which is now 
converted into a warehouse. 

A body of persons calling themselves Chwch M~ erected a neat 
chapel, of eemi.gothic design, in Landress Lane, in 18~6. We have seen 
aboTe that this chapel was pnlled down, and the materials used in the chapel 
of ease to the Minster. 
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The Society of Frimda or Quak4r• built a neat meeting house at the top of 
Wood Lane, but except on rare occasions it has not been used as a place of 
worahip for several years. A girls' school is held in it. 

The Catlwliu of Beverley attend Divine service in a temporary chapel, in 
North Bar Street Without. This place of worahip stands on a piece of 
ground, purchased a few years ago, on which to erect a handsome church or 
chapel for the use of the Catholic body. The present priest is the Rev. 
Henry Wa.liter. This town, through being, as it were, founded by that 
glorious old Saxon Archbishop of York-St. John of Beverley-is held in 
much veneration by the Catholics of Yorkshire; and this veneration has 
increased considerably since Beverley was raised to the dignity of a Bishop's 
See, by the present Pope. (See vol. i., p. ISISl.) 

ANCIENT RELIGIOUS HOUSES.-Besidee the great Abbey and 
Collegiate Society of St. John, there were seYeral other religious houses here, 
the leading particulars of which are as under:-

Bu.cx FRIARY.-The order of Preaching or B'Uzck Friar. (the former term 
derived from their office, and the latter from their dress), founded by St. 
Dominic, about the year l!UIS, is said to have come into England in ~~~1, 
and it is certain that they were established in Beverley before the year 1~99, 
when Edward I. paid it a visit; for, as we have seen in the account of the 
Church of St. Nicholae, at a previous page, a certain sum was paid to them 
on that occasion by Friar Rich&rd. Their house at Beverley is said to have 
been rounded by a person o£ the name of Goldsmith, and the site Cor it 
was given to them by Thomas de Holme. The sanctity of the friars in­
duced many pel"80ne to select them Cor their confeeeora, and in their last 
moments to aspire after sepulture among such hallowed men. Richard de 
Holme and hie son John de Holme, by their last will.e, desired to be buried 
in the Church of the Friars Preache1'8. The Friary was situated on the east 

side or the Mineter; its grounds (still called the Friary) are surrounded by a 
brick wall, having two ornamental gateways, one opening into Eaetgate, the 
other into Charity Lane. Only a part of the original building remains, but 
still sufficient to attest its former beauty. (Bee page ~26.) Friaries were 
eeldom endowed, because the friars were medicant&, but many of the buildings 
were nevertbeleaa large and stately, and connected with noble churches. 
Henry vm. granted the house, &c., belonging to the Dominican Friars at 
Beverley, to John Pope and Anthony Foster. 

GuY F&IABT.-The house of the Francilcan Minorit4, or (k6Y Frian, 
was founded here at an early pariod. In 1~97 W. de Liketon gave some 
ground near the chapel of St. Helen, or Elen (the site of which chapel is now 

VOL. 11. 2 N 

o tzoobyGoogle 



Qi4 IJISTORY OF BEVERLEY. 

unknown) to the friars of this order, for the purpose of erecting a monastery, 
which was immediately commenced. This building having fallen to decay, 
they removed tO another house, given them by Sir John Hotbam, of Scor­
brough, Knt., in the time of Edward IV. The Friars .Minors received the 
bounty of Edward I. when in Beverley, as well as the Friars Preachers, 
and through the same person, Friar Richard de Warren. In 1366, we find 
the Governors of the town granting the Grey Friars the wind-fallen wood, in 
the wood of Westwood, to be applied to their use. The situation of their 
first house cannot be ascertained, but the roll of accounts of the Twelve 
Governors for the year 1450, incidentally points out the site of their sube&­
quent residence, as being "without Keldgate Bar." Frequent mention is 
made in the accounts of the Governors, of Friar Lane, near Wostwood (ffrere 
lane Jux•. Westwood), as well as the Friara Minor~, and the Chapel of St. 
Tlwmlu, without Keldgate Bar. Without the same Bar there was a Leper's 
House," Domus leprosori extra Kcldgate Bar," in 1304; and in 1402 there 
was a similar institution without North Bar.* In A.D. 1400, according to 
the Corporation Records, a chantry was founded for the souls of Thomas de 
Kelk and John his son, in the "Church of the Friars Minors, Beverley." In 
1541 the site of this house was granted to Thomas Cullpepper. 

HosPITAL oF ST. GlLEs.-The particulars of the foundation of this hos­
pital are lost in obscurity. It is said to have been founded by one Wulse, 
before the Conquest, for the maintenance of poor and indigent people; and 
little is known of it until it was annexed to the convent of Wartre, by Arch­
bishop Gifford, in 1277-the Prior and Canons giving in exchange for the 
advowson of the hospital, a wood or parcel of ground, called the Bay of 
Langwath, situated between the Ouse and the Derwent, and which became 
afterwards the property of the Dean and Chapter of York. It appears that 
the annual income of this hospital was very limited, and scarcely sufficient 
to support the establishment; therefore it was wisely annexed to the above 
convent, which was capable of supporting it according to the intention of the 
founder. It had a cbantry chapel annexed, in which prayers were regularly 
offered for the souls of its benefactors. At the dissolution it was valued at 
£8., and the site of the hospital and chapel was granted to Thomas Earl of 
RutJand. The hospital stood without Newbegin Bar, near the junction of 
Albert Place and Westwood Terrace. The field at the back of the houses in 

• This hospital was dedicated to the Ble889d Yirgin, and connected with it was a 
guild, under the direction of an Alderman. "There is an hospital yet standing without 
tbe North bar-gate, of the foundation of two merchantmen, Akeborow and Hogekin. Aa 
I remember there is an image of Our Lady over this hospital gate." 
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both these terraces is yet called St. Giles's Croft, and below the surface of it 
the remains of large buildings have been discovered, but no particulars of 
their nature or extent have been ascertained. From several entries in the 
to~'s accounts in the early part of the 16th century, it appears there stood 
a church, dedicated to St. Giles, contiguous to this hospital, the cemetery of 
which was in Lathgate (Lairgate.) Of the extent of the church nothing is 
known, but Mr. Poulson thinks " there cannot be a reasonable doubt" that 
it was originally designed for the service of the hospital. 

HosPITAL OF ST. NICHOLA.S.-This was situated near the Black Friars, 
and was as ancient as 1226, when the Archbishop granted an indulgence for 
the support of it. In Leland's time it was much decayed, but was still 
standing. At the dissolution it was valued at £5. 14s. 6d. 

KNIGHTS HosPITALLEBB.-The Preuptory, or more properly the Comman­
dny, of the Knights of the order of St. John of Jerusalem, stood on the 
ground formerly known as the Trinities. This military order was instituted 
about 1002, and took its name from an hospital built at Jerusalem, for the use 
of pilgrims coming to the Holy Land, and dedicated to St. John the Baptist. 
The brethren chiefly followed the rule of St. Augustine, and wore a black 
habit with a white cross upon it; and their business was to provide for such 
pilgrims at that hospital, and to protect them from injuries and insults upon 
the road. They were very much favoured by Godfrey of Bullogne, and his 
successor Baldwin, King of Jerusalem. This remarkable order was intro­
duced into England in the year 1100, and it soon obtained great wealth, 
honours, and exemptions. The Knights at first had but one horse between 
every two of them, but in about 160 years after their institution they pos· 
sessed no less than 10,000 manors in Christendom. The superior of the 
order here in England was the first lay Baron, and had a seat in the House 
of Lords, and some of their privileges were even extended to their tenants. 
In the year 1201 Sybillia de V aloniis, second wife to William the third Lord 
Percy, gave to tho Knights Hospitallers the manor of the Holy Trinity, on 
the east side of Beverley, together with other tenements, and the manor of 
North or Cherry Burton, and lands and tenements in North Dalton. It 
became necessary therefore that a Commandery of the order should be estab­
lished here, to take care of the rents and profits, for such societies were 
usually placed on their estates under tho government of Commanders, who 
were allowed a proper maintenance out of the revenues under their care, and 
accounted for the remainder to the grand Prior in London. Such was the 
origin of the Commandery at Beverley, which was of some magnitude, and 
must have possessed considerable influence in the domestic regulations of 
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the town. At the dissolution the lands belonging to it were valued, ac· 
cording to Dugdale, at £164. 10s. per ann., according to Speed, £167. 10s., 
and according to the MS. Valor, which was Le Nevis, £211. 10s. 7d. In 
1545 the site was granted to William Barkeley, and in the reign of Queen 
Elizabeth it came into the hands of the Corporation of Beverley. In Leland's 
time the building was standing. "There is an house also of the Trinitie,·· 
says he, "aboute the est side of the town, and longegid to the order of 
Knights of St. John." The site was long known as the outer and inner 
Trinities. The latter part, which contained about three acres, and is moated, 
contained the Commandery. During the prevalence of the plague in 1610, 
as we have seen at p. 213, a pest house was erected here for the reception of 
those who were attacked with it; and the bodies of the dead were interred 
under tumuli of an enormous size on the west side of the moat. Some years 
ago the Trinities were converted into a nuraery, and in trenching the ground 
of the part within the moat many antiquities were turned up, amongst which 
were some antique spurs, a leaden sigillum, which had been appended to a 
papal bull, and an image of the Blessed Virgin. Several interments in single 
graves were discovered at the same time, together with a stone sarcophagus, 
which now lies in front of the Mechanics' Institute, and a number of buckles, 
keys, locks, clasps, &c., all at a very considerable depth from the surface. A 
great number of coins have been dug up from time to time, which are in the 
hands of private individuals. .At the north west angle of the inner Trinities, 
on the east bank, a number of skeletons were discovered, generally laid 
straight by the aide of each other; but in the large tumulus a bo-re mentioned, 
the skeletons were found, evidently thrown indiscriminately together, which 
were no doubt the bodies of those who died of the plague in 1610. 

The Hull, Bridlington, and Scarborough Branch of the North Eastern 
Railway Company's line now passes through the centre of the inner Trinities, 
The moat on the east side of the line is still open, and it may be traced on 
the north at both sides of the line; on the west its site is marked by the 
western boundary of the coal depot, and on the south it passed through the 
ground now occupied by the centre of the Railway Station. Thus the 
northern half of the Station stands upon and within the ancient moat, and 
supposing the Commandery to have stood near the centre of the moated 
ground, the site of the building is near or about the northern extremity of the 
Railway Station. Before the grounds passed into the hands of the Railway 
Company, the inner Trinities was entered by an ancient gateway, which 
stood a little north of the office of the present coal depot. (See page 226.) 

TRINITY HosPITAL.-This, together with a chapel dedicated to the Holy 
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Trinity, was founded by John de Ake, merchant, of Beverley, about the year 
1896. This hospital and chapel was situated upon the Cross Bridge tSee 
page 12125), and alter the Reformation the chapel was used as the common 
gaol of the town. 

The particulars of the Ha.pital of KillingwoldgratiU will be found in the 
account of the parish of Bishop Burton, at a subsequent page. 

CIVIL GoVERNMENT, &c.-The town of Beverley received its first Charter 
of Incorporation in 1578. (See page 209.) Under the Municipal Act of 
1885, the town is divided into two wards, and governed by a Mayor, six 
Aldermen, and eighteen Councillors, forming the Town Council. The Mayor 
is, u officio, chief Magistrate, and is assisted in his magisterial duties by a 
bench of Magistrates named in a Commission of the Peace from the Crown. 
The Magistrates of the County have equal jurisdiction with those in the 
town in the borough, and all offenders who are committed or sentenced from 
the borough, are sent to the East Riding House of Correction. 

Tile principal members of the Corporation for the year 1855 are Richard 
Hodgson, Esq., Mayor; and George Stephenson, Edward Page, Charles 
Brereton, William Crosskill, James M. Robinson, and Anthony Atkinson, 
Esquirea, Aldermen; Mr. Thomas Crust, Town Clerk; and Mr. Henry 
Montgomery, Borough Treasurer. 

Bcirough Magiatratu-Thos. Sandwith, Charles Brereton, John Williams, 
Robt. Geo. Boulton, William West, and Robert Keningham, Esquires; 
Clttrk to tM Magiatratn, Mr. Thomas Shepherd. 

The seal of the Corporation is circular, and of considerable size. In the 
centre is a shield of arms. Barry wavee of seven Arg. and 1ab. On a chief 
labu a beaver statant regardant Arg. Legend. SIGIL. MAIOR GVBERNAT. ET. 
BvRGENS VILLE DE BEVERLA.--(The seal of the Mayor, Governors, and 
Burgesses of the Town of Beverley.) 

The insignia of the Corporation-the mace--is of silver gilt, is three feet 
long, and weighs IS! lbs. avoirdupois. It is beautifully embossed, chased, 
and ornamented, and is the gift of John Moyser, Esq. There are two 
smaller maces, which are borne by the sergeants-at-mace. They are neatly 
executed, of silver, and measure IS! inches in length. 

The income of the Corporation for the past year was about £1,5120.; and 
the expenditure about £1,260. 

Franchiu.-As has already been obserl"ed at pages 211-12, this borough 
sent up deputies to the Parliaments of Edward I., and made no other return, 
though the Bailiff~ received three summonses in the succeeding reign, until 
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the 5th of Queen Elizabeth (1563),* when Nicbolas Bacon and Robert Hall, 
Esquires, were elected. Since then it has been represented in all the Par­
liaments of this country. The Warton and Hotham families have supplied 
several of its representatives. The right of election was formerly in the 
burgesses or freemen, who bad acquired their freedom by birth, servitude, or 
purchase; but since the passing of the Reform Act, in 1832, all the male 
occupiers of houses and tenements, of the yearly value of £10. or upwards, 
have been admitted to the elective franchise. Formerly the burgesses exer-­
cised the exclusive privilege of preventing non-freemen from carrying on any 
retail business in the borough, and sometimes made considerable profit of 
their votes, especially the non-resident freemen, most of whom came by hun­
dreds from distant places to the election, for the purpose of selling their 
birth-right to the highest bidder. This, however, was an evil which existed 
in most other boroughs, and which, though it has been lessened, has not been 
annihilated by the Parliamentary Reform Act. Freemen's sons, if born 
within the borough, are entitled to their jrudom by paying small fees, aA also 
are all persons who have se"ed seven years' apprenticeship to resident free.. 
men. Under the various charters granted to the town, as well as to the 
Collegiate Church of Beverley, the burgesses and tenants of the borough 
claim exemption from tolls, stallage, tonnage, wharfage, &c., by land or sea, 
throughout England; and to exercise this privilege, they must carry about 
with them properly attested certijicata, from the Mayor's office ; but these 
vouchers have long been in such disrepute in the country, that they are sel­
dom ealled for or exhibited, and since 1803, when an Act was obtained in 
favour of the Hull and Driffield Navigation Company, all vessels belonging 
to the burgesses of Beverley have been subject to tolls or tonnage on that 
navigation. This however is the only toll which can be legally exacted from 
them when they are supplied with the requisite certificate. The most 
valuable privilege ever possessed by the freemen, and which they still exer­
cise, is their right of pasturage on the fertile and extensive commons which 
adjoin the town, and which will be more fully noticed at a succeeding page. 
Since the passing of the Reform Bill, a large number of freemen have lost 
their elective franchise by residing at a greater distance than seven miles 
from the borough. The Members of Parliament for Beverley at present are 
William Wells, Esq., and the Hon. Arthur Gordon. 

• The return of deputies to Parliament was a heavy t&x upon the boroughs. By a 
stAtute of Richard 11., they were obliged to nllow each representative 2s. a day, with all 
expenses incurred in going up and returning home. In the roia'n of Henry YI., Us. a 
day was the usual fee during their attendance on Parliament. 
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Trtuk, Markcu, t.fc.-Situated 1\8 it is so near to the great commercial and 
now manufacturing town of Hull, Beverley cannot claim much notice 1\8 a 
place for manufacture. There are however some large tanneries, and seed 
and bone crushing mills, but the most extensive establishment in the town 
is the large iron works of 1\Ir. Wm. Crosskill, the well known manufacturer 
of agricultural implements. Whiting is manufactured here to a considerable 
extent, and there are several corn mills in the immediate neighbourhood. 
BeTerley was once noted for the manufacture of bone lace. 

The weekly Mar~t on the Saturday exhibits a profusion not only of the 
necessaries but of the luxuries of life. There was formerly another weekly 
market held here on Wednesdays. The Saturday Markst Placs is most 
spacious, comprising an area of nearly four acres, well lined with good houses 
and shops, and embellished with an octangular Mar~t Orou, elevated on a 
basement floor of three steps ; eight stone columns, each column hewn from 
a solid block, supporting a cupola roof, which is surmounted with a cross 
and gilded ball. This erection was built at the joint expense of Sir Charles 
Hotham, Bart., and Michael Warton, Knt. (representatives of the Borough 
of Beverley in Parliament), in 1714, and repaired in 1760. It is ornamented 
with the Royal Arms of England and France quarterly, and the coats of 
arms of the town, and of the founders of the building. This cross was built 
upon the site of an ancient one, which was so constructed that carriagea 
passed through it. 

The Butchm' Shambla were rebuilt by the Corporation in 1752, but 
proving too large for the business which was transacted in them, owing to 
several butchers opening shops in other parts of the town, the south end was 
converted to the purposes of a Oom E:echange in 18.26. The front of this 
exchange abuts on the Market Place, and exhibits a neat building of red 
brick, with stone facings. Beverley being placed near the centre of an 
extensive and fertile agricultural district, the business done in the corn trade 
is considerable. The Filh Mar~t is contiguous to the shambles, and is an 
octagon building, which is well stocked on Saturdays with the produce of 
the ocean. 

The Wednuday Market Plau is an open area, in the centre of which is an 
obelisk, which was erected by a 1\Ir. Jarratt in 17.23. The top of the pillar 
is now adorned with a large gas lamp, and surrounded by iron palisades, 
upon which are four smaller lamps. 

Great Oattl6 Mar~t• are held in Beverley, on the 5th of April, on the Wed­
needays before May 12th and September 14th, and on the Wednesday after 
Christmas Day. There are four annual Fair•, held on the Thnrscl&y before 

o tzoobyGoogle 



HISTORY OF BEVEilLEY. 

February lSth, Holy (Ascension) Thursday, July lSth, and November 6th, 
chiefly for ho~, homed cattle, and sheep. That on the 6th of July (Mid­
summer fair) is also a large pleasure fair. Besides these quarterly fairs, 
there are great markets for homed cattle and sheep on every alternate W eel· 
nesday. The fairs and cattle markets are held in Norwood, where is a 
spacious opening suitable for the purpose. 

Ban.b.-East-Riding Bank (Bower, Hall, & Co.), Lairgate; draw on 
Currie & Co. Hull Banking Company, Lairgate; draw on Barclay, Bevan, 
& Co. Machell, Pease, and Liddell, North Bar Street; draw on Glynn & 
Co. Yorkshire Banking Company, Market Place; draw on Williams, Dea· 
con, & Co. 

The EtUt-Ridi1ag Savinga' Bank, now held in a neat building in Lairgate, 
was established in Beverley in April, 1818. According to the report for the 
year ending 20th Nov., 1854, the balance due to 1820 depositors, including 
interest, was £615,488. Mr. John B. Robinson is the secretary. 

Beverky B6ck.-This canal was originally a creek for conveying the super· 
ftuous water and sewage of Beverley to the river Hull, and it is difficult to 
ascertain the exact period of time, when it was made navigable for vessels 
of any description. Grovehill was the ancient wharf for lan.iing and ship­
ping the merchandise of the inhabitants of Deverley. The first authentic 
record in which the beck is named, is the roll of accounts of the Twelve 
Governors, in 1844, where they account for 18s. 2d., received for pavage of 
the beck, and 45s. 4id. for making the infang at the beck. The length of 
this canal, from the town to the lock, near the river Hull, is about three­
quarters of a mile, and vessels of upwards of eighty tons burden can now 
navigate it. The beck dues, which are in the hands of the Corporation, have 
been considerably reduced since the opening of the railway to Beverley, but 
yet they amount to from £ti00. to £600. per ann. 

PUBLIC BUILDINGS.-EAST RmiNG SESSIONs HousE AND GAOL.­
This extensive range of buildings is situated at the entrance to the town from 
the north, and was erected between the years 1801S and 1809, but several 
additions, improvements, &c., have been made since that time. The cost 
of the whole does not fall far short of £60,000. The front of the Sessions 
House, or County Hall, consists of a portico, supported by four fine pillars 
of the Ionic order; the pediment embellished with the Royal Arms in alto­
relievo, and surmounted with a fine full-length figure of Justice, holding the 
sword and scales. The Court room is spacious, and well fitted up for the 
accommodation of the public, as well as of the Magistrates and officials. 
Adjoining this is a Magistrates' room, as well as separate rooms for counsel 
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and witnesaee, and retiring rooms for the grand and petty juries, commu­
nicating with their respective boxes. The general Quarter 8euion1 for the 
East Riding are held here, and the Magistrates meet here on Saturdays, 
for the disposal of petty c&8C8. 

At the back of the Sessions House, and f'ronting the prison or House of 
Correction, is a good convenient house for the Governor, and the whole, 
except the front of the County Ho.ll, is encompassed with a high wall, so as 
nearly to exclude any view of the prison from without. When viewed at a 
distance, this great pile of buildings, with its wall faced with white brick, 
and strengthened with broad deep stone cornices, plinths, and buttresses, has 
the appearance of a noble mansion, with its domestic offices. The prison con­
tains 129 separate cells, and nine airing yards; and the prisoners are divided 
into four clasaes. The tread-wheel sheds contain separate compartments for 
forty prisoners, and that instrument of punishment works machinery for 
the manufacture of whiting. The other employmeots to which prisoners, 
sentenced to hard labour, are put, are picking oakum, mat making, tailoring, 
ehoemaking, &c. The OMipel is a neat room, divided by partitions of wood for 
the several classes of prisoners. There is full service on the mornings and 
afternoons of Sundays, and prayers are read every morning by the chaplain. 
The prisoners are instructed in reading, writing, &c., a regular schoolmaster 
being in daily attendance for that purpose. There is also an hospital in 
connection with the institution. The number of prisoners received into the 
prison during the year 1864 was 686 ; and the average cost of each prisoner 
was about Ss. 6d. per week. 

The present Go•emor is Mr. Alfred Shepherd; Mr. C. Greensides is 
the Deputy-Governor; the Rev. John Cambage Thompson, Chaplain; and 
Thomas Sandwith, Esq., Surgeon. 

LIEUTENANCY, MAGISTRACY, &c.-Lord I.Mutmumt and Owto1 Rotulorum 
of e1u Ean Riding.-The Rt. Hon. the Earl of Carlisle (now Lord Lieutenant 
of Ireland), Castle Howard. 

IArd.l and Ohuf Bailiffi of Libertiu, cfc.-The Lord Bishop of Durham, 
for Howdenshire; and Sir Thomas Aston Clift'ord Constable, Bart., Burton 
Constable, for the Seigniory of Holderness. 

1l:zXBBll8 OF P.A.llLLUlBNT.-For York:--SirWilliam M. E. Milner, Bart., 
and J. G. Smythe, Esq. For tla4 EtUt Riding :-Rt. Hon. Lord Hotham and 
the Hon. A. Duncombe. For King•tcn-upon-Htdl:-Wm. Digby Seymour, 
Esq., and William Henry Watsoo, Esq. For Bnerley :-Hon. Arthur 
Gordon, and William Wells, Esq. For Malton:-J. E . Denisoo, Esq., and 
the Hon. C. W. Fitzwilliam. 
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JusTICES oF THE PEAcE FOR THE EAsT RtDtNa.-0/,airman.-Charles 
William St.riekland, Esq., Hildcnley. 
Audus, James, Esq., Selby. 
Deswick, William, Esq., Oristhorpe. 
Bethell, Richo.nl, Esq., llise. 
Bethcll, Williom F., Esq., Rise. 
Blanchard, Rev. John, Middlcton. 
Blow, Rov. William, Goodmanham. 
Boothby, Rev. Hy. B., Nunburnholme. 
Brooke, Rev. Riohard, Selby. 
Bo1ler, Rev. John W., Barmston. 
Burt.on, Da,id, Esq., Cherry Durton. 
Clare, Rev. Georgo Thos., Bninton. 
Clark, ThomM, Esq., Kncdlington. 
Clongh, John, Esq., York. 
Creyke, Ralph, Esq., Rawcllife. 
Constable, F. A. T. C., Esq., Durton 

Constable. 
Darley, C., Esq., Sto.mford Bridge East. 
Darley, Henry B., Esq., Aldby Park. 
DawRon, George P., Esq., Osgodby. 
Denison, Robcrt, Esq., Waplington. 
Duesbcry, W. D. T., Esq., Skelton Lodge. 
Ellis, ReY. Robcrt, North Grimston. 
Erskine, Hon. and Very Rev. Henry D., 

Ripon Deanery. 
Fergnson, Rev. Daniel, Walkington. 
Foulis, Mark, Esq., West Hcslerton. 
Gibson, Edwa.rd, Esq., Drypool. 
Grimston, Charles, Esq., Grimaton. 
Orimston, M. J., Esq., Grimst.on. 
Hanison, Rt., Esq., Denningbolme. 
Haworth, Dcnjn., Esq., Hull Bank Honst>. 
Haworth, D. B., Esq., Hull Rank House. 
Hildyard, J. G. B. T., Esq., Winestcad Hall. 
Hudson, Oeorge, Esq., York. 
Hudson, John C., Esq., Cattcrick. 
Ion, Rev. John, Hemingbroogh. 
Jadis, Rev. John, Humblet.on. 
Jalland, B. M., Esq., HolderneSII House. 
Jefl'erson, Rev. J. D., Thiokett Priory. 
Kitchingman, Rev. R. H., Patringt.on. 
I.angdale, Hon. Charles, Houghton, 
Langclale, Charles, Esq., Houghton. 
Legard, George, Esq., Malton. 
Legard, Sir Thos. Digby, Bart., Ganton. 

IJoyd, George John, Esq., Lingcrof\ ~· 
Looke, Thos. B., Esq., Hessle Mount. 
Marten, Thomas, Esq., De,·erley. 
l'llllXWCll, Wm. C., Esq., Everingham. 
Meek, James, Esq., llliddlctborpc. 
Metcalf, Rev. Robert, Patrington. 
Morris, Rev. F. 0., Nunburnholme. 
Palmes, Rev. W. L, Hornsea. 
Pease, Joseph R., Esq., Hessle. 
Pease, Joseph W., Esq., Hesslc. 
Prickctt, Tborun.o;, Esq., Bridlington. 
Raikes, Robcrt, Esq., Weltou. 
Raikes, Thomas, Esq., London. 
Raines, William, Esq., Wyton Hall. 
Read, Rev. Geo. n., Sutton on Derwent. 
Read, W. H. R., Esq., Hayton. 
Reynard, E. H. Esq., Sundcrlandwick. 
Roundell, Rev. D. R., Gledstone, Skipton. 
Snltmarshe, Philip, Esq., Saltmarshe. 
Scbolfteld, Robert, Esq., Sand Hall. 
Simpson, Rev. Francis, Boynton. 
Smith, Edward Wm., Esq., Tickton. 
Smith, Et.!mund, Esq., Ferriby. 
Smith, John, Esq., Welton Oarth. 
Stcphen~. Arthur, Esq., Whitwell Hall. 
Stourton, Hon.P., Holme.on.Spaldg.-Moor 
Strickland, Sir Geo., Bart., Newton. 
Sykes, Rev. Christopber, Roos. 
Sykes, Joseph, Esq., Raywell. 
Taylor, Edw. C., Esq., Firby. 
Taylor, Rev. R. M., Hunmanby. 
Vavasour, Sir H. M., Dart., Melboume. 
Wataon, Jamee Kiero, Esq., Hull. 
Wenlook, Rt. Hon. Lord, Escrick. 
Whitaker, W. W., Esq., North Deightcn. 
Whitehead, J'ames A., Esq., Sclby. 
Whyte, Rev. James, Winestead. 
Willonghby, Henry, Esq., Birdaall. 
Windham, J. S., Esq., Wawne. 
Winn, R., Esq., Appleby, Linooln.shire. 
Wray, Rev. Oeorge, Leven. 
Wray, Rev. W. H., Lcven. 
Wylie, Robert, Esq., Beverley. 
Yarburgb, Yarburgh, Esq., Sewerby Houae 
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Clwk of th4 PlllC# for tM Ea.t Riding.-George Leeman, Eaq. DI]'Uty 
OU7-k of tM P«JU.-Wm. F. Clarke, Eaq. Tr~a~Ur~r.-Geo. Shepherd, Eaq. 

• .• The account of the Treasurer of the Eut Riding for the year ending at Michael­
mM, 1861., ahon the rueipa of the year to be ..£13,3«.; including .£10,897., county 
rates; .£2,106., received from the Treasury for criminal proeecutions, &c.; .£10i., the 
earnings of prisoners; and .£10:>. for penalties. The ezpenditurt was £1-l,!l:J:>., including 
£MO. to York Castle; £'2,021., the House of Correction; .£1,060., Lock-up Houses; 
.£3,979., the Militia Depot; .£1,626. for prosecutions at Assizes and Quarter Sessions; 
£700. to the Clerk of the Peace; £1,13:>. to Chief Conltablcs; and .£:>76. to Coroners 
for Inquisitions. 

Opposite the Sessions House is a beautiful walk of chesnut trees, which 
form a shady promenade for the inhabitants of Beverley; and nearly ad­
joining the prison is the D1p0t for tkl Amu and Storu of the Ea~t Riding 
Militia. This is a large brick building, in the castellated style, behind which 
is a spacious area, or training yard, and in which are situated several houses 
for the Staff Sergeants, &c. Colonel G. H. Tbompson is the commanding 
officer of the East York Regiment of Militia. 

GuiLD HALL.-Tbis building is obscurely situated in Register Square, 
and has a neat Doric portico of four columns. The old front had a pointed 
arched doorway, which, there is little doubt, bad been the entrance to the 
ancient HanM H-, or hall of the Gilda Mercatoria, whlch occupied the 

site of the adjoining prison. This ancient doorway, the drip-stone of the arch 
of which is supported by two mutilated heads, with the Archiepiscopal Arms 
carved on t.he centre of the arch, was purchased by Mr. Gillyatt Sumner, 
and is now erected at his house, at Woodmansey. The hall, in which prior 
to the passing to the Municipal Reform Act, the Quarter Sessions of the 
borough were held before the Recorder of Beverley, is neat and commodious, 
and fitted up as a regular court house. The Royal Arms, in stucco, are 
placed over the centre of the bench; and facing them, above the spectators' 
gallery, are those of the town. The ceiling is very fine, the centre containing 
a fine figure, in ,.eliej, representing Justice, with the usual appendages-the 
sword and scales. This ball is now used for public meetings, and as a Police 
or P.uy Seaions Court, by the Magistrates of the borough, every Monday and 
Thursday; and the County Court of Y(}rklhire is held in it monthly, before 
William Raines, Eaq., Judge. The building in front of the Hall, as well 
as the borough prison, gaoler's house, &c., adjoining, were re-erected by the 
Corporation, in 1882, at a cost of about £4,000. The Council Chamber, 
in which the affairs of the borough are transacted by the Town Council, is a 
good commodious apartment in the front part of the building. The old 
Council Room is now converted into a retiring room for the Magistrates. 
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The Borough Gaol, which contains fourteen cells and three airing yards, 
is now little used, the borough prisoners committed for trial being sent to the 
East Riding prison. This gaol, as we have obse"ed, occupies the site of 
the ancient Hanse House, which was uaed afterwarda u the hall and priaon 
of the East Riding. The old town gaol was the cbantry chapel of John de 
Ake, situated in the Cross Bridge* (now Toll Gavel), and was an antique 
building of stone. It was disused as a prison and pulled down in 1805, an41 
the present gaol being vacated by the East Riding, after the erection of the 
new House of Conection, without North Bar, was then used as the town gaol. 

EAsT RmrNG REGISTER OFFicE, Register Square.-This institution was 
established on the 29th of September, 1708 (6th of Queen Anue), for the 
registration of all deeds, conveyances, wills, &c., affecting property within the 
East Riding of the County of York. The office was originally held in Well 
Lane, but the present building was erected by order of the East Riding 
magistrates in 1800. It is completely fire proof, and is well adapted for the 
preserntion of the public records, &c., deposited in it; and the cost of ita 
erection was about £900. At the same time the present residence of the 
Registrar, which stands in the garden contiguous, was built; the sum of £650. 
being allowed by the magistrates towards the expense of that building, Mr. 
H. Legard, the then Registrar, defraying the extra expense from his private 
purse. At his death, Mr. Legard left a close adjoining the Register garden 
to the Registrar for the time being, which adds much to the comfort as well 
as the appearance of the residence. The present Registrar is .Mr. John 
Maister, and the Deputy Registrar is Mr. Joseph Hind. The Registrar ia 
chosen by the freeholders of the East Riding possessing an estate of £100. 
annual value. 

The Dilpnuary for the sick poor was established in Lairgate, in 1828, and 
is now held in a neat and appropriate building in Register Square, erected 
for the purpose, in 1828. It is supported by voluntary contributions, and 
the gratuitous attendance and advice of the medical gentlemen of the 
town. The benefits derived from the institution are essentially important. 
Since its establishment, to September, 1854, a period of thirty years, the 
number of patients admitted was 15,984; of which number, 12,867 were 
discharged cured; and 2,008 relieved. During the past year, 752 patients 
have been admitted, of which 587 have been discharged cured. The income 
of the institute for the year 1854, was £168.; and the expenditure, £111 . 
.Mr. Charles Harris is the apothecary. 

• There is. still, though unseen, an archway, which serves as a watercourse into 
Walkergate drain, formerly t-alled Wallrergate Beck. (Set> pp.~~. 2~11. and ~7'7. ) 
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Tit~ Bmwley and Ecut Riding Mechania' Instit!U6, Cross Street, was 
established in 1882. On the 80th of October, in that year, several respect­
able inhabitants of the town, who were impressed with the want of a 
Mechanics' Institute, held a meeting in the Minster school·room, Charles 
Brereton, Esq., the then Mayor, in the chair. This meeting, after passing 
teveral resolutions, calculated to carry out the object, and appointing a pro· 
Tisional committee, adjourned to the 7th of the following month, when the 
institution was finally established; and for several years the meetings of 
the society took place in the Minster school, kindly granted by the Rev. 
Joseph Coltman. Soon after his death the friends of the institute found it 
necesaary to exert themselves, by raising subscriptions for the erection of a 
suitable building. The plot of ground upon which the present hall stands, 
was purobased of the Town Council, for the sum of £150. ; the members of 
the institute subscribed, either in cash, work, or materials, to the amount of 
£~88.; James Clay, Esq., M.P., and Goorge Rennie, Esq., of London, pre­
sented the munificent donation of £50. each, for the same purpose, and many 
handsome subscriptions wero received from other persons. The erection of 
the Lecture Hall commenced in 1841, and was completed in the beginning 
of September, 1842. Subsequently a Library and Reading Room have been 
added, in accordance with the original plan ; but a considerable portion yet 
remains unfinished, for want of funds. In the year 1846 this institute was 
UDited with the Yorkshire Union of Mechanics' Institutes. The number of 
members now on the books is about 250. The library, which contains 
about 1000 volumes, is open on Monday and Thursday evenings ; and the 
Reading Room is open every evening. Lectures are delivered every Tuesday 
eTening during the winter months. The President for the present year ia 
R. Hodgson, Esq. (the Mayor), and the Treasurer is Mr. Joseph Hind. 

NtltiJt Room..-A very neat Doric building in Cross Street, erected in 1881, 
contains the SubtcriptWn New• and Billiard .Roonu. The N~w• Room of the 
Rlform AIIOCiation, established in 1887, is in Toll Gavel; and that of the 
Oonurcative AIIOCiaticn, founded about the same time, is in North Bar Street. 

Beverky and Ea&t Riding Public Roonu, Norwood.-The edifice containing 
the assembly or ball room, together with the card and tea rooms attached to 
it, was erected by subscription, in shares of £215. each, in 1768. It is a brick 
building in the Grecian style, having a stone pediment and plinths of the 
same material. Adjoining this, at the back, is a very large lofty room, which 
was built in 1840, by subscription, in shares of £10. each, for the purposo 
of holding the meetings and dining the members of the Beverley and East 
Riding Agricultural ABSOCiation, as well as for the exhibitions and meetings 
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of the Beverley and East-Riding Floral and Horticultural Society. These 
societies being now defunct, and no assemblies being held in the rooms, they 
are let for concerts, bnlls, exhibitions, &c., and the two bodies of shareholders 
have merged into one. 

The Tmtperance Hall, in Well Lane, is a neat brick building, erected in 
1845, at a cost about £380. It will seat about 500 persons, and is well 
adapted for lectures and other meetings. 

The North Bar is the only one remaining out of five, which formerly 
protected and omamented the town. It is undoubtedly of some antiquity, 
but a coating of plaster and whitewash, with which the whole erection has 
been covered, has obliterated every vestige by which its age might probably 
have been determined. An incision under the archway shows the place in 
which the portcullis was suspended, when this gate had its drawbridge across 
the deep fosse or ditch which ran on the north side of it. The arms of the 
Wartons, by whom it probably was" repaired and beautified," still remain 
upon the Bar. 

There is no Theatre at present in Beverley. The first place devoted to 
theatrical purposes here was a building in Walkergate, near the Methodist 
Chapel. A theatre was afterwards built in Cross Street, on the spot now 
occupied as the National School. The last regular theatre here was erected 
in 1804, in Lairgate, near the entrance to the grounds of Beverley Hall. 
but for several years the " histrionic art " has not been patroniaed, to any 
extent, in Bevt:rley. 

The Gcu Worlu, on the. Hull Road, were erected in 1824, by the late Mr. 
John Malam, of Hull, and were afterwards purchased by the Commissioners 
for lighting, watching, &c., the town. They are now under the management 
of the Local Board of Health. The entrance to the works is by a noble arch, 
of the Grecian order, with neat iron gates. There are two gasometers, the 
oldest of which will contain about 18,000 cubic feet of gas; and the other, 
erected in 1840, will hold 25,400 feet. The present price of gas is 5s. per 
1,000 feet. .Mr. John Foxall is the manager. 

PartureB.-The common pastures of Deverley, belonging to the freemen, 
contain 1,17 4 o.cres, in the following proportions:-West wood, 504; Hum, 
110; Figham, 297; and Swiucmoor, or Swinemerc, 263. Figham and 
Swinemoor banks, containing each 14 acres, and Lund banks, 15 acres, be­
long to the Corporation. About an acre of land, called Bull's Close, is rented 
and added to Hum common, by means of which a more convenient entrance 
is obtained. As we have seen at page 195, Westwood was granted, in 1380, 
by Archbishop Neville, and most probably Hum was included. Figham is 
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supposed to have been granted by Archbishop Wickwane, for, as has been 
obae"ed at page 185, that prelate ordered that no villain of Woodmansey 
should put cattle into the pasture of Figham. It is clear the.t the burgesses 
were in possession when that order was made, in 1284. The gift of Swine­
moor, although there is no direct evidence to prove it, is likely to have pro· 
ceeded from the same source, namely, the Archbishop of York, as lord of the 
fee. The roll of accounts of the Twelve Governors show that Swinemoor 
was ~ually their property in 1344. The inhabitants of the parish of 
Bishop Burton claim to be entitled to a right of stray for pigs in a certain 
part of Westwood pasture, called Burron Hill, but which right has not been 
exerciaed for many years past. 

In consequence of the Municipal Corporation Act having abrogated the 
powers and authority which were vested in the late Corporation, relative to 
the freemen's pastures, without giving similar powers to the new Town 
Council, an application was made, and an Aj:t of Parliament obtained in 
1886, for the purpose of granting to a body of Patur~ Mater& (to be annually 
appointed by the freemen at large), such powers as were necessary for the 
protection and regulation of the rights of the freemen and their successors 
for ever. Under this Act the burgesses elect yearly, twelve Pasture Masters 
and two Auditors. Every paatur11 jr«m4n or his widow is entitled to stock 
the common pastures, agreeably with the regulations made by the Pasture 
Masters, which regulations vary from time to time. On Swinemoor certain 
copyhold tenants of Beverley Water Towns eJ\ioy the privilege of stocking, 
to a prescribed extent, in common with the burgesses. The pastures are 
open from May 14th to Feb. 1st, and those cattle gates belonging to poor 
freemen or their widows, who cannot afford to purchase stock, are let for 
their full value, and the profits are paid to the claimants. The Lord of 
the MauOt' of Beverley Water Towns claims a yearly quit-rent of £5. out of 
Westwood and Hurn. 

B~Nrl4y RCC6I take plaoe annually, on a good Il.tu~ C()IWN on Hum 
pasture. Raoea were occasionally run in Weetwood, but it was not till the 
year 1767 that they were established annually. In that year the commo­
diou atand was erected at a cost of £1,000., raised by the sale of 330 silver 
fn,e admill8ion tickets. After having been discontinued for several yeare, 
tbeee raoes were revived in 1848, and now yield two days good sport, in the 
month of June. The course is oval or pear shaped, once round being about 
100 yards short of a mile and a half. The straight run in, with a gradual 
rile, ia nearly half a mile. 

The Railway Station is situated at the south eut end of the town, on the 
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site of the Commandery of the Knights Hospitallers. (See page ~76.) It 
is a neat red brick building, with a considerable quantity of glass in the roof. 
This, the Hull, Bridlington, and Scarborough branch of the North Eastern 
Railway, was opened in 1846. 

PoBLtC ScaooLS.-A (ftammar School in Beverley is supposed to be co­
eval with the Collegiate Society of St. John. Two Fellowships, founded at 
Cambridge, in 1626, would imply that this school was a free school to the 
natives of Beverley, who were educated by the "prau," as referred to by 
Grainger. The establishment of the present school, after the dissolution, is 
likewise lost, and no satisfactory account can be obtained of its origin and 
foundation, either before or after the Reformation. As far back as can be 
traced, it has been for instruction in Latin and Greek to the sons of bur­
gesses; but owing to the want of a sufficient regular endowment, it has been 
customary, during the past century, for the master to receive payment for 
free scholars, the amount of that charge being fixed from time to time by the 
Corporation, who have tbe general government of the school, and appoint the 
master. The school was formerly kept in an ancient building, at the south­
west corner of the Minster Yard, which being very ruinous, was taken down, 
in 1814 ; and it was then removed to the present premises in Keldgate, 
which were purchased, repaired, and altered, by the Corporation, at a con­
siderable expense. The master has no permanent stipend from any endow­
ment, except an annuity of £10., left by Dr. Metcalf, in 165~ (which sum 
is at present in abeyance, owing to Metcalfs charities being in Cbanoery). 
Previous to the Municipal Act, the Corporation paid the master a voluntary 
gift of £90. per ann., which, in addition to Dr. Metcalfs gift, made up his 
salary to £100. per ann., besides the school and master's house, for which 
the Corporation charged merely a nominal rent of 20s. per ann. And this 
was considered a sufficient compensation to the master, for his having to 
receive and educate tbe sons of the freemen of the town, on payment by them 
of 40s. a year each. But by the operation of the above-mentioned Act, the 
master is obliged to pay the Corporation a reasonable rent for the house and 
school, and he is deprived of all the other advantages previously enjoyed, 
with the exception of Dr. Metcalfs gift; the payment for the sons of freemen 
has consequently been increased, and is now six guineas a year each. The 
Corporation still retain the privilege of appointing the master, who is allowed 
to take boarders. The present master is the Rev. Charles Easther. The 
school-room is spacious and convenient; the master's residence large and 
commodious; and the play ground, which is about two acres in extent, con­
tains a Fives Court, erected in 1828. 
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In a small room over the porch of the school is an excellent library of 
several hundred volumes of useful classical works, including Stephens's The­
saurus, and several Aldine editions, presented at different times by the 
Corporation and others, for the use of the School. 

Fellcw1hip1 and Scholanhips.-In 1626 a Fellcwahip was founded in St. 
John's College, Cambridge, by Master Robert Halletreeholme, of Beverley, 
clerk, to be enjoyed by one born in the town of Beverley, or in its neighbour­
hood, and educated at this school; he to be in priests' orders when elected, 
or within twelve months after, and to sing mass for the souls of the founder 
and his relatives, and all Christian souls. In the same year another Ftllcw­
alt.ip was founded in the same College, by Dame Johan or Jane Rokeby, 
and Robert Croyke, her son, to be called for ever their Fellowship; to be 
enjoyed by a person born in Beverley, or, wanting such, one born in the 
county of York, provided he be a priest at his election, or within ai.'t months 
after. The Fellow to aing mass for their souls, and for the souls of Sir 
Richard Rokeby, Knt., and for all their posterity. 

R. Metcalf, D.D., in 161S~, left certain lands in Cambridgeshire, to the 
Corporation of Beverley, subject, amongst other payments, to that already 
named to the master, and one of £20. to be divided between three poor 
scholan of the school of Beverle7, commonly called the Free School, naturally 
born in the said town, for their better maintenance at the University. 

William Coatee, by will dated NoY. 6th, 1681, bequeathed £100. to the 
Corporation, upon trust, to pay yearly to a poor scholar born in the parish 
of St. Mary, and to be sent from the Grammar School of this town to the 
UniYeraity of Cambridge, the sum of £6., for his better maintenance at the 
University, until he takes the degree of Master of Arts. 

William Lacie, D.D., by will dated Sept. 7th, 1670, left £81SO. to the 
Corporation, to pay yearly to two scholars born at BeTer]ey, and educated at 
the Free School there, and sent from thence to ·St. John's College, Cam­
bridge, £8. each yearly, till they took their degree of M.A., but if there should 
be no IIUCh scholars sent from this sohool to the said College, the money was 
to be distributed to the poor of Be't'erley. The Corporation applied this 
legacy to the purposes of the .town, and by indenture dated ~6th June, 1688, 
made between themsebes and the trustees under the will of Dr. Lacie, agreed 
that a rent charge of £16. per annum, should be paid to the objects of this 
charity, out of certain closes at Be't'erley called St. Giles's Crofts. 

John Green, Bishop of Lincoln, by his will, bearing date August 17th, 
1778, bequeathed to the Corporation of BeTerley £1,000., three per cent. 
Coneols in trust, to pay, among o'her objects, £10. yearly, as an exhibition, 
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to a scholar, the son of a freeman of Beverley, to be sent from this school t~ 

Bennet or St. John's College, Cambridge; be to have been educated at least 
three years at this school, and to enjoy the exhibition for se\•en years, on 
condition of his continuing a member of either of the said CollegE'I1 or until 
be ~;hould be of sufficient standing to take the degree of M.A. 

Robert Clerk, B.D., a native of Beverley, and senior Fellow of St. John's 
College, Cambridge, gave to that College £200. for the founding of a Scholar­
ship for a native of Beverley, with respect first to the kindred of the name of 
Clerk, and then of Johnson. 

Lady Elizabeth Hastings, in 1739, left an exhibition of £28. per ann. to 
a poor scholar, educated at this school, and sent to Queen's College, Oxford: 
but this gift was lost in 1789, the will directing another school to be ap­
pointed to receive the benefit, should there be no scholar returned as a can­
didate from this school for four successive elections. Richmond School has 
been appointed to receive the benefit of this exhibition. 

Mrs. Margaret Ferrars bequeathed a legacy of £2. per annum to a poor 
scholar, to be chosen by the Corporation; and Mrs. Margaret Darcy left the 
sum of £40., the interest thereof to be given for the maintenance of poor 
scholars of the parish of St. Mary, at the University. 

Among the eminent men who derived their education from this school, 
may be mentioned John Alcock, D.D., Bishop of Ely; John Fisher, D.D., 
Bishop of Rocbester; and John Green, D.D., Bishop of Lincoln. 

The Blus Coat School was established about the year 1709, by subscription 
of some of the principal inhabitants, for the maintenance, clothing, and 
education of as many poor boys of the town of Beverley as the ftmda will 
Rdmit. The school, which has been always under the management of the 
Corporation, occupies a hired building in High-gate, and there are at present 
seven children enjoying its benefits. They are received at the age of ten, 
and allowed to remain four years in the school, when they are bound appren­
tices, receiving by instalments of £1., three pounds for clothes. The boys 
wear blue cloth coats, with yello\v collan, corduroy breeches, and blue waist­
coats, stockings, and caps; two of them, called Bishop Green's boys, being 
distinguished by brown collars. The endowment consists chiefly of £1,i00., 
raised by subscription, &c., at the foundation of the school in 1709, and now 
in the Three per Cents.; the residue of the interest of £1,000., three per ceat. 
Consols, left in trust to the Corporation of BeYerley, by Dr. John Greeu, 
Bishop of Lincoln, in 1778, after payment of the exhibition of £10. per ann., 
named in connection with the Grammar School, and £1. annually, for a 
sermon to be preached upon the usefulness of suoh charitable foundations ; 

o tzoobyGoogle 



Bl8TORT OF BEVERLEY. 291 

the iD&erest of £100., Three per Cents., left by John Bowman, Esq.; 2-21 
pans of the rents of an es~te at Dalby, in Lincolnshire, purchased with 
£600., given to this charity by the will of Sir Micbael Warton, in 1724, 
and other monies. The proponion of the rents at preeent received for the 
nse of the school is about £80. per ann. (See page 262). Also, of 80s. per 
ann. from the rent of a house in Toll-Gavel, left by Mrs. Ann Routh; of 
£809. 4s. 10d., in the St per oen~ .• purchased with a legacy of £400. left by 
Mr. Wm. Wilaon, in 1816; and a rent charge of £10. a year, left in 1819, 
by Henry Legard, Esq. ; making a total of about £166. per annum. 

Grawa'• &hool.-Tbe late Rev. James Graves died 17th July, 1807, aged 
80 years, at which time be had been 28 years incumbent of the Minster. 
He left, by his will dated June 4th, 1804, the sum of £2,810., now St per 
cents., the interest to be applied towards the education of the poor of St. 
Martin's parish. The Mwtw Gi"'' School, on the north side of the church, 
is wholly supported out of this charity, except a shilling a quarter from each 
child; and the trustees have for some years back made a grant of about £20. 
towards the support of the Becksicle Infant School. An inscription on a 
tablet in the Mineter Girls' School, states that the room (which adjoins the 
Pa.raonage House) was built in 1825, by the Rev. Joeeph Coltman, late in­
cumbent of the Minater, partly on the trite of an old stable, belonging to the 
Crown, and partly on a small yard, the freehold property of himself. 

The Minmr Naliondl Sclwol for boys, is situated on the south side of the 
church, in St. John's Gardens. The buildings consist of a commodious 
ecbool-room, which was opened on the 4th of August, 184.8 ; a good class­
room, and a residence for the Master, with a play ground for the children, 
.wijoining. There are two Infant School~ in connection with \he Minster, 
one in Mm.ter Moorgate, and the other in Flemingate. The latter is a very 
neat building, erected a few years ago at a cost of about £460. 

St. Mary and St. N~ltolM'• National Sclwol for boys, in Cross Street, was 
erected about 1he years since, and is a large commodious red brick building, 
in the Elizabethan style, but owing to the walls being low, and the roof high 
pitched, it has ra&her a heavy appearance. The building which had pre· 
noualy ooeupied its site, waa originally a theatre, and was purchased in 
1814, by the trustees of Gravee's charity, and converted into a school. In 
1826 the Committee of the National School for the whole town, which bad 
been commenced in Minster Moorgate, in 1812, exchanged school rooms 
with the trustees of Graves's charity, and the old theatre became the Na­
tional School. Mr. Chriatopher Eden, corn merchant, Beverley, left, in 
1828, the residue of his property to the support of the NatioD&l School, and 
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the amount, £651S. 10s. lld., was laid out in the purchase of a field on the 
west side of Pighill Lane, which was conveyed to the Corporation as trustees. 

St. Mary/• Inja11t School, erected in 184~, in Lairgate, is a neat brick 
building. The Brituh School, for girls only, is held in a building at the top 
of Wood Lane, erected for a Quaken' Chapel; and the JV~al~an Day School, 
in Wal.kergate, for both sexes, was opened in 1844. 

HosPITALS OB ALwsuousEs.-Foz'a HO$pital, in Minster Moorgate, was 
founded in 1686, by Mr. Thwaits Fox, an Alderman of Beverley. He gave 
his house and the appurtenances, by deed of feoffineot, together with a rent 
charge of £10. a year, towards providing an asylum for four destitute aged 
widows, who should be natives of Beverley, and have been resident in the 
town, with an unblemished reputation, for twenty years prior to their ap­
pointment to the benefit of the charity; and have actually received a weekly 
allowance from the parish for, at least, the two preceding years. The 
widows thus qualified and appointed were to enjoy the privilege for life, ex­
ct~pt they should forfeit it by being convicted of drunkenness, scolding, felony, 
or any other notorious offence ; in which case it is directed that expulsion 
shall immediately ensue. The trustees of this charity are also possessed of 
other funds, the gifts of individuals. The hospital consists of four small 
tenements; and the four widows receive each three shillings a week, and 
some coals at Christmas. 

OlwrlR WartQn'a Hospital, Minster Moorgate.-This hospital was founded 
by the gentleman whose name it bears, who, by will, dated 1712, reciting 
that his father, Michael Warton, had devised to him a messuage and four 
cottages in Minster Moorgatl', and £1,000., for the purpose of erecting and 
endowing an hospital where the cottages stood; he, the said Charles Warton, 
declared that be had erected an hospital for six poor widows, and bequeathed 
for their support, and for other charitable purposes, a farm at Killingwold­
graves, in the parish of Bishop Burton, comprising 201 acres. Besides the 
rent of this farm, the trustees are altK> possessed of personal property t~ a 
considerable extent. The hospital has been enlarged, and there are now in 
it seventeen widows, four of whom receive each 5s. a week, and the others 
4s., except the nurse, whose stipend is Ss. per week. Each receives a gown, 
and 6s. to purchase a pair of stays, every year, as well as plenty of coals. 
Iu accordance with the will of the testator, the trustees apprentice several 
boys every year. 

Sir Michael JVarton'a Hoapi.Ull stands near the last named institution, and 
was founded as an addition thereto, by Sir Micbael Warton, who, in 1774, 
bequeathed £4,1)00. to be a perpetual fund for rP.pairing the Minster; £1,000. 
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to augment the hospital founded by his father and brother, and £600. to the 
Blue Coat School, already noticed. With the exception of £21>0. expended 
in rebuilding the hospital, the remainder of the £1,000. was invested, with 
the other funds given by Sir Michael, in the purchase of the Dalby estate, 
in Lincolnshire ; and out of the rents of the same each of the six poor 
widows receive 4s. weekly, about 1/Ss. per ann., in lieu of a new gown, and 
a quantity of coals. 

Routh'1 Hot1piull, in Keldgate, was built in 17 49, pursuant to the will of 
Mrs. Ann Routh, of Beverley, widow, who, in 1721, bequeathed her estates 
in Yorkshire to provide for the erection of an almshouse, and the maintenance 
of twelve poor old widows of St. John's and St. Martin's parishes, "fre­
quenting the church." The original endowment, according to a tablet over 
the entrance to the hospital, was, at the time of the foundation of the hos­
pital, worth about £100. a year, but now the annual rents of the estate 
amount to several hundreds. In the year 1788 the income of the charity 
having considerably increased~ the hospital was enlarged, so as to accommo­
date twenty almspeople. Previous to the year 1802 the widows received 
but 2s. a week; but upon their petitioning the Court of Chancery, in that 
year, for an increase in their weekly allowance, a scheme for extending the 
charity to thirty-two widows (the present number) at 6s. per week, was 
sanctioned by that Court. The hospital was consequently enlarged ; and it 
is now a long brick building, two stories high, containing thirty-two rooms, 
each furnished with an iron bedstead. Two of the inmates, who act as 
nurses, now receive vs. per week, and the other thirty 4s. each, with a new 
gown every year, and plenty of coals. Each inmate is furnished with a Bible, 
prayer book, and siber badge ; the latter bearing this inscription :-" Ann 
Routh, died March 21Hh, 17~~." 

Tympnrm'• H08pit4l, Walkergate, was founded and endowed for six poor 
per&~ms, by William Tymperon, of Beverley, who died in 1729. The pro­
perty left for the support of this charity was invested in an estate at Aid­
borough, in Holderness, which now yields an annual rent of £887. Besides 
which the trustees receive the interest of £600., invested on mortgage; and 
the dividends of £9-i6. 18s. tld. Consols-making a total of £480. 18s. Sd. 
per ann. The number of poor persons has been increased to ten ; five of 
whom are appointed by the Vicar of St. Mary's; two by the incumbent of 
the Minster; and three by the Vicar of Aldborough ; these gentlemen being 
the trustees of the charity. Seven of them reside in the hospital at Beverley, 
and the other three at Aldborough. Each of the ten poor persons recei'fe 
6s. per week, with coals, and clothes of the value of £2. per ann. The sum 
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of £160. per ann. is received from the funds of this charity towards the sup­
port of the several National and Sunday Schools in Beverley. 

Corporation A.lmMouui.-Theee consist of four very small cottages in 
Lairgate, called BIJfWwtua; and seventeen cottl8ea in the same street, called 
Lu Mailom De Di6u, the whole of which are the freehold property of the 
Corporation, and are let rentrfree to poor old dese"ing individuals. John 
Foster, in 1813, left £100. to the Corporation, the interest to be given to 
the inmates of the Bedebouses; and in 1779 Ann Nelson gave £60., as an 
addition to £40. given by Mrs. Moneon, for the same purpose. The inmates 
of nine of the seventeen Maieon Dieus belong to the Minster parish, aDd 
have no allowance at present; the ·remaining eight, belonging to St. Mary's 
parish, receive each 10s. at Christmas, out of the charities of that parish. 

Besides the Oharitw already noticed, there are several other beoefactions 
to the poor of Beverley, which are chiefly under the control of the Charitable 
Trustees; and one of the most important of them (Metcalf's Charity) is now 
the subject of a Chancery suit. 

A Lying·in Charity was established in 1812, and is chiefly supported by 
subscription. 

The BerJerky POOf' lA1D Union comprehends thirty·six parishes or town· 
ships, embracing an area of 118 square miles. Tho Union Worhhouu, in 
Minster Moorgate, is the old poor house, built in 1727, for the use of the 
town and liberties of Beverley. It formerly bad accommodation for only 100 
paupers, but was enlarged under the New Poor Law Act, and will now hold 
about 160. The average number of inmates, for the past year, was 66. 
Workhouse Master-Mr. John Hudson; Chaplain-ReT. W. T. Sandys; 
Clerk to the Board of Guardians-Mr. Henry Ion Earle. 

MtscELI..U.""Eous.-TitU.t.-The Earldom of Beverley is a branch of the 
Dukedom of Northumberland. In 17\10 Algemon Perey, second Baron Lou· 
Taine of Alnwick, and second son of Hugh Percy, third Duke of Northum· 
berland, was created Earl of Beverley. George Percy, the present Earl of 
Beverley, is son to the first Earl, and succeeded his father in 1830. He 
was a Lord of the Treasury, from May, 1804, to February, 1806, and was 
Captain of the Yeomen of the Guard, from 184~ to 1846. His town resi­
dence is 8, Portman Square; Seat-Louvaine, Yorkshire. 

Beverley formerly gave the title of Marqt~U to the Douglas family, one of 
whom, James Douglas, Duke of Queensberry in Scotland, was created by 
Queen Anne, in 1708, Duke of Dover, Marquis of BeTerley, and Baron 
Ripon. His son and successor died without issue in 1778, when all his 
English titles became extinct. 
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Mi1W'al Spring.-On Swinemoor common is a kind of spa, which, ac­
cording to Warburton, was dedicated to St. John of Beverley, and is impreg­
nated with steel. Gibson, the annotator of Camden, says that it was formerly 
reputed " to be a great dryer; and, if taken inwardly, and washed in, dries 
scorbutic scurfs and all sorts of scabs ; and also very much helps the King's 
e.U." Mr. Bursell tells us "that it is a spa three yards wide; and, if taken 
inwardly, is a great dryer." At present it has no celebrity for any such vir­
tues ; and is used only as a bath possessing the property of extreme coldness. 

ElllNENT MEN.-Alurl!d of Be~>W/4y, the great historian of antiquity, and 
biographer of St. John, was born here in 1100, and died about 1166. After 
receiving a liberal education from the Canons of Beverley, he proceeded to 
the University of Cambridge, and then returned to his native town, where 
he became a priest, one of the Canons, and Treasurer of the church of St. 
John of Beverley. He bore the reputation of a sound divine, and an able 
philosopher. During the period of his residence at Beverley, be wrote 
his work, now in the Harleian collection of the British Museum, on "The 
.Liberties of the Church of St. John of Beverley, with the privileges granted 
by the Apostolic See, or by Bishops, translated out of Saxon into Latin.'' 
His learning and piety afterwards elevated him to the Abbacy of Rivaulx, 
where he compiled hia Annals from Brutua to Henry 1. Mr. Hearne pub­
lished an edition of Alured's Annals of the British History, at Oxford, in 
1716. Alured, or as his name is variously spelt, Alredus, Alfredus, arid 
Aluredus, has not been improperly styled our English Florus ; his plan and 
execution very much resembling that of the Roman historian. 

Jolan Alcock, successively Bishop of Rochester, Worcester, and Ely, was 
bom in Beverley in the 15th century, and educated at the seminary of that 
town; from whence he went to Cambridge, where he took the degree of L.L.D. 
In 1461 he was collated to the church of St. Margaret, London; in 1462 
he was appointed Master of the Rolls; and in 14.70 be was made a Priry 
Couneellor, and one of the Ambasaadors to the King of Castile. In 1471 
be was consecrated Bishop of Rochester; and in 14 72 constituted Lord High 
Chancellor of EDgland. These and other offices he filled with great credit 
and ability. He was a prelate of singular learning and piety, and was not 
only a considerable writer, but an excellent architect, which occasioned his 
being Comptroller of the royal works and buildings under Henry VII. He 
died at his Castle at Wiabeach, in liSOO, and was buried in a sumptuous 
aepalchral ohapel, which he built for himself, at the east end of the north 
aisle of the choir of Ely Cathedral, and which is a noble specimen of his 
skill in architecture. Bishop Alcock founded Jesus College, Cambridge. 

o tzoobyGoogle 



2{J6 HISTORY OF BEVERLEY. 

He also founded the Grammar Sclwol at Hull, (See page 146); and built 
and endol"ed a chapel on the south side of the church of that place, in which 
his parents were buried. (See pag~ 129). 

Jo!&n Fuher, Bishop of Rocheeter, was born at Beverley, in 1459. He 
was educated at the grammar school there, and afterwards admitted in Micba.el 
House, Cambridg~, since incorporated into Trinity College ; and be became 
a Fellow of his house in 1401. In 1405 he was Proctor of the University; 
and in the same year he took Holy Orders, and was elected Master of Michael 
House. He was now selected by Margaret, Countess of Richmond, and the 
mother of Henry VII., as her chaplain and confessor; and it was by his 
counsel she undertook the magnificent foundations of Christ's and St. John's 
Colleges, and established several other institutions for learning. In 1501 
be took his degree of D.D., and was chosen Chancellor of the University; 
and in the following year he was appointed by charter the Lady Margaret's 
first Divinity Prof~ssor iu Cambridge. In 1504. he WIUI consecrated Bishop 
of Rocbester, and he never would exchange this bishopric, though then the 
smallest in England, for another. He used to say that "he would not ex· 
change his little old wife (looking upon the church as his spouse) for a 
wealthier." The Reformation having been commenced by Luther, Bishop 
Fisher entered the lists as a zealous partisan for the old-established faith. 
He opposed the progress of the new doctrines, both from the pulpit and from 
the press; and it has been asserted, that the famous Defence of the Seven 
Sacraments, which procured for Henry YID. the style and title of Defender 
of the Faith, was the production of his pen. He afterwards adhered firmly 
to the Queen's cause and the Pope's supremacy; and although he had pre­
viously been in great favour with Henry Vlli., yet the affair of the divorce, 
in 1527, brought him into trouble, and in the end proved his ruin. He was 
committed to the tower in 1584; deprived of all his re\·enuee; his bishoprio 
was declared void; and he was treated with excessive rigour. His person 
was outraged, he was stripped even of his clothes, and allowed nothing but 
filthy rags to cover his nakedness, that his mind might be subdued by in· 
dignities offered to his body. In this miserable situation, at the age of 77 
years, lay Dr. Fisher, the elegant scholar and learned divine. In May, 
1585, Pope Paul m. rewarded his constancy by creating him a Cardinal; 
an act which roused the King to summary vengeance. "Well," said Henry, 
in a great passion, "let the Pope send him a hat when he will, Mother of 
·aod, he shall wear it on his shoulders then, for I will leave him never a 
head to set it on." Rich, the Solicitor-General, was employed to visit the 
unfortunate prelate in prison, and under pretence of condolence and com· 
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passion, to inveigle him into some expressions which might be construed into 
treason. The agent was but too successful, and the aged prelate was caught 
in the snare. He was brought to trial on this conversation, before an ordi­
nary jury, and not before his peers; condemned, and on the 22nd of June, 
1535, he sealed his faith with his blood, on Tower Hill; and the next day 
his bead was fixed over London Bridge. Bumet says that the death of 
Bishop Fisher left the greatest. blot on the proceedings of the kingdom. 

Jolln Green, Bishop of Lincoh1, whose benevolence will perpetuate his 
memory in the town of Be\"erley, to the end of time, was bom there in 1706, 
and received the rudiments of his education at the grammar school. He 
afterwards entered St. John's College, Cambridge, of which he was elected a 
Fellow in 1730. In 17 48 be was elected Regius Professor of Di\'inity; and 
in 1750 he became Master of Bennet College. In 1756 he was preferred to 
the Deanery of Lincoln, and he was soon after chosen Vice-Chancellor of 
the Uni\"ersity. About the year 1764 he was consecrated Bishop of Lincoln. 
Dr. Green died suddenly in his chair, at Bath, on the 25th of April, 1779. 
He was one of the writers of the celebrated "Athenian Letters," published 
by the Earl of Hardwicke in 1708. 

Robert lngram, a worthy English divine, and the author of some scriptural 
pamphlets, was bom here in 1727, educated in the grammar school, \vhence 
he proceeded to Cambridge, and became a Fellow of Corpus Christi College 
in that University. He died Vicar of Bosted, in Essex, in 1804. 

Before the passing of the Reform Bill, of 1832, the district called the 
Lihertiu of Bevttrl4y comprised the .six townships of Molescroft, Storkhill-cum­
Sandholme, Tickton-cum-Hull Bridge, Theame, Weel, and Woodmansey-cum· 
Beverley Park,-all in the Parish of St. John of Beverley, and (with the 
exception of Moleseroft) in the Manor of Beverley Water Towns. In 1826 
the Earl of Yarborough disposed of this property to Richard Dixon, Esq., of 
Stockton-upon-Tees, and John Dixon, Esq., of Nafferton, is the present Lord 
of the Manor. The whole of the above places, together 'vith the township of 
Eske and part of Aike, also in the parish of St. John, now form, with the 
town, the ParlianuntanJ Borottgh of Beverley, as we have seen at page 224; 
and this district, or borough, was added to the North Hunsley Beacon 
Division of Hartbill W apentake, pursuant to. an order of the East Riding 
Magistrates, made October 15th, 1838, under the powers of an Act passed in 
the Qth of George IV., "for the better regulation of Divisions in England 
and Wales." .A.ike being mostly in Lockington parish, it will be found des­
cribed with it, at a subsequent page. 

VOL. 11. 2 Q 
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EsKE.-This township, which is situated about 3i miles N. by E. from 
Bevorley, ou the east side of the river Hull, contains 1,130 acres, in two 
farms, belonging to Henry Tclford, Esq., Tiichard Wolleston, Esq., and Miss 
Telford. There are only three houses in the township, and the population 
in 1851 was 45 souls. Rateable value, £1,366; amount of assessed property, 
.£1,575. At an early period this hamlet was given to the Collegiate Church 
at Beverley, of which the Archbishop of York was patron, and it is ac· 
cordingly entered under the general title of his lands in the Domesday Survey. 
The name of the township is derived from A8ch, a British word signifying 
water, with which the grf'.ater part of this lordship was anciently covered. 
A copy of a conveyance of some property at Eskc, a few centuries ago, given 
in Poulson's History of Holdemess, shews that at that time the rustic popu· 
lation was unfree ; that the villain or labourer, his v.ife, children, and goods, 
might be, and then actually was, sold or exchanged at the will of the land· 
owner, for three or four acres of peat moss. This township is tithe free. 

MoLESCROl'T.-This small but neat hamlet lies about one mile N.W. from 
Beverley, on the road to Cherry Burton. The place is probably coeval with 
the town of Bcverley, as we find one of the Sanctuary Croeses erected here. 
It '"as sometimes called Mylcrojt, probably from this same mile cross, which 
marked tho Sanctuary limits on this side of the towa. At the period of the 
Conquest the township belonged jointly to ilie Archbishop of York and the 
Canons of Beverley under him. In the 14th century there was a capital 
mansion here called Woodhall, the residence successively of the families of 
Ermyt, De Woodhall, and De Heslerton; another capital mansion near it 
was called Estoft;* and a district of the open field was formerly called Pighill. 
Philip lnglebert, a native of Beverley, and the Vicar of Keyingham, founded 
and endowed a cbantry chapel at .Molescroft, in the reign of Edward 11. At 
the dissolution Robert Mote, the incumbent, had a pension of .£4. 11&. 8d. 
allowed him. The area of the township is 1,230 acres, the principal land­
owners are llugh Ker Cankrien, Esq., W. J. Coltman, Esq., and John 
Almack, Esq. The rateable nlue is .£8,260. ; amount of assessed property 
.£3,520.; and the population in 1851 was 183. Molescroft is a parcel of the 
manor of Beverley Chapter. The tithes were commuted in 1801. 

8TORKHILL·CCH·8AlSDHOLliE.-This township is &mall, its area being but 
300 acres, which, with the exception of a few small parcels, belongs to Mrs. 

• Oliver thinks that tho probable site of Woodball is a moated pieco of ground ad. 
joining I'ighill or Pickhill Lane, which some think was Stanlcy Place (Sec page 227); 
and the foundations of some old building, dog up at the end of the same lane, in 1824, 
uo supposed to be the aite of Estoft. 
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Courtney. Storkhill, called in Domesday, Estorch, lies on the north side of 
the road to Holderness, about 1! miles N.E. from Beverley, and Sandholme 
on the south side, the river Hull forming the boundary of the township on 
the north side. Storkhill consists of a good farm house, a public house, and 
a few cottages ; and Sandholme of half-a-dozen cottages. Rateable value 
£523.; amount of aseessed property £725.; population 61 souls. 

TtcKTO!HUM-HULL BRIDOE.-Ticklon and E•tcrch, on both sides of the 
river Hull, belonged to the Archbishop at the time of the Domesday Survey. 
In the reign of Henry VI. there waS a gentleman's seat in this township, 
called Smith's Place, which during the civil wars was converted into a 
military station, and was for some time occupied by a garrison of the King's 
troops. (See page 214.) This township is entered by a stone bridge of one 
fine arch, crossing the river Hull. \\'llen Lelnnd made his "Iter." into the 
north, in 1588, "Frodingham 13ridgc, of tymbre, was," as he says, "the only 
bridge on Hull water," and hence it may be concluded tho.t there was no 
bridge across the Hull at Tickton. There had anciently been a bridge across 
that part of the river, which was broken down in the 48th of Henry III. 
(126(~ under the following circumstances :-The people of Holderness having 
refused to furnish men and horses for the expedition of Prince Edward into 
Scotland, and having also disobeyed a summons to meet him at York on his 
return, the affair was brought before the Parliament then holding in London, 
when, by the advice of the nobles there present, seven Barons, with horses 
and arms, and a considerable force, were sent to make prisoners of all the 
rebels, without distinction of rank, and to confiscate tbei1· property. The 
men of Holderness, and all belonging to that part of the country, assembled 
together, broke do1m ths bridge over the river Hull, and having taken posses­
sion of the grange at Button, belonging to the monks of Meo.ux, they kept 
watch and ward for two nights on the banks of the river, lest the Barons, 
"'"hose head quarters were at Cottingham, should effect a passage across it. 
(Lib. M else, folio 177 .) Hull Bridge was repaired from time to time by the 
Corporation of Beverley, until given up by them to the Commissioners of the 
Driffield navigation; by which Commissioners the same was rebuilt, and is 
now kept in repair; and in consideration thereof, they now receive the tolls 
for vessels passing under the bridge, formerly payable to the Corporation. 
This was mutually agreed to, in consequence of the Commissioners com· 
plaining of the lowness of the arch of the bridge, which occasioned loss to 
their trade upon the river. The area of the township is 700 acres, chiefly 
the property of William Watt, Esq., John Williams, Esq., and E. W. Smith, 
Esq. The population of Tickton is 197, and that of Hull Bridge, 77. 
Rateable value of the \Vhole, £1,673. Tithes commuted in 1790. 
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The Village of Ti~ldon is situated about 2i miles N.E. of Beverley, and 
the neat hamlet of Hull Bridge is about half a mile nearer to Beverley. A 
small, but Yery neat Church, or Chapel of Eau to the Minster, was built, and 
dedicated to St. Paul, in 1844, at a cost of about .£850., raised by subscrip­
tion. It is of stone, and in the ecclesiastical style of architecture, and will 
seat about 150 persons. Here is also a small Wesleyan Chapel, erected in 
1828; and a National School, built in 1848, by subscription, aided by a 
grant from the National Society. 

Near the village is Tickton Gra11ge, a good mansion, pleasantly situated, 
the property of William Watt, Esq. 

HuU Bridge hamlet consists of the residence of Mr. John Stephenson, a 
good respectable inn, and the commodious wharf, and extensive linseed and 
bone crushing steam mills of Messrs. R. Stepbenson and Son, together with 
some cottages. Tickto1• llaU, the seat of Edward William Smitl1, Esq., is a 
handsome modern mansion, within a short distance of the bridge. It is 
built of brick, with stone quoins, and is in the Elizabethan style of archi· 
tecturc, with SC\"Crnl gables. The original design of the building was from 
the pencil of Miss Brereton, of Beverley, but it was subsequently altered in 
some particulars. Btfore the Reformation there was a Chantry Chapel at 
Hull Briclge. 

WF.F.L.-This place also lies on the east bank of the river Hull, and ad· 
joins the last-mentioned township. Like the foregoing places, it belonged to 
the Chu1·ch of St. John of Bevcrley, at the Xorman Conquest. The area of 
the township is 1,150 acres; population in 1851, ~85; rateable value, 
.£1,6i7.; amount of assessed property, .£1,640. The chief proprietors of the 
soil are the Corporation of Beverley and Mrs. Wcstoby, of the same place. 

The J'illayt, which consists of a few farm houses and several cottages, is 
sit.unted about two miles cost of Beverley. 

Grorehill is a hamlet, on the west side of the river Hull (in the parish of 
St. Nicholas), about It mile east of Beverlcy. It was anciently Clllied 
Gromll, or Grot·eaJe, and is reputed to haYe been the landing place of the 
Homnns, when they forced their Yessels up the river Hull, to penetrste into 
this part of the province of Dcira. Before Be\·erley Beck was cut, it was 
certainly the lauding place of goods or merchandise coming by the river Hull 
to Beverlry. Leland's Collectanea says, "Gro\"ebill has now ceased to be 
usecl as a landing place, and is at present occupied as a ship yard." Ship­
building has been extensi,·ely carried on here, and 'Vessels of SCYeral hundred 
tons burden have been launched from this place. The Isabella, one of the 
discovery ships, was built here. There is still a yard here for building small 
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vessels or sloops. A water mill was erected here, at a place called Mylne 
Beck, which belonged to the Provost of Beverley. The hamlet now consists 
of GrMe Houu, a handsome square mansion, built by the late Mr. P. Tigar; 
the extensive premises for the manufacture of chemical manures for agricul­
tural purposes (formerly used as paint and colour works) ; the neat residence 
and very fine wind and steam flour mills of Mr. Josiab Crathorne; a public 
house, and several cottages. 

THEARNE.-This township and hamlet lies on the west bank of the river 
Hull, about three miles S.S.E. of Beverley, and contains 740 acres, formerly 
held by the Er.rl of Yarborough, who sold it tithe free to various proprietors. 
Here was anciently a Chapel or Chautry, dedicated to the Blessed Virgin. 
The rateable value of the township is £884.; amount of assessed property, 
£1,445; population in 1851, 99 souls. Thearne Hall is the residence of 
George llarkworth, Esq. 

WooDMANSEY·CUH-BEvERLEY PARK.-This township is situated on the 
south side of Beverley; its area is 2,820 acres; amount of assessed property, 
£7,144.; rateable value, £7,582.; and in 1851 there were 200 persons in 
Woodmansey, and 241 in Deverley Park. The principal landowners are F. 
Watt, Esq., William Dainton, Esq., of Beverley Park, and Thomns Deuton, 
Esq., of Beverley, but there are seYeral other proprietors. 

JVoodmanuy, or Woodmanua, is a neat village, situated on the road from 
Beverley to Hull, about one mile S.E. of the former town. Adjoining the 
residence of Mr. G. Sumner (a gentleman who possesses a goodly collection 
of antiquities), is the entrance doorway of the ancient Han1hm, or Guild Hall 
of Beverley. (See p. 288.) Here is a small building, with pointed windows, 
built and used for some time as a Church Methodist Chapel ; and after­
wards licensed for the celebration of the service of the Church of England. 
About midway between Woodmansey and Thearue, has just been completed 
a Natiotu.l School for the children of both of these places. Adjoining the 
school is the residence of the schoolmaster, and the whole is built of red 
brick, with white brick quoins. The school is in the Early English style, 
and the residence mostly in the Tudor. The cost ·of the buildings, about 
£800., was raised by subscription, aided by a government grant. A piece of 

. ground, upon which to erect the buildings, \vas given by John Dixon, Esq., 
the Lord of the Manor, but this was afterwards exchanged for a more eligible 
site with Thomas Denton, Esq. The school room is about to be licensed by 
the Archbishop for Divine service, after which the use of the above-mentioned 
chapel at Woodmansey will be discontinued. Ber:erley Park was the pro­
perty of the Archbishops of York, "from the time whereof memory is not," 
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and here they doubtless had a Palace, though there is no direct allusion to 
it in any of the town's records. The author of Bet:erlac thinks that the latter 
fact is conclusive respecting the non-existence of a Palace here; but Mr. 
Oliver is of opinion that the Archbishops had an occasional residence in the 
Park; and it is recorded that Archbishop Murdac resided at Beverley for 
some years. The mansion of the Archbishops, according to Oliver, " was 
subsequently the abode of the Wartons' family;" but however probable this 
may be, it is by no means certain. The manor of Be,·edey Water Towns, 
including Bevcrley Park, continued in the possession of the See of York until 
1645, when Archbishop Holdgate granted it to Henry VIII. In the next 
year an Act was passed for the annexing of certain lands to the Duchy of 
Lancaster, exchanged between the King, the Archbishops of Canterbury and 
York, and the Bishop of London. By this Act the exchanges were con­
firmed, and the King was afterwards in receipt of the rents and profits of the 
lordship and manor of Beverley, uith the Wat.er Toum. 

By letters patent dated Charles I., an indenture is recited Uth James I., 
setting forth that the premises bwi been devised to Robert Earl of Leicester, 
and were leased by bim for ninety-nine years, to Sir Francis Bacon, Knt., 
Thomas Murray, Esq., Sir John Dascomb, Sir James Fullerton, and Thomas 
Trevor. The same letters patent also recite an indenture made in the year 
preceding their date, from the three last-named parties tllen survhing, to 
Michael Warton, Esq., of the said lordship and manor of Beverley, and all 
the said Waur Toum there, for the residue of the said term of ninety-nine 
years. The same letters ratify and confirm the lease and assignment, and 
further, in consideration of the sum of £3,o93. lls. Sd., paid by the said 
Michael Warton, give and grant the said manor, premises, &c., to the said 
Michael Warton, and his heirs for ever. The noble mansion of the Warton 
family was pulled down many yellTS ago, and, according to some, the materials 
were used in the construction of the row of houses near the N ortb Bar, in 
Bevcrley, called the Bar Hou,e&. A part of the old house, supposed to have 
been the servants' hall, and other offices, is now con,·erted into a farm house; 
and a portion of the garden walls and Rtable are still standing. The park 
of Beverley, commonly termed Beverley Parks, has been sold to various in­
dividuals, most of the wood has been felled, and it is now divided into about 
a dozen farms. On the Queensgate, or Hessle Road, are two excellent chalk 
quarries, of which the best whiting is made, and imbedded in the stone are 
found the fossil impressions of shells, bones, &c. 

HaU Garth, the Manor House of the Manor of Beverley Water Towns, is 
noticed at page 225. 
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Stignioru of Jolbtrntss. 
"Lordings, there is in Yorkshire, as I geiiSe 

A mersh contree ycnlled Holdemesse."-Cw.ocu. 

WE have already obsened at page 42, vol. i., that the ancient British 
inhabitants of the district between the Humber and the Tyne, were the Bri­
gantu, and that the tribe called the Pariri occupied the present East Riding. 
But the district inhabited by the latter tribe, as described in the most ancient 
maps, is that portion of the East Riding known at the present day by the 
name of Holdemess ; and some good authorities are of opinion that this tribe 
was confined to that small tract of country. The Parisi, or Parisii, are 
supposed by Baxter to have derived their name from their occupation as 
shepherds ; but others are of opinion that they were so named rather from 
the nature of the situation in which they dwelt, than from their occupation. 
The French etymology of Pam, Parmi, and Paririacii, is "from the watery 
site or feature; they may be derived from the Gaelic Isis, a stream, water, 
or sea; par, a district-Par Isis." There is no doubt that in the time of the 
ancient Britons, and of the Romans, many, if not the whole, of the low lands 
in the district were ol'ertlowed by the waters of the Humber, and subsequently 
by the natural waters of the country, after the Humber was embanked. 

HolderneBS, the present name of the district, is derived from the watery or 
marshy nature of the place, for, as we have seen at page 1 of this vol., Hol 
is Gaelic for water; D~r is water, stream, &c. ; and from its running out into 
the sea like a rwu, the inhabitants are said to have added the termination 
neu, and called the district Hol-der-neu. It is obvious that if the waters of 
the Humber were not at present confined by high banks, the expanse of 
water at every flux of the tide would cover thousands of acres of land in the 
East Riding, and in a great degree insulate the higher and eastern parts of 
Holderne88. Before the Humber banks were made, in the townships of 
Southcoates, Martleet, and Preston, it is probable that the waters of the 
Humber extended through the low gronnds of Button, Swine, and many 
other townships northwards towards the source of the river Hull. Leland 
tells us that Hedon was once insulated by sea creeks, and when that was so, 
it is probable that the low grounds or carrs on the western side of Holder­
ness were covered with the waters of the Humber, at spring tides, very far 
towards Frodingham Bridge. But this state of things has entirely disap­
peared before the system of draining and embanking, which ha.e been ao 
successfully introduced into the district. 
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The name anciently given to the higher parts of the tract now called the 
East Riding, was Deira W ald; and the lower parts towards the sea and tho 
Humber were called Cat·a Deira, i.e., hollow or low Dcira. It is pretty well 
agreed upon that the district of Holdemess was, in early ages, cut off almost 
entirely from the country around, by the Yorkshire Wolds, which run to the 
east on the north; and by thick and exunsive forests and morasses, which 
extended from the Wolds southward to the mouth of the Humber.* The 
nat~tral divmon of Holdemcss, as 1\lr. Poulson very properly remarks, may 
be said to include the whole country between the eastern slope of the Yorkshire 
Wolds, the German Ocean, and the channel of the Humber, its western 
limits passing by Bridlington, Burton Agnes, Driffield, Reswick, Beverley, 
and Cottiogham, to Hessle; and it is most probable, he adds, that this was 
the extent of country inhabited by the Parisi. 

Professor Phillips, in his Illustrations of the Geology of Yorkshire, states 
"that the lakes, which were left on the retiring of the diluvial currents, ap­
pear to have been continually diminished in depth, and contracted in extent, 
by deposits of -regetable matter, decayed shells, and sediment, brought with 
them by land floods. In this manner, •· he continues, " a surprising number 
of inland lakes have been extinguished in Holdemess, and nothing remains 
to denote their former existence, h~Jt the deposits by which they have been 
filled." The names of many places in the district, as Rotaea, Skipua, Kiln· 
ua, Witheroua, W oodmamsa, &c., indicate the places at which some of these 
lakes or meru existed, but there is but one now left in the whole tract of 

• The whole district of the East Riding originally formed one immense and trackless 
forest. Much of the origino.l wood was destroyed by the Romans. who employed the 
captive natives in the laborious occupation of clearing woods and draining marshes. 
Much more was bnrnt tD ashes daring the ravft8eB of the Saxons and Danes. As one 
of the objects which tho Romans had in view in destroying the forests, was tD prevent 
the Britons from concerting schemPS of insurrection and revolt, it is probable that in 
some places the trees, when rooted up or cut do11n1, were o.llowed tD remain on the 
marshy ground, in which, in course of time, they became embedded; and abundant 
remains still exist at a certain depth beneath the surface, of trees, plants, roots, and 
bru~hwood, over a great part of this district. Great quantities were found at Beverley, 
in the common pnstures of Swincmoor and Figham, when the De,·erley and BarmstDn 
drain was cut; and in miLily other marshy places, particularly at Eske, where not only 
great oak trees have been taken up, generally with the roots attached; but trees of a 
lighter description, such as hazel, and on these the nuts have been found in good pre­
servation, which shows evidently the season of tho year when they were destroyed. 
Many trees are frequently found in the neighbourhood of Routh, and in other places in 
the carrs. The depth at which they are discovered is usue.lly from one tD four feet. 
Another conjecture is-that these trees have been wnsbed away by some great floods, 
from higher grounds, and deposited in these low marshy pW:ea. 
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country, and that is at Homsea. We may here observe that the termina· 
tion &ea, or •ey, as it is also spelt, is not the modem word denoting the ocean, 
but is merely synonimous with mere. 

In Horsley's map of Great Britain, according to Ptolemy's Geography, in 
which are inserted the name's of the British tribes, the Parisi are ~~;~arked 
on the promontory Ocellum. In a pamphlet, published in 1821, Thomas 
Thompson, Esq., of Cottingham, tells us that Occllum was certainly the 
name of the district now called Holdemess, and that " the name, from its 
derivation, may fairly mean the eye, or exploring place;" and he refers to 
Baxter and Camden, who seem to agree that Ocellum means Spurn Head, or 
the projecting head of the Parisi. But others argue with much force that 
Flamborough Head must be the promontory named Ocellum. The dis­
covery of the book of Richard of Cirencester, a monk, who lived in the 14th 
century, has added much to the gE!<'graphy of Roman Britain. This book, 
which is admitted to be genuine, contains a Roman Itinerary, with a com­
ment upon it, and was printed by Dr. Stukeley, in his Itinerarium Curiosum, 
and has also been published separately in the present century, informs us 
that at the eastern point of the region or kingdom of Brigantia, " where 
the promontories of Oxellum, and of the Brigantes, run into the sea, dwelt 
the Parisi, to whom belonged the towns of Petuaria and Portus Felix." The 
promontories appear to be Holdemess and Flamborough Head, and the towns 
Petuaria and Portus Felix belonging to the Parisi, are said to have been at 
Beverley and Bridlington Quay. (See page 169.) But all these are yet dis· 
putable positions. Portus Felix has been assigned by some antiquaries to 
Filey, and others contend that Petuaria, which was the principal town, was 
at Patrington. Mr. Drake, who seems satisfied that Petuaria was the present 
Beverley, is of opinion the Roman road must have gone directly towards 
Patrington, or Spurn Head, one of which places in Holdemess, he concludes, 
was certainly the Roman Pnetorium, mentioned as the last stage in the first 
Itinerary of Antoninus. 

LoRDS OF THE SEtONIORY.-After the prodigious slaughter of the English 
nobility at the battle of Hastings, the Conqueror, as we have seen at p. Ill 
of vol. i., divided the kingdom of England between his adventurous followers, 
and the Seigniory, Liberty, and Honour, of Holdemess was granted, in 1067, 
to Dnu Debeverer, also called Drogo dt~ Bnere, or B.urere. He was after­
wards called Drago d4 Holdtrrnau. This Drago married the Conqueror's 
niece, and built a Castle at Skipsea, but poisoning his wife, he was obliged, 
according to Camden, to renounce the realm. He was a man of overbearing 
and covetous disposition, for it appean from Domesday that he waa not satis· 

VOL. II. 2 a 
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fied with the Seigniory of Holdemess, but that he claimed all the land in the 
West Riding, which was held by the Church of St. John of Bevt:rley, and 
had been confirmed by William himself. On the flight of Drago, it is con· 
jectured that the Seigniory escheated to the Crown, it being conferred as a 
mark of royal favour on its next possessor, Odo, Earl of ChampafiM, a 
Norman, ~ho had married the Conqueror's sister Adeliza. William gave 
him the "Isle of Holderness," as he called it; and the Archbishop of Rouen 
bestowed on him the city of Albemade, in Normandy. Holdemese at that 
period was a barren country, bearing no other grain but oats; and so soon as 
Odo de Campania's wife brought him a son, whom he named Stephen, he 
entreated the King to give him some land that would bear wheat, whereby 
he might be better able to nourish his nephew; the King therefore granted 
him the lordship of Byth&m, in Lincolnshire. After the death of the Con­
queror, Odo, in 101)6, entered into a conspiracy with Robert de Malbray, 
or De Mowbray, Earl of Northumberland, and others, to dethrone William 
II., and set up Stephcn, his aunt's son (who was afterwards King), to the 
Crown of this realm, for which he was imprisoned. By his wife Adeliza, 
he left his succeasor Stephen, and a daughter J udith, wife to W altheof, 
Earl of Northumberland. 

Stephen, on the decease of his father, became the third Lord of Holderneu, 
and the second Earl of Albem4rlt1. His wife was Hawyse, daughter of Ralph 
de Mortimer, by whom he had issue three sons and four daughters. 

WilUam, the third Earl of Albemarle, was the eldest son of the last Earl, 
and was surnamed LA Gro• (the fat). He was the chief of the nobles who, 
in the time of King Stephen, defeated the Scots in the BatUe of the Standard. 
(See vol. i., p. 12-!.) This nobleman founded and endowed the Abbeys of 
Meaux, in Holderness, and Bytbam and Thomton, in Lincolnshire. He 
married Cicely, daughter of William, son of Duncan, son of Malcolm King 
of Scotland, and be died in 1171), and was buried in Thomton Abbey. His 
daughter Hawise, who succeeded him in all his estates, had three husbands, 
who were successivE'ly Earls of Albermarle and Lords of Holdemess in her 
right. WiUiam de Mandeville, third Earl of Essex, married Hawise, in 1180, 
and became Earl of Albemarle, as above mentioned. At the coronation of 
Richard I., this nobleman carried the great crown of gold, and so high and 
important was his character, that he was one of the three Earls and two 
Barons sent to King Philip of France, to solicit his assistance in recovering 
the Holy Land from the domination of the infidels. He died at Rouen, in 
Normandy, in 1190, and was buried in the Abbey of Mortimer, in the same 
country. 
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The next husband of Hawise was William d6 Fort«nu, one of the Admirals 
of the Fleet, who died in 1194. His wife remarried, as we have observed, 
BCJldvnn d6 Betun, Earl of the Isle of Wight. In the 2nd of King John 
(1201), this Earl bad a grant to himself, his wife, and their heirs, of the town 
of Hedon, in Holdemess, fol'a free burgh. Hawise outlived this her third 
husband, who died in 1212, and after his death she gave no less than the 
sum o!IS,OOO marks to have the possession of her inheritance and dowries, 
that she might not be compelled to many again.* During her widowhood 
she made many gift.s to the church. 

WiUiam de Fortihw, son and heir to the second husband of Hawise, was 
the next possessor of the Seigniory of Holdemess. In the troublous times 
which be lived, be took part with the rebellious Barons against the King 
two or three times. He was once excommunicated, and it was only by deep 
submission to Cardinal ·Pandulph, the Pope's Legate, and Waiter Archbishop 
of York, that he was enabled to make his peace with the King. In 1241 
this nobleman, with several other persons of distinction, left England upon 
a pilgrimage to Jerusalem, but the Earl died on his passage, in the Mediter­
ranean sea, on Good Friday, in the same year. 

William d6 Fortilnu, the third Earl of Albemarle of this name, was the 
next Lord of Holdemess. He bad livery of his lands lying in the counties 
of York, Surrey, Northampton, Kent, Southampton, and Lincoln; and he had 
splendid castles at Cockermouth, in Cumberland; Skipton, in Craven; and 
Skipsea, in Holdemess. He died at Amiens, in France, in 1260, and his 
remains having been brought to England, were interred in one of the monas­
teries founded by his ancestors. His daughter and heir (Aveline) was married 
in 1269, to Etlmund OroucAback, second son of Henry ill., afterwards Earl 
of Lancaster. She died without issue in the 2nd of Edward I. (1274), and 
the lordship of Holdemess reverted to the Crown. 

PUr. de Gaw~ton, seventh Earl of Cornwall, and the great favourite of 
Edward IT., was the next possessor of this extensi'fe domain, and was be­
beaded near Warwick, in 1812. (See vol. i., p. 185.) On his death the 
Honour of Holdemess again reverted to the Crown. 

In 1888 William de la Pole, of Hull, bad "the inheritance of that great 
manor of Burstwick, in Holdemess," granted to him, but in 1858 he sur­
rendered it to the King, for a sum of money out of the customs or Hull. In 

• When an estate fell to a female, the SoTerei.gn obliged her to marry any one be 
pleued, hence the excessive aum paid by thia Countesa, thia being the fOurth time ebe 
had been placed in the &&me situation. 
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the latter year Edward m. granted Holdemess to Isabel his daughter, but 
she dying without issue, it again fell into the hands of the Sovereign. 

Tlwma• of w oodltock, sixth SOD of Edward m., had a grant of this 
Seigniory, for the better and more honourable support of his dignity. The 
reader of English history knows that this unfortunate nobleman, who had 
been created Earl of Buckingham and Duke of Gloucester, was forcibly con­
veyed to Calais, where he was smothered between t\1\·o feather beds, in the 
year 1897. One of the murderers of the royal Duke, Edtr.ard Earl of Rut­
land, the eldest son of Edmund of Langley, fifth son of Edward m., 
obtained the grant of this Seigniory; and in 1397 he was created Dulu of 
A.lbemaru. He was killed at the Battle of Agiucourt, and his remains were 
interred in Fotheringay, in Northamptonshire. 

The next Lord of Holdemess was Thomas Duke of Clarence, second son 
of Henry VI., who bore the title of "Steward of England, Lieutenant of 
Ireland, and Lord of Holdcmesse." He was slain in the wars with France, 
in 1422; dying without issue. 

In 1421, Anne, Countess of Stafford, daughter of Thomas Woodstock, 
Duke of Gloucester, and. her issue were restored to all their lands and 
honours. She was succeeded by her sou and heir, Humphrey, Duk~ of 
Buckingham, who was slain in the Battle of Northampton, in 1459. His 
grandson Henry was the next possessor of this Seigniory. This peer was a 
principal instrument in raising Richard III. to the throne; with "'hom for 
a time he continued on very good terms, but at some slights experienced from 
the usurper, he entered into a design with others to dethrone him, and ad­
vance Henry, Earl of Richmond. He wo.s taken in arms against the 
"crook'd back tyrant," and beheaded at Shrewsbury, without any arraignment 
or legal proceeding. Edward, son and heir of the last Duke, was restored to 
the honours of his father, in 1498; but being accused of a design to take off 
the King, that he might reign himself, be was arraigned, found guilty, and 
beheaded on Tower Hill, in 1521. By his death the honour of Holdemess 
reverted to the Crown. 

In 1557, Henry Ne11ill~, fifth Earl of We8tmorland, had a grant of this 
domain, and he, in 1559, re.granted the same to his son-in-law, Sir John 
Constable, Knt., of Burton Constable and Halsham, in Holderness. This 
Sir John was of a family of the most ancient and noble descent. Dr. Burton, 
the antiquary, deduced their pedigree from the Saxon Kings of England, the 
Kings of Scotland, Dukes of No1mnndy, &c. He was succeeded by his son 
Hmry, who died in 1608. 

Sir Hmry Oon1tahl8, the next Lord of the Seigniory, was ereeted a peer of 
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Scotland, by King J ames VI. of that kingdom, by the title of Vil<"ount Dun­
bar, and Lord Con•tabu, by patent, dated at Newmarket, Nov. 14th, 1620, 
to him and his heirs male, bearing the names and arms of Constable. This 
nobleman died, in 1645, of the wounds he received at the aiege of Scarbro', 
and his son John, ucond Vilcount Dunhar, who succeeded him, died in 1666. 
The latter married Lady Mary Brudenell, ouly daughter of Thomas, first 
Earl of Cardigan. Robert, th4 third Vilcount Dunbar, succeeded his father; 
be married first, Mary, daughter of John, Lord Bellaayse, of Worlaby, 
Lincolnshire; and secondly, Lady Dorothy Brundenell, third daughter of 
the Earl of Cardigan. Ho was succeeded in his title and estate by his 
brother WiUiam, in 1714, who married Elizabeth, daughter of Hugh second 
Lord Clifford, of Chudleigh, but having no issue by her, his estate, in virtue 
of a special entail, devolved on his nephew, Cuthbert Tun1taU, who took the 
name of Constable, and the title of Viscount Dun bar has ever since remained 
dormant, uo heir male general having appeared to claim it. WiUU!m Constable, 
son and heir of Cutbbert, dying without issue, by will entailed his estates 
and the Seigniory of Holdemess on his nephew, Edward SMldon, Esq., who 
in March, 1791, took the name of Constable. He also died without issue, 
and was succeeded by his brother, Franci• Shtldcn, Esq., who likewise took 
the name of Constable, and died without issue. 

The next Lord of Holdemess who succeeded in the entail was Sir Thoma1 
Hugh Clijford, created a Baronet May 22nd, 1815, at the particular request 
of Louis XVITI., King of France, as a testimony of the services and atten­
tions received by him, from that gentleman, during his long residence in this 
country. This nobleman was born Dec. 4th, 1762, and married, June 
7th, 1791, Mary Macdonald, second daughter of John Chichester, Esq., of 
Arlington, Devonshire, and had issue, Sir Thomas Aston, the present Baronet. 
He took the name of Constable, by royal sign manual, in 1821, and died in 
February, 1823, when he "·as succeeded by his son, Sir Thoma• A1ton Cli.fford 
Con1table, the present Lord of the Seigniory of Holderness; for which honour 
he holds his courts at Hedon, where the Corporation are bound by charter 
to provide him with a hall and prison for the manor of Burstwick, with the 
hamlets, free warren, and parks thereunto belonging, "commonly called the 
dominion of Holdemess," and in some old deeds styled, the Isle of Holderness. 
Besides its ancient lords, several other families ha\·e held the title of Earl of 
Holderneu, but it became extinct in 1778, on the death of Robert Conyers 
Darcy, Baron Darcy and Conyers, whose daughter and heiress married the 
fifth Duke of ~~. 
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J.olbtrntss maptnta:kt. 
Tms district, which, as we have seen, from the time of the Conquest, has 

formed a baronial liberty, or Seigniory, is bounded on the north by DickeriDg 
Wapentake; on the east by the German Ocean; on the south by the river 
Humber; and on the west by the river Hull, which separates it from the 
Wapentake of Hartbill. It forms a long crescent figure, presenting its 
homed side to the sea. Its length from north to south is thirty.seven miles, 
and ita breadth is only from nine to twelve miles. Along the sea coast its 
cliffs are subject to gradual and continoal waste, from the incursions of the 
foaming billows, which, by washing out the friable substrata, tumble the 
superincumbent earth into the deep, and are thus supposed to carry away, on 
an average, from 1 to 2t yards of land annually along the whole coast. 
"We have travelled on roads, which are now gone," says a recent writer, 
" and have seen the venerable churches of Owthomo and Kilnsea, the former 
of which was ingulphed in the ocean in 1816, and the latter in 18~6." The 
town of Ravenspurne and several villages, which have been washed away, 
aud have left not a " wreck behind," will be noticed at a subsequent page. 
The.re is a. tradition that Hornsea was once ten miles from the sea. 

Holdemeas is generally a champaign district, encompassed by the ocean 
and the rivers Humber and Hull, sinking into low marshes and cultivated 
fens near the rivers, and rising on its eastern side, by swelling undulations, 
towards the sea. The W apentake is in three bailiwicks, or divisions­
middle, north, and south----«nd its area, according to the Parliamentary 
returns, is 160,470 acres. It comprises 46 parishes, subdivided into 8£ 
townships, but there are only two small market towns-Hedon and Patring­
ton. The farmers and graziers however find a ready sale for their produoe 
at Hull and Beverley, which lie near its western limits on the opposite 
side of the river Hull. The latter is navigable for small craft, and has a 
canal branching eastward to Leven, and another extending northward, from 
Frodingham to Driffield. The soil, agriculture, &o., are already noticed in 
the desoription of the East Riding, in the beginning of the first volume of 
this history. 

HOLDERNESS SOUTH DIVISION.-This division or bailiwick of the 
Wapentake of Holdemess contains the parishes of Burstwick, Easington, 
Halsham, Holly~, Holmpton, Keyingham, Kilnsea, Ottringham, Owthome 
(part of), Patrington, Paull, SkefBing, Sunk Island, Welwiok, and Wineetead. 
The names of places in Holdemess may generally be found in a Saxon origin. 
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BuBSTWICK.-Tbis parish comprises the townships of Burstwick-cum· 
Skeckling and Ryhill-cum-Camerton. The manor of Buntwick waa always 
retained by the Lords of the Seigniory of Holderness in their own hands, 
whether in the Crown, or in the hands of a subject; and there waa aituated 
the great baronial Castle of the Earls of Albemarle, although the first lord 
resided at Skipsea, and those of later years at Burton Constable. The manor 
waa of great extent, and was in the hands of our Kings at the several periods 
the Seigniory escheated to the Crown. The public records of the kingdom 
adduce several proofs of royal visits to Holdern('88. 

Edward I. was at his royal park at Burstwick, on the 9th and 11th of 
November, 1809. In 1880, King Edward granted the custody of his parks, 
in the manor of Bnutwyk, to William Dale, according to letters patent. In 
184 7, John d' Arcy, called John d' Arci le Fitz, had the custody of the King's 
liberty of Holdemess, as also of tho manor of Bnuttcylu, with its members. 
In 1856, King Edward ID. bestowed on William de la Pole" the inheritance 
of that great manor of Brustwyke, in Holderness, with its members." Ry· 
mer, in his Fmdera, has preserved the special directions given concerning 
the treatment of the Countess of Carrick, Queen of Robert Bruce of Scotland, 
who was consigned to Richard Oysel, steward of the royal manor of Holder· 
ne88, after the defeat o( her noLle husband (34th Edward I., 1306.)* 

Edward II. visited Holderness several times. In July, 18~8. several state 
papers were signed by him at Burstwick. 

In law phraseology, the ancient name of this parish, Sluckling, or Skeek· 
ling·cnm·Buntwick, is still kept up, but with the exception of a small one­
llrched bridge across a stream in the village, oalled Skeekling Bridge, and an 
adjoining field, called Skeckling Close, the name is altogether practically 
obsolete. The area of the entire parish is 6,270 acres, and the principal 
landowners are Sir T. A. Clifford Constable, Bart. (Lord ofthe Manor)! Mr. 
Robt. Burnham, Burstwick; Mr. Farmer, London ; - Raikes, Esq., Hull; 
Anthony Bannister, Esq., Paull; and Mr. Samuel Holmes, Kelsey Hill. 
Amount of assessed property, £9,141. Population of Burstwick-cum-Skeck· 

• She was to have with her a lady and a woman for her chamber," who may be of good 
age, and not gay;" two pages, "who a hall be also of good age, and prudent;" one of 
them to carve for her; "a foot-boy to wait in her chamber, one who is sober and not 
riotoua, to make her bed, and do other offices pertaining to her chamber;" a Talet, "who 
shall be of good bearing, ud discreet to keep her keys, and serve in the pantry and 
cellar;" and a cook. She was also Rl.lowed three greyhounds for her recreation in the 
warren at Burstwick, "and in the parks when she chuseth ;" to have venison in the 
park, and ftsh in the fteheries, "according as she shall be inclined;" and she was to re­
aide iD \he beet houae iD \he mauor, ~ her pleuure.-Br~~~r, vol. ii., p. 1018. 
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ling township, IS09; and of the whole parish, 7 41S souls. The tithes were 
commuted at the enclosure in 1778. 

The Living is a Vicarage, valued in the Liber Regis at £7., and now 
worth about £280. It is in the patronage of the Lord of the Manor, and 
incumbency of the Rev. F. B. King. The Church (All Saints) was erected 
about the early part of the 14th century, and is a handsome spacious edifice 
i~ the Gothic style of architecture; restored and bt>autified in 1858, with 
much taste and at considerable outlay. It consists of a nave with a north 
aisle, a cl1ancel with a north aisle, a chapel on the south side of the nave, 
forming half a transept, and a lofty square embattled tower at the west end. 
The south side of the nave has a modem brick porch, and the windows are 
almost all square headed. The chancel was rebuilt by the patron, who is 
the lay Rector, about fifteen years ago. On Thursday, the 17th of June, 
1853, a new gilded weathercock, surmounted by a globe and cross, was added 
to this church, on which occasion the venerable patriarch of the village, John 
Jackson, aged 92 years (since dead), ascended the narrow spiral staircase to 
witness its adjustment by the sun. The interior is very neat; the aisle of 
the nave is divided from it by four pointed arches resting on octagonal 
columns. The western arch of the tower, which previous to the late repa­
rations W"as built up with brick W"ork, is now open, and within it is the organ, 
placed on a low screen of very elaborate workmanship, built by Mr. F. Weh­
ster, architect, Hedon, so as to allow a large stained glass window to show 
above it. This is a great improvement to the general appearance of the 
interior. The east window of the chancel is of five lights, one of which is 
filled with stained glass, executed by Wailes, and erected in memory of the 
late Rev. W. Clarke (who was for upwards of forty years Vicar of this parish), 
by Mrs. King, wife of the present Vicar. Most of the other windows are 
either filled or decorated with coloured glass. Over the communion table 
are two ancient pictures of Moses and Aaron, and an allegorical represent&· 
tion of the Lord's Supper. In the chancel is a plain sed ilia, and the remains 
of the piscina ; and suspended beneath the chancel arch is a gilded chande­
lier of oak, the gift of the present Vicar. The ceiling of the chancel is flat, 
and by the removal of the underdrawing, the handsome oak roof of the nave 
has been restored to view. The font has a handsome Gothic top, carved 
by Mr. F. Webster. The south chapel, which is open to the naYe by a 
pointed arch, is of much beauty, with clustered columns, and the well pre­
served remains of the sedilia. The tower contains only one bell, but of great 
size, weighing 17 cwt., which was recast in 1817. New gates have lately 
been added to the churchyard, which has also received some conaiderable 
augmentation in size. 
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The Vicarage HoU$e is a good substantial residence, the grounds and 
arrangements of which have lately been very much impro-.ed. 

The J'iUage is neat and pleasant, and stands about nine miles E. by S. 
from Hull, and three S.E. from Bedon. The northern part of the village is 
the ancient hamlet of Skeckling, and is separated from Burst wick by a stream 
or drain, across which is the above-mentioned Skeckling Bridge. The church 
and the Vicarage are in Skeckling. A short distance from the village is a 
Station on the Hull and Holdemess Railway. The Sclwol is endowed with 
£15. per ann., left by the Rev. William Clarke, late Vicar, in 1852. Here 
are also places of worship for the W esleyan and Primitive Methodists. 

" The site of the Castle of the Earls of Albemarle is said to have been 
nsible on an eminence in the south park, with a moat surrounding it, in 
1782," writes Mr. Poulson, in the History of Holdemess; "but it is doubtful 
whether the moat may not be that which surrounded the old house which 
stood inclosed within it, and which forms nearly a square, comprising about 
four acres of land; the moat, although in some measure filled up, is easily 
defined. There were also the sites of two or more fish-ponds to the south. of 
the moat, but below the hill. Previously to 1722, there were still many head 
of deer in the south park."* The same writer says, "In the south park, in 
Mr. William Constable's time, there still remo.ined an old oak, thirty-six 
feet in circumference, and in which twelve persons could dine; and there 
were in the recollection of living persons several other trees, or rather trunks 
of trees, oflesser circumference." 

Barstwick is very elevated, and from some parts of the parish there are 
most extensive views. Loath Church, in Lincolnshire, may be seen from 
Burstwick Garth. 

We shall briefly notice the principal farms in this parish, the buildings on 
some of which are very commodious and respectable. 

South Park farm is now in the occupation of Mr. Samuel Robinson. The 
house is an ancient brick building. North PtJrk HOUM is a neat brick 
building, erected in 1842-8. The site of the ancient house is now converted 
into garden ground, and is moated round. On the north-east side of the 

• The Boyal Park at Burst wick assisted to supply the larder of some of our Kings in 
London with venison, as appears f'tom a payment of £?.. b. 4d., made to Rd. Oysel, the 
keeper of the manor, for his disbllnl8ments reapecti.og three doles of venison taken iD 
that park, and four doles of venison taken in the forest of Sherwood, whiClh were aent by 
water from Hull to London, iD the reign of Edward I. These disbursements consisted 
of the cost of salt to preserve the venison, the t'reigbt of a vessel to carry it to London, 
and the wages of a boy to take care of it while on board of tho ehip.-W'ardrobt'• .J.ccoun& 
of CM !Uign of EdiDard I., 28 vo., fol. 68. 
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farm is a ditch or embankment, about four feet in height, the object or use 
of which is now unknown. Mr. Charles Johnson, the present occupier, ot\en 
finds large oak trees beneath the surface ; and be has one now in his posses­
sion, which measures forty feet in length and six feet in circumference. (See 
page 804.) North and South Parks are within tho limits of Skeckling. 

Tho farm house called Bur1twick HaU ur Garth was erected in 1803, on 
the site of the old hall, which, having become dilapidated, was taken down in 
1802. It stands near to the south park, and the boundaries of the ancient 
moat ar~ distinctly visible at present. This place was fonnerly the seat and 
property of the family of Appleyard. 

Burmcick Grang1 was once called Gospel Hill, or Gospel Farm; the hoU.80 
built in 1850, partly on tho site of an ancient residence, is a large sub­
stantial brick building, in the front of which is a small fish pond, having an 
island in the centre of it. Mr. Abraham Leonard occupies tl1is farm. 

NuttU. Hall, a large brick building, is situated on elevated ground. The 
farm takes its name from the family of N uttles or N uthill, who possessed this 
manor through many reigns. Peter de Nuthill was High Sheriff of York­
shire in tho ~6th of Edward ID. (1858.) The Champneys possessed the 
estate of tho Nuttles during the last century. In the farm yard is a hot 
water spring which is never dry. There was formerly a Church or Ch~l 
here, which, being dependent upon the mother church of Skeekling, paid an 
annual pension of 2s. to the Rector, and one mark to the Vicar, of Skeckling. 
The patronage was vested in the family of Nuthill, Knts., and in 1382, the 
chantry of the chapel of N uthill was appropriated to the church thereof. In 
1585 the church was demolished, but the proceeds of the living wns stated 
to be .£2. per annum. 

There is another farm called NuthiU, which once formed a part of the 
south park, in this parish, and is now in the occupation of Mr. Thomas 
Robinson. The house is a large brick building, erected in 1825, on a plea­
sant site, on one of tho highest spots in Holdemess. 

Ridgsmont, called also Ridgmaond, and Rugemont, is in the occupation of 
Mr. William Stickney. This farm consists of about 800 acres, and when 
the great grandfather of the present occupier first entered upon it, 800 acres 
were under water, 200 acres in whins, and the rest only was land of any 
real value. The lata Mr. Stickney, when a boy, used to skate from Ridg~ 
mont to school, at Roos, during the winter months, from which circumstance 
some opinion may be formed of the then condition of this part of Holdemess. 
Bnt tlle farm is now in a high state of cultiTation. Ridgemont has been in 
the possession of Mr. Sticknl\y's family, for up to 150 years, as yearly 
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tenants, no lease ever having been executed, a fact alike honourable to 
both parties, they (with the exception of the present occupier, who has 
become a Catholic) being of the Society of Friends, their landlords (the 
Constable family) Catholics. Ridgnrnmt Houu is a large handsome villa· 
looking residence, erected in 1824. The situation is very pleasant and well 
wooded. Mr. Wm. Stickney, who died in 1848, was an excellent practical 
agriculturist, and wrote a treatise, which obtained him a silver medal from 
the Agricultural Society. Mrs. Saral• EUU, wife of Mr. Wm. Ellis, the 
missionary, author of " Polynesian Researches," is the daughter of the late, 
and half-sister of the present, Mr. Stickney. This lady, whilst a spinster, 
became favourably known in literary circles, by the publication of her "Pic­
tures of Private Life," and since her marriage she has written the well-known 
and highly-appreciated work called "The Women of England." M·rs. Ellis 
has also written some excellent poetry. 

Kduy, or K&ua Hill, was an extensive mound of sand and gravel, covered 
with plantations, but the Holdemess Railway Company purchased it, ran 
their line through it, and found in the. hill itself a fine supply of materials 
for forming their iron highway. During the excavation of the bill, several 
stag horns, curious shells, and petrified curiosities, were found ; and of the 
latter claas a perfect mushroom, in a petrified state, was found buried deep 
in the sand. Many of these curiosities are in the po88688ion of Mr. Owst, of 
Keyingbam. KelMy Houu, in the neighbourhood, is the residence of Mr. 
Samuel Holmes. 

Rylaill Tounuhip.-Rybill, or Rial, is a small village, situated on the high 
road from Hedon to Patrington, three miles S.E. of the former place, and 
one mile S. from Burstwick. It takes its name from the family of De Ryell, 
its ancient possessors. The chief proprietors at present are Miss Broadley, 
C. L. Ringrose, Esq., Sir Tattoo Sykes, Bart., and Mr. Jonatban Mitchin­
son. Area of the township, 2,380 acres; amount of assessed property, 
.£3,307.; population, 216 souls. Tithes commuted in 1805. There is a 
small Wesleyan Chapel here, erected in 1819. 

Camerton Haml.et consists of four houses close to Ryhill. Camerwn Hall 
(now a farm house), the property of Mr. C. L. Ringrose, and residence of Mr. 
J. Mitcbinson, is a large fine looking house, pleasantly situated, and partly 
surrounded with trees. Population of Camerton, 20. 

EASINGTON.-This parish .lies on the coast of the North Sea, towards the 
Spurn Point, and is divided into two townships-Easington and Out-Newton. 
The area of the entire parish is 6,228 acres, of which 4,363 belongs to 
Easington. Sir T . A. C. Constable, Bart., is Lord of the Manor, and the 
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principal landowners are Messrs. J. Walker, John Richardson, Wm. Child, 
John Clubley, John R. Bulson, o.nd Wm. Denuison. Amount of assessed 
property, £4,078.; rateable value, £~,401. ; population of Easington town­
ship, 567 souls; population of the entire parish, 625. 

The Church was given by Edward I. to the Abbey of Meaux, in part of 
recompense for the manor of Myton and town of Kingston-upon-Hull, which 
that monastery passed to the Crown. It was appropriated to the Abbey and 
Convent by Archbishop de la Zouch, in 1846, who ordained that there should 
bo in this church one perpetual Vicar, whose collation should be in himself 
and his successors in the See of York for ever. At the dissolution Henry 
VID. settled the Rectory of Easington upon the Archiepiscopal See. The 
Living is a Discharged Vicarage, rated in the King's Books at £10.; it 
was augmented by a grant of £200., in 1768, by the Governors of Queen 
Anne's bounty, and in 1810 and 1819, by Parliamentary grants of £200. 
and £1,200. It is now returned at £51. per annum. As we have stated, 
the Archbishop is the patron, and the Rev. George Inman is the present 
Vicar. The tithes of Easington township were commuted at the enclosure 
in 1770. • 

The Edific~ (All Saints) is situated on high ground near the centre of the 
village, and is in the Early English style. It was probably built in the 12th 
century, but many subsequent additions and alterations have been made. It 
comprises a nave, side aisles, and chancel, and had formerly a chapel on the 
north side of the latter. At the west end is a venerable looking embattled 
tower, built of Roche Abbey stone, the doorway of which is probably of the 

, 12th century, and is said to have been brought from Burstall, on the disso­
lution of that Priory. The body of tbe church is of cut stone, and the 
chancel of rubble. The south side of the nave has several plain pointed 
windows, and a brick porch; the same side of the church has three square­
headed windows, of three lights each ; and in the east end is a large pointed 
window of five lights. The clercstory of the nave has three pointed win­
dows, and the north side of the church is similar to the south in point of 
style. The nave is embattled. In the interior, the south aisle is divided 
from the nave by four Early Pointed arches, springing from piers alternately 
cylindrical, and of three clustered columns, with deep cap mouldings, forming 
a pleasing and graceful contrast. On the north side are three widely­
sweeping arches, resting on very thick circular pillars without mouldings, 
probably the oldest part of the church. The chancel is very spacious, and 
contains the ancient piscina, with some deep mouldings. The roof is of fine 
oak. 'l'he foundations of the south chapel are still visible. The tower is 
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open to the church, but a gallery, erected in 1802, "in the debased style of 
village architecture," partly conceals its noble arch, and obstructs the view 
of the fine western window. The tower contains three bells. 

The Village is situated between the sea and the Humber, about a mile 
equidistant from both, and about 6 miles S.E. from Patrington. Here is a 
neat Primitive Methodist Chapel, built in 1851, and a small Wesleyan 
Chapel, erected in 1850. The church school is endowed with SA. SR. 27P. 
of land, bequeathed in 1811, by Robert Pattinson, Esq. 

The Manor Houu, the ancient mansion of the Overtons, still remains in 
the village, but in a mutilated state. It formerly consisted of a centre llnd 
two projecting wings, with a large entrance hall. One parlour was orna· 
mented with portraits of the monarchs of England, from the Conquest to the 
reign of Charles II., painted on oak panels, and let into the wainscot. There 
is a tradition in the village, that Charles I. slept one night here during the 
civil war, under the root of Col. Overton, but it is not recorded that Charles 
ever proceeded into Holderness. It is not improbable that one of the earlier 
Kings, who are well known to have landed on the coast in this neighbourhood, 
may have lodged here. (See page 146 and 147, vol. i.) 

Dimli'nf}ton is a small hamlet in this township, situated near the sea. 
Dimlington Hill is the most elevated ground in this part of Holdcmess. 

Out-Netcron To~~m~hip.-The area of this township is 865 acres; population, 
58. The Village consists of a few scattered farm houses and cottages, and 
stands about 2! miles N. of Easington, and 4 miles E. from Patriogton. 
Near the sea cliff is a part of the gable end of an ancient Cltapel of Ease. 
In 1833 these remains were 147 yards from the sea. Near them are {oun· 
dations of some buildings, which have been moated round, probably the site 
of the old manor house. The tithes have been commuted for £183., payable 
to the Archbishop of York, and there is about half an acre of glebe-the site 
of the old chapel. 

HALBBAY.-The name of this place is derived from the ancient Saxon 
haliz, holy, and ham, a dwelling or village. The Constable family have held 
Halsham from a very early period, and it has continued in the same family 
to the present day, Sir T. A. C. Constable, Bart., being its present lord. At 
what time the family quitted Halsham is not ascertained, but it seems not to 
have been be{ore the year 1620. Area, 2,877 acres; rateable value, £S,269; 
amount of assessed property, £4,795; population, 364 souls. 

The Living is a Rectory, in the patronage of J. Dyneley, Esq., and incum· 
bency of the Rev. John Ion, {or whom the Rev. Miles Mackereth officiates. 
It is rated at £13. 6s. 8d., but now worth £760. per ann. The Fabric of the 
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Church (All Saints) consists of a nave with aisles, a chancel with chantry 
chapel on the north side, and a tower at the west end. The latter appen­
dage has double buttresses at the angles, an embattled parapet, and contains 
two bells. In the west front is an empty niche above a pointed window of 
three lights. On the south side is a brick porch, and on the north a modern 
brick vestry. The divisions of the south aisle contain pointed windon of 
three lights; this side of the chancel has a square window in the centre, and 
pointed windows on each side of it. The east window is of four lights. Thia 
end rises to a gable, and is finished with a foliated cross. The north side is 
similar to the south. The interior is neat. The tower is open to the nave 
by a large pointed arch. On the south side of the nave are three pointed 
arches on plain octagonal pillars; and on the north side are two masaive 
arches resting on low circular columns. There are some singularly sculp­
tured blocks above the arches in the north aisle, evidently belonging to an 
older church than the present. The roof of the nave is panelled with 
coloured bosses. The chancel is large, and has a coved ceiling, corres­
ponding with the elliptical arch which divides it from the nave. Here is a 
crocketed piscina mutilated, and three sedilias surmounted by a large ogee 
crocketed arch. The chantry chapel, called the Chapel of St. John of 
Bevcrlcy, has opened into the chancel by two pointed arches, now blocked 
up. The pulpit bears the date 1634, and the granite font is octagonal. In 
the east wall of the chapel is a large double piscina, and here is also a fine 
table monument of alabaster, of a Knight in a recumbent attitude, his hands 
clasped in prayer, his head resting on a helmet, and the body attired in full 
plate armour. The side or dado of the tomb has pinnacled niches, with 
angels holding shields. From the style of the armour this is evidently the 
monument of Sir John Constable, who died about the middle of the 16th 
century. Beneath, is a spacious vault, in which the remains of the ancient 
family of Constable, lords of the pla.ce, were formerly interred. Amongst the 
mural monuments in the church are two to the ancient family of Owst. 

The Village stands about 4 miles N.W. from Patrington, and 6! E.S.E. 
from Hedon. Upon a gentle eminence, em bosomed in a small plantation or 
trees, a little to the east of the church, is a splendid Mawoltnun, belonging to 
the Constable family, which forms a prominent object in the surrounding 
scenery. It is a circular temple-looking edifice, of the Doric order, built of 
the best white frecstone, having blank arches round the whole, resting on 
pilasters. The dome, which is of stone, covered with lead, is crowned with 
an ornamental cross. The interior is faced and floored with dark polished 
marble, haviug Doric pilasters and recesses round the whole; and in the 
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centre is an elegant white marble urn, inscribed to Sir William Constable, 
who lies in one of the catacombs, along with several of his family. The 
urn stands on a pedestal of veined marble, and is surrounded by an iron 
railing. There are 78 shields of arms, of the family and connexions, ranged 
round the entablature, and a sky light of stained gla.ss throws a chastened 
light over the whole of the interior. This beautiful fabric was commenced in 
1700 and finished in 1800, at a cost of £10,000. The Constables continued 
to use the old family vault, beneath the above-mentioned chapel, as their 
place of interment, until 1802, when, on the 23rd of August, the bones of 
the ancestors of the family wero collected and transferred to one of the re­
positories in this edifice. 

On forming the foundations of the Mausoleum, a tumulus was opened, in 
which several urns were found, containing a great number of copper coins. 
The urns and some of the coins were taken to Burton Constable. At the 
same time there was a considerable number of skeletons found, with the urns 
placed at their heads. 

There are no remains of the old mansion house of the Constables. It stood 
about seventy yards north of the church, the site may be ascertained from the 
uneven state of the ground. The field is still called M ass Garth. 

In ancient times this manor was divided, and known as East and West 
Halaham, but this distinctive appellation is now lost. About 1i miles to 
the eastward of the church may yet be soon the moats entire which once 
surrounded the old mansion of East Halaham. The manor of East Halsham 
was not in the Constable family for some time after they became possessed 
of West Halaham. It belonged to the Abbey of Meaux, to which it was 
given by Stephen de Halaham. 

Near the church is a School and Ho'Pital, founded by Sir John Constable, 
by will dated 1570, and confirmed by letters patent in 1584, as a free school 
for eight poor children, and a refuge f~r eight poor men and two poor women. 
The endowment consists of an annual rent charge of £80., out of land in 
Burstwick, Keyingham, and Paull parishes, belonging to Sir T. A. C. Con· 
stable. This annuity is divided yearly, as follows :-£20. to the schoolmaster, 
£3. to each of the eight scholars, £4. to each of the eight almsmen, and £2. 
each to the two almswomen, all of whom are appointed by Sir T. A. C. 
Constable. The hospital is an ancient building, the rooms of which intended 
for the almspeople, being very small, are not often occupied by them ; but 
the ball and rooms above it are occupied by the schoolmaster. 

HoLLnr.-The manor of Hollym, or Holym, passed, by purchase, to the 
family of Sykes, in 1608, and the Rev. Christopher Sykes, of Roos, is its 
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present lord. The parish consists of the townships of Hollym and Withem­
sea; its area is 3,7 40 acres, of which 2,530 acres constitute the first-named 
township. The amount of assessed property is £3,826., and the population 
of the entire parish in 1851 was 516 souls. The number of persons in 
Hollym at that date was 407. The principal landowners are the Rev. C. 
Barker, Colonel Thompson, Rev. S. W. Hall, Admiral Mitford, and Miss 
Broadley. 

The Chapel of Hollym, within the parish of Withemsea, as it is anciently 
called, was formerly a Rectory, in the patronage of the monks of Albemarle, 
and afterwards of the monks of Kirkstall, by grant from Albemarle. Torre 
mentions that on the 11th of April, 1409, a license was granted to the people 
of Hollym, being pari&ltion~a of Withermea, by reason of the distance from 
their parish church, and other hazards of ways and inundations, to have 
Divine service celebrated in the Chapel of Hollym, and to bury tMir dead 
in the cltapel yard for the future. Thus it appears that Hollym did not 
become parochial until the date of this license; and that its chapel was de­
pendent upon Withernsea. The advowson of Hollym with Witbemsea was 
given to the Corporation of Deverley, by Sir Charles Hotham, in 1710, and 
it was purchased of them by the Rev. Robert Darker, and his son, the Rev. 
Charles Darker, is the present Patron and Incumbent. The living is a Dis­
charged Vicarage, valued at £9. 19s. 2d., now worth £420. per ann. 

The Church (St. Nicholas) was pulled down and rebuilt in 1814, partly by 
subscription, and partly by a rate; but the money raised being insufficient, 
the sum of £100. was borrowed of a Mr. E. Coates; to repay which, the 
Churcl' Close, containing 3A. OR. 16P., situate at Withernsea, was devised to 
him. According to tradition, this piece of land was originally fiven to pro­
vide a salary for winding up the church clock. The edifice, which is built 
of brick, is small and plain, and consists of a nave, chancel, and west tower, 
containing two bells. The interior is ceiled, and neatly pewed, and there is 
a gallery at the west end. The Vicarage House is a mean thatched resi­
dence, in the occupation of a farmer. 

The Village, which is small and scattered, is situated about three miles 
N.E. from Patrington. HoUym House, the residence of the Rev. C. Barker, 
is a good substantial brick building, erected by the Rev. Peter Atkinson, 
Vicar of Hollym, who formerly purchased an estate here. 

A Wuleyan Chapel was erected here in 1824. 
Rysom Garth is an ancient manor and estate of 543 acres (free from tithe 

and land tax), which was formerly in the possession of the family of Rysom. 
It is now the residence and property of William Sherwood, Esq. The man-
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sion is of brick, large and commodious, and is pleasantly situated about 2i 
miles S. from Hollym, and it commands most extensive prospects. 

Oharitiu.-The town stock consists of £4 7 ., ancient benefactions; £lU. 
given by the late Mr. G. C. Pape, in 1805 ; and £13. contributed by the 
parishioners. The interest is divided amongst the poor widows of the 
parish. There are three cottages, purchased for the poor with ancient bene­
factions, and also an annual payment of 10s. to the poor, issuing out of a 
farm in the parish. 

The Sclwol is endowed with the interest of .£300., left by will, in 1813, by 
.Mr. George Cook Pape. The legacy duty has reduced this sum to .£270. 

WITBBBNsu.-This township lies on the sea side, and, according to the 
Parliamentary return of 1851, comprises 1,210 acres, including the sea 
coast; but in the census return of 1841, the area of Withemsea is stated 
to be 850 acres. Sir T. A. C. Constable, Bart., is Lord of the Manor. 
Rateable value, .£981.; amount of assessed property, .£1,168.; population 
in 1861, 109 souls. 

The ocean encroaches very much upon this place; and, according to some, 
nearly two yards are lost through it every year. As we have shewn in the 
account of Hollym, Withemsea, or Whithomsea, was anciently an indepen­
dent p&rish. The church was at first a Rectory, in the patronage of the 
Abbot and Convent of Albemarle, or their Cell of Bnrstall; and by the said 
Abbot of Albemarle granted to the Abbot and Convent of Kirkstall, unto 
whom it was appropriated, and a Vicarage therein endowed. Torre inlorms 
us that on the 8th of November, 1444, a commission was issued to examine 
the parishioners of Withomsea, whose chu.rchyard being so nigh the sea, 
that by the violence of ita waves beating upon it, in a certain tempest was 
destroyed, that they might make choice of another foundation whereon to 
build them a new church. Accordingly, on the St.h of December they certi­
fied that the place called Priest's Hill, within the lordship of Withomsea, 
was a convenient site upon which to erect a new church; whereupon the 
Archbishop then decreed that the parish church should be built on the said 
place, which being done, on the 28th of July, 1488, a commission was 
directed to William Bishop of Dromer, to consecrate the same, then newly 
bUilt. This church was unroofed during a dreadful storm in 1609, and has 
been a neglected ruin ever since, the township having become too poor for 
the support of such a costly structure. It was dedicated in honour of St . 
.Mary. The shell .of 'the fabric exhibits a nave, side aisles, a capacious 
chancel, and west tower. It is situated some few fields distant from the sea. 
In 1882 these beautiful and picturesque ruins were 417 i yards from the 
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sea ; the middle of high road was 278 yards; and Intak farm house east 
end was 312 yards from the se&. It ianow in oontemplation to restore thla 
ancient church, if funds can be obtained. The church of Withernsea and 
that which wos washed down by the sea in 1816, in the adpning village of 
Owthome, were long known to .Uors navigating this coast by the name ol 
"the Sister Churches," from their contiguity and resemblance to each other, 
which gaTe rise to ~e popular traditiot1 that they were built by two si~ra.* 

The ViUage is now small, but in a a few yer.rs it is expected it will have 
swelled into a respeatable town. Since the opening of the Hull and Holder­
ness Railway in 1854 (See page 159), Witbemaea is fast becoJDing a pla.ce 
of importance, new houses of a auperior description have been built, and 
many others are in course of erection : indeed the plan of a new tmrn has 
been made, and is being carried out; and at no very diatant period we may 
expect to see the late insignificant hamlet of Withemaea transformed into a 
fashionable bathing place: as a more healthy locality can scarcely be found 
for the invalid or the pleasure seeker. The sands are very extensive, and the 

. bathing machines belong to the Railway Company, and are fitW up in a 
superior man~r. The sea must bavo swallowed up an immense tract of 
country apon this part of the coast. The site of a~tcient Withemeea is 
covered with the sea, far from the present cliffs ; the houses of too old town 

would udoubtedly stand about the situation of the old charch, which, as 
we have seen, was destroyed by a tempest. 

In the month of December, 1889, the spring tides laid bare, to a great 
extent, the bed of a morass O'f submerged forest, which lies about three­
quatters ebb on the sea shore, off Withel'D8ea and Owtborne: and exposed to 
flew the organic remains of a distant and unknown era. It extends along 
the shore for some hundred yards, and probably a considerable way below 
low water mark into the sea. The most prominent portion now visible is to 
the north of the anoieot site of Owtbome Churob. Whether the ground 
upoa wilieh tbi:s forest onoe stood has experienced the cha.ftge whloh has 
taken place, through the agency of a convulsion of nature, or from the more 
gradual enoroaohment of the sea, does not appear from any documEllltary tea-

• The traditional story runs thus :-The manors of Owtborne and Withernsea, in a 
remote age, belonged to two sisters, who detennined on building a chu.rch for their 
tenantry and dependents ; 11nd ns the two manors were eontiguoue, it Wll8 eoncluded that 
one church would be eum~t for both. The site of Owthorne Church wae acoor4ing)y 
ftxed upon, and the building rose to a eertain hei8ht, when the siiters differed as to 
whether it should be fortified with a tower, or ornamented with a spire. To allay the 
strife, some good monk suggested thnt ellCh sister should build a church within her own 
manor, at a very moderate distance from E11Ch, which wu done. 
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timony-but the latter cause is the most probable. The remains coosist of 
trees of various kinds, with their branches, bark, &c., more or less flattened 
with the weight of the superinoumbent earth by whioh they had been covered; 
acorns, hazel nuts, leaves, and roots of reeds, &c., all embedded amongst de­
composed vegetable matter. Adjoining these are beds of the shells of the 
river or fresh water musele, in a very decomposed state. They lay embedded 
in clay, whioh appears to have been the bottom of a fresh water lake, The 
mor&88 likewise cootaina bones of various animals; and amongst others a 
large stag's born, and an elephant's tooth, which weighs seven pounds, 
have been dug up here when the water wu low. This sub-marine forest is 
not the least of the attractions ol'wi\herneea. 

In 1785 a canoe was discovered in the clay, about fifty yards S.E. of Ow­
thome Church, perfectly entire. Two or three tides preceding the above 
discovery were extremely high, and set very ha.rd upon the shore. For many 
years previously the shore was a fine sand, whioh was totally removed by the 
action of these violent tides, and a blue clay appeared, upon which were 
prints of birds' feet, particularly swans, which are supposed to have been im· 
printed on the clay centuries before. 

Sandley Mere was formerly a lake ; it i• now a reedy fiat, protected from the 
sea only by a broad bench of sand and pobblos, thrown up by the tido. The 
sea now flows over a part of the bed of Sandley Mere, and covers with sand 
much of its clay and peat. (Se. Owtlwnu ToumaAip, at a tubuquent page.) 

The Railway Company have erected a splendid and most extensive Hotel, 
facing the German Ocean, at a cost of £10,630. This splendid establish­
ment, which is equal to anything of the kind in the kingdom, and comprises 
a large and handsome coffee room, drawing, billiard, and private sitting 
room1, up to forty bed rooms; also, bath rooms, a smoke room, &c., waa 
opened for business on Thursday, the l~th of April in the present year, by 
a ball, which was attended by nearly all the gentry of Holderness. The 
pleasure grounds are laid out and planted with considerable taste, and con­
tain bowling greens, a labyrinth, and a spacious music saloon. The railway 
approaches cloee to the Hotel. 

HoLVPTON.-The name of this place is clearly derived from Hol~M, an 
enclosed meadow, and ton, a town or village; and early records point it out 
as being the Holme town. The manor was held by the Abbot of Thornton 
in the reign of Edward ill. After the dissolution it passed through many 
hands, and it was purchased of a Mr. Lacy by its present lord, the Rev. Wm. 
Potohett, Vicar of Grantham, in Lincolnshire; and who, together with 
Messrs. William Sherwood, H. L . Maw, H. Torre, and R. Feaster, are the 
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chief proprietors of the soil. Area of the parish, 1,462 acres; population, 
92 souls; assessed property, £2,6124.; rateable value, £2,182. 

The Living is a Discharged Rectory, rated in the K. B. at £4. Ss. 4d.; 
now returned at £Hi~. per ann. Patron, the Lord Chancellor; Rector, Rev. 
John Watson. Land was allotted at the enclosure, in lieu of tithes. 

The Ohurela (St. Nicholas) is a small building, comprising a nave and chan· 
eel, with a tower at the west end, which was erected in 18S2. The interior is 
neat; and there is a small gallery at the west end, erected in 1820. In the 
south wall is a doorway, filled up, which apparently opened into a chantry, in 
former times. Amongst the monuments is a neat tablet of statuary marble, 
by C. Rossi, R.A., to Mary Ann, daughter of Samuel Waiter, Esq., of 
Holmpton, who died in 1820, agod 14 years. 

The Villag' is one of moat pleasant on the Holdemess coast, and though 
very near the sea, there are many good trees about it. A part of it is in the 
parish of Hollym. It is distant about Si miles E. by N. from Patrington. 
A small Methodist Chapel was built here, in 1820. The sands on the sea 
shore here are excellent; and the cliff occasionally contributes towards the 
the apace covered by the " vasty deep." In 1786, Holmpton Church to the 
cliff measured 1,200 yards; and in 18SS, 1,1SO yards, a loas of 70 yards 
having occurred within the periods. 

Holmpton HaU, or Lodg,, appears to have been built about the time of 
Queen Anne. It is the property of the Lord of the Manor, and the residence 
ol John Malam, Esq., and is very pleasantly situated in beautifully laid out 
pleasure ground, omamented with statues, &o. Mr. Malam poasesses some 
good paintings. 

The 'R6ctory Houu, near the ohurch, is a handsome new villa, in the cot· 
tage style, having a verandah in front, with neatly laid out gardens around it. 

The Manor Houu is a mean building, occupied by cottagers ;. the Manor 
farm is now in the occupation of Mesars. W. H. and R. M. Stephenson. 

The interest of £60., left in 1766, by Mrs. Nockalls, is applied to the sup­
port of the school. 

KEYINGILUI.-The area of Keyingham or Kayingham parish is S,210 
acres, and the number of persons in the parish in 1851 was 7 46. The as­
sessed property amounted to £6,762.; and the rateable value was £6,2S2. 
The parish includes Saltagh Grange. Ntl&rly half the land is marshy, but 
much improved and fertilised by drainage; indeed the Keying ham Level 
Drain has been chiefty instrumental in converting the marshes into fertile 
fields. The soil on the more elevated grounds is a deep marly clay, inter­
spersed at intervals wit~ sand and gravel, and in the low marshes it is a deep 
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warp clay, formed by a deposit from the river Humber. The chief land­
owners are Sir T. A. C. Constable (Lord of the Manor), the Archbishop, as 
impropriator of the great tithes, the Trustees of the Charity for the Sons of 
the Clergy, Thomas J. Owst, Esq., William Carlin, Esq., and Miss Broadley. 

In the beginning of the civil war, in the reign of Charles I., the Queen, 
as we have she"n in the history of that period, in the first volume of this 
work, sold her own and the Crown jewels in Holland, with the proceeds of 
which she purchased arms and ammunition; and, as has already been ob­
eened at page 58 of this vol., she sent a supply of the same to England in a 
small ship, of about SO guns, called the Providmce. To avoid being taken, 
the Captain ran the vessel on ground in Keyingham Creek, which at that 
time extended nearly to Saltagh. This old chaunel, which formerly divided 
Keyingham from Sunk Island, is uow nearly filled up. 

The Church was given by Edward I. to the Abbey of Meau:r., and at the 
dissolution it was granted to the Archiepiscopal See of York. The Liring is 
a Discharged Vicarage, in the incumbency of the Rev. Joshua Smyth, and 
still in the patronage of the Archbishop, who is also the impropriator. It is 
rated at £12., and now returned at £9~. per ann. The tithes of the titbeable 
property have been commuted for a rent charge of £409. lSs. Sd., and land 
was allotted, in lieu of tithes, to the impropriator, at tho enclosure of certain 
lands. The Fabric (St. Nicholas) is situated on the highest site in the village, 
and comprises a nave, with aisles, a chancel, with a chantry chapel on the 
the south side (now used as a vestry), a west tower, surmounted by an octan­
gular spire, about lOO feet high, finished with a vane, and the date of " 17 49;" 
and a large porch on the south side. The nave has a clerestory. The east 
window of the chancel (restored) is of five lights, with good tracery; most of 
the other windows are pointed, but some are square-headed. The interior 
exhibits little taste or much poverty in the manner in which it is fitted up­
partly with the old-fashioned high pews, and partly with more modern ones, 
with an unsightly gallery at the west end. Four pointed arches on each 
side, resting on clustered quatrefoil columns, with plain capitals, divide the 
nave from the aisles. Some of these columns are most tastelessly cut away, 
for the purpose of admitting the high backs of the old pews. The chapel is 
divided from the chancel by two pointed arches, and from the south aisle by 
another arch, but all are now tilled up with brick work. Beside the pulpit 
is the ancient iron frame for the hour glass. There are caned grotesque 
bosses on the rafters of the roof. The arch to the chancel is large and 
pointed, and in the chancel is a piscina. In the same place is a neat tablet 
to John Angel, Esq., who died in 1647; and the church contains marble 
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tablets to families of Ombler, Tindall, and Bewaon. There is an organ in 
the gallery, and there are three bells in the tower. This church, with those 
of Ottringham and Patrington, are of use to mariners as landmarks, and 
are the only churches with spires in Holdemess. 

Philip de IngWwrd, Priest of Keyingham, presented to the liTing, in 1806, 
by the Prior of Burstall, Vicar General to the Abbot of Albemarle, gave a 
mill and some land in Kayingham and Paull to University College, Oxford; 
and he founded a chantry at Molescroft, near Beverley. He was a na&i•e of 
the latter town, and is supposed to ha•e been buried in the chantry chapel 
on the south side of this church. 

The V~ is pleasantly situated on an eminence, commanding extensive 
views of the Humber, the Lincolnshire coast, and th<' Yorkshire wolds, about 
lS miles N.E. of Hedon, and 5 S.W. of Patri.ngton. In the principal street 
are some remains of an ancient cross, consisting of the lower part of the shaft 
elevated on three steps. It bad formerly a high shaft, the sides having 
blank shields. On the site of the ancient road across the common, on the 
west of the village, stood another cross, called St. Philip'• Crou; but at the 
enclosure the course of the road was changed, consequently the stump of the 
cross is now in a field. Upon the Rectory or Glebe farm (now in the occu­
pation of Mr. Benjamin Dunn), a few fields west of the cross, is a small well, 
a few feet in depth, called St. Philip'• Well,· and on a small stone are 
inscribed W.H. W.D. 1667. W.K. It was formerly of note, and was used 
for the core of several diseases. Before the drainage, this well usually flowed 
over, but since then it is nearly dry. The old farmstead was taken down 
some years ago, and the present excellent building, called Elxw Ho11u, 
erected. In the yard of the house occupied by Mr. Thomas Tindall, is a 
spring, from which is pumped warm water. This house is one of the oldest 
and best in the village, and commands a most extensive and pleasing prospect. 
There are two small but neat chapels here; one belonging to the Primiti.e 
Methodists, built in 1846, and the other to the Wesleyans, erected in 18~8. 

The Natioflal Scliool is a neat building, erected, in 1885, by subscription, 
aided by a grant of £25. from the National Society, and of £SIS. from go•em­
ment. The ground was given by the late Archbishop, and the Archiepiscopal 
arms, carved in stone on the front of the building, was presented by Mr. 
Owst. The school is endowed with the interest of £200., left by Edward 
Ombler, Esq., of Saltagh Grange, in 1802 ; and the rent of five acres of land, 
purchased in 1826, with a legacy left by Edward Marritt, a late school­
master, in 1807. The chantry chapel was formerly used as a school. 

On the north side of the village is a Station on the Holdemess Railway. 
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Acijacent to the vil.la.ge, on the property ol T. J. Owst, Esq.,* is an elegant 
stone Cf'088, fourteen feet high, which was brought here from o. distance, and 
erected by that gentleman. On the same grounds is the part of the abaft 
aad stump of the ancient cross which formerly stood near the Watt's Arma 
Inn, in the village of Ottringh&m. Here also is the old font from WiDestead, 
ueed at the baptism of Andrew Marvel, md which bad been converted into 
a horse trough when diecovered. In the same Dcld are some tons of the cut 
atone of the "Sister Church" at Owthome, which was undermined by the 
eea, in 1816; as well as a few tons of the etone of which York .Minster was 

• .Mr. Ont. whose name is of Suon origin, is the last of the name, though various 
branches of the family have lived and been landowners in Holderness for several cen· 
turies. A family of this name most certainly gave name of Owstwick, in this neighbour· 
hood. In more modern times Halsham seems to have been their principal place of 
resi4enoe. The family are Catholics, and Mr. Poulton, in his H~, gives a oopy af 
a ourioua oertifloate whioh wu granted to one of them, in 1746, which ~n&l to shew 
the disabilities under which persons of that. religious persua&ion laboured in the laet 
century. It runs thus:-" East Riding of the county of York.-WMrecu, Thomas Owat. 
of Halsham, is a popish reC'UIWit. and therefore, by the Act of Parliament, cannot go 
and travel out of the comp688 of tlve miles from the usual place of his abode, unl­
upon neceeaary oooaaions on bullin-, md tint taking the oath, and being lieensed 
thereto aa the Act directs; .dnd whMtcu the said Thomas Owst bath requested us, four 
of biB M~esty's justices of the peace for the said Riding, with the privity and assent or 
one of the Deputy Lieutenants of the said Riding, to grant 1mto him a lioenee to travel 
from his aid uaual place ol abode to Dru, in .the West Ridiug of the ooun~ of York, to 
see his wife, who is very ill there, at the house of his soa·in·law, and he baring made 
oath as the Act directs. These are therefore to license the aai.d Thomas Owst to go and 
travel this day from his usual habitation to Drax aforesaid, and to return on Wednesday, 
the l~th of January next, or eooner. Given under our hands and -ts this eighteenth 
day of December, lU~,-Fran. Appleyud. Bugh Bethell, Jamee Gee, R. Barnaby. 
Marm. Conatable, Deputy Lieutenant. 

The present Mr. Owst has beeu presented with a magnificent silver pllDCh bowl or 
tureen, with an elegant cover, in 1837, by the o'll'llers and occupiers of lands in the Key­
ingham Level Drainage, "aa a testimony of their oblipUoas to him for tlle gratuitous 
diaoh.tqe af his dutiee as a Commissioner of tbe DJ."&ina6e, since his appointment in 
18~2." This gentleman has no11' in his poesession a very cnrious collection of antiquities, 
including a number of Roman and Sa.xon coins, some of which bad been found in this 
neighbourhood; an ancient silver flAt ring, besring the inscription A tit Mlll'ia. gratia. plena.; 
a large silver medal of lbry Queen of Soot.s, and another of the Bettora&ion of Chaa. 11. ; 
a wrions brasa ink 'born, which belonged to Cardinal Pole, brought from Bome by Bev. 
F. Trappes; a number of O:J'11ter and other shells, a human alcull, &c., found during the 
excavation of Kelsey Bill; a basket-hilted sword that belonged to Edward the Black 
Prince; a set of finely-carved antique chairs; the librvy chair of the late Duke of 
SUIIIeX, so eonstrucled, that by turning over the b.ck it forms a set of earpe&ed ll&epe to 
asoend the hook oases; and a large toblleeo box, which belo1189d to the I&IDe roral Duke. 
The latter is not the least curious article in 1\Ir. Owst's " Old Curiosity Shop." 
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composed, and which were sold, with other materials, after that building had 
been partially burnt a few years ago. On the same farm is an ancient pear 
tree, perhaps one of the largest trees of the kind in England. About 8 feet 
from the ground its girth measures 10i feet; and about 18 feet from the 
ground its principal branch is 4i feet in girth. 

Saltagla or Saltlaaugla Grang.,.-This place is a member of Keyingham, 
and consists of about 878 acres of fertile land (400 of which are in Paull 
parish), near the Humber, protected by a good embankment. It belongs to 
the Charity of the Sons of the Clergy, having been purchased by that institu· 
tion. The house, which is situated about 2i miles S. of Keyingham, is an 
ancient crueiform brick building, pleasantly situated in a well wooded locality. 
The place has an antique aspect; some of the trees in the garden are covered 

· with ivy; and there is a rookery in the high trees near the bouse. The 
present occupier of Saltsgh is Mr. G. C. Francis. The other principal farms 
are Keyingham Grange, iti the occupation of Mr. Henry Carlin ; Marsh 
House, occupied by Mr. George Marshall ; and Marsh Cottage, the residence 
of Mr. John Mitcbinson. The latter place is ancient, and was formerly 
moated. 

KILNSEA.-This parish, which includes Spurn Point, occupies the narrow 
projecting point of land between the North Sea and the mouth of the Hum­
ber, forming the south-eastern extremity of Yorkshire. The area of the 
parish is 1,130 acres, and its population numbers 157 persons. The assessed 
property amounts to £664. The chief proprietors of the soil are Sir T. A. C. 
Constable (Lord of the Manor), and Messrs. H. de Burgh, John Clubley, and 
G. L. Thompson. With the exception of Spurn Point, the warren, and the 
marshes, the land is arable, and co'nsists of a strong soil, of a productive 
quality. The surface is level, and the scenery wild, and destitute of wood. 
The sea has been making progressive encroachments here for ages. It is, as 
we have already observed, the general opinion of persons who have observed 
the encroachments of the sea on the land, that in several places on this coast 
the sea cuts away, on the average, two yards in breadth of the cliff annually. 
"If this be a fair calculation of the effect" of the sea on the Holderness coast," 
writes Mr. Thompson, "it may be supposed that since the Norman Con­
quest, a quantity of land, more than three·fourtbs of a mile in breadth and 
twenty miles in length, containing upwards of 10,000 acres, on which were 
several villages, has been entirely lost." Ancient records mention the village 
of Sunt.Mrp, in the parish of Kilnsea; and which doubtless stood between 
Kilnsea and the sea; but this village, and many others in Holderness, men­
tioned by Camden, ha'\"e bad no existence for centuries past. 
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The Living of Kilnsea is a Discharged Vicarage, in the patronage of G. L. 
Tllompson, Esq., and incumbency of the Rev. G. Inman. It is rated at .£6. 
Ss. 6id., and now returned at .£82. per ann. The remains of the Church (St. 
Helen), which stood near the brink of the cliff, and for a long time formed a 
conspicuous object on the coast, gave way some years ago, and were swallowed 
up by the sea. Divine service was held in the church until the year 1823; 
in 1826 it was dismantled, and presented an interesting appearance in its 
fallen state; and on August 1st, in the latter year, the nave and chancel, 
with the greater part of the lofty tower, fell down into the watery abyss. The 
fallen walls having opposed a strong bulwark to the fury of the waves, a frag­
ment of the tower, remained for several years longer. "The church had long 
braved the storms and waves which assailed it," writes Poulson, "for it was 
built of stem materials, in a hardy age; but at length the sea-fowls rested 
within its hoary aisles, and the swallow found her nest beside the altar of the 
living God. The huge and massive walls, built by faithful men, not for their 
own brief age only, but for after times, at length gave way to a resistless 
element, and the old grey tower of unknown strength, the aeamen'slandmark, 
was the last portion of the holy lane which fell, and buried in the ocean, 
amidst the tempest's roar, the work of Norman hands." 

The edifice consisted of a nave with aisles, a chancel, and west tower. 
Divine service is now performed in a large room, the inhabitants, according 
to a recent writer, thinking it useless to erect another church, as the village 
itself may be swept away in the course of a century, as many others have 
been in this neighbourhood. In 1766, the chancel of this church was dis­
tant from the cliff ninety-five yards; in 1833, the remains of the west end 
of the church was only four yards from the cliff. It is estimated that from 
1767 to May, 1828, when part of the steeple fell, that the loBS annually 
here was nearly three yards. 

The records of the Trinity House, Hull, shew that in 1734, that Corpora­
tion gave .£10. for repairing Kilnsea Church steeple, for the benefit of 
navigation, as it 'was a very useful sea mark. On the shore in this locality 
are various 1k6rrie1, or ridges of land, covered with cobbkl, or, as the natives 
term them, boulder stones, which are gathered when the tide falls, and sold 
for paving and repairing roads. Most of the ancient churches in Holdemess 
are built with these stones. 

The Village, which is very small, stands about 8 miles S.E. from PatTing­
ton, and 24 E.S.E. from Hull. The land here is about a mile in breadth at 
its widest part, and tapers into a narrow neck, about two miles in length, 
which opposes a low barrier to the union of the German Ocean and the 
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Humber. The road which connects it with the Spurn is often inundated at 
high tides, and in stormy weather, and consequently impassable. The whole 
shore here appears to be in motion; parishes are contracted, churches are 
washed a\fay, and foars are entertained that the waters of the ocean and the 

. Humber may one day join, and the Spurn become an island. 
A beautiful stone cross, which formerly stood in this place, was removed, 

in 1818, to Burton Constable, to preserve it from the danger of being dee­
ti·oycd by the sea, and \VBS subsequently removed to Hedon ... 

Many Roman antiquities have been found in this parish from time to time, 
amongst which is a little figure, in brass, of Mercury. A leaden Papal seal, 
or bulla, about the size of a half-crown, though thicker, was found here a few 
years ago. The name of Pope Martin IV. is stamped upon it, and it doubt­
less had once been affixed to some document from Rome. 

Spurn Head, or Spurn* Point, formerly called Kilmea Oommcn, is a low 
peninsula of gra"Vel and sand, accumulated by the sea and the wind, and laid 
in its peculiar forms by the united action of currents from the sea and Hum­
ber. It forms the head of that narrow neck of land above mentioned, aud 
is approached from Kilnsea, from which it is distant about four miles, by a 
road formed upon a ridge of sand. The Spurn is identified by some writers 
with the OccUum Promontorium of Ptolcmy, but others dispute this, and place 
the Ocellum at F1amborough, and ground their arguments on the fact that 
at the latter place there is a promontory, whilst at Spurn there is not one; 
but it would be difficult indeed to show that there was not a promontory in 
this direction in the days of the Roman geographer. This wild and romantic 
spot is almost a barren island, a little more than a mile in circuit, and having 
on it only two lighthouses ; a public house, formerly a four-gun battery ; 
and some cottages for a few veteran seamen, who are pensioned by the 
Trinity House, Hull, and have the management of the life boats, stationed 
here for the assistance of distressed mariners, who are frequently exposed to 
great hardships in navigating this part of the coast. 

When Henry Boliugbroke, Duke of Lancaster, afterwards King Henry 
IV., landed at Ravenspurne (See vol. i., p. 146), be found that a hermit or 
priest bad begun to erect a chapel or oratory at the Spurn, to whom be after­
wards granted "sea wrecks and waifs, and all other profits and advantages 
accruing upon the shore, for two leagues round the place, for ever." A 
succeeding hermit, Richard Reedbarrow, was the first person who projected 
a tower as a signal by day, and to contain a light by night, for the direction 

• Spurn, or Spome, a place to make obeenationa from. 
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of mariners; consequently to this humane and benevolent individual must 
be attributed the erection of tlte first lighthouse on this part of the coast.* 
To assist the hermit in completing this laudable work, a duty of ls. was 
levied on every ship of 120 tons and upwards, and 8d. on every vessel of lOO 
tons, and 4d. on every vessel of a less burthen, coming from the sea into the 
Humber; which rates were to be received by the Mayor of Hull for ten years 
from the date of the patent in 1428. In 1676 a patent was granted by 
Charles II., to Justinian Angell, of London, merchant, enabling him to 
conti".u, renew, and maintain certain lights that be had erected here, at the 
request of certain masters of ships, who, in their petition to his Majesty, 
represented that a very broad and long sand had been thrown up, near the 
mouth of the Humber, upon which they had great losses. In 1766 an Act 
was passed for taking down and rebuilding the lighthouses, which then 
belonged to John Angell, Esq., of Stockwell, and .Leonard Thompson, Esq., 
of Sheriii Hutton; and that celebrated engineer, John Smeaton, the builder 
of the present Eddystone Lighthouse, was appointed to erect the new to\Ters, 
one 90 and the other 50 feet high, both to have enclosed lanterns for fire 
ligbts.t The foundation for the high light was completed in February, 1773, 
and in December following the low light was covered in ; but it was des­
troyed by a great storm in 1776, and suffered the same fate in 1786, after 
being rebuilt by Mr. Smeaton. It was again demolished by the fury of the 
waves, in the years 1787, 1816, and 1880, and a new and handsome light­
house was recently erected. The high light erected by Smeaton still exists, 
and is a noble circular building, comprising several stories. The upper part 
of the building has lately undergone very extensive alterations; and the Lund 
light has been introduced into it. These lights are still the property of the 
Angell and Thompson families. 

The sea having made a great breach through the bank which separates 
the sea from the Humber, by which the lighthouses were endangered, the 
Government, in 1851, voted a sum of £10,000., and a further sum of £0,000, 
was voted last year for the repair of the breach. 

• The first lighthouse, the Pharor, near Alexandria, was built by Ptolemy Philadel. 
phua, about 280 years beforo Christ. It was some 300 or 400 feet bigh. The second 
was the Tower of Cordonar, situate at the mouth of tho Garonno, in the Bny of Biscay, 
belonging to modem history, is 107 feet high. The third WllS the <>rioinal lighthouse 
on the Eddystone rock, on tbe southern coast of England, built by Winatanley in 1690. 

+ Angelh lighthouse W&S a strong octagon building of brick, and its light, from 
being a naked coal fire, unpro~cted f'rom the wind, 11·aa subject to bum with very 
deficient and unequalluatre. 
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Off Spurn Point there are some rocks called Stony Bin"-, beyond which 
a Floating Lig"t was stationed in 1820, by the Corporation of the Trinity 
House. 

0TTRINOBAK.-The manor of Ottringham was anciently in the family of 
De Lascbelles, or Lascells, and afterwards passed through several bands. 
In li90 Richard Watt purcbased it and other lands in Ottringham, together 
with the advowson of the church, of the trustees of Francis Boynton, Esq., 
of Button Hill; and his grandsons, Francis and William Watt, Esquires, 
are the present Lords of the Manor, and principal landowners. Amongst 
the other large owners are John Collins, Esq., T. T. B. Hildyard, Esq., and 
Messrs. Daniel Gibson and Rd. Webster. Area of the parish, 4,820 acres; 
population, 633; rateable value, .£5,137.; assessed property, £8,231. The 
parish includes a great part of the fertile and now well-drained marshes 
which extend southward to the Humber, where several drains discharge 
their waters at Stone Creek. 

Wm. de Ottringham and Richard, his brother, gave the church of this 
place to the Priory of Bridlington ; but it belonged afterwards to the College 
at Beverley. The Liting, which is a Perpetual Curacy, was augmented in 
1778 and 1810 with .£.!00. of Queen Anne's Bounty; and in 1816, with a 
Parliamentary grant of .£1,200. It is now worth .£83. per ann. Patrons, 
Francis and William Watt, Esquires; Incumbent, Rev. Miles Mackereth. 
Tithes commuted for land, at the enclosure, in 1760. 

The Church, (St. Wilfrid) is a venerable edifice, chiefly in the Decorated 
style, and consists of a nave and aisles, with a chantry on the south side, a 
chancel, and west tower. The latter appendage contains three bells, and ia 
sunnounted by a light and elegant octagonal spire, which finishes with a 
vane and a crown; the whole height being 102 feet. On the south side is 
a small stone porch, and the nave, which has a clerestory •. is finished by a 
neat block cornice and plain parapet, having crocketed pinnacles at the 
angles, and one on the apex of the east end. The nave and aisles are divided 
by four pointed arches on each side, resting on quatrefoil and circular piers, 
with plain capitals. The roof is open, and there are piscinas in the chancel 
and the chautry chapel. The chancel is lower than its arch, and is evidently 
the oldest part of the building; and the whole edifice is principally built of 
hewn stone.* The chantry was founded by Rd. de Ottringham. The upper 

• Stepben Brignal, who w1111 married in Ottringbam church, in 1787, to Mrs. 1\lary 
Trisby, being both of this place, paid the Minister, Clerk, and ringers, all in farthings; 
the Minister receh·ed 262, 1111 his fee; the Clerk, 72; and the ringers, 2W; the remain­
der, which were many, 11·ere thrown among the populacE>.-PouliOn'f Holdn-ntu. 
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part of the spire was repaired in 1810 ; and in 184.3 the church was roofed, 
&c., at a cost of £620. 

The Villag~ is very neat and compact, and is situated on the road between 
Hedon and Patrington, about 6 miles E .S.E. of Hedon, and llt E. by S. of 
Hull. There was formerly a stone croBB, placed on a few steps in the street, 
but its base, being all that was left of it, was removed about forty years 
ago. (See page 827 .) A little south of the church are the remains of the 
Manor House (now divided into tenements), with the moat with which it was 
surrounded. A small Wesleyan Chapel was erected here in 1815. The 
School is endowed with the interest of £100., bequeathed by Mrs. Mary Fox, 
by will dated 1792. In connexion with the school is a small Parochial 
Library, established in 1888. 

0WTHORNE.-Tbis parish, which lies on the coast, and &4joins Withemsea, 
is called &athorrl4 in some ancient documents. It comprises the townships 
of Owthome, South Frodingham, Rimswell, and· Waxholme. The latter 
township is in the Middle Division of Holdemess. The whole parish, ac­
cording to the Parliamentary retum (including sea coast), contains 4,480 
acros, and a population of 4.62. Amount of assessed property, £5,422. The 
area of Owthome township is 1,278 acres; population of the same in 1801, 
168; rateable value, £1,060. Principal proprietors of the soil of Owthome, 
R. E. Davis, Thomas Prickett, Joseph R. Pease, Hubert de Burgh, and 
J. K. Watson, Esquires. 

The Church, which was known as one of the Suter Cl~urch~•. anciently be­
longed to the Priory of Burstall, and afterwards to the Convent of Kirkstall. 
The edifice was dedicated to St. Peter, and comprised a nave and aisles, 
chancel, south porch, and tower, with a chapel on the south side. A few 
years before the sea engulphed it, "it was an interesting spectacle," writes 
Poulson, " standing like a solitary beacon on the verge of the cliff, perpetually 
undermined by the billows of the ocean, and offering a powerless resistance 
to their encroachments. The churchyard and its slumbering inmates re­
moved from time to time down the cliff by the force of the tempest ; whitened 
bones projecting from the cliff, and gradually drawn away by the successful 
lashing of the waves; and after a fearful storm, old persons, tottering on the 
very verge of life, have been seen slowly moving forth and recognising on the 
shore the remains of those, whom in early life they had known and revered." 
The sea began to waste the foundations of the churchyard in 1786 ; the east 
end of the chancel being then (lxactly twelve yards from the cliff, which was 
about seven yards high; in 1706, the church was dismantled; and on the 
night of the 16th Feb., 1816, after a storm of unusual violence, a large por-
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tion of the co.stcrn end of the church fell with an awful crash, and was 
washed down the cliffs in the sea ; and many coffins and bodies, in various 
states of preservation, were strewn upon the shore in frightful disorder. In 
1822, the chancel, nave, and part of the tower, was gone; and in 1888 there 
was scarcely a remnant of the churchyard left. 

In 1819, the present church was erected at Rims\vell, for the accommoda­
tion of the inhabitants of Owthorne, Frodingbam, Rimswell, and Waxholme, 
"in all which places," says Poulaon, "churches were once erected in wise 
and generous abundance." The edifice is of yellow brick, with a stone base-­
ment, and consists of a nave, chancel, and tower ; and in every way resem­
bling the church of Hollym, already noticed. The endowment of all the 
rights and privileges of the original mother church were transferred and 
secured to Rimswell Church. 

The Lif!ing is a Vicarage, valued in the King's Books at £11. 6s. 3d., and 
in the patronage of the Crown. It is now worth £282. per annum, and the 
present Vicar is the Rev. Paul H. Wilton. The Vicaray~ Hou&~, erected in 
1847, is a good substantial brick building. Tithes commuted in 1846, for 
£220. There are forty acres of glebe land. 

There is a National School and a small Weslcyan Chapel in Owthome. 
The Villll{le of Owthorne is now joined to that of Withemsea, for a descrip­

tion of which, as well as for some remarks on the sub-marine forest, &c., see 
page 822. On the Registers of the Stationers' Company, London, for 1595, 
is entered an account of "a strange and hug he fishe, dryven on the sandes 
at Owthorne, in Holdemess, in Februarye." In the Museum of the Literary 
and Philosophical Society, Hull, is the skeleton of a whale, captured on the 
coast at Owthome, nearly thirty years ago. 

This place, from its exposed situation, appears at Tarious times to have 
suffered severely by the storms which assail the coasl 

South Frodinulw.m Township.-This place was formerly called Frothing­
ham, and belonged to a family of the same name, and from them it passed to 
the Listers, a mercantile family at Hull. Sir John Lister who was knighted 
by Charles I., ·was twice Mayor of Hull, and M.P. for the borough. 

Frodifi!Jham Hall, the ancient residence of the feudal lords of the soil, and 
now a farm-house, in the occupation of Mr. Francis Clapison, is a durably 
built brick house, enveloped and shaded with dark and aged timber. The 
Frodinghams resided here from a period not long posterior to the Conquest, 
and continued down to the 17th century. Some parts of the present hall \vere 
built by that family about the time of Henry Vlll. ; and the Listers appear 
to have made additions to it, from their arms, in carved oak, still remaining 
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over a chimney piece in a panelled room. The remains of the moat are dis­
tinctly to be traced, and the front of the house is now occupied by a substitute 
for a draw-bridge. In 1778, Frodingham Hall, and other estates here, were 
purchased of the Morritt family, by the Rev. Mark Sykes, of Sledmere, and 
passed, by descent, to the present Lord of the Manor-Rev. Christopher 
Sykes, of Roos. Thomas Torrington Dlackbum Hildyard, Esq., and Mr. 
Robert Smith, have also estates here. Area, 1,190 acres; rateable value, 
£1,267.; assessed property, £1,767.; population, 56 souls. 

The Hamkt is small, and lies . about three miles N. of Patrington, and 
S.W. of Owthome. 

RimluleU TQIDfl.lhip.-This township contains 1216 acres, of the rateable 
value of £1,296.; assessed property, £1,689.; population, 187. The place 
appears to have received its name from some well or spring which belonged 
to its Saxon possessor. The estate once belonged to the De la Poles, Earls 
of Suffolk, one of whom gave it to the Co.rthusian monastery which he 
founded at Hull. At the dissolution it reverted to the Crown, and was 
subsequently in the hands of the family of Lord Downe, who sold the manor 
and lands about 1764, then in four farms, to Mr. Denison, of Leeds, for 
£9,000. It has since been purchased by George Liddell, Esq., banker, of 
Hull, and Wm. Liddell, Esq., is the present Lord of tho Manor. Mr. R. 
Bun~ham, Rev. C. Sykes, W. V. Norman, Esq., and others, have lands here. 
The Hamkt is situated about 5 miles N. of Patrington. 

A Cha~l was built here at a :very early period. In the 17th century it is 
stated to be dilapidated, in Archbishop Sharpe's survey. After the loss of 
Owthome church by the sea, a new Church. was erected here, as already 
noticed. There is a small Methodist Chapel, built in 1827. 

W azlwltM TOU>mhip-As has been observed, this township is locally 
situated in the middle division of this Wapentake. Area, 746 acres, in­
cluding sea coast; rateable value, £550.; population, 106; assessed property, 
£598. The property belongs to several proprietors. The coast here and at 
Tunstall is called Sand-u-Mars, from the knightly family of Le Mars, who 
were anciently seated in this neighbourhood. 

A Chapel existed here soon after the Conquest; it was returned dilapidated 
in the time of William and Mary, and is now altogether demolished. A 
coast guard station was established here in 1826. The Hamlet is situated 
on the coast about 1t miles N. of Owthorne. The seo. has made its en· 
crot.chments upon W e.xholme, in common with many other places on the 
coast. The manor of Newsom, or Newsham, situated in this locality, appears 
to have been swallowed by that devouring element. 
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PATRINGTON. 

THis place was in the possession of the Archbishops of York long before 
the Conquest, and after that event it continued a perfectly distinct manor, 
having its own peculiar lords under the Archbishops, who were for many 
generations its feudal lords. In the reign of Edward I., a quo U'arranto was 
brought against the Archbishop of York, to know why he claimed to have 
gallows, return of writs, &c., at Patrington; to which he ans,vered that King 
Athelstan gave this and other manors to the Archbishop, before the Con­
quest, from which time all the Archbishops of York had enjoyed the said 
privileges. In .the reign of Edward II., a charter was granted to Archbishop 
William, "that he and his successors Archbishops of the same place should 
for ever have a market every week, on Monday, at his manor of Patrington, 
and one fair there every year, of two days' duration, viz., on the eve and on 
the day of the Translation of St. Thomas the 1\Iartyr, unless such market 
and fair were to the injury of other markets and fairs iu the neighbourhood, 
&c." In 1545, this manor, with several others, passed to the Crown, when 
the Archbishops ceased to be the lords of Patrington. The manor and es­
tates have since been through many bands, and the chief proprietors of the 
present day are William Marshall, Esq., Messrs. Isaa.c Dunn and William 
Chesman, Rev. W. Potchett, Rev. R. Metcalf, and Rev. R. H. Kitchingman, 
and - Hodges, Esq. The parish contains 4,494 acres, including the coast 
of the Humber, and in 1851 the number of its inhabitants was 1,827. 
Amount of assessed property, .£5,856; rateable value, .£7,016. There has 
been three embankments in this parish within the last half century ; the first 
was in 1808 ; the second in 1821, when there were about 100 acres gained 
from the Humber; and the third in 1889, when 98 acres were reclaimed. 

Patrington (Patrick's Town) is an ancient market town, pleasantly situated 
about 1t mile from the Humber, 16 miles E. by S. of Hull, and 60 miles 
E.S.E. from York. Although in a Bat country, different points in the 
vicinity afford commanding views of the Humber and its fertile shores, and 
also of the opposite coast of Lincolnshire. A nu·en, about a mile distant, 
was formerly, according to tradition, capable of admitting large vessels; but 
it has become so obstructed by the accumulation of silt, as only to afford 
access to small craft, which convey corn to Hull and London, and import 
lime and corn from the West Riding. 

Patrington is supposed by some antiquaries to have been the Petuana of 
the ancient Britons, and the Pratorium of the Romans ; and the point where 
the Roman road leading from the great Picta' waU terminates. Others, 
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however, are of opinion that this road did not end here, but extended east· 
ward to Ravenspurne, a town which was situated on the east side of Spurn 
Head, but has long since been engulphed in the ocean. The Pratorium of 
Antoninus must be 45 Roman miles (milk pauuum) from York, and the 
breadth of the Abus (Humber) at that site 6 miles ; also the distance from 
the south side of the Abus, or Abum, to Lincoln, 80 miles. "No site agrees 
so well with these particula.rs as Patrington Haven," writes Mr. Poulson, 
" therefore at or near Patri..ngton we may, with the greatest probability at 
least, fix the Pnetorium of the Roman Itinerary in Britain." It is known 
that a Roman road extended from Beverley to Patrington, and though no 
remains of fortifications have been discovered here, Roman antiquities have 
been found in the town and neighbourhood, among which are a gold chain 
ot Gratianua, several coins of gold, silver, and copper, from Tiberius to Con­
stantine; a household deity, and an altar of gritstone. The latter was dis­
CO\'ered in the foundations of an old mansion, called Patrick's Lodge, which 
stood near Patrington Church, and was the residence of Sir Robert Hildyard, 
Lord of the Manor in 1660.* Mr. Crepy, an able and experienced engineer, 
in his second report on the Keying ham Level, in 180~, states that in tracing 
the catch water drain, from Patrington, through Winestead Level, to Keyin· 
gham, ho found them eTerywhere to bear the marks of antiquity; "and I am 
inclined to believe," he continues, "that they were made by the Romans, at 
the time they embanked those levels from the sea." If, therefore, Patrington 
was not the Prtetorium, it is probable that it was at least a considerable 
Roman station. The town is small, and consists principally of one wide 
street, with a large square in the centre, in which stands the church. The 
corn market is held every Saturday ; and on every alternate Saturday is 
a cattle market. The annual fairs are March ~8th, July 18th, and De­
cember 6th. There is here a branch of the Yorkshire District Banking 
Company; and about half a mile from the town is a Station on the Hull 
and Holderness Railway. 

The Lifling is a Rectory, rated at £~~ .• and now worth £6~8. per annum. 
Before the di880lution it was in the patronage of the Collegiate Society of St. 
John ol Beverley; after that period it was granted to the family of Constable, 
of Burton Constable, and is a manor of itself. In 1717 it was purchased by 

• This altar, together with a good collection of Boman, Saxon, Early English, and 
French, coins, are now in the posseuion of Mr. Wm. Little, of Patrington. Mr. Little's 
collection of antiquities includes the Roman Mercury, in brass, and the Papal seal, 
noticed aa baring been found at Spurn; and several organic remains from the bed of 
the submerged forest oft' Withemsea and Owthorne; also, some relies round near the 
aite ot BUJ'8tall Priory. 

VOL, U. ~X 
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the Society of Clare Hall, Cambridge, of Lord Dunbar, for £550. The 
present Rector is the Rev. R. H. Kitchingman, and the value of the benefice 
is now about £800. per annum. The tithes were commuted, in 1768, for 
about 400 acres of land ; but there is yet a tithe of 2s. per acre on about 
800 of old inclosuro, and 108 acres of new land reclaimed from the Humber. 

The Church (St. Patrick), an extensive edifice, one of the finest in Hol­
derness, is situated in the centre of the town. It is in the Decorated 
style of architecture, and as it has not been built at various eras, there is a 
perfect unity of design and plan pervading the whole. The plan is similar 
to that of most of our Cathedrals, being crucifonn, and comprises a spacious 
nave and aisles, transept and aisles, a noble chancel, with a tower rising from 
the centre, surmounted by a graceful, light, and airy spire, 100 feet high. 
In 1810 the upper part of the spire was taken down, and rebuilt at a cost of 
£109. 16s. 6d. The western front is formed into three divisions by but­
tresses, finished with pinnacles terminating in pyramidical caps, with foliated 
crockets and finials. This front rises to an apex, on which is placed a 
foliated cross, "which," says Poulson, "fortunately escaped the fury of the 
Iconoclasts." The centre window is of four lights, with a transom, the 
sweep of the arch being filled with elegant tracery. The windows of the aisles 
of this front are of two lights, with similar tracery in the bends. The naTe 
is made into four divisions by buttresses; the second from the west is filled 
with a large porch, and the others contain windows similar to those in the 
west front. The south front of the transept is in three divisions, the centre 
one containing a fine window of four lights, with a transom: Above this 
window is a series of steps, behind which rises the roof to an apex, on which 
is an elegant foliated cross. The windows on each side the principal window 
are of three lights. The chancel is made into four divisions, in each of 
which is a window of three lights, with beautiful tracery in the arches. The 
parapet of the whole of the south side of the church is plain, with a cornice, 
and the gargoyles are very large, projecting several feet from the building; 
and the subjects arc very curious. In the angle of the transept and chancel 
a small chantry chapel projects in a semi-hexagon, and is guarded by but­
tresses. The east end rises to an apex, crowned with a foliated cross, and in 
it is a spacious window of seven lights, with a transom and intersecting 
arches in the bead. The north transept has a pointed doorway, with a 
large pedimental canopy, and the curious finish of the transept by steps is 
wanting on this side. There is a low porch on this aide of the nave. 
The tower is in three stages, marked by string courses, with double but­
tresses at the angles, and terminates in a plain parapet, with gargoyles 
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under the cornice. The spire, which is octagonal, rises above, having a sham 
gallery, with flying buttresses at the angles of the tower; the buttresses 
surmounted by crocketcd pinnacles, and also the small buttresses round the 
gallery. The lower part of the spire is panelled, and the top is surmounted 
by a gilt ball and chanticleer. The tower contains five bells and there is a 
clock in the north face. The church, as a whole, is a beautiful specimen of 
the Decorated style of Gothic architecture prevalent in the reign of Ed,vard 
TI.-the first half of the 14th century. The interior of the church is beau­
tiful; an arcade of five pointed arches on each side separates the nave from 
the aisles; the columns which support the arches being composed of eight 
cylinders conjoined, with rich leaved capitals. The roof, which is open to 
the rafters, and rests on grotesque heads of monsters, does not appear to have 
been finished. The roofs of the aisles are also of timber, but the springing& 
for a stone roof remain, the corbels being very curious. This part of the 
church is fitted up for service with the old-fashioned high pews, and a gallery 
at the west end, which greatly mar the general effect of the light and elegant 
piers and arches. The pulpit bears the date 1612. Tho tower is supported 
by four magnificent columns, each consisting of twenty cylindrical shafts, 
with most exquisite foliage. The transepts are in a similar style of archi­
tecture to the nave, the aisles being separated from each transept by three 
arches. The east aisle of the north transept aas been formerly made into 
three chapels, and the piscina still remains in each. The east aisle of the 
south transept hes also had three chantry chapels, the roofs of which are 
splendidly groined. In the centre is a beautiful pendant, composed of three 
large niches, in one of which is the figure of a lady at prayers, in another, St. 
Katherine, and in the third, our Saviour. This aisle is variously called "the 
Lad ye Chapel, and the Ladye Aisle," and is beautifully enriched with sculp­
ture. In the centre of the roof of the Lady Chapel is a boss,:sculptured with 
the image of the Virgin and Child, St. Patrick, &c. ; and on the north side 
of the chapel is a large and beautiful piscina. 

The chancel, or choir, has the triple sedilia and piscina on the north side 
of the altar, both having crocketed pinnacles and finials, and in the north 
wall is a curious sculptured recess, formerly called the Ecuter or Holy Sepul­
chre. It is in four divisions, with crocketed pinnacles on each side, and the 
finish a cinquefoil arch, terminating in a noble finial. The first division 
contains three niches, each ex~ibiting a soldier armed, and asleep ; tho next 
has a small recess, and was used as a depository for the chalice and pix ; 
the third exhibits a basso relievo of the Resurrection, with two angels minis­
tering to our Saviour; and in the upper division is a small deep recess. The 
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whole is in wlerable presenation, except being Cl beautified .. with Cl church­
warden's whitewash." The font, in the transept, consists of a solid block of 
granite, circular, with twelve panels, each filled with rosettes. 

This splendid church," the glory of Holdemess," is at present in much 
need of a thorough reparation. During a violent mrm, on the 21st of 
August, 1888, the flying buttreBSeB at the north-east angle of the wwer, 
against the spire, were blown down; part of which went through the roof, 
doing much damage; the crocketed pinnacles also received great injury. 
There are no funds for the repairs of the edifice, beyond a parish rate. 

The Rectory Hou., rebuilt in 1889, is a handsome structure, pleasantly 
situated in tastefully laid out grounds. Near it is a large ancient Tidu Bam. 

The W uleyan Chapel is a brick building, erected in 1811, capable of 
seating about 800 persons. Adjoining is the residence of the minister. The 
Primitiw Methodilt Oha~l is a small erection, built in 1841. 

The Sclwol is now held in what once was an Independent ChapeL A 
SuhiCTiptWn Library was established in 1848, which now contains upwards 
of 700 volumes. 

The Poli.u Station, for the south division of Holdemess, is a neat brick 
building, situated at the east end of the wwn. Pttty Suriom are held in 
the Union Workhouse every Saturday. 

Patringt.on Hat~en is the name given w a neat hamlet, about one mile from 
the church. There is here a small chapel for the Primitive Methodists, 
built in 1861. 

The Patringum Poor Law Union comprehends ~7 parishes, embracing an 
area of 87 square miles. The Workhouse, which will accommodate about 
170 inmates, was erected at a cost of £2,000. and opened in 1888. Chair­
man of the Board of Guardians, Rev. Robert Metoalf; Vice-Chairman, Rev. 
Richard Henry Kitchingman ; Clerk, Mr. Abrabam Dunn. 

LimdaU'• Holpital consists of four neat cottages, founded, in 1848, by 
Miss Phc:ebe Linsdale, of Winestead, for four poor widows, and endowed it 
lvith a weekly stipend of 4s. for each. The poor parishioners have ~6s. a 
year from Mrs. Watson's charity, and a yearly rent charge of 62s., left by 
Rev. N. Nicbolls; and also the interest of £66., left by Robert Robinson, 
and other donors. There are likewise four small cottages, erected many 
years ago, with £50., ancient benefaction money. 

Stephm d6 Patringum, D.D., Provincial of the Carmelite Order in Eng­
land, and afterwards chaplain and confessor w King Henry V., and Bishop 
of St. David's, was a natiYe of PatringWn. He was a most eminent preacher, 
and was sent over w the celebrated Council of Constance, convened, in 1414, 
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by Pope John XXIII. He died after his return to England, and was buried 
in the church of the White Friars, Fleet Street, London. 

Enlwlma Farm, about one mile west of Patrington, and the property of 
William Marshall, Esq., contains 970 acres, in a high state of cultivation. 
The farm buildings, erected in 1849, are on the most improved plan, and the 
whole business of managing the land, rattening beasts, &e., is carried out on 
a new principle; so that the place deservedly receives the appellation of the 
"model farm." Mr. Parker is the present manager. A.n extensive Brick 
tmd Tile Mantd'act<wy, in eonnexion with this farm, and worked by steam 
power, is situated near the Patrington Railway Station. This place is under 
the management of Mr. Thomas Hoskison. 

There were also large Fla:e Scutching MilU at Enholmes, erected, in 1848, 
by Messrs. Marshall, of Leeds, which were burnt down on Wednesday, 
May lOth, 1854. The loss was estimated at upwards of £80,000., there 
being about 100 tons of raw and manufactured flax in the mills at the time. 
This fire threw about 100 persons out of employment. 

PAULL.-This parish, which is situated on the river Humber, is called in 
ancient doeumenw Paghill and Pagula; from the earliest times it has been 
in possession of the Lords of the Seigniory, and it continued in the Constable 
family until the year 1769, when High Paull, as well as the manor of Pag­
hiU, was sold for £6,700. to an opulent merchant in Hull, named Blaydes. 
"It seldom at that time cleared £100. per ann., on account of the breaches 
made in the banks by the Humber," writes Poulson, "a single tide did 
damage to the amount of £800. Such, however, has been the increase of 
property of late years, by embankments, &c., between Paul Holme and Patr 
rington, that very many thousand acres of the richest lands have been 
added." The parish is divided into the townships of Paull and Thorngum­
bald. The area of the firstrnamed township, according to the Parliamentary 
report of the census in 1841, is 8,570 acres; but the census report of 1851, 
gives it at 8,914 acres. The area of the latter township is 1,450 acres 
in both reports. The population of Paull is about 600, and that of Thorn· 
gum bald, 278 souls. Rateable value of the parish, £8,214.; amount of 
assessed property, £14,778. The principal landowners are Sir T. A. C. 
Constable; Anthony Bannister, Esq. (Lord of the Manor); M. T. Prickett, 
Esq.; the Corporatio~ of the Sons of the Clergy, &c. 

The church and tithes of Paull anciently belonged to the Priory of Burstall, 
as a cell to the Abbey of Albemarle, and after the dissolution the patronage 
was granted to the Archbishop of York and his successors. It is a Dis­
charged Vicarage, with Thorngumbald Chapel, rated at £10. Os. 6d., and now 
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returned at £160. per ann. nett. Part of the tithes were commuted for land 
in 1811, and a ·money payment is made for other parts. The present Vicar 
is the Rev. J . S. Joncs. It is said that the old church was situated in Paull 
Holme, and allowed to go to decay, and was eventually pulled down, and 
the best of the materials used in building a parish church upon the bank 
o( the Humber. The latter edifice was demolished, together with a fort that 
was erected near it during the civil wars, on the 11th of October, 1642, and 
it continued in ruins till the restoration of Charles IT., when the.materials 
were moved to a new site, in the open fields of Paull, and used in the con­
struction of the present church. The situation of the church, standing as 
it does, by itself, on a considerable eminence, nearly a quarter of a mile from 
the to\Vn, has given rise to the following old distich ;-

High Paul and Low Paul, Paul and Paul Holmc, 
There was never a fair maid married in Paul town. 

It is dedicntcd to St. :Mnry and St. A.ndrcw, and comprises a nave with aisles, 
a chancel, nnd small tronscpt, with a tower of three stnges in. the centre. 
The style of nrchitecturo is assigned to tho early part of the 15th century, 
and the building is of hewn stone, with parts composed of cobbles. The 
interior was neatly re·pewcd in 1822. The aisles arc divided from the navo 
by four pointed arches, springing from slender octagonal columns; the nave 
and aisles are ceiled, and the chancel is open to the slated roof. Over the 
communion table is a painting of the Lord's Supper, presented, in 1802, by 
llugh Dlaydes, Esq., of High Paull. There is but one bell in the tower, 
and there is no ascent to the tower by a staircase, which is rather singular. 
The church is sheltered on the south by some fine old trees. 

The Village of Paull, or Paul, stands on the western bank of the Humber, 
about five miles E.S.E. of Hull, and three miles S. of Hcdon. It is a fishing 
place, and celebrated for shrimps. King Charles I. visited this place in July, 
1642, for the purpose of viewing his forces there. This must have been the 
time he went to Keyingham Creek, to view the arms and ammunition brought 
there by the ship Providence, it being the same date. There is an old dis­
mantled fort or battery close to the river, which, as we have observed, \Vas 
demolished, together with the old church, by tho ships of wnr on the Hum­
ber, in 16-12. Hero too is a deserted ship-yard, in which vessels of war have 
been built. In :May, 1812, Tile Anson, a 7 4 gun ship, was built here, by 
Mr. Steemson, at a cost of £140,000. A lighthouse, about forty feet high, 
was erected here, in 1880, by the Corporation of the Trinity House, Hull, 
and serves as a telegraph station. 

The Weslcyans and Primitive Methodists have each a charel here. 
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High PauU Houu, the seat of Anthony Bannister, Esq., is delightfully 
situated on an eminence, commanding a splendid prospect. It consists of a 
centre and wings, in form of low towers. BorNU Hill, formerly called Boar 
House, and Bower House Hill, is the residence of the Rev. J. S. Jones, and 
is perhaps one of the most beautiful situations in Holdemess. 

Paul Holrru was anciently in the possession of the family of Holme, who 
derived their name from the place. A OhaPfl here was returned as dilapi· 
dated in .the reign of Queen Anne. Robert Holme, of Paull Holme, who 

·died in 1503, directs that a priest should celebrate in the chapel of Pattl­
holme during his wife's life, and after her death for twenty years successively, 
for the repose of their souls. An old brick tower, which formed the north 
wing of the ancient mansion of the family of Holme, is still standing. It is 
about thirty feet high, with battlements, and small loop bole windows on each 
side. A farm house was built in 1837, out of the materials of the old ball. 
The other good farms in Paull are N61Dton Garth, Field H011U, Litth Hum­
ber, Oxgoruh, or Oxgoddu, and Cherry Cobb Sands. The latter consists of 
1,800 acres, which, with Sunk Island, Keyiogham, and Ottringbam marshes, 
and part of Patrington, have all been gained from the Humber, by warping. 
In 1825 Thomas Lock, Esq., left tbo interest of £60. to the poor of Paull. 

T1wmgumbald, or Tlwrn-cum-Patdl, Totenrhip.-Tbe manor of Thorn, or 
Tome, was anciently the property of the Gumbalds, and in modem times it 
belonged to the family of Holme. The chief proprietors at present are John 
F. Butter, Esq., Mr. John Ingleby, and Sir T. A. C. Constable, Lord of the 
Manor. Area, 1,450 acres; population, 278 souls; rateable value, £2,400. 

The OhaPfl formerly belonged to the monks of Albemarlo and Kirkstall, 
and is now held with Paull. It is a small antiquo building, dedicated to St. 
Mary, and built of rubble mixed with brick. In 1768 a new brick tower 
was erected, and it was then re-pewed, the township contributing £30., and 
Capt. Standidge the remainder, being £30. more. 

The Villag~ is situated on the road from Hedon to Patrington, about 2 
miles S.E. from the former place. In 1768 the above named Captain Stan· 
didge, afterwards Sir Samuel Standidge, purchased about 200 acres of land 
of John Hobman, Esq., and built a large and handsome mansion here. It is 
now the property and residence of John F. Butter, Esq. The Independents 
and Methodists each have a chapel here, the former built in 1801. 

SnFFLlNG.-This parish includes the manor of Burstall Garth, and con­
tains 1,580 acres, on the west bank of the Humber. Skeffiing was enclosed 
in 1765. Principal landowners, Sir T. A. C. Constable (Lord of the Manor), 
'f. Prickett, Esq., Mrs. M. T. Holme, and Messrs. J. Godmond, C. Jeft'erson, 
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G. H. Grindell, and J. Walker. Population in 181S1, ~1~ persons; rateable 
value, £1,8~0.; assessed property, £~,811. The knightly family of De 
Skeftling were the ancient proprietors of this place. The family of Holme, 
late of Paul Holme and Skeftling, are the lay impropriators. 

The Church of Burstall, alias Skeftling, belonged to th& Priory of Burstall, 
and afterwards to the Convent of Kitkstall. In 1466 license was granted to 
the Vicar of Skeftling, b«auu tM church waa tramlaud from th4 old plau, 
ana MIDly r1buiJding upon anotMr foundation, to celebrate at the high altar 
in the chancel, which was then finished and adomed; and on the ~Oth of 
June, 1470, a commission was directed to William Bishop of Dromore, to 
consecrate the then finished parish church of Skeftling, alias Durstall. 

The Living is a Perpetual Curacy, in the patronage of Mrs. M. T. Holme, 
and incumbency of the Rev. Geo. Inman. It is rated in the Liber Regis at 
£IS.; was augmented, in 17 40, by £200. from Queen Anne's Bounty; and in 
171S7, and in 1807, by a similar sum in each year. Its present value is but 
£1S3. por ann. Tithes commuted in 176:S. 

The Fabric (St. Helen) has a venerable appearance, and consists of a nave 
and aisles, chancel and tower. Its windows are mostly square-headed. On , 
each side of the nave are four pointed arches, resting on multangular pillars, 
and on each side are three clerestory windows. The tower is open to the 
nave by a lofty arch. The roof of the chancel is of timber, and in one of the 
cross beams is a beautifully carved head, said to be a portrait of a former 
Prior of Burstall, and brought hither on the dissolution of that house. The 
churchyard, in which are the remains of a fine cross, commands a good view 
of the Humber, Spurn lights, and Lincolnshire coast. The Par~anag1 Houu, 
erected in 1820, is a good residence. 

The Yillag1 is pleasantly situated, about 4 miles S.E. by E. from Pat­
rington, half a milo from the Humber, and 3 miles from the German Ocean. 

Skl.ffting Hall is a handsome structure, built in 1717, by the family o£ Bee. 
The situation is picturesque and beautiful. It is now the residence of Mr. 
T. Grindell, farmer. The largest colony of rooks in Holdemess is located 
here. On the north side of the church, the remains of the moat, that sur­
rounded the ancient seat of the Holme lamily, is still visible. 

Skl.ffting Houu, a good brick building, erected in the village about 1822, 
is the property of Mr. Christopher J efferson. 

A small Methodist Chapel was erected in the village in 1822. 
Bir1tall, or Bur1tall Priory.-This place derives its name from Burg...tall, 

which signifies a seat, or site, on the side, or pitch, of a hill. In 1116 
Stepben Earl of Albemarle, Lord of Holdemess, founded the Benedictine 
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Abbey of St. Martin, near .Albemarle, in Normandy, and endowed it with 
many churches and tithes in Holdemess and Lincolnshire. Bishop Tanner 
tells us that a procurator or prior was soon after sent over here with some 
of their own monks, to look after these tithes and churches, and having no 
6t or proper habitation for some time, a Cell or Priory was ordained for them 
in June, 1219, and Archbishop do Grey granted to "them the Chapel of St. 
Helen, at Byr1tal, with the great and small tithes of Skeffiing for ever. In 
consequence of the frequent seizure of the estates of the alien Abbeys in 
England, during the wars with France, it became the interest of the Abbot 
and Convent of St. Martin, to grant or rather to sell this alien Priory of 
Burstall, to the Abbot and Convent of Kirkstall, in the West Riding of 
Yorkshire, in 1815, together with all the manors, lands, &c., which they had 
in Burst.all, Skeffiing, Holmpton, Withemsea, Owthome, Burstwick, Aid­
borough, &e.; and also the advowsons and patronage of the vicarages of the 
churches of Burstall, Paull, Skeckling, Aldborough, Owthome, Withemsea, 
and of the chapels of Marfleet, Thomgumbald, Paull Holme, Rymswell, 
Frodingham, Newsom, Colden, and Waxholme. The Priory of Burstall, 
continued till the dissolution. It was situated about two miles south of 
Eaaington, bot its site has been s'\Vept away by the encroachments of the 
Humber, and ie now covered by the Trinity Bands. The Manor of Durstall, 
or Burstall Garth, has passed through many possessors, and is now the 
property of Thomas Prickett, Esq. There were formerly two mansions here, 
ealled Bir1tall Hall and Bintall Garth. 

Winutu, a place in this parish, now consisting of about 200 acres, formerly 
belonged to the Abbey of Thomton, having been granted to it by William lo 
Gros, Lord of Holdemess. Since t~e disaolution it was sold through nrious 
families, and Mrs. Waltham of Hessle is its present proprietor. 

SoNx. lsLAND.-This parish, which is the property of the Crown, extends 
along the be.nks of the Humber, from Stone Creek to what is termed the 
north channel, a distance of about 6t miles, and lies between 2 and IS miles 
S.E. from Patrington. Its area is nearly 7,000 acres, of the rateable value of 
£7,1S02. Population in 18fil, 810 souls. We have formerly obscned that 
tbe average annuallo88 of land by the incursions of the sea, between Spurn 
and Bridlington, is about 2 yards (~! according to Professor Phillips), but 
the earth thus removed appears to be mostly carried on the constantly fooulent 
waters of the Humber, and deposited on the shores of that river, whero, 
during the last century, many thousand acres of land have been recovered 
from the visitation of the tides, which still daily uncover in many parts of 
the river innumerable tracts of growing silt; and in this manner has been 
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formed the parish now untler notice. It first appearetl as a sand hank in the 
Humber, and soon became a small island, which in course of time has in­
creased in size, until at length it was joined to the main land of Holderness, 
by embankments and the accretion of warp, or sand and soil, deposited by 
the river. In the time of Charles I. the island contained about seven acres, 
and was then 1! mile trom the Yorkshire coast, having a navigable canal 
between it and the main land, through which ships of considerable burtben 
could pass. We are indebted chiefly to the loth report of the Commissioners 
of Her Majesty's Woods and Forests, for most of the following particulars 
respecting this parish. 

On the 18th of December, 1668, it was first granted on lease to Colonel 
Anthony Gilby, Governor of Hull, for a term of thirty-one years, at a rent of 
£5. per ann., when it was described as containing 3,500 acres of "drowned 
land," seven acres of which only was then embanked ; and a stipulation was 
inserted in the lease for the embankment by the lessee of 100 acres or more, 
within the first ten years of the term. Dut the difficulties attending the 
undertaking were so great, and the expense so heavy, that in the year 1675 
the lessee presented a petition to his Mf\jesty, stating his inability to proceed 
with the same (having then succeeded in embanking not more than twenty 
acres) unless he should have a grant made to him of the Crown's reversionary 
interest of the property, which was not complied with; but it was thought 
reasonable under the circumstances to accept a surrender of the lease, and to 
extend, by a new grant, the terms to 09 years at the same rent. Under that 
lease considerable progress was made in the embankment, particularly by the 
exertions of Mr. William Gilby, a descendant of the original lessee; as it 
appears by a survey made of the estate in the year 17 44, that 1,500 acres 
had been embanked, and that the estate was divided out iuto farms. In the 
year 1755 a third lease of the estate was granted, on payment of a fine of 
£1,050., at the old rent of £5. ; and in 1771 a fourth lease was granted to 
Mrs. Margaret Gilby, for a term expiring on the 15th of March, 1802, on 
payment of a further fine of £1,550., and at a rent of £100. per ann. Some 
time before the expiration of the last-mentioned lease, a su"ey of the estate 
was made, when it appeared that the quantity of land then embanked w~ 
only 1,561A. OR. HP., no addition having been made since the year 1744 to 
the quantity brought into cultivation; but the su"eyor reported that above 
2, 700 acres of new ground were fit for embankment, the expense of which 
was estimated to amount to £8,040. 18s. He certified at the same time that 
when the work should be completed, the property would be worth about 
£3,400~ per ann., and it was finally agreed that the estate should be granted 
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to the Rev. John Lonsdale and others, in trust for the representatives of the 
original lessees, subject to a stipulation on their part for the embankment, at 
their own expense, of the new ground, containing 2,700 acres aboTe referred 
to (which was estimated to cost about £10,000.), for a term of 31 years, from 
1802, at a rent of £704. 2s. 6d. for the first year of the term, which lease 
expired at Lady-day, 1838. A new survey was then· made of the estate, for 
the purpose of ascertaining the rent which should be required on a renewal of 
the lease, when it was valued at £9,814. per ann. According to this valua­
tion, terms were proposed to the last lessee, but as be would not give more 
than £5,205. per annum for the property, the negotiation terminated, and a 
treaty was entered into with the then under tenants to become separate lessees 
under the Crown, at rents amounting in the aggregate to £9,140. 10s., \\ith 
the stipulation that the lessees should be bound to keep the jetties, embank­
ments, &c., in repair during the term of their leases. On the survey made 
of the estate in 1888, it was certified that the land ip actual cultivation 
contained no less than 5,929A. la. 18P. of land of excellent quality, then 
divided into fifteen farms, besides some small holdings by cottagers and 
others. It is now in fourteen farms. 

In 1850 a further embankment took place, of nearly 700 acres of most 
excellent lAnd, so that now tho Sunk Island estate within the banks, se­
cured from the tides, together with some available grass beyond the banks, 
amount to little less than 7,000 acres, with a prospect of still further in­
crease. The land is of the most valuable kind for agricultural purposes, 
and requires very little manure for many years after it is emban.ked. In 
1886, in consequence of representations made to the Commissioners of Woods 
and Forests, by the tenants and others, of the great inconvenience they sus­
tained from the want of a carriage road, or other eligible communication 
between the island and the neighbouring towns on the borders of the Humber, 
an Act was passed for making and maintaining a road from the church to 
the town of Ottringham, which was completed at a cost of about £5,000. 

During the last few years great improvements have been made on the 
island, in constructing roads, drains, &c., and the place is now in a high state 
of cultivation. The farm houses are generally scattered along the embank­
ments, and bear different names, among which are, Old HaU, Dunu'1 FoUy, 
Matcharn, Chirklon'1 Faro,, Sand Home, Stubbing Home, Coat&' Fa"", tic. 

Sunk Island was formerly Ea;tra Parochwl. About a century ago there 
was a chapel on it, near the Old Hall, at which a clergyman from Hedon used 
to officiate. Under the lease of 1802, a new chapel was built, and a chaplain 
engaged by the lessees to officiate on the island; and in 1831 Rn At't was 
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passed for endowing, among other places, "a chapel erected on Sunk l 1lQ.IuJ, 
in the river Humber." Under the provisions of this Act, the said "Island 
was formed into a parish, to be called the parish of Sunk Island ; the chapel, 
built in 1802, became the parish church ; and the said church "'as endowed 
with £8,333. 6s. 8d., in the three per cent. Consols, purchased out o£ the 
Crown's revenues. Thus has the once small sand bank in the Humber 
grown into an extensive and interesting parish. 

The Church is a small plain brick building, with a square tower. The 
Living is a Perpetual Curacy, in the patronage o£ the Crown ; and the 
Incumbent (the first that was appointed) is the Rev. Robert Metcalf, who has 
for his stipend the dividt>nd o£ the above-named stock. There is a N atioual 
School in the church yard, to the support of which the Crown contributes 
£21S. per ann. In the Patrington register o£ burials there are five deaths 
entered o£ unfortunate individuals who were drowned Ly the upsetting of a 
boat in returning from Sunk Island in 1736. The north channel, in which 
this accident occurred, was then more than two miles in width, now it is 
nearly warped up. 

Jesse, in his Gwmings il' Natural History tells us that in the spring of 
1813, hundreds of acres o£ pasture were entirely destroyed in Sunk Island, 
by the long-legged gnat, tibula oleracea; tbo land being rendered so com­
pletely brown as if they had suffered a three months drought, and destitute 
of all vegetation except that of a few thistles, and that a square foot of the 
dead turf being dug up, 210 grubs were counted in it. A similar circumstance 
is quoted by the same author as having occurred in Greenwich Park. 

WELWTCK.-The name of this parish originated in the springs abounding 
in it; and the place gave name to a feudal family, but of whom very little is 
known. A Richard de Welwick was the 14th Prior of Wartre, in this 
county. The manor of Welwick Provost was the property of the Provostry 
of St. John of Deverley, until the dissolution, when it reverted to the Cro\Yn. 
It subsequently passed through several families, including those of Wright, 
Crnythom, and Ma.ister. In 182.! Col. Maister sold it to Jacob Clement, 
Esq., of London, from whom it descended to the Rev. J. C. Clement. There 
are two other manors in the parish, viz., Kelk and Weeton. Area of the 
parish, 3,310 acres; rnteable value, £ .1,640; assessed property, £5,214; 
population, 468. The principal landowners are the Ilev. J. C. Clements, 
Henry Wm. Askew, Esq., :Messrs. J. Fewson, T. Fewson, T. D. Baron, Joeeph 
E. Roberts, Da.vid S. Dumbam, Robert Clubley, Chas. Walgnte, &c. 

The Church was in the pa.tronnge of the Collcginte Society of Deverley, 
but now belongs to the Crown. The Benefice is a. Yicarngf", valued in the 
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King's Books at .£6. ISs. 4d., augmented with *!400. of Queen Anne's 
Bounty, and now worth .£104. per ann. Tithes commuted in 1768. The 
present Vicar is the Rev. John Watson. The Edifice (St. Mary) is a vene­
rable Gothic structure, and consists of a nave and aisles, chancel, and a low 
tower, with a modem brick porch on the south side. A spire, it is thought, 
once surmounted the tower. In the porch is an ancient niche, containing a 
mutilated statue of the Virgin and Child. The nave has a clerestory. In 
the interior the nave and aisles are divided by four pointed arches springing 
from octagonal columns. The top of the chancel arch is fillod with boards, 
which rest on a noat oak screen, having good perpendicular tracery. The 
roofs are all open to tbe rafters. In the south aisle is a splendid monu· 
mcnt, or shrine, in a state of dilapidation, supposed by some to have been 
removed from Burstall Priory, and to have belonged to one of the Albe­
marlos; but there is no satisfo.ctory evidence of this being the fact. It 
consists of a J'e(:ess, made by a pointed arch, enriched with crockcts, and the 
interior with groiniug. On each side is a buttress, terminating in an elegant 
niche, with a crocketed pediment and finial. Tbe upper part of the monu­
ment has innumerable panels, loaded with foliage of great beauty. On the 
altar tomb, within the recess, is the effigy of a female in robes. Attached to 
the walls are several shields of arms, including those of England and Edward 
the Confessor; and at the side of the monument is a piscina. At the east 
end of the north aisle is a large floor stone, with Lrass effigies of "Willm. 
Wryght of Plewland Esqe. & Ann his \VUe." The latter died in 1618, and 
the former in 1621. In 1832 a stone coffin was exhumed from the chancel. 

The Village is situated about It mile from the Humber, and 2 miles S.E. 
of Patrington. An old Quakets' meeting house here is now used as a school 
The Wcsleyan chapel was e.rected in 184U; the site being giYen by Mr. J. 
Fewson; and it is fitted up with the furniture of the Quakers' chapel, which 
was given by the late Mr. Joseph Roberts. The Primitive Methodists have 
a small chapel here, built in 1848. The poor parishioners have the interest 
of .£40. 10s., left by unknown donors; 

Old Ploughland, or Plewland, seems to take its name from the quantity of 
land it contained, viz., a ploughland, hide, or carucate. This place was the 
property of the Wrights for many generations. Two of this family, John 
and Christopher Wright, were conspirators in tbo Gunpowder Plot. The 
property became divided, and a moiety of it, together with the old mansion 
house, was purchased by the present proprietor, Mr. David S. Buruham. 
The house, which apJ:>!!ars to have been much larger, was the residence of 
the younger branches of the Crathomes. 
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Haverji~ld HoU8e, was built by Mr. Crathorne, about 1779. It stands on • an eminence, and commands a fine view of the Humber, &c. Near it is a 
rookery. It is the property of the Rev. J. C. Clement, and residence of Mr. 
William Carlin, farmer. · 

New Pwwland is a neat farm house, the property of Mr. J. Marwood, and 
residence of Mr. Joseph Roberts, farmer. 

Thorpe Garth, or lVelwick Thorpe, hamlet was for a long period the pro­
perty of a family named Thorpe. It now belongs to Mr. Durnham and others. 

Weeton is a hamlet, consisting of five farm houses and a few cottages, 
situate about one mile S.E. from Welwick. It contains nearly 1,000 acres 
of land, and is still considered a manor, of which H. W. Askew, Esq., is the 
lord and principal proprietor. 

Kelk.-This manor was anciently in the family of De Kelk, and it now 
belongs to Mr. Joseph Roberts. Peruthorp and Oru:itliflut were hamlets or 
townships situated on the shores of the Humber, in this parish, destroyed 
by inundations. 

WJNEsTEAD.-'fhe manor of Winestead was held by the k11igbtly family 
ofHilton for ten generntions, until by a failure in the male line it devolved, 
by a coheiress, to the family of Hildyard about the time of Richard ll. Sir 
lli>bert D'Arcy Hildyard, the la!!t Baronet, dying, in 18U, without issue, 
bequeathed his esto.te to his niece, Anne Catberine Whyte, who married, in 
1815, Thomas 'fhoroton, of Flintham Hall, in the county of Nottingham, 
who assumed the name IUld arms of Hildyard, in compliance with her uncle's 
will. Thomas Thoroton Dlackbum Hildyard (Lord of the Manor), and 
Robert Hildyard, Esq., his brother, are the chief proprietors of the parish. 
Area, 2,570 acres; rateable value, £2,400.; assessed property, £8,016.; 
population in 1851, 131 souls. 

The BenA.fice is an ancient Rectory, formerly belonging to the Hiltons, and 
now in the patronage of the family of Hildyard. It is rated in the King's 
Books at £12., and now returned at £247. per annum. Rector, Rev. J. R. 
Whyte. The Church is an ancient building, surrounded by stately trees, 
and was repaired in 182\J. It is composed of a nave and chancel, with a 
cbantry chapel on the south side, which is the place of interment of the 
Hildyard family, This chantry was founded and endowed by Sir de Hilton, 
Lord of Swine, in 1347, the duty of the chaplain for the same being to cele­
brate at the altar of St. Mary the Virgin, for the soul of the founder, and 
those of Dame Margaret, his consort, his father and mother, &c. In the 
west end of the church, which rises to an apex, is a large pointed window of 
five lights, and the east rnd of the chancel has a mutilated windolv of three 
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lights. The interior is neat but plain. Between the nave and chancel is a 
screen of five pointed arches, with perpendiculnr tracery. There is a small 
bell fixed in o. receptacle on the west wall, having inscribed on it in old cha· 
racters, "Joannu Baptuta." The church contains several monuments to the 
Hildynrd f8.Qlily; one of which is a handsome altar tomb, bearing the recum· 
bent effigy of Sir Charles Hildyard, Knt., in plate nrmour, \Tho died in 1602. 
In the chancel is a large stone, having brass effigies of a Knight and lady, 
with smaller brasses at their feet, representing their children kneeling, seven 
sous and six daughters, all mutilated. This is supposed to be the memorial 
of Sir Robert Hildyard, of Winestead, Knt., a person of great note during the 
Wars of the Roses, and commonly called Robin of Riddadale, or Redudak. 

The Village is pleasantly situated in the midst of fine trees, about 2 miles 
N.W. of Patrington. The Rectory HoUS8 is a respectable and substantial 
residence. A moated close, west of the church, is the site of the ancient 
mansion house of tho Hildyards. In this moat Wm. Hildyard was drowned, 
and it is supposed the melancholy circumstance caused his father Sir Chris· 
topher to build a new ball, in 1570, at the northern extremity of the lordship. 
The house was again pulled down, and the present mansion, also called 
Winutead Hall, erected nearly on the sito of the former building, by Sir 
Robert Hildyard, a~out the ycnr 1710. It is a fine mBD.sion, with beautiful 
pleasure grounds and gardens, but is seldom occupied by the Hildyo.rds, to 
whom it belongs. It stands about one mile north of the village, and a little 
west of the church. 

Winutead Houu, or Low Hall, is a handsome modem mansion, built by 
Col. Artbur Maister, who formerly had an estate here, which was purchased 
by Col. T. Hildyard in 1820. This house is also unoccupied at present. 

Mrs. Ann Hildyard, spinster, sister to the late Sir D'Arcy Hildyard, by 
will, proved in 1818, bequeathed the sum of £800., interest to found a school 
here. The bequest being charged upon land, was declared void under the 
Mortmain Act; but the present Lord of the Manor, to carry out his relative's 
benevolent intention, allows a schoolmistress a house rent free, and a stipend 
of £20. a year, for teaching the poor children of the parish. 

Andrew Marvel, the celebrated patriot, was the son of o. former Rector of 
Winestead, and if born here was certainly in the parish church. (Seep. 164.) 

LOST TOWNS.-The ravages of the sea and of the Humber on the 
shores of the peninsula of Holderoess, have been so great in past ages, as 
to render it impossible, at the present time, to discover the foundations of 
several towns, which, from ancient records, are known to have existed in 
that part of Yorkshire. We have before observed that much of the low land 
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in Holderness wo.s formerly under water, and that after the Conquest, Hol· 
derness was represented as an island. In many large tracts of lands which 
now adjoin the Humber, and the rivers which fAll into it, the different strata 
of the earth show that great alterations have taken place on the surface of 
the country; and that in many places, the earth which is buried several feet 
deep, has once been the matrix of vegetable productions, and the habitation 
of animals; and that the superincumbent earth now under cultivation, has 
been brought to its present situation by the extraordinary flux of waters, or 
by other means of which history gives us no information. 

RAVENSPURNE.-The most ancient place of fixed habitation in the southern 
part of Holdemess, appears to have been called variously Rat~m~eT, Ra.:m~­
rod8, .RaD87UpUrm, and Ravemburgh. This town is now totally swallowed 
up by the Humber, and not the least mark of its existence can be discovered. 
Ravenspumo is supposed by some to have been the P.ratorium of the Romans, 
and the place at which the Roman road from Bcverley terminated, but this 
must ever remain a disputed point. There is no question though, about 
Ravenspurno having boon a borough, port, and market town, of some con· 
sequence, and its situation appears to have been on the bank or margin of 
the Humber, within the Spurn Head, towards the south-east end of the 
Trinity Sands. 

Mr. Thompson, in his Historic Facu relative to this place, thinks it pro:. 
bable that the Danes, when they landed at the first sea-port which they found 
in the Humber, would fix on it their national standard, which bore the figure 
of a raven, and call the place Ravens burgh. Mterwards, in more Christian 
times, a cross may have been erected there, and the termination burgh, the 
ancient Saxon name for a city, town, or fortified place, might be changed to 
rod or rode, a cross; and thus the name would be Ravensrode. Subsequently 
the tormination Spurne, a place from which to explore, or look out, might be 
adopted, and hence the name of Ravenspume. But there is much confusion 
in the notices of this place in ancient writings, owing to their being more 
places than one bearing the name of Ravenser; for it cannot be doubted that 
there were two distinct towns existing hero at the same time, under the 
names of Old or Ald Ravenser and Ravensrod or Ravenser Odd. The 
former place is described as being in the parish of .Kilnsea, and the latter 
in that of Easington. The Burgh of Odd was situated, as we have stated, 
between the sea and the river Humber, and was distant from the main land 
more than a mile. The access to it from Old Ravenser was by a sand road, 
covered with round yellow stones, and scarcely elevated above the sea. It 
was distant from Easington four miles, and between the t\vo places stood the 
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distinct towns of Kilnsea and Sunthorp, with tbo manor of Aid Ravenser. 
The history of Ravcnser Odd is extremely singular, the short space of 150 
years having witnessed its origin, its rise to celebrity as a sea port, and its 
final destruction by the encroachments of the sea. According to the Meaux 
Chronicle it was originally a small island, formed by an accidental accumu­
lation of sand and stones, in the reign of Henry m., and was at first only 
used by the fishermen to dry their nets upon. In the reign of Edward I. 
Ravenser Odd began to assume the appearance of a commercial port, and it 
appears evident that it bad sprung up as an offsbot of Ald Ravenser. We 
must then presume that this is the place mentioned under the several names 
of Ravensrout, Ravensrod, Ravenserodd, Ravensrode, &c., for under these 
several names the port appears to have been designated. In 1290 the mer­
chants, or men, of this place obtained a charter of free burgago from the 
King (See page 10), by which they were to have two markets every week 
within the burgh, and a fair every year, of thirty days duration. In the 
8th of Edward II. (1315) the burgesses received a confirmation of their 
charter, and a grant of Kayage (the privilege of charging for wharfage) for 
seven years. In the 19th of tbo same reign the King appointed John de 
Barton and Richard de la Pole to collect the customs of wool within the ports 
of Hull and Rat..,.,&Wood. In 1344 letters were addressed to the Bailiffs of 
Ravenser and Ravensrode, requiring one man, well versed in naval affairs, to 
be returned from each place, to attend a council in London for the purpose 
of ascertaining the maritime force of the country; a proof that both places 
were considered ports at one and the same time. In 136/S the Abbot of 
Meaux was directed to gather up the bodies of the dead which bad been 
buried in the chapel yard of Ravenser, and which, by reason of inundations, 
were then washed up and uncovered, and to bury them in the churchyard of 
Easington. About 1357 the tides in the Humber flowed higher by four feet 
than usual, and no doubt Ravenser was then still more ruinously inundated. 
Dugdalo, in his HiMory of Imbanking and Draining, states the great increase 
in the height of the tides at this period, and adds "How long the tides upon 
this coast kept their course so much higher than they had formerly done, I 
am not able to say; but it is like that they did so for no short time after, there 
being scarce a year in the succeeding part of this King's (Ricbd. II.) reign, 
that one or more commissions were not issued for repairs of tho banks, in 
some place or other upon this great river." 

In 1361 the inhabitants of Ravenser were driven to Bight by these over­
whelming floods, and coming to Hull and other places, fixed their residence 
there. About 1390, when the Book of Moaux was written, there was 
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scarcely any trace existing of the site of Ravenser, and it is probable that 
about the same period several villages and much land in Holdemess were 
engulphed by the sea and the Humber. Camden mentions Frismerk, Tbartle­
thorpc, Rcdmayr, Sunthorp, Pennysmerk, Upsal, and PotterBeet, all villages 
situate in Holdemess, not ono of which is ..now to be found. 

Ar..n, or OLD RAVENSER, Ravenuse, and in later years, as it is called, RatJem­
bur!Jl• and Rovempu.rne, was situated on the main land, as we have said, in 
the parish of Kilnsea. It must have been a place of some little importance 
in the reign of Edward I., as it was called upon to send members to Parlia­
ment. It is said that Ravenser Odd obtained the name of New Rav~. 
and this iacrea.ses the difficulty of separating the transactions of the two 
places, during the time that the latter was in existence. Old Ravenser was 
a place of celebrity before the new port sprung up, and so continued long 
after its destruction. In 1316, in the Nomina Villarum, Ravenser is returned 
o.s o. liberty of the King, and Ravensrode a borough of the same. At what 
time Old Ravenser was destroyed by .inundations cannot be ascertained. Le-. 
land mentions that" the Ryvcr Hull kepith yn the .Marcho of Holdcmess to 
the very mouth of Hull Ho.veu, and thens the Marcbe of Holdemess is to 
Ravempur;" from which it is conjectured that its site was in existence in 
the reign of Henry VIII. 

In 1832 Edward Baliol, who had lived in obscurity in Franco for several 
years, and was secretly encouraged by Edward Ill. to assert his right to 
the Scottish Crown, embarked at Ravenser for Scotland, with about 2,500 
men. Ravenspumo was remarkable as the place at which Henry Doling­
broke, Duke of Lancaster, afterwards Henry IV., landed from France in 
1390. And it was the place of debarkation of Edward IV.,* in 1471, "even 
in the same place where Henry, Earle of Derbie, after called King Henry 
IV., landed." (See vol. i., pp. 146, 167.) 

Among the merchants who left Ravenser for Hull when the former port 
began to decline, was the wealthy and afterwards celebrated family of De la 
Pole. (See page 17.) 

• A splendid stone cross, which is aupposod to have stood originally at Ravenspurne, 
from whence it was removed to Kilnsea, and from thence, to preserve it from being 
wRShed away by the sea, to Burton Constable, and subsequently to Hcdon, it is conjec­
tured was in the first place erooted dtber to commemorate tile landing at Ravenspurn, 
or Bolingbroke, or of Edward IV. Shakespeare has immortalized this sequestered spot 
in his play or Richard II. 

Tba bulllhed BoliDgbroko repea1a hi.mMII, 
ADd with uplifted armo il oafo anb'd 

' At Rannaplll't • 
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HOLDERNESS .MIDDLE DIVISION.-The parishes comprised in 
this division of the Wapentake are Aldbrough, Burton Pidsea, Drypool, 
Garton, Hcdon, Hilston, Humbleton, Marfleet, Preston, Roos, Sproatley, 
Swine, Tunstall, and Waghcn. 

ALDBROUOH.-This pnrish contains the townships of Aldbrough, East 
Newton, West Newton, and part of Little Cowden. Area of the entire parish, 
6,819 acres; of \Vhich 4,011 acres belong to the townsh~p of Aldbrough; the 
population of the parish in 1851 was 1,115; of which 884 persons resided in 
Aldbrougb township, which includes the hamlets of Bewick, Carlton with 
Fosham, Etherdwick, and Tanstern. The assessed property of the parish 
amounts to £10,018; that of Aldbrough township to £5,882. 

In the early part of the Saxon era, Aldbrough was a place of consequence . . 
Ulph is so.id to have received this place from King Canutc, o.nJ. he was pro­
bably the ancestor of the Ulph who lived in the time of the Confessor, nod 
is mentioned in the Domesdny Su"ey. This Ulph, or Ulpbus, is supposed 
to have had a Castle here.* In 1115 Earl Stephen, Lord of Hold'erness, 
gave to the Abbey of Albemarle, the church and tenths of the Castle of 
Aldbro'; nnd William lo Gros, the son of Stephen, granted lnnds in this 
place to the Abbey of Meaux. The family of Roos held Aldbrougg for many 
years. In the 6th of Edward m. {lSSS), James de Roos obtained a grant 
of a fair every year, for two days, and a market every week, at his mnnor of 
Aldbro'. Wm. Tymperon of Deverlcy, by will, in 1728, bequeathed his 
manor, or reputed manor, of Aldbrough, to Rt. Davyc, Esq., of York, for 
and during the term of his natural life, nnd after his decease to the ministers 
of the parishes of St. John and St. Mary, Bevcrley, and of Aldbrough in 
Holderncss, for founding an hospital, and the trustees of this charity now 
claim and exercise to a certain extent the manorial rights. There is another 
manor here, called Thorp Go.rtb, which was long in the family of Tborp. 
Robert llarrison, Esq., of Denningholme, is the present lord of it. The 
Castle of Aldbrough is not referred to in any later document than that of the 
grant above noticed, in 1115; and it is probable that it has long since gone 
into the sea, the average encroachments of that clement, upon the coast in 
this parish, being about four yards annually. 

The LiviTI{J is o. Discharged Vicarage, rated at £18. 5s., and in the gift of 
the Crown. It is now returned at £400. per ann. Vicar, Rev. Wm. Craven. 

The Church (St. Bartholomew) is an ancient structure, built apparent1y 

• mphus is said to have given all his property to the church of SI. reter, at York. 
See vol. i., p. -!38. 
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out of the ruins of a Saxon church, as there are around the windows and 
doors many marks of So.xon architecture. The original edifice probably 
stood near the Castle, and shared the fate of that ancient stronghold. The 
present building is small, and comprises a nave and aisle, chancel, and a low 
but massive tower at the west end. The windows are chiefly square-headed, 
and on the south side of the chancel aro some curious animals of Saxon work· 
manship, and a chevron arch-all relics of a former church. The edifice, as 
a whole, displays various styles of architecture. On the north side of the 
chanoel is a building, supposed to have been formerly two chantry chapels. 
Tho nave is divided from the aisles by pointed arches, somewhat flattened, 
resting upon one circul.o.r and five plain massive pillars, of an oblong shape, 
rounded at the ends. Over the circular pier, between two arches on the 
south side, is placed a round stone, from 15 to 16 inches in diameter, and 
having sculptured round i&8 margin a Saxon inscription, which may be trans­
lo.ted thus :-" Ulj commanded this church to 1!6 eruud for th6 aoull of Hanum 
and Guntl..art." There is reason to believe that this curious stone belonged 
to the ancient Saxon church, which, according to the inscription, Ulph com· 
manded to be erected. The chancel is separated from the nave by a plain 
pointed arch. One of the chapels on the north side was the burial place of 
the Melsa or Meux family. who anciently resided at Bewick Hall, and in this 
chapel is a monument to Sir John de Melsa, who was Governor of York from 
1292 to 1296, and was a great warrior. It is of the altar form, and on the 
table is the full-length effigy of a man in armour. This monument, after 
being much mutilated by the village urchins of the school, formerly hold 
in this part of the church, was at one time placed in the belfry, but has 
since been restored to its original situation; and the morion or helmet of 
the gallo.nt Knight, which formerly, and at present hangs over the tomb, was 
for some time used as a coal bucket by the school boys. Under an adjoining 
arch is a table monument of freestone, bearing the effigy of a lady, supposed 
to be intended for Maud, the wife of Sir John. Two ehantries in this church 
were dedicated in honour o( the Dlcsscd Virgin and St. Germains, and 
ancient records refer to two other chantrics in Aldbrough, dedicated to the 
Holy Trinity and St. John de Deverley. It is not known where the two 
lo.tter chapels stood, but it is probabltl that they were contained in the 
present church. 

The Village of A.ldbroU{Jh, which is largo and flourishing, and contains 
several good houses and well-stocked shops, is pleasantly situated on the 
acclivity of a gently rising eminence, about a mile from the sea, 12 miles 
N.E. of llull, and 8 N.E. of Ilcdon. There arc some good inns {or the 
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accommodation of visitors, who resort hither for sea bathing. Slight traces • 
of a Roman road are discernible in the vicinity. A Wesleyan Chapel was 
erected in the village in 1828, and a chapel for the Primitive Methodists in 
1850. There is an extensive bricit and tile manufac~ry here, belonging to 
Mr. Edwd. Walker, of Sproatley, who has another at Burton Constable. 

In 1663, Robert Towrie, of Riccall, augmented the Vicarage of Aldbrough 
with the tithes of East Newton and Ringborough, and a house and garden 
and a quantity of land in the former place; and he save a farm of 130 acres 
in Aldbrougb, for the benefit of the poor parishioners. The income of the 
latter bequest is expended in the support of the school, in apprenticing 
children, and in the distribution of blankets, coals, &c., among poor families 
belonging to the parish. For an account of Tymperon's Almshouu, seep. 293. 

Bmcick.-This lordship formerly belonged to the family of Meau.x, and 
subsequently to the Hastings and Moore families, and is now in the posses­
sion of the Hospital of St. Thomas, Southwark (London.) The hamlet 
contains about 827 acres, divided into three farms,-Bewick Hall, W estbill 
and Easthill. Bewick HaU, now in the occupation of Mr. Matthew Suddaby, 
is an ancient looking structure, the hall of which bears the date of 1636, and 
the wiugs that of 1788. Contiguous to it is a piece of ground, about 2n. SOP., 
surrounded by a deep moat; and in a field S.W. may be traced appearances 
of foundations where it is supposed the ancient ball of the Lords of Bewick 
wa.s formerly situated. A place called Cnstlo Hill, which forms an approach 
to this place, must be referred to it, and not to Aldbro' Castle, as supposed 
by some persons. 

Carlton.-The name of this town is derived from the Sa."ton c~u. or 
husbandmen 'e, town. The knightly family of Carlton took their surname 
from this place. Carlton and Fosham contain, by estimation, 1180 acres, 
and Richard Bethell, Esq., is Lord of the Manor. There are two good farms, 
called East and West Carlton; the former is the property of Henry Sykes 
Tharnton, and in the occupation of Mr. J. Thompson, farmer; and the 
latter belongs to Mr. Bethell, and is occupied by Mr. Samuel Petchell. The 
old ball, the residence of the Carltons, fell nearly ninety years ago. The old 
well of the hall, and some strong foundations of the ancient mansion, are still 
to be seen on the last mentioned farm. 

Fosham, in Saxon, the Moatcd House, contains three farms. Fosbam 
Garth House seems to have been defended by a moat. Black Bush is the 
property and ret!idence of Mr. Joscph· Fox. 

Etherdwick is a hamlet of three farms belonging to Mrs. Lutwidge, Miss 
Broadley, and Yarburgh Yarburgh, Esq. It was formerly the property of 
the family of De Ethcrdwick. 

o tzoobyGoogle 



358 HISTORY OF HOLOERI\ES9. 

Tauswn (one farm) belongs to Mr. Bethell of Rise. At an early period it 
was in the family of De Tanstem, who had a moated mansion here. 

Ecut Newton Townahip.-The area of this township, which includes the 
hamlet of Ringborough, is 630 acres, and its population is 27 souls. It 
is situated on the sea coast, 1 mile E. of Aldbrough, and is dividod into five 
farms; the manorial rights being vested in the several proprietors. Amount 
of assessed property, £2,039. Great tithes commuted in 1770. 

Ringboroli!Jh consist& of one farm, the property of Colonel Grimston. 
West Newton Towmhip.-Tbis township, called also Nett:ton Omutable, is 

in the possession of the Lord of the Seigniory, Sir T. A. C. Constable, Bart. 
The area is 778 acres, and the number of its inhabitants, 239. This return 
includes the hamlet of Burton Constable, which adjoins, but is situated in 
the parish of Swine. Amount of assessed property, .£3,042. The Hamlet 
is small, and stands about 41 miles W. of Aldbrough, and 8t N.E. from Hull. 
An ancient hall or mansion appears to have stood near the farm house called 
Mount I'leasa11t, now in the occupation of l\Ir. B. P. Jackson, farmer. The 
Grange, the residence of Mr. John Robinson, is a good farm house. 

BuRTON PJDSEA.-Burton is supposed to be derived from Bcorl•, or BIN", 
the place of interment of the Druids or the Ancient Britons."' The second 
name of Pidsea, Pudsea. or Pitsey, is said to be derived from De Putcace 
(Hugh de Pusac, alias Pudsey), who was sub-Lord of the Manor. In some 
old deeds it is called Burton by th' Sea; and it is ,·ery probable that the 
full name of the place is a corruption of Burton-per-Sea; or by the Sea, as 
in early ages this district was covered with water, The area of the parish is 
1080 acres; rateable value, .£3,815.; amount of assessed property, £3,100.; 
population, 3U4 souls. Lord of the Manor, Sir T. A. C. Constable; prin· 
cipallandowners, Messrs. M. Prickett of Hull, and William Clapham, Thos. 
Ford, William Baxter, and William Spencer, residents in the parish. The 
soil is rich and fertile. 

The Church is an ancient Rectory, now a Discharged Vicarage, a peculiar 
of the Dean and Chapter of York, who are the patrons ; Archbishop de Grey, 
having purchased it of the Abbey of St . .Martin, Albcmarle, in 1230, and ap-

• In 181A two human skeleton!! were discovered by workmen, whilst e:tcnmt.ing fur 
the foundations of n house, on nn cslntc in Durt.on Pidsea. No coffins wore obsen·c.d, 
but in tho enrth 'll"cre found two antique circular car-rings, of vitrified glass, and olber 
articles. Ear-rings of thi!! description were wom by the early Drit.ous as charms and 
amulets. Upon being cxposcd to the n.ir, the skolctons gmc!ually crumbled to dust, ex. 
cept tho l!kull and some of the Jnrf!t'r bones. From the numl•cr of human bones 
exhumed in the garden~. in the ~tnne ycnr, it wn!< Sll})J"'•~ctl tl1nt the fi ellt bad k en nn 
nncient cemetE-ry, though no coffins were fouu,J. 
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proprinted it to his Cutl1edro.l Church. It is vo.lued in the King's Books at 
£6., was augmented with £400. of Queen Anne's Bounty in 1810 and 1818, 
and is now 'vorth but £42. per ann. The great and small tithes, the property 
of the Dean and Chapter of York, were commuted, in 1761, for about 160 
acres of land, and Mr. Wm. Clapham is the lessee of the same. Vicar, Rev. 
Joshua Smyth. The Structure (St. Peter), which is handsome, is principally 
in the later English style, and comprises a naYc and aisles, chancel, a south 
chapel, and a fine west tower, embattled. The c)lancel was thoroughly 
repaired, in 1838, by Mr. Clapham. The west face of the lower story of the 
tower contains a fine pointed window of four lights, with three perpendicular 
mullions ; and in the upper stag<' in each face is a pointed window of two 
lights. There is a brick porch on the south side. The na,·e is much higher 
than the chancel. The nave is divided from the aisles by three pointed 
arches, resting on oetagono.l pillars. The south chapel, which was dedicated 
to St. Mary, and is now used as a Sunday School, is divided from the chancel 
by t~o arches now blocked up. There arc piscinas in the chancel, chapel, 
and at the cast end of the south aisle. The whole of the windows were 
restored, reglazed, and decorated with stcr.ined glass, a few years ago. In the 
chancel arc scvcro.l monuments to the Clapham family, two ofthem bearing 
the family crest elegantly can-ed. In the north aisle is a neat marble tablet 
to the memory of two daughters of Mr. Ho.rland of this place; and in the 
south aisle is a very neat Gothic monument to the late Isaac Raines, Esq., 
M.D., who died in 1846, and whose remains are interred in the south chapel. 
Attached to the church is a library of 150 volumes, the gift of the Re,.. J. C. 
Edwards, late Curate of the parish. 

The Village is picturesque, and situated on ground commanding an exten­
sive prospect, and surrounded by some fine trees. It stands about llt miles 
E. by~. of Hull, and 4 E. of Hedon. Chatt Howe, the residence of Mr. 
W. Clapham, was the property of a family named Chatt, in the 17th century. 
It was rebuilt, with much taste, by Mr. Clapham, in 1889. 

BramhiU Houu, the residence of Mr. T. Ford, is another handsome 
building, erected in 1848 ; and the other good commodious residences are 
those of Messrs. Wm. and Hugh Baxter, and Mr. Harland. In the Tillage 
is an iron and brass foundry, and implement manufactory, belonging to Mr. 
John Stamford, and a brick and tile manufactory, the property of Mr. Baxter. 
A fair was formerly held bore on the 12th of July. The Baxter family of 
this place o.ro noted as breeders of race horses, the celebrated mare "Nancy," 
the star of the turf in 1851, was ·bred by Mr. Baxter. 

A small Wesleyan Chapel \Vas erected here in 18-i7. 
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D.aYPOOL.-The parish of Drypool is included with the borough of King­
ston-upon-Hull. (See page 142.) 

G.u\TON.-This parish includes the hamlet of Grimston Garth, and a third 
· part of Owstwick. The former township contains 1, 797 acres, of the rateable 
value of £2,220.; population 165 souls. The manor anciently belonged to 
the family of De Garton. Colonel Charles Grimston of Kiluwick, near 
Deverlcy, and Grimston Garth, is the present Lord of the 1\Ianor of Oarton­
cum-Grimston, and he, together with - Kendall, Esq., M.D., W. D. Crook, 
Esq., and Joseph Wilson, are the principal proprietors. 

The Living is o. Discharged Vicarage, in the gift of the Crown, and Incum­
bency of tho Rev: Isaac Dixon. It is rated at £6. 1s. Otd.; was augmented 
with £400. from Queen Anne's Bounty in 1707 and 1787; and is now r&­
tumed at £97. per annnm. The Church (St. Michael) is a small ancient 
structure, consisting of a nave, chancel, south aisle, and porch, with a low 
massive tower at the west end. The aisle is divided from the body by three 
pointed arches, resting on sexagonol columns without capitals. The na\'C 
and chancel is separated by some fine oak trellis work. On the north of the 
church is a mausoleum built by Mr. Grimston. It is a red brick building 
arched semicircularly. 

The Village is small, and stands about 12 miles N.E. of Hull, and 9 N.E. 
of Hedon. There is a small Methodist Chapel here, erected in 1826. 

Blue HaU, now a farm house, is the old manor house of Garton, and the 
property of Dr. Kendall. Much of the ancient moat may still be traced. 

Grim~ton.-This place probably derived its name from one of its first 
possessors, and was Grimes-town. The lordship gave name to the family in 
whose possession it has been since the Conquest. Sylvester de Grymston 
attended William Duke of Normandy, on his expedition to England, as his 
standard bearer, and in that station fought at the battle of Hastings; and in 
the following year the Conqueror bestowed upon him lands here and in other 
places. Sir John Grimston, of Grimston Garth, was knighted by Henry II. 

Grimaton HaU, the seat of Charles Grimston, Esq., late Colonel of the 
East York Militia, was built between the years 1781 and 1786, by tho lato 
Thomas Grimston, Esq. The mansion is situated near the sea shore, on one 
of the most elevated situations in Holdemess, and commands most extensive 
prospects. It is spacious, and of a castellated form, and has three circular 
towers at the angles, with a polygonal erection rising from the centre. The 
extensive park is approached by a noble entrance lodge, consisting of a centre 
with four octagon towers at tho angles. It has a sham portcullis ; the 
family arms are on a shield over the gateway; and the top is embattled. 
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Grimaknl Garth farm house, in the occupation of Mr. Willi(lm Voase, 
stands on the site of the ancient mansion of the Grimstons. The old hall, 
which was moated, was burnt down in the life time of William Grimston, 
who was born in 1640. 

HEDON. 

Hedon, or Heydon, is stated to have boon a place of some importance in 
the Saxon times, but this account does not rest on any solid foundation. 
Tradition says that the place was destroyed by the Danes, and a great battle 
is said to have been fought here by that people, in a close called Dane's field, 
but of this there is nothing authentic. Leland says that Heddon "bath been 
e. fair Haven to,vn," once insulated by sea creeks, but in his time approached 
by three bridges, and having the haven " very sorely decay~d." "There were 
three Parocbe Chirches in Tyme of Mynde," he continues, "but now there 
is but one, of 8. Augustine. And not far from this Cbireh Garth appere 
tokens of a Pile of Castelle, that was sometyme ther for a Defence of the 
Town." He adds," Saurning and Choking of the Haven, and Fier defacing 
much of the Town, bath been the decay of it. Sum say that the Staple 
of W oulle, of the north partes, was one ther. Treuth is that when Hull 
began to flourish, Heddon deeaied. The Erie of Albemarle and Holderness 
was Lord of Heddon, and also of Skipton, in Craven, at the same Tyme. 
This Earl had a great Manor Place at Newton, a mile byneth Heddon, nerer 
to Humbre then it, for it stondith on the lower side of the Creke, and Heddon 
on the upper." Camden in like manner speaks of Hedon having been 
anciently (according to fame) a considerable seaport. Some writers tell os 
that a charter was given to the borough by King Athelstan, but this dese"es 
little notice. Hedon appears to have derived its name from the Sa.xon word 
Heda, meaning a port or small haven; and the town not being mentioned in 
the Domeeday Su"ey, is rather against the supposition that it was a place 
of any note before the Conquest. The first authentic fact on record respecting 
it, is in the reign of King Henry IT., when that monarch granted William 
Earl of Albemarle "fr«J burgag~ in H~ddtl?U, to him and his heirs, in fee 
end inheritance, so that his burgesses of Heddune may bold freely and 
quietly in free burgage as my burgesses of York or Nicbol" (Lincoln.) King 
John confirms this charter in the year 1200, by granting to Bald win Earl 
of Albemarle and Holderness, and to his wife Hawise, free burgage here by 
the same tenure and with the same privileges as at York and Lincoln. Mr. 
Poulson remarks that this free burgage was not granted to the inhabitants 
of Hedon, but to their over lords; but no doubt these charters relieved the 
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newly-made burgesses from many galling services. The next cl1arter, dated 
56th Henry m. (1272), contains the grant of a fair, and, as in the previous 
cases, is granted to the Lord of the Seigniory. This fair was to take place 
every year, "in the eve, in tho day, and in the morrow, o( St. Augustine, 
Bishop, and for five days following" (20th Aug. to the 27th, both inclusive.) 
Hedon possessed but little commercial or maritime importance since tho port 
of HaH became the property of Edward I., though the burgesses received 
several charters and confirmations in succeeding reigns. In 1656 a great 
part of the town was consumed by fire, alter which it was rebuilt in a more 
handsome and substantial manner. 

The site of the Castle of the Albemarles, mentioned by Leland, cannot be 
aacertained with any degree of certainty. 

The parish comprises 1,440 acres; its rateable value is £2,760.; amount 
of assessed property, £2,239. ; population in 1851, 1,029 souls. The chief 
proprietors are, the Corporation ef the Borough, Yarburgh Yarburgh, Esq., 
Sir T . Sykes, and Mrs. Colley. Sir T. A. C. Constable is Lord of the Manor. 

The Totem of Hedon is situated in a level, fertile, and well cultiTated country, 
within li mile of the Humber, 5! miles E. of Hull, and 18~ N.E. of Lon­
don. It consists principally of one long street, about the middle of which is 
the Market Place. The new turnpike road, which connects this town with 
Hull, was cut across the marshes in 1882. The Market, formerly held on 
Saturday, has fallen into disuse, but a Cattl4 Market, established in 1796, 
and held every alternate Monday, has long been of considerable importance. 
Here are also four annual fairs, viz. :-Magdalm Fair (so called from the hill 
on which it is held), August 2nd; September 22nd, called Holyrood Fair; 
November 17th, for hiring servants; and HoUym Fair, December 6th. 

Hedon, as we have remarked, was anciently a sea port of considerable 
importance, connected with the river Humber by a navigable creek, but the 
access from that river diminished as the surrounding country became drained 
and embanked, and was finally choked up. "The old harbour, which insa­
lated the town, consisting of about 300 acres," writes Poulson, "where, in 
the reign of Edward m., lay veBS(Ils of superior size, and where once the 
proud pennant of England floated in the breeze, where the murmur of the 
tide and the splashing of oars were heard, is now a luxuriant meadow; and 
the busy hum of the seaport is changed to the lowing of cattle and the 
bleating of sheep." In 1774 an Act of Parliament was obtained for re­
covering and preserving the haven, and though the scheme failed of entire 
success, for want of a lock to exclude the tides, the trade in coals, oom, and 
lime, is very considerable. The present haven, or canal, is cut to about a 
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quarter of a mile of the town, and is navigable for craft up to 80 tons 'burden. 
The Corporation having but a small municipal jurisdiction, was left un­

altered by the Municipal Reform Act. This body now consists of a Mayor, 
Recorder, two Bailiffs, nine Aldermen, and an indefinite number of Burges­
aee. The Mayor is annually elected from the Aldermen; at the same time 
the Baili.tfs are chosen from the Burgesses; and the Aldermen are elected 
from the Burgesses who have served the office of Bailiffs. The Mayor and 
Bailiffs are Magistrates during their term of office, but not the Aldermen. 
The Aldermen continue such for life, neYer being remoYed, even for non· 
residency. No Recorder has been appointed for more than a century. The 
Town Clerk is chosen by the Mayor, Aldermen, and Bailiffs, and confirmed 
by royal sign manual ; a Coroner is also chosen by the bench. He is often 
the outgoing Mayor, and sometimes an Alderman. The Town Clerk is al.ao 
Clerk of the Peace at the Quarter Sessions, and Clerk to the Coroner.. There 
is a Seljeant.at.Mace, and other minor officers. 

The chief members of the corporate body for the present year (1855) are 
Wm. Soutter, Esq., Mayor: Benjn. Iveson and Tbos. Matthew&, Esquire&, 
Bailiff•; John Hornby, Arthur Iveson (and Town Clerk). Robe.rt Leak,.Jobn 
Taylor, John Day, James Soutter, William Day, and George Taylor, Esqrs., 
Akkrmm, There are but eight Aldermen at present. 

The Colporation is bound by charter to provide a hall and prison for the 
Lord Paramount of Holderncas, for which a W apentake Court is held here. 
This Court, together with the County Court, Quarter Sessions,. and Petty 
Sessions, are held in the Town Hall, a neat building, situated in the centre 
of the town. The hall, or court room, is on the second floor, and is a nry 
neat commodious apartment. On the walls are two whole length paintings 
of Henry Guy, Esq., M.P. for Hedon in 1669; and Wm. Pulteney, Esq:·, 
M.P . for the borough, who was created Earl of Bath and Baron Hedon in 
17 42. These two portraits are said to be worth 1,000 guineas. There is 
also a half length of James Iveson, Esq., the late Town Clerk. Over the 
bench is a painting of the Royal Arms. Adjoining the ball is the Council 
OhtJtrlhM. A room on the ground floor is used as a lock-up house. The old 
Town Hall and prison formerly stood on the Market Hill ; a. few years agp 
one of its dungeons was discovered. 

The annual income of the Corporatiou couaists of about £274., deriqll 
from lands and houses in Hedon ; £52. fee fa.rm rents; and tolls amounting 
to about £25. per annum. There are eleven other houses occupied by old 
burgesses, and widows of burgesses, paying no rent. The limits of the 
Corporation are co·extensive with the limits of the borough. The Mayor has 
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an allowance of .£40. per annum, for entertainments given, and the usual 
expenses of the mayoralty. He is also entitled to Ulree bushels of coals from 
every ship's oargo brought into the haven. All the freemen of the borough 
are exempt from toll throughout the kingdom. Hedon is one of the polling 
places in the election of the two representatives for the East Riding. Agri­
culture is carried on with spirit in the vicinity, and the Holdemese Agricul­
taral Society hold their meetings here. The Hedon and Holdemesa Floral 
and Horticultural Society held their first exhibition of fruits, flowers, &c., 
here, in Sept., 181S4; and their second in September in the present year. 

This borough first sent meml>ers to ParliRment in the 2Srd of Edward I. 
(12UIS.) It ceased sending from that time to the 1st of Edward YI. (1547), 
from which time it continued to return until the period of its disfranchise­
ment, by the Reform Bill, in 1882. The last representatives of the borough 
were Sir T. A. C. Constable, Bart., and Robert Ferrand, Esq. 

An Hoapital for Lepen was founded near Hedon, but in the parish of 
Preston, in the reign of King John, upon pe.rt of seven acres of land, given 
by Alan, son of Oubemus. "It was dedicated," says Tanner, "to the Holy 
Sepulchre, for a Master or Prior, and several brethren and sisters, lepers." 
It was endowed by Alex. de Thunestall, and other benefactors, whose gifts 
were confirmed by Edward li. In the 26th of Henry Vill. (1535), it was 
valued at .£18. l/Ss. lOd. per ann.; and in the 7th of Edward VI. (1558), 
its site was granted to Robert Constable, Esq. The spot upon which the 
hospital stood is now a garden, near which a large dyke, or moat, may still be 
seen. Coins, &c., are occasionally found in digging, and an ancient seal was 
discovered a few years ago, and is now in the possession of .Mr. I veson, of 
Hedon. It is oval in form, and exhibits three small figures, with the legend, 
"The seal of Master Simon of the house of the Blessed Virgin Mary." 

There was likewise an Hoapital at Newton Gartb, relative to which little 
information can be obtained. It was founded by Wm. le Gros, in the reign 
of Henry II., for the relief of poor and impotent persons, and was kept by the 
members of some religions order. At the dissolution it was valued at £40. per 
ann. About the year 1768 upwards of 20tl,OOO bricks were taken from the 
ruins of the hospital, for the purpose of building tho house of Capt. Standish, 
at Tborngumbald. The hospital stood on the way from Hedon to Paull, on 
the right hand, and was moated. Its site has been long since ploughed up. 

Leland mentions three churches, though in his time there \Vas but ono 
remaining, that of St. Augustine; but from ancient records, it appears that 
there were four churches or chapels here, dedicated to St. Nicholas, St. 
James, St. Mary, and St. Augustine; and that St. Mary's had the right of 
sepulture. Torre, in his account of Preston Church, states that the Rector 
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of Preston bad jurisdiction over three chapels in Hedon-St. Augustine's, St. 
Nicbolas's, e.nd St. James's; and he does not mention the chapel of St. 
Mary. Some traces of the foundations of St. Nicholas's and St. Jamea's still 
remain; and St. Mary's is supposed by some to have stood on Maudlin, or 
Magdal4n, Hill; and by others, in a field called Low Magdalen Field; bot 
nothing can now be traced in these places of any foundations. Torre's 
silence as to any independent chapel, dedicated to St. Mary, induces the 
supposition that it was only a che.ntry chapel attached to one of the churches. 

The present church (St. Augustine) is appendant to the church of Preston. 
The Living of Hedon is a Rectory, but the Vicar of Preston is its Rector, 
the Rectory being annexed to his Vicarage. The value of the Hedon bene­
fice is returned at £45. per ann., and tho.t of Preston, i81. The Archbishop 
of York is the patron, and the Rev. John Fox, incumbent. The noble 
structure, which is the most interesting specimen of early pointed architec­
ture in Holderness, is cruciform, e.nd comprises a nave e.nd aisles, transepts, 
and chancel, with a handsome tower at the intersection. The west front is 
plain, and has a fine pointed doorway, not now used, with deep mouldings 
springing from circular pillars, and above it is a pointed window of five lights, 
with a tre.nsom. The north side of the nave is in five divisions, in four of 
which are pointed windows of three lights, with elegant tracery ; and the 
fifth contains a pointed doorway, with a trefoil bead and pedimental canopy, 
above which is a lozenge·sho.ped window. The clerestory exhibits five small 
pointed windows, each of two lights, e.nd terminates in a neat battlement. 
In the north face of the transept is e.n elegant recessed doorway, the 
mouldings resting on dwarf columns, and above it are two ranges of three 
lanoet windows, and the finish is an embattlement. The north side of the 
chancel ho.s also two stories of beautiful lancet windows, those in the upper 
re.nge being blocked up; e.nd the finish of the chancel is a cornice e.nd battle­
ment like the rest. In the east end of the chancel is a large perpendicular 
window o( five lights. The south side of the chancel is nearly a bare wall; 
part of a pier is seen buried in the wall, and is considered to have belonged 
to the Oha11try of St. J,fary, which was situated in this part of the building. 
Attached to the south-cast corner is a vestry, built perhaps in the time of 
Henry vnr., having two large square-headed windows dh·ided into two CODl· 

partments by a broad traneom. On the west side of the vestry is a le.ncet 
window,· formerly the east window of the che.ntry. The face or the south 
transept bns been similar to the front of the north transept, but a large 
pointed perpendicular window has been substituted for the earlier le.ncets. 
It has five lights, with a transom. Under the window, but not in the centre, 
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is a cireular-headed doorway, of simple but deep mouldings, resting on 
columns, with foliated capitals. This transept has no battlement, but rises 
to an apex, surmounted by a pinnacled cross. The east side of the transepts 
ha'fe had aisles or chantries attached to them. The south side and clerestory 
present a similar appearance to the north side, with the exception of its door­
way, which is now deprived of its canopy. This, as well aa the doorway on 
the north side, is walled up. The beautiful tower is lohy and well propor­
tioned, and has double buttresses at the angles, and one in the centre of each 
side, running up and terminating in crocketed pinnacles. In each faoe are 
four large pointed perpendicular windows of three lights, and the finish is n 
handsome pierced parapet. The windows in the lower stage being now 
blocked up, renders the general appearance of the the tower heavy to the 
eye. There is a good peal of eight bells, and the dial of the clock is placed 
on the cast face of the tower. 

The whole edifice waa repaired about twenty-seven years ago, and the 
interior now presents an air of cleanliness and comfort. The nave is sepa­
rated from the aisles by five pointed arches, springing from columns formed 
by an union of eight cylinders, with plain capitals. Between the arch~ are 
small shields of arms, lately placed there. The nave is ceiled, and the aisles are 
open to the rafters. This part of the church is well fitted up for Divine ser­
Yice; at the west end is a gallery, in which a good organ was erected, in 1829. 
The font is of granite, polygonal in shape, each face sculptured with quatre­
foils, and much elegant tracery. Three massive brass chandeliers hang from 
the ceiling. The chancel or choir is separated from the transepts by a neat 
oak screen of perpendicular tracery. On the south side of the chancel are 
two large pointed arches, which were formerly open to the chantry of St. 
Mary. On each side of the chancel is a trilorium, containing six arches, 
with a clustered column between each; and this trilorium was continued 
round the east end before the large window was inserted ; and also commu­
nicated with the trilorium of the transepts. There were three or four sedilia 
on the south side of the altar, with the tooth ornament, which were doubtless 
removed when the doorway to the vestry vias formed; but there is at.i.ll a 
handsome one remaining ; and on the north side are also three sedilias, 
separated by slender columns. There is a piscina in the usual place. The 
floor of the chancel was laid with encaustic tiles a few years ago; the roof 
is open to the rafters. The south transept has on its east side two large 
pointed archways, with a massive clustered column, partly buried in the wall, 
which were once open to a side aisle or chantry; and the north transept has 
also two similar arches on its east side, separated by a massive cin:ular 
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pillar. The tower is supported by four great piers, forming lofty arches. 
The church is built of freestone, except where the chantries stood, which is 

unfinished stone, and the battlements are principally o.f brick. The building 
is of three different periods, viz., the chancel and transepts, Early English ; 
the nave, Decorated English; the tower and additions to the nave, Perpen­
dicular English. The vestry, as has been observed, is an addition of a later 
period. The dimensions of this fine building," the pride of Holdemess." is 
as follows :-Length of chancel, 58ft. Oin., width, 28ft. Din., extreme north 
to south, 108ft. 2in.; extreme cast to west, 164ft. 6in.; length of nave, 84ft. 
Sin., width, 48ft. Sin. ; width of the aisles, 12ft. Sin. ; height of the tower to 
the summit of the pinnacles, 48 yards ; height of transepts, outside, 48 feet. 

On the floor of the north transept is a mutilated effigy of a man, in free­
stone, which was formerly in the churchyard. On the south side of the 
churchyard is a row of stately and venerable elms. 

The Pa~ Houu is on the north side of the church. 
The town was formerly divided into two parishes-St. Nicholas and St. 

Augustine, but the former parish has long since merged into the latter. 
The Wesleyans have a chapel here, built in 1818; and a chapel built by 

the Baptists in 1801, is now used by the PrimitiYe Methodists. 
A Catholic Chapel, erected here in 1804, is a brick edifice, the interior of 

which is very neatly finished and decorated. In front of the sanctuary are 
two elegant statues of the Blessed Virgin and St. J oseph, to whom the chapel 
is dedicated. The decorations of the high altar, tabernacle, &o., are very 
chaste and neat, and there is a small aide altar, dedicated in honour of the 
Blessed Virgin. To the latter altar the present pastor, the Rev. Joseph C. 
Fisher, recently presented a handsome eorona, inscribed in honour of the 
Immaculate Conception of St. Mary, as well as an altar piece and lamp. Ad· 
joining the chapel is the Presbytery, or priest's residence. Previously to the 
building of this place of worship, the Catholics of this district attended a 
chapel (since destroyed) at Nuthill, in the 8Aljoining parish of Burstwick. 

A Natio1111l Sclwol has recently been built on the Market Hill. 
The H«lon and Ho~ M«lulnict' Imtilulion was established about 

eight years ago, and there is a library and reading room in connexion with it. 
The lectures of the society are delivered in the Town Hall. The President 
ofthe institute is Arthur lveson, Esq. 

The ancient C1'088 of Kilnsea or Ravensper (See page 864), now stands on 
the grass plot in front of the residence of Mr. William Watson. The shaft 
is surmounted with curiotisly sculptured emblems of Our Saviour and the 
Blessed Virgin, in the florid style of the 15th century. 
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WillU!m PulteM!J, who for some years represented this borough in Par­
liament, was created Baron of Hed<m, and Earl of Bath, in 17 42, but died · 
without issue in 1762, when these titles became extinct. 

A.l1118hov.au were erected, and are supported, by the Corporation, and there 
are various charitable bequests for the relief of the poor. 

HILSTON.-In a charter bearing date 1272, this place is called Hildoj.um, 
it is therefore probable that it derived its name from its first owner or 
cultivator. The area of the parish is 548 acres; rateable value, £611. ; 
assessed property, £676.; population, 50. The manorial rights are claimed 
by more than one party. The chief proprietors are Sir T. Sykes, the Trus­
tees of the late Mr. James Foster, and Mr. Joseph Storr. 

The Living is a Discharged Rectory, in the gift and Incumbency of the 
Rev. C. Sykes. It is rated at £5., and returned at £50: The Church (St. 
Margaret) is a small building, consisting of a nave and chancel, with a wooden 
bell turret at the west end. On the north side of the nave is a fine old 
Norman doorway, on a double arch, with the zigzag moulding; and on the 
south side is a low plain circular-headed doorway. Some of the walls are 
very thick. Of this church Poulson says, "Its simplicity and massiveness, 
and Norman doorways, distinguish it as an original Anglo-Norman building." 

The VilUige consists of three farm houses, and a few cottages, near the 
sea, about 9 miles N.E. by E. of Hedon. Hillton Mount is an eminence 
near the village, on which is an octagonal tower of light brick, with a circular 
turret on its northern side, surmounted with a flag staff and vane, well known 
at sea as a land mark. The building has a chamber above the ground floor, 
and a winding staircase within the circular turret. There is a very exten­
sive prospect from the summit. The tower was built by Mr. Justice Storr, 
in 1750, and is about 50 feet high, and 62 feot in circumference. The site 
of the old hall, the residence of the Storr family, which was taken down 
nearly fifty years ago, is marked by some fine old trees. 

HUJIBLETON.-The townships of Humbleton, Danthorpe, Elstronwick, 
Fitling, and Flinton, are comprised in this parish, the area of which is 6,017 
acres. The population of the parish, in 1851, wa.s 587 souls. The town­
ship of Humbleton contains 1,469 acres, chiefly the property of Lord Hotham 
(Lord of the Manor), Robert Bell, Esq., and J. K. Haire, Esq. The rateable 
value of tbo township, is £1,563.; assessed property, £1,587.; population 
145. The assessed property oftbe entire parish, is £7,807. 

Hu.rrul'a To1Dn, together with the church, was given to the Abbey of 
Thorntou, in Lincolnshire, in 1162, by Wm. de Scures, and at the diBBOlu· 
tion it became vested in the Crown. It subsequently passed through several 
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bands, until it passed from the Thompsons, ancestors of the present Lord 
Wenlock, to the Hothams. The country is undulating and well-wooded. 

The Ben8.ftc~ is a Discharged Vicarage, with the Curacy of Elstemwick, in 
the patronage of the Crown, and Incumbency of the Rev. John Jadis. It is 
valued in the King's Books at £10. 1s. Old., and now returned at £230. per 
annum. The Church (St. Peter) is a large ancient structure, having a nave, 
with aisles, a chancel, and a fine proportioned tower at the west end. The 
f'our windows on the south side are slightly arched, and two of them aro 
much larger than the others. There is a modem porch on this side. The 
nave has four pointed clcrestory windows, and is embattled, the east end 
rising to an apex, and the aisle has a plain parapet. The north aisle has 
three pointed windows, and one sashed, and a plain pointed door. The east 
window of the chancel is plain, square-headed, and of three lights, and there 
is a good cross flory on the apex of the roof. Five pointed arches resting on 
octangular piers, separate the na\·e from the aisles. The nave is ceilcd, and 
the chancel is open to the rafters, which is lo?.·er than the top of the pointed 
archway to the nave. The central light of the east window is occupied with 
an oil painting of the Transfiguration, from IWI'ael, by Miss Ann Dixon, 
(daughter of the late incumbent) in 1816, and presented by her to the church. 
A prolongation of the south aisle anciently formed a chantry chapol, which 
is now used as a vestry. The archway on the south side of the chancel, 
which formerly led to it, is now closed up, except a door of entrance to the 
vestry. The west ends of the aisles are separated by partitions; that on the 
south side was used as a school before the present school house was erected ; 
and that on the north side is used as a lumber room. From this separation 
only f'our arches appear on each side of the nave. In the north aisle is a 
half length effigy of a man, with a ruff and beard, his hands joined in prayer, 
and bene&th is inscribed" Effigia Gvlielmi TlwmpMM de Scarbrovgh." 

The ViUagB of Humbleton is small and mean, and stands about Ut miles 
N.E. of Hull, and 6 N.E. by N., of Hedon. The Manor House, the resi­
dence of the ancient lords of the place, stood on the west side of the cbU{cb, 
and was demolished in 1789. The VicaragB Houu is a neat commodious 
residence. about which there are some fine trees. Near the churchyard is 
the Fru School, a neat brick building, with a residence for the teacher, 
erected in 1880. on land given by Lord Hotham. 

Francis Heron, by will dated in 1718, bequeathed a farm of more than 
fifty acres, at Flinton, after the death of his widow, to provide for the educn­
tion and apprenticing of poor children in this parish. This estate has 
hitherto yielded an annual rent of about £70. per annum, but an exchange 
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of a part of it, for certain other lamls, is no'w b<'ing efi't .. cteJ. The ahoYe­
mcntioncd school was erected out of the funds of the charity. 

The Jlumblt'lrm Hall estate formed part of the dower of the Countess 
Fitzwilliam, on her marriage, in l il8, with the then Lord .Milton; and 
continued in that fttmily until 1811, wh«:'n it '""as purchased by 'l'hos. Moxon, 
Esq., who shortly aft~rwards removl'd the old hall, and built the prt>sent one 
in its more central position. It is now tbo property of John Kcll Hn.ire, 
Esq., of M~·ton House, linll, who hns reccntly made considerable building 
and othcr improvements on the estate. It is in the occupation of Mr. 
James Duun, farmer. 

Humbleton Moor Ilouse, and 1A11c House, have two good farms attached, 
the property of Lord Jlotham. The former is in the occupation of Mr. 
J amcs Wood, and the latter of l\J r. Hobert \\'right, farmer~.>. 

Ilumbletoll Urange, anciently call~d Granye IIcad, was probably the grange 
of the monks of Thorn ton, for thf'ir steward. 

Dtmthorpe Tmmship.-'l'he acrt>age of 1Janellt01p is 737; population, 41; 
amount of asscf>scd propert~·, £!Jl i. In 1 i .J:J the gr«:'ater part of the town­
ship passed, b)' will, to the Count('ss of Covt>ntry, niece to Sir H. Etheringon, 
and the Hon. A. Coventry is the present Lord of Danthorp. The Society 
o( St. John's Collegc, Cambridg~', possesses 100 o.crcs here. 

Da11tlwrpe Hall, in the occupation of l\Ir. John Collins, is nn ancient brick 
cdifice. The out-buildings in the farm yard form a large quadrangle, and are 
not easily surpassed. The Hamlet is about 0 miles X.B. ft-om Hcdon. 

r:lstcrmricl• Tuwuslrip.-Thc name of this place is doubtless derived from 
its Saxon possessor. The manor has continued in the possession of the J,ords 
of the Seigniory to the present day. Area, ~JlO acres; population, 157 souls; 
asses;:cd property, £l,G15. The Hamlet of Elstornwick, or Elstcrnwick, is 
situated about 4 milt>s "N .E. of Hedon. 

H ero is a Clwptl of F.ase (annexed to the Vicarage of Humblcton) consc­
cmted in the reign of Ilt>m·y V Ill., and has right of sepulture. It is a plain 
singular looking building, consisting of a nave nnd chancel, with a bell turret 
at the west end. A lnrge Grecian-Ionic doorway at the west end was bi'Ought 
from Humbleton Hall when the chapel wns repairt>d; it bt>ars the date of 
1791, probably the time of its erection here. The interior is plain but neat. 
The chancel arch is pointed and singular, as springing from the floor. There 
is a small gallery nt the west cud. There are several memorials here to tho 
family of Bell. The tithes were commutC'd for land at the enclosure in 1806, 
when 9A. 16P. of land, and three cottages, ''"ere allotted for the instruction of 
poor children. The school was built in 1818. There is a small Primitive 
Methodist Chapel here, built in 1853. 
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Fitli11g TotC'IIBl&ip.-At a Yery early period this manor belonged to the 
brethren of St. John of Jerusalem, for making a chantry for the souls of the 
Earl of Albemarle, and all the lords of Burstwick. The area is 1,o04 acres; 
rateable value, £1,532.; assessed property, £1,449.; population, 136 souls. 

Principal landowners, J. 1'. Foord, Esq. (Lord of the .Manor), Sir T. Sykes, 
Wm. Stavelcy, Esq., Admiral Mitford, J. V. Thompson, Esq., and Mr. John 
Canham. The Hamlet is situated about 6i miles N.E. from Hcdon. 

Fitli11g HaU, now occupied by Mrs. Wright, farmer, commands good pros­
pects. North Field Howe, the residence of Mr. John Wright, farmer, was 
erected in H~20. L<myborot19h Lane House is another farm house here. 

Flir1to1& Towmhip.-Arca, l ,397 acres; rateable value, £1,307.; assessed 
property, £1,73{1.; population, 108 souls. Chief proprietors of the soil, Sir 
T. A. C. Constable (Lord of the Manor), Chas. W. Goad, Esq., Mr. Robert 
Wright, and ~Ir. John Johnson. The Hamlet is small, and stands on the 
road from Hull to Aldbrough, about 5i miles N.~.E. of Hedon. 

MARFLEET.-This parish is situated on the fertile marshes on the north 
side of the river Humber, and anciently belonged to the family of De Merflete. 
The chief proprietors at present are the Society of St. John's College, Cam­
bridge (Lords of the Manor), Miss Broadley, and Mr. Hobert Ducket. Area, 
1,110 acres; rateable value, .£1,515.; assessed property, .£2,752.; population, 
193 souls. '!'he surface is level, the soil clay. 
. The Yillage is scattered, and lies about 2 miles E. from Hull. The Lit•ing 
is a Perpetual Curacy, rated at £0. 15s., augmented with £800. of Queen 
Anne's Bounty, in 17-lO, and returned at £55. All the tithes, except those 
arising from one close, were commuted in 1703. Patron and Incumbent, 
Rev. J. Robinson. The Church (St. Egidius) was erected in 1793, on the 
sito of a very ancient structure, and is a small brick building, with a large 
wooden cupola, with one bell in it, at tho \Yest end, and a cross flory at the 
apex of the east encl. The interior is plain. In the church yard is a hand-

- some altar tomb, erected in 1853, by John F. Butter, Esq., in memory of his 
wife, Sarah. The poor have two annuities out of land here, amounting to £1. 
Pm:sro~.-The original name of this parish was doubtless Priest's Totrn, 

and the place appears to be of some extent, and probably included Hedon, as 
that manor is not mentioned in Domesday. The parish now includes the 
townships of Preston and Lelley, which together comprise 5,110 acres, nnd 
1,038 inhabitants. Awount of assessed property, £10,Q28. Preston town­
ship contains 4,310 acres, and 88i inhabitant.'!. Rateable value, .£6,007. 
Sir T. A. C. Constable is Lord of the Manor, and the land is divided among 
many proprietors. 
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Stephen Earl of Albemarle, and Lord of Holdemess, gave the church and 
tithes of Preston, with ita chapels of Hedon, to the Abbey of St. Martin, near 
Albemarle. In 1229 the appropriate Rectory \~as annexed to the sub-deanery 
of York, by Archbishop de Grey; in 1665 Dr. Pierson, Sub-Dean, granted 
out of ita income, an annuity of £10. to the Vicarage; in 1772 it was aug­
mented with £600. from Queen Anne's Bounty; and at the enclosure in 
1777, lands worth £200. were awarded by the Lord of the Manor, and others, 
to augment the living, pursuant to an Act of Parliament passed in the pre­
vious year. This Vicarage is rated at £12., and united with the Rectory of 
Hedon; the Sub-Dean of York is the patron, and the Rev. John Fox, 
Incumbent. The present annual value of the living of Preston is returned 
at £81., and that of Hedon, £45. In 1847 a Ohantry was founded and 
endowed in this church, for a priest to pray at the altar of St. Mary the 
Virgin, for the soul of Robert de Pickering, &c. 

The Church {All Saints) is a fine edifice, consisting of a nave, side aisles, 
chancel, with a north aisle, and a fine tower at the west end, containing 
three bells. The tower, which is of hewn stone, is in four stages, with double 
buttresses at the angles, each buttress having a pinnacled niche foro. statue; 
and the top is finished with a neat pierced paro.pet, with crocketed pinnacles. 
The nave on the south side is made into four diTiaions bJ buttre88e8, which 
contains o. porch, erected in 1828, and three windows of three lights ; and 
the clerestory contains four windows of a similar character. The aisle and 
nave finish with a battlement. The north side of the church is made into 
six portions, the two easternmost belong the aisle of the chancel. The 
windows are square-headed on this side, and the embattled paro.pet of the 
aisle has been succeeded by a plain brick work. The chancel is lighted by 
a large pointed perpendicular window of five lights, at the east end, and by 
plain lancet lights on the south side. This part of the church is tiled, is not 
embattled, and is evidently the oldest part of the fabric. The building is of 
hewn stone, repaired with brick and stone in ita rough state. The interior 
is neat. The aisles are separated from the nave by four pointed arches on 
each side, supported on the south side by clustered columns, and octangular 
piers on t.he south side. The tower arch, opening into the nave, is lofty, 
lancet-shaped, and beautiful, and the top of the west window, in the tower, is 
filled with stained glass. The chancel is separated from the chapel, or aisle, 
on ita north side (uow the vestry), by two arches at present blocked up. 

The Village is considerable, and has some good houses in it. It stands 
about 7 miles E. by N. of Hull, and 1 mile N. of Hedon. The Wesleyans 
and the Primitive Methodists have each a chapel here, the former built in 
1814, and the latter in 1882. The Baptists had formerly a chapel here. 
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The Poor'• E1tate, bequeathed by Jas. Rand, in 1700, now consists chiefly 
of about 85 acres of land. Iu 1618 Thor. Helm~ left £200. for the poor, and 
£200. for the support of the parish School; these sums were laid out in the 
purchase of about !U acres of land, the rents of which are divided between 
the schoolmaster and the poor. The dividends of £178. 14s. 2d. stock, 
purchased with a legacy of £200., bequeathed in 1808, by John Manhall, 
are also expended upon the poor. 

LeUey Towmhip.-Lelley, or Lelley Dyke, has always been attaChed to the 
Seigniory, though the present Lord Paramount of Holdemess, and Lord of 
the Manor, has no land in the township, except about one acre, over which he 
has a right of road. Th.:rtownship comprises about 800 acres, of the rateable 
value of £750., and the property of several proprietors. Assessed property, 
£1,116.; population, 151 souls. 

The Hll771kt is small, and stands about 2 miles N .E. from Preston. A 
OhaJMl of Eau was erected hero, by subscription, in 1852. It is a small 
neat brick building, with a stone turret on the west end, containing a bell. 
There are four stained gla88 windows in it. Tithes commuted in 1769. 

LeUey Dylre Houu is in the occupation of Mr. Thomas Fussey, farmer. 
The poor have 20s. a year, bequeathed to them in 1722, by Aliee Johnson. 
For some particulars of the Horpital of the Holy Sepulchr~ see page 864. 

Roos, or Ro88E.-This parish includes part of the township of Owstwick. 
The manor is supposed to have given name to Peter de Roe, or Roos, as 
Lord of Roos, in this Seigniory, in tho reign of Henry I. Some think that 
the name of the place is derived from Roos, or Roes, British ling, moorish, 
or watery land. The manor, which is nearly all copyhold, was for a long 
period the seat and property of the noble family of Roos. Robert de Roos, 
who was one of the twenty-five Barons appointed to enforce the obse"anee 
of Magna Charta, married Isabel, daughter of William the Lion, King of 
Scotland, and died in 1227; and in 1291 William de Rose, their great 
grandson, was one of the competitors for the Crown of Scotland. The family 
of Roos afterwards branched into three divisions, resident at Hamlake, Werke, 
and Kendal. In 1562 the Earl of Portland was Lord of Roes; and the 
manor passed afterwards to the Cecil family, with whom it continued till 
1700, when it was sold to Mark Kirbye, Esq., of Hull, and after his death it 
descended to his son-in-law, Rd. Sykes, Esq., of Sledmere, and is now the 
property of the Rev. Christopher Sykes, who is the chief proprietor of the 
soil. The area of the parish, exclusive of the part of Owstwick township, is 
2,Hl0 acres. The population of Roos is 509; rateable value, £8,166; 
amount of assessed property, £2,860. 
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The Bentjice is a Rectory, valued in the Liber Regis at £19., and now 
worth .£602. per annum. Patron, Rev. Christopher Sykes; Rector, Rev. 
Charles Hotho.m. The tithes of the township of Hoos were commuted in 
1783. The 0/utrch (All Saints) is situated on a slight eminence, and is 
approached by an avenue lined with yew trees, and a flight of fifteen stone 
steps, beneath an archway formed by trees. It is surrounded by the Rectory 
grounds, laid out in parterres, and has a very picturesque and pleasing 
appearance. The edifice consists of a nave, with aisles, chancel, with a 
chapel on its north side, and a tower at the west end, containing three bells. 
The aisles were rebuilt, a handsome cut stone porch added to the west face 
of tho tower, and the interior repaired and refitted, in 1842, at the expense 
of the present Rector. The to\ver is of three stages and finishes with a neat 
battlement. The neat porch has a pointed arch on each side. The aisles 
arc made into four diYisions by cut stone buttresses, and contain square 
windows, each of three lights. The clcrestory of the uo.ve is of considerable 
height, is embattled, and has on each side three windows of three lights, with 
flattened trir.ngula.r heads. The nave, aisles, and tower, are built of rubble, 
but the chancel is wholly of free stone. The east window is of five lights, 
with perpendicular tracery, and there are three large windows of similar 
character on the south side of tLe chancel. On the north side of the chancel 
is a cho.ntry chapel, with a turret at the south-west angle, containing a spirol. 
staircase. The latter appendage is octangular shaped until it reaches the 
roof, where it becomes circular. The chantry is the same height as the 
chancel, and is built of cobbles, with stone quoins at the angles, and has a 
basement moulding similar to that of the chancel, and seems to have been 
erected in the same era; and the turret rises about nine feet above the 
parapet of the chancel. On the west side of the chantry is a large pointed 
arched window of three lights, in the decorated style; and on its east side is 
another building, erected as a burial place for the family of Sykes. The 
interior of the church is very neat and elegaut. .Four pointed arches on 
each side, resting on circular columns, separate the uo.Ye from the aisles. 
The chancel arch is as high as the roof. There are two scdilins and a piscina 
in the chancel, and in an arcndc above the communion table are the Dccalogue, 
Creed, &c., iu illuminated letters. The stone canopies of this arcade, as well 
as those of the scdilias, exhibit some elegant caning, and form a part of the 
restorations of 18-l2. The chantry chapel, now used as a vestry, is entered 
fron1 the chancel, and is of two stories. The chauccl and nave are open to 
a boarded rafter roof. The fout is uew, and has an elegant pyramidal top 
of Gothic design. The whole of the furniture of the churcb is of oak, and 
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the workmanship is of a most chaste and elegant design. The west window 
of the tower, above the porch, is filled with new stained glass, and in one of 
the windows of the chancel are four shields, bearing the arms of the Lord of 
the Seigniory, and three Barons of Roos. The Rectory House, the largest 
and most commodious parsonage house in Holderness, was erected by the 
Rev. Christopher Sykes, about the year 1820. It is built of white brick, 
and is situated in pleasure grounds and gardens, which are laid down with 
great taste. It is the seat of the Uev. C. Sykes,* as well as the residence of 
the Rector. The old Rectory was a mean edifice. 

The l"iUll1Je is pleasantly situated on nu eminence, about 14 miles E. of 
Hull, 8 miles E. of Hedon, and 4 N. of the Ottringham Railway Station. 
The old castle or mansion of the Barons of Roos was surrounded on the 
north, east, and west, by a moat; thl3 south side being protected by the 
waters of the carrs, which at that period must haYe been always flooded. In 
1825, the north side of the moat was excavated, when a misericorde dagger 
and a fibula were found buried in it. In 1836, a group of eight rudely-carved 
human figures in wood, fixed by the feet into holes bored in the figure of 
a serpent, which was bent to resemble the shape of a canoe, was discovered 
in a ditch, in Roos carrs, about six feet below the surface. It is not known 
to what these curious relics of a barbarous age allude. 

There are two small dissenting chapels in the village, one belonging to 
• the Wesleyan .Methodists, built in 1808, and the other to the Primitive 

Methodists, erected in 1836. There are excellent schools here for boys, 
girls, and infants, all chiefly supported by the Rector and Mrs. Hotham, who 
have also founded a good parochial library here. 

This place confers the original title on the present family of De Ros. 
The poor parishioners have about £3. per annum, left to them by several 

donors; and the Church Land&, given by unknown donors, comprise about 
9 acres, \vith two houses. 

01f&trrick Townahip.-The area of this township is 1,330 acres, of which 
45.2 acres are in the parish of Garton, and the remainder in the parish of 
Roos. The population of the whole township in 1851 was 103 souls, 56 of 
whom belonged to Roos. Rateable value, £1,604; assessed property, £1,635; 

• In the month of September, 18:>4, a fine portrait of the Rev. C. Sykes, of Roos, was 
presented to that gentleman, at a sumptuous luncheon at the Station Hotel, Hull, by 
the magistrates, clergy, gentry, and yeom&Dry, of the East Riding of Yorkshire, as a tes· 
timonial of their great respect and esteem for his private worth, and their appreciation 
of his long public ser''i~es; the Rev. gentleman having been a magistrate for f>O years. 
The portrait, which is M inches in length, was painted by Mr. F. Grant. 
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Prior to the Norman invasion this place had its Saxon thane or chief residing 
in it, known by his single patronymic, Hosu, since corrupted to Owst. The 
owner of Owstwick shared the fate of the other Saxon proprieton1 after the 
Conquest, and little appears to be known of the family until 1849 (26th 
Edw. ID.), when Rt. Owst had possessions in Hedon. The descendants of 
the family continued to reside in Holderness, and have held lands in Nun· 
keeling, Welwick, &c. Rt. Owst was Prior of N unkeeling, and died in 1480. 
Thos. Owst resided at Halsham in 1576, and his descendiUlts continued 
there until 1886, when Thos. Owst, the last mo.le heir of the family, left it. 
This gentleman now resides. upon his own estate at Keyingham, and he has 
also some freehold property in Owstwick. The principal landowners here at 
present nre Sir Tatton Sykes, Admiral Mitford, and Joseph Storr, Esq. 

The Hamlet is situated about 8 miles E.N.E. of Hedon. Here is an 
ancient Friends' Matting HO'I.IU and burial ground. There has not been 
service here for several years, and the place is going to ruin. There is no 
memorial left from which the date of its erection can be ascertained. The 
oldest notice of the Quakers in this place is 1664. The burial ground is 
still occasionally used by that body of Christians. 

8PROATLEY.-This place gave name to the family to whom it belonged in 
early ages. The area of the parish is l ,880 acres; rateable value, £1,518 ; 
amount of assessed property, £2,008.; population in 1851, 463 souls. The 
chief proprietors of the soil are Sir T. A. C. Constable (Lord of the Manor), • 
Dr. Kendall, and Wm. Raines, Esq. The surface is level, and wholly laid 
out in agriculture. The Living is a Rectory, vo.lued at £7. Os. 10d., and 
now worth £230. per ann. Mrs. Wall has recently purchased the advowson, 
and the present Rector is the Rev. Cha.s. Wapshare; Curate, Rev. Cha.s. 
John Wall. The tithes were commuted at the enclosure in 1762, for a yearly 
modus of 100 guineas; besides which there aro 97 acres of glebe land. 

The Church (St. Swithin), is a plain, neat, modern building of yellow brick, 
erected in 1820, on the site of a small ancient but decayed edifice. It com­
prises a nave and chancel, with a tower at the west end, finished with a plain 
parapet, and pinnacles at the angles. The nave has three circular-headed 
sash windows on each side, and there is but ono window in the chancel. 
These circular-headed sash windows placed, as they are, between buttresses, 
are incongruous. The interior is neat. The chancel arch is circular-headed 
and plain ; the roof is ceiled and panelled ; and there is an organ in the 
gallery at the west end. 

In digging the foundations of the present church, two ancient tombstones 
were found, two feet below the surface. One was broken in pieces; the 
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other had cut on it, a kind of staff, a chalice, and a hand in the act of taking 
a consecrated host from a paten, with this inscription, fn ancient characters: 
-" Ici gist Walter Chapelain St. Kayingllam, prie i ptr Lame." The Rectory 
House is a commodious brick building, with some fine old trees in the gardens. 

The Village is pleaSilntly situated on an eminence, on the road from Hull 
to Aldbrough, about 7 miles N.E. by E. of Hull, and 4 N. of Hedon. The 
Wesleyan (J/wpel was built nearly fifty years ago. It is endowed with the 
interest of .C20., left. by Mrs. Deborah Harman. The parish school is en­
dowed \Vith two-thirds of the rents of an estate near Sheffield, bequeathed, in 
1733, by Mrs. Bridget Briggs, to her sister for life, and, after her decease, to 
the parish of Sproatley, for schooling and apprenticing poor children. The 
charity took effect in li 42. The school is further endowed with £9. per 
ann., being the interest of £200., less the legacy duty, left by John Raines, 
Esq., by will dated in 1805. The master's stipend is £50 a year, and tho 
mistress's, £25. When applications aro made for the purpose, children 
brought up at the school are put out as apprentices, or are assisted on going 
out to service, with money or clothing. The poor have a dole of 20s. per 
ann., left by an uukno\m donor, out of a farm at Lclley ; and the rent of 
about two acres of land at Fitling, left by Elizabeth Eerier in 1686. 
· There is a Police Station in the village, a neat brick building, erected in 
1840, for the Middle Division of Holderness. 
. SuTTON.-This parish, which derives it name from being the south town 
of Holdemoss, includes Witbam, Lime Street, tho Groves, and Somergangs, 
forming the north-eastern suburbs of the to'vn of Hull, and are now part of the 
borough. It also include~ the hamlet of Stoneferry. The area of the whole 
is 4,450 acres; and the population in 1851 was 7,788 souls. T.he rateable 
value is £33,250. The manor of Sutton was held by the family of Sutton, 
under the Earls of Albemarle, Lords of Holdemess. One of this family, as 
we have seen at pago 11, is said to have cut the channel of the present river 
Hull, from Sculcoates gote to the Humber, for the purpose of draining the 
marshes within his lordship. In the south aisle of the church of Sutton, 
were formerly to be seen the arms of the family in glass, and at a later period 
there was in the chancel a gmve stone, with the following inscription:­
" Orate pro anima D'ni Thom~e Sutton." But these memorials have now 
perished, and the recollection of the family is at present only perpetuated by 
means of the monumental effigy of one of its members, through whom tho 
seigniory and hereditary estatP.s descended. This effigy is in the choir of 
the church, and though there is no name, the costume of the figure proclaims 
it to be that of the first Sir John de Sutton, who died 12th Edward ID. 

YOL. II. s 0 
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{133U). The figure is that of a recumbent knight, on an altnr tomb. Tho 
Archbishops of York and the Abbots of Meaux bad lands in this parish, \Vhich 
wore called manors, and the original manor of the fee of Albemarlo became, 
by partition, to bo named the manors of Sutton, Hastings, and Mauley. The 
lands of Sutton have passed through many hands, and tho chief proprietors 
at present arc Miss Droadley (Lady of the Manor), the Corporation of Hull, 
John Lee Smith, Esq., S. Priestman, Esq., G. W. M. Liddcll, Esq., B. 
Haworth, Esq., William Hewitson, Esq., and Messrs. William North and 
John Cowell. In 1764 an Act of Parliament was obtained for enclosing 
the parish. 

The chapel of Sutton was separated from the mother church of Waghen 
in 1~~8. In 1847 Sir John de Sutton, Knight, gave the advowson, tithes, 
&c., of St. "James's, of Sutton, for tho support of six chaplains, who were to 
celebrate every day in the said chapel, for the good estate of the King and 
Queen, and of tho said Sir John do Sutton, and Alice his wife, and for their 
souls when they shall depart this life. It appears that the said Sir John 
built a rectory, or mansion, containing a convent hall, chambers, &c., for 
the master, chaplains, and their servants, and that this mansion, &c., was 
enclosed by a wall or trench; and that he invested the masters of the said 
cbantry with the government of all and singular the inhabitants of the towns 
of Sutton and Stoneferry, and with a legal administration of all the lands, 
&c., belonging to the said chapel. In 1880 Alexander, Archbishop of York, 
by a new ordination of the statutes of this chantry, converted it into a Col­
legiate Society, consisting of a Master, or Custos, five perpetual chaplains, 
and two clerks ministering. He appointed one of the chaplains to the 
government of the cure of the parish of the said chapel, and decroed that 
the master and chaplains should eat together, in one house, in common, and 
and that the chaplains should lodge in ono house, or two and two together, 
unless hindered by infirmity. Ho bound the master and each of the five 
chaplains to celebrate their own masa daily, and on all Sundays and festivnls 
to say the matins, parochial mass, and vespers. This continued till the 
dissolution, when the chantry was valued at £18. Ss. 8d. 

The Lif!ing is a Perpetual Curacy, certified at £10., and now worth £110. 
per annum. It has boon augmented with £1,600. of Queen Anne's Bounty, 
and Parliamentary grants obtained from the year 17 42 to 1820. Patron, 
Miss Broadley; Incumbent, Rev. John Adam Elridge. 

The Church {St. James) is an ancient structure, comprising a na.ve, aisles, 
chancel, and west tower, containing three bells. The windows are ehie8y 
square headed, and the nave and aisles are embatUed, The east window 

o tzoobyGoogle 



HISTORY OF HOLDERNESS. 8i9 

of the chancel is of seven lights, it has been pointed, but the arch and 
tracery are gone. The aisles are separated from the nave by four pointed 
arches, resting on octagonal columns. The top of the chancel arch is blocked 
up, and the whole church is ceiled. The chancel is much lower than the 
nave, and nearly as long, and the walls of the chancel are not plastered. The 
tower is open to the nave. In a gallery under the tower is an organ, erected 
in 1881, and there are galleries over a portion of both aisles. There is a 
small painting of St. James, on the pulpit; and there are several monuments. 

The VillagtJ is large and well built, and pleasantly situated on a gently 
rising and salubrious eminence, about 8 miles N.E. of Hull, and is one of 
the country retreats of the merchants and gentry of that town. 

The principal residences are Button Houu (G. W. M. Liddell, Esq.), a 
large handsome building of light brick, with a pediment in the south front, 
and surrounded by some good wood. Tilttorth GrangtJ (E. Spence, Esq.), a 
handsome house, with a conservatory at one end. Ea~t Mount (T. Priest­
man, Esq.), a good mansion, situated on risillS ground, well wooded. 

Elm Tru OottagtJ (John Lee Smith. Esq.) is a neat residence, at the east 
end of which is a small but elegant conservatory, which communicates with 
the drawing room. The lawn in front of the house extends over upwards of 
20 acres, and in the pleasure grounds is an ancient octagonal font, brought 
from Leckonfield. The kitchen garden of this house is the site of the ancient 
manor house, the remains of which were pulled down in 1847, by Mr. Smith. 
There is a pump in the garden, which formerly stood in the kitchen of tho 
manor house. The PanonagtJ is a handsome new brick villa. 

The Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists have each a small chapel here. 
The School is endowed with £6. 16s. per annum, the dividends of £186., 

navy five per cents., purchased with £150. loft by John Marshall, in 1808 
for educating the poor children of Sutton under ten years of age. A new 
school is about to be built, on a site given by Miss Drondley. 

The Britilh School, erected in 1850, is endowed with £15. a year, from 
the funds of Chamberlaine's charity, for instructing twenty boys free. 

The poor parishioners have the interest of £-lO.,left. by Denjamin and Ann 
Pead in 1784 and 1799 ; and two annuities, viz. :-20s. out of a farm at 
Btoneferry, and 26s. from Watson's Charity. 

Leonard Chamberlaim of Hull, draper, bequeathed, in 1 il6, for charitable 
purposes, an estate at Sutton and Stoneferry, now consisting of three houses 
and about 96 acres of land, let for £257. per annum. After incurring the 
costs of a suit in chancery (£811.) without obtaining any final scheme or 
directions for the application of the rents of the estnk', the trustees erected 
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tw& almshouses at Sutton, in 1800 and 1804, at the cost of £081., for the 
reception of ten poor women of the parish, each receiving 5s. per week, and 
an annual allowance of two chaldrons of coals. The trustees also distribute 
yearly about £25. worth of coals among the poor of the parish; nnd pursuant 
to the donor's will, they pay the abo\'c-mentioned £15. per nnn. to tho school­
master, £12. to tho Unitarian minister of Hull, £5. to tho schoolmaster of 
Hcssle, and £3. per ann. to certain poor widows at Hessle. 

Mrs. Ann Wtltson, in 1720, bequeathed her estate at and near Stonefcrry, 
for tho endowment of an hospital for four widows or old maiden daughters of 
clergymen, as well as for the payment of several other small annuities. The 
estates now comprise 217 acres, which let for about £800. per ann.; besides 
£1,900., 8 per cent. consols, and £300. navy 5 per cent. annuities. The old 
hospital was at Stoneferry, but, in 1810, the trustees commenced the erec­
tion of a new one at Sutton, which cost about £1,800. It has commodious 
apartments for eight inmates, who have each £25. per annum, and coals. 

Ston':ferry is a small hamlet. on the east bank of the river llull, about ono 
mile S.W. of Sutton, and two N. of tho town of Hull. The name of this 
place is supposed to bo a contraction of Sutton ferry. llefore the erection of 
the North Bridge at Hull, the southmost passage or ferry from the wolds 
into Holderness was at Stoneferry. It is coqjectured that there was a bridge 
here in ancient times. 

Brancel10lme is a pasturage in this parish, adjoining Waghen. In early 
records the manor and Castl8 of Bransholme is frequently mentioned. In 
180-1, the Castle of Dranceholme is stated to be held by Alicia de Sutton, 
wife of John de Sutton, Knt. Some documents refer to the Castle of Brauce­
bolme, as belonging to the manor of Swine. Near Branceholme, in the low 
grounds, is Ccutle IiiU, containing about three acres, including the moat 
which surrounds it. It is composed of sand and gravel, about 16 feet high, 
and is situate upon a perfect level. There is a raised bunk running from it 
to the present farm house, which is built upon an eminence equal in height 
with Castle Hill, and at about 250 yards distance from it. The hill is now 
nearly covered 'vith trees. Some imngine that Cnstle Hill is the site of the 
castellated mansion of the Suttons; whilst others think it not improbable 
that Branccholme and Cnstlc Hill were two minor outworks to the great. 
military station of the Romans at Swine. 

Somergangs is a contraction of the south mere gangs or pasturage; the 
second syllable, Mer, from being level, and subj<.>ct to the OYerflowing of the 
surrounding waters. lloldemeas House, the seat of B. M. and W. E.Jalland, 
Esqrs., stands iu this hamlet. It is a handsome modern mansion, in the 
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Elizabethan style, a.ud has attached to it ·a freehold estate of 111 acres. A 
new parish or ecclesiastical district was formed out of the parish of Sutton, · 
in 1844, and the district church of St. Mark erected therein. (Seep. 14!l.) 

SwiNE.-The chapelrics of Bilton and South Skirlaugh, and the townships 
of Benningholmc and Grange, Coniston, Ellerby, Ganstead, Marton, Swine, 
Thirtleby, North Skirlaugh with Rowton, and Wyton, and part of Amold, 
are comprised in this extensive parish. The area of the whole parish is 
13,650 acres, and the population of the parish iu 1851 was 1,744 souls. 
The assessed property amounts to .£18,861. 

Swin~ Tmrnship has 198 inhabitants, and 2,190 acres of land, belonging 
chiefly to the Earl of Shaftesbury, the Lord of the Manor. The rateable 
value is £2,598. The name of this place is supposed by some to be from the 
Saxon word Swin (porcus), with the addition of the final letter; but others 
are of opinion that the Saxons who settled here might have emigrated from 
a place of the same name in Germany, in accordance with their practice in 
many· instances. There is a tradition that it derives its name from the 
Danish King Suein, or Sueine, and that this King died at Swine, and was 
buried there, but this is not supported by any evidence. To the west of the 
church of Swine is a tumulus, no\v covered with trees, in which it is said the 
King was buried; but the historians of tlie 11th century assert that he was 
buried at York. Indeed it is difficult to prove that the namo SwiM is of 
better or more honourable descent than from the Saxon Swin. It is well 
known that the Saxon lords of England kept innumerable her:ds of swine in 
their immense forests, and it has been observed by Mr. Tbompson, in his 
llistory of Swine, that the village might have been a convenient place into 
which to drive the swine from the woods of Holderncss, for examination or 
sale. At the time of the Domesday Survey the manor of Swine belonged to 
the Archbishops of York, and the first mes.ne lords who held it under them 
were the Hiltons, from whom it passed, by marriage, to the :Meltons, then in 
the same way to the Darcys, and subsequently, by purchase, to the Mickle­
thwaytcs. The last Lord Micklethwayte bequeathed i,t to the Ewer family, 
and William Ewer, Esq., left it to Lord Shaftesbury, then the Hon. Cropley 
Ashley, in the event of the death of his younger brother, and of his niece, 
Lady Wood, without children; and on the death of Lady Wood, in 17'96, 
Lord Shaftesbury came into possession of the manor. 

Near Woodhouse, on the N.W. side of the village, is an enclosure of ten 
acres, the double ramparts and foss of a Roman Encampment are still trace­
able. The two ramparts arts parallel to each oth~r, and 800 yards in length, 
and the width of the fosse between them is from thirty to forty feet. The 
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outer foaae is nearly filled up, and both the ramparts and foaaes appear to 
have been originally of very large dimensions. The camp, if completed ac­
cording to the apparent boundaries of it, would probably contain between 
8,000 and 4,000 men. In ploughing the ramparts, very ancient instruments 
have been found, among them a celt; and in other parts of the parish of 
Swine, various celts, fragments of spears, &c., have been turned up by the 
plough. In 18~6 a Roman urn, containing over 1,400 copper coins, was 
found by some boys, who were playing in a recently ploughed field, at no 
great distance from these earth worths. The coins, which were in a high state 
of prese"ation, and had been carefully placed on the edges, are supposed 
to have been deposited in the earth by some Roman soldier. The um was 
unfortunately destroyed, and the coins got into the possession of many indi· 
vidual.s. Mr. Thompeon is of opinion that on a hill, about 400 yards to the 
north-west of the ramparts at Swine, across a creek or neck of the marshes, 
now drained, are the remains of a minor camp, and that there was a commu· 
nication from one encampment to the other, by means of a bridge of some 
sort across the narrow part of the creek, as fragments of stumps of ancient 
oaken piles have been found in the ground, in the nearest direction from one 
camp to the other. The same author thinks that the hills called Drancc­
holme and Castle Hills, in the adjoining parish of Button, might have been 
forts or minor camps, to the principal station at Swine. 

Priory of Stoiru.-According to Bishop Tanner, Robert de Verli founded 
a Priory of nuns here, of the Cistercian Order, before the end of the reign of 
King Stephen. It first consisted of a prioress and fourteen or fifteen nuns, 
and was dedicated in honour of the Blessed Virgin; but it subsequently be­
came an establishment of a mixed character, which was not unusual at the 
timo referred to. Erenburg de Burton, wife of Ulbert de Constable, was one 
of the earliest benefactors to the institution, and the words in her grant are, 
"Deo et Ecclesim Sanctm Marim de Suina, et fratribus et sororibus, &c.;" 
which shows that there were brothers as well as sisters there. Sir Alexander 
Hilton was also a liberal benefactor to the Priory, as well as Bawise de Sur· 
deville, Waiter Skirlaw, Bishop of Durham, Wm. Earl of Albemarle, &c. 

The Cistercians (from OUurcium or Oilteau:e), came first into Eagland in 
11~8, very soon after which period the Priory of Swine, and the Abbeys or 
Priories of Meaux, Nunkeeling, and Dirstal, in Holderness, were founded. 
In 1182 Pope Innocent II. exempted the Cistercian houses froni the pay­
ment of tithes ; and Dugdale gives a copy of the bull of Pope Alexander, for 
exempting the Priory of Swine from the payment of tithes of the lands which 
th<>y had brought into cultivation, ns w<>ll as of the lands which they held in 
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their own hands. The Cistercians generally founded tlicir monasteries in 
solitary and uncultivated places; or, in the words of their rules, "in places 
remote from the the conversation of men," and this has been alleged as one 
reason for their exemption from tithes. In the reign of King Stepht'n 32 
Cistercian Abbeys 'vere founded in England, .and in the next reign 19 more, 
all of which, according to their rule, were dedicated to the Blessed Virgin. 
At the dissolution of religious houses the Cistercians had 81S establishments 
in England; and the Priory of Swine was valued at £82. Ss. 9d. according 
to Dugdale, and £134. Os. 9d. according to Speed. The latter was the gross 
income. In 1541 the site was granted to Sir Richard Gresham, Knt., and 
in 1557, to Sir John Constable. Tho Gra119e1 belonging to the Priory were 
Bcnningholme, Bewholme, Drypool, Fairholme, Langthorpe, and Owbrough. 
The Priory was situated on the south side of the church, and a large old 
building, now called the Hall, occupies part of its site. Large fish pools, or 
ponds, were usually kept in the vicinity of mansions and Abbeys, for the 
purpose of breeding and preserving fish ; and on examination of the ground 
at some distance from the church of Swine and the site of the Priory, marks 
of several fish ponds will be found. In 1268 it appears that the liberty of 
fishing in the waters of Swine was of importance, and there is no doubt that 
a large qu.antity of low land, nearly surrounding the Priory, was then covered 
with water. 

The names of the following Prioresaes ooeur at the dates atB.xed to their names. · 
Maud, in 1230; Gundreda; Cecilia de Wal.kington, 1200; Joaiana de A.nelagby, or 
Anglathby, 1303; Joanna de Mow bray, 1308; Juliana de Anlagby, 1320; Matilda Wade; 
JohMna Kelk, J.i82; Beatrice Low, 1498; Cecilia Eland, 1606; Elenor Dene, 1620; 
Dorothy Knight, the last Prioress, daughter of Edward Knight, of South Duffield, had 
a pension of £13. 0!1. Sd. per ann., afl.er the surrender, and the other nuns bad a much 
smaller pension. The seal of the Priory wu oval, and represented the Bleased Virgin 
crowned, sitting, and having in her lap the infant Saviour; with a nun praying in a 
niche beneath her feet. The inscription was "S. Prioris See. Marie de Swina." 

The church of St. Mary at Swine was given to the Priory of the same 
place, by its founder, Robert de Verli. A Vicarage was endowed in it in 
1588. The Vicarage is discharged, and valued in the Liber Regis at £8.; 
it was augmented with £200. of Queen Anne's Bounty, in 1784: by £200. 
given by Mr. M. Wright, in 1783; and by a Parliamentary grant of £1,200., 
in 1816; and is now worth, with the curacy of Skirlaugh, £102. per annum. 
Patron, William Wilberforce, Esq.; Vicar, Rev. Richard Lythe. The Earl 
of Shaftesbury is the lay impropriator. 

The Old Priory Church of St. Mary was of cruciform shape, with a massive 
tower in the centre, supported by four large circular arches, with zig-zag 
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mouldings. The tower of the Jlrt8e11t church was built iu li87, and is a well­
proportioned structure of three stages, \nth a battlement. The nat:e of the 
present church was the chancel of the old one,, to which side aisles have been 
added at a later period. On the south side is a porch. The large window 
at the east end is now Llocked up. Several of the other windows are square 
headed. The aisles are divided from the nave by four acutely pointed arches, 
resting on massive circular columns, with large square capitals. The sweep 
of the second and third arches on the north side is embellished with zig·zag 
ornaments, each of a different pattern. The pulpit bears the date of 1619. 
The roof is open to the timbers, and there is no chancel arch. There aro 
sixteen ancient seats, placed in front and on each side of the pulpit, with 
seats to turn up, having grotesque carvings under thetn. At the east end of 
the chancel are two brackets, and a gallery at the west end was built in 
1i2~. There is a curious old iron chest in the vestry, with a massive lid and 
lock, the inside of which is elaborately can·ed. At the east end of the north 
aisle was formerly a chantry chapel, endowed by the family of Hilton. It is 
separated from the chancel by strong iron bars, and from the aisle by a 
richly carved oak screen, erected by the Lords Darcy, and now Ycry much 
dilapidated. This has been called the Lord'' Chapel, being the cemetery of 
the Lords of the manor. Within the chapel are full·leogth figures of three 
Knights in armour, carved in stone, which bear indisputable evidence that 

. they were placed there in memory of tho lliltons, tho Lords of Swine. 
Under an arch in the wall of the south aisle are the figures of a Knight 
and his lady, shamefully mutilated; the hand and arm of the Knight being 
broken off, apparently for the purpose of placing the back of n little mean 
pew close to the 'vall. Thoro is a clock, as well as four bells, in the tower. 

The Vil.Wge is scattered, and lies on a gentle ascent, about 6i miles N.E. 
of Hull. The shaft of an ancient cross is still remaining, apparently of the 
same date as the Priory. A small We,leyan Chapel here was built in 1820. 
The School is endowed with £200., 3 per cent. consols, left by Mrs. Lamb, 
of El wall, Co. Surrey, in 1708, for teaching six poor children of the township 
of Swine; and to this the Earl of Sho.ftcsbury adds a yearly donation of five 
guineas, for which five more children arc tAught free. 

Benninglwlm~ and Grange Toamahip.-Thc area of this township is 1,280 
acres; rateable value, £1,85.1.; assessed property, £l,i7o.; population, about 
100 persons. Robert Ilarrison, Esq., tho Lord of tl1e Manor, 81ld owner 
of the whole township, resides at Betmin{lhOlfM liaU, an ancient mansion 
much modernized. It is pleasantly situated in very extensive and tastefully· 
laid-out grounds. Thoro is a fine avenue, or carriage drive, through tl1~ 
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grounds, about t\\"O miles in length; also a splendid fish pond, or small lake, 
containing two picturesque islands, on one of which is a very neat temple. 
Thcro are likewise a handsome Shooting Box, and a very neat G-rotto, in the 
grounds. The H(lmlet stands about 7 miles E. by S. of Be;erley, and 3 N. 
of Swine. Be11ninylwlme Gra11ge, formerly belonging to the Priory of Swine, 
is now in the occupation of Mr. Wm. Piercy. There is still a very ancient 
window left, and in the gardens and pleasure grounds, which are extensive, 
is a neat fish pond. There is a farm house near the'hall, which also con­
tains a remnant of the olden time, in a splendid window. 

Fairlwlme was parcel of the possessions of the Priory of S\fine. It is now 
occupied by Mr. Wm. Thompson, farmer; and Ptuture Hawe is another 
good farm house, in the possession of Messrs. Wm. and Geo. Bulmer, farmers. 

Bilton Ohapelry.-The knightly family of Do Biltoo took its name from 
this place. In the reign of Henry VIII., the manor of Bilton was succes· 
sh·cly in the families of Flower, Knowles, and Stanhope. Lord Viscount 
Dowoe is the present Lord of the Mnnor, and sole proprietor, with the 
exception of about 30 acres. Area, 1,120 acres; population, 99 souls; 
assessed property, £1,390.; rateable value, £1,315. 

The LiviTI{I is a Perpetual Curacy, augmented with £800. of Queen Annc's 
Bounty, in 17~).1 and 1795, and with £.too. given by Mrs. Mildred Bouchier, 
in 179-!. These sums have been invested iu a small farm, in the adjoining 
township of Wyton, and the yearly income is about £50. Patron, Lord 
Downe; Incumbent, Rev. Edward Williams, for whom the Rev. Johu Robin­
son officiates. The Church (St. Peter) was rebuilt by the Hon. Miss Dawnay 
(sister to Lord Downe), and opened for Divine service in July, 1852. It is 
a small but very neat structure, comprising a na;e, or body, chancel, with a 
vestry on the north side, and a porch on tho south side. It is entirely of 
cut stone, and in the Early English style of architecture, and there are two 
bells in the bell gable. The interior is very neatly fitted up with oaken 
seats. The timber roof is open and stained, and covered with grey stone 
from Bradford. There is a low open screen of wood separating the navo 
from the chancel; the pulpit is of Caen stone, very neatly carved; and tho 
new font is octagonal, having e. carved representation of the Baptism of 
Christ, on one of its sides, and a handsome wooden top of a conical form. On 
the south side of the chancel arc the sedilia and piscina, and on the north 
side a creucnce table. The cast \Vindow, which is of two lights, is filled with 
elegantly stained glass, at the cost of William Raincs, Esq., of Wyton Hall, 
and was erected as a. memorial to that gentleman's father and mother, who 
were buried in the chancel of the old church. The west windo,v is also filled 
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"'ith stained glass, at the expense of Lady Downe. The chnnccl is pe.ved 
with encnustic tiles, and the body with plain tiles, manufactured by :hlinton. 
The church is 70 feet long, and 18 feet wide, and will seat about 100 persons . 
.l\lr. Gcorge T. Andrews, of York, furnished the design. The communion 
plate~up, flagon, and paten-is silrer gilt, and was presented by Lord 
Downe and Lis brother, the Hon. Payan Dawnay. o,·er the entrance to 
the churchyard is a wooden erection, with a slated roof, called a Lycll-gate. 
It is a resting place for the corpse on its way to the church to bo buried. 
Several members of the Haines family were interred in the chancel of the old 
church, but as the south wall of the present chancel runs through the site of 
the old one, some of their graves now lie outside the church, on the south side. 
The tombstones of this family, \vhich were in the old chancel were remo,·ed 
to make way for the encaustic tiles, it being found that the faculty which had 
boon obtained for rebuilding the church, did not contain the usual general 
clause to restore all monuments, as near as may be, to the place from which 
they were taken. They arc now placed outside the church, over such of the 
graves as were within the cbancel of the old church, a part of which, by the 
alteration of the site, became, as we have observed, part of the churchyard. 
On the step between the body of the church and the chancel is a brass plate, 
recording the nnmes of llenry Raines, who died in lu30; Henry Haines, 
in 1660; Henry Raines, in 1721; Henry Raines, in 1747; John Raines, 
in 1752; John Raines, in 1781; William Haines, in 1708; Ann, his wife, 
in 1781 ; William Raines, December lOth, 1833; and Fanny, his wife, who 
died January 26th, 1807. 

The Par1onaue Iioruc hns nearly five acres of land attached to it. 
The IIamlet of Dilton is small, and stands about 4 miles N .E. from Hull. 
Burton Co11atable contains 1247A. 3n. 2P., and is said to belong to West 

Newton township, in the parish of Aldbrougb, though locally situated in the 
parish of Swine. The etymology of Borton, or Burton, is derived by some 
authors from Beorh, or Bu·r, a placo of Druidical sepulture; and by others 
from the Saxou words Burll, a pledge, and ton, a town; the residence of the 
Friborh, the fraukplcdge to the Cro,vn for the peaceable behaviour of all 
persons within the tithing* of which he was the Borsholder. And if the 
latter be the correct derivation of the name, lJo-rh-ton may be considered the 
metropolis of the tithing. Sa11tri-Burton, as this place was called at the 
time of the Conquest, then belonged to the Archbishop of York. Soon after 

• The tithing originally consisted of a community of ten freemen bouseholtl<'rs, 11·ho 
becam<' nnswcmblc for each other's good behaviour t~ the King. Ench tithing formed a 
little state within itself, and chose its own head, who was sometimes called the Alderman 
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tho Domesday Survey, llurton was distinguished by the additional name of 
Ernt~burgh, from its owner, Emeburgh de Durton, the widow of Gilbert do 
Alost. This lady afterwards married Ulbert de Constable, and transferred 
the manor into her husband's family; and it was from the alliance that the 
name of Erneburgh Bumm gradually yielded to Durton Constable. For 
several centuries the manor here was held, as well in part of the Seigniory of 
of Holdemess, as of the Archbishop of York; but fl'om the accession of Sir 
John Constable, Knt., to the Seigniory, in 1579, to the 12th of Charles II. 
(1660), when the feudal tenures \\'ere abolished, it appears to ha\'e been held 
immediately of the Crown. The manor of Burton Constable still continues 
in the family of Constable, a few particulars of whom will be found at page 
809 of this volume. An interesting pedigree of the family is given in Poul­
son's Hi~tonJ of HolderneiB. 

Sir Thoma~ ABtOil Ol~f)"ord Ocm&table, the ~nd Daronet, the present Lord 
Paramount of Holdemess, is son to Sir Thomas Hugh Clifford Constable, 
the 1st Daronet, by the 2nd daughter of John Chichester, Esq., of Arlington, 
Devon. The present Daronet was born in May, 1806, and succeeded his 
father in Feb., 1823. He married, in 1827, Mary Anne, daughter of Charles 
Joseph Chichester, Esq., of Calverleigh, Co. Devon, by Mary Honoria, 3rd 
daughter of Rt. French, Esq., of llasen, Co. Roscommon, Ireland, by whom 
he bad issue Frederick At'1]U8tm Talbot, heir apparent, \Vho was born at 
Drighton, in 1828, and is now o. Maji)T' in tho East York regiment of Militia. 

Scatr.-Burton Constable and Wycliffe Hall, Yorkshire, and Tisall Hall, 
Staffordshire. Toarn. Ruidence, 44, Brook Street, London. 

The Park in which Burton Constable is situated, probably hnd its origin, 
with others in the Wapentake, in the 9th of Edward I. (1281), when Holder· 
ness was diswarrencd. The approach to the mansion from the south-west 
is through a lofty and spacious gateway, with octangular embattled towers, 

of such n tithing, or freouurg, on account of his age ami experience, but most commonly 
the Borslwlder, from Borgh, a surety, and Alder, a bent! or chief. 'fbc members of 
each tithing constituted a court of justice, in which all the little controrcrsies ari~ing 
within the tithing were determined. lf auy member of a tithing committed a crimo 
against the the public laws, aud mndo his escape, nnd tho tithing could not establish 
that none of them bad been accomplices in his crime, or connivcJ at his eseapo, they 
were ot.ligeJ to pny the mnlct, or fine, prescribed t.y U1e law for the crime committed. 
No man could be member or a tithing in which he did not reside; and U1e members 
were nil of equnl rank, Cor thauos wore not members of nny tithing, the family or a 
tbnne ooing considered ns a tithing within itself. A more admirobly adapted political 
expc.Ji.,nt for promoting the pence nnd good order of society, at lcnst in those times, 
could not have been contrivl.'d. Some nnthors assert thnt ten lordships constitute(( 
n tithing. 
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designed by Wyatt, and erected by William Constable, Esq., in li86. There 
is another approach from the south·west. The ornamental pleasure grounds 
were laid out by Launcelot Brown, Esq., known by the soubriquet of " Capa­
bility Brown;" but much has since been tastefully and skilfully added. The 
circuit of the park and grounds is nearly six miles, and about a quarter of 
a mile from the mnnsion is a lake, which covers sixteen acres of ground. 
It is crossed by a good stone bridge of five arches, and in its widest part 
is a small wooded island, the reso11. of swans and wild fowl. A considerable 
portion of the park is allotted to fallow deer, of which there are generolly about 
500 bead. There are two deer paddocks for red deer, which are kept for the 
chase. From the summit of an eminence called Roe Hill, is an extensive 
prospect, including Beverley, Hull, the Humber, &c. There is a splendid 
avenue of ancient elms, and a walk, deeply shaded with horse chesnuts, 
runs parollcl to it. The. walled garden, hot houses, and conservatories, 
occupy about seven acres ; and a beautiful garden has been formed on the west 
lawn, laid out in the French style, ornamented with statues and aviaries, 
containing a collection of rare and curious birds. The park is well wooded, 
and presents, in some parts, some very picturesque scenery. The present 
noble owner of Burton Constable bad races annually in the park, for se\·cral 
years, but they have been discontinued. 

The Seigneurial Jfansion is one of t.J.le oldest and grandest of the baronial 
halls of England. This magnificent structure is said to have been partly 
erected so early as the reign of King Stcpben, but tbo two principal fronts, 
east and west, have been built upon, and added to a more ancient edifice, 
probably of tho time of Henry VIII. The west front is 131 feet in length, 
with a lo\v embattled to\ver at each end. The front is ornamented with Doric 
columns and a pediment, surmounted by a military trophy; and the monogram 
of Cuthbert Constable runs along and forms the parapet. The east front, 
exclusive of two wings, is 133 feet in length. The wings project at right 
angles from the tower, similar to those in the west front, and form three 
sides of a quadrangle. The wings arc not so lofty as the other parts of the 
edifice. This front has a cupola nt each cud, with a Doric pedimeut in tl1e 
centre, supporting the arms of the f11mily. This is the principnl entrance. 
The entire building is erected of stone and brick, covered with plaster. The 
principal fronts are in the Eli?.abethau style, and appear to have been built 
iu the reign of J ames I. The interior of the house is magnificent, and in 
its collection of the fine arts, completeness of furniture, and rich decorations, 
is not surpassed by any of the noble residences in England. 

The great .1!-'ntranct' Hall forms a double cube:>, GO feet long, 30 feet broad, 
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and 30 feet higl1. In tl1is room are em blazoned the arms of the family in ·up­
wards of 70 escutcheons. The elegant chimney piece is Doric, and in niches 
on each side of the fire place are statues of Hcrcules and Demosthenes. On 
the walls are several family and other portraits, and in various parts of this 
splendid room are two beautiful tables in imitation of porphyry, one scagliola, 
a billiard table, stuffed birds, a favourite dog, and a stag renowned for his 
performances in the chase, Chartists' pikes, and flags used in the procession 
at York, when Sir Clifford was High Sheriff of the county. 

The principal Drmri11g Iwom and the Chapel occupy the whole extent of 
the ground floor of the south-west front. The former is a magnificent 
apartment, the antique furniture of which, if removed, can never be replaced. 
'l'bc beautiful white marble chimney piece, including the grate, cost 420 
guineas. Five large mirrors adorn its walls, the ceiling is painted, repre­
senting the seasons, and a magnificent lamp hangs from its centre. In this 
room is a table containing 200 specimens of marble. The Chapel is in the 
Ionic style, and contains many good paintings. Here is the ancient font of 
the old Chapel of Ease, which stood at Marton before the Reforn1ation. 

The DininfJ Room is also Ionic. The walls are ornamented with medal­
lions, vases, &c., in basso-relieve, the subjects of which are all classical. The 
chimney piece is of statuary marble. The Breakfast Room, in the centre of 
the west front, is lighted by a fine projecting window, 18 feet in breadth, and 
U feet in depth. The furniture of this apartment is of green and gold, and 
very costly; the paintings are splendid, and the decorations rich in tbe extreme. 

The ),Jominy Drau:infJ Room is another beautiful apartment, containing 
many excellent paintings. "It would be endless to particularize the various 
ornaments, the splendid branches, chandeliers, &c., in ormolu, with which 
this room is ornamented;" writes Mr. Poulson, "there are no less than 50 
lights, which illuminate this gorgeous apartment at night, and being poured 
upon the mass of gold scattered around, renders the scene most dazzling." 
Two splendid screens here are of needlework, the one a giraffe, by Lady 
Constable; the other a macaw, by l\Iiss Chichester. 

The Chinese Room is fitted up throughout in the Chinese fashion, with 
the exception of the fire place. The Boudoir, or lady's bower, is a small but 
beautiful room. The tables and chairs are of painted velvet, of Paris manu­
facture; the carpet, made at Axminster, is after a design by Lady Constable. 

The Graud I!all and Staircase contain a large number of paintings by the 
first masters, some fine statues, busts, &c. The Librmy is llO feet long, 21 
feet broad, and 17 feet high, not including three recesses, one of which con­
stitutL'S n 1wivntc theatre ; nnotber is nppr0priatl•d to musical performance!!; 
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and the third, o. rending room. · The book cases, which contain about 10,000 
volumes, are of beautiful and highly polished knotted elm. The cornice is 
copied from the Bodleian, at Oxford; the ceiling is very elegantly painted; 
and paintings, statues, and vases, are scattered in profusion. This library 
contains a rich collection of manuscripts relating to the history and topo-
graphy of Holdemess. · 

As we have seen at page 80, the splendid service of gold plate used by 
the Queen, on her visit to Hull, in 1854, was lent by the noble owner of 
Burton Constable. The H1~mlet is situated about 8 miles N.E. from Hull. 

Coniltoll Totcmhip.-A.rea, 000 acres; population, 1Hi souls; rateable 
vo.lue, £703.; assessed property, £913. Tbero does not appear to be any 
manorial rights, and nearly the whole township belongs to Wm. Wilbcrforcc, 
Esq. The place is called Coiningesbi in Domesday, and it probably derived 
its name from having been paut of tho demesne of the Kings before the 
Conquest--Conino being Saxon for King. Tithes commuted in 1789. 

The Hamlet is about one mile S.E. from Swine. 
Ellerby Totcnship.-This township includes the minor hamlets of Dow­

tborpe, Longthorpe, Owbrough, and Woodboll, and contains about 2,500 
acres, and 287 inhabitants. The rateable vo.lue is £2,181., and the assessed 
property amounts to .£2,004. The principo.l landowners arc Sir T. A. C. 
Constable, Rd. Bethell, Esq., and severo.l others. The Hamlet is small, and 
stands about 8 miles N .E. by ~. of Hull. Here is a small Methodist Chapel. 

The farm houses here are, EUerby CottQ{Je, in the occupation of Mr. Henry 
J. Richardson ; Ellerby Lodge, the residence of Mr. Thomas Sparks; and 
Ellerby Grange (Mr. William Dunn), partly rebuilt in I8n. 

Dou:thorpe formerly belonged to the Langdo.les, and having passed through 
several bands, it was sold by C. D. llroadley, Esq., to John Beadle, F.sq., of 
Kirk Ella, its present owner. Dotrtl10rpe Hall is now occupied by Mr. 
John Richnrdson, furmcr. 

Louythorpe, or Langtharpe, was part of the property of the Priory of Swine. 
It afterwards belonged to the Langdnles, and was passed from them iu 
marriage to tl1c Vavasours, one of whom sol<l it to Tbos. Ward, of Burlington, 
merchant, and it is now the property of the Rev. Henry Word. Lanothorpe 
Hall {farm house) was erected about 25 years ago. 

Otrbrou9h was formerly o. grange belonging to the Prior and monks of 
Swine. 01rlnouol• Hotue farm, the property of :Miss Brown, is in tho occu­
pntion of Mr. Robcrt V oase. There arc nppcarances of dells, and remains of 
excavations at Owbrough, but uo certain opini<?n can be formed of what 
l'rcclions may have fonntrly existed here. 
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Thomas Thompson, Esq., F.S.A., author of a work on French Philo&ophy; 
a HiBt{)ry of the Church and PrionJ of Swine; OceUum Pro71Wntorium, or 
Short Ob&ervatiom on the Ancient State of Holderness; HiBtoric Fact& relative 
to the Seaport and Market Toum of Ravempurne, and some tracts on tithes, 
&c., '"as a native of Owbrough. He was for some years a clerk with Messrs. 
Wilbcrforce and Smiths, merchants, in Hull, and he afterwards became a 
partner in the banking house of Smith and Thompson. He represented 
Mcdhurst in three successive Parliaments, and died in Paris in 1828. 

Woodhall was andiently a manor belonging to the family of St. Quintin ; 
and came afterwards to the Langdales, from whom it passed to the Maisters. 
This estate, which adjoins Durton Constable, and consists of about 450 acres, 
was recently purchased of H. W. Maistcr, Esq., of Beverlcy, by Sir T. A. C. 
Constable. The mansion of TVoodhaU, which was built by Henry William 
Maister, Esq., in 1814-15, is a handsome edifice, and commands very exten­
sive prospects. Old Woodhall, now a farm house, has some remains of a 
moat, which appears formerly to ha\'e surrounded it. 

Gamtead Tou-mhip.-This place came by purchase to the knightly family 
of De la Twyer, in the 5th of Henry m. (1221), and for many generations 
it was their seat and property. It was subsequently carried in marriage to 
William St. Quintin, Esq., of Haswell, and it remained with their successors 
for a long period. J. F. Butter, Esq., W. G. Todd, Esq., and Mrs. Brown, 
are the chief proprietors. Area, 802 acres; population, 81; assessed pro­
perty, £1,135; rateable value, £953. The Hamlet is situated about 5 miles 
N .E. of Hull, and 1 mile S. of Swine. 

Gamtead Grange, the property and residence of Carlisle Spedding Parker, 
Esq., is a neat brick edifice, erected about the year 1847. There is a 
good fish pond in the grounds, with a small island in the centre, which is 
reached by means of a bridge. Gan1tead Old HaU, now a farm house, be­
longs to Mrs. Drown, and appears to ha\'e been moated. 

Tuf'rMr Hall, the property of W. G. Todd, Esq., and in the occupation of 
Mr. Wm. Todd, farmer, is an ancient building, partly rebuilt in 1840. 

Marton TowruT,ip.-Meretone, the ancient name of this place, implies that 
it \fas a town iu the neighbourhood of wntery ground. It appears to have 
been designated as East and West .Marton. The place is contiguous to 
Burton Constable, and belongs to Sir T. A. C. Constable. Its area is 950 
acres, and the number of its inhabitants in 1851 was 110. The rateable 
value is £703.; and the assessed property amounts to £1,-120. 

The Hamlet consists of a few scattered farm houses aud cottages, ~ituated 
about Ut miles N.E. from llull. 
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There was an old Clwp1•l t!f Rase hrrc to the mother church of Swine, in 
o.ncieut times, but not a vestige of it is left. Its sitr, however, is known by 
the nnmc of Kirk Go.rth. Pnrt of the remains of the old building were used 
in building a bridge oYer the Lnmwnth strenm. The o.ncient font of this 
chapel is no\v, ns hns been observed, in the privnte chapel at llurtoo Constable. 

There is e. Catholic Chapel nt 1\Iarton, which was errcted by Wm. Con­
stable, ·Esq., who directed the following inscription to be placed in it :-DI'o 

immortal' ,·J>:des has sacms rrt'.rit Gttlielmus Constable, A.D. 1780. The chapel 
is dedicated to St. Mnry, nnd is n plain but nrat building, with a commo­
dious residence for the priest adjoining. The Uev. Hobert Ilogarth is the 
present pastor. 

St. Manj'tJ Srhools, in connexion with this chapel, for children of both 
sexes, are supported by Sir Clifford Constable, nnd a.ppco.r to bo well con­
ducted by Mr. nnd Mrs. Lewis Fordinnnd. There is o. lending library at­
tnchcd to the schools. 

Skirlaug!t Clwpclry.-Tho townships of North nnd South Skirlo.ugh, or 
Skirlnw, form this chnpclry. The Lamwath strram separates them, and the 
Yillages of North and South Skirlaugh arc situated opposite ench other. 

Tho formrr township is on the north side of the stream, in the North 
Division of Holden10ss, and comprises about l:i30 acres, chicfl,v the property 
of R. Dethcll, Esq. Population of North Skirlaugh, 190, and that of Amold, 
which is partly in this township, is 102 souls. Hateable Yaluc, £()29. 

The Hamlet is small, and stnnds about 9 miles N.N.E. from Hull, and 1 
S.W. of Homseo.. The S!.:irlaugl• Poor lAtD Uuion is very extensive, and 
comprises forty-two townships. The U11ion Workhouse stands in the hamlet 
of Rowton, and is a good brick building, erected in 1838-9, at an expense of 
.£2,332., exclusive of the furniture and fixtures; and will o.ccommodnte about 
250 inmates. Chairman of the floard of Guardians, Richard Dcthell, Esq. ; 
Clerk, Mr. Thos.' lll'Coy; Master, Mr. T. Little. 

Rou:ton consists of two farms; Amold will be noticed with .Long Riston­
SouJTI Skirlaug,..-This township contains l,HJO acres, of the rateable 

value of .£1,357.; assessed property, .£1,438.; population, 322 souls. The 
land belongs to several proprietors, of whom Sir T. A. C. Constable is Lord 
of the Manor. There was o. Chapel here in 1:!37, as in that year a dispute 
arose between the inhabitants of Skirlaugh and other places and the Prioress 
and Convent of Swine, relative to the maintenance of a priest to serve every 
day in it. The present elegant structure was built by Waiter Sitirlaw, 
Bishop of Durham, who derived his origin, and took his name, from this se­
cluded spot, where., it is snid, he '"as the son of a sieve or basket maker. 
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(Sec '·ol. i., page 411.) Bishop Skirlaw died sixty years after the above­
mentioned controYersy began, so that there must have been a chapel here 
before his time, which he rebuilt. In 1403, this pious prelate obtained 
the King's and the Archbishop's licence for founding a perpetual chantry 
of two chaplains in this chapel, "out of the devotion and sincere affection 
which he bore to the nunnery of Swine, and to the chapelry of Skirlaw, 
where he was born." 

The Cha~l (St. Augustine) is a beautiful Gothic fabric, consisting of one 
space, with a chapel on the north side, and a tower. It is said to be the 
most complete specimen of ancient architecture to be found in any village in 
the county of York. There are five buttresses on each side of the building, 
with do•1ble buttresses at the angles, all terminating above the battlement 
in handsome crocketed pinnacles. Between each buttress is a window of 
perpendicular character, and of three lights, the dripstone terminating in 
small shields, each bearing the Arms of Bishop Skirlaw. On the south side 
is a small porch, and on the north side is a pointed doorway. The whole 
edifice, including the porch and side chapel, is embattled, and the tower 
finishes in a series of open crocketed trefoil niches, with crocketed pinnacles. 
The interior has a lofty, light, airy appearance. The eastern end is used as 
a chancel, and the piscina is in its usual position ; there is a gallery in the 
west end. The little chapel is used as a vestry. The windows were formerly 
painted, and set with coats of arms. The interior was thoroughly repaired 
in 1810. The impropriate tithes were commuted in 1839; aggregate amount, 
£4. 4s. The living is annexed to the Vicarage of Swine, and the Vicar of 
that place performs Divine service here once eyery Sunday, for which he has 
a yearly stipend of £26. tls., raised by subscription. The chapel estate, 
which consists chiefly of nineteen acres of land, supposed to be given by 
Bishop Skirlaw, produces about £36. per annum, which sum is expended in 
repairing the building. The Vicar of Swine built a neat Par'JQM96 H01U8 
here, in 1843, at a cost of about £460. There are several fine trees in the 
chapel yard. 

The Ha'f'llkt is pleasantly situated on the southern declivity of the vale of 
the Lamwath, about 9 miles N.E. of Hull, and 3 N.E. of Swine. The Wes­
leyans and Primitive Methodists have each a small chapel here, both erected 
in 1821. In a bank, forming part of some extensive earthworks in this 
township, a large quantity of celts, spear heads, sword-blades, &c., of a mixed 
metal like brass, was discovered in the year 1809. These remains of the 
Ancient Britons were wrapped in coarse strong linen cloth, and enclosed in a 
case of wood, which was broken into pieces by the plough. 

VOL. li, 3 J:: 
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John Bigla/l(l, the well known author of Letter• on IfutO"ry, A Topoyrapltical 
and Hi1torical De1criptum of l'orklhirs, and several other useful works, was, 
according to n memoir written by himself, born at Skir)augh, though Mr. 
Poulson states that he (Bigland) was a native of Aldbrough. 

The trustees of Langdale's charity pay to the schoolmaster ten guineas a 
year for the education of ten poor children, and there is about the same sum, 
from the same source, expended in apprenticing poor boys. 

Thit·tlsby, or Thit·klelnj, To~tmhip.-Area, 750 acres; population, 69 souls; 
rateable value, £843.; assessed property, £1,07~. The principal proprietors 
are the Rev. H. Torr, Mr. Edward Walker, Mr. T. Stephenson, and Mr. S. 
C. Walker. ThirtJeby is included in the manor of WoodbaJJ. The Hamla 
stands about 7 miles N.E. of Hull, and 2 E. by S. of Swine. The impro­
priate tithes, the property of Lord Dowoe, were commuted, in 184~, for a 
rent charge of £68. 18s. 6d. 

Wyton Totcmhip.-In 180·1 the estate of Wyton was carried in marriage 
to the Brighams, of Drigham, in the East Riding. In the 35th of Henry 
VIII. (U42), Thomas Drigham, Esq., held the manor of Wyton. In 1767 
the manor and estate of the lato Wm. Brigham, Esq., consisting of about 
400 acres of e~~closed lands, were sold by public auction. The family of 
Raines possessed considerable property, held the manor, and lived here for 
more than two centuries and a half. This family formerly had estates in 
several of the neighbouring townships. The prineipo.l landowners at Wyton 
arc Wm. Raines, Esq. (Lord of the Mauor), Mrs. Clubley, and Geo. Alder, 
Esq. The township comprises about 630 acres according to local estimation, 
but 788 acres according to the Parliamentary returns of the census of 18tH. 
Hateable value, £1,058; population, 01 souls. Lord Viscount Downe is 
the lay impropriator, and the impropriate tithes have been commuted for 
£201. lOs. 6cl. Tho Hamlet of Wyton, anciently caJJed Widstune, is plea· 
santly situated. and neatly built, on the road from Hull to Sproatley, about 
5 miles N.E. from the former town, and 4 miles N. of Hedon. 

Wyton Hall was rr.built by Captain Raines (grandfather of the present 
owner), about the year 1785. In 1807 the late Mr. Raines sold it, together 
with about 200 acres of land, to Mr. Meadley, of Aldbrough, from whose 
trustees it passed to Mr. Craven ; but the estate was r&-purchased a few 
years ago, by William Raines, Esq., his son, who now resides there. The 
house is of brick, covered with compo, large, and three stories in height, 
with two good fronts. The principal front is graced with a handsome po~'­
tico, supported by four fine pillars. The latter appendage has recently been 
erected. The interior is very good, and the rooms are large and commodious. 
The situation of the ha)) is well wooded and pleasant. 
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'ruNSTALL.-Tbis parish lies along the sea cliff', and at the time of the 
Domesday Su"ey must have been considerable, as it is stated in that record 
to contain two carucates. It has suffered materially from the devastation& 
of the sea, upwards of 100 acres have been swallowed up within the last 60 
years. In 1786 the distance from the sea to Tunstall Church, was 924 
yards; in 1833, the distance was only 763 yards. The manor now consists 
of 1,293 acres, and is co-extensive with the parish. It belongs chiefly to 
Col. Grimston (Lord of the Manor), and Messrs. E. Lorrimer and J. Snaith, 
and a few others. Amount of assessed property, £1,463.; population, 159. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at £20., and now worth but 
£52. per annum. It was augmented with £600. of Queen Aune's Bounty. 
The Succentor of York Cathedral is the patron, but under the Cathedral Act 
the Archbishop will be the patron after the termination of the e:tisting 
interest of Dr. Howard, the present Succentor. The Rev. Isaac Dixon is the 
present Vicar. The tithes were commuted at the enclosure in 1777. 

The Church (All Saints) is a Gothic structure, comprising a nave, side 
aiales, chancel, square embattled tower, and a modem brick porch. It stands 
on elevated ground, and is very much exposed to the beating winds from 
every quarter of the compass. There is a fine window in the west face of 
the tower, and the clerestory of the nave has three depressed arched windows 
of three lights. The nave is divided from the aisles by three pointed arches, 
resting on octangular pillars. There is a gallery at the west end. The font 
is of granite, octangular, and has had small pillars round its centre shaft. 
There are two bells in the tower. 

The Villag~ is small, and is situated near the German Ocean, about 14 
miles E. by N. of Hull, and 8 miles E.N.E. from Hedon. The beach affords 
excellent materials for the repairs of the Holdemess roads. 

WAGHEN or WAwN.e:.-The name of this place signifies a highway. The 
parish consists of the townships of Wawne and Meaux, containing together 
6,085 acres, and a population of 347 souls. The amount of assessed property 
is £4,740. The township of Wawne contains 3,695 acres, and the number 
of its inhabitants is 258. The manor was granted to the monks of Meaux in 
1294, and is now the property of Joseph Smyth Windham, Esq. Thero is 
another manor in Wawne called the Rectory .Manor, but no manorial rights 
arc exercised. The soil is chiefly a loamy sand, with a little carr. 

The Church was given to the Abbey of Meaux by William le Gros. The 
Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in the peculiar jurisdiction and patronage 
of the Chancellor of the Cathedral of York, valued at £7. Os. 10d., augmented 
in 1810 with £200. of Queen Anne's Bounty, and now returned at £200. per 
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ann. Vicar, Rev. Geo. Dixon. At the enclosure, in 1804, the tithes were 
commuted for a fixed rent on the old, and an allotment of 806 acres of the 
netD enclosures. The Fabric tSt. Peter) is ancient, and consists of a nave 
and aisles, chancel, and a neat tower at the west end of the north aisle. At 
the west end of the nave is a fine pointed Perpendicu1ar window of five 
lights, and there are some square-headed windows in other parts of the 
edifice. The whole structure is embattled. The nave and aisles are divided 
by pointed arches resting on circular columns. The chancel arch is pointed 
and plain, and beneath it is an old screen. The chancel is open to the roof, 
and the sedilia and piscina are in the usual places. The roof of tl1e nave is 
panelled, and displays several carved bosses. The church was repaired and 
repcwed a few years ago. There arc four bells and a clock in the tower. 

The Village, which is small and scattered, is pleasantly situated on the 
east side of the river Hull, over which there is a ferry. It is about 6 miles 
N. of Hull, and 5 S.E. by S. of Beverley, and there is a good deal of wood 
about it. On removing an old wall near an ancient farm house called Keuley, 
some years ago, a silver crucifix, a hawk's bell, a dagger, and some other 
curious relics were found. The Poor have the rent of eight acres of land in 
Cottingham, purchased in 1691} with £50. left by Sir Joseph Aske. 

M11aux Towmhip.-Meaux was so named by its Norman possessors, after 
the city of Meaux in Normandy, from whence they came. The estimated 
extent of this township is 1542 acres, but the Parliamentary returns gives 
the area at 1300 acres. The rateable value is £1,704., and the principal 
landowuers are Robert Wise Richardson, Esq., the Crown, and Lonl Londes­
borough. Sir T. A. C. Constable is Lord of the Manor. 

The Hamlet is scattered, and stands about 7 miles N. of llull. A small 
DU8entin9 Chapel was erected here in 1823, and is now used by the Indepen­
dents and Methodists. Meaux Grauge, the residence of R. W. Richardson, 
Esq., is a neat house, in front of which is a fine tesselatcd pavement, re­
moved from the site of the Abbey Church in 1833. 

The once splendid and ricbly·cndowcd Cutercian Abbey of Melsa, or Meauz, 
was founded in the year 1150, by Willia.m le Gros, Earl of Albemarle and 
Lord of Holdcrness, who having vowed to make a pilgrimage to the Holy 
Sepulchre, and being, in consequence of increasing corpulency, unfit to per­
form such a journey, built this monastery in commutation of his vow, and 
endowed it with possessions sufficiently ample to maintain the establishment. 
Having resolved to found a monastery, he consulted a monk of Fountains 
Abbey, named Adam, celebrated equally for his piety and architectural skill, 
and the site which the monk selected, was an eminence in the beautiful but 
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sequestered hamlet of Meaux. The choice did not pleo.se the Earl, for it was 
a favourite situation, which he intended to convert into a park, as it was 
surrounded by-woods and pools of water, and had but recently come into his 
possession by exchange. He desired the monk to reconsider the matter, and 
he did so, but his former resolution was confirmed. Striking his staff into 
the ground, and looking on the scene before him, which, through a broad 
avenue of lofty trees, terminated in a noble view of the Humber, he exclaimed 
with enthusiasm, "Hie locus, nempe vocitetur aula regis .....• etiam vineaque 
cceli portaque vibe, gena hie creatur Christicolarum." (This place shall in 
future be called the door of life, the vineyard of heaven, and shall for ever 
Le consecrated to religion and the service of God.) Under the direction of 
Adam a magnificent edifice was erected in the wood, adorned 'vith stately 
pinnacles and towers, and enriched with tesselated pavements. It was dedi· 
cated to God in honour of the Blessed Virgin ; monks were brought hither 
from the Abbey of Fountains, and Adam, the architect of the building, became 
the first Abbot of the new community. The Abbey of Meaux rose rapidly 
into importance under the fostering protection of its noble founder, and the 
monks were also indebted to many of the neighbouring barons and gentry 
for extensive grants of lands, particularly in Yorkshire. Of these grants, 
together with the privileges, &c., the histories and registers of the Abbey 
contain full records, the most perfect of which are to be found in an original 
chartulary, beautifully written, upon vellum, about the close of the 14th 
century, and no'v preserved in the British Museum. This chartulary was 
one of the volumes in the library of Sir Thomas Cotton, and did not entirely 
escape the effects of the fire which threatened the total destruction of that 
im·aluable collection. There is a valuable history of the monastery, entitled 
"Liber Melse," of which there is a copy in the library of the lste W. H. 
Smyth, Esq., of Heath, Yorkshire. The former work contains a list of 132 
places where the monks of .Melsa bad possessions. 

In Wagben alone the Abbot of Meaux had HIS tenants, who paid various 
sums, from £8. Os. Sd. down to 2d., yearly, the whole amounting to £66. Ss. 
4!d. We have sbetrn in the history of Kingston·upon-Hull that the site of that 
town was the property of the monks of l'r!eaux, and that it was exchanged for 
lands in other places, with l(ing Edward I. The Cistcrcians, an order modi­
fied from the austere principles of St. Benedict, were established in England 
at an eo.rly period, and though they professed the utmost simplicity, the re· 
ligious of the order soon became exceedingly wealthy. (See page 882.) 

The monks of 1\Ielsa possessed many privileges; they were quit of all pleas 
of murder, free from all tithes and t·oyal exactions, exempt from suit and 
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secular service, and endowed with all the same laws, customs, and immuni· 
ties, which were enjoyed by the church of St. Peter at York. In the ancient 
records of the Abbey are upwards of 80 Pope's Bulls, 61 charters of the 
Archbishop and Chapter of York, and several charters granted by the Kings 
of England. The Abbey church was very rich in relics, and the library was 
extensive. " Holderness," writes Poulson, " may well mourn over the loss 
of the key of many of her antiquities." The number of monks at Melsa 
varied at different periods, from 36 to 50; but it does not appear that there 
were moro than the Abbot and 24 monks pensioned at the dissolution, when 
the revenues of the Abbey were valued at .£291l., according to Dugdale, and 
at .£415. per annum, according to Speed. 

The following list or Abbots of Meaux will be found pretty correct :-Adam, the first 
Abbot, resigned in 1160; Philip, occurs in 1182; Thomas; HIJ8h,•oocurs in 1210; 
Geoftrey de Sawtry, in 1220; Richard de Ottringham, 1221 ; Miehael de Brunne, lztO; 
Wm. do Driftleld, l ~~~; Rd. de Tbomton, 1269; Rt. de Skyren, 1270; Rd. de Baeton, 
1280; Roger de Drillleld, 1286; Adam de Skyren, 1:310; Hugb do Lowon; William de 
Dringhoe, 1:!-10; John do Reysclcy, 13:10; Rt. de Dc,·erley, 13!10; Wm. de Dringhoe, 
1367; Wm. de Ursingham, 1372; Thomas de Durton, 1306; John de Holland, 14.23; 
Pbilip Davill, 144:>; John de Sntton, 14:>8; Wm. Feryfl'; Ralpb Sloamt'l, 1471 ; John 
Clapham, 1~; and Rd. Stopee, the last Abbot, well knowing that "in the King's favour 
was life," surrendered the Abbey on the 11th December, 16-iO." 

The Abbey is considered to have been a splendid pile, the pride and orna­
ment-of this part of Holderness; and such was the spirit of the time of its 
dissolution, that, we are told, it took only as many days to destroy it, as it 
had taken years to erect it. The Monasticon states that in the 8rd of Ed­
ward VI. (1550), the site was granted to John, Earl of Warwick; but iu 
the 8rd of Elizabeth, the Queen granted the site of the Abbey, and much of 
the property belonging to it, to Dudley, Earl of Leicester, her favourite. 
The site, and lands adjoining, are now the property of R. W. Richardson, 
Esq., of Meaux Grange, having descended to him from his uncle Rt. Wise, 
Esq., whose father purchased them of the Earl Fitzwilliam. The circuit 
of the Abbey was 60 acres, of the orchard 20 acres, of the garden 5 acres, 
total 85 acres. The dc.-ep moats around it are distinctly traceable. A small 
arched gateway, and a few fragments of the outer walls, llre all that now TO­

main standing of this once splendid monastery. The ground occupied by the 
church can yet be traced; near it is a subterranean passage, which has been 
explored to a considerable extent, and is partly filled with water. The site 
of the Abbey is now rich grazing land, with en abundance of fine old wood. 
lrfany antique relics have been discovered here from time to time. Beneath 
the brick pavement of the floor of the Abbey, which had not been previously 

o tzoobyGoogle 



H£STORY OF HOLDERNESS. 30(} 

disturbed, a stone coffin was found in 1834, containing human bones and the 
common seal of the house. The latter is circular, with a legend, and exhibits 
a crowned figure of the Blessed Virgin, seated, with the Divine Infant in her 
lap. In the garden of the Abbey farm an old draw well was discovered a 
few years ago, and among other relics found therein, were an old tankard, an 
antique knife, a key, and a ring. This well has been cleaned, and the water 
is excellent. In the garden of the farm house is a large floor stone, which 
has had a brass effigy of a lady, and an inscription, said to be designed for 
the Countess of Albemarle, wife of William le Gros. There is a tesselated 
pavement in the same place. In the decoy have been found a stag's horn, 
a silver ring, inscribed "Sir W~. Alford, of Meaux," a brass thimble, &c. 
In front of Mr. Richardson 's house is, as has been observed, a tesselated 
pavement; and in the garden is a floor stone, about 6 feet long, broken into 
fragments, removed from the Abbey ruins, bearing a legend, and the figure 
of an Abbot, "'ith a pastoral staff, under a crockcted canopy. Beneath this 
stone a skeleton was found, nearly entire, but no remains of a coffin. 

HOLDERNESS NORTH DIVISION.-The following parishes com· 
prise the north division or bailiwick of the Wapentake of Holderness, viz.:­
Atwick, Barmston, Beeford, Brandesburton, Catwick, North Frodingham, 
Goxhill, Hornsea, Leven, Mappleton, Nunkeeling, Rise, Long Riston, Routb, 
Sigglesthorne, Skipsea, and Withemwiek. 

A'rwiclf.-The parish of Atwick, or Attenwick, is bounded on the east by 
tbe German Ocean, and comprises, including the manors of Arram and Skir· 
lington, about 2,186 acres, and a population of 824 persons. The rateable 
value of Atwick, without th" hamlets, is £1,61}4.; that of the whole parish is 
£2,688. The soil is a stiff but very fertile clay. The sea view to Bridlington 
Quay and Flamborough Head is extensive and beautiful. The manor of 
Atwick was in the families of HllStings, Mauley, Bigot, Salvaine, Bulmer, 
Ughtred, and Constable, but the manorial rights of the place are now the 
subject of dispute. The principal landowners are William Ward, Esq., Mr. 
George Mason Gale, the Misses Ogle, and Messrs. Wm. Lowson and J. T. 
Dickinson. The OlaurcA formerly belonged to the Priory of St. Mary, Brid· 
lington, to which it was granted by Everard de Roos, in the 12th century. 

The Liffing is a Discharged Vicarage, rated in the King's Books at 
£4. 7s. lld., and now returned at £14U. nett. Patron, the Crown; Vicar 
Rev. Cyril W. Wood. The small tithes were commuted in 1772, for 26t 
acres of glebe, and an annual payment of £11). The Edifiu (St. Lawrence) 
consists of a nave, chancel, and a small square tower of brick, containing 
two bells. The tower was rebuilt by the pariah, and the chancel repaired, 
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in 182U. The roof of the nnve is flat. The late Vicar has built o. handsome 
l'i~ara!Je Houu, of white brick, o.t a cost of nearly .£1,000.; .£300. of which 
was raised by Gilbert's Act, and .£100. from Queen Anne's Bounty. 

The ViUa9e is pleasantly situated, near the sea, about 2 miles N. from 
Homsea. In the centre of it is a part of the shaft of an old stone cro68, 
rnised on three steps, the height of the whole being now about 1li feet. In 
17H6 the cross was distant from the sc:>a 33 chains 01links, it is now scarcely 
half that distance. A portion of a tusk, 3 feet 2 inches in length, 1 foot 8 
inches in circumference, and weighing 4 stone 2 pounds, was discovered some 
years ago, on the sea shore at this place, having fo.llcn from the cliff. It is 
supposed to have been thrice as long when entire, and is undoubtedly the 
tusk of the fossil elephant. It was pres;nted to the late Dr. Alderson of 
Hull. A small Wcaleyan Chapel was erected here in 1821. 

Alwick Hall, the property of William Ward, Esq., forms a conspicuous 
feature in the village. 

Edrrard Fcmrick, in 108!1, bequeathed land at Beeford (in lieu of \Vhich 
33 acres was allotted at the enclosure), the rents to be applied to tho educ.a· 
tion of the poor children of the parish, and the apprenticing one poor boy 
every year. The annual rent is now about £40., of which the master of the 
parish school receives £21. per annum, for teaching 17 poor boys; two 
guineas a year is applied to the support of the Sunday school; and about 
£15. ·a year is expended in apprenticing and clothing poor boys. The 
schoolmaster has also five guineas a year from Burtat&'• Charily, which con· 
sists of 18A. 8n. of land, in Homsea parish, left by Ralph Burton in 1726, 
The remainder of the rents of this land is expellPed upon the poor. 

Arram, or Ergham, is a small hamlet and manor, 2 miles S.W. of Atwick, 
which at an early period belongro to the Abbey of Meaux, and at the disso- • 
lution it came to the Crown. Queen Elizabeth granted it to Sir Christopher 
Hatton, Lord Chancellor, and after passing through several hands, it was 
carried in marriage, by the heiress of Alderman Dobson, of Hull, to Sir 
Christopher Hildyard, and it continued in this family till1804, when it was 
purchased by John Bainton, Esq. The estate contains about 490 acres. 
The Manor House, called Arram Hall, the residence of Mr. Dainton, appears 
to have been built in the reign of Jamcs 1., either upon or very near a more 
ancient mansion. 

Skirlingt<m is another hamlet and manor in tltis parish, situated about 2 
miles N. of Atwick. The place formerly bud owners who derived their name 
from it, and one of whom gave it to the Priory of Bridlington. At the dis­
solution it came into. the possession of the Crown, and since passed through 
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various hnnds. The place now consists of two farms, or estates, called High 
and Low Skirlington. Higl& Skirlin[Jton, containing 188 acres, is the pro­
perty of Mr. George Etherington, and the residence of his son, Mr. Thomas 
Etheriugton. The house stands on high ground. Low Skirlington was 
purchased by the Rev. John Gilby, and was carried in marriage, by his 
daughter, to the late Col. Deresford, of Chilwell Hall, near Nottingham. The 
farm contains 125 acres, and is the property of Mrs. Deresford. 

DAR:'IISTON.-The ancient name of this parish, Berne&ton, is probably de­
rived from its original possessor, or cultivator, and was Bcm'• tou-n. At the 
beginning of the 12th century Sir Alan de Monceaux, Knt. (a Norman), held 
this and other manors, as a vassal of the Lord of Holdemess ; and about the 
year 1430, the Lord~hip and P..ectory of Darmston descended by an heiress 
of the family of Monceaux into that of De la See. Sir Martin de la See, 
Knt., tbo issue of this marriage, left two daughters, co·heiresscs, of whom 
1\Iargaret, the eldest, married Sir Henry Doynton, Knt., and on the death of 
her father, in 1407, she transferred the manor and P..cctory to the family of 
Boynton, in which they have continued for fourteen generations. The area 
of the parish is about 2,300 acres, of the rateable Yalue of £3,319.; assessed 
property, £4,662.; population, 249 persons. Sir Henry Doynton, Dart., is 
the owner of the whole parish except the glebe land. 

Barmston is the most northern parish in Holderness, and is separated on 
the north and west from the Dickering Wapentakc, by the E'arl's Dyke, or 
Watcrmill Deck, which, according to Leland, was made by one of the Albe­
marles, Earls of Holdemess. This dyke emptied its waters into the Old 

Iloo, or How, which conveyed them into the rit'er Hull, near Froclingham; 
but \vhen the Beverley and Barmston Drain was formed, part of this ancient 
\ratercourse wns taken into it. (See vol. i. p. 5.) 

The Benefice is a Rectory, rated at £13. lls. 10d., and now worth £1,065. 
nett per annum. Patron, Sir H. Boynton; Rector, Rev. John Wm. Bower. 
The rent charge, in lieu of tithes, is about £680., and there are 38 acres of 
glebe land in this parish, and 67 acres in the township of Ulrome, which 
extends into Darmston. The Church (All Saints) is an ancient edifice in tho 
Perpendicular style, and consists of a nave, south aisle, chancel, south porch, 
and an embattled tower at the south-west angle. The aisle, which was a 
chantry dedicated to St. Mary, was formerly enclosed by a Gothic screen, 
and the entrance to it, from the churchyard, was through a small doorway, 
which is now blocked up. The tower opens into this aisle. The inner door 
of the porch is curious, and is referred to the second class of the second style 
of the Norman era; and there is o. small narrow doorway on the north side. 

VOL. ll. S F 
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These doorways are supposed to be part of the old church of this parish, 
which was probably built by Sir A. Monceaux, about the year 1100. In the 
centre of the chancel is a table monument, of alabaster, to the memory of 
Sir Marlin de la See, Knt., who died in 149-i. The dado exhibits, in 
panelled niches, seven full length figures of angels, on each side, holding 
blank shields. On the slab is the recambent figure of a Knight, in plate 
armour; his hands are joined in prayer, his feet rest on a lion, and his bead 
on a helmet. He has a conical headpiece, and the fillet in which the 
bead is bound, bean this motto:-" J esu N azarene." The church contains 
several memorials of the Boynton family. The font is large, ancient, and 
curious. The &ckwy Houu is a neat residence. 

The &v. Wm. Dade, Rector of Barmston, who died here in 1790, had 
prepared, and was considerably adTanced in a History of Holdemess at the 
time of his death; and it is to the Dade Manuscripts that Poulson's History 
of the Seigniory owes its origin. 

'fhe Village is situated at the northern extremity of Holdemess, on the 
Hull road, and near the sea, about 6 miles S. of Bridlington. Great quan· 
tities of gravel are carried from the coast here, for the reparation of the roads. 
The Sclwol was built bj Sir Francis Boynton, in 1818. Here is a Metlwdi# 
Chapel, erected in 1839. An .Alrmhowe, for four poor widows of this parish, 
was founded in 1726, by Sir Griffitb Boynton, who endowed it with £15. 
per annum. The poor of Barmston, Ulrome, Brandesburton, and Skeftling, 
have the interest of £300., turnpike securities, bequeathed by the Rev. John 
Holmes, in 1772. The ManOT Houu (now occupied by a farmer) is a large 
stone building, situated near the church, and is part of the right wing of ·the 
ancient and venerable mansion originally designed by Sir Thomas Boynton, 
Knt., in the reign of Elizabeth, but completed by Sir Francis Boynton, Knt., 
his son and successor. It was deeply moated on all sides, and was accessible 
only by a draw bridge. The houee was dismantled by the great great grand­
father of the present owner, and from the materials arose many good farm 
houses. Sir Francis Boynton, the second Baronet, who died in 1695, was 
the last of the name who lived there, from which period Burton Agnes 
became the family seat. 

Hmbum and Winkton were hamlets in this parish, long since depopulated. 
BEEFORD.-The townships of Beeford and Dunnington, and the chapelry 

of Lisaett, are comprised in this parish, the area of the whole being 5,461 
acres. The assessed property amounts to £5,177.; the rateable \'alue to 

t-',201.; and the population, in 1851, was 1,000 souls. The T0t1m1hip of 
B~ford contains 3,4 70 acres, and 808 inhabitants. Before the Reformation 
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the manor of Beeford belonged to the Commandery, at Beverley, belonging 
to the Hospital of St. John of Jerusalem, and after that period it passed from 
the King, through several successive families. The chief landholders at 
present are Thomas Prickett, Esq., of Bridlington (Lord of the Manor), John 
Stocks, Esq., W. Harland, Esq., A. Saltmarsh, Esq., the Rector, in right of 
his tithes, and Mr. Thomas Crooke (a minor), of Beeford. This place is of 
considerable antiquity, it being recorded in Domesday Book that there was 
a church here at the time of that survey. At an early period this church 
was given to the Priory of Bridlington, and the Knights Templars; hence it 
became a Rectory of a double patronage, and so continued till the dissolution. 
There were several churches in Yorkshire similarly situated, the Rectories 
being divided into two moieties. There were two Rectors, and two parsonage 
houses. The church was common to both, who officiated alternately. In 
Hl47 this, with many other Rectories, was granted by the King to the Arch­
bishop of York, and his successors, in exchange for other lands anciently 
belonging to his See. The Rectory is valued in the Liber Regis at £22., 
and is now worth about £780. per annum. The V en. Step hen Creyke, 
Archdeacon of York, is the present Rector. The tithes of Beeford township 
were commuted in 1 i66, for 290 acres of land and a money payment. 

The Church (St. Leonard) is in the Perpendicular style, and consists of a 
nave, south aisle, chancel, porch, and tower. The latter appendage is well­
proportioned, aud finished with a beautiful parapet, composed of a series of 
open crocketed niches, surmounted with eight large pinnacles. The windows 
are of various shapes. The chancel was partly rebuilt of brick in 1719. 
The nave and chancel are divided by a screen of carved oak, and the aisle is 
separated from the nave by three pointed arches resting on octagonal columns. 
At the west end is a gallery. The ancient carved seats remain in the 
chancel, but the desks are gone. In the floor of the chancel, on a blue 
marble slab, is inserted a brass effigy of Thomas Tonge, who was collated to 
the Rectory of Beeford in 1431. The figure, which is 3 feet 2 inches in 
height, is dressed in a richly omamented cope, and is in good preservation. 
Against the south wall of the chancel is a sculptured figure of St. Leonard. 
The present &ctory HQUU was erected a few years ago, and is a handsome 
commodious residence. At tho enclosure of the township, 11 acres of land 
were allotted, in lieu of certain balks, for the repairs of the church. 

The Villag6 is long and straggling, and stands about 8 miles E.S.E. of 
Great Driffield. On the village green is a round-house, or temporary lock-up, 
for misdemeanants, and near it the Stocks-those all but obsolete relics of 
bygone times may still be found standing in primeval dignity." 
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The Wesleyans, Independents, and Primitive Methodists, June each a 
chapel, nnd there is also a National School established here. The latter was 
built in 1815, and is supported by Mr. Prickett and the Rector. 

On the road towards Upton there are many small garths, or inclosures, 
where foundations of houses seem formerly to ha\·o existed. 

Orow Garth, or Crow Grange, formerly in the possession of the Abbey of 
Meaux, and now the residence of Mrs. Crooke, and the property of trustees 
for her son, l\fr. T. Crool<e (a minor), is a farm of about 1i0 acres, purchasetl 
by the late Mr. J. D. Crooke. The house, which \vas enlarged in 1840, 
stands about half a mile east of the church, partly in the township of Beeford 
and partly in that of Driughoc, in Skipsca parish. There is a large fish 
pon,d at the rcnr of tho building. Moor Gra11ge, the residence and property 
of Johu Stocks, Esq., is a large brick building, situate about 2 miles N.W. of 
llccford. The estate, which consists of 44 7 acres, was purchased by the 
uncle of :i\Ir. Stocks, the late Baron Wood, who pulled down the old building, 
and erected the pl'cscnt house in 1813. A few yards from the house is a 
deep broad moat, which formerly surrounded the large granary or storehouse 
of the monks of M eaux, to whom the place belonged. About lOO acres of 
plnntutions surround the house. The tithes of this estate, and that of Crow 
Grnnge, were commuted for an annual payment of £11. 

Dunniugton Tou·nship.-Area, 841 acres; population, 60 souls; assessed 
property, £1,022. Dunuiogton, or Doclinglon, as it was anciently culled, was 
a soke of the manor of Bccford. John llrigbam, Esq., of llrigharo and 
Wyton, who died in 1711, acquired this manor from his aunt CatberinE', 
wido\V of his uncle Gcorgo Crcswell. Wm. Brigbam, Esq., who died in 
1i0i, sold Dumuugton to Mr. llell, of Hedon. The chief proprietors at 
present arc Thos. Pcnrson Richardson, Esq. (Lord of the :Manor), the trus· 
tees of the late Jos. Hopkinsou, Esq., and Messrs. John nod Wm. Jordan. 

The Hamlet consists of n few scattered farm houses and cottages, about 6 
miles N.X.W. of Horusca. There is reason to suppose that there was once 
11 considemblc Yillagc here, as many foundations are met with in a field 
adjoining the manor; and it is certAin that there was a small Chapel of 
Ease here, as part of the foundations may yet be traced, nud the cilapcl yard 
is still a separate enclosure, and continues to be a place of interment. At 
the endosurc 40 acres of land and .£ lG. per annum, were allotted to the 
Iteetor of Beeford, in lieu of all tithes. Here is a Primitil·e Metlwdi~t 
Chapel, built in 1830. 

Drmnb1gton Ho11.se, at present in the occupation of Charles K. Ilopkinson, 
.F.sq., is n large commodious brick builJiug, attached to which arc some omn-

o tzoobyGoogle 



HtSTORY OF JIOLDER~ESS. 40li 

meutal plantations, a good farm, farm buildings, &c. This place is now 
advertised for sale. 

Dunnin!JtOn Grange, a good farm house, and farm of about 15() acres, has 
just been purchased of the Hopkinson family, by Mr. Jeremiah Lamplough. 

Liuctt Cliapelry.-The manor of Lissett belongod to the ancient Lords of 
Darmston, and after passing through the Hildyards and other families, it 
was purchased in 1836, by Joscph Dent, EsiJ., of Tiibston Hall, who owns 
all the land except the tithe farm of 133 acres, which, at the enclosure, was 
allotted to the llector of Deeford, in lieu of tithes. Area, 1,008 acres; of 
the rateable value of .£1,445.; population, 123 souls. The llamltt is small, 
and stands about 7 miles S.S.W. of Bridlington, and 3 )<.E. from Dceford. 

Tho Chapel (St. James) is a small humble building, consisting of a body, 
chancel, and motlem porch. Those parts of it that remain unaltered Rro 
probably of the 12th or early part of the 13th century. The south door has 
u Saxon or Norman arch. The chancel arch is low, plain, and semicircular, 
and rests on low piers. There is a piscina in the chancel, and the font is a 
plain cylindrical bowl, set on a modem bl<ick of stone. About a century 
ago a dreadful storm uuroofed this chnpel, and otherwise injured it. The 
cba.pelry is attached to Deeford, and has a right of sepulture. 

The Manor House (now a farm house) is nn old brick building, at the 
west end of the chapel. 

For the Tou·t18hip of Eske, which is in this dh·ision of Holderness, see 
page 298. 

llnANDESBURTOS.-This parish includes the to\vnships of Drondesburton 
and .Moor Town. The etymology of Durton is noticed at page 386. Certain 
lands at Brantislmrtmt~ were given to the church of St. John of lleverley, by 
the Saxon King Athclstan, and were in the possession of that establishment 
at the time of the Domesday Survey. Among the families who held posses­
sions in this place at an early date, occurs that of St. Quintin, who are said to 
ha,·c received their name from the capital of Picardy, in France, and to have 
accompanied William the Conqueror to England. About the reign of Richard, 
or .John, Herbert St. Quintiu, Lord of this l\Ianor, granted a license to the 
monks of i\Ieault to make a ditch between llrandesburton and Hayholme. 
In 1280 Ucrbert St. Quintin obtained, for himself and heirs, o. charter for a 
weekly market on Thursdays, o.ud o. fair at Drandcsburton yearly, on the feast 
of the Invention of the lioly Cross; and in the same year he had a grant of 
free warren here, and in several other plnces in Holderncss. About the end 
of the Uth century Lora, daughter and co-heiress of Sir Ilerbert St. Quintiu, 
Knt., carried this manor in marriage to f::ir llobert Grey, Kut., and it after· 
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wards descended to the Dacre family. The manor and upwards of 3,000 
acres of the soil was assigned in trust to the Lord Mayor and Aldermen of 
London, by Lady Dacres, the wife of Gregory Lord Dacres, for the benefit 
of Emanuel Hospital, Westminster, which she foundod.. Gregory Lord 
Dacres died in 1594, and Lady Anna diod in 1595, and both are buried 
beneath an altar tomb bearing their effigies, situated under an arch of the 
south wall of the churchyard of Chelsea. 

Besides the .Trustees, or Governors, of Emanuel Hospital, who are the 
Lords of the Manor, the other chief landowners here are Richard Bethell, 
Esq., Jonathan Harrison, Esq., and Mrs. W. H. Dixon. The area of the 
entire parish, according to the last Parli!lmentary return, is 5,060 acres; 
and the population 779 souls. Brandaburton Towmhip contains 4,562 acres, 
of the rateable value of £6,507. It extends three miles westward, to the 
hamlets of Bu,.,hiU and Bcuwick Stur, on the banks of the river Hull, where 
the carrs form rich pastures. The other lands are generally fertile. 

1'he Liuing, which came to the Crown after the dissolution of the Colle­
giate Society of St. John, at Beverley, is a Rectory, in the gift of St. John's 
College, Cambridge, Dr. Watson, Bishop of St. David's, having given it to 
that College before 1699. It is rated in the King's Books at £24. 13s. 4d., 
and its present nett value is returned at £805. The present Rector is the 
Rev. John Hymers, D.D. The Church (St. Mary) is a large ancient fabric, · 
of the latter part of the 15th century, having a nave, with aisles, a chancel, 
and an embattled tower at the west end, and a large porch on the south side. 
It is built of sea cobbles, and patchod with brick, with stone dressings. The 
porch is of brick, and the whole is embattled. The windows o£ the tower 
and clerestory of the nave are square-beaded. The chancel has a low leaden 
roof, and some of its windows being blocked up, it has an odd and unsightly 
appearance. There are seven pointed windows of three lights, with tracery 
of a Decorated character, in the sides of the nave. A double row of five 
pointed arches, resting on slender columns, divide the aisles from the nave. 
The chancel is entered by a small Norman doorway, and attached to the 
north corner appears to have been a building, which, it is conjectured, may 
have been a chantry chapel, founded by the St. Quintins. On the floor 
of the chancel are two brasses, of the size of life; one is a Knig1tt, in plate 
armour, his head gone, the other a lady, in flowing robes, perfect. The 
inscription is gone, but a shield, containing the arms of the St. Quintin 
family, still remains. In the same part of the church is the brass half length 
of a former Rector, William Darell, who died in 1304. His bead is also 
gone. The windo\\'8 were formerly adorned with the arms of St. Quintin, 
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Marmion, Fitzhugh, and Dacre. There are some old trees near the church, 
and the view of the edifice from the south-west is picturesque. 

The Rectory HOUM adjoins the churchyard. 
The VilWg~, which is large, respectable, and pleasant, is situated about Si 

miles N.E. of Beverley, and 6 miles W. from Homsea. In a large open 
space stands the ancient market cross, which, with its base, is about 16 feet 
high. The shaft is an octagon, about 10 feet high, and was highly decorated 
with figures, \vhich are now nearly all broken away. Mr. Poulson tells us 
that the farmstead opposite the cross, bearing the date o! 1818, is the Manor 
House; but Hall Garth, the neat commodious residence of Mr. William 
Terrington Popple, north of the church, is now considered the Manor House 
by the Lords of the Manor. An annual fair is held here on the 15th May, 
and there was formerly a cattle market on every alternate Wednesday, but it 
has been in disuse for the last 25 years. There is a large show for horses 
about the 11th of April. Petty Sessions were formerly held on every Thurs­
day, in the Cross Keys Inn, but they have been removed to Leven. 

The Independents and Methodists have each a place of worship here. 
The Schooll are held in a neat brick building, erected ip 1888 by the Lords 

of the Manor; and about 160 children, of both sexes, attend them. 
A Mutual Imtn~etion Socuty was formed here in 1852, and consists o! 

about 50 members. By means of a library of about 200 volumes, reading and 
discussion classes, as well as lectures, the improvement of the working classes 
is sought. Mr. S. Harding, the schoolmaster, is the founder and secretary. 
Br~rton Hall, the residence of Jonathan S. Harrison, Esq., is a 

handsome red brick building, with stone quoins, &c., situated a little west of 
the village, and consists of a centre and two wings. The oldest part of the 
house was erected in 1772, by Mr. Midgeley, but the centre and one of the 
wings was added by Mr. Harrison in 1861. This hall and property belonged 
to the Midgeleys, and the late Rev. W. R. Dixon, Canon of York. An heiress 
ol the former family carried their part of it in marriage to the late William 
Beverley, Esq., of Beverley, from whom, as well as Crom Mr. Dixon, the 
whole was purchased, in 1886, by Jonathan Harrison, Esq., of Pocklington. 

Brandaburton lAM HOUM, about 1 mile N. of the village, is the residence 
of Wm. C. Harrison, Esq. It is a good brick edifice, erected in 1826. 

Branduburton Moor, a large undivided common or' pasture, is dcpastured 
by a part of Bristhill, and by about two-thirds of tht~ proprieto~ of Brandes­
burton ; this right is disputed as regards the other third, they being pur­
chasers or a late date, are said to have no claim to this privilege. 

Through the centre of this pariah, for nearly two miles, runs a large ridge 
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or mound, callt..>d Bra11desblll'ton Barje, prcibnbly a corruption of Batf, a hill 
or steep way. It varies in elevation from 20 to llO yards at its highest part 
or crown of the hill. The end of it, a little south of the village, is locally 
called Coneysgarth Hill. This e~traordinary hill is composed of layers of 
sand and grovel, and for ages it has supplied the latter for the repairs of the 
road. Professor Phillips, who is pcrbnps the best authority on the subject, 
attributes its formation to the powerful eficcts of the L'niversal Deluge. The 
accumulations cnused by the flood compose the whole mnss of every bill, and 
form the deep foundations of every marsh in Holdemess; for, according to 
him, there is hardly any district in the island which displays in so striking 
a light the te-rrible effects of the deluge as Holderncss. Mnny relics of an 
antediluvian ago, as well as human skeletons, supposed to be Ancient Britons, 
have been discovered here by the labourers who dig for gravel. Amongst 
them is o.n elephant's tusk, buffaloes' horns, teeth of the mammoth, and an 
abundance of marine shells, intermixed with grovel, &c. The skeletons have 
been found generally urnr the crown of the hill. 

In 172() Frm1ccs llar~r left £100. for the educntion of the poor children 
of this place; the money was c~pcndcd in the purchase of lOt acres of land, 
at Sntton, and the rents applied in accordance with the will of tlte testator. 
Wm. Mason, the father of Frances Darker, left a rent charge of 50s. to the 
poor of the parish. The poor ha Ye a fourth part of the interest arising from 
llolmes's Gift, referred to in the parish of Darmston; and 20s. a year, the 
interest of £20. left by Mr. Boswell. 

T!lomas Keit/1, F.sq., authot of several works on mnthcmatics, a system of 
geography, &c., wBS born here; he died in London, in 1826, aged 64 years. 
Mr. Kcith was formerly secretary to the master of the King's household, and 
accountant to the British ~Iuscum. 

Moor Tatm Township.-The ancient lords of this place, the family of 
Moore, derived their name from its situation. In some old deeds the name 
is written De la 1\Iore. The whole manor and township, containing 498 
acres, was purcho.sed of the Ellcrkers by the late Baron Wood, and from him 
it descended to his nephew, the present possessor, John Stocks, Esq., of 
Moor Grange, in Beeford parish. The Hamlet consiRts of five scattered 
houses, and is situated about 2 miles N.E. of Dmndesburton. The rateable 
value of the township is £.HJO., o.nd its population is 28 souls. The soil of 
the carrs in this vicinity has the black appearance common to situations long 
under water: On the edge of the carrs, to tho west, is a mound, covered with 
lofty trees, encompassed by a moat, or ditch, 12 yards wide, surrounded by 
an outer bank, forming an oLlong of about 160 paces. This is supposed to 
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be the site of an ancient residence. About 80 yards from the outer bank, 
on the east side, there is a broad bank, about six feet above the level of the 
adjoining lands, which suggests the idea of a causeway having formed an 
approach to this dwelling, which would be entirely insnlated. 

Bunlaill Haml6t, consisting of three or four farm houses and 8 few cottages, 
is situated on 8 bill that branches from the Barfe, on the edge of which are 
some evergreen, oak, and ash trees. 

Hiuh and Low BtUUJick, or BtUttDick, consist of two farm houses. At 
Ba1ttDick Sten- is a ferry, and a place for shipping corn. 

CATWICK.-Tbis parish contains 1,61)0 acres, and ~06 inhabitants, and its 
rateable value is £~,051. The lordship has been held by the family of 
Bethell, of Rise, for many years, and the principal proprietors of the soil at 
present are Richard Betbell, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), Lady Strickland, of 
Wassand, and Messrs. W. R. Park and G. Gibson. The patronage of the 
Rectory was in the Priory of Pomfret before the Reformation, but since 
then it has continued in the Crown. It is valued in the Kings Books at 
£10. Os. 6d., and is now worth £149. nett. Rector, Rev. Thomas Oeorge 
Kidd. The tithes were commuted at the enclosure. 

The Church (St. Michael) is a small Gothic structure, comprising a nave, 
small transepts, and chancel, with an embattled tower at the west end, and 
a small porch on the south side. The na.e hu square-headed windows, tho 
tnmsepts pointed windows, but the chancel has common sash windows. 
Within the porch is a circolar arched doorway. The interior is neat. The 
transepts were probably cbantry chapels. Thd font is a modem pedcst41. 
The church was repaired in 184~. The &ctory HOtJM is commodious. 

The Villag6 is neat but small, and stands about 8 miles N.E. from Beverley, 
and 6 S.W. from Homsea. The neighbourhood is undulating, and the quan­
tity of wood growing in the hedge-rows gives the place a pleasant appearance. 
CattDick HaU, the residence of Mr. Wm. Rt. Park, is a good building. The 
Manor HOUIIe is now a modem farmhouse, and near is an excellent spring of 
water, called the Lady Well. The Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists havo 
each a small chapel here. The Bclwol is endowed with the interest of £~0., 
left by Mrs. Hannah Smith, in 17g2. The poor parishioners have j2. !Os. 
per ann., tho interest of £50., left by the :&11. Jamu Young, Rector of Cat­
wick, who died in 1768 ; an annual rent charge of£~. 12s. 6d., left by Mr1. 

Mary Young, who died in 1786; and 25s. 6d., as interest of £~5. !Os., left 
by two donors, and now called town stock. 

NoRTH FRODINGHAil.-In the Domesday Book this place is called Foting­
ham, but in later records it is spelt Frothingham. The area of the parish is 
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2,880 acres, and the number of its inhabitants in 1851 was 846. Rateable 
.value, £-1,582. ; amount of assessed property, £8,660. The soil is a strong 
clay, and the surface level, with the· exception of occasional remarkable dilu­
vial elevations, formed of sand and gravel, and locally called Barju. The 
chief landowners are Philip Saltmarsh, Esq., Jonathan Harrison, Esq., 
Richard Bethell, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), William C. Harrison, Esq., and 
John Bainton Harrison, Esq. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at £5., endowed with a rent 
charge of £20. per ann., left by the Rev. C. l3lakestone, in 1726, and £400. 
from the Governors of Queen Anne's Bounty, and returned at £170. The 
Rev. S. King is the patron, and the Rev. T. Mortlock incumbent. P. Salt­
marsh, Esq., is the lay impropriator. There is no Vicarage llouse belonging 
to this living. The Churcll (St. Elgin) stands on elevated ground, and is an 
ancient edifice, consisting of a nave, nortl1 aisle, chancel, south porch, and 
1rest embattled tower. The latter appendage is lofty, and exhibits some good 
masonry, and on the west buttress is this inscription :-"The bottom bed of 
this stone was 15 feet 11 inches above the offset of the west abutment of 
Frodingham Dridge when levelled, 15th Sep., 1815." The church is now 
disfigured with several sash windows. The roof was formerly much higher. 
The chancel seems to have been built partly with the remains of an older 
building, and sea cobbles; on its south aide is a Norman doorway. The 
tower contains three bells. Four pointed arches, resting on octagon pillars, 
separate the aisle from the nave; a gollery at the west end was erected in 
1786, and the church \Vas much disfigured by churchwarden~' repair• in 1816; 
in the chancel is a piacina with a semicircular head. 

The ViUage is large and well built, and is situated about half a mile east­
ward from the navigable river Hull, over which is a bridge. It is about 5! 
miles S.E. by E . of Great Driffield. Frodingham had formerly the privilege 
of a weekly market, but its ancient charter was t~nsferred to Great Driffield 
about a century ago, in consequence of the superior locality of that town for 
the purposes of trade. The old market cro88 was thrown down and destroyed 
by the workmen employed in excavating the Barmston and Beverley drain. 
It stood higher than the present cross, and its figures and ornaments 1\·ere 
much after the manner of that at Brandesburton. The new cross was erected 
in 1811, and is of modem workmanship, except the atone in which the shaft 
is inserted, which is elevated on three steps. Fairs are still held here on 
July lOth and October 2nd for to.Y.S and pedlery. There arc places of wor­
ship here for Wealeyana, Independents, and Primitive Methodists. 

The National School was built in 1845. The Meclumic-1' Imti.tut8 and Li­
brary, established in 1850, is in n very prosperous state. 
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Frodingham Bridge, which was erected in 1826, has a leaf that opens for 
the passage of vessels. The old bridge would not allow a vessel to pass. 
under it that had not the means of lowering her masts. Within the last 80 
years there was no other bridge over the Hull than a wooden one for foot 
passengers; the river was forded by horses and cattle. Near the bridge is a 
landing place, and several warehouses, coal yards, &c. On the cleaning out 
the canal at the bridge, it was ascertained the carrs or moors were more 
than 20 feet below it. 

Celts have been found in the carrs, and urns dug up in those towards 
Beeford. A silver coin of Edward the Confessor was found on the glebe farm 
(now in the occupation of Mr. Wm. Wise), in digging a well, in 1888; and 
in a brick yard, called Vicarage Close, many human bones have been dug 
up, from which it is supposed to have been part of the church burial ground. 

The Manor Hou1e stands in the village, and is now the residence of Mr. 
Drinkrow. It was rebuilt about 85 years ago, on the ground which the 
former building occupied. . 

Frodingham Grange, now occupied by Mr. Thos. Reynolds, is a good farm 
of 411 acres, allotted for the great tithes. Mr. Saltmarsh is its owner; 
and Field Houu farm is the property of Mr. Joseph Shepherd, of Dringhoe, 
and in the occupation of his grandson of the same name. 

The parish has the interest of .£80. for the education of poor children ; 
.£25. of this sum was left by the Rev. S. Hunter, and the additional .£5. is 
the accumulation of interest during four years, when there was no school­
master here. They have also the interest of .£10., left by Francis Smith, in 
1812, for the distribution of bread. 

Emmotuuul Haml8t, about one mile south of Frodingham, consists of two 
farms, belonging to William C. Harrison, Esq. The river Hull used to flow 
a foot here, and this was formerly the landing place for goods brought by 
vessels before the river was made navigable to Frodingham Bridge. Before 
the drainage the carrs were six feet deep in water, and a boat might have 
sailed over them from hence to Beverley. A swannery once existed at Em­
motland. The soil hereabouts is composed of vegetable matter from 8 to 4 
feet deep, when the clay commences. Great quantities of wood are taken 
from the carrs in the neighbourhood, and some 16 or 18 years ago a piece 
was dug up, measuring 60ft. in length, with branches 17 inches in diameter; 
it was partly sawn through. (See page 804.) 

The Hoe HiU8 join the barfe at an opening or lower sweep in the range. 
Coney• Garth HiU is o. sandy grave), upon which is a farmstead, belonging 
to Mr. Bethell. 
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The Old lloo watercourse, which has been already alluded to at page 401, 
is now dry. Formerly the Hoo was rendered available for smuggling, by 
means of Bat-bottomed boats, in which the farmers used to bring down their 
produce to Frodingham market, this produce serving as a covering to the 
smuggled goods. 

GoXB.ILL.-At an early period this place, which was anciently called 
Gouiu, gave name to a family whose estate passed by marriage to the Dis­
penser's. The Lellies afterwards possessed the property, and it came to the 
Constables, of Wassand, by marriage of Marmaduke Constable with the 
daughter and heiress of Robert Stokes, Esq., of this place; she died in 1560. 
Lady Strickland, daughter of the Rev. Charles Constable, is the preacut 
possessor of the manor, which is co-extensive with the parish. The area o( 

the parish is 831 acres; population, 58; amount of assessed property, £1,67U. 
The Living is a Discharged Hectory, rated at £8., and now worth £~84. 

per annum. Patron, .Lady Strickland; Rector, Rev. C. Forge. The tithes 
wero commuted in 1839. The Church (St. Gilcs) is a small structure, 
situated on an eminence, embosomed in lofty trees, and was nearly all re­
built in 1788. It has some remains of Norman architecture introduced into 
it, and consists of a small nave and chancel, with a square tower. The 
chancel is nearly as long as the nave, but much lower. On the south side 
of the nave is a Norman doorway, of unusual dimensions for such a building, 
and in the same wall arc two modern circular-Maded window&, with t.CCXXkft 
frarna! The interior is plain; the arch to the chancel is low, and circular· 
headed; the seats and pews are unpainted; the reading desk is slightly 
elevated, and there is no pulpit. In the north wall of the chancel is a large 
fire-placc, and grate in it, the chimney running up and terminating outside. 
The ceiling of the chancel is not higher than a common sitting parlour ; and 
indeed the whole edifice has been so tastelessly modernised, as scarcely to 
leave any remains of its former beauty. A beautiful trefoil-beaded piscina is 
placed against the west wall of the nave, and above it, on a bracket, is a 
coroneted head of tl1e Blessed Virgin. There was a chantry founded at tbe 
altar of St. Mary in this church, by Master John de Goxhill, Vicar of Scar­
borough, but there are no remains of it now in existence, except, perhaps, 
the just-noticed sculptured head of the Virgin, which is certainly not in its 
original position. The font, \Vhich is of the 11th century, lies broken in a 
corner of the nave. It has different designs of inte1·laccd work round it. 
Many of the Constables, of W assand, are buried in this church, and there is 
an old tombstone in the fioor of the chancel, to the memory of Johanocs 
Uxor .Radulrhi de Lellny. It exbibit.s, in bas relief, n lndy under an clegrmt 
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canopy, with her hands joined in prayer. Against the south-east corner of 
the chancel, in the churchyard, is placed upright a broken figure, in a praying 
attitude, which was once recumbent. There is but one headstone in the 
churchyard, and that was lately erected. , 

The Villag~ is small, and stands about three miles S.S.W. of Hornsea. 

HORN SEA . 

IT is not known with certainty bow the name of this place is derived. In 
the Domesday Survey it is called Homcss-tM curved promontory-and as 
a part of Homsea, called Homsea Beck, formerly projected into the sea, it 
has been suggested that its name was originally expressive of its situation­
a born of the sea. But Mr. Poulson remarks that if this supposition has any 
weight, it would be equally applicable to Ohilnesse (Kilnsea), Wiifume&u 
(Withomsea), &c. It is observable that in another part of Domesday, Horn­
sea is written Horneuei; and Withemsea, Wuifomeuei. It is probable that 
the name has reference to the lake or mere, for, as we have seen at p. 304, 
the word ~ea, as in Hom~ea, is synonimous with mere. 

Before the Conquest, Morcar, the Saxon Earl of Northumbria, and Gover· 
nor of York was the owner of this place, but Wm. the Conqueror, granted it 
to Odo, the Norman Earl of Champaigne, and Lord of the Seigniory. This 
Odo, with the consent of Stephen, his son, gave the manor, with the church 
and mere of Homsca, to the Abbey of St. Mary at York, and they continued 
in the possession of that establishment until the dissolution. Iu the reign 
of Henry m. the Abbot bad a grant of a market here, which is yet extant, 
but the market has fallen into desuetude within the last 60 or 60 years. 
The Abbot bad also the gmnt of two fairs, which are still held here. After 
the Reformation this manor was frequently in the hands of the Crown; and 
the families of Moore aud Ack.lome, or Acklam, were amongst the former 
possessors of it. In 167 4, Sir Hugb Betbell, Kut., and Slings by Betbell, 
Esq., ..-ere Lords of the Manor; in 1679, the court was called in the name 
of the latter only, and thus continued to bo kept until 1084, \vhcn Peter 
Acklam, jun., gent., occurs o.s Lord of the Manor. The manor continued in 
the Acklam family until1760, when, for the first time, this court was called 
in the name of Wm. Betbell, Esq., and has continued in that family till tho 
present do.y, Richard Bethell, Esq., of Rise·, being the present Lord of the 
Manor. Mr. Bethell and Lady Strickland, of Wassand, are the chief pro­
prietors of the soil. Area of Hornsea with Burton 8,160 acres; rateable 
nlu(', £5,964.; assessed rroperty, .£5,012.; population in 1851, 945 souls. 
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The enclosure of Horn sea was effected under an Act of Parliament passed 
in 1801; the award is dated 1809. HotnSCB Burton was enclosed long 
before that date. 

The T01Dn of Homaea is situated about 16 miles N.N.E. from Hull, IS 
N.E. from Beverley, 14 S. from Bridlington, and 40 E. from York. It is 
sheltered by rising grounds on the north and south, and consists principally 
of three streets branching from the Market-Place, in the centre of which is 
the stump of a cross, and there is another stone cross at the Southgate. The 
market, which, as remarked above, is obsolete; but fairs are still held on 
August 18th, and December 17th ; the first for pleasure, pedlery, &c., and 
the last for cattle. The town is of considerable resort in the bathing season, 
and there is excellent accommodation for the numerous visitors, at several 
well-conducted inns, as well as at many comfortable lodging houses. 

Being situated near "the wasting cliffs of Holderness," the parish has 
suffered very much from the encroachments of the sea. There is a popular 
tradition of Homsea Church being, when built, ten miles from the German 
Ocean, and the following distich is quoted as baYing been inscribed on the 
steeple:-

Hornsea steeple when 1 built thee: 
Thou was JO miles off Burlington, 
10 miles off Beverley, and 10 miles off sea. 

That this inscription ever existed, is very questionable ; but hazarding a 
conjecture that it did exist, it is very probable, as l\1r. Poulson remarks, that 
the cypher was placed at the left, instead of the right side of the figure one, 
as he has shown to have been the case in some churchwardens' documents-­
our forefathers being extremely liberal in cyphers in keeping their accounts, 
and it being not unusual to write one thus 01. It is certainly more likely 
that the church was one mile from the sea than ten. The market cross, in 
I786, was distant 83 chains and 61liuks from the sea; but now it is hardly 
half that distance. The village of Hornsea Beck is now buried in the sands, 
which rise by a very gradual ascent, and are left bare for a considerable dis­
tance at low water. 

On the south-western side of the town is HoT'T!Ma Mere, the largest lake in 
the county. Its shape is irregular, e:~:tcnding from E. toW. It mile, about 
i mile iu breadth, and about 5 miles in circumference. Its area is now 
about 486 acres, but was formerly much larger; its depth varies in different 
places, and it is fed by internal springs, drains, and showers. There are two 
picturesque islands on the lake, covered with wood. On Sandwich Island, 
near the Sea ton end of the mere, is an ivied cottage, built of wood and bricks, 
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attached to which is a flower garden; this island is about a rood in extent. 
There are many swans on the lake, and its waters abound with pike, perch, 
eels, and roach. The exclusive property of the lake is vested in the family 
of Constable, of W assand, by a royal grant, as parcel of the manor of East 
Greenwich, in Kent.. 

Near the mere is a 8llli11e chalybeate spri11{1, which, according to the late 
Dr. Babington, of London, posseBBes considerable active properties, but the 
well is no\v choked up, and perhaps undeservedly forgotten. 

In 1423 the Rectory (great tithes) of Homsea was formally appropriated 
to the Abbey of St. Mary, by Archbishop Bowett, and in the same year a 
perpetual Vicarage was ordained in the church, of which the Abbey and Con· 
vent of St. Mary were to be the patrons. The Vicarage was endowed with 
a mansion or messuage on the et\Bt side of the church, erected by the said 
Abbot and Convent; and with the small tithes and two oxgangs of land. 
Moreover the Vicar was to have all the emoluments of the Chapel of Riston 
(depending on the church of Homsea), and a mansion at that place, built at 
first by the Abbot and Convent, and two oxgangs of land, to the chapel 
thereof appertaining. At the dissolution the advowson of the Vicarsge be­
came vested in the Crown, from which it was alienated by Philip and Mary 
to the Archbishop of York. In the succeeding reign it was, with many other 
livings, restored to the Crown, and so continued till the present. The Bene· 
.fia is valued in the Liber Regis (including Long Riston) at £13. Ss. 4d., 
and now returned at £882. per ann. The Rev. William L. Palmes is the 
present Vicar of Homsea, and Rector of Long Riston. There were four 
religious Guilds or spiritual fraternities in this church, dedicated to the Holy 
Trinity, Corpus Cbristi, St. Mary, and St. Catherine. These Guilds had the 
power to purchase lands and tenements, and to make rules and ordinances 
for the disposition of their revenues. 

The Church (St. Nicholas) appears to have been rebuilt about the time 
that the Vicarsge was ordained, and consists of a nave with aisles, a chancel, 
and a west tower, formerly surmounted by a lofty spire, which was a well­
known sea mark; but which was blown down in 1782. On the south side 
of the nave is a porch, with a large square entrance, like that of a coach 
house, which appears to have been built out of the ruins of a chapel, which 
adjoined the south aisle, and of which foundations have been discovered 
in digging graves. The arch by. which this chapel communicated with 
the aisle may yet be seen, though it is filled up by a wall and window. 
This side of the nave has now two windows, each of three lancet lights 
united, and one of two lights. At the east end of each aisle is a low 
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broad window of five lights; the north aisle has three windows of two lights 
each, and a pointed doonrn.y. There are seven clerestory windows on each 
side of the church, having the appearance of the tops of large pointed win· 
dows; and the east end of the chancel is made into a lantern by the large 
east window, and two tall elegant windows of five lights, with very fine 
tracery in the sweep of the arches. These two beautiful windows are now 
blocked up, and the mullions and tracery of the east \vindow were destroyed 
by the storm in 173~. In the face of the tower is a pointed entrance, and 
under the porch is a depressed arched doorway, with a square canopy, tho 
spnndrils filled with quatrefoils. The aisles extend to the chnncel as far as 
the before-mentioned lantern windows. The interior of tho church is very 
neat and clean. The aisles are divided from the nave by four pointed arches 
on each side, and the aisles of the chancel or choir aro separated from it by 
three similar but narrower arches on each side. The east ends of the aisles 
were cbantry chapels, that on tho south side being dedicated to the Blessed 
Virgin. The chancel was formerly divided from the nave by a carved wooden 
screen. The tower arch is closed up, and in front of it is a small gallery. 
The roof of the chancel is of stained wood, the navo is ceiled, and the ceilings 
of the aisles are in panels. Two windows of the south aisle, and one of the 
north aisle, were filled with stained glass, at a cost of about £45., from the 
church reparation fund, about three years ago; and in 1853 a new organ was 
erected at the east end of the north aisle, at an expense of about £185, de­
frayed partly by subscription, and partly out of the reparation fund. Three 
neat brass chandeliers, of twelve lights each, were presented about a year ago 
by Miss Beck with, of Homsea. The west end of the north aisle is now occu­
pied as a vestry, and until the new National School was built, the same end 
of the south aisle was used as a school-room. The tower contains three bells. 
In one of the windows of the north aisle is a solitary piece of ancient stained 
glass, representing a bead. There is a vaulted crypt beneath the chancel, 
the entrance to which is now by a Bight of steps under the farthest arch; 
but an aperture under the east window, now walled up, was the entrance.* 

• This uult, m wbioh there is a fire pl.&ee, with an aperture for the smoke, is aaid 
to have boen put to "strange uses." Many years ago, Nanny Cankerneedle, e.n old 
womnn of weak mtcllllct, is reported to hnve made it her habitation; and, stranger still, 
it is aaid to havo boen used formerly as a placo to conceal smuggled goods in. The 
Rev. Wm. Whytehead, Vicar of Atwiek from 1'11)6 to 1817, and for some time Curate of 
Homsea, haa reoorded that on the night of tho 23rd ot Dec. 1732, the parish clerk was 
concealing goods in the crypt, when a short and sudden hurricnne unroofed the church, 
and blew down the steeple. This violent storm nrose from the mere, in a direction 
towards tho sea, destroying and unrooflng 2-! houses (including the-Vicarage House), 
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On the south side of the chancel is an altar tomb of nlabastcl', erected in 
memory of Anthony St. Quintin, the last Rector, who died i!l 1430. The 
dado displays several quatrefoils, containing shields. 
. This beautiful edifice stands much in need of a thorough restoration, and 
it is, we understand, intended to effect this "consummation so devoutly to be 
wished," as soon as funds can be obtained for the purpose; iu the ml.'antime 
it is proposed to raise the tower; restore the west entrance; throw open the 
beautiful tower arch; and pull down the unsightly gallery. And it is be­
lieved that Lady Strickland, who is the lay impropriator, intends to restore 
the three fine windows of the chancel, and fill them with stained glass. 

The Vicarage Ho~Ue, which formerly stood in the orchard near the east 
end of tho church, was burnt down. The then Vicar, the Rev. William 
Lambert, removed the site to where the present house stands. The present 
Vicarage is a neat building, erected by the Rev. A. W. Eyre, the late Incum­
bent, at a cost of £800.; of which £600. was contributed by the GoYernors 
of Queen Anne's Bounty, and £200. by himself; and a large sum has been 
expended in enlarging and improving it by the present Vicar. 

The Old Rectory HoU8e stood in the Hall Garth, where the remains of a 
moat, about 100 yards east of the present High Hall, may be yet seen. The 
old house was pulled down by Peter Acklam, who erected the Low Hall in 
16i4 or 1675. The latter house, which is now an inn, is situated at the 
west eud of the town, in Southgate, and was the residence of the Acklams. 
The family were Quakers, and in the garden at the rear of the house is their 
place of interment, containing eight gravestones bearing inscriptions. 

The stone cross already noticed stands opposite Low Hall, and it is con­
jectured that the inhabitants of Southorpe and Homsea Durton used to hold 
their markets here. The shaft of the cross is about eight feet high, and is 
an elegant light specimen of such erections. 

The Old Hall, commonly called the High Hall, is a large red brick building 
of about the time of James I., and is omamented with gable ends in the 
Dutch style. It is situated at the south end of the town, on the entrance 

U barns, &c., besides the damage which the ehnrch mstai.ned. In its progress towards 
the aea it overturned the windmill in the field called the Dales, and the millstones were 
carried 150 yards from the mill, by the strength of the wind. Sheets of lt>ad were 
blown from the church, and wmpped round two sycamore trees standing in HBl.l Oarth; 
a womon and child who were in bed together, in a chamber of one of the unroofed 
houses, were blown into the street, with the bed under them, and received oo bodily 
harm ; and a beanl was blown from a house on the west side of the street, into o garret 
window of a house oo the other side of the street. 

VOL. U. 3 H 
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front Hull and Deverlcy. Little is known of this curious building, which is 
now com•erted into a farm house. 

The Wesleyans, Independents, and Primitive Methodists, have each a 
place of worship in Hornsea. The NatWnal School is a neat brick struc­
ture, erected in l 845, near the mere, on ground given by the late ReT. 
Charles Constable. The building is in the Tudor style, and the cost of its 
erection, above .£400., was raised by subscription, aided by a grant from the 
National Society. The Infant Sc/l()ol, and residence for the schoolmistress, 
erected and supported by Lady Strickland, is a curious building in the cot­
tage style, nearly covered with ivy; it was built in 1848. About UO chil­
dren attend the National, and 50 the Infant School. 

The late Mr. John Wade, of Hull, erected a neat mansion here in 1845-6, 
and on the cliff is an extensive establishment, called the MariM Hotel. 
There is a preventive station on tl1c adjoining cliff, built in 1830. A gibbet 
formerly stood on the north cliff, on which was hung, in 1 i70, the body of a 
notorious smuggler, named Fennel, who murdered his captain, and sunk the 
vessel near Hornsea. The north cliff is now numbered with the things that 
have been. 

The opening to the -sea shore in front of the town is called Hornsea Gap; 
the sands extend right and left for a considerable distance; and the rides and 
walks in the neighbourhood of the town are interesting. A submarine forest 
is frequently alluded to by several old writers; and petrifactions, fossils, 
pieces of decayed trees, nuts, parts of stags' horns, &c., having been collected 
on the sands here, or taken from the black moorish soil, to be seen half way 
between the cliff and low water mark. In 1830 a pair of antlers were taken 
out immediately !rooting the town. 

The E1tat~ for tM &pai,., of th4 Ol~urc!. consists of two me88uages and a 
dwelling house here, and 70A. 3R. 12P. of land, with a barn and other 
buildings tbereon ; and 58A. lR. of land, allotted at the enclosure of the 
parish, in lieu of the open fields before belonging to the charity. The several 
charities for the Utile of the poor of Hornsea amount to about .£10. per ann. 

Hornaea Burlon is a hamlet on the sea side, about one mile S.E. of Horn­
sea. The land is divided jnto five farms. The encroachments of the sea on 
this hamlet are recorded at an ee.rly period. In 1400 an inquisition was 
held at the instance of Meaux Abbey, which sought to be relieved from cer­
tain payments in respect of land there lost by the sea. It appeared that 
since 1334, the monks had lost twenty-seven acres of arable land by the 
inroads of the sea. 

Northorpe Harnl£t, now no more, was situated north of Homsea. 
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S011l~ .is a hamlet, so called from its relative situation to the town of 
Homsea, as being the south thorpe or village, with respect to that place. 

HontMa B6Ck was a hamlet probably first established as a more convenient 
residence for those engaged in such maritime traffic and fishing as were 
carried on at Homsea. "Several circumstances that might be mentioned if 
space permitted," says a local writer, "indicate that the most easterly and 
principal part of the hamlet stood about 500 or 600 yards east of the Marine 
Hotel." 

Homsea is noticed in ancient documents as a p<lrt. In the reign of 
Elizabeth there was a pier at Homsea Beck, but before 1709 it \fa& destroyed 
by the sea; and in that year an inquisition was held at Homsea, to enquire 
concerning the waste of the manor, which was then in the Crown, by the sea. 
The jury found that since 1546, no less than 88 houses, nnd as many little 
closes adjoining, were decayed by the flowing of the sea in Homsea Beck. 
The last of this place was wasted by the sea about a century a~o. 

LEvEN.-Aecording to Domesday, the manor of Lewene was given by Ed­
ward the Confessor, at the request of Aldred, Archbishop of York, to the 
Church of St. John of Deverley, and at the dissolution of that collegiate 
establishment, in the 1st of Edward VI. (1547), the manor became vested in 
the Crown. It afterwards paBSed through many hands, amongst whom were 
the Micklethwaite family. In 1786, to 1742, it appears in the name of the 
Duke of Portland; and in the latter year it passed, by purchase, to tho 
family of Dethell. The soil now belongs to R. llethell, Esq. (Lord of tho 
Manor), Rev. G. Wray, W. Whitehead, Esq., John Spruce, Esq., and a 
number of smaller proprietors. The parish, including the township of 
Hempholme, covers an area of 4,887 acres, and contained, in 1851, 998 in­
habitants. Rateable value, £5,094. ; amount of assessed property, £0,8iJ2. 
The land is mostly copyhold, subject to arbitrary fines . The Tou·113llip of 
Levm comprises S,IS17 acres, and its population is 876 souls. The land has 
been improved by drainage, and is in profitable cultivation. 

The OluJ.rch is an ancient Rectory; before the dissolution it was in the 
patronage of the Collegiate Society of St. John of Beverley; but it is now 
vested in the present Rector, the Rev. George Wray, who purchased the 
advowson from the late Rector. The living is rated in the King's Books at 
£16. lSs. 4d., and returned at £l,HIO. per ann. 

The Old Church (St. Faitb) stood about a mile from the village, and con­
sisted of a nave, chancel, and tower. The chancel only is now standing, the 
remainder of the edifice having been pulled down in 18.J.l. The old church­
yard is still used as the parish burying ground. The first stone of the 
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New Chufch (Holy Trinity) was laid near the centre of the Tillage, on the 11th 
of July, 18-13, by the Rev. R. I. Wilberforce, late Archdeacon of the East 
Riding, and it was consecrated on the 28th of May, 1845, the sermon on the 
occasion being preached by tl1e Rev. Dr. Hook, of Leeds. The site of the 
building, and £500. towards its erection, were given by R. Bethell, Esq. It 
is a handsome Gothic edifice of stone, consisting of a nave, south aisle, and 
porch, chancel, and west tower. The vestry on the north side, and the end 
of the south aisle, arc so constructed as to give the building a cruciform ap­
pearance. The aisle and nave are divided by four pointed arches, resting ou 
three pillars; tho chancel arch is very fine; and the chancel is fitted up 
with stalls, and contains a piscina. The east window is of three lights, and 
is filled with stained glass, and above it is a trefoil light, filled with the same 
elegant material. The othC'r parts of the church are neatly furnished with 
open seats ; there is a gallery at the west end. The lessons are read from a 
Yery neat lectern. The roofs arc open to the timbers. The square font of 
granite is ancient. Over the inner door of the porch is the beautiful sculp­
tured capital of an ancient cross, which was found in the old churchyard by 
the sexton, about two feet below the surface, when digging a graTe, in 1836. 
One side represents tho Crucifixion, with tho figures of the Blessed Virgin 
aud the Beloved Disciple; and the other, the Virgin and Child, with two other 
figures crowned.* The tower contains four bells. The yard adjoining this 
church is not yet consecrated. 

1\ t the enclosure of the carrs, in 171ll, a yearly modus and 136A. 1 n. 33P. 
of land \vere given in lieu of tithe!<, but some portions of the old enclosure 
nrc still linLlc to the tithe impo&t. The glebe farm now consists of 30-lA. 
On. Sit•., and is a manor, of which the Tiector for the time being is lord. 

The F-..ectory House formerly stood nearly adjoining the old church; the 

• About 11 mile south from Lel"en, at the junction of three road!!, leading to Routh, 
J.cvcn, 11nu Riston, 11nd oppo~ite a white-wnshcu house, with brick battlemt'n!.A, is the 
~ha.fL of 11 stone cJ·oss, which iM now cnllcd White Cro11, and for which nnmc it is doubt· 
Jc.;s ind~IJl<'<l to the an nun! con•riog which it receives at the bands of the white-washer. 
The spll•mlid piece of sculpture nbove mentioned is supposed to he the capital of this 
cross. The sha.fL, sunnounted with this capit.o.l, would boor a close resemblance to the 
ancient cross c•f Ravenspurne or Kilnscn, nnd now at Hedon (See page 367), and it ap­
pcnrs to be of the same age and st~·lo of thnt ~tructurt:~. 

Crosses have been employed in nlmost every ChristiAn nge and country to commt:~rno­
rate battles, or other remarkable e\·eots or circumstances, or to mark the boundaries or 
property; and it is probable that tl1is has been inll'nded to record nn C\"ent of some 
importnncc in the estimntion of its founders.. The dccapitntion of cross<'s, to use the 
,.,.onls of 1\fr. Poulson, "was a common set of bnrbarity, with the destruction of mouu­
m.:-utru Lrn~sc.<, ,t;c., nt the time of the Reformntion:• 
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rrescnt Rectory is situated at the west end of the village, and is a large 
handsome building, with extensive pleasure grounds, shmLberies, and plan· 
tations. The house has been greatly enlarged by the present Rector. 

The Village, which' is large and well built, is pleasantly situated on the 
road from Beverley to Bridlington, about 6i- miles N.E. from the former town. 

A Canal from the river Hull to Lovcn, 8! miles in length, was cut at the 
expense of the late Mrs. Charlotta Bethell, of Rise (and now the property of 
Richard Bethell, Esq.), under Acts passed in the 41st and 45th of Geo. Ill., 
and opened in 1802. It is navigable for vessels of about 60 tons burden, 
and it has a considerable traffic in corn, lime, coals, &c. At the head of 
the canal, near the large and comfortable New bm, kept by Mr. Richard 
Sanders, is a commodious wharf, and the warehouses, &c., of Mr. Hugh Wm .. 
J ackson, corn merchant, &c. 

The Wesleyan Methodists have a chapel here, which was erected in 1816, 
and enlarged in 1835 ; and the Primitive Methodists have a small chapel, 
built in 1880. The School, which is well attended, is partly supported by 
voluntary contributions. There is a ViUage Library, or Book Club, held at 
the house of Mr. Frederick Winter, Hare and Hounds Inn. A few years 
ago an ancient brass spear was found in a drain near the village. It may be 
considered worth recording that so numerous have the sparrO\l"S become of 
late in this dis'trict, to the great destruction of the barley and wheat crops, 
that the farmers and gentlemen offered premiums to individuals who would 
kill the greatest number of these little pilferers. Consequently, during the 
past two years nearly 9,000 sparrows have -been destroyed here. 

The Petty Sessions House, containing .a lock-up, magistrates' room, &c., is 
a neat brick building, erected in 1852. The magistrates of the north divi­
sion of Holderness hold their sessions here every alternate Thursday. 

Lerm Hall Gartll, situated near the old chu.rch, is occupied by a fanner. 
Leven Carr extends to the river Hull nud contains seven houses, the chief of 
which are Aike Dale House and farm, in the possession of 1\Ir. Gco. Runton, 
and Linley Hill, the residence of Mr. William Harper, farmer. 

llemplwlme Tou:nship, according to the' Parliamentary returns, contains 
1,820 acres, and 11 i inhabitants. It consists of several scattered house.s, 
extending from 2 to 4 miles N.N.W. of Leven, and comprises the hamlets . 
of Hempholme, Hayholme, and Hallitreebolme. The Saxon llolme, as we 
have observed at page 263, was a grassy place on the bank of a river, or a 
place surrounded with water. This would be descriptive of the three Jlolmes 
just mentioned, before tbe co.rrs were drained. Hempholme reverted to the 
Crown at the dissolution of religious houses, and about 800 acres there con-

o tzoobyGoogle 



HISTORY OF BOLDERNESS. 

tinues in the Crown to the present time. The family of Bethell held it by 
lease. There was formerly a SwanMry here, and Mr. W. Bethell was the 
King's swanner, and held a Swannery Court at Hempholme. The principal 
house in Hempholme is the residence of Mr. Isaac Kemp, farmer, which is 
situated on a hill, and commands an extensive prospect of the carrs. 

Haylwlnu, or HeiglalwlJM, consists of about 800 acres, and is the property 
end residence of John Bainton Harrison, Esq. In the reign of Henry ill., 
Hayholme was taken out of the manor of Leven, and given to the Abbey of 
Meaux, by Wm. le Gros. Rt. de Scures gave the monks a camcate of land, 
viz., the whole Holme between Leven and Busthill, where the Abbey Grange 
was built, called Hayholme Grange. This grant was confirmed by William 
his brother and heir, and by Hawise, daughter of Wm. le Gros, and the Ab­
bot was released of all foreign service to the King, or the Earl of Albemarle, 
and also acquitted of Castle \\'ard, at Skipsea. In 1214, Herbert St. Quintin 
gavo the Abbey license to make a dyke, 20ft. wide, through the bounds in 
the marsh between Burton and Hayholme, and that the monks might lay 
their earth on each side of the dyke, and the water to their own use to fish 
in, and carry on it what was necessary. In 1248, Fulco de Basset gave the 
monks a gate and a pathway from their Grange in Hayholme to Leven, as 
they had in the time of his ancestors; and he aiso assigned them a roadway, 
through the middle of the town of Leveu, up to the church. • After the dis­
solution the property of the monks at Hayholme (about 200 acres) was 
granted to Sir Andrew Noel, Knt., of Dalby, Leicestershire, and it continued 
in that family for several generations. The house of the Noels is ancient, 
and moated round. Hayholme Hflll, the residence of Mr. Harrison, is a 
commodious erection of modem date. 

Hallitrulwlme, or HoUy·tree·holm, consists of one farm of 164 ac.res. Be­
fore the Reformation it belonged to the Priory of Bridlington, and there was 
a Chapel here, dedicated to St. Nicholas, and endowed with lands and fisheries 
in the neighbourhood. In the reign of Elizabeth, the Hollytreeholme was 
granted to the family of Bethell for a term of 009 years, and it is now the 
property of Richard Bethell, Esq., of Rise. 

Weadland, which consists of about 100 acres of land, belongs to Mr. 
Harrison, of Hayholme. 

LoNG RisTON.-Soon after the Domesday Survey the De Scurcs were 
lords of Riston. It subsequently passed by marriage to the family of Hild­
yard, and afterwards to that of N uthill; and it hns been in the possession of 
the Bethell family many years. The lordship, which comprises 6. part of the 
township of Amold, contains 3,400 acres, of the rateable value of £8,085. 
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Population of Riston in 1851, 316 souls; and that of the whole of Anlold, 
1Q2. The inhabitants of as much of Amold as is situated in Riston parish, 
number 84. The surface is chiefly le\'el, the soil, a strong clay, and there ia 
some ornamental wood. The chief landowners are Richard Bethell, Esq. 
(Lord of the Manor), John Jackson, Esq., and Hugh Wm. Jackson, Esq. 

The Li~ng i.s a Rectory, and i.s held with Homsea, as already stated. At 
the enclosure, in 1772, about 160 acres of land, and a yearly modus, were 
awarded in lieu of tithes. 

The Church (St. Margaret) is a small plain edifice, situated some distance 
west of the village, and consists of a nave, chancel, towo.r, and porch. The 
east window is pointed, and of three lights, but most of the other windows of 
the church are square·headed and small. On tho north side of the chancel 
are indications of an arch of communication to a chantry chapel. The 
chancel arch is low and pointed, and both the chancel and nave are open to 
the rafters. Thero is a gall,ery for the singers at the west end. Two elder 
trees, growing on each side of the porch, give it a alight picturesque effect. 

The Village, as its name implies, i.s long and scattered, and stands plea­
santly on a gentle eminence, about 6! miles E.N.E. of Beverley. There are 
a few good farm houses in it. The present &crory Houu was built about 
three years ago, by R. Bcthell, Esq. It i.s a neat brick building. The 
Manor Houu, a handsome brick structure, standing a little south of the 
church, is occupied by Mr. James Hall, farmer. The School is partly sup­
ported by an endowment of .£12. per ann., left by Mr. Peter Ncville, in 1807. 
He also left certain renta to be applied in keeping the church in repair. 

RUton (flange, the property and residence of John Jackson, Esq., is a 
large commodious brick house, erected, in 1773, by Mr. Neville, the then 
owner of the property attached to it, and it is sometimes called N eville Grange. 

There are some elevations in this parish, called, respectively, Farmton, or 
Famton Hill, the Woof Hills, the Rye Hills, and Coney Garths. The latter 
was an ancient enclosure at the edge of the carrs, and rises very suddenly to 
about 20 or 215 feet above the low grounds. At the enclosure it is aaid to 
have appeared to have bad some buildings upon it. 

Af"TT()ld i.s a hamlet, partly in Long Riston, and partly in Swine, parish. 
It contains about 2,000 acres, of which 1560 acres aro in the latter parish. 
The population is given above. Mr. Bethell, of Riso, and Capt. Whitaker, 
of Kirk-EUa, are the principal proprietors. Amold Wood Houu i.s the pro­
perty of the latter gentleman. The Hamlet is nearly a mile south of Long 
Riston. The In<Upendent Chapel here was rebuilt in 1887, and a Primiliw 
Methodift OhaPfl was erected in 1886. 
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:MAPPLETOS.-This parish wo.s anciently called Mapkt(m, because it 
abounded in maple trees. It comprises the hamlets of Rowlston and Great 
Cowden, and part of the township of Great Hatfield. The parish is bounded 
on the east by the German Ocean, and contains, according to the census of 
1851, 4,27{1 acres, and 44{1 inhabitants. The Torrmhip of Mappleton in­
cluding Rowlston, contains 2,022 acres, of the rateable value of £2,202. ; 
population of both places, 203 souls. The manor anciently belonged to the 
Le Brus and St. Quintin families, and seems to have passed by marriage, in 
the same manner with that of Braudesburton, to the Dacres. In the begin­
ning of the 18th century the family of Gee, of Beverley, possessed the manor, 
and from them it passed to Robert Moiser, Esq. The chief proprietors at 
present are E. R. M. Whyte, Esq. (Lord of the .Manor), and B. Ha worth, Esq. 

This Church, peculiar, is a Perpetual Curacy, dedicated to All Saints, or 
St. Nicholo.s, in the patronage of the Archdeacon of the East Riding, and 
Incumbency of the Rev. Christopher Forge. It is rated at £4. 13s. 4d.; 
was augmented with £800. of Queen Anne's Bounty, and with £200. given 
by the Dean of Ripon, and the Rev. Wm. Gee, in 1811; and its nett annual 
value is now returned at £58. The tithes \vere commuted in 1770. 

The Edifice, which consists of a nave, north aisle, chancel, and tower, is 
now being restored by public subscription. On the north side of the building 
there is a chapel, or chantry, long used as the burial place of the Broughs. 
In it is a large and beautiful table monument of white marble. The church 
is on elevated ground, and there is an extensive view from the churchyard. 
In 1786 the church, in a direct line, was 28 chains and 26 links distant 
from the sea; In 1836 it was 25 chains 17 links. ~he sea is considered to 
encroach three yards annually. 

The Village is pleasant, and stands about 8 miles E . by S. of Homsea, and 
13 E. by N. of Beverley. The Parwnage, erected in 1822, is a large brick 
building, south of the church. The Manor House, now in the occupation of 
Mr. Charles Jackson, is an ancient brick structure near the west end of the 
church. There is a small W uleyan Cl1apel here, built in 1828. The poor 
parishioners have the dividends of £120. os., four per cent. stock, purchased 
with £100. left by Robert Brown, of Great Cowden, in 17!l0. 

Rorrlston, Rolston, or Rolleston, as it is variously written, is a hamlet, or 
constablewick, 1 mile N.W. of .Mappleton. It contains 706 acres, and 30 
inhabitants. The manor wont by marriage, as in the case of Mappleton, to 
the Dacre family. It was subsequently in the Mayne family, and passed 
from them to the Trusloves, an heiress of whom carried it in marriage to the 
family of Brough, with whom it continued till the death of the widow of 
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Wm. Brough, Esq., Marshal of the High Court of Admiralty, in 1822; when 
it descended t.o Theresa, wife of Benj&min Haworth, Esq., of Rowlston Hall 
and Hnll Bank House, who is Lady of the Manor. The Ilall is an old 
building, and was formerly moated. 

Great Cowden in this parish, and Little Cowden in Aldbrough parish, forms 
the township of Cotrdens Ambo. The name of the place was anciently 
written Colden, probably from Ceal Cold, den, or dun, a village. The area 
of the township is 1,750 acres, and the population is 146 souls. Rateable 
value, £1,621. From an early period the manor of Golden belonged to, and 
was held under, the Archbishop of York, as chief of the Church of St. John 
of Beverley. In later times this manor belonged to the Gee's, and passed 
from Mr. Moiser to E. R. M. White, Esq., who, with William Wright, Esq., 
and Messrs. B. Duke and Thomas Jackson, are the chief proprietors. The 
Hamlet of Great Cowden is situated about one mile S.E. of Mappleton. The 
MaTWr HoUM is an ancient thatched building in the village. 

Here is a small Wesleyan Chapel. 
Little Cowden, or Golden Parva, was anciently a Parochial Clwpelry, but 

the chapel, which was dedicated to St. John the Evangelist, and a portion of 
the village was swept away by the sea about 150 years ago. The living is a 
Rectory, in the gift of the Crown, and formerly contributed to the church of 
Mappleton, but it is now annexed to Aldbrough. This place is in two farms. 

Great Hat.fold Torcnship will be noticed under the parish Sigglesthorno. 
NuNKEELINo.-This parish, including the hamlet of Bewholme, CO\"Crs an 

area of 2,220 acres, and contains 209 inhabitants. The assessed property 
amounts to £3,418. The place is called Chillinghe in Domesday, and tho 
etymology is probably a compound of the Saxon Chil, cold, and inge, after· 
wards corrupted to Keeling or Killing; and being celebrated for a Priory, it 
afterwards obtained the prefix of Ntm. 

The Pricry of Nunk8eling was founded in the reign of King Stephcn (about 
A. D. 1150), by Agnes do Arches, or de Catfoss, wife of Sir Herbcrt St. Quintin, 
for nuns of tho Benedictine Order, and was dedicated to God in honour of St. 
Mary Magdalen and St. Helen. She endowed it with the church here, and 
three carucates of land, and the neighbouring proprietors soon enriched it 
with many other lands, &c. Burton, in his Monasticon Eboracense, has 
given a list of their possessions, with the names of the donors. The Priory 
escaped the dissolution of the lesser monasteries, in 1537, but in 1540 it was 
suppressed, its revenues being valued at £50. 17s. 2d. gross, and £35. His. 5d. 
nett. The site and demesnes of the Priory, as well as the manor of Nun­
keeling were granted (sold) to Sir Rd. Gresham, Knt., to bo held in capite by 
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Knight's srnicc. Tlte scnl of the Priory nttnchcd to the dcrd of surrrnd<'r, 
in the augmentntion office, represents a full-length figure of St. Hclcn, with 
a cross in her right hand, and a book in her left. The lower portion of the 
legend is deficient; the following remains :-S. SA:->CTE. HI::LE, .... . EI.'cLE. 

D'Ku.r.r:-.o. 
The following is a list of Pl·ioro~s,·s of Nunk('i.'ling, with the elates in which their 

nnmi.'s occur :-.\b"llCS clc lwos clc llev('r)•'y, in 1:!00; Amnricin de la l\Ioro, 13().'}; Isnl>cl 
.J,~ St. Quinlin, l:llH; Isnbclllnrton. }:lflll; Janc or .Jonn llnrnstou; Jm1c Trymtn, H~!l; 
J-:knnor nootc, 140:1; :\Iargurct Fnllhnr}'e, 1::ill.!; J,;nbel lllctham, 1 :;nr,; Jnnc Alnnson, 
15:21; Chri~t.innn Durgh, l:i.J.i. The lattt•r surr('ntlcn•d th C' house, and rcceiwd a pen­
sion of .C"'. per nnnum durinr:; her lift~ ; and nine other nun~ had much smaller Jl<'llSions. 

After pnssing through many l1auds, the mnnor and estates of N unkeeling, 
together with the 11crpetunl nd\'owson of the church, were ndvcrtised for sale 
in the l'ork Coura11t newspaper, of the lOth of August, 1773, by the trustees 
of John Hudson, Esq. Uillings Hill wns then sold to Mr. Jas. Fattbing, 
then of Foston, nod the remainder of the estate wns sold in portions to 
Sc\'ernl purchasers. The runnor of Dewbolme was also ndvcrtised for sal<', 
nnd wns included in the above-mentioned ndYertiscment, but another adver· 
tisemcnt nppenred about the snme time, cautioning the public against pur­
chasing it, as it belonged to Mr. Willinm Acklam, of Dewholme, and Mr. 
Johnson Deswiclc, of l~cighton. 

The Lirin!J is a Perpetual Curaey, augmented with £800. from Queen 
Annc's Bounty, from 1807 to 1817, and now returned at .£55. per nnnum. 
It is in tl1c gift of ::\frs. Dixon, and Iucumbency of the ReY. n. Ott.erburn. 
The present church stnntls alone in the fields, nnd is a small building, cou­
sisting of a nnve anti chancel, erected in 1810, nt the expense of the then 
pntron, T. Dixon, Esq. Parts of the circular pillars arc the masonry of the 
old Priory church. The font is ancient. In the chancel is the mutilntcd 
effigy of a crusader, supposed to represent Sir Audrew Fnuconberg, an early 
benefactor to the Priory; aud 11ear it is the full length effigy of n lady. An 
inscription on a white stone on the floor denotes thnt Hobcrt Owst, an eccle­
siastic, was buried thet·e in USO. This is the oldest mcmorinl of the 
family of Owst. There arc also scYeral mcroorinls of the family of Aeklnm, 
of Dcwholme. 

There is no villnge nt X unltecling, strictly speaking, the houses being 
s~attercd all over the township. The Manor Iluusc, close to the church, 
seems to have been built from the old materials of the Priory. On the side 
of the rond from this place to Cntfoss, stands the broken shaft of an ancient 
stone cross. Billiii!JS lliU I/ouse and estate now belongs to John Rickerby, 
E sq., and is occupied hy l\Ir. Henry Robson, farmer. 
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Beu.•holme is a pleasant village, situated about 3 miles N.W. from Hornsea. 
The principal landowners here are Mr. Thos. Ward, Mrs. Dixon, and Messrs. 
Chas. Cornwall and Wm. Acklo.m. The soil is chiefly a strong clay. 

N unkeeling Church is more than a mile west from Dewholme. The 
Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists ha\'e each a. small chapel here. The 
School, which was built in 18:18, at a cost of .£00. raised by subscription, is 
almost entirely supported by Yoluntary contributions. 

Be1rhobne Hall, now in the occupation of Mr. Wm. Drankley, farmer, is o. 
good building, erected by Sir William Pennyman, above fifty years since. 

R1sE.-Franco, of Fauconberg in Normandy, who had come over at the 
time of the Conquest, held this place as a vassal of Drogo, at the period of 
the Domesday Survey. The Fauconbergs, of which this Franco was the 
ancestor, became ennobled, and were Lords of the Manor for nearly 400 years. 
Jonn, dnughtcr and heiress of Thomas J.,ord Fnuconbcrg, carried this and 
many other estates in marriage to William de Ne\'ille, younger son of Ralph, 
first Earl of Westmoreland, who in her right became Lord Fa.uconberg. He 
was after\vards created Earl of Kent, and, dying in 1403, his property was 
divided amongst his three daughters. After the Restoration, Charles II. 
granted the lordship in fee to Sir Hugh Dethcll, Knt., elder brother to John 
Dcthell, Esq., from whom it descended to his posterity. The present much 
respected possessor, Richard Dethcll, Esq., inherits the family estates under 
the will of the late Wm. Bethell, Esq., who died in 1700. The Dethell, or 
Ap Ithell, family arc of Welch extraction. The present Mr. Bethell was 
High Sheriff of Yorkshire in 1822, and was elected one of the four parlia­
mentary representatives of that county in 1830; and after the passing of the 
Reform Bill lw was for some time one of the l'epresentatives of the East 
Riding He is now n. Deputy Lieutenant of the Enst Riding, and for many 
years he was Chairman of the Quarter Sessions of that Riding. Tho area 
of the parish of Rise, according to the census returns of 1851, is 2,012 
acres, nnd the population is 107 souls. Rateable value, .£2,007. ; assessed 
property, £2,353. The surface is level, nnd the soil is chiefly clay. 

The Liriii!J is a flectory, rated at .£10. Os. 5d., and returned at £550. per 
annum. The patronage is vested in the Lord Chancellor, and the present 
Rector is the Rev. W. J. Wbnteley. The tithes have been commuted for 
.£537. 15s., and the glebe consists of 53 acres, with a very neat residence. 

The C!turch (All Saints) was rebuilt in 1845, at a cost, it is supposed, of 
about .C2,000., l!y nicbard Detbcll, Esq., and is UO\V a neat structure, with 
a tower. It contnins several monuments to the Dcthell family. There were 
two chantries in this church before the Refol'IDation, dedicated severally to . , 
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the messed Virgin and St. Thomas the Martyr. The lands with which the 
former of those chantries was endowed, were appropriated by Edward VI., to 
the support of the school of Giggleswick in Craven. 

There is no assemblage of houses that might be called o. village; the 
farmhouses arc scattered, and there are several neat cottages, for labourers, 
built by .Mr. llethell. Tho place is situated about 8 miles E.N.E. of 
Beverlcy, and 6 miles S.S.W. of Hornsea. 

Riu Hall, tbe elegant seat of Richard Bethell, Esq., and of his nephew, 
Wm. F. Bcthell, Esq., is situated in a fine park, beautifully ornamented with 
timber. About 300 head of deer occupy 130 acres; there are 120 acres of 
wood; and the fish ponds occupy 20 acres. The principal entrance to the 
park, near the church, is omamented with two stone lodges l1aving Doric 
columns. The old mansion house was taken down in 1815, and the present 
structure, which was erected iu its stead, was finished in 1820, occupying a 
space of five years in building. It is a large handsome stone structure, in 
the Grecian style of architecture, having three fine fronts. The west front 
is omamcntcd with a portico, pillars, entablature, s.nd pediment; the south 
front has two projecting wings of about six feet, and a plain pediment in tl10 
centre; and the north front is similar. The interior is very elegant and 
chaste in its design, decorations, furniture, &c. 

The Rectory Houu is also situated in the park, behind the church. It is 
a neat residence, rebuilt in 1800, and surrounded with tastefully laid out 
gardens. There is a School for poor children, supported by Mrs. Bethell. 

Wood Ilouu is the residence of Mr. Francis Dawson; and Riu Grange is 
in the occupation of Mr. Hugh Carr. 

Famtoll contains about 60 acres of land, in a conspicuous situation, 
planted with trees, and has a circular course formed for the purpose of 
training horses on it, but it is not now used for that purpose. Riu Buah is 
another conspicuous place, which, from its elevated station, and being planted 
with fine ash trees, is seen at great distances. 

The poor parishioners have an annuity of 40s. out of the manor of Rise, 
left by Sir Hugh Bcthell, in luiO; and they have also tl1e greater part of 
the rent of a houso and about 3t acres of land iu Withenl\vick, purchased 
with benefaction money in 1i38. 

RouTa.-This place gave name to its ancient possessors, the knightly 
family of Do Ruda, Ruth, or llouthe, as it has been variously spelt. The 
manor was in the Hildyard family from the reign of Elizabeth to that of 
Cho.rles II., when Henry Hildyard, Esq., of East Horsley, in the county of 
Suney, by will dated January, lGi-i, bequeathed it and several other manors 
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to certain trustees for purposes therein directed. Mr. Poulson, who sa.w a 
copy of this will, tells us that it seems to have been one great object of Henry 
Hildyard to disinherit, as far as be could do so, his eldest son Henry, of 
Kelstcrn, who bad embraced the creed of the Catholic church. ·The manor 
and estate appears to have then passed, probably by purchase, to the family 
of Ellerker, of Risby and Moor Town, with whom the property continued 
until recently, when the whole was purchased of the Misses Ellerker by Lord 
Londesborough. The parish is on the road from Deverley to Dridlington; 
the surface is level, and the soil near the Tillage, and at the extremity, is 
stony and inclined to clay; tbo land has been well drained. Tho low lands 
townrds Meaux, and many of the other carrs in this district, abound with 
trees buried beneath the surface. Those found here are principally oak, of 
large size, in a perfoctly black state, and aro used for gate posts, rails, 
paling, and other purposes. In digging in the carrs, oak leaves and acorns 
are often met with. In 1838 there were at least 600 trees dug up by Mr. 
Danby here, in a fourteen acre field. If these trees are not antediluvian, the 
probable cause of their being buried in the earth is stated at page 304 of this 
volume. Area, 2,382 acres; population, 172; rateable value, £3,584; as­
sessed property, £3,841. 

The Church is an ancient Rectory, and the advowson appears to have 
been in the possession of the owners of the manor from the earliest times, 
and so it continues to the present day, Lord Londcsborough being the present 
patron. The living is valued in the King's Books at £8. 17s. Id., and is 
now returned at £470. The Rev. Charles Hallis the Rector. 

The Fabric (All Saints) is a plain low ancient building, consisting of a 
nave, chancel, and low tower, and stands nearly l of a mile W. from tbo 
village. There is a porch on tho south side, and the whole building, which 
appears to have been erected in the 14th century, and was greatly altered in 
1835, is pebble dashed. The interior is plain; the chancel is about two feet 
lower than the nave, and they are both ceiled. Beneath tl1e communion 
table, on a large grave stone, are the brass effigies of a Knight in armour and 
his lady, beneath arches of pinnacle work, in good preservation. The image 
of the man is·4 feet S inches, and that of the woman S feet 10 inches. The 
inscription is partly gone, but the male figure represents Sir Ralph Eller­
ker, of Risby, Knt., who died in 1557, and the other, his wife, Catherine, 
daughter of Sir John Constable, of Durton Constable. There is also in the 
chancel the mutilated effigy of a crusader, which trsdition assigns to Sir John 
Routh, Knt., living in 1420. The font is a plain octagon basin and pedestal, 
with blank shields in each face. 
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Tile Villa:Je consists of a few scattered farm houses and cottages, about .t 
miles ~.E. by E. of DeYerley. The farm house S.E. of the church, in the 
occupation of )fr. Thomas Wilson, is conjectured to be the l\lanor Hous('. 

The Rectory Hou8e is a good building, near the church, in a pleasant 
situation, and surrounded with plantations. 

STGor.ESTIIOn:'>t:.-This parish includes the townships of Sigglesthorne, 
Catfoss, Little HatflelJ, and part of Great IIatfield, and Seaton with Wassand. 
The area of the entire parish is 6,319 acres, and its population is 'i03 souls. 
Amount of assessed property, .£G,!l05. The Torrnsliip of Si[J!Jlestl10r11e con­
tains 1,050 acres, and 210 inhabitants. Hateable Yaluc, .£1,308. 

'I'hc lordship of Si:~lestorne was given to the Collegiate Church of St. John 
of Deverlcy, by Wm. the Conqueror, and the Provosts of that establishment 
became successive lords of the place. In 1314 Pro\·ost de Melton, afterwards 
Archbishop of York, obtained o. royal patent for an annual mart or fair here, 
"on the eve, on the day, and on the morrow of St. L11urence." Fairs 'IYCrc 
then esteemed a particular privilege. The Provosts bad also a grant of free 
warren through all his demesne lands, and they continued lords of this manor 
till the dissolution of the Pro,·ostry in 15-17. To 'IYhom the manor was 
aftcrwo.rds re-granted is unknown. The manorial rights arc now the joint 
property of Lady Strickland, of Wassand, and Rd. 13cthell Esq., of Rise; 
but the Hall estate is the property of William Wright E sq., who, in 18-Hl, 
succeeded to it by purchase from G. G. Richardson Esq., of Redbill, County 
of Surrey, to whom it descended from a maternal ancestor, in 'IYhosc family 
it remained for upwards of fA\·o centuries. 

The Rectory belonged to the Collegiate Society of St. ,Tohn, before the 
Ticformation, but it then reverted to the Crown where the patronage is still 
retained. In the Liber Regis it is rated o.t .£31. Is. 3d., and it is now re­
turned at .£5x5. per ann. The present !lector is the Uev. Wm. Harry 
Edward Dentinck, Archdeacon of ·westminster. The tithes of Sigglesthorne 
were commuted nt the enclosure in li72, for a yearly modus, nud nu allot­
ment of 100A. 371'. of land. 

The CT111rch (St. Laurcncc) is n Gothic edifice, consisting of o. no.vc and 
aisles, n chapel on the south side, n. chancel, south porch, and a mnssive low 
embattled tower. Though it has suffered much, ns r<'gards the style of the 
building, from "churchwardens' repairs," yet it is n very pleasing structure, 
and its lovely picturesque site is not equalled in Holderness. The church 
yard, which is a V<'I'Y large one, is kept in the style of well ordered pleasure 
grounds; and under the peaceful shades of the ivied wo.lls of the sacred edifice, 
surrounded by gravd walks, flowers nnd shrubs, nnd lofty elms, the stranger 
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visiting the spot cannot fail to feel impressed with the tranquillity of the 
scone. To the much cste<:med Hector is the parish indebted for the careful 
preservation of everything worthy of the past, whilst the present improYed 
taste for improving our churches has been carefully attended to. The north 
aisle was rebuilt in 1827, and the whole building repaired and beautified 
in 1830 and 1831. The clcrestory of the nave terminates in a plain parapet. 
The chancel is nearly all covered with ivy, and many other parts of tho 
cbun:h arc oruamcnted with the same shrub. The east window of the 
c)1anccl is of four lights. There was formerly a chapel on the north side, 
which was removed in 1827. This chapel belonged to the Constables of 
Catfoss ; and the chapel on the south side belongs to the Constables of 
Wassand. Before the former chapel was taken down the church had the 
appco.rancc of having o. smnll transept. The interior of the church is very 
neat. Four pointed arches, resting on circular columns on each side, separate 
the na,·e from tbo aisles. The chancel arch is large and pointed; the east 
window is filled with stained glass, at the expense of the present Rector, who, 
in 18.2.2, presented the parish with the neat organ, in the gallery at the west 
end of the church, o.nd who, in 1838, presented a new service of communion 
plate. The present smnll but elegant marble font is the gift of the late 
Rev. C. Constable, of Wassand. The tower contains three bells. There arc 
sc\·eral monumental inscriptions to the Constables, and others, and in the 
chancel is a monument to the memory of John Gamctt, Bishop of Clog her, 
who died in lii8. In the churchyard is o. large slab of stone, twelve feet 
in length, which appears to have had some bro.sses on it. 

The J"ill(Jije is pleasantly situated, and has some good houses in it. It 
stands about 6 miles K.B. by E. of Beverley, and 4 W.S.W. of Horusea. 
The improvements in the parish during the last ten years, make it one of 
the most interesting villages in the East Riding. 

Si!Jglcsthorne Hall is the sent of Willinm Wright, Esq. Soon after tl10 
estates came into the possession of this gentleman, he pulled down the greater • 
part of the Old Ilnll, which bad been erected by .M. T. Gibson, Esq. ; o.nd 
rebuilt and enlarged it under the able superintendence of Cuthbcrt Brodrick, 
Esq., architect.; so that it is now not only a comfortable family residence, 
but a good specimen of the Italian style of architecture, and is generally 
o.dmired by the passing stranger. It. is situated near the church, and is 
surrounded by fine timber, as well as with neat gardens and shrubberies, 
and forms an interesting object in this district. 

The Rectory 1-Iou.se, which stands to the cast of the church, across the 
high road, was built in li67, by the late Rector, the Rev. T. Constable, a 
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few yards south-east from the site of the old mansion. The cost of the house, 
stables, &c., 'vas £1,700., but since then great improTements have been made 
in it. It is a fine house, and the pleasure grounds, gardens, &c., attached 
to it, cover about three acres. The Ma1W'I' Houu is a new building of brick, 
in the occupation of Mr. Rd. Taylor, and erected near the site of the old one. 

The School is endowed with £335. 6s. 1d., navy 5 per cent. annuities, 
purchased with £-!QO.left by Marmaduke Constable, Esq., for the instruction 
of sixteen poor children, to be nominated by the owner of W assand and the 
Rector of Sigglesthome. The late M. T. Gibson, Esq., of Sigglesthome 
Hall, who died in 1833, left £400., to be invested in stock, for the benefit of 
the poor pnrit~hioners. 

Caifou TotDnlhip.-This is one of those places the names of which are of 
British origin, from coit, a wood, and jon, a dyke; the woody dyke, as Cat. 
wick, Cotbcck, &c. The manor was anciently in the family of Fauconberg, 
and in the reign of Edward Ill. it was carried in mnrriage, by Agncs, 
daughter of Sir Henry Fnuconbcrg, to Sir John Constable, of Fresmarsh, a 
descendant of Roaldus Constable, of Richmond, and it continued through 
many generations in his descendants. The manor afterwards passed by 
purchase to the Bethell family, and Rd. Bethcll, Esq., is the present owner 
of the whole township. Area, 1,050 acres; rateable value, £1,085.; asseSI!ed 
property, £1,261.; population 39 souls. Catjou House, built early in the 
17th century, by the widow of Pbilip Constable, Esq., of Wassand, and 
formerly the residence of Mr. Betbell, wns pulled down in 1815, and the 
outbuildings were formed into a farm house. There are four farm houses 
and four or fivo cottages in the township, but all scattered. The place is 
o.bout l! miles N.W. of Sigglcsthome, and 4i miles W.S.W. of Hom868. 

Hatfold Magna, GrMt, or East HaljieW.-This township is partly in the 
parish of Sigglestbome, and partly in that of Mappleton. The place gaye 
the name of Hatfield to a family who formerly held the manor. It passed 

• out of this family to the Constables, by mo.rrie.ge, o.nd afterwards came into 
the possession of the Betbells. Richard Bethell, Esq., is the present Lord 
of the Manor, and be, together with Jesse Boulby, Esq., and Col. Hutton, 
are amongst the principal landowners. The township contains 1,43~ acres, 
of the rateable value of £1,385. Assessed property, £1,659.; pop. 165. 

The J'illage is scattered, and pleasantly situated about 3! miles S.S.E. of 
Hornsea. It appears to have been a place of some importance, from an 
ancient curious stone cross, of exquisito workmanship, which stands at the 
junction of three narrow roads. The shaft of this eross is 5 feet 4 inches, 
and the elevation of the whole is 9 feet. At the corners of the base are lions 
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couchant, and on each of the faces of the shaft is a scroll work of vine leaves. 
From the remains there is sufficient evidence of the bead of the shaft being 
-very elaborate, and it is generally allowed to be of Norman workmanship. 

There was formerly a Chapel here, dedicated to St. Helen, which was de­
stroyed by an accidental fire about 140 years ago. The site of the chancel 
is marked by a large gravestone inscribed to Christopher Constable, who died 
in 1640. The Hatfields had this chapel as a place of sepulture, and the 
chapel yard is still used as a burying ground. Soqthward of the chapel 
stood the old hall, or Manor House, the ancient seat of the Lords of Hatfield. 
The remains of the building is converted into a farm house, now in the occu­
pation of Mr. Wm. Clapham. The fish pond, which was iu front of the 
house,•is now filled up. Mr. Clapham ha.s some of the window sills, and the 
holy !Vater font of the old chapel, and he has also some mill stones, which 
were used in a corn mill that formerly stood a short distance from the hall. 

There is a small Mtthodi't Chapel in Hatfield. The poor have 40s. a 
year, left by William Day. 

Hatjield Parva, Littu, or W&t Hatjield.-The area of this township is 
944 acres, and the number of its inhabitants is 44. The amount of assessed 
property is £1,162. The family of Tiliol held lands here through a long 
series of years. The maner belonged to the Hustlers, and in 1694 Sir Wm. 
Hustler conveyed it to Rt. Greame, ancestor to Yarburgh Yarburgh, Esq., 
the present Lord of the Manor, and owner of the whole township. The place 
is divided into two good farms, occupied respectively by Mr. Tanton, and 
Mrs. Harper, and is distant about 2 miles S.E. of Sigglesthome. 

Swton and W auand Totomhip.-Seaton obtained its name probably from 
its situation, near the lake or mere. The township contains 1,786 acres, and 
360 inhabitants. Its rateable value is £2,644. The principal proprietors 
are Lady Strickland, Rev. W. C. Moxon, Capt. Broadley, and several free­
holders. It is not ascertained who has the legal right to this manor, and in 
the absence of such knowledge, the Lord Paramount of Holdemess exercises 
that right. The tithes were commuted in 1839, for a rent charge of £246. 

The Village of Staton is small, but neat and pleasant, and stands about 3 
miles W. of Homsea, and 1 N.W. from Sigglesthome. A small Methodi&c 
Chaptl was built here in 1810, and a Primitive Methodin Chapel, in 1887. 

W a&~and anciently belonged to the Abbey of Meaux, and in the beginning 
of the 16th century it is traced to the Abbey of St. Mary, at York. After 
the suppression of religious houses it was granted to the family of Ughtred, 
who had previously held it under the Abbey by Knight's service. Some 
years afterwards it was purchased by Dame J ane, widow of Sir William 
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Constable, of Caerthorp, Knt., 5th son of Sir Rt. Constable, o£ Flarubro', and 
by Marmaduke her son ; and from them the manor has descended lineally 
to Lady Strickland, daughter of the late Rev. C. Constable. The lordship 
gave name to the family of Wassand, who seem to have resided here for two 
centuries. The last of this family on record is ~ea St. Quintin, succca· 
eively the wife of Sir John Wassand and Sir John St. Quintin, Knts. 

Wassand contains nearly 400 acres of land, and is situated about 2 miles 
W. of Homsoa, at the head of Homsea Mere, formerly cnlled Great Wassand 
Marre, and Seaton Marre. (See page 414). 

Waumul HaU, the elegant seat of Lady Strickland, wns erected in 1813, 
by her father, the Rev. Charles Constable. It is a fine mansion, in the 
Italian style of architecture, and is delightfully situated at the west end of 
the lake, in an agreeably disposed and w~ll-wooded park. The old mansion, 
which was pulled down by Mr. Constable, as well as that at Catfoss, was 
built by Mary, successively the wife of Philip Constable, of Wassand, and 
John Constable, of Catfoss, Esqrs. 

SKIPSEA.-This parish, which is bounded on the east by the North Sea, 
comprises the townships of Skipsea, Bonwick, and Dringhoe, Upton, and 
Brough; and part of the cbapelry of Ulrome. Area of the entire parish, 
5,97.1 acres; amount of asll8ssod property, £5,702.; population in 1851, 
844 souls. The Town~~Mp of Skipua contains 1,878 acres, including the sea 
coast, and its population is 435. The name of this place does not occur in 
the Domesday Surrey, but it is supposed to be included in the manor of 
Cletu.ne or C~ton; and to have acquired pa.rochial rights in after times. The 
manor has continued a member of the Seigniory to the present day, ao that 
Sir T. A. C. Constable is the owner of the manorial rights. The Countess 
of Cornwall, widow of Piers de Gaveston, and niece of Edward II., had this 
manor in her time. In the 12th of Edward m. (1389), the King granted a 
market and two fairs to this place; the former to be held on Thursday 
in every week; and the latter every year, on the feasts of St. Thomu the 
Martyr and of All Saints, each to continue for four days. In 1298 Bobert 
de Chester, Rector of Skipsca, enjoyed the tithe of fish in Skip~ea Marr ,· 
from which cause the terminating syllable in the name of the place, like 
many others alluded to, was no doubt added. Amongst the principal land· 
owners in Skipsea are Mrs. Beresford, Wm. Dunn Crook, Esq., the Trustees 
of the late Mr. Geo. Milner, Mr. Ralph Baron, and Messra. William Foster 
and Jonathan Foster. 

Stepben Earl of Albemarle gave "the Church of the Cutle of Skipaea" to 
the Abbey of Albemarlc, and it afterwards belonged to the Abbey of Ma.ux. 
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The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at £9. 16s., and returned at 
£96. per annum. It was augmented with £-100. of Queen Anne's Bounty, 
in 1748 and 1808, and with a Parliamentary grant of £1,000., in 1821. 
Patron, the Archbishop of York; Vicar, Rev. Cbas. Cory. The tithes were 
commuted at the enclosure in 1762. Mrs. Beresford is the lay impropriator. 

The FCJbric (All Saints) stands on rising ground, at the west end of the 
township, and comprises a nave, with aisles, a chancel, west tower, and south 
porch, and is in the later English style. The chancel was rebuilt in 1824, 
the original windows being preserved ; and the nave was new roofed in 18~7. 
On the east end of the north aisle there seems to have been a chantl'y chapel. 
Both the clerestory and aisles of the nave are embattled. The interior is 
neat, the nave being divided f.rom the aisles by four pointed arches, resting 
on octagonal columns. The east window is of four lights. The font, which 
is circular, is an unusually largo one. The tower contains three bells. 

The Villag1 is agreeably situated on slightly rising ground, and is neatly 
built. It is distant lS miles N.N.W. from Homsea, and 10 E. by S. from 
Great Driffield. There are chapels here for the Independents, Wesleyans, 
and Primitive Methodists; and a National School, erected in 1841S. 

In a field a short distance from the church is a mound called Barman Hill, 
and the low grounds about it are called Barman Hill bottom. The origin of 
this name is unknown. A little further from the church, to the south-east, 
is another hill, which seems to have been moated round, and upon which 
stood, says tradition, a hall. The lands which surround the hill are still 
co.lled Ho.ll Garths. Stones are frequently dug out, which appear to have 
been the foundations of an outer wall. There are also certain dispersed lands 
still designated by the name of Cluton Lands, and there is a farm house called 
Clayton Hill, which doubtless received the name from the ancient lordship 
of Cleeton, of which Skipsea is apposed to have been a member. 

Skip.ea Grange comprises two good farms, in the occupation of Mr. Wm. 
Homby and Mr. Thos. Soddaby. Cli.ff Houu, the residence and property of 
Mr. Ralph Baron, stands on high ground near the sea; and South FWd 
Hotl81 is the residence and property of Mr. Wm. Foster, who has a brick and 
tile manufactory on the farm. In a field on the left, leading from Skipsea 
to Ulrome, are traces of a tumulus, or barrow; and in a field towards Dring­
hoe manor farm, is a barrow of the shape styled Bell Barrows. For ·~ 
remark$ on barrow• tu 11ol. i., page 47. 

Bonrr.ick Towruhip consists of 745 acres, belonging to the Dawson family, 
and is divided into two farms co.lled High and Low Bonwick. Hiyh Bonwick 
stands about 2 miles S. of Skipsen, and is in the occupation of Mr. Fennel 
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Winter; and Lotc Bonwick is the residence of Mr. Robert Stork, farmer. 
Population in 1851, 25 souls; amount of assessed property, £948. 

Dringlwe, Upton, and Brough Towmhip.-Area, 1, 700 acres; population, 
163 souls; rateable value, £1,350; assessed property, £1,617. In the 
Domesday Survey Dringhow, or Dringhoe, is returned as a soke of the manor 
of Cletuue. Wm. le Gros gave lands here to his falconer, Gilbert de Calz 
(subsequently spelt Cawz, Caunce, and Cance); and the Abbey of Meaux had 
several grants of land in this place. The Dringhoo estate was in the Acklam 
family in more modern times. The chief proprietors of the soil of the town· 
ship at present are R. Bethell, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), the Misses Froat, 
Mrs. Deilby, F'. Taylor, Esq., Mr. J. Lamplough and Mr. Wm. Brandham. 

The Hamut of Drinolw~ is situated about 1 mile N.W. of Skipsea, The 
llfancr Houu is in the occupation of Mr. Wm. llrandham. Dringhoe Hall 
is the property and residence of Mr. Jeremiah Lamplough. This estate, 
amounting to -183 acres, was disposed of by the Ackln.m family in about 1785. 
Driugho~ House is the residence of 1\Ir. William Shepherd, farmer. 

Uptcn is seated on a gentle elevation, which, no doubt, suggested its name. 
It consists of two farm houses and two cottages. Ono of the farm houses 
(Upton House) is a large respectable looking residence, backed by pla11tatio~s. 

Brough, or Skipsea Brotl{}h, consists of two farm houses, an inn, kept by 
Mr. Wm. Dlenkin, and several cottages. Brougb, or Burgh, obtained its 
name from a Castle built at it by Drogo, the first Norman Lord of the 
Seigniory of Holderness (See page 355); the words burgh, bury, and berry, 
being applied by our Saxon ancestors to fortified places. Mr. Pennant is of 
opinion that every post of this nature, occupied by the Saxons in this land, 
had been originally British, and that the Saxons merely deepened the ditches, 
raised the ramparts, cleared the area, and often exalted one part into what 
was called the dungeon, or keep. Harold was the Saxon Lord of Cleeton, of 
which Brough was a member," and it is not improbable," says Poulson, "that 
he may have raised a defensive position on this spot, of which its Norman 
possessor took advantage, and fixed upon it, from its advantageous position, 
as his future baronial castle." From the concurrent testimony of every 
writer, the erection of the Ca$t./e here is attributed to Drogo, and it appears 
to have passed to the subsequent Lords of the Seigniory, but was demolished 
~n 1220, in consequence of the rebellion oC Wm. de Fortibus, the second Earl 
of Albemarle. The King (Henry Ill.) issued his commands to the Sheriff 
of Yorkshire, to mise the posse comitatus for the demolishing of this castle, 
as well as those of Skipton, in Craven, and Cockermouth, in Cumberland. 

'whether the demolition of the castle at Brough "as complete at the time 
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cannot be ascertained; but his son William de Forti bus, the third Earl of 
Albemarle of that name, did homage to the King, on the death of his father, 
and his inheritance was restored to him. It may be inferred that this castle 
was not restored to its former strength, or rendered habitable, as the family 
of Albemarle removed their baronial residence to Durstwick, which became 
the "caput baronim." But though the castle was destroyed, the military 
senice, or castle ward, was still continued; and many lands were subject to 
it, in the shape of an annual payment, until a very late period. Originally 
it was the warding a tower, or door, &c., of the castle of the lord on the 
approach of an enemy ; and the lands of a great portion of the Seigniory 
were held by this military tenure. 

The only remains of the Castle of Drogo, which are now in existence, are 
the outwol'ks, and the high artificial mound called Albemarle Hill, on which 
stood the "donjon keep." This mound stands about i mile W.N.W. from 
the church, and about the same distance from the termination of the outer 
bank at Dringhoe, and about as f11.r from Brough. The circumference of the 
outer bank of the keep is about 500 yards, and the outworks form a crescent. 
Tile outer rampart is at least half a mile in circumference, and its height 
varies from about 20 to 80 feet. The mound was probably formed with 
earth from the excavations of the ditches; at a distance it appears to be 
marked with circular lines, or ridges; its circumference at the top is about 
180 paces, and the view from its summit is extensive. 

On the south-east bank, or outworks, of the castle are the bail whelts, so 
called from bail, a rampart, and welt, a rising ground. Tradition points to 
this place as the scene of a famous duel between two brothers, for their 
father's lands, during the civil wars. 

Mr. Poulson says that a market and two fairs were granted to Brough, 
as well as to Skipsea, by Edward m.; the market to be held on Thurs­
day, and the fairs on the vigil and on the day of All Saints, and on four 
days at Pentecost. 

In the cliffs opposite to Skipsea Brougb was found, embedded about six 
feet below the surface of the earth, an ancient British spear of bone; and in 
digging for stones, in the castle mound, part of an ancient vessel, resembling 
a pitcher, was turned up, and is now in the possession of 1\fr. Lamplougb, 
the owner of the site of tho castle. 

Oleeton, or Claywn Manor.-As has already been observed, the manor of 
Oletune, as it is called in Domesday, seems to have included Skipsea, Brough, 
&c., in its" adjacent parts." It is stated to have been fiye miles long, and 
Harold was its Suon lord; Cleeton, at the present day, has scarcely an 
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existence. After the Conquest it seems to have passed as a member of the 
Seigniory to its successive po88e880n. It was enclosed in 1761S. 

The Villag~, now entirely depopulated, stood S.E. of Skipeea, &nd no doubt 
a part of it has gone into the sea. 

Hyde, Hide, or HytM, was a hamlet in Skipsea parish, carried away by 
the sea before the commencement of the liSth century. The Chronicler of 
Meaux observes that the Abbey received nearly .£30. from the town of Hythe, 
chiefly from the tithe of fish, but now, says he (1896), tM plau il tot4Uy 
d#troyed. Hythe, in Saxon, is a port, or haYen. 

Withoto was a hamlet originally included in the Manor of Cleeton. The 
horns of an elk, which were found in the cliffs, were deposited in the earth 
where this place bad an existence. The site is now a hollow bog, called 
Withow Hole. 

Uuu111, OR ULROKE, CBAPELRY.-Tbis place is bounded by the German 
Ocean, and is partly in the parish of Barmston, but cbiefty in that of Sk.ipsea. 
Area, including sea coast, 1,651 acres; population, 2!U souls; amount of 
assessed property, .£1,622. The family of De Ulram possessed lands hero at 
an early period, having received them from Wm. le Gros. In 1358 the 
manor of Ulram formed part of the possessions of William Lord Greystock. 
In later times the manor was successively in the families of Robinson, Har· 
tas, Sbipton, and Hardcastle. In 1717 the manor was conveyed to Giles 
Rickaby, of Bridlington Quay, merchant, and John Rickaby, Esq., of the 
same place, is the present lord, and a principal landowner, with the ReY. R. 
Brooke, Mrs. Beresford, and Mr. Francis Sharp. 

It is not known at what time a religious edifice was erected and endowed 
here, but there is evidence to show that a chapel was in existence at Ulram 
long before the close of the Uth century, and that it was dedicated to St. 
Andrew. The Living is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of the executors of 
J. Lockwood, Esq., and Incumbency of the Rev. C. Cory, Vicar of Skipsca. 
It is rated at .£3. 19s. 2d. and now worth .£7 4. per ann. The Incumbent 
has a glebe of 22 acres; the impropriator holds 57 acres in lieu of corn tithes, 
with an annual money payment of .£25.; and the Rector of Barmston has 
74 acres, with a payment of .£19. a year. 

The Chapel is an humble edifice, consisting of a body, chancel, porch, and 
tower. The windows are all modern, and the rest of the building was pro­
bably erected in the 15th century. The roof is covered with tiles. The 
interior is very plain. A chantry existed in this chapel at an early period. 

The Village is plt'tlsantly situated on high ground, about 1 mile N. of 
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Skipsea, and 7t S.S. by W. of Bridlington. The Wesleyan Clwpel was 
erected in 1848, on a piece of land given by Mr. Francis Sharp. 

The Ma1WT Hcnue stands near the centre of the village, and is now OCCU· 

pied by Mr. Thomas Smith. Ulram Hall is the residence of Mr. J. T. Sharp, 
farmer. Ulram Cottage is the property and re11idence of Mr. F. Sharp; and 
Skipua Cottage, near the sea, is the soot of E. Robinson, Esq. These are 
the principal houses in the to"nship. 

The Coast Guard have a station here, near the sea, for fh'o officers. The 
poor have a fourth part of the yearly produce of a bequest of £400. by the 
Rev. John Holmcs, in 1772; and the rents of five acres allotted at the en­
closure, after paying 20s. towards the repairs of the chapel. 

\VlTIIER~WICK.-This parish contains 2,600 acres, of the rateable value of 
£3,129. Its population is 513 souls. The family of Fauconberg held this 
manor with Rise, and it afterwards fell into other hands. It has long been in 
the possession of the Bethell family. The chief landowners at present are R. 
Bethell, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), Geo. Alder, Esq., Mr. John Leaper, Mrs. 
Lee, Bt. Bell, M.D., and Mr. E. Walker. In Domesday the place is called 
Widefornwick, but in some later records it is written Whit-thorn-wick, which 
suggests the etymology of its pre11ent name. 

The Btn~fict is a Rectory, in the peculiar jurisdiction and patronage of 
the Prebendary of Holme, in the Cathedral of York ; but under the Cathe­
dral Act the Archbishop will be the patron, after the termination of the 
exiating interest of the present Prebendary. It is rated in the King's Books 
at £6. 7s. 1d., and its present value has not been returned. The tithes 
were commuted in 1802. The Church (St. Alban) has just been rebuilt, and 
consists of a nave, south aisle, chancel, south porch, and an open bell turret 
between the nave and the chancel, containing two bells. It is built of cobble 
stones and brick, with cut stone dressings. Pointed arches, re~~ting on 
octagonal pillars, separate the nave from the aisle ; the seats are open ; and 
a window of three and another of two lights, in the chancel, are filled with 
stained glass. The gables are surmounted with three crosses. The cost of 
the re-erection of the edifice is about £1,100.; towards which the Rector 
(the Rev. George Holdsworth) contributed £400., and Richard Bethell, Esq., 
of Rise, £50. ; the remainder was raised by subscription. 

The Villag' stands on high ground, about 8 miles N. by E . of Hedon. 
·nere is a W ukyan Chapel, built in 1~11 ; and a Primitive MetlwdUt Chapel, 
erected in 1843. The School was built in 1846, and is supported by sub­
scription. A Wesleyan Sunday School was built in 1845. 

The Manor Houu is a modem building. Witl.emwick Gt-ange, in the 
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occupation of Mr. William Marsball, fanner, is a good substantial, a.a well as 
very neat, residence. The Oharilia for the poor of the parish amount to 
£4. lOa. per annum. 

Statiltic1 of Holdernui.-According to the Census Return of 1851, the 
area and population of Holdemeas was a.a follows:-

Ala POPULATION. 
la A ...... )I &la. Ftmaleo. I ToW. 

Holdeme88, South Division ..•. ...•.. 80,471 4,141 3,85:1 7,096 

" 
1\fiddlc 

" ··· ······· :11,2:12 4 ,443 4,3!8 8,791 

" 
North 

" ·· ··· ····· :IS,Cl39 4,702 4,368 9,070 

T OTAL . 100.~62 I 13,286 12,:171 I 25,8:17 

~irktring (lQl,tptnfnht. 
Tms division of the East Riding, which is situated at its north-eastern 

extremity, extends over an area of 109,080 acres, and contains a population 
of 21,465 souls ; viz., 10,006 males, and 10,559 females. It comprises the 
market town of Bridlington, and the follo\ving parishes :-Argam, Dempton, 
Dessingby, Boynton, Burton Agnes, Burton Fleming, Camaby, Filey (part 
of), Flamborough, Folkton, Foston-upon·the-Wolds, Foxholes, Fraisthorpe, 
Ganton, Garton-upon·the-Wolds, Harpham, Hunmanby, Kilham, Lowthorpe, 
Muston, Nafferton, Wanaford, Reighton, Ruston Parva, Thwing, Willerby, 
and Wold Newton. The wapentake is bounded on the cast by the German 
Ocean, on the south by Hartbill Wapentake and Holdemess, on the west by 
Duckrose Wapentake, and on the north by the North Riding of the county. 
Dickering probably derived its name from the remarkable entrenchment near 
Flamborough, called the Danes Dyke. 

AROAM, or ERGBAM.-This is a small parish, sometimes considered extra· 
parochial, consisting of 610 acres, chiefly the property of Mr. Thomas Bell 
(the Lord of the Manor), and Y arburgh Yarburgh, Esq. The place is divided 
into Great and Little Argam, and the land is subdivided into three farms. 
It is situated about 15 miles N.W. of Bridli.ogton. Its population is 40 per· 
sons, and rateablo value £456. 

The Living is a Rectory, valued in .the King's Books at £2. 18s. 4d., and 
now united to the Perpetual Curacy of Bridlington. The Church (St. John 
Baptist) is gone, and no institution has taken place since 1605. 

Finley HiU is occupied by Mr. George Bell. 
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BElll'TON.-This parish is situated near Flamborough head, and is bounded 
on the north by the German Ocean. Its area is 2,098 acres, including sea 
const, and the number of its inhabitants is 842. Amount of assessed pro­
perty, £2,848.; rateable value, £2,472. The principal landholders are F. 
S. Champion, Esq., Bempton (Lord of the Manor), Mr. G. Walmsley, Rud­
ston; MiBB Coverley, Bridlington; Mr. H. Pearson, West Ayton; Miss 
Broadley; and Mr. John l';!ilner, Kilham. Some of the richest grazing and 
feeding pnsturcs in the East Riding are in this parish, and the farmers are 
regarded as being amongst the best cultivators of the soil. 

The Livi11g is a Perpetual Curacy, returned at £51., and augmented with 
£800. of Queen Anne's Bounty, from 1766 to 1824. The patronage is 
vested in Miss Broadley, who is also the improprintor, and the Rev. Jabez 
Banks is tho Incumbent. The tithes were commuted for land, and a money 
payment, in 1765. The Chttrck (St .. Michael) belonged to the Priory of 
Bridlington, from which it was separated in 14 7 4. It is a smo.ll edifice, 
consisting of a nave, side aisles, chancel, a low tower at the west end, and a 
porch on the south side. It has been repaired at different periods, and the 
chancel was rebuilt, at the expenso of the impropriator, in 1829. The win­
dows are plain and square·headed, except the east window, which is of four 
lights. The aisles are divided from the nave by four circular arches, resting 
on circular pillars. There is a gallery for the singers at the west end. The 
tower contains two bells. 

Tho ViUagt is situated about Si miles N.N.E. from Bridlington, and at it 
is a station on the Scarborough, Bridlington, and Hull Railway. 

The W uleyan Chapel was built in 1825 ; and the Primitive Methodi&t 
Chapel, in 1848. The National School was erected by subscription in 1854. 
The Manor Howe, a neat stone building in the village, is occupied by its 
owner, T. S. Champion, Esq. The Par1onage Houu, built in 1845-6, is a 
neat brick building, a little east from the church. Bempton Grange, about 
a mile north of the village, is in the occupation of Mr. Thos. Roundhill. 

In a close a little S.W. of the church, in a part of the parish called Newl­
holTM, lies interred the body of Henry Jarrett, who died Jany. 14th, 1721. 
Ho was Lord of the Manor of Bempton·cum-Newsholme. 

The poor parishioners participate in Walmsley's gift, as noticed \Vith 
Flamborough, and have the interest of £10. left by two unknown donors. 

BzssL>;OBY.-The area of this parish is 1,280 acres; population, in 1851, 
92 souls; rateable value, £2,677.; amount of assessed property, £2,045. 
Harrington Hudson, Esq., upon attaining his Jll.l\iority, in 1856, will be Lord 
of the Manor, sole proprietor of the soil, and patron of the church. 

VOL. 11. 8 L 
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The Livi11g is a Perpetual Curacy, valued at £5. 6s. 8d., and returned at 
£59. per ann. The Rev. N. C. Strickl.and is the Incumbent. The tithes 
were commuted in 1766. The Church (St. Magnus) is a small structure, 
:without aisles or a tower, and was rebuilt in 1766. In the chancel are 
sevorol monuments to the Hudson family, ono of which is a beautiful marble 
tablet, with a basso relievo of a female expiring in the arms of her attendants. 
The east window, of three lights, is filled with stained glass, inscribed to tho 
memory of H. G. F. Hudson, Esq. The font is of considerable antiquity. 

The Villag6 is small, and enveloped in trees, and stands about 1t mile 
- S.W. of Bridlington. There is an ancient draw-well in it. Beuingby HaU, 

the former seat of the Hudsons, is pleasantly situated, on high ground, near 
the village, and is at present occupied by F. Wilkinson, Esq. The Maruw 
H()tue, a long brick building in the village, is the residence of Mr. Bourdass, 
farmer. The residence of Mr. John Kingston, farmer, near the chnrch, is 
an ancirnt house in the shape of the letter T, having walls of nearly a yard 
in thickness. It is stated that about 50 years ago some human remains 
were discovered beneath the floor of this house. Wan Dah Fan~, 1 mile 
N.W. of Bessingby, is now in the occupation of 1\lr. Francis Blakcston. 

BoYNTON.-This parish, which is situated on the road from Bridlington to 
.Malton, comprises 2,600 acres, the property of Sir George Strickland, and 
a population of llS souls. The rateable value is £8,188. The Strickland 
family were anciently seated in Westmorland, but the principal branch of it 
has been settled here for more than two centuries. Sir George Strickland, 
the present owner of Boynton, is the 7th Baronet, and son of the 6th Baronet, 
by the daughter and co-heir of Nathaniel Cholmeley, Esq., of Whitby and 
Howsham. He was born at Welburn, Kirby-Moorside, in 1782; married in 
1818, the only child of the Rev. Charles Constable, of Wassand; and suc­
ceeded his father in 1884. The first Baronet -was summoned to the Upper 
House, during Cromwell's protectorate, as Lord Strickland. The heir to the 
title and estates is Chas. Wm. Strickland, Esq., born at Hildenley in 1819. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in the patronage of Sir G. Strick­
land (the impropriator), and Incumbency of the Rev. Francis Simpson. It 
is valued in the Liber Regis at £7. 14s. 2d. and returned at £141. per ann. 
The impropriate and vicarial tithes were commuted for land, and a money 
payment, at the enclosure in 1777. The Church (St. Andrew) was rebuilt in 
the early part of the last century, and consists of a nave and chancel, with a 
handsome tower at the west end, embattled and pinnacled. The interior is 
neat. A portion of the centre of the edifice is supported by four semi-Gothic 
columns, and the chancel is separated from the nave by iron railings, The 
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chancel contains several monuments to the Strickland family. The font, 
which is in the centre of the church, is circular. 

The l'illage is small and well wooded, and stands about 2t miles W. 'by N. 
of Bridlington. The Parsonage House is a neat edifice north of the ch~rch. 

Boynton Hall, the seat of Sir G. Strickland, is a lofty and handsome 
mansion of red brick, beautifully situated upon an eminence, in a richly 
wooded park, on the acclivities of which are some fine plantations, and a 
large sheet of water ornaments the grounds. The interior of the mansion is 
very elegantly furnished and decorated, and contains a small collection of 
marble statues, among which is a J uno, 4 feet 10 inches in height, carrying 
a fawn under her arm, which is encircled in a wreath of fruit and flowers. 
This statue was found in 1777, at the Torre tre treste, four miles from Rome, 
on the Pnenestian way, laid on a tesselated pa1'ement, probably the temple 
to which it belonged. There is also a finely sculptured head of M. J unius 
Brutus, of the size of life. And among the other curiosities preserved here, 
is the thigh bone of the famous outlaw "Little John," measuring SS inches, 
taken ont of his grave at Hathersage, in Derbyshire, some 70 or 80 years 
ago. On an elevated ridge south of the hall is a pavilwn, the upper room of 
which is supported by a circular colonnade, and ascended by steps. From 
this room is a very extensive prospect, both by sea and land, particularly of 
Bridlington Bay and the eastern acclivities of the W olds, rising in somo 
places gradually and in others abruptly from the coast. 

A number of flint instruments used by the ancient British inhabitants of 
this district, have been picked up from time to time by Mr. Joseph Ba.rugh, 
on the farm called Charleston, in his occupation. 

The poor parishioners have the interest of £50., left by an unknown donor, 
and they participate with those of Carnaby in the interest of £60., left by 
Elizabeth Letitia Strickln.nd in 1808. 

BRIDLINGTON. 

The market town and port of Bridlington is situated near tho German 
Ocean, and gives name to the bay, of which the promontory ctilled Flam­
borough Head, forms the northern extremity. The place is supposed to have 
derived its name from its Saxon possessor, who was probably named Bridla. 
Thomas Wright, Esq., 1\I.A., F.S.A.,* in a note to Mr. Edward Tindall, of 

• Anthor of T~ Ctlt, the Roman, and the Sa:.eon; nnu tho WarultringB of an Anti. 
quanJ. Tho contents of Mr. Wright's note was obligingly communicnteu to us by Mr. 
Tiudall. 
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Bridlington, says, "In the Anglo-Saxon the sons o.nd descendants of a man 
(or his family) taken in the widest sense of the word, were distinguished by 
adding ing to the end of his name; thus, a son or descendant of Alfred would 
be Aljreding, and his family, or descendants by blood, would be spoken of 
generally as the Alfredinga. In the same way the Brid.lings would be the sons 
or descendo.nts of some roan named Bridla. Bridlingtun would be the chief 
residence of these Drid.lings, who wero no doubt the family or clan of one of 
the chiefs, whose name was Brid.la, who came over in  the Saxon invasion, 
and obtaining this district by his arms, established here the chief settlement 
of his family." In the Domesday Survey the place is called BrcUinton, 
and tho name has been spelt at ,•arious times, Berlint-011, BreUi11gton, and 
Britlington; and away from tho town it is now called Burlington, though the 
Government authorities have within a fow years spelt it  Bridlingt,m. 

The manor of Bridlington was given by William the Conqueror to Earl 
Morcar, and subsequently, upon his attainder in 1072, it, with other extensive 
possessions in Yorkshire and Lincolnshire, was granted by William, to Gilbert 
de Gant, or Gaunt, one of the Flemish nobility, nearly related to him, by 
whom he was accompanied on his expedition to England. Gilbert was suc­
ceeded by his son Walter de Gant, who here founded and endowed a Priory, 
on a scale correspondent to his power and possessions. 

To the soke of Bridlington appertained the townships of Marto11d, Ba�­

inghebi, Esto11e, Bovington, Gre11dale, Sprcto,u, Bocketon, Fw.istone, Stacktone, 
Fo:rhele, El&tolj, Galmeton, and Widefuton. No names arc now to bo found 
in this neighbourhood corresponding with Ele,tolj and Wid�futon, which 
have probably been seated on the shore and destroyed by tho encroachments 
of the sea. After the dissolution of religious houses the manor and rectory 
of Dridlington, which had belonged to the Priory, became vested in the 
Crown, and in the 8th of Eliz. (1500), was granted by lease to l!J iuhabi­
tants of the town for a term of 40 years; but at the end of 25 years the lease 
became forfeited for the non-payment of the stipulated rental, and writs were 
issued ago.inst the defaulters for arrears of £2,000. The lordship was then 
granted on lease to John Stanl1ope, Esq., at the same rentul as held by the 
former lessees, and four years aftenrnrds (li.iO:S) to 10 inhabitnuts of Brid­
lington for 41 years. This lease, like the former ones, nppenrs not to have 
been fulfilled, as Jo.mes I., iu 1()2-1, conferred the manor on Sir J. Ramsey, 
recently created Earl of Holderness; and his son, Sir George Ramsey, of 

Coldstream, in Scotland, sold it, iu 1633, for £3,200. to Wm. Corbett and 
12 other inhabitants, in l,chnlf of themseh·es and all the other teu1Wts and 
freeholders within the manor. lly a deed 1,eariug do.to May 6th, 10311, 
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Corbett and his associates were acknowledged joint lord.feoffees of the manor, 
and were empowered to call to their assistance 12 other of the inhabitants, 
to manage the affairs of the town. When the lord-feoffees should be reduced 
to six, the sunivors were directed to elect seven others from among the 
assistants, and afterwards choose so many of the inhabitants as should restore 
their number to 12. The feoffees were also directed annually to elect one 
of their number as chief Lord of the Manor, in whose name the courts should 
be called, and the business of the town transacted. The election is still 
continued on the 2nd of February. The manor, in o.ll its changes, was 
charged with an annual fee farm rent of £152. l7s. 5ld., which is now paid 
to Lord Henniker, Major House, Stoneham, Suffolk. In o.ll respects the 
chief Lord possesses similar powers and jurisdiction in the parish, to those 
exerciBed by the Mayor of a Corporation, with the exception that he is not 
necessarily a magistrate. The lordship contains upwards of 2,000 acres, and 
has been enclosed, pursuant to an Act of Parliament passed in 1768. 

The parish includes the towns of Dridlington and Bridlington Quay, the 
townships of Buckton, Hildenthorpe with Wilsthorpe, Sewerby with Marton, 
Grindall, and Speeton. Aooording to the census return of 18-H, the ar.:>a 
of the entire parish is 12,410 acres; but the census return of 1851 makes 
it 13,236 acres, including sea coast. In this account of the parish we shall 
take the latter as our guide. The population of the parish in 1851 was 
0,8-16 persons, viz. :-3,317 mo.les, and 3,520 females . The amount of as­
sessed property in 1815 was .£17 ,434. 

The PriOT!j.-Tbere was a church at Dridlington at tho time of the 
Domesday Suney, and in the survey of the monastic buildings, taken before 
the dissolution, mention is made of a building on the south side .of tho 
monastery, used by the Prior and Convent as a bakehouse and brewhouse, 
which, according to tradition, was sometime a nunnery. This leads to the 
supposition that a Convent had existed in the place prior to tho Conquest, 
which was probably destroyed ..by the Danes; and in all probability the 
ancient Saxon church of Dridlington, noticed in Domesday, had been appro­
priated to it. Early in the reign of Henry I. the above-mentioned Waiter 
de Gaunt greatly improved the town, and endowed the church of St. Mary, 
at Dridlington, with revenues for the maintenance of a body of Canons 
Regular, of the Order of St. Augustine-a religious body introduced into 
England about the year 1114. The original endowment, according to the 
foundation charter, consisted of all that the founder possessed in the town­
ship of Dridliogton, viz. :-thirteen carucates of land, together with certain 
mills adjacent to the same land ; also his interest in c.:>rtu.in lands in the 
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hands of \"assals at Bessingby, Hilderthorpe, Eston, Grindal, Buckton, and 
Righton, which those vassals had themsel\"es given. Moreover be gave to 
the church and canons, the churches of Eden ham, Witham, Filey, Swaldale, 
Willoughby, and Ganton, and half the church of South Ferriby. This 
charter was witnessed by Thurstan, Archbishop of York, and several others. 
The immense possessions which this Priory afterwards acquired, in almost 
every township in the rural deanery of Dykering, in which it was situated, as 
well as generally throughout the whole extent of Yorkshire and Lincolnshire, 
have been enumerated at great length by Burton. Among the various 
privileges granted to the Canons by the charter of King Stephen, that mon­
arch concedes to them "the port and harbour of Dridlington, with all kinds 
of wreck of the sea which shall in future happen, or issue, in all places 
within the dykes called Earl Dyke and Flaynburgh Dyke." King John, on 
the 6th of Dec., 1200, granted to God and the church of, St. Mary at Brid­
lington, and the Canons there serving God, a fair in every year, at Bridlington, 
on the eve, and feast of the Assumption of the Blessed Virgin, and one 
market to be held there every week, on the Saturday. At the dissoluti(ln 
the annual revenue of the establishment was £682. lSs. Qd. in the gross, 
and £547. 6s. ld. nett rental. Among the Harleian charters in the British 
:Museum is an imperfect impression of the common seal of this Priory, 
together with a oounter seal. The former exhibits figures of a male and fe­
male, which seem to represent Our Saviour and the Blessed Virgin seated; 
and the latter the figure of the Virgin and Child. 

Tho following enumeration of tho Priors of Dridlincwn is taken from Durton•s 
MQfiQ4tU:on Eboracen•e.-Guicheman, or Wikoman, flourished in 1112; Adebold, diet\ 
in 113.9; Bernard occurs in 1146; Robert "the Scribo," so named from his having 
written and compiled many great works, occurs in 1160; Gregory, 1181; Bugh in 1100; 
Belyas about 1200; Hubert occurs in 1218; Thomas, in 1240; John, his successor, 
occurs in 1252; Ool.frid de Nllfforton, Prior, was summoned to Parliament at West­
minster, 2;}rd Edward I. (1205); Oerard de Durton was summoned to Parliament in 
1200; Peter de Wyrcthorpe occurs in 131~; Rt. de Scardeburgh elected in 1321; Peter 
de Appleby was confirmed Prior in 1342; Peter de Cotes was installed in 13M, and 
died in 1360; he was succeeded by William do Driffield; John de Twenge, 1301; John 
de Dridlington was confirmed in 1300 ; William de New bold, 1370; John de Ouisburne 
occurs in 1420; Robt. Warde was confirmed in 1420; Robt.. Willy 'Was elected in 1444; 
Peter EUardo 'Was invested with the chief authority in 14112; RobtJrt Bristwyk in 1472; 
John Cnrzon in 1488; Rt. Danby in 1498; John English in 1600; John Holmpton in 
1~10; Wm. Browncsftet.e in 1521; Wm. Wode, or Wolde, was installed in 1:>31, and 
having engaged in Aske's rebellion, he was att.aint.ed of high t.rellSOn, and executed at 
Tybum in 1537. On the defection of tlus Prior the possessions of the monMtery were 
declared to be forfeited to the King, but tbc dissolution of the house did not tako place 
till the following year. The Priory, with its contiguous offices, wns demolished in 1:>30. 
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The buildings of the Priory are supposed to have been very fine. Tho 
commanding situation of tho institution, at the east end of the town, gave it 
a fine prospect of the sea, but at the same time <'xposed it to the attacks of 
the enemy's ships, which frequently entered the harbour; it was therefore, 
in 1388, by permission of Richard II., defended with fortifications, the only 
remains of which are an arched gateway, which, together with the nave of 
the Priory Church (now the parish church), will be described hereafter . 

.Bridlington so flourished during the existence of the Priory, that the site 
of the town was nearly the same 300 years ago, as at the present day. 

The Town of Bridlington is pleasantly situated on a gentle acclivity, about 
a mile from the sea shore, and is distant from London, via Lincoln, 208 miles, 
via York,238 miles; 12, N.E. of Great Driffield; 31, N. by E. of Hull; 40, 
E.N.E. of York; and 18, S.E. by S. of Scarborough; being in 54 degrees 
13 minutes north latitude, and in 16 minutes west longitude. 

Bridlington Quay is a handsome sea port and bathing place, situated in tho 
recess of the beautiful bay to which it gives name, and is distant from Brid· 
lington about 1 mile. Both places form the Tov:nship of Bridlirtgton, the 
area of which is 3,127 acres, including sea shore. The population of the 
township in 1851 was 5,83{1 souls, more than one third of whom were at the 
Quay. Rateable value, .£17,245. Both places are well built and respectable. 

Bridlington consists principally of three streets, from which several smaller 
streets diverge. Tho houses are in general ancient, and the inhabitants are 
amply supplied with water. The town and Quay are lighted with gas, from 
works erected midway between both, in 1833, at the cost of .£4,000. raised in 
£10. shares. There is a good market on Saturdays, and there are fairs for 
cattle, horses, &c., on the Monday and Tuesday before Whit Sunday, and on 
the 21st and 22nd of October. These fairs, and doubtless, too, the market, 
were formerly held in the large open area called "the Green," within the 
ancient precincts of the close of the Priory, between the arched gateway and 
the church, but the fairs are now held on the road leading from the top of 
the Market Place to Flamborough. Bridlington is one of the polling places 
at the election of the Parliamentary representatives of the East Riding. 

The trade in corn is considerable, and in 1826 a Com E:rchang~ was built 
in the Market Place. There are several windmills for grinding corn, as well 
as some water mills, in the vicinity, and at the Quay is a steam mill, erected 
in 1837, the property of Mr. George Gray. Malt and ale were formerly 
considered the staple commodities of this place, and large quantities of each 
were annually shipped to London ; but this trade has greatly declined, and 
most of the kilns have been either taken down or applied to other purposes. 
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The LiritlfJ is a Perpetual Curacy, rated in the Libcr Regis at £8., and 
now returned at £130. per annum nett. At the dissolution of the Priory the 
impropriate Rectory came to the Crown, and was afterwards granted to 
various persons. The advowson was given to the Archbishop, but was trans­
ferred in 17-17 to the Rev. Matthew Buck, and his heirs, in consideration of 
a donation of £200. for the augmentation of the lh·ing. The benefice was 
also augmented with £400. of Queen Annc's Bouuty, in 1747 and 1760, and 
with £2,600. Parliamentary grants, in 1812 and 1817. The present patrons 
arc the Trustees of the late Rev. Chas. Simeon, of Cambridge, and the Rev. 
llenry 1-'redcrick Barnes is the Incumbent. The tithes were commuted, 
under an enclosure Act, in liU8. John Kirby, Esq., is the impropriator. 

The Parsmw!Jc Ilouse, in Westgnte, is ll commodious residence, lately 
erected at the expense of about £1,000., raised by subscription. 

The l'arish Church (St. 1\Iary) consists of the nave alone of the Priory 
Church, which has been converted into a nave and chanr-el, with aisles. 
When perfect, this church rivalled the noble minstcr of Beverley, not only in 
dimensions, but in beauty of construction. It is now mther an unsightly 
church, but to the admirer of ancient architecture, the remains possess that 
magnificence of design and beauty of detail, which render such relics so 
valuable to the artist and the archreologist. Tho building is entirely in the 
pointed style; the greater part of the nave appears to have been erected 
between the reigns of the first and third Edwards; the aisle showing the 
lancet windows of the first reign, and the clerestory the more elaborate 
tracery which prevailed in the time of the last-named monarch. The west 
front displays a centre flanked by towers, of which the lower stories only now 
remain ; but the principal tower appears to have been in the centre of the 
church, between the nave and the choir, now gone. The north-western 
tower is now unroofcd, and the arches connecting it with the north aisle arc 
built up; and on the top of the basement of the south-west tower an octagon 
turret of brick, with ll leaden cupola, has been erected for the reception of 
three bells, procured in 1763, the tenor weighing 1,199 pounds. This 
paltry turret very much disfigures the venemble structure to which it is 
attached. The principal entrance, or great western door, is highly orna· 
mcnted, and some part of the exl}uisite foliage with which it was once adorned, 
is still in good preservation, though much has been defaced by the destroying 
band of time. The smaller entrance in the southern tower, has likewise 
been lavishly ornamentcd, and is yet in a state of tolerable preservation. 
Each of these entrances is surmounted by a canopy, enriched with crockets, 
and nbove the nrcb, nod on each side of the principal doorway, is a small 
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niche for the reception of a statue. The northern angle, usually called the 
old steeple, is in a different style of architecture, and apparently a century 
earlier; the tower having formerly been entered by a circular arched doorway, 
now walled up. Above the principal entrance is a large pointed window of 
seven lights, divided by two transoms. This window has recently been 
restored, and filled with exquisitely stained glass manufactured by Wailes.* 
Several other praiseworthy restorations have been effected in the church during 
the last few years, and are still going forward. The porch on the north side 
bas been an elegant specimen of the architecture of the 14th century. The 
windows are all beautiful specimens of the Pointed style, but the east end 
having being piled from the ruins of the church and monastery, exhibits no 
order of architecture, and is supported by two enormous buttresses, as solid 
and unsightly as could well be reared.t The interior dimensions of the 
building, as it now stands, is 188 feet in length, 68 in breadth, and 69 in 
height. The body is divided from the aisles by ten pointed arches, resting 
on a union of cylinders, and on the south side some of them rest on panelled 

• This splendid window is 6~ feet high from the base to the apex, 29 feet wide below 
the transom, nnd 31 feet above, and forms, in the words of Mr. Wailes, "the largest and 
finest Perpendicular window that hll8 been put up in England for the last 300 years." 
The painted glaaa represents the Crucifr.rion, and figures of Our Saviour, the Bleaaed 
Virgin, the Evangelists, several saints and angels, symbols of the paasions, &o. Several 
portions of the glazing were erected by .Private individuals, as memorials of their de. 
parted friends and relath·es. The handsolne elliptical window over the smaller entrance 
at the west end, was restored and glazed with painted glass in ISM, at the cost of Yar. 
burgh Yarburgh, Esq., of Sewerby House. The five principal compvtments contain the 
Annunciation, the Salutation, the Shepherds guided by the star in the east, the l're. 
sentation, and the Baptism of Christ. 

t A8ainst the south wall, towards the west, was built the Prior'• Lodge, or residence; 
the ball having an ascent of twenty steps on the south. In the wall of the church the 
pillars and grained arches of the vaulted apartment below it still remain. Eastward of 
the Prior's Lodge, along the south wall of the church, may be seen ranges of stone 
abutments, for supporting tho beams of tho roof of one of the Cloilen., which were so 
situated &S to connect the lodge with the church, and the other domestic buildings of 
the monastery. On the east sido of the cloister square was the DonniforV, occupying 
the portion of what would otherwise haTo been the south tnmsept; and beyond it, as a 
building detached from the rest of the labrio, the Clla9ur Houu. The Refectory ,.. 
on tho south side of the cloister. The buildings of the Priory thus occupying the area 
south of the church, the ancient burying ground was therefore entirely on the north 
side; and beyond the street which bounds the churchyard on the north, and surrounding 
a large piece of water, called the Green Dyke, were the barns and stables, granary, and 
other agricultural premises belonging to the Convent. When Qu.an Elizabeth granted 
the manor of Bridlington to John Stanhope, she empowered him to take all the old 
stones on the site of the Priory remaining, "and not yet sold or lAid out," for the pur. 
pose or rebuilding the pier, "then in great ruin and docny." 
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piers. On the right and left, immediately within the principal entrance, arc 
two enormous pillars, which appear to have been raised for the support of 
two western towers, of which not even a vestige is now to be found. In the 
chancel arc four pillars equal in magnitude to the principal ones at the west 
end, undoubtedly raised to sustain a part of the pressure of a tower in the 
centre of the conventual church ; and this tower has been connected with 
those of the west end by galleries, still remaining, above the arches on one 
side of the nave. About one third of the building is fitted up for divine 
senice. A largo wooden partition separates the nave from the chancel. 
The pulpit, a hexagon of old oak, exhibits some fine carving in alto relievo. 
The font is plain, and of Derbyshire marble. There are few monuments 
either remarkable for antiquity or for beauty; the former have been destroyed 
by the violent zeal of the Puritans, and of the latter, no superior specimens 
have boon exhibited. The burial ground was enlarged by the purchase of 
land, on the south and east sides of the church, in 1809, which was conse· 
crated in 1813. In preparing tho land for sepulchral purposes, the founda· 
tions and other remains of the Priory were dug up. Stone coffins and other 
relics have at various periods been dug up in the vicinity of the church. 

The precincts of the church arc entered by a noble gateway of Pointed 
architecture, now called the Bayle Gate, from the Norman Baile, a prison, 
or place of security. This was tho principal entrance to the Priory. Most 
of the larger monasteries were furnishe4 with such an appendage, and it is 
somewhat remarkable that in several instances these gateways escaped the 
general demolition of the rest of the monl\stic buildings. Those remaining 
at St. Albans and E ly are similar to the present one. The gateway at Brid­
lington is a large square castellated building, of free stone, beneath which is 
a splendid arched entrnnce, with a fine groined roof. On the outer side, next 
the town, there is a greater arch and a postern ; the former ornamented with 
two broad hollow mouldings, in which, at intervals, are placed leaves, flowers, 
and grotesque bends. The upper part of the building on this side has been 
rebuilt with brick, so as greatly to disfigure its beauty. The arch, on the 
inner side, is elegantly wrought, below its spring, with two compartments of 
trefoil headed panelling, one above the other, sunnounted by a narrow band 
of quatrefoils. Tho four curious corbels, from which the groined roof of the 
gateway springs, represent four figures in a sitting posture. On each side 
of the thoroughfare is a strong and gloomy apartment; that on the north 
was long used as a place of temporary confinement for delinquents, and is 
called tho Kydcott, or Kitcote. Above are small chambers, and O\'Cr the 
whole nn apartment now used ns a Town Hall. The National School was 
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for some time held in this building.* Of the religious guilds or fraternities, 
which formerly existed in Bridliugton, little is known. The house in the 
High Street, now in the occupation of Mr. Edward Tindall, is the remains 
of the Guild Hall of the fraternity of the Holy Trinity, and the only rem· 
nant of their buildings left. 

Chrilt Church.-This handsome Dutrict Church was erected at Bridlington 
Quay, on a site given by John Rickaby, Esq. The building was commenced 
in July, 1840, and opened for divine serrice on the 23rd of May following; 
but it wo.s enlarged in 1851. The cost of the whole, about 3,600., was raised 
partly by subscription, and partly by grants from the Incorporated Sociel.y, 
and the Commissioners for Building Churches. The date of the formation 
of the district allotted to this church, is Feb. 24th, 1843. The population 
of the district, in 1851, was 2,458 souls. The Livi1ig is a Curacy, the nett 
v'alue of which is returned at £150. per ann.; in the patronage of the In­
cumbent of Bridlington, and Incumbency of the Rev. James Thompson. 

The Edifice is of stone, and is cruciform, having a nave, side aisles, tran­
septs, and chancel, with a vestry on the north side. The style of architecture 
is Early English, and all the gables are crowned with neat crosses. At tho 
west end of the south aisle is a small tower, containing two bells. The 
interior of the church is very neatly fitted up, chiefly with single seats. Four 
arches on each side, springing from octagonal columns, separate the aisles 
from the nave; the chancel arch i~t fine; the roofs are open to the timbers; 
the pulpit is sexagonal; the font is octagonal and neat; and on a small 
gallery at the west end is a good organ, presented in 1847, by Joseph Gee, 
Esq. Beneath the east window is a handsome arcade of five arches, for the 
Decalogue, Creed, and Lord's Prayer. 

The Baptists, Independents, Wesleyans, and Primitive Methodists, have 
each a good chapel in Bridlington; and the Wesleyans, Primitive, r.nd 
Heform Methodists, have chapels at the Quay. 

In connexion with the Wesleyan Chapel at the Quay is a good School, 
erected in 1840, on ground given by John Covcrley, Esq. There is an old 
Quakers' Meeting House in Bridlington, but no congregation. 

The Grammnr School, for twenty boys, was founded nnd endowed with a 
rent charge of £40. per ann., in 1G37, by William Hustler, a native of Brid· 
liugton. There are extensive National Schools, for both sexes, at Bridlington 
aud at the Quay; and a Knittiny Se/tool, for twelve poor girls, is endowed 

• Tbo gatehouse of religious houses often contained a chapel, or had a chapel annexed 
to it, in which mass wns celebrated at an early hour, for the benefit of the labourers and 
servants connected with the establishment. 
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with a rent charge of £40. per ann., arising from an estate at Birdsall, left 
by William Bower, in 1670. 

The York Union, and the Dridlington and Driffield Banks, have branches 
here; and there is also a Savings' Dank, in which the amount deposited 
during the year 185.1 was £7,634. 10s. 8d.; and the amount paid during 
the same year was £6,643. 2s. ld. The amount deposited since the opening 
of the institution, in 1837, was £101,412. 18s. 4d. 

The County Court is held monthly, in a room in the yard of the Black 
Lion Inn, William Re.ines, Esq., Judge; Clerk, Mr. Sidney Taylor, who is 
likewise Town Clerk and Clerk to the Magistrates. 

Petty S8Uicm, for the division of Dickering, are held in the County Court 
room every Saturday. The GMl, or Lock-up-house, in Nungate, in which 
the superintendent constable resides, \Vas erected in 1844 ; previous to Which 
an apartment in the old Dayle Gate was used as a prison. 

The Bridlington Agricultural Society held its 20th annual exhibition of 
stock, poultry, and implements, in July 1855, when the sum of £187. 10s. 
was offered for public competition. Ralph Creyko, Esq., of Rawcliffe Hall, 
was the president of the year. Mr- Robert Allison, secretary. There is 
likewise a Flural and Horticultural Society in Bridlington. 

The Bridlington Mutual Improvement Society was established in October, 
1854, under the patronage of Yarburgh Yarburgh, Esq., and presidency of 
Thos- Prickett, Esq., and promises to be very successful- The new society 
is a re-organization of tho old Mechanics' Institution, which was founded 
in 1838, but which had been inactive for the last few years. The opening 
lecture of the new body was delivered in the Town Hall, by Mr. J. Hind, of 
Beverley, on "Newspapers and Newspaper Literature," on the 18th of Dec., 
1854- The vice-presidents are the Rev. H. F. BIUUes, and T. Harland, Esq. 

The Temperance HaU, situated in St. John Street, was erected in 1854, at 
a cost of about £450. It is a neat brick building, and the lecture room 
measures 60 feet by 30, and 20 feet from the Boor to the ceiling. The foun­
dation stone of the building was laid on the 24th of May, 1853, by the late 
F. Hopwood, Esq., of Hull; and the Hall was opened on the 13th of Nov., 
1854, with a public meeting, at which E. F- Collins, Esq., of Hull, presided. 
The Dridlington Temperance Society has been in existence for upwards of 20 
years, and has been instrumental in accomplishing a large amount of good. 

The Bridlington Poor Law Union comprehends 32 parishes, and embraces 
an area of 05 square miles- The Unum Workhouu was erected in 18-!7, at 
a cost of about £5,000., and will accommodate 150 inmates. Chairman of 
Board of Guardians, Thomas Pricl\ctt, Esq.; Chaplain, Rev. H. F. Dames; 
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Clerk to the Guardians, Mr. R. Millner; Workhouse Master, Mr. T. Harper. 
Bridlington Quay, or Port, which about three quarters of a century ago 

was an inconsiderable village, is now a handsome town, overlooking the 
beautiful bay of Bridlington, and situated partly on the lofty sea cliffs, 
through which a road has been cut, with a gradual descent to the piers 
and the sands. The streets are remarkably spacious, the houses in general 
are well built, and the place is much frequented for sea bathing, and con­
tains hot and cold baths, fitted up for the accommodation of visitors. About 
a quarter of a mile west of the Quay is a chalybeate spring, in much repute 
for its medicinal properties ; and the harbour presents tho striking pheno­
menon of an ebbing and flowing spring of fine fresh water, sufficient to 
supply the whole navy of England.* 

The Harbour was anciently composed of wooden piers, which gradually 
gave way to stone work. Several Acts of Parliament have been obtained 
from time to time, for rebuilding and repairing it. In 1837 an Act was 
obtained for improving and rendering it more commodious and safe as a har­
bour of refuge. It is now formed by two piers, which extend a considerable 
distance into the sea. The new north pier was finished in 1842, and the 
south pier was completed in 1848, the estimnted cost of the two being about 
£120,000. These piers afford an agreeable promenade, and command exten­
sive prospects, especially the northern one, from which are finE! views of the 
bay and Flamborough Head. The harbour affords a retreat to numerous 
coasting vessels during contrary winds, and the bny, protected from the north­
west winds by the coast, and from the north winds by the noble promontory 
of Flamborough Head, offers safe anchorage for ships in gales of wind. The 
harbour is dry at low wnter, and has a spring-tide flow of 18 feet at the 
entrance, which gradually diminishes in proceeding upwards. The port is a 
member of the port of Hull, but as a commercial port it holds a very in­
ferior rank. The number of vessels belonging to tho port in 1854, was only 
nine, of tho average burthen of seventy tons. 

• This copious fountain was discovered in July, 1811, by tho lato Mr. Denjo.min Milne, 
collector of customs nt this port, and to his scientific genius and unwenriod perseverance, 
Bridlington is indebted for many of its most beneficial establishments; and even the 
lighthouse at Flamborou.gh owes its origin to his activity and benevolence. The spring 
under notice '!Vas found at the depth of 48 feet, of which 28 feet were solid clay, and the 
last Ul feet a cretaceous dinty gravel. The wator begins to Bow as eoon as the level of 
the tide hM arrived at about four feet beneath that of the bore, and continues the dis. 
charge until the tide has recoded to its former level. The quality of the water makes 
as near an approach to purity ne it is perhnps possible for water to obtain, without being 
submittcu to distillAtion. 
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During the period of the great civil war between Charles I. and his Par­
liament, this place se"ed as the point of debarkation for those arms and 
military stores which the Queen purchased in Holland with the crown jewels.* 
Amongst the most zealous and enterprising of Charles' adherents, was Ricbd. 
Doyle, Earl of Cork, who, for his courage and constancy, received the dignity 
of an English Earldom, under the title of the Earl of Burlington.t In 1757, 
on the passing of the .Militia Act, an alarming riot took place here, during 
which the rioters broke open several granaries, and committed other excesses. 
In 1779 a desperato naval fight took place off the coast, between a small 
squadron, commanded by the noted pirate Paul Jone!, and two British ships 
of war.: (Sec vol. i., page 271.) 

The T'ictoria Roonl-8, at the Quay, were erected by subscription in 1848, 
at a cost of about £8,000. The building is in the Tudor style, with a tower, 
and is embattled, nnd contains a concert, news, billiard, and refreshment 
rooms, with a picture gallery. 

The Station on the Scarborough, Bridlington, and Hull branch of the 
North Eastern Railway, is situated between llridlington and the Quay. The 
frequent erection of new houses on the road between the two towns, will, in 
a few years, form a continuous street between them. 

Few places present a more inviting beach than that which descends from 
the cliff to the sea at Dridlington Quay; nnd the gentle dccli,·ity of the 
sands is peculiarly favourable to sea bathing. Here many elegant and 

• An account of her Majcsty'd debarkation, together "'ith her lC'tter to the King, des. 
cril>ing the dliStardly attnck of Admiroll.latten, u1>0n the house in which she wa~ lodged, 
is given in vol i., p. 237 of this work. Tradition points out the old house with three 
gnl>lcs (at tho cnu of Prince Street), o.djoining the Quay side, as the one in which the 
Queen reposed; anu DliSsingl.>y or Dcssinguy Deck, beneath the bank of which her 
1\II\iest.y took refuge, is at the top of the harl>our. 

t Rd. Doylc, the 3rd Earl, l>orn in 1095, was a celcbrnlcd architect (Sec Yol. i., pogo 
t:i95 ), anu is snid to have po~scsscu every qunlity of genius, except cncy. Wm. Cavenclish, 
F.U.S., D.c.r ... , the second Earl of Durli11gton, of the !liSt crt"ation, is son of the Hon. 
Wm. ca .. endi»h, by the eldest daughter of the first LorJ Lismore. lie WliS bom in 
London in JSO>l; married, in lfl29, the fourth daughter of the late Earl of Carlisle; and 
succc<'dcd his granclfuthC'r in lf.c3-l. He is Chancellor of the Uuiveri>ity of l.ondon. 

: About 60 years ago, his Royal Highness the Duke of Clart'ncE>, afterward~ Wm. IV., 
when a midshipman, landed at Dridlington Quay, where his ship ho.d ken brought up. 
Wishing to see Be\'erley anu its far.fiUlleu Min,ter, he took horse from thence, and re. 
eeived a rather severe injury by a fall from his steed, when withi.n two miles of DcYcrley. 
The accident happened at Sandholme, near the Toll Dar. The royal !;lli!or \\'OS carried 
to the house of the late Wm. Simpson, at Snndholme, and from thence conveyed to the 
rc~iuence ot the late Dr. John son, Hengate, Deverley, where he remained until his re. 
con•ry was completed. 
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valuable specimens of minerals and fossils are fouud, which seem to give 
interest to the shop of the lapidary, and to swell the varieties in the museum 
of the collector. In the vicinity the heo.d of an enormous elk was discovered, 
the extremities of the horns being more than eleven feet apart. 

The various springs in the neighbourhood accelerate the dcstruc~ion of the 
cliffs, which, being lofty, tumble in immense masses on tho sands; and so 
great has been the quantity of land thus lost, that a row of houses on the 
verge of the cliff was taken down in 1810, though there had formerly been a 
street, with o. carriage road, between it and the sea.. Two houses were washed 
down in 1837. The neighbourhood abounds with pleasant wnlks and rides, 
commanding extensive and varied prospects. 

The P1wlic Charities of Bridlington, which chiefly consists of the rents of 
lands, &c., now yield an annual income of .£237. per ann. But the property 
belonging to these charities is about to be re-let for about .£378. per annum. 

Emi11ent !rim.-Wm. de Newburgh, a. celebrated monkish historian in the 
reign of King John, was a native of Bridlington, but having bccomo a Canon 
of Newburgh, took his surname from thence. His works have been pub­
lished by Heame. 

Sir Gco. Ripley, a celebrated alchymist, was a Canon in this Priory, and 
is said to have been a native of Bridlington. Having obtained o. dispensation 
from the Pope to leave this monastery, ho became a Carmelite anchorito at 
Boston, where he wrote twenty-five books, of which the chief was his" Com­
pound of Alchymic." He died in 1400. 

Wm. Kent, an eminent painter and architect, as well as the inventor of 
landscape gardening, was born here in 1685, and died in London in 17 48. 
".Mahomet imagined an Elysium," writes W alpole, "but Kent created many." 

Buckum Towmhip.-Arca, 2,04 7 acres, including sea coast; rateable 
value, .£2,240.; assessed property, .£2,185.; population, 182 souls. Tho 
manor and the greater part of the township belongs to the trustees of Mark 
Foulis, Esq. The Hamkt is situated about 3t miles N. of Bridlington. 
The School is endowed with a rent charge of .£2. per ann., out of the estate 
of the Foulis family, but the donor is unknown. 

Buckton HaU, erected in 1744, and now a farmhouse, is a large brick 
building, with stone dressings, four stories in height. 

Ecuton llamkt, 1 mile W. of Bridlington, belongs to the township of 
Bridlington. It contains 800 acres, in two farms, the property of Sir Gco. 
Strickland. Rateable value, .£1,000. ; amount of assessed property, £1,005. 

Grintklll Chapelry.-Tbe acreage of this township is 2,415; and the 
number of its inhabitants in 1851 was 153. The chief proprietors of the 
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soil arc Yarburgh Yarburgh, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), and Sir George 
Strickland. In 18-18, 1047 acres of common, or waste land, were enclosed. 

The Village is small, and neatly built, and stands about 4 miles N.W. of 
Dridlington. The Living is a Perpetual Curacy, annexed to that of Sewerby, 
and now returned at £100. Patron and impropriator, Y. Yarburgh, Esq. 

The Chnpel, rebuilt in 1830, is a low mean edifice, consisting of a nave 
and chancel, with a lo\v square tower containing one bell. There is a place 
of worship for Methodists, erected in 1826. Some fragments of tcssclatcd 
pavement were found here in 1889. 

The Ma11or HoUM, the residence of Mr. John Stubbings, farmer, is an 
ancient stone building. North Dais Hotw: is in the occupation of Mr. Geo. 
Crowe, farmer. 

llilderthorpe trith Wilsthorpe Towmhip.-This township, which is situated 
on the sea coast, contains 712 acres, and a population of 147 persons. Rate­
able value, £652.; amount of assessed property, £1,08,!. Hilderthorpc 
stands about lt mileS. of Dridlington, adjoining the Quay, IlilMrthorpe 
Jiorw:, a large brick building, is now occupied as a farm house. The land 
belongs to H. lludson, Esq. lVilsthorpc consists of a farm and manor, be­
longing to Sir G. Strickland, and now in the occupation of Mr. Tom Wood­
cock, who resides in the Manor House. From foundations of buildings 
discovered, it is evident that several houses stood here at a former period. 

Sewcrby trith lr!arton Towmhip.-Area of the township, 2,173 acres, in­
cluding sea coast; rateable value, £3,220.; amount of assessed property, 
£2,205.; popnlation, 356 persons. The manor and nearly all the property 
in Sewcrby belongs to Yarburgh Yarburgh, Esq. 

The Village of Sewerby is small, and stands pleasantly about It mile N.E. 
from Bridlington. An old writer, in reference to Sewerby, says," Suerb,-, 
situate near the sea where the shore begins to shoot out into the ocean, and 
makes that bay which some translators of Ptolemy render Portuoms •iniU, 
and others, Saltttaris; but neither of them expresses the Greek original better 
than this village in tho return of it, Suerby; for that which is safe and free 
!rom danger is by the Britons and Gauls called Suer, as we also call it in 
English, deriving it probably from the Britons. 

By an Order in Council, dated August 31st, 1849, the townships of Sewerby 
and Grind.all were formed into an Ecclesiastical District, and an elegant 
Diltrict Church was erected at Sewerby, at the expence of Yarburgh Yarburgh, 
Esq. The edifice, which was consecrated on the 27th of April, 1848, and 
is dedicated to St. John the Evangelist, comprises a nave and chancel, a 
small vestry, a chapel on the north side, which contains the sittings of the 
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founder and his household, and on the south side, at the junction of the nave 
and body, a small tower and spire containing two bells. On each side of 
the nave are three single lights; on the north side is a very elegant doorway, 
with a semicircular head resting on circular shafts ; the same side of the 
chancel exhibits an arcade of •even circular arches, supported by small cir­
cular pillars; and on the south side of the chJW.cel is a similar arcade of six 
arches, and a neat doorway. At the east end is an arcade of three large and 
two smaller arches, with an elegantly carved circular window, above the other 
lights. There is an arcade of three arches on each side of the fine centre 
window of the west end. Around the several arches of the doorways are 
appropriate scriptural passages cut in stone. The roof of the building is 
high pitched, and the gables are crowned with crosses. The interior is very 
elegantly furnished and finished. A handsome and finely carved circular 
headed arch divides the body from the chancel. All the seats &c. are of 
carved oak ; and the pulpit is octagonal. In the east end of the chancel are 
three lights of stained glass, representing the Crucifixion, Ascension, and 
the Holy Family; and two smaller lights in each side contain the Four 
Evangelists. The floor of the chancel is laid with encaustic tiles. In the 
side chapel is a neat tablet to the memory of John Greame, Esq., and Eliza­
beth his wife, the father and mother of the founder. The stained glass in 
the large west window represents St. John the Evangelist; and above it is a 
small light containing the Baptism of Christ. The other windows are slazcd 
with coloured glass, without subjects. The font is a massive circular basin of 
Caen stone, highly ornamented with carved work, and around its rim is the 
verse," Suffer little children," &c. The roofs, of oak, are open to the ti.mbers. 
Indeed the whole structure displays the most profuse and elegant workman­
ship that can well be imagined, and must have cost a very large sum of 
money. The Lifling is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of Mr. Yarburgh, and 
incumbency of the Rev. Mortimer Tylee. Its value is £100. per annum. 

A short distance from the church is a handsome and commodious School, 
for both sexes, with a residence for the teachers, also built at the cost of Mr. 
Yarburgh, and supported by that gentleman. This building is of brick, with 
cut stone dressings, and is in the ecclesiastical style of architecture. 

There is a small M1tlwdilt Cla4pel; here. 
Se~Mrby Houu, the seat of Yarbnrgh Yarbnrgb, Esq., is a noble mansion, 

erected about 200 years ago. It commands a fine view of the sea, Flam­
borough Head, &c. ; and the park in which it stands is extensive and well 
wooded. The gardens and pleasure grounds are beautifnl. 

&wrby Cottag1 is in the occupation of Mr. George Taylor, farmer. 
VOL. JI. 8 N 
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Field IiotUe farm is occupied by Mr. Robcrt Wise; and Sand' HOU8e and 
farm is now held by Mr. Grorge Richardson. 

Marton is situated on the road from Bridlington to Flamborough, and the 
Hamlet, which is very small, is about half a mile N.W. of Sewerby. The 
soil is chiefly the property of Y. Yarburgh, Eeq., and Ralph Crcyke, Esq. 

The Manor Home and farm belongs to the formet gentleman, and is at 
present in the occupation of Mr. George Simpson; Marton HaU is the neat 
residence of the Misses Creykc; and Marton Lodge and its farm are held by 
Mr. John Smith. The two lntter plo.ces belong to Mr. Creyke. Here are 
vestiges of au ancient ravine, consisting of a double line of defence, with 
brcnst works, extending It mile from the southern shore of Flo.mborough 
Head, and termed Danes Dyke. 

There is a Railtl'ay Station here for 1\!arton and Flamborough. 
Speeton Chopelry.-This township contains about 1,800 n.crcs, but it is 

returned in the last census at 1,962 acres, including the sea coast. The 
whole, with the exception of a few acres, belongs to Lord Londesborough, 
who inherits it under the will of the late W. J. Dcnison, Esq. The popu­
lation of the township numbers 150 souls, and the rateable value is £1,1}40. 

Tho Villnge is small, and is situated about 5! miles N. by W. from Brid­
lington, near an eminence which commands a beaut iful view of the shore 
from Scarborough to Flamborough Head. The German Ocean bounds the 
township on the north. llere is a Station on the llull, Bridlington, and 
Scarborougb Railway. Grcnt numbers of those remarkable flint instruments 
-spenr heads, &c.-the use of which is generally attributed to the ancient 
British inhabitants of this part of Yorkshire, have been found in this town­
ship and neighbourhood. A kind of blue stone is picked off the cliff in this 
locality, and made into cement. A windmill upon Speeton Heights is n con­
spicuous object, and can be seen at a great distnnce, both by sea and land. 
There was an ancient beacon on Standard Hill. 

The Chapel is an ancient humble stone edifice, consisting of a nave and 
chancel, with a squnre bell turret at the west end, contniuing one bell. The 
foundation is evidently of Norman architecture. The chancel arch is broad 
and semicircular. The font is ancient and circular. 

The Living is a Perpetual Cumcy, of the nett value of £50. per ann. It 
is in the gift of Lord Londcsborough, and incumbency of the Rev. G. Ken­
naird. South of the chapel are the remains of a large building and a moat. 

The School was built in 182R, by the lo.te Lord of the :Manor, and Lord 
Londesborough contributes £5. per annum towards its support. 
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BcRTON Ao:ms.-This parish comprises the townships of Burton Agnes, 
Gransmoor, Haisthorpe, and Thornholme, containing altogether 6,409 acres, 
and 650 inhabitants. The area of the first-mentioned township is 2,499 
acres, according to the census return of 1851, but 8,010 according to the 
return of 1841. Population of the township in 1851, 345 souls; rateable 
value, £8,841.; amount of assessed property, £8,868. For the etymology 
of Burton see p. 886. Sir Henry Doynton, Bart., is Lord of the Manor, and 
owner of the whole township except the glebe land. The family of Boynton, 
anciently De Bovington, is of great antiquity, and resided at Boynton, in 
this Riding, until the reign of Henry IV., when they removed to Barmston; 
but, as we have observed at page 402, Burton Agnes has been the family 
seat since the death of Sir F. Boynton in 1695. Sir Matthew Boynton, the 
first Daronet, who received his baronetcy from James I., in 1618, repre­
sented Hedon in Parliament in the reign of Charles I., and supported the 
Republicans in the Civil War. He obtained Burton Agnes, by marrying 
the heiress of Sir Henry Griffith, Dart., whose family had long been seated 
there, having obtained the manor, by marrying the heiress of Sir Philip 
Somerville. The present Baronet is son of Sir Henry Boynton, the 9th 
Baronet, by the daughter of Captain Gray, and niece of Wm. Watson, Esq., 
of Dover, Captain R.N. He was born at Nafferton Hall, in 1811; married, 
first in 1888, the second daughter of Walter Strickland, Esq., of Cokethorpe 
Park, Oxfordshire; ~d secondly, the second daughter of Thomas Lightfoot, 
Esq., of London. 

The Beneji.u is a Vicarage with the Curacy of Harpham, in the patronage 
of the Hon. and Rev. Augustus Duncombe, and incumbency of the Rev. T. 
Hordern. It is valued in the King's Dooks at £20. 6s. 3d., and returned at 
£897. per ann. The tithes have been commuted for £1,601. 16s. 5d.; of 
which, £865. 16s. 5d. are payable to the Archbishop, and £735. 10s. to the 
Vicar, who has likewise 180 acres of glebe. 

The Church (St. Martin) stands at the back of the Hall, and is o. hand­
some edifice, comprising a nave and aisles, chancel, and chapel attached to 
the north aisle, with a well-proportioned west tower, embattled and pinnacled. 
The clerestory of the aisle is also embattled. Tho interior is very elegantly 
fitted up, and tho chnncel is rich in decoration, the late incumbent, the Rev. 
R. I. Wilberforce, Archdeacon of the East Riding, having expended a very 
large sum in its restoration, &c. The nave and aisles are divided by three 
pointed arches, springing from octagonal and circular columns. One division 
of the north aisle is parted off o.s a chapel, and conto.ins four splendid monu­
ments, viz :-a table tomb to Sir Roger Somerville, who was summoned to 
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Parliament in the 1st of Edward I., and died in 1886; an elegant altar tomb 
of alabaster, on which are the effigies of Sir Waiter Griffith, Knt., who died 
in 1481, and Jane, his first wife, daughter of Sir Ralph Neville, by Mary, 
granddaughter of John of Gaunt, Duke of Lancaster; a large altar monu­
ment, supporting three coffins of black marble, with an inscription to Sir 
Hy. Griffith, Bart., and his two wives; and a neat tablet to another Baronet 
of the same family, and his wife. In the window is some excellent modem 
stained glass. In the chancel are some handsome tablets to the Boynton 
family. There is a fine old Norman font, which was lately restored, after 
having been used for many years as a flower bed in the Vicarage garden. 

The Villoge is small, and is situated near the line of railway from Hull to 
Scarborough, about 6t miles S.W. by W. of Bridlington. 

Burton Agnu HaU is the seat of Sir Henry Boynton. The noble mansion 
is situated on an eminence, and commands a fine view of Holdemess and 
the level country south of the wolds. The building is of red brick, and is 
in the style of architecture prevalent in tho reigns of Elizabeth and J ames 
I., to which period its erection may be ascribed: and its design is said to have 
been from the pencil of Inigo Jones. The principal front, which faces the 
south, is in three divisions, the lateral ones projecting with bow windows, the 
munnions being of stone. The ornaments are shields of arms, termini, and 
arabesque, lavishly used. The interior is fitted up with much elegance, 
and there is a good collection of paintings in the gallery. In tho court before 
tbe house is a statue of the gladiator, and the entrance gate is an embattled 
edifice, with octagonal towers, finished with domes at the angles; and above 
the arch in the centre are the royal arms of James I. 

There is a W uleyan Clw.pel, of brick, in the village, built in 1887. The 
parish has a farm, called Willerby Haggs, in Kirk Ella parish, plll'Chased 
with £200. left by Richd. Green, in 1568, and now let for £50. a year, which 
is divided into three parts, thus :-£20. to the School, £18. 6s. 8d. for the 
reparation of the church, and the remainder to the poor. The children 
attending the school are taught free, up to the third rule in arithmetic. 

There is a Girl&' School in the churchyard, which was built by Arch­
deacon Wilberforce. 

The Alm~houu, for four poor widows, was founded in 1709, by the widow 
of W. Boynton, Esq., and endowed with £20. 10s. per annum. An annual 
payment of £8. 4s. 9d. is equally divided between the poor and the school­
master; this sum is paid in lieu of the common right, which the poor parish­
ioners anciently bad on about 60 acres of land, called Moorhouse Field. 

The Rev. W. Dade, Rector of Barmston (See page 402), was born here. 
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CfftmlfMOf' Townal,ip.-The area of Gransmoor is 1,~84 acres, and its 
population is 88 souls. Rateable value, .£1,607. The place is wholly the 
property ofW. D. T. Duesbery, Esq., of Skelton, near York, who is Lord of 
the Manor. The tithes have been commuted for .£861., of which .£171. are 
payable to the Vicar, and .£1 00. to the Archbishop of York. 

The HamUt is situated about 8 miles S.W. of Bridlington, and ~i 8. of 
Burton Agnes. Mr. Duesbery built a small neat Chapel here, in 1889, in 
which the service of the Church of England is performed every Sunday. 

Hai&t/wrp6 Townahip.-By computation this township contains 1,862 
acres, the whole of which is the property of Sir H. Boynton, except about 
116 acres, which belongs to Lady Boynton. The population is 1~~; and 
the rateable value, .£1,787. · The Hamkt is small and neat, and stands about 
Si miles S.W. of Bridlington, and~ N.E. from Durton Agnes. From foun· 
dations discovered at various times, it seems that this village was formerly 
much larger than it is at present. 

Hai&tlwrp~ Lodg~, the residence of Lady Boynton, relict of the late Sir 
Henry Boynton, is a neat mansion, built about five years ago. A little south 
of the village is the Manor Hotu~, now in the occupation of Mr. Richard 
Lowish, farmer. A part of the house is ancient, and in a close adjoining it 
is a piece of ground partly moated. 

Tlwrnlwlm~ To~~m~hip.-Area, 1,3~4 acres; rateable value, .£1,450; as· 
sessed property .£1,428; population, 100 souls. William St. Quintin, Esq., 
is owner of the entire place. The vicarial tithes have been commuted for 
.£186., and the impropriate for .£176. 1Ss. 6d. The Hamkt is neat and 
pleasant, and is situated about 4! miles S.W. from Bridlington, and 1 N.E. 
from Bnrton Agnes. The Manor Houu, now a farm house, in the occupa· 
ti:on of Mr. William Smith, has the date over the door, of 1778. 

BuRTOM FLEKINO, or NoRTH BuRTON.-{For the etymology of the name 
of Burton see page 886 of this volume.) The parish contains 8,690 acres of 
land, and a population of 67 4 souls. The amount of assessed property is 
.£2,240., and the rateable value, .£8,112. The chief proprietors of the soil 
are Sir Geo. Strickland (Lord of the Manor), Sir Thos. Digby Legard, Bart., 
Admiral Mitford, the trustees of the late J. Hopkinson, Esq., Miss Cham­
pion, Mesars. Bouch, Jordan, and Taylor, and Miss Lamplough. 

The Church (St. Cuthbert) is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at .£6. 4s. 2d., 
and returned at .£84. per ann. Patron, Admiral Mitford; Vicar, Rev. John 
Wilkinson. The tithes were commuted in 1768. The Fabric is Gothic, and 
consists of a nave, chancel, and tower, but there was formerly an aisle on the 
south side. The tower contains two bells. The interior is neat; the roof is 
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open to the timbers, and has the date of 1576. The pulpit was erected in 
1825 ; there is a small gallery at the west end, and beneath it is an ancient 
circular font. 

The Villa[!t! is large and pleasant, having the Gypsy Race rwming through 
it. It is e,bout 7 miles N.N.W. of Bridlington, and iu it is a Wesleyan 
Chapel, built in 1806; and a Prirnitiw Methodi1t Chapel, erected in 1888. 
The School was built by subscription in 184S. There is an Iron Fo-ut~dry 
here, conducted by Messrs. Francis and William Agas; and there is also 
a steam corn mill in the village. 

The ltfa1wr Houu, now in the occupation of Mr. JordAn Coleman, farmer, 
is an ancient stone building, near to which many foundations of other 
buildings have been dug up. During tho great Civil War, Queen Henriotta 
lodged one night at this house, on her way from Bridlington to York. (See 
vol. i., p. 2S8.) The following notice of this fact appears in the parish regis­
ter:-" The Queen's Majesty did lie at North Durton, with her army, the 
5th March, 1642-4S." 

The poor have the interest of £80. left by Thomas Sawden, in 177S. 
CAnNADY.-Tbe area of this parish, exclusive of Fraistborpe and Auburn, 

with which places it is united in ecclesiastical matters, is about 2,000 aores. 
Its population, in 1851, was 113 persons, including SS gipsies in tents. 
Rateable value, £2,776.; amount of assessed property, £2,270. Sir George 
Strickland is Lord of the Manor, and owner of the entire parish, except one 
farm. Tho Ben~fiC8 is a Discharged Vicarage, in the gift of the Lord of the 
Manor, and incumbency of the Rev. Francis Simpson. It is valued in the 
King's Books at £7. Ss. llid., and has been augmented with £200. from 
Queen Anne's Bounty; its present nett value, including Fraisthorpe, is £82. 
per ann. The Ch"rch (St. John the Baptist) is an ancient edifice, comprising 
a nave and south aisle, chancel, south porch, and west tower. The north 
aisle appears to have been taken down, and the north wall, as well as the 
chancel, rebuilt with brick. The tower is embattled and pinnacled, and 
contains three bells. The nave and aisle are separated by pointed arches 
resting on five octagonal piers, the caps of which are ornamented with a very 
minute border of the toothed moulding. The door arch of the porch is semi­
circular and plain. The windows in the aisle are lanoet, those in the chancel 
square-headed, and tbo style of the tower is Perpendicular. Tho font is cir­
cular, and very ancient. The church stands on high ground. 

The Village is pleasantly situated about 8 miles S.W. from Bridlington. 
The MaMT House, in the village, is now a farm house. In a field at the 
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south side of the village, called Hall Close, many foundations have been dug 
up, from which we must infer that it is the site of an ancient mansion. 

The School was built by the late Sir W. Strickland. The poor have the 
interest of .£25., and a share of Strickland's charity, as noticed with Boynton. 

FnAISTHORPE.-This parish is mostly described as a chapelry of Carnaby, 
with \Vhich it is ecclesiastically connected. Its area is about 2,040 acres, 
including the hamlet of Auburn; and the number of its inhabitants is 104. 
Rateable value, .£1,088. ; assessed property, .£2,661.; Lord of the Manor 
and chief proprietor of the soil, Sir George Strickland. 

The lillage is small, and is about 4t miles S.S.W. from Bridlington. 
The Church, or Chapel, is a small ancient mean building. The Li1:ing is 

a Perpetual Curacy, now united to the Vicarage of Carnaby. 
The Matwr Home, the residence of Mr. William Tennison, farmer, is an 

ancient brick building in the village. 
Aulntrn, or Abom, was formerly a chapelry in the parish of Fraisthorpe, 

but the village has been reduced, by the encroachments of the German Ocean, 
to one farm, of about 200 acres of land, and a cottage, situated It mile N.E. 
from Fraisthorpe. The Lifting of Auburn is a Perpetual Curacy, endowed 
with .£600. from Queen Anne's Bounty. On the 2oth of September, 1781, 
a faculty was granted to take down the Chapel of Auburn, when it was likely 
to share the fate of the rest of the village, and by a license dated Dec. 20th, 
in the same year, the Curacy of Auburn was annexed to that of Froisthorpe. 

Fn.EY.-This parish is situated on the eastern coast, and is partly in the 
Wapentake of Dickering, and partly in Pickering Lytbe, North Ridiug. It 
contains the townships of Filey, Gristhorpe, and Lebberston, the latter two 
being in the North Riding. The area of the entire parish, including sea 
coast, is 8,628 acres, and the population in 1851 was 1,885 souls. Amount 
of assessed property, .£8,507. The· To~Dt~Bhip of Filey contains 968 acres, 
aud a population of 1,611 souls, viz. :-708 males, and 808 females; and the 
preponderance of females over males is said to arise mainly from the fact of 
many fishermen having been drowned while attending to their avocations. 
The rateable value is .£2,895.; and the chief landholders are Admiral Mit­
ford (Lord of the Manor), and the Rev. R. Brook. 

Less than twenty years ago Filey, which is situated about 7t miles S.E. 
of Scarborough, was a simple fishing village, now it is a fashionable watering 
town, bidding fair, in the course of a few years, to claim a place in the first 
rank of watering places. The limits of this work will not admit of any 
lengthened description of the varied beauties of the locality, or of the extra­
ordinary improvements which have been effected here of late years, or of the 
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great benefits to be derived from the use of the waters of the excellent spa, all 
this, and much more, will be found in an excellent little Guide to Flky, written 
by Dr. Pritchard, of Filey and Hunmanby. The town, which is at present 
in two parts, called Old Filey and New Filey, is situated at the head of a 
beautiful bay, and has long been famous for its fish, especially soles, turbot, 
and lobsters. Its fine sandy beach forms a large segment of a circle, and is 
surrounded by high perpendicular cliffs. The bay, which is open to the east, 
is protected from the north-easterly winds by a long reef of rocks, extending 
nearly half a mile into the sea, and anciently called the File, but now Filey 
Brigg, or Bridge, which, projecting from a narrow tongue of land, forma an 
excellent natural breakwater. A beautiful and interesting view of Scarbo­
rough cliffs and Castle, as well as of the noble promontory of Flamborough, 
is obtained from the outer extremity of " the Bridge," which can be reached 
from the land at low water. " As the shore," says Camden, " winds itself 
back from hence, a thin slip of land-like a small tongue thrust out-shoots 
into the sea, such as the old English called File, from which the little village 
of Filey takes its name." The rocks composing this extraordinary ridge, are 
composed of calcareous grit, and are very regular. "The gigantic roll of 
the German Ocean, even in its calmer moments, meeting this obstruction to 
its resistless wave, expends its force in surf and roar," writes Dr. Pritchard, 
in the little work already alluded to, "whilst on its sheltered side the yacht, 
or smallest boat, rides in perfect safety and repose." This curious bridge is 
said to resemble the celebrated Mole of Tangiers. Filey Bay is protected 
on the south by Flamborough Head, and thus affords a safe shelter for ships 
of any burthen, and is admirably adapted by nature for a harbour of refuge. 
Some \Vriters are of opinion that it was the Porttll Feliz, or Sinm Saluta·ri., 
of the Romans, (See vol. i. p. 72.) 

Old Filey comprises the residence of the tradesmen and fishermen, as well 
as some excellent inns and lodging houses, and good shops. 

Ntw Filey has been entirely built within the last fifteen or sixteen years, 
and is the chief resort of visitors. It consists chiefly of some fine terraces, 
one of which, called the Crescent, consists of well-built handsome houses, 
immediately facing the sea. Nearly the whole of the new town and its 
improvements originated with John Wilks Unett, Esq., the owner of the soil. 
Adjoining the Crescent is a large magnificent hostel, known as Taylor'• 
Crucent Houl. Opposite the Crescent are spacious gardens, through which 
there is a public walk to the sands, and the summit of the cliff may also be 
reached from the sands, by a fine broad winding carriage drive. The view 
from the hotel, gardens, &c., is beautiful and interesting. At no great 
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distance from this part of tho new town is Gre[JonJ$ lluyal lluttd, another 
lArge splendid establishment, commanding extensive prospects of the sea, and 
tho pictures11ue inland scenery. Continual improvements are being made in 
this plAce; the erection of a new Di$trict Church in this part of Filey is pro­
jected for tho convenience of visitors, and especially of imalids, as the pariih 
church is some distance off, and is not very easy of access in bad weather. 
Mr. Unett has given an acre of ground for a site of the new edifice, and 
£100. towards its erection. The published plan shows the style of the pro­
posed structure to be Early English, and the estimated cost is not to <'Xceed 
£1,000. A further sum of £1,000. will be required for its endowment. 

A survey has been made with a view to the erection of Waterworks; and 
the 'vhole town has been lighted with gas since 1852. There are bathing 
machines, baths, boats, carriages, saddle horses, &c., for the accommodation 
of visitors to this rising and rapidly increasing town ; and the Station, on 
the Hull, Dridlington, and Scarborough Railway, is very conveniently situated 
between the new and old portions of the town. The Spa WtU is situated on 
the cliff, a little north of the town.* 

The Cliurck is a Perpetual Curacy, in the patronage of the Rev. R. Brook 
and Admiriu lditford, and is now enjoyed by the Rev. Thos. Norfolk Jackaon. 
It was augmented with £600. of Queen Anne's Bounty, from 1780 to 1706; 
£400. given by H. Osbaldeston, in 1810; and £1,600, in two Parliamentary 
grants, in 1810 and 1814. It is now returned at £1JIS. per annum. The 
tithes were commuted in 1788, for land and a money payment. 

The Fabric {St. Oswald) stands north of the town, on the north brow of a 
rugged steep, through which runs a stream which divides the East from the 
North Riding of Yorkshire; the church consequently is situated in the North 
and the town in the East Riding. It is an ancient cruciform structure, with 
a large square embattled tower rising from the centre. It is one of the most 
beautiful ecclesiastical structures in this part of the country; and the archi­
tecture is Norman and Early English, without any mixture of later styles. 
The nave is the most ancient part of the building. The whole church is 

• An analysis of one pint of the Filey Spa water, by Profesaor Fyfe, of Edinburgh, 
and William Wost, Esq., Leeds. 

Sulphate of Magnesia... .. ... 0.12 or, 121 grs. of Crystallized Epsom Salts. 
Chloride of Magnesia . • . • . • • • t.4:S Chloride of Calcium. . . . :S.l:S 
Chloride of Sodium ..•• •.•••. 20.3:S Carbonate of Soda . • . • 7.'.W 

Mr. West adds, "I generally leave it to medical men to judge of the medicin11l pro­
perties from the constituents present; but I may observe, that, as a chemist, I should 
consider this likely to prove a powerful and ,·aluablo spring." 

VOL. II, 8 0 
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embattled, aud there are four bells in the tower. The na,·e is divided from 
the aisles by six pointed arches, resting on piers which are alternately cir­
cular nod octagonal, except the two most western, which are clustered like 
the four pillars that support the tower. The clerestory win~ows arc all 
small semicircular lights. The scdilia and piscina are in the chancel ; the 
stuth transept contains o. sedilin ; nnd in the north transept is a plain 
piscina, indicating that tbeso transepts were formerly chapels. The aisles 
nre not furnished with seats. There is a small organ in a gallery f1$. the 
west end, which was presented by .Mrs. Dcntley. There are many monu­
ments and inscriptions in the church, the greater part of which are to the 
memory of various members of the family of Dcswick, of Gristhorpe. In 
1830 the church underwent considerable repairs, at the cost of about £1,500., 
raised by subscription, the most considerable contributor being H. Bentley, 
Esq., of llaYinc Villa. Some Yaluable communion plate was giYen by Joscph 
Stocks, Esq. The churchyard has been enlarged and ornameuted. 

The Parsonage House is a commodious rt:sidcnce, built about ten years ago, 
at the cost of Miss llrook. It is on the East-Riding side of the ravine. 

'fhe TJ!esleyan Chapel was erected in 11:138, and the Primitive Metlwdist 
C!lapel was built in 1823, and enlarged in 1!:!-13. They are neat brick 
buildings. The National Sclwol is supported by subscription. 

A life boat was stationed here in 1823, and Manby's apparatus has been 
long in use, under the management of the const guard, which consists of an 
officer and seven men. Several six-men boats go from Filey, e\'ery year, to 
the Yarmouth hening fishery, and there nrc here some curiug houses. The 
poor of Filey have an annual rent charge of20s., left by Elisha Trott, in 169i. 

Gristhorpc Township lies north of Filey, and contains 1,070 acres, and 200 
inhabitants. Rateable value £1,210. The principal proprietors of the soil 
arc Wm. llcswick, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), Thos. Keld Deswick, Esq., and 
E. S. Donner, Esq. The Yillage is situated about li mile W. by K. of Filey. 

(h-isthorpe HaU, the property of the lleswick family, is a good stone building, 
erected on the site of a more ancient edifice, in 1800, and is now unoccupied. 

Gristhorp~ Lodge, the seat of W. and T. K. Bes\vick, is an ancient brick 
building, bearing the date of 1753, but a part of the house is supposed to be 
of an earlier date. Some years ago W. lleswick, Esq., caused to be opened 
here, upon his estate, t\vo tumuli, in both of which were urns, and imperfect 
remains of bones and ashes were found, belonging, it is supposed, to the more 
modernized Ancient Britons. On the lOth of July, 1834, a large barrow, or 
tumulus, near the same site, was opened by the same gentleman, and at the 
depth of seven feet a rude coffin was found, containing the perfect skeleton 
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of a man of large size, supposed to have been a chieftain of the Brigantes. 
The coffin has been made from the trunk of an oak, roughly scooped and 
hollowed out. The skeleton had been preserved in a very singular manner 
by tanning, and changed to an ebony colour, an effect which is supposed to 
have been produced by the tanning and gallic acid contained in the green 
oak trunk of which the coffin was formed, and in its very thick bark, which 
was also quite entire when found. The body had been laid on its right side, 
with the head to the south, and its face turned towards the rising sun; and 
it appears to have been wrapped in the skin of some animal. The skeleton 
was surrounded by a white substance, which proved to be a singular variety 
of adipocere, the flesh of the body having been converted into this substance 
by the ready admission of water into the coffin. Besides the skeleton, the 
coffin contained the head of a spear, or dagger, formed cither.of brass or some 
other composition of copper, some rude flint heads of arrows, the fragments 
of a ring, two pins, &c. Through the liberality of Mr. Beswick, the coffin 
and the whole of its contents were deposited in the Scarborough Museum. 
A very excellent description of the tumulus, coffin, skeleton, &c., with some 
learned observations on tho same, was published in 1886, by Mr. W. C. 
Williamson, Curator of the Manchester Natural History Society. 

Lebberstott Totm$hip.-Area, 1,159 acres; rateable value, £1,170. ; popu· 
lation, 17-1 souls. The Hamlet stands about 2! miles W. by N. of Filey. 

FLAMBORouoa.-This parish is on the cast coast, and contains about 
8,000 acres; its rateable value is £3,441.; population, 1,2{)7 souls; and the 
assessed property amounts to £4,118. The principal landowners are Sir G. 
Strickland (Lord of the Manor), the Rev. J. F . Ogle, the Messrs. Whitehead, 
Messrs. Forge, Mr. Dale, John Walmesley, Esq., and the executors of the 
late Mr. Robcrt Preston. 

The Village is situated in the centre of the noble promontory to which it 
gives name, about -i miles E.N.E. of Bridlington, and in early times was a 
place of note. Some writers suppose that it is the site of a Homan station. 
"Many circumstances," says Mr. Prickett, in his HiatonJ of Bridlington 
Priory, "combine to prove the existence of a Roman station, at or near this 
place; among which the vestiges of a Romun road, leading from York across 
the Wolds, in the direction of the villages of Slcdmere and Rudstone, and 
the ditch and mound of earth which intersects the promontory, at its con· 
junction with the main land, are not the least remarkable. The latter, 
however, hns obtained the name of Danes Dyke, and the name of the Danish 
Tower has also been given to the remains of a Castle at Flamborough. 
There can be no question," he continues, "that the Danes succeeded to the 
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settlements of the Romans, for there is abundant evidence to shew that this 
part of the coast was a favourite landing place with them." It is then certain 
that the Danes made Flamborough one of their principal stAtions in their 
hostile attAcks upon England. The Manor of Flamborough was possessed 
by Harold, Earl of the West Saxons, afterwards King of England; and 
subsequently, Wm. le Gros, the founder of Scarborough Castle, ''as its lord. 
The place was also, for a long period, in the hands of the Constable family. 
At present it can only be considered as a large fishing village, chiefly re­
markable for its adjacent promontory and fine lighthouse, which may be 
seen on a clear night at the distance of 30 miles. 

The name of the town and promontory of Flamborough is of unknown 
derivation. Somo writers suppose it to be derived from the Saxon Fleam­
bu.rgh, and Camden observes, the Saxon writers relate that Ida, who first 
subdued these parts, landed at this promontory. Others assert that its ap­
pellation originated from the " flame," or light, anciently placed on the cliffs, 
to direct mariners in the navigation of the North Sea. Camden says," some 
think that it took its name from a. watch tower, in which were lights for the 
direction of ships; for the Dritons still retAin the provincial word Flam, and 
the mariners paint this creek witlt a flaming head in their charts. Others 
arc of opinion that this name came into England out of Angloen, in Den­
mark, the ancient seat of the Angli ; for there is a town called Flansburg, 
from which they think the English gave it that name." That anciently o. 
light was exhibited on the promontory, is highly probable; and au old tower 
of an octagonal form, and undoubted antiquity, still exists a. few hundred 
yards from the present lighthouse, and is now used for a telegraph. 

Flamborouyh f!eacl, the promontory above alluded to, runs out into the 
sea for a considerable distAnce; and is one of the most striking features in 
our eastern coast. It is formed by the termination, at this point, of the 
ridge of chnlk, of which the hills called the Yorkshire Wolds are composed. 
This fine promontory exhibits, for a distance of 12 miles (by projecting on 
the north side 7 miles, and on the south side o miles, into the ocean) a bare 
perpendicular surface of tho same white rock, in some places rising to the 
height of l!JO yards; and surmounted in its \vesterly direction, by a high 
earthy ridge, visible from the sea at a distance of 30 miles in sailing along 
the coast. During the summer season this magnificent range of limestone 
cliffs is the resort of immense numbers of birds, chiefly sea fo,d, which breed 
in the high and inaccessible crevices of the rocks. "To those who delight 
in the wild, the grand, and the sublime," writes Allen, "it affords a high 
gratification, to Yiew from the sen, in cnlm weather, this immense re~ion of 
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birds, and the diversi6eu scenes of this stupendous residence. At the report 
of a gun, the feathered inhabitants are instantly in motion. The eye is 
almost dazzled with the waving of innumerable wings, brightened by the 
rays of the sun, and the ear stunned with the clamour of a thousand dis­
cordant notes. The strange dissonance of tone, resounding in the air from 
such a vast collection, accompanied by the solemn roar of the waves dashing 
against the rocks, and reverberated by the caTems, form a concert altogether 
extraordinary, which affects the mind with unusual sensations." 

At tho base of the cliffs are several extensive ca,•erns, formed by some 
mighty convulsion of nature, or worn by the perpetual action of the wave.s. 
Three of them exceed the rest in extent and interest; and' of tl1ese the prin­
cipal is Robi1t Lljth '• Hole, so denominated, according to the opinion of some, 
from a person who was driven into it by the fury of a tempest, and having 
strength to e.seond one of the projecting ledges, continued there until the tide 
receded, and was thus providentially saved. Others say that it was the secret 
retreat of a noted smuggler or pirate of that name, who concealed his prizes 
here. It ho.s two extraordinary openings, one communicating with the land, 
and the other with the sea. The roof of the cave is finely arched, and nearly 
50 feet high in the centre, with many projecting ledges and suspendod frag­
ments of rock, which, with the great altitude, renders the aspect of tl10 place 
awful and alarming. The K_irk Hole, another cavern, is said to extend from 
the north shore dir('ctly under the church, and hence its derivation; but the 
idea appears to be merely imaginary. The Dot·e Cote ca'l"ern is so named 
from its being the common bret:ding place of rock pigeons. There are also 
many huge masses of white insulated rocks, formed into columns and pyra­
mids, disjoined from the cliffs either by the action of the sea, or by some 
violent concussion, which ra.iso their broken and irregular heads to a con­
siderable elevation; and when viewed from the sea they seem, as a writer 
expresses it, "to form the porticoes to a range of lofty temples, which set at 
defiance all human erections." 

At tho distance of nearly 1 i mile eastward from the village, and about 400 
yards within the extreme point of the promontory, close to the landing on the 
south side of Silex Day, is the Lighthowc, in latitude 54 degrees 7 minutes 
north, longitude 0 degrees 6 minutes west from Greenwich. For many years 
the want of a beacon here was severely felt by the mariners and merchants, 
and from the year 1 iiO to tbe 6th of December, 1806, when the present 
light wo.s first exhibited, not fewer than li 4 ships were wrecked, or lost, on 
Flamborough Head and its environs; but since the erection of this light only 
very few ships ha>e been lost on that station, and none when th" light could 
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be seen. The idea of erecting this lighthowe appears to have been taken 
up by the late Mr. Milne, Collector of Customs at Bridlington, who proposed 
it to the brethren of Trinity House, London. That body soon obtained a 
patent from the Crown for it, and the lighthouse was erected. The building, 
which is 80 feet high, and of brick, is elegnnt in its proportions, and the 
ascent to the lantern in the interior is by a circular staircase, which rises 
round the entire building. The light revolves by machinery, the weights 
and apparatus being suspended in the centre of the tower. There are three 
faces, of seven reflectors each, one of them being coloured red, and a face is 
exhibited every t\vo minutes. The height of the light above the level of the 
sea is upwards of 250 feet. In the lower part of the building is the oil vault, 
which is fire proof, and a house for the keeper of the light. Near the light­
house is the Preventive Staticm, a neat ro\v of small houses. 

At the west end of the village, near the church, is the ancient ruin called 
the Dani8h Tott•er, already referred to. All that no\v remains of this vene­
rable structure is a square room, with a vault, the ceiling of which is groined, 
in one span. From the irregular mounds which appear around this ruin, 
there seems to have been many contiguous buildings; but neither history 
nor tradition gives any account of the period of its erection. The Duke of 
Rothesay, son of Robert Ill. of Scotland, was confined, it is said, in this 
tower, or castle, being captured by a privateer, off Flamborough Head, on 
his way to France, whither he was escaping with his son Jrunes. 

Dcme's Dy~ is the name given to an ancient gigantic ditch, or ravine, in 
this parish. This remarkable entrenchment is of immense width aud depth, 
and is situated nearly at the base of the triangle which forms the promontory 
of Flamborough llead. It contains two lines of defence, one above the other, 
with breast works, and extends across the promontory from north to south. 
On the south shore its bottom is on a level with the beach, and it becomes 
gradually shallower till it entirely disappears. It does not stretch in a 
direct line, but irregularly, and the projections greatly resemble the salient 
angles of a fortification. History affords no account of this stupendous work, 
but tradition ascribes it, with great probability, to the Danes. Some suppose 
that these barbarians might endea\'our to insulate the promontory, and thus 
render it an impregnable post, as the situation was extremely advantageous 
for receiving supplies and reinforcements fron1 their own country. 

The Church of Flamborough is dedicated to St. Oswald, the tutelar saint 
of fishermen. The Living is a Perpetual Curacy, valued at £16., and re­
turned at £81. Sir George Strickland is the Patron, and the Rev. R. H. 
Blanshard, Incumbent. The tithes were commuted in 1765. 
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The Ediji.ce of the church is low but large, and comprises a nave and 
chancel, with side aisles the whole length of the building, and a square 
unsightly bell turret at the west end. There has been o. west porch, and 
perhaps a tower at that end. The windows arc aquo.re-headed. The arches 
which separate the centre aisle from the side aisles are pointed, and rest on 
octagonal piers. The chancel arch, the most ancient part of the church, is 
circular, with Norman fluted capitals on the pillars, and beneath it is a 
wooden screen, over which are the remains of the ancient rood-loft. Tho 
workmanship of this screen belongs to the 15th century, and is extremely 
rich, and was formerly painted o.nd gilded. It contains fourteen niches with 
fine canopies, and ten arches below filled with excellent tracery. There are 
the remains of some good tabernacle work on both sides of the chancel. Over 
the communion table is a lo.rge oil painting of Christ disputing with the 
Doctors jn the Temple, which was presented in 1829, by Rt. Brown, artist, 
"as o. memorial to his native plo.cc." In the chancel is a brass tablet, with a 
curious inscription, to Sir Marmaduke Constable, a great warrior, who was 
born in 1443, and lh·ed in six King's reigns, viz. :-Henry VI. to Henry 
Vill. He lies buried under a tomb stone, in the north aisle of the chancel. 
At the end of the south aisle is o. tablet to Waiter Strickland, Esq., who died 
in 1671. This gentleman purchased the lordship of Flamborough for the 
sum of .£2,000. There arc several memorials to the Ogle family. There is 
an orgo.n in the chancel, and the font is ancient and circular. 

The Parwnage is a neat brick building, near the church. 
The TVuleyan Cl1apel was erected in 1700, and the Primitive Methodilt 

Chapel wati built in 1822; both are of considerable dimensions. 
The Natkmal Schools were erected in 1845. A Pleasure Fair is held at 

Flamborough on Whit-Tuesday. The landing place for the fishing boats is a 
small creek, t mile S. of the village, and is both inconvenient and dangerous 
in stormy weather. In 1794 twenty of the fishermen perished in the sea, 
yet so powerful is the force of custom, that the survivors aro as adventurous 
as ever on the stormy clement. The principo.l. farms and farm l1ouses in the 
parish are the Manor Hou.se, a little east of the church, the residence of Mr. 
Rd. Sowden; Beacon House, on the south side of the church, in the occupa­
tion of Mr. Whiting; Flamborough Head farm, in the hands of Mr. Wood­
cock; South Moor farm, occupied by Mr. R. Crompton; The Grange farm, 
now held by l\lr. Wm. Crowc; Thornu:ick farm, the residence of Mr. Wm. 
Gardiner; Hartendale House, in the occupation of Mr. J. M. Gray; and the 
farm in the hands of Mr. C. Hutchinson. 
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FoLKTos.-This parish comprises the townships of Folkton and Flixtou, 
containing 5,0-tO acres, and a populo.tion of 52!.1 persons. The ro.teable value 
is .£3,293.; and the assessed property amounts to .£.1,135. 

The Tow1uhip of Folkton contains 2,5-10 acres, and 183 . inhabitants. 
The principal proprietors of the soil are JIUDes Ddl Tatc, Esq. (Lord of the 
:Manor), and tho Rector, in right of his church. The township includes Ecut 
and lVe8t Flotma11b!J, anciently a \'illage and chapelry, but now consisting of 
two·farms. The Lit·in[J is a Discharged Vicarage, with a sinecure Rectory, 
ro.ted, the former at £8. lls. 10d., tllC latter nt .£15., and both now returned 
at .£87 4. per annum nett. Rector, the Hev. Herbert Phillips. The tithes 
were commuted in 1802 for land,-there are r.bout 1,700 acres belonging 
to the church. 

Tho Churcll (St. John the EYnngelist) is n neat stone structure, comprising 
1\ nnve and chancel, with a low tower, containing three bells. A new window 
of three lights was erected in the <:ast end, in 1854, by tho Hector, There 
is an ancient circular font. 

The Filla[Je of Folkton is situated in a pleasant valley, ou the northern 
side of the welds, about 6 miles S.S.E. from Scarborougb .. 

Fli.rton Tou·u&ltip.-Area, 2,500 acres; population, 3.10 souls. Principal 
landholdors, Lord Londesborougb and Georgo Ringrosf.', Esq. 

'fhe Villa[Je is situated nearly 1 mile W. of Folkton. 
In the reign of King Athelstan, Acchome, Lord of this pluce, built an 

hospital, for ono alderman and fourteen brothers and sisters, at Fli:tton, for 
the preservation of persons travelling that way, that they might not be de­
stroyed by the wolves, and other wild beasts, then abounding in this neigh· 
bourhood. It was restored and confirmed in H4i, by the name of Carmart'l 
Spittle, but was dissoh-ed before 1535, and a farmhouse now occupies its site. 

There is a Primitit~e Mttlwdut Chapel here, built in 1821. Between the 
villages of Folkton and Flixton is a National School, built by the late W. 
J. Denison, Esq. 

FosTON-ON-THE-WoLDs.-The townships of Foston, Drigham, Gembling, 
and Great Kclk, are comprised in this parish, and the area of the whole is 
4,93-l acres, with a population of 786 souls. Amount of assessed property, 
£1S,531. The acreage of Fo1ton Totcruhip is 1,110, of the rateable value of 
.£1,519., and the number of inhabitants is 3-10. The chief proprietors of the 
soil arc Ralph Creykc, Esq., Wm. St. Quintin, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), 
Mr. W. D. Johnson, John Hickaby, Esq., and Mr. W. Di:ton. The surface 
is level and open, and the soil clay intermixed with sand. 

The Lil'i119 is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at £15. Ss. Oid., and returned 
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at £102. per annum, having been augmented with £400. of Queen Anne's 
Bounty, in 1782 ; and with a Parliamentary grant, of £1,200. in 1824. 
Patron and Incumbent, Rev. Ralp.h Otterburn. The tithes of Foston were 
commuted iu 1 i66, and those of Brigham in 1776. The Church (St. An­
drew) is a neat fabric, containing a nave, north aisle, chancel, and· tower. 
The walls of the chancel are several inches out of the perpendicular, but are 
supported by immense brick buttresses. The nave is divided from the aisle 
by four pointed archt>s, resting on circular columns. The font is circular. 
In the churchyard is the mutilated effigy of a crusader. 

The Villag6, which is nearly a mile in length, is pleasantly situated about 
6 miles E.S.E. of Driffield, on a stream celebrated for its trout, Bowing into 
the river Hull, and on the banks of which is a very extensive fiour mill, to 
which vessels of 60 tons burthen have access. This mill was built in 174 7, 
and is now occupied by Mr. James Naylor. Close to it is a brewery, malt 
kiln, &:c., established in 1889, and now in the occupation of Mr. Thomas 
Smith. The latter establishment had formerly been a tannery. There is 
also in the village an agricultural implement manufactory, belonging to Mr. 
John Agars. There are places of worship for Wesleyans and Independents, 
the latter built in 1814, at the cost of Mr. Samuel Stables, of this place, who 
died in 1816. There is IL1l Almalwtue for three poor widows, founded iu 
1717, by Ann Walker, and endowed with 80s. per ann. The poor inmates 
have likewise the rent of an acre of land, £4. per annum. 

Briglaam T011!1UI1ip extends over an area of 1,470 acres, and contains 189 
inhabitants. The rateable value is £1,558. The principal liLlldowners are 
Sir Tattoo Sykes, Bart. (Lord of the Manor), ILlld Mr. Wm. Hought. Seven 
farm houses, a few cottages, an inn, and a small Methodist chapel, now 
constitute the township. The family of Brigham, of Brigham, posseBSed the 
~·hole of the Brigham estate from the year 1100 to 1798. The pedigree of 
this family is fully recorded in the Herald's College, in regular lineal descent, 
from 1100 to 1858, the present representative ILlld heir male being William 
Brigham, Esq., of Foxley House, Lymm, Cheshire.* In 1894. the eatate of 
Wyton was added by marriage, and later the Dunnington estate, both of 
which were sold in 1767 ; and in 1798 the Brigham estate was sold by the 
father of the present Mr. Brigham, in accordanoe with the will of his uncle 
W. Bngbam, Esq., of Drigham and Wyton, to Sir Christopber Sykes, Bart., 
Sledmere, except a small farm, which the. present representative of this 

• In Poulson's Hilwry of HoUU<rmu, under the head Wyton, it ia stated that tho 
family of Brigham is no" extinct, but thia ia a grol8 error. 

YOL. II. 8 p 
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nncient family purchased in 18~8, and which is now in his possession. In 
the centre of ono of the meadows on this property, the prc.scnt Mr. llrigham 
placed a small stone pilllll', or monument, to the memory of his father, the 
last possessor of the old family estate, which bears the following inscription, 
in the· old Latin monumental characters :-Gulielmtu Drigham, rltirurgtu, 
antiqua religiouis cultor e.rimius, vixit anrn>s lvi.; dece&Bit Mancunii x Kal 
Sextil ann. MDcccxv. .Mcmumentum patris optimi indulgentiuimi Gul.Ulm!U 
filim nal marimru, ltl'ic poni roluit in rei iquiis at--iti agri, jam a potitu regni 
Normantti& per perpetuam majorum traditi.* 

The Iiamht of Drigham is situated on the river Hull, near Frodingham 
Dridge, about IS miles S.E. from Drifficld, and 1 mile S.W. of Foston. 

Gembling Tou:n.ship contains 1,228 acres, and 110 inhabitants. The 
rateable value is £684. Wm. St. Quintin, Esq., is Lord of the Manor, but 
a great part of the land belongs to Joseph Dent, Esq., Mr. G. P. Harrison, 
Mrs. Dixon, Mrs. Stables, Rev. J. F. Ogle, and Mr. T. D. Wilson. 

The l'illag' is situated near the sources of the river Hull, about 6 miles 
E. by S. of Driffield, and is remarkable for its large green, or common, con­

'taining about ten acres, upon which the cottagers rear large numbers of 
geese. There is a small Primith·e !tfethodist Ohapel, built in 1845. 

Great Kelk Towmhip.-Area, 1,181 acres; rateable value, £1,898.; popu­
lation, 197 eoals. Principallandholders, lly. Preston, Esq., and Yarburgh 
Yarburgl1, Esq. The Vi&ge is scattered, and stands about 2 miles N. of 
Foston, and 6 E. by N. o( Driffield. The Marn>r Houu is a small inn in 
the village, and is the only property in the township belonging to Mr. St. 
Quintin, the Lord of the Manor. The Methodists have a chapel here. 

Little Kelk is an extra-parochial liberty, containing o.to acres, and 68 
inhabitants. It is situated to the north of Great Kelk, and is divided into 
three (anus, belonging to Wm. St. Quintin, Esq., and Mr. Powell. 

FoXH<>LEs.-The township o( Foxholes with Doythorpe, and the chapelr:y 
of Dutterwick, ·are included iu this parish, and contain altogether about 
4,200 acres, and 406 inhabitants, of which 2,610 acres and 297 inhabitants 
arc in the township. The rateable value of the townsltip is .£1,788., and 
the assessed property amounts to £1,875. The low grounds are watered by 
several brooks, and the curious stream called the Gypsies, terminates its 

• William Drigbam, surgeon, firm and zealous in the faith of his ancestors, lived 66 
yeArS. He died at Manchester, on the lOth before the Kalends of August, in the year 
liHI). A memorial of 11 good and indulgent father, William, his eldest son, caused this 
6lnne to be erected here in the relict> of his ance11trnl territory, handed down to this time 
from the Nonnan Conquest, through a continuity of ancestors. 
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course here. The principal proprietors are Admiral Mitford (Lord of the 
Manor), and the Hon. Captain Woodhouse. 

The Living is a Rectory, in the patronage of B. Sykes, Esq., and incum­
bency of the Rev. Riohd. Henry Foord. It is rated at £22., and returned at 
£631. per annum. The tithes were commuted in 1771. The Church is a 
small ancient building consisting of a nave and chancel, with a door in the 
west end. There is a small bell turret. The chancel is separated from the 
nave by a fine Norman arch. The Village is situated in a valley, about lOt 
miles N. of Dri.ffield. The Wesleyans have a small chapel here. 
Boyt~ Hamkt, which is situated about 1t mile S.W. of Foxholes, con­

sists of two l&rge farms, one of which belongs to B. Sykes, Esq., and the 
other to the Hon. Captain Woodhouse. 

Butterwick Chapelry.-Area, 1,590 acres; population, 109 souls; assessed 
property, £1,402. Lord Downe is the Lord of the Manor and o!ner of the 
whole, except the rectorialland, for which the tithes were commuted in 1771.' 

The Living is a Perpetual Curacy, augmented with £1,200. of Queen 
Anne's Bounty; returned at £4 7. per ann. nett; in the patronage of the 
Rector of Foxholes, and incumbency of the Rev. Joseph Skelton. The 
Chapel is an ancient edifice, in which is the monument ol a Knight Templar. 

GANTON, or G.A.LMPTON.-Area, including the hamlet of Potter-Brompton, 
8,650 acres; population, 882 souls. The rateable value is £8,549., and the 
aasessed property amounts to £8,628. Sir T. D. Lcgard is the Lord of the 
Manor, patron of the living, and owner of the whole parish. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at £5. 2s. 6d., and returned 
at £181. per ann. Vicar, Rev. D. L. Alexander. The Church (St. Michael) 
consists of a nave and aisles, a ch1mcel, and an embattled tower, from which 
rises a handsome spire. The tower contains three bells. The whole is 
apparently ol the architecture of the 14th century. The interior is neat, and 
has several memorials of the Legard family. The Par101wge HQU88, near 
the church, is a neat residence. The Village is pleasant, and stands about 
8 miles S.S.W. from Scarborough, and about half a mile from the Ganton 
Station on the York and Scarborough Railway. 

Ganton HaU, the seat of Sir Thomas Digby Legard, Bart., is a handsome 
building, picturesquely situated in a vale near the village, and encompassed 
hy fine grounds, plantations, &c. The views from the hills in the vicinity 
are very beautiful. The Legard family is of Norman extraction, and became 
possessed of the lordship of Anlaghby, or Anlaby, near Hull, in the year 
1100, by the marriage of the heiress of the estate. The first of the family 
that settled at Ganton was John, commonly distinguished by the name of 
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John de Ganton, a younger son of Ralph Legard, Esq., of Anlaby. In 
1660 his great grandson, John Legard, Esq., having given proofs of his 
loyalty and attachment to Charles II., u his father and grandfather bad to 
Charles I., was created a Baronet. 

PotUr--Bromptcm consists of three farm houses and a few cottages, and is 
aituated about 1 mile W. of Ganton. 

GABTON-o'!HHE-WoLDs.-The area of this parish is 4,380 acres according 
to the census return, but 3,965 acres according to local estimation. The 
rateable value is £3,565., of which sum the Railway company pays about 
£tWO. Amount of assessed property, £4,697. Population, 531 souls. Sir 
Tattoo Sykes, is Lord of the Manor, impropriator, and owner of nearly all 
the land in the parish. The land is chiefly arable, and in a l1igh state of. 
cultivation; the soil is various. The Lit1ing is a Discharged Vicarage, rated 
at £5. 6s. 8d.; augmented with £000. of Queen Anne's Bounty; and now 
returned at £1~5. per annum. Patron, the Crown; Vicar, the Rev. John 
Eddowes. The tithes '"ere commuted, for land, at the enclosure in 177 4. 

The Ohurch (St. Michael) is an ancient edifice, containing portions of a 
modem date, and some interesting details of a Norman character. It is 
situated upon an eminence, and consists of a nave and chancel, with a mas­
sive Norman tower containing three bells. Above the doorway, in the west 
front of the tower, is a rude basso·relievo of St. Michael overcoming Satan. 
There is a porch on the south side. The interior is plain ; the old oak seats 
and part of the rood·screen remain; and there is a circular-headed piscina in 
the chancel. The font is octagonal and ancient. 

The riUage is neatly built, and pleasantly situated on declivities; and the 
surrounding scenery is plt>asantly enriched with wood. It stands about 3 
miles W.N.W. of Driffield. The Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists have 
each a chapel here. The National Scl&ool, which was rebuilt in 1843, is 
endowed with about £5. per annum, the proceeds of a £120. share in the 
Driffield Navigation, bequeatl1ed by !vi rs. Jane Cook, in 1779; and is liberally 
supported by Lady Sykcs. The building is of brick, and neat. 

The Ma1UJr Ho11.3e, now occupied by Messrs. Joseph nnd Robert Allanson, 
farmers, is a small ancient brick building, erected about the time of the 
enclosure of the parish. In the neighbourhood of this l1ouse appears the 
remains of ancient tumuli, and human bones have been frequently tun1ed up 
in working the soil. Human bones have been found in a field near the 
church, in the occup11tion of l\! r. Lakin; and human remains hnve been 
frequently dug up during the excavations for the railway through the parish. 

Gart<J'" Higk HoUI~, the residence of .Mr. John Crust, farmer, is situated, 
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as its name implies, in an elevated position, from which are most extensive 
prospects. Field Home is a neat residence, pleasantly situated, and in the 
occupation of Mr. Richard Botterill. 

HARPs.uc.-This parish comprises 1,970 acres, of the rateable value of 
£~,809.; the assessed property amounts to £2,7~8.; and the population is 
266 souls. Wm. St. Quintin, Esq., is Lord of the Manor, and owner of the 
land of the entire parish, except about 84 acres, which belongs to the Vicar 
in right of his church. The St. Quintins, whose ancestor came O\'er to this 
country "With the Conqueror, and obtained large possessions in the East 
Riding of Yorkshire, had a spacious mansion here, on the west side of the 
church yard, the site of which is marked by the unevenness of the ground 
upon which it stood. Scampston is now the family seat. 

The Bentjic~ is a Curacy, united to the Vicarage of Burton Agnes. The 
Church is of considerable antiquity, and consists of a nave, chancel, north 
chapel, and west tower. The interior is neat. The chancel was re-built in 
1827, by order of the Lord of the Manor and impropriator, whose property it 
is. This church is the place of sepulture of the family of St. Quintin, and 
in the windows of the chapel are the armorial bearings and pedigree of the 
family, (from Sir Herbert St. Quintin, Knt., of Skipsea and Harpham, who 
died in 1080, to Sir Wm. St. Quintin, Bart., who died in 17i0,) beautifully 
executed in stained glass by the late Mr. Peckett, of York, at the expense of 
the last baronet, who died in 1707, and was succeeded in his estates by his 
nephew; but the baronetcy created in 1641, became extinct. There are 
several monuments to the family in the chancel and chapel, in good pre­
servation. One altar tomb has the effigy of a lady resting her feet on a lion, 
and upon another are engraved the effigies of a knight and his lady. On 
the floor is a stone coffin, and three fine brasses representing full length 
effigies. Over the altar is a handsome monument, by Wilton, to Charlotte, 
wife of Sir W_illiam St. Quintin, who died in 1762. It has a fine figure of 
grief holding profile likenesses of her and Sir William. 

The ViUaye is situated a short distance south of the road from Driffield to 
Bridlington, about 5 miles N .E. of the former town; and east of the village 
is a well of excellent water, called St. John's Well, from St. John of Beverley, 
who is said to have been born here. (See vol. i., p. 888.) The School is 
supported by subscription. The Manor How~, near the east end of the 
church, was rebuilt in 1824, and is now in the occupation of Mr. Rd. Mosey 
Owston, farmer. Fi~ld Houu farm, now held by Mr. Wm. Wilaon, consists 
of 84 acres of land in Harphnm, and 108 acres in Burton Agnes, belonging 
to the Vicar. Turtle Hill farm is occupied by Mn. Maria Taylor. 
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HUNliLANBY.-The township o£ Huumanby and the cbapelry of Fordon are 
comprised in this parish. The former contains about 7,200 acres, and a 
population of 1,291 souls. The rateable value is £8,588., and the assessed 
property amounts to £6,679. The name is written in history Hundemanby, 
and a derivation of the name, as also of that of Barkerdale, or Bartondale, 
has been suggested from the ancient existence of wolves in the vicinity, as if 
the houndsmaD, or huntsman, had resided at Hundemanby, and the hounds 
kept for their extirpation had been kennelled in Barkerdale. We have seen 
at page 47~ that an hospital was founded at Flixton for the preservation of 
people travelling that way, that they might not be devoured by wolves or 
other wild beasts then abounding there. A certain portion of land in this 
vicinity is still distinguished by the name of Woljland. The manorial rights 
of Hunmanby were anciently in three divisions, .Rou, Lemw:e, and Romnore, 
possessed by the descendants of Gilbert de Gaunt, who obtained the manor 
from William the Conqueror. The manor and moro than two-thirds o£ the 
soil have long been in the Osbaldeston family, one of whom, Bertram Osbal­
deston, Esq., added the name of Mitford to his own in 1889, having then 
succeeded to the greater part of the estates of the Mitford family, of Mitford 
Castle, Northumberland. The late llumphrey Osbaldeston, Esq., greatly 
improved the estate, by building new farm houses and making numerous 
plantations. The principal landowners at present are Admiral Rt. Mitford, 
R.N., and the Rev. R. Brook, a member of the Osbaldeston family. The 
acclivities in the vicinity are richly adorned with ornamental wood, especially 
an eminence calll'd Caatle HiU, where there are traces of an ancient fortres& 
From this hill the ground slopes eastward with a regular and almost imper· 
ceptible descent towards the beautiful and picturesque bay of Filcy. 

The Living is a Vicarage, to which the Curacy of Fordon is united. It 
is rated at £20. ls. 8d., and returned at £860. per annum nett. Patron, 
Admiral Mitford; Vicar, Rev. Robert Mitford Taylor, nephew of the patron. 
According to a grant presel"\"ed in Dugdale's Monasticon, the church of 
"Hundemanby" was the" Matrix Ecclesio." o£" Burtone, Newtone, Fordunc, 
Mustune, Folethorpe (now quite extinct), Rutone et Bo.rkerdale." 

Hunmanby Church (All Saints) is a largo ancient structure, consisting o£ 
a nave and north aisle, chancel, and west tower, containing threo bells and 
a clock. The foundation of the tower is Norman, but the upper part, which 
is embattled, and has pinnacles at the angles, has been repaired at a later 
period. On the south side of the nave is an ancient porch and four large 
windows with quatrefoil tracery. The entire cbureh is finished with a plaiu 
batUement, and covered with lead. The east window is of five lights. The 
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church was restored in 1845, at a cost of about £600., raised by subseription 
iu the parish ; tbo windows are all renewed ; and the interior entirely re­
furnished in an elegant manner. Three large windows on the south side 

·were restored by Admiral Mitford. The nave is divided from the aisle 
by five pointed arches resting on three octagonal and two circular pillars. 
The chancel arch is circular, and is decorated with some neat freseo work 
done by W. Taylor, Esq., brother of the present Vicar. The timbers of the 
open roof are varnished. Two small windows on the south side of the 
chancel were filled with stained glass, in memory of Bertram Osbaldeston 
Mitford, Esq., who died in 184~, at the expense of his widow. There are 
stalls for ten persons in the chancel, which were erected in 18G3, at the cost 
of Admiral Mitford, and the organ was presented by the same gentleman 
shortly after the restorations above-mentioned. The seats are all single and 
open, and the wood is stained and varnished. The pulpit is sexagonal; the 
font is octagonal, and was presented by the late Chas. John Bigge, Esq., of 
Northumberland; and the windows have coloured borders. Above the arches 
of the nave are eleven shields of arms, with the emblazoned bearings of 
ancient lords of Hunmanby. These were recoloured when the church was 
restored. In the c.haneel is n splendid marble monument, by Fisher, to 
several members of the Osbaldeston family; and a neat Gothic monument to 
the V en. Archdeacon Wrangham, late vicar of this parish, who died in 1842. 
The former exhibits a full length figure of piety leaning pensively o-rer an 
urn. Against the south wall of the nave is a handsome mural monument, 
recently erected to the memory of different members !)f the Darley family, of 
Mnston. A stone coffin was dug up in the churchyard a few years ago. 

The Vicarag~ H01.1M stands near the church, and is a commodious resi· 
dence. The late Vicar expended, in 1803, about £1,200. in improving it 
and the pleasure grounds with which it is surrounded. Here is a Unding 
Lihrary for the use of the neighbouring clergy. 

The Villag~ is large, pleasant, well built, and seated under the northern 
acclivities of the Wolds, about 2 miles from the sea, 8 miles N.W. by N. of 
Bridlington, and Si S.S.E. from Scarborough, and on the line of railway 
from Hull to the latter place. Hunmanby had formerly a market, which was 
held on Tuesday, but has long fallen into desuetude. The ancient market 
cross still adorns the village groan, and near it are the remains of the stocks. 
A fortnightly cattle market was established here on the 26th of J one in the 
present year. Faira for toys and pedlery are held on May 6th and Oct. 29th. 
There are three good inns in the village, besides the large inn called the 
:&yal Oak, on the road to Scarborougb. The latter was built in 1839, and 
is the property of Mr. Francis Hutchinson. 
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The Baptut Chaptl is a plain brick building ; the JV~U4yan CluJptl is a 
large building of brick, erected in 1816; and the Primili.:e M~ut Chapel, 
a neat brick building, was built in 1841. 

The Natwnal School, near the church, is supported by subscription, Ad·' 
miral Mitford allowing .£40. a year towards its maintenance. 

The Literary Irutitute was established in 1849, and to it now belongs the 
Parochial Library, which was founded above 40 years ago. The Rev. R. 
M. Taylor is the president. The village is lighted with gas, the v.·orks being 
established by Mr. Rd. Cooper, in 1854. There are small Alrruhoaua for 
aix poor widows, endowed with a rent charge of .£4. per ann., out of land 
called the Intacke, given by an unkno11'11 donor. The poor parishioners re­
ceive upwards of .£50. per annum from CcnDton'• CluJrity, which consists of 
about 14 7 acres of land, the rents whereof are distributed chiefly amongst 
the poor of .Bridlingtoo and Hunmaoby. 

Hunmanby Hall, the seat of Admiral Mitford, is a red brick mansion, 
situated on a slight elevation near the village. The gardens are pleasant 
and well laid out, and there is a considerable quantity of wood and planta· 
tions in the park. The entrance gateway is a very fine pointed arch, erected 
in 1829, to represent a monastic ruin ; and the stone, which is from Filey 
Brigg, baYing been acted upon by the sea, in its original situation, gives it 
an antique appearance. The Low Hall, at the east end of the village, is a 
building of considerable antiquity. 

The principal farm houses are as follows :-Field Houu, to which is at· 
tached a farm of 1,180 acres, is in the occupation of Mr. John Simpson. 
Lind Houu, so called in memory of a visit paid to the farm by the celebrated 
"Swedish Nightingale," Madlle. Jenny Lind, on the 14th of Sept., 1848, 
during her sojoum at Filey. Previously to this visit it was called GrajJiiM 
H01Ue. It is said that it was Miss Lind's intention to visit Field Houae, 
that being the largest farm, but the occupiers of both farms being, at that 
time, of the name of Simpson, her conductor took her, through a mistake, to 
Graffitoe House. Mr. Wm. Bryan is the present tenant of the latter farm. 
Park Houu farm is occupied by Mr . .Martin Lowish; Airy Hill by Mr. 
John Setterington; Sir Reatho HiU by Mr. John Jackson; Long Winl farm 
by Mrs. Thompson; and Barkerdale, or BarkinMle, by Mr. John Varley. 
Close to this boose are the remains of what appears to be an ancient en­
campment. It covers about two square acres of ground, and has a very 
wide ditch around it. 

Dr. R. Fiddu, author of the Life of Oardirl(d Wol.tey, and a Body of Di­
vimty, &e., was born at Hunmanby in 1671. 
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Fordo11, or Fordm Chap6lry.-Area, 1,460 acres; population, 65 souls. 
Chief proprietors of the soil, Admiral Mitford (Lord of the Manor) and B. 
Hemsworth, Esq. The Hamlet, which consists of three farm houses and 

· four or five cottages, is in a most picturesque situation, about 4 miles S.W. 
of Hunmanby. The place has been returned as a part of Wold Newton 
parish. The Chap6l is a small plain old building, in which divine service is 
performed once a month. 

KILILUI.-This parish, formerly called Killom, is · seated on the Wolds. 
The lordship, in 1364, belonged to Thomas Ughtred, who in that year ob­
tained a charter of free walTen in all his demesne lands here, and some other 
of bis manors. Kilham soon after passed into the hands of Wm. de Tweng, 
who dying without issue, it descended to his three sisters. The area of the 
parish is 7,660 acres, and the number of its inhabitants is 1,~47. The 
rateable value is £8,209.; and the amount of assessed property, £6,961. 
The surface is varied, and the lower grotinds are watered by a branch of the 
river Hull, which has its source in this parish. Clay abounds, and there is 
a conaiderable number of bricks, and draining end pan tiles, made in the 
parish. The principal landowners are W. H. Thompeon, Esq., R. Creyke, 
Esq., Lord Hotham, Mrs. Wilson, Mr. John Milner, Miss Newton, W. D. T. 
Duesbery, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), Sir Henry Boynton, Rev. F. Drake, 
Mr. J. 1'. Dickson, Sir B. Outram, Mr. J. Saville, Lady Boynton, and Mr. 
W. Lamplugh. 

At a place called H~~mpit Hok, near the Langtot\ road, previous to the 
draining of the surrounding country, was a remarkable spring called the 
Vipuy, or Gip~, which, aft.er a wet autumn, used to issue with such 
violence from the ground as to form an aqueous arch, sufficiently elevated 
for a man on horseback to ride beneath it without being wet. There is a 
good mineral spring, near the road leading to Rudston, said to be efficacious 
in curing various disorders, but now entirely neglected. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in the peculiar jurisdiction and 
patronage of the Dean of York; rated in the King's Books at £6. 1Ss. 4d., 
and returned at £145. per annum. Vicar, Rev. E. F. B. B. Fellowes. The 
tithes were commuted in 1771 ; the Dean of York is impropriator. 

The Church (All Saints) is a very ancient stone structure, in the Early 
English style, comprising a nave, chancel, south porch, and a massive square 
embattled tower, strengthened with angular buttresses. The inner door of 
the porch is a splendid Norman arch of seven chevron mouldings, resting on 
cylinders, and above it is some curious sculpture, in diamond panels. The 
interior is neat; at the west end is a gallery containing an organ, which was 

'\"OL. ll. 8 Q 
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erected some years ago, at a cost of .£li0., raised by subscription aud the 
profits of a bazaar. The piscioa and sedilia are in the usual situations in 
the chancel, and the massive oaken altar rails still remain. There are several 
neat Ioarble tablets to members of the Thompson, Outram, Aoderson, Brit­
taiu, and Prickett families. The font is neat and modem. The great 
antiquity of this church is certain, from the remains of a series of sculptured 
blocks still existing near the roof. The tower contains three bells. 

The J'illage is pleasantly situated on a declivity of the Wolds, and now 
consists of one irregular street, extending from east to west for nearly 1! 
mile, but was once a much larger place, vestiges of foundations having been 
often discovered. It bad anciently a market every Thursday, which, from 
the vicinity and greatsr convenience of Driffield, has been long since discon­
tinued. Fairs for cattle are held on Aug. 21st and November 12th, the latter 
of which is lllso a statute fair. There is a steam brewery in the village, 
established in 18-!0, and a smaller brewery commenced in 1852. Mr. Thos. 
Gardham's ropery was established about thirty years ago. 

The Baptists, Wesleyaus, and Primitive Methodists, have each a chapel 
here. Near the church is a" round house." or temporary lock-up. 

A Free Grammar School was foundod here in the Oth of Charles I . (163.!), 
by John Lord D'Arcy, who endowed it with a rent charge of .£30. per ann. 
It is free for instruction in Latin grammar to all the boys in the parish, but 
a charge is made for English, writing, arithmetic, &c. The National School 
.is a neat brick building, erected in 184 7, at a cost of over .£ti00., raised by 
subscription, aided by a grant from the National Society. 
Swayt~e, now a farm of about 770 acres, is the property of Lord Hotham, 

and in the possession of James Hall, Esq., of Scorborough. In July, 1830, 
it obtained, from the Yorkshire Central Agricultural Society, the preinium 
as being the best managed farm in the county. In the unusually dry sum­
mer of 1826, the old draw-well here refused to yield its wonted supply of 
"ater, nod an ancient um was found at its bottom, and sent to Mr. Hall 's 
mansion, This place, which is situated on an elevated part of the Wolds, Si 
miles N. of Kilham, was anciently a village of two streets, which may still 
be traced on the west and north sides of a large pond called Hempdike, and 
the foundations of the chapel are still visible near the spring called Chapel 
'V ell. Numerous entrenchments and tumuli are traced in this locality, the 
former are referred to the Danes, and the latter are perhaps anterior to tbe 
time of Cmsar. The other principal farm houses are the undermentioned. 

DotteriU Hotue, the residence of Mr. John Staveley, built in 1864 ; the 
foldyard, out-buildings, &c., are very complete, and the farm contains 847 
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acret, about 50 of which are occupied by plantations, and a cover for foxes. 
&.m HiU Houu, occupied by Mr. S. Lamplugh, is a good modem building. 
Broach Dale HQ!tu (Mr. S. Ellyard); Wut.field Houu, built in 1849 (Mr. S. 
Lamplugb); Fuld Home (Mr. R. Knaggs); and Wut.field (Mr. J. Branton). 

MUldle Dale, or Little Killlam, consists of two farms, one of which is the 
property and residence of Mr. John Milner. 

The poor parishioners have a yearly rent charge of .£5., left by a person 
named Watson; the dividends of .£8/S. Is. Sd., S per cent. consols, left by 
Eliz. Knowsley, in 1800; and the interest of .£36. I Os., left by R. and J. 
Thompson, and two other donors. 

LANOTOFr.-This parish comprises. the township of Langtoft, and the 
cbapelry of Cottam. The former contains 3,140 acres, and 681 inhabitants. 
The rateable value is .£2,197. Principal landowners, Sir J. Gibbons, Miss 
Broadley, Sir T. Sykes, Admiral Mitford, o.nd Messrs. H. Wilson, F. Ford, 
W. Warters, and G. Huthwalte. The soil is generally very good; the sce­
nery is open and bold, and on the W olds very bleak and wild. 

The Benefice is a Discharged Vicarsge, with the Perpetual Curacy of 
Cottam annexed, rated at .£8. ; nett income, .£354. per annum. Patron, the 
Archbishop of York; Vicar1 Rev. Richard Baldock. The tithes were com­
muted for lo.nd in 1801; there are 800 acres of glebe. The Church (St. 
Peter) is situated on high ground, and is a good stone structure, consisting 
of a nave, chancel, south porch, and west tower. The latter appears to be 
the architecture of the 13th century, but the rest of the church is much later. 
The interior is plain. There are two bells in the tower. The sedilia re­
mains in the chancel. The font is ancient. 

The Village is picturesquely situated in a valley, about 6 miles N. of 
Driffield. According to an inscription upon a cottage, there was a great 
flood at Langtoft on the lOth of April, 1657. The Natiffnal School was 
erected in 1846. The Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists have each a 
chapel here. A W esleyan Sunday School was built in 1844. About a mile 
from the village is an ancient post corn mill, in the occupation of Mr. 
Sowersby Mason. Park Horue is the property and residence of Mr. William 
Warters; and Maiden Cottage is occupied by Mr. Wm. Brunton, farmer. 

Peter de Langtoft, a celebrated monk, poet, and historian of the 14th cen­
tury, was a natife of this parish. He was a Canon of the Priory of Brid~ 
lington, where it is supposed he died and was buried. His principal work 
was a Chronicle of England, in verse, and in the French tongue. 

Cottam CAapelry.-Area, 2,540 acres; population, 58 souls. The Haml~t 
is distant 2 miles S.W. from Langtoft, and 5 N. by W. from Driffield. 
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The land is in three farms, two of which are called Oltl Oottam and Oottam 

Grang1, and it is mosUy the property of Jamee T. Ford, Esq., the Loriof 
the Manor. There are about 850 acres of warren, belonging to the Eccle­
siastical Commissioners. 

The Ohap~l is a small plain ancient building, and the Curacy ia united 
with Langtoft. The font is an interesting relio of ancient times. 

LoWTHORPE.-This parish comprises 1,960 acres, of the rateable \'alue of 
£2,861.; the assessed property amounts to £2,574.; and the population is 
130 sonls. William St. Quintin, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), the Rev. G. C. 
Welby, and Mr. C. Hudson, are the chief landholders. The Lowthorpe estate 
was brought by marriage to the St. Quiutins, by Constauce, the daughter of 
Sir John de Heslarton, in 1336. This Sir John, in 1333, instituted a col­
lege of six chantry priests in the church of Lowthorpe, or, in other words, he 
endowed six perpetual chantries there. In 1364. Sir Thomas de Heslerton 
added another cbautry, for the souls of himself and Alice his wife, and be 
end(lwed the church with the Manor of Lowthorpe and the mansion house. 
There has been no institution to the college since 1579. 

The Oollegiau Ohurck of Lowthorpe was an ancient Rectory, dedicated to 
St. Martin, now it is a Perpetual Curacy, worth only £64. per ann. Patron, 
William St. Quintin, Esq., Incumbent, Rev. George Carey. 

The Fabric was formerly very handsome, but is now in a dilapidated state. 
It consisted of a nave, chancd., and west tower, but the chancel has long 
been roofiess, and three large ash trees are growing within its mined walls. 

The VilUJgs is scattered, and stands about 4i miles E.N .E. of Driffield. 
There is a fine water mill on the stream here, erected in 1777; it is occupied 
by Mr. Moses Lawson. The ancient mansion of the St. Quintins was taken 
down in 1826, and LwJtlwrpe Lodg1, the occasional residence of the Lord of 
the Manor, was erected, parUy on its site, about a dozen years ago . 

.MusTON.-Tbe area of Muston is 2,226 acres; population in 1851, 399 
souls; rateable value, £2,585.; assessed property, £3,840. The chief pro­
prietors of the soil are Mr. R. H. Russell, George Bes"ick, Esq., Miss 
Droadley, T. W. RiYis, Esq., Rev. R. Brook, and Mrs. Elizabeth Foster. 

The Liri1~g is a Discharged Vicarage, in the gift of Admiral Mitford (who 
is also Lord of the Manor), and incumbency of the Rev. Wm. Green. It is 
rated at £6. I Os., and now returned at £153. per annum. Tho tithes were 
commuted for £391. yearly, of which the patron receives two thirds, and the 
Vicar one third. There are ten acres of glebe. 

Tho Church (All Saints) is a small mean, ancient, edifice, consisting of a 
nave, chancel, and south porch. A small turret contains two bells. .Muston 
was formerly a chapelry to Hunmanby. 
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The Villagd is situated on low ground, on the small river Hartford, about 
9t miles N. W. by N. of Bridlington, and 1 mile N. from Hunmanby. 
An old stone cross is now converted into a guide post. The Independents 
and Primitive Methodists have each a small chapel here. A new School, and 
a house for tbe schoolmaster, is being erected, at a cost of about £400., sub­
scribed by the landowners, aided by a grant from the Government. 

A Sunday School is supported by the interest of a legacy of £50. 
Mwton Lodgd is the property and residence of George Beswick, Esq. ; 

and }[wton Hall is the property and residence of Mr. R. H. RusselL 
Mwton Grange is in the occupation of Mr. William Foster, farmer. 

NAFFERTON.-This parish includes the township of Wansford. The lands 
are in a high state of cultivation. The Driffield Canal passes through the 
parish. The Townahip of Nafferton comprises 4,330 acres of land, and that 

.of Wansford, 800 acres. Rateable value, £7,038.; amount of assessed pro­
perty, £7,456. Population of Nafferton, 1,260 souls; and of Wansford, 257 
persons. The largest owners of the soil in Natrerton are John Dickson, 
Esq., Edmund Dade Conyers, Esq., Messrs. Jacob Layboum, Christopher 
Hudson, and George Jaques, and the executors of the late Mr. Harwood. 
William St. Qointin, Esq., is Lord of the Manor. 

The Church is dedicated to All Saints, and is a Discharged Vicarage, in 
the patronage of the Archbishop of York, and incumbency of the ReT. J. 
Davidson. It is valued in the King's Books at £13. 15s. 4d., was augmented 
with £400. from Queen Anne's Bounty, in 1780 and 1802, and with a par­
liamentary grant of £1,20d. in 1814; and is now returned at .£189. per ann. 
It was anciently a Rectory, in the gih of the Percy's, till Sir Henry Percy, 
Knt., gave it to the Abbey of Meaux about 1304; a Vicarage was then or­
dained for a perpetual Vicar to serve the church, and the Archbishop of York 
decreed that this Vicarage should consist of twenty marks sterling, payable 
quarterly by the monks. This sum is still paid to the Vicar by the lay im· 
propriator, John Dickson, Esq. The tithes were commuted iu 1769. 

The Edijice, which is handsome, stands on a considerable eminence, and 
was thoroughly repaired in 1828. Its parts are a nave with aisles, e. chancel, 
and tower, and it is in the later English style of architecture. The tower is 
embattled and pinnacled. The windows are of two lights, with trefoil heads, 
except the clereetory of the nave, which has fou,r large pointed windows of 
three lights. The interior is neat; the nave is divided from each aisle by 
four pointed arches springing from octagonal pillars. The present font is 
modem, and the old font, an immense cylinder, made more than 700 years 
ago, ia preserved in the belfry, but it narrowly escaped being broken up for 
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the repair of the roads, in 1828. A beautiful new stained glass memorial 
east window was erected in March, 1854, at the expense of John Dickson, 
Esq., in memory of his late uncle, Rd. Dickson, Esq., of Stockton-on-Tees. 
The subjects illustrate three of the principal events in the life of our Divine 
Redeemer; and the Dickson arms is also em blazoned. The window was 
executed by Wailes, and is a splendid specimen of the art. 

The ViUage is large, and stands about 2 miles E.N.E. of Driffield. Near 
the church is a fine spring, which forms a good sheet of water, and works a 
large corn mill, the property of Mr. Hy. Thompson. There is likewise a 
wind and steam mill, about 1 mile N. of tho church, which was erected as a 
wind mill only, in 1820, by Mr. William Weatherill, and to which steam 
machinery was added in 18-10, by Mr. Thos. Smith. It is now the property 
of Mr. Robert Moor. 

The We8le1Jan C!Uipel, originally erected in 1792, was rebuilt in 1839. It 
is a neat building, capable of seating about 400 persons. At the rear of tho 
chapel is an excellent school, with play ground, &c., erected in 1847. 

The Primitivs Method~t Chapel is a small building, erected in 18!U. 
There is a small Independent Chapel, but it is not now used by that body. 

The National School is supported by subscription, and endowed with .£5., 
which was left by Mr. John Baron, of Bridlington, in 1709. About llt 
acres of land ha;c been left for parish uses, and the rents of the same are 
under the management of 12 feoffees. The poor have the rents of about 10 
acres of land, bequeathed by Thos. Robinson and Thos. Moore, in 1698. 

During the great storm of wind on the 6th of January, 1839, the house of 
Mr. Thompson, miller, of Nafferton, was blown down, and two of his sons, 
with his daughter and se"ant girl, were killed. 

The Manor HoUM is a small cottage in the village, bearing the date of 1772. 
lVold HoUM, the property and residence of John Dickson, Esq., is a fine 
edifice of white brick, built on an elevated situation in 181S4. It stands 
about lt mile N. of the village, and commands some extensive views. 

Nafferton HaU, near tho village, is now occupied as a Ladies' Boarding 
School. Nafferton Grange is tho residence of Mr. Wm. Lovel, farmer; 
Elmroood Home is tho property of Mr. Wm. Lovel, and the residence of the 
Misses .Love}; Rose Cottage is tho property and residence of Mr. J acob 
Layboum; and Nafferton 1;-odge is the property of Mr. Jacob Laybourn, and 
the residence of Mr. William Clarkson Layboum. 

PockthtJrpe Hamlet is situated about 3 miles N.N.E. from Nafferton, and 
consists of Pockthorpe Hall and its farm of 710 acres of land, and about 50 
acres of plantations, and four cottages. The place is the property of Henry 

o tzoobyGoogle 



DICKERlliG WAPENT.AKE. .t87 

Harrison, Esq., and is now in tho occupation of Mr. William Gofton, farmer. 
A portion of the hall was pulled down in 1849, but it is still a large ancient 
brick building, three stories in height, and pleasantly situated in a valley. 
From foundations, &c., discovered, it seems that a village formerly existed at 
Pockthorpe. 

Wan.iford Towruhip contains about 800 acres, and 257 inhabitants. The 
land is mostly the property of Sir T. Sykes. The rateable value is £1,804. 

The Villags is pleasantly situated near the Driffield Canal, by means of 
which vessels of 70 tons burtheu can come up to it. It stands about 8 m,iles 
E.S.E. from Driffield, and 2 N.E. of Nafferton. There is a beautiful elm 
tree in the village, near the canal, the circumference of which, in one part, 
is 80 feet, and higher up, 21 feet. It formerly had two arms, one of which 
crossed the road and the other the canal. There is much omamented wood 
in the locality, and in the neighbourhood of the village runs the very noted 
stream for trout called West Beck. This place is frequently visited, and the 
neat little village inn, "Ths Trout," is often patronised by anglers of "high 
degree." The ancient Chapel of Wansford is numbered with the things that 
are gone, not a Yestige of the building remains. The old font belonging to 
it is now used as a flower pot in the garden of Mr. Rd. Davison, druggist, 
Driffield. An old bell, said to bavo belonged to this chapel, bearing the date 
of 1684, and weighing 1! cwt., is also in the possession of that gentleman 
(having purchased it in Hull, at a "second-hand" warehouse), and is used as 
a mortar in his shop. There is a small W uleyan Chapel here. The School 
was erected in 1849, by T. Sykes, Esq., and it, together with an Infant 
School, is supported by Lady Sykes. 

W amford Com and Bons Mills, close to the canal, and now in the occu­
pation of Messrs. Thomas Bainton and Son, were built and many years used 
as a cotton and carpet factory. The mills are worked by water and steam­
the water wheel (of cast metal, made by .Mr. Harker, of Driffield), being of 
50 horse power, and the steam engine of 25 horse power. The machinery is 
on an improved plan, and is similar to that employed in Her Majesty's flour 
mills at Deptford, in which the flour is dressed through silk. 

REIOUTON, or RrouTON.-The area of this parish is 1,680 acres, of the 
rateable value of .£1,730.; population, 247 souls. The chief landholders are 
Sir Geo. Strickland, Admiral Mitford (Lord of the Manor), the Vicar, John 
Hesp, Esq., and Mr. Thomas Johnson. The parish lies on the sea coast, 
extending to E'iley Bay; and there are several good limestone quarries in it. 

The Benefice is a Discharged Vicarage, rared at .£{). 10s., and returned at 
£1i7. nett. Patron and impropriator, Sir G. Strickland; Vicar, Rev. N. C. 
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Strickland. The tithes were commuted in 1811. 'fhe glebe consists of 70 
acres. The Church is a low ancient building, consisting of a nave, north 
aisle, chancel, south porch, and bell turret. The south side of the nave has 
been rebuilt \Vith brick, the other side and the whole of the chancel is of 
Norman workmanship. The nave and aisle are separated by three circular 
arches, resting on pillars of a similar form. The font is square, with elegant 
pillars at the angles, and diaper work at the sides. 

The Vicarage HOUM is near the church. 
The Village is small, and stands about 5t miles N.W. by N. of Bridlington. 

From different parts of the village, and the churchyard, there are some 
splendid views of the Wolds, and of the coast about Filey and Scarborough. 
'l'here is a small We~uyan Cha~l, built in 1818. On the top of the high 
bills in this locality, some of them 400 feet above the level of the sea, thero 
are some excellent springs, which are never dry. 

&ighton Hall, a large ancient brick building, near the village, in the occu· 
pation of Mr. J oscph Ringrose, farmer; and the Manor Ho'UU, the residence 
of Mr. William Richardson, farmer, is a neat brick building in the village. 

RuDSTONB.-This parish includes the hamlets of Thorpe and Caythorpe, 
and contains about 5,060 acres, and 599 inhabitants. Rateable value, 
£8,950.; assessed property, £5,075. The surface is boldly undulated, the 
higher grounds are embellished with thriving plantations, and the vale is 
intersected by a stream, on the banks of which are luxuriant pastures. The 
principal landowners are Godfrey W. ll. Bosville, Esq., Lord Londesborougb, 
Mrs. Hopkinson, Sir Henry Boynton (Lord of the Manor), and the Vicar in 
right of his church. 

In the Domesday Survey this place is called Rod1tane, probably from an 
obelisk which stands in the churchyard. This obelisk is one entire natural 
stone, of the coarse rag, or mill-stone grit, of the same kind and shape as the 
celebrated stones called Devil's Arrows, near Boroughbridge, which Camden, 
Leland, and Drake, suppose to be Roman trophies erected in commemoration 
of some victory; but they are probably of greater antiquity, and portions of 
Druidical temples, or British cromleche.* (See vol. i., pp. 34, 6~.) 

• The stone at nudatone is 21) feet oi inches in heigllt, and its length 'lritbin ground 
has been traced to the depth of more than 12 feet, without reAChing its bottom ; ibl 
breadth is 6 feet 10 inches, and the thickness is 2 feet 8 inches. All the four Bides are 
a little convex; and supposing it, says a writer in the Arch«W{Ii4, vol. v., to be 28 feet 
above ground, and as much below as above, the whole weight is probably 46 tons. An 
old womo.n in the village informed Mr. Allen, who published his Hutcry of Yorklhirc 
in 1820, that she could remember the remains of a similar block of stone, which was 
situated 110me yards to the esst of the present obelisk. 

o tzoobyGoogle 



DICKERING WAPENTAKE. 48Q 

The Be~fice is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at £Q. l8s. 6!d., and now 
worth £286. per annum. Patron, the Archbishop of York; Vicar, ReT. Rt. 
Dallin ; impropriator, Sir H . Boynton. The great and small tithes were 
commuted in 177 4 and in 1811. The Church is a small neat edifice, having 
the usual parts of a parish church. It was thoroughly repaired in 182Q. 
The aisles are divided from the nave by three pointed arches, resting on cir· 
cular columns. The sedilia remains in the chancel, and the font is circular. 

The Village is watered by a smo.ll stream, and stands on low ground about 
6 miles W. from Bridlington. The Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists 
have each a chapel here; and the National School is chiefly supported by 
Mr. and Mrs. Bosville and the Vicar. 

The :Manor Howe is a farm house near the village. Spring Dak HO'IJU 
is the residence of Mr. William Etherington, farmer. 

Tlwrpe Hall, the property and occasional residence of G. W. B. Bosville, 
Esq., is a large edifice, consisting of a centre and wings, situated in grounds 
tastefully laid out, and embellished with richly varied scenery. In enlarging 
the fish ponds, in 1880, some Roman relics, consisting of urns, swords, and 
spears, were discovered. Little Thorpe HOtUe and farm are in the occupation 
of Mrs. Foster; an~ there are two good farms called High Caythorpe and 
Low Caythorpe, the former occupied by Mr. F. Daggitt, and the latter by Mr. 
William Jordan. 

RusTON PARvA, or LITTLE RusToN, is a parish of 910 acres, and 185 
inhabitants, and belongs chiefly toW. St. Quintin, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), 
Y. Yarburgh, Esq., and Mr. T. Oliver. Rateable value, £1,874.; assessed 
property, £1,504. Limestone of excellent quality is found in abundance, 
and great quantities are annually burnt into lime, for the supply of the 
adjacent district. The Living is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of Wm. St. 
Quintin, Esq., and incumbency of the Rev. G. Carey. Its present value is 
£51. per annum, being augmented with £1,000. of Queen Anne's Bounty in 
17 41 and 1824. The tithes were commuted in 1801. 

The Church (All Saints) stands on a hill, and was rebuilt mostly' of white 
brick in 1882, when the old one, a small mean edifice, was taken down. It 
consists of a nave and chancel, with a bell turret containing two bells. The 
old font stands in the chancel. 

The Village is situated on low ground, about 4 miles N.E. from Driffield. 
On the green are the remains of an ancient stone cross. The Manor Houu 
is a farm house in the village. There is a small W uleyan Chapel. 

Bracybridge Com MiU, now in the occupation of Mr. S. Lowson, was built 
in 1807, on the site of a very ancient mill. 

VOL. IJ, 8 n 
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TawJ:so.-This parish includes the township or hamlet of Octon-cum· 
Octon Grange, and contains 4,060 acres of land; its population is 599 souls; 
rateable value, £3,351.; assessed property, £3,181. Chief proprietors of the 
soil, Lord Londesborough (Lord ofthe Manor), Admiral Mitford, Miss Vicker· 
man, Mr. Seth Gibson, and J. Laybourn, Esq. The lordship of Tu-enge 
gave name to a family, of whom Sir Rt. de Twenge, Knt., was the first. His 
posterity inherited this manor successively after him, and the last of them 
obtained a charter of free warren here, and elsewhere, in 1293, and at the 
same time procured a grant for a weekly market here on Wednesday, with a 
fair yearly, "on the eve, day, and morrow of St. Thomas the Martyr." In 
1375 the last male heir of this family died without issue, and the estates 
descended to the heirs of his three sisters. 

The Li·ving is a Rectory in medieties, each valued in the King's Books at 
£8. 12s. 1d.; nett income, £520. Patron, the Crown; Rector, Ref. V{. J. 
Butler. Tithes commuted in 1760. The Church (All Saints) consists of a 
nave, north aisle and chancel, south porch, with a bell turret on the roof at 
the west end, containing two bells. Within the porch is a circular arched 
doorway, the upper part filled up with a basso-relieve of the Holy Lamb, 
with the flag. The interior is neat. Four pointed arches, resting on oc­
tagonal pillars, separate the aiale from the nave. The church was repcwed 
in 1814, by the parishioners, and thoroughly repaired in 1836, at the expense 
of the late Robt. Prickett, Esq., the then Lord of the Manor, who died in 
1844. The chancel arch is circular; the ellSt window is of five lights, and 
is, together with two windows in the nave, of three lights, filled with stained 
glass. In the chancel is a tablet to the memory of the above-mentioned Mr. 
Prickctt, who, in his life time, erected a memorial here to Thomas Lamplugb, 
Archbishop of York, who died in 1691, and was a nati,·e of this place. There 
are other tablets in the church to the families of Lo\visb, Vickennan, and 
Topham. The Rectory is now a farm house. 

The Village stands about 8t miles W. by N. of Dridlington. The Wes· 
leyan Chapel was built in 1839, and the Primitit·e Methodist Chapel in 1840. 

The School, and a house for the schoolmistress, were built in 1835, by the 
late 1\fr. Prickett. The M(lnOT Iiouse, an ancient building in the nllage, is 
in the occupation of 1\lr. John Vickerman, fnrmer. There is a large tumulus 
in the parish (the place of sepulturc, probably, of some British chieftain and 
his family), which was enclosed some years ago by Mr. Prickett. 

Wold Cottage, the residence of J. Laybourn, Esq., is situated on the north 
side of the parish. and in a field about one-third of a mile nearly west of the 
house, a most extraordinary phenomena of nature occurred on the 13th of 
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December, 1795, about three o'clock in the afternoon. A singular stone, 28 
inches in breadth, 36 inches in length, and weighing 56 pounds, fell from 
the atmosphere, and partly buried itself in the ground, on the SPot where the 
late Edward Topham, Esq., of Wold Cottage, erected an obelisk in 1799, to 
commemorate the event. This stone is of a composition similar to most 
other meteoric stones which have fallen at various periods in different parts 
of the world, but it has no counterpart or resemblance to the natural stones 
of the earth.* 

Octon, or Oxton, consists of three or four farm houses and a few cottages, 
about 1 mile W. from Thwing ; and Octon Gfange (two farm houses) is 
situated about a mile from Octon. Near Octon hamlet are the remains of 
entrenchments, in two divisions. 

WILLERBY.-The townships of Willerby, Binnington, and Staxton, are in· 
cluded in this parish; the area of the whole is 4,180 acres; rateable value, 
£3,644.; assessed property, £3,098. The Township of WiUerby contains 
1,630 acres, and 63 inhabitants. Lord Londesborough is the owner of all 
the land. The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at £0. Os. 7!d., and 
returned at £116. per annum. Patron, the Crown; Vicar, Rev. E. Day, of 
Norton. Tithes commuted in 1801. The Church (St. Peter) is an ancient 
structure, consistiDg of o. nave, chancel, and low west tower, in which are 
three bells. There was formerly a north aisle. 

The Village is very small, and is situated in a valley about 6 miles S. by 
W. of Scarborough. 

• An account of the falling of this stone, communicated by Mr. Topham, is published 
in a book on British Mineralogy, by the late 1\[r. Sowerby, of Lambeth Road, London, 
in whose museum the stone was deposited. · From that account we learn that the stone 
passed through the air in a north. west direction from the sea coast, and numbers of 
persons distinguished a body passing through the clouds, though not able to ascertain 
what it was. In the different villages over which the stone took its direction, numbers 
of the people beard the noise of something passing through the nir, nnd some persons 
saw it strike the earth, and deposed to the same on oath before Mr. Tophnm, who was a 
magistrnte. It embedded itself 10 inches in the earth nnd chalk rock, nnd fixed itself 
so strongly in the latter, that it required some labour to dig it out. Before it touched 
the earth there was some thunder nnd lightning at a distance, but at its fall an explosion 
took place, which alanned the surrounding country. Mr. Biglnnd, in one of his tours 
through Yorkshire, in 1810, sawn portion of the stone in the possession of the lato 
Archdeacon Wrnnghnm, at Hunmnnby. It has a black o.nd vit.ri1ied surface, exhibiting 
marks of a volcanic origin; the inside is white, and of a grnnulated but very compact 
texture; an<l its composition is totally different from that of any kind of stone yet dis­
covered. Mr. King, the antiqu~~ry, in his account of "sky-fallen stones," has published 
an account of this, with mnny curious and learned remarks on those which ha Ye fallen 
at different periods. 
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Binnington To~Dn~hip.-Area, 910 acres; population, 85 souls. The soil 
belongs to Lord Londesborough and Sir T. D. Legard. 

The Hamlet is small, and is seated on the southern bank of the river 
Hartford, about three-quarters of a mile E. of Willerby. 

Sta:eton To!Dnlhip contains 1,640 acres, and 27 4 inhabitants. Lord Lon­
desborough is owner of most of the land. The Hamlet stands about half a 
mile E. from Willerby. There is a National School, and the Wesleyans 
and Primitive Methodists have each a small chapel here. 

WoLD NEWTON.-The acreage of this parish numbers 1,960, and the 
inhabitants 276. The as!iessed. property amounts to £2,018. ; and the rate­
able value is £1,650. The chief landholders are the executors of the late 
A. Rhodes, Esq., and Lord Downe. Admiral Mitford is Lord of the Manor­
The soil is light and gravelly, and the surface is diversified with bills and 
dales, presenting a great variety of scenery, enlivened by a considerable mere, 
or lake, principally supplied by ono of those copious springs called the 
G1Jp6ey6, or Gipseys.* 

This parish was anciently a cbapelry to Hunmanby, where the inhabitants 
were accustomed to bury their dead till the consecration of their own church­
yard, in 1828. The Livi11g is now a Discharged Vicarage, in the patronage 
of Lord Downe, and incumbency of the Rev. Joseph Skelton. It is rated at 
£6. Ills. 9}d., and returned at £118. per annum. The Church is an ancient 
edifice, consisting of a nave and chancel, with a south porch, and a wooden 
bell turret. There was formerly a north aisle. The chancel was rebuilt in 
1850, by the late patron, the Hon. M. Langley. The inner door of the porch 
is circular-headed, the upper part enclosed with chequer work, and a cross in 
a circle. The interior is neat, with an ancient circular font; and the east 
window is filled with stained glass. The . Vicarage House was erected in 
18311, by tho present Vicar, aided by a donation of £100. from the late patron_ 

The Village is picturesquely seated in a valley, about 8 miles N.E. from 

• The word is not pronounced the same as gip'Y, • fortune teller; the g, in this case, 
being sounded hard, ns in gimbkt. 

The Gypseys arc stre~s of water which burst through the unbroken ground in 
vo.rious parts of the Welds, during the Intter pnrt of winter and the eo.rly }lftrt of spring, 
o.nd at other periods after heo.vy rains, sometimes so copious o.s to till a drain called the 
Gypuy-race, 12 feet wide, o.nd S feet deep. The Gypseys sometimes flow daring two or 
three months o.nd then totally cease, leo.,ing sc.rcely • mark to distinguish the place 
from which the wnter issued. Hone, in his Table Book, tells us that the young people 
of North Durton ho.d a custnm in former times (in .ccordance, probably, with some 
tro.ditionnry custom of the Druids) of "going out to meet the Gypsey,•· on her rise 
from the Welds. 
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Dridlington. There is a small W ealeyan Clut~l. The School was built in 
1882, by the late Abraham Rhodes, Esq., whose executors allo\v £20. per 
ann. towards its support. There is a good Lending Library at the school; 
and a Clothing Club is established in the parish. 

J art gill ~aptntnkt. 
THis is the largest Wapentake in the East-Riding, and comprises more 

than one-third of that great division of Yorkshire. It was enlarged a few 
years ago by the addition of the whole of the small Wapentake of Hullshire, 
and by a few townships taken from Howdenshire and Holderness. Its 
length is about 23 miles, and its breadth is from 17 to 22 miles. It includes 
the greater part of the hilly district called the Welds; and is bounded on the 
south by the ri>er Humber and Howdenshire; on the west by the river 
Derwent; on the north by Buckrose and Dickering Wnpentakes; and on 
the east, partly by the latter, but mostly by Holderness, from which it is 
separated by the river Hull. It was in four, but is now in five divisions, 
each having a Chief Constable, and deriving their names from four prominent 
hills, upon which beacons were placed in the early part of the late wars, for 
-the purpose of alarming the country in case of invasion, or other danger. 
These divisions are called Bainton Beacon, Holme .Beneon, Wilton Beacon, 
and Hun slay Deacon; the latter of which was subdivided, in 1888, into North 
and South HunsleyBeacon Divisions. These five divisions of Harthill, with 
the town of Kingston-upon-Hull at•their south-ea§tern extremity, form the 
Deanery of Harthill and Hull, in the Archdeaconry of the East Riding. 
The area of the Wapentake, according to the Parliamentary return of the 
census of 1851, is 276,265 acres, and the population, 47,429 souls. 

BAINTON BEACON DIVISION.-The area of this, the most northern 
division of the Wapentake, is 55,684 acres, and the population is 11,045 
souls, viz :-5,606 males, and 5,439 females; and it comprises the market 
town of Driffield, and the parishes of Bainton, North Dalton, Holme-on-tbo 
Wolds, Hutton Cranswick, Kilnwick, Kirkburn, Lockington, Lund, Mid­
dleton, Scorborough, Skerne, W arter, IUld W atton. 

BAINTON.-The townships of Bainton and Neswick are comprised in this 
parish ; the former contains 2,320 acres, and 404 inhabitants. The rateable 
value is £3,649.; and the amount of assessed property in 1815, was £3,288. 
The name of this division of Harthill Wapentake is derived from a beacon 
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which stood on an eminence on the south side, and afterwards on the north 
side of the road from Bainton to Driffield. The cause of the removal of the 
beacon, was the growth of a wood, which intercepted the view of the Kilham 
beacon. The knightly family of De Mauley were anciently seated in this 
place, anu held the manor of the Seigniory of Holderness. The principal 
landholders are the Rev. R. C. Wilmot (Lord of the Manor), the Rector in 
right of his church, John Leo, Esq.,- Raikes, Esq., and Mr. John Topham. 

The Lil'iny is a Rectory, valued in the King's Books at £35. Us. 8td., 
and returned at £i57. per annum. It is in the patronage of St. John's 
College, Oxford, and incumbency of tbo Rev. G. T. Clare. At the enclosure 
of the parish in lii4, 602 acres of laud were allotted to the Rector in lieu 
of tithes, and six acres to the parish clerk. 

Tho Church (St. Andrew) is a very handsome Gothic structure, consisting 
of a navo with aisles, a chancel, and a flue west tower, with on elegant 
pierced battlement. A considerable portion of an octagonal spire, which fell 
down about tho middle of the last century, exists, and has a curious appear· 
ance. The whole structure appears to have been erected about the latter 
part of the 13th century. In the west face of the tower is a fine window of 
four lights, and most of the windows of the church o.re large and of three 
lights, with quatrefoils in the arches, the outer moultlings resting on carved 
heads. There is a very neat stone porch on the south side, having a cross 
on ita apex, and the present Rector (by whom the chancel was restored about 
the yeo.r 18.U) removed an unsightly vestry which stood against the north 
side of the chancel, and erected what now appears to be a north porch, but 
which in reality is a vestry. Previous to the erection of this vestry there 
was a handsome doorway on the north side of the church, which is now placed 
in the front of the 'festry, and which gives tho building the appearance of a 
porch, though the doorway is walled up in the interior. This excellent con­
trivance gives a great uniformity to the plan of the church. The buttresses 
of the south aisle, and the east and west angles of the north aisle, ha'fe l&rge 
gargoyles; and the whole is finished with a plain parapet. The nave and 
aisles of the church were re·fitted, newly roofed, and restored, about the year 
18.10, and the whole is now in most excellent preservation. The interior is 
very fine. The nave is divided from the aisles by four pointed arches, resting 
on lofty and elegant octagonal columns. The east window, which has some 
good tmcery in the sweep of the arch, is fillet! with stained glass, by W ailcs, 
inserted in 1844, at the expense of the Rev. E. H. Woodhall, late curate of 
the parish ; tlnd the other windows of the chancel are of ground glass, with 
coloured borders. The communion table is of Cacn stone; the sanctuary is 
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beautifully wainscotted, and tho Decalogue, Creed, &c., are elegantly illumi­
nated on a ground of gold. The sedilia is very neat. The western (\Dd of 
the chancel is fitted up as a choir; the pulpit and rending desk are neat; and 
the lectern is a finely carved eagle, in wood. The seats are aU single, and 
the timber roofs are stained, The organ, which stands beneath the tower, 
was presented by the Rev. E. H. Woodall. On a recessed altar tomb in the 
south aisle, is the full length recumbent effigy, cross-legged, and in chain 
mail armour, of Peter de Mauley, Knt., who died in the reign of Henry m.; 
above the effigy is a pedimental canopy, richly crocketed and finished with a 
finial; and on each side an elegant and lofty buttress, with pinnacles, &c. 
Within tho pediment is a pointed arch, and in the spandrils are representa­
tives of angels, &c. In tho upper part, against the wall, are three shields of 
arms. The whole is in good repair. In the centre of the chancel is the full 
length effigy in brass, of Roger Godeale, Rector of this church, but the date 
is destroyed. The font is circular, and is entirely covered with net or 
diamond work. At the east end of the north aisle is a neat tablet, surmounted 
with some elegant Gothic tabernacle work, to the memory of the late John 
Grimston, Esq., of Neswick, who died in 1846, aged 70; there are other 
monuments in the church to the Grimston family. The churchyard is ex­
ceedingly neat; and the Rectory House, which adjoins it on the south, is a 
commodious white brick building, in front of which are some tastily laid out 
pleasure grounds, which were formed at the expense of the present Rector, 
who has likewise improved the house, outbuildings, &c. 

The Village is very neat, and pleasantly situated on the eastern side of the 
Wolds, about 6 miles S.W. of Driffield, and 10 N.W. from Beverley; and 
contains the remains of an ancient Market Cross. There is here the site of 
a moated building, a plan of which is drawn upon an old plan of the parish. 

The Primitive Methodist Chapel was built in 1837, and the Metllodist 
Chapel iu 1838. There arc schools for boys and infants, supported by sub­
scription. The Petty Sess«ms for the division of Dainton Deacon are held 
about once a month, at the New Inn, a large ancient brick building, north of 
the village, at which the manor courts were formerly held. 

The principal farms and farm houses are the Beacon Farm, in the occu­
pation of Mr. William Angas, \Vhich takes its name from the hill upon which 
formerly stood the above-mentioned beacon; Field l!ottse, the residence of 
Mr. Haldenby Sharp; the Glebe Farm, now held by Mr. Thomas Hotham; 
Dickendale House, occupied by Mr. Dielby Topham ; Bainton Burrou:1 Farm, 
held by Mr. Wm. Parks; and Bainton Heights Home, the residence of Mr. 
John Topham. From the latter are '\"ery extensive views of Holderness, &c. 
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Neswick Tozcmhip.-Area, 060 acres; population, 65 souls; rateable value, 
.£1,426. The place is situo.ted about 1 mile N.E. of Bainton, and is the sole 
property of the Rev. Richard Coke Wilmot, of Nesu:ick Hall, a good mansion, 
standing in a well wooded park, on the north side of a picturesque volley. 
A girls' school in the park is supported by Mrs. Wilmot, and the children's 
pence. Neszcick Farm is now in the occupation of Mr. John Wbeatley. 

NoRTH DALTON.-This parish, of which the name signifies North Dale 
town, comprises 8,800 acres; population, 400 souls; rateable value, £8,412.; 
ass.essed property, £5,178.; chief landholders, Lord Londesborough (Lord of 
the Manor), James Walker, Esq., Henry Woodall, Esq., and Messrs. Wm. 
Binnington, jun., John Hudson, Wm. Leak, and Wm. Duggleby. 

The Living is a Perpetual Curacy, rated at £0. 6s. 8d.; augmented from 
1715 to 1810, with £1,400., in parliamentary grants, and'witb £807. 12s., 
subscribed by the patron and the landowners in the latter year, and now re­
turned at £75. per annum nett. Patron and impropriator, James Walker, 
Esq. ; Incumbent, Rev. Thomas Rankin. 

The Church (All Saints) stands on a large conical mound of earth in the 
village, and is an ancient edifice, with a nave, chancel, and low embattled 
tower. The latter is of a more recent date than the church, and the chancel 
is the most ancient part of the edifice. The south door is Norman, with 
clustered cylindrical jambs, and the north door of the chancel, though plainer, 
is of the same style. The arch between the nave and chancel is also Nor­
man, with zigzag ornaments. At the west end is a beautiful pointed window, 
and at the east end are three lancet windows. The interior was repewed in 
1840, at a cost of £86. 10s., raised by subscription. The font is circular. 
In the chancel is a neatly carved Caen stone mural monument, to the memory 
of Mr. Thomas Binnington, who died Sept. 28.rd, 1850, aged 64 years; and 
there arc three neat monuments in the nave to the Dowker, Fawsett, and 
Buttle families. 

The Village, which is highly romantic and picturesque in appearance, is 
situated in a deep volley in the Wolds, about 7t miles S.W. of Driffield. 

There is a deep pool of water opposite the church, which was never known 
to have been dry, except in the summer of 1826. 

The W esleyan Chapel was built in 1889 ; and the Primitive Methodilt 
Chapel in 1836. The School is supported by subscription. 

The Manor Ho~Ue, in the occupation of Henry Woodall, Esq., stands a 
little south of the church, and is surrounded with some fine elms; and at 
the west end of the church is an ancient farm house, said to have formerly 
been the Parsonage House, and now in the occupation of Mr. John Boast. 
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The other good residences in the village are occupied by Mrs. Binnington, 
Mr. Wm. Binnington, jun., and Mr. John Hudson. There are two Grange1 
in this parish; one of which is the residence of Mr. James Grubb, and the 
other is in the occupation of Mr. John Staveley. Wold H01l.Se is occupied 
by Mr. William Binnington, and Shiptondau HotJU is the property and 
residence of Mr. William Leak. 

GREAT DRIFFIELD. 

This parish contains the township of Emswell with Kelleythorpe, and the 
chapelry of Little Driffield, besides the town of Great Driffield. The area 
of Great and Little Driffield is 6,058 acres, and the chief proprietors of the 
soil are Lord Londesborough, Viscount Downe (Lord of the Manor), E. D. 
Conyers, Esq., and Mr. Robert Hornby. The parish is situated in the 
heart of a fertile district, the soil is well adapted to the growth of corn, the 
pastures are luxuriant, and the cattle bred here are of very superior quality. 
The famous short horned bull Patriot, bred by the late Mr. George Coates, 
was fed here about 86 years ago, and was sold for 600 guineas; and Mr. 
Coates afterwards bred a cow from the same stock, for which he is said to 
have refused the offer of 1,000 guineas. This neighbourhood is remarkable 
for the breeding of Leicester sheep, and there is, perhaps, no part of the 
world in which they arrive at greater perfection, or where the breeding of 
them is better understood. There is also here an excellent breed of carriage 
horses, and good waggon horses. 

Several thousand acres of land in this district were formerly occupied as 
rabbit warrens. The air is pure and salubrious, and the locality is remarkably 
pleasant, and abounds with varied scenery. 

The Mar/ut Town of Great Drifold is situated at the foot of the Wolds, 
and near the confluence of several fine trout streams, which, uniting their 
waters, flow south-eastward to Frodingham, where, receiving numerous tri­
butaries, they form the river Hull. It is" distant from Hull22 miles N. by 
E., 18 N. of Beverley, 12 S.W. of Bridlington, and 106 miles N. from Lon­
don. Tbe assessed property in the parish, in 1811S, amounted to £15,271. 
The population of Great Driffield in 181S1 was 8,068 souls, viz :-1,804 
males, and 2,060 females. The population of the same place in 1801 was 
1,820 persons. Rateable value of Great Driffield town and township, £14,286. 
The town eonsista of one spacious street, extending nearly north and south, 
in a direction parallel with the principal stream, and of two or three small 
streets of inferior houses. The streets are lighted with gas, from works 
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established in 1835, at an expense of £1,800., raised in shares of £10. each. 
These works were erected by Mr. John Malam, and have since been much 
enlD.rged. The inhabitants have an ample supply of excellent water. The 
Market is held every Thursday, and for corn it is said to be the best market 
in the East Riding. A market for fat cattle is held on every alternate Wed­
ncsday. There are Fair1 for horses, cattle, and sheep, at Little Dri.ffield, on 
Easter Monday, Whit Monday, August 20th, and September 19th. 

There o.ro brooches of tho York Uni<m, the Ecut Riding, and the Bridling· 
ton a11d Drij]ieUJ Bank3; as well as a branch of the Hull Saving1' Bank, 
opened in 1831. Tho amount deposited in the lD.tter during the year 1854 
was £7,.·Hll.; and the amount paid to depositors is £6,514. The total 
amount deposited since the opening of the bank, is £103,412.; and the 
amount paid to depositors, is £78,1588. 

The principal trade is in corn, of which tlte surrounding district affords an 
abundant supply. There are seferal extensive steam and water corn mills 
on the various streams in the town and neighbourhood, viz :-PouruUu-orth 
MiU (in Hutton Cranswick parish) about 1 mile from the town, now occupied 
by Mr. Thomas Dawson; Rivttr Head Com and BoM ]lfiU, the property and 
in the occupation of Messrs. Harrison; King'1 Mill, worked by Mr. William 
Witty; the A.lbion StMm MiU, the property of Mr. Chambers Sproxton; and 
the Bell Com and B011s MiU3, situated in Skerno parish, and formerly a flax 
spinning and dressing mill. The corn mill is worked by Mr. W. Wriggles­
worth, and tire bone mill by Mr. Brigham, of Dcvorley. There are likewise 
two wind mills in the town, one of which is worked by steam. 

The Dri.ffisld Canal was constructed under an act of the 7th of Geo. ID. 
(1767), and extends along tbo side of the principal stream to the river Hull, 
o. little below the bridge at Frodingham. At the head of the canal are 
commodious wharfs and warehouses, as well as two mills for crushing bones. 

There are several good BreJCeria. Giblon'1 Foundry was established in 
1820; Jolmson's Foundry, in 1848; and Pickering's Foundry, in 1854. 
These three are likewise agricultural implement manufactories. Harlur'• 
Fqundry is also a millwright establishment, and it was at it that the fine 
powerful water \\'heel of tho W ansford Mill was cast. The manufacture of 
Artificial Manure is carried on here to a consideroble extent, by Messrs. F. 
C. Matthows and Co., manufacturing agricultural chemists. This excellent 
manure has, in the course of seven years, attained so great a notoriety for its 
good qualities, that not less than from £5,000. to £6,000. worth of it is 
annually manufactured and sold here, and during the past season an area of 
not less than 115,000 acres of crops in this locality were placed under its 
fertilizing influence. 
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The Church (All Saints) is a Perpetual Curacy,* with that of Little Drif· 
field annexed, valued in the Liber Regis at £7. 10s. 2id., and now returned 
at £154. nett per annum. It was augmented with £200. of Queen Anne's 
Bounty, in 17i2, and £400. in 1821. The present patron and impropriator 
is the Precentor in the Cathedral of York, as Prebendary of Driffield, but 
under the Cathedral Act the Archbishop of York will be the patron, after the 
termination of the existing interest of the Rev. Dr. Rice, the present Pre­
centor. The Rev. George Alien is the incumbent. There is no Parsonage 
House, but there is a site for one on the south side of the churchyard, to the 
rear of the yard of the Red Lion Inn. 

The Fabric of the church is a stately and venerable pile of Norman and 
Early English architecture. Its plan embraces a naTe with aisles, a chancel, 
and a lofty square embattled tower, of the Decorated English style, strength­
ened by double buttresses at the angles, panelled and enriched with canopied 
niches, and crowned with an elegant panelled battlement, and eight richly 
crocketed pinnacles. Tradition states that this elegant tower, which forms 
a truly magnificent feature in the landscape, was built by one of the Hotham 
family, in commutation of a vow made during a dangerous illness, to under­
take a pilgrimage to the Holy Land. A south porch was erected in 1829. 
Some of the windows of the church are square-headed, and others pointed. 
In the wall over the window in the east end of the south aisle is the statuette 
of a Bishop, mitred and croziered. The chancel has two tall square-beaded 
windows on each side, and a similar window of five lights in the east end of 
it. There is a circular doorway, resting on attached columns, on the south 
side of the chancel, and a similar doorway on the north side leads to a 
modern vestry. The interior is very neat; the aisles are separated from the 
nave by an arcade of four circular arches, on similar formed columns ; and 
the chancel and tower arches are pointed. The organ is placed within the 
arch of the tower. There is a piscina in the chancel, and another at the 
east end of the north aisle. There are several monuments in the church. 
The present font is moderu, the ancient one being placed in the belfry. The 
ceilings are fiat and plastered. The tower contains a clock and three bells. 

The Baptin Chapel was built in 1788. The Intkpendent Chapel, erected 
in 1802, is a neat brick building in Exchange Street, containing a good 
organ, put up in 1847, by Mr. Wm. Sbepherdson, of Driffield. At the rear 
of the chapel is a Sunday School, erected in 184G. The Wealeyan Clwpel is 

• Bacon styles Great DrUBeld a Discharged Vicaraee, and Little Driffield a Perpetual 
Co.racy. 
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a large brick bnilding erected in 1828; and the Primitive !tfethodilt Olt.apel 
was built in 1821. 

There are two good Boarding and Day Scltoou here for young gentlemen ; 
one at BroomlfJf'Ovt Hovu, conducted by Mr. Edwin Shaw, and the other in 
Middle Street, conducted by Mr. Forge. 

The National School was established in 1818. The old school has recently 
been taken down, and near its site a new and beautiful school for boys and 
girls, with master's residence, play ground, &c., has just been erected, on 
ground given by Lord Downe. The buildings, which are an ornament to 
the part of the town where they stand, are in the Pointed style, fa.ced with 
stock bricks, stone quoins, and mullions, and surmounted with a bell turret 
and vane, from designs by Mr. C. Broderick, architect, Hull. The cost of 
the erection was defrayed by voluntary subscription, and a grant from the 
Committee of Council on Education . 

. An Infant School, built in 1889, is supported by subscription. 
The Mechanica' Imtitut•, founded in 1887, is held in a commodious building 

in Westgate, which was formerly a Methodist Chapel. It numbers about 
250 members; and there are about 600 volumes in the library. The presi­
dent for the present year is the Rev. Henry Birch, Independent minister; 
and the secretaries are Messrs. John Browne and C. B. Forest. On the walls 
of the lecture ball are large paintings, in gilt frames, of the late Mr. J. Har­
rison and Mr. D. Anderson, friends of the institute; and a lithographed 
portrait of the Earl of Carlisle, the patron of the institute. 

The Farmers' Club was instituted in 1851, for the advancement of practical 
agriculture in this neighbourhood, and the discussion of political subjects 
affecting the agricultural interests. The proceedings consisted of lectures and 
discussions on practical points in husbandry, agricultural chemistry, with 
experiments, and politics, by amateur and professional lecturers. The club 
has sent delegates to political meetings, and subscribed to movements for pro­
tection to native industry ; and it has been the the means of bringing several 
of the reaping machines and improved agricultural implements into operation 
in the district, and testing their practical utility. In the harvest of 1852 
an important and interesting trial of reaping machines, under the auspices of 
the club, took place on the farm of the president, Mr. Hopper, of Kelley­
thorpe. The club originated the Drijfield and East Riding Agricultural 
Socuty, with which it was amalgamated in the beginning of the present year. 
This society dates from the 1st of January, 1854, and an annual subscription 
of 10s. or upwards, constitutes a member. According to its rules an annual 
show of all sorts of short homed cattle, horses, sheep, pigs, poultry, and 
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implements, is to be held in the month of July, and to be open for competition 
to the East Riding of Yorkshire. The first annual show of the Society took 
place at Driffield, on the 12th of July, 1854, on which occasion the prizes 
awarded amounted to £282. 17s. 6d.; and the second was at the same place 
on the 25th of July in the present year, when the sum of £829. 7s. 6d. was 
given as premiums. The president for the present year is Lord Hotham; 
secretary, ·Mr. Robert Kirby. 

The Floral, Horticultural, and Poultry Soci«y was formed in 18152, and 
held its first show in the autumn of that year. In consequence of the spirit 
and liberality with which the exhibitions have been conducted, they have 
proved the most successful and brilliant of anything of the kind in this part 
of the country; each succesaive exhibition excelling the previOus one in 
interest, extent, and financial matters. The great number of every variety of 
beautiful poultry, the extent and excellence of the floral and horticultural 
produce, have attracted the largest, the gayest, and most fashionable company 
ever witnessed in Driffiel.d. The society is upheld by voluntary contributions 
and donations, and is patronized by Lord Hotham, the Hon. Capt. Dun-. 
combe, and many of the gentry of the district. President, E. H. Reynard, 
Esq.; Secretary, Mr. John Brownc. 

The trout streams afford excellent sport to the angler, and for the pro­
tection of the fisheries, an Angler•' Club was established in 18SS. This club 
numbers amongst its members the Duke of Leeds, Viscount Downt.', Lord 
Wenlock, and Sir Tattoo Sykes. The subscription of each member is £5. 
per annum. President, Lord Londesborough; Treasurer and Hon. Sec., E. 
H. Reynard, Esq. The proprietors of the trout stream are Lord Londes­
borough, Viscount Downe, and Sir T. Sykes. About 2 miles from Driffield 
an extraordinary trout was caught in the stream, by J. Dunn, a waterman, 
on the 24th of Sept., 1882. It measured 32 inches in length, 21 inches in 
circumference, and weighed 17 pounds. It is now preserved, and in the 
possession of Mr. Dobson, fishing tackle manufacturer, Driffield. There was 
another trout, taken in the stream a few years since, weighing 12 pounds, 
which is now in the Scarborough Museum; and several have been taken of 
about five and six pounds weight. About twenty miles of water are pre­
served by this club. 

A D<'at building, containing the Corn ExcMng~ ana Public Room•, was 
erected in 1841, at an expense of about £2,600., raised in shares of £10. 
each. It contains two large rooms, each being Ol'er 50 feet long and SO 
wide, and communicating with each other by sliding partitions; a room in 
which the magistrates hold P~tty S~m, for the division of Bainton Beacon, 
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on the first Thursday in every month ; and in which the County Court is 
held once a month, before William Raines, Esq. ; and other offices. The 
inner room is lighted from the ceiling, which is very fine, and has an orches­
tra over the entrance, and the whole is lighted with gas. The building is of 
brick, with a front of cut stone. The entrance is be~eath a handsome pedi­
ment, supported by two fluted columns and two pilasters with Corinthian 
capitals; and to shew the difficulty there is in removing old prejudices, or 
in altering old customs, we may observe, that in preference to the accommo­
dation afforded by this beautiful structure, the farmers, even in wet weather, 
continue to boy and sell their corn in the street, opposite the Blue Bell Inn. 

A Gool, or Lock-up, was erected in the town in 1843. It contains three 
cells and a house for the Superintendent. The Railway Station, on the 
Hull, Bridlington, and Scarborough Railway, is at the south end of the town. 

The Driifield Poor Law Unicn comprehends 43 townships, embracing an 
area of 165 square miles, with a population, in 1851, of 18,265 persons. The 
Union Worklwuu will accommodate about 200 inmates. The appointments 
and arrangements in this institution are admirable. Chairman of the Board 
of Guardians, Rev. R. C. Wilmot; Clerk, Edmund Dade Conyers, Esq. (the 
Coroner); Chaplain, Rev. G. Allen; Master, Mr. J. S. Wilson. There are 
eight medical officers for the Union. 

A11tiquities.-There are numerous barrows in this neighbourhood; the 
most romarkable of which are those near the edge of the Wolds, about 3 miles 
N .E. of Driffield. There, is a secluded spot of wooded ground, measuring 
four acres, covered with nearly 200 tumuli of slight elevation, so closely 
arranged as not to leave more than Si feet between any two of them. They 
are called Danu' Grava, and the valley near to this ancient cemetery is 
called Danu' Dak. They are supposed to be the graves of Danish invaders 
who fell in battle here, perhaps in combat with the troops of Harold; or the 
spot may have been the place of sepulture of a colony of Danes, residing at 
Danes' Dale. They are not recorded in history, and all that is known of 
them is their traditionary name. They have frequently been opened, and 
each mound is generally found to contain a skeleton, but weapons, ornaments, 
or other articles usually found in barrows, have been rarely met with. 

On the south of the town of Drifficld two or three large barrows have been 
opened within the last few years, especially in 1849, by tho Yorkshire Anti­
quarian Club, and a number of skeletons and Anglo-Saxou remains were 
discovered, consisting of weapons, beads of amber, brooches, pins, and articles 
of domestic use, mostly all of which, except the skeletons, have been depoeited 
in the Museum of the Philosophical Society at York, and have been des-
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cribed by the Rev. C. Wellbeloved, in the Journal of the British Archmolo­
gical Association, volume vii., for 1846. One of these barrows, examined 
three or four years ago, contained a stone chamber, or chest, in which was 
deposited a large skeleton, with a beautiful urn, some beads, and other re­
mains of a bygone age. These remains are referable to the ancient British 
period, and are in the possession of Lord Londesborough, upon whose estate 
(at Kelleythorpe) they were found. 

Moot Hill is said to be the site of an ancient castle. 
There are several good houses in and near Driffield, and among which we 

may mention Garton Cottage, the residence of Thos. Atkinson, Esq. ; WhiU 
Hall Villa, tho residence of the Rev. J. Matthews; and Southt~ Lodge, 
in the occupation of Mr. R. D. Dawson. There are some good farm houses 
scattered through the parish. The Manor Houu, the residence of Mr. Jas. 
Allanson, is an ancient brick building. A few yeara ago, whilst cutting a 
dmi.n close to the house, Mr. Allanson discovered a human skeleton. Near 
the house is an ancient spring called Kmdal WeU, against which was formerly 
a post, to which an iron dish was chained, that travellers might help them· 
selves to the water. The people of Beswick pay 24s. 6d. per annum to the 
Kendal Well estate, for which sum they are toll free at the Little Driffield 
fairs. Near the well, which is now a sheet of water, at which cattle drink, is 
one of the handsomest and largest white thorn trees in the kingdom. Littu 
Kendal Houu is in the occupation of Mr. William Allanson. Fiikl Houu, 
the residence of Mr. George Dunning, was formerly occupied by Mr. Coates, 
the breeder of the bull and cow already mentioned. WoW Houu is the 
residence of Mr. Robert Hornby; and Dane1' Dak Farm is held by Mr. M. 
Turner. In a plantation a little to the north of the house, are the graves 
already alluded to. 

Littk Dri.ffiekl Cha~ry.-The population of this township numbers 186 
persons. The village is situated about 1 mile W. of Great Driffield, and in 
the centre of it is a large green, in which is a copious spring of water. The 
fairs above-mentioned are held upon thui green, and on the fair days the 
villagers may exercise the right of selling ale, by ancient custom, without a 
license, though there are two public houses in the village. 

The Living is a Perpetual Curacy, annexed to that of Great Dri.flield, and 
valued in the King's Books at £5. Ss. 4d. The Clturch (St. Peter) is a plain 
edifice, consisting of a nave and chaooel, which were rebuilt in 1807, and a 
west tower, apparently erected in the 14th century. The interior is plain. 
On the north wall of the chancel is a tablet, upon which is inscribed, "Her~ 
lie• tM body of Alfred, King of Northumberland, who tU]>arud thil lif~ Jan-
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vary 19th, .A.D. 705, in the nth yMr of hu reign." It is asserted that this 
monarch had a royal residence here, and died in it after a long illness; but 
it is also said that be died of wounds received in battle at Ebberston, near 
Scarborough. " That this neighbourhood has at one time been the theatre 
of extensive military operations, is manifest from the numerous tumuli in the 
neighbourhood," writes Alien, "but we search in vain for any well-authenti· 
cated historical proof that the Saxon monarch fell in battle, either here or 
elsewhere; and William of M alms bury states distinctly that he died of a 
painful disease, which was regarded as a visitation of Providence towards the 
King, for expelling St. Wilfrid from his dignity and possessions." In 1784, 
and again in 1807, when the church was rebuilt, search was made for the 
coffin and remains of Alfred, bot in 'fain; but when the foundations were 
bared, it was found that the church had been contracted in size, from which 
we may infer that if the royal Saxon had really been interred near the north 
wall, his remains must be then in the churchyard. Of the inscription on 
the tablet the origin is not known; but it is known that it has been twice 
renewed within the memory of man, and that it has undergone various 
modifications. (See vol. i., p. 92.) 

There is a small school in the village, erected in 1845; and a tannery; 
&c., establishment, carried on by Mr. William Foster. 

E1M11¥U u:itk KeUeytlwrpB T011m1hip.-Area, 2,876 acres; population, 110 
souls ; rateable .alue, .£2,428. ; and it is mostly the property of Lord Londes­
borough. E1M11¥U Hamkt consists of four farms and a few cottages, situated 
nearly 2 miles S.W. of Great Driffield. There are several fine springs, 
shaded by lofty elms, and hence the place derives its name. This place is 
noted for the growth of very fine water cresses. The Manor Houu, now in 
the occupation of Mr. Richard Holtby, is an ancient brick edifice, bearing 
the date of 1656; and near it stands a large, ancient, curious tithe barn. 

The Hotham family are said to have formerly had a mansion in this place. 
In the corner of a field, about 1 mile N. of Emswell, lies buried in a vault, 
the remains of Mr. Best, a former owner of this estate, who died in 1779; 
and those of his wife, who died in 1787. 

KeUeythorpe Haml4t consists of one large farm in the possession of Mr. 
Thomas Hopper, and four cottages, situated about lt mile S.W. of Great 
Driffield. Only a few years ago this place was remarkable for its immense 
rabbit warrens, now the land is in an excellent state of cultivation. Numer· 
ous springs of the finest water issue from the white chalk, or limestone, 
through a sort of peat or morass in this locality. Here, as has already been 
obse"ed, was discovered a few years ago, a sarcophagus, containing a skeleton 
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and an um, which were sent to the seat of Lord Londesborough. The resi­
dence of Mr. Hopper is a neat brick building, rebuilt in 1848; near it are 
some fine old sycamore and lime trees. 

HoLME·ON·THE-WoLDs.-Tbis parish comprises 1,860 acres, and 153 in· 
habitants; its rateable value is £1,520. The chief landholders are Lord 
Hotham, Lord Londesborough, Mrs. Dixon, and Mr. Robert Leake Wilson. 
The Bishop of Ripon is Lord of the Manor. 

The Living is a Perpetual Curacy, rated at £8. 1 Os. 7 d. ; augmented with 
£1,000. of Queen Anne's Bounty, from 1717 to 1824; and now returned at 
£58. per annum nett. Patron and impropriator, Lord Londesborough; In­
cumbent, Rev. Thomas Mitchell, of Market Weighton. At the enclosure in 
1i06, the tithes were commuted for an allotment of 102A. 22P. 

The Church (St. Peter) is a small, plain, ancient edifice, consisting of a 
nave, chancel, porch, and low tower, containing two bells. In the front of 
the tower is some Norman sculpture, representing Saints Peter and Paul. 
The font is ancient. In the Boor of the chancel are four gravestones to th~ 
Harland family. 

The Village is small, and stands about 6i miles N.W. from Beverley. 
Here resides Mr. Jas. Teal, a most ingenious blacksmith, who has obtained 
prizes at the agricultural shows for ploughs, drags, and " scruffiers," made by 
himself. The Manor Howe stands near the church, and is occupied hy a 
cottager. Holme Wold Houu is the residence of :Mr. Thomas Harland; tho 
farm has been in the possession of the Harland family for upwards of 130 
years. !Air Grange is in the occupation of Mr. Leonard Suddaby; ancl 
Holm4 Dale Houu in that of Mr. Robert Jackeon. 

HonoN CRANSWicx.-The township which gives name to the parish, 
together with those of Rotsea and Sunderlandwick, are comprised in this 
parish ; and the whole contains 6,303 acres, and 1,276 inhabitants. The 
assessed property amounts to £7,449. Hutton CraniWick TbtDmhip con· 
tains 4,710 acres, and 1,189 inhabitants; rateable nlue, £5,014. The prin­
cipal lando,vners are Lords Hotbam and Londesborough (the Lords of the 
Manors), E. 11. Rcynard, Esq., Rev. J. Rigby, and Messrs. R. Botterill, R. 
Boyle, Wm. Deuton, Robt. Stockdale, and William Parker. The place is 
thought to have been more considerable than it is at present, and the moats 
of four or five mansions still remain. The neighbourhood was the arena of 
many fierce engagements between the Saxons and Danes, and there are traces 
of a fortified camp at Ilutton. There are numerous barrows in the district, 
one of which, situated in a field adjoining the high road to Skeme, was partly 
excavated in 1840, by the Yorkshire Antiquarian Club. This tumulus covers 
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about half an acre of ground, but its height has been considerably diminished 
by tillage. Tbe excavation 'vas commenced at the top, in the centre of 
the barrow, and from two to four feet from the surface, sepulchral urns, icine­
rated human bones, and other funeral relics, were discovered, which left 
little doubt that this place of interment is of early British construction. 
The soil of the parish is fertile, the surface is boldly undulated, and the higher 
grounds commatu.l good views over the Wolds, and of the Holdemess district. 

The Villa!Jea of Hutton and Cranswick are within half a mile of each other, 
both are well built, and each has a separate owner of the manorial rights. 

Ilutton Village is small and ancient, and stands on high ground, about 3 
miles S. of Driffield: and the parish chut'Ch is situated in it. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in the gift of Lord Hotham, and 
incumbency of the Rev. Joseph Rigby. It is rated at £11>. Ss. (l~d., and 
returned at .£130. per annum; being augmented with £800. of Queen An ne 's 
Bounty, in 1820; .£300. by Parliamentary grnnt; .£1 00. from 1\f rs. Pyn­
combo's charity; and .£100. given by the present Vicar. The tithes were 
commuted in 1846. The F.'difice (St. Peter), which consists of the usual 
parts of a parish church, has been much altered and defaced at different 
periods. The to\ver contains three bells. The aisles are separnted from the 
nave by four pointed arches, resting on circnlnr columns. Some little re­
mains of the ancient rood-screen still exist, and the font is a circulnr basin, 
of Norman workmanship, with curious devices of dragons, an archer, &c. 

The Vicarage Ho1tM is a small building, near the church. 
Cranarrick Villagt, at which is a Railway Station, is rather extensh·e, and 

has a large "green" in its centre. There is a brick building, containing 
schools for girls and infnnts, and residences for the t~achers, built by sub­
scription in 1850 and 1854. The Baptists, Wcslcya.ns, and Primitive 
:Methodists. have each a chnpcl here. There are some fine deep draw \Vells 
in the parish, one of which is situated on the green, for the use of the villagers. 

The Manor HOtUe of Hutton, the property of Lord Hotham, and the resi­
dence of :Messrs. F. and W. Jeunison, farmers, is nn ancient brick building 
in the village, near to which is n draw well GO fct>t in depth. 

The Cramtrick Mmwr House, the property of Lord Londesborough, stands 
at the top of Cranswick ,·illnge, and is the residence of Mr. John Moor. 

South Hall, now in the occupation of Mr. John Catton, is a lnrge brick 
building, three stories in height; between it and Cranswick is the moated 
site of one of the ancient balls already alluded to. Corp8 lAnding is the 
name given to a fnrm at the extremity of the parish, which is now held by 
Mr. John Dalby. The Comnwn Farm is in the occupation of Mr. W. Dlytbc. 

The poor have rent charges amounting to £4. 10s. per annum. 
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&tsea Totmship contains i8S acres, three farm houses, two cottages, 
and 85 inhabitants. The Hamlet is situated about 4t miles S.E. by S. of 
Driffield, and the soil mostly belongs to Messrs. T. and R. Holtby. The 
rateable value is £640. The Mano,. Houu is the property of Mr. Thomas 
Holtby, and the residence of hi$ brother, Mr. Robert Holtby. These gentle­
men built a W uleyan Chapel here a few years ago. Whilst labourers were 
digging for gravel on the glebe farm, a short time ago, three ancient British 
urns were found, and are now in the Museum at York. 

Sunderlandu:ick Toumship.-Area, 810 acres; population, 52 souls. The 
place, which is the property and manor of Edward Homer Reynard, Esq., is 
situated about 2 miles S.W. from Driffield, and was anciently a considerable 
village, as it is mentioned in Domesday; but at present it con.sists chiefly of 
the mansion, park, and grounds, of Mr. Reynard, and a farm house and farm 
called Old Sunderlandwick, where doubtless the ancient village stood. The 
hall, which is pleasantly situated, is in the Italian style of architecture, and 
has been much improved by the present proprietor; the gardens and pleasure 
grounds, which ore extensive, are laid out with much taste; and at the 
various avenues are pretty, rustic, Elizabethan cottages. The farm is at 
present in Mr. Reynard's own hands, and from the interest he takes in 
agricultural progress and general improvement, there is little doubt that ere 
long it will become a " model farm." 

KILNWICK.-The area of the parish, which includes the townships of Kiln­
wick, Beswick, Bracken, and part of Lockington, is 4,355 acres; population, 
684 persons. Amount of assessed property, £4,681. The parish is situated 
at the foot of the Wolds, and contains quarries of excellent chalk stone, which, 
when burnt into lime, makes excellent mortar, and when mixed with the 
clayey land, in' a pulverized state, adds greatly to its fertility. 

The To1c1uhip of Killtwick contains 2,100 acres, and 264 inhabitants; its 
rateable value is £2,186.; assessed property, £2,577. Charles Grimston, 
Esq., late Colonel of the East York Militia, is Lord of the Mano.r and owner 
of the whole, except 68 acres of glebe land, for which the vicarial tithes 
were commuted at the enclosure of the parish in 1780. 

The Living, a Perpetual Curacy, not in charge, is in the gift of Colonel 
Grimston (the impropriator), and the present incumbent is the Rev. H. D. 
Blanchard. It is returned at £101., per ann., having been augmented with 
£600. of Queen Anno's Bounty, from lil4 to 1785. 

The Chflrch (All Saints) is a neat edifice, consisting of a uave and north 
aisle, a chancel, and west tower. The latter contains three bells, and was 
rebuilt of brick about the end of the 17th century. On the south side is 
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a Norman doorway. Four pointed arches, supported by circular columns, 
separate the aisle from the nave. In the chancel ore several tablets to the 
Grimston family. 

The Village is small, and situated about 6 miles S.S.E. of Driffi.eld. The 
National Sclwol, for both sexes, was built in 1821, and is partly supported 
by Col. Grimston. Kilwwick Hall, the occasional residence of Col. Grimston, 
is a handsome mansion, with two fronts, pleasantly situated on the banks of 
a stream, near the village. There is a considerable quantity of wood, as 
well as some extensive pleasure grounds around it. 

Buwick Ohapelry is united to Kilnwick parish, though in the North Huns­
ley Beacon Division of the Wapcutake of Harthill. It includes the hamlet 
of Wilfholme. Area of the township, 1,593 acres; population, 224 souls. 
The land is very flat, having been once a marsh. Rateable value, £2,605 ; 
assessed property, £2,104. Lord Hot ham is Lord of the Manor. and ov.-ner 
of the estate, having purchased it in 1838, of the late J . Denison, Esq. 

Tho Livi119 is a Perpetual Curacy, not in charge, annexed to Kilnwick. 
The Chapel is a very plain building, consisting of a thatched nave and tiled 
chancel, with a bell turret in which is one bell; there is no burial ground. 

The Villa~;e is situated on the road from Beverley to Driffi.eld, about 61 
miles from either toW'D, and It mile S.E. from Kilnwick. 

Beswick Hall stands opposite the chapel, and is a large brick edifice in 
three stories. It was formerly the residence of William Draper, Esq., a noted 
foxbunter, and is now divided into two farm houses, occupied respectively by 
:Messrs. John Paul Duggleby and William Duggleby. The sum of 24s. 6d. 
per ann. is paid out of this estate to the Kendal Well estate. (See page 503). 
The copious springs of Dcswick gh·e motion to a water mill near the village. 

Wiiflwlme is a hamlet and ferry on the north-west side of the river Hull, 
2t miles E . of Beswick. 

Bracken Towmhip contains 662 acres, six houses, and 32 persons, situated 
about l:l mile W. of Kiln wick. Five of the houses are occupied by cottagers, 
and the sixth is an ancient farm house in the occupation of Mr. John Taylor 
Dickenson. Bracken is said to have formerly had a large village, a chapel, 
and a burial ground. Rateable value of the township, £800. 

Kmxnun.'>.-Besides Kirkbum, this parish comprises the townships of 
Eastbum, Southbum, and Tibtborpe, containing together 6,002 acres, and 
550 inhabitants. The amount of assessed property is £5,7()4. The soil in 
those parts at the foot of the Wolds is well adapted for wheat, and that of 
the township of Tibthorpe, which is of greater elevation, rising into the 
Wolds, is of lighter qunlit.y. The Toumship nf Kirkburn cont.ainsl,369 acres, 
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of the rateable value of £1,200; and a population of 166 souls, 26 of whom 
belong to the hamlet of Battleburn. Assessed property, £1,270. Sir T. 
Sykes is the Lord of the Manor and principal landowner. 

The Benefice is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at £4. 10s. 2!d. ; augmented 
with £400. of Queen Anne's Bounty in 1715 and 1753, and with a parlia­
mentary grant of £400. in 1826. It is now returned at £82. nett. Patron, 
the Crown; Vicar, Rev. G. Alien. The Church (St. Mary) is an interesting 
and curious structure, consisting of a nave and chancel, with a west tower 
containing three very fine bells. The north side of the ehurch exhibits one 
of the most perfect specimens of Anglo-Norman architecture in the kingdom. 
The windows of the tower are small, and circular-beaded. The wnlls of the 
church arc of immense thickness. The inner door of the porch, on the south 
side, is circular-headed, of four series of mouldings, principally chevron, and 
birds' beads. The windows are circular-headed, with small attached columns; 

·one on the south side of the body of the church, having a beautiful chevron 
arch of several mouldings. The roof is supported by a singular block cornice 
in fine preservation. Part of the chancel was rebuilt in 1819, and the tower 
wns repaired in 1820. The cnst window is pointed and of three lights. The 
chancel arch is of considerable span, and is one of the richest specimens of 
early Norman, if not Saxon workmanship, in England. It consists of four 
large mouldings, the outermost being billet-headed, and the others chevron, 
supported by attached columns with leaved capitals. Until lately there was 
beneath the arch, a mutilated screen of delicately carved work. The tower 
arch is blocked up. The antique font, which is a large circular basin, dis- . 
plays curious sculptured figures, representing the Sacrament of Baptism, the 
Resurrection, a man leading a wolf, aud other work. 

The Village is very picturesquely seated, about 4 miles S.W. from Drif­
ficld. It derives its name from the situation of the church, on a hill near a 
bourn, brook, or rivulet. In the centre of the village is a noble elm, 27 feet 
in circumference near the ground. The root is completely bare, and forms a 
tier of seats for the villagers. A small chapel was built here by the Primitive 
.Methodists, in 1839. A well-conducted School is supported by subscription. 

Kirkbum Gran9e is in the occupation of Mr. John Horsley, farmer. 
Craiko Hill, on this farm, is a large mound of sand and gravel, formerly 
a rabbit warren. 

Battlebum Hamlet, in this township, consists of ono good farm and a few 
cottages. There are indications of a former village, and tradition points out 
the place as the site of a battle. 

Ea1tbttm To1mahi.p contains 832 acres, which, with the hamlet of Battle-
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bum, belongs t() Lord Hotham and Alexander Bosville, Esq.; and the whole 
is farmed by Mr. Francis Jordan, whose residence is Ecutbum Howe, a fine 
commodious residence, erected in 1851. The house has two fronts, and is 
pleasantly situated, about half a mile from Kirkbum church. Eastburn 
Warr~tl, formerly a rabbit warren, was enclosed in 1849. In the carr land 
on Mr. Jordan's farm is an old decoy. Rateable value of Eastbum, .£800.; 
population, 15 S()uls. 

Southbum Toum&hip.-Area, 1,021 acres; population, Q8 S()WS; rateable 
value, .£1,381. Principal landowners, Mr. John Foster, Mr. C. W. Clubley, 
and Mr. Richard Foster. 

The Yillage, which is small, is situated on the S()Uth side of the Kirk bum 
rivulet, aoout 4 miles S.W. by W. of Drifficld. A small but neat Methodut 
Chapel was erected here in Hi-!8, the site having been given by Mr. Rd. Foster. 

Tibthorpe 1'otonship is situated on the eastern decli\'ity of the Wolds, and 
contains 2, 780 acres, and 271 inhabitants. Rateable value, .£2,021.; assessed. 
property, .£2,112. The chief owners of the soil are Lord Londesborough 
(Lord of tho Manor), J. W. Driukrow, Esq., Mr. F. Maltby, Sir T. Sykes, 
Mr. J. HarriS()n, J. Dent, Esq., and Messrs. J. Boys, J. and A. Staveley, 
and J. and T. Harrison. At the enclosure, in 1794, about 000 acrea 'verc 
allotted ro the impropriator in lieu of tithes. 

The Vilh:zge is pleasant, and has in its centre a large pond, at which cattle 
drink. There is a very deep draw well. It stands about 6 miles W .S.W. 
of Driffield. A church or chapel formerly stood in a close at the back of 
the village. A neat Wesleyan Chapel was erected here in 1823, and enlarged 
in 1850. Tibthorpe IIowe, the property and residence of John Wm. Drink­
row, Esq., is a neat brick edifice, erected in 1795. Tibthorpe Grange is in 
the occupation of Mr. Rt. Greensbaw; WoW Iiouu in that of Mr. William 
Piercy; and Field Iiouu is held by Mr. G. W. Clark. The Manor Ilouu, 
the residence of Mr. SimpS()n Staveley, was built in 17Q5, and stands on high 
ground commanding extensive views. 

LocKil\OTON.-Tbis parish, which is confusedly intermixed with the parish 
of Kilnwick, and comprises a portion of the township of Aike, contains alto­
gether 3,200 acres. Tho area of Locki71{Jlo1L 1'oumhip is Q,780 acres, and 
its population, 523 souls. The assessed property amounts to .£4,465.; and 
the rateable value is .£3,377. The principal landowners arc Lord Hotham 
(Lord of the Manor), Lady Strickland, and the Rccror in right of his church. 

The Lit•itl!J is a Rectory, valued in the King's Books at £20. and returned 
at .£532. nett per ann. Patron, James Walker, Esq.; Hector, Rev. Logan 
Dobinson. The tithes were commuted at the enclosure in 1772, partly for 
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land, and partly .for a yearly modus. The Church (St . .Mary) is an ancient 
structure, consisting of a nave and chancel, a large chapel on tho south side 
of the nave, separated from it by two pointed arches, and a small brick tower 
on the roof at the west end. On the south side of the nave is a Saxon or 
early Nonnan doorway, now built up; and having the venerable arch partly 
destroyed by the insertion of a very plain niche, which rests on the pillars 
that originally supported the arch on the west side. The attached chapel is 
embattled, and in tho centre is a shield of arms, almost obliterated; beneath 
is the date of 1685. Adjoining the chapel is a modern vault for the Con· 
stables of Wassand. The intetior of the church is neat, but the roofs are 
very flat. The present arch between the nave and chancel is of timber, but 
there are remains of the old Norman arch, on both sides. There is a fragment 
of ancient stained glass in the east window (which is square-headed and of 
five lights); the Decalogue, &c., on the wall, are in illuminated letters; and 
the ancient piscina still remains. There is a gallery at the west end. The 
font is an ancient circular basin. The side chapel is entirely wainscotted 
round in small panels, displaying 173 shields of arms, emblazoned; and 
against the centre of the south wall is an altar monument, bearing the full 
length effigy of a lady, having one hand resting upon a scull, and holding a 
book in the other. Above is a pediment with figures representing Truth, 
Charity, and Justice; and on the dado of the tomb are four boys kneeling 
before a table, with open books. The figures of the lady and children are in 
gold and colours. The monument is to the memory of Maria, daughter of 
Dr. Meriton; there is no date upon it, but from the costume of the effigy, 
aud the style of architecture, it is evidently the workmanship of the latter 
part of the 17th century. There are likewise in this chapel, handsome 
tablets to Sir John Constable, who died in 1752; and the Rev. T. Constable, 
Rector of Sigglesthome, and Archdeacon of the East Riding, who died in 
1786. The Rectory HQUU, on the north side of the church yard, is a fine 
mansion, situated in grounds which have recently been much improved. 

The YiUags consists of one long street, with a rivulet running on one side, 
and is situated about 6 miles N.N.W. from Beverley. There is much wood 
in the neighbourhood. There are chapels for the Wesleyans and Primitive 
Methodists, as well as a neat National School, which was erected in 1844. 
About 2 miles E. of the village is a Station on the Hull and Scarbro' Railway. 
About 8 miles E. of the village is a large artificial mound called Barje, or 
Ban-0111 Hill, formerly surrounded by a moat. Roman antiquities and the 
foundations of buildings have been found on this conical eminence. During 
the Civil War, Cromwell pi.D.nted his cannon on this hill, and from it 
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battered Watton Abbey, then o. military station of the Royalists. It is 
situated on the farm now held by :Mr. Thomas Watson. The Manor Houu, 
now a farm house, is an ancient brick building, a short distance from the 
church. Hall Garth, the residence of Mr. Joshua Rickinson, is an ancient 
building, over the porch of which is a carved coat of arms, and the date 
of 1685. Near to the house is a clump of trees, moated round, which is, 
doubtlcsll the site of a more ancient mansion. Lockingtcm Carr Howe, 
now occupied by Mr. John R. Langdalo, is situated about 2 miles E. of 
the church. From this carr there is a navigable drain to the river Hull, 
a distance of 2 miles, which was formed by the Hotbam family. The 
other principal farm houses are Bygot Ilome, in the occupation of Mr. D. 
Purdon; Moor Field Ilotu8, in that of Mr. "Wm. Heward; Wood Howe, 
the residence of Mr. Wm. Whipp; and Lockington Grange, of Mr. James 
Ellis. Bryml Milll, worked both by wind and water, are in the occupation 
of Mr. Milboum Feo.therston. 

Aike Tou:ruhip is partly in this parish, and partly in that of St. John, 
Beverley, and contains 630 acres, 420 of which lll'O in Lockington. Rateable 
value, £546.; population, 108 persons. Lord Hotham is the principo.lland­
owner. The place is in three farms, and is situated on the Beverley and 
Barmston drain, about 6i miles N. by E. of Beverley. Aike was formerly 
an island, but by draining it has been connected with the surrounding country. 
The School is supported by subscription, and licensed for the celebration of 
divine service. Aike Grange is in the occupation of Mr. Wm. Young, farmer. 

LuND.-The area of this parish is 2,Q50 acres; population, 503 persons: 
rateable value, £3,772.; assessed property, £3,742. The surface is rather 
fiat and open, and the scenery embraoos some agreeable prospects. There 
are quarries of chalk stone, which is burnt into limt>, and used for building 
and agricultural purposes. The manor was formerly held by tho Jarratts 
and Droadleys. The chief landholdcrs at present are Lord Londesborougb, 
G. Legard, Esq., G. Wood, Esq., Mrs. Dixon (Lady of the Manor), the 
Vicar, in right of his church, Mrs. Mosey, Mr. William Dinnington, Mr. 
John Hutchinson, and Mr. John Dallin. 

In the 21st Ed,vard I. (12Q3), Marmaduke Tweng obtained a charter of 
free warren in all his demesne in the lordship of Lund, or Lttnte, as also 
a grant for a weekly market there upon Thursday, and a fair upon the eve, 
day, and morrow of All Saints. There is a feast or pleasure fair now held 
here on the fourth Thursday in Lent. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, raW at £6. 6s. Ojd., and returned 
at £188. per annum, having been augmented with £200. of Queen Anne·s 
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Bounty, in 1793. Patron, Col. Grimston; Vicar, Rev. John Blanchard. 
At the enclosure, in 1705, the great tithes were commuted for 185A. 2R.; 
and the vicarial tithes for 146 acres. The Church (All Saints), is a very 
neat structure, r.onsisting of a nave, north aisle, chancel, south porch, and 
west tower. The chancel was rebuilt in 1845-6. In 1853 the nave, north 
aisle, porch, and upper part of the tower, were rebuilt; the pinnacles and 
the carved heads on · the labels of the windows restored ; a new vestry added ; 
the whole of the seats ml\de uniform; and the soil of the churchyard was 
lowered considerably, so as to improve the view of the edifice. The cost of 
these works, £1,095., was raised by subscription; aided by £100., the pro­
ceeds of a bazaar, and £50. granted by the Church Building Society.* In 
the west front of the tower is a good window of three lights, with perpen­
dicular tracery, and above it is a piece of ancient sculpture. The interior is 
neat; five pointed arches, resting on circular columns, separate the aisle 
from the nave. The chancel is neatly fitted up, and the chancel arch, and 
several other parts of the church, are decorated with scrolls, bearing appro­
priate inscriptions. The Decalogue, Creed, &c., aro in illuminated letters. 
In the wall above the tower arch is inserted an ancient crucifix, which for· 
merly crowned the apex of the roof. The east window is of three lights, and 
filled with stained glass; the other windows of the chancel are of two lights, 
and the windows of the aisle and nave are single lancet windows. At the 
east end of the chancel are two mutilated effigies, which belonged to an 
ancient monument, the arch of which still remains on the north side, and 
forms the entrance to the vestry ; the roofs are open to the timbers. Tho 
font is either of Saxon or early Norman workmanship. There are two bells 
in the tower. The Vicarage HoUMJ was rebuilt in 1813, on seven acres of 
ancient glebe. 

The Village is pleasantly situated, about 7 miles N.W. of Beverley, and is 
capable of being much improved. The removal of an unsightly blacksmith's 
shop and some cottages, which conceal the south view of the church, would 
greatly add to the general appearance of the place. In an open space in the 
centre is the shaft of the ancient market cross, which, according to an in­
scription on it, was repaired in 1755. The Wesleyan Chapel was built in 
1835, and the PrimititJe Methodue Chapel, in 1839. There is a good &hool 
in the village. The Manor Horue, on the east side of the churchyard, now 

• The principal subscribers for the restorations of 1863, wero Colonel Grimeton, who 
gnve £100.; tho Vicnr, £200.; Lord Londesborough, £.l0.; G. Wood, Esq., £30.; Mrs. 
Dixon, £'~0.; Gcorgo Legard, Esq., .£15.; and Messrs. George Barnard and William 
Binnington, .£10. each. 
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in the occupation of Mr. Rt. Clark, fanner, has been built out of the ruins of 
an ancient ball, the seat of the former lords of this place. The entrance to 
the garden from the street is through an ancient stone gateway. Ent~ 
Houu is the residence of Mr. John Wilson, farmer ; and the Lund Warrm 
Farm is held by Mr. J. Wheatley, of Neswick; the Corporation Farm, by 
Mr. John Collier; and the Vicarage Farm, by Mr. Railton Grubb. 

MmDLEToN·ON·THE-WoLDs.-This parish extends over an area of 8,84.0 
acres, and in 1851 it contained 649 inhabitants. Rateable value, £4,744.; 
assessed property, £8,714. The surface, though not marked with any bold 
natural features, is agreeably diversified by swells and plains. There are 
quarries of chalk stone, which is burnt into lime, and used for building and 
agricultural purposes. The principal landowners are the Rector of the parish, 
Lord Londesborough, the Messrs. Hornby, Mr. Jabez Witty, Mr. Rt. Rail­
ton, Mr. E. Dunwell, Mr. E. Lofthouse, &e. A great part of th.e parish 
formerly belonged to the Boyles, Enrls of Burlington. 

The Benefice is a Rectory, in the patronage and incumbency of the Rev. 
John Blanchard. It is valued at £15. Ss. 4d., and returned at £Ql7. per 
annum. The tithes were commuted at the enclosure in 1805, for about 890 
acres of land. The Falnic of the church (St. Andrew) is of great antiquity, 
and comprises a nave, side aisles, and chancel, with a west stone tower, 
which wo.s built in 1880, in lieu of a small octagonal turret with a dwarf 
spire. The chancel is large, and five new windows were inserted in it a few 
years ago. The interior of the church was repewed in 1821. The chancel 
contains the piscina and sedilia. Four pointed arches, resting on alternately 
circular and octagonal columns, separate the aisles from the nave. The font 
is ancient and circular, with eight attached columns, which support an orna· 
ment of Norman workmanship. There are two bells in the tower. 

The &cwry Ho1ue is a large brick mansion, erected about the year 1810, 
by the father of the present Rector. 

The ViUage is situated on the acclivity of a valley, on the eastern side of 
the Wolds, about 8f miles N.W. of Beverley. Those all but obsolete relics 
of bygone times-the stocks-are still standing here, and were used as an 
instrument of punishment so recently as the month of June, 1854, when a 
man was placed in them. The We~leyans and Primitiw M~thocluts have 
each a chapel in the village, and the former body have another place of wor­
ship at a hamlet called Middlewn Cottages, about 2t miles from Middleton ; it 
was formerly a barn, but was given and converted into a chapel by the late 
Mr. Hornby of that place. There are good Schools for boys and girls, which 
are chiefly supported by the Rector. 
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The Marwr Home is a small ancient building in the village; and there 
is an ancient farm house near the church, now the residence of Mr. Robert 
Railton, the walls of which are three feet in thickness; and from foundations 
discovered around both of these house, they are supposed to occupy the sites 
of la.rge mansions. The other farm houses with designations are Wold Howe, 
the residence of Mr. A. Horn by; MiddUrton Grange, of Mr. E . Lofthouse; 
Middleton Lodge, in the occupation of the latter gentleman; Middleton lng1, 
the residence of Mr. Wm. Green; and Kipling H<JUU, of Mr. Waiter Garrett. 
The latter house is situated about 8 miles S.W. from Middleton, and the 
adjoining field is supposed to be the site of an ancient church or chapel. 
Human remains have been found buried on the spot, and from the traces of 
foundations of buildings in the vicinity, it seems probable that a village, or 
hamlet, formerly stood here. Here is a Race Couru, four miles in length, 
extending into the adjoining parishes. Kiplingcotu Racu, which o.re of some 
antiquity, generally take place on the third Thursday in March, the stake 
being the dividends of £465. 12s. stock, purchased with £860., the sub· 
scription of ·several noblemen and gentlemen of the county, in 1618. 

SxERNE.-Area, 2,788 acres; rateable value, £8,069.; amount of assessed 
property, £8,065.; population, 194 souls. The Skerne estate, consisting of 
2,788A. 2a. lOP., was sold by public auction, at Driffield, on the 27th of 
June, 1851, and purchased by Lord Londesborough, the present owner. The 
late owner, Charles Arkwright, Esq., of Dunstill Hall, Burton-upon-Trent, 
rebuilt all the farm houses and cottages on the estate, under-drained most of 
the parish, and restored the church. 

The Limng is a Perpetual Curacy, certified at £18. 5s., and returned at 
£71. nett, being augmented with £400. of Queen Anne's Bounty, in 1767 
and 1770, and with £200. given by Thomas Brown, Esq. Patron, Lord 
Londesborough; Incumbent, Rev. John Nottingham Fowler. 

The Church is a very neat structure, consisting of a nave, chancel, porch, 
and a pinnacled tower containing two bells. The interior is well fitted up. 
There 'was formerly an aisle on the north side, separated from the body of 
the church by three pointed arches, springing from clustered columns. These 
arches, though now filled up with masonry, are visible in the interior; and 
in the wall of one of them is inserted the full length effigy of a cross-legged 
knight, with what appears to be the top, or lid, of an ancient sarcophagus 
exhibiting the bust of a female; and between these pieces of carved work 
is the figure of an infant. These appear to be portions of one or more 
ancient monuments, which probably stood in the now destroyed aisle. The 
inner door of the porch is circular-headed, and the chancel arch is of similar 
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shape, with the zigzag ornament. The latter arch is very fine, and springs 
from three receding columns. The roofs arc open, and the carved wood is 
t!tained, and has an elegant appearance. The single seats, with which the 
church is furnished, are also stained. The pulpit is sexagonal and neat. The 
Ten Commandments, Lord's Prayer, &c., arc in church text, elegantly illu· 
minated. The cast window is pointed, and of three lights; there are throo 
square headed windows of two lights on the south side of the nave, but no 
windows on the north side. The font is octagonal and plain. 

The Village is small, but very neat and rural, having in and about it 
several gardens, and some large and beautiful elms. It is situated about 2t 
miles S.E. from Driffield. The late Mr. Arkwright built a school here, 
which has been converted into a Methodist Chapel. There a.re some excel· 
lent farm houses here. The llla11or Ho~tse, near tho church, is the residence 
of Mr. S. Thompson; the farm house, in tho village, occupied by Mr. G. 
Mosey, is both ancient and good; Golde11 HiU Farm is in the occupation of 
Mr. ltt. Goodlass; Copper Hall in that of Mr. John Goodlass; Cleave• Fann 
in that of Mr. Wn1. Dixon; Ilicklepits is the residence of Mr. Rt. Parker; and 
Skerne Gra11ge is held by .Mr. R. Robinson. The Poor FoliUJ' Clo.e, nearly six 
acres, was given by an unknown donor, for tho uso of the poor parishioners. 

WATTON.-The name of this place is derived from the Saxon Wetadun, a 
wet town, descriptive of its situation, being once surrounded with waters and 
marshes. A considerable portion of the parish, called Watton Carr, was 
formerly a complete morass, with a decoy in the centre, but it was reclaimed 
by drainage, and is now sound and useful land. The area of the pnrish is 
8,720 acres, and the population numbers 815 persons. Assessed property, 
£5,132.; rateable value, £4,322. Lord Londesborcugh (Lord of the Manor), 
Richard llcthell, Esq., and Col. Grimston, are the chief owners of the soil. 

lVatton Abbey.-Soon after the conversion of the Anglo-Saxons, a religious 
establishment for nuns appears to ha~e been founded here; but the name of 
the founder is not recorded, and little of its history at this remote period is 
known. The institution was visited by St. John of Be~erley, in the time of 
Heriburg the Abbess, o.nd the Abbey is supposed to have been destroyed by 
the Danes, at the same time with Tievcrley 1\fonastery, about the yenr 870. 

About 11-18 Watton Abbey was refounded by Eustace Fitz.John, at the 
instance of Archbishop :Murdac, by way of penance for the devastations and 
murders to which he had been accessory.* The new institute was dedicated 

• Eust.aco Fit?.-John wns n powrrful Anglo-Normnn Dnron, who, on account of l1is 
loyalty nnd lovo to King Henry T., wns arrested contrnry to lnw, nnd detained prisoner by 
King St.ephcn. Highly rcsentjng ~uch n llogrnnt net of nrhitrnry pow<'r, EustncC' fled inw 
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to the Blessed Virgin, and supported 13 Canons and 36 Nuns of the Gilber· 
tine Order,* but subsequent benefactions considerably increased the number; 
for in 1326 Archbishop de Mclton consecrated no less than 53 nuns here at 
one time. Eustace endowed the monastery with the lordship .of Wattou, 
whether in iands or waters, meadows, pasturea or marshes, in pure and per· 
petual alms, for his salvation, and that of his wife, and for the souls of his 
parents, children, brethren, servants, and friends. Tho canons inhabited 
dwellings within the same enclosure, but separated from each other by a 
party wall ; it was, in fact, a double monastery, similar to the Deverley 
Abbey, noticed at page ~29 of this volume. 

In the 2Gth of Henry VIII. (1535), the estimated amount of the annual 
income of the canons of Watton was £463. 7s. 8d. gross, and £360. 16s. 
10.d. nett. Robert Holgate, Bishop of Landaff, and afterwards Archbishop 
of York, was Commendatory Prior at the dissolution in 1540. The site of 
the Abbey, and its venerable remains, were granted, in 1550, to John, Earl 
of Warwick; John Famham possessed it in the reign of Queen Elizabeth; 
King James confirmed the Abbey and manor to Sir Thos. Earlkyn, Knt.; 
and the property afterwards passed, by marriage, to the Bet hell family. The 
buildings of the Abbey were extensive and massy, with to'vers and pointed 
arch windows, and an oriel or bay window of imposing appearance ; a Nun· 
nery of the same, surrounded by a rango of cloisters and other buildings; 
and the whole was surrounded by a moat, which enclosed upwards of twenty 
acres of land; one branch of which ran under both the monastery and the 
convent, each being furnished with private staircases within the buildings, 
which communicated 'vith the water; and it was broad and deep enough to 
be navigable for a small boat. The whole area within the moat is full of old 
foundations. The remains of strong walls of stone, terraces, and earth works, 
may be traced on the south side of the premises; and these are supposed to 
have been erected during the Civil Wars, when the Abbey was garrisoned by 
the Royalists, and was attacked and much battered by Cromwell, from Barfe, 
or Barrow Hill, about two miles from this front. The Abbey appears to 
have been rebuilt in the early part of the Tudor period, of brick and stone; 

the north, and uniting Ius forces with those of David, King of Scotland, m ado an irruption 
into Yorkshire, with the intention of revenging tho insult he had received, by a geneml 
ravage of that part of tho kingdom. The crueltio(porpctroted at thnt timo aro noticed 
in vol. i., page 123, of this history. 

• This Ordor had just been established in England, by Gilbert, or Sempringham, in 
Lincolnshire, an nctivo and zMious ecclcsinstic, who waa afterwards canonized as a saint. 
lt is ~tomctimcs ~alled the Sempringham Order, and the rule was a modi1ication of those 
used lty the Benedictines and the Augustinians. 
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and the portion that still remains, and has been converted into a fine man­
sion, still called lVatton Abb6y, was long the seat of the Bethell family, and 
is now the residence of the Incumbent of the parish. It still exhibits some 
octagonal castellated turrets, buttresses, and venerable looking square-beaded 
windows. The interior is spacious; and vaults run probably under oue 
entire wing of the building, though a part only are now remaining. A wain­
scotted chamber is pointed out in the house, in which tradition says a lady 
of distinction and her infant, "'·ho had secreted herself here during the Civil 
Wars, were murdered. This apartment communicated with a narrow stair­
case, still in existence, that descended into the moat, or river, which runs 
underneath the building; and the legend is, that her retreat having been 
discovered, a few ruffianly soldiers entered at dead of night, by this private 
staircase, and there committed the bloody deed, and took possession of her 
jewels and other valuables, which were worth a large sum. This legend has 
given rise to a belief that the wainscotted room is haunted. 

The Nunnery was situated westward of the Abbey, and is now converted 
into stables, &c. It occupied a tract of about eleven acres, and this space is 
still designated by the namo of "The Nuns." Tradition says that a subter­
ranean passage formed a communication between the convent and a holy 
well at Kiln wick, called "The Lady's Well; and that many miraculous cures 
were performed by the agency of its waters. In 1663 part of the ruins of 
the decayed buildings were consigned to the Corporation of Beverley, and 
used in the reparation of the Minster. The gardens of the Abbey are beau­
tifully laid out. In 1776 ajar of coarse pottery was dug up in them, which 
was thought to be of Roman or Saxon manufacture. 

The Church (St. Mary) is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of R. Bethell, 
Esq., and incumbency of the Rev. Henry Jennings. It is rated at £10. I Os., 
was augmented with £800. of Queen Anne's Bounty, and is now returned at 
£60. per annum. The tithes were commuted in 1850. 

The Edifice is small, and consists of a nave, chancel, and low tower; and 
is built of brick, with stone dressings. In the interior are several neat 
tablets to the Betbell and Dickinson families. 

The village is enveloped with trees, and stands about 5t miles S. by W. 
of Great Driffield.* The School is chiefly supported by Mr. Bethell. 

• The inhabitants of this village, we opine, are remarkably temperate and orthodox, 
for when, in the course of our survey we 'isited the place, we enquired of an elderly 
lady whether there was an inn there, at which we llUght refresh the "inner man;" and 
her quick reply was, "No, we have neither a Public How1 nor a .R4nttn' Ch<lfd at 
Watton." 
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Wa.tton Grange is in the occupation of Mr. John Nicholson, farmer; 
CawkeU Farm, in that of Mr. Richard Duggleby; and Burn Butu Farm is 
held by Mr. William Moore. 

NORTH HUNSLEY BEACON DIVISION.-Tbe parishes, &c., com­
prised in this division o.re Aike, Beswick, Beverley Borough and Liberty, 
or Water Towns, Bishop Burton, Cherry Burton, South Dalton, Etton, 
Leckonfield, Scorbrougb, Wawne, and Walkington. The area is 87,513 
acres; population (exclusive of Beverley), 4,877 persons, viz :-2,57 4 males, 
and 2,303 females. The account of Aike will be found at page 512; of 
Beswick, at page 508; the history of Beverley at page 166; and the Liberty 
of Beverley, or the Water Towns, at page 297. 

BisHOP BuR'rON.-This parish, originally called South Burton, contains 
8,970 acres, and in 1851 a population of 566 souls. The amount of as­
sessed property is £6,985., and the rateable value, £5,680. The manor and 
estate was purchased of the family of Gee, by the uncle of the late Richard 
Watt, Esq.; and the present Lord of the Manor and principal landholder 
is Richard Watt, Esq., grandson of the last·named gentleman. 

It is generally admitted by historians that a very populous colony of 
Britons was established in this neighbourhood, and traces of ancient tumuli 
are found widely dispersed on the whole range of Wolds, extending to the 
neighbourhood of Malton. In a field in this parish, on the road leading 
from Beverley to Newbald, and not far from Westwood, ten of these se­
pulchral mounds were opened by Dr. Hull, accompanied by some other 
gentlemen. Their form was circular, but differed very considerable in size, 
varying from 20 to 100 feet in diameter at their base, and 4 to 10 feet in 
elevation. There were no skeletons, ornaments, or coins, found in these 
ancient graves; but urns were discovered in three of them, and a mixture of 
bones and charcoal in the others. One of the urns, which is much larger 
than the others, was obtained in a barrow 7 4 feet in diameter, and 7! feet 
in elevation. It was placed in the centre of the barrow, about 4 feet below 
the surface of the adjoining ground. The urns contained ashes, burnt bones, 
and charcoal; and the large urn is now in the museum at York. In 1826 
other barrows were opened in this parish, when several skeletons were found 
lying in different directions, at the depth of four feet from the surface. The 
presence of these sepulchres of the ancient Druids and British chieftains, give 
a strong support to the assertions of Mr. Oliver and others, who contend that 
the name of BuTton is derived from the Celtic bwrh, or bur, a place of graves, 
with the Saxon adjunct ton, a town. This place was thonght by some to 
have been occupied by the Romans, as it is asserted that a tesselated pave­
ment constructed by that people has been discovered here. (See page 169.) 
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About the beginning of the 8th century, South Durton was the seat of a 
Suon Earl named Puch, and North Burton the residence of Earl Addi. 
Archbishop John, of Deverley, as we have seen at page 229, consecrated 
churches at both these places, and to each of these noblemen the prelate 
rendered an essential service by his prayers and benedictions for the sick; 
miraculously curing, according to Bede, the wifo of the former Earl, and a 
voluablo domestic of the latter. According to Domesday the Archbishop of 
York had possessions at South Durton at the time of that survey, and it is 
conjectured that it received its present appellation of Bishop Burton soon 
aftenvards, for wo find it an episcopal residence in 1294. In the year fol­
lowing, John le Romo.ine, Archbishop of York, died at this mansion. 

The Ilospital of KynewaL.lf}rat•u, or Killingu:oldgravcs, was situo.ted in this 
parish, adjoining the high road, about lt mile from Deverley. It was 
dedicated to St. Mnry Magdalen, and in existence for poor brethren and 
sisters so early as 1160 (15th of Henry IT.), for in that year Archbishop 
Roger confirmed his former grant of the nssarts of Dimannesconge. King 
Edward Ill., by his charter of inspcximus, recapitulates this grant, with 
urious others made by the Archbishops of York, who were the patrons of 
hospital, as well as many donations made by private individuals. In the 
26th of Henry Vill. it was valued at £13. lls. 2d., in the gross, and 
£1.2. Ss. ·ld. in the clear sum; though Tanner says that it was valued at no 
more than 40s. per annum, according to Stepbens. William, who is called 
Pharen. Epis., was admitted master of the hospital, 20th March, 1399. 
William de Scardeburgh, 3rd June, 1411. Richard Bowet, a relation of the 
Archbishop of York of the same name, 15th Oct~ber, 1414. The farm of 
Kinwoldgravcs now belongs to Warton's Charity. (See page 292.) 

Nearly adjoining to Kinwaldgravee, about 1t mile from Beverlcy .Minster, 
and in a field by the road side, is a broken pillar called Stump Crou, which 
is doubtless the remains of one of the sanctuary crosses which formerly stood 
on the principal roads leading to Beverley. (See page 240). The top of 
the cross with the transverse stone is destroyed, and the remains of the shaft 
is fixed in a basement stone, 3 feet square and 25 inches thick, 7 inches of 
the top edge being cut away. The basement stone is of modem date, and 
is placed where it is for the purpose of preserving the remains of the cross. 
The upright stone is now only Cl feet high, and has a grooved line running 
down each of its edges, to within 6 inches of the base. It bears an almost 
effaced inscription, engraved in square text, which Mr. Topham, of Hatfi.eld, 
in Holdemcss, deciphered in 1773. He states it to be Orate Pro .Anima 
Magiltri TViUielmi d6 TValthon. (Pray for tlte 1oul of Master WillUzm eh 
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Waltlwn.) From the Latin he supposes it to have been erected about the 
year 1400. The inscription led :Mr. Topham and others to suppose that 
it was a sepulchral monument; -but it is clear that no interment has been 
deposited beneath it, for in the month of July, 1827, Richard Watt, Esq., 
the late Lord of the Manor, accompanied by the Vicar and some other 
gentlemen, had the pillar taken up, and the ground excavated to a considerable 
depth, but nothing was discovered under or near it, except a single bone, 
which was pronounced to be the tibia of a man. Indeed there seems little 
doubt that this is the remains of a Sanctuary.Cross, the inscription being 
a subsequent work, and totally unconnected with the primitive intention 
of the monument. There is a tradition that the inscription was added to 
commemorate a murder committed in this locality. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage and peculiar, in the jurisdiction and 
patronage of the Dean and Chapter of York, rated at £5. 6s. 8d., and now 
worth £100. nett per ann. Vicar, Rev. Charles Robinson. At the enclosure 
of the parish, in 1767, the rectorial tithes were commuted for an allotment 
of 276A. 2R. SoP., and an annual payment of £168.; and the vicarial tithes 
for an allotment of 26A.. 3R. 

The Church (All Saints) is situated on a small hill on the south side of 
the village, and is a neat edifice, consisting of a nave with aisles, a chancel, 
and a low tower, in which are three bells. The body of the church was rebuilt 
of cut stone, by subscription, in 1820, at a cost of nearly £1,700., but the 
chancel and tower are old. The windows of the aisles are pointed, and those 
of the clerestory square-headed; all having bold weather cornices, supported 
by corbel heads. The east window of the chancel is blocked up; and its 
other windows are both pointed and square-headed. The east end of the 
south aisle has a low building attached to it, used as a vestry. The interior 
is plain but neat. The aisles are separated from the nave by four pointed 
arches, resting on octagonal columns. There is a piscina in the chancel. 
The whole church has a fiat ceiling. Among the monuments and inscrip­
tions which record the deaths of the more distinguished inhabitants, are a 
brass plate, in the chancel, inscribed to a Vicar of this church, named Peter 
Johnson, who died in 1460; another to" The lad ye Isabell Ellerker," and 
afterwards the wife of "Xpofor Estoft, Esq.," who died in 1579; one in the 
nave, bearing the figure of a lady, with an inscription in old church text, to 
the memory of Johanna, the widow of Radulphus Rokeby, Esq., who died in 
1521; and some neat mural monuments to the family of Watt. The Vicarag, 
Houu is a commodious residence, near the east end of the churchyard. 

The ViUage, which is extremely rural, is pleasantly situated in a hollow, 
VOL.U, 3 X 
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on the road from Deverley to York, about 2t miles W. of the former towfi. 
In the village is a small lake called the Mere, and on . the green beyond it 
stood nu ancient witch·elm tree of immense size, which was Llown down by 
the wind on the 23rd of January, 1836. It measured 48 feet in circum­
ference, and its majestic trunk was so hollow that several persons could 
conceal themselves within it. The scenery in the immediate neighbourhood 
of the village is of a sylran character. 

Tho !Japtist Chapd, built in 1770, is a plain brick building, with the 
Minister's house and a Sunday School adjoining. The Wt8leya'l Chapel, 
erected in 18..1.0, is e. neat brick building, containing e. good bust of the Rev. 
John Wesley, carved out of a part of the great elm tree just noticed. The 
Parish School is endowed with £20. per nunum, the rent of 11 acres of land, 
purchased with £100. left by Mrs. Elizabeth Gee, in 1714. 

There arc almshouses, originally for three, hut now for six, poor persons, 
called !Ian~l·y·s II(Ispital, founded by llalph llnnsby, who by dC<'d dated July 
2.Hb, 1614, endo\red it with property which now yields a yearly rental of 
£75 . -1s. Four of the poor inmates now receive 10 guineas ench per annum, 
and the remaining two 5 guineas per ann.; aud each of the six arc allowed 
two tons of coals per annum. Pursuant to the founder's deed, the feoffces 
pay an annuity of £1. Os. 8d. to the Vicar, and the almsp<'ople are enjoined 
to attend the church. 

The Mano1· House, called the Upper Hall, formerly the seat of tl1e Watt 
family, but for some years unoccupied, is situated a short distance K. W. of 
the village, and appears to have been erected in the reign of James I. The 
front is embattled and hns a porch, and the chimneys nre good specimens of 
the carved brick work of the period, The Low llaU, the seat of F. Watt, 
Esq., belongs to the appropriate rectory, which is the property of the Dean 
and Chapter of York, but is held on lease by 1\'Ir. Watt. It is a good brick 
mansion, situated in a small but pleasant park, a little S.E. of the village. 

On the south of the village is a close called Knight Garth, which still 
retains the marks of having once been the site of a range of ancient buildings, 
supposed to have been the old pnlace of the Archbishops of York 

CHF:nnY BunTo~.-This parish contains 3,661 acres, and ,196 inhabitants. 
Its rateable ,·alue is £5,162., and the assessed property amounts to £4,369. 
The soil is clnycy, and in most situations suitable for the growth of wheat. 

We haYe seen in the account of the last parish, that 1'-<ortb, or Cherry, 
Burton was the seat of Addi, a Saxon Earl. In 1201 Sybilla de Yaloniis, 
relict of the third Lord Percy, gave to the Knights of St. John of Jerusalem, 
the manor of :Korth Durton. In the 6th of Edward VI. (1653), this m!Ulor 
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was assigned by the King to John, Duke of Northumberland, but was alien· 
ated by his successor, Queen Mary. The chief proprietors of the soil at 
the present time, are D. Burton, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), Lord Hotham, 
Col. Wyndbam, and Major Dawson. 

The Living is a Rectory, valued at £23. 6s. 8d., and r<'turned at £887. 
nett. The tithes were commuted for £1,050., and the glebe comprises 
25A. 3R. 27P. Patron, Rev. H. Ramsden; Rector, Rev. Robert Swann, for 
whom the Rev. ,J. F. Hicks officiates. 

The Church (St. Michael) was recently rebuilt, and is now a handso~e 
structure. The foundation stone was laid on the 5th of August, 18.32, by 
Miss Burton, a handsome silver trowel having been previously presented to 
that lady by the parishioners ; and the ceremony of consecration took place 
on Monday, the 21th of October, 1853, by the Archbishop of York, who also 
preached on .the occasion. The cost of the re-erection was raised by sub· 
scription and a parish rate; and there were several gifts, such as the com­
munion silver by the Rector; the communion cloth by Hy. Grimston, Esq.; 
the cushions worked by Miss Burton and some other ladies; the bells by 
1\Iiss Burton and a few friends; the font cover and· one of the books for the 
communion table by Miss Burtou; a handsome set of boolts by Captain and 
:Miss Bogburst, &c. The cost of the churchyard wall and gn.te was defrayed, 
one tltird by the parish and the remainder by .1\Ir. Burton. The edifice, 
which is in the Early Decorated style of architecture, consists of a nave, 
chancel, north aisle, porch, and vestry, with a tower at the west end, contain­
ing three bells. The walls are of grey stone, and the dressings, windows, car­
''ings, &c., arc of sand stone. The interior is simple, but neat in its general 
character; there is a small quantity of stained glass, and some can·ed stall 
ends, for seats, in the chancel; and a handsome stone carved pulpit. The 
roof is open and ceiled between the rafters, nnd the wood work is stained dark 
oak. The entire cost of the works, including the boundary wall, is about 
£2,000. There \Vns formerly o. chantry here, dedicated to the Holy Trinity. 

The Eectory House is the residence of the Curate. 
The rillage is neat, and stands about 3 miles W.~.W. of Beverlcy. So 

early as the reign of Henry VIII. we find this plncc distinguished by the 
nnme of Cherry Burton. The JVesleyan Chapel wns built in 182-l, and the 
Prim.itire Jlethodi.~t Chapel in 18.>0. The &l&ool is supported by the Rector. 

An old superstitious custom of dressing the bee hives in mouming on a 
funeral day, bns long prevailed here. 

Burt01t House, the sent of D. 13urtou, Esq., is n large mansion, situated in 
a pleasant lawn, near the church. Here Mr. Burton holds his courts for 

o tzoobyGoogle 



o24 HA.BTHILL WAPENTUE. 

the Manor of Beverley Chapter, of which be is lord. The poor parishionen 
he.Ye an annual rent charge of 40s., left by Hodgson Johnson, M.D., in 
1722; and the interest of £40., bequeathed by Ann Jobnson, in 1740. 

Edmund Bonner, afterwards Bishop of London, was presented to the Rec· 
tory of Cherry Burton, by the Canons of Beverley, in 1530. 

SouTH DALTON.-The area of South Dale Town is1,730 acres; population, 
200 souls; rateable -ralue, £1,964. ; rr.ssessed property, £1,500. The soil is 
partly clay and partly chalk, the surface generally level, and the scenery in 
many situations highly picturesque. Lord Hotham, M.P. for the East 
Riding, is Lord of the Manor, and chief landowner. 

The Living is a Rectory, in the patronage of Lord Hotham, valued at 
£12., but now worth £360. per annum. Rector, R~v. Thomas F. Simmons. 
Under an inclosure act, in 1822, the tithes were commuted for land and 
corn rents ; the glebe consists of 35 ncres. 

The Church (St. Mary) is apparently of the 16th century, having a nave 
and north aisle, a chancel with an attached chapel, and a tower. The lntter 
appendage was erected in 1701, and contains two bells. The interior is neat, 
three pointed arches separate the aisle from the nave, and the font bears the 
date of 1662. In the side chapel is a splendid monument to the memory of 
Sir John Hotham, who died in 1689. It consists of a base of black marble, 
upon which is a mat of white marble, bearing the effigy of a skeleton. At tho 
corners are female figures, representing the cardinal virtues, Truth, Justic<', 
Fortitude, and Temperance, kneeling on one knee, all of the size of life, and 
of beautiful white marble. These figures bear on their shoulders a black 
~b, supporting the reclining figure of the knight, in full armour. This 
elegant monument is said to have been brought from Italy. In the chancel 
is a marble tnblet to Admiral Lord Hotbam, who died in 1813; and another 
to Lord Hotham, one of the Barons of the Exchequer, who died in 1814. 

The &ctonJ House is situated on the east side of the church. 
The village is small, and stands about 5! miles N .W. of Beverley. The 

School and residence for the teacher were erected in 1848, by Lord Hotbam. 
There is a !Jfethodi.8t Chapel. The poor ba,·e the interest of £10. per ann. 

DaUon Hall, the seat of Lord Hotham, is a spacious brick mansion in a 
well wooded park, which was formerly very extensive. Tho ancestors of 
Lord Hotbam came over to England at the Xorman Conquest. The first 
Baronet of the family was Sir John Hotbam, Governor of Hull for the Parlia­
ment, who is reported by Lord Clarcndon, as having been "master of a noble 
fortune, of a very ancient family, and well allied." The first Peer was the 
distinguished Admiral Hotham, who, for his important naval services, was 
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raised to the peerage in 1797, by the title of Baron Hotham of South Dalton. 
Beaumont Hotham, the present Baron, son of B. Hotham, Esq., son of the 
second Baron, was born at Lullington Castle, in 1794, succeeded his grand­
father in 1814, a!ld became a Major-General in the army in 1851., His 
lordship's heir presumptive is his brother, the Hon George Frederick, who 
was born in 171)9; married in 1824, the eldest daughter of the second Mar­
quis of Thomond; became a Captain in the army in 1828; and was raised 
to the rank of a Baron's son, by royal warrant, in 183li. 

Kiplingcote• Farm, about 2 miles W. of the village, is occupied by Mr. 
Edmund Riley. 

ETToN.-This parish contains 3,960 acres, and 498 inhabitants. The 
rateable value is £4,1100., and the assessed. property amounts to £3,739. 
Part of the manor of Beverley Chapter is situated in this parish, but the 
greater part belongs to the manor of Etton. The principal landowners are 
Lord Hotham, Sir T. D. Legard, William Gilby, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), 
and Henry Grimston, Esq. 

The Living is a Rectory, rated at £211. lis. 4!d., and now returned at 
£700. per annum. Patron, the Archbishop of York; Rector, Rev. W. P. 
Musgrave. At the enclosure in 18111, the tithes were commuted for a corn 
rent, altered every fourteen years according to the price of grain. 

The Church (St. Mary) is situated on an eminence, and is composed of a 
nave, chancel, and &Outh aisle, and a west tower, large and massy, but low, 
and of early Norman architecture. The upper part of the tower was rebuilt 
of brick in the last century ; and the other parts of the church in 1844 and 
1846. In the west front is a semicircular-headed doorway, with three series 
of recessed mouldings of birds' beads, &c., The south aisle has a pointed 
doorway, apparently of the 15th century. The interior is neat; the pointed 
arches of the aisle spring from columns formed by the union of four cylinders. 
The chancel was rebuilt by the late Rev. Canon Dixon, Rector, who gave 
the clock in the tower; and the east and south windpws in the chancel are 
filled with stained glass, at the expense of the Rev. Robert Machell, late 
Curate of the parish. 

The Village is seated in a llollow, and is small but picturesque. It is 
about 41 miles N.W. from Beverley. A Primitive Methodilt Chapel was 
erected here in 1845. The National School is supported by subscription. 

The High Hall, a good modem house, is the residence of Hy. Grimston, 
Esq.; it is pleasantly situated, on high ground. There is an annual feast, 
with rural sports, &c., held annually in this village, in August, called Etton 
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Cherry Feast. The Cha1'ities of the parish arc the rents of a cottage and four 
acres of land, at Fa:dlect, purchased with £00., tho amount of three benefac· 
tions ; and the dividends of £330., -i per cent. consolidated annuities, pur­
chased with £200. left by William Wilson, in 1816, and other benefactions. 

LECKOSFIELD.-Arca, including Arram, 4,0:!0 acres; population 362 per­
sons, of whom 230 belongs to Leckonfield and 132 to Arram; rateable value, 
£5,785.; assessed property, £5,860. The Re\'. G. Oliver in his Histqry of 
lJet·erley, is of opinion th'at this place derived its name from its having been 
a place at which the rights of initiation into the Druidical mysteries were 
solemnized-Llecen-Fylliml, the flat stone in the gloomy shade--the conse­
crated situation of the cromlcch, or adytum, in which the aspirant performed 
his probationary noviciate. As has been observed at page 22!l, Earl Addi 
built a chapel here for the use of the early Christians, and at the parochial 
division of the diocese it became a parish church. At the time of the Domes­
day Survey, Ll/{:hil!ficltl was the property of tho Earl of 1\Ioreton, William 
de Pcrcy, and the Canons of Bcvcrlcy, under the Archbishop of York. In 
the reign of King John, Henry Percy married Isnbcl de 13rus, who brought 
him certain lands iu I.cckonfield, ou the tenure, that on every Christmas day 
he should attend upon the lady of Skelton Castle, nnd conduct her in state 
to mass. In 1301; Henry Percy obtained a license to fortify his Castle at 
Lcckonficld. Hiehard JI. granted to Henry Percy, \fhom he created Earl of 
Korthumberland, a charter for a weekly market, at Lcckonficld, every Tues­
day; and an annual fair on the eve and the dny of _the Exaltation of the 
Holy Cross, and the seven following days. Henry Percy, the second Earl, 
appears to have made Leckonficld his principal residence, as several of his 
children were born there, vi7. :-Henry, in 1.J:ll, afterwards the third Earl; 
Thomas, in 142~. created Barou Egrcmont by Henry VI. ; Kntherine, his 
second daughter, in 112a; Gcorge, in U24, afterwards a Canou of Beverley; 
Ralph, in 142:> ; and finally William, his youngest son, afterwards Bishop 
of Carlisle, wns born there in 1428. The third Enrl of Northumberland was 
slain in Towton Field, in U(il (See vol. i., p. 150), and his estates were 
alienated by Edward IV. The manor of Leckonficld wns granted to Gecrge 
Duke of Clarcnce; but in 1.150 the estates were restored to Henry Percy, 
the only son of the late Earl, who resided at Lcckonfield, nnd was subse­
quently slain at Cock Lodge, by the mob, and buried at Bcverlc,v l\!inster 
with great solemnity. (Sec vol. i., p. 1 iiJ, nnd vol. ii., pp. 20.l, ~.')8.) His 
successor, as we ha\'c remarked at p. 201, kept n hospitable house at Leckon­
field; and iu 1541 King Henry VIII., and his Queen, Catherine Howard, 

o tzoobyGoogle 



~ORTH Hl.::o;SLEY BEACO!'; DlVJSlO!';. 527 

with a gallant train of attendants, visited the Earl at this Castle.* (Seep. 37 .) 
The Percy's being at length attninted of treason, part of the estates were 

conferred on John Dudley, who was created Duke of Northumberland, and 
succeeded to the Castle and estate of Leckonfield, in 1551; but Dudley 
having been concerned in acts of treason against Queen 1\fary, he was exe­
cuted in 1553, and his honours and estates were restored to Thomas Percy, 
the seventh Earl. The ninth Earl was so impoverished by a fine of £30,000., 
and an imprisonment of fifteen years in the Tower, inflicted on him as a 
supposed accomplice in the Gunpowder Plot, that all his northern Castles 
were suffered to decay. In the reign of James I. the buildings at Leckon­
field were totally demolished, and the valuable materials removed for the 
repair of Wresscll Castle. Leland, who visited this neighbourhood about the 
year 15-10 (See page 207), says, "Lekingfcld is a large house, and stondith 
withyn a great mote, yn one very spacious courte, Three parts of the house, 
saving the meane gate, that is made of brike, is o.l of tymbre. The fourth 
part is made of stone and sum brike._ The park thereby is Yery fair and 
large, and meetely welle woddid. There is a fair tour of brike, for a lodge, 
yn the park. "t From an inventory taken in 157 4, it appears that the various 
rooms, offices, and go.llerics in the Castle, were in number 8-l, and that many 
of them were adorned with paintings, carved images, and painted glass, 
accompanied \vith a profusion of moral verses. On the death of Joceline 
Percy, witl;out male issue, in 1Gi0, his manor of Leckonfield passed to his 
grandson, Algernon Seymour, Duke of Somerset, from whom it descended to 

• The famous Northumberland 1Iou$ehold Book, yet extant, contains 11 curious and 
minute description of the princely manner of living of the Eo.rl, in t.he baronial style of 
the times, at his CMtle~ of Leckonfield and Wrcssell. His_household was llrl'angcd on 
the principles of 11 royal establishment, o.nd he lived with a state and splendour little 
inferior to n Sovereign Prince. His council boo.rd consisted of the principal officers of 
hi~ houschohl, who were all gentlemen by birth 11nd blood. He had eleven dorucstio 
chaplnins, over whom presided a Doctor, or DI\Chelor, of Dhinity; and he h11d 11 com­
plete cstllblishment of singing men, choristers, &c., for his chapel service. The fiiiDily 
at Leckonficld consisted of 16(} persons; 11nd on an aven~ge 63 strangers were enter­
tained every dny, mnking 11 toto.l 223. The annunl consumption of food wo.s, 250 quo.r. 
tcrs of malt, 12 quo.rtcrs of whent, 647 sheep, 131 beeves, !.!6 hogs, 28 calves, and 40 
liiiDbs. Ten tuns o.nd two hogsheads of Gascony wine. The whole household Msem­
bled every morning in the chapel, for Dhi.ne Serdce, at •ix o'clock; at •even the Earl 
11nd his lady breakfRStcd out of 11 chine of boiled beef, or mutton, vdth a quart of ale, 
aDd some wine. Dinner was served up at ttn; supper o.t four; o.nd at 11ine in the 
evening nil the gntcs were closed, 11nd the family retired to rest. 

t The site of the Cnstle, a little west of the ,·iJlnge, is surrounded by the remo.ins of 
the ancient moo.t, which fonnerly 'II'O.S wide ~~nd deep, and full of water. It contains an 
area of about four RCres, and is now 11 rich green pasture. 
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his nephew, Sir Charles Wyndham, Earl of Egremont. It is now the pro-
perty of Colonel George Wyndham. · 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at .£8., augmented with .£600. 
of Queen Anne's Dounty, in 1737 and 1807, and with .£200. given by the 
Earl of Egremont in the latter year. It is now returned at .£54. per annum. 
Patron and impropriator, Col. Wyndham; Vicar, Rev. Joseph Mayor. 

The Church (St. Catherine) is a plain edifice, consisting of a nave with 
aisles, a chancel, porch, and a small brick tower containing two bells. 

The Vicarage Houu is a modern building. 
The l'illage is small but neat, and stands about 3i miles N. of Beverley. 

A rivulet of beautiful water runs through it, and the scenery around it is of 
a rural and romantic description. The Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists 
have chapels here. The School, built in 1784, is supported by subscription . 

.A.1"Tam Hamut is situated about 1 mile east of the village of Leckonfield. 
ScORBROUGH.-This parish, anciently called Skoruburgh, contains 1,324 

acres, mostly the property of Lord Hotbam, who is Lord of the 'Manor. The 
population in 1851 was 90 souls; assessed property, £1,954. Before the 
Conquest a chapel was erected here by Earl Addi, which afterwards became a 
parish church. The surface is level, the soil rich, and is used principally 
in pasture for fattening stock. This place was formerly the seat of the 
ancient family of Hotham. The mansion house, during the Civil War, was 
supplied with stores and cannon, and garrisoned, by Sir John Hotbam, Go­
vernor of Hull. (See page 63.) On his desertion of the popular cause, this 
house was ravaged, and it was subsequently destroyed by fire. Some of the 
remains of the moat are still visible, near the modem manor house, which is 
called Scorbrough HaU, and is the residence of Jas. Hall, Esq. The present 
mansion is in the cottage style, and the gardens and pleasure grounds are 
tastefully laid down. 

The Living is a Discharged Rectory, in the gift of Col. Wyndham, and 
incumbency of the Rev. J. Mayor. It is rated at £7., and the tithes were 
commuted in 184tl, for a rent charge of £270. Os. 6d. The Church (St. 
Leonard.J is a mean building, consisting of a nave and chancel of brick, with 
stone dressings. On the south side is a doorway, of Norman workmanship. 

The Village is very small, and enveloped in wood, and stands in the pictu­
resque valley of the Aike beck, about 4! miles N. of Beverley. 

The account of the Pari3h of Wat.ene, will be found at page 395 of this vol. 
W ALXlNGTON.-Area, 8,460 acres; population, 699 souls; amount of as­

sessed property, .£5,859. The greater part of the soil belongs to 'the Bishop 
of Durham's manorial liberty of Howdenshire, and the rest of the parish is 
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in the manor of Pr011o8t'1 Fee, of which Henry Gee Bamard, Esq., is lord, 
except a very small portion, which lies in the manor of Beverley Chapter. 
The parish is usuo.lly returned as two united constablewicks, townships, or 
fees, called Walkington or Howden Fee, and Provost's Fee. The latter was 
anciently the fee of the Provost of Beverley. Besides Mr. Bamard, the 
other chief proprietors of the soil are, the Rector in right of his church, Mr. 
T. Ringrose, Mr. Watt, &c. 

The Li·ving is a Rectory, valued at £24. 13s. 4d., and returned at £676. 
per ann. The Rev. Daniel Ferguson is both Patron and Incumbent. The 
tithes were commuted at the enclosure in 1704, for 587 acres of land. 

The Church (All Saints) is a neat Gothic cruciform edifice, consisting of a 
nave, chancel, small transept, and a very handsome cut stone tower, con­
taining three bells. The chancel was rebuilt in 1818. The east window is 
of ten lights, and occupies nearly the whole of the east end, from the floor to 
the ceiling. The windows of the entire building are pointed. 

The Rectory Houu and grounds jldjoin the churchyard. 
The l'illage, which is considerable, is situated in a hollow, about 2! miles 

S.W. of Beverley. The Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists have small 
chapels here. The School, with a house for the teacher, was built in 1822. 
The annual feast of the dedication of the church is here co.JJ.ed The Tansey 
Fea1t. About a quarter of a mile N.E. of the village, on the road to Bever­
ley, are the remains of one of the ancient Sanctuary Crosses. (Seep. 240.) 
It stands on the footway, and consists of about 80 inches of the shaft in­
serted in a large stone. There is another of these crosses inside the hedge, 
on the road from Beverley to Bentley, and one on the road to Bishop-Burton. 

WiUiam Shencood, in 1537 bequeathed certain rent chargee, cottages, and 
51! acres of land in Walkington, for the use of the poor and the reparation 
of the road from Walkington to Beverley. The rents now amount to nearly 
£90. per annum. The church, poor, and school land, yields an annual in­
come of about £14. per annnm. 

SOUTH HUNSLEY BEACON DIVISION.-This division of Harthill 
Wapcntake comprises the parishes of Brantingha.m, North and South Cave, 
Cottingham, Elloughton with Brough, Ferriby, Hessle, Hotham, Kirk Ella, 
Melton, North and South Newbald, New Village, Rieby, Skidby, Weeton 
Pa"a, and Welton. It contains 80,471 acres, and 7,996 inhabitants, 4,141 
being males, and 8,865 females. 

BRANTINOHAM.-This parish, comprising the townships of Thorpe, Bran­
tingham, and Ellerker, contains 8,682 acres, and 154 7 inhabitants; of which 
2,146 acres belong to Brantingham and Ellerker, and 1,486 to Thorpe. 

VOL. It, 8 T 
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The population of Brantiugbam in 1851 was 146; of Ellcrkcr, 323; aud of 
Thorpe, 58 souls. The amount of assessed property in 1815 was .£~,1187. 

The rateable value of Thorpc Brantingham, or Drantiugbam-cum-Thorpe, is 
£:2,349.; and the principal landowner is Richard .F1e<ltwood Shawe, Esq., 
the Lord of the Manor, who is also lessee of the great tithes, under the Dean 
and Chapter of Durham, the impropriators. 

The Clwrch is o. Discharged Vicarage, with the incumbency of Ellerker 
annexed; rated in the King"s nooks at .£12. Os. 2J., nnd now returned at 
.£255. per ann. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Durham; Vicar, the 
Hev. George F. Townsend. This church was appropriated, in 1458, by the 
Prior of Durham, for the sustentation of eight monks of the monastery. At 
the enclosure, in 1765, the great tithes were commuted for an allotment of 
4-lOA. 3n. 6P. of land, and a small modus paid out of the old enclosures; and 
nt the same time, 37 A. UP. was allotted to the Vicarage, and lA. lR. 1P. to 
the parish clerk. Tho Fabric (All Saints) is situated in a picturesque valley, 
and is cruciform, consisting of a no.ve, ~bancel, transept, and a good west 
tower, embattled and pinuacled, and containing three bells. The interior is 
plain, with a gallery at the west end. The nave and chancel are separated 
by an o.ncient screen of carved oo.k. The font is circular. Tho church was 
thoroughly repo.irod in 1830. The Vicarage House was rebuilt, on the site 
of an old house, in 1847. 

The Village, which is small, is remo.rkable for its clear o.nd beautiful 
springs of excellent water. It stands about 1t mile S.E. by E. of South 
Cave, and 2t miles N. of the Hull and Selby Hailway. 

Branti"9llam HaU, in tbe village, is a large brick building, three stories 
in height, now in the occupation of Mr. William Wardell, farmer. 

Burrell Hall, the property and residence of .Mr. Joseph Beaumont, is an 
ancient stone builcling in the villnge. 

Tl10rpe Ilall, the seat of Richo.rd Fleetwood Shawe, Esq., is a large hand· 
some mansion, situated on a bold eminence, comme.uding most extensive 
prospects, including Howden, Goole, York Minster, the river Humber, and 
the Lincolnshire coast. The porch bears the date of 1567, but the house 
was enlarged about the year 1840. The pleasure grounds, gardens, &c., are 
both extensive and beautiful. This place formerly belongro to Isaac Broad­
Icy, Esq.; and it was purchased by the present owner, of the Barnard family. 

Chapelry of Ellerker.-This village is pleasantly situated about 1 mile W. 
from Drantingham, and the land stretches southward to the tivcr Humber. 
The Hull and Selby Railway passes through the township. The Bishop of 
Ripon is Lord of the Mo.nor. The o.mount of assessed property is £2,713. 
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The chief proprietors of the soil are J. B. Ellerker, Esq., George Scl10nswar, 
Esq., Mrs. Waltham, R. F. Shawe, Esq., and Mr. Joseph Bcaumont. 

The Lit'in!J is a Perpetual Curacy, in the patronage of the Dean and 
Chapter of Durham, and now annexed to the Vicarage of Brantingham. 

The Chapel was rebuilt with stone and enlarged in 1844; the cost of the 
same being raised by a rate and by subscription. It consists of a. nave, 
chancel, porch, aud bell turret, with a vestry on the north side of the chan­
cel. The windows and the chancel arch are pointed, and the latter has 
scriptural subjects painted upon it. The chancel has the sedilia and piscina; 
and over the communion table, and in other parts of the church, are appro­
priate inscriptions. There is some stained glass in the windows. The seats 
are open, and painted oak colour, as is also the roof. The pulpit, which 
is of oak, is very neat, and the ascent to it is by three stone steps. 

The Nati<mal School and teacher's residence, on the road between Dran­
tingham and Ellerker, was erected in 1845, at a cost of about £300., of 
which sum, £50. was received from the National Society, and £70. from the 
Committee of Council on Education. The Reform Methodi&t Chapel was 
built in 1850, on the site of an old chapel. 

Ellerker Hall, an ancient building in the village, is now unoccupied. 
CAvE (NoRTH.}-The townships of North Cave, Drew:ton with Everthorpe, 

and South Cliff, are comprised in this parish. Area of the whole, 6,{)13 
acres; population, 1,138 souls. The two first-mentioned townships contain 
4,888 acres, of the rateable value of £5,751; population of North Cave, 8{){) 
persons. The soil is various, being chalky in the high, blue lias in the 
lower, and oolite in the intervening lands. The principal landowners in 
North Cave are Henry Burton, Esq. (whose wife brought the manor to him 
in marriage), the Trustees of the Giggleswick Grammar School, R. Sykes, 
Esq., and John Lee Smith, Esq. 

The Living of North Cave cum South Cliff is a Discharged Vicarage, 
valued at .£10. 7s. Od., and now ''"orth £247. per ann., being endowed with 
the great tithes of South Cliff. Patrons, Henry Burton, Esq., and Mrs. 
Sarab Durton, his wife; Vicar, Rev. John Jarratt. The tithes were com­
muted in 1704 and 1843. Tho Clturcll. (All Saints) is a large structure, 
consisting of a uave with aisles, south transept., chancel, south porch, and a 
handsome west tower, embattled and pinnacled, and containing five bells. 
The clerestory is embattled. A great part of the edifice is covered with ivy. 
The aisles and nave are separated by three pointed arches resting on circular 
columns. The interior is neatly fitted up. On the north side of the chancel 
is a full length effigy of a Knight in armour, supposed to represent Sir 
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Thomas .Metham, whose family were formerly seated here, but of whose 
mansion there are no remains; and on the opposite side is the effigy of a 
lady; both are of alabaster. The 'Vicarage Home, erected in 1828, was en­
larged and improved by the present Vicar, in 1881. 

The J'ilklge of North Cat·e, which is large, well built, and contains some 
very good houses, is situated about 6t miles S.E. by E. of .Market-Weighton, 
10 E.N.E. of Howdt~u, 4 miles from the Hull and Selby Railway, and ~ 
miles from the Market Wcighton Canal. H~rc is an ancient FrintM' 
Meeti11g Horu6, built about 1 i88; a. Primitit.•e Methodist Chapel, erected in 
1819; and a JVealeyall Chapel, built in 1889. The Temperan~ HaU (also 
used as a. place of worship by the Wesleyan Reformers) was built at the cost 
of Mr. Wm. Hewson. There are School$ for both sexes, partly supported 
by subscription. At tho enclosure the school was endowed with 2a. 82P. of 
land, allotted in lieu of common right; and with 2a. 19P. given by Sir Geo . 
.Moutgomery Metha.m. The boys' school is now held in a building which 
was formerly a Methodist chapel; and the girls' school was built in 1833, 
by l\k Burton. 

There arc in the village two iron foundries and manufactories of agricul­
turnl implements, carried on by Messrs. Wm. and Rd. So.unders; and on a 
stream which runs through the village, are two corn mills; one of which 
belongs to Gigglcswick school, and was formerly a paper mill, and the other 
is the property of Mrs. Elizabeth Cade, who works both mills. 

Hot.ltam Hall, the property of Hy. Burtoo, Esq., and residence of William 
Arkwright, Esq. is a. handsome edifice, situated in pleasant grounds. 

The Manor House stands east of the church, and is said to have been the 
brewhousc of an ancient hall that formerly stood near it. The Ca8tl6 Farm 
is in the occupation of Mr. William Leake. The house has a porch, an em· 
battled front, and an embattled and pinnacled tower. TJ'aUintl Fen HOU# 
and fann belong to .Mr. Thos. Beniugton, and are held by Mr. Wm. Pape. 

Mrs. Sarah BaroJJ, late of Drcwton Hall, left .£1,000., in railway shares, 
to the poor of this parish. 

Dretrto11 u·ith Evertltorpe Totrnaltip.-Thc population of Drewton is 70, 
and of Everthorpe, 83 souls. Drcwton consists of the hall, six scattered 
farm houses, and a cottage, about 1 mile N. by W. of South Cave, and 2 
miles E. of North Cave. The aspect of the distlict is altogether romantic. 
The principal landowners are N. Jo,vett, Esq. (Lord of the :Manor), and F. 
Wilkinson, Esq. The name of Drewton is supposed to be a corruption of 
Druids' Town; and upon a commanding eminence is a rude and ponderous 
upright stone, said to be a vestige of the religious worship of the Druidical 
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priesthood. Mr. Oliver, in his History of Beverley, says that it was "un· 
questionably a primitive rock idol," which served "as an object of devotion 
to the native Britons." 

Drewt<m Manor Iio'I.WJ or Hall, formerly the seat of G. Baron, Esq., is 
now the property of Mr. Jowett, and the residence of Mr. J . B. Burland, 
solicitor. It stands in a deep secluded valley, among the south-western bills 
of the Wolds, where many British and Roman antiquities have been found, 
together with human bones. Wut Hill li01LSe, the residence of Mr. G. A. 
Walker, is situated on high ground, from which are very extensive views. 

Everthorpe is a small hamlet, consisting of two farm houses, a public house, 
a windmill, and some cottages. The manor and a great part of the soil, the 
property of the Eggiuton family, is now advertised for sale. Granye Farm, 
an allotment from Walling Fen, is the property of the Rev. Edward William 
Stillingfleet. Tho Marwr House, which is in the occupation of Mr. John 
Stather, is an ancient stone building, thatched, and nearly covered with ivy. 

South Cli.ff Township.-Area, 2,0.25 acres; population, 86 persons; as­
sessed property, £965.; rateable value, £826. With the exception of a few 
acres, the whole township belongs to the Hon. C. Langdale, of Houghton. 
There are here about 600 acres of rabbit warren. The Hamlet is small, and 
stands about 8t miles S. of 1\fo.rket Weighton, and 2 N.E. of North Cave. 
Hero is a Chapel of Ease, a low plain brick building, standing in a close sur­
rounded with trees, on the side of a bill. It was rebuilt in 1782, and is 
endowed with 18 acres of land. The Manor Ho'I.WJ, the residence of Mr. 
James Harker, farmer, is an ancient stone building, which once formed a 
part of a large mansion, the seat of some members of the Lo.ngdale family. 

CAVE (SooTs.}-This parish, including the townships of Bromfleet and 
Faxfleet, contains 8,609 acres (measuring the Humber coast, by which it is 
bounded for a considerable way) and 1,421 inhabitants. The amount of as· 
sessed property is £10,228. In South Cave is a bailiwick and two manors, 
viz :-South Cave East Hall, otherwise Faxfleet, and South Cave West Hall, 
which were formerly divided and held by the Harrisons, Daubys, Vavasours, 
Girlingstons, W ashingtons, Idles, and Lloyds. These manors, with a great 
part of the soil, now belong to H. G. Bamard, Esq. Until 1785, 2,879 
acres of this parish were in open fields, when they were enclosed, together 
with Walling Fen, of which nearly 600 acres are in this parish. The town 
being anciently washed by the tides of the Humber, is said to have obtained 
the name of Cove, afterwards corrupted to Cat'e. 

The Toumship of South Cave, including the coast, measures 4,824 acres, 
and without it, 4,680 acres; population in 1851, 987 souls; rateable value, 
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£7,244. The principal landowners, besides the Lord of the Manor, are the 
Broadley family, John A. Hudson, Esq., 1\lr. Thomas Me. Turk, and Robert 
M. Craven, M.D. 

The Vicarage is Discharged in the King's Books, but rated at £8. It is 
endowed with 57 acres of land, allotted in lieu of certain tithes; with tithe 
commutation (which yielded in 1854, £142.); and with surplice fees. The 
nett value of the Living, as entered in the office of the Archdeaconry, is 
£168. per ann. The Church (All Saints) is a fine structure, rebuilt, except 
the tower, in 1601. Its plan embraces a nave, north aisle, south transept, 
chancel, and west tower containing three bells. In 1848 the transept (called 
the Faxfleet transept) was rebuilt by the late George Baron, Esq., proprietor 
of the Faxfleet Hall estate ; who inserted stained glass in the 'vindows, by 
Wailes of Newcastle. In the years 1846-7 the chancel was entirely rebuilt, 
in the Decorated style, from a design by Mr. Pearson, architect, of London, 
by H. G. Barnard, Esq., the patron and impropriator; who placed figures 
of four of the Apostles, in rich, stained, old foreign glass in the east window, 
with excellent effect. In 18-18 the nave of the church was rc·arranged, res­
tored, and improved, by the contributions of several benefactors. The tower 
is embattled, and has pinnacles at the angles, and in the centre of each face. 
The interior is very neat; the aisle is separated from the nave by three 
pointed arches resting on octagonal pillars; and the chapel, or transept, is 
divided from the nave by a spacious pointed arch. There is an organ, on a 
gallery at the west end. The font is square, and very ancient. The present 
Vicarag6 Hotue, a neat stone building, was erected about the year 1846, at 
the expense of the present Vicar, the Rev. Edward William Stillingflcet. 

South Oat·e is a small ancient market town, situated partly in a hollow, at 
the western foot of the Wolds, in a very pleasant tract of country, about 7 
miles S. by E. of Market Weighton, 12 miles from Hull and Howden, and 
2! miles N. of the river Humber. It is in two parts, called the Market 
riace and the West End, and contains many good residences. The market, 
held on Mondays, has fallen almost into desuetude; but two large fairs are 
held on Trinity Monday and Tuesday, and on the second Monday nfter Old 
Miehaelmas Day. The former was granted by a charter of Edward I., and 
the latter established in 1831. The Market Ho'UIIe was erected in li06, and 
has an arcade beneath, and on the top a small circular bell turret and clock. 
The Yorkshire Banking Co. have a branch office here; and a Savings' Bank 
has recently been established here by Mr. Joscph lleaumont. 

The Independents, Primitive Methodists, and Wesleyana, have each a 
chapel here. The J:!atimutl School is held in the upper part of the :Market 
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House, anJ is endowed with £7. 10s. per ann. A school for girls, erected 
in 1844, by Mr. Bamard, is supported by Mrs. Bamard. 

Cat:e Ca~tle, the elegant seat of Henry Gee Barnard, Esq., is in the vici· 
nity of the town. The house, which is in the modem Gothic style, is built 
chiefly of \vhite brick, and omamented with a number of turrets and but· 
tresses. It stands in a small but pleasant park, with extensive pleasure 
grounds, neat gardens, and in front a fine sheet of water; and contains a 
good collection of paintings, among which is a fine portrait of the celebrated 
General Washington, the founder of the American Republic, whose great 
grandfather, John Washington, possessed part of the estates, and is supposed 
to have lived here, but emigrated from hence to America about the year 1657. 

TV eedley is a small hamlet, consisting of one farm and a few cottages, about 
8 miles E. of Cave. The farm is in the occupation of Mr. John Danby.' 

Bromfoet, or Broomfoet, Totf'111hip.-Area, 1,851 acres; population, 172 
persons; rateable nlue, £8,200 ; of which sum the Railway Company is 
rated at £1,445. Chief proprietors of the soil,- Jalland, Esq.,- Prickett, 
Esq., and H. G. Bamard, Esq. Bromfleet is a level district of rich marshes, 
including part of Walling Fen, enclosed in 1780. 

The Hamlet, which stands about 4 miles S.W. from Cave, is small, but is 
supposed to have been much larger; and a field called Chapel Croft, near 
the Humber, is said to be the site of an ancient Chapel of Ease to Cave. 

The School is endowed with £/S. per ann., the rent of three acres of land, 
and the Vicar pays a like sum to the teacher. 

Fa:rfteet is another small village, on the north bank of the river Humber, 
6t miles S.S.W. of South Cave, at the confluence of the Humber and Trent. 
The township contains 2,084 acres, and 812 inhabitants. The principal 
landholders are Nathan Atkinson, Esq., John George Weddall, Esq., and 
John S. Kirkpatrick, Esq. Rateable value, £2,459. 

Here is a Wesleyan Chapel, erected in 1844, and rebuilt in 1849. It is a 
neat brick building, with a School in connexion with it, erected in 1844. 

The township is intersected by the Market Weighton Canal, and includes 
a part of Walling Fen, and the hamlet of Onnerdike. The latter was once 
a lake, or mere, overflowed by the tides, from which it is now presened by 
embankments. 

South Hall, the residence of Mr. John Scholefield, is a large brick building, 
situate about nine or ten miles from South Cave. 

CoTTtNonA:~t.-This parish comprises the hamlets of Dunswell and New· 
land, and extends over an area of 0,405 acres, according to tbe Census Return 
of 1851. Tho population is 2,854 souls. A great part of the parish is a 
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level plain, lying between the Wolds and the river Hull, which forms ita 
eastern boundary; and about 2,000 acres are upon the declivity of the hills 
lying immediately upon limestone rock. There is a great dh·ersity of soil, 
from a light gravel to a strong tena.cious clay. This place is of considerable 
antiquity. Its name, Cot-Ing-Ham, implies a Saxon residence on a British 
site. The two last syllables are Saxon, the first British; and together they 
imply 11 sheltered habitation in the meadows of Ket, or Ceridwen, the great 
arkite female deity of the Ancient Britons. In the reign of the Confessor, 
Gamel, the son of Osbe~. \Vas the owner of the soil; and at the time of the 
Norman Survey, the manor was four miles in length. In the reign of Henry 
II. the manor belonged to the family of De Estoterille, or Stuteville; and in 
the year 1200, Wm. de Stuteville entertained King John, his Queen, en 

suite, at his manor houso here, with great magnificence. The royal party 
\vere then making 11 progress into the north ; after visiting Lincoln they 
crossed the Humber from Grimsby, and proceeded to Cottingham; and in 
return for his reception, the monarch granted De Stuteville many important 
privileges, among which were charters for 11 market and fair here, and per· 
mission to embattle and fortify his residence. The King also constituted 
him lligh Sheriff of this county, an office which he had previously held only 
by substitution. William de StuteYille's 'great granddaughter Joan* married 
into the family of De Wake, and by her the manor or barony of Cottingham 
was transferred to Bald win do Wake, her son and heir, together with all the 
fees pertaining to it, viz :-Alstorwick, Brantingham, Etton, Hessle, North 
Cave, Roule, Skipwith, Sculcoates, Willardby, and Wolfreton. In 1299 
Edward I. spent his Christmas with Lord Wake at Cottingham. (See page 
10.) In 1319 Thomas de Wake obtained a charter of confirmation, em­
powering him to hold a weekly market and two annual fairs at Cottingham, 
and a patent to convert his manor houso into a castle of defenee, under the 
name of Baynard's Castle, with full authority to keep it regularly fortified 
and provided with an armed garrison. For ages this noble mansion con· 
tinued a distinguished monument of feudal grandeur. In 1852 John Earl 
of Kent died seized of the lordship of Cottingbam, which he had inherited 
from Edmund of Woodstock, the son of King Edward I ., who married Me.r­
garet, the sister of Thomas de Wake. She bore to him Joan Plantagenet, 
the celebrated beauty, known in history as "the fair maid of Kent." This 

• An old English Gazetteer stlltes that a member of this fllmily, named J oan, or 
Johanna de Stuteville, had an impression on her seal of "a woman riding sideways, 
with the bridle in her right hand, she beiDg the first, 'tis said, t.bat began that custom 
now in use 1fitb her sex." 
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famous lady married Thomas de Holland, who, at his death, left her the 
manor of Cottingham and its members, and she subsequently married Ed­
ward the Black Prince, to whom she bore Richard, afterwards King of 
England, under the title of Richard II. 

It is recorded that in 1541, when Henry VIII. was at Hull, hearing that 
the Lord Wake of Cottingham bad a beautifu1 wife, be sent a message to his 
lordship, that he would the next day honour him with a visit ; but the amo­
rous monarch was disappointed of his intended visit; for that very same 
night, Baynard Castle was burnt to the ground. It appears that Lord Wake, 
who saw the impracticability of declining or evading the intended honour; 
and who knew that if the charms of his lady should make an impression on 
the heart of his royal visitor, disgrace, and perhaps imprisonment, or even 
death, would be his certain lot; determined to preserve his honour, and the 
virtue of his wife, at the expense of his property. He therefore sallied forth 
at dead of night, with his wife on his arm, and gave private orders to his 
steward to fire the castle. His commands were obeyed so effectually, that 
in the morning nothing remained of this noble mansion but a black pile of 
smouldering ruins. The tidings were conveyed to Henry, that the Castle 
bad been consumed by accidental flames; and the King, it is said, offered 
to give Lord Wake the sum of £2,000. to assist him in rebuilding it; which 
offer his lordship declined. Thus sank Baynard's Castle, and nothing now 
remains but moats and ramparts, inclosing an area of about two acres, to 
mark the spot where this nobleman made so great a sacrifice to preserve 
the honour of his family from violation. A curious glass inkstand and a 
spur were dug up some years ago, on the site of this mansion. 

The Humber waters formerly flowed occasionally to Cottingbam, four miles 
inland from the present bank of that estuary. Subsequently, artificial banks 
were made, five feet above ordinary high water; but these, owing to more 
recent drainage, are not now requisite. 

At the death of Lord Wake without male issue, the extensive manor of 
Cottingbam was chiefly divided into three parts, as a marriage portion to his 
three daughters, who were respectively married to the Duke of Richmond, 
the Earl of W estmorland, and Lord Powis. Hence the three portions ac­
quired the names of Cottingbam Richmond, Cottingbam Westmorland, and 
Cottingham Powis, with Baynard Castle; and the present lord of these three 
manors is Benjamin Haworth, Esq. There are two other manors, called 
the Rectory Manor, of which the Bishop of Chester is lord; and the Manor 
of Sr.ierbam, which belongs to di.trerent proprietors, and had its name from 
Saierus, or Saer de Button, who cut the drain that forms the present channel 
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of the rivt:r Hull. (See page 11.) The chief landowners now are Benjamio 
Haworth, Joseph Sykes, John Riugrose, Joseph Gee, Edward Wamer, W. 
Wilkinson, and Jamcs Walker, Esquires. The open fields, 1,090 acres, 
were enclosed in 1791, and freed from tithes, by allotments to the impro­
priator and the Vicar. The old enclosures are partly subject to tithes in 
kind, and partly to a small yearly modus. 

This parish has many springs of excellent water, some of which are inter­
mitting. At Spring Head, 2 miles S. of Cottingham village, there are copious 
springs, which formerly supplied Hull with pure water, conveyed to the 
town in an open air conduit, tluee milas in length; and 240,000 gallons of 
water were then raised here daily. This water contains a small portion of 
carbonate of lime and iron, which are separated by exposure to the atmos­
phere. The several contests between the inhabitants of Cottingham and the 
neighbouring villages, respecting fresh "·atcr, are noticed at pp. 25, 27, 28. 

HaltempriiSe, or Haltemprice Prwry.-In the 15th of Edward II. {1822), 
Thomas Lord de Wake founded a monastery of Augustine Friars, or Black 
Canons, at Cottingham, and peopled it from the convent of Brunne, in Lin­
colnshire; but finding that a perpetual title to the site could not be fur­
nished, it was removed, in 1824, to a hamlet in the neighbourhood, then 
called Newton, but afterwards, Alta-P1·ua, or Haltemprisc. It was dedicated 
in honour of the Nativity of our Blessed Saviour, the Annunciation of the 
Blessed Virgin, and the Exaltation of the Holy Cross, though generally dis­
tinguished by the latter. The founder endowed it with several lands and 
liberti<'s, and many others followed his example. The institution continued 
to flourish till the Dissolution, when it consisted of a Prior and twelve Canons, 
and its revenues were valued at .£178. Os. lOtd. gross, and £100. Os. Sd. 
nett. In 1541 the site was given or sold to Thomas Culpepper, but the 
house sank into ruin, and l1as totally disappeared; the place was f!Sterwards 
granted to the Ellerker family, and it is now an extra-parochial farm of 202 
acres, in the occupation of Messrs. John and Charles Ellyard. The farm 
house stands on the site of the Priory, and is surrounded by a moat. The 
house bears the date of ll'i8·1. Human remains and me.ny antiquities have 
been found here. 

The Priors of Ulis monastery were Tho•. de Overton in J 327; Robt. Engayue, 1881 ; 
John de Hicklings, 1828; Thos. de Elveley,-; Wm. de Wolfreton, 1348; Rt. de Hick­
lil'lgs, 1349; Peter de Harpham, 1368; Rt. de Clayworth, -; Wm. de Selby, 1391; Rd. 
Worlaby, -;John Twing, 1424; John Dolehouse,l4~1; Rt. Holme, 1466; Wm. Mar­
ehal, 1471; Wm. Kyrkham, 1~; and John Wymersley, also Vicar of Elveley, 1~06. 
A quarrel which took place between one of the Priors and Ule ~rift' of Bull, is noiiced 
at pase 82 of Ulis volume. 
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In Cottingham there existed an ancient Guild, dedicated to St. George, 
which was connected partly with the Priory of Haltemprise, and partly with 
the merchants, who were thus associated for general and individual benefit; 
and another fraternity, called the Guild of Corpus Christi. 

The Living is a Vicarage, with the Perpetual Curacy of Skidby, certified 
at £42., and returned at £124 per ann., being augmented with £200., given 
by a lato Vicar, the Rev. J. Deans, and £1,100., in two Parliamentary 
grants, obtained in 1812 and 1814. Patron and impropriator, the Bishop of 
Chester; Vicar, Rev. Chas. Overton. The Church (Blessed Virgin) is a large 
handsome Gothic edifice, comprising a nave with aisles, transepts, and chancel, 
with a fine lofty embattled and pinnacled tower in the centre, with double 
buttresses at the angles, and containing four bells. The west front of the 
church has an elegant appearance; all the windows have weather cornices, 
resting on grotesque heads ; and the whole edifice, including a south porch, 
is embattled. The centre window in the west end is of four lights ; those 
in the ends of the transepts are of six lights; and the east window, which 
has a depressed arched head, is of seven lights. The great south window was 
filled with stained glass, in 1825, representing our Saviour, the Evangelists, 
the three Theological Virtues, &c. On the north side of the chancel is an 
attached chapel, formerly a chantry dedicated to St. Saviour. The interior 
of the church is neat; the nave and aisles are divided by arcades of five 
pointed arches, springing from columns formed by a union of several cylin­
ders with plain capitals. The pulpit is of stone, and is well carved; there 
is a good organ; and the font is a large modem vase of stone. The church 
was built in 1272, and restored in 1845. In the chancel is an ancient 
tomb, supposed to be that of the founder, Nicholas de Stutcville; and in 
other parts of the edifice are tablets to members of the Burton family of 
Hotham ; and a neat Grecian monument to the memory of the late Ben­
jamin Blaydes Haworth, Esq. 

The Villa!/~. formerly a market town, is large, and contains some hand­
some villa residences, and is very agreeably situated at the eastern foot of 
the Wolds, about 5 miles N.W. of Hull, and 4t S.E. from Beverley. 

"The contemplative mind cannot but reflect, while viewing the deserted 
site of the once magnificent buildings which graced the town of Cottiugham, 
on the uses to which they were formerly appropriated," writes the Rev. G. 
Olivcr. "The pealing anthem of praise, awakening the solemn stillness of 
midnight, and elevating the soul to something of a higher character than 
a cold and formal devotion ; the daily alms and regulated prayers charac­
terized the solemn convent; while the Castle was enlivened by the baronial 
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feast, the shout of revelry, and the minstrel's cheerful harp, attended by 
that symbol of security, the heavy tread and sullen clank of the mailed sol­
dier, as be kept his solitary guard, and paced with measured step, the terraces 
ar battlements. These days are past;" continues this writer, "the inmates 
of the Castle and the monastery, baron and monk, minstrel and soldier, are 
equally mouldering in the dust; the massive structures themselves have 
vanished from our sight; and not a single vestige remains to tell us of their 
form, their grandeur, or extent." 

The Independents, Primitive Methodists, and Wesleyans, have each a 
chapel here. Mark Kirby, in 1712, endowed the Free School with about 17 
acres of land, for which ten poor children were to be taught free. An 
Infant School was established here in 1823, and a National School in 1835. 
The poor have the rents of four acres of land, awarded at the enclosure, in 
lieu of two acres of meadow, left by Edward Thompson, in 1653. They have 
also the interest of £200., left by James Milner, in 1io0; and of £100., be­
queathed in 1813, by Joseph Meadlcy. 

A large portion of the land in the vicinity of the village is appropriated to 
the cultivation of vegetables, and other horticultural produce, for the market 
at Hull, which place is also, in a great measure, supplied with milk and 
butter from this neighbourhood. In the village is the first intermediate 
Station on the Hull, Bridlington, and Scarborough Railway. 

Cottingl&am Castu, about a mile westward of the village, is a fine mansion 
in the modem Gothic style, built nearly fifty years ago, on a woody eminence, 
by the late T. Thompson, Esq., F.S.A., who died in Paris, in 1828. (See 
page 301.) There are some fine vie\vs of the river Humber, Holderness, 
and the town of Hull, from the house and grounds. The place is the pro­
perty of Col. T. P. Tbompson, and the residence of John B. Bark,vortb, Esq. 

HuU Bank HotUe, for many years the residence of the Durton family, and 
now the sent of Benjamin Haworth, Esq., is a large handsome stone building, 
situated in a well-wooded lawn, on the west bank of the river Hull, about 3 
miles N.E. of the town of Hull. The mansion is seen to great advantage from 
the Hull and Beverley road, through a long and broad avenue of lofty trees. 

Cottingham Grange is the residence of John Ringrose, Esq. ; and Cot· 
tingliam Ilouse, of Joseph Gee, Esq. Sprin9 Head lioU88 is the residence 
of Samuel Lightfoot, Esq. 

Dunstt·eU is a hamlet in Cottingbam, situate~ on the Hull and Deverlcy 
road, about midway between those towns. The place is ]ocally called T!ls 
Bee1· Houses, there being two public houses there, one facing the other. 

Newland is another hamlet in this parish, but may now be considered a 
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suburb of Hull. A neat Chapel of Eau was erected here, by subscription, 
in 1883, as well as the School, which is endowed with the interest of £100., 
left in 1813, by Joseph Meadley. Newland was the boundary, in this direc­
tion, of the County of the Town of Kingston-upon-Hull. (See p. 86.) 

Newland Houu is the seat of John Hewetson, Esq. Here are Glu~ Workl, 
carried on by the Messrs. Carrick. 

ELLOUGHTON.-This parish includes the hamlet of Brough, and township 
of Wauldby. The area of Elloughton-cum-Brough township is 1,998 acres, 
and the population of Elloughton is 882 souls. The Hull and Selby Rail­
way intersects the township. The rateable value is £3,607. Miss Broadley 
is Lady of the Manor, and chief proprietor of the soil. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in the gift of the Archbishop of 
York, and incumbency of the Rev. Thomas Williams. It is valued in the 
King's Books at £5. Os. 5d., and now worth £144. per annum. The tithes 
were commuted, at the enclosure of the parish, in 1794. 

The Church (St. Mary) was rebuilt, except the tower, in 1845, by sub­
scription and a parish rate, and consists of a nave, chancel, side chapels 
or transepts, and a tower. The chancel is longer than the nave, and has 
twelve lancet lights in it, nearly all filled with stained glass; and there is 
some of thp same beautiful material in the transept windows. All the other 
windows have borders of coloured glass. The doorway on the south side has 
a pointed arch, with mouldings resting on attached columns. The chancel 
arch is very ·high ; and each transept is open to the naTe by a pointed arch. 
The seats are open, and stained to resemble oak, as are also the open timber 
roofs. The pulpit, which is of stone, is octagonal, and the font is of the 
same form. The four apexes of the chu.rch are crowned with crosses. The 
tower contains two bells. The church altogether is a neat structure. 

The rillag~ stands about 2! miles S.E. by S. of South Cave. In it is an 
Independent and Primitive Methodist Chapel. The Manor Hom~ is au 
ancient building, in the occupation of Mr. Rd. Blythe, farmer. The Quakers 
have a place of interment here, and formerly had a meeting house. The 
poor have rents, amounting to about £12. per annum, distributed yearly 
amongst them. 

Brough is an ancient village, supposed by Horsley and other good authori­
ties, to occupy the site of the Roman Station Petuaria, being on the line of 
the Roman road Ermine Street, which passed from Lincoln to York; and 
here is said to have crossed the broad stream of the Humber, by Brough 
Ferry; but some authorities state that the old Roman ferry was at Ferriby. 
(See vol. i., p. 73, and p. 169 of this vol.) Drake does not think that Brough 
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was the Petuaria of Ptolemy, but he says that the place " seems to bid fair 
for being a Roman fortress." We have noticed at page 168 that there was 
a large number of celts found here in 1719. The ferry at Brough is still 
much used for the conveyance of passengers, horses, &c., to and from Win­
teringham and Ferriby Sluice, on the Lincolnshire side of the river. 

Brough is situated a little more than one mile to the S.E. of Elloughton; 
and near the village is a Station on the above-mentioned railway. The line 
here passes over an embankment and viaduct 17 feet high. The village 
contains a few good residences, and some comfortable villas and terraces have 
recently been erected in its vicinity. A very neat Methodi1t Ch4pel was 
erected here, in the ecclesiastical style, in 1852. Population, 124 souls. 

W auldby Towmhip.-Area, 990 acres; population, 49 persons. The Vil­
lage consists of one_fann house and a few cottages, and is situated 4 miles 
E. by S. of South Cave, and 2 N.E. of Elloughton. Miss Broadley is Lady 
of the Manor, and owner of all the land, except about 200 acres, awarded at 
the enclosure, in lieu of tithes. 

The remains of an old Chapel of Eau, which stood here for a long time, 
were pulled down, and a new chapel built, in 1885, by the late owner of the 
soil, Mrs. Raikes. It is in the Early English style, and consists of a nave, 
chancel, porch, and bell turret containing two bells. Some of the windows 
contain stained glass; the pulpit is of stone, and the seats are open. The 
edifice is very neat. 

Wauldby Hall, the manor house, was rebuilt in 1880, and is occupied by 
Mr. Henry Lambert, farmer. 

HESSLE.-The area of this parish, according to the Census Return of 
1851, is 8,910 acres, including the coast, and the population, 1,676 souls. 
The assessed property in 1815 amounted to £7,878. Rateable value, £11,181. 
The parish lies on the north bank of the river Humber, across which is a 
royal ferry to Barton on the opposite shore. Edv.·ard I. en ruite crossed this 
ferry in A.D. 1800. (See page 11.) Hesslo is intersected by the Hull and 
Selby Railway, the first intermediate Station on that line being here. 

At Husle Cliff are most extensive quarries of chalk, and several mills for 
the manufacture of whiting ; and here the great range of the W old district 
terminates. (See vol. i., p. 3.) 

The manor of HaiuU was held by the ancient lords of Holdemess, and 
afterwards by the lords of Cottingham. The present Lord of the Manor is 
Major Richard Sykes, and the other chief proprietors of the soil are T. B. 
Locke, Esq., J. R. Pease, Esq., and Henry Barkworth, Esq.; but several 
other freeholders have possessions in the parish. 
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As we have seen at p. 1~8, the church of the Holy Trinity at Hull was a 
chapel of ease to the church at HeBBle, until the year 1661 ; and the incum­
bents were styled Vicars of Hessle-cum-Hull. The Lit-ing of HeBBle is a 
Vicarage, in the patronage of the Crown, and incumbency of the Rev. Henry 
Newmarch. It is valued in the King's Books at £10. 7s. Id., and now re­
turned at £303. per ann. The rectorial tithes were commuted, at the enclo­
sure in 1794, for an allotment of about 300 acres of land and a yearly modus. 

The Church (All Saints) is a large handsome edifice, in the Early English 
style, comprising a nave, side aisles, chancel, and a west embattled tower, 
surmounted with an octagonal spire. The tower contains four bells, and a 
clock. The clerestory of the nave is embattled, and has five pointed windows 
of three lights. The interior of the church is handsome, and was refitted in 
1853. There are some stained glass windows in the chancel, and a large 
painting of the Last Supper, by M. Parmentier, in 1711. This picture was 
formerly placed above the communion table at Trinity Church, Hull, and 
was remoYed here by J. R. Pease, Esq., in 1831. (Seep. 183.) The pulpit 
and reading desk are handsome. The nave is divided from the aisles by 
three pointed arches, and the chancel from the aisles by two similar arches. 
The font is au octagon basin of stone, on a similar pedestal. Th.ree sides 
of the nave are galleried, and there is an organ at the west end. 

The 'Vicarage Hcnue is a neat residence, near the church. 
The 'Village of Heule, which is situated about 4 miles W. by S. of Hull, 

is large, well-built, and contains many excellent houses, some good shops, 
and there are a number of mansions and villa residences in the vicinity; the 
finest of which are Heule Mount, the seat of Thomas Bentley Locke, Esq. ; 
and Heuleu:ood Ho!Ue, the seat of J. R. Peast', Esq. 

In the village are places of worship for the Wesleyans, Primitive Metho­
dists, and Wesleyau Reformers. The Hospital and School, given to the parish 
many years ago by a Rev. Joseph Wilson, form a building, containing three 
low rooms for three poor almspeople, and a chamber over them used as a 
scboolroom. The schoolmaster is paid £Hi. per ann., and the almspeople 
receive £2. each per ann., from Chamberlains's Charity. (Seep. 879). The 
poor of Hassle have other charities distributed amongst them, to the amount 
of about £50. per ann. In 18~5 an Act was passed for a new road from 
Hull to Hessle, which-was opened July 28th, 1826. 

HoTH.ur.-Area, ~,670 acres; population, 886; assessed property, £1,962. 
Nearly the whole of this parish was in opt>n fields and commons, abounding 
in rabbits, until 1768, when it was enclosed. It is situated between the 
W olds and the great plains of Howden and York. The soil is pleasingly 
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undulated, and the scenery is of cheerful aspect. The surface is principally a 
light and sandy loam. The manor formerly belonged to the Hotham family, 
now of South Dalton, but it is at present the property, in right of hie wife, 
of Henry Burton, Esq., who is also the principal owner of the soil. 

The Living is a Rectory, in the patronage of the Crown, and incumbency 
of the Rev. Archer Thompson; it is rated at £10. Os. 7!d., and returned at 
£828. per ann. The tithes were commuted, in 1889, for about £44., and 
there are about 400 acres of glebe land. The Church (St. Oswald) is an 
ancient structure, consisting of a nave, chancel, north chapel, and a massy 
square tower at the west end, containing two bells. The tower is of Norman 
architecture, and has a belt of chevron or zigzag work ; but the rest of the 
edifice has modern pointed windows. The church was restored in 1755, 
and has lately been repaired. In the gallery at the west end is an organ. 
There are some neat marble monuments in the chancel, to members of the 
family of the Rev. E . W. StillingBeet; and there is one in the nave to the 
daughter of Sir John Owen. The &clQrJJ House, a small ancient building, 
is occupied by a farmer. 

The Vill4g~ is pleasantly situated, about lt mile N. of North Cave, and 3 
N. W. by N. of South Cave. There is a School held in a room adjoining 
the house occupied by the schoolmistress, gratis; each being the property of 
the Rev. E. W. Stillingfleet. It is supported by subscription, the Rector 
being the largest contributor. 

Hotham Hall, which stands in North Cave township, is noticed at page 
682. Hotham Houu, at the south end of the village, is the residence of 
John E. Brooke, Esq.; and Hotham J'iUa is the residence of the Rev. Edw. 
W. StillingBeet, Vicar of South Cave. The Manor Houu is in the occupa­
tion of Mr. Oeorge Stather, farmer. 

KtRX ELLA.-Tbis parish, together with those of Hessle and Ferriby, 
formerly constituted Hullshire, or the County of the Town of Kingston-upon­
Hull, bot were, by Act of Parliament, in 1888, annexed to tho Hunsley 
Beacon Division of Harthill Wapentake. The parish of Kirk Ella comprises 
the township of that name, and that of West Ella, as well as the greater 
parts of those of Anlaby and Willerby, and the hamlets of Tranby and 
Wol.freton. The area of the entire parishes is 4,890 acres, and the population, 
1,167 souls. Amount of assessed property, £9,784. The soil is a strong 
clayey marl, well adapted for wheat, and the surface, though generally fiat, is 
well drained. The Towmhip of Kirk EUa contains 980 acres, and 306 in­
habitants; rateable value, £2,852.; assessed property, £2,780. This place 
derives its name from its ancient proprietor Ella, the Saxon King of Deira, 
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of whose demesne it formed a part. On the downs west of Kirk Ella, are 
several circular pits or holes, and other strong indications of the site of a 
British village, adjacent to an ancient trackway that points to the passage of 
the Humber at Ferriby. At the Domesday Survey, Kirk Ella belonged to 
Ralph de Mortimer, and was part of tho manor of Ferriby, but how long it 
continued so is uot known. In the reign of Ed\v. II., great part of the lands 
of Kirk Ello. and West Ello. belonged to the Wakes of Cottingham, and 
Lord Wake gave part of the lands, and the advowson of the church, to the 
Priory which he founded at Haltemprice. The manor of Kirk Ello. is now 
the property of Richard Sykes, Esq., and the other principallandholders are 
Charles Whittaker, Esq., and Mrs. Ann Wilson. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at £18. 2s. 8}d., and now 
worth £285. per ann. The patronage is vested in R. Sykes, Esq. (the im­
propriator), and the Rev. Joseph Thompson is the Vicar. The tithes of Kirk 
Ella, West Ella, and Willerby, were commuted in 1706 and 1824. 

The Church (St. Andrew) is o. Gothic structure, situated on a hill, and com­
prises a nave with side aisles, a chancel, and a west embattled tower; the latter 
is comprehended in the plan, and contains three bells. On the south side is 
a porch, embattled, as is the clerestory, which contains four pointed windows. 
The aisles are separated from tho body by four pointed arches, those on the 
north side being supported by circular pillars, and those on the south by 
octagonal columns. The easternmost intercolumniation of the north aisle 
forms the Legard Chapel; and there are several tablets to that ancient family. 
Between the nave and chancel is a good screen of carved work. In the 
chancel is a window filled with stained glass, charged with figures represent­
ing the Baptism of Christ, St. John preaching in the desert, &c., inserted at 
the expense of R. Sykes, Esq. ; and a stained glass window in the south 
aisle, erected by subscription, represents Our Saviour blessing little children, 
&c. Stained glass in the west window of the tower exhibits figures of the 
Evangelists, St. Andrew, St. Peter, St. Paul, &c. In the chancel is a beau­
tiful white marble monument, erected to commemorate Joseph Sykes, Esq., 
Alderman, and twice Mayor of Hull, who died in 1805. On a base is seated 
a figure of Commerce, with a ship, bales of goods, &c. ; above is a rock, and 
sarcophagus, and a figure of the deceased rising ; and there are also repre­
sentations of Religion, Justice, and Charity. There are a few more memorials 
to the Sykes, and other families. The Vicarag~ HotU~ was rebuilt in 1889, 
by a grant from Queen Anne's Bounty, and by subscription. 

The Village of Kirk EUa stands about 5! miles W. by N. of Hull, and like 
all the villages in the immediate vicinity of Hull, contains a number of hand-
~La 4A 
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some residences, principally belonging to the opulent merchants connected 
witll that port. From its elevated situation it commands some fine ,·iews of 
Hull, the Humber, Holderness, &c. There is a school, with a house for the 
master, but no endowment; and in 1838, Richard Sykes, Esq., built an 
Infant School here, which is chiefly supported by him. The poor have the 
rents of SA. 3i.r. of land, awarded at the enclosure, in lieu of several parcels 
of land, left by .Fmncis \V right, in 1Gi4; and the dividends of .£180. 16s., 
navy 5 per cent.'!. purchased with .£.200. left by John M arshall, in 1803. 

West Ella T01mship contains 5i0 acres, of the rateable value of .£1,087., 
and a population of 18i persons. The "·hole is the property and manor of 
Rd. Sykes, Esq., whose sent is a handsome mansion here, called West Ella 
House. West Ella Hamlet lies 0 miles W. by N. of Hull; but several of its 
houses form part of the village of Kirk Ella. There is a National Srhool, 
and a JVesleyan Chapel here. 

Anlaby T01rnslti]•, which is mostly in Kirk Ella, but partly in Hessle aml 
Ferriby, contains 2,(1.20 acres, and 500 inhabitants. Hateable value, £2,837.; 
assessed property, .£3,\185. This place was anciently a possession of a family 
of the same name, and in 1100, a great part of the estate pnsStd by inter­
marriage with its heiress into the family of Legard, of whom Sir T. D. Legard, 
Dart., of Ganton (to whom belongs a great pnrt of Anlaby), is the represent­
ative. (Seep. 4i5). The township comprises the hamlets of lVoifreton and 
Tranby, the former of which is partly in the township of Kirk Ella. The 
contests between tbe villages of Anlaby &c., and the town of Hull, on the 
subject of fresh -water, are noticed nt pp. 25, 27, and 2S; and much that 
relates to this neighbourhood will be found in the llistory of Hull in the be­
ginning of this ,·olume. At page 12, we have seen tbnt the waters of the 
Humber sometimes pn.ssed to and fro, o,·er the lowlands between Hull and 
Aulnby, and that in 13;')0, King Edward ill., ordered the road to be raised 
between these two places. 

The Village of Anlab!l is situated about 4 miles W. of Hull. The sur­
rounding country is richly diversified, and the beauty of the scenery and 
salubrity of the air render it desirable as a plnce of residence. Consequently 
the tillage and its vicinity possess several neat and handsome mansions and 
villa residences. Th.e \Vcsleynns and Primitive Methodists have each a 
chapel here; and l\Ir. Casson l1as here an excellent and well conducted 
private Asylum for the Insane, with gardens, pleasure grounds, &c. 

lVillerby T01msliip is partly in Kirk Ella, and partly in Cottingham, and 
contains 820 ac:res, nnd 214 inhabitants. Assessed property, .£1,82!). Daniel 
Sykes, Esq., of Raywell (a pleasant mansion in this township), is Lord of the 
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Manor, and owner of a great part of the soil. The Hamlet stauds about 5t 
miles W.N.W. of Hull, and contains a Primitive Methodist Chapel. 

NEw VILLAGE.-This is an extra parochial district, containing 200 acres, 
and 146 inhabitants. Assessed property, £1)62. The place formed part of 
the once wild uncultivated morass, called Wulling Fen, and at the enclosure 
of that now fertile plain, in 1780, was not ullotted to any parish, but was 
sold for the purpose of liquidating part of the expense of the drainage and 
enclosure. It is a suburb of Newport and Gilberdikc, where are commo­
dious wharves aud several brick aud tile yards on both sides of the Market 
Weighton Canal. The road from North Cave to Howden passes through the 
village, which is situated about 4 miles S.W. of South Cave. Some years 
ago no less than 1,700,000 tiles, and 2,000,000 of bricks, were made here 
annually, but now that the Railway Company have closed the entrance to 
the canal, the quantities made are not so large. Thet·e is here a bed of clay 
superior to any in the country, which is got to the depth of 80 feet below the 
surface ; and this land, which eighty years ago was a barren waste, has been 
sold, for the above manufacture, for £200. per acre. The Wesleyans and 
Primitive Methodists have each a small chapel here. 

NonTH FEnnmv.-This is one of the three parishes which formerly 
constituted Hullshire, and it includes the greater part of the township of 
Swanland. According to the Census Return of 1841, the area of North 
Ferriby township is 1,1il0 acres, and that of Swanland, 2,150 acres; but the 
Census Return of 1801 gives the area of the former at 1,Q3! acres, and that 
of the latter, ~.118 acres, including the coast. By local estimation Ferriby 
township contains 1,083 acres, and Swanland, 8,040 acres. The population 
of Ferriby, which includes parts of the hamlets of Dairy Cotes, Wold-Ings, 
and Newington, all of which ex:tend into the township of Swanland, is 472 
souls; rateable value, £3,561. Tho parish lies on the north side of the 
Humber, opposite South I?erriby, in Lincolusbire, on the south bank of the 
same river. North Ferrib.r was successively held by the Mortimers, the De 
la Poles, the Bacons, and many other families, and now belongs to a number 
of proprietors, most of whom have handsome mansions in the village. 

About the year 1200 Lord Eustace de V esci, of Broom fleet, founded here 
a Pricry of Kniyhts of St. Jo!&n of JerUJalem; but after the extinction of tbnt 
Order, it was occupied by Canons of St. Augustine, till its suppression in 
1536, when its revenues were valued at £05. Us. 7 !d., or £00. 1s. 2d. nett, 
and it was granted or sold to Thomas Culpepper. "The site of this Priory," 
says Hadley, in his Hutory of Ilull, p. 850, "has been in the possession of 
a hundred different rcrsons between its dissolution and 1606, all those being 
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commonly ruined, or reduced to beggary, that had anything to do with it." 
No vestige of this venerable edifice now remains, nor anything that may 
cause so much as a conjecture that such a building ever existed. In the 
history of Hull, in the preceding pages of this volume, much information will 
be found respecting this parish and neighbourhood. There we have shown 
that St. Mary's Church, in that place, was once a sort of Chapel of E'ase to 
the mother church at Ferriby ; as the church of the Holy Trinity stood in 
the same relation to Resale. (See pp. 7, 135.) 

The Livi119 is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at .£8. 13s. 4d., and now re­
turned at .£163. per annum, being augmented with .£1,100. of Queen Annc's 
Bounty and Parliamentary grants, from 1802 to 1826; .£200. given by the 
Rev. J. Scott, and Mrs. Pyncombe's Trustees, in 1818 ; and .£200. given by 
the late Sir Robert Peel. Patron and impropriator, W. W. Wilkinson, Esq.; 
Vicar, Rev. C. W. Wawn. The tithes were commuted in 1824. 

The Church (All Saints) was rebuilt, on the site of an ancient edifice, in 
1840, and is a handsome structure, consisting of a nave with aisles, a chancel, 
and a west tower, surmounted by an octagonal spire. The tower contains 
five bells. The cost of the building was raised by subscription, aided by a 
Government grant of .£400. The interior is very handsome; the nave and 
aisles are separated by arcades of four pointed arches; the east window and 
the windows of the south aisle are filled with &tained glass; and there is a 
neat organ, and an elegant font. In the chancel is a handsome marble 
monument to the memory of Brigadier Luke Lillingston, who died in 1713, 
and Elizabeth his \Vife, who died in 1699; also, a tablet to the family of 
Etherington, who resided in this parish for many generations. 

The Village is seated on a gentle acclivity overlooking the Humber, about 
7 miles W. by S. of Hull. There is a Station on the Hull and Selby Railway, 
about half a mile S. of the village. The Primitive llfetlwdilt Chapel was 
built in 1828; and the School was founded and endowed with .£10. a year, 
by Luke Lillingston, Esq., in 1713, and augmented with a similar annuity 
by Sir Henry Etherington. It is conducted oo.ihe national system, and the 
building in which it is held was erected iu 1828, by subscription, aided by a 
grant of .£40. from the National Society. 

Dr. ThomtU W atson, Bishop of St. Davids, who was deprived of his See 
for Simony, in 1660, was a native of North Ferriby 

Swanland Townsllip.-The population of this township is 457 persons; 
rateable value; .£7,897.; assessed property, .£.1,811. It includes many scat­
tered farms on the eastern side of the W olds; the estate of Braffords HaU, 
a handsome mansion of white brick, at the head of a romantie dE'll ; and 
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Swanland Hall, the elegant seat of John Todd, Esq. In it formerly resided 
the ancient family of Haldenby, in a splendid mansion, of which no remains 
are left. From an elevated spot near Swanland mill, are seen the shores of 
both the Trent and Humber, and the low country of Holderness, as far as 
the eye can reach. The Village is delightfully situated on a bold acclivity, 
one mile N. of Ferriby, and the landscapes seen from it are greatly admired 
by strangers for their beauty, variety, and grandeur. Here is an Independent 
Chapel, endowed with .£20. per ann.; and attached to it is a School, with an 
endowment of £7. per ann. The Primitive Methodilt Chapel was built in 1828. 

NEWBALD.-This parish comprises the townships of North and South 
N ewbald. The area of the former township is 3,960 acres, and its population 
numbers 665 souls. Rateable value, .£5,164.; assessed property, .£5,974. 
The surface is undulated, the soil chalk and gravel, and the scenery pictu­
resque. Principal landowners, John Clough, Esq. (Lord of the Manor, but 
whose estates in this parish are now advertised for sale), and Mr. William 
Stephenson. The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, valued in the Liber 
Regis at .£4., and now worth .£200. per annum ; being augmented with 
.£1,000., in Parliamentary grants. from 1726 to 1816; and with .£200. given 
by the Earl of Thanet, in 1778. It is a peculiar of the Dean and Chapter 
of York, and in the patronage of the Prebendary of North Newba.ld in York 
Cathedral, who is also the impropriator of the great tithes of this township. 
The tithes were commuted at the enclosure in 1777. The present Vicar is 
the Rev. George B. Blyth. The Churcl' (St. Nicholas), according to Allen, 
"has been celebrated among architectural critics as one of the most perfect 
Anglo-Norman parochial edifices in the kingdom." It comprises a nave, 
chancel, small transepts, and a large square embattled and pinno.cled tower 
in the centre, containing three bells. Within the porch on the south side 
is a magnificent doorway, composed of five receding arches springing from an 
impost which is broken at each arch, and serves as abici to four columns 
atto.ched to each jamb. The date of this doonvay is the latter part of the 
11th century. Above the arch is a statue of Our Saviour, enclosed in the 
vesica piscis, which is surrounded with chevron and other mouldings. The 
windows in the nave are circular beaded. There is a good Norman doorway 
in the south transept, having four receding arches of chevron work ; and on 
the north side of the church are two other circular headed doorways. The 
chancel is of a much later date, having windows with pointed heads. Tho 
east window is of five lights. There is a small chapel, now used as a vestry, 
on the north side of the chancel. In different parts of tbo church are several 
tiers of sculptured blocking courses. The interior is plain; the arches be-
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tween the nave and trnnsepts, and the chancel arch, are circular, with bold 
chevron mouldings, which rest upon three attached pillo.rs with bold capitals. 
In the chancel is a piscina, and a plain marble slab, erected by Lord Galway, 
to the memory of Sir P. Monckton, Knt., who was bu.ried here in 1618. The 
font is circular and o.ncient. The l'icarag~ Houu was erected about the year 
1845, and is a neat brick building. 

The YiUage is considerable, and well built, and has a large green in its 
centre. It stands pleasantly about 4 miles S. by E. of Market Weightou. 
The Wcsleyans and Primitive .Methodists have each a chapel here; the 
former was built about the year 1805, and the latter in 1831). A neat School 
was erected in 1846, at the expense of the Lord of the Manor, and it is sup­
ported by that gentleman. Ten acres of land have been let, in forty parts, 
to as many cottagers, at the rate of £3. per ann., and the children of these 
occupiers are educated free at this school. There is a large stone on the 
green, which is supposed to be part of the base of a market cross, but there 
is nothing recorded of a market having being held here at any time. 

Ne1obald Hall is a large brick building in the village. The Manor Hoou, 
near the church, is an ancient stone building, in the occupation of Mr. 
Edmond. There are several good scattered farms, and neat houses in the 
parish, viz.-Bwhy Hill, the residence of :Mr. Wm. Stephenson; Red Houu 
(Mr. Thos. Hodgson); N~tebald Lodg~ (l\Ir. Rd. Deal); Flou:er HiU (~fr. 
Geo. Turner); Soberliill House (Mr. Thos. Matterson); Mount Pleaaant (Mr. 
Johnson); Syke Ho11M (l\lr. John Clnrkson); &c. There are three wind· 
mills here, one of which is about to have steam machinery introduced into 
it by its owner and occupier, Mr. Williamson Cook. 

South Newbald Towmhip.-Area, 1,490 acres; population, ~43 persons; 
rateable value, £2,386. Lord Galway is Lord of the Manor, and his ances· 
tors, the Monckton family, were formerly seated here. There is but one 
village in both townships, or at least the village o( South Newba.ld ·is a con­
tinuation of that of North New bald. The Manm Houu is an ancient. building 
in the village, now occupied by Mr. John Sharp. The poor parishioners 
have the dividends of £210., 3 per cent. consols, and lands iu Cherry Burton 
parish, which let for £100. a yeo.r; and the income is distributed el"ery 
Christmas, among 24 poor people who have never received parochial relief. 
This land and stock arose from the bequest of William Gill, in 17~8. There 
are several minor charities, amounting to six or seven pounds per annum. 
South Newbald has also a prebendalstall in the Cathedral of York. 

RoWLEY.-This parish extends between South Cave and Beverley, along 
the southem dales and acclivities of the Wolds. It includes the six hamlets 
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or ma.nors of Bentley, Huusley, Risby, Riplingham, Rowlcy, and Little 
Wcighton, comprising altogether 6,450 acres, and 408 inhabitants; of which 
4,450 acres and 384 persons belong to Rowley, Hunsley, Riplingham, and 
Little Weighton. The rateable Ynlue of the parish is £7,251.; and the 
assessed property, £10,07 4. Amongst the chief landholders are Miss Faw· 
sitt, Rev. Robert :Machell, aud Joseph Sykes, Esq. 

Rotl'ltnj Hamlet consists of the parish church, rectory house, and one or 
two cottnges, situated on a pleasant eminence, about 4 miles E.N .E. of South 
Cave. The Lit-ing is a Rectory, in the gift of T. B. T. Hildyard, Esq.; 
rated at .£20. ls. 8d., and returned at £1,300. per ann., nett. Rector, Rev. 
Charles Thoroton Hildyard. The Rectory House is one of the finest in the 
county, and has an extensive and well-wooded lawn and pleasure grounds, 
with 145A. 2n. 11P. of ancient glebe. At the enclosure, in 1801, the tithes 
were commuted for a corn rent, changeable every 21 years, and an allotment 
of 41A. 3n. 12P. of the common. The Church (St. Peter) consists of a nave 
with aisles, a chancel, and west tower. The edifice was restored and refitted 
in 18:i2, and the interior is very neat. The chancel contains an ancient 
piscina, and the font is both ancient and curious. The poor have the 
interest of .£30., given by Mrs. Hildyard and Mrs. Wakefield. 

Bentley contains 1,037 acres, and 6~ inhabitants. The ViUage stands 
about 2! miles S.W. of Beverley. In a hedge on the east side of the village 
stands part of one of the ancient crosses of the Sanctuary of Beverley Min· 
ster. (See page 240.) The base nnd shaft arc similar in design to the 
cross on the Bishop. Burton road (Seep. 520); the shaft of this cross is about 
2i inches high above the base. A small but neat Scl1oo~Chapcl was recently 
erected at Bentley, and was opened for divine worship on Sunday, Sept. 9th, 
1855 ; the sermon on the occasion being preached by the Venerable Arch· 
deacon Long. The chapel not being large enough to accommodate the con· 
grcgatiou then asst>mblcd, the sermon was preached in the adjoining field. 

Hunsley Hamlet is small, and is situated about 6 miles S.W. of Beverley. 
This place nppears to haTe been anciently of more importance than it is at 
present, many foundations of buildings having been dug up at various times. 
'G pon a hill here was formerly a beacon that gave name to the largest division 
of the Wapentake of Hartbill. Humley H01Ue is the property of Miss Fawsitt. 

Riplingham.-This estate belongs to the Broadley, Duesbury, Sykes, and 
other fRmilies. The Villag11 is pleasantly situated, about I mile B. of Rowley 
parish church. Petty Sessions are held here every Monday. Field Home 
and farm is in the occupation of Mr. Smith Whiting. 

Risby.-Aren, 963 acres ; population, 52 souls. The place consists of four 
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farms and two or three cottages, situated about 3 miles S. by W. of Beverlcy. 
The estate belonged successively to the families of Stuteville, Riplingham, 
and Hatfield; and from the Hatfields it became vested in the Ellerkers, who 
now bold it. Ruby Park is a romantic spot, well wooded and salubrious. 
The fine old mansion was destroyed by fire, and rebuilt, and burnt to the 
ground a second time about 80 years ago. There are no remains of the 
building, but the terraces of the south front of the house appear to remain 
almost undisturbed. In the grounds is a large fish pond, on the banks of 
which, embedded in trees, is the roofless ruin of a brick building, with ten 
sides, and tall pointed windows. Sir Ralpb Ellerker, of Risby, was High 
Sheriff of the County of York, and died in 1509. 

TV~igMon Part~a.-This hamlet is situated in the centre of Rowley parish, 
and the village stands at the head of a romantic valley, in a secluded spot, 
about 4i miles S.W. of Beverley. The TVul~Jan Chapel was erected in 
1827; and there is a good school here, which is voluntarily supported by the 
Rector. The Manor Houae, situated in the village, is in the occupation of 
Mr. John Tomlinson, farmer. 

Sxmnv.-The area of Skidby, including Skidby Carr, is 1,250 acres, and 
the population of Skidby is 306, and of Skidby Carr 50 souls. Rateable 
value, £1,830.; assessed property, £2,511. The manor belongs to Trinity 
College, Cambridge, and is held by a number of copy holders, tmder the cus­
tom of gavelkind, and subject to arbitrary fines. Joseph Sykes, Esq., and 
Mr. Henry Kirk arc amongst the principal landowners. The parish lies to 
the south of Beverley Parks, and extends towards Dunswell and the river 
Hull. The Living is a Perpetual Curacy, annexed to the Vicarage of Cot­
tingham. The Bishop of Chester is impropriator of the great tithes, which 
were commuted in 1785 and 17{)3. 

The Church. (St. Michael) is a small edifice, consisting of a nave and 
chancel, with a low west tower, and a south porch. The tower is of brick, 
and was erected in 1827, and the porch bears the date of 1777. 

The Village is situated about 4 miles S.S.E. of Beverley. The Manor 
Hous~, at the west end of it, is the residence of Mr. John Stephenson, fanner. 
The Wuleyan Chapel was erected in 1814, and the Baptilt Chapel in 1819. 
The School and teacher's residence was erected in 1849, and is endowed with 
£150. navy 5 per cent. annuities, purchased with £150. left by John Mar­
shall in 1803, for the instruction of eight paor children. 

WF.LTON.-This parish comprises the townships of Welton and Melton; 
the former containing 1,520 acres, and 682 souls; and the latter, {)00 acres, 
o.nd 174 persons. The amount of assessed property in Welton is £3,149.; 
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and the rateable value, £-1,!127. The surface for the most part is richly 
wooded, and the soil presents great 'i'nriety, being composed of chalk, clay, 
sand, and gra'i'cl. The Hull and Selhy Railway passes within a mile of the 
village. Miss Broadley is Lady of the Manor, and a great part of the soil 
belongs to residents. 

The Lit,iug is a Vicarage, in the patronage of the Crown, and incumbency 
of the Rev. Thomns Dradley Paget. It is endowed with the rectorial tithes, 
valued in the King's Books at £25., nod now returned at £4!JO. per annum. 
The tithes were commuted for land and a yearly modus, at the enclosure in 
1702. The Clwrrh (St. Helen), supposed to ha;o been founded in the reign 
of \Villiam II., consists of a nave, north aisle, chancel, and south transept, 
with a large embattled tower rising from the centre. Some of the windows 
have square bends, and in the pointed arch of the east window is some beau­
tiful tracery. The nave is separated from the aisle by two pointed arches 
resting on octagonal pillars, and the arches between the na;e and the tran­
sr.pt and chancel aro similar, tho two pillars in the latter having Norman 
capitals. There is a piscina on tbo sou\h side of the chancel. In the aisle, 
placed upright, is the effigy of a Knight Templar, much defaced; and there 
arc sc'i'ernl handsome mural monuments in the church. 

The T'illaye, which is pleasant and well built, is seated on a fertile ac­
clivity at the southern foot of the Wolds, aud within 1t milo of the river 
Humber, of which it commands many beautiful vie\vs, as well ns of the 
country around, which is pleasingly diversified \Vith hill and dale. It is 
about 3~ miles S.E. of South Cave, and 10 W. by S. of Hull. 

The Wesleynns have a small chapel here; and there are School& for boys 
and girls, conducted on the national system. 

Wclton Home, the sent of Miss Broadley, is a fine mansion on an ele­
vated situation, with picturesque grounds, commanding extensive prospects. 
JJ' elton Grange is the scat of J. Wilkinson, Esq.; and l!-'ast Dale H()Use is tho 
highly picturesque sent of Robert Ra.ikes, Esq. North of the village is o. 
highly romantic and peculiarly picturesque glade called Wclton Dale, which 
is about a mile in length, and winds between two hills enriched with every 
'\"ariety of wood. At the extremity is a small circular temple of the Doric 
order, surmounted by a dome, erected as a family mausoleum, by R. Raikes, 
Esq., in 1819. On the road between Wclton and Brantingham arc some of 
the most extensive and varied prospects in the county. From one point the 
.Minsters of York, Lincoln, and Beverley, and Howden church, are 'risible to 
the naked eye on a clear dny. (See vol. i., p. 4.) 

The Charities of Welton yield about £17. per annum, which sum is ex-
YOL. II. 4 D 
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peuded upon the poor and the school; .£5. being "for buying and keeping 
a town's bull." 

Melton is usually styled a chapelry, but has no chapel of ease. The rateable 
value of the township is .£1,028.; and the assessed property amounts to 
.£1,250. The rillage stands 1 mile E.S.E. of \Yeltoo. .i\leltor~ HiU is the 
beautiful scat of George \\'hitaker, Esq.; and the Grange is the residence of 
the Rev. '1'. B. Paget. .Xcar Mclton is a submerged forest, the date of the 
submel'ging of which is not reeol'ded in history. 

WILTOX llEACOX DI\'ISIOX.-Tho following parishes are comprised 
in this, the north-western portion of the Wnpcntake of Harthill :-Aller­
thorpe, llarmby-on-the-1\Joor, Bishop Wilton, 13umby, Catton, Fangfoss, Full 
Sutton, Givcndale, Huggate, Kilm-rick-Percy, .Millington, ~unburnholmc, 
Pocklington, Sutton-upou-Den\'ent, Thornton, Warter, and Wilberfoss. Area 
<>f this division, 54,010 acres; population, 4,882 males, ·i,086 females; total, 
8,408 persons. 

ALLEnTuotn'E.-This parish includes the to'l'l'nships of Allerthorpe and 
\Vaplington. The first mentioned township contains 1,505 acres, and 164 
persons. The rateable value is £1,52.1., and the assessed property, in 1815, 
amounted to .£1,382. The general surfac.e of the parish is flat, and \\'ell­
wooded; the soil is of a light and various quality, but chiefly sandy. The 
parish is bounded on the east by the Pockliugton Canal. The principal 
landholders are the Hon. Captain A. Duucombe (Lord of the Manor), Mr. J. 
Stepheuson, Rt. Denisou, Esq., Mr. Rt. Stlnderson, aud J . Silbum, Esq. 

The Li1•i11g is a Curacy, annexed to the Vicarage of Thomton, not in 
charge. The tithes were commuted for rent charges. The Church is a 
small ancient edifice, consisting of a nave and chancel. On tho apex of the 
roof, at the west end, is a singular belfry, of t'l'l'o open arches, covered with a 
pedimental cap. There are two large bells in this belfry. A vestry was 
erected on the north side of the chancel, a few years ago. The font is very 
ancient. The Par40IU1!Je llowe is a little west of the church. 

The Fillage is small, but wry neat, and stands about 1t mile S.W. by W. 
of Pocklin!ton. Allerthorpe Hall, tho sent of John Silbum, Esq., is a good 
house, \vith two fronts, erected nbout 50 years ago. Mr. Silbum purchased 
this place of the Hon. A. Duncombe, in 1851. The Jfa110T House is a farm 
house at the \VP.st end of the village. The School is cndowt.>d \Vith the interest 
of .£200., left by John Hart, Esq., in 1818. Other ·charities amount to 
nbout .£18. pel' annum. 

Waplington To1l'mhip lies on the S.W. side of the parish, and has no 
village. It consists of 700 acres, on which there are six scattered dwellings. 
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Population, 45 souls; rateable value, £676.; assessed property, £7 40. The 
whole township belongs to R. Denison, Esq., who resides at tho Ilall, a 
neat building, in the Elizabethan style. The Warren Fm·m, now in the 
occupation of Mr. Robert Ellis, was formerly a rabbit warren. The tithes 
were commuted in 1830, for rent charges. 

BARMBY·ON·THE-MooR.-Area, 2,200 acres; population, ·186 persons; rate­
aWe value, £2,308.; assessed property, £2,517. The surface for the most 
part is level, and the soil, which is generally sandy, \Vas chiefly open moor 
previously to the enclosure of the parish. The chief proprietors are the 
Hon. A. Duncombe (Lord of the Manor), G. and J. Swann, Esqrs., Robert 
Denison, Esq., and John Silburn, Esq. 

All our antiquarians have agreed that there are indications of a Roman 
road on the moor at this place, where Dr. Lister found ums, cinders, and 
nrious marks of a Roman pottery. Mr. Gough says, that near Darmby 
Moor Inn this road appears very plain, and may be traced most part of the 

. way on the present road; and again, that a mile from the inn, eastward, 
near moorish ground, it is pnrticularly visible, sometimes serving as the 
present road, and sometimes left on one side of it. It is considered highly 
probnble that the roll.d from Stamford Bridge to Barmby is Roman, and 
that the present turnpike from Barmby to the end of the moor near Wil­
berfoss, is likewise Roman; \vhilst from. the same place to Hnyton, east­
ward, it is distinctly visible. Thence it is conjectured to hav"e passed by 
Thorpe-in-the-Street, and joined the road from Millington to Brough, most 
probably at the top of the hill near Goodmanham, where the Roman road 
to the Spurn branched off. 

The Benefice is a Discharged Vicarage, a peculiar of the Dean of York, 
rated at £5. 6s. 8d., and now worth £50. per annum, being augmented with 
£400. of Queen Anne's Bounty. One Vicar is ordained in this church and 
that of Fangfoss, each reckoned a separate parish, yet made but one vicarage. 
The present Incumbent is the Rev. Rt. Taylor. Tithes commuted in 1777. 

The Church (St. Catherine) is an ancient structu.e, consisting of a nave 
and chance], with a west tower, surmounted by an elegant modern octagonal 
spire. The nave and chancel were rebuilt, and the interior refitted, in 
1851·2; and it is now a neat Gothic edifice, \vith stained glass windows. 

The Vicarage House is a good brick building. 
The Village, which was anciently a market town, is seated on the post roll.d 

to York, about H mile W. of Pocklington. The Wcsleyans and Primitive 
Methodists have each a small chapel here; and the School and the poor 
have a charity fund amounting to about £38. per ann. The parish feast is 
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held on the Thursday after July lOth. The Mcmor House is a farm house; 
Barmby Grange is iu the oc~upation of Mr. W. H. Cook. 

B1snoP WILTox.-This parish comprises the townships of Bishop Wiltou 
with Delthorpe, Dolton, and Youlthorpe with Gowthorpe, containing altogether 
7,224 acres, aud ~80 inhabitants; of which the first mentioned township 
contains 4,0i0 acres, and li52 persons. Rateable value, £3, i 53; assessed 
property, £3,1-10. At the time of the ~orman Survey this parish had a church 
and a priest, and the manor was held by the See of York. The place derives 
its affix from the palace which was erected here by Archbishop :Keville, in 
the reign of Edwanl I V. This episcopal residence stood in a moated field, 
near the church, whe1·e there is now a large farm housc, and some fine avenues 
of lofty trees. On the summit of a hill iu this parish is the beacon, which 
gave name to this part of llarthill Wapentakc. The \"iew from it is very 
extensive and luxuriant, tile country beneath being in a high state of culti· 
vation; and the scenery is highly romantic, embracing valleys of considerable 
length, with hanging woods, and several small but pleasing streams. There 
are some tumuli, and se,·eral good fat·m houses on the Wolds. The soil he­
longs to Sir Tattoo Sykes (Lord of the l\Iauor), James Singleton, and sc\·eral 
other proprietors. The LiL'i11g is a Discharged Vicarage, in the peculiar 
jurisdiction of the court of the Dean of York; Tnlued in the King's llooks at 
£i. 3s. 66d., and now returned at £148. per nun., being augmented with 
£1,100. of Queen Anne's Douuty, from 1756 to 1823. Sir T . Sykcs is patron, 
and the Hev. Joseph Shooter, incumbent. The tithes have been commuted. 

The Church (St. Editb) is an anci<•nt fubric, comprising, in addition to the 
usual parts of a parish church, a north chapel. The tower is comprehended 
in the plan, contains three bells, and is surmounted with an octagonal spire. 
The interior is spacious; the nave and aisles arc divided by four pointed 
arches supported by octagounl pillars ; and on one of the windows arc painted 
the arms of the :Kevillcs. The l'icarage House is a modern building. 

The rillaue, which appears as if cm bosomed in an amphitheatre, is seated 
on both sides of a small brool>, on the north-western side of the W olds, about 
4! miles N. of Pocklington. The :Jll'thodi$l Chapel was built in 1810, and 
the I'rimitit·e Methodist Chapel was rebuilt in 1838. There is a good pa· 
rochinl school. Sir Wm. Hildyard, in Hi:l2, bequeathed out of bis manor 
l1ouse and estate here, a yearly rent charge of £8. 13s. 4d., viz :-£6. 10s. 
for the Vicar, and .£2. 3s. 4d. for the poor. At the enclosure in 1772, about 
22 acres were allotted to the poor; who also receive £3. 12~. per ann. from 
other sources. A person named JVhip died at llisbop Wilton, in 1784, at 
the advanced age of 115 years! 
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Beltlc01pe, about one mile W. of the village, consists of a farm, the house 
of which stands on the moated site of an ancient mansion. Here is a fine 
spring, which rises from a hard grit stone, and was once famed for its medi­
cinal virtues; it is called St. Leonard's Well. 

Bolton To~enship contains U0-1 acres, nnd 12Q persons; rateable value, 
£806.; assessed property, .£1,0-12. The soil belongs to se\·eral frecbolders. 

The Hamlet stands about 3 miles 1'i.W. of Pocklington, and :3 miles W. 
S.W. of Bishop Wilton. The Hall is no1v a farm house. The Wcsl<>yans 
have a small chapel here. 

l'oultlaorpe u·ith Uoll'lhorpe Totrn8hip.-1.' he area is 1,:.l i!O acres, of the 
rateable ,-alue of £8iJ8. ; population, 105 souls. The Hamlet uj l"oultlwrpe 
is situated about 5 miles N.W. by :N. of Poeklington, and 2 miles W.~.W. 

of Bishop 'Vilton; aud the Hamlet of Gou:tho1pc, called also Ya1Ctho111e, is 
about a mile distant from Youlthorpe; aud both are small places. The land 
chiefly belongs to R. Lucas, B. Egar, and J. Blanchard, Esquires. · 

B un:snY.-This parish contains 1,66i acres, and 120 so~; ;atcable value, 
£2,035; assessed property, .£1,662. The soil is generally a rich day, the 
surface undulated, and the scenery in many situations ,·ery picturesque. Sir 
C. H. J. Anderson is Lord of the l\Ianor, and principal proprietor. 

The Livi1ag is a Discharged Rectory, in the patronage of the Duke of 
Devonshire; valued in the Liber llegis nt £i. 15s., and now rctum<>d at 
£:318. nett per ann. The Uev. Charles Carr is the present Hector. 

The Church (St. Giles) is a small structure, consisting of a nave and 
chancel, of Norman design. On the north side are marks of four semi­
circular arches, which formerly divided the nave from the aisle, and two 
pointed arches, which also separated the chancel from a similar adjunct. 
The west end of the building was restored about 18 years ago, and shortly 
afterwards the interior was rcpewed by the present Tiector. At the west end 
is a handsome doorway and a bell turret, both in the Norman style, erected 
by and from a design of the present Rector, who likewise rebuilt and en· 
larged the l:t!ctory Hou&e. The latter is a good commodious residence, 
situated a little eastward of the church. 

The J'illaye stands about 3 miles S.E. of Pocklington, on n branch of the 
river Dcrwent, nnd near the York and 1\farket Wcighton Railway, ou which 
line there is an intermediate Station here. The Jlanor liou&e is a farm 
house in the village. Part of the village belongs to Hayton pa1i::~h. 

Bttmby House is the residence of l\Ir. Simeon Templcmnn. 
CATr0:-1.-The townships of High m1d Low Untton, and F.nst and \\'est 

Stamford Bridle, are comprised in this parish, making together 8,150 acres, 
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and 1,075 souls, including Kexby, now an independent parish. The assessed 
property amounts to £7,0-18. The 1'otemllip of Low Catton contains 2,140 
acres, and 176 inhabitants. The surface of the parish, in which is some 
good land, is generally level, and there are some fine plantations. The 
manor of Catton includes the two Cattons, East Stamford Bridge, Full 
Sutton, Newton-on-Derwent, and Wilberfoss, and passed to Colonel George 
Wyndham from the late Earl of Egremont. The tithes of the whole parish 
were commuted for allotments, at the enclosure in 1760. 

The Living is a Rectory, in the patronage of Col. Wyndbam, and incum­
bency of the Hon. and Rev. Fitzroy Stanhope. It is rated at £21. l2s. 8id., 
and now returned at £270. nett per annum. The Church (All Saints) is a 
neat edifice, comprising a nave with aisles, a chancel, and north chapel, and 
an embattled tower at the south-west angle, containing three bells. The 
whole appears to be the work of the 15th century. An arcade of four pointed 
arches divides the nave from the tusles, and the columns which support the 
arches are octagonal. The font is circular. The old rectory is now a farm 
house, on the north side of the church yard, and the present Recuwy Houu, 
a good residence, stands a little south-east from the church. 

The Village of Low Cattoa is agreeably situated, on the eastern bank of 
the Derwent, about 8 miles E. from York. There is a good Scho.ot, erected 
in 1841 by Col. W yndham, and endowed by him with £13. per annum. 

High Catton Town~hip contains 1,640 acres, and 177 persons; rateable 
value, £1,405.; assessed property, £1,206. The Hamut stands pleasantly, 
on a gentle acclivity, about l mile E. of Low Cattou. Here is a small 
Wesleyan Chapel, erected in 1805. 

Stmnford Brid!Je.-This is a considerable village, on both sides of the 
navigable river Derwent, nearly 8 miles E.N.E. from York, and lt mile 
N.W. of Catton, on the high road to Drifficld and Bridlington. It is mostly 
in the Tou:mhip of Ea.st Stm;iford Brid!Je, which contains 680 acres, and 407 
inhabitants, and partly in West Stamford Bridge u·ith Scoreby Tou,mltip, 
which has 1,891 acres, and 165 persons. The latter township is locally 
situated in the Ouse and Derwent Wapentake. The amount of assessed 
property in the former township is £1,220., and in the latter, £2,121. 
Principal landowners, Colonel Wyndham (Lord of the Manor), Charles Albert 
Darley, Esq., Thomas Saltmarsh, Esq., and Mr. G. H. Matterson. 

The river is crossed at the -rillagc by a good stone bridge, of three semi­
circular arches. Here are extensive corn mills, and a large brick and tile 
manufactory, and near the village is a Station on the York and Market 
Weighton Railway. A large fair for horses, cattle, &c., is held on the west 
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side of the bridge annuo.lly, on the 1st and 2nd of December. A Weauyan 
Chapel was built here in 1828. The School was erected in 171)5, and is 
endowed with eighteen guineas per annum, arising from Christopher Whar­
ton's bequest of £600., in 1787. 

Burtcm.field House, the seat of Charles Albert Darley, Esq., is a modem 
building, situated in a pleasant park, surrounded with plantations; and in 
some gravel pits on the grounds have been found several human remains, 
supposed to be of some of those slain in the memorable battlo between Harold 
nnd Tosti, which was fought here in 1066. (See vol. i., p. 104.) 

Aldby, or Auldlnj, in the vicinity of Stamford Bridge is supposed to be 
the site of the Roman Station Derventio (See vol. i., p. 72); as well as a 
royal residence during the Saxon era. (See vol. i., p. 83.) 

F As:GFoss.-This parish includes the small hamlet of Spittle, and contains 
together 1,364 acres, and 188 inhabitants. Rateable value, £1,642.; as­
sessed property, £1,339. Tho soil is chiefly clay and light loam. Fangfoss 
is a member of the manor of Grimthorpe, of which E. B. Denison, Esq., is 
lord. George Champney, Esq., and Mrs. M. Hutton are the principalland­
O\vners at Fangfoss. The Liviny is a Perpetual Curacy, united to the 
Vicarage of Barmby-on-the-Moor, a peculiar of the Dean and Chapter of 
York. Patron, the Dean of York. It is only valued at £46. per annum, 
though it was augmented with £1,000. of Queen Anne's Bounty, from 1747 
to 1819. Incumbent Rev. R Taylor. The tithes have been commuted. 

The Church, which is a small neat edifice, comprising a nave, chancel, 
south porch, and bell turret at the west end, was rebuilt in 1849, at a cost 
of £860. The old edifice, which was then pulled down, was of Anglo­
Norman architecture. 

The Village is situated about 4 miles N .W. of Pocklington. FangfoaB Hall, 
the property of Mr. Champney, is now unoccupied. There is a place of 
worship for Wesleyans. The Scllool is supported by subscription. The 
Church land consists of a house and about seven acres, and the poor have 
annuities amounting to about 20s. per annum. 

FuLL SGTTON.-Area, 950 acres; population, 165 persons; rateable value, 
£900; assessed property, £889. The surface is generally flat, and the soil 
of a productive quality. The principal proprietors are the Trustees of the 
late John Ramsey, Esq., Rd. Lucas, Esq., Mr. John Potter, and the Rector, 
in right of his church. The Li1:ing is a Discharged Rectory, rated at 
£10. 12s. 8jd., and returued at £150. per ann. Patron, Lord Feversham; 
Rector, Rev. Gco. Thos. Terry. The tithes were commuted at the enclosure, 
for 114 acres of land. The Churcla is said to have been a chantry to the 
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Priory of Watton, near Beverley. The edifice was rebuilt in 18·U-5, and 
consists of a na\"e, chancel, and porch, iu the Gothic style. The west win­
dow exhibits the Four Evangelists, in stained glass, and there is some of the 
same beautiful material in all the other windows except that at the east end. 

The Village is circular in form, with a green in the centre, and stands 
about 0 miles N.W. of Pocklington. A small Wes~yan Chapel was built 
here in 18~8. The Jlanor Houu, a little south-east of the church, is the 
residence of 1\Ir. Ramsey Garwood. The poor have the interest of .£11.2., 
left by Elizabeth and Wm. Cobb, about the year 1809; and of £7. 10s., left 
by five donors; also a rent charge of Ss. per annum, left in 1788, by John 
Cobb; and 2s. Od. yearly, from Wood's charity. 

GI\"E:\DALF., or GwE:SDALE.-The townships of Great Givendale and Grim­
thorpe are included in this parish; the area of the former place being 'i 41 
acres, with 61 inhabitants, and that of the latter, 480 acres,-o.nd a population 
of U persons. Rateable value, £1,Q!l{l. The country is very fine, com­
manding extensive ,·iews of the Vale of York. John Singleton is Lord of 
the Manor, principal landowner, and also lessee of the great tithes, which 
latter belong to the Prebendary of Givendale and the Dean of York. 

About 40 years ago two human skeletons were found in a stone quarry in 
this place, and near the remains were two swords, one of which is now in 
the Museum at York, and the other nt the Givendale Houst-, the residence 
of :Mrs. Singleton. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, annexed to that of 1\lillington, rated 
at .£4. 18s. 4d., and now at £Q19., being augmented with .£400. of Queen 
Anne's Bounty, in li40 and 1755; .£500., left by the Hon. nud Rev. H. 
Finch, in 1740; and with .£QOO. left by J. Atkius, Esq., in li54. Patron, 
the Dean of York; Incumbent, Rev. W. R. Griesbach. Tithes commuted 
in 1839. The Chv.rcl~ \Vas rebuilt in 1849, and is a neat Gothic edifice, 
consisting of a nave and chancel, with a bell turret, and is partly built of the 
materials of the old church. The east window is filled with stained glass, by 
Wnilcs, and represents the Redeemer and his Apostles; and a handsome 
font Wl\8 presented by the architect, Mr. Dykes, of York. The body is di,·i­
ded from the chancel by o. fine old N ormnn arch. There arc some marble 
tablets to the Singleton and Atkins families. 

The Village is situated at the western foot of the WoJds, 8! miles N. of 
Pocklington. The Manor House was rebuilt in 1852, a little south of the 
site of the old mansion, and is the residence of J. R. Singleton, Esq. 

Grimthorpe Tou·mhip adjoins, and is divided int{) three farms. E. B. 
Denison, Esq., of Doncastcr, is owner of the soil nnd Lord of the Manor. 
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HoooATE.-This parish is situated in the Wolds, and comprises 6,500 
acres, of which nearly the whole is good arable land, and in a high state of 
cultivation. Its surface is generally undulated, and interspersed with deep 
dales, and the soil is a cho.lky loam, resting on a bed of chalk, occasionally 
mixed with flint. The population numbers 54 7 souls; and the assessed 
property amounts to £3,810. The chief proprietors are James Christie, 
Esq. (Lord of the .Manor), Sir Chas. Anderson, and Sir T. Sykes. Traces 
exist of two ancient roads intersecting the parish, and connecting two distant 
Roman Stations; and there are seven lines of entrenchments, supposed to 
have been thrown up by the Romans or Saxons, with various tumuli, and 
other relics of antiquity. In Oct{)ber, 1840, the members of the Yorkshire 
Antiquarian Club opened four early British tumuli, in a field called Howe 
Field, about a mile from the village, in which is a group of several tumuli. 
In one tumulus was found the remains of a skeleton ; in another, portions of 
two skeletons ; and in the two others, some fragments of ~ery early British 
pottery, charcoal mixed with earth, flints, 8/c. There is reason to conclude 
that these ancient graves had been previously opened. 

The Living is a Rectory, in the gift of the cro,vn, and incumbency of the 
Rt. Hon. and Rev. Lord De Saumarez, for whom the Rev. Thomas Rankin 
officiates. At the enclosure, in 177 3, the tithes were commuted for an 
allotment of 329A. 2a. 37P., and a yearly modus of £286. 2s. 2d. The 
benefic.e is valued in the Liber Regis at £15., and now returned at £449. per 
annum. The Church (St. Mary) is supposed to have been erected about the 
year 1220, by Ralph de Paganel, a descendant of one of the same name a 
retainer of William the Conqueror. The present edifice is in the Transition 
style, and consists of a nave, side aisles, and chancel, with an embattled 
tower, which is surmounted by a lofty octagonal spire. There are two ogee 
windows on the south side. The interior is neat; the font is very ancient. 
The Rectory Rome is a commodious residence. 

The Village is situated in a valley, about 7 miles N.E. from Pocklington. 
The villagers are supplied with water from a well 116 yards deep. Races 
were formerly h<'ld here in July. The Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists 
have each a chapel here. The poor have annual rent charges amounting to 
£8. Ruggate HoU8e is in the occupation of Mr. Richard Cook. 

Ku.DwrcK, KILNWICK P~RcY, or KtLNWICK·ON·THE·WOLDs.-The area of 
Kilnwick Percy is 1,561 acres, of the rateable value of £1,900.; population, 
{18 souls; assessed property, £1,803. The parish is an escarpment of the 
W olds; the surface is undulated, the soil very rich, the scenery picturesque, 
and interspersed with fine plantations. The Hon. A. Duncombe is Lord of 
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the Manor, and owner of the soil of the whole parish, except 21 acres of 
glebe land. The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in the peculiar jurisdic­
tion and patronage of the Dean of York; rated in the King's Books at 
£4. 10s. 3d., and now worth £180. per ann. Vicar, Rev. M. A. Lawton. 
The great tithes have boon commuted for £100., and the vicarial tithes for 
£120. The Church (St. Helen) i!! a neat structure, consisting of a nave, to 
which a north aisle ho.s recently been added, a chancel, and belfry. Tho 
interior is very beautiful, the pews and stalls being of richly carved oak, and 
the windows of stained glass; those in the east end, by Wailes, are very 
fine. The Vicarage HoU8e, erected in 1848, is a good building, in the Eliza­
bethan style. 

Tho Village is very small, and stands about It mile E.N.E. of Pocklington. 
Kibtu•ick HaU, the scat of the Hon. Captain A. Duncombe, M.P. for the 

Enst Riding of Yorkshire, is a stately mansion, which has been enlarged 
and much improved by its present owner, who purchased the estate some 
fourteen or fifteen years ago, from Robert Denison, Esq., of Waplington 
Hall. The grounds are good, and from different parts of the park are some 
fine views of the W old district. 

MrLLINGTON.-The hamlet of Little Givcndale is included in this parish, 
and the area is 2,750 acres, of the rateable value of £1,710.; population, 289 
persons; assessed property, £1,151. The parish extends along the ea8tern 
acclivity of a deep and narrow valley, on the verge of the Wolds. The 
principal owners of the soil are the Ecclesiastical Commissioners of England 
(Lords of the Manor), Admiral Mitford, St. John's College, Cambridge, and 
the Dean of York, as impropriator of the great tithes. 

Millington is supposed by some excellent antiquarians to be the Roman 
Delgovicia., though some authorities place that military station at Londes­
borough. At Millington are traces of a strong camp, defended by immense 
outworks, for 60 to 00 feet in height, carried indiscriminately over hills and 
valleys to Garraby Hill, where four Roman roads meet, and encompassed with 
four, and in some places six, ditches, inclosing altogether an area of 4,185 
acres, within which are several tumuli. About t mile N.E. from Millington 
foundations of a circular temple and two oblong buildings, Roman pavements, 
tiles, coins, and various other relics of antiquity, have been discovered. 

The Living is a Vicarage, annexed to that of Great Givendale. At the 
enclosure of 1\Iillington, in 1768, the tithes were commuted for 209A. lR. SP. 
of land, and a yearly modus of £.U. 17s. Patron, the Dean of York; Vicar, 
Rev. W. R. Griesbo.ch. The Church is a small ancient building, consisting 
of a Dll\'e, chancel, and porch. The Vicarage House was enlarged in 1851, 
by the present Yicar. 
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The T'illage is situated about 2i miles N.N.E. of Pocklington. There is 
a small TV esleyan Ohapel ; and the School is endowed with the interest of 
£200., left by John Wilkinson, in 1801; and £100., left by William Flint, 
in 1804. In 1696 Wm. and Henry Wilkinson left to the poor of the parish, 
the sum of £30., which was vested in the purchase of two oxgangs of land,' 
which was exchanged, at the enclosure, for 7 A. 2R. 23P., and two beast gates 
in a common pasture. 

Littl8 Givendal8, now one farm, belonging Ecclesiastical Commissioners, 
lies about 1 mile N. of .Millington. 

NuNBURNHOLMF..-This parish consists of the townships of Nunburnholme 
and Thorpe-le-Street, the latter being in the Holme Beacon division of Hart­
hill Wapentake. Nunburnholme contains 1,480 acres, and 229 inhabitants, 
and derives its name from a small Benedictine Numzery, founded by an 
ancestor of Roger de Merley, Morley, or Mauley, Lord of Morpeth, who lived 
in the time of Henry Ill. At the Dissolution its revenues amounted to 
£10. Ss. 3d., and its site was granted, in 1542, to Thomas Earl qf Rutland, 
and Robert Tyrwhit. The convent is supposed to have stood on a mound 
near the village. The surface of the parish is undulated, the soil clay and 
chalk, and the scenery picturesque. The amount of assessed property in the 
parish is £2,120., and the rateable value of Nunburnholme township is 
£1,377. The principal landowners are Lord Londesborough (Lord of the 
Manor) and Lord Muncaster. The Li·ving is a Rectory, rated at £9. 12s. 6d., 
and returned at £340. Patron, the Archbishop of York; Vicar, Rev. Fras. 
Orpen Morris. The tithes were commuted in 1849, for rent charges, and 
there are 90 acres of glebe land. The Church (St. James) is ancient, and 
has a nave and chancel, with a small bell turret at the west end. In the 
interior, at the west end, is a fine Norman arch, and an ancient font. 

The Rectcry Hozue is a good residence. 
The l'illage is small, and stands in the narrow dale of a rivulet, Si miles 

E. by S. of Pocldington, on the western ridge of the Wolds. 
Tlwrpe-le-Street Toumship contains 657 acres, and 24 inhabitants. The 

rateable value is £634. The manor, as well as the whole of the soil, belongs 
toW. C. Maxwell, Esq., of Everingham, and the land is divided into two 
farms, which are in the occupation of Messrs. Jacob and Thos. Watson. 
The place is situated about 2! miles N.W. by W. of Market Weighton. 

POCKLINGTON. 

Besides the township and market town of Pocklington, this parish com· 
prises the townships of Meltonby, Oustborpe, and Yapham, containing alto-
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gether an area of 4,668 acres, and 2,761 inhabitants. Amount of assessed 
property, £8,812. The surface, though generally level, is in some places 
pleasingly varied, and the soil is mostly a rich loam. The Twm3hip of 
Pocklington contains 2,520 acres, and 2,546 souls ; and the TotCil of Pock-

., lington, 2,550 persons, vi.z :-1,276 males, and 1,270 females. 
This place probably derived its name from its Saxon possessor Pockla, as 

JJridlington bad its name from the Bridw. (See p. 443.) In the time of 
the Confessor it formed part of the territories of l\Iorcar, Earl of Northumbria, 
and after the Conquest was granted ~y the Conqueror to Stepben Fitz-Odo, 
whom he created Earl of Albemarle and Holdemess. In the 28tll of Edwd. 
I . (1300), the manor belonged to Henry Lord Percy, who obtained a charter 
for a weekly market on Saturday, and two annual fairs, on the eve and feasts 
of All Saints and St. Margaret; and whose son and successor, in the 18th 
of Edwd. II. (1325), procured a grant of two additional fairs. The lands 
have been subsequently divided among various freeholders, and the principal 
proprietors at present are tlle Hon. Capt. A. Duncombe (Lord of the Manor), 
Jonathan Harrison, Esq., Mr. G. T. Overend, Mrs. E. Loftus, Mr. John 
Cook, and Messrs. Ralpb and Chas. Green. The rateable value is £7,151. 

In the neighbourhood of Pocklington are several tumuli, in which Roman 
and Saxon antiquities have been found. Two large barrows, or tumuli, pro­
bably of Druidical origin, were formerly conspicuous on the West Green, and 
a large tract of land, no\V enclosed, retains the name of the Barrow Flnt. 
In 1763, four human skeletons were dug up in a gravel pit in Barmby field, 
nea.r Pocklington; three were without coffins, but the fourth was enclosed in 
a coffin, with an um at the bead, on the outside of which were engraved 
several ancient chnrncters. 

Under the provisions of an Act of Parliament passed in 1814, a na,;gable 
Canal was constructed, communicating with the river Derwent, near East 
Cottingwith, and terminating nt Street Bridge, within a mile of Podding­
ton. This cnnal is nine miles in length, and has nine locks; and by means 
of it n considerable business is done in bringing coal, lime, manure, 'nud 
merchandise, and iu taking away corn, flour, &c., to Leeds, ':O.rakefield, and 
other places. 

The Totm of Pocklin!Jlon is pleasnntly situated, in the vale of n ti\'ulet, 
near the eastern foot of the W olds, surrounded by a champaign tract of rich 
loamy land, and distant 13 miles E. by S. of York; i N .W. of Market 
Weighton; 20 "N.W. of Hull; and Hl5 ~-by W. of Londou. It consists 
chiefly of the Market Place and two streets, and is lighted with gas since 
1834, by works erected at the cost of £1,600., raised in £10. shares. Con-
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siderable improvements have been made within the last quarter of a century; 
the Market Place has been cleared from obstructions, and rendered more 
commodious, by the removal of the ancient shambles ; by arching over the 
rivulet, through the bed of which the high road from Malton and Driffield 
previously passed, for more than fifty yards; and by the construction of 
spacious and well-formed roads, which diverge from it in several directions. 
Near the town is a Station on the York and Market Weighton Railway. 
The Market, on Saturdays, is well supplied with corn and provisions; and 
Fai·r& for horses, cattle, &c., are now .held on March 7th (if a leap year, 
March 6th), May 6th, August 5th, and Nov. 8th. There were fairs formerly 
held here on other days, but they have fallen into disuse. Petty Semon1 for 
this di,·ision of the Wapentake are held here, in the Police Station, on the 
first Saturday in every month; and the town is a polling place for the elec­
tion of Members to serve in Parliament for the East Riding. The York 
Union Banking Company have a branch of their establishment here. 

The Benefice is a Discharged Vicarage, with the Curacy of Yaphnm-cum­
Meltonby, a peculiar of the Dean of York, the patron and impropriator, 
valued in the King's Books at £10. 1s. 10!d., and returned at £131. per 
annum nett; being augmented with £700. of Queen Anne's Bounty, from 
1757 to 1822; with £500. given by the Hon. and Rev. Henry Finch and 
his wife, in 1717; and with £200. given by Mrs. H. Griffitbs, in 1822. 
Vicar, Rev. James Francis E:Iis. 

The Church (All Saints) is situated in the centre of the town, and is a 
spacious and venerable cruciform Gothic structure, comprising a na,·e and 
aisles, transepts (the north having an enst aisle), a chancel, and a handsome, 
lofty, \veil-proportioned, embattled, and pinnacled tower at the \vest end, with 
two chapels on the north side of the chancel, and a porch on the south side 
of the nave. The windows have pointed arches, and some of them are large 
and embellished with trefoil and cinquefoil heads, and neat tracery. The 
clerestory windows are likewise pointed. The east window is of five lights. 
Within the past three years this fine old church has undergone very extcn· 
sive restorations, nnd has been newly repewcd, which has added much beauty 
to the interior, and the expense has beeu defrayed chiefly by voluntary sub­
sctiption. The 11rches which separate the nave from the aisles rest on 
circular columns, with plain capitals on the south side, but capitals of a 
highly grotesque description on the north side. The chancel, ''"hich is the 
most ancient portion of the edifice, has se,·eral finely carved stalls. The 
organ is good; the font is a square basin, on a circular pedestal ; and there 
are six bells in the tower. There are several monuments to the Dolman and 
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other families; and among them is an elegant mural monument to the 
memory of Thomas Dolman, Esq., J. P. for the East Riding of Yorkshire, 
in the reign of Queen Elizabeth, and a member of the Quorum, who died 
in 1589. This monument, which was erected a few years ago, by John 
Dolman, M.D., of York, consists of three compartments of black marble. In 
the centre compartment is a recumbent effigy of the deceased, accompanied 
by a kneeling figure of hi's wife, the sole heiress of a member of the ancient 
house of Vo.vaf!our. The other compartments exhibit figures of the three 
sons and five daughters of the dec~ased, kneeling, o.nd the whole is sur­
mounted with the o.rms of the Dolman family quartered witll those of the 
Vavasours. There is another handsome mural monument to Robert Deni­
son, Esq., who died in 1829, and his wife, who died in 1887, on the three 
pedestals of which are placed, in glazed compartments, three exquisite pieces 
of oak carved work, representing Christ bearing his Cross, the Crucifixion, 
and the Descent from the Cross. On the outside, at the east end, is a slab 
inscribed to the memory of Thomas Felling, of Burton Stntber, commonly 
called the Flying Man, who was killed against the battlE'ment of the choir, 
in his attempt to descend by a rope from the top of the tower in 1733, and 
buried under the place where he died. In digging a grave at the west end 
of the church in 1835, an ancient stone was found, on which was sculptured 
the Crucifixion, with a Latin inscription requesting prayers for the soul of 
John Stoteby. This cross, which is placed on a pedestal in the nave of the 
church, has been modelled very beautifully for the Crystal Palace. 

The present Vicarag11 House was purchased, and the old one sold, about 20 
years ago. The Church LAnd, awarded at the enclosure in 1'i5!l, for the r&­
pairs, &c., of the edifice, consists of 28A. 2n. 4P., and there are two cottages, 
a house, and three roods of land, which were given for the same purpose by 
an unknown donor. 

There is au Independent Chapel, with an endowment of .£10. a year; a 
Wesle!Jan Chapel, built in 1813; and a Primitive Methodiat Cltapel, erected 
in 1820; all having residences for the ministers. There is likewise a small 
Catholic (Jhapel, with a house for the priest, but no resident priest at present. 

Free Grammar School.-This institute arose from the munificence of John 
Dolman, L.L.D., Archdeacon of Suffolk, and Lord of the Manor of Pock­
lington, who, in the 6th of Henry VIU. (1514), obtained a license to found 
in the parish church, a fraternity or " Guild of the Lord Jesus, the Blessed 
Virgin Mary, and St. Nicholas the Bishop," for a master, two guardians, 
and a number of brethren and sisters. He also obtained permission to grant 
lands, &c., of the yearly value of 20 mnrks, to Utc saitl Guild, for the purpose 
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of supportiug e. learned man to teach grammar to all scholars resorting to 
Pocklington for such instruction. The Guild was dissoh·cd in the 1st of 
Edw. VI. (1547), but in the 6th of that reign t.he school was re-constituted, 
as e. "Free Grammar School, under the patronage of St. John's College, Cam­
bridge, and the lands of the Guild appropriated for its maintenance. These 
now produce nearly £000. a yE!ar. There is also a sum of money nrising 
from the sale of a small portion of land, near York, to the Railway Company, 
invested in the funds, for re-investment in land at any favourable opportunity. 
The school has also £1. 16s. 8d. per annum, from land at Wetwang, left by 
the Rev. Thos. Mountforth. In addition to these estates, Dr. Dolman, in 
the 17th of Henry Vlli. (1526), conveyed certa.in lands in Yorkshire and 
Derbyshire, now producing about £600. a year, to the Society of St. John's 
Colleie, Cambridge, to provide five Scholarships at that College, for scholars 
proceeding from this school; those of his name and kindred to have the pre­
ference. These Scholarships are now of inadequate Yalue, but it is confi­
dently expected, that by the operation of the commission to be appointed 
when a. Bill regarding the University of Cambridge, now in agitation, shall 
ha.Yc received the assent of the legislature, the greater portion of this large 
sum will be actually engaged in the way of Exhibitions, by scholars pro­
ceeding from Pocklington. 

The Master of this school is appointed by the Master and Fellows of St. 
John's College, and the Usher is nominated by the Master and the Church­
wardens, who, with the Vicar of Pocklington, have the right of filling up 
ncancies in the five collegiate Scholarships. The present Corporation of 
Master and Usher still use the seal of the original guild, which is circular, 
having figures of Our Saviour, between the Blessed Virgin and St. Nicholas, 
in the centre; and beneath, the founder kneeling. Legend -Sigillum Com­
mune Fratemitas Nomini$ JltesWI Beatce Marice Sancti Niclwlai de Pocklin[Jlon. 
The school buildings have been, since the appointment of the present Master 
(the Rev. F . J. Gruggen, M.A., late Fellow of St. John's College, Cambridge, 
and late Tutor of St. Bees' College, Cumbcrland), rebuilt and greatly enlarged. 
They are now both ample and convenient, a sum exceeding £2,000. having been 
laid out upon them, none of which has been charged upon the property of the 
school. The present Usher is the Rev. E. B. Slater, M.A., late Fellow of 
St. John's College. The school is now in a rapidly improving condition, and 
some of those who have recently proceeded from it to the University, are 
obtaining for themselves considerable honours and emoluments there. The 
number of jru tJC1wl4n is unlimited. There is no charge whatever for clas­
sical tuition, and mathematics and the ordinary branches of an English 
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education arc also taught without charge to the sons of all persons who have 
been inhabitants of Pocklington, or its neighbourhood, for three years. The 
boys are required either to live with one of the masters, or to return daily to 
their own homes. There is accommodation in the head master's house for 
about forty boarders, and the terms c..rc sixty guineas a year. 

The ne\V National Schools, for 100 boys, 70 girls, and 100 infants, to· 
gethcr with a house for the master, were erected in 1844, at a cost, including 
the value of the sito, of more than £1,400. Of this sum, the Committee 
of Council paid .f:G31.; and tho ~ational Society contributed £60. The 
site was presented by the Ecclesiastical Commissioners (lately holders of 
land in the parish) and the Hon. Captain A. Duncombe, their lessee. 

The Iustitution of Science and Literature numbers upwards of 400 members, 
of which the Rev. Thomas Rankin is president. The Odd FeUows' HaJI was 
erected in 1839, and is let. for public meetings, lectures, &c. In it about 
once a. month is held the Couuty Court, before Wm. Raines, Esq., judge, or 
his deputy. The Pocl.-lington Poor Law Union comprises 47 parishes and 
townships, embracing an area of 158 square miles. The Union Workhouse 
was erected iu 1852, and will accommodate 113 paupers. Chairman of the 
Board of Guardians, Cho.rles Albert Darley, Esq. 

The Torcruhips of 1' apham aiUl ltfelumby constitute a Cllapelry, and contain 
1,818 acres. The Hamlet of Meltonby is small, and stands about 2t miles 
N. by W. of Pocklington; and that of Yapham, 2 miles N.W. of Pocklington. 
Population of Yapham, 151 persons; of Mcltonby, 51 souls. 

The Chapel was rebuilt in 1777-8, and consists of a nave and chancel, with 
a bell turret at the west end. The Curacy is united to the Vicarage of Pock­
lington. The rent of the Chapel Lands, allotted at the enclosure in 1738, 
are expended in repairing the chapel, feeding the poor, and a portion of it is 
paid to the schoolmaster. 

Ousthorpe Towmhip, which contains 330 acres, 2 houses, and 13 inhabi­
tants, is situated 2 miles N.E. by N. of Pocklington. The land belongs 
to Admiral Mitford. Here are some traces of a large moated mansion. 

SoTTON·UPON-DERWENT.-This parish includes the hamlet of Woodhouse, 
and contains 8,360 acres, and 367 inhabitants, 42 of whom belong to Wood­
house. The rateable value is £8,2·U. The entire township, except 42 
acres, belongs to Rd. Goddard Hare Clarges, Esq., the Lord of the Manor. 

Tbe Living is a Rectory, valued at £14. Us. 7d., in the patronage of the 
Lord of the Manor, and incumbency of the Rev. Geo. Rudston Read. The 
tithes of Sutton township were commuted at the enclosure in 1776, for 
194A. 2a. 33P. of land, and a yearly modus of £58. 4s., but the W oodhouse 
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c~tatc is still tithenble. The living is now returned at the nett value of 
£500. per annum. The Chm·ch (St. Micbael) is an ancient structure, con­
sisting of the usual parts of a parish church. The tower is embattled and 
pinuaclcd, and contains three bells. The nave is divided from the side aisles 
by four circular arches, supported by similar pillars. The church was re­
paired in 18-ll, and new stnlls were fitted up in it in 1A40. 

The RectonJ Howe was rebuilt in 1~55, and the grounds are neat. 
The ViUage extends about a mile along tbo eastern acclivities of the vale 

of the navigable river Derwent,.about 8 miles E.S.E. of York, nnd 7 W. by 
S. of Pocklington. The river is here crossed by a good stone bridge. The 
Xational School, established in 18~H, was rebuilt in 1844, and is supported 
by subscription. On the banks of the river are very extensive flour mills, 
in the occupation of Mr. Joscph Hatfield; and there are springs in the place 
strongly impregnated with iron. The Manor House, the residence of Mr. 
John Preston, is an ancient brick building, close to the church, and nearly 
covered with ivy. The poor parishioners have 40s. a year left by Thos. Wil­
berfoss, in 1722, and 5s. per annum from Wood's charity. 

Woo<lhowe Hamlet contains about 1,070 acres, which belong to the Crown. 
It is situated about 1! mile E. of Sutton. 

TuonNTON.-The townships of Thorn ton, Melbourne, and Stortbwaite (tho 
two latter being in the Holwe Beacon Division), are included in this parish, 
comprising altogether 6,540 acres, and 816 persons. Amount of assessed 
property, £5,006. The first-mentioned township contains 2,200 acres, and 
104 inhabitants. Rateable value, £1,741. Colonel Geo. Wyndham is Lord 
of the .Manor and owner of the township, except about 56 acres of glebe land. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, with the Curacy of Allerthorpe, 
rated at £7. 5s. lOd., and now worth £210. per annum. Patron nnd impro­
priator, the Dean of York; Vicar, Rev. Christopber Rawlins. The Church 
(St . .Michacl) is a small ancient structure, with a bell turret on the roof. 

The J'illafle is situated near ~he canal, about 4! miles S.S.W. of Pock­
lington. In 1786 the sum of £28. 6s. 8d., left by various donors, was ex­
pended in the erection of a School, towards the support of which Col. Wynd­
ham gives £5. a year. 

llfelboume 1'o1C11&hip.-Area, 3,130; population, 535 souls; assessed pro­
perty, £2,605. ; rateable value, £2,805. The township is intersected by the 
Pocklington Canal. Tho landowners are James Christie, Esq. (Lord of the 
Manor), and the Dean and Chapter of York. 

The J'iUage consists chiefly of detached houses, situated about 5 miles 
S.S.W. of Pocklington. Melbourne Hall is the handsome seat of James 
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Christie, Esq. The mansion stands in a wdl-wooded park. The Wesleyao 
and Primitive Methodists have chapels here. In 1810, £40. benefaction 
money was expended in building a School and an adjoining tenement. The 
tithes were commuted for land and a money payment in 1ii7. 

Stortlumite, or Stortcood, Tou:nahip has 1,112 acres, and 87 inhabitants; 
assessed property, £l,!WU.; rateable value, £500. The place is situated i l 
miles S.W. of Pocklington, and 3! miles W. of Thornton, and belongs to 
various owners, some of whom have neat houses here, and amongst whom 
are Messrs. Thomas and Robcrt Jennings, and l\Ir. William Jackson. A 
TVcsleyan Chapel was erected here in H>:H, by Mr. Thomas Jenninga. 

WART En. -A largo portion of the hills and dales of tho Wolds is embraced 
in this parish. Area, 7,000 acres; population, 488 persons; rateable value, 
£4,886. ; assessed property, £6,0UO. The scenery in many parts is highly 
picturesque. The air it~ very salubrious, and from the excellence of the 
water the place is supposed by some to have derived its name. The Lord of 
the Manor of Warter, principal landowner, impropriator of the great tithes, 
and patron of the church, is Gamcl Augustus Penuington, Lord Muncastcr, 
of Muncastcr Castle, Cumberland, and Warter Hall. Lord Muncaster is 
the lineal descendant of the family of Fennington, the first of whose ancestors, 
after tbo Conquest, bore the name of Gamel, and who took their name from 
Pennington in Lancashire. Several of the Penningtons were knighted for 
their valour; in the 2~th of Chas. II. Sir Wm. Pennington was created a 
Baronet; and Sir John Pennington, a Colonel in the army at the time of 
the French revolution, was created Baron Muncaster, an Irish peerage, in 
1783. The present (the 4th naron and 8th Baronet) Uaron was born in 1831, 
and succeeded his father, Lowth<'r Augustus John, at his death in 1838. 

At this place a Priory of Augu .. ,tinia118 was founded in 1132, by Geoffry 
Fitz-Payn, (who purchased the lordship and estate of Morcar, Earl of North­
umberland, and fixed his residence here), and dedicated to St. James. It is 
supposed by Durton to havo been situated not far from "Delgo,·itia, the 
Roman Station.·· It was endowed with extensive possessions, and at the time 
of the Dissolution, when it consisted of a Prior and ten Canons, the income 
amounted to £221. 3s. J Od. in the gross, and £143. 7s. Sd. nett. The site 
was granted by Henry VIII. to Thomas Earl of Hutland. The Hospital 
of St. Giles, at Deverley, \vas annexed to tbis Priory. (See page 27-i.) 

The Liviny is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at £4., and returned at £100., 
being augmented with £8t)Q. of Queen Aune's Bounty, from 1767 to 1818. 
Vicar, llcv. Samuel Wilsou. The Churclt (St. James) is an ancient edifice, 
comprising a nan~, chancel, south pol'ch, and west tower. The latter is 
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embattled, and contains two bells. The chancel contains some handsome 
tablets to the Muncaster family. 

The Villags is seated in a deep valley, on the Driffield road, 4 miles E. by 
N. of Pocklington. There is a small W uleyan Chapsl. In the vicinity are 
various tumuli. W arler HaU, or Priory, the seat of Lord M uncaster, is a 
large modem mansion, situated in a well·woodtld park, It mile west of the 
village. The old Maoor Howe, where the courts were formerly held, is now 
a farm house in the village, occupi~ by Mr. William Rickell. 

WrLBERFoss.-This parish contains two townships, viz :-Wilberfoss and 
Newton-upon-Derwent. Wilberfoss township contains 1,230 acres, and 367 
inhabitants; its rateable value is £1,216.; and the amount of assessed pro­
perty is £1,424. This place was the property of the Wilberfoss, or Wilber· 
force, family from the time of the Conquest till 1710, when their mansion 
and estate were sold, and the lands are now divided amongst Col. Wyndbam 
(Lord of the Manor), Thomas Saltmarshe, Esq., Mr. John Owst, W. It. C. 
Stansfield, Esq., Mr. J. Holmes, Capt. Joseph Reilly, and others. The late 
Wm. Wilberforce, the distinguished philanthropist, was a member of this 
family. (See page 165.) The manor is a member of the lordship of Co.tton. 
The soil is various, but principally a light sandy loam. 

A BenedictiM NunnenJ, dedicated to the 13lessed Virgin, was founded here 
by Alan de Catton, prior to the year 1153, which at the Dissolution had a 
Prioress and twelve Nuns, with a yearly income of £28. Ss. Sd. The 
building is supposed to have stood near the village. The site was granted 
to George Gale, in 11S54. 

The li:uing is a Perpetual Curacy, in the incumbency of the Rev. Thomas 
Holmes. It is valued in the King's Books at £12., and now at £67., having 
been augmented with £600. of Queen Anne's Bounty, and a Parliamentary 
grant of £1,200. The patronage is vested in Col. Wyndbam, and three other 
fcoffees, in right of lands lying in the parish. The Church (St. John Baptist) 
comprises a nave and south aisle, a chancel, and an embattled tower con· 
taining three bells. The north side of the building is of brick, and modem. 
The interior is neat. On the floor of the nave are the engraved effigies of 
Sir Rt. Haton, Knt., in armour, and his lady. Sir Robert died in 1447. 

The Vili4gB is situated about 5 miles W.N.W. of Pocklington. The 
Primitivs Msthodilt Chapel was built in 1824, and the JV uleyan Chapel in 
1824. The Manor lJquss is an ancient farm house on the north side of 
the church yard. The Church land is about 12 acres. The poor have 
some small annuities. 
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Net!'t<m-upon-Dertrent Township contains l,l}.tO acres, of the rateable value 
of £1,885.; population, 235 souls; assessed property, £1,6Hl. Chief pro­
prietors, Col. Wyudham, Hd. Price, Esq., Rev. Gco. Marsh, &:c. The place 
belongs to the manor of Catton. The l"illagc is seated on the eastern acclivity 
of the vale of the river Derwcnt, 6 miles W. ol Pocklington. A Wesleyart 
Chaptl was built here in 1817. The Poor's land comprises UA. lOP., part of 
which was purchased with £.w. left by John Horsley, in 1719, and tlte rest, 
with the church laud in Wilberfoss, was pllotted at the enclosure in 1 76(}. 

HOL:ME BEACO~ DIVISIO~.-This division of Harthill Wapentake 
comprises the parishes of Aughton, Bubwitb, I::llerton, Everingham, Good­
manham, Harswell, Haytou, llolme, Londesborougb, .Market Weighton, 
Sancton, and· Scaton Hoss. Arcn, 6-1,471 acres; population, 9,843 persons, 
viz :-5,0.&5 males, and 4,i!l8 females. The division dcrh·es its name from 
an ancient beacon, which was formerly exhibited on extraordinary occasions, 
on the conical mount at Holme-upon-Spalding-Moor. 

AconTo:s.-Thc townships of Aughton, East Cottingwith, and Laytham, 
containing in the whole -1,2111) acres, nod 654 inhabitants, are comprised in 
this parish. The Torr11slrip of Aughton has nn area of 1,i\l0 acres, and its 
population in 1851 was 22.3 souls. The rateable value is £J,.t.ta.; and the 
amount of assessed property in 1815 was .t1,1H8. The parish lies on the 
left bank of the river Derwent, and presents a tolerably level surface. James 
Fletcher, Esq., is Lord of the Manor, and one of the principal landowners. 

On the bank of the river Derwent, near the church, are the moat and 
trenches (surrounding a large mound seventy yards square) of the ancient 
castellated mansion of the family of Aske; ono of whom, Robcrt Aske, was 
beheaded and hung in chains at York, in 153i, as a principal in the rebel­
lion called the" Pilgrimage of Grace," occasioned by the suppression of the 
monasteries. (See Yol. i., p. 180.) The families of De la Hays and Augh­
tons also resided iu this parish. 

The Lit·ing is a Discharged VicaragP, to lrhicb is annexed the Chapelry of 
Cottingwith, valued in the King's Books at £ .J.; augmented in li:l:l, with 
£200. of Queen Annc's Bounty, and £10. per annum, gh·en by the Earl of 
Co.stlcton; and no'" returned nt £\15. nett per annum. Patron, J. Fletclter, 
Esq.; Incumbent, Rev. Gcorg~l l\1. Wcbb. The Church (All Saints) is situ­
o.ted on high ground, near the l>crwcut, and consists of a nave o.nd north 
aisle, n chancel, n lo\v embnttl~d tower, and a porch. The tower contains 
two Lolls, and on its south front is a vacant niche, seven sl1iclJs, and the 
following Latin inscription in old church text :-Christofer le secondfil:; d4J 
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Rubert Ask, chr oblier ne doy Ao Di 1586.* The cllanccl was rebuilt in 
1880, and the remainder has suffered much from churchwardens'" repairing 
and beautifying." The interior was repewcd in 1826. The nave and aisle 
are separated by pointed arches resting on circular columns, and the chancel 
arch is Norman, and very beautiful, having eight mouldings resting on three 
attached columns, ornnmented with birds' heads, chevrons, &c. With the 
exception of the arch in Kirkbum church (See p. 500), this is the finest 
specimen of ornamental carving, of the Anglo-Norman period, in the East 
Riding. On the chancel Boor is a fine brass, bearing the effigies of Sir Rd. 
Aske, and Margaret his wife. The Knight is in plate armour of the 15th 
century. The font is circular, with interlaced arches. 

The l"icaraye I-lo1ue was rebuilt in 1839. 
The Village is pleasantly situated, and is distant about 8 miles N.N.W. of 

liowden. The Ma11or House, or HaU, is an ancient brick building, near the 
east end of the churchyard, and now in the occupation of Mr. Thos. Eland. 
There is a small Wesle!JWl Chapel, built in 1824, and a National School. 

East Cottinywith is a township and chapclry of 1,140 acres, and a popula­
tion of 818 souls. Assessed property, £1,240.; rateable valu<', £l,Hl0. The 
chief proprietors are the 1\lessrs. Martin, John Clough, and John Blanc hard, 
Esqrs., and Mr. Wm. Tate. The Yilkrge is neat, and stands on the east 
bank of the Derwcut, across which is a ferry at this place, about 2t miles N. 
of Aughton. The Cl1apel, rebuilt about 80 years ago, is a small plain brick 
edifice, with a small low tower, on which is a spherical cupola. The interior 
was re-seated about ten years ago. The font is new, and octagonal. The 
chapel yard has been just enlarged. There are two bells in the tower. 

The Lif:ing is a Perpetual Curacy, annexed to the Vicarage of Aughton. 
The tithes were commuted at the enclosure, in 17i3, for an allotment and a 
yearly modus. There is a Friends' Meeting House in the village, built about 
60 years ago, and in the burial ground is a fine walnut tree. There is also 
a small Wesle~Jan Chapel. A close called Hall Garth is probably the site of 
an ancient mansion. The poor baTe 18 acres of land, allotted at the enclo-

• Dr. S. Pegge attempts to explnin this singular inscription, in the Gentleman'• 
Magazine for 1754, pt. ii., p. 407. He snys that it is capnblc of two interpretations, the 
first being, "I, Christopher, the s<'cond son of Robert A!<k, Knight, ought not to forgt't 
the year of our Lord, l~:Jo;• From this it appears that Christopber, son of the above. 
mentioned unfortunate Hobcrt A~ke, built or rebuilt this tower in remembmnce of his 
f11thcr·~ share in tbc rebellion of 1:'>!]0; but whether by way of rC'grct, or otherwise, can­
not bt> decided. Pc:>g;;e also supposes by o prosopoptria, the tower itsPif to speak these 
words, as is usual on such occasions, and then the sense would be, "I ought not to 
forget Christopber, the second son of Sir Robert Ask, Knight, Ao Di l:i36. 
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sure, together with 20s. a year, left by Ellis Bradley and another. Part of 
the rent of the land is given towards the support of the school. The Pock­
lington Canal communicates with the Derwent near this place. (See p. 564.) 

Laytham Toumhip.-Arca, 1,865 acres; population, 111 souls; asaessed 
property, £1,417.; rateable value, £849. The chief proprietors are Mr. H. 
A. Allenby (Lord of the Manor), George Lloyd, Esq., and R. N. Nottingham, 
Esq. The Hamlet is small, and is situated about 2t miles E. of Aughton. 
The Manor Houu is in the occupation of Mr. William Wharram. The 
Grange is the residence of Mr. Robert N. Fowler. 

The Vicar of Aughton preaches, &c., once a fortnight, in a room of a house 
in the village, in which the Wesleyans also hold their religious meetings. 

BuBWITH.-Thc area of this parish, with its seven townships, is 10,154 
acres, and the number of its inhabitants in 1851 was 1,861 persons. The 
assessed property in 1815 amounted to £12,289. The surface is level, and 
the land is well cultivated. The T0tD111hip of Btdncith contains 1,420 acres, 
and 588 inhabitants. Rateable value, £1,215.; assessed property, £2,009.; 
The principal landowners are the Rev. J. D. Jefferson, Thos. Clarke, Esq., 
Thos. Weddell, Esq., and Mr. W. Cbaplin. The Hon. P. Stourton is Lord 
of the Manor. The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in two medieties, in 
the patronage of the Crown, and the Dean and Chapter of York alternately. 
The first medicty is valued in the King's Books at £7. 2s. 6d., the second at 
£8. Os. 5d. Of the two medieties, one was given by Guarin de Bubwith, to 
the Dean and Chapter of York; and the other was given by John de Mow­
bray, Lord of Axholme, to Byland Abbey, and fell to the Crown at the 
Reformation. There were formerly two Vicars in this church, which was 
not unusual. The united medieties are now worth £102. per annum, being 
augmented with £400. of Queen Anne's Bounty, in 1762 and 1792. Vicar, 
Rev. William Geo. Wilkinson. The tithes, great and small, of the townships 
of Bubwith and Harlthorpe, were commuted at the enclosure, in the 2nd 
Wm. IV. (1882). The Crown and the Dean and Chapter are the impro­
priators, but the Crown tithes have been 'Bold to the landowners. 

The Church (All Saints) stands on high ground, and consists of a nave 
with aisles, a chancel, and an embattled and pinnacled west tower, con­
taining three bells. The clerestory has four square windows, and is em­
battled, with pinnacles, which on the south side bear shields of arms. The 
chancel, the oldest part of the edifice, is long, and the cast window is of five 
lights. Most of the windows of the church are square-headed. The interior 
is neat; the nave and aisles are separated by an arcade on each side, of four 
pointed arches, supported by circular pillars. The chancel arch is Anglo· 
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Norman, with bold mouldings, resting on three columns. There is a chapel 
on the north side of the chancel (now used as a vestry), separated from it by 
an el~gant pierced screen, of wainscot, which was removed here from the 
chancel arch, where it had been erected in 1781. The piscina is in the 
chancel. On the walls are severol helmets and mantlings of the Vavasoura 
of Melbourne, and in one of the windows are the ancient arms of Roos. The 
church was repaired in 1702. The fiat leaden roof of the chancel was 
blown off the building, into a garden near the churchyard, in 1858, and the 
present neat high-pitched slated roof was put up in the same year. 

The Vicarage HoUM is a good substantial brick building. 
The Village, which consists of two streets, and is half a mile in length, is 

situated about 6 miles N.N.W. of Howden, in the vicinity of the Selby and 
Market Weighton Railway, and on the eastern bank of the river Derwent, 
over which there is a stone bridge here of three large and seven smaller 
arches. A weekly com market on W edncsday was established here about 
twenty years ago, but it has fallen into disuse since the opening of the above­
mentioned railway, on which line there is an intermediate Station here. 
There are places of worship for the W esleyans and Primitive Methodists. 

There is a Staith on the bank of the river, for landing lime, gravel, coal, 
&c., and for shipping com and potatoes, this district being famed for the 
production of the latter esculent: and great quantities of them are sent 
annually from hence to the West Riding, &c. There are two Bretellrin in the 
village ; the largest of which was established about 80 years ago, and is in 
the occupation of Mr. R. R. Blanshard; and the other is occupied by Mr. T. 
Turner. A large tract of land along the banks of the Derwent, called the 
lngs, is subject to be flooded by the overflow of the river after heavy rains, 
but it yields very fine crops of hay. The poor of the whole parish have six 
acres of land, left by Jas. Turner, in 1714; and the poor of Bubwith town­
ship have eleven acres, left by one of the Hotham family. This is the birth 
place of Xicholas de Bubwith, Bishop of Bath and Wells, one of the English 
prelates that attended the Council of Constnnce, in 1415. 

Breight-orw:um-GunlnJ TowMI•ip.-Area, 2,030 acres; population, 193 per­
sons; rateable value, £1,002.; assessed property, £1,253. The Archbishop 
of York is Lord of the Manor, and owner of a great part of the soil, Robert 
Scholcfield and J. A. Hepton, Esqrs., being lessees under him. There are 
about 500 acres unenclosed, and 150 acres of common. 

B ·reighton Hamlet is situated about 1! mile. S. of Bubwitb. A close called 
HaU Garth is evidently the site of an ancient mansion, the moat of which 
still remains. The farm and manor of Gunhy consists of about 360 acres, 
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and is now the property and residence of Mr. Jonathan Burtt. It is seated 
on the banks of the Derwent, about three quarters of a mile N. from Breigh· 
ton. Gunby was given by the Conqueror to his standard bearer, Gilbert 
Tison, and it afterwards gave surname to the family, from it enlled D~ Guneby, 
which resided here for many generations. The old mansion was taken do,vn 
some 70 or 80 years ago. 

Foggatlwrpe 1'otmship contains 1,284 acres, and 99 souls: rateable value, 
£1,457.; assessed property, £1,491. Chief proprietors, Mrs. Rhodes, Mrs. 
Musgravc, .Mr. William Jewett, and Mr. B. Taylor. This place, which in 
Domesday is called Fulcatlwrpe, was also given by the Conqueror to his 
standard bearer. The Ackroyds had an ancient mansion here, which was 
moated on three sides, and was taken down in 1H3, and a farm house built 
on its site. There is no assemblage of houses here that might be called a 
village, the farm houses and cottages being scattered all over the township. 
The place is situated about 3 miles E . from Bubwith. The Grange, a large 
brick building, erected in 1820, is the property and residence of :Mr. William • 
Je,vett. There is a small but neat Methodut Clt.apel, built in 1803. 

Gribtlwrpe Tow11sllip consists of three farms and a few cottages, situated 
3 miles E . of Bubwith. It contains 875 acres, chiefly the property of Col. 
George Wyndham, the Lord of the Manor. Population, u2 souls. Rateable 
value, £635 . The hamlet is very small. 

WiUitpft Toumhip contains 855 acres, and 33 inho.bitants. The assessed 
property of Gribihorpe and Willitoft amounts to £1,87 4. The Hamlet stands 
about 2 miles S.W. of llubwitb. Willitoft Hall was formerly the property 
and residence of the Vavasours. The property no\v belongs to Wm. Green, 
Esq., and the old mansion was demolished many years ago. The present 
hall is a farm house, erected about the year 1825. About 150 acres of this 
township are situated in Aughton parish. 

HarltMrp8 Tou:11.ship contains 520 acres, of the rateable value of £462.; 
population, 78 souls. Lord of tho Manor, Hon. Philip Stourton; principal 
landholders, Jlev. J. D. Jefferson, Mr. Tbos. Eland, and .Mr. Dodsworth. 
The Hamlet is small, and stands 2 miles E. of Bubwith. 

Spaldi11gton Township .-Area, 3, 710 acres; population, 323 souls; rate­
able value, £3,170. It lies on the south side of Spalding Moor. The soil 
belongs mostly to Lord Londesborough and Sir H. M. Vavasour. 

The ViUa{Je, which is scattered, is seated about 4 miles N. by E. of How­
den; and the township includes the scattered hamlet of Spalding«m Otmid~, 
on the Market Weighton road, 4 miles N. by E . of Howden. At this place 
also was a mansion of the Vayasour family, a fine old building in the El.iza-
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bethan style, which was pulled down in 1838. The present ball, the pro­
perty of Sir H. M. Vavasour, and residence of llobert Goldthorp, Esq., is a 
large brick building, with stone dressings, erected in 1840. Here is a small 
ancient Episcop!U Chapel, and a Methodist Chapel, built in 1820. 

ELT.ERTOS PmonY.-This parish extends over an area of 2,552 acres, and 
has 342 inhabitants. Its rateable value is £2,220.; and £2,076. is the 
amount of the assessed property. The parish lies on the east side of th.e 
river Derwent, and the chief proprietors of the soil are William Worswick 
(Lord of the Manor), and - Bridges, Esq. 

Before the year 1221, Wm. Fitz-Peter founded here a Priory of CanonB, 
of the Order of Sempringham, dedicated to the Blessed Virgin and St. Law­
rence. The canons were obliged to maintain thirteen poor people. Accor­
ding to Burton, the convent was situated in so "flat a country, as not only 
to be a little above the reach of the water when the Dernent overflows the 
adjacent grounds." At its dissolution, in the reign of Henry VTII., the 
society consisted of a Prior and nine religious, and its revenues amounted to 
£62. Ss. 10d. nett per non. In 15·12 the site was granted to John de Aske. 

The Church is a Perpetual Curacy, iu the patronage of the Rev. J. D. 
Jefferson, and incumbency of the Rev. W. G. Wilkinson, Vicar of Bubwith. 
It is rated at £10., and was augmented, in 1732 and 1704, with £4.00. of 
Queen Anne's Bounty, and with land worth £210., given by Hugh Bethell, 
Esq., and the other frceholders. It is now returned at £210. per annum. 
The tithes were commuted at the enclosure in 1802. 

The Fabric (St. 1\Iary) was rebuilt some ten years ago, and consists of a 
navn, chancel, porch, and bell turret, in which arc two bells. The interior is 
very neat, the seats are open, the pulpit and reading desk are of oak, the font 
is new and octagonal, and there is much stained glass in the windows. The 
expense of the building was defrayed chiefly by the Rev. J . D. Jefferson. 
The old church was part of the nave of the ancient conventual church, and 
was in a sad state of dilapidation. 

The Village is neat and pleasant, and stands about 9 miles N.W. of How­
den. The Wesleyans have a chapel here. There are AlmshouBtB for six 
poor persons, founded and endowed in 1610, by Sir Hugh Bethell, and 
further endowed at the enclosure of the common, with an allotment of about 
nine acres. Each inmate now receives £3. H!s. per annum, and a supply of 
coals. The Poor's land consists of 21 acres, given by an unknown donor. 

The Manor House, or Hall, once the sent of the Codringtons, who added 
the name of Dethell, is an ancient brick building, near the church. Ellerton 
Grange is in the occupation of Mr. William Knapton, farmer. 

VOL. U, 4 E 
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En:m:>GliAM.-Area, 3,080 acres; population, 2\.17 souls; rnteaLle vnluc, 
£2,327.; assessed property, £2,073. Wm. Constable .Maxwcll, Esq., is Lord 
of the Manor. The surface is level, the soil of a light sandy nature, with, in 
many parts, a substratum of clay, and the neighbourhood exhibits much 
beautiful scenery. 

The lordship of Everingltam, sometimes written in old records En!Jdering· 
!Lam, anciently bclongcd to a family who took their name from it, of whom 
the first we meet with is RoLert de Everingham, who died seized of the 
manor, in the 30th of Henry Ill. (12-10), and from him it descended to his 
posterity. The family held the manor of the Archbishops of York, by the 
service of performing the office of butler, at their palace, on the day of their 
enthronization. Adam, the last heir male of the Everingham family, who 
died in the .Uth Edw. ill. (1371), left only heirs general, who brought his 
estates into other families. In the lOth of llenry IY. (UOO), Thomas Earl 
of Kent possessed this manor, and hy Eleauor, his daughter, it passed to 
Thomas Montacutc, Earl of Salisbury. The manor and the whole of the soil 
in the parish, excC'pt the glebe land, now belongs to William Constable Mnx· 
well, Esq., of Everingham Park, in this place, and Carlaverock Castle, Dum· 
friesbire. The family of llfa:mcll is Yery ancient, and the present lord of 
Everingham is a claimant of the peerage of Herries, in Scotland. 

The lJenejice is a Discharged Rectory, rated. in the King's Dooks at £8. 
Os. 8d., and now \Vorth £237. per annum. At the enclosure in 1765, an 
allotment of 1-!0 acres of lantl, and a yearly modus of £80., were awarded in 
lieu of tithes. Patron, 1\Irs. Martin; Rector, Rev. John William Knollys 
Lock wood. The Church (nlessed Virgin) is n plain structure, consisting of a 
nnve, chancel, and porch, of brick, aud n stone tower. The interior is plain, 
and an apothecary's mortar, embedded in one of the pillars, serl'es for a font. 
The church appears to have been mostly rebuilt in the latter part of the last 
century. The Rectory House, n Yery good residencC', with neatly arranged 
grounds, stands nearly opposite the church. 

The J'illage, which is small, is situated 5 miles W.N.W. of Market 
Weigbton. E't•cringltam Pm·k is the seat, as has been observed, of ·wm. C. 
Maxwell, Esq._ The park is rich in sylvan beauties, is very well wooded, 
and stocked with deer, and the pleasure grounds, gardens, &c., are laid down 
and planted with great taste. The Hall is a stately brick building, with 
stone dressings, and extensil'e offices. Among the paintings is a large ono 
of Mr. Maxwell and his !our brothers. Near the mansion is n magnificent 
Catl10lic C!turch, dedicated to God in honour of ~he Immaculate Conception 
of the Dlessed Virgin, nud of St. Ererildis, which was erected hy 1\Ir. Mn."t.-
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well, nt a grent expense, and opened on the lOth of July, 1839. It is on the 
plnn of the most ancient cruciform fabrics, with a semicircular SIUlctuary at 
one end, and an ante-chapel at the other; one of the transepts being the 
Lady Chapel, or Chapel of the Blessed Virgin, and the other used as a sacristy, 
or vestry. The whole is lighted from the roof, which has a richly panelled 
ceiling, resting on Corinthian columns and pilasters, with an elegant enta· 
blature, and between them arc niches and panels, with statues and basso­
rclievos. The high altar is of the richest Italian marble, and in large niches 
in the walls, on both sides of the body of the church, and on pedestals in 
other parts, are full length statues of the Twelve Apostles, the Blessed Virgin, 
St. Josepb, St. John Baptist, and St. Everildis. There are likewise sixteen 
basso-relicvos, representing the principal incidents in the life of our Di\·ino 
Redeemer. The statuary decorations were executed by the eminent Italian 
artist Signor Dozzoni, pupil of the celebrated Vinelli, of Rome. The sido 
chapel is very rich in decoration and ornament, and over the ante-chapel is a 
tribune, or gallery, in which is a fine. organ, by Alien, of London. The scr­
,·ices are now conducted by Priests of the Order of the Immaculate Con­
ception, who reside in a convenient house in the park, called Tile PrionJ. 

A F1·ce School, for boys and girls, was erected by Mr. Ma:twell, and is 
supported by the same gentleman. Field House and farm is in the occu­
pation of Mr. Thomas Easingwood. 

GoomuNnA:u.-Tbis parish comprises 2,!130 acres, and 325 inhabitants; 
rateable value, £2,958.; assessed property, £2,013. The soil is a light 
loam, resting upon chalk, the surface is undulated, and the scenery very 
picturesque. The principal landowners are Lord Londesborough (Lord of 
the Manor), the Rector in right of his church, W. D. T. Duesbery, Esq., 
Mrs. LofthouS(', Mr. Robcrt and the l\Iisses Leighton. 

This place is of very remote antiquity. According to some writers the 
ancient Britons had here a Druidic temple, and a regular establishment of 
Druids, Dards, and Eubo.tcs, who resided on the spot, or in the neighbouring 
\\'ood of Deira; and hence some authorities d<:ri,·e the ancient name of the 
place, Gotlmw1dingham, from Godo, in the Celtic language, an uncovered 
sanctuary, or temple, and mynyddig, a hilly place. The present village is 
supposed by some antiquarians to be the site of tl1e Roman Station, Delgo­
t:itia, but this is disputed by others, and tllnt long lost, and perhaps still 
undiscovered Sto.tion, is placed by various writers o.t Millington, Londes­
borougb, l\Iarkct Weighton, and Old Malton. At Goodmnnharu, according 
to Dedc, was situated the great Po.gan Temple of Northumbria, which, in tho 
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words of Drake, " iu all probability was on the very spot of ground where the 
church now stands." At page 8.J. of vol. i. of this history, we have noticed 
the conversion to Christianity of Edwin, the Saxon King of Northumbria, 
and of Coifi, the high priest, or arch-flamen, of Paganism-the chief minister 
of Thor and Woden-in the year 627; together with the desecration and 
destruction of the great temple of idolatry at Goodmanhnm. "This place, 
where the idols were, is still shown," writes Dede," is not far from York, to the 
eastward, beyond the river Derwent; and is now called Godmundingaham, 
where the high priest, by the inspiration of tlto true God, profaned and des­
troyed the altars which be had ltimself consecrated." The venerable author 
of the Ecclesiastical History has fallen into an obvious chorographical en-or, 
in describing the situation as not far from York, and near the Den·ent, for 
it is scarcely less than 18 miles from the former, nod at least 10 miles from 
the nearest point of the latter. Dut Mr. Burton excuses this mistake in 
regard to distance, by obsening that Bede, living a close monastic life in his 
cell, wrote of places which he had never seen, and would nnturnlly describe 
the site of this temple of idols, \vith respect to the nearest and most remark­
able objects in the country, which were certainly the city of York and thll 
river Derwent. 

"The ancient name Godmundingaham," writes Allen, "does not properly 
indicate such a structure as is generally understood by the word temple, but 
rather ' Deorum septa,' an enclosure of gods; and Bede himself," be continues, 
"iuterprets it not 'templum,' but 'idolorum locus,' a place of idols." Bur­
ton thinks that this expression might allude as well to Roman as to Saxon 
idols. Drake and Dr. Gibson are of opinion that this was not a temple of 
either Roman worship or construction, but a place dedico.ted to Saxon idolatry, 
and enclosed with o. hedge instead of walls. In a field about 100 yards south 
of the church, aro some extensive and strange looking mounds, now called 
Hotre Ilill8, and these eo.rthworks have been supposed to be the remains of 
Coifi's temple; but Druke, Mr. Roach Smith, o.nd others, who excavated 
several parts of this uneven ground, pronounced the mounds nothing but 
vestiges of old chalk or lime pits. 

Mr. Wright, in his Wandcri11gs of m~ A11tiquary, observes that Dede never 
said that Godn1undingabo.m mcaut a. place of idols. It simply mco.ns, be 
(l.\fr. Wright) continues, the ham or home (t·esidencc) of the first of the Sa:ton, 
or rather Angle, possessors of the locality-the Godmuudings, or descen­
do.nts of Godmund. It ii now impossible to tell, writes the same authority, 
whether Godmund was one of the chiefs who came in one of the expeditions 
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to Britain, or whether he was some older hero of the country from which the 
Angle settlers came, or whether again be may ha'\'C been the bead of a race 
of priests. In Domesday the place is spelt Godmundham. · 

As has been obsen·ed, the royal residence of the Saxon monarch, "the 
winter house in which the King sat in the ninth month," and in which the 
discussion between Paulinus and Coifi took place, is supposed to have been 
at Londesborough. 

The Livi119 is a Rectory, valued at £12. lis. 8d., and returned at £447. 
per annum. Patron, .Mrs. Blow, wife of the present Rector, the Re\'. 
Willinm Blow. The tithes were commuted at the enclosure, in 1775, 
for about 730 acres of land. The Church ·(All Saints) stands on an ele­
nted knoll in the village, in a rather remarkable position ; and is an t>arly 
Norman structure of some architectural interest. Formerly it was always 
set down as Saxon, and was thought to have been built out of the materials 
of the Pagan temple; but whether the ruins of that temple were used in its 
construction or not, the present church-the oldest and principal part of it­
does not appear to be of older date than the beginning of the 11th century. 
There are several alterations aud additions of much later times. The plan of 
the chun:h comprises a nave, north aisle, and south porch, a chancel, and a 
low massive embattled tower, containing three bells, and having in its lower 
part the remains of a Norman doorway, now almost entirely concealed by a 
buttress. Within the porch is a semicircular arch. The interior was re­
paired and repewed in 18~8; three massive circular arches divide thtrnave 
and aisle; the chancel arch is round, recessed, square-edged, and omamented 
with the billet, trowel point, and n profuse variety of zigzags; and the tower 
arch is semi-Normr.n, twice recessed. The present windows are of different 
periods. The rare old Norman chancel is ceiled, and, in the words of a 
recent writer, "made tidy after the most approved manner of a modem sitting 
room, so that all traces of its ancient work are utterly obliterated, and inter­
nally there is no sort of interest left in it." There are two fonts in this 
church, one of very ancient rude workmanship, and the other, \\'hich is of the 
16th century, is very large, handsome, and elaborate. The first-mentioned 
font is a hexagonal stone, of about 1i foot in height, and a little less to the 
sides, with a round bowl and drain, perfectly plu.iu except a little grooving 
round tbe top and bottom.* The more modern font is octagonal, with a 

• This old font Wll8 either given away, or purcha.<~ed by somo farmer in the parish, 
when the other font was introduced, in whose farm yard it remained for many genera. 
tions, till ltlO~. when it was purchased by the Rev. l\tr. Stillingflcet, and removed to tho 
garden of the piU'Sonago at Hotham, but afterwards restored to tbo church. Dr. Stukely, 
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panelled plinth enriched with elegant tracery, and bearing shields of arms, 
inscriptions, &c.* The Rectory Houu, a large white brick building, was 
erected in 1823-4 by the present rector. The gardens, shrubberies, &:c., 
around it are very neat. 

The Village is romantically situated upon one of the lower acclivities on 
the western side of the Wolds, about 1t mile N.E. of Market Weighton. 
"That there have been on all sides of it very extensive erections, is plain," 
writes Allen," from the disturbed and mutilated state of the soil." The 
Wesleya1l Chapel was built in 1828. The illa11or Hou~e, in the \-illage, is in 
tbo occupation of Mr. John Stephenson. Grove Cotta9e is the property and 
residence of 1\Ir. Rt. Leighton. There are several scattered farms among 
the lofty chalk hills of the Wolds, amongst which are The Grange, the resi­
dence of Mr. Jas. Harrison; The Lodge, of Mr. Thos. Green; Wold HottU, 
of Mr. J. Jarrott; and the farms in the occupation of Messrs. John Stather, 
James Shaw, E. West, J. Stephenson, and F. Brough. Two streams which 
rise in this parish, unite nnd turn a water mill. This stream divides the 
parishes of Goodwanham and Market Wcighton. There is a chalybeate 
spring in this parish. 

HARSWJ::LL.-Area, 1,106 acres; population 81 persons; rateable value, 
£801.; assessed property, £84(}. Sir Cbas. Slingsby is Lord of the 1\lnnor, 
owner of all the land, and patron of the Hcctory. The parish is situated in 
the vale of the small river Foulness. The Livi11g is rated at £ .1., and now 
wortlt about .£200. per ann. Rector, Hev. \V m. Collins. The tithes were com­
muted for £17 4. fis. 10d., and there are 43 acres of glebe land. A Rectory 
Ilouu is now (18;i5) being built. The Church (St. Peterj is a small plain 
building, with a nave and chancel. The interior is very plain and humble, 
being fitted up with the pews and a fC\v seats or forms. In the chancel is 
the piscina. The font is ancient and octagonal. 

the nnt.i'lnnriao, nYcrrcd thnt it wns e,·co in this font thnt Pnulinns bnptisetl Coifi. It is 
renlly wonderful how n mnn so learnnd should luwe gnwdy written such n fabulous 
statement, in the fnce of the clear testimony of Rede. Stukcly snys, "The Apostle Pnu­
linus built the Jlllrish church of Gootlmnuhnm, where i~ the font in which be baptised 
the heathen pri1•st Coifi ;" llede remarks, "l'aulinu~ bnptisNl in the river Swllle, be<:ause 
n:; y<'lornt.ories, nr jimt~. could not be mndP, in thn infimcy of the church, in those pnrt.s." 

• Round the upper l~d;::c of U1is font, is the followin~ inscription, partly clt>faced :­
" .dll ma bt •avtd of yor cltarete pra for them that thi• fvnt mayd. Robert Clet:ynge, 
parson." Jtobt. Clnvyngc w tL> instituted to the living of Goodrunnhnm, Feb. l $th, 152~, 
nut!. died in l561i. On the lower leJ.ge nppenrs to be, "At•e M aria gratia 1•lma domintu 
~cum bt~dU'ta '" i11 mullicribll$ ;" and in <litfcrcnt parts nre shields, inscribed "Lade 
-Te•ru-Christu8-1trlp," and the arms of Hnstiog11 nn1l G.-irustonc, who wt>re rnt.rons 
of the liYing, tog<'lhl)r with the nl'lib of the s,•(· of Y ~Jrl;, nn•l of St. Willinn1. 
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• 
'l'he Villa!Jeis very small, and stands St miles W.S.W. of Market Weighton. 

The i\fmwr House, near the west end of the church, is situated on the site 
of an ancient moated mansion, and is the residence of Mr. Hugh Nottingham, 
farmer. In the garden is what appears to be the ancient holy water font 
belonging to the church. There arc indications of a moated mansion in a 
field east of the church. 

H.uTON.-This parish includes the townships of Hnyton and llielby. 
The area of Ho.yton is 1,846 acres, of the rateable value of £2,271 ; and 220 
inhabitants. Amount of assessed property in the parish, £2,504. The 
principallnndholders are Wm. Hy. Rudston Rend, Esq. (Lord of the .Manor), 
Henry Preston, Esq., l\Jr. Simeon Templeman, and John Singleton, Esq. 

The Lit·iny is a Vicarage, valued at £7. lls. Otd.; augmented with £200. 
of Queen Anne's llounty, and £200. given by Mrs. St. Quintin; and now 
returned at £288. per ann. Patron, the Dean of York; Vicar, Rev. C. P. 
Graham. The great tithes \vere commuted for a rent charge of .£320. 7s. Ud., 
and the small tithes for £80. The Clwrch (St. Martin) stands on an emi­
nence, and consists of a nave, chancel, porch, and tower. The latter contains 
three bells. The Vicarage House stands a little south of the church. 

The Villaue is situated 2t miles S.E. of Pockliugtou. A small l'rimitit·e 
Methodist Chapel here was rebuilt iu 1850. The School, a neat building, 
erected in 1854, by the Lord of the Manor, stands near the site of an ancient 
hall. The Mane»' HoWJe is a fine old building, N.E. of the church, in the 
occupation of Mr. Robert Appleton, farmer. The poor of Hayton have 10 
acres of land in Bielby, and some small rent charges. 

The Township of Bielby contains 1,220 acres, and 305 souls. Rateable 
,·alue, .£1,446. Chief proprietors of tho soil, Merton College, Oxford (Lords 
of the Manor), W. C. Maxwell, Esq., John Singleton, Esq., and the Rev. 
Thos. Jnckson. The to\Tnship is intersected by the Pocklington Canal. 

The Village stands -i miles S. of Pocklingtou, and in it is a Chapel of Ease, 
of considerable antiquity; the remains of Norman workmanship still e.tisting 
in different parts. The Livin!J is a Curacy, not in charge, annexed to the 
Vicarage of Hayton. Tho tithes of the township were commuted in 1814. 
Here is a Wealeyan Chapel, built in 1837. The poor ha¥o 12A. of land, left 
by Luke Bateman, in 10-18, and three annual rent charges amounting to 80s. 

HoLME·t:rON-SPALDI:SG·Moon.-This parish extends over an area of 10,!:!20 
acres, and contains 1,713 inLnbitnuts. Its rateable vu.luc is £8,350., auu the 
assessed property amounts to .£8,i22. This estate was, during several cen­
turies, possessed by the Constables of Flnmborough, of whom it was purchased 
by tho celebrated Sir .Marmaduke Langdale, one of the bravest Generals and 
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. . 
most steady adherents of Charles I., in all his misfortunes; and who, after 
the Restoration, as a reward for his loyalty, was raised to tbo peerage, by the 
title of Baron Lauydale, of Holrne-upon-Spalding-Moor. This title became 
extinct on tho death of the fifth and last Lord Langdo.le, in 1777, when his 
estates devolved on his daughter and heiress, now Dowager Lady Stourton. 
This parish belongs to many frceholders, but the largest proprietor, and Lord 
of the Manor, is the Hon. Pbilip Stourton (son of the last and brother of the 
present Lord Stourton), who holds the estate of his mother, the already 
alluded to Lady Stourton. T. H. S. Sotheran, Esq., and Hy. Presten, Esq., 
are also large landowners here. Tbo parish is skirted on the west and south 
by the river Foulness, the surface, with the exception of an isolated eminence, 
on which are the remains of the ancient beacon from which this division of 
Harthill Wapentakc has its name, is generally a level flat; and the soil is 
chiefly of a light and sandy quality, baYing been, previously to the enclosure 
in 1776, a swampy moor. Acco.rding to tradition a Cell for h\·o monks was 
founded here, either by one of the Vavasours of Spaldington, or the Con· 
stables of Holme, when a great part of this region was a trackless morass; 
the employment of one of the monks being to guide travellers over the dreary 
wastes, whilst the other was imploring the protection of heaven for those who 
were exposed to the dangers of the road ; and these offices they o.lternately 
performed. The Cell is generally supposed to have stood on the edge of 
Spalding .Moor, at Welham Bridge, about 3t miles S. of Holme; but some 
think it more probable that the establishment was at Monk Farm, on the 
west side of the moor, and the name, as well as the site of a small moated 
building seems to favour the latter opinion. At present, indeed, when these 
extensive wastes are well drained, enclosed, and culth·ated, overspread with 
well-built farm houses, and crossed by good turnpike roads, a stranger co.n 
scarcely conceive how any danger could ever be apprehended in travelling 
through such a district; "but there are old persons yet living," writes Mr. 
Alien, in '1829, "who can remember the time when any one unacquainted 
with the country would have found it both a difficult and dangerous attempt 
in foggy or stormy weather, to cross the common without a conductor. 

The Living is a Vicamge, ,·alucd in the Liber Regis at £10., and now re­
turned at £600. per ann. The patrons and impropriators are the Master 
and Fellows of St. John's College, Cambridge, under whom the Vicar holds 
the Lay Rectory (consisting of 1,325 ncres, awarded at the enclosure in lieu 
of tithes) by lease, for his life, at a peppercorn yearly rent. There are about 
53 acres of vicarial glebe. Vicar, Rev. Charles Yate. The Ohurch (All 
Saints, or St. John Baptist) stands on the Beacon Hill, and is a neat struc· 
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turc, comprising a nave and aisles, a chancel, south porch, and an elegant 
and well-proportioned tower. The latter appendage has a richly pierced 
parapet, crowned with eight crocketed pinnacles, and contains three bells. 
In the centre of the west front is a niche, in which is an ancient statue. 
The nave and isles are divided by arcades of three pointed arches supported 
by circular columns. In the chancel is a tablet to Dr. Thomas Kipling, 
Vicar of this parish and Dean of Peterborough, who died in 1822. The 
church was repaired and re-pewed in 1842, at an expense of £800. 

The ViMrag~ Houu is a large brick building, situated about a quarter of 
a mile from the chnrch. 

The curious and remarkable mount, upon the summit of which the church 
is situated, is about half a mile east of the village. It is about forty yards 
high, but the ascent is easy, and from the top is an extensive prospect of the 
fiat country stretching from the Wolds to the river Ouse, in which York 
Minster is a prominent feature. A short distance south of the church are 
the remains of the beacon above-mentioned, which was frequently used during 
the late wars. In the vicinity of this hill is a bed of gypsum, in which has 
been found ammonites, or snake stones. Clwzpel HiU, a small eminence in 
the village, is supposed to be the site of n sacred edifice called the Clulpel 
of St. Nicho'Uu. This chapel, or a chantry within it, was founded by Sir 
Marmaduke Constable, in 1394, and his descendants presented chaplains to 
it until1532. Sir Marmaduke endowed it with one messuage, sixty acres of 
land, and one acre of meadow, in Holme; and the said messuage is, in all 
probability, the house on Chapel Hill, now called Chapel House. 

The Village is large and scattered, and situated about 4t miles S. W. of 
Market Weighton. It is sometimes called Hempholme, from the great quan­
tity of hemp formerly grown near it. The Methodilt Clw~l was built in 
1826, in connexion with which is a School, and a house for the master. Tho 
Primitive Methodilt Chapel was erected in 1850. The National School, for 
both sexes, was built in 1824. The shock of an earthquake was felt in this 
neighbourhood, on the n.ight of Jan. 18th, 1822; and another shock was ex­
perienced in 1848, soon after the great earthquake in the West Indies. 

Holme HaU, the seat of the Hon. P. Stourton, is a spacious and handsome 
mansion of brick, situated in a fine domain, embellished with pleasure 
grounds and plantations, extending to the summit of the beacon hill. At­
tached to the mansion is a small but neat Catholic Cha~Z, and a good resi­
dence for the priest, the Rev. Thomas Cockshoot. The Catholic School is 
supported by the Dowager Lady Stourton. 

Holme Hotcu is the residence of Mr. Ralph Boast, farmer. The poor 
VOL. ll, 4 F 
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parishioners have property producing about £80. per annum, bequeathed by 
Sir M. Constable, in US:J, and by Peter Cnrlill, in 1666.* 
Lo~DESDOROUGH, or Lo~Dsnnouou.-This parish, the name of which in 

old records ii spelt Loncburgh, and Lnumlmrgh, comprises <1,200 acres, and 
a population of 203 persons. Rateable value, £8,418.; assessed property, 
£2,502. Tho place appears to have been the site of n Roman settlement 
of some kind, and Drake does not hesitate in ascribing to it the much dis­
puted Roman Station, Delgovitia, the road from which to Brough, he says, 
is in a continued straight line, and was, even in his time, still called Hum­
ber Street. The ancient road passed through the park, and was discovered 
in making one of the canals through it. It was composed of scarce materials, 
covered by about 15 inches of soil, and was exceedingly difficult to be broken 
through. The Roman road to Spurn also branched off here. All writers 
agree that this place was at least an outpost or a villa of the Romans, for 
several of their coins, and other articles, as well as sepulchral deposits, have 
been discovered in the village, park, and garden, and under the ball itself; 
but no foundations. As has been observed in the account of Goodmanham, 

• At page 152 of t.hill vol. is noticed the preliminary steps which had been taken in the 
early part of the year 18511, for the establishment of a &/Of"f/llltof'y School for Ju~:t11i~ 
O.ffcTidcrl. Since then, arrangements have beeu llll\de for founding such a School (to 
be conducted exclusively on Protestant principlE's), on a farm of 40 ocres, belonging to 
the Earl of Carlisle, in tho neighbourhood of lllalton-thc noble Earl having offered to 
let that quantity of land, or more if required, on lease to the Committee of the Refor. 
matory Institution. It has also been determined to establish a similar institute, for the 
three Ridings of Yorkshire, for the reformation of offenders whose parents profess the 
Catholic faith, to be conducted on the principles of the Catholic religion; and the Right 
Rev. Dr. Briggs, the Catholic Bishop of this diocese, having, with great liberality, pre. 
aented to the Catholic Committee, for the use of the institution, a house and farm of 70 
ocres of lBild, in the parish of Holme.upon.Spalding.l\foor, arrangements are being 
made to put the establishmE-nt in operation with all convenient speed. It runy be here 
obsencd that the farm which the good Bishop has so generously and charitably placed 
at the disposal of the Committee, is Rituated about 2 miles from the village of Holme, 
and is considered to be admirably adapted for the purpose of such an institution. The 
land was gi\·en some years ago to Dr. Driggs, by the late Sir E. M. Vavasour, and it was 
intended at one time to found a Monastery upon it; and with this view buildings intended 
to form one sido of a quadrangle were erected, and occupied for some time by a few 
religious, who are said to have much improved the land. We understand that it is not 
improbable that the proposed Reformatory will bo placed under the superintendence of 
some religious community. The mnnagement of the institute is now in the hands of a 
Committee, consisting of the Hon. Cbas. Langdale, Hon. P. Stourton, W. C. Maxwcll, 
Esq., H. C. Moxwell, Esq., the Very Rev. J. Render, V.G., Revds. J. Walker, W. Fisher, 
R. Brown, and III. Trappe11; Sir C. Tempest, Sir W. Lnweon, and T. MeynE-11, Jun., J. 
Hohlsworth, S. S. Byron, and R. G. Gainsfortb, Esquires. 
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Mr. Wrigbt is of opinion that Londesborough was the site of King Edwin·s 
villa, and the scene o£ the conference related by Bede. (See ,·ol. i., p. 84.) 

Londesborough was the lordship and estate of Thomas de Bramfiete, in 
the reign of Richard II., and his son llenry dying without issue, this lord­
ship, with several other estates, descended to Margaret his daughter, and the 
heirs of her body. This lady married John, Lord Clifford, by whom she had 
two sons and a daughter. Henry, Lord Clifford, her eldest son, was very 
young when his father was killed at Towton Field, as his grandfather was at 
the battle of St. Albans, both fighting for the Lancastrian right to the Crown. 
When the family of York became at length settled on the throne, this Henry 
was in danger o£ his life, the Yorkists seeking always to extirpate those 
families which had been their enemies, by cutting off their branches, who 
they feared would revenge their ancestors' blood, Lady Clifford, his mother, 
being fearful of their designs upon her sons, placed Henry at Londesborough, 
where she then lived, with a shepherd, who had married her nursemaid, and 
brought him up as his own child; and Richard, her second son, was sent 
into. the Netherlands. Upon being examined by the adverse party, the 
mother stated that both her sons bad been sent beyond sea, and whether 
they were alive or not she could not tell. This answer satisfied them for the 
present, but not long after a report that the Lord Clifford was alive reached 
the court, upon which the mother removed the shepherd to the borders of 
Scotland, to hold a farm there, her son going with him, and continuing with 
him in the capacity of a shepherd until King Henry VII. came to the throne, 
when he (Lord Clifford) was restored to all his honours, castles, and estates, 
at the age of 32 years, and notwithstanding his mean education, he became 
an eminent man. 

In the early part of the 17th century Sir Fras. Clifford, of Londesborouglt, 
succeeded his brother George in the Earldom of Cumberland. His son 
Henry, the fifth and last Earl of that family, dying without male issue, his 
only daughter and heiress carried t.bis estate in marriage to the Boyles, Earls 
of Cork, from whom it descended to the Duke of Devonshire. In 1846 the 
manor and estate was sold to George Hudson, Esq., from whom it was pur­
chased, in 1850, by the present noble proprietor, who takes from it his title 
of Lord Londesborough. (See vol. i., page 678.) 

Londuborough HaU, the ancient mansion of a branch of the Clifford family, 
was taken down in 1819, by order of the Duke of Devonshire, and its beau­
tiful park was divided into two farms, though it still retains a park·like 
appearance, and is rich in the picturesque. On the side next the village is 
an avenue of venerable trees, on each side more than a mile in length, and 
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near the village a neat mansion, in the Elizabethan style, was built in 1889. 
Rising in bold ascents towards the Wolds, the park commands a variety of 
charming and extensive prospects. The view from the site of the hall is 
most varied and magnificent. In the park wae a fieh pond of nine acres, 
now drained off and converted into pasture. 

The Living is a Rectory, rated at £16., and returned at £798. per annum. 
Patron, Lord Londcsborough; Rector, the Hon. aud Rev. William George 
Howard. Tithes commuted in 1816 and 1821. The Church (All Saints) 
stands on the verge of the park, and consists of a nave, north aisle, chancel, 
and an embattled and pinnacled tower containing three bells. The windows 
are of various forms. The interior is plain ; the nave and aisle are sepa­
rated by four pointed arches resting on circular columns; the chancel arch 
is circular; and the chancel is divided from the aisle by two pointed arches 
supported by octagonal pillars. There are a few monuments, among which 
is one in the chancel to Lady Grisold, Countess of Cumberland, who died at 
.Londesborough in 1613; and a brass inscription on the floor to Margaret, 
Lady Clifford and Vescy, wife of John, Lord Clifford and Weatmorland, who 
died in 1493. The font is octagonal, upon a union of dwarf pillars. 

The &ctory HoUM is a good commodious residence. 
The J'illage is pleasant, and picturesquely seated on the western side of 

the Wolds, about 3 miles N. from Market Weighton. The Natwnal School, 
built by the Duke of Devonshire, is chiefly supported by Lord Londesborough 
and the Rector. An Hotpital was founded here about the year 1680, by the 
first Earl of Burlington, and Elizabeth his Countess, daughter and heiress 
of Clifford, last Earl of Cumberland, for twelve poor aged bachelors, widowers, 
or widows. They endowed it with £100. per ann. out of the manor of Lon· 
desborough, and the Lord of the Manor nominates the almapeople. 

Ea$t/wrpe is a small hamlet in this parish, situate 1 mile E. of the village. 

MARKET WEIGHTON. 

This parish comprises the market town of Market W eighton, the chapelry 
of Shipton, and the hamlet of Arras, containing altogether 7,248 acres, and 
2,427 inhabitants. The population of the TownM&ip of Market TV eighton and 
Arra$ is 2,001 souls. The amount of assessed property is £0,398.; and the 
rateable value of the town and township, £8,475. 

Camden. Gale, Stukely, and Horsley, place the Roman Station, Delgovitia, 
o.t Market Weighton, though it appears to have no pretensions to that dis­
tinction, except the correctness of its distan£e. No Roman remains, except 
a few coins, have been found here, "and there are not any marks of an-
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tiquity, writes the author of Beverlae, "but a tumulus and some earthworka 
in the hall eloee, looking towards Goodmanham, apparently the site of an 
ancient residence." We have frequently obse"ed in the preceding pages, 
that this disputed Station has been placed by tbe antiquarians, at Londee­
borough, Goodmanham, Millington, Old Malton, &c.; and it is not impro­
bable that its foundations are yet undi100vered ; though, for ourselves, we 
incline to the supposition that Millington was the ancient Delgovitia. Near 
this town, however, are several ancient barrows, but they appear to be Danish 
rather than Roman monuments, and afford reason to believe that this place 
has been the scene of a bloody action between the Danes and Saxons, of 
which no account is prese"ed in history. Weighton, or Wighton, lay on the 
Roman way called Humber Street, and Mr. Wright, an excellent antiquarian, 
suggests that it was anciently Weg·tun, or town on the way. 

Before the Conquest the manor of this place belonged to Morcar, Earl of 
Northumbrio., but to whom King Wm. granted it \Ve know not, for we find 
nothing of it till the ISth Edward II. (1812), when, it being in the hands of 
Pane Tibetot, the ancestor of the Earls of Worcester, he obtained of that 
mono.rch, a cho.rter for a weekly market here on Tuesday, and an annual 
fair ou the eve, day, and morrow of St. Mary Magdalen. In tho reign of 
Henry VI. the manor belonged to Henry de Bromfiete, who obtained a grant 
of a weekly market here upon Wednesday, and two fairs; one upon the fee· 
tival of the Invention, and the other upon the Exaltation of the Holy Cross. 
He bad been an eminent warrior in the time of Henry V., but in his old age 
he loo a -very pious retired life; and at his death be gave this lordship, with 
several others, to be sold, and the price of them to be laid out for the weal of 
his soul, in the endowment of chantries, and other works of charity. Tbo 
chief proprietors of the soil at present are Lord Londesborough (Lord of the 
Manor), Thomas William Rivis, Esq., the Hon. Charles Langdale, and 
William Constable Maxwell, Esq. 

The Town of Market Weighton is small, but busy and well built, and is 
situated on the road from Beverley to York, on the western aide of the Wolde, 
19 miles E.S.E. from York, with which it is connected by a railway. It is 
distant 10 miles W. from Beverley; 12 N.E. by N. of Howdcn; 18 N.W. 
by W. of Hull; and 190 miles N. by W. of London. From a hill near 
the town, it is said that on a clear day, the towers of York, Lincoln, and 
lleverley Mineters may all be seen. The Foulness rivulet crosses the eastern 
part of the town, and at the distance of two miles to the south, supplies the 
head basin of the Market Wl!ightcn Canal, which extends southward to the 
Humber, near Faxfieet, a distance of ten milea, crossing Walling Fen, and 
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cut soon alter the drainage and enclosure of that and the other feus and 
marshes in the neighbourhood, during the latter part of the la.st century. 
The Mar/ut, held every Wednesday, is well supplied, -and since the opening 
of the railway• from this town to York and Selby, the corn market has much 
improved. Fairs are held for cattle and sheep, May 14th; for horses, Sept. 
28rd; for horses and cattle, Sept. 24th; and for sheep, Sept. 25th. The 
latter fair for sheep is one of the largest in the county. Here is a branch 
of the York Union Bank; also, a branch of the Hull Savings' Bank, es­
tablished here in 1881. 

Petty Sessions are held here every alternate Wednesday, in a room in the 
Police Station, a neat brick building, erected in 1848. The Railway Station 
is a commodious edifice on the north side of the town, a short distance from 
the head inn, the Londesborough Arms. The Selby, Tadcaster, and Market 
Weighton District Agricultural Association held their first annual show, in 
1854, at Sclby; their second at Tadcaster; and the next will be held at 
Market Wcighton, in 1856. Lord Londesborough is the president of this 
society, and amongst its vice-presidents arc Lords Wenlock and Muncaster. 
IUld Sir W. M. E. Milner. 

The Livirtg is a Discharged Vicarage, with the Curacy of Shipton, in the 
peculiar jurisdiction of the Dean and Chapter of York, rated in the King's 
Books at £4. 13s. 9d., and now returned at £li6. nett per ann. The great 
tithes, and the small tithes of the new enclosures for the manor of Market 
Wcighton and Shipton, were commuted for land in li78, under an Enclo­
sure Act; and other small tithes were commuted for a rent charge of £100. 
per annum, in 1846. Patron, the Archbishop of York; Vicar, Rev. Robt. 
Spofforth. The Church (All Saints or St. Peter) is situated near the centre 
of the town, and is a handsome Gothic edifice, with a good Norman tower at 
the west end. The nave has side aisles, a south porch of stone, and a cleres­
tory, and the chancel has a north aisle. The windows of the aisles are of 
three lights, with perpendicular tracery ; the clerestory windows are small; 
and the cast window of the chancel was formerly circular headed, but is now 
pointed. The tower is embattled and pinnacled, and contains six bells. 
The interior is neat; an nrcade of three pointed arches on each side, sup­
ported by octagonal pillars, separate the aisles from the nave; and the aisle 
is divided from the chancel by two pointed arches. There is an organ in 
the gallery, nnd beneath is n plain circular font. The Vicarag~ Houu is a 
large brick building, situated some distance from the church. 

The Independents, Wesleyans, and Primiti'l"o Methodists ha'l"e each a 
chapel here; and the National School, built in 1842, at a cost of .£600., is 
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supported in the usual way; there are at present four pupil teachers in it. 
In the centre of the town is a neat TemJMranc~ Hall, erected in 1841. 

At the enclosure in 1778, the Church E&tat~, which was appropriated for 
the repairs of the church from time immemorial, was mostly exchanged for 
about 83 acres of land ; and the other portion of it consists of three houses, 
with gardens, &c. The poor ha,·e several rent charges and legacies, left by 
various donors, distributed amongst them, the chief of which is £600. left 
by Dorothy Barker in 1800. Wm. Bradley, commonly called the Yorklhire 
Giant, was born at Market Weighton, in 1792, and when lQ years of age, 
measured 7ft. Sin. in height, and weighed 27 stone. Professor Airey, of 
the Royal Observatory, Greenwich, was also born here. 

The Hamut of Arra&, situated 8 miles E. of Market Weighton, consists 
of one farm, the property of W. C. Maxwell, Esq., and in the occupation of 
Mr. Wm. Stephenson. Upon this farm, and at a neighbouring farm, Hesale­
skew, are a great mllDy barrows. Their form is circular, and their size 
generally small; and in some instances, they are so slightly elevated above 
the surface as to be nearly indistinct. About 200 of these barrows were 
examined by the Rev. Edward W. Stillingfleet and B. Clarkson, Esq., in the 
year 1817, and in almost every tumulus they opened was found a human 
skeleton, some very perfect, and others in every stage of decay. The position 
of the bodies, except in one or two instances, was in the direction of north 
and south, and the skeletons invariably rested on a dry bed of chalk. A 
great number of ornaments were also found in these barrows, such as brace­
lets of brass, jet ornaments, brooches, amber, and brass rings, &c., but no 
coins, or anything bearing the slightest resemblance to weapons or implements 
of a domestic nature. One tumulus contained a skeleton of a horse on one 
side of the interment, and that of a pig on the other; and near the horse 
were two very large bridle bits, one of fine brass, very neatly wrought, and • 
the other of iron, much corroded. In the same barrow were two chariot 
wheels, of about three feet in diameter, and the rim two inches wide. Mr. 
Stillingfieet has in his possession the iron rims of two chariot wheels, one 
found at Arras, and the other at Hesaleskew; and along with one of them 
were found several brass ornaments, and a chain, which appear to have been 
appendages to the chariot or harness. This locality was visited by the 
Yorkshire Antiquarian Club, in May, 1850, and three of the tumuli were 
examined; and in one of them was found a human skeleton, in very good 
preservation, laid nearly on the face. The arms were so placed beneath the 
body that they covered the knees, which were bent, and drawn up to the 
chin. The thigh bones each measured 19 inches. It is considered very 
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probable that th• place, which is situated on the line of the old Roman 
road, has been a burial ground attached to a Romanized British settlement. 
The Rev. George Oliver is of opinion that the ornaments found in these 
ancient graves are atriking indications of a British settlement. 

Shipton Chapelry.-The area, 1,570 acres, is included with the parish; 
the population in 1851 was 426 persons, exclusive of 32 residents who were 
temporarily absent when the Census was taken. The rateable value is 
£1,732.; and the assessed property, £1,962. The principal landowners are 
Lord Londesborough, tho Rev. William Blow, and Mr. Thos. Stephenson. 

The Villag6, which is very pleasant and well built, is seated on the road 
to York, about It mile N .W. of Market W eighton. The Chapel is an ancient 
structure, with a square tower, in which are two bells. The inner door of 
the porch is Norman, and much admired. In a small gallery in the interior 
is a good harmonium, presented by MiSB M. Lister. The living is annexed 
to Market Weighton. A Wuleyan Chap6l was built here in 1833, and a 
Primiti116 ltf6thodiat Chapel in 1834. The School is endowed with two yearly 
rent charges, viz :-£5. Us., left by John Hutchinson, in 1714; and £2. 
out of copyhold lands surrendered by Eliz. and John Barker, in 17 42. The 
master instructs six free scholars from Market Weighton, and four from 
Bhipton. Thomas Meedson gave a yearly rent charge of 10s. to provide cape 
for the free scholars. 

S. Ireland, a celebrated voltigeur, was born in this village, and this is said 
to be the birth place of the renowned witch, Moth4r Shipton. 

SANCTON.-The townships of Sancton with Houghton and North Cliff are 
comprised in this parish. The united township of Sancton and Houghton 
contains 3,410 acres; and 438 inhabitants. Its rateable value is £~,628. ; 
and the assessed property amounts to £4,972. The surface is hilly, the soil 

# ~nd and chalk, and the scenery is varied and picturesque. Sancton and 
Hougbton are two distinct manors. The principal landowners are the Hon. 
Charles Langdale (Lord of both Manors and lessee of the appropriate rectory, 
which bt,longs to the Archbishop of York) Mr. William Stephenson, Mr. 
John W. Campbell, and Mr. John Inman. 

The Lit!ing is a Discharged Vicarage, rated in the King's Books at £6. 
Is. 10d., and now returned at £49. per ann. Patron, the Hon. Chas. Lang· 
dale; Vicar, Rev. Andrew Keir. The great tithes were commuted in 1770, 
for an allotment of 296 acres. The Church (All Saints) stands on rising 
ground north of the village, and is a handsome edifice, consisting of a nave, 
chancel, and octagonal tower at the west end, in which are three bells. Each 
angle of this beautiful tower is guarded by a light buttress which terminates 
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near the top iu a crocketcd pinnacle, and in either front there is a pointed 
windo\V of two lights. There is a porch OD the south aide of the nave, and 
a large window of three lights, and the chancel has aingle lights. The 
church was repaired in 18Q8. The interior ie neat. 'rhe font ie octagonal. 
On the floor of the chancel are several memorials of the family of Langdale ; 
one of which is to the Rt. Hou. Marmaduke Langdale, Baron of Holme-on­
Spe.lding-Moor, who died in 1661. 

The Village of Sancton, which is small, is picturesquely seated in a narrow 
valley, about 2t miles S.E. of Market Weighton. The Manor Houu, a large 
brick building, in the occupation of Mr. William Stephenson, stands on high 
ground, n short distance north of the church. A small W esleyan Chapel 
was built here in 1840. 

Houghtcn adjoins Sancton on the west, and is a very scattered district. 
Houghton HaU is the seat of the Hon. C. Langdale, son of the 16th, and 

brother of the present Lord Stourton. Ho was born in 1787; and married, 
first in 1817, the daughter of the 6th Lord Clifford; and secondly in 1821, 
the daughter of Marmaduke Wm. Haggerstone Constable Maxwell, Esq. 
Mr. Langdnle represented Beverley in Parliament, from 1832 to 1835, The 
mansion is fine, the lawn or park extensive and well wooded, the grounds 
are disposed with much taste and judgment, and there is a fine sheet of 
water, divided in the centre by a cascade, &c. In connexion \Vith the hall is 
a Catholic Chapel, erected in 1820; the interior is very neat and chastely 
fitted up, the altar being situated in an apee at one end ; and on a tribune 
at the oiher end is a good organ. There is a house for the priest, the Rev. 
John Glover; as well as a Catholic School, wh~ch is supported by Mr. Long­
dale. Another school in this place is endowed with £20. per ann., out of an 
estate at Skirlaugh, under the will of Marmaduke Langdale, dated 1600. A 
short distance from Houghton Hall, is a curious old building.(now a farm 
house) of stone, embattled, with a flat roof. A farm house called the Manor 
Hott.U is now occupied by Mr. Thomas Dickinson, farmer. 

North Cliff To111118hip.-Area, 1,208 acres, of the rateable value of £771. ; 
assessed property, £728.; population, 81 souls. Sir Wm. Worsley is Lord 
of the Manor, and owner of the entire township, except a few acres. 

The Haml4t is small and scattered, and lies about 8 mUes S. of Market 
W eighton, at the foot of an abrupt declivity which rises from a sandy plain. 
The HaU, in the village, now in the occupation of .Mr. Wm. Appleton, farmer, 
appears to be but a portion of a very ancient mansion. Some of tbQ walls 
are three feet in thickness. Two of ~e rooms in the interior are wainscotted 
with carved oak, in the style or the "olden time." 
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SEATON-Ross.-Area, 8,380 acres; population, 568 souls; mteaLle value, 
£2,8-19.; assessed property, £3,851. This was anciently the lordship of 
Christopher Scaton, who had married the King of Scotland's sister; but in 
the wars with Scotland, it \\'88 given by Ed\\•ard I. to EdmUlld de 1\fauley, 
as part of a reward for his valour in those wars. From his descendants it 
passed to the family of RoBS, of whom Thomas, Lord Ross, for his adherence 
to the Lancastrians, ha\'ing forfeited his estates to the Crown, this manor 
was given by Edw. IY. to John Tiptoft, Earl of Worcester, who was then 
steward of that King's household. Wm. C. Maxwell, Esq., is now Lord of 
the Manor, owner of a great part of the soil, impropriator, and patron of the 
living, which is a Perpetual Curacy, worth £98. per ann., having been aug­
mented with a Parliamentary Grant of £1,200. in 1825. Incumbent, Rev. 
G. 1\I. Webb. The Church (St. Edmund) is a small plain brick edifice, re­
built in 1780, by W. H . .M. Constable, Esq., and the parishioners. It con­
sists of a nave, chancel, and tower. 

The ViUaoe is long and straggling, and stands about 6 miles W. by S. of 
Pocklington. The Wcsloyans and Primitive Methodists h~ve chapels here. 

Tars division of the East Riding is bounded on the north by the Holme 
Beacon division of Harthill Wapentake; on the east by that of Hunsley 
Beacon ; on the south by the river Ouse; and on the west by the Derwent. 
It is about ton miles in length, extending west\vard on the north bank of the 
Ouse, from its confluence 'vith the Trent and Humber, to the point where it 
receives the river Derwent. It is a level district, now highly coltivated, well 
drained, and very fertile, though a great portion of it was, till the latter part 
of the last century, a moory and fenny morass, one part called Buhop Soil, 
and the other WaUing Ff!l~. The former contained 8,668 acres, on which 
the parishes of Howden, Eastrington, and Blacktoft, bad right of stray. On 
its enclosure, under an Act passed in 1767, allotments amounting to 2,622.&. 
2P. were awarded to the 14 townships of Howden parish; 702A. 2R. 16P. to 
Eastrington parish; and 348A. ln. 85P. to Blacktoft parish. Nearly 1,000 
acres of these allotments are copyhold, under the Bishop of Ripon. Walling 
Fe" comprises about 5,000 acres, extending eastward into the South Hunsley 
Beacon division of Harthill Wapentake. On the enclosure of this fen, under 
an Act passed in 1777 (but the award was not ratified till 1781), it was 
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divided amongst the 48 surrounding townships, which previously bad the 
right of stray upon it; and many of these allotments lie at the distance of 
from four to five miles from their respective townships. Upwards of 1,285 
acres of it were awarded to Eastrington parish; 954 acres to Howden parish ; 
and 865 acres to Blacktoft parish. 0£ the two first allotments, about 500 
acres are copyhold under the Bishop of Ripon. The Market Weigbton 
Canal is cut through the middle of Walling Fen; and near Newport and 
New Village is a small building called the Furty Eight Houu, from its being 
erected by the 48 townships, as a place of meeting for their delegates, who 
assembled in it to settle the affairs o( the fen when it was an open pasture. 
The Wapmtake includes the parishes of Howden, Blacktoft, Eastrington, and 
Wressle, containing altogether 80,842 acres, and 7,984 persons, viz :-8,975 
males, and 4009 females. The MaMrial Libmy, of which the Bishop of 
Ripon is now Lord Paramount and chief bailiff, extends also into Barlby, 
Brantingham, Hemingbrough, Skipwith, Walkington, and Welton-cum-Mel· 
ton, in the East Riding; and Holtby, in the North Riding. Before the 
enclosure and drainage of Bishop Soil and Walling Fen, and the improvements 
of the embankments, the river Ouse often overflowed and inundated all the 
low grounds about Howden. In 1700, a dead body was brought in a boat 
from Barmby to Howden church; and during a flood in 1768, when the bank 
of Barmby Marsh was broken, a boat with five men and a boy in it, sailed 
from the town over the enclosures to Howden Dyke. 

HOWDEN. 

Howden, the capital of Howdenshire, called in Domesday Hovede11~ (and 
by Gent, Howlden), is an extensive parish, comprising the market town of 
Howden and thirteen townships, noticed hereafter. The area of the entire 
parish is 16,292 acres, and in 1851 it contained 5,178 inhabitants. The 
amount of assessed property in 1815 was £25,767. 

The Manor of Ho~eden and its dependencies fonn a Baronial Liberty and 
Church Peculiar called Howdcnshirc. In the Saxon times the manor and 
church belonged to the Abbey of Medesltamstede (now 'Peterborough), from 
which institution they appear to have been wrested, in consequence of the 
non-payment o( the tax called Danegelt, by that monastery. After the battle 
of Hastings the Conqueror gave the manor, church, &c., to Wm. Karilepho, 
Bishop of Durham, and that prelate shortly afterwards gave the church 
aud its appurtenances to the monn.stery of Durham, and retained the mauor 
for himself and his successors. According to Domesday, J{ing Edward the 
Confessor bad this manor, when it was valued at forty pounds; but when 
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the Norman Su"ey was made, it belonged to the Bishop of D.urham, and 
was only worth twelve pounds. This reduction of ita value tells a fearful 
tale of the ravages which the country had undergone. William Bishop of 
Durham being accused of joining in the conspiracy of the rebellious Bruons, 
in the reign of William Rufus, that monarch ravaged Howden and Welton, 
and seizing these and several other places belonging to that See, in York­
shire, bestowed them upon Odo de Campania, and Alan, Count of Richmond, 
his favorites. Henry I. afterwards restored them to Ralph, the then Bishop. 
In several records it is stated that the Bishops of Durham held all pleas 
within his Liberty of Howdenshire, which he was entitled to hold in his 
County Palatine of Durham, pleas of the Crown only excepted. Some of the 
Bishops appointed Justices of the Peace for Howdenshire. 

The manor and its appurtenances appear to have been demised on various 
occasions to meet the pecuniary wants of several of the Bishops, who held it 
from time to time ; and it has at various times been the subject of forfeiture, 
of grant and of re-grant, nevertheless always coming back to the See of Dur­
ham. Bishop Dames demised to QueP.n Elizabeth, for a term of 90 years, 
the manor of Howden, and its appendages, together with the park (I& grovu) 
and three water corn mills, at a yearly rent of 34s. Sd. He also demised to 
the Queen the fisheries, shores, passages, and ferry boat at Howden Dyke, 
for 10s. 4d. per ann. ; a horse mill at Howden, for 23s. 4d. per ann. ; and 
the horse tracking, fishery, and passage, from the river Ouse to the stone 
bridge, in the street called Briggate, in Howden, for the yearly rent of 12d. 

The manor of Howden was in lay bands during the Commonwealth, and 
was again attached to the Sec at the Restoration. Hero it continued till the 
bishopric of Ripon was formed and constituted in 1836, from which time it 
became an integral part of that See. A considerable portion of the manor 
is of the tenure called customary freehold; the fines arc small and certain; 
and in addition to a considerable revenue derived from these fines, the Bishop 
has about 600 acres of land in Howden, 80 in Barmby, 250 in Skelton, and 
.280 in So.ltmarshe. He has also tbo fisheries and rights of ferries on the 
the river Ouse, from Cawood to Melton, a di&tancc of thirty miles.* He 
appoints the Coroner, and other officers of the Liberty, for which a court 

• The Dishops of Durham certainly claimed the right of fishing and other manorial 
right.s in tho river for this distance, but th<'se exclusive rights would hardly be found 
tenable at this day. In 13-12, two whales and two sturgeons were oaught on the shores 
of the manor of H owden, and cnrried nwny by the populace; but as they were said to 
nppertrun to the Dil;bop of Durham, King Edw. Ill. issued his writ to bring the offenders 
to justice. The fisheries formerly abounded in salmon, an cl were of considerable value, 
but during the lMt half c!'ntury, thAy hnye bf:'come nt>nrly YAhtPlel's. 
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for the recovery of debts under 40s., is held every Saturday three weeks; 
and be also holds courts leet, baron, &c. Lord Howden is the steward. 
The Bishop's principal lessees for the above-mentioned demesne lands are 
the Rev. J. D. Jefferson, Philip Saltmarshe, Esq., and Wm. Scbolfield, Esq. 

Howdenshire, for ecclesiastical purposes, was a peculiar in the patronage 
of tbe Dean and Chapter of Durham, but now it is merged in the Archdea· 
conry of the East Riding. 

Howden township was in two manors in 1670, called Metbam and Bar­
forth; and the chief proprietors of the soil at present are the Rev. J. D. 
Jcfferson, Mrs. Dunn, Colonel Richardson, and the ReY. Robert Satton. 

The market town of Howden is situated one mile N. of the river Ouse, 2S 
miles ·W. of Hull, 10 E. by N. of Selby, 20 E.S.E. of York, 175 miles N. by 
W. of London by coach road, and 220 by railway. The ferry across the 
Ouse at Howden Dyke is one mile 8., and Booth Ferry, two miles S.E. of 
the town. The Howden Station, on the Hull and Selby Railway, is about 
lt mile N. from the town. The township contains 2,774 acres, including 
the river coast, and in 1851 it had 2,491 inhabitants, 2,285 of whom resided 
in the town, viz :-1,060 males, and 1,175 females. The rateable value of 
the township is .£6,491.; and the amount of assessed property, £6,390. 

The town consists of a Market Place, in which there is an ancient stone 
cross, and a few well built well paved streets, which are lighted with gas, 
from works erected by Mr. J. Malam, in 1832, and now belonging to Mr. 
Thomas ~aydon, of Hull. The inhabitants are amply supplied with water. 
The Market is on Saturday, and on every alternate Tuesday is a market for 
cattle. A Wool Mark4t is held on three Wednesdays every year, in tbe 
months of June and July. 

The Sprin!J Fair for horses, cattle, &c., established some years ago, is held 
on the 15th, 16th, and 17th of April, when the meeting of the Howdenshire 
Agricultural Society takes place; aud on the 26th of September, and six 
following days, a great and long celebrated horae fair is held here. The 
latter is perhaps the largest fair for horses in the world, and it is usually 
attended by dealers, breeders, and purchasers, from all parts of this and 
many foreign countries; some of whom are frequently commiBSioned to pur· 
chase horses at this far-famed mart, for Emperors, Kings, and Princes. This 
great fair was established by a charter of King John, iu 1200, and during its 
continuance the town is densely crowded. A pleasure fair is also held during 
that week. An annual Foal Shoto was established on the 80th of August, 
1855. An annual Steeple Chase now takes place here on the 18th of April, 
being established three years ago. The first Horticultural Exhibition at this 
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place occurred on the 16th of August, 18155. Puty Semom are held here 
before the magistrates of the district, on the first Saturday of every month; 
and the County Court is held monthly, before Judge Raines. There is a neat 
Police Station, containing apartments for the superintendent. Howden is a 
polling place in the election of the Parliamentary representatives of the East 
Riding. A public building was erected in the Church Yard, in 1850, in 
which the Satling•' Bank* is held, as is also the Petty Sessions and the Me­
chanics' Institute. There is a branch of the York City and County Bank at 
Howden. Some years since a Court of SetDen, for Howdenshire and the 
west part of the East Riding, was held here, and had an extensive juris· 
diction, having existed from the time of Henry VTII. The ancient Moot 
Hall, which stood in the Market Place, was taken down about 40 years ago. 

The Mechaniu' Imtitut8 was founded in Feb. 184Q, and now numbers 
about 150 members. The Reading Room is well supplied with newspapers 
and periodicals, and the Library contains about 400 vols. Lectures during 
the winter months. This institute has tended to promote most materially 
the intellectual progress of the people of Howden. 

TaE CauRca.-Howden is celebrated for its ancient and interesting churcb, 
a noble edifice, which for beauty of architecture, may vie with any other in 
England. It is dedicated to St. Peter, and is supposed to occupy the site of 
a heathen temple. It was at first a Parochial Rectory, in the patronage of 
the Prior and Convent of Durham, and so continued till the year 1267, when 
Waiter Giffard, Archbishop of York, seeing that the parish of Howden was 
very wide and large, and that the profits and rente of the church were suffi­
cient for the maintenance of many spiritual men, ordained that there should 
be in it five prebends for ever, each of them to maintain at his own proper 
costs, a priest and clerk in Holy Orders, to administer in the same church, 
in a canonical habit. Thus was the church of Howden made collegiate. 
The same prelate ordained that certain revenues should be assigned to the 
Canons, which said Canons, should, for three months in the year at least, 
make their personal residence in the church ; that the Prior and Convent of 
Durham should have the patronage of the said prebends; and that the area, 
or church yard, should be proportionately divided to the prebendaries for 
their habitations. The prebends were those of Howden, Thorpo, Saltmarsb, 
Barmby, and Laxton. In 1270, Wm. Wickwane, Archbishop of York, with 

• The H0111demhire Savitlfl•' Bank "as established in 1818. The number of de. 
positors in November, ISM, was 706; and tho total amount due to tbe depositors was 
£21,794. 16s. Mr. Charles Hntcbinson, Secretary. Tho ne" bank was opened for 
bnsine88, March 29tb, 1861. 

o tzoobyGoogle 



HOWDENSHIRE WAPENTAK.E. 699 

the consent of the Prior and monks of Durham, ordained a sixth prebend in 
this church, called the Prebend of Skipwith. The prebendaries were obliged 
to keep the chancel or choir of the church in repair, to fin4 bread and wine, 
and bell ropes, o.nd to keep hospitality. In the ~6th of Henry V.IIJ:. (1!18!1) 
the prebends of this church were valued as follows, viz :-Howden, £18. 13s. 
4d. in the gross, and £12. in the clear ; Thorpe, £16. lls. Bd. gross, £9. 
18s. 4d. clear; Saltmarsh, £16. 13s. 4d. gross, £10. clear; Skipwith, £12. 
10s. 6td. gross, £10. lls. 2!d. clear; Skelton, £15. 13s. 4d. gross, £9. clear; 
and Barmby, £16. 16. Sd. gross, and £9. 13s. 4d. clear. The collegiate 
establishment was dissolved in the 1st Edw. VI. (1547), and the temporalities 
thereby became vested in the Crown, in which they remained tilll692, when 

·Queen Elizabeth granted and sold them to Edw. Frost, John WalkE.'r, their 
heirs and assigns for ever. 'fhe revenues which supported the fabric having 
thus passed iuto private bands, the choir became totally neglected, and con­
tinued going gradually to decay till the year 1634 and 1635, when it became 
unsafe to celebrate divine service in it, and the nave was repaired, new roofed, 
and fitted up for that purpose by the parishioners. About the middle of the 
year 1696, the groined stone roof of the choir fell in. Gent, in his History 
of Ripon, published in 1733, tells us that the choir of Howden church "fell 
down not many years ago. But in the wicked usurper's time," he continues, 
"the inner part was miserably rent to pieces ; its comely, tuneful, and me­
lodious organ pulled down ; some of the vile miscreants, his soldiers, carrying 
the pipes, and scornfully striving to tone them, as they proceeded towards 
W ressle, two miles from this place." 

Besides the Canons of this church, there were chantry priests connected 
with it, for the altars of St. Mary, St. Thomas, St. Catherine, St. Cuthbert, 
and St. Andrew. In the Saxon times this church bad several shrines and 
relics. According to Giraldus Camb"'nsis, St. Osa.ra, sister of Osred, King 
of Northumbria, had a shrine here, and her miracles had a fame beyond the 
confines of the kingdom. 

The date of the present church is not known, but it certainly stands on 
the foundations of a more ancient edifice-the church mentioned in Domes­
day. The plan is cruciform, having a nave, and north aisle, and two south 
aisles, a chancel and aisles, with a Chapter House on the south side, and 
transepts with east aisles. It is partly in the Early English, but principally 
in the Decorated style. From the centre rises a magnificent tower, of ex· 
cellent proportions, in which is a sweet and musical peal of eight bells, 
which were opened on the 14th July, 177!1. The west front is made into 
four divisions by buttresses, the two marking the nave, finishing above the 
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roof in octagonal caps, richly crockcted, and pierced with small windows. 
The fronts of these two buttresses are panelled ; and each has a niche con­
taining a statue; one of them representing a Bishop with a church in his 
band. In the centre di\·ision is a beautiful pointed doorway, the arch re­
cessed, and resting on numerous columns with leaved capitals; and on each 
side are blank pointed arches. Over the doorway is a fine window of four 
lights, divided by a transom, and baYing much handsome tracery of a very 
original character in the sweep of the arch. The design rises to a crocketed 
apex, terminating in a foliated cross.. In the divisions on each side of the 
nave is a pointed wiudow of three lights, with elegant tracery. In the ex­
treme south aisle is a deprossod arched window of three lights. The windows 
of the other parts of the building are all pointed, and tbo buttresses of the 
nave and transepts have angular caps. The parapets of the aisles are plain, 
but supported on a beautiful cornice; tho clcrestory of the nave has a series 
of double pointed windows, and is finished \~ith a plain parapet. In the front 
of each transept is a pointed doorway, and a large window aboYe of four 
lights and a transom; and the finish of tbis part of the church is a sculptured 
block cornice. The beautiful choir is now in ruins. The east end is made 
into three divisions by highly enriched buttresses, entirely filled with crocketed 
niches, &c. The centre displays a noble window, the tracery and munnions 
of which are lost. This front, when perfect, must ha ye been gorgeous in the 
extreme, and have presented a fine specimen of the architecture of the 1-ith 
century. The tower is very stately, and is said to have been built by Waiter 
Skirlaw, Bishop of Durham, about 1300. Camden and others have statad 
that it was built by that prelate, "that in case of a sudden inundation, the 
inhabitants might save themselves in it." Mr. Bigland calls this assertion, 
"a dream of the celebrated antiquary" (Camdcn), and a "romantic tale;" 
for if the banks of the two rivers in the neighbourhood (the Ouse and Derwent) 
were levelled, the town of Howden could never be laid more than six or eight 
feet under water. The lower windows of the tower are very lofty, being of 
three lights, with two transoms, in the purest perpendicular style; the upper 
windows have a single transom, and the top is embattled. The interior is 
spacious, and is about to be refitted ; the nave is divided from the aisles by six 
pointed arches, springing from columns formed by the union of four cylinders 
with octagonal capitals. The extreme south aisle is short, and adjoining it 
is a porch, now used as a vestry. The arch between the nave and transept 
is filled up. Within the last dozen years great improvements and repara· 
tions have been made in various parts of the fabric, by public subscription, 
and the ruined part has been made more secure, by clamping it with iron. 
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Two side screens were thrown across the transept, and several of the windo\vs 
were filled with beautiful stained glass.* The church has a fine organ. 
The font, of florid Gothic character, was presented to the church a few years 
ago, by l\1 r. Henry Rogerson, of Bramley. On the north side of the transept 
to\vards the south, are the remains of two chantries thrown into one; tho 
piscinas remain, and the division walls may yet be traced. They were 
formerly the burial place of the Metbam family, as also those of Hamilton, 
with whom they intermarried; but the whole is now, and has long been used 
as the burial place of Philip Saltmarshe, Esq., who lately introduced into it 
two elegantly stained glass windows. There were six fine windows on each 
side of the choir. The Chapter House is entered from the south aisle of the 
choir by a splendid arch, with canopied niches on each side, and on the left 
of the passage is a chantry, supposed'to be that of St. Thomas, now the burial 
place of the family of Clarke, of Knedlington. The piscina still remains. 
There are some stone coffins in the choir, and several monuments in the 
church to the families of Scholfield, Saltmarshe, Dunn, Jefferson, Worsop, 
and others. The dimensions of this noble church,are, length of the nave, 
105 feet; breadth of nave, 00 feet; length of the transept, 117 feet; breadth 
of the same, 30 feet; length of the choir, 120 feet; breadth of ditto, 06 feet ; 
nnd height of the tower, 135 feet. 

The Chapter llouse (now a ruin) is a superb and very beautifully propor· 
tioned octagonal edifice, with buttresses at the angles; each containing two 
pointed niches. In each division was an elegant window of three lights, and 
above each window was a pedimental canopy, crockE'ted, and terminating in 
a rich finial. The finish was a pierced parapet of quatrefoils, and pinnacles 
at the angles. Its beautiful groined roof and octagonal spire fell in on St. Ste­
phen's day, 1750. The diameter of the interior is only 24 feet, and it con­
tains 30 seats, separated by clustered pillars, very small and extremely delicate, 
having foliated capitals of pierced work, from which rises rich tabernacle work, 
omamenting pointed arches. The seats are canopied, in imitation of a groined 
and ribbed arch. This is, doubtless, the most elegant part of the sacred 
edifice, and perhaps, may be considered the clitj d'auvre of its founder, Bishop 

• The stained gloss in the three south windows of the nave, inserted in lS.U, con. 
tains-the most eastward-the arms of Saltmarshe, Sotheron, Bethell, Empson, Worsop, 
and Eastcourt; tho middle window contains the Royal Arms, those of the Archbishop 
of York, the Bishop of Ripon, Lords Hotbam, Howden, and Galway; and the third 
window those of Clnrke, Dunn, Jefferson, Tbompson (Lord Wcnlock), Athorpc, Wynd­
ham, Mcmzies, and Droadley; all contributors to the reparation fund. The stained glass 
above the commu.nion table represent.& the Blessed' Yirgin, St. Peter, and St. Cuthbert. 
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Skirlaw, who was a man of exquisite taste in architecture, yet we can scarcely 
ngrec with 1\Ir. IIut.chinson, the historian of Durham, that it is the finest 
piece of pointed architcctnre in the kingdom. A connoisseur in pointed 
architecture, who ,·icwcd this edifice in compnny with ~Jr. Bigland, gave his 
decided opinion thnt it is inferior to the Chapter House at York; and others, 
who have been consulted on the suluect, ngrcc iu this decision. There is no 
doubt that in minuteness and delicacy of workmanship, it is ccrtniuly superior 
to that at York; but in general effect and size it is much inferior. The 
vestibule or pMsage from the choir to this building is very rich in archi­
tectural elegance. The church of Howdcn is kept in repair by a yearly 
assessment throughout the pnrish, eYery township paying its proportional 
rate, as settled soon after the dissolution of the Collegiate establishment. 

The Dishops of Durham had n l·'ahlrt! on the south side of the church 
of IIowdcn, the remains of which haYc been converted into n fnrm housr, 
called the Ol(l Hall, now in the occupntion of Mr. Gcorge Clarke, Jun. To 
the cast are the ruins of se\'erallarge buildings, with the remnins of the ribs 
and groinings of an extensive cloister. Over nn arch here arc the arms of 
Skirlaw, nod over the gnte lending out of the yard tQ the granaries are the 
arms of Cardinal Langlcy. On the south side of the mansion was n park 
extending to the banks of the Ouse. This pnlacc wns the favourite residence 
of many of the Dishops of Durhnm. Hero Bishop Pudsey died in 1Hl5, nnd 
was carried for interment to his Cathcurnl. Bishop \\.alter Kirkham also 
died here, in 12u0, and aftrr bl'ing embowcllcd, was taken to Durham; and 
in 1-100, Dic;hop Sltirlnw died nnd wns cmbowelled here, nnd ''"as burietl in 
Durham. This grcnt benefactor to the town of llowden, who rniscd the lQ\fer 
of the church, nntl spent largo sums on the fab1ic, erected that architectural 
gem, the Chnpter House, and built the lnrge hall in the pnlacc, wns a nntil"e 
of Skirlaugh. (Sec YOl. i., page -111; vol. ii., page 302.) 1\enr the palace, 
forming the eastern boundary of the church yard, were the Prcbcndnl Hesi­
dences, which, after hnving stood for four centuries, were removed in 1850, 
by the Dishop of Tiipon nnd his lessee. 

A recent writer contrasts the Ilowdcn of the 15th century with the How­
den of to-day; then, he snys, the town had residing within its narrow bounds 
n llishop of Durham, almost equally potent in spiritual and temporal power . 
Arouml him assembled the six Prebendaries of the church, each of whom 
supported 1t Vicar for the pcrformRncc of pnrorhinl duties in his own district. 
Again there were the five chnntry priests, with a number of clerks, choristers, 
vergers, &c. The Heformation saw all these swept away, and whnt has the 
church of Howdcn now in the place of this grand nrroy of diguity and 
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wcnlth? It has one Vicar, subsisting upon a stipend ( CHi2. a year) utterly 
insufficient for the mnintenance of a gentleman and his family; and this 
trilling sum hns been partly raised by an augmentation of .£-100. from Queen 
Anne's Bounty, in 1~21 and U~26. Truly indeed does this writer exclaim, 
"the ReformRtion, dissent, and diversity of religious faith have done their 
work." There is no Vicarage House. The Living is in the gift of the 
Crown, and the incumbency of the Hev. Thomns Guy. The only Chapels of 
Ease in the fourteen townships of Howdcn parish, are at Laxton and Barmby. 
There appears to have been a Chapel in Howdcn dt>dicated. to St. Mary 
Magdaleu, but its site is not known. It may have been. a chantry connected 
with the church. There was also a CeU, or Hermitli{Je, at "Ayngelstono 
Hyrst," probably Ringstone Hurst. John Richardson, a hermit or friar of 
the Franciscan Order, officiated thereat, and had the grant of a penny a day 
for life from Bishop Fox, who "·as consecrated in 140-L 

The other places of worship in the town are the following. The lVeslcyan 
Chapel, in Hailgatc, built in 1786, and rebuilt and enlarged in 1832, is a 
neat edifice, into which a good organ was introduced in 1R8-t, at a cost of 
.£200. Attached to the chapel are a Sunday School and two good houses 
for the ministers, erected on ground given to the society by Mr. Wm. Dyson, 
of How den; and there is a large Wesleycm School in Flatgate, built in 184 7, 
at a cost of upwards of .£800. The Independent Chapel, in Dridgegatc, was 
erected in 17!15, and enlarged in 1837. It is endowed with land worth .£50. 
per annum, purchased with £500. left in 1725, by :Mr. Joshua Jefferson, of 
Hook, subject to a weekly distribution of twelve penny loa,·es among the poor 
members. In it is" marble tablet to the Rev. Joshua Williamson, minister 
of the chapel for 52 years, who died in 1833, aged 81 years. The Primitite 
Mt!tlwdi3t Chapel was erected in 183i, and the &jurm Methodists worship in 
a chapel which was formerly used by the Iughamitcs. 

Catholic C/~~trch.-This neat Gothic edifice, which stands on the Kned· 
lington road, is built of brick, with stone dressings. The foundation stone 
was laid with much ceremony, in September, 1~50, and the building com­
prises a nave with side aisles, an npse, chancel, or snnctuary, and a bell turret. 
All the windows are of two lights, except those in the sanctuary, which are 
of one light. The interior is very neat and impressiYc, the the windows in 
the sanctuary arc filled with beautifully stained gla~s, by Barnet, late of 
York, nt the expense of :\Irs. 1\Inxwell, of Everinghnm; and 1\Ir. Rnmet filled 
the cast window of the north aisle, or La€l!J Chapel, with the same fiue 
m:-..tct·inl, nt his own cost. The seats are single, the roofs open, and there is 
a tribune-, or organ gnllcry, at the end of the nave. An altar, with a statue 
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of the Blessed Virgin, is about to be erected in the side chapel. Adjoining 
the church is the Presbytery, or priest's residence. The Rev. Thos. Danson 
is the present pastor of this mission. 

Iu the church yard is a school called the Fre6 Gramm.ar School, but we 
cannot find that there ever was any endowment annexed to it, or that any 
grammar scholars have been taught in it gratuitously. The master however 
receives £2. Ss. per annum, left by Thos. Cutts, in 1722, out of land in Salt­
marshe, for the instruction of six poor children in reading and writing; and 
twenty guineas per annum, left by Robert Jeffcrson, Esq., in 1803, out of 
property in Howden, for the instruction of twelve poor boys of Howden, in 
reading, writing, and arithmetic. The NatioTUJl School, in Pinfold Street, 
is a good brick building, erected by subscription in 1820; and there is an 
Infant Se/tool in connexion with it, in Dunn's Lane. 

The Hotrden Poor Law Union, fonned in 1837, comprehends 40 parishes 
and townships, embracing an area of 102 square miles. The Unioll Work­
ltouse, on the Knedlington road, was built in 1839, at a cost of upwards of 
£4,000., and is an ornamental · structure, capable of accommodating 200 
inmates. Thomas Clarke, Esq., is the Chairman of the Board of Guardians, 
and Mr. Geo. Green, Workhouse Master. In the town of Howden is a 
Lying-in-Charity, a Clothing Society, and several Benefit and F riendly 
Societies. · The benefactions of the town for charitable purposes, the parti­
culars of which are given in a pamphlet published in 1848, by the late Mr. 
James Campbell, amount to from £50. to £60. per annum. 

Hotcden HaU, the property and residence of Mr. John Banks, is a large 
ancient brick mansion, at the east end of the town. It was the Manor House 
of a small manor called Paradise, and was sold by the Belt family in 1702, 
to the Worsops, from whom it was purchased in 1849, by its present owner. 
In the grounds is a variegated oak tree, which measures six feet in circum­
ference . Dmcent House, a large brick building, cemented, erected in 1853-4, 
in the Grecian style, is the property and residence of Mrs. Dunn. The 
stream called the Old Derwcnt runs close to it. North Hall is the residence 
of John George Weddell, Esq. 

Ilorrden Dyke Hamlet consists of a good inn, a wharf, nod some cottages. 
HerE', as ~e have observed, is a ferry across the Ouse. The Corn Mills in 
Howden to\vnship are a steam mill in the town (formerly a sacking mana­
fMtory), and a wind mill iu Hailgate, both in the occupation of Mr. William 
Walker; a steam mill called Flatfield Mill, built in 1852, as ~ell as a wind 
mill erected in 1855, and two ancient post mills. 

Ro!Jer cle Hot•cden a celebrated English historian, who flourished in the 
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reign of Henry II., was born at Howden. He entered the church, was for 
some time a Professor of Theology at Oxford, and was also a lawyer. His 
annals commence in.731, the period at which Bede finished, and they con­
clude in 1~01. His history is of great authority, and was published in Sir 
Henry Savile's Collection of Ancient English Historians, Hi06-1601. 

Howden gives the title of Baron to John Hobart Caradoc, \\"ho is son of 
the first Lord Howden, by the third daughter of the 1st Earl Clanwilliam. 
He was born in Dublin in 1700; m~rried, in 1830, the daughter of Paul, 
Count Skavronsky, of Russia; and succeeded his father in 1830. He is a 
Colonel in the army, \vas aide-de-camp to the Duke of WeUington, in 1817-
18, and is now the British Ambassador at the court of Spain. The first 
peer was son of Archbishop Craddock, of Dublin, and was raised to the 
peerage in reward for his military scrvil:CS. The family claim descent from 
Carodoc, and the ancient Princes of Wales. 

Asaelby Township.-In Domesday this place is spelt Aachikbi, and in later 
records Aislabie. Its area is 1,117 acres; population, 296 souls; rateable 
value, £1,180.; Msessed property, £1,01H. At the time of the Norman 
Conquest the land belonged to the Bishop of Durham and Earl Morton, and 
Nigel Fossard held lands under the latter, and two extensh·e fisheries, which 
yielded about 2,400 eels annually. The reputed manor, the greater part of 
the soil, the tithes, &c., were held by the Prebendaries of Barmby, and after 
the dissolution of Howden CoUege, were granted to lay persons. Thomas 
Clarke, Esq., is the present owner of nearly all the land in the township. 
The open fields were enclosed in 183i. A&Ulby laland is seated in the river 
Ouse, and contains ten acres, belonging to Drax, in the West Riding. 

The Village of Asselby is situated 2 miles W. of Howden, and the gardens 
in its vicinity produce great quantities of fruit. Here is the base of an 
ancient stone cross, and near it that time honoured instrument of punish­
ment, the stocks. There is a Wesleyan as well. as a Primitive Methodist 
Chapel, the latter built in 1850. The family of Aislaby had possessions 
here in ancient times, and are supposed to have taken their name from that 
of the township. The poor have about fi vc acres of land. 

Balkholms 1'own~hip contains 1,109 acres, and 220 inhabitants; rateable 
value, £1,068. Thos. Whittaker, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), and Denjamin 
Drackenburg, Esq., arc the principal landowners. The rillage is scattered, 
an<l stands 2! miles E . of Howden. Dal.kholme was formerly the property 
of the Metham family. 

Barmby·o1l-the-Marsl• Clwpeby.-Situated at the junction of the Ouse and 
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Derwent rivers, this township contains 1,711 acres, and 500 inhabitants. 
Tradition says that the Conqueror gave Banwbi, as it is called in Domesday, 
to forty of his soldiers. About the year 1200 the Bishop of Durham "gave 
all his waste in Barnebi, to his men of Barncbi for ever." The manor, the 
tithes, and n. great part of the soil, which formed part of the endowment of 
the prebend of Barmby, in Howden church, were granted by Queen Elizabeth 
to the family of White of W allingwells, but now belongs to Thomas Clarke, 
Esq., of Knedlington. The Bishop of Ripon, the l\Iessrs. Fox, and Mr. 
John Scholfield, are also considerable proprietors here. 

The Village, which is large, well built, and pleasant, is seated about 4 
miles W. of Howden. Here are two sail cloth and coarse linen manufac­
tories. Two mineral springs, called St. Heleu's and St. Peter's wells, one of 
a chalybeate and the other a sulphurous nature, have been allowed to go to 
ruin. The Chapel (St. Helen) is a small ancient edifice, consisting of n. nave, 
chancel, and tower. The. tower and chancel are of brick, and the nave was 
the tithe barn of the Prebendary of Barmby before the Reformation. The 
interior is ,·cry nent. The Lit·in!J is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of the 
Vicar of Howden, and incumbency of the Rev. Henry Atkinson. It is worth 
£-!0. per annum, deril·ed from land purchased with £000. of Queen Anne's 
Bounty. There is also a Lectureship in this chapel, in the patronage of the 
resident householc.lers, which was founded and endowed with property now 
worth about £70. per ann., by the two following benefactions ;-In the reign 
of James I., Richard Gailthorpe gave to trustees certain lands, &c., now pro­
ducing about £100. n. year, to be applied to the use of tho poor, "the reading 
minister," and the repairs of the chapel, jetties, staitbcs, &c.; and in 1712 
John Blanchard left 25 acres of land, a house, &c., in trust, to pay £2. yearly 
to the poor, and the rest of tbo income to the lecturer and schoolmaster. The 
property now produces about £50. a year. The Rev. Thomas Guy is tho 
present lecturer. The School, for which a house was built in 183J, is con­
ducted on the National system. The master receives £20. a year out of the 
above-mentioned property, and £5. per annum from Earl Fitzwilliam. The 
poor have other charities amounting to about .£20. per annum. The \\res­
leynns and Primitive i'llctllOdists have each a chapel here. There arc two 
ferries at Barmby, one over the Ouse and the other across the Derwcnt. The 
latter river was made navigable from this place to Malton, a distance of 40 
miles, under an Act passed in 1 iOl, for making it nn"ignblc to the mills 
near Scar borough; but it wns neYcr finished beyond :\1nl ton. The navigation 
of the Dcrwcnt belongs to Earl Fitzwilliam. 
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JJclby Totm~>hip.-Area, Oi!J acres; population, 40 souls; rateable valur, 
£0%.; assessed property, £ 1,255. The whole township except about 30 
acres, brlongs to John Carver Atborpc, Esq. The Hmulct is small, and 
stands lt mile E.N .E. of Howdcn. 

Eriudleys is nu extra-parochial farm of o.bout 170 acres, near llrind, belong­
ing to Colonrl Georgc Wyndhoro, situated about 3 miles N. \V from Howdeu. 

Cotness Torcuship is very smnll, having but 500 acres, and 28 inhabitants. 
Rateable value, £086. It is principally the property of Pbilip Saltroarshc, 
Esq., and the Rev. P. Simpson. The Hamlet is 5 miles·s. by E. of Howden. 

Kilpin Tormship contains about 1,000 acres, and 385 persons; rateable 
value, £1,308. The chief proprietors are John C. Athorpe, Esq., aud the 
Trustees of the late Miss l\1. Robinson, of Barlby. 

The Hamlet is small, and stands 2 miles E .S.E, of Howden. 
At Kilpi11 Pike, a hamlet 1 mile S. of Howden, on the bank of the Ouse, 

is a tannery establishment, a boat building yard, belonging to Mr. Banks, 
of llowden, who lately built a brig here for the Australian tmde; and a con­
siderable river tmffic. Jl.ilpin Lodye is the residence of J. Singleton, Esq. 

Kuedlinyton Tormshi!p.-The hamlet of Booth is included in this township, 
and its area is () lO acres; population, 178 persons; rateable ,·alue, :CBIJO ; 
assessed property, £1,208. Knedlington was anciently written Cledington. 
The tithes and other ecclesiastical dues, as well as the manor, or reputed 
mcmor, belonged to the prebendal stall of Howden, but they a're now, together 
with the greater part of the soil, the property of Thomas Clnrk, Esq. The 
open fields were enclosed in 1837. 

The T'illa!Je of Knedlington is neat and pleasant, and stands about 1 mile 
\V. of Howden. Here is a (luakers' burial ground, which has been disused 
ns such for many years. 

Kuedlinyton J[rmor is the sent of Thomas Clarke, Esq. The mansion, 
which is in the Tudor style, was built in 1841-2, of white stock brick, faced 
with cut stone, and it contains some stained glass by Warrington, of London, 
The grounds arc well wooded, the shrubberies weH stocked with evergreens, 
and many American trees, the seeds of which were imported into England 
by the late Wm. Cobbett, arc planted here, and flourish well in this fertile 
soil. The views from these grounds are very pleasing. 

The Old Hall, at the west cud of tho village, is a good specimen of the 
Elizo.bothan style, o.nd wo.s tho property of Sir John Gate, a distinguished 
Knight in the reign of Henry VIII., and afterwards belonged to the family 
of Arlush. Dr. Terriek, Bishop of London, who died in 1777, married Ann 
Arlush, widow, in 1UIJO (he being at that time Chaplain to the Archbishop 
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of York), and enjoyed this property in right of his wife.* It was subse· 
quently in the hands of the Weddells, of Ncwby, Lurds Grnntham; and it 
now belongs toT. Clarke, Esq., and is the residence of Mr. E. Thompson, 
farmer. One room in the house is panelled with oak, and contains some 
good carving, with the arms of Terrick, Clarke, and others, in good preser­
vo.tion ; but in other parts of the house there are likewise some characteristic 
decorations, Barnhill Hall, neo.rly a mile N .W. of the l'illo.ge, is an ancient 
moated building (now a farm house), which, in the time of Henry VII., was 
the seat of a branch of the Metbam family. Knedlington Horue is a neat 
residence, which, till lately~ \Vas occupied ns a boarding school for young 
gentlemen, by the Rev. George Ricbards. 

Booth is a small hamlet which gives name to the ferry across the Ouse. 
The ferry belongs to the Bishop of Ripon, but has long been leased to the 
Earl of Beverley, whose ancestor, a Duke of Northumberland, obtained a 
lease of it more than a century o.go, when the_large commodious house, long 
called "Booth Ferry Inn," and now Booth Ferry Horuc, was built on the 
opposite side of the river. This well-known" hostel," which was for many 
years conducted by the late Mr. William Wells, ceased to be an inn in 1848, 
and it is the residence of 1\Ir. John Wells. 

IA.rton Ollapelry.-Tbe area of this township is 1,520 acres, of the rateable 
value of £1,351.; population, 33~ souls; assesse~ property, £1,U18. There 
were formerly three manors in this township, in the possession of th~ several 
families of Metham, Higdon, and Lowson. This, with Skelton, formed a 
prebend in the church of Howden. Philip Saltmarshe, Esq., is the present 
Lord of the Manor, and chief proprietor of the soil. 

The Village is pleasantly situated, four miles S.E. of Howden. 
The OhaJMl appears to have been granted and erected in the reign of 

Chas. I., by three maiden sisters of the family of Dorey. The Lit1ing is a 
Perj>ctual Curacy, is returned at £45. per ann., derived from some donations, 
and £1,000., granted of Queen Anne's Bounty, from 1785 to 1801). Patron, 
the Vicar of Howden; Incumbent, Rev. R. Ellis. The chancel of the edifice 
is of stone, but the nave and tower arc of brick. There are galleries at the 
north side and west end. The cast window is of four lights and good, but 
n1l the others arc plain sash windows. The Wesleyans have a smnll chapel 
here. The Manor Houu is an ancient building at the west end of the village. 

• Some writers tell us that Dr. Terrick was bom in this house. The Arlush family 
is now extinct. Knedlington and that family gave the subject to an historical tale of 
the Civil Wo.rs, published a few years ago, and entitled" Howden in the Month of April, 
lfl.U." Henry Arlush is the hero of the tale. 
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Metham Toumahip.-In the year 1154, Hugh, Bishop of Durham, granted 
to John le Clerk, of Howdeu, all the waste and marsh between Yuckfou and 
Cotfusu, unto the double ditch which the said J obn caused to be made, and 
this territory is now called the manor of Metbo.m. Jordan, the first descen­
dant of John le Clerk, assumed the name of Metham, and transmitted it to 
his successors, but the name is now extinct. Sir Thomas Metham, Knight, 
fell at Marston Moor, fighting for royalty, and Jordan, his son, was slain at 
the siege of Pomfret Castle. Sir Geo. Metbam, Knt., the last of the family, 
and a very improvident gentleman, sold the estate at Metham, and after some 
time had little to subsist upon, save a small pension from the Crown. He 
died at North Cave, in the church of which place be lies buried. 

The area of this place is 020 acres; population 60 persons ; rateable value, 
£802. The chief proprietors are the Rev. P. Simpson (Lord of the Manor), 
Rev. John Empson, and Mr. David Goundrill. The Hamkt is situated 6 
miles E.S.E. of Howden. On the moor near Meiham traces of a Roman 
pottery were discovered many years ago. Metham HaU, a large brick man­
sion, the seat of the Rev. Philip Simpson, occupies the site, or nearly so, of the 
family mansion of the Methams. In the lawn in front of it is the trunk of 
an old oak, 17 feet in circumference, out of the centre of which a young and 
flourishing tree of good size is growing. Watemde Houu, in the occupation 
of Mr. William Stephenson, farmer, was built in 1841, near the site of an 
ancient house on the banks of the Ouse. 

Saltrrum11.8 Town.thip.-Area, 1,190 acres; population, 144 souls; rateable 
value, £1,092. The family of Saltmarshe have flourished here since the time 
of the Norman Conquest, and most probably assumed their name from the 
place. Allen says, that " Sir Lionel Saltmarsh lived in the reign of Harold, 
and did homage to William the Conqueror, who knighted him at the Castle 
of Knore, Nov. 14, 1067, where he gave him, under the royal letters patent, 
the lordship of Saltmarsbe." The present representative of this ancient 
family, Philip Saltmarshe, Esq. (whose seat is here), is the chief proprietor 
of the soil. His fine mansion was built by his father, of the same name, 
who died in 1846, and stands in a well-wooded lawn, and neat pleasure 
grounds, on the north bank of the Ouse. The prospect from the house is 
beautiful. The Village, which was much improved by the late Mr. Salt­
marshe, is very pleasantly situated, about 4 miles S.E. of Howden, and 
opposite to Reednees on the other aide ol the Ouse, to which there is a ferry 
at this place. The School is endowed with 20s. per annum, and is chiefly 
supported by Mrs. Saltmarshe. The poor have other charitable bequests, 
amounting to about £9. per annum. 

VOL. 11. 4 I 
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Skeltmt Toumship.-This township lies on the banks of the Ouse, which 
almost surrounds it, and contains 1,545 acres, and 262 inhabitants; rateable 
value, £1,651. Uobert Scholfield, Esq., Philip Saltmarshe, Esq., and the 
BiHhop of Ripon, arc the chief proprietors of the soil. 

The ViUage is straggling, and is seated about 2 miles S. by E. of Howden, 
A neat School Chapel was built here in 1851, at the cost of Mr. Scbolfield, 
who also supports it. The building is of brick, with stone dressings, the 
windows in the end being of three lights, and the other windows of two lights; 
and attached to the edifice is a porch and vestry. It is licensed for the per· 
formnnce of Divine Service There is likewise a Weskyan Chapel here, bailt 
in 1842. Sancl Hall, the seat of R. Scholfield, Esq., is situated about 4 
miles S.E. from Howden, on the banks of the Ouse, and the grounds are 
partly encompassed by a winding reach of that river. The house, which is 
large and of brick, was built about 80 years ago, by John Scbolfield, Esq., 
grandfather of the prese'Qt owner. · 

The poor have charities amounting to about £8. 10s. per annum. 
Tlwrpe Tounl$llip is small, having only 206 acres, and 86 inhabitants. The 

rateable value is 400. It is almost entirely the property of J. C. Athorpe, 
Esq. The place is situated 1 mile N. of Howden. Thorp6 Hall> the resi· 
deuce of Mr. William Thompson, is a neat brick building, in a pleasant situ· 
ation. The poor have S6s. Od. yearly, from Nelson's charity, ~d twelve 
penny loaves weekly, from Althorpe's charity. 

Y orkjleet, or Yokejleet, Township contains 1,500 acres, including allotments 
on Bishop Soil and Walling Fen; population, 200 persons; rateable valu£', 
£1,605. The river Ouse forms its southern boundary. The principal pro­
prietors arc the Rev. John Empson (Lord of the Manor) and Wm. Empsoo, 
Esq. Thu l'iUage contains some good farm houses end neat cottages, situated 
near the banks of the Ouse, 6 miles S.E. from llowden, and im~ediately 
opposite Ousefleet. The land in the neighbourhood of the village is in a 
high state of cultivation, and is very fertile. The Hall, or Manor HotUG, 
built on the moated site of an ancient mansion, is now in the occupation of 
Mr. Geo. Stockdale, farmer. The Lodge is a farm house, held by Mr. Wm. 
Mitchcll : and the Grange is situated on the Bishop Soil allotment. The 
Yorkfloet windmill was erected about 80 y£'8rs ago, on the site of an old post 
mill, and is the property of Mr. Robert F . Blnnshard, miller. The Wes­
leyans have a small chapel here. 

BucKTOFT.- This parish comprises the townships of Blacktoft and Scalby, 
and contains altogether 8,818 acres, and 622 inhabitants, of which 377 persons 
belong to the first n11med township. The rateable value of Blacktoft is £8,162. 
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According to local estimation the area of Dlacktoft, including the hamlet of 
Staddlethorpe, is 2,205 acres. The surface is level; the soil, which has 
been much improved by warping, is now well drained; and the views are 
very fine, and include the adjacent hills of Yorkshire and Lincolnshire. The 
principal landowners are the Rev. W. H. Empson (Lord of the Manor), and 
J. G. Weddell, Esq. The Lit'ing is a Perpetual Curacy, augmented with 
.£1,000. of Queen Anne's Bounty, from 1776 to 1824, and with .£200. given 
by the Rev. N. Ogle, D.D., in 17811, and now returned at £48. per annum. 
The patronage is vested in the Dean and Chapter of Durham, the impro­
priators, and the Rev. Edward Ward is the incumbent. The Church was 
rebuilt in 1841, at a cost of £1,600., raised by subscription, a grant of .£150. 
from the Incorporated Society, and a small parish rate. It is a neat edifice, 
consisting of a nave and chancel, and an embattled and pinnncled tower, 
containing three bells. The interior is neat. The Parl()nO!JB, near the 
church, was built in 18.U. The Village is situate4 on the northern bank of 
tbe Ouse, near its confluence with the Trent, and 8 miles E.S.E. of Howden. 
The river is very broad in this part, and leaves at low water an extensive 
bed of sand. Here is a staitb and ferry, and the steam packets from York, 
Sclby, and Hull, pass daily. A Wu~an Chapel was built here in 1839; 
and the Lord of Manor erected a neat School (of which he is the chief sup­
port) in 1851. The :Ma11or Houu is an ancient brick building, now in the 
occupation of Mr. E. D. Latbam. The poor have £2. 5s. per annum. 

Staddlethorpe Hamkt consists of a few farm houses and cottages, I mile 
N. of Dlacktoft. 

Scalhy Toll'nlhip contains 1,051 acres, according to local estimate, of the 
rateable value of £1,44 7. Population, 145 souls. The place consists of (our 
scattered farm houses, and a few cottages, situated four miles N. of Black­
toft, and 7 miles E.S.E. of Howden. The Hull and Selby Railway intersects 
the township. The chief proprietors arc J. G. Weddell, Esq. (Lord of the 
Manor), the Executors of the late Robcrt Weddell, Esq., and Mr. James 
Kirkpntrick, who owns and occupies Scalby Gran!Je, a "large brick buildinS. 
erected about SO years ago, upon the sito of nn ancient house. Thornton 
HolU8 (the Manor House) is now a fllrm house, in tho occupation of Mr. 
John J acques. 

Chtap8ida is an extra-parochial place of 10 acres of land, and 39 inhabi­
tants, adjoining Scalby. 'l'ho, cottages and the plots of land attached to 
them are on Walli.ng Fen, and were built and enclosed from the waste long 
before the general enclosure, as were also some other cottages in other parts 
of the Fen, which none of the townships were willing to have allotted to them. 
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EASTRINOTON.-The townships of Eastrington, Bellasize, Gilberdike, Ne\'1'· 
port-Walling Fen, and Portington with Cavil, are comprised in this parish, 
the area of the whole being 7,022 acres, and the population 1,867 persons. 
Assessed property, £7,050. The soil ia for the most part a strong clay, the 
surface is flat, and corn is grown in great abundance. The township of 
Eastrington contains 8,580 acres (including two of the three farms of NetD­
land, 1 mile S. of the village, and that of Brou:n Hill, on Bishop Soil), and 
886 inhabitants; rateable value, £3,078. The principal landowners are the 
Rev. J. D. Jetferson, Lord Galway, Mrs. Dunn, and Mr. G. Stepbenson. 

The Church is a Discharged Vicarage, in the patronage of the Crown, and 
incumbency of the Rev. C. Hamerton. The Living is rated at £12. Os. 7d., 
and returned at £202. per annum. The tithes were mostly commuted for 
allotments, under an Enclosure Act in 1818. The Fabric of the church 
(St. Michael) is an ancient Gothic edifice, comprising the usual parts of a 
village church. The tower contains three bells. In the chancel are the 
recumbent effigies of Michael Portington, Esq., and his lady. 

The VicarcuJe House is a commodious residence. 
The ViUage is situated 8! miles E.N.E. from Howdcn. The Weslttyan 

Chapel was built in 1827. The Sclwol, rebuilt by subscription in 1844, at 
a cost of £300., was founded by Mr. Joseph Hewsley, of this place, in 1727, 
and endowed by him with a house and garden, occupied by the master, and 
with about 19 acres of land, which now lets for £24. per annum. The poor 
of Eastrington have a rent charge of £8. a year, left by John Atkinson, in 
1716; also four acres of land, left by one Burton; and a yearly rent charge 
of 20s., left by one Waterson. 

Bella~ze To'IUTUhip conto.ins 1,343 acres, and 276 inhabitants, including 
the hamlets of GreeMak and Bennetland, about half a mile N. of the villa.ge, 
and one of the three farms of Newland. Rateable value, £1,965.; assessed 
property, £1,672. The Rev. J. D. Jeffersou is Lord of the Manor, chief 
proprietor of the soil, and impropriator. 

The VillaQe is small and scattered, and situated about 5 miles E. of How­
don, in the vicinity of the Hull and Selby Railway. A We$kyan Chapel was 
built here in 1846. Waruick's Ho1ue is the residence of :Mr. Thos. Jaques. 

Gilbcrdike Township.-Areo., 570 acres; population, 721 souls; including 
the hamlets of Sandholme, Hive, and Owsthorpe, situated from 1 to 2t miles 
N., and Gilherdik8·Newport, or Ncto Gilberdike, 2 miles W. of the village. 
The latter is a modem village, on Walling Fen, forming~ suburb of Newport 
and l\·ew Village. (See page 547.) The land belongs to several owners. 
The amount of nsscssC'd property is £1 ,OO!J. 
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The Villag~ is seated on the road to Hull, about 6 miles E. by N. of How­
don. A PrimititJ~ M~thodi1t Chapel was erected here in 1846. 

Newport. Walling Fen Tortm.~hip contains only 250 acres, but has 878 in­
habitants. The place belongs chiefly to Thos. Clarke, Esq., and Mr. Geo. 
Scruton; it is situated on the Market W eighton Canal, and was constituted 
a township at the enclosure of Walling Fen, in 1780. It fonns, with New 
Gilberdike and New Village, a thriving little town, about 5 miles W . of 
South Cave. (See pp. 547, 594.) A WuU?Jan Cha~l was built here in 
1814; and there is also a chapel belonging to the Primitive Methodists. 

PortingtoTH:Um-Oavil TC1tD118hip.-Area, about 1,500 acres; population, 
111 souls; rateable value, £1,675.; assessed property, £1,660. The soil 
belongs to Lord Galway, Mr. G. Stephenson, - F~wsett, Esq., the heirs of 
Mrs. Bell, and others. The Hamkt of Portington is scattered, and seated 
about 8 miles N.E. of Howden, in the line of the Hull and Selby Railway; 
and Cavil is about 1 mile W . of Portington. The Manor Hotue, an ancient 
building, the residence of John Dunn, Esq., formerly belonged to the Por­
tington family. It is double moated, and there are about fi'fe acres within 
the moat, which is 14 feet deep, and 21 feet wide. The HaU is another 
ancient brick building, with old stone windows, and in the occupation of Mrs. 
Bell. Portington (}rang~ is occupied by Mr. F. M. Hodgson. Cavil Hall 
is a large brick building, with two fronts, built about a century ago, and now 
the residence of Mr. Thomas Bell, farmer. Burland Houu is occupied by 
Mr. Edward 8. Bell. In a lane near Portington, in 1814, were discovered 
three imperfect coins, and a Roman urn, containing upwards of one hundred 
coins, all in high preservation, and comprising, with the exception of two, 
coins of the several Emperors from Nero to Commodus. 

WRESSELL.-This parish, the name of which is spelt variously, Wl'f'lshill, 
Wresil, and Wressle, includes sovElral hamlets which will be noticed below, 
and contains 8,705 acres, and 878 inhabitants, of whom 107 reside at 
Wressell. The rateable value is £4,265.; and the amount of assessed pro­
perty, £3,592. Colonel George Wyndham is Lord of the Manor, and chief 
proprietor of the soil. Thomas Percy, Earl of W orccster, a younger son to 
Henry, the 1st Earl of Northumberland, being in great favour with Richard 
II., "was much enriched," says an old writer, "and among other estates, 
purchased this manor of Wressil, and built a Castle there; but he dying 
without issuo, it came to the Earl of Northumberland." This Earl having 
rebelled against Henry IV., was taken prisoner, and beheaded at Shrewsbury, 
and this lordship and castle were forfeited to the Crown. Some years after­
wards they were given to John, Duke of Bedford, that King's third son, who 
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left them to his nephew and heir. King Edward IV. granted them to John, 
Marquis Montague; but afterwards suspecting his fidelity, he depri'l"ed him 
of them, which act so exasperated the Marquis, that be took part with the 
Earl of Warwick, his brother, in restoring Henry VI., who thereupon restored 
this estate to the Marquis and his heirs. The ruins of lVreueU Ga~tle, the 
ancient baronial residence of the Earl of Northumberland, are situated on a 
considerable eminence. This princely mansion is described at some length 
by Leland. He tells us that when he saw it in the reign of Henry VIII., 
it was " one of the most propre " mansions " beyond Trente;" that it was 
" al of very fair and great squarid stone, both witbyn and withowte: whereof 
(as sum bold opinion) much was brought owt of France;" that it contained 
five towers, one of whic\l belonged to the gate house, and that it was moated 
on three sides, the entrance being on the fourth side, which was not moated. 
Three of the apartments were adorned with poetical inscriptions, or proverbs. 
The house continued in all its splendour till the Civil War broke out, 
in the reign of Chas. I ., when it was garrisoned with soldiers for the Par­
liament, and sustained much injury. In 1648 Pontcfract Castle was seized 
for the King, and underwent a siege of ten months; and to prevent any 
further surprises of this kind, the Parliament resolved to dismantle all the 
castles in this part of England. The Earl of Northumberland repaired to 
London, and whilst be was there exerting all his influence to save the noble 
seat of his ancestors, and though he was li. firm and active partizan of the 
Parliamentary cause, a sudden and unexpected order for its destruction was 
issued by the Parliamentary Committee at York, and before the Earl could 
receive notice of the design, the outward works of defence were removed. Thus 
stood the mansion till the year 1650, when, notwithstanding all the Earl's 
endeavours to preserve it, an order was issued for further demolishing it. 
In consequence of this order, three !rides of the square, which formerly com­
posed the Castle, were entirely demolished; but the whole south front, which 
was the most considerable, and contained some of the principal state rooms, 
was left standing, except the battlements, and was occupied as a farm house 
till 1796, when it was accidentally burnt, and nothing now remains but the 
shell, "a mouldering monument of feudal grandeur." This front was of the 
finest masonry, Banked by two large square towers, surmounted by octagonal 
turrets, one of which was used as a beacon in times of danger. The North­
umberland family bad another Castle at Leckonfield (See p . 526), where 
further particulars of their style of living, &c., will be found, and where it 
has been shewn how their manors in this neighbourhood passed to the 
Wyndham family. 
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The Li-viti!J is a Vicarnge, valued at .£5. 13s. 9d., and returned at .£157. 
per annum. Patron and impropriator, Col. Wyndham; Vicar, the Hon. and 
Rev. Fitzroy H. R. Stanbope. Tithes commuted in 1881). The Churcl~ 
(St. John of Beverley) is a small modem brick building, baviug a nave, chan­
cel, aud tower, erected on the site of an ancient church; but for many years 
divine service was performed in a private chapel at the castle. 

The Village is scattered, and stands about Si miles N .W. of Howden, near 
the river Derwent, and in the line of the Hull and Selby Railway, which is 
here carried across the river by a cast iron bridge of 70 feet span. 

Brind, or Bottrm, is a small hamlet of four fa.rm houses and a few cottages, 
about 2! miles N. by W. of Howden, and 1l E. of Wrcssell; population, 58. 

Lojtwms consists of a farm house and an inn, situated 8 miles N.W. of 
Howden; population, 20. The Derwent is here crossed by a good bridge, 
erected about 1800, at a cost of .£4,000., raised by twenty-four shareholders, 
who are remunernted by tolls. 

Newsholme, or Newsham, is o. hamlet, consisting of five fo.rm houses, and 
some cottages, 2 miles N.W. of Howdcn; population, 188 souls. Amongst 
the scattered farms arc Prickett Hill, in the occupation of Mr. John Moor; 
Rowland HaU, &c. 

®ust nnb ~triutnf mapttrlnht. 
Tms W apentake takes its name from its situation between the river Ouse, 

which is its western boundary, and the river Derwent, which separates it on 
the eastern side from the divisions of Holme and Wilton, and which joining 
with the Ouse, makes its southern boundary, as the City of York and the 
North Riding does its northern. The parishes which it comprises are Dun­
nington, Elvington, Escrick, Fulford, Hemingbrough, Heslington, Kexby, 
Nabum, Riccall, Skipwith, Stillingfleet (part of), Thorganby, and Whel­
drake. Area, 54,129 acres; population, 10,811 souls, viz :-5,595 males, 
and 5,!U6 females. 

DuNNINGTON.-This parish contains the townships of Dunnington and 
Grimston, comprising together 8,199 acres, and 850 inhabitants, of which 
779 reside at Dunnington. The amount of assessed property in 1815, was 
.£3,17 4. The rateable value of Dunnington is .£2,687. ; and of Grimeton, 
.£671). The manor is copyhold, of which the Prebendaries of Dunnington 
aud Amplcforth are lords. The copyholders arc numerous, and at the enclo-
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sure, in 1770, of about 1,000 acres of common, it was divided, subject to 
certain fines, but made "tithe free by an allotment of about 100 acres. The 
soil is various; the scenery is pleasing; eastward is a fine view of the Wolde, 
northward a large extent of level country, the old Castles of Craike t.Dd 
Sheriff Hutton being distinctly seen, with the dark hills of Hambleton in the 
distance. To the west lies York, whose magnificent Cathedral forms a con· 
spicuous object, and southward is an extensive prospect over flat land. 

The Li~ing is a Rectory, rated in the King's Books at £19. The tithes 
were commuted in 18-10, for a rent charge of £348., and there are 100 
acres of glebe. The patronage is vested in the Countess of Bridgewater, and 
the present Rector is the Rev. Edw. J. Randolph, Canon of York Cathedral. 

The Church (St. Nicholas) consists of a nave, with sido aisles and porch, 
a chancel, and west tower. The nave and aisles were rebuilt, and the chan· 
eel and tower repaired in 1840, at a cost of £1,200., of which sum Lady 
Bridgewater contributed £700., and the church is now a very neat stone 
building. The windows are chiefly of one light, and some of them are filled 
with stained glass, by W ailes. The nave and aisles are separated by circular 
arch('S, springing from similar columns; the roof is of dark oak, and the in· 
terior has a. chaste and elegant appearance ; the original style of architecture. 
the Norman and Decorated English, having been adhered to in all the im· 
provements. There is a good organ, and a neat modem font. In the 
church yard arc the remains of an ancient sepulchral cross. 

The &ctory Horae is a good residence. 
The Village, which is large, well built, and particularly neat, is seated 

about 4 miles E. by N. from York. The stump of an old stone cross, which 
stood in its centre for ages, was removed to the garden of the Rectory in 
1840, and a new cross erected in its stead. A small lock-up was built here 
in 1850. The Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists have each a small 
chapel here; and there is a Nati.qnal School, principally supported by the 
Rector. The high road from York to Bridlington here separates the East 
from the North Ridi~g. Dunnington was once noted for the cultivation of 
chicory, and there are now standing nine kilns in which that plant was dried; 
its cultivation, &c., is said to have afforded employment to 400 persons. 
during a large portion of the year. Tho chief trade at present is the mana· 
facture of agricultural implements, machines, carts, &c., and the excellence 
of these indispensable articles to the tiller of the soil has caused Dunnington 
to be known far . and wide. Many hands are employed in these branches of 
trade, by Mr. Thomas Abbey, and Mr. William Barker. 

Dunnington Houu is now, and has been for several years, a well-<londacted 
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ASt;lu1n for tits l11sane, it is licensed for 50 inmates of both sexes, and the 
proprietor of the establishment is Mr. Robt. H. Horn by. Dunnington Lodys 
is a good farm house, the property and residence Mr. Henry Hart. The 
Ch·urch Estate yields an annual income of about £60. The poor have the 
interest of £10., left by Timothy Overend; the dividends of £75., navy 5 
per cent. annuities, given by Dinah Uichardson and Thomas Wilson; and a 
moiety of the rents of four acres of land, left by J ames Twinan, in 1733, for 
the poor of Dunnington and Holtby parishes. 

Grim8ton Toumahip has a scattered village, 3 miles E. of York, and a 
population of 71 souls. It contains about 800 acres of land, mostly th~ 
property of Geo. L. Fox, Esq. The place is said to be extra-parochial, but 
the inhabitants are rated for the support of the poor. Rateable value, £679. 

ELvlNGTON.-This place, according to some, derived its name from the 
ancient eE'l .fisheries in the district; but others state that it has its name 
from A.luf, its Saxon possessor; and some deduce it from the Latin A.lvenus. 
In the Domesday record it is called Alvintone. The area of the parish is 
2,256 acres; its population is 372 persons; rateable value, £1,903.; assessed 
property, £2,647. The Dernent forms the eastern boundary of the parish; 
the soil is various. the rich alluvial meadow ground adjoining the river being 
called lng&. The principal landowners are the Messrs. Spence and Garwood 
(Lords of the Manor), Lord Wcnlock, Mrs. Hulme, and H. Preston, Esq. 

The Living is a Discharged Rectory, in the patronage of the Crown, rated 
at £5. 17s. 3!d., and now worth £280. per annum. Land was allotted at 
the enclosure, in 1769, in lieu of tithes; the glebe consists of about 239 acres, 
of which 50 acres are wood. Rector, Rev. Thomas Maude. 

The Church (Holy Trinity) was rebuilt in 1801, by the Rev. A. Cheap, 
then Rector, who contributed two-thirds of the expense, and by whom the 
glebe house was also built. The edifice is of brick, with stone quoins and 
dressings, and consists of a nave, chancel, and tower. The east end finishes 
with a semi-hexagon, and all the windows arc in the semi-Gothic style. 

The Village is seated on an acclivity on the western bank of the Derwent, 
about 6t miles E.S.E. of York. The river is here crossed by a good bridge, 
and there is a .fishery of very ancient establishment. There is a small 
Methodist Chapel, and the School is held in what was formerly a chapel be­
longing to the Primitive Methodists, The Ma110r Home is an ancient brick 
buHding, close to the village; and the Old Hall stands in the village. 

Britlku;orth Hall, an ancient mansion, is the seat of Mrs. Hulme; and 
Elvington Villa is a neat house, the residence of Mrs. Cheap. The Hall, for 
a considerable time anterior to the close of the last century, was the property 
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and scat of the Sternes, from a junior branch of which f11.mily was descended 
the celebrated author of Triatram Sha11dy, who was maintained at the Uni· 
\'ersity of Cambridge, by his cousin, Mr. Sterne, of ElvingU>n. 

Escmcx.-Two .townships, Escrick and Deighton, comprising together 
6,067 acres, form this parish. The amount of assessed property is £6,218. 
The first-named township contains 4,120 acres, and 700 inhabitants, and ita 
rateable value is £3,749. Lord Wcnlock is Lord -of the Manor and 0\\1ler 

of the entire township, except about 90 acres of glebe land. 
The Bervjice is a Rectory, valued in the Liber Regis at £28. Ss. Od., and 

now worth above £500. per annum. Patron, Lord W enlock ; Rector, his 
lordship's brother, the Hon. and Rev. Stephen Willoughby Lawlcy, Sub-Dean 
of the Cathedral of York. The tithes were commuted for land and com 
rents in 1781. The Church (St. llelen) is a handsome structure of brick, 
with stone quoins and dressings, rebuilt some 70 or 80 years ago, by Beilby 
Thompson, Esq. At the west end is a handsome tower with a balustrade. 
The east or principal front forms a centre and wings; the former has a 
Venetian window, and two Tuscan columns, and is finished with a pediment. 
In each wing is a square headed doorway \\'ith Tuscan columns, and a small 
pediment. The ground before this front is laid out with great taste. There 
are four large circular-beaded windows on the south side of the church, and 
the nQrtb t~ide is almost entirely occupied with an attached chapel. The 
interior is exceedingly neat, and the chapel just noticed contains the family 
pew of the Lord of the Manor, which has in front of it two Tusean pillar& of 
stone, and a neat balustrade. There are a few very neat monuments to 
members of the Thompson family. 

The "Village is certainly one of the prettiest and most picturesque in the 
county, the buildings being mostly of recent date, having small but tasteful 
gardens adjoining. It is seated on the road from York to Selby, about 6t 
miles S.S.E. from the former place. E3Crick Pa·rk is the seat of Lord Wen­
lock.~· This beautifw park contains about 450 acres, and is well-wooded, 

• This was anciently the seat of Sir Thomas Knyvet, or Knevit, one of the gentle· 
men of the bedchamber to Jomes I., and one of those sent to search the vaults of the 
House of Lords, on the 6th of November, 1006, when Guy Fawkes and 36 barrels of 
gunpowder were discovered there. Sir Thomas was raised to the peerage by the title 
of Baron Knttrit, of E•crick, in 1007, and under that title he 1ras summoned to ParJia. 
ment in 1008; but he died without issue in 1622, when the title became extinct. His 
estates passed to Sir By. Knivit, of Charlton, in Wiltshire, Knt., whose eldest daughter 
Elizabeth marrying Thomas, Earl of Suffolk, his son, Sir Edward Howud, Knt., waa 
advanced by Chas. 1., in 1630, to the dignity of a Baron of the realm, by the title of Lord 
HotDard of E•crick. His grandson was the last of the family of Howard that bore this 
title. The noble family that now possess this place descended from the Thompsons of 

• 
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stocked with deer, and finely diversified with bill and dale. The principal 
front of the fine mansion has retiring wings, with balustrades in the centre. 
The interior is fitted up in a splendid style, and the collection of paintings is 
excellent.. The lawn in front of the house is very elegant. Eacrick Park · 
Schooll for boys, girls, and infanta, are attended by about 170 children, and are 
amongst the best conducted schools in the East Riding. They are chiefly sup­
ported by Lord and Lady Wenlock, \Vho supply the poor scbola.rs with clothing 
at Christmas. The bequests for the poor amount to about .£22. per annum. 

Dlightcn Towuhip contains 1,947 acres, and 201 inhabitants; rateable 
value, .£1,778. The greater part of the land belongs to Loid Wenlock and 
Hewly Mortimer Baines, Esq. The Villag11 is scattered, and stands about 
6 miles S. by E . of York, and 1 mile N. of Escrick. A Foal Slww was estab­
lished here in 1848. Deighton HaU, the property of H. M. Baines, Esq., 
and residence of Mrs. Moody, farmer, is an ancient building, and was formerly 
moated. Some of the rooms are wainscotted with oak, and exhibit some good 
carving. There is here a large ancient oak chest, containing some docu­
ments, and its keys are held by Lord Wenlock and Mr. Baines. The hall 
and estate belonged to the Abbey of St. Mary, at York, and was one of the 
Abbots' principal country seats. Orocky Hill is a hamlet or farm, It mile 
N. of the village, now in the occupation of Mr. Richard Hobson; Primrou 
Houu, the residence of Mr. Rd. Hobson; North Houu (Mr. John Carlton); 
Spri11g Houu (Mr. James Carr); and Wray'1 Houu, the residence of Mr. 
Wm. Gilbertson, are good farm houses, the property of Lord Wenlock. 

FuLFORD-AKBo.-Thia parish comprises the townships of Gate Fulford 
and Water Fulford, the former containing 1,680 acres, and 1,704 inhabitants; 
and the latter 482 acres, and 42 souls, independent of 235 persons in York 

Humbleton, in the East Riding, one or whom manied a daugh~ of Wm. Beilby, Eeq., of 
Micklethwaite Grange, near Wetherby, and hence the name of Beilby afterwards used as 
a Christian name by some members of the Escrick branch of the farnily. In 1764. Jane 
Thompson, of Escrick, carried the estate in marriage to Sir Robert Lawley, Dart., who 
was created Baron Wenlock, of Wt!Uock, in 1831, but dying without iBsue in 1833, his 
title became extinct. Hia brother, Paul Beilby Thompson, the late owner of Escrick, 
took the surmarno or Thompson only (his mother being the daughter and heir or Beilby 
Thompson, Esq.), by royal sign mo.nual, in 1820. In 1830 he was created by patent 
Baron Wenlock, of Wenlock, and in the same year, by royal license, he reasaumed his 
paternal surname or Lawley, in addition to and before that or Thompson; and his issue 
were to continue that of Lawley only. Beilby Richard Lawley, the present Lord Wen­
lock, is son to the last-mentioned Baron, by the daughter of lticbard Ne\·ille, 2nd Lord 
Draybrooko. He was born in 1818, and married in 184.0, Lndy Elizabeth, 3rd daughter 
of tbe 2nd Marquis of Wesminster. Tbe family of Lawley are maternally descended 
from the family ofWenlock, ennobled in the reign of Henry IY. 
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Barracks at the time tho census was taken, in 1851. 'the parish is bounded 
on the west by the river Ouse, and the land is considerably enhanced in value 
by its contiguity to the City of York. There are several gravel pits for roads 
here, in one of which some Roman sepulchral remains were discovered in 
1813. (See vol. i., p. 303.) The rateable value of Gate Fulford township 
is £8,016. The manor anciently belonged to St. Mary's Abbey, York. The 
principal proprietors at present are the Rev. Samuel Key (Lord of the 
Manor), and Colonel Richardson. 

The Lif1i11!J is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of the !Wv. S. Key, and 
incumbency of the Rev. Rt. Sutton. It is rated at £0. 15s. 4d., but returned 
at £115. per annum. The tithes were commuted in 1757. The Church 
(St. Oswald) is situated near the river side, and is a small edifice, with a 
modern brick tower at the west end. The interior is neat. 

The Village of Gat~ J.t'uljord is large and handsome, and as it is a suburb 
of the city of York, being but 2A miles S. of it, there are several seats and 
villa residences, occupied mostly by their owners, and bearing separate 
names. Amongst these arc Fulford House, Garrow Hill, Fulford Villa, Fnl· 
ford Lodge, Belle Vue, Fulford Grove, and Till mire. There is a W ule~Ja" 
Chapel in the village, erected in 18-i5; and between the village and York is 
a stone cross, said to have been erected to mark the temporary market place 
in this direction, during the prevalence of the plague in the city. (See vol. 
i., p. 215.) A desperate battle took place near Fulford village, before the 
Conquest, between the King of Norway and Edwin, Earl of Mercia, accom· 
panicd by Morcar, his brother, Earl of ~ortbumbria. (See vol. i., p. 10-t} 
The School was founded in 1771, by John Key, Esq., who endowed it with IL 

houso and garden, and a yearly rent of .£0. 12s., out of property at Gatt'sbead, 
in the county of Durham, for the education of twenty poor children. The 
poor have charities amounting to upwards of £20. per ann. This township 
includes within its limits the Retreat Lunatic Asylum., an account of which is 
given at page 611, vol. i. of this history; and also the York Barracks, and 
the Cemetery, for which sec pages 628 and 031 of the sn.mc volume. 

Water Fuljord consists of a few scattered houses, adjoining Gate Fulford. 
The land mostly belongs to the Rev. Samuel Key, whose seat is Water Ful­
jord Hall, a very ancient mansion, picturesquely situated on the west bank 
of the Ouse. The house was anciently called succcssh·ely Ro8Se, Jlos, and 
Rose HaU, and it was once the property of the Rutland family. Some of the 
rooms are waiuscottcd with oak. ~car the house, at the depth of 18 feet 
beneath the surface, have been found stltg horns, ancient pipes, and other 
curiosities, and also what appears to be the handle of a large water jug, datl'd 
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1017. Some of theS& antiquities are in tho possession of the Rev. S. Key. 
Some antique remains were discovered here in a gravel pit in 1770. (See 
vol. i., page 800.) 'fhe rateable value of this township is £604. 

HEMINOBnouou.-This parish, which is situated at the junction of the 
rivers Ouse and Derwent, comprises several townships, which are noticed 
below, tho area of the whole being 10,420 acres, and the population 2,072 
persons. Amount of assessed property £12,024. The Totc111hip of Heming­
lnough contains 1,094 acres, and 528 inhabitants. Rateable value, £2,225. 

The name of the place was anciently written Hamtburg and Hemynburg, 
which signifies, in the Saxon language, a fort upon the edge of ground near 
a river. Dr. Stukely tell us, in his Iter Ottriolum, that there was a Roman 
fort at this place, and what renders this more probable, is the fact that the 
remains of an ancient massive wall are still standing on each side of the great 
\\"Cst door of the church, of a style and grit different from all the rest. The 
church itself is seated on an eminence, close to the river; Dr. Burton informs 
us "that the Romans wero careful to have their camps and forts placed near 
a river, upon a neck of land, to command the passage or conveyance by 
water;" and such is the situation of this place. The same author remarks 
thst Hameburgh signified a fort in a wood. 

In the Saxon times this place belonged to Tosti and Siward; and after the 
Conquest William gave "his royal manor and town of Hemingbrough, and 
the church thereof, with all his land of Drackenholme," to Walcher, Bishop 
of Durham. This prelate granted two carucates of this land to the Prior and 
Convent of St. Cuthbert, Durham; and in 1295 King Edward I. granted to 
tho Prior, a charter for a free market and fair at Hemiogbrough. This 
being a royal manor the inhabitants had several privileges, such as e:temption 
from tolls, pannage, &c., which were confirmed by Charles II. The chief 
proprietors of the soil of Hemingbrough township at the present day, aro 
Thos. Wilson, Esq., John Francis Carr, Esq., and Lionel Tomlinson, Esq. 

The Church of Hemingbrough was a Rectory at the timo of the Conquest, 
when it was given to the monks of Durham; but in 1356, the Archbishop of 
York ordained a perpetual Vicarage in it. On the 20th Oct., 1420, King 
Henry VI. granted his license to the Prior and Convent of Durham to erect 
this church into a College of one Provost or Warden, three Prebendaries, six 
Vicars, and six Clerks, with other ministers; and the collegiate establish­
ment continued till the dissolution, when the re,·enue of the society was 
valued at .£84. lls., and the ProYost had a pension of £13. Us. 6u. per ann. 
The Liviti!J is now a Peculiar Vicaruge, valued in the King's Dooks at £28., 
and in the Parliamentary Return at only £06., though it wns nugmentccl 
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with £1,800., in Parliamentary grants, from 1810 to 18U. Patron, the 
Crown; Vicar, Rev. John Ion. The Edifice (Blessed Virgin), which is the 
largest and handsomest in the Wapentake, is cruciform, principally in the 
later English style, with a square tower in the centre, surmounted by an 
octagonal spire, 42 yards in height. The walls of the latter are not more 
than six inches in thickness. The nave has side aisles and a clerestory; 
and the chancel has a south aisle, with a chapel on the north side. The 
view from the battlement of the tower is extensive, and embraces York 
Minster, Selby and Howden churches, Wressell Castle, and the beautiful 
windings of the Ouse. The interior of the church is neatly fitted up, and 
displays a variety of sculptured ornaments, tracery, and screen work, and 
eight antique stalls. In a chapel called St. Nicholas's Chantry, is an elegant 
altar monument, and the effigy of a skeleton, but no inscription. Several of 
the windows have been recently renewed. There is an organ in a gallery at 
the west end of the nave, and the font is circular, with ornamental panels, 
resting on a dwarf column. The tower contains five bells. 

The Vicar resides at a neat building in the Elizabethan style, erected in 
18-1~, and called Hemin.gbrough Villa. 

The ViUag11 is considerable, and stands on the north bank of the river 
Ouse, 4 miles E.S.E. of Selby. The Wealeyan Chapel was erected in 1882. 
Tho School is endowed with a close which lets for £6., and is further sup­
ported by subscription. The poor have about £11. per annum distributed 
amongst them. Many years ago a circuitous reach of the Ouse was avoided 
by a straight cut, which has left 403 acres of land, called New Hay, belonging 
to Drax parish in the West Riding, on the north side of the river. 

Barlhy Chap~Slry contains 1,411 acres, and 433 souls. Rateable value, 
£3,005.; of which the North Eastern Railway Company is rated at £798. 
10s., the township being intersected by their line to Hull. The le.nd is 
mostly copyhold, and belongs to several proprietors, the chief of whom are 
the trustees of the late Miss Robinson, and Robert Hubie, Esq. 

The Villag11 contains some neat residences, and is situated 1t mile N.E. 
of Selby. The common WllS enclosed in 1855. The Chapel is a small plain 
brick building, erected about 1777, and contains a nave and ohancel, with 
an octagonal bell turret. The Living is a Perpetual Curacy, in the patronage 
and incumbency of the Vicar of Hemingbrougb. It was augmented with 
£800. of Queen Anne's Bounty, from 1726 to '180Q, and with £200. given 
by J. Vicars and T. Dalby. Net income, about £65. per ann. The School 
is endowed with the rent of an acre of land, left by nn unknown donor; also, 
with the interest of £100., left in 1837, by Miss Mary Hubie, and the interest 
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of a similar sum, left by Miss Robinson in 1839. The latter lady also be­
queathed £100., the interest to be distributed in bread to the poor, and the 
above-mentioned Miss Hubie left the interest of £283. 6s. 8d., for the same 
object. The poor have other bequests, amounting to about £8. 10s. per ann. 
There is a Clothing Club, supported by subscription, and a Lending Library 
in the village. Barlby Hall, the property and residence of Mrs. Susannah 
Stringer, was built about SO years ago, on the site of an older mansion. 
Barlby Grove Houu is a neat building in the village, the property and resi­
dence of Robcrt Hubie, Esq. 

Barlby Bank is a hamlet close to the river Ouse, opposite Selby. 
Brackenholme with WoodhaU Towruhip consists of two neighbouring ham· 

lets in the vale of Derwent, 4 miles W.N.W. of Howden, and 2 E.S.E. of 
Hemingbrough. Its area is 1,508 acres, of t}le rateable value of £1,34 7.; 
population, 71 souls. Admiral Mitford and Robert Menzies, Esq., are the 
principal landowners. The latter gentleman resides at Wood HaU, in this 
township, a large white brick mansion, erected in 1802; and enlarged some 
eighteen years ago, by Mr. Menzies, after he had purchased the estate from 
the Reeves family. The house is pleasantly situnted, and surrounded by fine 
wood and plantations. Hagth~ Hou.~e, an ancient brick building, is the 
property of J. F . Carr, Esq., and residence of Mr. David Goundrill. A 
great part of a deep moat, with which the house was formerly surrounded, is 
still in existence. There is a farm here called Babthoipe, or Bapthorpe, upon 
which was a hall, anciently the residence of a famous family of Knights, of 
the same name, who ha({ a chantry in the parish church, and a domestic 
chapel near the hall, no remains of which now exist. Two of the members 
of this family, father and son, signalised ·themselves in fighting for King 
Henry VI., in the battle of St. Albans, in which they were slain. 

Cliff-cum-Lund Towmhip.-Cliff, or, as it is usually called, Long Oliff, 
owing to its length, is situated 8t miles, and Land is a hamlet 2t miles, E. 
of Selby. Area of the township, 2,618 acres; population, 592 persons. The 
place is intersected by the Hull and Selby Railway, and the rateable value 
of the whole is £4,504. There is an intermediate Station on the above-named 
line of railway at Cliff. Tui'nham HaU, the seat and property of Thos. Burton, 
Esq., is a neat mansion on the banks of the Ouse, which gives name to a 
small manor; but a great part of the township is in the Bishop of Ripon's 
manor of !Jfalvil, and its numerous copyholds are subject to arbitrary fines. 
The chief proprietors of the soil are T. and K. Burton, Esqrs., and Colonel 
Richardson. At Cliff are chapels for the Wesleyans and Primitive Metho­
dists; and a School, endowed with £33. per annum, arising out of about 14 
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acres of land, purchased with £1~0. , part of £220., the bequest of .Mary 
Waud, in 1708; the remaining 1:40. having been spent in erecting the 
school; and from the interest of £200., left by Mr. Whittall and John 
Robinson. The poor have the rent of ten acres of land. There is a steam 
corn, and oil and cake mill at Cliff. 

Soruh Duffieul Torrn8hip.-Area, 1,640 acres, according to local estimation; 
but 1,280 acres, according to the Parliamentary Return ; population, 186 
persons; rateable value, £1,24-1. The land belongs to several freeholders, 
but forms one of the Bishop of Ripori's manors of Howdenshire. At the en­
closure, the jmpropriate tithes were commuted for 294 acres of land. 

The Hamkt is small, and stands 4! miles E. by N. of Selby, and 2 N. of 
Hemingbrough. A WeslerJan Chapel was erected here in 1824, by the late 
Mrs. Jane Haddlescy, a member of a family which has been in this plo.ce for 
aboYe 400 years. The front of the house of Mr. Wm. Haddlesey, in the 
village, exhibits the family crest carved in stone. At the back of an ancient 
farm house in this township, called Holme, or Homes, House, is a piece of 
moated ground, which is evidently the site of an ancient mansion. 

Mentlwrpe tcith Bowtliorpe Torrnship contains fiOO acres, nnd 77 inhabi­
tants, according to the Census of 1851; but 625 acres by local estimation. 
Rateable value, £651. Mmthorpe consists of three farm houses and a few 
cottages, on the west bnnk of the Derwent, 4t miles N.W. of Howden. 
Chief proprietors of the soil, Mr. R. Chaplin, E. S. Bain, Esq., nnd the Rev. 
Jocelyn Willy, the Lord of the Manor. The Manor House is in the occupa­
tion of Mr. Wm. G. Fligg, farmer . . Bowthorpe is fn one farm, of 440 acres, 
belonging to James Walker, Esq., of Sand Button. It is in the occupation 
of Mr. Charles Boast, who resides at Bowthorpe Hall, a large square house, 
erected in 1823. 

Osgodby Towml&ip.-Area, 1,524 acres; population, 185 persons; rateable 
value, £1,763., including £4'05. lOa., at which the N. E. R. Co. is rnted, for 
that portion of their line which passes through the township. The land is 
mostly the property of Gcorge P. Dawson, Esq., the Lord of the Manor, and 
impropriator of the great tithes, whose sent is O&!Jodby Hall, an ancient 
building, with an embattled tower. This mansion was in the possession o( 

several distinguished families, and has been much improved by Mr. Dawson. 
About 40 years ago the foundations of an old chapel were dug up here. 

HEsLINOTON ST. PAUL.-The area or this parish is 1,100 acros, and the 
population is 228 souls; rateable value, £1,342. Yarburgb Yarburgb, Esq. 
(Lord of the Manor), and the Rev. S. Key, are the principal landowners. 

The Living is a Perpetual Curacy and peculiar of the Dean and Chapter 
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of York, rated at £6., and now valued at £1.13. per annum, being augmented 
with £800. of Queen Anne's Bounty, from 1740 to 1795; and with £400. 
granted since the latter year. The Prebendary of Ampleforth in the Cathe­
dral of York is the patron, and the Rev. Joseph Crosby is the incumbent. 

The Clturch (SS. Peter and Paul) is a small mean building, having a nave 
and chancel, with a tower at the west end. The interior, which is plain, 
contains some mural tablets to the family of Yarburgh. 

The ViUage is pleasantly situated, on the eastern side of the vale of Ouse, 
about 2 miles E.S.E. of York. In a gravel pit near the village many anti­
quities were dug up a few years ago, and among them were several gold rings, 
bracelets, &c., two glass urns, and two stone coffins, one supposed to have 
been the incasement of a Danish Prince. An Hol]lital for eight poor men 
and one poor woman, of the age of 50 years or upwards, was founded here 
by Sir Thomas Hesketh (the then lord of Heslington), who endowed it with 
a yearly rent charge of £50., out of the Castle Mills at York. (See vol. i., p. 
349.) It was further endowed by ono of the founder's family, with £5. per 
annum, out of an estate at Hutton Rudby. The original hospital stood near 
tho mansion of the Lord of the Manor, but in 1795 Henry Yarburgh, Esq., 
took it down and erected the present more commodious building in the village. 
The hospital consists of a chapel in the centre ; four sets of apartments on 
each side for the men, each set containing two rooms, and other conveni­
ences; and a room behind for the sister. There is also a small garden. Y. 
Yarburgh, Esq., is patron of the hospital, and appoints the almspeople, each 
of whom has a yearly stipend of £5. lls., except the master, who has £7. 
8s. 4d. per annum, and reads prayers in the chapel. The School is small, 
and was built by subscription, together with the master's house, in 1795. 

Heslington Hall, a large mansion of brick faced with stone, having towers, 
and a fine court yard, in the Elizabethan style of architecture, is the seat of 
Yarburgh Yarburgh, Esq., of this place and of Sewerby. (See page 456.) 
Neale, in his Seat., vol. v., tells us that this house was originally constructed 
for the reception of Queen Elizabeth (bad her MIIJesty viaited the north), by 
Thomas Eymes, Esq., one of the Queen's Council for the northern part of 
England, and secretary and keeper of her M~esty's seal for that Council. 
It was restored, altered, and enlarged, in 1854, by its present owner. The 
gardens and pleasure grounds are extensive. 

Hulington St. Lawr611ce.-Tbis is a township in the parish of St. Lawrence, 
containing 1,371 acres, of the rateable value of £2,060.; and 266 inhabitants. 
The population of the entire parish is 1,646 souls. Part of the above-noticed 
village of Heslington St. Paul, including the hospital and ball, belongs to this 

VOL.ll, 4 L 
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township; and the church of the parish is described at page 518 of vol i. 
There ore about 280 acree of common or waste land in this township. 

KEXBY.-Arca, 1,751 acres; population, 160 persons; rateable value, 
£1,813.; aseeesed property, £1,480. This place lies on the east bank of the 
Derwent, and was, until recently, a township in the parish of Catton, on the 
opposite side of the river. (See page 657.) Lord Wenlock is owner of all 
the soil (except 34 acres) and Lord of the Manor. The river is here croeeed 
by a good stone bridge, built in 1650, by Sir Roger Jaques Tresner, and 
thoroughly repaired in 1778. The Church (St. Paul) is a neat edifice in the 
Early English style, built by Lord Wenlock in 1852·; and soon after ita 
erection Kexby became an independent parish. It consists of a nave, chancel, 
tower, and·spire. The interior is neat, and the east window is filled with 
stained glass. The Lifling.is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of Lord Wen­
lock, and incumbency of the Rev. Arthur Maister. Annual value £121., 
bt>sides a good Parwnag1 HOUIII!, erected in 1853. 

The YiUag1 is small, and stands 6 ·miles E. by S. of York. A Dame 
School is supported by Lord Wenlock. Ku:by HaU was formerly moated. 

Nalmm Ohapelry.-This place is noticed at page 647 of vol. i. of this 
history. To that account may be added that the new church is dedicated to 
St. Matthew; -and that B,u HaU is a fine ancient brick edifice, with stone 
dressings, erected in 1680. 

RicCALL.-Tbis parish contains 3,060 acres, and 690 inhabitants. Ita 
rateable value is .£4,011. There are about 1,000 acres of common land. 
The soil is rich sand and warp, and the lands, with the exception of the com­
mon, are in good cultivation. The surface is generally flat, occasionally rising 
iuto mounds of consi<\erable elevation. The land is mostly copyhold, and 
there are two manors, one belonging to the Bishop of Ripon, which, till 
1836, was held by the Bishop of Durham, as one of his manors vf Howden­
ehire, and the other to the Prebendary of Riccall in York Cathedral. The 
latter isleaaed to E. W. Richardson. Lord W enlock is a principal landowner 
here. Riccall is distinguished in history as the landing place, in 1066, of 
Harrald, King of Norway, and his army of Norwegian and Danish invaders, 
who fortified themselves on some rising ground on Riccall common, since 
ealled Danes' Hill. The battles which ensued between the English and the 
invaders, at Fulford and at Stamford Bridge, are noticed at page 104. of the 
flrst vol. of thie work. Near the Ouee eeveral human ekeletone and a rudel1 
soulptured stone were dug up about eighty years ago. 

The Lifling is a Discharged Vicarage, a peculiar of the Dean and Chapter 
oC York; rated at .£6., and augmented, in 1816, with a Parliamentary grant 

o tzoobyGoogle 



OUSE AliD DEBWEl'IT WAPENTAl[E. 627 

of £1,000. The great tithes have been commuted for £1S08. lOs., and the 
vicarial for £140. The Prebendary of Riccall is the impropriator and patron, 
and the Rev. Alexander Crigan is the present Vicar. The Ckurcl& i1t a fine 
ancient structure, composed of the usual parts of a village church. The 
nave has a clerestory, the whole edifice is embattled and pinnacled, and the 
tower, which is low and massive, contains three bells. It is in the Early 
Norman style, with portions of the Early and later English. The entrance 
doorway is semicircular, of three mouldings, resting on two cylindrical co­
lumns and a pier. The outer moulding has a series of birds' heads; and the­
second and third mouldings, representations of St. Michael overcoming Satan·, 
and some curious and ludicrous subjects. On one of the capitals is an un­
couth sculpture of SS. Peter and Paul. The chancel window is pointed and 
of five lights, but is nearly blocked up. The interior of the church is neat,. 
and contains several handsome monuments to the Wormley, Richardson, 
Masterman, Eglin, and Jackson families. The chancel contains a neat 
piscina, and there is a small organ on a gallery at the west end of the nave. 

The Vicarag8 Houu is a good commodious residence. In the parlou1 
window is the rebus of Thos. Elcocke, Vicar in 1696, a cock perched on the 
letter L; and in the garden is a spring called the Lady Well, having been, 
probably, in Catholic times, in some way connected with devotion to the 
Blessed Virgin, in whose honour the church is dedicated. 

The Villag8 is large and well built, and pleasingly situated on the banks 
of the Ouse, about Si miles N. of Selby, and near it is a good Staith for 
landing coal, sand, &c., and at which quantities of corn, potatoes, &c., are 
shipped. In the village is a Wukyan Chap8l; the School, established by 
subscription in 1791, is endowed with about £6. per annum, and there is a 
house and garden for the teacher. The poor 'parishioners have several bene· 
factions. RiccaU Hall, the seat of the Ricbardson family, is a neat red brir.it 
mansion, with the family arms sculptured over the door of entrance. On the 
bank of the Ouso are the remains of La w,z HaU (now a farm house called: 
Whul Hall), an ancient episcopal palace belonging to the See of Durham. 
The foundations of the palace may still be traced, and are very extensive, 
and the whole was surrounded by three broad moats, the river being its 
western boundary. The Pr8b8ndal Mafi()T Houu is a large red brick building, 
apparently erected in the latter end of the reign of James I., with parts of • 
considerably earlier date. It had two round towers, one of which, three 
stories in height, still remains, and contains a winding staircase. Some of 
the walls of this house are three feet in thickness, there are some strong 
pointed arches in the interior, and the whole building is surrounded by a 
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moat. It is now a farm house, in the occupation of Mr. Richard Moon. 
RiccaU Grang~ is held by Mr. William Crompton. 

SJUPWITH.-Tbe townships of Skipwith and North Duffield are comprited 
in this parish. The area. ol the lormer is !2,1S69 acres; and its population 
numbers 283 persons. There are about 800 acres of common in the town­
ship, and the rateable value is £1,653. The entire parish contains 5,789 
acres, and the assessed property amounts to £6,104. The parish is situated 
near the rivers Ouse and Derwent. The principe.l landowners in Sk.ipwith 
township are John Arthur Parker Toulson, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), and 
Lord Wenlock. On Skipwith common are many conspicuous tumuli, which 
are by popular tradition connected with the defeat of the Norwegian army, 
which, as we have seen above, landed at Riccall, in 1066. Here the tumuli 
are called Danes' Hills. Some are of opinion that here was located an early 
British settlement, on the outskirts of the Forest of Galtrea. 

The Ben8fice is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at £10. Us. 8d., and now 
wort~ £800. per ann. Patron, the Crown; Vicar, Rev. Alexander Crigan. 
Tho tithes, &c., were commuted in 1809. 

The Church (St. Helen) is a fine ancient stone structure, consisting of a 
nave, with aisles, clerestory, and porch, a spacious chancel, and a large massy 
tower, embattled and pinnacled, which contains three bells. The church 
wall is almost entirely built of sepulchral stones, many of which exhibit 
crosses fiory and the remains of incriptions. Three pointed arches divide 
the aisles from the nave; between the nave and chnncel is a neat screen of 
open work, in the chancel is a piscina, and some old oak seats still remain. 
The font is ancient, large, and circular ; and there are memorials to the 
Parker and Toulson families. 

'fhe Villag~ is neat and pleasant, and stands about 5 miles N.N.E. of 
Selby, on the York and Howden road. On the moor are several tumuli, and 
near the church is the moated site of an nncient mansion. The School was 
founded and endowed by Dorothy Wilson, in 1717, with £20. por annum. 
(Sec vol. i., page 504.) The master has also a house and garden, and £U. 
per annum, the dividends of £451. 2s. 8d., three per cent consolidated bank 
annuities, purchased with £.wo. (less the legacy duty) left by the Rev. Josepb 
Nelson, in 1817; and he is required to teach free 14 children from each 
township. The poor have some smnll rent charges. 

Skipwith IIaU, the seat of J. A. P. Toulson, Esq., is a large brick man­
sion, three stories in height, built about 250 years ago, by the Tonlson 
family. It stands n little east of the church. A farm called the Charily 
.Fmm is in the occupation of Mr. John Long. 
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Pul Hall is the name of a farm house occupied by Mr. Thos. Hessel; 
and the Grange is a small farm house. 

Nortlt. Du.ffiild T01m1hip.-Area, 8,220 acres; population, 422 persons; 
rateable value, £8,491. The chief proprietors of the soil are Rt. Scholfield, 
Esq. (Lord of the Manor), Rev. J . D. Jefferson, and the Rev. Roxby Roxby. 
At the enclosure 177 A. Sa. 21P. of land were allotted to the Vicar in lieu of 
tithes, and 840 acres to the impropriator. 

The ViUage is scattered, and stands on the road from Selby to Market 
Weighton, about 5! miles N.E. of Selby, and It S.W. of Skipwith. A large 
fair for cattle, d:c., is held annually, on the village green, on the 4th of May. 
A Primitive llletlwdut CJ.a~l was built here in 1821, and a Wuleyan Cha~l 
in 1883. Du.ffield Ccutle stood on the banks of the Derwent, and the mound 
and ditches of it may still be traced. It was tho seat of Lord Hussey, who 
was executed for joining his neighbour, Robert Aske, of Aughton, in the 
insurrection called the Pilgrimage of Grace, in the reign of Henry VIII. (See 
vol. i., p. 189); but at what period it was destroyed is not known. 

Blackwood Houu and Derwent Cottage are the names given to two farm 
houses, the former in the occupation of Mr. Robert Sayles, and the latter of 
Mr. Samuel Chantry. 

STlLUNOFLEET.-This parish lies on the east bank of the river Ouse, and 
includes the townships of Stillingfleet with Moreby and Kelfield. Acaster 
Selby, in the Ainsty Wapentake, on the opposite side of the river, was for· 
merly a township to Stillingfioot, but is now an independent Ecclesiastical 
District. (See vol. i., p. 648.) Stillingflcet with Moreby township contains 
2,770 acres, and 419 inhabitants; rateable value, £8,841. In the reign of 
Edward ill. this lordship belonged to John, Lord Grey, of Rotherficld, and 
it was afterwards held by the Lord Evers, the last of whom was attainted for 
joining the rebellion called the Pilgrimage of Grace. (See vol. i., page 180.) 
The estate afterwards passed to the Lawsons, one of whom bequeathed it, 
about eighty years ago, to William Preston, Esq., from whom it descended 
to Hy. Preston, Esq., the present Lord of the Manor. Lord Wcnlock is also 
a principal landowner hore. The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in the gift 
Dean and Chapter of York, who, as trustees of St. Mary's School, arc impro­
priators. It is valued in the King's Dooks nt £9. 7s. 6d., and now at £412., 
having been augmented, in 1787, with £200. of Queen Anne's Bounty, and 
.£200. given by the Rev. J!.obt. Potter and Ralph Nixon. Vicar, Rev. Ches. 
Hawkins. Tho Church (St. Helen) is a fine edifice, comprising a nave with 
aisles, a chancel with north aisle, and an embattled and pinnaclcd tower at 
the west end, in which are three bells. The inner door of the south porch 
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has a beautiful circular arched entrance, the sweep having five mouldings of 
single and double chevrons, leaves, and birds' beads. On the north aide of 
the church is another but a smaller Norman doorway. The remainder of 
the edifice is of various styles of arcbitocturc, and the walla are panly built 
with sepulchral tablets, with foliated crosses, &c. The arches of the interior 
&re pointed, and rest on octagonal columns. In the I!Outh aisle is the re­
cumbent effigy of a crusader, in chain mail, one of the family of Moreby; 
and above it is a more ancient mural monument, with mutilated figures of 
John Acclom, of Moreby, who died in 1611, and Isabel his wife. The ~ave 
of this church was new roofed and repaired in 1828, at the joint expence of 
the Rev. F. Kendall and the parishioners; and th~ above-mentioned doorway 
on the south side was well repaired in 1820, at the expence of Archdeacon 
Markham. The Vicarage Houu is a large brick building. 

The Village is seated on both sides of a stream which runs into the 0118(', 
and over which is a good stone bridge of one arch, erected in 1820. It lies 
about 7 miles S.S. by W. of York. A small WIJIUyan Olaapd, was built here 
in 1820. The Natitmal Sclwol was erected in 1858, at the cost of the 
Dowager Lady Wenlock, and it is supported by Lord Wenlock, Henry 
Preston, Esq., and the Vicar. 

Mor~by lies about 1 mile N. of Stillingfteet. Moreby Hall, the seat of H. 
Preston, Esq., is a large and very elegant mansion of cut stone, erected at an 
immense expense by Mr. Preston, in 1827, and first occupied in 1881, when 
that genUeman was High Sheriff of Yorkshire. It is in the Elizabethan 
style, and is constructed of the beautiful and durable white freestone from 
the quarries at Park Springs, near Leeds. The grounds lie on the banks 
of the Ouse, and are very beautiful. The Moreby estate is held of the 
Crown, by the service of presenting a red rose to the Sheriff when demanded. 

Keljield Towmhip.-Tbe area is 1, 729 acres; population, 421 souls; and 
rateable value £1,850. The land is copyhold, and the chief owners of it are 
H. Preston, Esq. (Lord of the Manor}, aud Lord Wenlock. The place is 
noted for the luxurious growth of potatoes, rape, mustard, and flax. 

The Village is small but neat, and is situated 6 miles N.N.W. of Selby, 
and 1t mileS. of Stilling8eet. A WIJIUyan Ch4P~l was built here in 1815, 
and a PrimititJe Metlwdilt Ch4P~l in 1852. The Sclwol is endowed with 
£440. 16s. 8d., navy five per cents., purchased with £400.left by Mrs. Mary 
Stillingfteet, in 1802. It has also an annuity of 26s. left by the Rev. Mr. 
Tu"ey. The old Marwr Holl#, occupied by a farmer, is still nearly encom­
passed by a moat. The <hange, a good farm house, is the residence of Mrs. 
Charlotte Wormley; and the Lodge, another farm house, is in the occupation 
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of Mr. Jonathan Dunn. Here are two extensive brick and tile manufac· 
tories; and there is a ferry at this place across the Ouse to Cawood. 

TaoRGANBY.-Tbis parish, including West Cottingwith, comprises 8,100 
acres ; and the amount of usessed property is £2,771. The population of 
Tborganby is 170, and of Cottingwith 218 souls. The soil is partly clay 
and partly a sandy loam, in good cultivation; the surface is generally flat, 
but the scenery, which is enriched with wood, is of pleasing character. The 
principal landowners are the Rev. Joseph Dunnington Jefferson (Lord of the 
Manor), S. Brock.lebank, Esq., Thos. Reaston, Esq., and Rt. Blacker, Esq. 

Here was the Benedictine Priory of Thickett, founded by Roger Fitz-Roger, 
in the reign of Richard I., and which continued to flourish till the Disso­
lution, when its revenues were returned at £28. 12s. 2d. The site, con· 
ventual buildings, and lands, were granted, in 1542, to John Aske, to whose 
family the patronage or foundership bad descended from the family of Ha yes. 

ln 1822 a handsome mansion, called Thick4tt Priory, was erected on the 
site, by J. D. Jefferson, Esq., and is now the seat of his son, the Rev. J. D. 
Jefferson. The house is of brick with stone dressings, and contains a neat 
domestic chapel. In a tympanum on the top of the edifice are the arms of 
the possessor. Thorganby HaU is a large brick building, near the church. 

The Liwng is a Perpetual Curacy, valued at £58., and augmented with 
£400. of Queen Anne's Bounty, in 1799 and 1817. The patron, impro­
priator, and incumbent, is the Rev. Joseph D. Jetrerson. The tithes were 
commuted for allotments at the enclosure, about the year 1810, and other 
tithes were commuted in 1840. The Church (St. Helen) is a small struc­
ture, having a nave, chancel, and tower. The latter appendage is of stone, 
and is embattled and pinnacled; and the body of the church is of brick with 
stone dressings, and appears to have been built late in the 17th century. 

The VilUrg6 stands about 9 miles S.E. from York. The parish School and 
master•s house were built by Thos. Dunnington, Esq., who in 1788 endowed 
it with a rent charge of 40s. per annum. It has also £10. 10s. per annum, 
left by Robt. J efferson, in 1808 ; 40s. left by Richd. Blythe'; and 40s. left by 
Thos. Bradford; making a total of £16. lOa. per annum. The School was 
rebuilt in 1820, by the late J. D. Jefferson, Esq. The poor parishioners 
have 28 acres of land in Cottingwith, and 7! acres in Tborganby, supposed 
to have been bequeathed to the parish by Lord Valentia, about 1580. They 
have also a rent charge of £6. per annum, left by Robert Jeft'erson, Esq. 

W e.tt Oottingwith adjoins Thorganby on the north, and forms, with that 
place, a long straggling village on the banks of the Derwent. Here is a ferry 
across the river. 
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W HELDR.UE.-The townships of Wbeldrake· and Langwith constitute this 
parish; the former contains 4,140 acres, and 680 inhabitants; and the 
latter 781 acres, and 33 persons. Assessed property, £4,057. Rateable 
value of Wheldra.ke, £9,700.; of Le.ngwith, £257. With the exception of 
217 acres of glebe land, Lord Wenlock (Lord of the Manor) owns the entire 
township of Wheldrake. The soil is a strong lonm, except on the moor, 
where it is of a sandy quality; the surface is level and well wooded, the hedge 
rows being generally planted with thriving oak trees. For a considerable 
distance the Derwcnt forms the eastern boundary, but at the south-eastern 
extremity the parish stretches across the river, where it constitutes a valuable 
tract of rich meadow land called Wheldrake Ings. 

The Lir:ing is a. Rectory, valued at £25. 17s. 3id., a.nd now at about £411. 
per annum. Patron, the Archbishop of York; Rector, Rev. Robert Brya.n 
Cooke. Certain tithes were commuted at the enclosure in 1760, for allot­
ments of la.nd, and other tithes were commuted in 1841. 

The Church (St. Helen) consists of a nave and chancel, which are of brick, 
rebuilt in 1770, aud an ancient stone tower, embattled. The interior is 
plain, and at the west end is a gallery, upon which an organ was erected by 
subscription in the present year, 1851S. The churchyard was enlarged in 
1824, by the addition of 30 perches, given by the Lord of the .Manor. 

The Villag~ is distant 8 miles S.E. of York, and in it is a small Methotii8t 
Chapel. Here still stands tpe "village terror," the stocks. The Natwnnl 
School is endowed with £1~. Ss. per annum, left by three individuals. The 
Poors' Land (18 acres) lets for £22. per annum, and there are a few bene­
factions. There is a Reading Room in the village, supported by Lord Wen­
lock. There are several scattered farms in this parish, one of which, called 
Wray'• Home, is in the occupation of Mr. George Hughes. 

Langwith consists of a few scattered houses, about 2t miles N.E. of Whel­
drake. The principal la.ndowners are Y. Yarburgh, Esq., and Mrs. Bailey. 

SELDY. 

Though the ancient market town aud river port of Selby stands without 
the boundary of the East Riding, yet, from its proximity to that district, it 
is deemed necessary to add as lengthened an account of it as the limits of 
this work will admit of. The town is situated on the banks of the Ouse, in 
the Wapentake of Barkston Ash, in the Wetit Riding, and is divided from 
the Ouse and Derwent Wapcntake by the river Ouse, which is here crossed 
by a swivel bridge, of timber, 70 tons in weight, but worked with great 
rapidity, on balls similar to those of a cannon. It was completed in 1i95. 
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' 'l'he parish is intersected by tl1e North Eastern Railway, which is here 
carried over the Ouse by a handsome swivel bridge that opens with great 
facility for the admission of vessels to the quay. Selby is distant by railway 
~ll miles S. of York; 80t W. of Hull; :l:l E. of Leeds; and !Hit N. of 
London. The parish contains 3,180 acres, and 5,340 inhabitants. Rateable 
value, £13,860. The population of the town in 1851 was 5,100 souls, viz., 
2,4!)1 males, and 2,618 females. This place was anciently called Salebeia, 
and is supposed to have been a Roman Station, though history is silent with 
regard to its state in the times previous to the Norman Conquest. But as 
it appears to hnve been a place of some note at that period, it is conjectured 
that it was built by the Saxons on a Roman foundation. 

The A.bbey.-In the year 1069 William the Conqueror founded a Bene· 
dictin8 Abbey here, which WI\S dedicated to the Blessed Virgin, and St. Ger· 
manus, the great opponent of the .Pelagian heresy. In process of time the 
establishment acquired such extensive possessions and immunities, as reo· 
dered it equal in rank with the church of St. Peter at York. The superiors 
of this house, and that of St. Mary's Abbey at York, were the only mitred 
Abbots north of the Trent. In 1070 the royal founder of Selby Abbey visited 
the institution, accompanied by his Queen, Matilda, for the purpose of settling 
the endowment; and during the stay of the royal party, the Queen gave 
birth in the Abbey to her youngest son, who filled afterwards the throne of 
England, under the name of Henry I. The monastery flourished in great 
splendour till the Dissolution, when its revenue was valued at £819. 2s. 6d., 
and it was surrendered by Robert de Selby, the last Abbot. In 1541 it was 
granted to Sir Ralph Sadler, Knt., in consideration of £736., and an annual 
rent of £3. 10s. 8d. The site of the Abbey, with the little park containing 
about ten acres, and the manor of Selby, soon afterwards passed to Leonard 
Beckwith, and descended to his heirs, the Walmsleys of Dunkenhalgh, in 
Lancashire; from whom it was carried in marriage to the noble family of 
Petre. The Selby estate was recently sold to Lord Londesborougb, by the 
Hon. Mrs. Petro (widow and sole executrix of the Hon. Edward Petre), for, 
it is said, £270,000. ; and that lady has retired from the world, and entered 
a nunnery in France. 

The church of the Abbey was made parochial by letters patent in 1618, 
and a gTeat portion of it still remains. The principal buildings of the 
monastery wero on the west and south side of the church. The great gate­
way was pulled down about fifty years ago. Over it was the Abbot's court 
house, with two rooms tor the jury and the witneues; and on each side of 
the gate were the porter's lodge and a room to serve the poor. 

VOL. 11, 4 ll 
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In tbe early part of the Civil War the town appears to have been held for 
the Parliament; and although subsequently taken by the Royalists, it Wlla 

eventually recaptured by Sir Thomas Fairfax. (See vol. i., p. 240.) 
The Torm of Selby, as has been observed, is seated on the west bank of 

the Ouse, and upon the great road from London to Edinburgh. The streets 
are well paved and lighted with gas, and many improvements have been made 
in the general aspect of the place, of late years. Some twenty· five years ago 
the Lord of the Manor, at a great expense, opened a continued view of the 
west front of the church, and enlarged the Market Place and streets leading 
to the wharfs. The general trade of the town has been improved by means 
of the railways, and of a canal which connects the rivers Ouse and :\.ire~ 

There is a large flax mill, some oil mills, a rope and sail cloth manufactory, 
an iron foundry, and a ship building yard. Ships of 150 to 200 tons burtben 
navigate to Sclby, aud steam boats pass.daily to and from York and Hull, 
and there is a jetty for these packets, projecting into the Ouse. The 3larka 
is on Monday, and Fairs are held on Easter Tuesday, the l\Ionday after June 
22nd, and October 11th, for cattle, &c. In the centre of the Market Place 
is a large handsome cross in the ancient English style. 

Tho Tou-n Hall is a neat brick building, erected in 1825. The b~ilding 
containing the new Lock-up and Magistrates' Room, w~s erected in 1854. 
Petty Sessions are held in the latter every alternate Monday; and the C()Unty 
Cotn't once a month, before Seljeant Dowling. New Waterworks were es­
tablished here in the present y<'ar (1855.) The Yorkshire DUtrict and the 
York City a11d County Banking Companies have branches here. The Rail­
way Station, n little south of the town, is a neat and spacious building. 
There is a MechaniC&' [113titute, which was established in 1846. 

The Parish Church is all that now remains of the famous Abbey of Selby, 
which once formed a pile of buildings among the most sumptuous and mag­
nificent in the kingdom. What remains of this edifice shows it to have been 
a very noble building, erected at different times, and in different styles of 
architecture. The appearance of this venerablo pile is strikingly impressive. 
"The magnificent yet comparative simplicity of the west front," says Mr. 
Buckler, "renders it deser\"ing of particular notice, o.s its proportion and 
decorations merit remark from theh· singularity and elegance." The same 
learned antiquarian and architect is of opinion that it was originally intended 
to place two towers on this front, though the design 'vns never carried into 
execution:. but the angles terminate with lofty and well-proportioned pin­
nacles. The entrance is by a large and richly-adorned Norman doorway, 
supported_on ench side by six columns. The windo'vs of this front are pointed, 
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and the finish is an embattled parapet, with four large crocketed pinnacles. 
The walls of the na\"e and north transept arc Norman, though tho arches 
and ornaments of that character have been mostly replaced by windows in 
the pointed style, at different periods. The simple and massy :Norman nave 
is the oldest part of the building, and its internal architecture is very fine. 
It is divided from tl1e aisles by eight circular arches, resting on circular and 
enriched columns, and above the arches are two stories of open gallery. 
The beautiful choir is of Inter erection, and exhibits a splendid example of 
the pointed style of building, prevalent in the reign of Edward Ill. The 
proportions are extremely elegant, and the ornaments richly disposed, forming 
on the \vhole, in the words of Mr. Buckler, one of the most chaste and mag­
n ificent designs in the kingdom. The aisles are separated from it by seven 
pointed arches springing from beautiful clustered columns, the whole of the 
blank wall being adorned with statues, &c. The east window is highly 
enriched with tracery; and in the last century it contained the gent>alogy of 
Christ in stained glass. On both sides of the choir are se,·eral stalls of 
wood, enriched with tabernacle work. The four arches at the intersection of 
the cross aisles are Norman. The central tower fell down on Sunday, March 
80th, 1690, about six o"clock in the morning, and by its fall destroyed a part 
of the church; the present tower was probably built about the year 1700, 
but in a style by no means corresponding with the original. 

The Chapur Hou&e is a beautiful building, attached to the south side of 
the choir. The font is plain, and suspended over it is a fine lofty cover of 
carved wood. In 1826 a fine-toned organ was erected by private subscrip­
tion, which adds considerably to the elegance of the choir. 

The Livin!J is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of the Lord of the Manor, 
and incumbency of the Rev. F. W. Harper. It is certified at .£1i. lOs., and 
returned at £100. per annum. 

The dissenting congregations which have chapels here are the Wesleyans, 
Primitive Methodists, Independents, Unitarians, and Quakers. 

The foundation stone of a new Catholic Church was laid here on the 14th 
of June, in the present year (1855), and is now in course of erection. It 
will be a fine building, in the Gothic style, and a new Presbytery is being 
built close to it. The whole expense of the building is being defrayed by the 
Hon. Mrs. Petre. This mission is endowed, and the Rev. John Rigby is the 
present pa&tor of it. The old chapel is to be converted into o. school. 

Here is a Blu4 Coat Boys' School, and an endowed Fre8 Scliool, a l.Adia' 
Charity School for girls, Alm~houus, &c. An estate, in the hands of feoffees 
for charitable uses, yields over £150. per ann. The Selhy Poor Law Union 
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comprises 24 parishes and townships, of which 16 are in the West, and 8 in 
the East Riding. The Union Worklwu.e was erected in 1842. 

T/w'fn(U Joh1110n, a botanist, who published the first local catalogue o{ 
plants in the kingdom, and an improved edition of Ge.rard'11 Herbal, and who 
fell in a skirmish with a body of the Parliamentarian forces, in 1644, was a 
native of Selby. 

~uckr.ost Mtaptntakt. 
The boundaries of this division of the East Riding are formed by the river 

Derwent on the north and west, which separates it from the North Riding; 
by Harthill Wapentake on the south and south east; and on the west by the 
W apentake of Dickering. It comprises the parishes of Acklam, Birdsall, 
Bugthorpe, Burythorpe, Cowlam, :Frido.ythorpe, North Grimston, Helper­
thorpe, Hcslerton, IGrby Grindalyth, Kirby Undcrdale, Kirkbam, Langton, 
Norton, Rillington, Scampston, Scrayingham, Settrington, Sherbum, Skir­
penbeck, Sledmere, Thorpe Bassett, Weaverthorpe, Westow, Wharram-Percy, 
Wharram-le-Street, Wintringham, and Yeddingham. Area, 102,458 acres; 
population, 13,832 persons, viz :-7',270 males, and 0,56~ females. The 
'\\"estem side of this Wapentake is gcnernlly a fertile district, mostly having 
n rich loamy soil, and partly a light sand ; but its central and eastern parts 
rise in bold and lofty limestone hills, forming the westom side of the Wolds, 
where tho soil is poor and thin. It is watered by many rivulets and brooks 
flowing westward from the Wolds to the Derwent. 

AcKLA!Il.-This parish comprises the townships of Acklam with Barthorpe, 
containing 1,800 acres, and 334 inhabitants; and Leavening, having 1,110 
acres, and 44 7 persons. The surface is elevated, including a portion of the 
Wolds, from which a most extensive view of the surrounding country is ob­
tained; and the scenery is in many parts 'rery romantic. The amount of 
assessed property in the parish, in 1816, was £3,440. The rateable value 
of Acklnm is £1,477.; and of Barthorpe, £1,066. The manor of Acklam 
belongs to the Cro\vn, and the land to various owners. 

A vallum and two ditches, running cast from Acklam, may be traced over 
the \Volds for a considcrnblo distllnc<', nnd nro supposed to have been formed 
by the Ancient Britons, who, according to Sir Hd. Colt Iloare, had similar 
ridgewnys in various parts of the kingdom, as lines of communication between 
tho different towns and villages. In the neighbourhood of Huggate, Mil-
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lington, and Warter, the entrenchments, ridgeways, and remains of British 
villages are very extensive. All the earthworks on the Yorkshire Wolda 
appear to be purely British, and it is said to be impossible to trace any ad­
ditions of a subsequent nation. On Acklam Wold and the surrounding hills 
are a large number of tumoli, several of which were excavated in 184.9, by 
the members of the Yorkshire Antiquarian Club, when human remains, 
British urns and ornaments were discoTered. The urns and ornaments 
ha,·e been deposited in the Museum of the Philosophical Society at York. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, valued in the King's Books at £5., 
and being augmented in 1854, by the patron, the Chancellor of the Cathedral 
of York; it is now worth £~00 per annum. Under the Cathedral Act the 
Archbishop will he the patron after the termination of the existing interest 
of the Rev. L. V. Harcourt, the present Chancellor. Vicar, Hev. John 
Cam pion, of Doncaster. The Church (St. John the Baptist) is situated on 
the side of a hill, and was partly rebuilt in 1700. It is a small edifice, con· 
sisting of. a nave, chancel, south porch, and west tower. The interior is 
plain, having an ancient font. The Vicarag~ Howe is occupied by the curate. 

The }'iUage is picturesquely situated in a narrow valley on the west side 
of the Wolds, 7 miles S. of Malton. The houses are built of a .hard white 
stone procured in the neighbourhood. The TV88leyan Chapel was erected in 
179-t, and the Primitivt 1\Jctllodi&t Chapel in 18~1. The School is supported 
by subscription, and endowed \Yith an acre of land, purchased with £~5. left 
by Frs. Darker in 17~0. The poor of the township have a rent charge of 
.£2. a year, left by John Smithson in 1G81; and the interest of .£5., left by 
Wm. Hudson in 1759. 

Beck Hou•~ is in the occupation of Mr. Francis Mead Smith, farmer. 
Bartho1pe, or Bartlwrpe Bottom&, 8 miles S. of Malton, containing five 

houses, and Oi5 acres ofland, is the property of Earl de Grey. 
Lcat•tming Totrnship belongs chiefly to the Hon. A. Duncombe, Henry 

Willoughby, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), \Villiam Preston, Esq., and several 
smaller owners. The rateable value is .£1,7il. 

The Villa!fe is considerabl~, and is seated upon an acclivity l>t miles S. of 
Malton. A neat Sclwol Chapel of stone was erected here in 1850, in which 
divine service is performed. A Primitire Methodist Chapel was erected in 
1821, and a Methodist Cltapcl in 1824. The road between this place and 
Acklo.m, though only a mile in distance, passes oYer three or four steep hills. 
· BtnDSALL.-The area of Dirdso.ll is S,!li2 acres, and its population in 
1851 was ~82 souls. The amount of assessed property is .£4,090., and the 
rateable value, £2,782. The parish lies partly on the edge of the Wolds, 

o tzoobyGoogle 



ess BCCXB08E WAPE~TAIE. 

extending southwards; the surface is hilly, and the scenery romantic. The 
soil on the higher lands is light and thin, and on the lower grounds rich 
loam o.lteroately with clay. Limestone and freestone of good quality are 
extensively quarried, and numerous springs rise from the sidee of the hills. 
At Aldrow, a farm on a table land 750 feet above the level of the sea, are 
tumuli surrounded by enormous British works. A bank, with a double en­
trenchment, extends to Acklam one way, and the other beyond Huggate. 
Near Aldrow farm the entrenchment encloses a square plot of ground, within 
which arE' several barrows; and at the north angle is a mound, to which 
Professor Phillips restricts the name of Rath, where the double dyke seems 
to twist itself into a knot. The Yorkshire Antiquarian Club, in 1853, ex­
cavated several of the mounds or barrows in this loco.lity, and in the line of 
tumuli across the Wolds from Acklam to Huggate, and to Arras, and the 
result shows that this district certainly formed part of an extensively popu­
lated· Brigantian territory. Traces of the ancient inhabitants of the district, 
before the Roman iU\·asion, are abundantly left in the numerous earthworks, 
consisting of trockways, dykes, and the before-mentioned barrows. 

A few years ago a land slip occurred on the east side of the parish, when 
severo.l tre~s were carried down with the soil, so that their tops were left on 
a level with the surface; yet these trees continue to grow, and appear in a 
healthy st.nte. Some sixteen years ago about 1,100 full-grown trees were 
blown down here during a storm. The late Lord Middleton, who died in 
1835, bequeathed his Birdsall and other devisable estates in Yorkshire, to 
his nephew, Henry Willoughby, Esq., who died in 1840, aud was succeeded 
by his eldest son Henry, the present Lord of the Manor of Birdsall.* 

The L·it•ing is a Perpetuo.l Curacy, vo.lued at £15., and returned at £40. 
It was augmented in 1711 and 1786, with £400. of Queen Anne's Bounty. 
Meynell Ingram, Esq., is the patron and impropriator; and the Rev. Robt. 
Ellis is the incumbt>nt. The great tithes are let for £532. 10s. per annum. 

The old Church (St, Mary) is now a small picturesque ruin near the hall, 
and on au elevated site a. little north of it, the late Lord l\Iiddleton built a 
very elegant little church iu 1824. It is of stone, and in the pointed style 
of architecture, and consists of a na,·e ant! chancel, with a handsome tower at 
the west end, in which are three bells. The tower is finished with a pierced 

• Henry W'illoughby, Esq., of Dirdsnll, is cousin to Di!:bY Willoughby, the prest'ot 
Lord 1\liddlcton, and heir presumptive to thnt title. 1\Ir. Willonghby wns born Rt Arsley 
Hall, Nottinghamshire, 28th August, 181 i; married in 184:!, Julia Louisa, only daughter 
of Alexander Bosville, Esq., of Thorpc, and Gunthwo.ite, Yorkshire; end was High 
Sheriff of Yorkshire in 18~4. Tbe title of Baron Middlet<m, of Middleton, in the 
county of Warwick, was first confE~rred on Sir Thomas Willoughby, in 1711. 

o tzoobyGoogle 



liUCKROSE WAPENTAKE. 689 

battlement, adorned with pinnacles at the angles, and the finish of the nave 
and chancel is a pierced parapet. At the east end is a large window, and 
above it the arms of Lord .Middleton. The interior is very neat, and con­
tains some marble tablets to the Willoughby family. There is an organ on 
the gallery at the west end, and beneath the gallery is a handsome marble 
font. The church is said to have cost nearly £6,000. 

Bircball is distant about 5t miles S.S.E. of Malton, but there is no assem­
blage of houses that may be called a village. Bird1all HO'Uie, the seat of 
Henry Willoughby, Esq., is a largo mansion delightfully situated in an ex­
tensive and well-wooded park, which was very much enlarged and improved 
by the late Lord Middleton, who occasionally resided here. 

The old Manor House is a good building, occupied by Mr. James Colby, 
whose ancestors have resided here for several generations. The neighbour­
hood of this house is supposed to be the site of an ancient ,·illage, now gone. 
The GTange is the residence of Mr. Edw. Donkin, steward to Mr. Willoughby. 
The other farms with designations are Aldrow HO'Uie, in the occupation of 
Mr. Wm. Thorpe; Picks!&arp House, in that of Mr. William Potter; Veu~ 
Pmture, of Mr. Hy. Megginson; and Cork House, Swinham, Mount Farrov:, 
Toft House, and Bircball Farm, occupied by other farmers . The poor parish­
ioners have 20s. a year out of lands here, left by persons named Rothwell and 
Crompton, and 10s. a year left by Thomas Seller, out of a house in Malton. 

Henry Burton, a noted puritan divine in 1579, was a native of this parish. 
He wrote many controversial pamphlets, and some seditious sermons, for 
which he was sentenced to pay a fine of £5,000., to bo placed in the pillory, 
and then imprisoned for life; but after being confined for some time, he was 
recalled by the Parliament, and died in 1648. 

BuoTHORPE.-This parish contains 1,000 acres, and 266 inhabitants. 
Assessed property, £2,805.; rateable value, £1,771. Sir Charles Wood is 
Lord of the Manor and owner of the whole parish except one cottage. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in the patronage of the Arch­
bishop of York, and incumbency of the Rev. Thomas Richardson. It is 
rated at £20., but its present annual value is returned at £111. per annum, 
being augmented with £400. of Queen Anne's Bounty. At the enclosure 
in 1777, about 400 acres were allotted in lieu of the great tithes, and 
60 acres in lieu of the small tithes. The Church (St. Andrew) is a fine 
structure, but in a very bad state of repair, and consists of a nave, chancel, 
north chapel, and west tower. The chancel is considerably larger and higher 
than the nal'e, and the tower is embattled. The nave and chancel are sepa­
rated by two tall o.rcbes, about 16 feet apart, the first of which rests upon 
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columns, with curious capitals of SS. Peter and Paul, true lovers' knot, 
&c. In the chancel is the sedilia and piscioa, and the windows are Tery 
tall, and Early English in style. At the north-east angle is a large octago­
nal staircase, finished abovo the roof with a pedimental cap. The font ie 
ancient and circular. On the north side of the chancel is a fine marble 
monument, with a profile bust, to }!ary Payler, granddaughter and heiress 
of Hir W. Payler, Bart., of Thorolby Hall, who died in 1 i56; and a band­
some tablet to Sir Edward Pay:er, who died in 164i. There is likewise a 
brass tablet to William Watkinson, Esq., who died in 1614. 

The Villag~ is small, and stands 6! miles N. by W. of Pocklington. 
Tllorolby Hall is a brick building, in the occupation of Mr. Rd. Midgley, 
farmer. The old mansion, which was of stone, and which was probably 
moated, was the seat of Sir Edw. Payler, who was created a Baronet in 1641; 
but the title became extinct on the death of his successor, without issue, in 
li56. The Marwr House, now a farm house, was formerly moated. 

BuanuonPe.-Tho hamlet of Thomthorpe is included in this parish, the 
area of the whole being 1,225 acres. Population, 289 persons; rateable 
value, .£1,810.; assessed property, .£1,394. The principal landowners are 
the Hon. A. Duncombe, Wm. Preston, Esq., Joshua Field, Esq., Messrs. J. 
and W. Taylor, Sir T. Sykes, and Mrs. Stubbs. The place is all freehold, 
and each owner has the manorial rights on his own estate. The parish is 
situated at the base of the Wolds; the surface is hilly; the soil various, and 
in general good; and the scenery in many situations very beautiful. Stone 
is quarried for burning into lime, and repairing the roads. 

The Living is a Discharged Rectory, valued at .£6. His. 3d., o.nd in the 
patronage of the Crown. Rector, Rev. Wm. Carter. The tithes were com­
muted in 1fl39, for .£2i0.; and there are 24 acres of glebe, which, with the 
rectory house, a neat building, erected in 1849, is valued at .£40. per annum. 

The Church (All Saints) is situated on an eminence, and is a curious 
structure, in the Normnn style of architecture, consisting of a nave and 
chancel. The interior is plain, and on the south wall is a handsome marble 
tablet, to Mary, the wife of Thomas William Rivis, Esq., and daughter of 
William Preston, Esq., who died in 1852. 

The Villag~ is small, and stands 5 miles S. of Malton. There i6 a W u­
leyan Clla~l, erected in 1820; and a Parochial School, built in 1841. The 
poor parishioners have three small rent charges, amounting to a guinea a 
year, loft by unknown donors. BurytlwrptJ HorutJ, the seat of Wm. Preston, 
Esq., is pleasantly situated, in tastefully laid down pleasure grounds, a short 
distance from the church. Thomthorpe House, the residence of .Mr. Wm. 
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Taylor, is situated in the ha.mlet of that name, 2 miles N. of Burythorpe. 
Thomthorpe is a small manor belonging to the Taylor family. Ptmhow is 
the name given to a neat furm house in this parish, occupied by Mr. Walker. 

Fnmci-8 Consitt is snid to havo died nt llurytborpe in 1708, at the patriar­
chal age of laO years. Ho is stated to have prolonged his life by taking 
great exercise, and occasionally eating a raw new laid egg. 

CoWLAli.-Arca, 1,U:JO acres; population, 35 persons; rateable value, 
£1,570.; assessed property, £2,200. This place, anciently called Colume, 
gave name to a family that possessed property here; for, at an early date, 
'l'hos. de Colume gave two oxgangs of land, and a croft here, to the Priory 
of llridlingtou. Cowlam is situated about 6! miles N.N.W. of Driffield, and 
appears to have been formerly a large village of some importance. It now 
consists of two houses, and the land belongs to the Rev. Timothy Fysh 
Foord Bowes, D.D., Lord of the Manor, and patron and incumbent of the 
Rectory, and to whose brother, General Bowes, killed at the bead of his 
brigade, in Spain, after being severely wounded at the storming of Badajoz, 
a monument was voted by Parliament, and erected in the Cathedral of St. 
Paul, London. Mr. Robert Simpson resides at Cotcl4m Houu, and farms 
the entire parish. The surface is very irregular, and intersected with doop 
valleys of a romantic character. The soil is chiefly chalky. 

The Church (St. M:ary) was rebuilt in 1852, on the site of the old church, 
mentioned in Domesday as belonging to the Archbishop of York. The cost 
of the building was defrayed by the Rev. T. F. F. Bowes, who also endowed 
the living, making it worth £300. per annum. 

The Edijic4 consists of a nave, chancel, porch, bell gable, and vestry, and 
is in the pointed style. The designs were supplied by Miss Sykes, of Sled­
mere, who also presented a handsome stained glass window for the west end 
of the church. The east window is likewise glazed with the same beautiful 
material, in memory of the late Mrs. Bowes; and there is a handsome marble 
monument, by Chantrey, to her memory, and another to the late Major Top­
ham, Mrs. Dowes's father. A few years ago this living, which is a Dis­
charged Rectory, valued in the King's Books at £11. lls. 3d., was worth 
but £30. per ann., and Divine Service was only performed once a year. 

FnrnAYTHORPE.-Tbis parish, which is situated on the western side of the 
Wolds, comprises 2,070 acres, and 330 inhabitants; rateable value, £1,102.; 
o.sseBSed property, £1,6Hl. The surface is undulated, and the scenery, in 
some parts pleasing. Amongst the chief landowners are Lord Londes­
borougb, Sir Tattoo Sykes, Rev. W. R. Gricsbacb, the Executors of the late 
Mr. Robert Wharram, and John Leper, Esq. 

VOL. U, 4 N 
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The Benefoe is a Discharged Vicarage, in the patronage of the Arehbillbop 
of York, rated at £4. 13s. 4d., and now worth about .£150. per ann. Vicar, 
Rev. Wm. Robt. Griesbach. At the inclosure, in 1810, about 327 acree of 
land were allotted in lieu of the great tithes, and 282 acree in lieu of the 
small tithes. The Church is an ancient atructllrt', in the Norman and Gothic 
styles; ita parts are a nave with a south porch, a chancel, and a west tower, 
in which are two bells. There has been a north aisle, but it is gone. The 
edifice bears an apocryphal date, "i13." The font is ancient. 

The Pan<mage Home is occupied by Mr. John Dale, who fanns a part of 
the glebe land; another portion of the glebe is farmed by Mr. John Wilson. 
Sir Tattoo Sykes is lessee of thc appropriate rectory lands. 

The ViliJige is neat, and situated 10 miles W. by :N. of Driffield, and 9 
N.W. of Pocklington, on the road between York and Bridlington. A Wu­
leyan Chapel was built here in 1840 ; a chapel for the Primitive Methodists 
iu 1851; and a parochial school in 1841. The Manor Houu is in the 
occupation of !\lr. John Johnson, farmer. 

X oaTH GnnrsTON.-The area of this parish is 1,350 acres; population, 
167 persons; rateable value, £1,313. ; assessed property, £1,319. Except 
US acres of glebe land, and 35 acres belonging to Y. Yarburgh, Esq., the 
entire parish is the property of H. Willoughby, Esq., of Birdsall, the imp~ 
priator and Lord of the Manor. The soil is various, and the scenery besu­
tiful and picturesque, particularly at the base of Grimston Hill. 

The Lit•ing is a Discharged Vicarage, in the patronage of the Archbishop 
of York, and incumbency of the Rev. Edward Trueman. It is rated at 
£6. 6s. Sd., and now worth about £160. per annum. At the enclosure, in 
1793, the vicarial tithes were commuted for 148 acres of land. 

The Church (St. Nichola.s) is an ancient edifice, consisting of a nave, chan­
cel, porch, and tower. The entrance is Norman. The font is curious. 

The Vicarage Howe is a neat residence. 
The ViUage is seated in a valley, 4! miles S.E. of Malton. Here is an 

intermediate StatU>n on the l\falton and Driffielu Railway. The School is 
chiefly supported by Mrs. Willoughby. The poor l~ave two rent charges, 
viz., £2. Os. Od., bequeathed by Thomas Langley, Esq., in liOO; and 6s., 
per annum left by the Rev. - Penston. 

HnPERTHORl'E.-Area, 2,020 acres, of the rateable value of £1,525.; 
population, 140 persons; assessed property, .£2,214. The chief proprietors 
arc Sir T. Sykes (Lord of the Manor), Sir G. Strickland (the impropriator), 
and Messrs. Robt., Rd., Thos., and Wm. Esh. At the enclosure, in 1801, 
the tithes were commuted for allotments of 226A. 2R. 15P. to the Vicar, and 
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24:SA. OR. 38P. to the Dean and Chapter of York, the impropriators and 
patrons of the living. The Discharged Vicarage is valued in the King's 
Books at £4. 19s. 7d., and now at £178. per annum. Vicar, Rev. Samuel 
Henry Duntze. The Church (St. Peter) is a small plain structure, and the 
township is considered a parochial chapelry, having no burial ground. The 
parishioners bury their dead at Weavertborpe. The chancel and nave are 
divided by an old oak screen, and there are two bells in the tower. The im­
propriat{)rs of the great tithes pay £20. a year to the Vicar of Helperthorpe, 
and £30. to the Vicar of Weaverthorpe, to which parish Helpcrthorpe pays 
one-fourth of the church rates. 

The Villagt is small, and situated 11 miles E. of Malton, and lOt N.W. 
by N. of Driffield. A W ul~Ja1f ChapBl was built here in 1852. The Manor 
Houu is now a farm house. 

HESLERTON.-The two townships of East and West Heslerton are com­
prised in this parish, which is intersected by the York and Scarborough 
Railway, and partly bounded on the north by the river Derwent, which 
divides it from the North Riding. Wut Hulerton contains 2,180 acres, and 
351 inhabitants; rateable value, £1,937. The chief landholders are Vis­
count Downe (Lord of the ¥anor), Sir Tattoo Sykes, and William Thomp­
son, Esq. Amount of assessed property in the parish, £6,087. 

The Church is a Rectory, valued at £21. 6s. 8d. in the King's Books, and 
in the patronage of the Crown. Rector, Rev. Charles Wm. Knyvett. The 
tithes have been commuted for 400 acres of ln.nd, and the annual value of 
the living is returned at £-165. The Fabric of the church (St. Andrew) is 
small but neat, comprising a nave and chancel, with an open turret for two 
bells on the west end of the roof. The chancel arch is circular, and on the 
north side of the chancel is an ancient altar tomb, with a pedimental canopy 
exhibiting a mutilated basso relievo of our Divine Redeemer and the Blessed 
Virgin. This tomb is supposed to belong to Thos. de Heslerton, the founder 
of the church. The edifice was restored in 1809, when the north v.·all was 
built six feet further south, thereby making the church six feet narrower. 
Before that period the entrances were on the north and south sides, but since 
then the entrance is at the west end. A handsome new font was given by 
Lord Downe in 1853. A fine Recrory HoU&s was built in 1820; the grounds 
and gardens surrounding it are beautiful. 

The Vill4g~ of We.,t Hukrttm is seated near the foot of the Wolds, 8 miles 
E.N.E. of Malton. A We1leyan Chapel was erected here in 1830. The 
School was built in 1829, at the joint expense of the Hon. Marmaduke 
Langley (then Lord of the Manor), M. Cannon, Esq., and the Rector. It 
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is chiefly supported by Viscount Downe, Lady Sykes, and the Rector. A 
house for the master was built in 1850. lieslertM Station, on the above 
railway, is about 1! mile N. from the village. 

H~lerlqn Hall, a modem mansion, was purchased with the estate of Mark 
Foulis, Esq., in 1864, by Lord Downe. It is pleasantly situated in well­
wooded grounds. The Manor House, in tl1e village, is in the occupation of 
Mr. Henry Abbey, farmer. Wold Farm is in the occupation of Mrs. Jane 
Abbey; Ling HaU, in that of Mes81"8. William and Beojamiu Kirton; Hea­
lerton Carr, of Mr. Thomas Miles; Oarr House, of Mr. John Wilson; and 
Flilu Farm, of Mr. William Dale. 

East Heslerton Chapelry.-Tbis township contains 3,090 acres, and 267 
inhabitants; rateable value, £2,024.; assessed property, £3,460. Principal 
landowners, Sir Tattoo Sykes (Lord of the Manor), Sir George Strickland, 
Thomas Candler, Esq., and E. H. Hebden, Esq. 

The Village is small, and stands 1 mile E. from West Heslert.on. The 
Chapel of Eau was partly rebuilt in 1800-7. There is a belfry at the west 
end. The Living is a Curacy, subordinate to the Rectory of Heslerton. 
Here is a Wesleyan Chapel, erected in 1704, and enlarged in 1840. The 
Manor Houu is-occupied by Mr. Mark Newlove, farmer; the Gra11ge, by 
Mr. Alfred Dun hill; Low Hou-8e, by Mr. Thomas Cordiner; and a farm house 
called Whin Moor Build, by Mr. Robert Dawson. Another good farm house 
in the village, is the residence of Mrs. Ann Leighton. 

KIRKDY, or KIBBY-GRIJSDALYTH--The three to\vnships of which this 
parish is composed, comprise in the whole 7,{)70 acres, and 664 inhabitants. 

Kirby-Grindalytll Tou:nship contains 4,930 acres, and 210 persons; rat& 
able value, .£.1,3·10.; assessed property, .£5,319. The soil is thin, and rests 
on a substrata of chalk and flint. The township belongs mostly to Sir Tattoo 
Sykes {the Lord of the Manor), and partly to Sir George Strickland. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in the gift of Sir 1'. Sykes, and in­
cumbency of the Rev. Thomas Bowstead; and is valued at .CS. 9s. 7d. in 
the King's Books, and now at about £80. per ann. The tithes were com· 
muteu in 1850. The Church (St. Andrew) was anciently given by Waiter 
de EsJX>C, to the Priory of Kirkham. Tho edifice comprises a nave, chancel, 
and embattled tower at the west end, ft·om "l'l·bich rises a handsome octagonal 
spire. The un.\"e was rebuilt of brick, in 1826, and has three pointed sash 
windows in each side. The upper part of the spire '"as blown down many 
years ago, and wn.s not restored till 183{). The tower contains three bells. 
The architecture of the chancel ili of the 13th century, and at tbo east end 
is a vesica pisces- The nave and chancel arc di\·idcd by a wall, with a door 
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in the centre; in the chancel is an ancient stall, and the ancient font, which 
was brought here from Sledmcre, has a fiuo carved cover. 

The Vicarage House was erected in 184\J. 
The l'illaye is situated in a picturesque vale, 8 miles E.S.E. of Malton. 

The School is supported by subBCription. The Manor Houu, formerly be­
longing to the monks of Kirkham, is a fine old building near the church 
yard, and is now in the occupation of :Mr. Thomas Parker. CroOtM Houu 
is the residtmce of Mr. :Michael Grundon, farmer. Mou:thorpe is a hamlet 
containing two good farms; High Mou:thorpe farm is held by Mr. A. Top­
ham; and Low ltlou:thorpe by Mr. R. Topham. 

Duggleby 1'ou-mhip contains 1,706 acres, and 204 inhabitants. Thomas 
Wm. Rivis, Esq., the Lord of the Manor, owns the whole of the township, 
or nearly so. The Village is 11eated in a ,·ale below Kirby Grindalyth, and 
is about Gt miles E.S.E. of Malton. A short distance to the cast is a large 
tumulus. The School is held in a good brick building, erected at the cost 
of Mr. Croft, and is chiefly supported by subBCription. The Wesleyans built 
a chapel hero in 1826; and tho Primitive Methodists a chapel in 1835. 

1'hirkleby Torrnship lies from 1 to 2t miles E. of Kirby Grindalyth, and 
consists of two farms, containing 1,343 acres, and a few cottages. The land 
belongs to Sir Tattoo Sykes. 

KmKBY, · or KIRBY-UNDERDALE.-This parish includes the hamlets of 
Garrowby, Uncleby, Painsthorpe, and Hanging Grimston. Area, 5,040 
acres; population, 335 souls; rateable value, £8,738.; assessed property, 
£5,386. Sir Chaa. Wood, Bart., is Lord of the Manor, and owner of most 
of the parish. The surface is diversified by hill and dale, and the soil ia 
loam, with flint in the higher grounds, and clay in the valleys. One of the 
highest bills is about 800 feet aboye the level of the sea, and descends gra­
dunlly to the plain of York; and another hill is of the oolite formation, 
being the only one of the kind for many miles distant. 

The Lit·i11g is a Rectory, rated at £6. Ss. 4d., and now worth about £1,000. 
per ann. The patronage is vested in the Crown, and the present Rector ia 
the Hon. and Very Rev. Henry Do.vid Erskine, Dean of Ripon, for whom 
the Rev. Josoph Wm. Atkinson officiates. The tithes were commuted in 
1837, for a rent charge of £850., and there are 80 acres of glcbo land. 

The Church (All Saints) is an ancient edifice, very picturesquely situated, 
and was thoroughly repaired, at o. considerohle expense, in 1828. It is in 
the Norman style of architecture, with Gothic additions. The tower con­
tains two bells. The interior is neat, nod at the west end of the nave is a 
gallery containing an organ. The llectonJ House, which is occupied by the 
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Rev. J. W. Atkinson, is a good building near the west end of the church, 
and commands some fine views of the surrounding country. Dr. Thirlwall, 
Bishop of St. David's, and author of the Hiltory of Gruce, was Rector of 
this parish from 1888 to 1840. 

The ViUage, as its name implies, lies in a dale, or vale, near the foot of 
a rapid declivity of the W olds, 6t miles N. of Pocklington, and about the 
same distanceS. from Malton. 

Garrowby, or Garraby Hamlet, extends from 1 to S miles S.W. from 
Kirby-Underdale. The Hall is used as a" shooting box" by Sir C. Wood, 
and the Old Hall is in the occupation of Mr. Thomas Dale, farmer. Lea 
Field Farm is held by 1\Ir. Chas. Wigglesworth. Garr01Dby HiU is the point 
of junction of the ancient Roman Roads from York to Flamborough, and 
from Brough to Malton, and here begin those numerous fortifications, des­
cribed in the Philosophical Transactions for 17 4 7, which continue southward 
to Millington. (See page 562.) 

Paimthorpe is a hamlet of scattered l10uses, about 1 mile S.E. of the parish 
church. Here are several tumuli, and two moated sites of ancient mansions, 
planted with, fir, ash, beech, &c. The Hall is occupied by Mr. Joshua 
Scholcfield, farmer; So1lth Wold Farm by Mr. Richard Beal; and Painr· 
thorp6 Wold, by Mr. Timothy Wilson. At South Wold Farm is an ancient 
stone chair, discovered there some yfnrs ago. ' 

The Hamlet of Hanging Gri1111ton, 2 miles N. of Kirby Underdale, now 
consists of three farm houses, occupied respectively by Messrs. Wm. Kirby, 
Simeon Arnell, and Peter Gowland. From the unevenness of the surface a 
large village is supposed to have stood here in former times. 

Uncleby, a little north of the parish church, is a small but neat ho.mlet. 
Tho principal occupiers are Mr. George Harper, and Mr. George Pudsey. 
A School here was built nearly sixty years ago, by Lord Carrington. It is 
partly supported by the Lord of the Manor. The school room is also used 
as a place of worship by the Wesleyans. 

KtRitHAK.-This is an extra-parochial liberty, containing 290 acres, and 
62 inhabitants; rateable value, £420. The place, tho name o£ which signi­
fies the hamlet or place of a church, forms a long, but narrow, and richly· 
wooded acclivity, on the east side of the river Derwent, where there is a good 
bridge, 6 miles S. by W. of Malton. It belongs to Edward Clough Taylor, 
Esq., whose seat is a handsome mansion, built in 1839, near the crown of 
the acclivity. There is no place of worship here now; the inhabitants attend 
Westow church. Here is a Station on the York and Scarborough Railway. 

Kirkham is remarkable for the venerable and picturesque remains of a 
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Priory of Augwtinian Oanon1, which was founded in this delightful vale on 
th~ banks of the Derwent, by Sir W nlter de Espec, and Adeline his wife, in 
1121, and dedicated to the Holy Trinity. The founder is said to have bad 
his principal seat here, and his son and heir having been thrown from his 
horse and killed, near a stone cross in this neighbourhood, the father resolved, 
in the words of an old historian, "to make Christ the heir to his large es­
tates, by erecting and richly endowing three monasteries for Christ's servants, 
viz :-at Kirkham, which bad been his mansion house; Rinulx, in the 
North Riding ; and at W ardon in Bedfordshire." To the adoption of this 
course be appears to haTe been advised by his uncle, the Rector of Garton, 
afterwards the first Prior of Kirkham. The founder himself became a 
monk in his monastery of Rivaulx, and there was buried. The original en­
dowment of Kirkbam Priory consisted of the rents of several possessions in 
Yorkshire and Northumberland, together with seven churches which were 
appropriated thereto;· the profits of the whole amounting, according to Bur­
ton, to 1,100 marks per ann. Its revenue at the Dissolution, when there 
were seventeen Canons in the house, was estimated at £300. 16s. 6d. gross, 
and £269. 5s. Qd. nett, per annum. John Kilwik, the last Prior, had a 
pension allowed him of £50. a year, subsequent to the dissolution. The 
common seal of this Priory was large and oval; exhibiting a female seated, 
her head dress having long lappets, and holding in her left band a book. 
The inscription was Sigillum: Sancte. Trinitatu. De. Ohircam. The arms of 
the house were gu., three water bougets ar. , in the midst a pastoral staff or. 
The only remaining parts of this onco magnificent and celebrated Priory, 
consist of the ruins of the principal entrance, of portions of the cloisters, and 
of some fragments of the church, including the eastern window. The fine 
Gothic tower was blown down in 1784. The arch of the tower gateway is 
pointed, and covered with a large pediment, crocketed, and terminating in a 
finial. This beautiful gateway is apparently of the time of Edward I. On 
each side of the arch of entrance is a canopied niche, one having a mutilated 
sculpture of St. George and the Dragon, and the other a solitary figure. In 
various parts of the walls are shields of arms, and other ornaments. Between 
two windows, above the archway, are two niches with statues, and the vesica 
pisces, with a representation of the Almighty. A beautiful Norman arch also 
remains, which led into the Priory gardens. On the north side of the ruins 
is a farm house, occupied by Mr. Thomas Warwick. 

A PUalure Fair is held near the ruins of the Priory, on Trinity Monday, 
when the principal traffic is in the birds taken in the neighbouring woods 
and plantations. 
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LANOTON.-Area of the townships of Langton and Kennythorpe, about 
8,000 acres; population, 814 persons; of which 2,200 acres, and 241 in­
habitants, belong to Langton. Assessed property of the parish, £2,609. 
Rateable vnlue of the township, £2,114. Nearly all the land belongs to 
Lieut.-Col. Norcliffe Norcliffe, the Lord of the Manor, whose seat is lAngton 
HaU, a good mansion, pleasingly situated in a well-wooded lawn. lAnuum 
Wold, about 000 acres, has long been famous as a place for training race 
horses, and on the top of it is the Malton Race Cour&e, with a good " Grand 
Stand." On this, as on several parts of the neighbouring Wolds, are exten­
sive earth works. The Living is a Rectory, rated at £17. 4s. 7d., and now 
returned at £460. per annum. Patron, the Crown; Rector, Rev. Arthur 
Thomas Whitmore Shadwell. The tithes of Laugton were commuted for a 
rent charge of £860., and there are 68 acres of glebe land; and those of 
Kennythorpe for £81. 7s., and there is likewise some glebe land. The 
Church (St. Androw) is a neat edifice, having a nave, chancel, and small 
tower, containing two bells. It. was partly rebuilt in 1822, at a cost of £600. 
The interior is plain. The chancel window was glazed with stained glass, at 
the restoration, at the cost of the Misses Norcliffe. In the north wall of the 
chancel is a monument to the Ingram family, bearing the date of 1656. 

The Village, the name of which implies Long Town, is very picturesque 
and rural, and is seated at the foot of the Wolds, 8 miles S.S.E. of bfalton. 
The Wuleyans have a chapel here. The School, erected by Col. Norcliffo in 
1841, is chiefly supported by that gentleman and the Rector. Tbo late 
Thomas Norcliffe, Esq., in 1847, left £70. to provide books, &c., for this 
school, which, together with a like sum of £70., given by Colonel N orcliffe, is 
sunk in the 8 per cent. consols, for that object. 

Kennythorpe Toumahip contains about 780 acres, and 73 inhabitants; 
its rateable value is £728. The principal landowners are St. John's College, 
Oxford, and Sir Tat ton Sykes. The Hamlet is small, and is situated 4 miles 
S. of Malton, and ll W. of Langton. 

:MALT ON. 

TRE Parliamentary Borough of Malton comprises the parishes of St. 
Lconard and St. Michael, which form the market town of New Malton, and 
the parish of Old Malton, nil in the North Riding; and the parish of Norton, 
in the East Riding. New lllalton is beautifully situated, on elevated ground, 
on the north side of the river Derwent, which, flo"·ing through the adjacent 
valley, forms a boundary between the East and North Ridings. It is also on 
the line of the York and Scarborough, and the Malton, Driffield, and Tb..irak 
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Railways. It is distant from York 18 miles N .E.; from Scarborough 21 
miles S.W.; and 217 N.W. from London. The population of the borough, 
in 1851, was 7,661 souls, of which 8,841 were in ~ew Malton, 1,505 in Old 
Malton, and 2,815 in Norton. Area of New Malton, 110 acres; rateable 
value, £7,359.; rateable value of the borough, in 1852, £24,857. 

Malton is of very remote antiquity, and the number of ancient roads which 
point to it show its early importance. Historians seem agreed upon its being 
one of the most ancient Brigantian fortified towns in this part of the country ; 
and the remains of Roman camps, which have been traced on the low grounds 
on both sides of the river, as well as the many Romam coins, urns, pieces of 
pottery, human bones, and other relics, which have been dug up at various 
times, seem to indicate its importance as a Roman station. The Romans 
changed only the termination of the British name of the place, to Camulo­
dunum, and this name, by abbreviation, became the Saxon Meldun, pro­
nounced Maidm, and Maiden Gret•e Balk, is at this day one of the boundaries 
of Malton. No fewer than six Roman roads may be traced, by military and 
other remains, to this station. From an inscription dug up in 1858, near 
the lodge of the original castle, it would appear that the Equiu1 Singulare1, 
or body guard of the Roman Emperor, were stationed here, and most pro­
bably in the time of Severus. Mr. Wright, in his WancUringa of an Anti­
quary, places the,D~lgovitia of the Romans at Old Malton, and supports his 
views with very good arguments.* "The river Derwent here, and at this 
point alone," writes Allen, "touches the foot of the Deira-wold region; a 
considerable breadth of marshy ground, formerly impassable, inte"enes be­
tween the river and the W olds in every other part of its course; and at this 
point was the river most readily passed, by a broad but shallow ford." " On 
the opposite side of the river," says Baines, "entrenchments for the defence 
of this once important pass, are also visible." 

During the heptarcby, the Camulodunum of the Romanized Britons be­
came, it is said, a royal villa of the Kings of Northumbria, and some writers 
assert that it was at this residence that the life of King Ed win was prese"ed 
from the assassin by his faithful Lilla. But that occurrence is more gene-

• Mr. George Pycoek, of Malton, possesses an interesting collection of antiquities, 
among 'lfhich nre some Roman dishes, pins, buttons, patene, and a lachrymatory, found 
in a close here called the Orchard Field, chiefty during the excavations for the Malton 
and Think Railway, iD 1862; aDd aome Boman potteq, a BomaD mill for grinding corn, 
Roman rings, fibula, &c. found at Norton. This collection comprises some stone and 
brass cclts found at Abdon; some Roman and Sax on spurs; a curious Roman camp 
chest; British and Roman arro" and spear heads; several bronzes &om Pompeii; ancient 
swords of great length; a beauti.ful brua crucifix, &c. 

ro~~ 4o 
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rally supposed to have taken place at .o\.oldby, near Stamford Bridge. 
(See voL i., p. 88.) Torchil and the celebrated Earl Siward, who defeated 
Mo.cbcth, were lords of this place before the Conquest, and had in it several 
tenant8, a church, and a mill; and after that eTeot the lordship of the town 

·was given, with other manors, to Gilbert Tysoo, whose granddaughter carried 
it in marriage to ho de V esei, from whom it descended to his posterity. 
This noble family built here a Castle and a Priory, of both which there are 
some remains existing at this day. Eustace Fitz.John, who inherited this 
Castle and lordship from his mother, an hei.res& of the De Veeci f&mily, was 
o. powerful nobleman, and a great favourite of King Henry L, who gave him, 
in addition to this plaoe, the town of Alnwick in Northumberland; but after­
wards, disliking King Stephen, he put the latter town into the hands of 
David, King of Scotland, who, in 1188, seized the Castle of Malton and 
garrisoned it, and laid waste tho neighbouring towns. This irruption of the 
Scot8 into Yorkshire caused the northern nobles, at the suggestion of Arch­
bishop Thurstan (as we baTe obsened at page 123, Tol. i. of this history) to 
raise an army to expel the inTaders, and in order to dislodge them here, it 
was found necossary to bum the town to the ground, and besiege the Castle. 
Eustace, it is said, was afterwards reconciled to the King, and being restored 
·to favour, rebuilt the town, which has ever since been called New Malton. 
The Castle was finally destroyed by King Henry II. Leland, who visited 
this district in the time of Henry VITI., thus described the ruins; "The 
Castle of Malton bath been larg, as it epperith by the mine. There is at 
this tyme no habitation yn it, but a mene house for a farmer." William, 
the son and successor of Eostace Fitz.John, asaumed the name of De Vesci, 
and the manors and estates of the family passed to his descendants. In 
course of time the property waa divided amongst heiresses, who carried Uleir 
portions in marriage to the families of St. John, Eure, and Coniera; and in 
the 18th Richard II. (1300), Sir Ralph Eure had for his part the town and 
lordship of Malton, except the fairs, &c. In the reign of Henry vm. Clif­
ford, Eures, and Coniers, had New .Malton in partition; bnt Eures had the 
whole lordship of Old Malton. Ralph Lord Eure, a deacendaat of the latter 
family, built a large and sumptuous castellated mansion, on the site of the 
old Castle, in the reign of J ames I. ; and it is remarkable that its duration 
\ras u short as that of the Castle, for in consequence of a disagreement 
between his two graDddAughtel'9 and co-heireeses, respecting the enjoyment 
of this noble structure, it was, after a long lawsuit, pulled down, and the 
materials wero divided between theUl, by Hy. Marwood, Esq., High Sheriff 
of Yorkshire, in 167 4. The lodge and gateway, howerer, were left, "aa a 
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monument of the folly and vindictiveness of family feuds, or to ahow what 
the mansion bad been." Mary, the youngest of these two co-heiresaes, was 
married to William Palmes, Esq., of Linley, in this county, who, in right of 
his wife, po!l8ellaed the manors of Old and New Mlllton; and be sold them 
in 1712, to Sir Thomas W entworth, whose descendant, of the aame name, 
obtained the title of Lord Malton, and six years afterwards was created Mar­
quis of Rockingham. On the death of the second Marquis, without issue, 
in 1182, the title became extinct, but his nephew, the late Earl Fiuwilliam, 
succeeded to the manor of Me.lton and his other principal estates. 

The Uxlge, a lluge embattled building, and the grounds on which stood 
the ancient Castle and the castellated mansion noticed above, is noy occupied 
by William Charles Copperthwaite, Esq., Earl Fiuwilliam's land ag~nt. 

The Priory above-mentioned stood at Old. Malton, and was founded by 
Eustachius, or Eustace Fit.z.John, about 1150, for Canons of the Gilbertine 
Order. Wm. de Veaci, the son and successor of the founder, confirmod to 
the monks, the church of Me.lton, and other gifts of his father, and the 
Flamvil, Lasceles, and other families endowed it with many lands and 
churches. The monastery was dedicated to God, in honour of the Bles&ed 
Virgin, and it continued to flourish till the reign of Henry VIII., when it 
was di880lvcd, its revenues being then valued at £257. 7&. per annum gro88, 
and £107. 19s. 2d. nett. The site of the Priory was granted to Archbishop 
Holgate. The parish church of Old Malton is only a portion of the nave of 
the Priory church, the choir having been taken down in 1734. The building 
was extensively restored in 1844. The west front exhibits a splendid Nor­
man doorway, with a receding arch, composed of various mouldings, springing 
from an impost composed of the capitals of seven columns, attached to each 
jamb. The capitals are leaved, t.be shafts are slender, and the mouldings 
exhibit a beautiful specimen of the lozenge, highly enriched. Above this 
doorway is a beautiful pointed ~indow of five lights, with a transom. At 
the S.W. corner of wbat was the south aisle, stands a very fine square tower, 
and there was doubtless a corresponding tower at the N.W. end of the north 
aisle. The aisles are gone, and their arches are filled up, and smo.ll round­
headed windows inserted in them. The towers opened to the aisles by very 
beautiful arches. At the east end of the site of the north aisle is another 
fine Norman doorway. At the east end of the nave are the remains of the 
massive pillars which supported the central tower, and the choir extended 
scme distance towards the banks of the Derwent. The remains of a chapel 
are still standing on the south side, with the piscina in the wall, and near 
it is a circular headed doorway, leading into the Abbey grounds. There are 
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some stono coffins at the east end of the church. The interior of the edifice 
must have been iu its original state very large and richly ornamented. The 
mlissy circular pillars between the nave and aisles, are still partly visible, 
and at the east end are eight ancient oak seats with curious earrings. The 
church is neatly fitted up with open seats. In tl1e grounds, on the south 
side of the church, is a large ancient mansion called Old !rfalton Abbey (now 
the residence of Mrs. Kinnear) which was built out of the ruins of the Priory. 
Somo of the walls are of great thickness, and beneath a portion of the house 
is a crypt with a groined roof. 

Olcl Malum is a stl'aggling village about 1 mile distant from New Malton. 
In Lela~'s time, it appears to have been the mother church, upon which 
the churches, or parochial chapels of St. Michael and St. Leonard, at New 
Malton, were dependent. The presumption that at some remote period a 
connection between Old and New Malton subsisted, greater than that arising 
from mere vicinage, seems strengthened by the fact, that rights of common 
have been admitted to exist in the inhabitants of the latter, over the waste 
grounds of the former; and upon the enclosure of certain commons and wastes 
in Old Malton, an Act was passed in 1796, allowing 100 acres to the owners 
of messnages in New Mal ton, in lieu of their rights of common upon the en­
closed laud. .There is a tradition that the original town of Malton, which was 
burnt by Tburstan's army, stood at Old Malton, and· that the new town was 
erected where New Malton now stands. But though this is not borne out by 
any reliable evidence, no inference can be more reasonable, wh~n we consider 
the two distinct names of Olcl and New Malton, tbnn that the new town was 
not built on the site of the old one. On the other band we have it from good 
authority, that during the Norman period, Malton was surrounded by walls 
having four gates, Yorkers-gatc, Old Malton-gate, Green-gate, and Wheel­
gate. Tht-se names are retained by streets which fomterly led to them. The 
line of wall and moat is traced on the ordnance map, the present town of New 
Malton conforming, in a great degree to these ancient limits. 

TLe Livir~g of Old Malton is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of Earl Fitz­
william, the lessee of the tithes under the Archbishop of York. Up to the 
year 1855, the before mentioned churches of St. Michael and Leonnrd, New 
Malton, were united to this in one incumb~ncy, and its annual value was 
retun:rM at £198. per annum; but upon the recent appointment of the RcY. 
·William Carter, the late incumb~nt, to the Rectory of Slingsby, the three 
churches of Old and New Mnlton were constituted separate and distinct 
livings. The present incumbent of Old Malton is the Rev. John Walker. 
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Henrietta Maria, Queen of King Charles I., slept at Malton on her way 
from Bridlington to York, in 1643. (See vol. i., page 238.) 

Malton bad a charter of incorporation, and the borough was governed by 
two Bailiffs till the reign of Charles IT., when, on a writ of I[U(J warranto, the 
inhabitants pleaded prescription, and judgment was given in favour of the 
Crown. The burgesses were consequently deprived of their corporate privi­
leges, and placed under the control of a Bailiff, appointed by the Lord of the 
Manor, and so it continues to this day. The present Borough Bailiff is Jas. 
Dunlop, Esq., of Middle Cave House. So early as the 23rd and 26th of 
Edward I. Malton, being one of the burgage tenure boroughs, sent repre­
sentatives to Parliament. At that time the Prior of Malton, who was one of 
the members, was arrested, on his return from the Parliament, for debt, but 
pleading his exemption while going to or returning from his Parliamentary 
4uties, he was liberated. This is thought to be the earliest claim of the prin­
lege by a member of Parliament. Malton still returns two representatives, 
but the limits of the borough have been extended, under the Reform Act, by 
the addition of Old Malton and Norton. The Bailiff is the returning officer. 

In the list of its former representatives the borough has the names of 
Edmund Burke, Henry Grattan, and some other senators distinguished for 
eloquence, learning, and liberality. The present M. P.'s for Malton are 
John Evelyo Denison, Esq., and the Hon. Chas. W. Wentworth Fitzwilliam. 
Malton is a polling place for the election of members for the North Riding. 

The town of New Malton contains several good streets, an extensive market 
place, and a large cattle market place. The houses are well built, and 
many of them, both in the town and suburbs, are bandsomo and of modem 
erection.* The streets are lighted with gas, from works originally constructed 

• P.obert &wlinson, E>~q., Superinrendent Inspeewr of the General Board of H~th. 
in a Report w th11t Board, in 1854, on the Se.nitnry Condition of l'tlalton, makes the fol­
lowing interesting obscrvntion!l, among DJIUIY others, on thiij wwn And neighbourhood. 
"From the high lantl at Mioltlle Ca,·c, above Mr. Slllter's nursery ground (wllere he 
proposed w place a rl'sen·oir to supply warer to eyery house 'l'itbin the borough), the 
red-tile roofs of New 1\IIllwn may be seen, the wwers of St. 1\fichacl's and St. Leon11rd'11 
rising above the general level. Sonth-east ill Langton Wold, the smooth rounded forms 
revealing the cbaracter of the oolitic and chalk formAtions of the district. The ,·alley 
of tl1e Dcrwent is beautiful, the river winding throngh it, making bends round Olol 110d 
New Mulron. A aiw more favoumble for bealth could not w<>ll be cllost'n. This, in a 
great mea.Anm, is snfticient to explain the antiquity or the town. The 6n;t inbabitrulta 
of a country generally 6.xed upon n site possessing certain natural &(1\-antllgcs. High 
lands and open downs were inhabited by the Cdtic tribes, capable of dcfending tJ1eir 
rudely.formcd encampments; the open lands, though bleak, sening w graze their 
ftocks and expose their enemies. The ordnMce map of England sbows that mountain-

o tzoobyGoogle 



EnSTOBY OF KALTON. 

in 1832, by Messrs. John and James Malam, and purchased Cor £4,000., 
by a proprietary ol .£10. shareholders, in 1836. The original capital was 
since raised to £5,000. The Markel is held every Saturday, aDd is well 
supplied with proviaioDS, cattle, and agricultnral produce generally. For· 
merly there was a market on Tuesdays. :F'or the accommodation ol the 
farmers and corn dealers, Earl Fitzwilliam erected a •ery neat commodious 
Oom EzcAatJ96, in Yorkersgate, in 1845, but like the farmers ol Driffield 
(See page 502), those ol Malton preler the street, the offices, or the public 
houses, to the accommodation afforded by a beautiful hall, which is an orna­
ment to the town. There are lour annual Fair•, viz., duriog the week before 
Palm Sunday; on the Saturday belore Whit Sunday; the 11th and 12th of 
October; and the Saturday before Martinmas day. 

In the T01m Hall, a plain building in the Market Place, are held Peuy 
Senion~, every alternate Saturday ; and the County Coon is held there 
monthly, before Judge Rainea. There are three Banks, viz., York City and 
County, East-Riding, and York Union; and a Sa•ings' Dank is held in a 
handsome building in Yorkersgate. A Theatre and a commodious suite of 
Public Sublcription .Room~ were erected in Yorkersgate, in 1814. The for­
mer ia now the lecture hall of the Liierary Irutilute. This society possesses 
a library of about 000 volumes, and a reading room, and is about to form a 
museum. The large subscription room measures 57 feet by ~7 feet, and 
about 20 feet in height. One of the lower rooms in the same building is 
occupied as a Sub~eription New• Room. There are two other news rooms in 
Malton, viz., "The People's," established in 1850, and" The Tradesmen's," 
founded in 1851. A Police Station was erected in the Cauu Marklt, in 1850. 

The river Derwent is crossed here by a handsome stone bridge of three 
arches, connecting the town with the populous suburb of Norton, which was 
erected in the year 1700, and was widened in 1700. Iu the 12th century 
there is known to have been a bridge here. 

shle11 and moors, now waste e.nd barren, were inhabited ond cultinted during a time 
when the ,·alJcyR nnd plnin11 wl'rP. dPnso forests or impll888ble mom.~ses ; on cvE>ry change 
of ownership, tho di!ilodged tribes r etreated w the unhealthy forest and marsh, the con. 
quoron 11cttling on the better or more wholesome sites. Mal ton, many times contended 
for e.ncl BC\'Oral times d~Rtroye<l, hRB been a place of residence for the Celtic British 
tribes, the Roman, the Nonnllll, and their 1lcw>ndanta, down to the present dny. There 
i ~ a nn,·igahle river, fed principlilly by Rprings from the oolite nntl chalk. A dry subsoil, 
with benutiful IK'Cncry in wold, meadow, ,.·ood, and water. Few plnoes ~~~s more 
natnral advantages, if they arc duly improved. Until recently weirs in the Derwent 
dammed the water w a level, preventing lano.l dminaee. These have been removed, 
thereby conferring Advantages on the fanner and the town resident. Mill-dams, on 
rh·ers flowing through nlJu,ial valleys, are great impedimenta to agriculture. If near a 
toWD, th~>y are in a much greater dE-gree injurious to cil·iiization." 
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The Derwcnt was made navigable from Malton to the river Ouse, in the 
reign of Queen Anne. (See page 606.) The Railtray St4ztion, on the York 
and Scarborough line, is on the south side of the river, in the East Riding. 
There are three iron foundries, and on the banks of the Derwent are three 
breweries, several large steam flour mills; also, granaries, malt kilns, coal 
yards, saw mills, bark mills, tanneries, fellmongers, &c. Porter, malt, corn, 
and bacon, are largely exported. A considerable portion of the population 
is also employed in agriculture. 

Malton races take place annually on Langton Moor, a plain long famous 
for training race horsee. In a garden at the foot of an eminence called the 
Brows, is a chalybeate spring, with an appropriate building over it. 

St. Michael'1 Church, in the Market Place, is a large building of Anglo· 
Norman architecture, much mutilated. At the west end is a square tower, 
containing three bells, and surfnounted by an iron railing. The north side 
of the church has a row of butchers' shops built -against it; but the cleres­
tory windows are seen aboYe the roofs of them. The east end of the church 
is likewise concealed by buildings. The interior of the edifice is plain. The 
recently appointed incumbent is the Rev. George Arthur Firth. 

St. L«nwrd'1 Church stands on high ground overlooking the lower part of 
the town, and comprises a nave, north aisle, large chancel, and tower, which 
contains a peal of eight bells, and chimef!, and was surmounted by a spire, 
which had been left unfinished, in the shape of a truncated cone. The latter 
was a remarkable specimen of ecclesiastical architecture, which for ages puzzled 
the wayfarer as he viewed ita questionable shape, and ende&Youred to decide 
within himself whether it wa8 a shot tower or a factory chimney. But this 
grotesque appendage, built, as an inscription on its walls complace~~tly pro­
claimed, "since the Reformation," having ezhibi&ed symptoms of decay, was 
taken down in the latter part of the year 181S3. The Rev. Godfrey Pigott 
Cordeaux is the newly-appointed incumbent of thia church. 

There is but one Par~ Houu at preeent for the three churches, and 
that was erected in 1840. The inhabitants of New Malton now bury their 
dead at Old Malton, their own church yard having been receolly closed; but 
it is in contemplation to provide a cemetery for New and Old Malton. 

The Catholic Chapel is & neat but plain brick buildi~g. erected in 18.U, 
by the Rev. R. Gantang. The front presents a gable surmounted by a stone 
croas. The interior is in the Grecian Doric style; tho walls are made into 
fiye divisions by fluted pilasters supporting a moulded frieze. The Sanctuary 
is marked by two large fluted pillars. The altar is 'fery chute and neat, 
with pilasters on e&eh side. There is a small organ in the gailery or tribune 
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at the west end. The Presbytery and School adjoin the chapel on the north 
side. The present pastor is the Hcv. Thomas Middlchurst. On the south 
side of this chapel is the Baptist Chapel, a plain brick building. The lt«U­
pendent Chapel is a good brick building, capable of seating about 700 persons. 
The Unitarian Chapel will seat about 500 hearers. The We.Zeyan Chapel, 
erected in 1811, is a large commodious brick building, capable of accomodating 
up to 1000 persons. The pulpit is handsome, and there is a good organ on 
a tribune behind it. At each side of the chapel is a house belonging to the 
society. The Primiti1'e lrfetlwdi$t Chapel is a large but plain stone building; 
and the Frienth' Meeting Ho~ is very neat but characteristically plain. 

At Old Malton is a Free Grammar School, founded IUld endowed in 1546, 
by Robert Holgate, D.D., Archbishop of York, but the numerous charities of 
this worthy divine, now form the suluect of a suit in Chancery. The Rev. 
William Pound is the present master. At New Mal ton are National Schoou, 
and British Schoou; and a very fine Infant School, erected in 1837. There 
is likewise an excellent Di.spemary, having for its house surgeon Dr. Rogers. 

The Malton Poor Law Union comprehends 68 parishes or townships. The 
Worklwuse was erected in 1735, and was enlarged in 1789. In 1837 it was 
sold to the townships forming the Mo.Iton UniQn, for the sum of £1,382., and 
it has since been enlarged and divided into wards, for the better classification 
of its inmates. 

John Topham, a learned antiquary, whose numerous publications appear 
in the Archmologia, was a native of Malton. He was elected F.S.A. in 1767, 
and F.R.S. in 1779; and died at Cheltenham in 1808. 

About 6 miles W.S.W. of Malton, is situated· Ccutle Howard, the princely 
seat of the Earls of Carlisle. George William Frederick Howard, the 7th 
Earl of Carlisle, of the last creation, is the present Lord Lieutenant and 
General Governor of Ireland, and likewise the Lord Lieutenant and Custos 
Rotulorum of the East Riding of Yorkshire. 

NoRTON.::......This parish forms a suburb of Malton, and as has been obse"ed, 
is now a part of that borough. The parish lies on the south side of the Der­
went, on a portion of the valley of that river, which is of considerable breadth. 
The principal street through the town is formed by the turnpike road from 
York to Scarborough. Here are several excellent houses and good shops. 
The parish includes the hamlets of Sutton and W elham, and contains 2,679 
acres, and 2,315 inhabitants. The soil is light and gravelly, the surface 
level, and the substratum abounds with freestone of good quality. The rate­
able value of the pnrish is £8,767. Norton belongs to many freebolders, the 
c)lief of which are Rt. Bower, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), W. C. Wise, Esq .• 
R. Wise, Esq., J . Parker, Esq., E. Rogerson, Esq., and J. Leslie, Esq. 
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The Hamlet Qj Button, which lies 1 mile E. of Malton, contains about 360 
acres; and the principal residences o.re called Button Houu, the residence of 
Wm. Dunlop, Esq., and Sutt<m Cottage, the residence of the Rev. W. Pound. 

Welham is lt mile S. of 1\falton, and contains about 900 acres, the pro­
perty of Rt. Bower, Esq. This gentleman's seat is here, pleasantly situated 
on a gentle eminence, commanding a delightful view of the vale of the Der­
went. The mo.nsion is large, the lawn is extensive, and the pleasure grounds 
are neat. Opposite the entrance to the grounds is WhitewaU, long noted for 
its training stables, and there are several other training establishments in the 
parish of Norton. Black HiU and PortobeUo are farms in Welham. Among 
the scattered houses in Norton arc Newstead House, the residence of Thom~ 
William Rivis, Esq.; Grove Park, the residence of E. Rogerson, Esq.; Nor­
ton Grange, the residence of H. Walker, Esq.; High.field House, the property 
and residence of Mr. William Wise; o.nd the commodious Paraonage House, 
erected in 1848, by the Rev. E. Day. At the foot of the bridge which con­
nects Norton with Malton, was an Hospital, dedicated to St. Nicholas, which 
was founded in the reign of Henry II., by Roger de Flamvill, o.nd made 
subordinate to the Priory of Malton. 

The Perpetual Ouracy of Norton, now valued at £120. per annum, was 
augmented with £1,500. of Queen A.lme's Bounty and Parliamentary grants 
from 1748 to 1816; and with £200., gi.-en by the Rev. J. Richardson and 
Robert Bower, Esq., in 1811. The Rev. Edmund Day is both patron and 
ineumbent. Tho Chwrch was rebuilt in 1816, at a cost of £2,500., raised by 
subscription, and is a cruciform structure, in the Grecian style, looking like 
anything more than an ecclesiastical edifice. Alien says, that " it has very 
much the appearance of a luno.tic asylum." It is lighted by small windows 
near the roof. The old church was a fine Gothic structu.re with a tower. 
The churchyard has been recently closed as a place of interment, and a new 
cemetery, of very limited area (three roods), has been formed; which, with 
walling, chapel, &c., cost about £400. There is a small Wealeyan Chapel here. 
The NatWnal School was erected in 1880. At the Easter Quarter Sessione 
for the East Riding, in 1855, the magistrates resolved that a new Lock-up 
and Magistrates' Room be erected at Norton. 

RILLINOTON.-This po.rish is situated on the eonfines of the East-Riding, 
and is bounded on the north by the river Derwent, whilst on the south it 

• In the month of November, 1864, a quarry, or brick, 9 inches &qt1111"8 and 3 inches 
thick, was discovered to be raised ROme distance from the adjoining ones, on the tloor of 
a cottage at Nortoo, occupied by Wm. Dawsoo, a aawyer; and on removing the quarry, 
about twenty mushrooms of good quality were found growing thereunder. 

VOL. 11. 4 P 
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just skirts the wold bills. It.tl name evidently originated with the Rill or 
Beck which runs from east to west through the whole parish, and therefore 
without straining the word for a meaning, it is simply Rill-in-town, or, as 
now c.>ntracted, Rillington. In Domesday it ia apelt Redlington. The 
pariah comprises the townships of Rillington and Scampston, the former of 
which contains 2,460 acres, and 953 inhabitants. The soil is generally light. 
The parish is intersected by the York and Scarborough Railway, and the 
rateable value of Rillington is £3,~36., the J.Wlway Company being rated at 
£91'il. The land belongs to many proprietora, and the manorial rights to 
Mra. Elizabeth Swann. The Beru.fice is a Discharged Vicarage, rated at 
£8. 14a. 9id., and now worth £120. per annum. It was augmented with 
£400. of Queen A one's Bounty, in 177 4 and 1804. The patronage is vested 
in the Crown, and the Vicar is the Rev. Thomas Addison. The tithes were 
commuted in 1850, for a rent charge, and the Curacy of Scampston was 

united to this Vico.rage a few yeara ago. The Church (St. Andrew) consists 
of a nave, north aisle, chancel, and embattled tower at the west end. The 
tower, which contains two bells, is surmounted by a handsome octagonal spire 
of stone, which was blown down on the 6th September, 1783, and rebuilt in 
1788; but about six feet of it was again blown down by the violent hurricane 
of January 6th, 1839, and was repaired by subscription, This spire adds 
much to the picturesque scenery of the surrounding district. The windows 
of the .church are chiefly square-beaded. The o.isle and nave are dirided by 
four circular arches, supported by similar columns. Most of the church, 
except the tower, was rebuilt in 1825, the expense being defrayed by a parish 
rate and the proceeds of the sale of the old leaden roof. The font is circular, 
and very ancient. The Vicarage Howe, erected in 1846, is a handsome brick 
building. 

The Vil.laae is of considerable magnitude, and is pleasantly seated in a 
fine fertile district, about 4t miles N.E. of Malton. About half a mile N.W. 
from it is the Rillington Station, on the above-mentioned railway. It is also 
the junction of that railW!lY with the line to Whitby. The Independmt 
Chapel, built in 1818, is a good stone building, In the centre of the ceiling 
is a clock. In connection with the chapel is a Sunday School, and a library 
of 300 volumes, There is a small JVuleyan Ohapel, erected in 1805, and 
also a chapel belonging to the Primitive Methodists. The National Sclwol 
was built in 1847. Wcsijield Howe, the residence and property of John 
Cooper Owston, Esq., was constructed in 1853. The Ma11or HoU8e is in the 
occupation of Mr. Thomas Step hen son; and Low Moor Cottage is the pro-
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perty of Mr. William Harrison. At Low Moor i~ a brick and tile manu­
factory belonging to Mr. Francis Warwick. 

Scampltcm Chapelry.-Area, 2,882 acres; population, 275 .souls; rateable 
nlue, £2,082. In the Norman record tbe name of this place is spelt Sc:a­
meston; and in later documents, Skameston, Skamleston, and Skampeton. 
The St. Quintins, the Lords of Scampeton for centuries, carry back their 
pedigree, as we have observed at pp. 405 and 477, to the Norman Conquest, 
Sir Herbert St. Quintin Knt., being one of the companions in arms of Wm. 
the Conqueror. This Sir Herbert, as we have seen at the last mentioned 
page, obtained large possessions in this district, as his share of the conquest ; 
and his descendants had their chief mansion at Harpham, where are de-

. posited the mortal remains of many of the family for several succeeding 
generations, and where the shields of the principal members are still pre­
served, with their respective dates. Upon glancing at the pedigree of the 
family, we find the chief representatives of it Knights, down to the year 
1641, when William St. Quintin was created a Baronet, by King Charles I.; 
but the baronetcy became ~xtinct on the death of Sir Wm. St. Quintin, without 
issue, in 171)1). This Sir Wm. was succeeded in his estates by his nephew, 
Wm. Thos. Darley, Esq., who assumed the surname and arms of St. Quintin. 
The present representative of the family, Lord of the Manor of Scampston, 
and owner of the soil of the township, is William St. Quintin, Esq. 

Scamp~ton HaU is the beautiful seat of that gentleman. The handsome 
mansion stands in an extensive park, ornamented by a fine sheet· of water, 
which is crossed by a stone bridge, and·supplied by a rivulet running north­
ward to the Derwent. The park is well stocked with deer, and adorned with 
venerable trees and numerous plantations. The house contains an extensive 
library, and a valuable collection of family portraits and other pictures. 

The ViUage of Scamznton is ono of the most rural, the cleanest, and the 
neatest in the district, many of the houses having been rebuilt of late years. 
It stands on the Scarborough road, 6 miles N.E. by E. of :Malton. The old 
Cha~l of Eau, being much dilapidated, a new and beautiful chapel was 
erected in 1845-6, and opened for divine service on the 1st of April, 1846. 
The entire cost of the building was defrayed by the Lord of the Manor, who 
also purchased and presented a good organ, and a handsome new communion 
service. The cost of the building is said to be about £2,000. This beautiful 
little fabric, which is in the Early Decorated style of pointed architecture, is 
built of hammer dressed stone from the Hildenley quarry, near Castle 
Howard, and comprises a nave with side aisles and south porch, a chancel 
with a south door, and a vestry on the north side. The west end of the nave 
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is surmounted with an open bell turret, containing two bells. The high 
pitched roof is covered with W estmorland slates, and the eastern gables of 
the nave and chancel are crowned with stone crosses. The interior is ex­
ceedingly neat. The nave is divided from the aisles by four pointed arches 
on each side, resting on circular columns. The open seats, and other furni­
ture, are of oak, and the roof is open to the ridge tree. The floor of the 
chancel is laid with encaustic tiles diamond-wise, with black borders, and has 
a rich effect. Two elegantly carved oak chairs are placed near the commu­
nion table, and on the south side are two stone sedilia. The east window is 
filled with stained glass by W ailes ; the centre compartment exhibiting a 
figure of our Lord. All the other \Vindows are of ground glass, edged with 
purple. The font is octangular, and surmounted by a richly carved oak 
cover. The architectfor this church was Mr. G. T. Andrews, of York; Mr. 
Lovel, of Knapton, the stonemason ; and Mr. Nelson, of Malton, the joiner. 
The oak carving was executed by Mr. Wolstenholme, of York. The organ 
was built by Mr. Posthill, of the same city. The Perpetual Curacy, now 
united to the Vicarage of Rillington, was augmented with £1,200. of Queen 
Anne's Bounty, from li66 to 11:!20, and is now valued at £59. per annum. 
The tithes were commuted in 1849, for a rent charge. The School is sup­
ported by the Lord of the Manor. 

Scampston Lodge is the residence of Mr. John Hodgson, agricultural im­
plement and machine maker; Watk Cottage ·is in the occupation of 1\fr. 
Joseph Stephenson, fanner; Low Farm is held by Mr. Richard Topl1am; 
Low Ground&, by Mrs. Ann and Mr. James Tindall; and llfiddk Form, by 
Mr. John Tindall. Two other farms are occupied by Messrs. Isaac Hickes 
and Christopber Mook. 

ScRAYINOHAM.-This parish comprises the townships of Scrayingham, 
Howsham,, and Leppington, containing altogether 4,689 acres, and 4.66 
persons. Assessed property, £7,659. Area of Scrayingham, 1,4.70 acres; 
population, 158 souls; rateable value, £1,834. The parish was anciently 
cd\led Skeringham, and is bounded on the west by the river Derweut. Henry 
B. Darley, Esq., is Lord of the Manor and principal landowner. The Living 
is a Rectory with the Curacy of Leppington, rated at £21. lls. 10d., and 
returned at £661. Patron, the Cro,vn; Rector, Rev. W. F. Douglas. At 
the enclosure of Scrayingbam, land \vas allotted in lieu of tithes. The Ol&Urch 
(St. Peter) was restored, and partly rebuilt in 1853, and consists of a nave, 
south aisle, and chancel, with a bell turret containing two bells, at the west 
end. The style is Gothic. The &ct"ry Hou&e has been enlarged and im­
proved by the present Rector. 
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The Vill4g4 is situated 9 miles N.W. by N. of Pocklington.* The Sclwol, 
a neat building, erected in 1858, is partly supported by subscription. 

H(nl)akam T(nl)mhip contains 2,056 acres, and 194 persons; amount of 
assessed property, £2,690. The lords of the ma.uor and chief proprietors of 
the soil are Col. Cholmley, and Col. Norcliffe. The hamlet is small, and 
stands 7 miles S.W. of Malton. H(nJ)IMm HaU, the seat of Col. Cholmley, 
is a large handsome mansion in the Elizabethan style, situated on a gently 
rising ground in the beautiful valley of the Derwent. A considerable part of 
the stone used in the erection of the house is said to have been brought from 
the ruins of Kirkham Priory, which stood nearly three miles north of Rows­
ham. The grounds are rich in plantations, and beautiful views of the vale. 
The School is chiefly supported by Mrs. Cholmley. 

Leppingto_" Towmhip.-Area, 1,168 acres; population, 114 inhabitants. 
The place is now the property and manor of Earl de Grey. The Carey family 
formerly possessed a castellated mansion here, and a member of it was created 
Baron Carey, of Leppington, in 1622, but the title became extinct about the 
period of the Restoration of Charles IT. Gypsum is obtained near the Der­
went; and about eighteen inches below the surface, here, is a stratum of 
petrified shells and other marine productions, four inches in thickness, though 
at a considerable height above the level of the sea. Many Roman coins have 
been found in the neighbourhood. 

The VilUJge is small, and stands on high ground 9 miles S. of Malton. 
Here is a Chapel of Ea~e to the church at Scrayingham ; a mean brick 
building consisting of a nave and chancel, with a bell turret containing two 
bells. There is likewise a place of worship for Methodists. 

SETTRUiGTON.-Tbe townships of Settrington and Scagglethorpe are com­
prised in this parish. The former covers an area of 4,830 acres, of the rate­
able value of £5,045.; and the population is 550 souls. The real property 
of the parish was assessed, in 1815, at £8,900. The parish is intersected 
by the railways from York to Scarborough, and from Malton to Driffield. 
The Lord of the Manor and principal proprietor is Henry Willoughby, Esq., 
to whose father the estate was bequeathed by the late Lord Middleton, who 

• A short distance from this village, but on the west bank of the Derwent, in the 
North Riding, is .dldby Park, the splendid seat of Henry B. Darley, Esq., erected in 
1 i26. .duldby, or .J.ldby, is supposed to be the site of a Roman military station, as well 
as that of ooo of the swnmer residences for the Saxoo Kjngs of Northumbria, nt a Inter 
period. (See vol. i., p. 83.) In Camden's time the remains of an old castle were visible 
on the summit of the hill, near the river. Many coins have been dug up here at dif. 
ferent periods. 
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had purchased it of the Sykes family of Sledmere, to whom it was brought by 
the marriage of the heiress of the family of .Masterman, with Sir .Mark 
Masterman Sykes, who died in 1828. Sir Mark occasionally resided at the 
Hall, and his Lady, Henrietta Maaterman Sykes, who died in 1818, rebuilt 
the greater part of tho village. 

Settrington gave the title of Baron, to Lodowick, son of Esme Stuart, 
Duke of Lenox, a descendant of Matthew, Earl of Lenox, grandfather of 
King James I., who coming to the Crown of England, advanced this Lodo­
wick to the honour of a Baron of this realm, by the style and title of Baron 
Settrington of Settrington, and Earl of Richmond. He died without issue 
in 1624; and though the title of Richmond passed to his kindred, this of 
Settrington became extinct, till it was revived by Charles II., who conferred 
the honour of Baron of Settrington and Duke of Richmond upon one of his 
natural sons; and it is still one of the inferior titles of the Duke of Richmond. 

The Benefice is a Rectory, valued in the Liber Regis at £42. 12s. 6d., and 
now at £1,045. per ann. The patronage is vested in Earl Browlow, and 
the present Rector is the Rev. Charles 1\laitland Long, Archdeacon of the 
EMt Riding. The tithes were commuted at the enclosure in 1797, for about 
1,000 acres of land, and the tithes of Scagglethorpe amount to .£120. per ann. 

The Church (St. Michael) is a handsome structure, in the later English 
style, and was restored in 1823. It consists of the usual parts of a Yillage 
church. The tower contains three bells, and is embattled: the parapet being 
richly adorned with trefoil panels, shields of arms, &:c. The interior is well 
fitted up. The nave is separated from the aisles by four pointed arches on 
each side, resting on circular columns. The east and west windows of the 
church are filled with stained glass. The foot is square, with a dwarf 
column at each angle. The RectcnJ Houu is a large residence, with pleasure 
grounds and extensive offices. 

The ViUage is handsome and well built, and picturesquely situated in tbe 
narrow vale of a rivulet at the foot of the Wolds, 4 miles E.S.E. of Malton. 
Here is an elm tree, the trunk of which is eight yards in girth. The School 
was erected in 1852, by tho Lord of tbo Manor and the Rector, and is a good 
stone building. It is chiefly supported by these gentlemen, and is both well 
attended and conducted. 

Settri11!Jton Hall is the occasional residence of H. Willoughby Esq. It is 
a large mansion of white stone, very elegantly fitted up; and on the stair­
cnsc is a fine piece of stained glass representing the meeting of !sane o.nd 
R.cbecca. The park is extensive, well wooded, and romantic, and well shel­
tered from the north winds by the Wolds. 
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lV ood H(}IU~ is in the occupation of 1\lr. John Fisher, farmer; Grov~ 

Hoou in that of Mr. Wm. Dixon; Whinflower Hall is the residence of Mr. 
Wm. Johnson; and there are likewise the scattered farms of Norton Park, 
Wordal8, Th6 Grang~. Marr HottU, Beck Houu, &c.; another farm is held 
by Mr. John Dunn. 

In 1753 Christopher Topham left 32t acres of land at Aysgarth and Carl­
ton, the rents to be employed in apprenticing poor children of Settrington, 
Long Marston, and Baildon. The poor have 15s. a year out of the manor of 
Settrington, called " the Lady's Dole," but the donor is unknown. 

Scaggktlwrpe, or Scoggkthorpe, T01L'tl8hip contains 1,210 acres, and a 
population of 275 souls. Its rateable value is .£1,722. It is bounded on the 
north by the river Derwent. The soil runs through several varieties between 
a strong clay and a sandy loam. The land belongs to Yarburgh Yarburgh, 
Esq., Messrs. E. W. Fryer, E. Donkin, C. Charlesworth, J. Walker, R. 
Wise, and some smaller owners. 

The Village, which stands 3 miles E . by N. of Malton, is seated upon a 
slope, commanding extensive views towards the south-west. The School was 
erected in 1844, by tho late Rector, and is supported by the present Rector. 
The tithes were commuted for 48 acres of land, and a modus of .£60. a year, 
in 1725. A W uU!yan 0/,apel was built here in 1826. The Grange is in the 
occupation of Mr. Edward Brand, farmer; and Mr. Robert Cundill, Mrs. 
Elizabeth Thompson, and other farmers reside in the villg,ge. 

SaERBUnN.-This parish is situated on the northern extremity of the East 
Riding, the Derwent forming part of its northern boundary, and contains 
4,630 acres, and 656 persons; rateable value, .£3,587.; assessed property, 
.£3,461. The land is chiefly the property of Lord Downe, the Lord of the 
Manor. The Living is a Disoharged Vicarage, in the patronage of Sir G. 
Strickland, and incumbency of the Rev. John Mason. It is rated in the 
King's Books at .£6. Os. 2td., and now returned at .£120. per ann. Tithes 
commuted in 1849. The Church (St. Hilda) is an ancient structure, con­
sisting of a body, chancel, and tower. The chancel arch is bold and semi­
circular, probably early Norman; and there is an ancient circular font, as 
well as some fragments of stained glass in one of the windows. The tower 
contains two bells. The Vicarage HottU is a neat commodious residence. 

The J'illag~ is considerable, and stands 11 miles E.N.E. of Malton. Hu­
man remains bavo been frequently discovered in a large tumulus on the south 
side of it, and about half a mile northwards is a Station on the York and 
Scarborough Railway. Fairs, for the sale of horses, flax, &o., were formerly 
held here, on the 25th March and 29th September. The School is partl1 
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supported by the Lord of the Manor. A Wuleyan Chapel was erected here 
in 1813. There is a Breu:ery here, belonging to Mr. William Rivis, and also 
flour mills worked by steam, wind, and water. The Manor House, now the 
homestead of a farmer, was rebuilt in 1850. Sherburn Cottage is in the 
occupation of Mr. Ralph Penrose, farmer; W uljield House, in that of .Mr. 
Geo. Lawson; and Wold Cottage is tl1c residence of Mr. Richard Anderson. 
Another good fann house, in the village, is occupied by Mr. J . Lamplough. 
The Churc/, LAnd (SA.. OR. SOP.) 11·as received in exchange, at the enclosure, 
for other land which had belonged to the church from time immemorial. 
The poor have the interest of £25., left by Thomas Buttery; and of £2. 2s., 
bequeathed by the Rev. James Nelson. 

SXIRPESBECK.-Area, 1,560 acres; population, 190 souls; assessed pro­
perty, £2,135. It belongs to the manor of Buttercrambe-cum-Aldby and 
Skirpenbeck, of which H. B . Darley, Esq., is lord, and principal proprietor 
of the soil. A beck, from which the place derives its name, runs through 
the lands, from east to west, into the Derwent. 

The Livi11!J is a Rectory, rated at £14. 7s. 8td., and returned at £232. 
Patron, the Crown; Rector, Rev. Mitford Bullock. The tithes have been 
commuted, at the enclosure in 1758, for 135 acres of land, and a money pay­
ment. The Church is a small but ancient edifice, consisting of a nave, 
chance], south porch, and west tower of brick, containing two bells. The 
chancel contains the piscina, and a monument to a member of the Paget 
family, dated 1636, and exhibiting half length effigies of a man, with his wife 
~W.d children. The font is ancient and circular, and there is a small organ. 
The &ctory HotUe was erected in 1841. 

The ViUage lies 6t miles N.W. of Pocklington. The School is supported 
by subscription. On the north side of the church are extensive rema.ins of 
entrenchments, supposed to have been tl1rown up at the time of the battle of 
Stamford Bridge. (See vol. i., page 105.) 

SLEDMEBE.-This was anciently the lordship of Henry Lord Soroope, of 
Bolton, for which and for some other estates, he procured a charter of free 
warren in the demesne lands thereof, in the 14th of Edward II. (1321.) 
But the Slcdmere estate has long been in the possession of the Sykes family. 
The Rev. Mark Sykes, D.D., son of Rd. Sykes, Esq., a merchant of Hull, 
and grandson of Daniel Sykes, Esq., who twice filled the office of Mayor 
of Hull, was created a Baronet on the 28th of March, 1783. Sir Christo­
pher Sykes, the second Baronet, married Elizabeth, the daughter of Wm. 
Tattoo, Esq., of Whithemshaw, Cheshire, and died in 1801. He was suc­
ceeded by his son Sir Mark, who married firstly, Henrietta, the daughter and 
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heiress of Henry Mastcrman, of Scttrington, Esq., upon which occasion -ho 
took the surname of Masterman in addition to, and before that of Sykes. 
This lady died in 1813, and Sir Mark married secondly, Mary Elizabeth, 
sister of Wm. Egerton, Esq., of Tattoo Park, Cheshire. He died in 1823, 
and was succeeded by his brother Sir Tattoo, the fourth and present Baronet, 
and Lord of the Manor. Sir Tattoo Syk<'s was born in 1772; and married 
in 1822, the second daughter of the late Sir Wm. Foulis, Bart., of lngleby 
Manor, &c. His son, Tattoo, born at Westow, in 1826, is his heir. 

The area of Sledmere is 6,650 acres, and it contains 4.37 inhabitants, in­
cluding the hamlet of Croom. The real property of the parish was assessed 
in 1815, at £6,540. The name of the place appears to be derived from the 
situation of the village. Low places, or excavations, are called Slade& in 
some parts of Holderness. 

The Church was originally a chapel in the parish of Kirby Grindalythe, 
and appropriated with it to the Priory of Kirkbam. The Lit:ing is now a 
Perpetual Curacy, in the patronage of the Lord of the Manor, and incum­
bency of the Rev. Thomas Bowstead. It was augmented with £600. of 
Queen Anne's Bounty, from 17 41 to 1811, and its present value is not re­
turned. The Edijiu (St. Mary) stands in the park of Sir Tatton Sykcs, ao4 
comprises a nave, chancel, and west tower. The latter contains three bells. 
The east end is finished with a pediment, ~s is also a projection at the 
junction of the nave and chancel. The interior is neat, and contains some 
elegant monuments to the Sykes family; one of which is a pyramidical tablet 
and a basso relievo of a female reclining in deep grief on a shattered column, 
consecrated to the memory of Sir Mark Masterman Sykes, Bart., by Mary 
Elizabeth, his widow. This is from the chisel of R. Bacon R.A. Another 
is inscribed to Dame Henrictta Mast.erman, first wife of the above, and 
daughter of Henry Masterman, Esq. 

The Village is agreeably situated at the foot of a declivity of the Wolds, 
on the road from York to Bridlington, and at its junction with the Malton 
and Driffield road, about 7t miles N.W. of Driffield, and 12 S.E. from 
Malton. The land in the neighbourhood rises in bold acclivities, on which 
are numerous plantations of beech, ash, fir, larch, &c., planted by the late 
Sir Christopher Sykes. Many scattered farm houses are picturesquely situ­
ated on woody acclivities, and have a very villa-like appearance. 

The School, which is chie8y supported by the Lord of the Manor, is held 
in the Parsonage House. 

SkdmertJ Houu, the seat of Sir Tattoo Sykes, Bart., is a spacious and 
elegant mansion of stone, erected by, and from the designs of Sir Chris· 
n~~ 4Q 
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tophcr Sykes, the father of the present Baronet. The south front is very 
elegant, and the interior is finished in a superior style of excellence. The 
library, which is 100 feet in length, is a splendid apartment. The late Sir 
Mark M. Sykes, who was a liberal patron of learning and the fine arts, pos­

sessed a valuable library, collected by himself, which was sold after his death, 
in 18~8. for nearly .£10,000. This beautiful seat is delightfully situated in 
an extensive park, well stocked with deer, and surrounded by thriving plan­
tations, pleasure grounds, green and hot houses, &c. On the cast side of 
the park is a modem house, with two octagonal towers, called SWmere 
Ca1tlt. The poor have the interest of £100., late navy five per cents., and 
two other small bequests. 

TuoarE-DASSETT.-The area of this parish is 1,iU~ acres; population, 
207 souls; rateable value, £2,140. ; assessed property, £1,6-18. The place 
belongs chiefly to Sir George Strick.lnnd (Lord of the Manor) John Dunlop, 
John C. Owston, T. Hague, and W. St. Quintin, Esqrs. The Litting ia a 
Discharged Rectory, in the gift of Earl Fitzwilliam, and incumbency of the 
Rev. G. W. Wrangham. It is rated at £12., and returned at £828. per ann. 
The tithes were commuted for a rent charge of £810. The Church (All 
Saints) is a small ancient structure, having a nave and chancel, the side 
aisles having been removed many years ago. The interior is plain. In the 
eo.st window is a mutilated painting (on glass) of the Crucifixion, together 
,vith some shields of arms. The font is circular. 

The &ctOMJ llome is a small building, occupied by a cottsger. 
The J'iUage is neat, and contains some good houses, situated about -1 miles 

E. by N. of Malton. Ba~tt Ilo11.1e is the residence of Mr. T. K. Mawc, 
and there arc some scattered farms, in the occurntion of Mr. Chas. Owston, 
Mr. William Topham, &c. 

The School is endowed with .£200. five per cent. stock, bequeathed by the 
Rov. Jns. Graves, in 180·1. A Wesleyan Chapel was erected hero in 18-15. 

WEAYERTBonrE.-This parish includes two townships, viz., Weaverthorpe 
and Lutton-Ambo. Area of the whole 5,100 acres; population, 1,1106 souls; 
amount of assessed property, £5,012. The Township of Wta.,erth~ con­
tains 2,!170 acres, and fUO inhabitants; rateable value, £1,802. Sir Tatton 
Sykcs (Lord of tho Manor), Sir Georgo Strickland, and Lord Downe, are the 
principal landowners, and the manor is in the paramount jurisdiction of Lord 
Londesborough 's manor of Londesborough. 

The Liviny is a Vicarage, in the patronage of the Dean and Chapter of 
York, who are also the impropriators, rated at £9. Os. Otd., and now worth 
.£108. per annum. All tho tithes of the parish were commuted for land, at 
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the enclosure in 1801. The parishioners of Jlelperthorpe bury here, and 
pny one quarter of the church rntes. Both vicarnges are held by the Rev. 
Samuel Henry Duutze. Sir G. Strickland is lessee of the impropriate tithes. 

The Church (All Saints) stands ou tbe brow of a hill, and consists of a 
nave, chancel, and lofty west tower, of Norman architecture. The interior 
is plain; the chancel arch is circular, and very good ; and the font is ancient 
and circular. Over the porch door is the mutilated monumental effigy of a 
female, which has been removed from the church, and is made fast in its 
present position by iron braces. The tower contains three bells. 

The ViUage, which is scattered but well built, is pleasantly seated in a 
valley of the Wolds, 10 miles N.N.W. of Great Driffield, and 12 E. of Mal­
ton. The Sclwol was erected in 1848, by Sir Tatton Sykes, and is chiefly 
supported by that nobleman. The Wesleyans have a chapel here, which was 
erected in 1814, and the Primitive Methodists, one that was built in 1841. 

Amoog the scattered farm houses and fanns are Dotterill Cottage, in the 
occupation of Mr. Grantbam Quickfall; Ro38 Cottage, in thnt of Mr. Wm. 
Cranswick; Grove Home, of Mr. Thomas Langhom; Weavertlwrye Paature, 
of Mr. James Marshall; Weat•erthorye Ling, of Mr. John Smith; and 1\Cotntt 
Spaniard, of Mr. Thos. Smith, but there are several other good fann houses. 

Luttons-Ambo T011m1hip contains 2,130 acres, and 426 persons; rateable 
mlue, £~,072. ; assessed property, £2,262. The township comprises two 
manors, called East and West Lutton, and the principal owners of the soil 
are Thomas Ness, Esq. (Lord of the Manor of East Lutton), Thomas John 
Bell, Esq. (Lord of the Manor of West Lutton), Thomas Mitchelson, Esq., 
Sir George Strickland, and the Rev. H. Jennings. 

The V iUage of Eut Lutton stands 2 miles, and that of lV eat Lutwn 3 miles 
W.S.W. of Weaverthorpe. In the latter hamlet is a small ancient Chapel of 
ECU6, consisting of a nave and chancel, and a wooden belfry. A church 
appears to have been erected here so early as the reign of King Stephen. 
The School is supported by subscription. A Methodiat Ch4pel was erected 
here in 1817, and a Primitive }[ethodiat Chapel in 1848. The Manor Home, 
near the east end of the church, is in the occupation of Mr. George Wray. 
A good fann house in the village, is the residence of Mr. George Fox. 

WEsTow.-This parish, which is bounded on the north and west by tho 
river Derwent, comprises the four townships noticed hereafter, and contains 
altogether ~,017 acres, e.nd 50~ inhabitants, SOO of whom belong to Westow 
township. George Saville Foljambc, Esq., is Lord of the Mnnor and owner 
of a great part of the soil, as well as lessee of the appropriator, the Arch­
bishop of York. Joshua Field, Esq., aud T. Wells, Esq., are also consider-
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able laudowners here. The surface is undulated and the scenery pleasingly 
nried; limestone is quarried for building, and for burning into lime. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in the gift of the Archbishop of, 
York, .and Incumbency of the Rev. William Taylor Wild. It is ·rated at 
£4. 18s. 4d., and returned at £178. per annum. The tithes of the parish 
were commuted in 1842, for £689. Us. 6d., viz., the rectorial for £578., and 
the vicarial for £114. lls. 6d. There are 88 acres of glebe land. 

The Church (St. Mary) is an ancient structure, repaired in 1821-2, and 
consisting of a nave, chancel, and tower. The latter is embatttled, and con­
buns three bells. The interior is neat. 

The YiUag4 contains several good houses, and stands on an eminence 5i 
miles S. of Malton. The School was rebuilt in 1889, and is endowed with 
the interest of £50., left. by Mrs. Elizabeth Sugar, in 1788; and the interest 
of £20., left by Heury Bolton, subject to the cost of repairing his tombstone. 

Wutow HaU is an ancient mansion, formerly a seat of one branch of the 
family of Idle, but now the residence of .Mr. Thomas Donkin. There are 
three or four farm houses here, called Grangu, one of \Thich is in the occu­
pation of Mr. Cundill; and another, now the residence of Mr. Lotherington, 
being formerly covered with thatch, was burnt by lightning, July loth, 1887. 
The poor have the dividends of £225., three per cent. reduced annuities, 
purchased in 1766 with £198. os. 7d., bequeathed by Francis Idle. 

Eddl8thorpe Towtuhip contains about 690 acres in two farms, and a popu­
lation of 49 persons, The land belongs to Sir T. Sykes and Col. Norcliffe, 
Rateable value, £636. The Haml8t is situated 2 miles N.E. of Westow. 
IIere are the training and hunting stables, and kennels, of Sir T. Sykes. 

Firby Town1hip is pleasantly situated, about 1 mile N.W. of Westow. It 
contains about 480 acres of land, the property of E. C. Taylor, Esq., in rigl1t. 
of his wife, the daughter and heiress of the late owner, the Rev. Thomas 
Harrison, who died in 1848, and of Mrs. Anna Harrison, of Firby Hall. 
The land is in two farms, held by Mrs. Hannah Wilson and Mr. Christopher 
Wilson, and its rateable value is £597. Population, 43 souls. 

Firby Hall is a neat mansion, on a gentle acclh·ity, encompassed by well­
wooded grounds, on the east side of the Dcrwent. 

'Mennethorps Towmhip.-Area about 560 acres; population, llO persons: 
rateable value, £821. F. J. S. Foljambe, Esq., is Lord of the Manor and 
principal landowner. The York and Scarborough Railway passes through 
the township. The Hamlet is ancient and secluded, and lies in the narrow 
dale of a small but rapid strt:am, near its confluence with the Derwent, nt 
Lay-Siks-Ferry, about 3 miles S.W. of :Malton. A very ancient water mill, 
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worked by the above-mentioned stream, was rebuilt in 1825, and is occupied 
by Mr. William Ward. Cartluzgena is the name given to a lone farm house 
here, built in 1754, and in the occupation of Mrs. Janc Revis. 

WETWANG.-This parish now belongs to the Bainton Beacon division of 
the Wapentake vf Harthill. It has two townships, W etwang and Fimber, of 
which the former contains 3,900 acres, and 571 inhabitants. RRteable value 
£2,681.; assessed property, £2,573. The chief proprietors of the soil are 
Sir T. Sykes, (Lord of the Manor), Thos. Wilberfoss, Esq., and Messrs. John 
Elgey, and John Robson. The Ben~e is a Discharged Vicarage, with the 
Curacy of Fimber, formerly in the patronage of the Prebendary of Wetwang, 
in the Cathedral of York, but now, under the Cathedral Act, in that of the 
Archbishop of York. It is rated in the King's Books, at £9. is. Bid., but 
now worth £220., per annum, and is enjoyed by the Rev. John Matthews. 
The tithes were commuted for land, in 1803. The Church. (St. Michael) is a 
low ancient edifice, but was thoroughly repaired in 1845-6. Its parts are a 
nave, north aisle, north transept, chancel, south porch, and west tower, in 
which are two bells. The interior is qeat; the body anfl aisle are divided 
by five pointed arches with circular pillars. The pulpit is of stone, and vf!ry 
handsome, and the ancient circular font is fixed upon a new base. In the 
chancel is a tablet to the Wilberfoss family, and another to the Rev. Row land 
Craxton, who died in 1833, after having been 45 years Vicar of this parish. 

The Villag1, which is large and well-built, is seated on the W olds, about U 
miles W. by N. of Driffield, and a quarter of a mileS. of the Wetwang Sta­
tion, on the Malton and Drifficld Railway. The Scl•ool8, which are well 
conducted on the National system, are chiefly supported by Sir T. Sykes, by 
whom the buildings in which they are held was erected in 1843. The 
We1leyall Chapel was built in 1812, and the Primitit'l Msthodilt Chapel in 
18!l4. Wetwang Ilouu, the seat of T. Wilberfoss, Esq., is a good mansion. 
Rocklanch is the name given to a neat residence erected in 1853, by E. H. 
Clement&, Esq., surgeon. Holmji1ld is in the occupation of Mr. Wm. Elgey, 
son of the owner of the farm. 

Fimber Ch.apelry.-Area, 1840 acres; population, 179 persons; rateable 
value, £1,836.; assessed property, £1,940. Sir Tattoo Sykes is Lord of the 
Manor, and chief owner of the land, but the Rev. Matthew WelbourQ, and 
Mr. Robt. T. Horsley, have small estates here. The township lies mostly 
in a deep vale of the Wolda, o£ which, the picturesque acclivities rise ab­
ruptly from two large lakes. 

The Villag1 is situated 8t miles W.N.W. of Driffield, and 2t N.W. of 
\Vctwang, and contains a few good farm houses, occupif!d by Messrs. Mor· 
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timer, Cooper, &c. The Cluzpcl-of-Ea~e is a small ancient building, standing 
on an eminence. The Curacy is annexed to Wetwang. The tithes were 
commuted in 1803. 

The Wcsleyans and Primitive MethodiatB have small placetJ of worship 
here ; and there is a small Sclwol, which was established, and is supported 
by Lady Sykes. Among the scattered farms are Gatrtalack, now in the 
occupation of Mr. John Witty; Fimber Field, in that of Mr. Rd. Horsley; 

. the GraruJe, of Mr. J. Clarke; and Fimber Leng, or Ling, is held by Mr. 
Richard Anderson. 

WuABRA:Il-PEBCY.-Besides the township of Wharram-Percy, this parish 
contains three other townships, noticed below; the area and population of 
the whole being 9,017 acres and 686 BOuls: of which Wharram-Percy con­
tains 1,.100 acres, and 171 inhabitants. The place, which is situated 8 miles 
S.E. of Malton, consists chiefly of two farm houses, called Wharram Pwcy 
llotue and Bella Houu, the former in the occupation of Mr. Wm. 8. Goft.on, 
and tbo latter of Mrs. Jano Monkman. The whole of the land belongs to 
Henry Willoughby, Esq. The mtcable value of the township is £1,290. 
The Malton and Driffiold lino of Raih\'ay is carried along the Whnrram 
V nlley by very heavy earth works. The ground in this vale is of a very 
treacherous character for such works, and in one embankment alone, during 
the formation of the line, solid blocks of limestone rubble were tipped for 
upwards of six \\'oeks at o. time, without the embankment itself being ad· 
vanced a yard. No less a quantity of rock than some 50,000 or 60,000 tons 
were swallowed up at this place. At Wharram-le-Strcet there is, on this 
lino, a beautiful wooden viaduct, 200 yards long, having twelve openings of 
20 feet each, and eight of -10 feet each. Its height is about 30 feet, and it 
is entirely supported on piles of great length. 

The Liring is a Discharged Vicarage, united with that of Wharram-in-tbe­
Strect, rated at £11. 13s. 4d., and returned at £185. per annum. Patron, 
H. Willoughby, Esq.; Vicar, Rev. Robcrt Ellis. The Church stands in a 
deep, lonely, and narrow dell, and is an ancient structure, having a nave and 
chancel, and an embattled tower, partly of Norman architecture. The 
church formerly had aisles, and '"as thoroughly repaired in 1829. It is in 
contemplation to take it down and build a now church at Thixendo.le, in a 
more central position for the parishioners. From foundations discevered in 
tho neighbourhood of the church, it appears evident that a village of some 
extent formerly stood there. 

Rai11thory>o and JJirdaU, or Bt1rdale, 1'otrmhip compriS<'s 2,130 acres, au,l 
ltl7 inhabitants, nllll is situated 0 miles S.E. of .Mal.tou. The township is 

o tzoobyGoogle 



BCCKROS£ W.ll'E~TAK£. 671 

in two farms, and its rateable value is £1,305. Raisilwrpe Houu and farm 
is the property of Thomas Bentley Locke, Esq., of Hesslo Mount, and in tho 
occupation of Mr. John Jewison, farmer. Burdal8 IIouu and farm belongs 
to H. Willoughby, Esq., and is held by Mr. John North. It has a rabbit 
warren of 400 acres. Hero is Durdalo Tunnel, on the Malton and Driffield 
Raihvay, which is allowed to be one of tho best specimens of engineering 
skill in the kingdom. It is 1,77 4 yards in length, and is neariy all con­
structed of brick work, in cement. It runs for a considerable distance 
through the blue shale, or Kimmeridge clay, and then gets into the chalk; 
it was driven from sight shafts, ~o deepest of which was 800 feet deep; and 
three of these shafts are permanently bricked, and kept open for the purpose 
of ventilation. Burdale Station, on this railway, is situated in ono of the 
most remarkable of all the chalk valleys of the W olds. 

Thirendale, or Thikerulal4 TounuMp.-Area, 8,607 acres; population, 266 
souls; rateable value, £1,834 . Sir Tatton Sykes is Lord of the Manor and 
principal landowner; but James Hall, Esq., and the Messrs. Seymour, of 
York, have estates here. The place is supposed to have had its name from 
its being the junction of sixteen narrow dales; and it was the seat of John 
de Serevaux, one of the representatives of the city of York, in the 28th of 
Edward I. (1800.) The township is exceedingly 'vild aud picturesque. 

The Yillage is snugly sented in a dale surrounded by hills, about 8! miles 
S.S.E. from Malton, and 8 8. of Wbarram-Perey. The School was erected 
in 1840, by Sir T. Sykes, and is supported by Lady Sykes. A Wuleyan 
Clwpel was built hero in 1837. The Marwr Ho rue, occupied by Mr. William 
Duttle, was erected near tho sito of an old one, in 1848. Dradham and 
Pluckham are the names given to two farms here. The Granue Farm is held 
by Mr. John Richardson; the Grem Farm, by Mr. Robert Grecnshaw; the 
Gilh Fartn, by Mr. Francis Cooke; and the Riggs, by Messrs. R. and J. 
Buttle. In a field on the latter farm, called Howe Field, aro two large har­
rows, which were opened in 1844, by the Yorkshire Antiquarian Club, when 
a British vase of sun dried clay was discovered, deposited in a sort of circular 
pavement of chalk stone; and other indications of the mode of sepulturo 
practised by the ancient Celtic inhabitants of the country. The urn, together 
with a remarkably fine eelt of bronze, which was turned up hero in plough­
ing, ainee the period of the mitation of the Club, are now in the Museum 
of the Yorkshire Philosophical Society at York. 

Tmothol'fH ToWJuhip belongs toY. Yarburgh, Esq., and comprises 1,700 
acres, and 61 inhabitants. It consists of three cottages, called Hiyll Tuu:­
tlwrpe, and a large old mansion, now dhidcd into two farm houses, and is 
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situated 8 miles S.E. of Wharram-Percy. The place is said to have for­
merly bad a village, which was destroyed by fire, and to have been the seat 
of the ancient family of Ugbtred. 

WHARRA¥-LE·STREET, or WT,arram·i11-tl.e-Street.-Tbe area of this parish 
is 2,024 acres, of the rateable value of £1,608.; its population is 131 souls; 
Amount of assessed property, £1,922. The whole parish belongs to H. 
Willougbby, Esq., the Lord of the Manor. The Living is a Discharged 
Vicarage, in the gift of the impropriator, the Lord of the Manor, and Incum­
bency of the Rev. Rt. Ellis. It is rated at £6., was augmented with £400. 
of Queen Aone's Bounty, in 1773 and 1788, and is now returned at £185. 
per annum, including Wharram-Percy. The Church (St Mary) comprises a 
nave, with a north aisle, and south porch, a chancel, and west tower. At 
the west end of the aisle is a vestry, erected about twenty years ago, by the 
late Lord Middleton. The interior of the church is plain ; the font is ancient. 

The Village, which is small, is seated on the acclivities of a valley, near 
several springs, which give rise to two rivulets, one running east, and the 
other west. It is distant 6t miles, S.E. of Malton. In the village are two 
farm-houses, occupied by Mr. Wm. Boys, and Mr. G. P. Harrison; -and the 
Grange Farm is held by Mr. George Fletcher. For some particulars of the 
Railway, see the foregoing parish ofWharram-Percy. 

WINTRINOHA.11.-The township of Wintringham with Linton and Newton, 
and the chapelry of Knapton, are included in this parish. The area of the 
township is 5,740 acres, and its population 335 persons. Rateable value, 
£4,571.; assessed property, £5,018. With the exception of the large farm 
of Linton, the land is exclusively the property of Sir George Strickland, who 
is Lord of the Manor. The soil, near the rivar Derwent, is clay alternated 
with sand ; and towards the south the land rises into W olds of fertile and 
chalky soil. The surface is diversified with numerous small streams. 

The Lifli"!} is a donative, in the patronage of Sir G. Strickland, the impro­
priator; and the present incumbent is the Rev. Thos. Addison, whose stipend 
from the impropriator, is 6s. 8d. every Sunday. The Church (St. Peter) was 
given by Eustace Fitz.John, to his Priory at Malton. It is a fine Gothic 
structure, comprising the usual parts of a parish church. The tower contains 
three bells, and is surmounted by a handsome spire. The interior is neatly 
fitted up; the nave and chancel are separated by an old oak screen, and the 
east ends of the aisles, formerly chapels, are partitioned off from the rest of 
the edifice by similar screen work. Some of the windows contain fragments 
of stained glass. 

The ViUo1Je is situated 6 miles E. by N. of Malton. The School is sup-
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ported by subscription. The Wul8yan Chaptl was erected in 1884. The 
Manor Houu, an ancient farm house in the village, is in the occupation of 
Mr. Timothy Oliver. 

Newton HoiU8, a neat mansion, situated in a well-wooded lawn, is the 
occasional residence of Sir G. Strickland, whose chief seat is Boynton Hall. 

Linton farm, hamlet., or grange, belongs to Sir Tattoo Sykes, and is in 
the occupation of Mr. John Pinder. The house, which was rebuiltabout ten 
years ago, is said to be the site of a monastic cell, belonging to the monks of 
Scarborough. SoutA Wold Farm is in the occupation of Mr. Thomas Cra­
thorne; Tlaomdak, of Mr. Robert Crathorne; and there are other scattered 
farms called Sc4rclaU, RocladaU, and Wray Slack. The poor of Wintringham 
have the dividends of £11SO., three per cent. consolidated bank annuities, pur­
chased with £71. 10s. 9d., left by Sir Willism Strickland, in 1786, and four 
other donors. They have also the interest of £2. 9s. 8d. 

Knapton Chaptlry.-Area, ~.740 acres; population, ~IS8 souls ; rateable 
nlue, £2,1543. ; assessed property, £1 ,61Sl. The estate was purchased by 
the Tindall family from the Moorsoms of Scarborough, and now belongs to 
James, Robert, William Hy., Richard H ., and Charles Tindall, Esqrs. 

The Villag~ is pleasantly situated on the Scarborough road, 7 miles N .E. 
of Malton. Knapton Hall, a neat building, at the rear of which are pleasure 
grounds, gardens, &c., is the seat of J ames Tindall, Esq. 

The Chaptl is a small building, and the LifJing is a Perpetual Curacy, in 
the gift of James Tindall, Esq., and incumbency of the Rev. John Mason ; 
and of the annual value of £154. There is no burial ground attached to it. 
The Wesleyans have a pla.Ce of worship here. Knapton Lodge is in the oc­
cupation of Mr. John Dales, farmer ; the (}rang~ Farm, of about 800 acres, 
is managed by Mr. William Hugill ; Knapton Carr Farm is occupied by 
Mr. Jeremiah Harper; and Watll Houu, by Mr. R. Tindall, farmer. Mrs. 
Ann Lovell and Mr. Richd. Lovell are farmers, residing in the village. Near 
the village is the Knapton Station on the York and Scarborough Railway. 

YtmDINOILUI.-This parish lies on the banks of the Derwent, at the 
northern limits of the Wapentake, and contains1,11SO acres, and 104 inhabi­
tants, including a part of West Heslerton. Its rateable value is £788., and 
the assessed property amounts to £79~. The land belongs .chiefly to Wm. 
Tbompson and G. Cholmley, Esqrs., but there are several other lreebolders. 
Before tbe year 11GS lli>ger and Helewysia de Clere founded at this place 
a Priory, for nine nuns of the Benedictine Order, which was dedicated in 
honour of the Blessed Virgin. At the Disssolution its revenues were valued 
at £~6. 6s. 8d., and the site was granted to .Robm Holgau, Bishop of 
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Llanduff, afterwards Archbishop of York. Two aneieularchcs and a pi:teina, 
or holy water font, are the only remains ol this establishment, and tbey are 
situated <1n the north side of the Dcrwent in the parish ol Ebberstoo. 

The Olncrdh of Yedd.ingbam was cODeeCrated. in lll4.1, &JJd given to the 
above Priory, by Anketin de HeslarioD; which gift was confirmed by King 
Henry Ill. The LWiflg is a Vicarage, valued in the King's Books at £5. 
4s. 2d., and now returned at £!W6. per annum. The tithes were commuted 
in 1770, for 83 acres ol land here, and a yearly modus of £10. l~s. There 
are, besides, 60 acres ol globe land in West Heslertoo. The patronage is 
vested in Earl Fitzwilliam, and the present Vicar is the Rev. Constaatinc 
Bemard Yeoman. 

The Fabric of the church (St. Mary) is small, plain, and ancient, and 
consists of a body and chaneel, with a bell turret containing two bells. 

The Vicarag~ Ilouu is a plain stone building, near the churchyard. 
The Villa~ is small, and stands on the south Dt.nk of the Derwent, and 

on the Scarbo.rough road, about 9! miles N .E. of Maltoa. The river is here 
crossed by a good stone bridge, of three arches, built in 1781. 

The Sclwol, erected in 1837, is self supporting. The W~ Olla~l 
was erected in 184~. A hamlet or portion of Y edingham parish, south of 
the village, is called Court Houses. 

Yeddingham Ootta§B is the residenoe and property of William Thompson, 
Esq., and there are a few scattered farm houses in the parish. 

THE END. 

BI:\'ERLEV: P8Il\TED BV JoHll 01\!:EII, liAIUlET·PLACf:. 
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ADDITIONS AND CORRECTIONS. 

Page 80, to the first paragraph add-There is a district known as the 
Gr011u, or Gro111thl, the name formerly giYen to the space 
between the artificial banks erected to keep the waters of the 
Humber confined to its channel. The word !J"''"~, or gro011e, 
means to dig or hollow out, and the uae of its application 
to this land, wae owing to the tide sometimes digging away 
the land. For a soppoeed derivation of the name Wincolntlee, 
see page 189. 

, 104. Bank of Engunul. A new building for this bank is about to be 
erected, in Whitefriargate, on the site of the old Chr.rity Hall. 

, 104, Hil. Corn Ea:chan~. A public dinner took place in this build­
ing on Monday, the 8th of January, 1866, and on the 15th 
of the same month it was opened for business by the Corpo· 
ration-the owners of the franchise of the market-who de· 
clared that on and after that day, the open Com and Sud 
Market. in the borough should be held in High Street, between 
Chapel Lane and Bishop Lane, and in the open space at the 
east end of the new Corn Exchange. 

, 148, line 10. The new schools here alluded to are now m course of 
erection, the foundation stone of the building having been 
laid on the llSth of October, 1866, by the Catholic Bishop, the 
Right Rev. Dr. Briggs. They are to be called St. Mary's 
Catholic Schools. 

, 147. Cogan'• Charity School. At line 8 from the foot, for forty, 
read •i:ety. 

, ~61, last line, for south, read nortA. 
271. St. Mary'• Churc" . To the first paragraph add-The legend 

or history of St. Katberine, Virgin and Martyr, is, according 
to Geut, curiously painted in fourteen square divisions on the 
ceiling of the south aisle of the chancel. 
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Page 272, at the 8th line from the foot, for 1828, read 1825. 
, 281, line 9 from the foot, for Durham, read Ripon. 
, 888. Patrington church is situated near the east end, and Mt in the 

centre of the town. We omitted to notice an annual FlotNr 
SlwtD, which takes place at Patrington. 

, 867. H«lon Cntlwlic Cltai*. The altar pi8~ did not form a part 
of the Rev. J. C. Fisher's gift to the aide altar of this chapeL 

, 880, line 7, for £8., read £6. 
, 467, lines 24 and 25, for Sir G. Strickland, read Waiter Strickland, 

Esq., of Cokethorpe Park, Oxfordshire 
, 498, line IS from the foot-Scorborough is now in the North Hunsley 

Beacon Division of Hart.bill Wapentake; and Warter is now 
included in the Wilton Beacon Division of the same Wapen· 
take. Wetwang, which was in the Buckrose Wapent.ske, is 
now in the Bainton Beacon Division of Harthill. 

, 528, last line, for Durham's, read Ripon'r. 
, 604, line 19, for Workhouse Master, read Ckrk to tlw Board of 

Guartliaru ; at same page, 9th line from the foot, is noticed 
North HaU, which does not belong to Howdeo, but is situated 
in the township of Faxfleet, in South Cave parish. 

Bnerk y, February l&t, 1856. 
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